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HE aim of the publishers of this volume and of the author of the

history has been to secure for the historical portion thereof full and

accurate data respecting the history of the county from the time of

its early settlement, and to condense it into a clear and interesting

narrative. All topics and occurrences have been included that were

essential to this object. For many of the historical illustrations in

this work wc arc indebted to Mr. Charles P. Filson, whose father, Davison Filson,

with rare enterprise and patience extending through a long series of years collected

and grouped the marvelous reproduction of 1,200 former citizens whose features appear

in the body of the book. It is a service to the community as unique as it is valuable.

The reviews of resolute and strenuous lives that make up the biographical part

of the volume are admirably calculated to foster local tics, to inculcate patriotism, and

to emphasize the rewards of industry dominated by intelligent purpose. They consti-

tute a most appropriate medium for perpetuating personal annals, and will be of in-

calculable value to the descendants of those commemorated. These sketches are re-

plete with stirring incidents and intense experiences, and arc flavored with a strong

human interest that will naturally prove to a large portion of the readers of the book

its most attractive feature. In the aggregate of personal memoirs thus collated will

be found a vivid epitome of the growth of Jefferson County, which will fitly supple-

ment the historical statement, for its development is identified with that of the men

and women to whom it is attributable. Sketches unrcvised by subscribers arc marked

by a small asterisk (*) placed after the name of the subject.

The publishers have endeavored to avoid slighting any part of the work, and to

fittingly supplement the editor's labors by exercising care over the minutest details of

publication, and to give to the volume the three-fold value of a readable narrative, a

useful work of reference and a tasteful ornament to the library. We believe the re-

sult has justified the care thus exercised.

Special prominence has been given to the portraits of representative citizens

which appear throughout the volume and we believe that they will prove not its least

interesting feature. We have sought in this department to illustrate the different

spheres of industrial and professional achievement as conspicuously as possible. To

all who have kindly interested themselves in the successful preparation of this work,

and who have voluntarily contributed most useful information and data, or rendered

other assistance, we hereby tender our grateful acknowledgments.

THE PURLISHERS.
Chicago, III., August, 1910.
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fiistory ol Jefferson County

CHAPTER I.

TOPOGRAPHY AND GEOLOGY

Physical Features of the County—Formation of the Coals and Fire Clays—The
Glacial Period and Its Work—Elevation and Climate.

For the physical beginning of what is

now Jefferson County we must go to a past

so far distant that it cannot be counted in

years, but must be estimated by ages.

Could we see it there would be a far dif-

ferent picture presented from what is

shown at present, or even when man made
his first appearance in this valley. There
was no valley then, because there were no
hills. There" was no Ohio River, for the

stream had not been born, much less chris-

tened. As far as the eye could reach, and
it could not reach very far unless there

had been the vantage of some artificial ele-

vation, there was apparently a dead level.

It was hard to distinguish the land from
the waters. A tropical climate and steamy
swamps encouraged a luxuriant vegetation,

and -immense ferns waved their fronds of

dark green, while in the depths of the

watery forests queer creatures, half fish

and half reptile, disported, the vegetable

kingdom preparing vast stores of coal for

future ages, while the finny tribes, accord-

ing to some authorities, were preparing
to become the future producers of petro-

leum. (!) "Where are now the rugged hills

and deep-cut ravines of Jefferson County
was then an estuary of the Gulf of Mexico,
a body of brackish water variously esti-

mated to have an area of (5,000 to 13,000
square miles, dotted with au archipelago,

on whose islands grew the great tree ferns

of the Carboniferous Age, and on whose
sandy shores the wavelets left their ripple

marks, which are perpetuated to the pres-

ent day. Then the islands slowly sank
beneath the waters, the forests became coal

beds, and deposits of clay, sandstone and
limestone, in alternate layers, preserved
the black fuel of the future.

All this went on quietly year after year
and millennium after millennium, dis-

turbed, according to the fish theory of pe-

troleum, by an occasional cataclysm suf-

ficient to destroy animal life, but not suf-

ficient to make any general dislocation of
the strata or serious interference with the

process just described. It should be no-

ticed, moreover, as will be seen later, that

petroleum and petroleum gas are found
below the coal measures, indicating an
earlier formation when fish life was most
abundant.
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HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

But the subsidence finally came to an
end and- the land began slowly rising.

Then were formed the Allegheny Moun-
tains, of which the western foot hills begin
in this county. Then began the Ohio River
to flow along the tops of the present hills,

whose summits had not been worn
down by the elements. Fully 400 feet

above the present level it began that proc-

ess of erosion which has worn its channel
down to even below its present depths, fed

by a mighty glacier that covered all the

northern part of the state. As the river

bed descended, the mouths of the streams
flowing into it naturally kept going along
with it, and hence we havo the deep cross

gorges starting at or near the western
boundary of the county, and pursuing more
or less directly an eastern course, contin-

ually increasing in depth until the stream
which was doing the work mingled its

waters with those of the Ohio. While this

naturally made the county more rugged,
yet by cutting through the strata of fire

clay, sandstone, limestone, coal, etc., it

made these valuable veins easily accessible,

a fact which has contributed not a little to

the industrial development of the county,

while in the creek and river bottoms the

detritus of ages has produced some of the

best farming lands in the state.

The strata in this county have a general
dip to the southeast, so that if it were not
for the fact of the drainage. Iieing towards
the east he in a; somewhat greater than the

dip of the strata we would expect the low-

est stratum to come to the surface at the
northwest corner of the county, but as
Yellow Creek in the north end falls

towards the east at a more rapid rate than
the strata dip in this direction we must go
to the mouth of that creek, seventeen miles
north of Steubenville, to lind the lowest
exposed strata of the county. Were a shaft

to be sunk there we might obtain from
the remains of animal and plant lite a
geological history back at least to the be-

ginning of the stratified rocks. At this

point above the bed of the stream a short

distance below the ('. & P. Railroad we

find a seam of coal three and one-half feet

thick, known in the reports of the Ohio
Geological Survey as the Creek vein, or
No. 3. Nos. 1 and mined in other parts
of Ohio, are below drainage and are not
exposed in this county. Coal No. 4, known
as the Strip vein, occurs about twenty feet

above the Creek vein at the level of the

C. & P. Railroad, and is generally about
two and one-half feet thick. The Roger
vein, No. 5, is found about seventy-two feet

above the strip vein, but in the railroad

cutting north of the creek disappears to a
mere trace, reappearing in payiug quan-
tity a few miles further north. Fifty feet

higher we come to what is here known as

the Big vein, one of the most persistent

and important coal seams in the world,

labeled in the survey as No. »>. Two hun-
dred yards above the mouth of the creek

the Diamond mine, now abandoned, was in

this seam. The bone coal, six inches thick,

under the main seam, proved a veritable

mine of fossilliferous life, and largely

through the labors and study of the late

Sam Huston, county surveyor and after-

wards state commissioner of highways,
more than fifty new species of fossil fishes

and batrachians have been discovered and
described. There were parts of the mine
where well preserved specimens were se-

cured by the hundred, teeth by the thou-

sand, and the surface of almost every slab

was covered with scales, showing the abun
dant life that th rouged these lagoons and
swamp-. Prof. Newberry, of the Ohio Geo-
logical Survey, in Vol.* I, I'ult ontology,

published in IS".'!, refers to the above de-

scribed locality, with the fact that up to

that time about twenty species of fishes

had been obtained from that deposit with

at least as many amphibians, all found here
for the first time, although two or three
species have since been met with in this or
adjoining states. Mo«t of the fishes found
here were four to eighteen inches long,

some of t hem beautifully marked, and
Prof. Newberry say-:

"We learn from ti careful study of the
deposit, that there \v;i>- in this locality at
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the time when the coal was forming, an
open lagoon, densely populated with fishes

and salamanders, and that after a time
this lagoon was choked up with growing
vegetation; and peat (which afterwards
changed to cubical coal) succeeded to the

carboniferous mud (now cannel) that had
previously accumulated at the bottom of

the water. The fishes of this pool were
mostly small, tile-scaled ganoids, belong-

ing to the genus Eurylepis. Though here
extremely abundant, they have not been
found elsewhere. There were also in this

lagoon two, or perhaps three, species of
(Nclacanthus (one of which is so closely

sillied to C. Lepturus of the coal measures
of Fmrope, that they should perhaps not
be separated) and yet this genus has been
nowhere else recognized on the American
continent. There are also found here the

thin scales from one to two inches in diam-
eter, some ornamented and some plain, and
also the lance-head teeth of the Rhizodus,
and the teeth and spines of Diplodus. On
the whole, this must be looked upon as one
of the interesting localities of vertebrate
fossils known on this continent, and it is

even doubtful whether any other equals it

in the number of new species or in their

zoological and geological iuterest."

Many of these specimens have found
their way into prominent museums of the
country, while quite a number remain in

the late Mr. Huston's private museum, to

gether with a collection of sigillaria, stig-

inavin. ferns and other flora of the coal

period.

From the fifty or more varieties of fossil

fishes discovered in the cannel coal at Lin-
ton, many of which are found nowhere
else, we have selected five typical speci-

mens for illustration. No. 1, the Crelacan-
thus Elegans, was six to eighteen inches in

length, and a near relative of the C. Lep-
turus of the English coal measures. Nos.
2 and 3, Eurylepis Tnberculatis, were
three inches long, and No. 4, the E. Cor-
rugatus, slightly larger. No. 5, the Paheon-
iscus Peltigerus, was live inches long.

This coal seam extends westward to

Perry County coal field and eastward
through the state of Pennsylvania. The
Pennsylvania Railroad tunnel at the east

of the Allegheny Mountains passes through
this seam, the west end of the tunuel being
above the coal, and the east end below it.

At the Diamond mine the greatest thick-

ness of the coal is about eight feet, some-
times less, overlaid by a solid ledge of
sandstone, forming a model roof so that

roomB were driven thirty feet wide for long
di stances without props.

Formerly what is known as the Steuben-
ville shaft coal was considered synchro-
nous with No. 6, or the "big vein," at Yel-

low Creek, but a more thorough investiga-

tion has led geologists to place it with the
Roger vein or No. 5, which would make it

of more recent formation. However this

may be, and the proposition is not undis-

puted, there is no doubt according to all

the authorities that the limestone coal of
the Wills Creek section (Lower Freeport)
is plainly the shaft coal of Steubenville.

It is exposed in the bed of the Ohio just

above W ills Creek; was reached at a depth
of seventy-five feet in the Cable shaft
above Alikanna, eightv in the Bustard shaft

at the north end of Steubenville, 221 feet

in the Market Street or High shaft, 188
feet at the Jefferson (now La Belle), 210
feet in the O. & P. or Averick, 240 in the
Borland and 234 at Mingo, two miles below.
All these workings have been abandoned
except the High shaft and La Belle.

The coal beds above enumerated, with
their associated limestones, fire clays, sand-
stones aud shales, form what are called the
lower coal measures, because, so far as dis-

closed, there are no persistent seams below
them that, can be depended on over any
great extent of territory. The combination
has been the foundation of the industrial

resources of this portion of the Ohio Val-
ley, and the basis of all the manufacture
of coke, steel, fire brick, pottery and other
products of this region.

From the heavy sandstone roof covering
coal No. ti coming upward 500 to (iOO feet,

we reach vein No. 8, popularly known as
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tlie Pittsburgh coal. This inte rval includes

the Lower Barren coal measures, because
the seams therein are thin and not of work-
able thickness for any distance. While the

eoal may be anywhere from three to eight

feet thick at a certain place, it is liable to

thin out to a trace or disappear entirely

within a few yards. These measures are,

however, very rich in fossils, especially

what is known as the crinoidal limestone,

which in some cases is a compact mass of

shells and other remains. What are known
as jientacrinoids are found here in abun-
dance. They were a low form of animal
life, immured like the coal to the rock on
which they grew, having a flower shaped
mouth ready to take in their prey as it

came along. This limestone is about half

way up the series, and may be found in

greater or less abundance in nearly all our
valleys. This ledge seems to mark the

limit of marine life, as the fossils found
above it are land plants, insects ami land

and fresh water shells, marking the last

direct invasion of the ocean into this

section.

The Pittsburgh or No. H coal above this

during the last seventy-five or 100 years
lias probably supplied three-fourths of

the dome-tic consumption of the county.

Cropping out on the hilltops, it was so ac-

cessible that almost every farmer could

have liis own coal bank, while its com pa i n

tive cleanliness and excellent burning qual-

ities with freedom from ash or sulphur
made it a general favorite. Shafts were
seldom needed to reach it, and the favorite

method of mining was by means of entries

or "banks" driven into the hillside with

sufficient slope to secure natural drainage.

This coal is the lowest stratum of what is

called the Upper Productive coal measure-,
which include I'tiO or :i00 feet of the rocks

in this county. The seam is one of the mosl
persistent and uniform coal seams known,
and is always found of workable thickness

and fine quality, where the earth covering
is sufficient. It crops out along the hill-

sides in this and adjoining counties and
is a leading product in West Virginia and

western Pennsylvania. The millions of

bushels conveyed down the Ohio River with

every rise are a striking exhibit of its com
inercial importance. In this county it

shows itself in the highest hills of Ross.

Knox, Steubenville ami Salem Townships,
and has a fair exposure in Island Creek,

Wayne. Cross Creek. Wells and Warren.
It undeiliis nearly all of Smithfield ami
all of Mt. Pleasant except a small area cut

out by Short Creek and Long Run. At

its exposures on these streams in Mt.

Pleasant Township it lies nearly -400 feet

above the Ohio River, or nearly 1.000 feet

above the sea 1 vel. Science Hill, in the

western part of Mt. Pleasant Township,
rises over l./.0!t feet aliovc the ocean level,

and consequently :5<H» feet above the Pitts-

bnigh seam. The overlying strata con-

tain several unimportant coal seams and a

larg- amount of limestone interstratirted

with sandstones and shales. No fossils

have been found here, but although this is

not the highest point in the county it con

tains the highest geological strata.

Above and helow the Pittsburgh coal are
limestone strata whose disintegrations

have contributed largely to the fertility of
.Jefferson County hilltop farms, by which
they were able to lival the over landed
tracts within the limits of the drift period.

The soil of all this section was at an early

date discovered to be better adapted to the

raising of tine woolcd merino sheep than
any other section in the I'nited States, and
for many years this was a leading industry

in the tanning sections of eastern Ohio.
West Virginia Panhandle and western
Pennsylvania. It was a great boon to the

county, otherwise its agricultural product-
iveness would have been largely contincd
to the bottom lands in the narrow vallevs.

While the work of erosion previously
mentioned had been gradually wearing off

the jagged summits of the hiils and eating

out the vallevs. another geological era.

known as the drift or glacial period, was
approaching. The drift did not reach into

.IclTcrson County, but indirectly at least

it affected il very materially. It- inthini.e
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indirectly contributed to the formation of

the latter part of the Ohio Kiver canon by
furnishing water for erosion, but later its

more direct influence was felt in the deposi-

tion of gravel to a considerable depth and
especially in the sand and gravel terraces

of the Ohio Valley, which are very decided
at Toronto, Steuhenville and below Bril-

liant and Portland Station. During the

construction of the Panhandle railroad

bridge at Steuhenville the original rock

bed of the river was found to be 150 feet

below the surface of the present gravel

bed, and it was necessary to build the piers

on cribs resting on the gravel, a circum-

stance which necessitated a reconstruction

of several piers a couple of years since.

How were these terraces formed, and how
did the original bed of the river come to be
tilled up! Not by the ordinary action of

the river, which was erosiou rather than
lilling, and which is now engaged in wear-
ing a new channel through the accumulated
gravel. Geologists arc pretty well agreed
that at the close of what is known as the

Tertiary period then* was a tremendous
accumulation of ice and snow, similar to

that now existing in northern Greenland,
which covered a great portion of the north-

ern hemisphere. Either propelled by its

own weight as are the Alpine glaciers to-

day, or by an elevation of the land, this

vast accumulation moved slowly south-

ward, grinding and scratching the rocks

in its path and carrying huge boulders
from their home in the far North, dropping
them on what are now the fertile plains of

northern Ohio, where they are of interest

to the traveler and a nuisance to the

farmer.
As we have said, this great ice sheet did

not reach Jefferson county, but it came
very near it. The southerly line of the

glacier in the United States strikes Ca|>e

Cod in Massachusetts, following Long
Island into New Jersey, thence across the

northern end of that state and Pennsyl-
vania it recedes back nearly to Lake Chan
tuuqun, thence sweeping southwestwardly
it enters Ohio at Achor. in Columbiana

County, twelve miles north of the Ohio
Kiver, just touches the northern border of
Carroll, takes in about one-half of Stark,
passing just south of Canton, thence by a
semicircular sweep including Alillersburg,

in Holmes County, curving around into

Knox, thence south with a slight trend
towards the west it reaches the Ohio River
at Kipley, thence proceeding almost due
west it crosses the river a short distance
into Kentucky, twenty-five miles above Cin-
cinnati. We need not follow it further
westward. Had it not been for the cross-

ing of the river Jefferson County's con-
nection with the drift or glacial period
would have been confined to its service as
a feeder to the tributary streams which
flowed into the Ohio and specimens of small
boulders carried by water from the ter-

minal moraines and scattered along the
river benches. But when the big glacier

slowly crept into the river bed anil climbed
up the Kentucky hills, depositing its boul-

ders more than 500 feet above the water
level, one result was inevitable, a result

that can be seen on a smaller scale every
time the spring freshets break up the ice

which has formed from shore to shore. An
immense ice dam was formed at least 500
or (>00 feet high. A little water might work
its way through and under the ice, but the

bulk would be retained, forming a long,

narrow lake extending back into valleys

of the Allegheny and Monongahela, and
submerging the present site of Pittsburgh
to a depth of over M0 feet. This theory
of a great ice dam at Cincinnati has been
vigorously attacked, but so far no other
adequate explanation of these river ter-

races has been afforded. Of course, the

lirst terraces with their sand and gravel
holding small granite and other boulders
with other foreign objects would be found
near the present hilltops, but the rains of
thousands of years have carried most of

them into the lower valleys. Naturally all

streams tributary to these upper rivers

would Ik? affected in similar manner to the

main stream, and we find adjacent to them,
as might be exjieetcd, terraces of smaller
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size. As the waters receded, perhaps with

long halts at intervals, successive terraces

were formed down to the present Hood lev-

els. Probably the best example of these

terraces to be found in this vicinity are

at Jlolliday's Cove, \Y. Va., just opposite

the upper end of Steubeuville. That the

high wooded hill which separates that val-

ley from the present river was once an
island is demonstrated by the most cursory

examination, the terraces not only contain-

ing the usual sand and gravel, but fresh

water shells and other evidence of tiuviul

life.

With the disappearance of the Drift and
change of climate the present era may be

said to have begun, and to day we owe our
productive soil, well watered valleys, and
rich farms to the erosive action of these

streams long ago, and our alluvial bottom
lands to the work of the Drift period.

Like the remainder of the state, the cli-

mate of Jefferson County varies consid-

erably, although us a rule without the in-

tense extremes of heat and cold which mark
some of the sections further west. Pos-

sibly the coldest weather ever registered

here was in February, 1899, when the ther-

mometer registered from 20 to "J") degrees
below zero. Ten to twelve degrees below
is, however, considered extremely low. the

thermometer seldom falling far iielow the

zero mark. N'inety eight in the shade is

considered extreme hot summer weather,
so the range may be considered about 100
degrees. Hot summer nights are few in

number, and the hilltops especially are gen-

erally subject to light breezes. The sum-
mer heat enables corn to grow rapidly and
make a paying crop, which a cool season
would prevent, and thus offset any advan-
tages of a mild winter. As to the' average
temperature a series of observations ex-

tending over six years gives the following:

January 31.60
February 32.60
Mnr,-h .' 39.30

April 55
May 64.10

June 73.60

•i.ilv 75.60
August 73.80
s. ptfinb. i . 67.00
O.' tuber 53.40
November 41.40
Do'i'tnbei ... 32.00

Observations of inches of rainfall for

thirty-seven years give the following,

which insures safe and, as a rule, abundant
crops.

Jniiunry ...2.94
I'Vbrua'rv 2.75

Marrb .' 3.38

April 3.53

M»v 3.85

June 4.01

July 3.80

Augu»t 3.97

September 3.48

tvtober 3.18

November 3.16

Ik't'cmhcr 3.34

fur six yearn- 54

A n ii ii 1 1 mi mi for 117 ycnrn 41.48

The early settlers of the county found

nut only the valleys but tops of the hills

covered with an almost unbroken forest,

including white and black oak, sugar and
other maples, lieoch, poplar, black and
white walnut or butternut, hickory, chest-

nut, locust, gum, honeysuckle, sassafras,

mulberry, wild cherry, wild cucumber, and
other varieties too numerous to mention,

in fact, a complete list would till a volume.
Of eourse, there were the native berries

of various kinds, the pawpaw, wild grapes,

etc, while the woods abounded with game,
the favorite being the deer and wild turkey,

while the rivers and all the smaller streams
abounded in fish. Here and there were
Italian villages where maize or Indian

corn was cultivated, with other vegetables

ami a little tobacco, although for reasons
hereafter given there was little of this in

.Jefferson County. It was a primeval wil-

derness, the paradise of the hunter and
the trapper.

The hilltop farms of Jefferson County
average about 1,.'{00 feel above tidewater.

The highest recorded elevation in the

county, and the highest in the state with

one exception, according to the Ohio (Jeo-

logical Survey, is about one mile east of

Bloomlicld, in Wayne Township. Jt meas-
ures 1.4.">4 feet above the sea, or H<»1 feet

alhive Lake Erie, which is bl'.i feet above
mean tide. What has been taken as low
water mark in the Ohio liiver at Steuben
ville is 040 l-U feet above mean tide, or 67 1A
feet above the lake. This should probably
be r<«duced several inches since the record-

breaking drouth of 1908, but the height is

sufficient to demonstrate the absurdity of
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a scheme once suggested of feeding the Pittsburgh, cindnntti, Chicago k st. Louis.

waterB of the upper Ohio by means of a steubenviUe 72s

drainage canal from Lake Erie. A few
^{J, 1*1

years since a force from the United States Tunnel"No. i (old) . . . . . ... . . 833

Geological Survey ascertained that the sur- smithneid station 773

face of the ground at the southeast corner J**
<
old

> •
•

%\
of the court, house in Steubenville was 715 skelieys (Crcsweii)

11

'

'.

8-u

feet above the sea, and inserted a plate in Tunnel No. 3 (old) 1063

the foundation of the building with the
S*a

* °°
. . .

.' ."

. : . .

.' ."

J : : ! we
following inscription. County Line 991

Ohio

Elev option

Above Sea

715 Feet

Datum Steuben-
ville

B.M-
Other elevations at railroad stations in

the county are given in part as follows,

the tracks having been possibly raised a
few inches since these figures were ascer-

tained :

Cleveland ft Pittsburgh R. E.

HammonilHvillf 68S
Yellow Creek (Linton) 694
Empire 6S4
Toronto 6M
Steiibcnvilk «H13

Porllmi.l <>ri:t

The summit of this line is at old tunnel

No. 4, about a mile west of Cadiz Junction,

in Harrison, the measurements showing
1,178 feet. This is a divide, separating the

headwaters of Cross Creek and other
streams flowing eastwardly across Jeffer-

son County into the Ohio from the Conot-
ton and other tributaries flowing west
and southwest into the Tuscarawas and
Muskingum.
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CHAPTER II

PRIMEVAL MAN

Leaves an Interesting Relic—The Mound Builders and Early Indian Artists.

As an introduction to a paper by 0.
Frederick Wright, the well-known geolo-

gist, who has given special study to glacial

conditions in Ohio and elsewhere, read be
fore the Ohio State Archaeological and His-

torical Society on February 18, 18M(i, the

author said: ''As yet no implement* have
been found in Ohio which can certainly Im*

ascribed to the glacial age." Such relics

had been discovered in the valley of the

Somme, near Ablwville, in northern
France, nearly fifty years before, and some
ten or twelve years previous others had
been found near Trenton, N. J., on the

Delaware River, thus demonstrating that

if primeval man originated in what is

called the Old World he was not confined

there. But if man could and did exist in

the Delaware Valley at that early date,

why not in the Ohio Valley! If his migra-

tion was from west to east, which, however,
is only a theory, he should have been here
first. Although l'rof. Wright does not

seem to have heard of it until later, an im
pleinent chipped from a pebble of black

Hint had been found eight feet below the

surface at Madisonville, Ohio, eleven miles

northeast of Cincinnati, in a depression
connecting the Little Miami River with Mil!

Creek, about five miles back from the Ohio
River. Jt will be remembered that this

section was covered by the glacier. An-
other similar implement, which was found
shortly after at Loveland, on the Little

Miami, in the same neighborhood, induced
Prof. Wright to visit the locality, with the

result of confirming the authenticity of the

find. Subsequently, in 1SS7, another was
discovered. These instruments are rudely

chipi>cd |xiinted stone weapons from two
to six inches long, and one to four and one
half inches wide, roughly made predeces-

sors of later Hints and arrow heads.

The immediate results of these and per-

haps one or two other isolated finds were
rather to excite controversy than to settle

the question of human existence in the

Ohio Valley during the glacial or i>rcgla-

cial period. It remained for a .lefl'erson

Comity scientist to make a further discov-

ery which practically closed the discussion

by conclusive evidence. Mr. Sam Huston,

to whose labors and discoveries we have
referred on preceding pages, is entitled to

this credit. His discovery consisted of a

chipped chert or Hinty implement one and
three-quarter inches long and three-quar-

ters of an inch wide in its hroadcr pari,

with a projecting shoulder on one edge,

giving to it the character of what in abo-

riginal usage would he called a knife. The
object was found a mile and a half below
Brilliant, ami about eight and one-half

miles below Steubenville. I'rof. Wright,
in an article published in the l'ojmlai Sri-

encr Monthly for December. 1 *!•.">, gives the

following account of this discovery, writ-

ten by .Mr. Huston himself:

"Htoubnn ill-. O., Aun,i,i IM, ISfl.V

"I'rof. <i. K. Wright.
"Mv IVnr Sir: fVlow Hrijliunf. .TrfT*'rson <'ounty.

Ohio, i* p. vory fine ri-iiiniint el' lii^li I,-\»>1 rivrr Irrra.'f.
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ItH length is two mile* nn<l maximum width over n
quarter of a mile. On the Went Virginia side of tin;

Ohio Hiver at that point the blufTs rise to ;i lie'ubl

of over 300 feet, directly frcun the water, lit

ordinary loveU. On the Ohio side there is u flood

plain from fifty to 100 yards wide und from
twenty to thirty feet above low water. Along the
west side of this flood plain is located the river divi-

sion of the Cleveland & Pittsburgh Railroad, along the
foot of the high level terrace. This terrace ranges
from sixty-five to eighty foot above low water. Kxca-
\ tit ion* in this terrace to a depth of forty-throe foot
show it to consist of interatratified sand, flue grave],

and elay in small quantities, all, with rare exceptions,

croon-bedded. Coarse gravel is found at the top ot

the terrace; but, except for two or Ibree feet on top,

only rare pieces of gravel occur of more than one half
cubic inch in size. Two small ravines cut through
the terrace at Brilliant. A mile below these. Mock
llou«o Hun, and a mile and n half helnw. Riddle 's

Ron. cut through the terrace down to the Hood plain

of the river. Otherwise the surface of the terrace is a

plain. A half mile of turnpike was built on it. in

which the original surface varied less than two feet.

Indian mounds and intrusive burials occur nt numerous
places on the terrace, but the stratiflcat ion and cross

bedding Of the sands and gravels of it are such that

intrusive burials or excavations can not be made with-

out leaving evidence so distinct as to be rendily seen,

and at the face of an excavation u slip or talus is

easily detected. Over three years ago a numlpil was
worked in this terrace at its southern extremity below
Riddle's Run. While the excavation was being made,
and at a noon hour. I found a plainly marked but rude

flint implement imbedded in the freshly exposed face

of the stratified sand and gravel, under about eight

feet of undisturbed cross-bedded strnt iticntion. only the

point of the implement showing on the porpomliculnr

face of the excavation. The condition of the strati

(lent ion in all of the superincumbent eight feet, which
was closely examined by mo, was such as to convince

me that the implement was not intrusive, but had been
deposited with the remainder of the material of the

terrace. The condition of the face of the excavation
•ili<>\e the find is fairly, but not as clearly as would
be desired, shown by the photograph taken by Mr.
Kovle, of the now abandoned sandpit, where Mi, fln.l

w.i* undo, where slips and tain* rover the faee.

''Sum 1 1 list ii ti.

Prof. Wright, with .Mr. Huston. F. C.

McClnve and the writer, visited the place

whore the implement was fount! ami made
a careful study of the site ami .surround

ings. whieh fully corroborated Mr. I Ins

ton's descriptions, whieh were preserved

hy Doyle's photographs. During that

visit Prof. Wright also made an exainina

tion of the high level deposits, and in the

nrticle above referred to gives the follow

ing as tlie result of his investigations:

"As shown in the accompanying illus

tint ion. the Ohio Kiver occupies a narrow
valley which might almost he called a

gorge, which it lias eroded in the nearly
parallel strata of the coal measures to an
average depth of nhout 300 feet. This
gorge is continuous from Louisville, in

Kentucky, to the headwaters of the Alle-

gheny and Monongahela Rivers, a distance
of more than 1,200 miles. All the tribu-

taries of the river occupy gorges of sim-
ilar depth. This erosion has evidently
taken place with considerable rapidity con-

sequent upon an elevation of the continent
at the close of the Tertiary period, giving
a steep gradient to streams which, during
the most of the Tertiary jwriod, had been
very sluggish. The evidence of this is seen
in the narrowness of the gorge and in the
gentleness of the slo|H» al>ove the .{00 foot

line.

"Along the ."500-foot level there is a line

of rock shelves which contains n shallow de-

posit of loam and pebbles. This is very
conspicuous on the Allegheny Kiver and
for some distance below Pittsburgh, but
rather less as far down as Steuben vi lie.

Still, those high-level deposits are clearly

marked there on both sides of the river.

The most significant thing about these

high-level terrace deposits is that they con-

tain granite pebbles, which are a sure in-

dication that the deposit is post glacial;

for none of the tributaries of the Ohio
Kiver have access to granite rock, except
as fragments have lteen brought over from
Canada by the glacial movement and de-

posited within their reach."
While there has been considerable dis-

cussion concerning the age of the gravel
deposits on these high rock shelves, some
contending for two glacial periods with a

long interval between, during which the
rock gorge was made. Prof. Wright \h>-

lieves there is only evidence of one such
epoch, and that these high-level deposits
were produced partly by an extensive fill

ing up of the Allegheny gorge as far as
Pittsburgh and somewhat Mow. and lower
down by the effect of the Cincinnati ice

• lam. which set back the water up to this

level, and is sufficient to account for many
of the facts. Vnder this view these de
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]»osits would coincide approximately with
what Dana calls the "Champlnin epoch,"
during which there was considerable de-

pression of laud at the north, the influence

of which may have been felt as far south
as the latitude of Pittsburgh. To this Mr.
Wright adds

:

,4 But whatever way be the difference of opinion
about the age of these high level gravels, there is no
disagreement about the glacial character ami relatively
late age of the lower terraces along the Ohio Ttivcf.

such as occur at Steubcnvillo anil Brilliant. The rock
gorge extend* on the average n hundred lert below the
present bottom of the river, having Wen filled up origi-
nally by gravel not only to that extent, but to the
level of the terrace in which the implement was found.
That thin extensive degtosition of gravel in the old
rock gorge is connected with the glacial period is

clearly shown by the fact that these lower terrace*
can be followed up the bank of every stream which
comes out of the glaciated region to the old ice border,
where they emerge into the moraines which were
<lej>o«Sted directly by the ice. Only those stream* which
rise in the glaciated area have these terraceB. The
contrast between the Motiongalicla and Allegheny in

this respect is very marked. The Allegheny River
throughout its ennrse was gorged with this g!:o-ial

gravel, but the Monongahcln Kivcr neither had giavcl
within reach nor the flood* of water coming from the
melting ice to distribute it if that had lx>eii within
reach, therefore the gravel terraces are absent. The
northern tributaries of the Ohio had both these ad
vantage* (or disadvantages), and therefore have the
terraces. On the Ohio these are always larger and
higher where a tributary come* in from the glaciated
region to the north, as, for example, at the mouth of
Big Beaver Creek, where the terrare i« \'.W feet above
low water mark. Rut down the river the supply of
gravel diminished, and the terrace becomes corre-

spondingly lower, being ut .Steubenville and Urillisint

only seventy or eighty feet above low water.
"So far as direct evidence is concerned in estimat

ing the age of implements in these terraces, it relates

to the question whether or not they have been found
in undisturbed strata of the original terrace. If they
are so found they are us old as the disposition of the

gravel, which took place in glacial times: for since

that period of deposition the action of the present

river has been confined to eroding an inner channel,

and to working over gravel within tlx- limits of its

own flood plain*. No disturbances by present Hoods
eould affect the gravel of the eighty foot terrace. Thai
has remained constant from the time of its original

deposition.
- '

This now famous implement was taken

to the meeting of the American Association

for the Advancement of Science at Spring-

field, Mass., in August, 1895, and submitted
to a number of experts, when the corrobo-

rative indications of its antiquity were
readily and emphatically recognized. Prof.

F. \V. Putnam remarked upon the distinct-

ness with which the patina or velvety ox-

idation hat! been preserved, indicative of

the conditions in which it was said to have
been found, ami iti itself bearing evidence
of great antiquity. F. II. Cushing, the

famous Zuni ethnologist, declared that

there eould be no question that it was
a finished implement and uot a "reject"
and that not only had it been linished by
careful chipping nil along the edge, but it

had Ikh-ii finished twice, having been at

least once reshaped upon its cutting edge;
and, what i.s of special significance, that

it had been sharpened not by the more
modern processes in which the chips were
broken from the edge by pressing against

it with a piece of Ihuic, but by the older

process of striking against the edge with
another stone. The type of the implement
also was pronounced by Mr. Cashing to be

the earliest known, although from the con-

venience of the form it has always con-

tinued in use. It was one. however, which
appeared at the very dawn of human
development.
"Thus," as Prof. Wright says, "the cir-

cumstantial evidence connected with the

implement itself confirms in a reinurkable
degree the direct evidence respecting it.

And it deserves to he placed, as it doubt
less will be, among the most important
discoveries heretofore made connecting
man with the (ilacial period."
As to the ability of man to live in this

valley during the retreating ice front of

the (ilacial period, it is no more than the

Ksquimniix do in (irecnland and Alaska*
to-day. the former country being limber-
less and the latter fore-ted in the southern
part, as was the Ohio Valley in (ilacial

times. Previous to the introduction of fin-

arms, those trilH-s used bone and stone im-

plements, just as did their prehistoric

southern neighbors. The habitations of
(ilacial man, when be had any, have long
ago disappeared, and il i.s not likely that

his permanent altodes were often located

on the lower terraces where they were sub-

ject to Hoods, ami it is only here and there
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we tiiid a memento of this long forgotten

race. But, as concluded by Prof. Wright,
"the clear testimony of the ancient chipped
knife discovered by Mr. Huston, at Bril-

liant, Ohio, must go far to close the ques-

tion of man's antiquity on the Western
Continent and to dispel the doubts upon the

subject which, for one reason or another,

have heretofore existed."

The inquiry naturally arises, how long

is it since primitive man ranged along this

valley t That he was contemporary with
the mastodon is indicated by finding re-

maius of that mammoth animal in the same
river terraces that held our human imple-

ment. About rive years ago a mastodon
skull was found while excavating for sand
in the river terrace opposite the lower end
of Steubenville, which was added to Mr.
Huston's collection. But the mastodon
lived almost down to the beginning of the

historic period, and was possibly hunted by
the "mound builders." Some very wild

estimates have been given as to the first

appearance of man upon the earth, some
placing it as high as 100,000 years. This
is pure guesswork, and not very good
guessing at that. Fortunately, in this sec-

tion, we have a great time keeper, which
marks, at least approximately, the close of

the Glacial period. Previous to that period
there were no Niagara Falls and no Lake
Erie. The recession of the falls from
Queenstown heights back seven miles to

their present location, represents the ero-

sion of the Niagara River. Careful meas-
urements by the United States surveyors
and others have placed the average rate of

re«»ession at not less than three feet per
annum, and during a portion of the way it

may have been more rapid. This gives an
outside limit of ] 1,000 years since the falls

were at Queenstown, and it is possible that

the limit may not be over 7,000, a thousand
years before the building of the great pyra-
mid of Cheops. Investigation of northern
Ohio streams flowing into Lake Erie con-

firms these figures, so that it is safe to say

that an estimate of 10,000 years since the

first appearance of man in the Ohio valley

is not an unreasonable limit.

It is a long gap from the original pre
historic man to the mound builders. Even
if we knew exactly who the mound builders

were, it is conceded that they must have
had their rise and fall at a period far sub-

sequent to that which we have just been
considering. In contradistinction to Glacial

and pre-Glaeial man, the mound builders
have left quite voluminous, if not very def-

inite, traces of their existence. Extended
earthworks that have in turn beeu taken
for fortifications, municipal boundaries,
cemeteries and temple sites, crumbling
skeletons, implements of the chase or war,
household ornaments and utensils, with a
few doubtful hieroglyphic characters, have
enabled writers with vivid imaginations to

create an empire of, at least semi-civilized,

jteople, who were the projenitors of the
Mexicans and Peruvians and who were
finally overcome either by their own inter-

necine wars or by the Indians, or both.
Latest researches do not confirm these con-
clusions. A recent writer (Fowkes) sums
up that

:

"So far as has yet been discovered, these people
eould not build a stono wall that would stand alone, or
even wall up a spring. They left not one stone used in

building that shown any marks of a dressing tool.

Tlieir mounds and embankments were built by bringing
loads of earth, never larger than one person could carry,
in baskets or skins, as is proven by the hundreds of
lens-shaped masses observable in the larger mounds.
They had not the slightest knowledge of the economic
use of metals, treating what little they had as a sort

of malleable stone; even galena, which ft seems im-
possible, they could have without discovering its low
melting point, is always worked, if at all, as a piece of.

slate or other ornamental stone would IK-, They left

nothing to indicate that any system of written
language existed umong them, the few * 1 hieroglyphics"
nn "inscribed tablets" having no raoro significance

than the modern carving by n boy on the smooth bark
of the beech, or else being deliberate frauds—gen-

erally the latter, in the o«w nf the more elaborate
specimens. They had not n -ingle beast of burden.
Iteyond peddling from tribe to tribe a few ornaments
or other small articles tlmt n man could easily carry in

a cniior, they had no trade or commerce. A eloae study
of the enclosures leads to the conviction that the popu-
lation was not numerous except in the immediate
vicinity; they wore nut necessarily built synchronously
— in fuct. some have the appearance of being of much
more ancient date than others only a few miles dis-
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laul. What their use may have been liu* always been

a very |>uzzling question, tiny cuiijerture rinding many
difficulties to overcome. Among other suggestions is

I he plausible one that they were intended as a means
<if defense to the villages built within tlietn. They
(the people) were, no doubt, many thousands in num-
ber, but to suppose them to 'equal or exceed in num-
ber those now living in the mime region of country'

is absurd. Nearly nil the enclosure* of Ohio and of

the allied works of the Kanawha Valley, whose condi-

tion is such an to admit of it. have lately been care-

fully surveyed, and nut n single ' eiaet square' or "|#r-

feet circle' has been found among them, though some

<.f the works approach very closely to these forma."

This is a pretty strong indictment, not of

tlif real mound builders, but of the fic-

titious characters that parade under that

title in many publications. While their

habits were certainly different from their

successors, if not their posterity, the red

Indian, as a whole, it would be hard to

prove their civilization to be markedly, if

any, higher, although it may have hud a

different form. Some fairly worked orna-

ments have lteen found in their mounds,
but none that could not be duplicated or

excelled by the Southern Indian tribes.

There is no evidence that they ever formed
n confederacy like the Iroquois, or had an

individual chieftain, who was the equal of

King Philip. Pontine. Logan, Tecumtha,
or many others who might 1h* mentioned.

But while we might proceed to pronounce
in detail what the mound builders were not,

this does not throw much light on whom
they were. That some of them inhabited

.Jefferson county is evident from mounds
found along the river terraces, although

ihc number is not great. There is one
mound of considerable size below Portland

Station used us a private graveyard. There
are. also, mounds* in Wells, Cross Creek,

lioss. Saline and other townships, perhaps

ten or twelve in all. When the tirst settlers

in the valley inquired of the Indians con-

cerning these mounds, they could tell

nothing about them, they had existed as

far back as their traditions extended, and
that is all they knew. There is a tradition

of the Delaware Indians that, during the

migration of that tribe from the West
they came to a river beyond which dwelt a

people called Tallegwi. who gave them per-

mission to pass through their territory, hut

when the migrators divided, the Tallegwi

attacked that j>ortioii which had crossed

the river, and drove them back with great

slaughter. A long and bloody war eusued,

in which the Tallegwi made fortifications

of earth and made a brave defense, but

were gradually driven backward, building

forts and other defenses as they went, until

they finally passed lieyond the Ohio. The
Detroit Piver lias lieen identified by Ileck-

welder as the meeting place of the trilies.

when some of the defensive works of the

Tallegwi were pointed out to him, as well

as mounds where were buried bones of

some of the slain.

Mr. Kowkes, whom we have quoted
above, furnishes some original testimony
on this subject, which is worthy of record.

In the summer of while at Munissiug,

Mich., he met William Cameron, a man of

thorough education ami extensive reading,

who for more than sixty years—he then

being eighty-four—had almost literally

lived in the woods. He resided first among
the Chippcwas, who told him that when
they first came into the country they found
the Sioux in possession, and a war of sev-

eral years' duration followed. They finally

obtained firearms from the French and
drove the Sioux westward. Afterward.
Cameron went anions the Sioux, and bean!
substantially the same story from the old

chiefs. They added that in going westward
they came to a race of people who lived

in mounds, which they piled up. These
people were large ami strong, but cow-

ardly. As the Sionx expressed it. " If they

bad been ,ns brave as they were big, be

tween them and the Chippcwas we would
have been destroyed: but they were great

cowards, and we easily drove them away."
11. (J. Armstrong, of Ashland. Wis., in-

vestigated this story and became satisfied

of its truth, lie added that, from all he
could gather, these people, whom the Sioux
called Ground J louse Indians, built houses
of logs and iiosts. around and over which
they piled earth until it formed a conical

mass extending several feet above the roof.
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They occupied a portion of western Wis-
consin and eastern Minnesota, and some
maps give a "Ground House" river in the

latter state. The Sioux exterminated the

tribe, the last survivors being an old man
and woman, who had married Sioux; they

were taken to the present site of Superior,

near Duluth, where they died about two
centuries ago.

Many of the Chippewas were familiar

with this tradition, and one of them de-

clared to Mr. Eowkes that he had heard
the old men say these Indians erected their

houses of wood and piled several feet of

dirt over them, and buried their dead in

little mounds out in front of their houses,

a few hundred feet away. He told of a

mound that was opened, in which the posi-

tion of the skeletons, two or three of chil-

dren being among them, showed as plainly

as anything could that the inmates had
been sitting or lounging around the fire,

when the roof fell in and killed them.

There are thousands of small mounds in

that neighborhood.
It is a well known fact that Indian tales,

and so-called traditions, like some other

tales, must be rceived with a great deal of

caution, but there is a circumstantiality

about this which at least gives it an air of

great plausibility. If the "Ground House"
people^referred to were indeed the remnant
of a vanishing race, then their final exter-

mination took place less than three cen-

turies ago, or near the beginning of the

seventeenth century. They no doubt had
disappeared from the Ohio Valley a con-

siderable time before that.

That the Indians themselves were mound
builders, to some extent, is attested by
members of De Soto's expedition to the
Mississippi in 1541, when they found
among the Cherokees many villages built

on mounds erected by (hose people. Early
accounts of the Natchez Indians describe
the king's house as on a high mound, with
the dwellings of the chiefs on smaller
mounds about it. When a king died, his

successor did not occupy his house, but
built another on a new mound. F.ven the

Iroquois built mounds in their own country,

and so did other Indian tribes. Hence the

conclusion is irresistible either that the

Indians found here by the first European
discoverers were direct descendants of the

Mound Builders, who had changed their

habits and mode of living owing to con-

stant wars and other causes, or that they

had exterminated the former people and
occupied their country. And from some
incidents given above, the latter process
would still seem to have been going on at

the time of the arrival of Columbus. Of
course, the origin of the Mound Builders
is a different matter; they may extend back
to the Glacial period, but this is mere
speculation. Of late, the trend of scien-

tific belief has been towards the theory that

they were simply ancestors of the Indians,

but were they ancestors of the more civil-

ized Aztecs and Peruvians? Data on this

subject are yet too meager to dogmatize
with any certainty.

In this connection, as an illustration of

how even scientific men allow their imagi-

nation to run away with them, and draw
deductions from insufficient data, we copy
the following from Prof. J. S. Newberry's
chapter on the physical geography of Ohio,
in Volume I of the Geological Survev. pub-
lished in 187:?:

••During tlu> last two wasoiiH, which have been on
usually ilry. the waters in the Ohio and its tributaries
sunk down lower than was ever known Itefnre. At
Smith's Kerry, where the Pennsylvania Line crosses

the Ohin K'vcr. a ledge of rock was, by the continual
drought, laid bare in the bottom of the river, which
hud never been so fully exposed to tho observation of

the present inhabi timt* of thin region. On this ledge,

a stirfuce from fifty to one hundred feet wide and sev-

eral hundred yard* loug, ttnn found covered with in

script ions, such as are usually ascribed to a race whicli

densely populated this country anterior to the advent
of the nomadic Indians. The existence of these an

cient hieroglyphics, now almost constantly buried be
ncath the waters of I lie Ohio, seems to prove that these

roi-ks were once longer and more fully exposed than

they now are, and that the volume of witter in the

Ohio wan then less than now. The facts I have stated,

associated as they are with others of similar import
which have come to my knowledge, indicate a period
when out climate wns drier than now. or one when from
natural or :<rtilici:il eanses the oscillations of level in

Ihe Ohio wi re greater than they have been during the

last fifty years. It is among the possibilities that we
have here the record of the effect produced upon the
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rlimta of this portion of our country through its

i>iTii|Kit ion during hundred*, pfrhap* thmii>iin<7«, of
yetktt bjr n dense, agricultural population."

It would be difficult to compress more
misinformation, and consequently more
faulty conclusions, within the limits of a
single paragraph than is found in the

above. The one single correct statement
in the whole article is that a ledge of rock
at Smith's Ferry does contain certain

markings, as can Ik* verified by the hun-
dreds who visited the spot last summer
and fall, when the river was lower than in

marks at Steubenville showed live inches

on the bars, with a probable depth some-
what greater. No levels were taken, along
the ledge, but a reasonable estimate placed

the Hat surface on which the figures were
cut at not less than 18 inches above the

water level, some of it higher. So, in

order to cover the figures, the channel
marks at Steubenville must show a depth
of L'.'t or '24 inches. Now, there has been
scarcely a season within the historic period

when the river has not dropped below two
feet at some time (taring the summer or

INDIAN CAHVINUS, SMITH'S KKRKY. NO. 1.

the previous record breaking years. Hut
the markings were not "found" on either

of those occasions. Prom the dimple faet

that the "oldest inhabitant " heard of them
on his first arrival. They have been known
and talked about ever since the settlement

of this valley and before, for the Indians
met here by the first settlers, although they

were familiar with the marks, did not

know, or pretended not to know, by whom
they were made. At the time the writer

visited the spot hist fall ( 1 5)08), the river

fall, frequently remaining Mow that figure

for quite a while. Thus, no special aridity

was necessary to give opportunity for tin—

work. The rocks were exposed prohnbh
for a longer period in 1IHJH than at any
other lime in their history. As to aserih

ing the carvings "to n race which densely
populated this country anterior to the ad
vent of the nomadic Indians," or "thai we
have here the record of the effect produced
upon the climate of this portion of our
country, through it- occupation during
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hundreds, perhaps thousands, of years, hy
a dense agricultural population," that is

all the veriest nonsense.
As to the real origin of theso carvings,

there is little doubt that they were made by
the "nomadic Indians" aforesaid, some
time anterior to the arrival of the whites

in the valley. Their location is twenty-
eight miles north of Steubenville, where the

river has cut its way down to the Piedmont
sandstone, the layers lying here practically

horizontal.

In the first illustration accompanying

one side, turtle or tortoise, an Ohio River
Hellbender with some nondescript lines.

There are other markings, but not of spe-

cial importance.
The tools used may have been flint or

copper, more likely the latter.

Now, at the advent of the whites, the Iro-

quois confederation controlled the upper
Ohio Valley. They were divided into eight

clans or families, each tracing its descent
to a common ancestry. This has nothing
to do with their nationality, and for a
description of the eight clans in the con-

I MilAN CAUVINGS, SMITH'S KKHHY. NO. '2.

this chapter, reproductions from a photo-
graph, may be traced the outline of at least

live animals, and it is not unreasonable to

assume that they represent respectively a

deer, a turtle or a tortoise, a bird, a beaver,
and a crawfish. The other cut evidently
shows part of a man's body, a large bird,

apparently hovering over a papoose, and a

large, composite figure ,whieh probably in-

cludes two or more animals. The writer
;ilso made rough sketches of a number of
oilier figures, including a man, boy, wolf,

two birds, a bear, fish with both eves on

fedcraey of five nations, the reader is re-

ferred to I'arkman. Each of these clans

was named after some animal, which was
at once its symbol and evidence of kinship.

The eight clans of the Iroquois were the

Wolf, Rear, Beaver, Tortoise, Deer, Snipe,

Heron, Hawk. There is no difficulty in

identifying the above named animals along
with others. These figures were regarded
of sufficient interest to have plate casts

made of them, which were exhibited at the

Chicago World's Fair and placed in the

Carnegie Museum at Pittsburgh. Their
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antiquity than if made l»y the Iroquois, for

the Algonquin* were the predecessor* and
enemies of tlie Iroquois in this section.

One of the figures hears a striking resem-
blance to the thunder hird of the Ojihwas,
\vlu»si> home is now in ( 'nnnda. Sonic draw-
ings made hy Ojihwas while sojourning in

northern Michigan last summer were strik-

ingly suggestive of this carving. It has been
suggested that a prayer for rain is carved
here, which would he cviilcnec. as is indeed

or hy some tribe that antedated them. It

is possible that the figures arc of Algon-

quin origin and, if so. they are of greater

been also suggested that the marks indi

catc tribal boundaries, records of visit- a-

(d* a modern traveler to a hotel, a good li-h

ing point, or possibly simply the work of

some prehistoric William Ktuhhs, who cer-

tainly had no idea of becoming famous.

However, some Of them are at least signifi

cant, even lines drawn apparently at ran

INDIAN < AKVIXfiS, BROWN'S ISLAND. NEAR STEIIO \ VII. I. K.

the location of the figures, that droughts
are not confined to recent periods. Il has

story, if they have any. lias never Keen

translated. hi some other instances of

Bitch work there has been some cine by
which an interpretation could he worked
out, hut here there is none.

It has been suggested that they mark tile

location of some tribe, but as haft been
stated the Iroquois took care that no other

tribes should remain berenliouts, so that

the marks were made hv their VOUUg men

(loin; hut to theorize would require vol-

umes.
The Piedmont sandstone iii which the fig-

ures are cut shows the marks of the wave
lets when this section was an estuary of
the Carboniferous nge, which indicated t<»

some of the visitors that the current of the

liver at one time (lowed in an opposite

direction. I'ut the river was not there

until ages later.

There is another set of carvings on the
\Ves1 Virginia side of the river, op)K>site
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Brown's Island, six miles above Steuben-

ville, quite as interesting as those at

Smith's Ferry, although not so numerous.
One represents a wild turkey and is about
life size. Stretched across its neck, ap-

parently in flight, is a wild goose with neck
extended at full length. The heart of the

goose is indicated by a small circle, with a
line extending to the head. Such lines are
frequently found, and appear to have some
religious or legendary significance. Good
photographs have been obtained of these

and other animals, variously supposed to be

a fox, bear, etc. There are also some out-

lines of feet and numerous strokes which
are evidently parts of figures worn away
and obliterated by the running waters.

The river current is much stronger here
than at Smith's Ferry, which would ac-

count for the more rapid obliteration of the

figures, outside of a possible difference in

the character of the sandstone. The lines

of the figures are grooved, about the size

of a small finger, and appear as though
they were made by rubbing, and not by
chipping, although long action of the water
has doubtless contributed towards wearing
down the sharp edges. While we cannot
say positively that metal instruments were
not used in their construction, yet the indi-

cations point to the use of flint or some
other hard stone.

Some skepticism has been expressed as
to the genuineness of these figures, and in-

stances have been related of white boys cut-

ting marks here in recent years. There are
some modern imitations of the original

carvings, but there is not the slightest diffi-

culty in distinguishing the modern from
the ancient inscriptions, and they really

furnish strong testimony in favor of the
genuineness of the older work. The figures

are located at the upper eutrance of Holli-

day's Cove, already referred to in connec-

tion with river terraces, and very possibly

are on the line of an old Indian trail lead-

ing across the river, just as the ones farther

up the stream find their natural location at

the month of Little Beaver. It is not neces-

sary to suppose that this work was all

done at one time, although it could easily

have been accomplished during a single

dry season, but may have been added to at

different times, as the tribes passed and
repassed.
Like the ruins of Phihe, what is left of

these designs will soon be buried perma-
nently beneath the waters. The slack-water

system inaugurated by the Government is

approaching completion on the upper Ohio.

When that is accomplished these records
will be permanently covered. Fortunately,
they have been pretty thoroughly recorded
by means of photographs, drawings and
"squeezes," and in a few instances by the

removal of the rock itself, so that for philo-

logical purposes they will still be accessible.

In this connection, it may be of interest

to note that, a few years ago, while exca-

vations were in progress for the construc-

tion of the Pittsburgh, Wheeling & Ken-
tucky Railroad at Short Creek, on the

opposite side of the river from Warrenton,
quite a large bed of freshwater mussel
shells was encountered. The species was
the same as in the adjacent waters. The
collection, however, was evidently of arti-

ficial origin, indicating that the family
or settlement there had used these bivalves

for food, and thrown the shells in the most
convenient place, which was, no doubt, the

door of their dwelling, if they had any.

Amongst other fantastic ideas in this

connection, it has been suggested that the

great serpent mound in Adams County is

symbolic of events in the Garden of Eden,
which was located in Ohio. If a site for the

garden were to be chosen at the present
day, no doubt Ohio would have preference
over the Euphrates Valley, but it is hardly
worth while to discuss that proposition.

It is frequently asserted that the streams
in this vicinity in the early days were prac-

tically the same the year round. This is

not correct. No doubt the removal of the

forests has made the shallow period longer
and tended to increase the flood height, but

the Indian carvings above descrihed prove
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that there was low water in the Ohio liiver

before the advent of the white man, and
there are plenty of Indian traditions as to

floods. The record flood at Steubenville
was February 7, 1884, when the marks
showed 49 feet 1 inch. In 1907, it reached
48 feet 3 inches. The Pittsburgh marks,
however, are as follows:

February 10, 1832 35.0 f«>t

April 19, 1832 . 31.9 feet

March 18, 1865 31.4 feet

February 10, 1866 32.0 feet

February 6, 1884 33.3 feet

February 18, 1891 31.3 feet

March 2, 1902..... 32.4 feet

January 83, 1904 30.0 feet
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CHAPTER III

THE INDIAN TRIBES

Jefferson County and Neighboring Aborigines— Their Locations, Traditions and
Mythology—Indian Character Generally.

It seems to be conceded by the generality

of scientists that man in America is not
autochthonous, but has migrated at some
period, perhaps at various times, from the

Asiatic Continent and perhaps from Eu-
rope, although little consideration is given
to the latter. Even if it be conceded that

man has descended (or ascended) from the
Simian apes, no such apes have been found
in America, and while South America has
plenty of monkeys it is agreed that the
gap as at present disclosed is too wide to

be bridged on any theory of evolution.

Hence science and tradition are in accord
on this point. Nearly all the Indian tribes

seem to have beliefs or traditions more or
less vague that their ancestors came from
the west, and the partially developed civili-

zation of the southern part of North Amer-
ica and the northern part of South America
bears some marked resemblances to similar

work in the Eastern continent. That there
are marked differences is true, but no
greater than might have been expected in

the divergence from a common stock

through centuries of separation. That
there could be a migration from the north-
east coast of Asia to the northwest coast of
America is apparent by a glance at the
map. The Aleutian Islands extend from
Alaska so far out into the Pacific that San
Francisco is actually the central city of
the United States on "an east nnd west "line.

We know that in historic times numerous
vessels have been driven by storms from
the Japanese coast towards the west, some
of them as far as America, and this has
probably been going on from the time the

first sea-going fishing boat was constructed.

It would be unprofitable to follow all the

speculations on this subject, and we shall

only refer to a late theory which has been
advocated with considerable confidence by
Prof. William E. (iriffis, who, for a number
of years, was a resident of Japan and mem-
ber of the faculty of the University of
Tokio. Ilis published works, The Mikado 's

Empire and Evolution of the Japanese
People, are recognized as standards. He
comes to the conclusion that the original

settlers of Japan were the Ainos or Amus,
a miserable remnant of which still exists

in the northern part of the empire, having
been forced thither by the Mongol and
Malay invasions. These Ainos he con-

sidered to be degenerate descendants of
the Aryans, who, according to late authori-

ties, did not make a migration westward,
but eastward from their home in Central
Europe, not Asia, until some of them, at

least, reached the islands of the Pacific.

From there, as we have already shown, the

passage to America was comparatively
easy. He does not claim that they were
the progenitors of the pre-Glacialites or
the Mound Builders, but of the red Indian,
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and gives many facts to support his

theories. For instance, when lie took In-

dian photographs to Japan the residents

there found a remarkahle resemblance to

themselves. Possibly the Indians, the Jap-
anese and the white settlers of North
America are more nearly related to each
other than they have imagined.

Passing by all this for what it may he
worth, we come to the actual condition of

things when the first Europeans reached
these shores. There were many tribes oc-

cupying the country between the Atlantic
and the Mississippi and between the lakes

and the Gulf of Mexico, but two great com-
binations overshadowed all others, and
to a great extent controlled many of the

smaller tribes. These were called the Lenni
Lenape, known later under the general
name of Algonquins, and the Mcngwe or
Iroquois. It is proper to say that there
was great confusion in designating these
tribes by the early settlers, and there is

often considerable difficulty in properly
locating them. The Lenape were some-
times called Delawares by the English,
from the name of one of the tribes. The
Mengwe were also called Mingoes, this be-

ing at first a corruption by ignorant white
men and afterwards adopted by the Dela-
wares as a term of reproach, it literally

meaning absentee, or one away from home.
The Virginia Indians who, for a while, had
a strong confederacy, spoke the Algonquin
language. We have already referred to the
tradition of the Lenape or Delawares, that
they came from the west and had a bloody
war with the dwellers on what is now De-
troit River, and from them we get the name
Namoesi Sipu, or River of Fish, now the

Mississippi, and Allcgeni, from which we
derive the name Allegheny. They united
with the Mengwe after the Detroit River
war, the latter keeping to the north along
the Great Lakes, and the Lenape moving
along the Ohio River and its tributaries,

subsequently crossing the mountains and
establishing themselves along the Potomac,
the Susquehanna, the Delaware and the
Hudson, and finally stretching up into the

New England States. They left roufederate
tribes, as well as indc|K'ndcnt>. in the Mis-

sissippi Valley, who had their own troubles

with the Meugwe who stretched along the

lakes and touched the Algonquins at almost
every point. The Long Council House of

the Mengwe, whom we shall hereafter call

by their French name, Iroquois, was lo-

cated in the Onondaga Valley, New York,
which may be considered their capital.

Here they organized the confederacy of the
"Five Nations," conqiosed of the Mo-
hawks or lire striking people, Senecas or
Mountaineers, Cayugas, from the name of

a lake; Onondagas, or hill-top dwellers, and
Oneidas, or Pipe Makers. To these was
added afterwards a sixth, the Tuscaroras,
driven by whites from North Carolina in

1712. The original confederacy was organ-
ized at least two centuries before that time.

Each nation was divided into eight tribes

or families, called after the wolf, bear,

beaver, turtle, deer, snipe, heron and hawk.
The Mohawks guarded the home field in

what are uow the valleys of the Mohawk
and the Hudson, and their chief was also

chief of the confederacy. The Senecas,

with whom the denizens of this valley were
most familiar, were the most numerous and
warlike, and to them was intrusted the task

of guarding the western possessions. The
Onondagas had the chief sachem, to whom
was referred all disputes. The Cayugas
watched the Delaware and Susquehanna
Valleys, while the Oneidas were stationed

along the lakes and St. Lawrence. When
their parliament met in the grand council

house at Onondaga, their deliberations

were grave, and their military expeditions

were carried out in a manner that would
not have discredited Hannibal or Alexan-
der, while they were as merciless as they

were fearless. They have been called, not

inappropriately, "The Romans of Amer-
ica." Their confederacy lasted about three

hundred years.

Before the English arrived at James-
town, the Iroquois had completely subju-

gated the Delawares. who with other tribes

in Pennsylvania were ruled liy a chief sent
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by the Iroquois for that purpose, very
much after the manner of the Roman pro-

consuls. Among these was the Cayuga
chief, Shikellinius, father of the famous
Logan, who dwelt at Shamokin, on the Sus-

quehanna. In 1742 the chiefs of the Dela-

wares were summoned to Philadelphia to

make a "treaty," but really to force them
to give up their lands along that river.

Connossatego, an Iroquois, made a speech
calculated to humiliate the Delaware* to

the bitter dregs. He called them old

women, told them they had no right to con-

trol these or any other lands, and ordered
them and their whole tribe into the interior

to Wyoming or Shamokin. Sadly, they left

their homes for the Susquehanna, where
the lands were already occupied by the

Shawnees, who dared not protest ; so some
of the Delawares stopped there, and others

crossed the mountains. Subsequently, they

moved to Ohio, where we will hear of them
later.

To go back a little, in 1650, the Iroquois

invaded the territory of the Hurons on the

eastern shore of that lake, almost extermi-

nating them, the remnant finding a pre-

carious home at the head waters of the

Mississippi. The Eries living south of that

lake were exterminated five years later, a

few being incorporated with the victors or

other tribes. The Andastes, in the Alle-

gheny Valley, shared the same fate. In
fact, the all-conquering confederacy carried

its arms from New York to the Carolinas
and from New England to the Mississippi.

A certain writer says :

4 4 At the commence-
ment of the eighteenth century, the terri-

tory now Ohio was derelict, except as the

indomitable confederates of the north made
it a trail for further hostilities, or roamed
its hunting grounds."

Hildreth, in his Pioneer History of the

Ohio Valley, says: "Year after year the

savage and warlike inhabitants of the

north invaded the country of the more
peaceable and quiet tribes of the south.

Fleets of canoes built on the headwaters of

the Ohio and manned with the fierce war-
riors of the Iroquois or Five Nations, an-

nually floated down this quiet stream,

carrying death and destruction to the in-

habitants who lived along its borders. All

the fatigue and trouble of marching long
distances by land wus thus avoided ; while

the river afforded them a constant maga-
zine of food in the multitude of fishes which
filled its waters. The canoe supplied to the

Indian the place of the horse and wagon
to the white man in transporting the muni-
tions of war. These they could moor to

the shore and leave under a guard, while
the main body made incursions against the

tribes and villages living at one or more
days' march in the interior. If defeated,

their canoes afforded a safe and ready
mode of securing a retreat far more cer-

tain than it could be by land. When in-

vading a country, they could travel by
night as well as by day, and thus fall upon
the inhabitants very unexpectedly; while,

in upproaching by land, they could hardly
fail of being discovered by some of the

young hunlers in time to give at least some
notice of their approach. The battles thus

fought along the shores of the Ohio, could
they have been recorded, would fill many
volumes."

This is not the place to discuss the now
academic question as to the extent the In-

dians were wronged by the occupancy of
their lands by the white settlers, or to con-

sider whether loose roving tribes scattered

over a continent and subsisting practically

by the hunt and chase could acquire title to

the lands over which their fleeting foot-

steps trod. It is sufficient to say that long
before the advent of either the French or
the English, might made right in the Ohio
Valley, and the only way to hold land or
even life itself was for the possessor to

prove himself stronger than his opponent.
Certainly the Iroquois were not deserving
of any special consideration, although, hav-
ing fallen out with the French, who were
generally successful in cajoling the In-

dians, they served for a while the useful

purj)ose of a barrier between the Canadian
settlements on the north, and the Dutch
and English on the south, giving the latter
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time to acquire the numbers and strength
which enabled them in time to vanquish
their northern competitors in the struggle
for the control of the continent.

Although the Iroquois were able to ex-

tend their conquests over a territory broad
enough to include a magnificent empire, its

consolidation and retention were quite be-

yond them. Had their powers of construc-
tion been equal to those of destruction, the

left almost as swiftly. Consequently, as

soon as the pressure was removed, the old

tribes or new combinations sprang up like

a new set of vegetation after the soil has
been devastated by a prairie fire. Their
troubles with the French, against whom
they had sworn eternal enmity, also gave
them occupation at this time, and gave
them less leisure for their characteristic

forays. So, l>efore the end of the seven-

I VI- SHOWINt; LOCATION OF INDIAN TRIBES.

history of America would have been quite

different. But force and cruelty wen- the

only influences they brought to bear, and
their treatment of the Delaware* is only a

sample of what every other tribe received

or could expect, who acknowledged their

sway. H would have taken a large stand-

ing army to keep their vassals in subjec-

tion and that the Iroquois did not have.

They came as the wings of the wind and

tecnth century, we find located in Ohio
several strong tribes, among them the Dela-
wares, who have recovered their original
power. In Vol. VII.. of the Ohio Archae-
ological Society publications, is a valuable
article on The, Indian Tribes of Ohio, by
William K. Moorehead, in which is printed
the following map showing the locution of
the tribes as they stood in 1740. The rivers

flowing southwardly into the Ohio begin
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with the Muskingum ou the east, then the

Scioto, Little Miami and Great Miami, in

order. Those flowing into Lake Erie are

the Cuyahoga on the east, then the San-

dusky, and Mamnee or Miami of the North.

This arrangement could hardly be cor-

rect as regards the Delawares, for, as we
have seen, thev did not leave their old home
until 1742, but it is certain that by 1750

they had become fully settled in Ohio and
had recovered much, if not all, their pris-

tine prestige. In fact, the Ohio country

was very favorable to the rapid develop-

ment of a vigorous population, just as it

has been since. There were openings in

the great forests sufficient for the moderate
amount of cultivation needed or desired by
the Indians, furnishing desirable sites for

their villages ; wild fruits and game, as we
have seen, were abundant, the location was
a central one between the East and the

West, climatic extremes were not too se-

vere, and the attraction was as strong for

the red as it afterwards was for the white

men. Except when they were hindered by
their own or hostile war parties, the In-

dians paid more attention to agriculture

than is generally supposed, and white set-

tlers at Jamestown and other points were
dependent on them for supplies to avert

a famine. One authority says that maize
or Indian corn was prepared in more than
thirty different ways, each of which had
an individual name, a proceeding which
would tax the ingenuity of the modern chef.

The first settlers of Ohio found several dif-

ferent varieties, perhaps as many as we
have today, although the Indians had no
Burbank. Then they had beans, pumpkins,
and sweet potatoes, and as for wild pota-

toes, different kinds of nuts, haws, paw-
paws, strawberries, blackberries, rasp-

berries, maple sugar, plums, persimmons,
grapes, wild honey, oil from walnuts and
bears, they had in abundance. Their culti-

vation and love for tobacco has been more
generally immortalized than any other sen-

timent or people known. A cigar store

without the statue of an Indian would
hardly be recognized. So, if the Ohio coun-

try was not the Garden of Eden, it was
certainly the barbarians' paradise.

The headquarters of the Delawares were
on the Muskingum, from whence they
claimed control over nearly half the state.

West of them were the Shawanoes, who
seem to have been driven from the south,

working northward until they settled in

the beautiful Scioto Valley. They have
been traced to many different points far

distant from each other, and some have
placed their original home in Florida, on
the Suwanee or Shawnee River. They ap-
]>ear to come to Ohio about the same time
as the Delawares, possibly a few years
earlier. Two of their tribes have been com-
memorated in the names of the cities of
Piqua and Chillieothe. They numbered
Cornstalk and Tecumtha among their

chiefs, the former leading the Indians in

the battle of Point Pleasant, at the mouth
of the Knnawha in 1774, and Tecumtha,
true to the traditions of his race, meeting
his death at the battle of the Thames, in

Canada, fighting the Americans on October
5, 1813. He was born near Chillieothe,

about the year 1770.

The Miamis were a tribe of Algonqnins
whom the French first met near Green Bay,
Wis., in 1658. About 8,000 of them were
also found in 1670 at the head of the Fox
River, Wisconsin, living in a palisaded vil-

lage in houses of matting, and apparently
more advanced in civilization than the sur-
rounding tribes. In 1683 they were at-

tacked by the Iroquois on the St. Joseph
River, and at the same time were at war
with the Sioux. In 1G86 they fought the
French, and, making some agreement with
the English, they joined their former ene-
mies, the Iroquois, against the Hurons, and
threatening the Chippewas. They seem to

have extended down into Illinois, Indiana
and western Ohio, and do not seem to have
had traditions of ever occupying any other
territory, so they must have been here for
many generations. Their principal vil-

lages were at the headwaters of the three
Miami Rivers and along the Wabash as far
south as Vincennes.
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North of the Mianiis were the Ottawas,
extending along the Sandusky River to

Lake Erie, with some of them in southern

Michigan.
Tl»e word Ottawa signifies trader, and

was said to have heen applied to the trihe

from the fact that it occupied an island in

what is now the Ottawa River, where they

exacted toll from all the Tndians and canoes

going to or coming from the country of the

Hurons. A Jesuit priest, Father Le Jeune,
states that though the Hurons were ten

times as numerous as the Ottawas, they

submitted to the tribute, whieh indicates

that their sovereignty over the river was
recognized. The Rhine Barons, who ex-

acted tribute from traders and travelers

along that river, seem to have had their

counterpart on this side of the waters. But
the Iroquois were no respecters of vested

rights, and when the Hurons were driven
from their homes the Ottawas suffered the

same fate. Taking refuge among the Pot-

tawatomies and Ojibwns, the fugitive Otta-

was found a temi>orary refuge on the west-

ern shore of Luke Huron and the northern
portion of the lower Michigan peninsula.

Prom there they migrated to the islands at

the western end of Lake Erie and the San-
dusky peninsula, where they were found
by the French in 1750. tt is stated that

only among the Ottawa Indians were the

heavenly bodies worshiped, the sun being
regarded as the Supreme Deity. Their
mythology was more complicated than
usual among the Indians, and they kept an
annual festival to celebrate the beneficence

of the sun; on which occasion the luminary
was told that this service was in return for

the good (muting he had procured for his

people, and as an encouragement to per-

severe in his friendly cares. They some-
times erected an idol in the middle of their

towns and offered sacrifice to it, but this

practice was not general. On first witness-

ing Christian worship, the only idea sug-

gested by it was that of asking some tem-
poral good, which was either granted or
refused. This, however, was a characteris

tic of all heathen religions, and Christians

to this day have not gotten entirely away
from it, as instanced by vows made to per-

form some act of worship or make some
contribution in return for assured safety

from disaster or conferring of some tem-
poral benefit. The whole subject of the

Indian religion is an uncertain and compli-
cated one. It is maintained that the sup-

posed simple belief in a single Great Spirit

has no foundation among the Indians, but
was assimilated from the whites at an early
date, for the Indian has an imitative nature
second only to the Chinese. It would be
going too far, however, to say they had no
original religion, as has been maintained in

some quarters, for as we shall see, they
were highly superstitious, which airgues a
conviction of an unseen world, and the
elaborate and complicated mythology of the
Aztecs and the Peruvians did not grow
from nothing.

The Ottawas deserve a place in history
if they had done nothing else than produce
the great chief Pontiac, whose combination
of the western tribes into a simultaneous
attack on the English, in 17<>3, the year the
French rule ceased in the Canadas, gave
evidence of leadership that will not suffer
by comparison with many whose names
have been placed higher up on the roll of
fame.

Closely united with the Ottawas were the
Wyandot s, descendants of the Hurons,
whom the Iroquois had driven from their
northern home. Freed finally from the
pursuit of their terrible enemies, they
found a refuge in southern Michigan and
northwest Ohio, and by the middle of the
eighteenth century had again become a
powerful tribe.

Last, but far from lea.st, wen- the out-
lying settlements of the Iroquois on the
south shore of Lake Erie. As we have
seen, they had driven away the Eries from
all this country extending from Buffalo
westward. The Senecas, as we indicated,
were the most numerous and powerful of
the Troquois, and they were appointed to
guard tlie western boundaries of the Six
Nations. Their villages extended over into
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northwestern Pennsylvania, along the Alle-

gheny and, to a limited extent, down the

Ohio, and they also held an important post

or "capital" in the Tuscarawas Valley. As
we shall see, they had three settlements on
the Ohio.
Were we writing a history of the Indian

tribes, this portion of our work alone would
easily expand to one or more volumes, hut

we aimed to give only an outline picture

of the condition and character of the tribes

who control led the Ohio wilderness at the

advent of the white men, which will give a

better understanding of what follows. We
have seen that the state was pretty well

occupied by a number of powerful tribes,

among which the Iroquois, although they

had lost some of their former power, still

stood preeminent. To this occupancy of
the soil there was a very important excep-
tion, and that was the Ohio Valley. While
villages were numerous elsewhere, there
was a tract forty to sixty miles in width,
from the confluence of the Allegheny and
Monongabela to the mouth of the Big
Miami, that wus practically deserted. It

seems to have been a general hunting
gronnd for the various tribes, and doubt-
less the memories of the visits of the ter-

rible Iroquois in former days had some-
thing to do with keeping settlements away
from the river. In 174'J, when the French
commander, De Celoron, came down the
river, the only village found, or at least

mentioned was what bus since been known
as Lngstown, seventeen miles below Pitts-

burgh, and a settlement near the mouth of
the Scioto. In the former were found Iro-

quois, Delaware*, Shawanocs, Ottawas and
others, and in the latter the same, with
Miamis and Indians from nearly all the

northwestern tribes or "upper country.''

This would indicate a general, if only a tem-
porary, peace among the different tribes.

Four years later, Washington found Tana
charison, Half-King of the Iroquois, at

I^ogstown, and some members of that na-

tion settled on the terrace below Steuben

-

ville, which was designated as Mingo Town.
These were probably Senecas, the name

Mingo simply meaning a wanderer or an
absentee from home, a name generally ap-

plied to the Iroquois in this section, which
is sufficiently indicative of the temporary
nature of their sojourn. Logan, who was
a Cayuga, was said to have dwelt at Mingo
for a while, but this is not authoritative,

his title, "Chief of the Mingoes," simply
meaning that he was the head one of his

tribe away from home. He was located,

in 1772, at the mouth of the Big Beaver,
and some of his relatives had a hunting
camp at the mouth of Yellow Creek, where
they were massacred in the spring of 1774.

So far we have treated of the aborigines
of this section for the most part without
regard to their contact with the whites,

with whom their subsequent history is in-

extricably mingled. Before leaving them aB
the possessors of the country it will be pro-

fitable to glance at their general character,
their habits, domestic and social relations,

native ability, religion (or the lack of it),

superstitions, etc. For this we are largely

indebted, as elsewhere in this work, for the
excellent summary in Caldwell's history of

Belmont and Jefferson counties, published
in 1880, as well as to Parkman, Heckwelder
and others. General Sherman is credited

with the authorship of the saying that the

only good Indian is a dead Indian, and
from the degenerate descendants of the race
still hovering around our western towns one
is likely to come to that conclusion, and to

regard all stories of noble character and
trustworthy individuals among this race as
pure romances like one of Mrs. Helen Hunt
.Jackson's stories. No doubt there has been
plenty of romancing in regard to the In-

dian, and it would be a* unfair to take

Mrs. .Jackson's pictures as illustrative of

the whole race as it would be to adopt the

prejudices of the most inveterate Indian
hater of the frontier. It must not be for-

gotten that, after all the Indiaus were sav-

ages, and savages are children of larger

growth. A recent writer asserts that every
child under twelve years of age is a natural

savage, a liar and cruel, and only the en-

vironment which has surrounded him from
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birth restrains liim from carrying out his

natural instincts.

In the case of the Indian there was no
such restraining environment, on the con-

trary his natural instincts were allowed
free rein, save only as they were cheeked
by individual or tribal interests. These in-

stincts were freely iudulged before the

whites set foot on this continent, and had
we a history of those days it would be al-

most a continuous recital of internecine

conflicts, wholesale massacres and individ-

ual tortures. But was Kurope, with all its

boasted civilization much better than this

in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries?

What is the history of the Netherlands for

instance, but a record not only of san-

guinary battles, but ruthless slaughter, ex-

quisite tortures, broken faith, ruined cities

and devastated countries? It was a horrible

thing for Indians to burn their prisoners

at the stake, but was it more horrible than

a Spanish auto da feT To take little babies

by the feet and dash their braius out

against a tree makes one's blood run cold,

but we venture to say that during the very
period that the American savages were
accused of doing this thing for every child

they thus murdered, there were ten, yes a

hundred, slaughtered by Alva's troops.

For several centuries past a portion of the

old world has been under control of a

government and set of people, compared
with whom Indian savagery is mildness it-

self, and while these lines are being written

there come reports of wholesale slaughter

and barbarities, yet Christendom so-called,

stands idly by without even offering a

vigorous remonstancc Many relics of var-

ious kinds have been found in so-called In-

dian mounds and interesting objects in

native villages, but none of the ingenious
instruments of torture so common in the

old world, or cells where prisoners were
allowed to rot or starve to death. It was
only among the more advanced commun-
ities that human sacrifices as a religious or
propitiatory ceremony were practiced to

any extent, and in these they might have
pleaded the example of the much landed

(.1 reeks; and after ull it is difficult to see

wherein it is much worse to offer a life as

a propitiatory sacrifice than to burn a per-

son for difference of religious views. It is

also well known that in the process of bor-

der warfare the worst savages were not

always among the Indians, the settlers were
not by any means lacking in ferocity and
kept quite even at least with their dusky
foemen. Then the Indians had what to

them was a very real grievance. When the

first settlers arrived they were few in uuni-

bers, and there seemed to be plenty of
room for all, but as their numbers in-

creased, the hunting grounds were occu-

pied, the game was exterminated or driven
away, and the Bed Men began to realize

that not only were their lands being ab-

sorl>ed but that their very existence was
imperiled. We have already disclaimed
any sentimentalism that would reserve a

whole continent to roving bands of hunting
parties or groups of savage warriors who
in many cases at least had acquired title

by exterminating or driving out the origi-

nal occupants, but self preservation is the

first law of nature, and when the Indians
found themselves crowded out not only of
their hunting grounds but of their villages,

their homes and away from the graves of
their ancestors, it would certainly be very
remarkable that they should not resist with
every means in their power. As for lack

of good faith in connection with Indian
character perhaps the less we say about
that the better.

When the settler returned home after

perhaps a short absence and found his

house in ashes, his wife and children slain

or carried off into captivity, and the labor
of years destroyed he was naturally filled

with a burning desire to wreak vengeance,
not alone on the direct perpetrator of the

outrage, but upon the whole race whose
position and actions made such outrages
possible. When the Indian found his com-
panions or family murdered, his village

destroyed and himself an outlaw he had
precisely the same feeling, and his rage
was not alone against any particular indi-
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vidua], but against every man, woman and
child whose presence was a menace to

everything that he held near and dear.

Hence those interminable border feuds
with the Wetzells and the Kentons on one
side and" a whole Indian tribe on the other
which could only end in extermination.

It is not certain that civilization always
brings happiness. The naked Bushmen of

Africa probably do not feel any better after

having donned the clothes and trappings
of their European superiors. Neither was
the Indian any better off when he came in

coutact with the slowly moving mass of

settlers as it crowded him towards the west.

It was easier to absorb the vices than the

virtues of the superior race, and if the

white man could get drunk the Indian could

get drunker. So with every disease and
defect. Man in his natural state is appar-
ently much less able to resist that which
makes for his harm than when lie has be-

come more civilized. This may partly be

ascribed to the environment and lack of

proper treatment, but this will not account
for all. A mild epidemic of small pox,

chicken pox or measles communicated from
the whites might sweep away a whole tribe

of savages. While in their natural state

their wants were few and easily supplied.

The pleasures of the hunt furnished meat
and clothing and their enclosures furnished
their few simple vegetables. There were
no rich and few poor, all were practically

alike. A chief might possess a few extra

trappings, a few extra furs for his wigwam
but that was all. There was no "business"
except a little trading of furs, weapons or
trinkets, as property, such as it was,
was largely held in common. Hospitality
to the stranger was one of the cardinal vir-

tues, and so long as there was food it was
divided. To refuse to partake was an un-
pardonable breach of politeness even if the

recipient were already surfeited. There
were few great crimes in the villages, and
theft was practically unknown, for there

was little or nothing to steal. He had few
moral laws but observed those he had. The
whites had many and broke them all. Will-

iam Penn gives them the following char-

acter :

"They excelled in liberality. Nothing is

too good for their friends. Give them a
fine gun, coat or other thing, it may pass
twenty hands before it sticks. Light of

heart, strong of affection, but soon spent.

The most merry creatures that live, feast

and dance perpetually. They never have
much nor want much. Wealth circulated
like the blood, all parts partake, and though
none shall want what another hath, yet
exact observers of property. They care
for little because they want but little, and
the reason is, a little contents them. In
this they are sufficiently revenged on us

;

if they are ignorant of our pleasure they
are also free from our pains. They are
not disquieted with bills of lading and ex-

change, nor j>erplexed with chancery suits

and exchequer reckonings. We sweat and
toil to live, their pleasures feed them—

I

mean their hunting, fishing and fowling,
and this table is spread everywhere. They
eat twice a day, their seats and table are
the ground."

Heckwelder says their principal food
(in early times) consisted of game, fish,

corn, potatoes, beans, pumpkins, cucum-
bers, squashes, melons, cabbages, turnips,

roots of plants, fruits, nuts and berries,

not a bad bill of fare, although we are not
quite sure about the cooking. They made
a pottage of corn, dry pumpkins, beans and
chestnuts and fish and dried meats, meats
pounded, all sweetened with maple sugar
or molasses and well boiled. They also

made a good ( ?) dish of ponnded corn and
chestnuts, shell barks and hickory nut
kernels, boiled, covering the pots with
large pumpkin, cabbage or other leaves.

They also made preserves from cran-
berries and crab-apples with maple
sugar. Their bread was of two kinds,
one made of green and the other
of dry corn, the former sifted after
pounding, kneaded, shaped into cakes
six inches in diameter, one inch thick, and
baked on clean, dry ashes, of dry oak
harks. If green it was mashed, put on
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broad green corn blades, tilled iu with a
ladle, well wrapped up and baked in ashes.

They made warrior's bread by parching
torn, sifting it, pounding into Hour, and
mixing sugar. A table spoonful with cold

or boiling water was a meal, as it swelled in

the stomach, and if more than two spoon-
fuls were taken it was dangerous. Its

lightness enabled the warrior to go on long
journeys and carry his bread with him.

Their meat was boiled in pots, or rousted

on wooden spits or coals. In making maple
sugar the sap was gathered in large wooden
troughs haggled out with tomahawks. Hot
stones were then thrown into the sap which
was made to boil, and the process continued
until the required consistency was acquired.

It is probable however, that later a more
expeditious process was used.

For clothing they had blankets made of
beaver and raccoon skins, with frocks,

shirts, imtticoats, leggings and moccasins
of deer, bear and other skins. If cold the

fur was placed next to the body, if warm
outside. Rib bones of the elk and buffalo

were used to shave the hair off of skins

they wished to dress, and the process was
successful. The women also made blankets

of turkey and goose feathers, interwoven
with thread or twine made from the rind

of the wild hemp aud nettles. The men
were clothed in blankets, plain or ruffled

shirts, leggings and moccasins. The women
had petticoats of cloth, red, blue, or black

when they could get it from traders, aud
adorned themselves with trinkets from the

same source, displacing the original ones
of Ixuie and shells. They painted them-
selves with vermillion and the loose women
deeply scarlet. Is this from whence the

term "scarlet woman" is derived? The
men painted their thighs, legs, breasts and
faces, and there were dandies who would
spend all night decorating themselves.
They plucked out their beards and hair on
the bead, except a tuft on the crown, with
tweezers. Heckwelder says. "The Indians
would all be bearded, like white men were
it not for this custom."
An Indiun took his wife on trial. He

built the house and provided the provisions.

She agreed to cook, and raise corn and
vegetables while he hunted or fished. If

both performed their duties they remained
together as man and wife. If either failed

they separated. The household duties were
not heavy. There was but one pot to

clean, no scrubbing, aud little washing, for

cleanliness is not an Indian virtue. If on a
jmiiney, the wife carried the baggage, for

the husband must avoid hard labor and
stiffening of the muscles if he expects to

be an ex|>ert hunter and warrior. The In-

dian loved to see his wife well clothed aud
heme gave her all his skius. This was be-

fore the advent of the fur traders. While
the wives seemed to have the heavy end of
the labor problem, yet their husbands were
not without affection for them. Heck-
welder mentions a case where an Indian
went forty or fifty miles after cranberries
to satisfy his wife's longing. Another dur-

ing a famine went a hundred miles on
horseback (of course after whites had
brought horses into the country) after

some corn, traded his horse for what would
fill the crown of his hat, and walked home
bringing his saddle back with him. If a
man's wife offended him, he seldom abused
her, but would go into the woods and re-

main a week or two, living on meat, leav-

ing his wife uncertain whether he will come
back, and exposing her to the report of
being a quarrelsome woman. When he re-

turns she shows her repentance by atten-

tions, although neither says a word of what
has passed. The wife had her separate
property, which included the contents of
the wigwam except implements of the war
or chase, and the councils and chiefs in the

social government (not the military) were
selected by a council of women from the

male members of the tribe, a situation

which would be considered quite advanced
in these days.

The highest science of the Indian was
war, and all his training was directed to

that end. Kneli gens or tribe had a right to

the services of all its available male mem-
bers in avenging wrongs, in times of war.
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and as hunters in supplying game. In

times of scarcity whatever game was
brought to the camp or village was fairly

divided among all present. The military

council was composed of all the able bod-

ied men of the tribe. The war dance was
the usual preliminary to opening a cam-
paign. It was really a dramatic repre-

sentation of a battle. When the rhythmic
movements to the beating of drums and
singing of songs have roused the warriors
to a pitch of enthusiasm, arrows fly, toma-
hawks are wielded, dead and dying are sup-

posed to strew the field, false scalps are
taken from bleeding (painted) heads, and
the scene closes with shouts of victory and
dirges for the slain. Then all becomes
quiet. The party leaves the village with
its chief at the head threading its way
through the forest in single or "Indian"
file until the unsuspecting enemy is found,
when the dramatic scenes of the war dance
become a reality. Petroleum, which was
found on Yellow Creek in Jefferson County,
was used in mixing war paint and from the

Senecas using this same fluid it was long
known as "Seneca oil." The oil is said to

have given them '

' a hideous glistening, ap-
pearance as well as adding permanency to

the paint and making it impervious to

water."
In this connection it may be mentioned

that the common impression that the In-

dian was superior to his white competitor
in woodcraft or even bravery is without
foundation. Given sufficient experience,
the 'white hunter and trapper has invari-

ably proven the superior of the red man.
The Indian will .stand any sort of torture
with stoicism and face inevitable death with
the calmness of a Christian martyr, but
never could be depended on for an assault
in the open, unless in such over whelming
numbers as to make success certain. A
check would disperse them even though
they outnumbered their opponents several
to one. So long as he could fight from be-

hind a screen or overcome his adversary by
a sudden rush he was cunning and brave,
but he had no notion of standing up in the

open to be shot down. In simple fortitude,

however, he was the equal if not the super
ior of the white man.
Indian councils were noted for a gruvity

and decorum which might well afford an
example to other deliberative bodies. An
orator was never interrupted except by a

gutteral sound "hoogh" expressive of sat-

isfaction or agreement. Antagonists gave
respectful attention to the speaker, and
waited until he closed before rising to re-

ply. The Iroquois were especially eloquent,

and it is unfortunate that there is no record
of their orations. The celebrated speech of

Logan will have later reference, but he was
only one among many. Hedjacket, Corn-
planter, Cornstalk and Tecumstha were only

leading examples in a large company. Con-
cerning one of these an eyewitness and
auditor of the interview between the chief

and Lord Hunmore says: "When he arose
he was in nowise confused or daunted, but
spoke in a distinct and audible voice, with-

out stammering or repetition" and with
peculiar emphasis. His looks while ad-

dressing Dunmore were truly grand and
majestic, yet graceful and attractive. I

have heard the first orators in Virginia,

Patrick Henry and Richard Henry Lee, but
never have I heard one whose powers of
delivery surpassed those of Cornstalk."
The Indian leamed to talk English, per-

haps quite as rapidly as the average for
eigner, but his own vocabulary being lim-

ited he naturally followed the same line in

his acquired tongue. This, so far from
detracting, added to the dignity of his

declarations as they were expressed in

plain Anglo-Saxon. Here is an extract

from an address delivered to President
Washington in Philadelphia in 1790 on be
half of Cornplauter, Great Tree and Half-
King:

"Father, when yoo kindled your thirteen fltvs

separately the wise men nsxeinbled at them told us
that you were nil brother*: the children of one Great
Father, who regarded the re.l people n» hi* children.
They called brothers, ami invited us to his protec-
tioti. They told us he resided beyond the (Trent wati-r*

'

where the nun first ri«e«; nnd he wan a King whose
power no people ro»M re«i*t. iind that hia goodness
ivan as bright as the nun. What they said went t.i
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our heart*. We accepted the invitation, and promised
to obey him. What the Bcneea nation promises they
faithfully perform. When yon refused obedience to
that King »• commanded us to assist hi* beloved men
in making yon sober. In obeying him we did no more
than yourselves had bid us to promise. We were de-
ceived, but your people, teaching us to confide in that
King, had helped to deceive us, and wc now appeal to
your heart. Is all the blame oursf "

Could anything be more logical than the
above T Pages of oration would have been
no more convincing. Here is a bit of elo-

quence from Red Jacket.

"We stand on a small island, in the bosom of the
great waters. We are encircled, we aro encompassed,
the Evil Spirit rides upon the blast and the waters
aro disturbed. They rise, tbey press upon us, ami the
waters once settled over us, we disappear forever.
Who, then, lives to mourn usf None. What marks
our extinction! Nothing. We arc mingled with the
common elements."

Tecumstha in 1810 made a speech in re-

gard to the red men's common occupancy of
the land which would not be a bad argu-
ment at the present day, but we have not
space to multiply examples.

Jefferson County is interested in the ac-

count of the last fight between the Wyan-
dots or Hurons, and their old enemies, the
Iroquois. They had fought together at

Braddock's defeat in 1755, and on the
homeward route the Senecas followed the
trail via Mingo and west to the Tusear-
awns. The Wyandots kept to the north,
striking the ridge between the heads of Elk
Eye Creek (Muskingum) and the Seneca
capital in Tuscarawas. They tried to steal

a inarch on the town, but the Senecas were
alert, and sent Ogista, an old chief, out to

meet them. He went boldly into their camp,
and made an agreement that in lieu of a
general battle each tribe should pick twenty
warriors, willing to suffer death by single
combat. When all were slain they "were to

be covered, hatchet in hand, in one grave,
and henceforth neither Seneca nor Wyan-
dot wore ever again to raise a bloody hand
against the other. Forty braves were soon
selected, the war dance enacted in all its

details, and the carnage began. By night-
fall but one warrior, a son of Ogista, was
left, with none of the enemy to strike him

down. His father took his weapon, and
with it cleaved the head of his offspring.
The dead were gathered into a heap with
their tomahawks by their sides, and a
mound of earth raised over them, (this

reads like a performance of the Mound
Builders) when all repaired to the Seneca
capital and closed the proceedings with a
grand feast, as a memorial of the compact
that the hatchet was to be buried forever
between these two tribes. Fort Laurens
was afterwards erected near here, in 1779,
and was shortly after besieged by 184
Wyandots, Senecas and Mingoes. Suppos-
ing the Indians had left, a party of seven-
teen soldiers went out to catch horses and
gather wood. They were ambushed and all

killed by the Indians, who were performing
religious or funeral rites at the grave of
their relatives.

Indian respect for old age, in fact for
any elderly person was carried to an ex-
treme.
"The aged." they say, "have lived

through the whole period of our lives, and
long before we were born. They have not
only all the knowledge which we possess,
but a great deal more. We, therefore, must
submit our limited views to their experi-
ence." While traveling the eldest always
took the lead, even in the case of children,

and if accosted on the way nobody pre-
sumes to reply except the eldest, whom
they call the speaker. As an illustration
of how fur this rule was carried au inci-

dent is related of a party of Christian In-
dians near Philadelphia being permitted to
return to their homes in the interior, peace
having been concluded with some warring
tribes. They had to cut a path through the.

wilderness which they did with great
amount of labor and delay, and dually came
to a very steep mountain through which no
passage could be found above or below.
They had been following the lead of sev-

eral old men who undertook to be their
guides. There seemed to he no alternative
but to go back and take another road, which
would involve a journey of nearly one bun
dred miles. It occurred to the missionary
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that there was an Indian named David with
them who was acquainted with that part
of the country and might be able to pilot

them out of their difficulty. The supposi-

tion proved correct. David knew a good
road along which the party might easily

pass, but not having been questioned on
the subject, he had hitherto kept silent, and
followed with the rest, although he knew all

the time they were going wrong. He now
led them back six miles where they found
an easy way through the mountain and
pursued their journey.
There was also a strong filial affection

it being considered the bounden duty of
parents to care for their children until they
were old enough to care for themselves, an
obligation that was to be returned by the
children when their parents grew old. In
fact the old were treated very much as
children, and even in hunting parties the
aged were placed where the game would
pass by so they would be in at the death.
Zeisberger says :"Inm free to declare that
among all the Indian nations that I have
become acquainted with, if any one should
kill an old man or woman, for no other
cause than that of having become burden-
some to society, it would be considered as
an unpardonable crime; the general indig-
nation would be excited, and the murderer
instantly put to death. I cannot conceive
any act that would produce such an univer-
sal horror and detestation. Such is the
veneration which is everywhere felt for
old age."
To have one's children taken captive by

the Indians was regarded as the most cruel
fate possible, but unless children were
killed in an attack on a settlement or put
out of the way on the homeward march they
were usually adopted into one of the tribes.

The horrible tortures of children which are
related as part of the history of the Orient
especially had no counterpart among the
earlier American savages. It is a well
known fact that after living a few years
with the Indians, white children were most
loath to return to their former homes, and
force was necessary to compel them to do

so. And it must be remembered, not as a

justification but an explanation, that it

was a cardinal rule of the frontiersman to

which of course there were notable ex-

ceptions, that an Indian had no rights

which a white man was bound to respect.

They reverenced the graves of their dead
which the whites ruthlessly desecrated.

Their women were regarded as the prop-
erty of every dissolute white man whose
basest passions were excited. No consid-

eration was shown their homes or their

families, and as for shooting an Indian,

that attracted about us much attention as
shooting a bear or a wolf. Is it surprising
that under such provocations the untutored
savage engaged in reprisals that make the

blood run coldf Even a civilized Christian
would hardly be expected to maintain an
equable poise under such conditions.

The Indians were not without a rude
code of laws for the punishment of crime.

Theft was punished by double restitution,

treason, which consisted in revealing the
secrets of the medicine preparations, as
well as giving information or assistance to

the enemy, was punished by death. Witch-
craft was punished by death by stabbing,

burning, or with the tomahawk. Probably
the latest instance of this punishment in

Ohio was that of Leatherlips, a chief who
was tomahawked in Franklin County on
June 1, 1810. For adultery a woman had
her hair cropped for first offense, and for

persistency in the practice her left ear was
cut off. Outlawry was recognized, and it

was not only permissible but the duty of
any member of the tribe to kill any one who
had been declared an outlaw.

Reverence for the aged and care for the
children was carried beyond the grave. It

is hardly necessary to repeat what every-

body knows that with the warrior were
buried his weapons, with the hunter his

instruments of the chase, bis cooking uten-
sils and food, with the women their kettles

and cooking apparatus, and with all to-

bacco, as felicity in this world or the next
without tobacco was unthinkable. Among
the Iroquois and others the dead were
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placet! on scaffolds, und evidence of this

practice is yet visible to the traveler on the

Columbia Kiver. Ten days were usually

allowed for decomposition before final

burial, so there was no danger of an Indian
being buried alive.

In presenting a brief review of the bet-

ter side of the Indian character, it must
be borne in mind that he wus after all a
savage with all the traits that might be ex-

isted from such. This is nowhere more
markedly exhibited in his religion if his

system of mythology can be called such.

We have already mentioned that the mon-
otheistic, spiritual idea of a Great Sprit, as

betrayed in the later tribes and which has
been extensively adopted in romance and
poetry was an assimilation from the mis-
sionaries, a habit in which the Indian is

particularly apt. Nobody has made a more
thorough study of this subject than Park-
man, and his conclusions are worthy of

credence. To the Indian the material world
was sentient and intelligent. Birds, beasts,

and reptiles have ears for human prayers,

and are endowed with an influence on hu-

man destiny. A mysterious and inexplicable

power resides in inanimate things. They,
too, can listen to the voice of man, and in-

fluence his life for evil or for good. Lakes,

rivers, waterfalls are sometimes the dwell-

ing-place of spirits; but more frequently

they are themselves living beings, to be
propitiated by prayers and offerings. The
lake has a soul; and so has the river, and

, the cataract. Each can hear the words of

men, and each can be pleased and offended.

Through all the works of nature or of man,
nothing exists, however seemingly trivial,

that may not lie endowed f»r blessing or

for bane. A belief prevailed that men owed
their first parentage to leasts, birds or
reptiles, as bears, wolves, tortoises or
cranes, and the mimes of the totemic clans,

borrowed in nearly every case from ani-

mals, are the reflection of this idea. Were
the Indians the first Darwinians? Conse-
quently an Indian hunter was alwnys an-
xious "to propitiate the animals he sought
to kill. He had often been known to ad-

dress a wounded bear in a long harangue
of apology. Bones of the beavers were
treated with special tenderness, and care-

fully kept from the dogs, lest the spirit of
the dead beaver, or his surviving brethren
should take offense. This feeling extended
to inanimate things. The Ilurons in order
to propitiate their fishing nets and per-

suade them to bring in good draughts, mar-
ried them every year to two young girls

with a more formal ceremony than was ob-

served in human wedlock. So must the fish

also be propitiated, and to this end they
were addressed every evening from the

fishing camps, the speaker exhorting them
to take courage and allow themselves to be

caught, assuring them that the utmost re

spect should be shown to their bones. A
rather slender consolation, one would
think. The harangue took place after sup
per, and during its delivery the remainder
of the party were required to lie on their

backs, silent ami motionless, around the

fire.

Beyond the material world the Indian be-

lieved in supernatural existences known
among the Algonquins us Manitous and
among the Iroquois and ITurons as Okies or
Otkons. In these were included all forms
of supernatural beings, j>ossibly excepting
certain diminutive fairies or hobgoblins,

and certain giants, and monsters which
appeared under various figures, grotesque
and horrible in the Indian legends. There
was little stretch of the imagination here.

In nearly every case, when they revealed
themselves to mortal sight they bore the

semblance of beasts, reptiles, birds or
shapes unusual or distorted. Other mani-
tous without local habitation, good and
evil, countless in numlier and indefinite in

attributes, filled the world and controlled

human destinies of men. These beings also

appear in the shape of animals, sometimes
of human beings, but more frequently of
stones, which when broken nre found full

of living blood and flesh.

Kaeh ludi.in had his guardinti manitou,
to whom he looked for counsel, guidance
and protection, and lliese spiritual allies
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arc obtained by a process not unknown
among more civilized communities. At the

age of fourteen or fifteen, the Indian boy
blackens his face, retires to some solitary

place and remains for days without food.

His sleep is haunted by visions, and the

form which first or most often appears is

that of his guardian manitou; a beast, a
bird, a fish, a serpent, or some other object,

animate or inanimate. An eagle or a bear
is the vision of a destined warrior ; a wolf,

of a successful hunter, while a serpent fore-

shadows the future medicine man, or ac-

cording to others, portends disaster. The
youth henceforth wears about his person
the object revealed in his dreams, or some
portion of it—as a bone, a feather, a snake
skin, or a tuft of hair. This in the modern
language of the tribes is his "medicine."
To it the wearer uses a sort of worship,
propitiates it with offerings of tobacco,

thanks it in prosperity, and upbraids it in

disaster. If his medicine fails to bring the
desired success he will sometimes discard
it and adopt another. The superstition

now becomes mere fetich worship, since

the Indian regards the mysterious object

which he carries about him rather as an
embodiment than as a representative of a
supernatural power.
Besides the beings already mentioned

there were others more or less shadowy.
The Algonquins had what they called Man-
abozho, Messon, Michabou; Nanabush or
Great Ilaro, who was king of all the ani-

mal kings. According to the most cur-

rent belief his father was the West Wind,
and his mother a great granddaughter of
the Moon. Sometimes he is a wolf, a bird,

or a gigantic hare, surrounded by a retinue
of quadrupeds; sometimes he appears in

human shape, of majestic stature and of
great endowments, a mighty magician, a
destroyer of serpents and evil manitous;
sometimes he is a vain, and treacherous
imp, full of childish whims and petty
trickery, the butt and victim of men, beasts
and spirits. Although it does not appear
that he was an object of worship, yet tra-

dition declared him to be tho chief of the

manitous, or the "Great Spirit." He was
.said to have restored the world, submerged
by a deluge. He was hunting in company
with his brother, a wolf, when the latter

fell through the ice of a frozen lake and
was devoured by serpents. Manabozho, in-

tent on revenge, changed himself into the

stump of a tree, and thus surprised and
slew the king of tho serpents as he basked
with his followers in the sun. The other

serpents, who were all manitous, in their

rage caused the waters of the lake to de-

luge the earth. Manabozho climbed a tree,

which in answer to his entreaties, grew as

the flood rose around it, and thus saved him
from destruction. Submerged to the neck
he looked abroad over the waters and at
length saw a loon or great northern diver,

(which formerly was known on the Ohio)
to whom he appealed for aid in the task

of restoring the world. The loon dived in

search of a little mud, as material for
reconstruction, but could not reach the bot-

tom. A musk-rat made the same attempt,

but soon reappeared floating on hia back,

apparently dead. Manabozho, however, on
searching his paws, discovered in one of
them a particle of the desired mud, and of
this, together with the body of the loon,

created the world anew. In some other tra-

ditions Manabozho appears, not as the re-

storer, but as the creator of the world,
forming mankind from the carcases of

beasts, birds and fishes (Darwinism again).

Other accounts represent him as marrying
a female musk-rat by whom he became the

progenitor of the human race.

The Algonquins had traces of a vague
belief in a shadowy spirit under the name
of Atahocan, others saw a supreme being
in tho Sun. while others believed in a per-

sonal devil, who, however, was not as bad
as his wife who was the cause of death,

and who was driven away from the sick

by yelling, drumming, etc.

The Iroquois and Hurons had a tradition

that while the earth was a waste of waters
there was a heaven with lakes, streams,
plains and forests inhabited by animals,
spirits and human beings. Here a female
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spirit was chasing a bear, which slipping

through a hole fell down to earth. Her
dog followed, when she herself, struck with
despair, jumped after them. Others de-

clare that she was thrown out of heaven by
her husband for an amour with a man;
while others believed that she fell in the

attempt to gather for her husband the me-
dicinal leaves of a certain tree. The animals
swimming in the watery waste below, saw
her falling, and hastily met in council to

determine what should be done. The ease
was referred to the beaver who turned it

over to the tortoise, who thereupon called

on the other animals to dive, bring up the

mud and place it on his back. Thus was
formed a floating island on which Ataensic
(the spirit) fell, and where she was deliv-

ered of a daughter who in turn bore two
boys named Taouscaron and .louskeha.

They came to blows, and .Jouskeha killed

his brother with a staghorn. The back of
the tortoise grew into a world full of ver-

dure and life, ruled by Jouskeha and his

grandmother. He was the Sun and she the

Moon. He is beneficent and she is malig-
unnt. They had a bark house at the end
of the earth, and graced the Indian feasts

and dances with their presence. The early
writers call Jouskeha the Creator of the
world.

The Iroquois also had a Mars or god of
war. The flesh of animals and of captive
enemies was burned in his honor. Like
Jouskeha, he was identified with the sun,

aud maybe regarded as the same being
under different attributes. There was an-
other superhuman personage, a deified

hero. He was Taounyawatha, or Hiawa-
tha, said to be a divinely appointed mes-
senger, who made his abode on earth for

the instructions of the race, and whose
counterpart was found in the traditions of
several primitive races.

Parkman thinks that the primitive In-

dian's idea of a Supreme Being was no
higher than could have been expected. The
moment he began to clothe it with attri-

butes, it became finite, and commonly ridic-

ulous. In the primitive Indian's concep-

tion of a God the moral had no part. The
good spirit is the spirit that gives good
luck, and ministers to the necessities and
desires of mankind; the evil spirit is sim-
ply a malicious agent of disease, death and
mischances.

In no Indian language could the early

missionaries find a word to express the
idea of God. Manitou and Oki meant any-
thing endowed with supernatural powers,
from a snake skin, or a greasy Indian con-

jurer, up to Manabozho and Jouskeha. The
priests were forced to use a circumlocution,

"The Great Chief of Men," or "He who
lives in the Sky." Yet the idea that each
race of animals had its archetype or chief

would easily suggest the existence of a su-

preme chief of the spirits or of the human
race. The Jesuit missionaries seized this

advantage. "If each sort of animal has
its king," they urged, "so, too, have men;
and as man is above all the animals, so

is the spirit that rules over men the master
of all the other spirits." The Indian mind
readily accepted the idea, and tribes in no
sense Christian, quickly rose to the belief

in one controlling spirit. The Great Spirit

became a distinct existence, a pervading
power in the universe, and a dispenser of
justice. Many tribes began to pray to him,
though still clinging obstinately to their

ancient superstitions; and with some, as
the heathen portion of the Iroquois, he was
clothed with the attributes of moral good.
The primitive Indian believed in the fu-

ture state, if not the immortality of the
soul, but he did not always believe in a
state of future reward and punishment.
N'or, when such a belief existed, was the

good to he rewarded a moral good, or the

evil to be punished, a moral evil. Skilful

hunters, brave warriors, etc., went after

death to the happy hunting grounds, while
the slothful, the cowardly and the weak
were doomed to eat serpent* and ashes in

the dreary regions of mist and darkness.
In the general belief, however, there was
but one land of shades for all alike. The
spirits, in form and feature as they had
been in life, weuded their way through dark
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forests to the villages of the dead, subsist-

ing on bark and rotten wood. On arriving

they sat all day in the crouching posture
of the sick, and, when night came, hunted
the shades of animals, with the shades of

bows and arrows, among the shades of

trees and rocks ; for all things, animate and
inanimate, were alike immortal, and all

passed together to the gloomy country of

the dead.
Among the Hurons there were those who

held that departed spirits pursued their

journey through the sky, along the Milky
Way, while the souls of dogs were con-

signed to another route, known as the

"Way of the Dogs."
At intervals of ten years the Hurons and

some other tribes collected the bones of
their dead and deposited them with great
ceremony in a common place of burial. The
whole nation was sometimes assembled on
such occasions, and hundreds of corpses
were buried in one pit. From this time the

immortality of the soul began. They took
wing, as some affirmed, in the shape of
pigeons, while others declared that they
journeyed on foot and in their own like-

ness, to the land of shades, bearing with
them ghosts of the wampum belts, beaver
skins, bows, arrows, pipes, kettles, beads
and rings, buried with them in the common
grave. But the spirits of the old and of the
children, too feeble for the march, were
forced to stay behind, lingering near their

earthly villages, where the living often
heard the shutting of their invisible cabin
doors, and the weak voices of disembodied
children driving birds from their corn
fields.

The Indian land of souls was not always
a region of shadows and gloom. The
Hurons sometimes represented the souls of
their dead—those of their dogs included

—

as dancing joyously in the presence of
Ataentsic and Jouskeha. According to

some Algonquin traditions, heaven was a
scene of endless festivity, the ghosts danc-
ing to the sound of the rattle and the drum,
and greeting with hospitable welcome the

occasional visitor from the living world;

for the spirit land was not far off, and rov-

ing hunters (alias uEneas) sometimes
passed its confines unawares.

Generally, however, the spirits on their

journey heavenward were beset with diffi-

culties and perils. There was a swift river

which must be crossed on a log that shook
beneath their feet, while a ferocious dog
opposed their passage, and drove many
into the abyss. The river was full of stur-

geon und other fish, which the ghosts
speared for their subsistence. Beyond, was
a narrow path, with moving rocks, which,

like those which threatened the Argonauts,
each instant crashed together, grinding to

atoms the less nimble of the pilgrims who
tried the passage. A person named Osco-
tarach, or Head Piercer, dwelt in a bark
house beside the path, and it was his office

to remove the brains from the heads of all

who went by, as a necessary preparation

for immortality. According to some, the

brain was afterwards restored to its owner.
Dreams were a universal oracle. They

revealed to the sleeper his guardian spirit,

taught him the cure of his disease, warned
bim against sorcerers, guided him to his

enemy or haunts of game, and unfolded the

book of the future. Their behests must be
obeyed to the letter—a source of endless

misery and abomination. There were pro-

fessional dreamers and professional inter-

preters of dreams. The Hurons and Iro-

quois had a dream feast, which was a scene

of frenzy, where the actors counterfeited

madness and the town became worse than
a lnnatic asylum. Each person pretended
to have dreamed of something necessary to

his welfare, and rushed from place to place

demanding of all he met to guess his secret

requirement and satisfy it.

Surrounded by such a cloud of demons
and spirits, the Indian lived in perpetual
fear. The turning of a leaf, the crawling
of an insect, the cry of a bird, the creaking
of a bough, was to him a signal of weal or
woe. Every community swarmed with
sorcerers, medicine men and diviners,

whose functions were often united in the
same person. The sorcerer, .by charms.
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magic songs, feasts, boating of drums, etc.,

had power over the spirits and could call

to him the souls of his enemies. They came
in the form of stones, and he chopped and
bruised them with his hatchet; blood and
flesh issued forth, and the intended victim,

however distant, languished and died. Like
his old world counterpart, he made images
of those he wished to destroy, and, mutter-
ing incantations, punctured them with an
awl, whereupon the persons represented
sickened and pined away.
The Indian doctor in place of natural

remedies relied on dreams, beating of

drums, songs, magic feasts and dances and
howling to drive the female demon from
his patient. The prophet or divines tlrrongh

the flights of birds and movements of fire

and water read the secrets of the future.

Among the Algonquins, a small conical

lodge was made by planting poles in a
circle, lashing the tops together seven feet

from the ground, and closely covering them
with hides. The prophet crawled in and
closed the aperture after him. He theu
beat his drums and sang magic songs to

summon the spirits, whose weak, shrill

voices were heard mingled with his sonor-
ous chanting, while at intervals the juggler
paused to interpret their communications
to the crowd. During the affair, the lodge
swayed to and fro with a violence, to aston-

ish the beholder, and the whole transaction
was such as to give valuable pointers to

modern spiritualistic demonstrators.
The sorcerers, medicine men and divi-

ners did not usually exercise the functions

of priest, in fact the Indians, strictly speak-
ing, had no priesthood. Each man sacri-

ficed for himself to the powers he wished
to propitiate. The most common offering
was tobacco thrown into fire or water.
Scraps of meat were sometimes burned to

the manitous, and, on a few rare occasions
of public solemnity, a white dog, the mystic
animal of many tribes, was tied to the end

of an upright pole, as a sacrifice to some
superior spirit, or to the Sun, with which
the superior spirits were constantly con-

founded by the primitive Indian. Since
Christianity has modified his religious

ideas, it has been, and still is, the practice

to sacrifice dogs to the (Jreat Spirit.

Space prevents even a reference to the

numerous mystic ceremonies, extravagant,
disgusting, designed for the cure of the

sick and the general weal. The details can
he found in any Indian work. If children

were seen in their play imitating any of

these mysteries, they were rebuked and
punished. Secret magical societies existed,

and still exist in the West, which were
greatly feared and respected. Indian tales

must not be told in summer because the

spirits are awake and, hearing what is said

of them, may he offended; but in winter
they are fast sealed up in snow und ice.

The Indian, although a child of nature,
knew nothing of her laws. If the wind
blew, it was because the water lizard, which
makes the wind, had crawled out of his

pond. If the lightning was sharp and fre-

quent, it was because the young of the

thunder bird were restless in their nests.

If the corn failed, the corn spirit was
angry, and if the leavers were shy, it was
because they had taken offense at seeing
the hones of one of their number thrown to

a dog.

As Parkman says, in summing up, the
Indian's gods were no whit better than
himself. Even when he borrows from
Christianity the idea of a Supreme and
Universal Spirit, his tendency is to reduce
Him to a local habitation and bodily shape,
and this tendency disappears only in tribes

that have been long in contact with civilized

white men. The primitive Indian, yielding
his untutored homage to One All-pervading
and Omnipotent Spirit, is a dream of poets,

rhetoricians and sentimentalists.
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CHAPTER IV

COMINO OF THE WHITE MAN

Early Settlers, English and French—Different Methods—Story of De-he-wamis—Wara
With the Whites.

There is a tradition that a party of Eu-
ropeans were wrecked near the mouths of

the Mississippi as early as 1586 and made
their way northeastwardly to the Atlantic

Coast up the Ohio Valley. If so, they left

no record of their wanderings hereabouts,

so they may be dismissed from further

consideration. When the first English set-

tlers arrived at Jamestown, in 1607, they
carried a charter which granted a very in-

definite area of lands extending to the

South Sea, or the Pacific Ocean, which they

supposed lay a short distance west of the

Alleghenies, but the struggle for existence

kept them too busy, and their numbers
were too small to allow any serious atten-

tion to their great western territory, of

which they knew little and cared less. It

was more than a hundred years before they

began to wake up to the possibilities of this

region, and in the meantime another enter-

prising nation had gotten ahead of them.
In the year 1535, Cartier, a French ex-

plorer, ascended the St. Lawrence River,

but it was not until 1608, one year after

Jamestown, that Sir Samuel Champlain
founded the city of Quebec. But the new-
comers speedily made up for lost time.

There was an essential difference between
the English and French methods of settle-

ment. The former were parties of citizens

who, for various causes, came to cast their

lot in the new world by virtue of grants

or charters from the government, but
largely independent, self-governing, seek-
ing little assistance from home, and grow-
ing up into a collection of separate com-
munities scattered along the coast, having
two rather slender bonds of interest, name-
ly, allegiance to the king, and the necessity
of common defense. The French, on the
contrary, derived everything and every
authority from the king. The French sol-

dier and the French priest accompanied the
French commandant, who was the Gover-
nor, and the colonists, like the French peas-
ants, were simply the base which supported
the superstructure. There was one central
government which spoke with authority,
and the will of the commandant at Quebec
was law. This was not the way in which
a wilderness could be settled to udvantage,
and hence it is not surprising that the Eng-
lish settlements grew more rapidly than
the French. On the other hand, the concen-
tration of authority, such as had the
French, was of inestimable advantage,
cither in acquiring territory, contending
with the savages, or struggling with their
white neighbors. These advantages the
French were not slow to improve. Scarcely
had the palisades been erected at Quebec,
when Champlain began his explorations
and discovered the lake which bears his
name. Whether they would have reached
the Atlantic via the Hudson and made New
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York City a second Paris, had not the un-

friendly and powerful Iroquois blocked the

way, is a matter of speculation, but as they

could not advance in this direction they

turned their attention westward. By 1660
they had become familiar with all the great

lakes, and their priests, their trappers and
their voyageurs, were a familiar sight as

far as the west end of Lake Superior, and
along the rivers which feed these sheets of

water. There is a story that two fur trad-

ers in 1654 accompanied a band of Ottawas
500 leagues to the west, returning after two
years bringing wonderful stories of that

region. It would be foreign to our pur-

pose to tell the travels and discoveries of
these and following years, as detailed by
Parkman and others they are more roman-
tic and thrilling than the pages of a modern
novel, and, it may be added, the accounts
are somewhat more instructive. In 1668
numerous missions were established in

what are now the states of Michigan and
Wisconsin, and the exploration of the Mis-

sissippi was broached. There has been
some controversy as to who was the real

discoverer of the Mississippi. The first

record of the river having been seen by a
European, was that of a Spanish navigator
named Menandez, who entered the mouths
but made no exploration of the river.

Then came De Soto, who advanced up the

river in 1541 and died on its banks, but
the stream as a whole was yet unknown
save as tales were gathered from the In-

dians. One idea was that the river flowed
southeast into the Atlantic, another that

it ran into the Gulf of Mexico, and a third,

that it emptied into the Gulf of California.

In 1671, a great congress of Indians was
held at Sault Ste. Marie, at which an
alliance was completed between the French
and Northwestern tribes, which opened the

way for further explorations. So, on May
13, 1673, Father Marquette, Joliet, and five

voyageurs, embarked in two canoes at

Mackinac, and crossing Lake Michigan to

Green Bay went up Fox Biver, made a
portage to the Wisconsin, and descended to

the Mississippi, which they entered on

June 17th with a joy, as Marquette says,
' 4 which he could not express. '

' They sailed

down the great river, stopping at Indian
villages, passing the mouths of the Des
Moines, Illinois, Missouri, "muddy, rush-

ing and noisy," Ohio, and other streams,
until they reached the mouth of the Arkan-
sas. They began their return journey on
July 17, and reached Green Bay in Sep-
tember.
The course of the river was pretty well

determined, but nobody had yet traveled

its full length. This was reserved for La
Salle, a native of Rouen, in Normandy,
where he was born about the year 1635.

He came to Canada in 1667, nnd was there

when accounts of Marquette's and Joliet 's

explorations were received, lie had the
idea, which had been in men's minds ever
since the voyage of Columbus, of finding a
way to China via Canada and the South
Sea, and, returning to France in 1675, he
was warmly received and given the title

of Chevalier. In September, 1678, he
proceeded to Fort Frontenac, on Lake
Ontario, and on November 18th left

there in a little brigantine of ten tons,

the first vessel of European make in

those waters. Nearly a month was con-

sumed in beating up the lake to Niagara
Biver, where the Iroquois had a village,

and where La Salle built a fort which be-

came B'ort Niagara. On January 2(», 1679,
at Cayuga Creek, six miles* above Niagara
Falls, he laid the keel of the first ship to

navigate Lake Erie. La Salle returned to

Frontenac for supplies, but the Ontario
barque was wrecked and most of the sup-
plies lost. However, on August 7th, the
new vessel was launched and named the
Griffin. It had a stormy voyage across
Lake Huron, but reached Mackinac on Au-
gust 27th. Here La Salle built a fort and
trading-house, and then went to Green Bay,
where the ship was loaded with furs and
sent back. She was never heard of again,
having doubtless foundered during a storm
on Lake Huron. La Salle descended the
Illinois Biver to Lake Peoria, where he
built a fort called Creve Coeur, or Broken
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Heart, liaving probably heard of the loss of

the Griffin and being greatly depressed.

His supplies gave out, and the following

spring he sent his companion, Father
Hennepin, on an exploring tour up the Mis-
sissippi, while he should return east for

men and supplies. Tonti, his lieutenant,

was to remain with a small force and hold

the fort. La Salle started back across the

country in March, 1680, with a few atten-

dants, and reached Frontenac, where he
found his creditors had seized all his prop-
erty. But he succeeded in getting both
men and supplies, and started back by the

middle of the summer. He found the fort

deserted, Tonti having become alarmed by
the Indians and returned to the lakes. La
Salle went back to Mackinac, where he met
Tonti. Hennepin had in the meantime
gone up the Mississippi to the falls which
he named St. Anthony, where is now the

thriving city of Minneapolis. He returned
in November, 1680, having made an inter-

esting visit to the Sioux, with whom the

whites were destined to become too well

acquainted in after years. In August,
1681, La Salle started on his third journey
to the Mississippi via Lake Michigan and
the Chicago River. His party consisted of

twenty-three Frenchmen and thirty-one In-

dians, men, women and children. They left

the present site of Chicago about January
5, 1682, and reached the Mississippi on the

6th of February. They resumed their jour-

ney on the 13th, and reached the mouth of

the great river on April 6th. Thus the
whole river had now been traversed from
end to end of its navigable waters, although
its exact sources were not fully traced until

a comparatively recent day. The explorers
traversed the three great channels into the

Gulf and, erecting a column surmounted by
a cross, affixed the arms of France, with
the following inscription:

Louis the Great,
Kino of France ano Navarre,

Reigning April 9, 1682.

Thus was this great Mississippi Valley,

which stretched from the Alleghenies to the

Rockies and from the Lakes to the Gulf,

formally claimed by the King of France.
Having already possessed the country
north of the lakes and about the mouths of

the St. Lawrence, he practically controlled

the continent, save the fringe of English
settlements along the Atlantic Coast and
the Spanish possessions in Mexico and on
the Pacific Coast. In 1688 there were in

all this vast region less than 12,000 Euro-
peans, but this did not prevent the French
from making good their claims by the con-

struction of a chain of forts from Quebec
to the mouths of the Mississippi. It will

be noted that up to this time communica-
tion between the extremities of this mag-
nificent territorial empire had been mainly
via the Great Lakes, which furnished a
natural water communication westward at

all seasons of the year and were compara-
tively safe from the dreaded Iroquois.

From the lakes south they had three routes,

from Mackinac and Green Bay, Kankakee
and Illinois Bivers, and the Maumee and
Illinois. Now they began to turn their

attention to a fourth, the upper Ohio, which
was called by the Indians O-hee-yah, or
Beautiful River, the French calling it La
Belle Riviere, a name well deserved to the
present time, but which industrial progress
and destruction of forests threaten to

make a misnomer. Detroit was founded in

1700, and trading-houses were said to have
been established along the Ohio by 1730.

Most of the Indians were bought over, and
even the Iroquois were induced to be
neutral.

But the English were beginning to wake
up. As we have seen, the charter of the
Jamestown colony extended to the Pacific,

never acknowledged. A council of the Iro-
and the next step was to extinguish the
Indian titles, for French supremacy was
quois, who claimed the Ohio country by
right of conquest, was held at Lancaster,
Pa., in 1744, at which a treaty was made,
somewhat indefinite in terms, but which
was claimed to cede their western posses-
sions to the English, and they proceeded
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to act on that basis. On October 7, 1748,

England and France, who had been at war,

made a treaty of peace at Aix La Chapel le,

but it left the Ohio country still an unset-

tled question. That same year, Thomas
Lee, a member of the Virginia Council,

associated with himself thirteen others, in-

cluding Lawrence and Augustine, brothers

of George Washington, forming what was
called the Ohio Company. The object was
to carry on the Indian trade on a largo

scale. A few English traders had already

ventured into this section, but the amount
of their traffic was trilling. Lands were to

bo taken between the Monongahela and
Kunawha Rivers, on the south side of the

Ohio, but the company was to have the
privilege of locating lands on the north
side if deemed necessary. Christopher Cist
was employed as surveyor, and came as
far as the Miami Indians, 200 miles into

Ohio. The Indians had been invited to

Logstown to form a treaty, without which
operations could not be carried on, and
notwithstanding the machinations of the

French and hostile traders, this was accom-
plished on June 13, 1752. In the debates
attending this treaty, the Indians re-

pudiated the idea that they had ever con-

sented to sell their lands. Shortly after

the treaty, Mr. Gist laid off a town and fort

at Chartiers Creek, below Pittsburgh, and
the company assessed itself four hundred
pounds for constructing the fort. Mr. Cist,

with eleven families, settled in the Monoti-
gahela Valley, and goods for trading ar-

rived from England but were disposed of
before reaching the Ohio. War between
the E'rench and English breaking out again,

operations were suspended. Efforts were
made during a number of years to take up
the lands or obtain reimbursement for

money expended, but without success. An
attempt was then made to merge it with a

rival organization, but while this was in

progress the Revolutionary War broke out
and extinguished both companies. All per-

sons concerned in the enterprise were
losers, although at the beginning it prom-
ised good returns. Other companies were

formed with the same object, but the time
had not com© for settlements in the Ohio
territory.

The French were not idle while all this

was going on, but kept a close watch on
the English and cultivated friendly rela-

tions with the Indians. Among other meth-
ods of asserting French sovereignty, Qul-
lissoniere, the governor-general of New
France, as they called their possessions
here, organized an expedition under com-
mand of Capt. Louis Celoron de Bienville,

numbering about three hundred French
soldiers, Canadians and friend Iv Indians.
This expedition left Canada in July, 1749,
and proceeded from the south shore of
Lake Erie to the head waters of the Alle-

gheny River, then considered part of the
Ohio. The company was provided with
leaden plates, which were buried at differ-

ent points along the Allegheny and Ohio,
on which were inscriptions claiming this

territory in the name of the King of
France. These plates were 11x7 V-; inches.

The party reached Chautauqua Lake on
I he 22nd. and paddled down the lake the
next day. Early on the morning of the

24th they entered the outlet, a narrow
stream meandering through a deep morass,
bordered by a tall forest. The water being
quite low, in order to lighten the canoes,
they sent part of their load overland, and
encircled the rapids in this way. Some
Indians who noticed them tied, and an em-
bassy was sent after them to reassure them
as to the "friendly" object of the expe-
dition. They entered the Allegheny proper
on the 29th, and buried a plate on the south
bank of the river, opposite the mouth of
the Chanougon or Conewango. about twelve
miles south of the present New York line.

It will be observed that the French claimed
both sides of the river. The usual forms
were observed of drawing up the command
in battle array, proclaiming '"Vive le Roi,"
and affixing the royal arms to a neighbor-
ing tree. A council was held near here
with the radians, which was not very satis-

factory, as the Iroquois, or dominating
powers were favorable to the English. The
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expedition, however, was not interrupted.

Nine miles below Hiviere aux Boeufs, now
known as French Creek, having been so

named by Washington in 1753, they came
to a large boulder nearly twenty-two feet

long by fourteen feet wide, covered with

rude Indian inscriptions, which was sub-

merged during high water. It was re-

garded by the natives us an "Indian God,"
and held in superstitious reverence. Here
a second plate was buried, which has never
been found. Water and time have nearly

obliterated the figures. Celoron passed a

village of Loups at or near the present

site of Pittsburgh, which he pronounced
the finest on the river. He was now in the

Ohio proper, and soon reached Chiningue,*

afterwards known as Logstown, a place

of fifty cabins with its usual mixture of

tribes. Colonel Croghan, who was sent to

the Ohio Indians by Governor Hamilton, of

Pennsylvania, in August, 1749, says in his

journal, that "Monsieur Cnlaroon, with

two hundred French soldiers, had passed
through Logstown just before his arrival,"

and was told by the inhabitants that the

object of the expedition "was to drive the

English away, and by burying iron plates,

with inscriptions on them, at the mouth of

each remarkable creek, to steal away their

country."
Celoron found some English traders at

Chiningue whom he compelled to leave.

He sent a message by them to Governor
Hamilton, under date of August 6, 1749,

that he was surprised to lind English
traders on French territory, it being in

contravention of solemn treaties, and he
hoped the Governor would forbid them
trespassing in the future. Celoron also

made a speech in which he told the Indians
that he was on his way down the Ohio to

whip the Twightwees (Miamis) and Wynn-
dots for trading with the English. But
the Indians were becoming suspicious aud
unfriendly. The Iroquois and Abenaki
who had accompanied the expedition, re-

fused to proceed farther, and destroyed the

plates which, bearing the arms of the

French king, had been attached to the

trees.

The expedition seems to have passed the
present site of Steubenville on the 12th,

and, as no mention is made of Mingo town,
it is presumed it had not been settled, al-

though this is not conclusive, in fact, they
may have passed Mingo during the night,

as they arrived at the mouth of Wheeling
Creek early on the 13th. Here they buried
their third plate, the translation of whose
inscription may serve as a sample of the
whole

:

"In the rear 1749, of the reign of Louis the 15th,
King of France, we, Celoron. commander of a detach-
ment sent by Monsieur the Marquis do U Uallisoniere,
Governor General of New France, to reestablish tran-
quility in some Indian villages in thcao cantons, have
buried this plate of lead at the mouth and on the
north bank of the river Kanooouara, which empties
into the easterly side of the Ohio river, otherwise Belle
Hiviere, this 13th day of August, as a monument of
the renewal of the possession wo have taken of the
said river Ohio, and of all those which ompty into it,

und of all the lands on both sides as far as the sources
of the snid rivers, as enjoyed, or ought to have been
enjoyed, by the Kings of France preceding, as they
have there maintained themselves, by :inna und by
treaties, especially those of Ryswirk. I'lrecht and Aix
la Chapelle."

The expedition continued its voyage on
the 14th, and arriving at the mouth of the
Muskingum the next day, a fourth plate

was buried, on the right bank of that river.

That plate is now possessed by the An-
tiquarian Society of Massachusetts. A
fifth plate was buried at the mouth of the

Great Kanawha, in Virginia, where it was
discovered in 1846. The expedition renched
the mouth of the Great Miami on August
31st, where the sixth and last plate was
buried. This plate has never been dis-

covered.

On September 1st, the party started up
the Great Miami on its homeward journey.
They arrived at the Miami village of De-
moiselles on the 13th. This was after-

wards known as Laramie's Creek, the
earliest English settlement in Ohio. It

was destroyed by General Clark in his

expedition of 1782. General Wayne rebuilt

it several years after. After a week's rest,
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the French burned their canoes and, ob-

taining ponies, made the portage to the

Maumee, and reached the French post of
Kisknkon, afterwards Fort Wayne, on the

25th. Here the party divided, one portion
going overland to Detroit, while the others

descended the river in canoes. Celoron
returned to Detroit via Lake Erie, reach-

ing there on November 10th, having made
an estimated journey of 1,200 leagues, or
3,000 miles.

Nobody knew better than the French
that if they wished to hold this valley, they

must do more than plant leaden plates and
affix the royal arms to trees. A test of

strength was at hand, and both sides be-

gan making preparations. The French
worked industriously to complete their

chain of forts from Niagara to the Ohio,

and the English begati sending out expe-

ditions of observation. Canada had a new
governor-general, in the person of Marquis
de Duquesne de Mennevillc, an able com-
mandant, and Robert Dinwiddie a .native

of Scotland, was governor of Virginia. He
had an eye on the Western country, and in

1753 Capt. William Trent was sent on a
mission to the French and Indians, and he
penetrated as far as Piqua without result.

At this time Major George Washington
appears on the scene. He was just past
twenty-one, and the governor, with an un-

conscious gift of prophecy, remarked to

him, "Faith, you are a brave lad, and if

you play your cards well you shall have no
cause to repent of your bargain." A com-
mission was issued to Washington to re-

pair to Logstown, on the Ohio, and inform
himself where the French forces were
posted or building forts, to proceed to such
point, deliver a letter of remonstrance
from the governor, and demand an answer
thereto. He was also to inquire into the

strength of the French, what assistance

they were likely to get from Canada, and
what were their pretensions. Four English
traders had already been arrested by the

French for carrying on contraband busi-

ness in the Ohio country, which had been
going on more or less ever since 1749.

They were sent to France as prisoners,

where they were finally released at the

intercession of the British ambassador, the

two nations being nominally at peace.

Washington followed what has since been
known as Braddoek's road to the Monon-
gahela Valley and took with him Chris-

topher Gist, Van Braam, a French inter-

preter, and John Davidson, an Indian
interpreter, with four Indian traders. He
met the Indian chiefs at Logstown and,

accompanied by three of them and a hun-

ter, set out to Fort La Boeuf, now Water-
ford, Pa., on foot. In his journal he relates

the following interesting incident:

"I took my necessary papers, pulled off my clothes,

and tied myself up in a watch coat. Then I took my
gun in hand, and pack on my bark, in which were my
paper and provisions. I act out with Mr. Girt fitted ia

the same manner, on Wednesday, the 26th of December.
Tho da.v following, just after wo had passed a place

culled Murdering Town, we fell in with a party of
French Indians who had lain in wait for u«. One of

them fired at Mr. Gist or me, uot fifteen steps off, bat

missed. We took the fellow into custody and kept him
nntil about 9 o'clock at night, then let him go, and
walked on the remaining part of the night, without mak-
ing any stops, that we might get the start so far as to

be out of their pursuit next day, since we were well

mwured I hey would follow our track as soon as it was
light. We continued traveling the next day until quite

dark, and gut to the river, which I expected to hava
found frown, but it was not; the ice I suppose had
broken up above, for it was driving in vast quantities.

Them was no way for getting over but on a raft, which

we set about building with but one poor hatchet, and
finished just before sun-setting. This was a whole day'a

work: we next got it launched, then went aboard and
set off, but before we were half over we were jammed ia

the ice in such a manner that wo expected every moment
our raft to sink, ami ourselves to perish. I put out my
setting pole to try to stop the raft, when the rapidity of

the stream threw it with so much violence against the

pole that it jerked me out into ten feet of water, but I

saved myself by catching hold of one of the raft logs.

Notwithstanding nil our efforts we could not get to shore,

but were obliged, as we were near an island, to quit our

raft and make for it. Tho cold was so severe that Mr.
(iist had all his fingers and some of his toes frozen, and
tho water was so shut up that we found no difficulty ia

getting off the island in the morning, and went to Mr.
Krazier'a. As we intended to take horses, and it taking
some time to find them, I went up to the mouth of the

Youghioghcny to vinit Queen Aliquippa. I made her a
present of a watch, coat and a bottle of rum, the latter

of which she thought the better present of the two."

Washington met the French officers and
secretly learned their intentions and de-

signs, and returned to Virginia with a store
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of information that was very valuable to

the colonists. The publication of Washing-
ton's journal aroused the colonists to an
appreciation of the fact that if they were
to secure hold on the Western country, they
must be about it. Governor Dinwiddie
wrote to the Board of Trade that the
French were building a fort at Venango,
Pa., and that in March 1,200 or 1,500 troops
would be ready to descend the river with
their Indian allies. Governor Hamilton,
of Pennsylvania, brought the matter before
the legislature, but that body did nothing.
New York appropriated £5,000 to help
Virginia out. The latter colony was alive.

The assembly voted £10,000, and six com-
panies of volunteers were raised, Col.

Joshua Fry appointed colonel, and Wash-
ington lieutenant-colonel. Two five-gun

batteries were sent forward, thirty guns,
and eighty barrels of gunpowder, had been
forwarded from England, and every prep-
aration made for an active campaign.
Capt. William Trent had pushed ahead
with one company to prepare tho road
through the wilderness and construct a fort

at the forks of the Ohio. Ensign Ward had
been sent ahead with men and tools for
this purpose, and on the 6th of January,
1754, met Washington and Gist returning
from their French expedition. Ward had
a force of forty men, and work was pro-
ceeding slowly on the fort, when on April
16th, a strong force of French and Indians
appeared before the unfinished structure.

They had sixty batteaux and three hundred
canoes, with a formidable train of artillery.

Ward was summoned to surrender, and as
resistance was futile he submitted, on con-

dition that he be allowed to go back home
with sufficient supplies to carry him out of
the wilderness. This was granted, and
Ward went up the Monongahela to meet
Washington. This is considered the be-

ginning of the French and Indian War,
which for six years bathed the frontiers in

blood and ended with the extinction of the
French power east of the Mississippi and
north of the Ohio.

Colonel Washington left Alexandria on

April 2nd with two companies and reached
Wills Creek, where Cumberland now
stands, on the 17th. Had he been earlier

he could not have changed the result on
the Ohio, as the French had a thousand
men and would have annihilated his com-
mand. As he was preparing to resume his

march, he learned of the affair at the

Forks, and, on consultation with his offi-

cers, it was decided to send back to Penn-
sylvania, Virginia and Maryland for rein-

forcements. Another company having
joined him, he udvanced with his small
force towards the mouth of Redstone and
sat down to wait for further help. He
reached Little Meadows on May 9th, where
he learned that the captured fort, which
had been strengthened and named Fort
Duquesne by the French, had been rein-

forced by 800 men. He moved on to

the Youghiogheny, reaching there on May
18, and six or eight days later received a
message from Half King that the French
were moving to attack him. As his force
was totally inadequate to meet the enemy
in the open field, he selected a favorable
spot, known as Great Meadows, where he
cleared away the underbrush and threw up
a temporary fortification which he is said
to have called a charming field for an en-

counter. From Mr. Gist and some friendly

Indians Washington learned that an ad-
vance force of about fifty Frenchmen were
within a few miles of his encampment. He
determined to lose no time waiting for the
others to come up. Capt. Adam Stephens
had been detached with seventy-five men to

watch them, and Washington, with a party
of about forty, started out before daylight
on the morning of the 28th, and about dawn
the foes discovered each other. The French
seized their arms and Washington opened
fire. In the conflict, the French commander,
M. Jumonville, was slain, with ten of his

men, and twenty-two were captured. Wash-
ington had one killed and three wounded.
Thus ended Washington's first battle.

When intelligence of this affair reached
Contrecoeur at Fort Duquesne, he pre-
pared to move in force on Washington's
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little army. The latter were not idle. Ex-
presses were sent back for reinforcements
and artillery, and the fortifications were
strengthened. Gist was sent back to have
Pennsylvanians bring up the artillery, but
he was unsuccessful. On June 10th he was
joined by Captain Mackay with a company
of South Carolina troops, whom he placed
in command of the fort, and with his Vir-
ginia troops, the swivels, a few wagons and
stores, he started for Kedstone. It is seen
how the brunt of this expedition fell upon
the Virginia troops; if they had been prop-
erly supported by the other colonies, sub-

sequent history would have been different,

Washington would have been victorious,

and there would have been no Braddock
disaster. For the time being, French con-

centration was to win against Anglo-Saxon
disintegration. But we are anticipating.

While cutting the road to Bedstone, under
(list's superintendence, Washington kept
his scouts well forward and knew what was
going on among the enemy. He learned
that on June 28th, a French and Indian
force aggregating eight hundred to one
thousand men had left Fort Duquesne,
under command of M. Coulon de Villiers,

half brother of Jumonville, bent on exter-

minating their foes. They proceeded up
the Monongahcla in large canoes, reaching
the mouth of Kedstone a few miles above
Pittsburgh, where they encamped. Wash-
ington called a council of war, in which it

was decided to fall back on Great Meadows,
and, rf possible, retreat over the moun-
tains. On arriving there they concluded
that would be impossible, so they decided
to remain. Villiers supposed Washington
was retreating homeward and was about
<<> return to Fort Duquesne, when he was
apprised by a deserter of the conditions at
Great Meadows. Jle put the traitor under
guard, with promise of reward or death
as his story should prove true or false, and
pushed ahead. On July 3d the enemy ap-
peared, and opened fire on the fort at long
range. Washington formed bis men out-

side in hope of drawing his foes from the
woods, but this not succeeding he withdrew

into the fort. The defenders had only a few
worn-out horses and provisions for four
or five days. Surrounded by a numerous
enemy, it was only a question of time when
they must surrender at discretion. It was
a rainy day, but desultory firing was kept
up, with little effect. In the evening, the
French asked for a parley, but Washington
fearing some trick, declined, when the re-

quest was repeated with a guarantee of
safety for the messenger. Captain Van
Braam was sent three times before the

Freuch offered terms acceptable to Wash-
ington, who was already exhibiting his

qualities as a strategist. Finally, by agree-
ment, the garrison marched out of the fort

with the honors of war, taking all they pos-

sessed except artillery, and started for
home. It was not a very promising Fourth
of July, but nobody then suspected the
future significance of that date. It is Baid
that Indians attacked the colonists on the
homeward route and plundered their bag-
gage, whereupon Washington ordered
everything to be destroyed except what the
men carried on their backs.
The French destroyed Fort Necessity, as

Washington's intrenehmcnts were called,

and went back to Fort Duquesne, burning
Gist's home and, as de Villiers said, "de-
stroyed all the settlements they found."

t!ist returned with Washington. He was
one of the most noted pioneers of that day,
being a native of England and studying
for the Anglican priesthood, but becoming
a surveyor, a settler, and what we would
call a promoter, lie died in the South,
a*bout 1770.

The events just related brought matters
to a crisis, and although war had not been
formally declared between France and
England, the British government decided
to take a hand. On February 20, 17.")5, Ed-
ward Braddock, an English officer, with
two regiments, not a very large force to

subdue even a savage empire, lunded in

Chesapeake Bay. He had been appointed
commander-in-chief of all the British
forces in America, colonial and otherwise,
and at his request a conference of colonial
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governors was held at Alexandria, Va., at

which were planned three separate expe-

ditions against the French. It looked as

though the much needed concentration of

British strength was at last to be accom-
plished. He took personal charge of the

expedition to Fort Duquesne, and the

mournful details of that disastrous venture
are too well known to need repetition here.

They are familiar to every schoolboy.

Braddock was a brave soldier, and in a dif-

ferent field might have made a different

reputation. But he had a contempt for his

provincial associates and still more for his

foe. lie would listen to no suggestions

from Washington, who was his aide, and in

command of the provincials, and con-

sidered the practice of sheltering behind
trees, as practiced by whites as well as In-

dians in frontier warfare, as simple cow-
ardice. He is said to have been shot by
one of his own soldiers, having with his

sword cut down a provincial who was be-

hind a tree, and not until then were the

remnant able to take any steps towards
saving themselves. On the night of that

mournful July 9th, Washington gathered
up the scattered fragments of the little

army, and conducted its retreat in such
good order that he was not followed. The
body of Braddock was taken along, and on
the 15th it was buried by torchlight, Wash-
ington reading the burial office.

Although one or two local expeditions
checked the ravages of the savages, yet

Braddock's defeat left the French in com-
plete possession of the Ohio Valley, which,
however, they were only to hold for a little

over three years longer.

William Pitt became prime minister of
Great Britain in 1757, and his vigor and
ability soon made themselves manifest in

American affairs. Early in 1758 an Eng-
lish fleet of one hundred and fiftv sail with
12,000 troops arrived, and with 20,000

men furnished by the colonies, and the

forces already in the country, there was
an aggregate of 50,000 men, the largest

army yet seen in the New World. Three
simultaneous expeditions were planned,

one against Louisburg, on the island of

Cape Breton, another against Ticouderoga
and Crown Point in New York, and a third

against Fort Duquesne. The first expe-

dition captured Louisburg, the second was
repulsed, but subsequently captured Fort
Frontenac, on Lake Ontario where Kings-

ton now stands, and General Forl>es

started from Philadelphia for Fort Du-
quesne, being joined en route by Washing-
ton with six Virginia regiments, making a

force of 7,000 men. They left Carlisle in

July, but roads had to be cut across the

mountains, and progress was slow. Major
Grant, who, with a small force, pushed
ahead of the main army, met with a mis-

fortune almost equal to that of Braddock,
but fortunately there were reserves behind,

as was not the case with Braddock's expe-

dition. The main army moved steadily for-

ward, and as it approached Fort Duquesne
Indian runners reported that "they were
as numerous as the trees in the woods."
This so frightened the French that they

burned the fort, including their magazines
and barracks, and took to their boats,

"some up the Allegheny and some down
the Ohio. Washington took charge of the

abandoned and destroyed fort on Novem-
ber 25, 1758, and proceeded to reconstruct

it under the name of Fort Pitt, Englnnd's
new premier, who in a single year had re-

versed the entire situation. A portion of

the retreating French halted at Venango
until the summer of 1759, when the fall of

Niagara made their position untenable, and
they left the valley forever. The Anglo-
Saxon had come this time to stay. The fol-

lowing year General Moncton made a
treaty with the Lndiuns at Fort Pitt, ob-

taining their consent to build military j>osts

in the wilderness. Quebec had already fall-

en, and the capture of Montreal in 17b'l,

and the treaty of Paris in 1763, ended for-

ever the dream of a great French empire
in America.

It may be worth while to make a diver-

sion here from the general history of this

section to note what may be termed the

first recorded incident in Jefferson County,
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certainly the first in which a white person
was the leading figure. In the spring of
1755, during an Indian raid in eastern
Pennsylvania a family named Jemison re-

siding on Marsh Creek near Philadelphia
had their home destroyed and tho entire
family were captured. The father and
mother, with other relatives, were massa-
cred hy the redskins, hut their daughter
Mary was carried to Fort Duquesne, where
she was given to two Seneca squaws. She
was thirteen years of age at this time. The
next day they started in a canoe down the
river for their home at Mingo town. It

will be remembered that Celoron does not
mention Mingo in his journey down the
Ohio in 1749, so the presumption is that the
place was occupied, by the Indians some
time between that date and 1755, although
this is not conclusive. She gives the follow-
ing account of her journey down the Ohio:

"On the wuy wo passed a Shawnee town, whvru I saw
a number of heads, arras, legs and other fragment* of
the bodies of some white people who had just been
burned. The parts that reinaitiod were hanging on a
jiole, which was supported at each cod by a crotch stuck
in the ground, and were roasted as black ns a eoal. The
fire was yet burning, and tho whole appearance afforded
a spectacle so shocking that even to this day (lHL'4) the
blood almost curdles in my veins when I think of it. At
night we arrived at a small Heneca Indian tuna at the
mouth of a small river, which was called by the ludimis
Sheminje (Croud Creek) about eighty miles from the
fort, where tho two n.unws to whom I belonged, resided;
there we landed. Having made fast to the shore the
squaws left me in their canoe while they went to their
wigwam in the town and returned with a suit of Indian
clothing, all new and very clean and nice. My clothes,
though whole and good when I was taken, were now
torn in pieces, so that I was almost naked. They first

undressed me and threw my rags into the riverj then
washed mo clean and dressed me in the new suit thev
had jnst brought, in complete Indian style, and then
led me home and seated rae in the center of their wig-
wain. I had been in that situation but a few minotex
before all tho squaws in the town came in to see me.
I was soon surrounded by them and they immediately
set up a most dismal howling, crying bitterly and wring-
ing their hands in all the agunies of grief for a deo-ased
relative. Their tears flowed freely, and they exhibited
all the signs of real mourning. At the commencement
of this seene one of their number began in a voice some-
what between speaking and singing to recite some
words."

These were words of mourning for a
brother who had been killed in Washing-
ton's campaign of 1754 and acceptance of

the girl as u sister in his place. Mary
Jemison was now formally adopted into the
tribe. She was given the name of l>e-he-

wamis, or "pretty girl," and lived with the
Senecas at Mingo until after the capture of
Fort Duquesne by the English. Fort Pitt

was visited by her, and she relates her joy
at again seeing her own people, but there

appears to have been no desire to return

to civilization. After living at Mingo for

several years, probably until after the
massacre of Logan's family in 1774, when
Mingo town was deserted by the Senecas,
she went with her companion's to the Scioto
country, and finally, having married an In-

dian chief, removed to Genesee County,
New York, the original home of the tribe,

where she lived to be a very old woman.
She could have returned to her people after

Bouquet 's march, but learning that she was
to Ik? given up to the whites in accordance
with the treaty, escaped into the wilderness
with her half-breed children and remained
hidden until the search was over. The Six
Nations gave her a large tract of land
known as the Garden Tract, which pro-
ceeding was afterwards continued by the
state of New York. In 18-4 she related her
experiences to. a visitor, who made notes
of her story, which was afterwards pub-
lished in book form.
As has been observed, although the

French never became very good friends
with the Iroquois, yet this'very fact tended
to give them a better standing with the
other tribes, who began to depend on them
for supplies and ammunition with which to

tight their enemies, both white and red.

They were also more politic in their deal-

ings with the children of the forest than
the English, affiliated with them, constantly
gave them presents, catered to their de-

sires, and were in every way more politic

than their Anglo-Saxon brethren. The
latter as a rule despised the red men, some
of whom were proud and as quick to resent
an insult as a white person. The traders
for the most part were a brutal, unscru-
pulous lot. who lost no opportunity to

cheat an Indian, outrage his family, or
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even kill him in case of necessity. But
above all, the great difference was in the
character of the settlements and the num-
ber of their inhabitants. As has been said,

the French sovereignty was largely a loose

chain of military posts scattered over an
immense territory, with comparatively few
regular colonists, probably not over 100,000

all told. Their encroachment on the Indian
lands was so trifling us to attract little or
no attention. But the Atlantic Coast, from
Massachusetts to Georgia inclusive, was
now occupied by what was then considered
the large population of over a million peo-
ple. And those people were not content to

remain in statu quo. Shiploads were con-

stantly arriving from Europe, and the
stream so long kept back by the Appa-
lachian Mountains was beginning to over-

flow in a steady, resistless torrent. Al-
ready the Ohio River was claimed to be
the eastern boundary of tho Indian coun-
try, and as the advantages of the Western
wilderness became apparent there was a
scarcely concealed determination to go on
and possess the whole land. The Indians
could not fail to observe this, and when the
help of their French allies was withdrawn
there was added to their natural hatred of
the English the conviction, amounting al-

most to terror, that if they could not stop
this torrent their fate must be the loss of
all their homes, if not extermination. So
the final termination of the long French
War, instead of bringing peace to the

Indian country, rather intensified the
situation, and when its occupants learned
that the King of France had ceded
all their lands to the English, without even
consulting them, their rage and terror was
almost boundless. Jt is said that great
crises always produce great leaders, and
Indian history does not seem to prove any
exception to the rule. Pontiae, the chief

of the Ottawas, is credited with being the
author of the most complete and compre-
hensive combination of American Indians
ever attempted, and his pluns were worthy
of a CaRsar or Napoleon. Before the close

of 1762 he was sending messengers to the

various tribes urging them to unite in one
grand effort to drive out the English, the

plan being to attack every post in the

Western country simultaneously and de-

stroy each, with its occupants, before out-

side help could arrive. Early in 1763 the

conspiracy materialized, Pontiae taking

Detroit as his special work. On April 27

he gathered his warriors at the little river

Ecorces, a few miles below the fort, and
disclosed his plans. A few chiefs were to

obtain admittance to the fort by stratagem,

seek an audience with the commander,
Major Henry Gladwin, and at a signal

draw their tomahawks, rush for the officers,

and strike them down, while the forces out-

side, variously estimated at 600 to 2,000,

were to rush in and overpower the little

garrison of 160 men. The scheme failod,

it is said, by the disclosure of a squaw, and
Pontine sat down to a regular siege, of a
length unparalleled in Indian warfare, last-

ing from May 1 to November 1. Appeals
for help were sent eastward, and the first

expedition for relief was attacked near the

mouth of the Detroit River, beaten and
scattered. A second expedition reached
the fort, but in a sortie on July 31st the

English were driven back with terrible

slaughter. Another expedition was over-

whelmed in a lake storm and seventy sol-

diers drowned. Of course, the surrounding
country was ravaged, and requisitions were
made on Canadian farmers for provisions

for which Pontiae gave promises to pay
drawn on birch bark and signed with the

figure of an otter, his totem, which primi-

tive obligations were redeemed. Pontine
is said to have had a commissary and most
of the machinery of a regular army. In-

dian persistence, however, began to wane.
Towards the latter part of tho summer the

tribes began to drop off, and by the middle
of October only Pontiae 's own tribe, the

Ottawas, remained. So, the last of the
month, he sullenly raised the siege and re-

tired to the Miami country, where he en-

deavored without success to stir up the
tribes to a renewal of the war.
But although the siege of Detroit was
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a failure, marked success had resulted else-

where. St. Joseph, near the southern end
of Lake Michigan, Michillimackinae, at the

head of the Peninsula and commanding the

straits of that name; Ouiatenon, on the

Wabash; Miami, on the present site of
Fort Wayne. Ind.

;
Presque Isle, the pres-

ent site of Erie, Pa.; Le Boeuf, near the
head of the Allegheny River; Venango, far-

ther south, all fell into the hands of the sav-

ages. Fort Niagara, on the east hank of
the river of that name, proved too strong
for assault, and the attack there was soon
abandoned. Ligonier, a small post forty
miles southeast of Fort Pitt, was attacked,

but held out until relieved by Colonel Bou-
quet.

On May 27th the Indians appeared bo-

foro Fort Pitt, now considered the Gibral-
tar of the West. On June 22d they opened
fire, "upon every side at once," to which
the garrison vigorously replied, shells from
the howitzers hursting in the midst of the
savages, greatly astounding and confusing
them. However, they kept up the contest
by every means known to savage warfare.
They dug holes in the banks of the rivers

for shelter with their knives, and from then
on kept up a constant lire on the garrison.
A modern army, with knowledge of rifle

pits, could have done no better.

In the meantime, reinforcements were
coming from the East, where the full extent
of the border calamities were not yet
known. Colonel Bouquet, of the British
army, was ordered west, and reached Car-
lisle, Pa., in June, where he learned of
some of the disasters. He forged ahead
with five hundred regulars, and relieved
Ligonier. On August 5 the army reached
Bushy Run, a small stream twenty five

miles from Fort Pitt, where he was fiercely

attacked by Indians. By a strategem the
next day he drew the savages into an am-
buscade and defeated them badly, although
he lost about one hundred and fifty men,
nearly one-third of his force. He pushed
on to Fort Pitt, which he entered on Au-
gust 25th, the Indians having given up the
siege.

Pontiac's grand scheme had not suc-

ceeded, but came perilously near it, so far

at least as teinjHu-ary success was con-

cerned. Detroit, Niagara and Pitt re-

mained as oases hundreds of miles apart,

while the whole border was exposed to

savage raids. Hundreds of settlers flocked

to the forts and protected posts, and far
into the interior of Pennsylvania the skies

were red with the flames of burning cabins,

and the ground soaked with the blood of
massacred inhabitants. Some of the fron-

tiersmen are said to have continued their

flight as far as Philadelphia, but this is

probably an exaggeration.
The winter of llii'.i was a terrible one,

hut in the spring preparations were inaugu-
rated for two strong expeditious into the

Indian country to bring the savages to

terms. Col. John Brndstreet organized the

first at Fort Niagara, and left there in

July, 1764, with a force of over one thou-

sand soldiers. As he coasted along the
shores of Lake Erie he made treaties with
the several Indian tribes, who were awed
at least into a pretense of desiring peace.

He reached Dertoit on August 25th, to the
great joy of the garrison, which had been
isolated for more than a year, and made
preparations to retake the posts in the
West and Northwest.
Colonel Bouquet, in charge of the second

expedition, was not ready to leave Fort
Pitt until October when, with a force of
one thousand five hundred men, he marched
into the Ohio country, cutting a highway as
he proceeded. Utmost precautious were
taken to guard against surprise, and Col-

ouel Bouquet's journal of the march is

most interesting. His course was via Logs-
town, Big and Little Beaver, and thence
across the state to the Muskingum. He
met numerous Indian delegations on the

upper Muskingum, now the Tuscarawas,
who made all sorts of excuses for their late

treachery, charging it up to the rashness
of their young men and the nations living

west of them, to which he gave rather in-

different replies. The final gathering was
held on the Muskingum near the confluence
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of the Tuscarawas and Walhonding Rivers.

Bouquet was in a position here to overawe
the tribes and destroy their villages, as he
was directly in the center of their country,

a fact which they fully realized. He built

four temporary redoubts, erected a store-

house and other buildings, so the place pre-

sented the appearance of a little town.
Here he talked boldly to the Indians, and
besides making a treaty of peace demanded
the return of all white captives in their

hands. This was a slow process, as the

captives were scattered all over the coun-
try, their possessors did not want to give
tbera up, and the captives themselves, in

many cases, were unwilling to return. It

was the 18th of November before the work
was finally concluded, and two hundred
and six men, women and children delivered
over to Colonel Bouquet, who on that day
started on his return to Port Pitt, traveling

np the Tuscarawas to the site of the pres-

ent town of Bolivar, thence via Sandy Val-
ley to Tellow Creek, down that stream and
np the Ohio to Fort Pitt, where the force
arrived on November 28. The only loss in

this remarkable expedition was one soldier,

killed on the Muskingum.
Troops were stationed to guard the lines

of communication, and the frontier had a
breathing spell. The fruits of Pontiac's
victories were all undone, and Pontiac,
sullen and revengeful, retired to the Illi-

nois country, where he tried to raise a new
outbreak, but bis charm was broken. He
took to drink, and was assassinated by a
Kaskaskia Indian, who buried his toma-
hawk in his brain. It is said that the mur-
derer was bribed to do the deed by a Brit-

ish officer, the consideration being a barrel
of liquor. Pontiac living was harmless, but
his death infuriated some of the Western
tribes, who carried on a relentless war
against the Illinois Indians and, as Park-
man says, "Over the grave of Pontiac
more blood was poured out in atonement
than flowed from the veins of the slaught-

ered heroes on the corpse of Patroclus."
Pontiac was buried on the west side of the

Mississippi, near Fort St. Louis. No mon-
ument marks his grave. He was a great
man and a hero, though a savage.
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CHAPTER V

EXPLORING THE OHIO COUNTRY

Croghan's Visit to Mingo—Early Claims—Washington's Visit in 1770—The Logan
Massacre—Bloody Reprisals—Dunmore's War and Logan's Last Speech.

Having acquired undisputed title to the
Western territory, the English authorities

were naturally anxious to know something
about it, and also follow up the results of
Colonel Bouquet's expedition in further
conciliating the Indian tribes. Accord-
ingly, early in 1765, Col. George Croghan
was sent out from Fort Pitt, leaving then?
on May 15th with two batteaux, carrying
a well equipped party. He was accom-
panied by deputies of the Senecas, Shaw-
anese nnd Delawares, and arrived at the
mouth of Big Beaver the next day, from
which point his diary continues

:

"About a mile below Heaver Creek wo passed an old

settlement of the Delaware*, where the French in 17.VI

built a town for that nation. On the north side of tho
river some of the stone chimneys are yet remaining;
here the highlands com* clou© to tho tank*, and con-

tiniie ao for about five mile*, after which we passed
several spacious bottoms on each side of the river, and
came to Little Beaver Crock, about fifteen miles Mow
Big Beaver Creek. A number of small rivulets fall into

the river on either side. From thenee we Mailed to

Yellow Creek, being about fifteen miles from the last

mentioned creek; here and there the hill* come dose to

the river on eaeh side. From thence we sailed from
Yellow Creek, being about fifteen miles from the last

mentioned creek, and then- the hills come close to the
banks of the river on earn side, but where are bottoms
(glacial terraces) they are very large and well water,
iiumtterK of smalt rivulets running through them, falling

into the Ohio on both side*. Wo encamped on the rtver

liank, and find a great part of the trees in the bottoms
are covered with grape vines. This day we passed by
,-lcvcn islands, one of which Wing about seven miles long.'*

"Doubtless Brown's Island, four miles long.

For the most part of the way we made this day the
banks of the river are high and steep. The course of
the Ohio from Fort Pitt to the mouth of Beaver ('reek

inclines to the northwest ; from thenoe to the two creek*
partly due west"

The party seems to have encamped for

the night between the foot of Brown's
Island and Bteubenville, possibly at the
Half Moon farm or Holliday's Cove, for

the diary continues:

"17th. At 6 o'clock in tho morning we embarked,
nnd were delighted with the prospect of a fine open
country as we passed down. We came to a place called

the Two Creeks (Ohio and Virginia Cross Creek) about
11 fteen (twenty) miles from Yellow Creek, where we
put to shore. Hero the .Seiieens have a village on a
high bank on the north side of the river. The chief of
this village offered me his service to go witb me to the

Illinois, which 1 could not refuse for fear of giving him
offense, although 1 hud n sunVicnt number of deputies
with me already. From thence we proceeded down ttie

river, |>aased many large, rich and fine bottoms, the high
lands being at a considerable distance from the river

banks until we came to Buffalo Creek, being about ten
(five) miles below the .Seiicea village, nnd from Buffalo
• reek we proceeded down the river to Kat Meat Creek
(tirnve ("reek), about thirty miles. The face of the

country appears much like what we met with before;

large, rich and well watered bottoms, then succeeded by
hills pinching close on the river; these bottoms on the

north side appear rather loiv. and consequently subject

to inundations in tho spring of the vear, when there

never fails to I* high freshets in the Ohio, owing to the

melting of the snows. This day we passed ten One
islands, though the greatest part of them are small.''

Colonel Croghan'.- net-mint of his visit to

the western country, and his return via

Detroit and Niagara, is very interesting,

hut we must return to Jefferson County.
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As is well known, the English authorities

discouraged settlers from emigrating be-

yond the Alleghenies, and at a later date
positively prohibited them going north of
the Ohio, but that did not prevent numer-
ous pioneer settlements in western Penn-
sylvania and Virginia, and a few hardy
ones had already begun to look over the
river where a fertile soil, abundance of
game and a wide field offered a tempting
opportunity. The late W. H. Hunter, with
a great deal of industrious research, has
collected and published in the works of the
Ohio Archaeological Society, a great deal
of information concerning these pioneers
that would otherwise have sunk into obli-

vion, and among other things relates an
incident said to have occurred during this

year, 1765. Jacob Walker, who had come
from Maryland, made a tomahawk claim
on the territory now occupied by the city

of Steubenville. After aiding a Mr. Great-
house clear three acres of land and plant
corn, opposite the site of Steubenville, in

Brooke County, Virginia, Walker crossed
the river and deadened three trees at a
point later known as Marsh's Spring, on
North Seventh Street, denoting the centre
of the claim. This was the first attempt
ever made to settle the west side of the
Ohio. The appended sketch of the life of
Jacob Walker was written by his great-
grandson, the information therein con-
tained being handed down from generation
to generation, and its authenticity is not
questioned.
"In 1765 the site of Steubenville was a

dense forest, and game, such as deer, tur-
keys, hares, and wild hogs, was abundant.
Jacob also, during that year, bought of
Mr. Greathouse a farm, paying sixteen
cents an acre for it, there being four hun-
dred acres, it being the farm now owned by
J. J. Walker. They deadened three trees
nt the spring by his house, which was the
transfer. On account of trouble at Rich-
mond, Va., he did not get a deed until 1785.
During the summer of 1765 he built a cabin
(»n his farm, it being about half way be-

tween the present residence of J. J. Walker

and that of his son, W. P. Walker, and
that fall he returned to Baltimore and mar-
ried Margaret Guthrie. In the spring of

1766 he bought a pony, and they started

back to his farm, she riding the pony and
he walking, bringing all they had with
them. They arrived at the cabin in Au-
gust; he went in and tramped down the

weeds and then helped her off the pony,
took off the pack saddle and what other
few things they had and told her this was
her home. He afterwards helped to build

Fort Decker in what was later Mahan's
orchard, below Mingo. They lived at the

fort for seven years during the summer,
and on his farm during the winter. As
soon as the leaves came in the spring the

Indians came also, and when he went out

to plow or plant he got two soldiers to

come with him from the fort, they hiding

at each end of the field to keep the Indians

from slipping up and shooting him. He
worked all day without speaking to his

team above a whisper. During his stay at

the fort one day in the fall he came up to

his cabin, having a little dog with him; he
came to the spring first, and the little dog
slipped up to the cabin. It came back, and
by jumping in front of him and doing
everything it could to keep him from going
to the cabin, he thought of Indians, and
went back to the fort and got some of the

soldiers, returning in time to see nine In-

dians slip away. Another time Captain
Buskirk sent his son to mill on horseback
with a sack of corn, also having a favorite

dog, which followed him. It was a two
days' trip, and on his return the dog was
not with him; his father got very angry,
and the son went back to look for the dog,

and after he had been gone three days and
no word from him, the captain sent Jacob
Walker, Mr. Decker, and two soldiers, to

see if they could find him. They went from
the fort down the Ohio to the mouth of

Cross Creek, and up Cross Creek, following

the trail, and when they came to the mouth
of Scioto Run, where it empties into Cross
Creek, they found him; the Indians had
laiu in ambush and caught him without
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shooting, and had split his head with a
tomahawk. The prints of their fingers

were plain on his neck where they had
choked him to keep him from hollering.

They scalped him and took his horse. The
party sent out, took him and buried him up
on the hill overlooking Cross Creek, on
land that was or is owned by Silas McGee.
Jacob said, of all the sad sights that he
ever saw, that waB the saddest. The cap-

tain lost his son, horse and dog; the In-

dians killed his wife and the captain him-
self later. After Jacob had left the fort

and gone out to his farm, during the sum-
mer season, the Indians would still come
over the river and kill the settlers. At
such times Jacob and his wife would take
their three children and go away from their

cabin. She would take a babe in her arms
and sit down in the field, leaving John and
Mary at a short distance covered with a
quilt ; Jacob sitting at a short distance with
his gun. He was at the building of Fort
Steuben; he was at the battle between Cap-
tain Buskirk and the Indians, and fought
on Battle Run, west of Mingo, where Cup-
tain Buskirk was killed, in Jefferson
County, Ohio. He was at a council of war
between Logan and Buskirk. .Jacob

Walker was appointed constable in 1797,

at the first court held in Brooke County.
He died about 1830, aged 94 years."
With the exception of an individual af-

fray here and there, comparative peace
reigned along the border for several years,
and in the latter part of 1770 Col. George
Washington, who had always taken great
interest in the Ohio country, planned a trip

to this region for the purpose of inspect-

ing lands, with the view of locating claims
at a later date. The Indian title to Ken-
tucky had been extinguished at a conven-
tion at Fort Stanwix, N. Y., in 17<>8, but
nothing definite had been accomplished as
to Ohio, if we except the somewhat indefi-

nite cession of the Iroquois at Lancaster,
Pa. ne left Mt. Vernon on October 5, 1770,
and arrived at Fort Pitt on the 17th, hav-
ing had some Indian conferences on the
way. On the 20th, with a party of eight

white men and some Indians, he left there

in two canoes, stopping to inspect lands

at different points. On the L"_'d we find this,

entry:

''Att it liegsn to snow about midnight, anil continue*)

pretty Bteadily, it «u about balf pant 7 before we left

the encampment. At the distance of about eight miles

we came to the mouth of Yellow Creek, opposite, or

rather below which, appear* to he a long bottom of very

good laud (Maban fruit farms), and the ascent to the

hills very gradual. About eleven or twelve miles from
Ibis, and just above what in called the Long Island

(Brown's), which, though so distinguished, is not very

remarkable for length, breadth or goodness, come* in

on the east wide of the river, u small creek, or nan, the

name of which I could not learn (King's), and a mile

or two below the island on the west aide comes in Big
Stony (Wills) Creek, not larger in appearance than the

other, on neither of which docs there aeem to be any
large bottom or bodies of good land. About seven miles

from the last mentioned creek, twenty-eight -from our
lnrt encampment and about seventy-five from Pittsburgh,

we camo to tike Mingo Town, situated on the west side

of the river, a little above Cross Creek. This place eon-

tains about twenty cabins, and seventy inhabitant* of
the 8ii Nations.
"Had we set off early, and kept constantly at it, we

might have reached lower than this place today, as the
water in many places ran very swift, in general more
so than yesterday. The river from Fort Pitt to Logs-
town baa some ugly rifts and shoals, which we found
somewhat difficult to pass, whether from our inexperience

of the channel or not 1 cannot undertake to say. From
Logstown to the mouth of Little Beaver Creek is much
the same kind of water ; that is, rapid in some places,

gliding gently along in others and quite still in many.
The water from Little Beaver Creek to Mingo
Town in general is swifter than we found it

the preceding day and without any shallows, there

being some one part or another always deep, which is a

natural consequence, as the river in all the distance from
Fort Pitt to this town has not widened at all, nor do
the bottoms appear to be any larger. The hilts which
come close to the river opposite to each bottom are steep,

and on the side in view, in msny places, rocky and
rragged, but said to abound in good land on the top.

These are not u range of hills, but broken and cut in

two, as if there were frequent water courses running
through, which, however, we did not perceive to be the

case. The river abounds in wild geese and several

kinds of ducks, but in no great quantity. We killed five

wild turkeys today. 1'pnn our arrival at the Mingo
Town we received the very disagreeable news of two
traders being killed at a town called the Grapevine Town,
thirty-eight miles below this, which caused us to hesitate

whether we should proceed or wait for further intelli-

8
"23d. Several imperfect account* coming in. agree-

ing that only one person was killed, and the Indian* not

supposing it to be done by their people, we resolved to

pursue our passage till wo could get a more distinct

account of this transact ion. Accordingly, about -

o'clock, we set out with the two Indiana, who were to

aecom|Miny us in our canoe, and after about four miles

came to the mouth of a creek (Buffalo) on the east

Mil.-, The Cross Creeks, as they are called, are not large.
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thai on the east side is tbe biggest. At the Mingo Town
we found and left more than sixty warriors of the Six

Nations, going to the Cherokee* country, to proceed to

war against tbe Catabas. About ten miles below the

town we came to two other Cross (Short) Creeks; that

on the west is the larger and called by Nicholson (the

interpreter) Freneb Creek. About three miles or a little

more below this at the lower point of frame islam!*

(Bisters), which stand contiguous to each other, we were

told by tbe Indians that threo men from Virginia had
marked the land from benee all the way to Bedstone;

that there was a body of exceedingly fine land lying

ubout this place, and up opposite to tbe Mingo Town,
as also down to tbe mouth of Fishing Creek."

The expedition proceeded down to the

month of the Kanawha and several miles

up that river, Washington making a close

inspection of the lands all the way, and
holding conferences with the Indians, who
one and all professed peace and friendship.

They found plenty of deer, buffalo and wild

fowl of various kinds; it was a hunter's

paradise. The party started on its return

journey on November 3d. On their way,
they met a canoe going to Illinois with
sheep, an indication of the future. They
reached Mingo on the afternoon of the

17th, where horses were expected to take

them across the country to Fort Pitt, but
which were detained by high water in the

creeks. While waiting there, Washington
thus comments on the commercial possi-

bilities of the river

:

"When the river is in it* natural slate large ram**,
that will carry 5,1)00 or 6,000 weight or more, may be
worked against the stream by four hands twenty or

twenty-five miles a day, and down tbe stream a good
leal more. The Indian*, who (ire very dexterous, even
their women, in the management of canoes, have their

hunting camps and cabin* all along tbe river, for the
convenience of transporting their skins to market. In
the fall as soon, as the limiting season come* on, they
set out with their families for this purpose, ami in hunt
ing will move their camps from place to place, till by
*pnng they get 1200 or 300 or more miles from their

towns; then catch beaver on their way up, which fre-

quently brings tbem into the month of May, when the
women are employed in planting. Tbe men are at mar-
ket and in idleness till thn autumn again, when they
pursue the same course. During the summer months
they live a poor and perishing life. The ludians who
reside upon the Ohio, the upper pnrts of it at least, are
composed of Shawuncse, Delaware* and some of the

Mingoee, wbo getting but little part of the considera-
tion that was given for the lands eastward of the Ohio,
view the settlements of the people upon their river with
an uneasy and jealous eye, and do not scruple to say
that tbey must be compensated for their rights if the
people aettle thereon, notwithstanding the cession of the
Six Nations. On the other hand, the people of Virginia

und elsewhere are exploring and marking all the lands

that are valuable, not only on tbe Redstone and other

waters on the Monongahela, but along the Ohio as Ion

ms the Little Kanawha, and by next summer I suppose
they will get to the Oreat Kanawha at least. How
difficult it may be to contend with these people after-

wards is easy to be judged from every uay 'a experience

of lands actually settled, supposing these settlement* to

lie made; than which uothiog is more probable, if the
Indians permit them, from the disposition of the people

at present. A few settlements in tho midst of some of
the large bottoms would render it impracticable to get

any large quantity of land together, as the hills all the

way down the river, as low as I went, come pretty close,

or lire steep and broken and incapable of settlement,

though some of them are rich and only fit to support
tike bottoms with timber and wood. The land back of
the bottom, as far as I have been able to judge, either

from my own observations or information, is nearly the

name, that is, exceedingly uneven and hilly, and I pre-

sume there are no bodies of flat, rich land to be found
till one gets far enough from tbe river to head the little

runs and drains that come through the hills, nnd tbe
sources of the creek and their branches. " " Wal-
nut, cherry and some other kinds of wood, neither tall

nor large, but covered with grapevines, with the fruit

of which this country at this instant abounds, arc tbe

growth of tbe richest bottoms; but on the other hand
thene bottoms appear to me to be the lowest and most
subject to floods. The soil of this is good, but inferior

to either of tho other kinds and beech bottoms are
objectionable on account of tbe difficulty of cleaning
them, as their roots spread over a large surface of
ground nnd are bard to kill."

On the 20th the horses having arrived
and arrangements made to send the canoes
up the river the party started overland to

Fort Pitt, probably following near the
present line of the Wabash Railroad. They
arrived there the next afternoon, and
Washington left on the 23d for home,
where he arrived on December 1st, having
been absent nine weeks and one day.
The truce established by Colonel Bou-

quet in 1704 lasted practically for ten
years. During this time, there was a
marked increase in the settlements between
the Allegheny Mountains and the Ohio
Kiver, so that the frontier was practically

moved forward to this stream. Wheeling
wns settled in 1769, and soon a chain of
forts and blockhouses extended along the
water- front, opposite Jefferson County,
throughout its entire length. The original
Mason & Dixon's line establishing the
boundary between Maryland and Pennsyl-
vania was completed in 1767. Its location

was 39 degrees 43 minutes 26.3 seconds
north latitude. Western Pennsylvania was
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still a subject of dispute l>etween that state

and Virginia, a matter which was not

finally settled until 1785, when, by agree-

ment, the line was extended live degrees

westward and then north as the southern

and western boundary of Pennsylvania,

leaving between that state and the Ohio
Kiver a narrow strip known as the Vir-

ginia Pan Handle. Beyond the Ohio was
still the "Indian country," both from force

of circumstances and the avowed object of

the British authorites to prohibit settlers

in that region. One pioneer, however,

James Maxwell, mine to .Jefferson County
in 1772 and built a cabin near the mouth
of Rush Hun, where he lived two years, and
then, through fear of Indians, he returned

to his Virginia home, where he was able

to prove his innocence. His subsequent
history, which was a very tragic one, will

be given later. But there was trouble in

the air. There were mutterings of revolu-

tion in the east, and isolated cases of In-

dian outrages ulong the borders. Lord
Dunmore, the Governor of Virginia, ap-

pointed Dr. John Connelly commander
at Fort Pitt, who arrested the Penn-
sylvanians and renamed the place Fort
Dunmore. Hither through misinforma-

tion or design he issued messages
greatly exaggerating, and in some cases

wholly creating, stories of Indian out-

rages, calculated to alarm the peace-

ful settlers, and to excite the more
belligerent spirits. Unfortunately there

was just enough basis of truth to give a

fotindation for the reports. Small bands
of Indians had penetrated up the Kanawha
and committed murders there ami else-

where, naturally provoking reprisals. The
situation called for a linn yet conservative

policy, but unfortunately the man naturally

supposed to be at the head of affairs was
capable of neither. Consequently arose a
tension which could only be productive of

an outbreak of some kind, and this occurred
in the spring of 1774, occasioning what is

known as the massacre of Logan's relatives

near the mouth of Yellow Creek, seventeen
miles north of Steubenville, followed by

that chieftain's terrible vengeance, and
what is known as Dunmore 's war, the con-

clusion of which gave rise to lx>gan's cele-

brated speech, whose authorship has been
the subject of controversy almost rivaling

the Bacon-Shakespeare discussion. J. A.
Caldwell in his history has presented a
mass of testimony on this whole affair

which conclusively establishes all the lead-

ing facts, of which we have only space for

an abstract.

Col. George Rogers Clark and Capt.
Michael Cresap were located at the mouth
of the Kanawha in the spring of 1774,

preparing to start with a colony to Ken-
tucky, when the reports of Indian outrages
caused them to abandon the expedition, and
come up the river to Wheeling. While Con-
nelly was entertaining some chiefs at Pitts-

burgh he sent a letter to Capt. Cresap at

Wheeling, telling him to beware of the In-

dians, as they meant war. Connelly plied

the chiefs with presents, and they departed
down the Ohio to their homes. "About this

time," says Doddridge, "it being reported
that a canoe containing two Indians and
some traders was coming down the river,

and then not far from the place, Captain
Cresap proposed to take a party up the
river and kill the Indians. The proposition
was opposed by Col. Zane, the proprietor
of Wheeling. He stated that the killing of
those Indians would inevitably bring on a
war in which much innocent blood would be
shed, and that the act itself would be an
atrocious murder and a disgrace to his

name for ever. His good counsel was lost.

The party went up the river. On being
asked on their return what had become of
the Indians, they coolly answered, 'they

had fallen into the river.' Their canoe, on
being examined, was found bloody and
pierced with bullets."

In the meantime the Indians from Pitts-

burgh were seen approaching Wheeling
Island. They took the channel on the west
or Ohio side of the island, and were discov-
ered on the river by Capt. Cresap and his

men, who drove them down the river to

Pipe Creek, where the Indians landed aud
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a battle ensued, in which three of the sav-

ages were killed and scalped and their

stores taken. The same night, according to

the account of Col. Clarke, who was with
the party, a resolution was formed by
Cresap's men to attack Logan's camp at

the mouth of Yellow Creek. "We actually

marched live miles and halted to take some
refreshments. Here the impropriety of the

proposed enterprise was argued; the con-

versation was brought forward by Cresap
himself. It was generally agreed that those

Indians had no hostile intentions, as it was
a hunting camp, composed of men, women
and children, with all their stuff with them.

This we knew, as I, myself, and others then

present, had been in their camp about four
weeks before that time, on our way down
from Pittsburgh. In short, every person
present, particularly Cresap (upon reflec-

tion) was opposed to the projected meas-
ure. We turned, and on the same evening
decamped and took the road for Redstone.

It was two days after this that Logan's
family was killed, and from the manner in

which it was done it was viewed as a hor-

rible murder by the whole country."
Logan's camp, at the mouth of Yellow

Creek, was about seventeen miles above the

site of Steubenville. The account of the

atrocious massacre of Logan's people, as
given in Caldwell's History, is as follows:

"Directly opposite Logan's camp was the

cabin of Joshua Baker, who sold rum to

the Indians, and who consequently had
frequent visits from them. Although this

encampment had existed here for a con-

siderable time, the neighboring whites did

not seem to apprehend any danger from
their close proximity. On the contrary,

they were known to have their squaws and
families with them, and to be simply a

hunting camp. The report of Cresap's at-

tack on the two parties of Indians in the

neighborhood of Wheeling, having reached

Baker's, may have induced the belief, as

was subsequently claimed, that the Indians

at Yellow Creek would immediately begin
hostilities in reprisal. Under this pretext,

Daniel Orcathonsc and his brothers gath-

ered a party of about twenty men to attack

the Indian encampment and capture the

plunder. Unwilling to take the risk of an
open attack upon them, he determined to

accomplish by stratagem what might other-

wise prove a disastrous enterprise. Ac-
cordingly, the evening before the meditated
attack, he visited their camp in the guise of
friendship, and while ascertaining their

numbers and defenses, invited them with
apparent hospitality to visit him at Bak-
er's, across the river. On his return he re-

jx>rted the camp as too strong for an open
attack, and directed Baker, when the In-

dians whom he had decoyed should come
over, to supply them with all the rum they
wanted, and get as many of them drunk as

he could. Early in the morning of April
30, a canoe loaded with Indians, consisting

of eight persons, came over—three squaws,
a child, and four unarmed men, one of
whom was a brother of Logan, the Mingo
chief. Going into Baker's cabin he offered
them rum, which they drank, and became
excessively drunk—except two men, one of
whom was Logan's brother, and one
woman, his sister. These refused taking
liquor. No whites, except Baker and two
companions, remained in the cabin. Dur-
ing the visit, it is said by John Sappington,
Logan's brother took down a hat and coat
belonging to Baker's brother-in-law, put
them on, and strutted about, using offensive

language to the white man—Sappington.
Whereupon, becoming irritated, he seized

his gun and shot the Indian as he went out

the door. The balance of the men, who up
to this time remained hidden, now sallied

forth, and poured in a destructive fire,

slaughtering most of the party of drunken
and unresisting savages. According to the

statement of Judge Jolly, the woman at-

tempted to escape by flight, but was also

shot down ; she lived long enough, however,
to beg mercy for her babe, telling them it

was akin to themselves. Immediately on
the firing, two canoes of Indians hurried
across the river. They were received by
the infuriated whites, who were arranged
along the river bank, and concealed by the
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undergrowth, with a deadly fire, which
killed two Indians in the first canoe. The
other canoe turned and fled. After this

two other canoes, containing eighteen war-
riors, armed for the conflict, came over to

avenge their fellows. Cautiously approach-
ing the shore they attempted to land below
Baker's cabin. The movements of the rang-

ers, however, were too guide for them and
they were driven off with the loss of one
man. They returned the fire of the whites
but without effect. The Indian loss was ten

killed and scalped, including the mother,
sister and brother of Logan."
One little baby was spared and they left

for Catfish Camp, now Washington, Pa.,

taking the child with them. It was after-

wards given to its supposed father, Col.

George Gibson, an Indian trader living at

Carlisle, Pa., by whom it was reared and
educated.

John Sappington declared in an affidavit

that he did not believe any of Logan's fam-
ily were killed aside from his brother.

Neither of the squaws was his wife; two of
them were old women and the other the
mother of the child. It has been related

that Sappington admitted that he shot
Logan's brother, and his statement may be
received with some allowance.

After writing an account of the massacre
of lagan's family, Col. William Crawford,
to whom Washington had entrusted the

sale of his western lands, and who subse-

quently met with horrible death by bum
ing by the Indians near Sandusky, says,

"Our inhabitants are much alarmed, many
hundreds have gone over the mountains,
and the whole country evacuated as far as
the Monongahela. In short, a war is every
moment expected. We have a council now
with the Indians. What will be the event
I do not know. I am now setting out for

Fort Pitt at the head of one hundred men.
Many others are to meet me there and at

Wheeling, where we shall wait the motions
of the Indians and shall act accordingly."
A brief sketch of Logan, who was one of

the leading characters in Indian history
will not be out of place here. As has been

stated, he was the second son of Shikelle-

mus, a Cayuga chief, and was born at

Shamokin, on the Susquehanna about
17:10. He was named after James Logan,
a Christian missonary to whom his father
was much attached. He built a cabin on
one of the branches of the Juniata River
in what is now Mifflin County, Pennsyl-
vania., where he remained an advocate for

peace during the French and Indian and
Pontine wars. A friend of the whites as
well as of his own race he was regarded as
honorable, brave and tender. Judge Will-

iam Brown, one of the early settlers of
thnt valley pronounced him "the best speci-

men of humanity I ever met with, either

white or red." An incident in I^ogun's life

finely illustrates his character at that time.

One day while Judge Brown was away from
home, Logan happened to go to his cabin.

Mrs. Brown had a little daughter just be-

ginning to walk, and she remarked that she
wished she had a pair of shoes for her.

When he was about to leave he asked Mrs.
Brown to let the little girl go and spend the
day with him. Although greatly alarmed
at the request the mother feared to refuse.

Slowly the hours of the anxious day crept
along, and there was many a look to see

if the little girl was returning. At sunset
Logan was seen approaching with the lit-

tle girl on his shoulder, who soon hopped
across the floor to her mother's arms, hav-
ing on her feet a pair of neat fitting mocas-
sins. In 1769 lx>gan came to the Allegheny,
and, according to one account moved to

Mingo Bottom, having several hunting
camps on the Ohio and tributary streams,
it is said that while he lived at Mingo an
Indian council determined on war. lx)gan
hearing of it, by a speerh of great elo-

quence and wisdom induced them to bury
the hatchet. The chief points in his speech
were that the war would be wrong and that

they now had the best hunting grounds in

the world, and if they went to war they
would lose them. This report is probably
apocryphal, and if Logan ever lived at

Mingo it was but for a short time as wo
find him in 1772 on the banks of the Scioto,
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wbich was his home until liis death, al-

though be continued his hunting camps at

Beaver, Yellow creek and doubtless else-

where. In conversation with Heckwelder
in 1772 he said he intended to tix his per-

manent home on the Ohio and live among
white people, that whiskey was his curse

and that of his people, und faulted the

whites for bringing it among them. lie

expressed great admiration for the better

class of white men, but said: ''Unfortu-
nately we have only a few of them for

neighbors."
Logan was out with a hunting party

when the massacre occurred at Yellow
creek, and when he returned it was only to

find his home broken up and his relatives

slain. As far as possible he buried the

bodies of the slain, cared for the wounded,
and gathering around him his braves he
joined the Shawanese in the war they were
inaugurating. His whole nature was
changed. No longer Logan "the friend of
the White Man," or "the advocate of
Peace," he was now Logan the avenger,
bent on bloody war. And a bloody one it

was. He declared that he would take ten
scalps for every one of his relatives slain,

and there is no doubt that he accomplished
bis purpose.
The storm broke, not directly on the bor-

der but a considerable distance inside the

range of settlements where it was least ex-

pected. Small parties under Logan pene-
trated up the Kanawha and Western tribu-

taries of the Monongahcla into what is now
Pennsylvania, but was considered by them
as Virginia territory. Up to the iast of
June, 1774, they had* taken sixteen scalps,

which seems temporarily to have appeased
Logan '8 wrath, but not for long. Dr. Con-
nelly by orders of Lord Dunmore sent word
to the Shawanese demanding the delivery
of Logan and his party with three prisoners

• they had taken, but nothing came of it.

On July 12, while William Robinson,
Thomas Hellen and Coleman Brown were
pulling flaa in a field opposite the mouth of
Simpson's creek, in what was then called

West Augusta county on the west Fork of

the Monongahela where nobody expected

to see an enemy. They were suddenly at-

tacked by Logan and bis party. Brown
fell instantly, being perforated by several
balls, and the others tied. Both were soon
captured and taken to the Indian towns on
the Scioto. Hellen was at first cruelly

treated but afterward adopted into an In-

dian family, but Robinson received more
consideration. I^ogan told him he would
not be killed, but must go with him to his

town where he would probably be adopted.
When they arrived there he was condemned
and tied to a stake to be burned, but Logan
tied a belt of wampum around him as a sign

of adoption, loosed him from the post, and
carried him to the cabin of an old squaw,
where Logan pointed out a person who, he
said, was Robinson's cousin, and he after-

wards understood that the old woman was
his aunt, and the two others his brothers,
and he now stood in the place of a warrior
of the family who had been slain at Yel-
low creek. While there, Logan, who could
neither read nor write himself, although he
understood and spoke English procured
Robinson to write a letter from ink made
of gunpowder, which the chief stated he
meant to carry and leave in some house
wher,e he should kill somebody. Robinson
says lie signed the letter with Logan's
name and that the latter took it "and set

out again for the war." What became of
that letter is disclosed by a communication
dated March 2, 1799 from Judge Harry
lunes, of Frankfort, Ky., to Thomas Jeff-

erson as follows:

"In 1774 I lived in Fincastlc County, Pennsylvania,
now divided intu Washington, Montgomery and part of
Wythe. Being intimate in Colonel Prewott family, I

happened, in July, to l>e at bin house when an express
wan Rent to him as the county lieutenant requesting a
guard of the militia to be ordered out fur the protec-

tion of the inhabitants residing Ion down on the forks
of the Ilolnton River. The express brought with him a
war clnh and a note which wan left tied to it at the
house of one Robertson (Roberts), whose family was
cut off by the Indiana, and gave rise to the application
to Colonel Prescott, of wbich the following is a eopy,
then taken by ine in my memorandum book:

'
'

' Captain Cresap : What did you kill my people on
Yellow Creek forf The white people killed my kin at

Conestoga groat while ago, and I thought nothing of
that. But you killed my kin on Yellow Creek, and took
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my cousin prisoner. Then I thought that 1 must kill,

too; I have been three time* to war since; but the

Indiana are not Jingry—only myself.
" 'July 21, 1774. Cait. Joitx Imoas.' "

While Logan here and in his subsequent

"speech" charges Cresap with the Yellow

Creek massacre, yet we have seen that he

had nothing to do with it, and hud left

with Colonel Clark for Redstone, now
Brownsville, Pa. before it occurred.

Although Logan declared that he was
only carrying on a personal war, yet he was
naturally protected by his people, and other

bands of savages were not slow in finding

any excuse to ravage the settlements. The
situation had now become so serious that

messages were sent to the Virginia As-

sembly then sitting at Williamsburg asking

for help. It was charged then and lias been

since that Dunmore, the governor, through

the medium of his subordinate Connelly, at

Fort Pitt, instigated many of these Indian

troubles in order to intimidate the pro-

vincials from entering upon the struggle

with the mother country, and the circum-

stances then and after were such as to war-

rant that belief. However, the government
was prompt in furnishing men and money,
and two expeditions were planned. One
under the command of (Jen. Andrew Lewis
was to rendezvous in (ireenbriar County,

while Lord Dunmore was to assemble an-

other at Fort Pitt, and descend the river

to Point Pleasant at the mouth of the Kun-
awha. Crawford was first sent out with a

party of one hundred men to "watch the

Indians," but as might have been expected

with so small a force he returned without

accomplishing anything. On dune l.'l he

set out with a second company for the pur-

pose of erecting a stockade fort at Wheel-
ing which he called Fort Fincastle. On the

2Gth he left Wheeling with a force of four

hundred men, and marched to the Indian

town of Wakatomica, near the present site

of Dresden, Ohio, where he dispersed a
force of fifty Indians, burned the town, de-

troyed their crops and returned to Wheel-
ing, taking with him three hostages who
were sent to Williamsburg. With the with-

drawal of this little army the border was
again exposed, and as there was now oj>en

war the Indians ravaged the frontier with-

out mercy.
On September 11th Oeueral Lewis at the

head of 1,10(» men left (ireenbriar for Point
Pleasant, distant one hundred and sixty

miles, which was reached after a laborious

march of nineteen days through the moun-
tain wilderness. Here Lord Dunmore was
to meet him, but no Dunmore was there,

and after a delay of nine days he learned

that the governor had come down the river

to Wheeling which he reached on the 30th,

and had marched across the country to

Chillicothe, where he instructed Lewis to

follow him. This was impossible, as Lewis
was already surrounded by a liody of Dela-

wares, Shawanese, Mingoes and others. If

Dunmore had concluded to leave the Vir-

ginians to the fate, as was freely charged,

he could not have planned better for their

destruction as well as that of his own little

army, for had the savages been victorious

at Point Pleasant his forces would have
been attacked at once, and we know pretty

well what would have been the result to

them, even though the governor might have
been permitted through his understanding
with the Indians to reach home in safety.

Hence this battle has been considered to

have been the opening gun of the revolu-

tion. As Mr. Hunter says in his "Path-
finders," "Had the battle of Point Pleasant
been fought on Xew England soil, the pages
of history would have been filled with the

name of Andrew Lewis," but while the peo-

ple in this part of the world were making
history it was left to others to do most
of the writing and at this distance from
Boston events appeared in the same pro-

portionate light as when the eye is applied

to the large end of a hold glass.

Cornstalk was in command of the Indians

at Point Pleasant with Logan as his col-

league. They had approached by stealthy

marches, and expected to surprise the

camp, but were themselves discovered by
a couple of soldiers early on the morning
of the tenth. ( hie of them named Hickman,
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was killed, but the other, Robertson, rushed
back to camp with the intelligence "that he
had seen a body of the enemy covering four
acres of ground as closely as they could

stand by the side of each other." General
Lewis, who had served with honor under
Washington understood Indian tactics, and
pushed forward a detachment under Col.

Charles Lewis and Feming, which was at

once attacked by the Indians and driven
back on the main body, Colonel Lewis be-

ing mortally wounded. But the whites now
became the attacking body and forced the

Indians back behind a temporary intrench-

inent of logs and trees. The brave Vir-

ginians, hemmed in by the Kanawha River
at their rear, the Ohio on one flank and
Crooked Creek on the other were obliged to

fight their foe squarely in front. It was
one of the fiercest frontier contests ever re-

corded. At intervals Cornstalk's loud voice

could be heard encouraging his followers

and bidding them "be strong, be strong."
All day the battle raged, and fearing (he re-

sult if the Indians were not driven away
before night General Lewis ordered three

companies to steal through the weeds and
bushes up Crooked Creek, get behind the

flank of the enemy when he emerged from
his covert, and attack him in the rear. The
movement was a success, and the Indians
finding themselves between two armies, and
believing that this force was fresh troops
which had been delayed, began to fall back.

Fighting continued until darkness, when
the baffled foe retreated across the Ohio and
made for the Scioto towns. The victory

was won, but with a loss of seventy-five

killed and one hundred and forty wounded.
It is said that on the evening preceding

the battle, Cornstalk called a council of war-
riors and proposed to go personally to CJen-

eral Lewis and negotiate for peace, but was
voted down. "Then," said ho. "since you
have resolved to fight you shall fight. It is

likely wo will have hard work to-morrow;
but if any warrior shall attempt to run
away from the battle, I will kill him with
my own hand," and it is said that at least

one of his followers felt the force of this

threat.

General Lewis leaving bis sick and
wounded at Point Pleasant with a guard
crossed the Ohio on October 18th, joined

Dunmore, who as we have seen had made
a direct march for the Scioto country where
he was to meet the Indian forces from
Point Pleasant. Cornstalk was already
there, and reminded the Chiefs of their ob-

stinacy in preventing him making peace be-

fore the battle of Point Pleasant, and per-
tinently usked, "What shall we do now!
The 'Long Knives' are coming upon us
by two routes. Shall we turn out and fight

them!" No response. "Shall we kill our
squaws and children, and then fight until

we are all killed ourselves?" Still there

was dead silence, when he rose up, and
striking his tomahawk into the war-post in

the middle of the council Ilouse said:

"Since you are not inclined to fight, I will

go and make peace."
The term "Long Knives" used above

first applied by the Indians to the Vir-

ginians and afterwards to all the whites
is said to have arisen from an occurrence in

Jefferson County in 1759 ; in consequence of

a settlement near Redstone (now Browus-
ville) having been destroyed and most of

its inhabitants murdered by a party of Del-
awares and Mingoes, a detachment was sent

from Fort Pitt under command of Capt.
John Gibson to punish the marauders.
They failed in their purpose, but acci-

dentally eame across a party of six or seven
Mingoes on the upper waters of Cross
Creek. Some of them were lying down,
others were sitting around a fire making
thongs of green hides. Kiskepila, or Little

Eagle, a Mingo Chief, headed the party.

As soon as he discovered Captain Gibson
he raised the war whoop and fired his rifle

—the ball passed through Gibson's hunting
shirt and wounding a soldier just behind
him. Gibson sprang forward, and swing-
ing his sword with herculean force severed
the head of Little Eagle from his body, two
other Indians were shot down, and the re-
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inainder escaped to their towns on the

Scioto. When the captives, who were re-

stored under the treaty of 17G4 came in,

those who were at the Mingo towns when
the remnant of Kiskepila's party returned,

stated that the Indians represented Gib-

son as having cut off Little Eagle's head
with a long knife. Several white prisoners
were then sacrificed to appease the manes
of the dead Kiskepila, and a war dance en-

sued, accompanied by terrific shouts and
bitter denunciations of revenge on "the
Big Knife warrior. This name was soon
applied to Americans generally, and they
are yet known among the northwestern In-

dians as "Big Knives" or "Long Knives."
Lewis's army reached a deserted village

thirteen miles south of Chillicothe, on Octo-
ber 24, when a messenger was met with
orders from Dunmore to halt, as he was
already at the Chillicothe towns, and was
about concluding a treaty. But Lewis hav-
ing been fired on continued his march when
another order came to halt, as the Shaw-
anese had come to terms. He however went
on to Orandiers Squaw's Town, five and
one-half miles from old Chillicothe not far
from the Indian towns. This alarmed the
Shawanese, and Dunmore with the Dela-
ware Chief, White Eyes, a trader John Gib-
son and fifty volunteers rode over to

Lewis's Camp to stop him and reprimand
him. Lewis's explanations satisfied Dun-
more but he and his command were ordered
hack to Point Pleasant to the great indig-

nation of the provincials who had counted
on punching their enemy badly. It is

said that it was necessary to treble the

guards that night to prevent Dunmore and
White Eyes from being killed.

Dunmore had erected a palisade and
temporary blockhouse naming the place af-

ter (jueeu Charlotte of England. The
united forces of Dunmore and Lewis would
have numbered 2,500 men and it was the

realization that it would be useless to con-

tend against such an army that induced
Cornstalk to make peace. After various
parleying^ the Indians agreed to give up
all their prisoners and stolen horses, tease

from hostilities and molestation of trav-

elers on the Ohio and "surrender all claims

to the lands south of the Ohio." This
latter provision has been disputed, and as

there is no copy of the treaty in existence

it cannot be verified, although as a matter
of fact no Indian settlements were after

wards made south of that river. The Vir-

ginians regarded the victory as a barren
one, but it accomplished a very important
result, for as Koosevelt says "It kept
the northwestern tribes quiet for the first

two years of the Revolutionary struggle;

and above all, it rendered possible the set-

tlement of Kentucky, and therefore the win-

ning of the West. Had it not been for

Lord Dunmore 's War it is more than likely

that when the colonies achieved their free-

dom they would have found their western
boundary fixed at the Allegheny Moun-
tains." At least it might have been the

Ohio Kiver.

But while Cornstalk and his followers

unwillingly acceded terms of peace there
was an Achilles who would have nothing to

do with it. John Gibson was sent to Lo-
gan's tent with a request for him to take
part in the conference. He disdainfully re-

fused, and on being pressed took Gibson
under a neighboring tree and there dictated

that famous address which has been the

model of every school boy orator, and the

subject of controversy as to its genuineness
the echoes of which have scarcely subsided
even to this day. It was first published in

the Virginia (lazttte, and afterwards in

Jefferson's notes on Virginia, which caused
.Jefferson himself to be charged with its

authorship and palming it off as Logan's
in order to combat the theories of some
European scientists who maintained that

American air and environment were not

conducive to oratorical eloquence. It was
declared that after all Logan was a drunken
savage, who could not read or write, who
could not even speak English, ami was
utterly incapable of making the address
attributed to him. Jefferson indignantly
repudiated the charge that he had com-
posed the speech, and furnished a mass of
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evidence to the effect that not only had
he received the same on the return of the

Dunmore expedition, but direct testimony
of those who had heard the speech re-

hearsed in camp, not spoken by Logan to

Dunmore as many supposed, but the writ-

ten document transmitted to him. Among
those was a long affidavit from Gibson who
was sent to Logan as related above, in

which he says:
"This deponent further says that in the

year 1774 he accompanied Lord Dunmore
on the expedition against the Shawanese
and other Indians on the Scioto, that on
their arrival within fifteen miles of the

towns they were met by a flag and a white
man of the name of Elliott, who informed
Lord Dunmore that the chiefs of the Shaw-
anese had sent to request his lordship to

halt his army and send in some person who
understood their language; that this de-

ponent at the request of Lord Dunmore and
the whole of the officers with him, went in

;

that on his arrival at the towns, Logan, the

Indian came to where this deponent was
sitting with Cornstalk and the other chiefs

of the Shawanese, and asked him to walk
out with him, that they went into a copse of
wood, where they sat down when Logan,
after shedding abundance of tears, deliv-

ered to him the speech nearly as related

to by Mr. Jefferson in his notes on the
State of Virginia, etc." An eye witness
testifies: "I saw John Gibson on Girty's
arrival, get up and go out of the circle and
talk with Girty, after which he (Gibson)
went into a tent and soon after returning
into the circle drew out of his pocket a
piece of clean, new paper, on which was
written in his own handwriting, a speech
for and in the name of Logan."

It would be superfluous to accumulate
evidence on this point. It is conclusive in

that it narrows down the address to Logan
or Gibson. It seems to be conceded that
Gibson was an educated man, while Logan
could not read or write, in which he was
not very different from many of his white
contemporaries, bnt the assertion that he
eonld not speak English is absurd on its

face. He was named after a Moravian mis-

sionary, and was associated with the whites
from babyhood. Of course he could speak
Indian and had he done so in this case, the

published speech would be Gibson's trans-

lation. But this was entirely unnecessary,

and if there had been such a proceeding
Gibson would have doubtless have said so

in his affidavit. Now as to the internal

evidence of the speech itself. There have
been some slight variations in the pub-
lished reports of the address but the fol-

lowing which seems to have been the first

published appears to be the most accurate

:

"I appeal to any white man to Bay that he over en-

tered Logan's cabin but I gave him meat; that bo ever

tamo naked but I clothed him. In the coarse of the last

war Logan remained in his cabin aa an advocate for

peace. I had auch affection for the white people that

I -naa pointed at by the rest of my nation. I should

have even lived with them had it not been for Colonel

Cresap, who, last iprfng, cut off in cold blood all the

relations of Logan, not sparing women and children.

There runs not a drop of my blood in the veins of any
human creature. This called on me for revenge. I have
sought it. I have killed many and fully glutted my
revenge. I am glad that there is a prefect of peace

on account of fhe nation ; but I beg you will not enter-

tain a thought that anything I have said proceeds from
fear. Logan disdains the thought. He wUI not turn

on his heel to save his life. Who is there to mourn for

Logan » Not one."

Following is the version as published by
Jefferson

:

" I appeal to any white man to say if he ever entered

lagan's cabin hungry and be gave him not meat; if

he ever became cold and naked and be clothed him not
During the course of the last and bloody war Logan
remained idle in bis cabin an advocate for peace. 8uch
una my love for the whites that my countrymen pointed

as they passed and said, 'Logan is the friend of the

white men.' I had even thought to have lived with you
but for the injuries of one man. Colonel Cresap, the last

spring, in cold blood and unprovoked, murdered all the

relatives of Logan, not even sparing my women ami
children. There is not a drop of my Mood in the veins

of any living creature. This called on me for revenge.

I have sought it. I have killed many. I have fully

glutted my vengeance. For my country I rojoi«- nt

the beams of peace—but do not harbor a thought Hint

mine is tho joy of fear. Logan never felt fear. He
will not turn on his heel to save his life. Who is there

to mourn for Logan f Not one."

Aside from mistakes possibly arising in

the act of copying there is an evident at-

tempt to "improve" the original which is

a dismal failure. We have given some
previous examples of Indian orator)' which
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was terse, epigrammatic, and while not
lacking imagery yet does not descend to

what ia called flowery. There are some
things education cannot do. Education did
not and could not qualify Bacon to write
Shakespeare's plays full of scientific and
historic blunders as they are, the polished
and cultivated Everett could not have eom-
!>osed the speech of Lincoln, the backwoods-
man, at Gettysburg, and it is safe to say
that neither Gibson nor Jefferson could
have written Logan's speech; if it was they
who tried to improve it they made a mess
of it. Furthermore if the language of the
first address is compared with the note
sunt to Cresap some time before the sim-
ilarity of style will be manifest. It will be
noted that Logan still maintains that one
of the Cresaps had a hand in the Yellow
('reek massacre, although Gibson says he
told him otherwise. It should also be noted
that Gibson in his affidavit speaks of Lo-
gan's speech being "nearly as related by
Mr. .Jefferson, "implying that alterations
had been made by somebody.

Like Pontiac, having no object in life

after the Dunmore war Logan took to

drink, that bane of the red man. In 1775,
Simon Kenton built a cabin for him.
and in 1778 when Kenton was captured by
the Shawanesc and condemned to be
burned, Logan saved his life. During the
Revolutionary War he was on friendly
terms with the British, but took no active
part against the Colonists, and was the
means of saving the lives of many prison-
ers captured in border foray. He be-

lieved that he had two souls, good and bad.
Hint when his good soul was in the ascend-

ant he could do nothing but good, but when
his bad soul had control he wished to do
nothing but kill—an aboriginal Dr. Jekyl

and Mr. Hyde. He visited Detroit in 1779,

and while in a fit of intoxication insulted an
Indian who waylaid him on his way home.
He was seated at a campfire with his

blanket over his head, when the Indian

crept up behind him and buried his toma-
hawk in his brains. There was none to

mourn for Logan, but the descendants of

his white contemporaries have learned to

respect and esteem him.
Captain Cresap, who was so unfortunate

as to have bis name mixed up in the Yel-

low Creek tragedy, took an active part in

the opening struggles of the Revolution.

Having raised n company of Maryland
riflemen, the beginning of the Continental

army, he went to New York in the summer
of 177"). where be sickened and died. He is

buried in Trinity church yard in that city,

and on his tombstone is the inscription:

"In memory of Michael Cresap, First Capt.

of the Hifie Battalions and son to Col.

Thomas Cresap, who departed this life

October 18th, 1775."

Cornstalk was brutally murdered while

held as a hostage at Point Pleasant, with

his son Elinipsico, a young warrior named
Kedhawk, and another Indian. This oc

curred in May, 1777 in revenge for the mur-
der of a white man with which event the

great chief, who had come on an errand
of peace and mercy, had nothing 1o do.

As in the case of the Logan massacre the

border suffered severly for this act of

treachery, and there was no real pence

thereafter until Wayne's victory in 17!>4.
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CHAPTER VI

THE AMERICAN REVOLUTION

War Along the Border—Battle of Fort Henry—Clark Secures the Ohio Valley—The
Gnadeuhutten Massacre and Crawford Expedition.

When Lord Dunmore arrived home he
was warmly congratulated by the Legis-

lature on the result of his expedition. But
this good feeling was not of long duration.

Resistance to tbe demands of Great Britain
was to the front, and as the governor took
the Kpyalist side the situation soon be-

came too hot for him. On June 8, 1775 he
took refuge on a British man of war, prac-
tically abdicating his functions, and the
colony took steps to raise and equip at once
nine regiments, which afterwards made a
good record in the Continental army. Major
Connelly had been arrested at Fort Pitt

by a Pennsylvania sheriff for trespassing
in that State, and left the country, and the
fort passed into the hands of the Amer-
icans, who held it all through the war. Ohio
Connty, Virginia, was organized in 1776,

it including what is now the Pan Handle.
The name of Fort Fincnstle at Wheeling
was changed to Fort Henry, and became
famous afterwards as the scene of two
bloody battles. As a whole the Dnninore
treaty was observed by the Indians along
the border, but this did not prevent spo-

radic raids by individuals or small bands,
evidently incited by British influence. The
outrages seemed to be mainly by Mingo
banditti, and an expedition against them
was talked of but not carried out. In the

spring of 1777 apprehensions of an Indian
war became very acute, as border out-

s-

rages were increasing. A council was held

at Fort Pitt on March 24th, and twenty-
five men sent to each of the following
places : Logstown, nolliday 's Cove opposite

Steubenville, and Cox's about five miles be-

low. The raids continued, and every here
and there settlers were massacred with all

the accompaniments of savage cruelty,

their homes burnt and their wives and chil-

dren murdered or carried into captivity.

In the meantime Cornstalk and party had
been murdered at Point Pleasant, an event
calculated to excite the Indians to frenzy
if they needed any such incitement. The
number of warriors who could be brought
against the settlements at this time was
estimated at over 10,000, and when the

weakness of the whites is considered, with
the fact that the struggle for independence
deprived them of any substantial aid from
the east, truly the outlook was a gloomy
one. The only strong positions along this

border were at Fort Pitt, Redstone, Wheel-
ing and Point Pleasant. There were block-

houses at Beech Bottom, Cross Creek and
Grave Creek, and a small stockade on Short
Creek, commanded by the famous Samuel
McColloch. The Virginian government did

what it could. Ammunition was forwarded,
and the settlers advised to retire into the

interior. Some did so, but the majority de-

termined to remain and stand their ground.
In August intelligence was received by
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sonic t'rieudly Indians from the Moravian
towns in Ohio that a large army had con-

centrated on the Sandusky River and would
probably march towards the Ohio.

Quite a village had grown up around
Fort Henry at the mouth of Wheeling
Creek, and twenty or thirty houses dotted
the bottom land, while flocks and herds
ranged over the fields, an Acadia in the
wilderness. There was no garrison in the

fort, dependence being placed on the set-

tlers to guard it in case of necessity.

Scouts had returned from the up river

country and reported no signs of Indians,
but on the night of August 31st, 1777 a
party of three hundred and eighty-nine
warriors stealthily approached the village,

aud supposing from lights in the fort that
it was guarded, posted themselves for an
ambuscade the next morning. Early the
following day a white man and negro were
sent out to bring in some horses which were
grazing in a Held, who came across a party
of six savages. They fled and the white
man was shot down, but the negro fled to

the fort and gave the alarm. Capt. Samuel
Meason, who with Captain Ogle and some
others were in the fort marched out with
fourteen men, when they found themselves
surrounded by a large body of Indians.
They endeavored to retreat but were shot
down one by one. Captain Meason, though
badly wounded endeavored to reach the
fort but was unable to do so, and con-
cealed himself under some fallen timber
until the battle was over. In the meantime
Captain Ogle with twelve of his scouts
sallied to the relief of those outside. They
fell into the ambuscade and met the same
fate as their companions. Captain Ogle
was able to conceal himself in the briars
where he lay until the next day. Of the
twenty-six men led out by these two officers,

only three escaped death, aud two of these
were badly wounded. While this was going
on the inhabitants were hastening to the
fort, and the gates were scarcely closed be-

fore the Indians were upon them. Three
men who had left the fort to join their com-
rades met the enemy advancing in two

ranks, their left flank extending to the river

hank and their right to the woods. They
ran back to the fort followed by a few ran-

dom shots and a yell which made the valley

ring. A few well directed rifle shots from
the fort checked the advance of the Indians,

but when the main body hnd been brought
up a demand was made for surrender in the

name of his Brittanic Majesty. An oftu-cr

appearing at the window of a house said he
had come with a large array to escort to De-

troit such frontier inhabitants as would
accept the terms offered by Governor Ham-
ilton, namely renounce the cause of the

Colonies and attach themselves to the in-

terest of Great Britain. Protection was
assured to all who would accept these

terms, while those who refused would be
left to savage vengeance. He read Ham-
ilton's proclamation, and gave the inmates
of tho fort fifteen minutes to consider his

proposition. Colonel Zane replied that

tbey had consulted their wives and chil-

dren, and that they were all resolved to

perish sooner than place themselves under
the protection of a savage army with him
at the bead, or abjure the cause of liberty

and the colonies. The British Commander
proceeded to depict in lurid colors the re-

sult of the obstinacy, but a shot from the

fort caused his withdrawal, and the assault

began.
There were in the fort but thirty-three

men, another account says but twelve men
and boys, to defend it against three hun-
dred and eighty Indians, with the two ter-

rible disasters of the morning to depress
them. The Indians used the village as a
cover, part of them behind the paling fence
of Colonel Zane's yard, fifty or sixty yards
from the fort, while a strong reserve was
posted in the cornfield. Every man in the
garrison was a sharpshooter, and made bis

shots tell, while the Indians did a great deal

of wild firing against the fort and thus
wasted their energy and ammunition.
Shortly after dinner the Indians discon-

tinued their firing and retired to the base
of the hills. About 2:30 they again ad-
vanced on the fort, protecting themselves
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as before. There was an impetuous attack

on the south side, drawing the gurrison to

the two lower blockhouses, where they
poured a destructive fire on the enemy.
While this was going on, eighteen or twenty
Indians, armed with rails and wooden bill-

ets, rushed out of Zane's yard and at-

tempted to force open the gate of the fort.

Their design was discovered and after five

or six had been shot down they retreated.

They next attacked the fort simultaneously
on three sides, the river side affording them
no protection, and the battle raged furi-

ously until evening. The rifles used by the

settlers became so heated from continuous
use that they were laid aside and recourse
had to muskets, of which there was a sup-
ply in the storehouse. The battle lasted

twenty-three hours, almost without inter-

mission, women using guns alongside the
men, while others engaged in moulding
bullets; others loaded rifles and passed
them to the defenders, while some engaged
in cooking, furnishing provisions, water,
etc. Each realized that it was a life and
death struggle.

A runner had been dispatched early in

the day to Fort Van Metre on Short Creek,
and Holliday's fort at the Cove, asking for
assistance, and about daybreak on the
morning of the 2d Major Samuel McCol-
loch, with forty-five mounted men from the
former place, arrived at the fort. Though
closely beset by the Indians, McCol loch's

men entered the gate, but their commander
was surrounded and forced back, and gal-

loped off in the direction of Wheeling Hill.

The savages could have shot him, but they
wished to take him alive, as he was one of
the greatest fighters along the border. His
name had been a terror, and anticipating

the delight of taking him alive for torture

they sped after him. He reached the top of

the hill and turned to the left towards
Short Creek, when he ran into a party of
Indians. He turned back and met his orig-

inal pursuers, with a third party, coming
up the hill. He was now hemmed in on
three sides, with an almost perpendicular
precipice in front, leading to Wheeling

Creek. There was but a moment for de-

cision. Taking his rifle in his left hand,
and grasping his reins with the other, he
urged his horse to the front of the bluff

and leaped down the hill. It was a daring
but successful chance. The noble steed

with its rider went crashing through the

underbrush and reached the bottom of the
hill safe and sound. McColloch dashed
across the creek and shouted defiance in

response to the baffled cries of rage and dis-

ap|K)intment which reached his ears.

By this time the Indians had become dis-

couraged, and fearing they would be cut

off by reinforcements, they concluded to

retreat, so after burning all the houses and
killing the live stock, they left as silently

as they had come.
Capt. Andrew Swearingen, who was in

command at Holliday's Cove when word
came of the attack on Wheeling, collected

fourteen volunteers and embarked in a
large canoe. The night was dark and foggy,
and fearing they might unknowingly pass
Wheeling, they ceased rowing and drifted

with the current When daylight came,
they found they had not made the distance

expected and plied their oars vigorously.

Soon they saw the blaze from the burning
houses, and were uncertain whether the

fort itself were not a heap of smoking
ruins. Colonel Swearingen, Captain Bil-

derback and William Boshears volunteered
to reconnoiter, and proceeding continu-

ously soon reached the fort. It was still

uncertain whether the Indians had de-

parted or were lying in ambuscade, so the

lioatmen were cautiously guided into the

fort, and a subsequent examination re-

vealed the fact that they had indeed gone.

The battle ground presented a grewsome
sight. The twenty-three men who had
been shot the preceding day were lying

dead, many of them barbarously butchered
with the tomahawk and scalping knife. Up-
wards of three hundred cattle, horses and
hogs wantonly killed were lying around,
the houses with their contents in ashes, for

I he settlers had not time to remove even
their clothing to the fort. Of course, crops
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were all destroyed, and the settlers had
.scanty fare that winter. Inside the fort

not a man was killed, the loss of life occur-

ring during the ambuscade. The Indian
loss was estimated at about one hundred.
This was as much one of the battles of the

Revolution as any contest on the Atlantic

Coast, and for bravery and results accom-
plished the record is second to none.

Shortly after, Captain Freeman came from
the East and took command in this section,

and was slain in an ambuscade below
Wheeling. Like Braddock, he knew noth-

ing of Indian warfare, and declined to take

advice.

General Hand marched from Fort Pitt

in February, 177K, against Cuyahoga, to

capture anus and supplies said to have
been sent there from Detroit, but stopped
at Salt Licks in what is now Mahoning
County, after killing and capturing a few
squaws. From this, it was called the

"Squaw Campaign."
All through this year there is direct evi-

dence that Governor Hamilton was stirring

up the Indians to border raids, with u
measure of success. General Mcintosh was
appointed by Washington to the command
of the Western Department, and came to

Fort Pitt in May. He built a fort at the

mouth of Beaver and called it Fort Mc-
intosh, and in October headed an expedi-
tion to the Tuscarawas, where he con-

structed Fort I Gluteus. The next year it

was attacked by the Indians, and after a
futile attempt to hold it the fort was aban-
doned and Mcintosh relieved at his own
request.

Jn the meantime, there was a man who
was studying over a project which meant
something more than the raiding of a few
Indian towns in reprisal for border out-

rages, which at U-st afforded hut tempo
rary relief. It w;is to strike at the fountain
head, reduce the British forts in the West
ern country and not only break the main
spring which was moving the savages, hut

conquer the country for the Americans,
who thus far had only the most shadowy
title to it. This man was George Hogers

Clark, a V irginian, then living at Harrods-
burg, in the Kentucky country. As early

as 1777 he had sent a couple of young hun-
ters to Vineennes on the Wabash to ascer-

tain just how strongly the French settlers

in that section were attached to the Brit-

ish, to whom they had been subject since

the treaty of 176.1, although he disclosed

nothing of his plans to them or to any-
body else. They brought back word that

the feeling was lukewarm at best, although
they had a wholesome awe of the American
backwoodsmen, concerning whom they hat!

beard dreadful tales. That was all Clark
wanted to know, and it being impossible to

raise a sufficient force for his purpose front

the scanty jiopulation of Kentucky, he
started back to Virginia to lay the matter
Ih'fore Patrick Henry, the governor. Henry
took up the project, but Virginia's re-

sources were already taxed in the revolu-

tionary struggle, and the peril of sending
such a little army into the wilderness on
such conditions were manifest. Then the

matter could not be brought before the

Assembly, for absolute secrecy was neces-

sary. Finally Henry authorized Clark to

raise seven companies of fifty men each,

advanced some money, aud gave him an
order on the authorities of Pittsburgh for
boats and supplies. Thomas Jefferson,

George Mason and George Wythe agreed
in writing to do their best to induce the

legislature to give each soldier three hun-
dred acres of the conquered land if they
were successful. He was to take his men
solely from the frontier countries beyond
the Blue Kidge. The ostensible object of
the expedition was the relief of Kentucky,
lie had great difficulty in getting men. local

jealousies and the feeling that soldiers

were needed more in the Hast than in Ken-
tucky hindered him greatly. Hut he worked
along amid all discouragements and, in

May. J77H. he left Kedstoue. touching at

Pittsburgh for supplies and came on down
the river in clumsy tlatltoats. He had one
hundred and fifty volunteers, with a num-
ber of settlers for Kentucky. On May 27
he reached the falls of tin- Ohio, where the
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families who were with him formed a set-

tlement, afterwards named Louisville, in

honor of the French king who had lately

become our ally. Here Clark disclosed the

object of the expedition, and some deser-

tions was the result, but the remainder,
with a number of Kentuckians, hailed the

adventure with enthusiasm.
Clark, having weeded out all the incom-

petents, left the falls on June 24th with

four companies aggregating less than two
hundred men, but each man a host. He
rowed down the river to the mouth of the

Tennessee, where he met a small party of

American hunters, who gave him valuable

information and undertook to guide him to

the towns. On the evening of July 4th,

after a rapid march through the wilder-

ness, the party reached the Kaskaskia
River. They waited in the woods until dark
and then marched along the river, stopping
within a mile of the town. The towns-

people appear to have heard some rumor
of an approaching force, but paid no atten-

tion to it, although Rocheblave, the com-
mander, when he heard of Clark's gather-

ing in Kentucky, wrote to Detroit for rein-

forcements, and also to be replaced by a

commander of English birth, as the In-

dians were uncertain, and the Frenchmen
awed by reports of the ferocity of the back-

woodsmen. Hamilton could not send rein-

forcements, but by the aid of Indians and
Creoles he had a respectable little army,
three times the size of Clark's. An un-
usual exercise of generalship was neces-

sary if anything was to be accomplished.
Cnder cover of darkness Clark crossed the

river and approached Kaskaskia, sur-

rounding the town with one division of
troops and leading the other up to the

walls of the fort. A dance was in progress,

and the sentries had left their posts to join

it. A prisoner showed (Mark a postern
gate by the river, and, entering the fort,

like Cyrus of old, he approached the

revelers. While he was leaning silently

against a doorpost watching the revelers,

an Indian lying on the door looked up and,
seeing the stranger, sprang to his feet ut-

tering a war whoop. The dancing sud-

denly ceased, the women screamed, and the

men" rushed for the entrance. Clark did

not move, but bade them "On with the

dance," but to remember that they now
danced under Virginia and not Great Bri-

tain. At this instant the French officers

were seized, the streets secured, the people

ordered to remain in their houses on pain
of death, and by daylight everybody was
disarmed. The French waited in silent

terror, which Clark took no pains to dimin-
ish. Next morning a deputation of leading

men called on Clark to beg for their lives,

being willing even to go into slavery to

save themselves and families. Clark saw
his chance and embraced it. Although he
had the people terrified, he knew that with-

out their help he could not expect to hold

the country with his little force. So he ex-

plained that it was not their design to

enslave the people, and if they wished to

become loyal citizens of the new republic

they could do so, and the others might
depart in peace. There was a prompt and
enthusiastic response, led by the priest

Pierre Gibault, to whom Clark had given

immediate permission to open his church.

Cahokia, a neighboring town, was next

reached, and there was no trouble here,

as the inhabitants had heard the news from
Kaskaskia and were ready to acknowledge
the new regime. Gibault volunteered to

go to Viiwennes and win over the people

there, in which he was entirely successful,

and an empire was gained without the loss

of a man. But getting was not keeping, as

Clark soon realized. He was in the midst
of an unfriendly Indian country subject to

British influence from Detroit, the terms of
his men were expiring and they wanted to

go home. By offering special inducements
one hundred of them were persuaded to

enlist for six months longer, and he suc-

ceeded in enlisting enough Creoles to bring
his four companies up to their original

strength. By a mixture of firmness and
conciliation he finally secured a favorable
treaty with the Indians, and for a time at

least there was peace in that country.
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But Hamilton was not idle. A proposed
expedition to Fort Pitt had been thwarted
by Clark's movements, and now he pro-

posed to recapture Vincennes. He missed
no efforts to stir up the Indians, and on
October 7 left Detroit with one hundred
and sixty-seven regulars, which force was
soon increased by accessions from the sav-

ages, so that when he reached Vincennes he
had in ull alwut five hundred men. Vin-
cennes was not reached until December
17th, Hamilton's force having come by
Lake Erie and the Maumee River, and then
portaged to the Wabash, down whose
waters he had floated. In the face of this

force Helm, the commander, was promptly
deserted by the Creole militia, and being
left with only two Americans surrendered,
on condition that they should be treated
with humanity. This agreement was kept,

although the Indians plundered the fort

and one house. The light-hearted French
quickly transferred their allegiance to their

present rulers, and Hamilton, with his

five hundred men, felt very secure with
Clark 240 miles away in the wilderness
with only a hundred reliable soldiers. Hu
was also near Detroit, his bnse of supplies,

while Clark had no base whatever. Had he
marched across the country he might have
annihilated ('lark, but the difficulties at

that season seemed insuperable, and the

idea that (.'lark would come his way never
entered his head. But' he did not know his

man, and allowed the Indians to go home,
as well as the Detroit militia, retaining
thirty-four British regulars, forty French
volunteers, and a dozen white Indian
leaders, in a mixed company of alwut one
hundred and sixty. He expected to take
the field in the spring with over a thousand
men, with artillery, reconquer the Illinois

country and take Kentucky.
Clark knew he could not contend with

the force that Hamilton proposed heading
in the spring, and determined to forestall

him. He learned that the Vincennes gar-
rison had been reduced to eighty men, so

gathering together a force of one hundred
and seventy men he started, on February

7th, overland for lhat place. He had pre-

viously equipped a row galley with four

small cannon and sent it to patrol the Ohio
and Wabash, being the first gunboat on
those rivers. We have not space to give a

description of that inarch, it will be fouud
in Roosevelt's Wiiming of the West.

They had no tent*, ami waded or swam
swollen streams, sometimes obstructed by
ice, and in a little over a week reached the

overflowed lands of the Wabash. As in the

first expedition absolute secrecy was neces-

sary, and as they were now near Vincennes
they dared not lire a gun. The high water
had driven away the game from the low

lauds, and on the morning of the 20th the

men had been without provisions two days.

Clark kept up the spirits of his men, and
one of the hunters killing a deer helped

them out somewhat. Then they waded for

three days in water often up to their chins,

while the weak and famished were carried

in canoes. Then there was a inarch of four

miles through water, many on emerging
falling flat on their faces from exhaustion,

but, after much weary work, at last they

saw the fort and town two miles away,
which they hailed with as much joy us the

crusaders did Jerusalem. A duck hunter
having l>een captured gave the information
that there was no suspicion of any enemy
at hand, but that two hundred Indians had
just come to town. This would make a

force four times that of Clark's. He de
<?ided on a ls>ld course, and sent the pris-

oner back to town with a message to the

people to remain in their houses, and at

sundown marched directly towards his foe.

trusting to the dusk to conceal his numbers.
He besieged the fort that night, and the

next morning summoned it to surrender.
While waiting for a reply, Clark's men took

the opportunity of getting breakfast, the

first for six days. Hamilton asked a three

days' truce, which was refused, and the

fort surrendered in the afternoon, with
seventy-nine men. The Americans held
this country until the close of the war. and
secured it forever by the treaty of 17S.T

Clark risked his life and fortune in this
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enterprise, and the only reward he ever
received was a sword voted by the Virginia

Legislature, which, it is said, he indig-

nantly threw away.
In his army was a soldier named John

McGuire, originally of Winchester, Va.,

who never returned. His widow, Mary Me-
Guire, moved to Jefferson County in 1798
and settled on what is now the Infirmary
farm, afterwards moving to the West,
where she died, leaving a number of descen-

dants here.

Col. Daniel Brodhead succeeded Mcin-
tosh in command of the Department of the

West, and conducted an important cam-
paign up the Allegheny against the Iro-

quois, in which several from this section

took part. The following year, 1780, the

Delaware Indians joined the British and
planned two raids along the border. One
division crossed the Ohio below Wheeling
and took a large number of prisoners, but

being alarmed at reports of concentration

of settlers, a retreat wns determined upon,

it being first resolved to murder all their

male prisoners. The unfortunate men and
boys were lashed to trees and brutally

tomahawked and scalped in the presence of

their wives and families, whose cries and
tears were mingled with their dying
groans. Such events as this were well cal-

culated to create a frenzy along the border
which did not discriminate when the victim

was a friendly Moravian or a merciless foe.

To check these outrages Colonel Brodhead
l>egan preparing for an expedition to the

Muskingum. There were projects of a

more extensive one to Detroit, which would
have effectually checked the border raids

could it have been carried out, but that whs
beyond the resources of the colonics. To
facilitate operations Colonel Brodhead
concluded to call on the small garrisons at

Fort Henry and Holliday's Cove, but the

season wore away without anything being
accomplished. However, in April, 1781, a
force of three hundred men was gathered
at Wheeling, and making a rapid march,
surprised the Indians on the Muskingum
where Coshocton now stands. Sixteen cap-

tured warriors were scalped by direction

of a council of war, and the following morn-
ing an Indian called from the opposite side

of the river for the "big Captain" (Brod-
head), saying he wanted peace. Brodhead
sent for his chief, who came over under a
promise that he should not be killed, but
it is said that when he got over he was
tomahawked by the notorious Indian
fighter Lewis Wetzell. After destroying
a village a short distance below, the army
sturted homeward up the Tuscarawas
River towards Fort Pitt with twenty pris-

oners, all of whom were killed by the sol-

diers, except a few women and children,

who were afterwards exchanged. Thus the
massacre of the previous year was avenged.
On his return, Brodhead stopped at the

Moravian villages of New Schonbrunn,
Gnaddenhuttcn and Salem, in what is now
Tuscarawas County, and advised them in

view of their dangerous position to break
up their settlements and accompany him to

Fort Pitt, but they declined. It is said that
a party of militia had resolved on destroy-
ing these villages, but were prevented by
Brodhead and Colonel Shepherd, of Wheel-
ing. Many of these same men came out
with Williamson the following year, and
satiated their thirt for blood.

In the summer of 1781 Colonel Lochry
conducted a small expedition for the pur-
pose of joining General Clark in the reduc-
tion of Detroit. It went down the river in

boats, and shortly, below the mouth of Big
Miami, was attacked by Indians from the
shore. Colonel Lochry and forty-one of his

command were killed, and the remainder
captured, some of them being killed and
scalped while prisoners. Among the mem-
bers of this expedition were Capt. Thomas
Stokely, the father of the late Gen. Samuel
Stokely, of Steubenville, and Ensign Cyrus
Hunter, great-grandfather of the late Will-

iam II. Hunter, also of Steubenville, both
of whom were among those who escaped
with their lives. Captain Stokely gave an
account of the affair to his son, M. S.

Stokely, who in turn related it to Mr. Hun
ter. Captain Stokely was wounded by the
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volley tired by the savages just after the

boat landed, but fearing he would Vie killed

if he showed evidences of disability, he as-

sumed to Ik* sound and was permitted to

accompany the Indians on their march to

Detroit. On the way, however, they
camped and made preparations to burn him
at the stake. Stokely was tied to the stake

and the fire lighted, when he made the

Masonic sign of distress. He was inline-

dintely taken from the stake and permitted

to accompany the Indians. However, with

Captain Boyd, he succeeded in making his

escape, and a year after appeared before

the council of war in Philadelphia, and it

is recorded in the Archives of Pennsyl-
vania that the two men "appeared before

the council and, stating that they were
refugees, were given provisions and cloth-

ing to aid them on their way to West-
moreland County." The Masonic sign

as a means of relief from Indian tor-

ture is questioned by historians. Dr.

Egle says he has heard of but one au-

thentic case of an Indian recognizing the

Masonic sign; this was a Canadian Indian.

The grandson of Captaiu Stokely says that

he had always understood from his father's

with the party that massacred Colonel
Loehry and his soldiers was a Canadian
Indian, and if the Canadian Indians were
.Masons, the story has foundation. Besides,

it is known thai the Indians that slaugh-

tered Lochry and his men at the mouth of
the Miami were commanded by a white
man, perhaps a British officer sent out from
Detroit, for the British officers at Detroit

kept in touch with all the patriot expedi-
tions by means of Indian spies.

Events were now tending rapidly to-

ward an event which shocked even the
blunted sensibilities of the fierce border
characters, and left a stnin on the history

of that period which will never be wiped
out, the slaughter of the Christian Indians
at (tnaddenhutten, about fifty-five miles
west of what is now Steubenville. We have
seen that they had been warned of their

dauger by General Brodhead, but persisted
in remaining in their homes, which were di-

rectly in the pathway of hostile forces from
both sides, and charged with furnishing

provisions to each in turn, which indeed

they were obliged to do. In August, 1781,

a force of three hundred warriors, accom-
panied by a British officer, appeared at

their towns, and after remaining there a

month compelled the Moravian mission-

aries and all their follower* to go back

with them to Sandusky. The object of this

move was to enable the hostile tribes to

reach the l>order without being observed
and rejwrted. This was noticed by General
Brodhead, who took increased precautions.

A raid was made on Wheeling in Septem-
ber, supposedly by the same force that ab-

ducted the Moravians, but beyond the burn
ing of Colonel Zane's house it was unsuc-
cessful.

When the Moravians were carried to

Sandusky, their cattle, corn and other win-

ter provisions were left behind. The mis-

sionaries were taken to Detroit and tried

as American spies, but were acquitted

and returned to Sandusky. Shortly after

this, David Williamson, a militia col-

onel of Washington County, Pennsylvania,
marched to the Muskingum to compel the

removal of the missionaries, but found they

had been anticipated by the other side.

They captured a small party who had re-

turned from Sandusky to gather some
standing corn, and brought them to the set

tlemeuts. They were immediately freed by
General Irvine, who had been placed in

command at Fort Pitt. The abandoned
towns were made the resting place of war
riors going to or retaining from the Ohio
with scalps and prisoners, as well as small
pursuing parties from the east, and a few
Christian Indians escaped from Sandusky,
a combination of circumstances not calcu-

lated to encourage jieace and good feeling.

The winter of 17S|-'J was cold, and provi
sions at Sandusky running short about a
hundred of the converts obtained leave to

go back to the Tuscarawas for supplies.

At the same time, hostiles were sent to raid

the border, with the expectation that their

pursuers would follow them to the Tucara
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was towns, when they would find the Chris-

tian Indians gathering corn and dispatch
them. It was a deep laid scheme, concocted
hy the British authorities to embroil the

settlers with the Indians. In February,
1782, a party of warriors crossed the Ohio
at Mingo and at the present site of
Stenbenville, and took a number of captives

on Raccoon and Buffalo Creeks in Pennsyl-
vania. Alarm and exasperation became
general, and work was begun towards or-

ganizing the expedition afterwards com-
manded by David Williamson. It was
early in the season for raids of this kind,

which created the belief that the raiders

were either Moravians or warriors who had
their winter quarters in their towns. The
raiders attacked the house of Robert Wal-
lace on Raccoon Creek during his absence,

and carried off his wife and three children.

Wallace, returning home and rinding every-
thing destroyed, his cattle shot and his

family missing, raised a party of neighbors
and started after the raiders, but a snow-
storm hindered them from overtaking the
savages, and they were obliged to return.

The mother and infant were soon toma-
hawked, and the two boys carried to San-
dusky, where the elder died. Arriving at
Gnadenhutten, they found the Christians
gathering corn to carry to their starving
brethren in the Northwest. Hearing the
story of the warriors, the peaceful Indians
became alanned and ordered the unwel-
come visitors away. Before going, the lat-

ter bartered the dress they had taken from
Mrs. Wallace to some young Indian girls

for provisions. After their departure, the
Christians called a council at Salem, when
it was decided to remain and continue gath-

ering the corn, trusting to their well known
reputation for Christianity and peaceful -

ness to insure their safety. It was agreed
to begin preparations for the return with
the corn for their famishing brethren on
the Sandusky.

Colonel Williamson had gathered to-

gether about ninety men, who rendezvoused
at Mingo Bottom on the night of March 2d,

and the next morning started on their

march up Cross Creek. On the evening of
the second day's march they arrived within
a mile of Gnadenhutten and encamped for

the night. Had they been a day later they
would have found the plat* deserted, the
Moravians were already binding up their

packages for departure. On their way to

the town on March 6th, the whites met a
young half-breed, Joseph Shabosh, who
had come out early in the morning to catch
a horse. He was killed and scalped while
pleading for his life on the ground of being
a Christian and a son of a white mau. The
murderers proceeded towards the town,
passing Jacob, a brother-in-law of Shabosh,
who was in a cornfield tying up some sacks
recently filled. He was concealed by the
standing corn, although the whites were so

close that he recognized some who were in

the party who took the Christian Indians
to Fort Pitt the preceding fall. He was
about to hail a former acquaintance when
he heard a rifle crack, and an Indian who
was in a canoe on the river dropped dead.
Jacob fled into the forest, where he con-
cealed himself for twenty-four hours until

the murderers had departed. The whites,
seeing some Indians in a cornfield on the
opposite side of the. river, sent a detach-
ment of sixteen men to induce them to

come over. They approached them as
friends, shook hands, and asked them to

recross to the town and prepare to return
with the party to Fort Pitt, promising to

supply them with everything needed. Put-
ting faith in these promises, the Indians
went back without hesitation. The net was
not yet quite complete. From a hill across
the river, John Martin and his son, Chris-
tian Indians, observed the friendly motions
in the town, and the sou went over, while
the father went to Salem to inform the

brethren there of what was going on. The
Salem Indians sent two men with Martin
to Gnadenhutten, when Williamson ap
pointed a party of whites to go back with
them and invite all from the lower town
np to Gnadenhutten. When the latter

arrived opposite Gnadenhutten, they no
ticed blood in the sand and on a canoe that
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was lying at the edge of the water. They
had already surrendered all their weapons,
under promise that they would be returned
on their arrival at Fort Pitt. Reaching the

town they found the inhabitants already
confined preparatory to the slaughter,

which was being arranged with as inuch

coolness and deliberation as an ordinary
feast. Having coral led their prey, the

whites from professing friendship l>egan

to abuse the Indians, charging them with
the responsibility of the border raids,

pointing to pewter plates, cups, spoons, tea

kettles, etc., as evidence of their robberies.

It was useless to explain that they had
bought these articles from the whites them-
selves. It was the fable of the wolf and
lamb over again, and when the bloody dress

of Mrs. Wallace was recognized, there was
no further need of witnesses, and the un-

fortunates were ordered to prepare for

death. They begged a short interval for

preparation, and while they were saying
their last prayers their captors discussed

the manner in which they should be slain.

Some favored burning them alive, while

others were willing to allow mercy to the

extent of killing them first and then burn-
ing them after scalping. Williamson ap-

pears to have l>een in favor of saving the

captives, but his authority over the motley
crowd was limited, and the most lie could
accomplish was to submit the matter to a
vote. But eighteen out of the hundred
favored sparing the lives of the prisoners,

and they retired from the scene, calling the

Almighty to witness that they washed their

hands of the terrible crime about to be com-
mitted. It has always been difficult to get

exact details of the terrible affair. Heck-
welder says that the number killed ex-

ceeded ninety, all of whom except four were
killed in the mission houses, they having
been tied there and knocked in the head
with a cooper's mallet. One man, taking
up the mallet, began with an Indian named
Abraham and continued knocking down un-
til he counted fourteen; he then handed
the mallet to one of his fellows and said,

"My arm fails me; go on in the same way

;

I think I have done pretty well/* In
another house, where mostly womeu and
children were tied, Judith, an aged and
pious widow, was the first victim. After
this party had finished, as they thought,
they retreated a short distance, but, on
returuiug to view the dead bodies, they

found one of them, named Abel, senl|>ed

and mangled, attempting to raise himself
from the floor. Him they dispatched, and
having set fire to the house, went off shout-

ing and cursing.

Sixty-two grown persons were slain in

this massacre, one-third of them being
women, the remainder being children.

Among the incidents in the first house was
that of a boy named Thomas. He was
knocked down and scalped, but only
stunned, and on recovering and looking
around saw another boy named Abel, alive

but scalped, with blood running down his

face. Thomas laid down as if dead, when
a party came in and finished Abel by chop-
ping his head with a hatchet. Thomas
afterwards crept over the dead bodies to

the door, and on getting out hid himself
until dark, when he made his way to San-
dusky. A boy who was in the house with
the women, got down into the cellar with
another boy, where they lay concealed un-
til the butchery was over. After dark they
tried to get out through a window. One
succeeded, but the other stuck fast, and
the building being set on tire he was burned
to death. The two who escaped made their

way to Sandusky. One of the whites took
home with him a boy of eight years whom
he brought up to manhood, when he re-

turned to his tribe. So far as is known,
these are the only ones who escaped the
massacre in addition to (lie young man in

the cornfield, although Mr. Hunter, in his

Pathfinders, tells a romantic story of a

young man named John Haverstock, who
joined Williamson's force at Mingo, fall-

ing in love with a beautiful Indian maiden
named "Sweet Corn" whom he found in

the fields at Gnadenhutten, saved her life

at the risk of his own, and married her,

from whom the Haverstock family, of Bel-



AND KEPItESEXTATIVK CITIZEN'S '.IT

mont Count)', and the late W. T. Campbell,
were descended. The white renegade,
Simon Girty, now comes to the front urg-

ing the Indian tribes to avenge the massa-
cre. He cared nothing for the Gnaden-
hutten Indians, but as agent of the British

viewed the slaughter with satisfaction, as

it enabled him to stir up the spirit of re-

venge on the part of the tribes. And his

task was not difficult. Although the Will-

iamson raiders were allowed to march
home without interruption, yet all along
the border the tomahawk and the fire-

brand were soon busy. So far from the

expedition striking terror into the savages
the effect was just the opposite. While the

warriors looked rather contemptuously on
the Moravians, yet they were their rela-

tives, and their slaughter called for bloody
vengeance. Scalps taken were carried to

the scene of the massacre, dried, painted
red or black inside, with the picture of a
bullet or hatchet in another color, to indi-

cate how its owner died. A bunch of fag-

gots on the smooth side represented death
by fire. No human being resided in that
valley for a number of years; the bones of
Hie martyrs lay scattered around, And the

spring blossoms of the fruit trees planted
by the villagers exhaled their fragrance
only for the benefit of the solitary wan-
derer—the beast of the forest. Ninety
years after, a monument was erected on the
spot, bearing the following inscription:

"Here triumphed in death ninetv Christian
Indians, March 8, 17S2."
There has been considerable effort to

palliate this horrible massacre, and espe
cially to discredit the comments and con-

clusions of Rev. Dr. Doddridge, the early

historian of this valley, to the effect that

the expedition was an irresponsible one.

that "each man furnished himself with his

own arms, ammunition and provisions,"
that "the murder of the Moravians was in-

tended," that "no resistance from them
was anticipated," that "in the latter end of
the year 1781, the militia of the frontier

came to a determination to break up tbe
Moravian villages on the Muskingum," and

that "it (the massacre) was one of those
convulsions of the moral state of society,

in which the voice of the justice and hu-

manity of a majority is silenced by the
clamor and violence of a lawless minority."

This whole matter has been thoroughly
investigated by William M. Farrar, of the
State Arclueologicul Society, who sustains

Dr. Doddridge in every particular. It is

very probable that the latter secured most
of his data from James Marshel, lieutenant

of Washington County, Pennsylvania, at

the time of the massacre, who would have
had the ordering out of a regular military

expedition had there been any such. About
1779, Colonel Marshel moved to Charles-
town, Va., now Wellsburg, where he died in

1829. For years he was the neighbor of
Dr. Doddridge, and when the latter's his-

tory was published, iu 1824, they were inti-

mate personal friends. Mr. Farrar also

disposes of the Carpenter and impalement
stories referred to later. That a strong
public sentiment along the border palliated,

if it did not attempt to justify the massa-
cre, is undoubtedly true, although there
were not wanting indignant protests, but
eastward, as the details became known, the

expression was one of almost universal
horror. Whether Williamson held a com-
mission as militia officer at the organiza-
tion of the expedition is uncertain, al-

though he did soon after. He was chosen
commander after they bad rendezvoused
at Mingo, and that was his real authority.
As Mr. Farrar says:
"The expedition was neither infantry

nor cavalry, mounted nor dismounted, but a

mixed crowd made up from that reckless

and irresponsible element usually found
along the borders of civilization, boys from
eighteen to twenty years of age. who joined
the ex|>edition from love of adventure, and
partly of such well known characters as
Capt. Sam Hrady, of West Liberty, Va.,

and at least one of the Wetzels from near
Wheeling, who from their experience and
well known bravery as frontiersmen, are
said to have exercised very great influence

in deciding the fate of the Indians. • • •
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Each man provided his own horse, arms
ami provisions, ami it was noisy, turbulent

and disorderly from the start, and the

authority exercised by Williamson over it,

ahout equivalent to that usually conceded
to the leader of an ordinary moh. Who
suggested that the question whether the

Indians should he killed or taken prisoners

to Fort Pitt he submitted to a vote is not

known, but the fact that he did so, only

serves to show the extent of Williamson's
authority. He is represented, by those who
knew him personally, as a man of naturally

pleasant and agreeable disposition, six feet

in height, rather fleshy in his makeup, of

florid complexion, and of 'too easy a com-
pliance with public opinion,' as Doddridge
says."
The story concerning John Carpenter is

that about the time of the Wallace tragedy
or very soon thereafter, he was captured
on the waters of Buffalo Creek by six In-

dians, two of whom spoke good Dutch, ami
called themselves Moravians; that he was
carried a prisoner to the middle Moravian
town, where, among other things, lie saw
the bloody dress of Mrs. Wallace, which
was said to have inflamed the spectators to

the point of massacre. Now, John Car-
penter was among the first, and, with the

exception of Maxwell, already mentioned,
possibly the first settler west of the Ohio
River. He lived for several years on Buf-
falo ('reek, ten or twelve miles east of the

river, but becoming familiar through his

hunting expeditions with the rich lands on
this side, and foreseeing that the Indian

titles would soon be extinguished, deter-

mined to secure a claim here. Accordingly,

in the summer and fall of 17*1, he cleared

a piece of land and built a cabin at the

mouth of Short Creek (afterwards the

Bnyless property). While thus engaged in

September, lie received warning of the sec-

ond attack on Fort Henry, and hastily re-

moved his family 1o the east side of the

river to a place of safety. When the lield

was clear Carpenter returned to Ohio, and
finishing his work late in the fall, went back
to his home on Buffalo Creek with a full

supply of wild game for his winter provi-

sion. He then took a pair of horses and
started to Fort I *i 1 1- in order to secure a
supply of salt, and while on his way was
captured, taken to the Moravian town, and
started from then* in charge of two of his

captors, from whom he escaped and made
his way back to Fort Pitt, but all this took
place two months or more prior to Febru-
ary 17, 178:2, when the Wallace cabin was
destroyed, and the family carried oft'. We
may add, that he returned to Short Creek
the following summer, where his cabin was
afterwards strengthened into a small block-

house, known as Carpenter's fort. One
day, while at work in his garden, he was
fired at by an Indian in the woods and
severely wounded. The Indian attempted
to scalp him, but Mrs. Carpenter, a strong,

resolute woman, came to the rescue, and
made such vigorous resistance that her
husband escn|ted into the cabin and the

Indian fled. In 1X01, Edward Carpenter,
the oldest son of John Carpenter, took a

government contract from Steulienville to

the Wills Creek crossing of the Znne tract

in Guernsey County, where the National
Road could be reached, which is now the

main county road leading from Steuben-
ville westward. During the progress of
his work he entered a quarter section of

land in Section 2V> of Township 11, range 6,

when- he resided until he died, January 12.

1SJS. His son, Edward, lived there until

March 1SSJ, when he died at the age of

eighty years. He gave the facts to Mr.
Farrar, as related above, and is certainly

better authority than simply vague reports
frequently started by interested parties.

The story of finding the dead body of
Mrs. Wallace impaled near Mingo, which
so excited the settlers that they became
frenzied, is another of those apocryphal
talcs of later origin. The Wallace cabin
stood a short distance north of what was
known as Briceland's cross roads, and the
Indians committing the outrage reached it

by crossing the Ohio River at the mouth of
Yellow Creek, and following a trail along
the dividing ridge between the waters of
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King's Creek ou the south, and those of

Travis Creek on the north, and after kill-

ing the stock, plundering and burning the

cabin, they retreated by the same route,

taking Mrs. Wallace and her three children

with them. The child proving an incum-
brance to rapid travel, an Indian attempted
to take it from her to kill it, but she re-

sisted ho vigorously that he became enraged
and cleaved her skull with his tomahawk.
The lM»dies of mother and child were care-

fully hidden, that they might not aid pur-
suit, and were not discovered until several

years afterwards. This was, of course,

some twenty miles north of Mingo, so the

lwdies could not have been discovered by
the Williamson crowd, even if they had
been impaled as stated. In fact, at this

time, Kobert Wallace supposed his wife

was still alive and a prisoner among the

Indians, and he knew no better until nearly

three years later, when an Indian trader
who had been among the Wyandots at San-
dusky, learned that his younger son, Kob-
ert, was still living, the elder having died,

and that the mother and baby had been
killed before reaching the Ohio River.

From a letter dated October 21, 17S2, more
than eight months after the capture, it ap-
pears that Wallace, believing his wife to

be alive, was making efforts through Gen-
eral Irviue to find out where she was and
effect her recovery. He finally found the

younger boy. and ascertaining from him
the locality where the mother and child had
lieen killed, searched for aud found the re-

mains, which he disinterred and reburied
in the graveyard at Cross Creek Village.

In 1792 he married Mary Walker, having
five children, and died in 18UK. His son,

Kol>ert, died in 1855 at the age of seventy-

seven years.

Mr. Farrar has collected considerable
testimony to show that this raid had been
planned for months previous, and when it

was over the participants did not come
home rejoicing as soldiers from a glorious

war, but quietly, if not secretly, and few of
them would ever converse on the subject.

We will conclude this painful subject with

the following from Mr. Farrar 's article:

"A gentleman born iu 1796 said that he
was preseut at Burgettstown, Pa., in Au-
gust, 1M12, upon the day when volunteers
were raised to march to Detroit to repel the

British and Indians reported to be march-
ing on the frontiers in consequence of

Hull's surrender of the post at Detroit. It

was a day of great excitement, and called

together a large crowd of people from the

surrounding country. Among other sights

that drew the attention of a boy of sixteen

years, he came across a crowd being enter-

tained by an old man much the worse for
liquor, who was singing maudlin songs,

when some person said, 'Now, Uncle Sol,

show us how they killed the Indians.' At
once the old fellow's whole manner changed
from the gay to the grave, and he began
cursing the cowards who killed women and
children. Presently he ran forward, mak-
ing motions as if throwing a rope over the
heads of those in front of him, and then
running backwards as if dragging an ob-
ject after him, seized the large stick held
in his hands, and began beating an imagi-
nary object, all the time howling and curs-

ing like a demon, when somebody pulled
him away, saying it was a shame. My in-

formant learned that Uncle Sol had been
at the Moravian massacre, and when in his

cups would show how they killed the In-

dians, but when sober could not be induced
to open his mouth on the subject. The
men concerned in the affair returned to

their homes, where many of them lived to

a good old age and spent exemplary lives,

a number having become ruling elders and
leading members in the churches at Cross
Creek, Upper Buffalo and other places.

And it is a curious fact that in the great
religious movement that swept over west-
ern Pennsylvania during the latter part of
the eighteenth and beginning of the nine-

teenth centuries, many of these men were
active and leading participants, and that

the great religious movement had its origin
at Vance's Fort and among the same men
with whom the Moravian massacre origi-

nated. But time has drawn the veil of
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oblivion over their names, and nothing
could now he gained hy removing it."

We may digress u moment to follow the

fate of one of the authors of this massacre.

It will lie remembered that the tirst blood

shed was that of Joseph Shnbosh, who was
tomahawked and scalped hy Charles Buil-

derback. Ho was a Virginian, and settled

near Carpenter's fort at the mouth of
Short Creek in this county. He was with

Crawford's army, but came home safely.

Seven years after, in 1789, his cabin was
attacked by Indians, and Bnilderback and
his brother captured. His wife hid in the

hushes, but Builderback was ordered to

call her by name, or they would kill him
then and there. He did so, and she kept

sileut, but being warned of her husband's
fate if she did not respond she came out,

and the two were carried off, the brother
having escaped. Near the Tuscarawas the

Indians separated into two bands, one tak-

ing Builderback towards Gnadenhntten,
and the other going with his wife farther

up the stream to where Uhrichsville now
stands. Shortly nfter the others came up,

and one of them threw into her lap the

scalp of her dead husband. She swooned
away, and when she recovered the scalp

was pone. She was taken to the Miami
Valley, where she remained nine months,
hut was finally ransomed and returned to

her Jefferson County home. In 1791 she
married John Green ami removed to Fair-

tield County, where she died in 1S42, giving
birth to the first white child in that county,

huilderhack's body was found a short dis-

tance from where he had killed Shaliosh.

It was terribly mutilated, and it was the

evident intention to burn him alive, but the

pursuit was too close to permit it. Sha-
bosh's relatives had been following Buil-

derback for seven years, and the last direct

victim of the massacre paid retributive jus-

tice for the murder of the first.

If the authors of the outrage at Gnaden-
huttcn imagined that their action would
strike terror into the Indian tribes, or that

the massacre of their peaceful relatives

would be viewed with indifference by the

warriors they were soon destined to dis-

cover their mistake. The infuriated Dela-
wares. Shawanese and Wyandots made the
border a perfect inferno. Crossing the Ohio
large and small bodies penetrated into Vir-

ginia and Pennsylvania carrying destruc-

tion and death in their most terrible forms.
The little forts or blockhouses which
dotted the country were crowded with re-

fugees. In some places a single blockhouse
with a cabin outside constituted the whole
fort. The fields were worked by parties

guarded by sentinels, and everybody was
prepared for instant combat. The horrible
sights connected with Indian warfare, the
terrible strain from which there seemed no
prospect of release could not fail to have
its effect, even on those settlers inclined to

peace and justice. * 'It would seem" says
Doddridge, "that the long continuance of
the Indian war had debased a considerable
|M>rtion of our population to the savage
state of our nature. Having lost so many
of their relatives by the Indians, and wit-

nessed their horrid murders and other de-

predations upon so extensive a scale, they
became subjects of that indiscriminating
thirst for revenge which is such a promin-
ent feature in the savage character."
Such a condition of things could not con-

tinue. The border must be defended or
abandoned, and the only way to accomplish
the former was the organization of an ex-

pedition into the Indian country of such
character and strength as would be able to

inflict such punishment on the savages as

would stop the border raids. To this end
General Irvine called a conference of lead

ing men at Fort Pitt on April f>, for devis-

ing a general plan of operations that would
be effective. Cornwallis had surrendered,
and the war in the cast was virtually ended,
but in the west the contest raged with as
much virulence as ever. There was talk of
patroling the river front from Pittsburgh
to Wheeling, and a project was broached of

a large body of settlers emigrating to Ohio
and setting up a new state as a barrier to

future raids. The futility of both of these
schemes was obvious, and the matter fin-
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ully narrowed down to au organized ex-

pedition against Sandusky. Dr. Doddridge
characterizes this "as a second Moravian
campaign, as one of the ohjects was that of
finishing the work of murder and plunder
with Christian Indians at their new estab-

lishment on the Sandusky. The next object

was that of destroying the Wyandot towns
on the same river." In this statement the

worthy clergyman has allowed his right-

eous indignation to get the better of his

judgment. There is no evidence of an in-

tention to repeat the Gnadenhutten tragedy
so far as peaceful Indians were concerned,
although doubtless there were not a few in

the party with whom the life of an Indian,
whether Christian or otherwise, would not
have been safe for a moment. But the ex-

pedition in contrast with the previous one,

was of a military character, ordered by the

military authorities, and intended to break
the military power of the enemy, so that

the border might have peace and security.

May 20th was the date set for the meet-
ing of the different members of the expe-
dition at Mingo Bottom, but it was the 24th
before all had gathered there for organi-
zation. On the evening of that day John
Rose, who had been sent by General Irvine
as an aide to the commander of the expe-
dition wrote to the General that they had
four hundred and eighty men, gathered
from Washington and Westmoreland coun-
ties, Pennsylvania and the Virginia Pan
Handle. Officer Rose, who was very reticent

concerning himself had already rendered
valuable service to the American cause dur-
ing the Revolution, and rendered most
efficient aid during this ill fated expedition.
It turned out later that he was a Russian
nobleman—Baron Gustuvus H. Rosenthal,
of Livonia,—who, having killed another in

a duel had fled from Russia, and sought
safety, first in England and then in Amer-
ica. He entered the army as a hospital
steward, but General Irvine becoming in-

terested in him he was transferred and
advanced, until, as a lieutenant, he became
the aide of that officer. He served with
fidelity until the close of the war, without

revealing his true name or rauk, and then

by permission he returned to Europe, was
regarded with favor by the Emperor Alex-

ander, and became Grand Marshal of the

province of Livonia.

There was a lively contest for officers of

the expedition, two hundred and thirty-five

votes being cast for Col. William Crawford,
as commander, and two hundred and thirty

for David Williamson the leader of the

previous expedition to Gnadenhutten. Will-

iamson was second in command with the

title of major, with Thomas Gaddis, John
McClelland and Major Brinton ranking offi-

cers in the order named. We have two
pretty full accounts of this expedition, the

first by Dr. Doddridge, who no doubt got
most of his information from participants,

and one by C. W. Butterfield, published in

1873, in which is much new matter gleaned
from official records and from notes kept
bv the late Robert A. Sherrard, of Steuben-
v'ille.

Colonel Crawford, who commanded the

expedition was a Revolutionary officer of

high standing, and the special friend of
Washington. Details having been ar-

ranged early on the morning of Saturday,
May 25, the army in four columns, began
its march from Mingo Bottom, in the
straightest direction, through the woods,
for Sandusky, distant one hundred and fifty

miles. The route lay through what are now
the counties of Jefferson, Harrison, Tus-
carawas, Holmes, Ashland, Richland and
Crawford. The whole distance, except

about thirty miles, was through an un-

broken forest.
,
The only indication of civil-

ization—and that a very sad one—in all the

region traversed, was the wasted mis-
sionary establishments in the valley of the

Muskingum. As the cavalcade moved up
over the bluff, an almost due course west
was taken, striking at once into the wild-

erness, now deepening and darkening
around it. The army progressed rapidly
at first, moving along the north side of
Cross Creek, which had already received
its name. After leaving what is'now Steu-
bcnville Township, it passed through the
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present townships of Cross ('reek and
Wayne, Jefferson County, and German
Township, Harrison County, to the summit
where the town of Jefferson now stands.

The Panhandle Railroad follows this trail

for about fifty miles. From this poiut a

straight course would have led them into

what is now Carroll County, but their

horses had tired under the heavy loads in

the hills and swamps, so they inclined

southward into a more level although a

more dangerous country. This alternative

was accepted by Crawford with great re-

luctance, as his policy was to avoid Indian
trails, relying for success upon effecting a

surprise. Otherwise, he would have fol-

lowed "Williamson's Trail" from Mingo
to the Muskingum, which led a considerable
distance south, near where Smitbfield and
Cadiz now stand. Doddridge says he did
follow this trail, but Butterfield shows
otherwise. But he might as well have fol-

lowed it, so far as surprising the Indians
was concerned. They had their spies in the

wooded hills overlooking Mingo from the

day that the army began assembling, watch
ing every movement. They knew the plans
of the commander as they were talked over
in the councils of war, and therefore the

Indian forces at Sandusky were pre] tared

for the onslaught. The Indians and Brit-

ish in that battle were commanded by ('apt.

William Caldwell, Chief in command: Cap
tain Elliott, Captain McKee, Captain
(rant, Lieutenant Turney. Lieutenant
Clinch, and Simon (Jirty.

On Monday night the JTtli several of the

men lost their horses, and were sent back
home as they would impede the march of

the army. It had been calculated that the

army could reach Sandusky in about seven
days, but it was Tuesday the 2Sth when it

reached the Tuscarawas towns. In the pre-

ceding four days the army had made only
sixty miles, but now that the country was
more level and open belter time was ex-

pected. The horses found abundant pro
vender from the unhurvested corn fields of
the Moravians. I'p to this time not an In

dian had been seen, and Crawford held the

delusive belief that his expedition had not

been discovered, although spies had been
hovering on the flanks and rear ever since

he had left Mingo. During the evening two
savages were noticed near the earn]) who
were fired u]>on without effect. Of course
secrecy was out of the question now, even
if it had ever been ne<vssary. There has

been considerable discussion about the

spies discovering at Mingo, after the army
left, writing on trees and scraps of paper
that "no quarter was to be given to any
Indian, whether man, woman or child."

Doddridge gives credence to these as prov-

ing that the object of the ex]>edition was in

discriminate slaughter like the preceding

one. while Butterfield discredits the state

incut in toto. We have seen that the expc
dition. although made up of volunteers who
furnished their own horses, etc. was a mili

tary one in the strict sense of the word, and
although Irvine's instructions were "to
destroy with fire and sword (if practicable)

the Indian town and settlement at San-
dusky," yet this instruction when taken in

connection with the context can hardly b.*

construed as an order for wholesale mas-
sacre of non-combatants. On the other

hand Williamson and many of the mem-
bers of the first expedition were in this

party, and during the four or five days they

were gathering at Mingo may easily have
indulged in considerable reckless talk, for

reticence was not. a border virtue, .lust

what the results would have been had the

expedition been successful we cannot say.

but as the record stands we cannot charge
those who inaugurated or commanded the

expedition with the intention of repeating

the (iiiadenhutten outrage.
On dune 2m\ the army reached the San

dusky Kiver within twenty five miles of its

destination. Two days later th • mouth of

Little Sandusky was reached, and during
that day the Wyandot town, near I'pper

Sandusky. The town was there, but not a

single inhabitant. Some of the volunteers

thought the Indians had removed to Lower
Sandusky, forty miles south. Crawford
ord< red a halt for consultation, and started
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on a march in search of the foe. Zaue and
others urged an immediate return. Pro-
visions were getting low, and the absence
of the enemy looked ominous. It was be-

lieved the Indians were concentrating and
only waiting for the most favorable oppor-
tunity to fall on the army in overwhelm-
ing numbers and annihilate it. It is esti-

mated that the Wyandots, Delawnres and
Shawanese mustered 1,100 warriors at that

time, who with a company of British ran-

gers and artillery from Detroit would make
a most formidable force. Crawford coin-

cided with Zane's views, and it was decided
to continue the march that afternoon but

no longer. Soon an advance guard came
upon a party of Indians beyond a small

grove which stood on a slight elevation, and
immediately fell back on the main body. An
advance was ordered and the grove secured
after some brisk firing, which continued
until sunset. The day was hot, and the sol-

diers suffered much from thirst, the river

being over a mile distant. John Sherrard,
father of the late Robert A. Sherrard, and
grandfather of Hon. R. Sherrard, of Steu-
benville, went in search of water, his gun
having become useless from forcing a bullet

into the barrel without powder. He found
a stagnant pool where a tree had been
blown down, where he quenched his thirst,

and during the balance of the day traveled

hack and forward carrying water to the

men while the bullets flew thickly around
him.

When evening came Crawford was in

-possession of the held, with five killed and
nineteen wounded men. The Indians had
suffered much more severely, but they were
not dispirited, as they were expecting re

inforcements in the morning, white as well

as red. But little was done during the next
day except desultory liring, Crawford ill-

lending a night attack. During the after-

noon, however, a company of mounted men
was seen approaching which proved to be
Butler's British rangers from Detroit. In-

dian reinforcements were also arriving, and
it was soon evident that any attack was out
of the question. There was nothing to do

but retreat. The killed were buried and
fires burned over their graves to prevent
discovery. Of the twenty wounded, seven
were dangerously so, and biers were pre-

pared for conveying them. The others were
mounted on horse-back, and placed in the

centre, the army marching in four lines.

In order to deceive the Indians the army
first moved towards Sandusky. Fire was
opened on them, but the uncertainty as to

whether the retreat was real or feigned, to-

gether with the general disinclination of

the Indians for night attacks, doubtless

saved the borderers from annihilation. The
army turned during the night and found its

old trail, but when the roll was called the

next morning only three hundred answered.
Among the missing were Colonel Crawford,
the Commander, Dr. John Knight, and
John Slover, the guide. AVilliamaon now
took command and with the able assistance

of John Rose continued the retreat. They
were attacked by a party of Indians on
Olentanny Creek in what is now Crawford
County on June 6, but succeeded in beat-

ing off their assailants with a loss of three
killed and eight wounded. There was but
little further annoyance, and the expedition
reached Mingo on the 13th where they were
joined by several of the missing ones, some
of whom had arrived two days before. Op-
jxisite Mingo on the evening of the 13th the

troops went into camp for the last time.

The next day they were discharged, and the

twenty day campaign was ended.
Various causes have been assigned for

the failure of this expedition, but there
seems to have Iwen one cause common to

nearly all these movements, namely, ventur-

ing far into the enemy's country, with an
inadequate force and no base of supplies.

If intended for a campaign the expedition
was far too weak, it was certain to be over-

whelmed; if intended simply as a raid a
smaller force of picked men would probably
have been better. True Clark had accom-
plished wonders with a smaller force, but
his genius enabled him to take advantage of
conditions which did not exist in Ohio.
We shall here refer to the fate of some
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of the missing ones. Crawford had gone
back to hurry up some stragglers, and was
unable to overtake the army owing to the

weariness of his horse. He met Dr. Knight
and two others, and the next day came
across several additional. When near the

present site of Leesville on the south side

of the Sandusky they met several Indians
who had ambuscaded them. One Indian
took Crawford by the hand and another
Knight. They were taken to the Delaware
camp a mile distant with nine other pris-

oners, two having l>een killed and scalped.

On June 10th Crawford was taken to Half
Kind's town where lie met Simon Oirty and
offered him a thousand dollars to spare his

life. (Jirty temporized but either could not

or would not do nnything, and Captain
Pipe and the other chiefs determined to

hasten Crawford's death. He was taken to

the old town on the morning of .June 11th

with Knight and the other prisoners, their

faces painted black, indicating death at the

stake. Here five prisoners were toma-
hawked by boys and squaws and Knight
turned over to some Shawanese Indians.

Crawford aud Knight were taken to

Pipe's village, and in the afternoon the

former was stripped and tied to a stake,

a fire burning about seven feet distant. The
rope had sufficient play to allow him to

walk around Ihe stake or sit down. In the

crowd of about one hundred present there

was said to have been a British officer in

disguise. It is not necessary to relate bis

tortures in detail, the account is to be found
in numerous publications. Knight was
taken past the spot the next day where he
saw the eh arret! bones of the commander,
around which the Indians had danced all

night. Probably the most horrible part of

the whole affair was when Crawford fell

unconscious. After every imaginable tor-

ture he was sea I pet I, and a squaw poured
live coals in the open wound, causing him to

get up and walk around once more.

Knight succeeded in escaping during hi*

journey to the Shawanese town, and
reached Fort l'itt on July 4. Slover also

escaped and reached the Ohio Kiver in

safety.

We have already referred to the work
of John Sherrard in connection with the

battle of the Sandusky. Sherrard over-

took the main body of the army just be-

fore the latter left the woodland again to

thread its way in the open country, in what
is now Crawford County. His story is a

melancholy one. In company with Daniel

Harbaugh, alter having become separated
from the division to which he belonged, just

as the retreat commenced the evening lie

fore, he had followed as l>est he could, the

main lx>dy of the troops, making, however,
very slow progress, owing to the darkness
which rendered it exceedingly difficult to

to keep the trail of the retreating forces.

It was a fortunate circumstance that the

two followed in the rear of the division

moving to the southwest from the field of

battle, for had they taken the track of Mc-
Clelland's party which led between the

camps of the Delawares and Shawanese,
l)oth doubtless would have been killed or
captured. Not long after sunrise the next

morning they gained the woods, and mov-
ing along the trace on the east side of the

Sandusky, some distance south of where
the old town formerly stood, Sherrard, who
was riding in advance of his companion,
saw an Indian a short distance away on his

left. He immediately dismounted and got

Miiud a tree, calling at the same time to

his companion to place himself in like

posture of defense. Harbaugh had not been
quick enough to discover the Indian, for in

getting upon the exposed side of the tree,

lie was immediately shot by the savage, ex-

claiming as he gradually sunk down in a
sitting posture, 4 Lord, have mercy upon me,
I am a dead man!' and immediately ex-

pired. As soon as the smoke of the Indian's
gun had cleared away, the savage was dis-

covered by Sherrard. running as if for

life, doulitless expecting a shot from the lat-

ter; but he hat! already escaped from the

reach of a bullet. At the sight of Har-
baugh 's pale fare his friend was greatly
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moved; more unmanned than at any of the

scenes witnessed during the battle. After

a moment to collect his thought*, Sherrard
stripped the saddle from his dead com-
panion's horse and turned the animal loose.

He then relieved his own horse from a very
uncomfortable packsaddle and put in its

place the saddle of Harbaugh. Mounting
and taking a parting glance at the pros-

trate form of his companion, still in a sit-

ting posture, he rode sadly onward. Sher-

rard had proceeded on the trail not a very
great distance when he made the discovery

that in the excitement of the moment he had
neglected to disengage from the packsaddle

a supply of provisions which were rolled up
in a blanket. He resolved to retrace his

steps and secure the provisions. Upon
returning to the place where Harbaugh
was shot, a shocking spectacle was
presented to his view. The Indian
had returned and had scalped the lifeless

soldier and then made off with his horse,

gun and bridle. Sherrard's packsaddle and
blanket had not, however, been discovered
by the savage; Sherrard having secured

his provisions, again resumed his journey,

overtaking the retreating army without

again encountering an enemy, and was cor-

dially greeted by his companions in arms.
Martin Swickard and Michael Myers,

two subsequent settlers in Jefferson County
were also with this expedition. Swickard
and Myers were together during a portion
of the retreat, and had many hardships and
adventures. At the loan exhibition con-

nected with the centennial held at Steuben-
ville in 1897 .1. A. Swickard, a grandson of

Martin had on view the powder horn car-

ried by his grandfather. The horn was
etched with a crude representation of Brit-

ish arms, ami was probably captured from
an Indian.

Michael Myers died, it is said at the age
of 107 years. He was born at Winchester,
Va., in 1745, mid in 1771 settled on Pigeon
Creek, Pa. After the Gnadenhutten mas-
sacre he was one of those patroling the west
bank of the Ohio from Mingo to Yellow
Creek. lie was a captain of scouts in the

Crawford Expedition, and when separated
from the army, found himself surrounded
by a horde of yelling savages. Such was
his immense strength and fleetness that he

succeeded in escaping, rifle in hand, only

to be met by another band, in fighting which
he was wounded in his leg by an arrow.

Pulling this out, he hastened onward, only

to be again surrounded by a still larger

party of Indians, and here he had to fight.

Clubbing with his rifle he managed to keep
them at a distance, but was finally struck

by a tomahawk on the neck and again on
the elbow, which forced him down upon his

hands and knees. He was almost in the

grasp of the Indians, when by a super-

human effort he raised himself and dashed
through the ranks of the savages at full

speed. In endeavoring to find the army he
came across a companion scout who was
wounded in the hip, and who was fearful of
heing left to die ulone. Myers tried to as-

sist him, and fiually got him into a swamp,
and then, hearing indians aproaching, was
obliged to leave him to his fate. While in

the swamp Myers got his rifle and ammu
nition so wet they were worthless, and lie

threw them away. lie arrived at Fort
Henry without further adventure. He al-

ways felt like killing an Indian after this

whenever he met one, and would not attend

an "Indian Show" for that reason. Myers
made eleven trips to New Orleans on flu t

-

boats and returned overland through an
almost unbroken wilderness. He made his

last trip near the close of the last century.

He and his brother were stricken with the

yellow fever at New Orleans. The brother

died and Michael was robbed of $1,G(W»

About 1795 he located on land purchased
by him on Croxton's run above Toronto
and in 1799 built a log cabin on the bank of

the Ohio near the mouth of the run. In
1*00 he brought his family in a flathoat

from what is now Monongahela City and
became one of the first settlers. This boat
served many years as a ferry boat. In

1808 he built a prist mill on Croxton's Run,
which ran until 1801. At about the same
time he built a stone house, the first of the
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kind in this part of Ohio, thirty by forty

feet, which was kept as a hotel for forty

years.

The disaster to the Crawford expedi-

tion naturally encouraged the savages to

renewed efforts, and in August a grand
council was held at Chillicothe resulting

in the siege of Fort Henry on September

11th, which was saved by the celebrated

powder exploit of Elizabeth Zane.
The accounts of the defeat of General

St. Clair in 1791 and the victory of Wayne
in 1794, which resulted in the treaty of
Greenville extinguishing all Indian titles

to this part of Ohio are very interesting,

but foreign to the purpose of this work.
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CHAPTER VII

PIONEER SETTLERS

Their Environment and Their Perils—Maxwell's Cabin and Massacre—Trouble With
the Authorities—Thrilling Incidents— Last Indian Battle—Climate and Early
Social Customs.

To give a detailed history of the early at-

tempts at settlement in Jefferson County
and the adventures of the pioneers would
require several volumes instead of one, so

that we must in most cases be content with
mere references. Reference has already
been made to Maxwell's cabin at Rush Run
in 1772 as probably the first effort in this

direction. He returned here in 1780, bring-
ing with him a young bride. Another cabin
was erected and a small patch cleared for
corn. They made friends with the Indians
who called Mrs. Maxwell the "Wild Rose,"
and the red men while stealing from every-
body else did not molest the Maxwells. The
border troubles increasing, most of Max-
well's neighbors erected blockhouses as
places of refuge and stored them with arms
and provisions. lie, however, considered
himself safe, and soon a daughter was born
and named Sally. When the daughter was
about three years old the parents made a
visit to Fort Henry, leaving her in charge
of a young man who was visiting them.
They intended remaining two days, but
alarmed by a reported uprising of the In-

dians they returned home to bring their

visitor and their daughter to the post. As
they drew near their cabin the air became
thick with smoke, and when they entered
the cleared ground, and looked for their
home, no home was there. Instead burn-

ing logs and smoking ruins; around the
ground was trodden with many feet of moc-
casined men. A tomahawk smeared with
fresh blood lay among the embers, and
near by lay the charred remains of their

late visitor, but not a trace could they dis-

cover of their daughter. There seemed
no doubt that Sally was dead, and the
mother was so crazed by the terrible ca-

lamity, that snatching the hunting knife
from her husband's belt, she almost severed
her head from the body. All the settlers

had assembled at Fort Henry; they were
soon notified by the infuriated husband,
and decided to follow the trail of the sav-
ages, but during the first night heavy rains
fell, causing all traces of the trail to dis-

appear and the baffled party were obliged
to return in order to defend their own
homes and families. Then it was that Max-
well swore to lie avenged, and single-

handed for months he shadowed the red
murderers through the dim forest until
his grudge had been glutted a hundredfold,
and his name inspired as much terror
among the Indians as that of Simon Ken-
ton or Lewis Wetzel. Maxwell did not ap-
pear again in this vicinity until about the
time Fort Steuben was completed by Cap-
tain Hamtramck, in February, 1787. Colo-
nel Zane recommended him to the captain
as a scout for the new fort. Zane said his
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eye was keener and his tread lighter than
those of the most wily savage. He rivaled

even that subtlest of Indian hunters, Lewis
Wetzel. It was on a scouting expedition
from this fort that he met the party of In-

dians who had fired upon John Wetzel and
a companiou, who were going down the

river iu a canoe, and not obeying the com-
mand of the Indians to stop, Wetzel was
shot through the body. lie saved his

friend, who was mortally wounded, from
further outrage by directing him to lie in

the bottom of the canoe, while he paddled
beyond the reach of the savages. He died

upon reaching the shore, and his death was
terribly avenged by his son. Maxwell, who
had acquired the habit of loading his gun
while at a full run, was chased by this same
party from tree to tree, until he had killed

three of the six, and the others thinking him
always loaded, left him. Maxwell returned
to the fort that night with three scalps. He
is said to have been surprised and captured
by a party of Indians who had closely

watched bis movements. He was taken
alive to their encampment, and after the
usual rejoicing over the capture of a noted
enemy he was made to run the gauntlet,

after which he was blackened and tied to

a stake while the fires were kindled. Just
as the savages were about to begin the tor-

ture, a heavy rain put out the fire. The
Indians concluded not to finish the torture
that day, and so postponed it. During the
night they taunted the "soft stepper." as
he was called by thein, who was bound to

a log by a buffalo throng around his neck,

and his bands were bound to his back with
cords. At last those watching him fell

asleep, and Maxwell began frying to loose

the cords, and soon extricated one of his

arms. It was but the work of a few
minutes for him to pull the strap binding
him to the log over his head, and quietly
getting a pair of moccasins and a jacket

from one of his watchers, he sneaked away
to whore the horses were corralled, ami se-

lecting the first horse he came across, he
was soon far away. It was not long until

he was again on the trail of another band

of Indians led by Simon dirty. He aban-

doned tlie pursuit, however, and was not

again actively engaged in Indian warfare
until the campaign of 17!K\ when he acted

as a scout for (leneral Ilannar. After St.

Clair's defeat the next year he returned
home and fished along the banks of the

Ohio until he joined Wayne, and was a

scout in the battle of Fallen Timbers. It

was during Wayne's campaign that he dis

covered tliat his daughter had not been
burned in his cabin twelve years before, but

had been taken by a chief and by him sold

to wandering Hurons, who had been ex-

pelled by the Iroquois, to the territory at

about the headwaters of the Mississippi.

He also learned that she was still living

among the Hurons. No sooner did he hear
this from au Indian of the Huron tribe than
he set out for their hind. He had no doubts,

no fears, that she was not his daughter.
How he identified her is not known, but in

the course of a year after his departure he
returned, bringing with him a beautiful and
well-proportioned girl of about sixteen

years of age. She could speak no word of

Knglish and had no recollection of her
former home. Afler she had become re-

conciled to her father and was able to speak
his language, she told how her life had been
spent among the Hurons, where her beauty
and while skin had made her almost a god
dess. She had always thought herself a

daughter of the chief and had often wished
that she could darken her skin and hair so

she could more resemble the other maidens
of the tribe. Although knowing nothing of
the ways of civilized society, Sally was not

by any means totally unaccomplished. Her
adopted father had taught her to fear the

great spirit, speak the truth and to bear
pain without a murmur. She learned that

the important pari of the Indian woman's
duty was to raise the vegetables needed for

food, to prepare savory dishes of venison
and other game, to make their garment-,
ornamenting them with uncommon skill and
taste, and to manufacture baskets. She
knew all the herbs, n.ots and harks that

observation and tradition had taught the
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Indian to employ in tlie cure of diseases;

all the trees and scrubs were known to her

by the Indian name, and she was skilled

in domestic surgery . For a long time she
pined for the freedom of her Indian home,
but the kindness and patience of the ma-
trons living near Fort Henry, finally

weaned her away from all inclination to

return. Her father, now declared peace
between him and the red man.

Maxwell's early settlement was soon fol-

lowed by others, which were not regarded
as legalized by the government. After
Congress issued orders for the settlers who
bad squatted on the west bank of the Ohio
to remove until titles could be had from the

Indians and then disposed of to settlers in

a proper way, Colonel Harmar sent a de-

tachment of troops down the river to dis-

lodge all who refused to obey the order.

This detachment was under command of

Eusign Armstrong who made report April
12, 1785. He crossed the Little Beaver on
April 1. and dispossessed a family. Four
miles below he found families living in

sheds, but they having no raft on which
to transport their goods, he gave them until

the 31st, in which to leave. At the mouth
of Yellow Creek he dispossessed two fam-
ilies and destroyed their cabins with fire.

On the 3rd he dis|>ossessed eight families.

On the 4th he arrived at Mingo, where lie

read his instructions to Joseph Ross, who
would not believe the instructions came
from Congress; neither did be care from
whom they came, he was determined to

bold possession; if his house were de-

stroyed he would build another, or six

more, for that matter, within a week. "He
also," says the report of Armstrong, "cast
many reflections on the honorable, the Con-
gress and the commissioners and the com-
manding officer." Armstrong said he con-

sidered him a dangerous man, took him
prisoner and sent him to Wheeling under
guard. The other settlers, who seemed to

be tenants under Ross, were given a few
days' time, at the end of which they prom-
ised to leave. On the evening of "the 4th
Charles Norris, with a party of armed men.

arrived at the ensign's quarters and de-

manded his instructions; but they were
soon convinced and lodged their arms with
the officer. Armstrong learned from Norris
that a large body of armed settlers had
assembled eleven miles below, ready to re-

sist his orders. On the 5th Armstrong
arrived at the Norris settlement. He in-

formed Norris that if the order were re-

sisted he would fire on the settlers, and he
ordered his men to load. However, the set-

tlers finally laid down their amis and agreed
to remove to the east side of the river on
the 19th. The names of the first settlers

whose cabins were scattered throughout
this region were as follows: Thomas Tilton,

John Nixon, Henry Cassill, John Nowles,
John Tilton, .lohn Fitzpatrick, Daniel Men-
ser, Zephenia Dunn, John McDonald,
Henry Froggs, Wiland Hoagland, Michael
Rawlings, Thomas Dawson, Thomas Mc-
Donald, William Shift, Solomon Delong.
Charles Ward, Frederick Lamb, John Rig-
don, George Weleams, Jessie Edgington,
Nathaniel Parremore, Jessie Parremore.
Jacob Clark, James Clark, Adam Hause,
Thomas Johnson, Hanament Davis, Will-

iam Wallace, Joseph Redburn, Jonathan
Mapins, William Mann, Daniel Kerr, Will-
iam Kerr, Joseph Ross, James Watson,
AlM-rtious Bailey, Charles Chambers, Rob-
ert Hill, James Paul. William McNees,
Archibald Harben, William Bailey, Jones
Amspoker, Nicholas Decker, John Piatt,

Benjamin Reed, .Joseph (Joddard, Henry
Con rod, William Carpenter, John (Joddard,
George Reno, John Buchanan, Daniel
Mathews.

In the fall of the same year (1785) they
returned, and rebuilt the cabins, and were
found in possession by General Butler, who.
accompanied by James Monroe, afterward
President, was sent out to again warn them
off.

Joseph Ross with his wife and son Jacob
settled on Mingo Bottom in 1784. and made
their abode in the hollow stump of a syca-
more tree located on the Wells, now the
Wabash farm. Here it is claimed was borc
the first white child in Jefferson County.
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although this is disputed by Rev. R. M.
Coulter, who in a note to the Cadiz Repub-
lican dated October 31. 1895 declared that

Jesse Long was born on Short Creek in

1776 and died in 1882. Koss was building

his cabin when his child was born who be-

came a line specimen of physical manhood.
His brother was with Van Buskirk in his

Indian fight, and shot an Indian in the

back, and tried to get his scalp, but the

Indian dived beneath some driftwood and
roots of a tree. Absalom married Annie
Edsell, of Brooke County, Virginia, and
died in 1867. Joseph Ross while return-

ing home from a visit to Bezaleel Wills in

Steubenville in 1806 was struck and killed

by a falling tree during a storm.

Joseph Tilton came to the Ohio country
from Pennsylvania in 1776, and settled on
land near the site of Tiltonville. lie be-

came an expert scout and was at two of the

sieges of Fort Henry. After the survey
he bought the land, on which he continued
to live up to the time of his death, when it

was divided among his children. His son,

Caleb Tilton. in his boyhood, was looked

upon as the first white child born in Jeff-

erson County, the date of birth being
previous to 1784, at which time Absalom
Ross was born. The farm on which Tilton

settled is now owned by William Medill.

Others followed and settled at War-
renton ami Tiltonville, and in the year
17H5 there were large settlements at these

points, and many of their descendants are
living on the lands then tnken by their an-

cestors- the Maxwells, McClearys. Tiltons,

and McConnaeks.
The father of Kphraim Cable settled at

the mouth of Island Creek in 17S">, where
Kphraim was born the same year, and until

recently was noted as the first white child

born in the county. The father built a
blockhouse, where he lived and reared the

elder children of a family of twelve. Eph-
raim Cable served in the War of 1812, and
his name is connected with above Steuben-
ville.

Lewis Wetzel, the famous German In-

dian scout, lived at Mingo from 1783 to

1786. His exploits would fill a large vol-

ume. He killed an Indian at the mouth of

the Muskingum and escaped back to Miugo.
General Harmar sent a file of soldiers after

him, who arrived at Mingo during a shoot-

ing match, of which an eye witness says:

"A company of men could as easily have
drawn Beelzebub out of the bottomless pit

as to take Lewis Wetzel, by force, from
the Mingo bottom settlement. As soon as

the object of Captain Kingsbury's visit was
known, it was determined to ambush the

captain's barge, and kill him and his com-
pany. Happily Major McMahan was pres-

ent to prevent this castastrophe, who pre-

vailed on Wetzel and his friends to suspend
attack until he should pay Capt Kingsbury
a visit ; perhaps he could induce him to re-

turn without making the proposed arrest.

With reluctance they agreed to suspend
the attack uutil McMahan should return.

The resentment of Wetzel and his friends

was burning with fury. 'A pretty affair,

this,' said they, 'to hang a man for killing

an Indian when the Indians are killing our
people every day.' Major McMahan in-

formed Kingsbury of the disj>osition of the

people in the Mingo settlement, and assured
him that if he persisted in the attempt to

seize Wetzel, he would have all the settlers

in the country upon him ; that nothing could
save him and his command from massacre
but a speedy return. The captain took the

advice, and Wetzel now considered the af-

fair adjusted." General Harmar issued a

proclamation offering a reward for the de-

livery of Wetzel, who was finally retaken
near the Falls of Ohio by Lieutenant Law-
ler and delivered to General Harmar, but

the protests of the people all along the river

from Mingo to the falls were so strong and
persistent that the general was compelled
to release him. Wetzel afterwards went
to New Orleans, where he was arrested ami
imprisoned for passing a counterfeit bill,

palmed off on him by a trader who had
bought his pelts. He lay in prison for a

long time, or until released by the inter-
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cession of friends in the neighborhood of

the Mingo bottom settlement. He died in

Texas and was buried near Austin.

It was the depredations committed by the

Indians near where Steubenville now
stands, after their victory over St. Clair,

that occasioned the John Wetzel expedi-

tion against the Indians iu the spring of
1792. The Indians had made many raids

on the border settlers along the Ohio,

especially between the site of Steubenville

and Wheeling, sometimes killing or captur-

ing whole families, at other times stealing

horses and whatever else they could carry
away. After one of these forays the set-

tlers determined to follow the savages. The
party organized, with Wetzel as captain.

The company consisted of William McCul-
lough, John Hough, Joseph Hedges.
Thomas Biggs, Kinsie Dickerson and Will-

iam Liuu, all being experienced scouts.

From the site of Steubenville they marched
up the river to Yellow Creek and then fol-

lowed the old trail to Fort Laurens, in the
Tuscarawas Valley. At the first Indian
town, which was on Mohican Creek, they
found their horses. For better safety they
concluded to return by a different route,

which brought them to a point on Wills

Creek, near the site of Cambridge. Here
they camped for a night, and while all were
asleep excepting a guard, the party was
attacked by the Indians. A party of sav-

ages bounded into the camp, yelling and
brandishing their tomahawks like the de-

mons they were. The sconts fled instantly,

leaving all their equipments in the camp.
In the tight that ensued Biggs, Hedges and
Linn were killed, but Wetzel and the others
escaped to Wheeling. The Indians mak-
ing the attack were some of the old Mora-
vian converts who had reverted to heathen-
ism, and who were on the warpath to re-

venge the massacre at Gnadenhutten ten

years before.

Just previous to 1780 McDonald moved
from Northumberland County, Pennsyl-
vania, and settled on the Mingo bottoms.

A few years ago the late Capt. Farrer,
au active member of the Ohio Historical

and Archaeological Society, and Dr. A. M.
Reid, the latter of Steubenville, marked
the point on the Ohio River at which
occurred the light between Andrew Poe
and a big Indian. The place designated
by their mark is at the mouth of Tomlin-
sou's Run, which empties into the Ohio
from the Virginia side about three miles
above the head of Brown's Island. A short
distance from the shore is a small island,

and it was between the island and the shore
the light took place. Dr. Doddridge gives
the first account of this light and various
reports have ljeen printed, of which the one
given bv Mr. Caldwell in his history goes
into the most detail. In the fall of 1781
Indian raids were common along the Ohio,
aud during one of them a party of six

Wyandots broke into the cabin of William
Jackson, in what was known as the Poe
.settlement, aud took him prisoner. Jack-
son's son, aged seventeen, returning to the
cabin, saw the Indians in the yard with his

father, and tied to Harmon's fort. The
next day twelve settlers moimted on horse-
back started in pursuit of the savages, and
followed the trail until they reached the top
of the river hill, a distance of about twelve
miles. Here they left their horses and
traveled on foot, the hill being very preci-

pitous. When they reached the bottom of
the hill the trail turned down the river, and
in crossing the little stream, Tomlinson's
Run, Andrew observed that where the In-

dians had stepped into the water it was still

riley, and cautioned the men to keep quiet;

that the Indians were very near and would
hear them and kill the prisoner, Jackson.
After fruitless efforts to quiet the men he
left the company, turning off square to the

right, went to the bank of the river, and
looking down he saw, about twelve feet be-

low him, two Indians stooping with their

guns in their hands, looking down the river

in the direction of the noise. He observed
that one of the Indians was a very large
man. It occurred to him that he would
shoot the larger and take the other a pris-

oner. He squatted in the weeds, and crept
up to the brow of the bank, put his gun
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through the weeds aud took aim, but his

gun missed fire. When the gun snapped,
both Indians yelled, "Woli! woh!" Poe
immediately drew his head hack and the

Indians did not see him. Hy this time the

other settlers had overtaken the other five

Indians with Jackson, who were about one
hundred yards down the river, and had he

gun to fire, which drew the attention of the

two under the eye of Andrew, who again
drew aim, his gun missing fire the second
time. He then dropped the rifle and sprang
instantly upon them. On springing about
at the snap of the gun, the two Indians
were brought side by side, but did not have
time to fire at Poe l>efore lie was upon them.
He threw his weight upon the big Indian,

catching each of them about the neck, and
threw them both. The big Indian fell on
his back, Andrew following with his left

arm around his neck. The little Indian fell

behind Andrew, whose right arm was
around the Indian's neck. Their guns l»oth

fell. One of them lay within reach of An-
drew, who observed that it was cocked.

The Indians had a raft fastened to the

shore close by where they were standing,

the river being very high. The tomahawk
and bullet pouch were on the raft. An
drew's knife was in the scabbard attached
to his shot pouch, which was pressed be-

tween them. He got a slight hold of the

handle and was trying to draw it, to dis

patch the big Indian, who, observing il,

caught his hand and spoke in his own
tongue very vehemently to the other, who
was strutting very hard to get loose. An
drew made several efforts to get his knife,

but in vain. At last he jerked with all his

might. The big Indian instantly let go and
Andrew, not having a good hold of the

handle, and the knife coining out unex-
pectedly easy in consequence of the big

Indian loosing his grasp, it flew out of
Andrew's hand and the little Indian drew
his head from under his arm, his grasp
l>eiug slackened in the act of drawing his

knife. The big Indian instantly threw his

long arm around Andrew's " body and
hugged him like a bear, while the little In

diau sprung to the raft, which was al>out

six feet off, and brought a tomahawk with
which he struck at Andrew's head, who was
still lying on his side on the hig Indian, he
holding him fast. Andrew threw up his

foot as the stroke came and hit the Indian

on the wrist with the toe of his shoe and
the tomahawk flew into the river. The big

Indian yelled at the little Indian furiously,

who sprang to the raft and got the other

tomahawk, and after making several mo-
tions at Andrew's head, who threw up his

right arm and received the blow on his

wrist, which broke one bone of his wrist

and the chords of three of his fingers. An-
drew immediately threw his hand over his

head when he was struck, and the toma-
hawk catching in the sinews of his arm,
drew it out of the Indian's hand and it

flew over his head. After the stroke was
given, the big Indian let go his hold aud
Andrew got U|K»n his feet. As he rose he
seized the gun which lay by his head, with

his left hand, and it being already cocked,

he shot the smaller Indian through the

body; but scarcely had he done so, when
the hig lndinn arose and placing one hand
on his collar and the other on his hip, threw
Andrew into the river. Andrew threw his

hand hack ami caught the Indian hy his

buckskin breech clout and carried him into

the river also. The water being deep they
both went under. Then a desperate elTort

was made by each to drown the other;
sometimes one was under the water, some-
times the other and sometimes both. In

the struggle they were carried about thirty

yards out into the river. Poe at length
seized the t u ft of hair on the scalp of the
Indian, by which he held his head under
water until he supf>osed him drowned. Not
being able to do much with his right hand,
he threw it on the back of the Indian's neck
and swam with his left arm to recruit him-

self. But the Indian was not dead, and
struck out for shore, Poe following. \Vh*»ii

the former got out of the water lie picked

up a gun and in trying to cock it disabled

the lock. He threw* it down and picking up
the empty gun with which Andrew had shot
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the other Indian, went to the raft for shot

and powder and began loading. In the

meantime, Andrew swam back into the

river and called for his brother Adam, who
was with the other party. Adam came run-

ning along the bank and began to load his

gun. It was a race between him and the

Indian, but the Indian drew his ramrod
too quickly, and it slipped from his hands
and fell a short distance from him. He
caught it up and rammed down his bullet.

The delay gave Poe an advantage, so that

as the Indian raised his gun to shoot An-
drew Adam's ball entered his breast, and
he fell forward on his face on the river's

margin. Adam jumped into the river to

assist his brother to shore, but the latter

called him to leave him alone and scalp the

Indian. The latter, however, reached deep
water before he expired, and the river car-

ried him off before his scalp could be se-

cured. Unfortunately, just as Adam ar-

rived at the top of the bank for the relief

of his brother, others hearing the cries

came running up, and seeing Andrew in the

river took him for an Indian, and three of

them fired at him, one of them wounding
him dangerously. The ball entered the

right shoulder, coming out on his left side.

During this contest the other Indians were
preparing to cross the river on a raft with
their prisoner Jackson, who, seeing the

whites coming, ran towards them. One of
the Indians tomahawked him in the back,

making a slight wound. None of the In-

dians was captured, and but one of them
got across the river, he being badly
wounded. A settler named Cherry was
shot through the lungs and died in about
an hour.

It should be noted here that there was no
chief in this light named Hip Foot. The
two Indians killed by the Poes were sons

of Half-King, chief of the Wyandot s, and
Scotash, who escaped after being wounded,
was a third son. His story was received

with great grief by his tribe. Some time

after the Poe tight Thomas Edgington,
father of Jesse Kdgington, who resided in

the Cove opposite Steubenville, was cap-

tured by the Indians near the mouth of

Harmon's Creek and taken to the Indian
towns, where he met Simon Girty. Here
he found the Indian whose prize he was
to l>e, Scotash, by whom he was treated like

a brother. He was finally released, and
returned home, nnd always remembered
with gratitude the kindness of his dusky
master.
Another characteristic adventure of

those days was that of the Johnson boys
near what is now the town of Warrenton
in 1788. The two boys, Johu and Henry,
the former about thirteen and the latter

eleven years of age, were in the forest

cracking nuts when they were captured by
two Indians, and after journeying some
distance over a circuitous route the party
halted for the night. The elder, in order
to keep the Indians from killing them, pre-

tended that they were pleased to be taken,

as they had been treated illy at home and
desired to get away from their people.

During the evening and before they lay

down to sleep, John guardedly informed
his brother of a plan he had arranged in

his mind for escape. After the Indians had
tied the l>oys and had gone to sleep, John
loosened his hands and, having also re-

leased his brother, they resolved to kill

their captors. John took a position with a

gun one of the Indians had by his side, and
Henry was given a tomahawk. At a given
signal, one discharged the rifle and the
other almost severed the head of the other
Indian with the tomahawk. The one struck
with the tomahawk attempted to rise, but
was immediately dispatched by the brave
boy. Coming near Fort Carpenter early
in the morning, they found the settlers pre-

paring to go in an expedition of rescue.

The story that they had killed the two In-

dians, one of whom was a chief, was not
believed by the settlers about the fort, but
to convince them John accompanied the

men to the scene of the encounter, where
they found the body of the Indian killed

by John with the tomahawk, but the other
had been only wounded nnd had crawled
away. His body was found afterwards.
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Doddridge says that after the Wayue vic-

tory, a frieud of the Indians killed by the

Johnson boys, asked what hnd become of

the boys. When told that they still lived

with their parents on Short Creek, the In-

dian replied, "You have not done right;

you should have made kings of those boys."

The land on which the two Indians were
killed was donated to the Johnson boys by
the Government for tliis service. This land

was purchased from the Johnson Im>vs by
Captain Kirkwood, and has been since in

the possession of the Howard, Medill and
Kirk families.

The two Castleman girls, Mary and Mar-
garet, furnish another interesting .story.

They came from the Virginia side of the

river in 171*1 to a sugar camp at I lie mouth
of Croxton's Kun, above Toronto, accom-
panied by their uncle, a Mr. Martin. While
engaged in boiling sap, they were surprised

by Indians, who shot Martin and, capturing

Mary, ran in a westerly direction. Mar-
garet had hidden in a hollow sycamore, hut

started to follow her sister. A young In-

dian picked her up and claimed her as his

property. The girls were taken to San-
dusky, where Margaret was sold to a
French trader and Mary was married to

a half-breed who treated her with great

cruelty. When at last he threw his knife

at her she ran away and reached her

friends on the Ohio, where she married a
man named Wells. The father of the girls,

after the Wayne treaty, found Margaret at

Detroit and brought her home, where she

married David Wright, who lived in the

upper part of the county. She lived !<> the

age of .103 years, and left a grand niece,

Mrs. Devore, living at Mingo.
A Mr. Riley located on land west of

Mingo, where he built a cabin. One day in

1784, while he and his two sous were work-
ing in a cornfield, the Indians surprised

and killed the father and one son, the other
having escaped. At the cabin they found
the mother and two daughters. Mrs. Riley

was tied to a grapevine and the two daugh-
ters carried off, one of whom was soon
tomahawked and the other sold to a French

trader at Detroit. The remains of the mur-
dered ones were gathered together and
buried in what is now Wells Township on
the Smiley Johnson estate, where the

graves have been cared for as a patriotic

duty. Mrs. Kiley had escaped from the

grapevine and taken refuge in the block-

house that stood at the mouth of Battle

Kun. Riley's Run, the little stream in that

neighborhood, is now called Riddle's Run.
In the early days considerable ginseng

was dug in this section and taken east to

oe exchanged for salt and other products.

Josiah Davis, with several others, came
across the river in canoes, and he, with an
old man named Anderson, was engaged in

digging the root on what is now Xhe Bus-
tard farm, adjoining Steubenville. Sud-
denly an Indian whoop was heard and the

crack of two rifles. Anderson fell dead and
Davis started to run, with the savages after

him. The other members of the party, who
do not seem to have been noticed by the

savages, hastened home and reported both
the missing ones dead. Davis, however,
succeeded in distancing his pursuers, and
reaching the river near the present site of

the ha Belle Mills, arrived home in safety,

his knife still open in one hand and the

stick he had been whittling to dig the root

with in the other.

During January, ITS."), when the well

known Indian chief, Joe White Eyes, was
en route to Fort Mcintosh at the mouth
of the Beaver River to sign a treaty, he
stole some horses from a farmer named
Sullivan, in what is now Wells Township.
Sullivan called his dog and gave chase.

Approaching the Indian, the dog raised a

great commotion, when White Eyes turned
and shooting Sullivan, continued his jour-

ney. Afterwards referring to the matter,
he coolly remarked: "He must have been
a fool ; he knew he was in danger when the

dog kicked up so, and he knew I was not
going to be thus detected, therefore he com-
pelled me to shoot him—I couldn't help
myself," a philosophical reflection charac-
teristic of the border.

It is said that Richard Wells, known as
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•'Greybeard," purchased from the Indians

the entire frontage of the Virginia Hill

opposite Steubenville from the old paper
mill coal banks to Clark's Kun, a distance

of two miles, for two bottles of whisky.

Another story concerning him is that, about
the year 1800 he, with Bezaleel "Wells and
wife and John Ward and wife were walk-

ing along the river bank in front of

Steubenville, when the "toot" of an In-

dian was heard. Looking across the river

they noticed a redskin standing on a large

rock near the ferry making offensive ges-

tures at the ladies. Bringing his rifle to

his shoulder, he tired at the Indian, who
dropped off the rock into the river and was
seen no more.

About the close of the eighteenth cen-

tury four Indians journeyed into the town
of Warrenton, and bought, some whisky,

from which they soon became greatly in-

toxicated. When they started for home
they were followed by a party of whites to

a short distance back of what is now Port-
land Station on Short Creek, where they
laid down to rest and were soon in a

drunken stupor. Here they were attacked
by the whites and all killed. The farm was
afterwards owned by J. P. Stringer, who
plowed up a number of bones supposed to

belong to these unfortunates.

Jack Tilton, of that same neighborhood,
was killed by Iudians when he was about
fourteen years old, having been run down
and shot and scalped while out after cows.

His dead body was found on the bank of

Short Creek, about half a mile west of

Portland, where the house of George S.

Bigger now stands.

On March 27, 1789, as Mrs. Glass, after-

wards Mrs. Brown, of Brooke County, Vir-

ginia, was spinning at her home, her black

woman who was gathering sugar water
outside, screamed, ''Here are Indians."
She ran to the door, where an Indian pre-

sented his gun at her. She begged him not
to shoot, but take her prisoner. Another
Indian caught her boy and the negro
woman, and after stealing some articles,

started for the river, having for captives

Mrs. Brown, her son, and the negro woman
with her two children, four and one year
old. After a short march they stopped for

consultation, and to one of the Indians who
could speak English she held out her son

and begged for his life, saying he would
make a line little Indian. The Indian mo-
tioned her to walk on with her child, when
the other Indian struck the negro boy with
the pipe end of his tomahawk, knocking
him down, and dispatched and scalped him.
They reached the river three miles below
Mingo about 4 o'clock in the afternoon, and
taking their canoe, made for Hush Run,
where they encamped for the night about a
mile above the mouth. At sunrise they
crossed the divide on to Short Creek, where
they again camped in the afternoon and de-

posited their plunder with the fruits of
previous robberies. Mr. Glass was work-
ing with a hired man in a field about a
quarter of a mile from the house when his

family was taken, but knew nothing of it

until about 2 p. m., four hours after. After
a fruitless search for the missing ones, lie

went to Wells fort and collected ten men,
and that night lodged in a cabin where
Wellsburg now stands. Next morning they
found the place where the party had em-
barked, Mr. Glass recognizing the print of
his wife's shoe in the earth. They crossed
the river and examined the shore down
nearly as far as Rush Run without result,

when most of the men, concluding that the
Indians had gone down the river to the
Muskingum, wanted to turn back. Mr.
Glass begged them to go at least as far as
Short Creek, to which they agreed, and at

Rush Run found the canoes. While goinp
down the river one of the Indians threw
into the water some papers which he had
taken from Mr. Glass's trunk. Mrs. Glass
picked several of the pieces out of the
water, and under pretense of giving them
to her boy dropped them into the bottom
of the canoe, where her husband found
them. The trail of the party up the run
was soon discovered and easily followed,
owing to the softness of the ground and the
derangement of the weeds standing from
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tlie previous fall. About an hour after the

Indians halted on Short Creek, Mr. (J lass

and party saw the smoke of their camp. In

order that the Indians might have no
chance to kill their captives, they crept

quietly through the bushes. Mrs. Brown's
son had toddled to a sugar tree to get some
water, where the Indians had made a tap.

hut not being able to get it out of the bark
trough, his mother stepped out of the enmp
to get it for him. The negro woman was
sitting some distance from the Indians,
who were examining a scarlet jacket which
they had taken. Suddenly they dropj>ed
the jacket and turned their eyes towards
the men, who, supposing they were dis-

covered, immediately discharged several

guns, and with a yell rushed upon them.
One of the Indians was wounded, and
dropjied his gun and shot pouch. After
running a hundred yards a second shot was
fired after him by Major Mcduire, which
brought him down, but the pursuit was not

carried further, as tin- Indians had told

Mrs. Brown that there was another en-

campment close by. They hurried home,
and reached Beech Bottom fort that night.

( roxton's Bun. besides being the place
of the capture of the Castleman girls, was
the scene of a bloody battle in 17*7 between
fourteen hunters, several of them from
Fort Steuben, and a party of Shawanese.
The hunters camped there for the night,

and were attacked early the next morning.
Four hunters were killed, and the others
reached their canoes and escaped to Fort
Steuben. A reinforcement started for the
place, but found only the mutilated bodies
of the dead hunters, the Indians had gone
with their dead and wounded.
These tales might be continued almost

indefinitely, but we will proceed to notice

what was the last Indian fight of any im-
portance in Jefferson County. The moving
cause of this battle was in the summer of
17?*L\ when a party of Indians came down
to the river at what is now the foot of Mar-
ket Street in Steubenville, and crossed to

the Virginia side on a marauding expedi-
tion. Mrs. Lawson Van Buskirk. of Wells-

burg, had started from Wellsburg on horse-

back to Washington County, Pennsylvania,
to have some weaving done. She met the

Indians at Painter's (probably Panther's)
Creek, and in trying to turn her horse
quickly the animal stumbled aud threw her
to the ground, spraining her ankle. She
was captured and curried back along the

ridge to the spot where they had crossed
the river. A man named White, with two
otheis, followed the Indians with the in-

tention of ambushing them and rescuing

the prisoner. The redskins came down the

hill and iM-gan to raise their canoes, but

they were too many to be attacked. Just
a* iney were about to cross the river

another party of scouts came up, who so

alarmed the Indians that they threw Mrs.
Buskirk on to a huge stone by the water
side, not '•Town Hock" as has been re-

ported, and tomahawked her. They imme-
diately took to their canoes and escaped
across the river. The two parties of whites
united and forded the river at Wells's
ripple, but the savages had too good a start

to Ix' overtaken. The remains of Mrs. Bus-
kirk were taken to Wellsburg for inter-

ment, and the next summer, moved by this

as well as other depredations, Captain Bus-
kirk organized a party of thirty men,
including David Cox, Jacob Boss, two
Cuppy boys, one Abraham who was aft-

erwards killed by an Indian near Mt.
I'leasant, John Aidy, John Parker and
John Carpenter, for the pnr|>ose of pun-
ishing these marauders. They crossed the
river about opposite (ieorge's Hun and
then turned up the stream to Cross Creek
and worked back into the country. About a

mile west of Mingo, on what was after-

wards the Adams farm, now occupied by
the Wabash Railroad, they approached
what is now called Battle Run, a small
tributary of Cross Creek. Here they no-

ticed a loin of " jerk," when Buskirk ex-

claimed: "Now boys, look out, there are
Indians close." He ambuscaded the main
body, and deployed to the right, sending
Carpenter to the left to ascertain the posi-

tion of the enemy. Suddenly. Carpenter
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saw them in force in a thick cluster of paw
paw and blackberry hushes. He yelled In-

dians and treed, receiving live shots

through his knapsack. Buskirk shouted
"where," and at once was the target for

a volley from the bushes, eleven balls enter-

ing his body, killing him instantly. The
frontiersmen stormed the thicket and the

Indians retreated. It was here Jacob Boss
shot and wounded an Indian and drove
him into the creek, mention of which is

made elsewhere. Three whites were
wounded in this fight, and quite a number
of Indians killed, whose bones were after-

wards found, one instance being a skeleton

concealed in the rocks with a bullet lodged
in his hip joint. Buskirk was buried near
where he fell.

That the Indians were possessed of many
noble traits is conceded by all who have
given any serious attention to the study
of their character. That many of them
were superior to the renegades and white
thieves who infested the border is strik-

ingly illustrated by two narratives related

by Robed A. Sherrard, in his manuscript,
referred to elsewhere. One concerned two
brothers named Luke and Frank MeGuirc,
who lived in the Virginia Pan Handle about
three miles east of Steubenville. During
the summer of 181!) they were engaged in

the flour trade to Natchez and New Orleans
and having sold their boat-load of flour at
Natchez for specie they could not get an
exchange for United States bank paper
without giving a high premium, and the

same situation applied to getting a check
on any Eastern bank. So they concluded
to box their specie, and purchasing a horse
and light buggy started for home overland,

as Hteamboating had scarcely begun on
those western waters. They were both

weak and reduced by the fever common in

the South during warm weather, but left

Natchez in good spirits. They got along
very well until they reached t he Cherokee
nation in Georgia. The country was then
a wilderness, and they encountered a very
extensive swamp. In attempting to cross

it their buggy with its weight of specie

sunk into the mud, and in their weakened
state they could render the horse no assist

ance. They sat for some time not knowing
what to do, when at length half a dozen
Indians came along on their way through
the swamp. They took the sick men from
the buggy and carried them out of the

swam]) on their backs, while others carried

the specie. They then loosened the horse
and took the buggy to solid ground. The
Indians then rehitched the horse to the

buggy and putting the McGuires and the

money therein led them to the house of one
of the Indians and kept them a few days,
until their fever had abated, and then sent

them on their way rejoicing.

In contrast with the above is reluted the

case of Michael Myers, one of the pioneers
of Knox Township. Returning overland
from one of his trading trips to New Or-
leans, with three other flour traders, all

were on horseback, with their specie stored

in saddle bags. Before arriving at Natchez
all had bilious fever, but finally started

from the latter place, still quite ill. In a

few days they l>ecame worse, and were
obliged to lie under the shadow of a large

tree far from any house or. even an Indian
wigwam. At length one of the four (lied,

and the others, with pieces of fallen timber,

scraped and scooped out a little earth and
buried him as best they could. The next

day a second man died and was buried in

the same manner, and a day or two later

the third one died, leaving Myers alone,

weak and sick. But weak as he was. lie

managed to bury his last comrade. He
had proved to be the strongest of the party,

and ministerd to the wants of the (•titers

while they lived, and each day looked after

the horses, which they had hobbled and
allowed to range among the pasture nalure
had provided for them near the camp.
After Myers had buried his last comrade,
he turned his thoughts homeward, and con-

cluded to start the next day. He therefore
began preparations by taking the money
of each of his dead comrades, and putling
two parcels in each of two pair of saddle
bags, and having brought the horses to
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camp, he laid down and slept better than
he had done for a good many nights. When
daylight came he selected the best one of
the three horses besides his own, which he
bridled and saddled. He then put a pair
of saddle-bags containing the money on
each, and having removed the hobbles from
the other horses, he let them go to shift

for themselves. He then mounted and
started, the two loose horses -following for
several miles, but at length they took to

browsing, and he saw them no more. He
traveled as far as was possible in his weak-
ened state, and before night stopped to

camp. That evening there came to his

camp a solitary white man, who professed
to be traveling to his home in Kentucky and
appeared to be glad that he had found com-
pany. Myers believed his statements and
agreed that he should have the oversight
of the horses night and morning and might
ride the lead horse. The man seemed very-

well pleased and attentive, and at evening
he hobbled the horses and let them go to

graze. In the morning he brought up the
horses, saddled them, and put on the bags
containing the silver, and thus they went
for two days. On the morning of the third

day the stranger went out after the horses
and. having remained a good while, re-

turned without them. He proposed to

Myers that if the latter would go north to

look for the horses he would go south,
which was agreed to and the men sepa-

rated. Myers was gone about an hour, and
finding no trace of the horses returned to

camp, when he found that the stranger had
returned with the horses, saddled them, put
on the two pairs of saddle-bags containing
nearly every dollar of the four traders,

taken the back track southward, and was
already out of sight. Myers was too weak
to make pursuit, and started towards home
on foot with but a small sum of money in

bis pocket. The thief got about $1.(500.

One of the three men who died was said to

have been Myers' brother. He made his

way through the Indian nation depending
chiefly on the hospitality of the aborigines,

and finally arrived in the state of Ken

tucky, where he found friends who loaned

him money to take him home. It is con-

jectured that the stranger belonged to the

notorious Bill Mason gang of robbers,

which was a terror to every traveller

through the wilderness from 179b for many
years. After this experience Mr. Myers
made Louisville the terminus for his south-

ern trade.

Before leaving this branch of our sub-

ject, a word as to the natural environment
and lives of the early settlers. This was
indeed the wilderness and solitary place.

Even the song birds, so numerous in our
boyhood days, now, alas, being extermi-

nated, only came with the settlers. Of
course, there was no domestic fowl, and the

gobble of the wild turkey, the croak of the

raven and the tap of the woodpecker by
day and the howl of the wolf or the hoot of
the owl by night, did little more than accen-

tuate the solitude. Not alone among the

Indians did sujwrstition prevail. Signs
lucky and unlucky, dreams and omens, were
taken with all the faith of the Delphian
oracle. Belief in witchcraft was not un-

common, although reported accounts of the

killing of one or more witches in this county
by piercing their images with silver bullets

are, no doubt, apocryphal. That story is

located in numerous sections of the coun-

try. As a sample version, it is related that

one of the pioneer farmers of Smithfield

Township returning home late one night,

after a possible halt at one or more dis-

tilleries en route, lost his money, which he
was certain had been taken from him by a
witch. He called on the famous Dr. Me-
( 'onuell to exorcise the spirit with the usual
silver bullet, and that worthy put a silver

bullet in his mouth and taking his gun in

his hand the two went out to the barn,

where a paper figure of the supposed witch

was tacked on the barn door. The gun was
charged, with a bullet taken from the doc-

tor's mouth, and the figure duly shot. The
farmer went away in the full belief that

this particular witch would trouble him no
more, when the doctor took from his mouth
the original silver bullet, having had a lead
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one stored on the other side of his jaw
which was used in the witch killing, with

doubtless quite as much efficacy.

Owing to the forests, summers were
probably cooler than at present, while the

swarms of gnats, mosquitoes and house-

flies were veritable pests to man and beast.

They lessened the amount of milk the cat-

tle gave, and it was customary to build fires

around the settlements the smoke of which
kept the flies from the cattle, which soon
learned to change with the wind, so as to

keep in the smoke. Concerning a much dis-

cussed question, Dr. Doddridge says

:

"Our summers in early times were mostly very dry.

The beds of our largo creek*, excepting in the de*p
holes, presented nothing but naked rocks. The mills

were not expected to do any grinding after the latter

end of May, excepting for a short time after a thunder
gust; our most prudent housekeepers, therefore, took

care to have their summer stock of flour ground in the

months of March and April. If this stock was expended
too soon there were no resources but thorn; of the hominy
block or hand mill. It was a frequent saying among
our farmers that three good rains were sufficient to make
a crop of corn if they happened at the proper times.

The want of rain was compensated in somo degree by
heavy dews, which were then more common than of lat»,

owing to the shaded situation of the earth (f), which
prevented it from becoming warm or dry by the rays
of the sun during even the warmest weather. Krost and
snow set in much earlier in former times than of
late. 1 have known the whole crop of corn in Green-
brier destroyed by frost on the night of the L'2d of
September. The corn in this district was mostly frost

bitten at the same time. Buch early frosts have not
happened for some time past. Uunting snows usually
commenced about the middle of October. November was
regarded as a winter month, as the winter frequently
set in with severity during Hint month, and sometime*
at nu early period of it."

Mr. Sherrard, in his notes, relates that,

"In February, 1801, a large light supposed
to be a meteorite, about the size of a four-

gallon pot, passed at a very rapid rate

from an eastern to a western direction,

about 9 o'clock in the evening. The light

given out was very brilliant, and shone
down the chimney of the house in which
our family dwelt, so bright, that without
the assistance of any other light a person
might have seen to pick up a pin on the

hearth."
Squirrels were very destructive to crops,

while honey bees, crows, blackbirds, rats,

opossums and fox-squirrels were immi-
grants. Rattlesnakes and copperheads
were very numerous. Wild strawberry,

service berry, black and raspberries, goose-

berries, whortleberries, plums, grapes,

haws, cherries, pawpaws, crab apples and
nuts were among the indigenous fruitB. The
peaches were only expected to bear once
every three or four years. Household fur-

niture was naturally scarce, and mostly-

made on the spot. There were a few pew-
ter spoons and dishes, with wooden bowls
and trenches, helped out by gourds and
squashes. "Hog and Hominy" was long

a leading dish, with Johnny Cake pone,

mush and milk. Tea and coffee were prac-

tically unknown. Hunting dresses after

the Indian style, made of skins, were uni-

versal. So as to moccasins for feet cover-

ing, which were not very efficient weather
protectors, causing much rheumatism to

our forefathers. The women wore linsey

petticoats and bed gowns, practically all

the stuff being home-made. At first peltry

and furs supplied the place of money,
which in the fall were sent eastward over,

the mountains to be exchanged for salt and
other necessities, and sometimes for luxu-

ries. Of course, hunting was extensively

practiced not only as a pleasure but as a

necessity to eke out the family larder. As
a rule, the inhabitants married young, and
the occasion was usually festive, attended

from far and near. Doddridge gives ac-

counts of some very quaint customs con-

nected therewith, some of which might not

be considered altogether refined in these

days, but even the virtues of the pioneers

were frequently homely. .All the friends

and neighbors joined in the house-warming,
barn raisings, etc., and each family had its

own tailors, shoemakers and carpenters.

Herbs were largely used as medicines, and
perhaps they were as efficacious as some
modern decoctions. Amusements were
largely of an athletic nature, such as run-

ning, jumping, wrestling, etc. Dancing
was always in favor, and it fjoes without
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saying that target .shooting was always in

evidence. Occasionally there was a dra-

matic performance which requires no
stretch of language to describe as amateur.
At first there was "neither law nor gos-

pel," as courts did not travel westward
with the first emigrants, and clergymen
were few and scattered. Nevertheless, as
is always the case with Anglo-Saxons,
there was rude administration of justice

from the start. Offenses of a minor sort

were punished by ostracism and banish-

ment, and for more serious ones stripes

were not uncommon. Family honor was

rated high, and seduction and bastardy
were very infrequent; in fact, the "un-
written law" was a very practical deter-

rent. In short, there was very little crime
(if killing Indians be eliminated, as that
was not considered criminal), because this

section wns not settled by criminals, but by
the sturdy pioneers of Virginia and Mary-
land. Of course, the above statements
apply to the very first coiners. The estab-

lishment of military authority followed by
courts and religions gatherings belong to a
later period.
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CHAPTER VIII

A NEW ERA

Beginning of the United States Land System—Primitive Blockhouses and Building of
Fort Steuben—Survey of the Seven Ranges—A Busy Year and Permanent Settle-

ments—First United States Land Office,

Blockhouses of a seini-public character
were numerous iu Jefferson County from
the date of the earliest settlements. In
fact, they were au absolute necessity, and
around them were clustered the cabins and
the clearings, close enough for the inhabi-

tants to escape to their refuge whenever
there was danger of a savage raid. These
blockhouses were square, heavy, double-
storied buildings, with the upper story ex-

tending over the lower about two feet all

round. They also projected slightly over
the stockade, commanding all the ap-

proaches thereto, so that no lodgment
could be made against the pickets of which
the stockade was built, to set them on fire,

or to scale them. They also were pierced
with loop-holes for musketry. The roof
sloped equally from each side upward, and
was surmounted at the centre by a quad-
rangular structure called the sentry box.
This box was the post of observation, af-

fording, from its elevated postion, an ex-

tensive view on all sides. It was usually

occupied in times of siege or apprehended
attack by three of the best riflemen, who
were also well skilled id the tactics of In-

dian warfare. There were at least three

blockhouses in Warren Township, " Car-
penter's Fort" being the leading one, and
George Carpenter established one below

Rush Run in 1785. There were also several

north of Steubenville, between Wills Creek
and Yellow Creek. The blockhouses devel-

oped into the fort, in fact, the pioneer forts

consisted of four blockhouses arranged in

the form of a square and connected to-

gether by a palisade or picket of heavy
posts. Of this character was Fort Steuben,

which stood on the second river terrace at

what is now the corner of High and Adams
Streets in Stenbenville, where the corners

were identified and designated by iron

markers by the centennial committee at the

celebration in 1897. The fort was in the

form of a square, with blockhouses twenty-

eight feet square set diagonally at the cor-

ners. The angles of the blockhouse were
connected with lines of pickets one hundred
and fifty feet in length, forming the sides

of the fort. Each blockhouse had two
rooms sufficient to accommodate fourteen

men. The fort also contained a commis-
sary store, barracks, quartermaster's store,

magazine, artificer's shop, guard house
built on two piers with a piazza looking in-

ward, and a sallyport built between the

piers. A flag pole with the American
colors was also provided, and a black hole

for confining offenders. The main gate

faced the river, and the width of the block-

houses diagonally was about thirty-nine

VJ3
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feet, making the outside measurement two
hundred and twenty-eight feet. A repro-
duction of this post made by C. P. Filson
may be found among the illustrations in

this volume, and gives a very good idea of
its appearance.
The building of this fort was occasioned

by one of the most importnut acts of Con-

fer a legal disposition of the lands and
opening up the country for settlement Con-
gress, on May 20, 17&~>, passed an act for

the survey of seven ranges of land north-

west of the Ohio River, which was the be-

ginning of the public land system of the

United States. This tract of seven ranges
is bounded bv a line fortv-two miles in

ri.A.x of i okt sTia m:.\

So. 1, 1, 1, 1, block house 28 feet »i|u:irt'. divided into

two looms, suflicietit for 14 toe a caeh ; l*. L'. Olivers'

barracks; a, a, parlor*: b, b, b. l>, bedroom*; <1. d,

kiiilii>no; 3, commissary store; 4, •iMartermaster'* store;

.

r
>, magazine; 0, artifi-er \s shop; 7, guard lo.ese built

on two piers a, b, with a piazza looking inwards and
a sally port between the piers, the pier n tie common
store; b, blaok hole, place of confinement; s, flan-tart; 9.

main gate looking toward the river. The small »ipiares

iu the sides and cornets of the rooms represent chim-
neys. The width of the block houses diagonally n :!0

feet 1 inch nearlr. and the distance between the vmnts
)."<J fect.

gress in our National history. We have
related the efforts of the Government to

exclude settlers from the Ohio country, but

recognizing the fact that the time had come

length, taking in seven townships each six

miles square running due west from the

intersection of the western boundary line

of Pennsylvania with the Ohio River,

thence south to the Ohio River at southeast
corner of Marietta Township in "Washing-

ton County, thence up the river to the place

of beginning. The present counties of Jef-

ferson, Columbiana, Carroll, Tuscarawas,
Harrison, Guernsey, Relmont, Noble, Mon-
roe and Washington are wholly or partly

within this district. The ranges were num-
bered from east to west, and the townships
from south to north. The townships were
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subdivided into sections one mile square,

aud the numbering of the ranges and town-
ships started in Jefferson County, Town-
ship 2 of Range 1 being the northeast
corner of Wells Township, including Sec-

tions 29, 30, 34, 35 and 36, Section 1 which
is cut off by the river would be located a

mile above Warrenton. In Range 1 arc
included the east ends of Saline, Knox,
Island Creek and Wells Townships, and all

of Steubenville, which is only a fractional

township. The line dividing Sections 29
and 30 from 35 and 36 in Steubenville City

runs through the Washington schoolyard
just west of the building, so that point is

exactly live miles west of the Pennsylvania
line. In the second range are the greater

parts of Saline, Island Creek. Wells and
Warren Townships, with all of Cross
Creek, Brush Creek, Salem, Wayne, Smith-
field and Mt. Pleasant are all in the third

range, while Springfield, a somewhat ir-

regular projection on the west side is the

sole representative of the county in the

fourth range.

Investigations in the public land office

and Library of Congress by A. M. Dyer,
curator of the Western Reserve Historical

Society, made in 1909, have disclosed some
facts not hitherto known in connection
with the history of the Seven Ranges.
Hutchins located the initial ]X)int where the

western boundary of Pennsylvania inter-

sects the northern bank of the Ohio in Sep-
tember. 1785, determined its latitude in

Oetolter. and officially reported it as 40 de-

grees, .'58 minutes, 2 seconds. Tbe first

year's survey was a line four miles long,

called the Geographer's line, running due
west from this point. In 1786 this line was
extended fifty miles westward to the ninth

range. There it joined the Ludlow line

marking the Indian boundary according to

the Greenville Treaty. In 1800-1801 these

Seven Ranges were extended northwardly
to 41°, giving four additional townships in

each range and continuing the survey to

the southern boundary of the Connecticut
Reserve. It has been generally stated by
historians that the famous Seven Ranges

extended from the Ohio to the forty-first

parallel, and as late as April, 1909, this was
the general opinion even in the land office.

Mr. Dyer also resurrected a copper plate,

13l-;x23i
/2 inches, published about 1795 by

Matthew Carey, Philadelphia, showing the

plat of these lands.

On May 27, 1785, congress elected a pub-
lic land surveyor from each state, and in

July, 1786, they assembled at Pittsburgh
under the direction of Thomas Hutchins,
United States Geographer, who had been
a military engineer under General Bouquet.
It was to protect these surveyors in the

Indian country and form a base of opera-
tions that the fort above described was
erected and named after the Prussian
Baron Steuben, who rendered such efficient

service to the colonies in the Revolutiounry
War. Our first information concerning
this fort is derived from Major Ekuries
Beatty. father of the late Rev. Charles C.

Beatty, D.D., of Steubenville, who was
paymaster in the western army, and came
to the Ohio country in 1786. He kept a
diary of his transactions, from which we
learn that while ascending the river to

Pittsburgh he met Captain Hutchins and
party on July 21st, encamped opposite

Little Beaver preparing to begin their

survey. He also met two boats with the

baggage of three military companies en
route to Mingo. On the 31st he started

down the river, and, at 3 o'clock in the

afternoon of August 2d, arrived at Mingo,
where Captain Ilamtrarack's, McCurdy's
and Mercer's companies were encamped,
and had just been mustered and inspected

by Major North. They had showers, and
the troops were encamped on the river

bank "opposite' the lower end of a small

island."

Major Beatty continued his journey to

Kentucky, and in September started on his

return trip. During the interval Major
Hamtramck doubtless concluded that the

second terrace three miles up the river

would he a better location for a fort than
the lowlands at Mingo, and had begun the

erection of Fort Steuben. So, under date
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of September 22d, we find the following

entry in Beatty's diary:
'

' Stopped at a small blockhouse today on t be I ndian
bore which Major Hamtramek bad buitt for the security

of bis provisions. Saw bere Capt. Mills, the commissary,
and Mr. Hoops, a surveyor, who told us tbut tbey ex-

pected the troops and all the surveyors in, on account

of an alarm they had received from the Indian towns.

Arrived to-night within three miles of Yellow Creek."

This was the first of the four corner
blockhouses. The fort was completed dur-

ing the winter and quite an account of life

within its palisades is given by John Mat-
thews, a nephew of General Putnam, who
was one of the surveyors. His first note

under date of July 31st refers to the camp
opposite Beaver, "where the surveyors
were waiting for the troops from Mingo
which are to escort them in the survey."
Caldwell concludes that he here refers to

Fort Steuben, which at first was often con-

founded with Mingo, that being the historic

Bpot of the Ohio country, but Matthews
means just what he says, for we have seen

from Beatty's diary that the troops were
actually at Mingo at this time. Matthews
gives an interesting account of his work
with the turveyors, but Captain Hut chins
having left for New York on January -7,

1787, we next find these entries:

February 3. This evening I received a letter from
Major Hnnitramck, requesting me to come ami take
charge of the commissary department at Fort Steuben,
which is three miles above the moulh of Indian Cross
Creek, on the west side of the Ohio.

Sunday, 4th. I went to Fort Steuben, in company
with Mr. i.udlow, one of the surveyor*, anil engaged to

be ready to take charge of the stores on Wednesday next
Fort Steuben, Thursday, Rth. This morning Mr.

Peters delivered the stores in his charge to me. I am
now entering on business with which I am unacquainted,
but hope that use will make it familiar tn me. 1 have
to issue provisions to about seven hundred men.

April lUth. Captain Martin and Mr. Ludlow left this

place for the woods, to continue and complete the survey
of tho ranges.

17th. Mr. 8mith left this place for the wood*.
21st. Mr. Simpson left hero for the woods.
May 8th. This day three of the surveyors arid their

ass Hunts or parties arrived from the woods, viz,: cap-
tain Martin, Mr. Simpson (surveyor from Maryland),
and Mr. I.udlow; they arrived at Wheeling the .Vth inst.

Their coming was in consequence <>f information from
Esq. Zane that the Indians had killed three jw.tm.jis at
Fishing Creek, and taken three more prisoner* on the
L'.'ith day of April. Mr. Smith is yet in riie wood*, and
nothing has been heard from him since he left this place,

as he did not come op with Mr. Ludlow on the sciei.'h

range, as wns expected, but by comparing circumstance-

I apprehend no misfortune has befallen liira.

Thursday, loth. Mr. Smith and party returned from
the woods, and all is well.

12th. Wo have intelligence this day that the Indians

bad murdered n family on the night of the 11th, about

fifteen miles below thin place. On my way to Esq.

MeMahon's 1 saw several persons from Wheeling, who
informed me that there was one man and two children

killed, and two children taken prisoners, and the woman
badly wounded.

Wednesday, I was ordered by Major llaratrnmck

to engage a'numbcr of pack horses to go into the woods
with the surveyors and escorts, to carry the provisions

Went up buffalo Creek about ten miles in search of

borne*. There are several mills on the creek, and the

best farms I have seen in this country.

L'tth. Kode to the court bouae in Ohio County. There
is it good town laid out there, and about twenty of the

lots occupied (West Lil*>rty).

."til. About - p. m. nrrived in the fort, not hav.ng
very good success in procuring horses, but a prospect
of completing what I want. A part of the troops sta-

tioned at Steuben had left lo re during my absence, heiug
ordered to Muskingum, and the remainder immediately
to follow. Their further destination is not known.
Major liuiutramck informs me that the stores in my
charge will be moved to Wheeling, ami 1 am to go with
them. This place will prohahly be tlie render on* of

the surveyors and their escorts this summer.
:icth. A party of tho troops left this post for Mus-

kingum, and I hav made arrangements to go to Wheel
itig in the morning.

.'.1st. At Hi o'clock n. m. left Kort Steuben, with
a canoe deeply laden, and no one on board but myself.
At J u 'clock "as obliged to lie by on account of »he

mud. At i it abated, and I go' as far as tie' mouth
of short ( reek. Here 1 found Mr. Wheaton and Mr
MeFnrlane. and was induced to stay all night

.

On July 31 st Mr. Matthews returned to

MeMahan's, opposite Mingo, and mi tin-

evening of August 4th there was an alarm
by the screaming of a person begging for

life, and the report of two guns. A party
of armed men crossed the river, where they
found a man killed and scalped, at the

lower end of Mituro Bottom. The Indians,

two in nuuilier, according to some persons
lishinir at the month of Cross Creek, es-

caped. After a trip down the river, Mr.
Matthew- returned to MeMahan's on Mon-
day eveniiipT. September 3, where he re-

mained until the L'Oth, when he came across
the river with a small party to hunt gin
senir. They went as far as the dividing
ridire between Short Creek and the Tusca-
rawas, where they spent four days digging
the root. On the return they arrived at

the Ohio about .'I p. m. on the 29th, when
we lind the following entry:
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• • We were much surprised to hear that three men bad
been killed and one taken prisoner b.v the iudiaus, about
ten miles up (.'roan Creek, who were out after ginseng
on Sunday last. Two of the party made their escape.

They had also killed a family the week following, up
Wheeling Creek, and done considerable other damage.
While we were out we were wry careless and came on
their trail but, fortunately, they did uot fall in with
us. I feel very happy that I have reached my old quar-
ters, and will give them liberty to take my scalp if they
catch me after ginseng again tui* year.

"October 12th. This evening McMahan returned from
over the river, where he had been with a party of men
in pursuit of some Indians who yesterday morning killed

nn fid man near Fort Steuben. He did not discover
their, but by the signs thought them to be seven or
eight in number.
"November 30th. A part of this month I have been

on the west side of the Ohio, with Mr. Simpson and
Colonel Martin, insisting them in the survey of the
lands they bought ut the publi.- sales in New York.
Last evening I returned from Pittsburg, where I had
tn*u to settle my accounts with Britt & Co., which I have
accomplished. While there t saw Colonel Meigs, of
Connecticut, who has lately come on to this country.

He belongs to the Ohio Company (the Marietta settlers)

and informs ine that the surveyors, workmen, etc., will

he on this winter. I was gratified to learn that, by
revive . f the company, I had been appointed one of the
surveyors."

Major Beatty visitor! Fort Steuben on
Febrnary 6, 1787, when lie made a drawing
and description of tlie same, locating it

about one hundred and twenty yards from
the river. It was then guarded by Captain
llaititramck's and Mercer's companies. He
made subsequent visits on February 26th
and March 25th, of the same year. Al-

though the garrison was removed in 1787,

the fort continued to be a refuge for set-

tler* until 1790, when it caught fire from
some cause and was burned to the ground,
not a surprising incident when it is remem-
bered that all the buildings were of wood,
with no facilities for extinguishing flames.

We have seen from the journal of Mr.
Matthews that this fort was not merely a
small military garrison, but a busy centre
of frontier life, where people were coming
and going, and where the foundations of
a great state were being laid. All this was
the year preceding the settlement of Mari-
etta, and that settlement was made pos-

sible by the work done here. As some-
body has said of Jamestown, the men who
founded our country there and created the

first representative assembly and the first

free <choo> were makers of history instead

of writers of history, hence much of the
credit which belongs to them has been
transferred to New England; and so it has
been in Ohio. We hear a great deal about
the settlers down the river, but very little

about the pioneers of eastern Ohio, by
whose perils and labors an empirte was
secured for our common country. A true
history of Ohio would date the first per-
manent settlements of the state not at
Marietta on April 7, 1788, but at Fort
Steuben in the later summer and fall of
1 786, and even this was subsequent by sev-
eral years to those who built their lonely
cabins along the river, defying the hard-
ships of the wilderness and the perils of
the savages. It is very likely that the
Marietta Argonauts landed at Steubenville
on the way down, where the fort and settle-

ment had already stood for a year and a
half, and where there were already more
people than in the visiting party.

Before the year 1787 had expired lands
within the limits of the seven ranges were
offered for sale by the Government in New
York, although the states claiming an in-

terest in this territory had not ceded their
claims. Virginia had undoubtedly the
strongest claim to this section not only ac-

cording to her original charter but because
through the expedition of Clark and the
energy of her pioneers she had been mainly
instrumental in preserving this territory
to the Colonists. But the other colonies
demanded an interest, and Virginia finally

surrendered whatever interest she may
have had, only excepting some lands to re-

deem promises made to her soldiers, which
was offset by a large tract given to Connec-
ticut sufferers, and although a slave state
unhesitatingly agreed in the ordinance
of 1787 that this virgin territory should be
consecrated to freedom. The Ohio Com-
pany which settled Marietta, was formed
in Boston in 1786, and purchased from the
government 964,285 acres of land on the
Ohio and Muskingum Rivers adjoining the
western line of the seven ranges. It was
here that John Matthews had his next job
of surveying, and as late as 1790 while on
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the Virginia .side of the river his party was
attacked by Indians and seven of his men
shot and scalped. In fact there was trouble

all along the river that year. Land sales

were continued in Philadelphia and Pitts-

burgh, and on May 10, 1800 congress passed
an act establishing the Steubenville dis-

trict for the registration and sale of public

lands in the Northwestern Territory, and
two days later President Adams nominated
David Hoge, of Pennsylvania to be register

of the land office at Steubenville, who was
confirmed shortly after. Mr. Iloge filled this

position until the office here was closed un-

der the act of June 12, 1840, when the un-

sold lands were attached to the Chillicothe

district. Zaccheus Biggs was commissioned
as the first Receiver here on July 1st, 1800.

Mr. Biggs was also County Commissioner
in 1804 and member of the town council in

1800. He removed across the river in 181

1

and operated what was long known as the

"Lower Ferry" where are now the La
Belle iron works. Obadiah Jennings, who
afterwards became a Presbyterian min-
ister has l>een spoken of as a receiver, but

an investigation by Capt. J. F. Oliver, of
this city showed that there was no record of

him holding such office. He was probably
a clerk or assistant. Peter Wilson was
appointed receiver on November .'5. 180S,

and held the office thirteen years, lie was
succeeded in 1821 by his brother-in-law,

Hon. Samuel Stokely. who was succeeded
by John II. Viers in 18.13, and the latter

held the office until it was discontinued in

1840. In 1801 Mr. Hog« bought from Beza
leel Wells for *50 Lot No. 104 on the east

side of Third street, a short distance above
Market, on the south side of which he built

a house (the McLnin house) in which the

land office was located until he sold the

house in 1SO0. This building was razed a

number of years ago to make way for the

present three story business block owned
by Thomas Croenburg. A marble tabid
placed on the front of the building recites

that this was the first land office in the

I 'iiited States. Peter Wilson on April 15th,

1800 purchased from Robert Carroll Lot
No. 11.1, the third above Washington on the

east side of Third street, north of the pres-

ent Turner Hall on which Carroll had
built a two story frame house. When Wil-

son was appointed receiver in 180S the

corner of Washington and Third streets

was a business centre, and the next year the

land office was moved here where it re

maincd until about 1S21. That site is now
occupied by a summer theatre. In 1S21

Mr. Iloge being the owner of Lot No. f>I

(l*. S. Hotel) moved the land office to the

west end of that lot in a small brick build

ing fronting on Market street on the comer
of Alley A, afterwards the Post office, and
since removed to make an addition to the

hotel. Mr. Iloge sold this lot in 1828, and
the same year purchased Lot No. 05 on the

east side of Third street mid way between
Market and Adams, where be erected a

house and to which he removed the office,

where it remained until it was closed in

1S40. The property was afterwards owned
by ( 'apt. J. S. Dcvc'nny, and now by Michael

Keane. but the building was moved to the

north half of Lot 1.1 on North Sixth street

between Washington and North, in Antler

son and Donaldson's addition, remodeled
and now occupied by Albert Poleii.

At the time the Steubenville office was
created similar ones were made at Mariel

ta, Cincinnati and Chillicothe, and the first

entries were as follows: Steubenville. Juh
1. 1S00; Marietta. December 2(1, 1800: Cin
cinnati. April 0, .1801: Chillicothe. May.
1*|>1.
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CHAPTER IX

COUNTY ORGANIZATION

From Lake to River—Subsequent Changes and Present Boundary.

The Confederate congress on July 13,

1787 adopted an ordinance for the govern-
ment of the territory northwest of the Ohio
Kiver which provided among other things
for the appointment of a government by
congress, and also that so soon as there
should be 5,000 free male inhabitants in a
certain district they would be entitled to

chose a legislature, upon whose proceed-
ings the governor should have an abso-

lute veto. It was also provided that there
should be formed in said territory not less

than three nor move than live states. This
last provision resulted ultimately in the

formation of the five states of Ohio, In-

diana, Illiuois, Michigan and Wisconsin.
Under this act Gen. Arthur St. Clair, an
eminent Revolutionary soldier was ap-
pointed governor, and organized the terri-

tory at Marietta on July 9, 1788. He served
in that capacity until 1802, when political

influence forced him from office. The
statutes promulgated by himself and ad-
visers have been spoken of as the best ever
framed for an infant colony. Among others
it was provided that the common law of

England, and all statutes in aid thereof,

made previous to the fourth year of James
I. should bo in full force within the terri-

tory. By 1708 the territory containing the

requisite number of 5,000 adult male in-

habitants, a legislature was elected and
organized the next year, at Cincinnati.

William Henry Harrison was chosen con-

gressional delegate, the present govern-

ment of the United States having then been

in existence about nine years. In the mean-
time several counties had been set off,

among them Jefferson, the first ten coun-

ties of what is now the State of Ohio being
the following:

Xamf..

WiisbinuToii

Hamilton
Wayne
Adiiitm

JenVrwn
ROW
Trumbull

Kairfiel.l

Ficlmont

WllKS I'ROi'l.OMKt

July 27, 178S
January 2, 1790
August" 15. 171W
Julv 10. l'i>7

July -29, 1707
August. 20, 1797
July 10, 1H0O
December 6, 1800
December V, 1S0O
September 1VH

J'Of.s'TV Skat.

Marietta
Cincinnati
Detroit

Manchester
Hteubenville

Chlllteotu©

Warren
Williamsburg
New Lancaster
St. Clairsvillo

There has been considerable discussion

concerning the exact date at which Ohio be-

came a state, but .March 1, 180.5 is now ac-

cepted as correct, because on that day all

territorial functions ceased, and those of

the new commonwealth began, although the
organization of the state government was
not concluded until two days later. John
Milligan, of Jefferson County, was a mem-
ber of the last territorial legislature, and
he with Rudolph Bnir, George Humphrey,
Nathan Updegraff and Bezaleel Wells was
a member of the convention organized at

Chillicothe on November 29, 1802, which
adopted the first constitution. As seen

1251
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above Jefferson County was organized be-

fore the present State of Ohio was even a
full fledged territory. The boundaries as
prescribed by Governor St. Clair's procla-

mation were as follows:

"Beginning on the bank of the Ohio
River, where the western boundary of
Pennsylvania crosses it, and down said

river to the southern boundary of the

fourth township in the third range, and
with said southern boundary west to the

southwest corner of the sixth township of

the fifth range ; thence north along the west-

ern boundary of said fifth range, to the ter-

mination thereof; thence due west to the

Muskingum Biver, and up the same to and
with the portage between it aud the Cuya-
hoga Biver; thence down Cuyahoga to Lake
Erie; thence eusterly along the shores of

the lake to the boundary of Pennsylvania,

and south with the same to the place of be-

ginning."
Stripped of its legal verbiage the above

meant practically all that part of Ohio east

of the Cuyahoga and Tuscarawas extend-

ing from Lake Erie to the southern line

of the present Belmont County. It in-

eluded besides the present Jefferson, the

counties of Ashtabula, Geauga, Portage,

Trumbull, Mahoning and Columbiana,
about half of Cuyahoga including most of

what is now the city of Cleveland, and the

greater part of Summit, Stark, Carroll,

Harrison and Belmont. Quite a number of

changes were made before Jefferson

County assumed its present shape, the first

being the organization of Trumbull County
on July 10, 1800, taking all north of the

present northern boundary of Columbiana.
The latter countv was organized on March
25, 1803. and extended from Yellow Creek
northward to Trumbull, and westward to

the Muskingum, taking the northern part

of Saline Township and the greater part of

Brush Creek. On January 31, 1807, Jeff-

erson County was extended westward to

the west line of the seven ranges, forty two
miles from the Pennsylvania boundary, tak-

ing in all of Harrison and the southwest

PERSON COUNTY

corner of Carroll, but on February 11, 1809.

all west of the fifth range being parts of
the present Harrison and Carroll was at-

tached to Tuscarawas. On January 2, 1813
Harrison County was organized to take
effect January 1, 1814. Carroll was or-

ganized on December 25, 1832 from Harri-
son and Jefferson, and at the same time the

boundary between Columbiana and Jeff-

erson which had hitherto followed the

meanderings of Yellow Creek was straight-

ened giving the whole of Brush Creek and
Saline Townships back to the latter county,

and fixing the lines as they now exist.

On May 10, 1803 the county was divided

into the live townships of Warren, Short
Creek, Archer, Steubeuville and Knox, the

boundaries of which were all subsequently
changed, two of them. Short Creek and
Archer, reappearing in Harrison County.
The first will probated in Jefferson

Countv was that of John Cross on Febru-
ary 27, 1798 before Bezaleel Wells, Clerk
of Court; Benjamin Cross and John Mar-
tin witnesses. As Benjamin Cross is also a

legatee the law prohibiting legatees acting
as witnesses was evidently not observed.
The second will was that of John Hooten,
dated March 1, 1794 and probated August
1 4. 1 798.

The tax duplicate for 1799 showed 925
families. 181 single freemen, 48,709 acres
of woodland. 5,593 cleared 1,159 horses, 2,-

OMi niltle. 2 grist mills, 4 saw-mills, 18
houses ( ?) and 13 ferries. This is evident-
ly outside of Steubenville.

Early licenses issued for solemnizing
marriages are recorded as follows: Rev.
James Snodgrass, Presbyterian, 1803; Rev.
Lyman Potter, Presbyterian, Enoch Mar-
tin and Michael Harmon, Baptist, Elias
Crane. Methodist. Jacob Colbart and Alex-
ander Colderhead. Associate Reformed.
1804: John Ray of' ('rah Apple and Beech
Springs, 180(5: Rev. William Argo, Meth-
odist, 1807; Rev. Abraham Scott of Mt.
Pleasant, 1809. The first marriages were
mostly solemnized by justices of the peace,

the primary otic recorded being that of
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Joseph Baker and Mary Findley, October dated 1795 and signed by George Washing-
19, 1797, Zcnas Kimberly, recorder, offici- ton. The tract was surveyed by Absalom
ating. • Martin and included the mouth of Short
The first deed recorded was for land in Creek. A stone monument marks the

Warren Township, being from the United southwest corner. In Vol. VIII. of the
States to Ephraim Kimberly for 300 acres Ohio Archaeological reports is a very eom-
of land near Short Creek in return for serv- plete list of the early deed/?, compiled by
ices during the Revolution. The deed is Mr. Hunter.
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CHAPTER X

LEGAL. JUDICIAL, EXECUTIVE AND LEGISLATIVE

Bench and liar—Eminent Jurists and A,t

of Judicial, Executive and Legislative

A full account of the Jefferson County
bar would be a history of the county itself.

A few years ago the present writer col-

lected considerable data for the Caldwell
history, which has also been used in other

publications, and a great deal of what fol-

lows is based on those researches with
additional material covering the past forty

years. The first court, or as it was called

The First General Quarter Sessions of the

Peace, for the county of Jefferson in the

territory of the United States, northwest
of the Ohio River, was held at Steuben-
ville in pursuance of a proclamation by
Winthrop Sargent, secretary of the terri-

tory, acting in the absence of Governor St.

Clair, and met on November 2, 1797. Philip

Cable. John Moody and George Humphries
acted as judges, and on the first day of the

term John Polfe, James Wallace and Solo-

mon Sibley were admitted to the bar. David
Vance was associate judge in the following

year, ami Thomas Fawcett at the August
term, 1799, William Wells in 1800, and
Jacob Martin in 1801, this being the com-
position of the court until March 1, 1803

when Ohio became a state. The first jury
called was at the February term. 179S ns

follows: Philip Cahil, Shadraek Newark,
Joseph Ross, Jr., K. Cahil, R. Pritchard,

John Shrimplin, William Schritehfield.

William Shrimplin, Thomas Harper, Aaron

orneys—The Great War Ministers—Hosier
Officers—Congressional Representatives.

Hoagland, Hobert Newell and Thomas Ben-
dure. Its first case was John Jones, Jr.

vs. James Hall, in which the plaintiff was
given $14.00 and costs. In August 1798 it

was ordered by the court that John Ward
and John Moody act as commissioners to

contract for and superintend the repairing
of the court house ami "gaol" and make
the same fit for public use, and that they be
paid $40 towards defraying the expenses
of so preparing said building. On the 15th

of that same month a deed was procured
from Bezaleel Wells and Sarah, his wife, of

Brooke County, Virginia, the consideration
being live dollars, for a piece of ground to

be devoted to the site of a court house, jail

and such other public buildings for the use
of the county as the said justices of the

court of common pleas, and their successors
shall from time to time think proper to or-

der. This lot was on the northeast corner
of Third and Market streets, fronting 120

feet on the former street, and 180 on Mar-
ket, and 120 on what is now Court street.

The lot was considerably enlarged when the

present court house was built. Thomas
M. Thompson, Z. Kimberly and C. Sample
were admitted to the liar this year. Mr.
Kimberly in 180:"» became a merchant at

Warrenton. In 1799 it was ordered that

the treasurer of the county pay John Ward
and John Moody $200 to furnish the court
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house and "gaol" out of the first money in

the treasury, if there is not enough already
in the treasury for that purpose, aud that

Maid commissioners proceed as early as
possible to have said building put in com-
fortable order.

Silas Paul was admitted as attorney at
the February term, 1800, and became the

first prosecuting attorney under the con-

stitution of 1802. He was a resident of

Wills Creek north of the city, and was a
quaint individual carrying a staff and hav-

ing his hair dressed in the queue. His sal-

ary was fixed at $80 per annum by the court

at the August term, 1803. He died August
15, 1857; a number of grandchildren, still

survive him. At the same term of court

(1800) it was ordered that John Suther-
land receive $1 out of the county treasury
to pay for candlesticks and candles for the

use of the court. Obadiah Jennings, of

Belmont County, was admitted at the Feb-
ruary term, 1802. He afterwards became
a Presbyterian minister, and died in Ken-
tucky. Robert Moore. John Q. Hamilton
and Joseph Penticost were admitted in

1803, and the following rates of taxation

ordered: One-half per cent, on the ap-

praised value of all mansion house lots,

mills, etc., total assessment, $27,702; tax
$1.'58.15. For each house 25 cents, number
of houses, 1,777 ; tax, $444.25 ; each head of

cattle, 10 cents; number 2,788; tax $278.80.

One of the first rules of the territorial court

was that every motion made in court which
shall not be ruled by the court in favor of

the motion, the attorney or the person who
made the motion should pay to the court

25 cents.

One of the early cases before the court

was that of John Kelly, who appeared on
February 16, 1798 with a petition asking
the court to take testimony and make a

statement to the secretary of the treasury

concerning a forfeiture under the excise

law. Kelly had removed two distilleries

from Virginin to Jefferson County in Sep-

tember, 1795, and had distilled eleven bush-

els of rye without entering the stills. Kelly

claimed he was unable to read writing and

did not know with whom to make the en-

tries. On August 31, 1797, Collector Zenas
Kimberly seized the stills in the woods
where they were hidden.

The first indictment for murder in this

county was against William Carpenter Sr.,

and Jr., father and son for killing Captain
WTiite Eyes, son of the Delaware chief of

that name at West Point now in Colum-
biana County. The junior Carpenter, who
was but seventeen years of age, it is

claimed was attacked by White Eyes, who
was drunk, and raised his tomahawk with
the apparent intention of assaulting him.

The boy ran with the Indian after him,
when the boy turned and shot him. The
father was arrested for aiding and abetting
the killing. There is u tradition that the

case was tried and the Carpenters ac-

quitted, but there is no record of the trial,

and a nolle was probably entered. White
Eyes was the last Indian killed in Jefferson

County, and fearing that his death would
cause trouble among the Indians, presents
were given to friends of the deceased, and
three hundred dollars to his wife, Bezaleel

Wells being one of the donors. The origi-

nal copv of the indictment was preserved
by the late Capt. W. A. Walden, the follow-

ing being a verbatim copy:

"Jefferson Cocnty, To-wit:
" Territory of the United States,

A'ortAu'i:j*( of the River Ohio.

"At a Court of General Quarter Sessions of the peace,

at Steuhenville in the said county of Jefferson on Tues-
day llic fourteenth (lay of August in the year of our
I»rd one thousand seven hundred and ninety-eight. Be-
fore the Honorable David Vance, E«|Uire, and his tuwo-

i-iate justices of the peae« in and for Jefferson county
a foresaid.

"The Jurors for the Body of the Said County upon
their oath present that William Carpenter, junior, fate

of said County, labourer, and William Carpenter, senior,

late of said County, Labourer, not having the fear of
Hud before their Kyes but being moved and Seduced hy
the instigation of the Devil on the twenty-seventh day
of May — in the year of our Lord one thousand seven

hundred and ninety-eight with force and arms at the

Town-diip of , in the County aforesaid, feloniously.

willfully, and of their tnaliee. Aforethought did make an
aweiult upon one George White-Kyes, an Indian, Com-
monly known by the Name of Captain White-Eyes, in

the ponce of God and the United States aforesaid, then
and there being and that the rc»mn William Carpenter,
Junior, a iv-tnin Gun, >>f the Value of one Dollar then
and there Charged and Loridrd with Gun powder and
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Divers Leaden Shot or Bullets, which Gun the Said Will-

iam Carpenter, Junior, in both his hand* then and therts

had and hold to, against and upon the said George White
Eyea, then and there feloniously, willfully and of his

malic* aforethought did Shoot and Discharge, and that

the said, William Carpenter, Junior, with the Leaden
Shot or Bullets aforesaid out of the Gun aforesaid then

and there br force of the Gun powder, Shot, Discharged

and Sent forth as aforesaid, the aforesaid William Car-

penter, Junior, in and upon the Our and under Jaw
of biro the said George Unite- Eyes, then and there with

the Leaden Shot or Bullets aforesaid, out of the Gun
aforesaid, by the Said William Carpenter, Junior, so as

aforesaid shot, Diachiir^ed and Sent forth feloniously,

willfully, and of bis malice aforethought did Strike, pene-

trate and Wound, Going to the said George White-Eyes
with the Leaden Shot or Bullets aforesaid so as afore-

said shot, Discharged and sent forth out of the Gun
aforesaid by the said William Carpenter, Junior, in and
upon the Cbln and under .law of him the said George
White-Eyes one Mortal wound of the depth of Eight
Inches and of the Breadth of one Inch of Which said

mortal wound the said George White- Eyes then nnd there

instantly died. And that tbo aaid William Carpenter,

senior, then aud there feloniously, Willfully and of his

malice aforethought was present aiding, helping, abetting,

Comforting, assisting and maintaining the said William
Carpenter, Junior, the felony and murder aforesaid Id

manner and form aforesaid to do and Commit: and so

the Jurors upon their oath aforesaid do Say, that the

said William Carjtenter, Junior, feloniously, Willfully

and of his malice aforethought and the said William Car-
penter, senior, feloniously, willfully, mid of his malice

uforethought him the said George White Eyes then and
there in manner nnd form aforesaid did Kill nnd murder,
agnin.«l the peace and Dignity of the United States 4c."

'
' (Signed )

"Jamks Wai lack,

I'T thi I hi ted Stair* in Jrlfcrrua Cuunty."

The Constitution of 1802 provided for

the establishment in each county of a court
of common pleas consisting of a presiding
judge and not more than three or less than
two associate judges, who were appointed
by the ureneral assembly for the term of
seven years. The state was divided into

three circuits, and a judge who was to pre-

side in the several counties of his district,

appointed for each circuit, Jefferson
County being in the third. The other coun-
ties composing this circuit were Washing-
ton, Belmont. Columbiana ami Trumbull.
Calvin Pease, age 27 years and appearing
much younger, was elected by the legisla

ture as presiding judge of this circuit, and
with Philip Cable and Jacob Martin as as-

sociates, opened the first state court at

Steubeuville on August 2, 1803. Amoncr
other matters coming up for decision was
th mstitutionality of the act of 1K0") de-

fining the duties of justices of the peace.

Judge Pease decided that so much of the

act as gave the justices jurisdiction in

cases where the party claimed more than

$20 nnd not exceeding $50, and so much of

the act as prevented plaintiffs from recov-

ering costs in action commenced in the first

instance in the courts of common pleas for

claims between $20 and $50 were contrary

to the constitution of the United States and
of the state. Although this decision was
concurred in by Judges Huntington and
Tod, of the supreme court, it raised such a
storm that an effort was made in the legis-

lature to impeach all the judges. Articles

were preferred against Pease and Tod by
the house of representatives, but fortu-

nately the senate refused to stultify itself

by adopting them, and the outrageous per-

formance terminated with the acquittal of

the judges. At the close of the December
term, 1809, Judge Pease resigned, and af-

terwards became one of the supreme court

judges. James Pritcbard and Thomas Pat-

ton were also associate judges.

Prison bounds of the county were
adopted on August 11, 1806, and started

in the west line of what is now Alley C or

Bank Alley, opposite the line between Lots
Nos. 228 and 229 just north of Washington
street and extended eastwardly to the east

line of Water street, thence to a point op-

posite the line between Lots Nos. 24 and 25

a short distance above the C. & P. station,

thence to the river at low water mark, and
down the river to a point opposite the line

between Lots Nos. 16 and 17 below Market
street, thence westward to the eastern

boundary of Water street, thence south-

wardly to a point opposite the line between
Lots Nos. 8 and 9 below Adams street,

thence westward to the western boundary
of Alley (', thence northward to Adams
street, thence westwardly to the northwest
corner of Outlot No. 1 between Fifth and
Sixth streets, thence northwardly to the

north boundary line of Washington street,

thence eastwardly to the corner of "Wash-

ington street and Alley C, thence up the

Alley to the place of beginning. Within
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these bounds imprisoned debtors were al-

lowed to travel upon giving bond that they
would not depart therefrom without leave

of court
One of the methods of punishment from

the organization of the county was a whip-
ping post on the public square. The last

record of its use is dated August 11, 1810.

One Charles Johnson, a colored man, was
convicted of receiving stolen goods, the said

goods being a ham taken from the smoke-
house of Bezaleel Wells, and was sentenced
to be whipped nine stripes on his naked
back, that he pay four dollars to Mr. Wells,

a tine of ten dollars and costs, be confined

in jail nine days and stand committed until

the money judgment was paid.

Benjamin Ruggles, of Belmont County
succeeded Judge Pease at the April term,
1810. The different associate judges with
him wore Andrew Anderson, Joseph Mc-
Kee, Thomas Campbell, John Milligan,

James Moores, Robert Gilmore and Samuel
MeEIroy. Judge Ruggles served until the

close of the November term, 1814, when he
was succeeded by Dr. George Todd, of Bel-

mont County, who completed the unex-
pired term.
Hon. Benjamin Tappan succeeded him at

the June term, 1816, and was one of the

most eminent men who ever occupied this

seat. He was born in Northampton, Mass.,
on May 25, 1773, and was admitted to the

bar at Hartford, Conn., about the year
1798. In 1799 he came to Ohio and was the
first white settler in what is now Portage
County. At Weatherston, Conn., in 1801
lie married Miss Nancy, sister of Hon. John
C. Wright, and with her came to Steuben-
ville in 1809. He served as common pleas

judge until 1823 when he resumed the prac-
tice of his profession and was afterwards
appointed a United States judge by Presi-

dent Jackson, but the senate failed to con-

firm him, and he held the position only a
few months. In 1838 he was elected United
States Senator as a Democrat, receiving 57
votes in the legislature to 50 for Thomas
Ewing, Whig, and one blank. This was on
December 20, and the following year he

took his seat, his term of six years ending
in 1845. On his return home* he resumed
his law practice, and taking with him into

partnership Hon. Edwin M. Stanton, he
finally turned over the business to him and
retired. He died in 1857 leaving two sons,

Dr. Benjamin Tappan, long a prominent
Steubenville physician, and Prof. Eli T.

Tappan, at one time superintendent of the

city schools and afterwards President of

Kenyon College, both now deceased. While
on the bench Judge Tappan published a re-

port of his decisions which has always been
a recognized authority. Thomas George
became associate in 1822.

..John C. Wright was born at WeMther-
sTtd*i, Conn., and came here about 1810. lie

married a sister of James Collier and in

1820 was elected member of congress from
this district, which office he held until suc-

ceeded by John M. Goodenow in 1829. He
then became one of the state supreme
judges, resigning on January 31, 1835.

He published a volume of supreme court

decisions during the period that the judges
were required to hold court in the different

counties, which has been quoted more, per-

haps, than any other volume of reports in

the state. He took up law practice in Cin-

cinnati, and became one of the editors of

the Gazette newspaper in that city. He
visited Steubenville in 1842 at which time
his sight was considerably impaired. Tn
the winter of 1860-fil he was appointed
member of the peace conference at Wash-
ington, whose efforts were unsuccessfully

directed toward avoiding the War of the
Rebellion, and he died on his way home
from that conference aged about seventy-

eight years. •!

John M. Goodenow was born in i-enmmt /,-'•

and marriedMrs. Sallie Campbell, sister of
John C. Wright in 1813, and soon after

came to Steubenville. Shortly after com-
ing here he became involved in a quarrel
with his brother-in-law Judge Tappan, end-

ing in a slander suit, in which Goodenow
was victorious. In spite of these troubles

he became a supreme court judge, and de-

feated Wright for congress in 1828. He
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resigned near the end of his term to accept

the position of minister to Columbia. On
his return he was elected common pleas
judge in Cincinnati, and afterwards went
to Texas, but afterwards returned to Cin-

cinnati where he died in indigence. He
was regarded as one of the most brilliant

men in the state.

James Collier was horn in Litchfield,

Conn., in May, 1789, removing to Ithaca,

N. Y., and coming to Steubenville in 1820,

studying law and being admitted to the bar
here, lie was an active member of the

Whig party, and was at one time an aspir-

ant for the nomination for governor of the

state, but was defeated by Thomas Corwin,
who was afterwards elected. He served a
term as county prosecuting attorney, and
was a delegate to the Taylor ('(invention of
1848. In the following spring he was ap-
pointed collector of the port of San Fran-
cisco, being the first to hold that office. He
traveled overland to reach his destination,

going via Santa Fe through a country al-

most unknown and was escorted across the

plains by a detachment of U. S. cavalry.

On the expiration of his term he engaged
in the banking busiuess, but the Citizens'

Bank, of which he was President, failed in

1*59. Colonel Collier was adjutant of

Bloom's regiment of New York volunteers
in the war of 1812. He served on the

frontier and was present at the battle of

Queenstown heights. He was the first man
to volunteer from Jefferson County on the

outbreak of the rebellion, and accompanied
the troops as far as Harrisburg. but on ac-

count of his age was persuaded to return.

He commanded a local detachment for a
few days during the .Morgan raid in 1863,

and died on Sunday, February 2. 1873. at

the age of 84 years. His wife whose maiden
name was Miss Eunice Ingersoll. survived
him a few years.

Daniel L. Collier, a brother of James,
was also born at Litchfield. January 15.

1796. He served an apprenticeship in a
printing office, then as a clerk, when he con-

cluded to "go west." He took passage on

a raft down the Allegheny and Ohio Uivers.

and arrived at Steubenville in 1816. Enter-

ing the office of his brother-in-law, John C.

Wright, he studied law, and was admitted
in 1S18. In 1823 he married Miss Hetty
Larimore, of Washington, Pa., by whom he

had nine children. He removed to Phila-

delphia in 1857 and became prominent iu

public religious enterprises. He was vice-

president of the Presbyterian Board of

Publication and director in several other

corporations. He died March 30, 1869.

Gen. Samuel Stokely was born in western
Pennsylvania on January 25, 1796. He
graduated at Washington, Pa., college, and
came to Steubenville about 1816, having

studied law with Parker Campbell, of

Washington. He was admitted to the bar

in 1817, and in April, 1830, married Kachel,

widow of Dr. P. S. Mason. He purchased
the Bezaleel Wells homestead, known us

"The Grove" in the lower end of the town
where he and his descendants resided for

sixty years until it was removed to make
way for the present Pope tin-mill. He was
U. S. land receiver in 1827-28, senator from
the Jefferson County district in the 36th

general assembly of 1837-8, served in con-

gress 1841-3, and was a general of militia

several years before his death. He mar-
ried Mrs. Lowther and Mrs. Burton, both

of whom he survived, and died, May 23,

1861. Two children yet survive him,

Joseph Stokely, of Dubuque, Iowa, and
Mrs. Jennie S.' Lloyd, of Cleveland. His
son Mountford S. Stokely, who was also a

member of the bar, met with n tragic death,

heinir killed bv the cars on New Year's Day,

1902. A daughter, Mrs. E. S. Wood died

in March. 19DK.

Roswell Marsh was born at Qneechy, Vt.,

in 1793. and came to Steubenville in 1821.

He studied law with General Stokely, and
was admitted in 1823. He practiced law
here for fifty years, his white locks and ven-

erable appearance making him a con-

spicuous object in his later days. In 1840
he was elected to the legislature and served

one term. He volunteered at the outbreak
of the war. but his acre and infirmities pre-

vented the acceptance of his services. He
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was afterwards appointed oil a commission
to investigate claims for losses sustained
in Missouri during the rebellion. His first

wife was Mrs. George Wilson, of Steubcn-
ville. He survived bis second wife about
three years, dying on August 17, 1875. His
residence on the northwest corner of North
and Seventh streets was long considered
one of the stately homes of the city.

Ephraini Hoot came from New England
about 1814, and became a partner of J. H.
Hallock. He never married, and his death
in 1821 extinguished what promised to be
one of the leading lights of the bar.

David Eeddick came from Washington
County, Pa., about 1812. He became in-

volved in a quarrel with one Dr. Doffield,

and was stabbed by him, from the effect of
which he died in- 1818. His wife lived at

Holliday's Cove for several years there-

after.

Nathaniel Dike, a cultured gentleman of
the old school, was born in Beverly, Vt.,

graduated at Yale College, and came to

Steubenville in 1816. He read law in the
office of John M. Goodenow, and practiced
a short time when he embarked in the dry
goods business, and subsequently in the
wool and wholesale grocery business, oc-

cupying the Sinclair building, corner of
Court and Market streets. He was asso-

ciate judge for several years, president of
council, and representative in the legis-

lature 1842-3. His wife was Miss Anna
Woods, of Bedford, Pa., and granddaugh-
ter of Dr. John McDowell, of Steubenville.

Ho died in April 1867, and his son John
S. Dike occupied the family residence on
Market street just west of the Pan Handle
railroad, now the resideuce of Thomas Bar-
clay for about ten years.

Jeremiah Parsons Fogg, nephew of Prof.
Theophilus Parsons, the well known law
writer resided in Steubenville during this

period. He died in Steubenville in 1821.

Charles Hammond, of Belmont Countv,
Philip Doddridge, of Wellsburg, Walter
Beebe, of Harrison County, and James Bell,

of Guernsey were among distinguished vis-

itors who practiced at the Jefferson County
bar during this period.

Jeremiah H. Hallock succeeded Judge
Tappan as presiding judge, and served two
terms until the close of the December tegn,
183G. Judge Hallock was born in Connec-
ticut, where he married Miss Bassett, and
came to Steubenville in 1815, residing for

a time on lower Market Street. He was
prosecuting attorney, and on retiring from
the bench followed farming in Cross Creek
Township, afterwards removing to the

Means farm just south of the city, where he
died about 1847. His decisions were always
respected and more generally concurred in

than is usually the case. The associate

judges commissioned during his term were
James Wilson, Andrew Anderson, John
Humphrey, John England, John S. Cock.
Hon. Humphrey H. Leavittcanie to Steu-

benville from Northern Ohio about 1820.

He studied and wasadmitted here, and was
soon after elected prosecuting attorney.

In 1826 he was elected state senator and
served two terms. This was followed by
two terms in congress from 1830 to 1834.

In the latter year he was appointed by his

personal friend President Jackson, to the

judgeship of the United States district

court for Ohio, and in 1855 when the state

was divided into two judicial districts he
remained judge of the Southern District,

and became a resident of Cincinnati. He
resigned in 1871 and removed to Spring-
field, Ohio. He was a member of the world's
convention on prison reform which met in

London in 1872, taking an active and prom-
inent part therein. He died at Springfield

on Saturday, March 15, 1873, leaving three

sons, John who became a clei'gyman in the

American Episcopal Church, Edward, of

Springfield, and Frank, of Cincinnati.

John K. Sutherland, a student of Judge
Leavitt, was born in Shippensburg, Pa.,

November 17. 1810, coming with his par-
ents to Steubenville when but six mouths
old. He was admitted in 1831, and was
soon after elected prosecuting attorney. In
1851 he was elected probate judge, and was
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discharging the duties of his third term,
when he died on April 28, 1858.

The next character wo shall consider is

like a giant tree in a forest where its con-

temporaries if standing alone would be con-

sidered above the average, but by com-
parison with the one which towers above
them appear almost saplings. It would be
utterly impossible in a work of this kind
to give due proportion of space to the life,

private character and public services of

Hon. Edwin M. Stanton. Not only in his

home county and state did he achieve great-

ness, but in the Nation during the critical

period of its existence he took no second

place, but stood with Lincoln, Grant and
Sherman in the front rank. Some have
claimed that he was greater than any one
of these, and in his untiring energy his

capacity for organization, his clear legal

acumen, and his indomitable will he cer-

tainly filled a place that would have re-

mained a vacuum until the close of the Civil

War had he fallen by the wayside before his

work was completed. No adequate sketch

of his life could he compressed into a few
pages, and fortunately it is not necessary

to attempt it. Two excellent biographies

have been written by lion. II. C. (Jorham
and Frank A. Flower, and a more con-

densed outlfne by the present writer is now
in press to be published as a souvenir in

connection with the dedication of a monu-
ment to his memory now in course of erec-

tion in his native town. Heme nothing is

attempted here except a reference to the

principal events of his busy life. Mr. Stan-

ton was born on the south side of Market
Street, Steubenville, on December 10, 1*14.

The dwelling stood some distance back in

the yard, just east of Sixth Street, and had
one or two trees in front. It is still stand-

ing, but a three story1 brick has been

erected in front of it extending out to the

street, on which a bronze tablet has been

placed bearing the following inscription

:

K0WIX M. STANTON.
Attorney General, HrrnrrART or War,

.Il-STICF, OF THE SiriUKMK Coi UT.

Bum Il.ro Vtoh IVrcmlHT. 1?14.

Erode.! l>v Mn> School Children of .TcfTcr*un County.

A.I>. 1897.

Mr. Stanton's ancestors were Friends or
Quakers, who went from Rhode Island to

North Carolina about the middle of the 18th

century. His grandparents Benjamin and
Abigail Stanton resided near Beaufort, N.

C, the maiden name of the latter being

Macy. In 1800, Mrs. Benjamin Stanton
came with her family to Mt. Pleasant Town-
ship in Jefferson County, her husband hav-

ing died after making a will freeing his

slaves whenever the law would permit it.

With the family came Lucy Norman, of

Culpepper, Va., between whom and the eld-

est son, David, a rising physician, sprang
np an attachment which resulted in mar-
riage, and removal to the Steubenville

home where the subject of our sketch was
born. Dr. Stanton soon after purchased

a two story brick building, still standing on

North Third street near Washington but

considerably altered, where young Stan-

tou's early boyhood days were spent. The
sudden death of Dr. Stanton on December

30, 1827, threw young Edwin on his own
resources, and in the summer of 1828 be

became a clerk in James Turnbnll's

bookstore on Murket street now conduct-

ed by Capt. J. F. Oliver. In the spring

of 1831 he entered Kenyon College,

remaining there until the fall of 1832.

A professorship in memory of that jieriod

of his life has been endowed by An-

drew Carnegie, and a fine oil portrait the

work of C. I'. Filson, has been presented by
Col. John McCook. After leaving college

he clerked in Mr. Turnbull's branch store

in Columbus, when he returned to Steuben-

ville and studied law with his guardian,

Daniel L. Collier. He began the practice

of law at the age of twenty-one, and opened
an office in Cadi;1

:, where lie was soon after

elected prosecuting attorney of Harrison
County. He had never given up his

Steubenville practice, and that now de-

manding more attention he returned here

in 1838 and formed a partnership with

Hon. Benjamin Tappan. He engaged

actively in politics as a Jacksonian Demo-
crat, and was us antagonistic toward his

opponents, both in law and politics, as
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Old Hickory himself. He was elected

by the Legislature as supreme court repor-

ter from 1842 to 1845, publishing volumes
11, 12 and 13 of the Ohio Reports. His
first home on returning to Steubenville was
on the west side of Third Street, above
Washington, and subsequently on the cor-

ner of Third and Logan, now owned by Dr.
E. Pearce. Here his wife, Mary Lauison,

.

died in 1844, an affliction from which he
never fully recovered. By this time he was
gaining a national reputation, and in 1845
successfully defended Caleb McNulty, clerk

of the house of representatives, tried in the

criminal court in Washington for embezzle-
ment. In 1847 he removed to Pittsburgh,

where he formed a partnership with Hon.
Charles Shaler, but he always retained his

Steubenville home, and kept an office here
until 1856, his second partner being Col.

George W. MeCook. He figured as princi-

pal attorney in the case of the State of
Pennsylvania versus the Wheeling & Bel-

mont Bridge Company, and was victorious,

although an act of congress afterwards
nullified his work. His business before the

United States Supreme Court became so
extensive that he removed to Washington
in 1856, and in 1858 went to California as
counsel for the Government in relution to

extensive land claims. His work there wiis

tremendous, and by his labors and re-

searches he saved to the country millions of
dollars from the grasp of unscrupulous
land grubbers, including the site of the
present city of San Francisco. In 1H50 he
was counsel for Daniel K. Sickles, on trial

for the murder of Philip Barton Key, and
the former's acquittal was no doubt due to

the labors and masterly eloquence of his

counsel. That same year lie met Mr. Lin-
coln for the first time, in the I'nited States
Circuit Court at Cincinnati, in a suit grow-
ing out of a conflict between the Manney
and McCormick reaping machine interests,

and in Decern her. I860, while engaged in

the same case, he was nominated to the

office of attorney-general by James Bu-
chanan, President. Rebellion troubles were
already in the air. and the vacilating

course of the administration was encourag-
ing the foes and paralyzing the friends of

the Government. Mr. Stanton, by his firm

loyalty and strong stand for the preserva-

tion of the Union, changed all this, and pre-

vented a practical collapse of the Govern-
ment before the Lincoln Administration
could take hold. He retired from the Cabi-

net with the close of Buchanan's Adminis-
tration, and resumed the practice of his

profession, but in January, 1862, was ap-

pointed secretary of war by Mr. Lincoln.

His subsequent biography is a history of

the war itself. He enjoyed the complete
confidence and closest friendship of Mr.
Lincoln, and on him devolved the task of

bringing order out of chaos, looking after

men and supplies for the great conflict, con-

tending not only with the open enemy but

traitors in the rear, incompetent and luke-

warm generals in the field, and a mass of

detail which would have broken down an
ordinary man in a month. He had never

been a robust man, but had been afflicted

with asthma from his youth, and nothing

but his indomitable will enabled him to

carry the enormous load. Above all, his

legal sagacity kept the administration out

of more than one pitfall during and at the

close of the war. Wheu Lincoln wa6 assas-

sinated in 1865, he practically took charge
of the Government, and at the request of

the new president, Andrew Johnson, con-

tinued in his position as secretary of war.

Differences afterwards arose between him
and the President on reconstruction meas-

ures, admission of Colorado as a state, col-

ored suffrage in the District of Columbia,

the civil rights and freedman's bureau
bills; all of which were considered Repub-
lican measures having the approval of that

party controlling both houses of congress.

These differences became so marked that

on August 5, 1867, Mr. Johnson requested

his resignation on the ground of "public

considerations of high character," to which

Mr. Stanton responded that "public con-

siderations of high character which alone

had induced him to remain at the head of

this department constrained him not to re-
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sign before the next meeting of Congress,"
that body not being then in session. Mr.
Stanton did not remain in office of his own
accord, but had been urged to do so by
members of Congress and others who be-

lieved him to be the only check upon what
they considered the ruinous policy of Mr.
Johnson. Congress had passed what was
known as the "Tenure of Office Act" for

the avowed purpose of preventing Mr.
Stanton's removal, although he himself did
not favor that act and had doubts as to its

constitutionality. Tn the end it proved a
broken reed. The president, however, was
not ready at this time to defy the apparent
object of the act by removing Mr. Stanton
outright, but on August 12th suspended
him from office and appointed General
(J rant secretary of war ad interim. He
obeyed under protest, and on January l^th,

the Senate refusing to confirm a successor,

General Grant at once retired and Mr.
Stanton took possession of the office. Mr.
•Johnson appointed Gen. Lorenzo Thomas,
secretary ad interim, but Stanton held the
office, guarding it night and day, although
Thomas attended cabinet meetings as a
dummy secretary. Impeachment proceed-

ings were brought against the president,

the principal charge being violation of the

Tenure of Office Act, but the vote lacked

one. of the two-thirds necessary to convic-

tion, it standing 33 to lf». On learning the

result, on May 2(>th. Mr. Stanton resigned,

broken down in health and bankrupt in for-

tune. He had controlled millions, but paid
out of his own pocket even necessary per-

sonal expenses that should have been borne
by the Government. The senate, in con-

tinning his successor, adopted a resolution

that Mr. Stanton had not been legally re-

moved, but had relinquished his office, and
lx)th houses of congress subsequently
passed a vote of thanks for the great
ability, purity and fidelity with which he
had discharged his duties. Mr. Stanton
renewed the practice of his profession, but
he was so broken in health as to make this

work very difficult. His last visit, to Steuh-
enville was on September 23, l*(i8. when

he addressed a large assemblage advocat-
ing General Grant's election to the presi-

dency. At that time he spoke to friends of

his approaching end, and expressed a wish
to be buried in the old family lot in Steub-
enville Cemetery, a wish that was never
carried out. On December 20, 1869, he was
nominated by General Grant as associate

justice of the supreme court, and was im-

mediately confirmed by the senate, but be
never took his seat on the bench. He died

on December 24tb, before his commission
was made out, the pajn-r being delivered

after his death to his widow, formerly Miss
Kllen Hutehins, of Pittsburgh, whom he
married in 185fi. Mr. Stanton's life his-

tory shows him to have been, not the cold,

cruel, overexaeting man as he has often

been represented, but exceptionally warm-
hearted, intensely emotional, and strongly

sympathetic for the suffering, the destitute

and the wronged. Duty, however, with

him prevailed above everything, and noth-

ing, not even his own interests and feel-

ings, was ever allowed to stand in its way.
it is not too much to say that to him our
nation is most largely indebted for its con-

tinuous existence. A plain monument
marks his grave in Oak Hill Cemetery at

Washington, and his fellow citizens at

Steubenville are preparing to erect to his

memory a bronze statue, to be placed in

front of the court house. The work is now
in the hands of Alexander Doyle, the emi-

nent New York sculptor, also a native of

Steubenville, who has generously contrib-

uted his services for this work.

lion. G. W. Heldeu, of Stark County, suc-

ceeded Hallock as presiding judge of tliis

district, beginning with the March term,

1S.57, and ending in 1830. when the legis-

lature threw Stark into another district

He died about ]S7<1. Nathaniel Dike and
Samuel McNary were commissioned as

associates during his term.

Hon. William Keniion, of Belmont Coun-
ty, succeeded Judge Belden. who held the

office until November, 184C». Associates

commissioned under him were William
Sutherland, William McDonald. John S.
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Cock, James Mitchell, John T. Leslie and
John Cook.
Benjamin S. Cowan, also of Belmont,

succeeded Judge Kennon, and served until

the second Monday of February, 1852,

when the old regime was abolished by the

new constitution, which had been adopted
the preceding year. Samuel D. Hunter was
commissioned on March 11, 1850, as the last

of the associate judges. Other associate

judges during this period were George
Todd (Pres.), 1815; Thomas George, 1822;
James Wilson, 1824; John Humphrey,
1831; James Wilson, 1831; John England,
1833; Nathaniel Dike, 1838.

Among the members of the bar during
this period was Roderick S. Moody, con-

ceded to be one of the most brilliant lights

in his profession. Mr. Moody was a native
of Steubenville, the son of David and Sarah
(Sheldon) Moody, and was born May 22,

1817. He was educated at Jefferson Col-

lege, Pennsylvania, and entered the Farm-
ers' and Mechanics' Bank as clerk. He
studied medicine, but preferring the law,

entered the office of D. L. Collier, and was
admitted to practice in September, 1841.

The same year, he married Miss Virginia
Eoff, of Wheeling. He was prosecuting
attorney from 1846 to 1848, and was ap-
pointed clerk of courts, but did not serve.

He died December 11, 1866.

As the McCook family is mentioned else-

where, it is only necessary to mention here
four members of that family who were
members of this bar. George W., Robert
L., and Daniel, were three sons of Daniel
McCook, who achieved a national reputa-
tion not only in the military, but also the

legal profession. The first named was born
in Canonsburg, Pa.. July 21, 1822, after-

wards living with his parents in Colum-
biana and Carroll Counties. He attended
college at New Athens, and studied law
with Hon. Edwin M. Stanton, whose part-

ner he afterwards became. His career in

the Mexican War nnd elsewhere is given

in another chapter. He built up a large

law practice, and was very prominent in

the councils of the Democratic party, nomi-

nating John C. Breckenridge for vice-presi-

dent in 1856, and Seymour for president

in 1868, and was candidate for governor in

1871. He died in New York on Friday,
December 28, 1877, leaving three children

—

George W., Jr., Robert, and Hetty B., the

latter now being the wife of Gen. Anson G.
McCook, who is also noticed elsewhere.

His wife died in 1863.

Robert L. McCook was born in Colum-
biana County, December 28, 1827, studied

law with Hon. E. R. Eckley, of Carrollton,

and then removed to Steubenville where
he continued his studies with Stanton &
McCook, beginning his practice shortly

after. He removed to Cincinnati, and then

to Columbus, where the outbreak of the

war found him with a large practice. This
he sacrificed, and after a brilliant military

career, was killed bv guerillas near Nash-
ville. August 6, 1862.

Daniel McCook was born in Carrollton,

.luly 22, 1834, and graduated at a Florence,

Ala", college in 1858. He studied law with

his brother in Steubenville, and soon after

his admission, removed to Leavenworth,
Kan., where he became a member of the

well known firm of Ewing, Sherman & Mc-
Cook. Here, in December, 1860, he mar-
ried. Miss Julia Tibbs, of Platte County,
Missouri. He and a company of militia

volunteered at the outbreak of the war, and
he was continuously in service, especially

as colonel of the Fighting Fifty-Second,

O. V. I., until his mortal wounds at Kene-
saw. Before he died he was promoted to a

brigadier geueralship.

General Amen G. McCook, a son of Dr.

John McCook, was a member of the Jeffer-

son County Bar, although most of his rep-

utation was won in the military and polit-

ical fields. He was born October 10, 1835,

and received his education in Jefferson

County schools. Crossing the plains in

1854, he remained in California until I860,

when he returned to Ohio and was captain

of the first military company leaving Steu-

benville. being in the first battle of Bull

Run. He was commissioned as major in

the three years' service and promoted to
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lieutenant colonel and colonel. He par-

ticipated in the leading battles in the West,
and was mustered out with his regiment
(Second Ohio Volunteer Infantry) on Oc-

tober 10, 1864. The following March he

was appointed colonel of the l!(4th Ohio
Infantry and served until the close of the

war, when he was made brevet brigadier

general. He afterwards was internal rev-

enue assessor for the 17th Ohio district,

and then removed to New York City, where
he conducted a daily legal journal. He
was elected a member of congress from
that city and subsequently became secre-

tary of the United States senate, also

chamberlain of the city of New York. His
wife is Hetty MeCook, sister of George \V.

McCook, of Steubenvi lie.

Joseph M. Mason, who at one time was a
partner of Mr. Moody, was a native of

Trumbull County. He studied law with
Roswell Marsh, and went to Monroe
County, from which he returned in 1H48,

and held the office of clerk of court. He
removed from here to Columbus, where he

died.

Col. W. R. Lloyd was l»oru at Chillicothe,

Ohio, on December 3, 1818. He read law
with Judge Pearee, of Cnrrolltou, ami after

a term as clerk of court, removed to

Steubenville, where he married Miss Jen-
nie, daughter of Gen. Samuel Stokely. For
a while he was a partner of Hon. John A.
Bingham, of Cadiz, and on May 4. 1H."»S. he
was appointed probate judge to fill the un-

expired term of John K. Sutherland, de-

ceased, and the following year was elected

for the full term, but Iwfore it expired he
recruited the Sixth Ohio Cavalry from
Warren County, and was appointed lieu-

tenant-colonel. He resumed his law prac-

tice on his return home, and died on Fri-

day, November !>, 1S77. His widow and
three sons still survive.

Joseph Means, whose father. James
Means, was long a prominent citizen of

Steubenville, was born August L'l, 1S±>,

and studied law in the office of James Col-

lier, becoming the latter's partner after

his admission to the bar in 1S44. He was

prominently identified with public affairs,

and was a member of the city council al-

most continuously from 1 Hf>5 to lsiib*, ami
again in 1*71, being at the same time en-

gaged in the iron foundry business, as well

as being director in other local corpora
lions. He represented this district in the

legislature in 186] -'J. His sudden death

from congestion of the brain, on July 2.

lS7l\ was felt as a personal loss all over

the city. His widow. Mrs. Mary Kelly

Means die; I Saturday evening. November
1.1 1!MI!». leaving two daughters. Mrs. Dr.

V. S. Maxwell, of Steubenville. and Mrs.

Mncfie, of London. Canada.
William Sample, of Island Creek Town-

ship, became a member of the bar in 1844.

and afterwards removed to Coshocton
County, where he was elected common
pleas judge. He resigned in 1876 and re-

moved to Newark, where he shortly after-

wards died.

Col. George V. Webster was born near
Middletown. liutler Conntv. Ohio, Decern-

ing l'4, ISiU. He went to Hamilton in 1841,

and had a position in the county clerk's

office, and studied law with Thomas Milli-

ken. lie was admitted in 1S4ti and enlisted

as a private in the Mexican war, but was
promoted to sergeant-major in the First

Ohio Infantry, and was wounded in the

right shoulder at the storming of Monterey.
September, 184l>. After the war he mar-
ried Miss Mary M. Adams, of Warrenton.
and removed to Steubenville, where he

served two terms as clerk of court, after

which he became a partner of Martin An-
drews. At the outbreak of the Civil War
he took an active part in raising troops and
was appointed major of the Twenty-fifth

Ohio Infantry. After service in VYesI Vir-

ginia in IHiJ he was promoted to lieuten-

ant colonel, and in the following July he

was appointed colonel of the Ninety eighth

Ohio Volunteer Infantry, which regiment

was organized at Camp Stcnhciiville on

Mingo Mottoni. three miles below the city.

He departed with his regiment on August
'_'.'! for Lexington, Ky., and thence to Louis

ville. Here he was pin I in command of
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tli© Thirty-fourth Brigade, Jackson's Divi-

sion, McOook's Corps. He was mortally
wounded at the battle of Perryville on
October 8. His funeral cortege was one
of the largest ever seen in this city. His
widow died April, 1910, and his son John
MeA. Webster is a retired officer of the reg-

ular army.
Thomas McCauslen, Hon. R. Sherrard

Jr. and Hon. J. H. S. Trainer, leading
members of the bar during this period, are
fully noticed elsewhere.

Under the Constitution of 1802 the

judges were appointed for seven years.

Under the Constitution of 1851 they were
elected for five years by the people, and
associates wero abolished. Thomas L.

Jewett was the first common pleas judge
under the new Constitution, having been
elected from the counties of Jefferson, Har-
rison and Tuscarawas, being the third sub-

division of the eighth judicial district. His
commission was issued in January, and he
opened his first term of court at Steuben-
vi lie on March lb', 1852. He was a native

of Hartford County, Maryland, being of

Quaker parentage. He settled in Cadiz in

1844, practicing law. and removed to Steu-

benville in 1850. He was elected judge in

October of the following year on tbe Demo-
cratic ticket over John A. Bingham, the

Republican candidate. On August 29, 1854,

he was elected director of the Steuben-

ville & Indiana Railroad and resigned from
the bench. On June 8, 1855, he was elected

president of the road, and on September 3.

1859, the company having become embar-
rassed his position was changed to receiver.

This office he held until the completion of

the Pittsburgh & Steubenville Railroad
across the West Virginia Pan Handle, and
upon the consolidation of the different lines

in 1868 under the name of Pittsburgh, Cin-

cinnati & St. Louis Railway Company, he
was elected president of the new organiza-
tion. He held this office until May 7, 1871,

his brother, Hugh J. Jewett, being with him
part of the time as manager. The latter

being called to the presidency of the Erie
road, Judge Jewett resigned his position

and soon after removed to Philadelphia
where he engaged in stock speculation until

his death which occurred at New York on
Wednesday evening, November 3, 1875.

Hon. Thomas Means, who su«*ceeded Mr.
Jewett as common pleas judge, was a son
of James Means, Sr. He was born on
Mnrch 31, 1826, studied law with Daniel
(.'oilier, and was admitted in 1847. The fol-

lowing year he married Miss Annie Stew-
art, of Louisville, Ky., and after living in

St. l/ouis for about eighteen months Mr.
Means came hack to Steubenville and
formed a partnership with Mr. Jewett. In
1852 :1 he served as a member in the Ohio
House of Representatives, and on the resig-

nation of Jndge Jewett he was appointed
by the governor to fill the unexpired term,
holding the office from October, 1854,

through 1855. After that he resumed his

law practice and removed to Leavenworth,
Kan., where he remaim-d until the outbreak
of the war, when he was appointed by the

government on a commission to adjust war
claims in the neighborhood of Cairo.

Shortly after completing that work he died
at his home in Steubenville on December 27.

186,'5. His widow died October, 1909. A
daughter and son are still living, the son
being rector of St. John's Church, New
Haven, Conn.
James Elliott, January, 1H52, and A. II.

Battin, May 11. 1853, were admitted to the

bar during this period, both of whom are
deceased.

Samuel W. Bostwiek, of Harrison Coun-
ty, succeeded Judge Means, and served
until February, 1862, when he was suc-

ceeded by (Jeorge W. Mcllvame, of Tusca-
rawas County, who held until the fall of
1H70 when he resigned to go on the supreme
bench. John II. Miller, of Steubenville.

was ap]>ointed to fill the unexpired term,

and afterwards elected for the full term
ending February, 1877. Judge Miller was
l>orn in Northampton County, Pennsyl-
vania, Januury 30, 1813, and came to Steu-
benville in 1837 remaining here but a short

time, but returning in 1839. He was ad-

mitted to the bar in 1840, and built up a
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large practice. He was married to Ann C,
a sister of Gen. Samuel Stokely, who died

September 5, 1882. On retiring from the

bench he resumed his law practice which
he continued until his death on August .31,

1891. James Patrick, of Tuscarawas Coun-
ty, was the nest judge, and served one
term. Joseph C. Hance, also of Tusca-

rawas, succeeded him, and served two
terms. In the meantime provision having
been made for an additional judge in this

subdistriet, John S. Pearce, of Cadiz, was
elected and took his seat in February. 1882.

Hon. John A. Mansfield succeeded Pearce
in 1892 and served two terms, lie was suc-

ceeded in 1902 by Hon. Rees G. Richards,

who is now serving his second term, which
has been increased to six years. A full

sketch of botli these gentlemen will be

found elsewhere. Fletcher Douthitt, of

Tuscarawas, succeeded Judge Hance and
served two terms, and was in turn suc-

ceeded by Hon. Walter Shotwell, of Cadiz,

now serving his second term. In 1908 the

legislature provided an additional judge

for this subdivision, and in November of

that, year Thompson D. Ilealla. of Tusca-

rawas, was elected, and held his first court

in Steubenville in May, 1909.

There were many attorneys admitted

during this period, some of whom have

risen to eminence in legal, political and lit-

erary circles, who are more fully noticed

in another portion of this work. Among
them were A. H. Battin, admitted May 11.

185.*, deceased; \Y. A. Walden, April 27,

1858, deceased; M. S. Stokely, I860, de-

ceased; Hon. J. Dunbar. January. 1800:

\Y. A. Owcsney, September 18. 1802, de-

ceased; O. P. Mossgrovc, August 18, 1854.

deceased ; James F. Paton, ISo.'i, deceased ;

Thomas P. Spencer. 1806; Robert Martin.

April 18. 1802, deceased; .lames A. Mc-

Curdy, September 18. 1802. deceased:

David Moodv, September 20, 1807. dc

ceased; William H. Lowe. October 2, 1808,

deceased; W. P. Hays 1S03: John Me-

Clave, September 10, 1808; John M. Cook,

Januarv. 1809; Joseph B. Doyle, Septem-

ber 29, 1870; J. J. Gill. September 29. 1808;

J. C. Kevs, September 29, 1*70, deceased;
W. T. Campbell, September 29, 1870, de-

ceased; .J. M. Hunter, July 21, 1872, de-

censed: B. N. Linduff, October 1, 1873:
John J. Watson, September, 1873; W. C.
Ong, April 28, 1874; E. S. Andrews, April

25, 1870; H. M. Priest, same, deceased;
C. B. Gilmore, April 25, 1870; John A.
Kithcart, October 1. 1873; W. V. B. Cros
kev. 1870, deceased; G. W. McCleary, June
25j 1873; Hon. R. (i. Richards, March, 1877;
John C. Kirkpatrick, September 25, 1877;
J. W. Jordan. September 28, 1872; O. J.

Beard, April 3. 1877: A. C. Lewis, October
2, 1877: David R. Mills, August 4, 1877;
Henry (iregg, April. 1878; George G.
Bright. J. H. Everson. Calvin May, John
W. Jackman, W. J. McCauu, August 27,

1878; J. A. Burchfield, April 10. 1879;
Charles A. Reynolds, June 17, 1879; John
A. Mansfield, J. W. Clark and Emmett E.
Erskine, April 10, 1879; W. S. McCauslen,
.June 17, 187!*; .lames F. Bigger, August
27, 1879, deceased; J. H. Roberts, J. W.
Paisley, April 10. 1879; W. R. Alban,
March 8. 1893; C. A. Armstrong, Juue 19,

1900; S. A. Beau, December, 1902; J. G.
Belknap. June 23, 1908; H. A. Bell, J. C.
Bigger, March 2, 1892; Ira Blackburn,
Decern lier 7, 1901 ; D. M. Brown, April 1,

1894: W. C. Brown, June 12, 1902; Roy R.
Carpenter. December. 1907: R. B. Cohen,
December 22. 1903; F. M. Coleman, Decem-
!mm\ 1904; M. N. Duval, June, 1904; Dewitt
Erskine, June 0. 1895; Ernest L. Finley,

March 8, 1*94; P. A. Gavin, June 5. 1895;
David M. timber, October 3, 1882; John A.
Huston. June 17, 1902; Thomas S. Jones.
June 27, 1905; Frank H. Kerr, October 8,

1891 : Mi>s Beatrice Kelly, March 8, 1894;
Plummer P. Lewis, June 3. 1884; Justin A.
Moore. October 18, 1890; Harry L. Mav,
June Jl, 1905; William McD. Miller, June
7. 1S82: Nelson D. Miller. June 17, 1902;
W. L. Medill, October 1889; Roy Merry-
man. June 19, 1900; Joseph Kithcart,
March 17, 1899. deceased; William S. Mc-
Causlen. June 17, 1879; Roy McClave, June
27. 1899; John TT. M. McKee, December 8,

1894: J. R. McCleary. October 3, 1882;
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H. P. McGowan, June 13, 1901; W. J. Mc-
Cann, F. J. McCoy, June 19, 1901 ; It. I,.

McLaughlin, December 24, 1904; J. O.

Navlor, October 15, 1898; John W. Porter,

June, 1903; R. (}. Porter, December 22,

1908; James E. Paisley, Jav S. Paisley,

March 17, 1899; E. Stanton Pearee, October

14, 1899; Dio Rogers, Jav R. Sweenev,
Jime, 1894; Horace G. Smith, 1881; Carl
H. Smith, June, 1893; Fred A. Stone,

December 24, 1904; S. B. Tavlor, October

4, 1894; T. A. L. Thompson. June, 1896, de-

ceased; C. A. Vail. June 11, 1902; C. L.

Williams, June, 1901 ; John M. Bigger, Oc-

tober 8, 1891.

SUPREME, DISTRICT AND CIRCUIT COURTS.

Under the Constitution of 1802 judges of

the supreme court were required to hold a

term each year in the different counties.

The first "session in Jefferson County
opened on the third Tuesday in June, 1803,

with Samuel Huntington and William
Spriggs on the bench. Daniel Symms and
(ieorge Tod presided August 25, 1805;

Jonathan Meigs, Jr., September 23, 1808;

Thomas Morris and Thomas Scott, Septem-
ber 25, 1809 ; W. I'. Irvin and E. A. Brown,
June 8, 1811; Peter Hitchcock and Calvin

Pease, October, 1825; Joshua Collett,

October, 1829; Peter Hitchcock and Elijah

Haynard, Mav, 1830; Ebenezer Lane and
John C. Wright, October, 1831; Reuben
Wood, October, 1833; Frederick Grinikc,

October, 1836 ; Matthew Birchard, March,
1843; Nathaniel C. Read, February. 1844;

Edward Avery, April, 1848; William B.
Caldwell, October, 1849; Rufus P. Spaul-

ding, October, 1850; Rufus P. Rannev.
October. 1851.

The Constitution of 1851 abolished this

arrangement and provided in its pluce a

district court composed of the judges of

the common pleas in each district with a

supreme judge presiding, to bo held once

a year in each county. The first court in

Jefferson County opened August 11, 1852,

Judge Ranney presiding, and Thomas L.

Jewett, Robert J. Alexander and Richard

Stilwell on the bench. William B. Cald-
well presided August 10, 1854; William
Kennon, August 10, 1855; Ozias Bowen,
August 11, 1856; Thomas W. Bartley, July

28, 1857; Josiah Scott, June 2, 1859; Mil-

ton Sutcliff, May 8, 1860; Jacob Brinker-
hoff, August 27, 1861 ; William V. Peck,
September 17, 1862; John Welch, Septem-
ber 20, 1866; William White, September 24,

1867. From that date until 1883 district

court appears to have been held by the

common pleas judges alone.

Jn the fall of 1883 the Constitution was
amended abolishing the district courts and
authorizing the legislature to establish cir-

cuit courts entirely separate from the com-
mon pleas and supreme courts with the

same original jurisdiction as the supreme
court, and such appellate jurisdiction as
might ho provided. In pursuance of this

amendment the legislature on April 14,

1884, passed an act dividing the state into

eight circuits, the seventh being composed
of the counties of Ashtabula, Belmont, Car-
roll, Columbiana, Geauga, Guernsey, Har-
rison, Jefferson, Lake, Mahoning, Monroe,
Noble. Portage, and Trumbull. The full

term of the judges was fixed at six

years, after the ensuing fall election. The
judges elected at that time were Hamil-
ton B. Woodbury, of Ashtabula County;
Peter A. Jjiubie, of Columbiana; and Will-

iam H. Frazier, of Noble. The first session
of the new Circuit Court of Jefferson
County was held iu June, 1885, two sessions

a year being held thereafter. Judge Wood-
bury served until the summer of 1895, when
he died, and was succeeded by J. B. Bur-
rows, of Lake County, who resigned at the
close of the December term, 1908, and was
succeeded by W. S. Metcalf, of Geauga,
whose appointment expires February 9,

1911. Judge Frazier was succeeded by
Hon. John M. Cook in February, 1901,

R. M. Voorhees, of Coshocton, taking part
in the proceedings of the subsequent May
term. Judge Cook's present term expires
February 8, 1913. Judge Laubie has held

his present position from the opening of
the court in 1885, his present term expiring
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February 8, 1911. This court has earned
a reputation for care and ability in the
consideration of eases, and its decisions as
published in the law journals and reports
have a high reputation all over the state.

PROBATH COURT.

Under the territorial laws there was a
probate court in each county, and Be/.aleel
Wells acted as judge from i?97 to Novem-
ber 29, 1802, when, the court being abol
ished by the new Constitution, all its busi-

ness was transferred to the court of com-
mon pleas. Nine wills were filed during
this period, being those of John Cross,
John Horton, James Armstrong, William
Carr, William Sharon, John McGuire,
James Millignu, James Jackson, and Na-
thaniel Simms. The Constitution of 1H01
reestablished the probate court and en-
larged its powers. Since then the probate
judges have been as follows:

John K. Sutherland.' from March 2, 1852, to April
28 1858.

William R. Lloyd, from May 4, 1858, t.. February
9, 1861.

William A. Doyle,' from February 9. 1864, to IVeem
ber 19. 1864.

John S. Patterson, from December 19, 1864, t.i lie.mi
ber 4, 1865.

George M. Elliott, from December 4, 1 Sfir.. i<> Febronry
12. 1867.

Robert Martin, from February 12, 1807, to February
l",. 1876.

Joseph W. Jordan, from February 15. 1 sjfi. to Feb
nu.ry H. ISS2.

W. V. B. c'roskey, from February 13, 1.SS2. to Feb
mary 13. 1B8S.

John A. Munsllel.1, from February 13, isss. to Feb-
ruary 2. t

William M.I). Miller, from February 2, Is;i2, to Fob-
ru/iry 9. 1900.

Frank H. Kerr, from February 9. 1000. to February
!». 1906.

J. R. MH leary, from February 9. 1000, (., February
9. 1913

fi«>sf«-i-ri.sc attohm.ys.

Solomon Siblev. 1707 to 1803.

Silas Paul, 1*03 to lsiis.

J ewe rMgington. to 1811.
John C. Wright. ISU to 1817.

J. II. Halloek, IS 17 to 1823.

Humphrey H. Leavitl, 1.823 to 1*29.

J. M. Ooodenow. ls-.'ii to 1830.

.fumes Collier, )s:tn to 1S39.

John K. Sutherland. IS39 to

• DInl In other.

Robert Orr, 1843 to 1847.
Roderick 8. Moody. 1847 to 1849.
George W. Mason, 1849 to 1K52.
John R. Meredith, 1852 to 1853.
John U. S. Trainer, 1853 to 1850.
James M. Bhane. 1856 to 1801.
George W. Mason, 1861 to 1863.
James F. Daton, 1861 to 1867.
William A. WaJden. 1867 to 1N71.
William P. Hay*, 1871 to 1873
William A. Oweaney, 1873 to 1875.
Walter C. Ong, 1875 to 1879.
John M. Cook, 1879 to 1884.
Heury Gregg, 1884, to lH9o.

Emmett K. Krakine, 1890 to ls96
A. C. Lew i», 1896 to 1902.
William R. Alban, I9i)2 to 1908.
Jay S. Paisley, 1908 to 1911.

cu»ks or ror«T.

Beinleel Well*. 1797 to 1800.
John Ward, 1800 to 1810.
Tboma* Patton, 1810 to 1817.
John Pat lemon, 1817 to 1*29.
Humphrey H l.eavitl, 1829 to 1832.
Jamea R. Well*, 1832 to 1839.
John 8. Patterson, 1839 to 1845.
James Johnston, 1845 to 1849.
Joseph M. Mason, 1849 to 1852.
George Webater, 1S52 to Is." 8.

James Elliott. 1858 to 1866.
Oliver C. Smith, 1866 to 1876
Thomax U. Coulter, 1870 to 1882.
Rons White. 1882 to 18.88.

Andrew S. Buckingham, 1888 to 1894.
Frank Stokes, 1894 to 1903.
James White. 1903 to 190!)

William MrMn*ter, ]»0B.

hi this connection it may be noted that
Jefferson County's representative in the
Constitutional Convention of 1851 was Dr.
William L. Bates, and in the convention of
1H7:U Samuel VV. Clark. This latter Con-
stitution was rejected by the people. The
lirst person to apply to the courts for
naturalization papers was William Cross.

HHFHlKK.s.

Frnm-iK IhmglasK. 1797 to 1S04.
John McKnight. 1804 In |mi»>.

John (iillK IfOM? to ]si<s.

William Phillips. 1 S<'S ;,, )sl2.

Robert Carrel. 1S12 to J - 1 .1

Thomas Orr. 1815 to ls-1.

Robert Carrel. 1S21 to 1*24.

Henry Swearingen. I >L'4 to l>2S.

Robert Tli<-ni|vion, IS2S to ls.'IO.

Henry Sneariiigen. |s;>0 t.i IS.'t2.

Thoina* carrel. 1832 ti> Is.'Oi

luaae Mi'Donald, 1836 to lsrili.

Samuel B. Hunter. IsliO to 1S4.1.

Jnir.es .M. Thomas. 1843 to 1H47.
Mose, Killun, 1847 to is:,.-,

Jan..-* II. HI. i,n, I-",.-, t„ !-:,;».
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John Moore, 1858 to 1803.
George McCullnugh, 1863 to 18G5.
Ambrose V. Moore, 1805 to 1869.
Thomas H. Montgomery. 1.869 to 1873.
Samuel Johnston, 1873 'to 1877.
Alexander Smith. 1877 to 1881.
B. M. Sharp, 1881 to 1885.
John Burns, 1885 to 1888.
Henry Opperman, 1889 to 1893.
John McCoy. 1893 to 1897.
George an. I Harry Porter, 1887 to 1901.
Richard Gilann, 190Mo 1905.
D. P. Vorhes, 1905 to 1908.
James Murray, 1908 to 1910.

fW.-XTY AUP1TOR.K.

John Milligiin. 1820 to 1822.
James Patterson. 1822 to 1824.
James Dillon. 1824 to 1835.
Adam J. Leslie, 1835 to 1842.
James Savage, Leslie'* unexpired term.
Alexander Conn. 1842 to 1844.
Samuel Dundass, 1844 to 1846.
C. A. Kirby, 1846 to 1850.
James Melvin, 1850 to 1853.
William Duling. 1853 to 1854.
J. S. Lowe, 1854 to 1858.
W. P. Me Masters. 1858 to 18(30.

William F. Simeral. I860 f. 1873.
Robert K. Hill, 1S73 to 1875.
John Moore, 1875 t» 1*80.
Stnart H. McBeth, 1 880 to 18H2.
William F. Simeral, October 30, 18S2, to 1889
Alfred C. Blackburn, 1889 to 1895.
Goorge P. Harden. 1885 to 1907.
James M. Reynolds, 1907 to 1910.

niUXTV TBEASI RKBH.
John Moody. 1797 to 1*02.
Samuel Hunter. 1802 to 1823.
Alexander J. MrDowell. 1823 tu 1831.
James Turnbull. is:si to 1833.
William Kilgore, 18.13 to 1830.
Darid Cable. 1839 tn 1841.
Justin 0. Morris. 18»i to 1*49.
Johnston Moonev, 1849 to 1851.
Alexander Skelly. 1851 to 1855.
John Mr Allan)*.' 18.15 tn 1859,
l)ft»id Myers, 1855 to 18<i3.

John H. Hristor. 18«:f to 1S07.
John ('. Brown. 1807 to 1871.
Win. A Klllott. 1S7I t..

John C. Brown. 1875 t.i 1.879.

Samuel B. Campbell. 1879 t» 1883.
John Bniy. 18.83 tn 18.87.

Hugh Coble. 18>7 In 1891.
H. N. Lindsey, 1891 t» 1*85.
Harry S, Bristor. 1885 In 1889.
George P. Mct'raeken. 1899 tn 1903.
Charles Poremnn. 1903 to 1909.
Robert E. Blinu. 1908 to 1911,

RECORDKJtH.

/.rnas Kimlnrlv, 1797 to 1.801.

John Onlbraitli. 18'H to 1810.
Robert Boyd. 1810 to |8|7.
\lexnnder Sutherland. 1S17 to 1852.
George Bratty. I8.V> tn 1858.
Alexander Ewing. 1858 t„ 1S04.

M. J. I'rquhart, 1861 to 1874.
Joseph M. Hunter, 1874 to 1877.
H. K. Reynolds, 1877 to April 9, 1877.
Jacob Hull, 1877 to 1890.
William T. Campbell, September 13. 1890, to 1881
Thomas W. Vanee, 1891 to 1897.
Kli Fetrow, 1897 to 1906.
Charles Myers, 1906 to 1908.
D. P. Huseroft, 1908 to 1911.

COtONERS.

John McKnight, 1797 to 1807.
Isaac Jenkinson, 1807 to 1809.
David Larimer, 1808 to 1816.
Edward Todd, 1816 to 1824.-
James Campbell, 1824 to 1830.
Charles Porter, 1830 to 1832.
David Cable. 1832 to 1836.
Samuel Filson, 1836 to 1839.
James Myers, 1839 to 1841.
Samuel Hunter, 1841 to 1843.
Johnston Mooney. 1843 to 1845.
Samuel L. Potts', 1845 to 1847.
Alexuuder Repine. 1847 to 1851.
Robert Mclntire, 1851 to 1855.
Robert Boales, 1855 to 1857.
John Oliver, Sr., 1857 to ISO I.

Robert Mclntire. 1861 to 1863.
Samuel Stephens. 1863 to 1882.
Thomas P. Fogg, 1882 to 1888.
James Starr, 1888 to 1882.
B. W. .Maxwell, 1892 to 1896.
John A. Fisher, 1.896 to 1900.
William and George Campbell, 1900 to 1909
Ira Foster, 1909 to 1911.

rM'NTY NI-RVEYOB8.

County surveyors were appointed bv the
court from April 15, 1803, to 1831, when the
office was made elective. Following is the
list

:

Jenkins. J 803 to 1810.
- William Lowry, 1816 to 181ft.

Imijh- Jenkins, 1819 to 1*23.
William Lowry. 1823 to 1*27.
Janus Dillon,' 1827 to l.v.'t.

William Lowry. 1833 to 1,830.

.lames Dillon, 1836 to 1K39,
Thomas West, 1839 to 1842.
Joseph M. Rirkey. IS 12 to 185 1.

Anthony Middleinnreh. 1851 to 1852
Joseph M. Riekev. 1852 to 1855.
William F. Sineral, 1855 to 1«5S.
William Marshall. IS5S to 1861.
Joseph M. Rickey. 1861 to 1864.
James MeCorkhiil, ISfit to 187(1.

William S. Elliott, 1870 to 1871
John Moore, 1871 to 1876.
Henry Lewis, 1876 to 1885.
Sam Huston, 1S85 to 1801.
.lames I.. Cox. 1901 to 1911.

COUNTY COMSI ISSlONFJtS.

Jacob Martin. William Wells and Alex-
ander Holmes appe.ir to have acted as a
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hoard of county commissioners by appoint-
ment under the territorial organization,

and on May 10, 1802, they met for the pur-
pose of settling accounts with the tax col-

lector*. Among others .John McElroy,
collector for Warren Township, produced
a discharge for the year 17!»8 signed by-

William Bell and Benjamin Doyle, two of
the former commissioners. On May 12, t he
secretary was ordered to draw aud sign all

orders on the treasurer for all wolves' and
panthers' scalps. On July 7 it was agreed
to levy a tax of $1,000 on the county, and
fixed the following rate of taxation : Each
free male above the age of twenty-one
years, 25 cents ; each horse, 20 cents; cow,
S cents; bond servants, 00 cents; houses,

lots, mills, etc., 'Ml 1-3 cents on each $100
appraised value. Ferry licenses on July 7

were fixed as follows: James Koss and
Bezaleel Wells, ferry opposite Charlestown
( Wellsburg), $8 ; same at Steubenvillc, *8

;

Jacob Nesslev, mouth of Yellow Creek, $ti;

Philip Cable,' John MeCullough, John 'Til-

ton, Andrew Campbell. Thomas Harper
and Isaac White, $-1 each. Ferriage rates

were allowed at (J cents a person from April

1 to December 1, and I) cents from Dei-em-

ber to April, man and horse 12 cents and
18 :

;i cents. It will be remembered that

there were half cents, "lips" or 6' j-ccnt,

and "levies" or coins in those
days, so that a rate of 31 14 cents for a cart,

sled or sleigh involved no special difficulty

in making change. Half these rates were
allowed for transportation across creeks.

In 1806 an order for $2.50 was granted
in favor of Rachel Shaw for attendance as

a witness on the trial of Anthony Heck and
others for killing William Crocket. On
May 1 of same year Samuel Fleming was
given $.'500 as part payment due him for

building a new jail, and James Ross was
allowed payment for fixing the locks. On
June 0 Fleming received an additional

$150, and on September 2 his balance of
$250 with a further extra of $1S.50 on
December 1.

On Monday, October 12. 1807. Thomas
Gray was awarded the contract for build-

ing the court house for $2,11KK!I,J!1:.. He
also purchased the log building adjoining
the court house on March 8, ISOh, which
had been occupied by the jailer.

April 1, 1824, the commissioners pur-

chased of Oeorge Marshall 123 acres of land

in Cross Creek Township, being the Mary
McGuire farm at $22 per acre for an in-

firmary for indigent jH-rsons. The build-

ings then standing were utilized. In that

year there were nine pau|K-rs, and iu the

next year eighteen, five of whom were dis-

charged and oue eloped. On June 10 it was
ordered that John Twaddle be allowed $100
to be paid quarterly out of the county
treasury for keeping six blind children.

Samuel Filson was appointed measurer to

keep the standard half bushel measure of
the county. Payments for wolf aud panther
scalps were numerous, in fact, this seemed
to be the principal expenditure of the

county. The first election for commission-
ers took place on April 2, 1804, the mem-
bers since then being as follows:

Ziuchei.s 1Jh;k«, 180-1; llenjiirniii Hough, mime; An
<lri'»v A 11. >r* 111, IMM 11; John .hoksnn. 1805 10; Ren
j
it in 1 it Mil'leury, lMt.1; Miirtin Andrews, 1807; Tborans
Ijtttn, lSii'J ll'; Mows Ron*, 1810 13; William Kdie.

1S!1 1'J; Arthur I.ntiiner. 1X1215; John Jackson,
1813-27: Samuel McNiirv, is 1,1-20; lieorge Dny, 1820 27;

Isaae Jenkins..!., 1822: John Andrews, 1824; Samuel
Hunter, 1S'.'7 2St; .li.lin Winter*. 1829 30; John Barrett,
|s-J!l; J,,l,ri An.lrrHH, 183032; Samuel McNarv. 183035;
William Smith. K52-33; .l..hn Harrelt. 1833-35; William
<:i»m-II, lx.'tniO; <ieurgt> I'lilp, 1837-41; Nathaniel Myer,
HI0 42; Joseph li. MeOrew, 1*41 48; Mordccai Moore.
IS 44; Jb.i.Ii l.ejis, 18-14 47 ; Joseph Shane, 1847 49;
A, P. flippy, tS-IS-.IS; John DuBois, 1850 .11; William
Allmuti .1x51 55; Joseph Mri'or, 1850 54; John A. De
Huff, 1854-57; J. II. Metirew. ls.fr; 5»5; Alexander Conn,
1856-5X; Williimi Kerr, 1>57 -ti.f -. Ira Dalrymple, 1858 59;
lliehnrd V White. 1859 «>1; <),„rles Mather-. 18«l-fifi;

J..HiM h IS. S:.1ii,.,ii. !Mi2 <>.'; .Iain,". K.«ed, ]Sti.V71; A. J
Itnyles*. Ix«lii-i17: Joseph Shane. 1S07 69; .1. U. Salmon,
1N69; John Anderson, 1870-72; Uenjamin Linton, 1870;
John Ployd. 1 S71 73; John S. Patterson, 1872-74; Will

jam St.uk. 1X73-79; Joseph Realty. 1875 81; Georg*
Stnrr. 1X77 s'J; .lurries Rail. 1879 85; Amis Parsons,
1^-7; Williimi White, 1884-80; Jaenb P. MurUe,
IsMi-'.H; John t'nder»ood, 1XS7 92; l>SYid Simpson,
I<.x»-93; J. IK Winters. lS<i-<»7; C. M Prown, 1893
PM'l; Tl.ninni A. Sl>;ir|». 1894 98; William M. Kerr.
1*9*1903; |(„„,|„||,|, Anderson. 1900 0.1; R. M. Thomp
soti. I'hi-jo'.i; Jaini-K Simpson. 1904 09; John A. Fisher,
li-Kiti II; W. r. Hni, hfiil.l. 1909-11; William M. Cheffey,

1909 1 1.

The eoniiMi-sioro-rs had :i» elerks: John Ward from
1SU4 to hid; W.ll,;ini Lowry, 1810 17; Tho.ru.* Putlori.
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1817-18; James Dillon. 1818 20; when the duties were

transferred to Um> county auditor.

INFIRMABY MBECTORS.

Dr. John McDowell, Sr., Benjamin W. Todd. Henry
Swearingen, Alexander Sutherland, Henry Crew, 1824-27;

.Tolin Wilson. 1824 31 ; Jnme* Wilson, 1824-31; Alexander

J. McDowell, 1827-31; An.lrcw MeMedian, 1831 38;

James Turriluill and William Roberts, same; Alexander
Coin, 1838-40; William Leslie, 1838-50; John Winters,

1838 40; William Cunningham, 1840 43; William Rob-

erts, 1843-48; Isaac Winters, 1843 46; Samuel Potts.

1846 48; Robert McCoy. 1848 5"; John Hartford,

1850 55; John Armstrong. 1851; John Linduff. 1853;

Eli II. SleFcely. 1854; William Cunningham, 1856; Will-

iam Abraham! 1857-60; George McCullough, 1858-til;

John H. Lindsav, 1862-77; Thomas Maxwell. I8H3;
Jacob Dance, 186*4-70; A. J. Carroll, 1869; John Hiinna,

1866 69; Thomas Nixon. 1872 82; Robert Stark, 1873-79;

Robert McCoy, 1875-78; John H. Lindsay, 1880 83;
William McEl'roy. 1881 94; Charles H. Barrett. 1885 88;

Eli Fetrow, 1886 89; Thomas Nixon, 1887; B. Rex
Dance, 1890-93; Joseph C. Bower, 1891; John D. Win-
ters. 1894; Robert K. Blinn, 1895-1908; Baxter Cunning-
ham, 1896-99; A. J. Ault. 1900 03; Robert Stark,

1902 05; D. W. Welday. 1906; J. F. Cunningham, Sam-
uel Burchncld, George B. Sterling. 1908-11.

STATE REPRESENTATIVES.

Rudolph Hair. Z. A. Beatty, Thomas Elliott, Isnno

Weeks, Richard Beeson, Sumuel Duntnp, Joseph McKee,
1803; John Sloan, 1803 05; Thomas MeClure, 1804;
John McLaughlin, 1804 06; Thomas Elliott. 1805 07;
Thomas McCune, 1807-12; James Pritehard, 1808 10;

Samuel Dunlap, 1808-13; Stephen Ford, 1808 18; George
Humphrey, 1809-12; Andrew MeNeely, 1810-13; George
Dnv, 1811-12; James Ford, 1S12 13; John Patterson,

1813; Jesse Martin, 1814-17; Andrew McNeely, 1814 15;
Robert Patterson, 1815; James Wilson, 1816 21; Thomas
Elliott, 1816-17 ; James Moore, 1810; Thomas George,

1818; John Barrett, 181S20; Rohert Uilmore, 1819;

Samuel MeNary, 1821 28; J. 11. llallock, 1S22; John M.
* Goodenow, 1823 ;-Willinm Lowrv. 1823 24: William Ham-

ilton, 1824-25; 11. II. Leavitt, 1825; John Mclaughlin.
1826 35; James Ross Wells, 1826; James Mitchell.

1827 28; William C. McCauslen, 1829-33; John Humphrey,
18S0; John Leetch, 1831 32; Mnrdeeni Moore. Is:t4 3.");

Holier; Patterson. 1835-36; Samuel MeNary. 1837 38;

George Mitchell, 1839; Roswell Marsh and John Shutter,

1840; Matthew Atkinson and Joseph Kithcart. 1841

;

Nathaniel Dike and Isaac Atkinson, 1842; Smiley II.

Johnson. Leonard Marsh and Isaac Shane, 1843; Knekiel

Harris. 1844; Jnme* O. Allen, 1845; Rndley B. MeGrew,
1846; James Mt-Kinney. 1847; Andrew Scott, 1848;

James Russell, 1849; David Johnson. 1350; Thomas
Means, 1852; Amos Joiirx. 1854; Daniel McCurdy and
Gyrus Mendenhall, 1856; James 0. Allen and W. W.
Worthington, IMS; James S. Scott, 1860; Joseph Means,
1863; Smith Lyon. 1864; Samuel ('. Kerr, 1866 68;
Samuel H. Ford, 1870 72; Roes G. Richards, 1874 76;
Thomas B. Scott, 187X 80; John A. Kithcart. 1882 84;
Benjamin N. Lindroff. 1884-88-. Charles W. Clancy.
1888.92; Samuel ». Taylor, 1892 96; John L Means,
1896-1900; Marshall N. Duval, 1900 04: Avery C. .Tone*,

1904 09; John F. Gilson, 1909-11.

STATB SENATORS.

The first general ncsembly of Ohio under the eonstitu

tion of 1802 met at Cliilliiothe on Tuesday, Mureh 3.

1803, and on December 2, 1816. aud thereafter met in

L'olumbu«. Xenas Kimberlv and Bexaleel Wells were the

senators in 1S03; John \iilligan and James I'ritchard.

1804; James Pritehard and Benjamin Hough. 184)-*;

Benjamin Hough and John Taggart. 1806; John Me
Connell, 1807; John McLaughlin, ISO" 20 ; Thomas
Elliott. 180809; James Pritehard. 181112; Daniel
Welch. 1811; James McMillan. 1812 13; Samuel Duulap,
1814; Samuel G. Bcrryhill, 1815; David Sloan. 1821-24;

-William Lowry. 1S25 26; H. H. Leavitt. 1826 27; Heurj
Swearingcu, 182930; Andrew McMcchan, 1832 36; Sam
uel Stokely, 1837 38; James Mitchell, 1839 41; Ephruin,
R. Eckley. 1842-44; John Hastings, 184547; Piuckncv
I^wis, 1849 50; James McKinnev, 1852; Jo«e]ih F. Will-

iams, 1S54; J. D. Cat tell, 1856; Joseph C. MeClearv,
1858; Anson L. Brewer, I860; Robert A. Sherrard, 1862;
Norman K. McKenxic, 1864: J. T. Brooks, 1866 68: .lured

Duobar, 1870; Jonathan T. UpdegralT, 1872; .1. K.
Rukenbrod, 1874-76; Rees G. Richards, 1878 80; J. M
Dickinson, 1882 84; Thomas B. Coulter. 1886 88; Thomas
H. Silver, 1890; Charles N. Snyder, 1892; J. A. B. Wood.
1804; David M. Welday. 1896; William V. Blake, 1S98:
Frank B. Archer. 1901; Charles Connell and .1. C. Hein-
lein, 1903; D W. Crist and Marsh-nil N. Du.nll. 1905;
M. N. Duvall. 1908 10.

REPRESENTATIVES IN CONORfSS.

t'ntil 1813 Ohio constituted hut one congressional dis-

trict, represented by Jeremiah Moitow. The second appor-
tinnment made six districts, Jefferson County being in the

fourth, represented by James Caldwell, who served in

the XIII. and XI~V. congresses from 1813 to 1817;
Samuel Hen-irk. in the XV. find XVI., from 1817 to

1821. The third apportionment made fourteen districts,

of which Jefferson was in the eleventh. The fourth guve
niueteen, Jefferson being in the last. The fifth gave
twenty-one, Jefferson being in the seventeenth. In the

sixth it was the twenty-first; in the seventh, nineteen

districts, it was in the seventeenth. In the eighth, twenty
diariets. it was in the sixteenth district, which number
it has since retained, with some changes of boundaries
The present numlier of districts is twenty-one. and flu-

sixteenth includes the counties of Belmont, Carroll. Har
rison, Jefferson and Monroe. The representatives from
this district, in addition to those named, have been:
XVII Congress, 1821-23, John C. Wright and David
< hnmhers; XVIII.-XX., 1823 29, John C. Wright ; XXL.
1829 31, John M. Goodenow (resigned

-

!. H. H. Leavitt:

XX1L. 1831 33, H. H. Leavitt; XXIIJ . 1833 35, H. H
Leavitt (resigned), Daniel Kilgorc; XXIV.. 1835 37
Daniel Kilgore; XXV.. 1837 to 1*39. Daniel Kilgore (re

signed) and llenrv Sncaringen; XXVI., 1839-41. Ilenrv

Sweariiigen; XXVII.. 184 1 43. Samuel Stokelv ; XXVIII.,
1843 45. William Me' ':.uslen ; XXIX and XXX.. 1815 49,

Gmrge ' Fries; XXXI. and XXXII.. 1849 51. Joseph
Table: XXXIII. 1853-55, Andrew Stewart: XXXIV
XXXVII.. 1855 63. John A. Bingham; XXXVI II. XL.
1863 69. Ephraim R. Eckley; XLI. and XLIL, 1869 73,

Jacob A. Ambler; XL1IIXLV.. 1875 79, Lorenio Dan-
ford; XI.VI XLVII.. 1.879 82. Jonathan T. irpdegraff.

died fall of 1882: Xl.VIl. XLVIII., 1882 85, Joseph D
Tavlor; XLIX., 1885 87, Isaac Taylor; L. and LI.,

1887-91. Joseph D. Tavlor; UI. LIU., 1891 95. Albert
J. Pearson: LIV.-LV., 1895 99. Lorenzo Danford; LVI.
LVIL, 1899 1902. Joseph J. Gill, resigned; LVIL-LX..
1902 1909, Capcll L. Wecms; LXL, 1909 11, David A.
Hollinustvorth.
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CHAPTER XI

RECORD OF PATRIOTISM

Soldiers of Five Wars—American Revolution—Second War With Great Britain—Mex-
ican War—The (heat Civil Conflict—Daring Deeds of Mitchell Raiders—Morgan's
Raid—Spanish War.

Jefferson County hat* a military rewrd
of which none of her citizen* need feel

ashamed. From the nature of the case no-

body enlisted from her territory during the

War of the Involution, but it was the ren-

dezvous of more than one exj»edition during
that period, and Clark's body of pioneers
who wrested all this Northwest from Brit-

ish control and saved this county and state

to the American government, passed along
the whole water front of the county, and
probably made more than one landing
along the shores. One of his soldiers, John
Mctiuire, bad numerous descendants in

Jefferson County, and there were others,

such as John Sherrard in the Crawford ex-

pedition of 17N2. these being only illustra-

tions which might be considerably multi-

plied.

At the outbreak of the War of 1SP2 the

situation was somewhat different. Al-

though far from being thickly settled yet

the county, which was somewhat larger

than at present, was fully organized, and
being not far from the frontier was natu-

rally called upon for men. A regiment of

I'ourtceu companies, 1,(Wif> men, was organ-

ized, and did good service. The regimental
officers and those of thirteen of the com-
panies were as follows:

Lieutenant-colonel, John A. Andrews;
154

majors, Thomas Glenn, James Campbell,
(Jeorge Darrow, Jacob Frederick; adjutant,
Mordecai Hartley ; surgeon, Thomas Camp
bell; quartermaster, Jacob Van Horn; ser-

geant-major, John B. Dowden; quarter-

master-sergeant, John Patterson; drum-
major, John McClintock ; fife-major, John
Niel.

Captain, Aaron Allen; lieutenant, John
Vuntilburg; ensign, William Mills; ser-

geants, James Clare, Richard Shaw, John
Fa n pi liar. Thomas Henderson; corporals,

Christopher Abel, Hugh Lexington, James
Johnston. David Workman; l-'l men.

Captain, Thomas Latta; lieutenant,

Hugh Christy; ensign, William Pritchard;
sergeants, < Jeorge Brown, Alexander Pat-

terson, (ieorge Krmntinger, John Xaughey.
Isaac Holmes; corporals. Cornelius Peter-

son. William Bety, James Haley, Matthew
Palmer; l')5>men.

Captain, John Alexander; lieutenant,

Hugh Christy; ensign. David Jackson.
John Lynch. Robert Blackford, Hugh Me-
(See; corporals, Jeremiah Argo, Charles A.

Lindsey, Thomas Marshall, William Boss;
seventy-one men.

Captain, Allen Scroggs; lieutenant, John
Ramsey: ensign, John Caldwell; ser-

geants. William Wilkin, William Dunlap.
William Hobson, William Robertson. Sam-
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uel Avery, Joseph Haverfield, .John Conno-
way, John Wallace; fifty-six men.

Captain, James Alexander; lieutenant,

Henry Bayless; ensign, John Myers; ser-

geants, James Andrews, Alexander Barr,
Martin Saltsman, James Tolin; corporals,

David Wilkinson, Amos Wert; John An-
derson, James Lyons; sixty men.

Captain, Nicholas Murray; lieutenant,

Xathau Wintringer; ensign, John Carroll

;

sergeants, Philip Fnlton, Joseph Batchol-
dor, James Carnahan, George Beatty ; cor-

porals, James Patton, Samuel Wilson,
James Ilaskill, George Atkinson; forty-

four men.
Captain, William Foulk; lieutenant,

John Beckdell
;
ensign, Jacob Crauss; ser-

geants, John Kester, John Cannon, John
Hughston, John Chaneey; corporals, Addi-
son Makinnen, Rudolph Brandaberry, An-
drew Armstrong, James Henderson'; sev-

enty-three men.
Captain, Jacob Gilbert ; lieutenant, John

Teeton; ensigns, Abraham Fox, Conrad
Myers f sergeants, David Shoemaker, Sam-
uel Outer, Michael Coyn; corporals, Mi-
chael Shaffer, Randall Smith, Peter Miller,

Johu Eaton, John Lepley; eighty-three
men.

Captain, Joseph Holmes; lieutenants,

William Thorn, John Ramsey; ensign,

Garvin Mitchell; sergeants, Francis Pop-
ham, James Gihnore, Alexander Smith,
John MoCulley; corporals, Edward Van
Horn. John Pollock, Thomas McBride,
Joseph Hagermati; eighty-four men.

Captain. James Downing; lieutenant,

Peter Johnson; ensign, Thomas Smith;
sergeants, John Forsythe, John Rosier,

Michael McGovern, Samuel Richards; cor-

porals, Abraham Hair, Benj. Akison, John
Worden, Joseph Bashford; eighty-one men.
Captain, Joseph Zimmerman ; lieutenant,

James Kerr; ensign. Conrad Myers; ser-

geants, George Sclraltz, (ieorge Estep,

William Pouch, Christian Krepts; cor-

porals. (Jeorge Switzer, Ezekiel Moore,
John Laurence, Samuel Meek; fifty men.

Captain, David Peck: lieutenant, Joseph
Davis; ensign, Jacob Sheffer; sergeants,

John Stoakes, David Higgins, Dudley
Smith, Jesse Barnum; corporals, John
Vaughn. James Davis, James Miller, Will-
iam McKonkey

;
seventy-nine men.

Captain, Joseph Zimmerman; lieutenant.

Thomas Orr; ensign, John Caldwell; ser-

geants, John Elrod, John Pridmore, David
Kensey. William Bashford

; corporals, Ben-
jamin Dean, Williamson Carothers, Isaac
Vail, John Palmer; ninety men.
John Ward left with a company towards

the close of the war, but before it reached
the front word was received that peace had
been declared, so they returned home.

MEXICAN WAR.
At the greut soldiers' reunion at Steii-

benville in 1879, J. R. Marshall, of Dublin,
Ohio, furnished a full and complete sketch
of the Steubenville Greys, who represented
Jefferson County in the Mexican War as
Company I of the Third Ohio Regiment.
The officers and members of this company
were as follows:

George W. McCook, captain promoted to

lieutenant-colonel. John Kell, Jr., captain.

O. C. Gray, first lieutenant, promoted to

adjutant. Francis Marion, second lieuten-

ant, resigned August 10, 1846. E. F.

Hooker, second lieutenant, promoted from
sergeant. Dr. J. C. Cable, third lieutenant.

Sergeants, William H. Harlan, Andrew J.

Dick, John M. Todd, Leonard Stulger.
Corporals, (ieorge O. Toms. J. R. Marshall,
William B. Richardson, David S. Frcs
singer.

Privates. Jacob R. Aalt, Harvey Alton.

James W. Anderson, Richard Atkinson
(discharged September l.'i, 1846), James
Broady, John L. Blackburn, James M.
Blackburn. Edward Brown, William H.
Binns, John Crawford (died at Fort
Brown, Texas, August 5, 1846) ; Charles
Conley. William Cordel (died at Co
maruo, Mexico, April, 1847), Benjamin M.
( 'ulbertson, Jonathan Chambers (died at

Fort Brown, August 10. 1K46); Edward
Elliott, Isaac B. Fisher. Thomas Fedelcy.
Robert Ferguson, John Gossett, Albert
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Galloway, Robert Greenhnm, Lorenzo
Gregory, David Harper (discharged at
Cincinnati, July 3, 1846), John Hatch (dis-

charged same day), Samuel Henderson,
S. P. Hains, Francis Hardy, John Hanson,
Charles Hayes, Thomas Hogue, James
Harris (discharged at Fort Brown, August
10, 1846), Thomas Johnson reported de-

serted at Matamoras, Harup L. Joy, Oliver
King, Samuel Leighuiau, John Moreland,
Joseph Morrison, David Maxwell, Alexan-
der McDonald, Joseph McAlpin, Charles
MeOlisson, George MeGary, Moses McFar-
rier promoted to drum-major, Fairfax W.
Nelson, Henry Newell, Samuel Russell,

Thomas L. Robinson, Andrew Scott,

Thomas Stewart, .John Stone transferred
to Company K, Charles Sweeney. Robert
Snider, Charles Steele, Blasins Spinharney,
Kphraim Stonecipher (second eorj>oral dis-

charged September 13, 1840), A. Slee (dis-

charged at Matamoras January 10, 1847).
Nimrod TeafT, Robert Thompson (died at

Matamoras January 18, 1847, and buried at

('amp McCook same day), Nicholas Trapp,
Stej)hen Todd (second corporal discharged
September 13, 1840), llezekiah Yannati,
William H. Irwin. There wen* three
deaths from sickness, nine discharges for

disability and sickness, and one desertion
through the persuasion of au elder brother,
who was leading a frontier life in Texas.
Most of the illness was chronic diarrho-a,

and every man was on the sick list at some
period. Isaac B. Fisher was a remarkable
instance of extreme emaciation.
From Mr. Marshall's diary we learn that

the (J revs left Steubenville on June 4. 1*40,

on the steamboat "Wisconsin." The com
pany numbered sixty-four men, including
non commissioned officers, and arrived at

Cincinnati on the 6th, where they went into

Camp Washington, four or live miles out

of town. Some recruits from I'iqun brought
the force up to sixty-nine men. Company 1

had been fully equipped on leaving Steu-
benville with tents, mess chests, pans. etc.

They left Camp Washington on July .5 as

part of the Third Regiment Ohio Volun-
leers, and took passage with four other

companies on the steamer "Tuscaloosa"
for New Orleans under command of Colonel
Curtis. The other division, under com-
mand of Lieutenant-Colonel McCook, took
the steamer "New Era." They arrived at

New Orleans July 10, and camped on the

battlefield. Camp Jackson, four miles be-

low the city. On July 13 they embarked
on the brig "Orleans" and anchored off

Brazos Island, Texas, July 20. Four days
later they were taken off by steamboat ami
landed, when they marched to Fort Brown
near the mouth of the Rio Grande opposite
Matamoras. Mexico, where they arrived
August ">. On August 18, Jonathan Cham-
bers died anil was buried the same day.

That night the regiment crossed the river

and established Camp McCook on Mexican
soil. The third regiment was placed in

General Taylor's division and called the

Armv of the Rio Grande. On February
J. JS47 it left for Comargo, 160 miles dis-

taut on the San Juan River three miles

al>ove where it enters into the Rio Grande,
where was a partly finished fort" called

Ohio. On February 17, three companies,

including Company I, left Comargo under
command of Colonel McCook to garrison

the town of Meir, and perform escort duty
from Comargo via Meir, Senalvo and Mon-
terey. General Santa Anna was advancing
with I'K.UOO men on Taylor and Wool at

Kucnn Vista, and on February "J.'i communi-
cation was cut off from General Taylor. Mc-
Cook'* force was ordered back to Comargo.
where on March 7 was received news of the

victory at Buena Vista on February 22 and
*_'.">. Orders were given to advance on Mon-
terey forthwith, and they started with some
Virginia troops and others with \2'.i wagons
of supplies for General Taylor. There
were plenty of rumors of attacks by Mex-
icans but none of them materialized, and
relief was afforded Major lddings of the

First Ohio who was hemmed in at Senalvo
and out of ammunition. After anxiously

expecting one of these attacks they met
General Taylor, who had become a terror

to the Mexicans. A force of the enemy was
pursued to Cadeveta, and some wounded
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prisoners recaptured, and the company
marched to Buena Vista, arriving there on
March 25th. Here they remained until

May 18, when they were discharged with
the thanks of the Commander, General
Wool. They readied the mouth of the Rio
Grande on June 5, and sailed on the 7th
on the schooner Bounty for New Orleans,
where they arrived on June 15. The regi-

ment was mustered out on June 21, and the
men reached home about two weeks later,

after an absence of a year and two months.

WAR OF THE REBELLION.

The morning papers of Monday, April
15, 1861, contained President Lincoln's
proclamation announcing the fall of Fort
Sumter, and calling for 75,000 volunteers.
Early in the day the old court house bell

called the citizens together, and work of
enrolling and drilling commenced at once.

On the following evening there was a more
formal meeting at the court house at which
an addition of forty-eight names completed
the first company which was fully organ-
ized the following day, the 17th when its

date of service began. As arrangements
had to be made for transportation and
other formalities complied with, the com-
pany did not get away until Friday, the
19th. At 12 o'clock noon on that day the
company formed at old Kilgore Hall." now
Natioual theatre, and marched down Mar-
ket street to the law building below Third
recently razed. Here an immense crowd
had assembled, and Mrs. Mary K. Means,
on behalf of the ladies of the city presented
the soldier boys with a handsome flag, the
response to her patriotic address being
made by Capt. Anson G. McCook. The
men then marched tojthe C. & P. depot at
the foot of South street, waiting for the
train bearing other members of the First
and Second Ohio regiments from Cincin-
nati and Columbus. Soon the last hand-
shake was given and the last cheers re-

sounded as the train pulled out for the
East. Of course this was u sample of what
was taking place all over the North.

On the previous Monday morning there

was practically not a soldier north of the

Ohio or Potomac. Before the week was
out there were near a hundred thousand.
These two regiments went into camp ut

Lancaster, Pa., where they were fully

organized and mustered into service on
April 29th. From there they went to Wash-
ington and participated in the first battle

of Bull Run, in which fortunately none
of the Steubenville company was killed,

although two were captured and remained
prisoners until January 11, 1862. The
company was mustered out July 31, and
most of the men re-enlisted for three years.

Following is the roster of Co. H, 2d. O.

V. I.

Anson G. McCook, Captain; Thos. A.

Gamble, 1st Lieut.; Arthur Camahan, 2d.;

Joseph Slack, William Hukill, William
Haughton, Joseph Peters, Sergeants;
David MeM asters, James Thompson,
James Jewett, Lewis Davis, Corporals;
George Stamm, Musician.

Privates—Alexander Anderson, Edward
Bickford, Henry Blackburn, Andrew Blair.

Intrepid Boyer, Michael Breman, Samuel
Cable, William Carter, Geo. W. Cheeks.

James Collins. John Conn, Joseph Cum-
iiiings, Adam Cunningham, George Elliott,

Frank Evans. Robert Fife, Edward Fitz-

simmons. Thomas Foster, Thomas Gore.

John Greenough, (captured) Edward
Grieves, Thomas Hamilton (captured).

William Hamilton, Thomas Heislop, Lewis
Helms, Augustus Homes, Henry noleman,
Joseph Houston, Vitalis Hunter. Lycurgus
Johnson, Ross P. Johnston, John Jordan,
Abner Kelly, Thomas Keller. Malachi
Krebs, John Leas, James Linn, David Me
Adams, John McCaffey, Eli McFeely, Jr..

James McKinley, William McMullen, Ed-
ward Marion, Thomas Martin, Robert Mil-

ligan, Benjamin Mills, John Miser, Wal-
ter O'Donnell, James Owens. William
Owens, Edward Peggs, Daniel Penwell,

William Pittenger, William H. Reynolds.

Nathaniel Risdon, John Seltzer, John
Snodgrass, William Sutherland, Kinzie

Swords, Andrew Teeters. Matthew Teaff,
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Thomas Teatf, James Thomas, Joseph
Warren, Henry Wheeler, Henry Worthing-
ton.

CO. I, 20TH RKOIMKNT O. V. I.

No sooner had the first company heen
filled and departed than steps were taken
to organize a second railed the t'nion

guards which was organized on April 22,

and mastered in April 27 at Columbus, O.,

with the following members:
David F. Cable, Captain; James F. Snr-

ratt, 1st Lieutenant ; William A. O'Wesnev,
2d; David R. S. Wells. Moses Urquhart.
Thomas Herpiek, O. II. Patterson. James
Wilkin, Sergeants; B. X. Lindsey, J. W.
Evans, H. B. Trotter, Koltert K. hueas,

Corporals.
Privates—J. M. Anderson, Austin Ar-

nold, William Bamford, Vaugilder Bang-
hart, Charles H. Benson. Fred C. Bingle,

James Blair, (Jeorge Boyd, (teorge II.

Boyd, William Boyer, Frank Brady, A. W.
Bristor, John Brown (killed August 3rd,

in railroad accident), John Butskil, Martin
R. Cable, John II. Campbell, Joseph Car-
ter, James W. Cooper, Sylvester Davis,

John Dillon, Frank Dolby, James Doyle,
John Fowler, Joseph Fry, John (leorge,

Christopher (tillc, William (tlow, Joseph
(iillespie. Charles W. (iraliiini. Samuel
Guthrie, Daniel W. Ilnniin. Thomas Han-
son, Thompson Hanna. John Hamilton,
Fred K. Hnrtmaker, Benjamin Hawkins,
James Hays, Perry llines. John Hnlliday,

David Hunter, Andrew llutterly, Harrison
Hunter, James Huntsman. William Jarvis,

Henry Job, Peter Josephs, John Josephs,
Frank Keller. James Kurran, Adam
Lowther, John P. Mi-Cardell, Joseph Mc
Causland, James McLaiu, Josepli McLain
(died July 12 at Bellairc), Richard M<-

Chiin. Thomas It. Met 'ullough, Thomas
McConnell, J. W. McCoy. Abraham T.

Marklc, J. W. Martin. Robert P. Martin,
II. W. Miser. Albeit Miller, Stephen My-
ers, James P. Oliver (killed August .'! in

railroad accident ). John Pnrrish. J. \Y. Phil-

lips, (teorge Porter, James 11. Prentiss.

Kdward Pumphrey, John Robinson. I'M

win Ross, William Schmidt, Thomas Smith,
James Spencer, Kdward Steehnan, Ros
well Stephens (discharged May 25 on ac-

count of disability), John R. Stone, James
Taylor, Samuel Tompkins, (Jeorge Venling,

James Wallace. John J. Waters, James
Wilson, Thomas Williams. Joseph Winters,
William Winters. John (i. Wiers, Albert
Zonks.

This company saw service in West Vir-

ginia, in which three men were wounded,
and was mustered out at Steubenville on
August 2.5, 18(51.

COMPANY II, 1ST O. V. I. TIIIIKK YEARS
SKRVICK.

This company was mustered in at Camp
Corwin, ()., Octol>er 26, 18(51, and mustered
out October 6, 1864. Its leading battles

were Shiloh, April 7, 18(52; Stone River,

December .'51; Liberty (iap, June 23, 1863;
( 'hickamaugu, September 1M-20; Orchard
Knob, September 23; Lookout Mountain,
November 24; Mission Ridge, November
25: Buzzard Roost, Ha.. May H, 1864; Res-
aca, May 14; Adairsville, May 17; Burnt
Hickory, May 27; Kenesaw, June 17; Chat-
tahoochee River, July fi, The following

list "rives each officer in the position finallv

held by him.

Captain B. F. Prentiss, (resigned May
17, 1863). William L. Patterson; 1st. Lieu-

tenants William A. Owesney (resigned
October 7, 1861), Anton Kuhlman, James
Hill. Joseph Morrow; 2d. Lieutenants
James H. Prentiss, (leorge McCracken;
Sergeants, llarrv Hunter, Thomas A.

Teatf. David <i." McAdams. Robert M.
Brown. William P. Brown. Alfred (i. For
restcr. Stephen B. Myers; Corporals.

(Jeorge M. Klliott. Jj>hn Fisher. Josiah C.

Ault (promoted to ii. M. S.), Albert Mel
lor. Jabe/. B. Smith, William K. Fisher,

William F. Fleming, (Jeorge W. Fhinne-

gan. .lox ph W. Martin, John F. Snowden.
Privates- (iardner Ablwtt. Andrew

Banks. Charles Banks. Anson F. Brav,
Joseph S. Baltzell. John F. Burke. Thomas
O. Brown (wounded at Big Shanty. June
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17, 1864, died June 26), Alexander J.

Brown, Thomas J. Burns, John Blackburn,
John W. Cole, William B. Crewsou, John
A. Castner (wounded Mission Ridge, Nov-
ember 25, 1863, died December 22), Edwin
S. Castner, Matthew R. Delano, Samuel
Davidson, George Dobbs, John Francisco,
Edward Findley, William Glow, John Han-
nan, David M. Hannah, David B. Hukill,

Samuel A. Hewey (captured January 17,

1864, died at Bichmond in March), Ben-
jamin Hart, Henry Holman, John Jennings,
(missing Chickamauga September 19,

1863) , Jasper Jewett (died at Nashville,

June 7, 1862), Peter Joseph, James Kelly,

John Kell, Rhesa Kendall (died March 18,

1862), John Long (drowned October 15,

1862), John McFarland, William McMul-
len, David McLeish (wounded at Stone
River, December 31, 1862, died January 26,

1862), John C. McKelvey, Peter Martin,
Thomas A. Mel lor, Chauncey Miller, Dan-
iel A. Moreland, Darwin Milhizer, Augus-
tine Myers, John S. Merrell, Edward Mur-
ray, Kayhrian Morrison, William M.
Moore, Thomas M. Orrick, Joseph Piles,

James Phillips, William Pringle, (fatally

wounded at Mission Ridge), Daniel Pressor,
Otis H. Patterson, Tolbert Parrish, John
Peter (died at Chattanooga, January 11,

1864) , Maurice Quinlin, Francis M. Rob-
bins, John N. Snodgrass, Richard Saun-
ders, Joseph S. Slack, Noah 11. Smith,
(captured at Chickamauga September If),

1863, died at Andersonville, July 2, 1864),
Henry Stiver, John W. Smith, AVilliam

Salodin, Henry Sharp (killed at Stone
River, December 31, 1862), Joshua Stroud
(killed at New Hope Church, May 27, 1864),
Thomas Scott (wounded at Shiloh, April
7, 1862, died April 14), Abraham M. Shane
(died at Camp Wood, December 23, 1861),
John Smith (wounded at Chickamauga,
SeptemlHT 19. 1863, died in rebel hospital
October 7), William H. Stellers, Robert
Sloe, John B. Swinchart, Thomas Swine-
hart, Thomas Swan, Columbus Treadway,
Erastus Tubble, Nimrod Teaff, Amos C.
Simmons, "William Waters, Gordon Work-
man, Thomas Williams, James Wallace

(wounded at Shiloh, April 7, 1862, died
May 25), Otis Worstell, Henry Z. Wolf.
When the company was mustered out

quite a number were transferred to Com-
pany G, 18th O. V. I., and served until the
close of the war.

co. o, 2d regiment o.v.i.

The Second Regiment O. V. L, three
years service was mustered in at Camp
Dennison, O., September 11, 1861 with
I^eonard Harris, Colonel, who was suc-

ceeded by Anson G. McCook, of Steuben-
ville on l)ecember 31, 1862, and was mus-
tered out with the regiment, October 10,

1864. John Kell, Lieutenant Colonel (just

promoted to Colonel) was killed at Stone
River, December 31, 1862. The leading
battles of the regiment were at West Li-

bertv, Ky., October 23, 1861; Piketon, No-
vember !) ;

Bridgeport, Ala., April 29, 1862;
Perryville, Ky., October 8, 1862; Stone
River; Rosecrans's Campaign, June 23,

1863; Chickamauga, Lookout Mountain;
Mission Ridge; Buzzard Roost and Tun-
nel Hill, Ga., February 25-27, 1864; Resaca;
Peach Tree Creek, July 20, 1864. Com-
pany G was recruited at Steubenville by
.fames F. Serratt the latter part of August,
and entered the service, September 5, 1861
with the following members

:

James F. Serratt, Captain; (promoted
to Major March 4, 1864), James W. Glase-

ner, 1st. Lieutenant; Malachi Krebs, (do.

promoted)
;
Lafayette Van Horn, 2d. Lieu-

tenant, August 20, 1862, assigned to Com-
pany I, wounded at Stone River, December
31, 1862, died June 14, 1863. Sergeants,
llenrv W. Miser, died at Nashville, March
12, 1862; Henry II. Worthington, William
Arbaugh, killed at Resaca, May 14, 1864;
W. V. Owens, WT

illiam A. Stephens,
Emory Porter, D. W. Matlack, captured at

Chickamauga, Sylvester Davis, Jacob Sum-
mers, fatally wounded at Chickamaugua;
John W. Holliday, promoted to 2d. Lieu-
tenant and transferred to 15th W. Va.
Volunteers; William Pittenger, Stephen B.
Porter. Corporals, Franklin Hawkins,
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Mortimer F. Brown, George O. Boyer,
Franklin Collins, Robert M. Brown, George
Steindly, Alexander C. Mills, James Brown,
Thomas H. Brown, Samuel W. Miller.

Privates—Alexander Abraham, Thomas
W. Anlt, Joseph Adams, Vangilder Bau-
gart, Thomas Bond, Addison Batehelor,
.John V. Brown, Reuben Bartlett, George
H. Boyd, Isaac Butterworth, John Curran,
Adam Cunningham, James Cooper (cap-

tured at Chickamanga), Bernard Callignn
(do), James P. Coyle (do, died in prison
March 7, 1865), Joseph Carter (captured),
James Charlton, Benjamin F. Durbin,
Jacob Dury, William Dunn, James S.

Davis, Sylvanus Davis, Frank Dolby, Joel
W. Ferree, John Gilchrist, Samuel Guthrie
(captured at Chickamauga, died at Annap-
olis, Md., April 14, 1864), Perry Hines,
Milton H. Hill, Harrison H oilman, John L.

Hebron, John A. Hayes, Brunton llymers
(captured at C, died at Annapolis, April
14, 1864), Bazaleel Hamlin (killed at Chap-
lin Hills, October 8, 1862), William F. Hall,

Philip P. Houston, Albert J. Holroyd, Den-
nis Healer, Henry Jobe, Ross P. Johnston,
Elisha Kendall, Frank Keller, John Leon-
ard, Jefferson Lopouian, John J. Lopeland
(killed at Chaplin Hills), Jerry Liuton
(do), David H, Laizure (died at Edgfield
Junction, Tenn., December 3, 1862). Charles
Levi, Jolin M. Leas, Patrick Luyng,
Benjamin Lester, Otto Linton, .Joseph

Londecker, Joseph Montgomery (captured
at lookout Mountain, died in Anderson-
ville October, 1864) ; Edwin N. Maxwell,
Eli H. McFeely, John W. McCowan. Will-

iam P. McCormick (captured at Chicka-
mauga, died in Andersonville August 25,

1864); Elijah Mattock (wounded at Stone
River, died January .'Jl, 186.'!), Richard
MeLain, Thomas Martin, Kobert A. Miller,

Thomas F. Mann, Augustine Myet>. Rob
crt P. Martin, Samuel Melville. John Neiss
(captured at Chickamauga). Walter Nich-

ols (wounded at Stone River, Hied Feb-
ruary 15, 186:5), John O'Neal (captured at

Chickamanga, Alfred Obney, James H.
Owen, Edward Pumphrey, Styles Porter.

Benjamin F. Prentiss (promoted to C.-ip-

tain and transferred to 1st Ohio), Preston
Roberts, William H. Surles, James W.
Simpson, William P. Snodgrass (captured
at C), William Smith (captured at C, died
in Andersonville, May 18, 1864), Alexander
D. Searles (killed at Chickamauga), Ur-
bana Smith (killed at Chaplin Hills), John
K. Sutherland (killed at Kingston, Ga.,

June 1, 1864), James W. Sanford, Man-
fred Swinehnrt, John Summers, Edward
Steelman, Thomas J. Winters, James Win-
ters, John R. Winters (killed at Chaplin
Hills), James Woodman (captured at C),
James R. -Yeagley (do). A number re-en-

listing were transferred to the 18th O. V.
V. I. and served until the close of the war.

co. k, 2d begiment o. v. i.

This was from Mitchell's Salt works and
Steul>enville, taking an overflow from Cap-
tain Sarratt's Company. The roster is as
follows:

David Mitchell, Captain; Joseph R. D.
Clendenning and George II. Hollister, Ben-
jamin F. Brady, 1st Lieutenants; Thomas
Dyal, 2d Lieutenant promoted to 1st Com-
pany I; Sergeants, George C. Yeagley (died

December 27, 1861), Elias Roberts, Isaac
Morrison, John Hamilton, Hamilton Smith,
Heury Vandyke, Mitchell Crabbs, John
Evans. James Phillips, James Smith. Cor-
porals, James Roberston, William Mitchell,

Albert G. Close, Joseph Elliott, Thomas
George (killed at Perryville), James B.

Thompson (died at Nashville, January 12,

186:!), James Maxwell, James McLane,
Thomas Martin, Thomas Hamilton.

Privates- James Altaian, Clarington
Bell, John W. Brown, John Berrisford
(wounded at Chickamauga), Enos Bicker-

staff, Pharoah Bell, Robert Branisford,
Philander Berry, John Call, George W.
Close, .John C. Criss, Andrew Coyle (cap-

tured at Chickamanga). George Close,

James diss. James Call, (captured at
Pulaski. Tenn.. May 1, 1862), David Call

do). Samuel Cable. Abraham Call. Chock-
ley M. Croft. James Dorrance (died at
Murfreesboro, March 27, 1862), George
Douglass, Ephraim Elliott, Thomas Elliott,

Bostoninn B. (iarin (killed at Resaca),
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Martin Garin (captured at Pulaski), Jos-

hua Hartman (captured at 0., died in And-
ersonville, August 23, 1864), John M.
Householder, Columbus Hickman (died at

Louisville, December 27, 1861), James E.
Henderson, Jason Hickman, John Hales,
William Hazlet (captured at C, died in

Andersonville, June 6, 1864), John Kirk-
patrick, William Harvey (captured at

Pulaski), David S. Hunter (do), Vitalia

Hunter, Thomas Jeffrey, James Johnston,
Jacob Kriner, David Kriner, (died at

Nashville, January 13, 1863), William
Kriner (captured at Pulaski), Jeffer-

son Lorimer, George Lowry (died at

Anderson Station, Tenn., September 2,

1863), Orr Lowe, James Lowery, Adam
Liebe (captured at C.), William F. Me-
Lain, William McBath, John Maple (cap-

tured at C), Uriah McConnaughey (died

at home January 17, 1862), David
Marshall, John McLane, Lineaus Mc-
Gavrin (captured at Pulaski), Michael
McConnell, Mordecai McDowell, Eli Mc-
Kelvey, Franklin Mills, James McKelvey.
Jolm and George Nixon (captured at

Pulaski), Isaac H. Pinkerton, John W.
Porter (killed at C.)» Thomas Parsons,
Richard Parsons, William Rex (captured
at C, died in Andersonville, July 9, 1864),
Adolphus Russell (captured at C), Robert
Robertson (died at Louisville, November
13. 1862), Washington Rupert (died at

Uuutsvillc, Ala., July 4, 1862), Joseph Rus-
sell, Wiliam Roach, George Roth,- Rob-
ert Robertson, Charles Shane, Daniel
A. Saltstnan, Charles P. Shadrirk (banged
at Atlanta (ia., by rebels on charge of being
a bridge burner), Knos Striker (captured
at C, died at Richmond, November 13,

1863), Joseph B. Seely, John F. Stewart
(captured at C, died in Andersonville,

July 30, 1864), Alexander Travis, John
Timbermnn (killed at Perryville), John
Thompson. Daniel Yandike, David Vandike,
James Wooster (died at Murfreesboro,
March 25, 1863), Andrew Welsh, AVatkins
Williams, William Willes, Benjamin F.
White, John L. Wilson, John Wallace,
Henry Wooster. The usual transfers were

made in this case. Alfred Walters, killed.

Company E, of the Second Regiment,
contained eleven members from Steuben-
ville including First Lieutenant, Andrew
J. Teeter; Sergeant, James Frazier (cap-

tured at Chickaraauga and died July 5,

1864 in Andersonville)
;
privates, George

Boyd, James Curran, Henry Crawford,
James Obney, Weslev Moreland, Thomas
Woods (killed at C), Samuel McDonald.
Company I had one member from Jeffer-

son, James Ackerman.

3d. regiment o. v. i.

Capt. Asa H. Battin succeeded Henry
Cope in command of Company K, which
included the following Jefferson boys:
John C. Baker, Nathaniel Burns, Charles
C. Cody, Randolph Douglass, William S.

Fadeley (died June 16, 1864), Mitchell

Moore, William Maple, Benjamin Maple,
John R, McCullough, Edward McGaffick,

David J. Reese, Thomas C. Robertson.
The Fourth O. V. I., was organized at

Camp Chase, April 25, 1861. Its Colonel

President Lorin Andrews, of Kenyon Col-

lege, dying October 4th of that year, John
S. Mason, a native of Steubenville, and
Captain of the regular army who had done
good service in the Mexican war was ap-

pointed bis successor, and had hard fight-

ing in Virginia. Colonel Mason was made
Brigadier General for his conduct at Fred-
ericksburg.

Company H, 5th Regulars, Henry Surles,

Sergeant ; Jeremiah Osterhouse, Corporal.
Company B, 6th, Carlton C. Cable.

Company E, 7th, Zera Smith.
Company A, 15th Regiment, William J.

Permnr. killed at Liberty Gap, Tenn., June
25, 1863.

Companv E—Corporal, John P. Heaton

;

Thomas Wood, killed at Picketts Mills,

Ga., May 27, 1864.

COMPANY E, 18TH REOIMKNT O. V. I.

Among those transferred from the 2d
Ohio to this regiment at Chattunooga on
February 1, 1865 and later were Isaac But-
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terworth, Pharaoh Bell, Robert Banford,
Samuel Cable, David Call, Frank Dolby,
Albert J. llolroyd, Dennis Healer, Johu
Holes, Daniel Hunter, Ross P. Johnson,
John McOray, Robert P. Martin, John
Summers, James H. Winters, Henry
Wooster, Vitallis Hunter, died April 11,

1865 at Vicksburg; Charles W. Quimby.
Joseph Montgomery (died Oetolwr 8, 1864
at Andersonville, of scrofula); John F.

Stewart died at same July 30, 1864; Frank-
lin Brainard.

COMPANY F, 25TH REGIMENT O. V. I.

Mustered in June 13, 1861 at ('amp Jack-
son, O., mustered out June, 1866, and par-
ticipated in the West Virginia and Virginia
Campaigns of 1861-62, Gettysburg, etc.,

1863, South Carolina 1863-65. Zachariah
Ragan, Chaplain.
John F. Oliver (assigned to Provost Mar-

shal's Bureau May 13, 1863), David R.
Hunt, Captains. This was a large Com-
pany made up from different sections of
the State, the other members from Jeffer-

son being as follows: First Lieut. James
Templeton; Second, Samuel P. Houston,
Joseph H. Hollis and William Maloney;
Sergeants, John W. Parrish, Solomon
Ebersole, John H. Saunders, Leander
Province, John C. Maxwell, David P. Scott,

John McKinley (killed May 2, 1863 at

Chancellorsville), Bazil C. Shields (killed

at Gettysburg, July 1, 1863); Corporals,
William H. Branson, Jerome P. Miller,

William Gazaway, William II. Irwin, David
C. Ingler (killed at Chancellorsville) David
S. McKinlev; Musician, Samuel M. For-
rester (died June 20, 1864).

Privates—John Armstrong, John An-
derson, John Barrett, William H. Barr,

AVilliam Bangher, Daniel Bell. Daniel
Brownlee, Edward Barrett. Thomas
Burchfield, Patrick Burk. F. C. Bingel.

Walter Booth. Joseph C. Coulter, Michael
Cantwell, James Collins, Samuel Craw-
ford, John W. Cahill, Andrew J. Dick, Ed-
win O. Forrester, John A. Garrisane,
Henry Greer, John T. Hancock, George

W. Horner, George Harmon, Augustine
Horner, Job Jones. Thomas Jones (dis-

charged for wounds December 13, 1861

at Camp Allegheny, Ya.), John M.
Kerr, Isaac Kurfman, Theodore E. Ix>dge

(killed May 8. 1862 at McDowell, Va.).

John Lnrkin, Bernard MeLafferty, James
McConnell, William H. Manning, James
Mooney, Andrew Moffat, Thomas Nolan,

John O'Neal, .John P. Parrish (died Au-
gust 22, at Old Point Comfort), John Pool
(died September !>, 1864 in Philadelphia),

William P. Parrish, John .1. Roberts (died

January 28, 1863, at Annapolis, Md.), Aus
tin Robb, John Roddicks, James Scharlett,

Isaac H. Smith. James I. Shields, James
W. Sunders, John Yeite, John Williams,
David Williams, Peter Yarnall.

Company A, 28th Regular, John G.
Lange, Sergeant.

Company B, 30th Regular, James Fraz-
ier, Corporal.

COMPANY O, 30T1I UKlilMKNT O.V.I.

Mustered in August 28, 1861 at Camp
Chase, and mustered out August 13, 1865
at Little Hock, Ark. Had service in West
Virginia, Maryland, Mississippi, Tennes-
see, Georgia, and North Carolina. Follow-
ing were from Jefferson County:

Captain, W. H. Harlan, resigned Sep-
tember 12, 1802 and was succeeded by Gor-
don Isofland and Aaron B. Chamberlain;
First Lieutenant, George E. O'Neal, James
Trotter; Second. Edward Grieves (re-

signed June 3, 1862). Robert Boals; Ser-
geants, W. II. Lyon, George Shuster (died
July 24. 1864 of wounds at Kenesaw), AVill-

iam Carter, John F. Ix-ech, L. Davis, John
C. Conn; Corporals, James E. Myers, Johu
Layng. William Grafton (died October
27, 1861 ), Henry Dunn, John Delluff, John
O'JIarra, E. Munsey, Theodore Beck, Ben-
jamin S. Cole. John Cusiek.

Privates—Washington Allen, Thomas
Arthur. A. Batchelor, Thomas B. Brownlee,
James Carter. William Cowen, Isaac J.

Cox. Miehael Cox. Jacob D. Cusiek, M. V.

B. Dunn, Lewis Davis. Thomas Dignan,
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Joseph Fielding, John Lodge, Samuel Max-
well (died May 26, 1803 at Walnut Hills,

Miss.), Hi rani Mushrush, James W. Daw-
son, Aretas E. Merrett (killed at Antietani

September 17, 1862), Thomas McCrystal,

Lewis Minor (died September 4, 1861 at

Weston, W. Va.), John Reed, William II.

Stewart (died December 12, 1863 at

Charleston, Tenn), Elisha Shuster, John
Scharlott (wounded at Antietam and died

October, 20, 1862), George Seharlott. Ed-
ward J. Gibbons, Grafton Horner (killed

September 14, 1862 at South Mountain.

Md.), Evan Horner, John M. Hutton,

Oliver S. Hamlin (died February 26, 1862.

at Fayetteville, Va.), James Hill, Alex-

ander Best, Benjamin Coates, Robert Pep-

I>ers, Isaac Wiggins (died May 18, 1864

of wounds at Resaea. May 17, Charles Wor-
stall (died April 21, 1863), James H.
Henry, John C. Heenan, George F. Hood,
JohnB. Hickman, Andrew J. Huff, David
Leech, Albert Listou, James Leeper (died

June 23, 1862 at Flat Top Mountain, Va.).

George Scharlott, James Thompson, Jacob
Thompson, J. Trotter, John Whitson, Jere-

miah Watkins, Charles F. Young, Uriah
Brown, James S. Owens, Robert A. Tilton,

John M. Taylor (died July 7, 1862 at

Vicksburg), John Myers, Benjamin Pros-

ser, Anderson Barrett (killed at Antietam),

James B. Doran, Lycurgus .Johnson,

David V. Walters (captured at Atlanta),

John W. Myers, William Dickie, Benjamin
F. Gillespie (wounded at Atlanta, July 28,

1864 and died August. 24), Matthew Priest,

Thomas Arthur. Wade Fithen, John Lodge,

John Miser.

32D BEOIMKXT O. V. I.

Company A, Edward Crealy (died Au-
gust 24, 1864), Thomas Duke (died August

27, 1864), Thomas A. Goodlin, Joseph
Grim, Thomas B. Sterron, Aaron Schamp
(died March 19, 1864), David Potts (killed

1864), James Twaddle.
Company C. Edward H. Sprague.
Company F, William Casey, James Duke,

Robert aud Thomas Kirkpatriek (26th Ind.

Bat.), William B. Moore (26th Ind. Bat.),

William Twaddle, (do).

35th O. V. I., Company A, James P. Huff-

man.

COMPANY U, 40TH REGIMENT O. V. I.

The members of this regiment were re-

cruited in November, 1861 and the regiment
mustered in at Cump Chase on November
21 and subsequent days. It saw good serv-

ice in Kentucky, Tennessee and Georgia.
Company H, Cnpt. William Cunningham,
was mustered out in October, November
and December, 1864, and on Deeemlwr 10th

the veteran recruits were consolidated with

the 51st, 0. V. I. Following were the mem-
bers of Company H from this county:
George D. Stone, 1st Lieutenant; Ahner A.
Kelly, Sergeant, captured at Chickamauga

;

Thomas R. McCullough, Corporal, (killed

at Kenesaw, June 20, 1864), Hiram Holmes,
Corporal, Abraham T. Markle, Corporal,
captured at ('., died November 30, 1863 in

Libby Prison; Thomas B. Holmes, Cor-
poral, captured at C; James Porter, Cor-
poral, captured at Mission Ridge, died Sep-
tember 7, 1864, in Andersonville, Robert
C. Cole, (killed at Kenesaw), James Chal-
fnnt. William Chambers, Nathan Crowley
(captured at C), John C. Dodds, Isaac X.
England (died January 28, 1863), David
Holmes. Michael C. Hartford (died March
20. WA), Augustine B. Johnston, Matthew
O. Junkiu, Henry Kelly Sr., James Kelly,

William Maxwell, Franklin J. McCullough,
Alfred Mnllonee, Joseph McConnell, Will-

iam Porter (captured at C, died November
15, 1H<>4 at Andersonville), John Richard-
son. Aaron Ross (captured at C, died De-
cember 31, 18(i3 in Libby Prison), Edwin
Ross. Johnston Ross, James II. Shinier,

Benjamin Willis (captured at C. died Sep-
tember 1, 1864 at Danville, Va.), John R.
Winters, James A. Welch, (William S.

Winters, George S. Parks transferred to

Eng. Corps), B. F. Prosser, Samuel Tel-

. fer.
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CO. 1, 40TH REGIMENT O. V. I.

This company was mustered in December
9, 1861 with Capt. A. B. Calderwood and
Milton Kemper. Following were from
Jefferson County:

Sergeants, John K. Donaldson, Harry B.

West and David W. Beebout. CorjK>rals,

William Armor, Oliver Alliusworth, James
Alleusworth, John Boyd, AVilliani W.
Chambers (captured at Atlanta), I^ewis

S. Davis, William Frazier, John Gutshall,

Lindley Ong, (died July 16, 1862 at Ash-
land, Ky.), Cyrus M. Kodgers (died Sep-
tember 16, 1863 near Atlanta), Matthew P.

Sampson, (promoted to sergeant), Sam-
uel K. Winters. Isaiah Winters, Abijab
Miles (promoted to hospital steward), An-
drew Shepperd, William Flocker.

COMPANY C, 43D RKGIMENT O. V. I.

This company was mustered in at Mt.
Vernon, Ohio, October 128 to December 25,

1861 and participated in the campaigns in

Missouri, Mississippi, Georgia and South
Carolina. Jefferson County members
were

:

Moses J. Urquhart, (resigned April 8,

1862), II. S. Prophet, John C. Hamilton and
James A. Lantz, Captains; William B.

Thornhill and Cornelius McCaffrey, 1st

Lieutenants; A. J. Sampson, Samuel H.
Taggart, Samuel B. Aikins, James Blair,

David P. Host, Henrv Miser, John Reeber,
Philip C. Bodgers, B. C. Johnston, Ser-

geants; William Avery, David Smith, Jer-

ome Black, James A. Hathaway, William
Leggett, Samuel B. Johnston, William Ma-
hau, William Murdock, William S. Neal,

John Vance, S. Roberts, Corporals; Fred
Meisner, Drum Major.

Privates—William P. Calvert, Josiah
Aikins. Benjamin F. Anderson, (died Octo-
ber 14. 1862), Edmund M. Anderson, J. B.
Anderson. Levi Baines, George B. Beck,
Bobert W. Beck, George Benedict, Jacob
Benedict (wounded at Corinth, Miss., Octo-
ber 4, 1862. died October 5), William Bene-
dict, Ananias Berrell (died May 24, 1862),
John A. Brotheii, Nathan Barrier, Lemuel

Karr, Adam Kiumiel (died July 8, 1862),

Samuel Leech, David Lightner (died June
25, 1864), James Mansfield (died August
15, 1863), Jonathan Martin, Absalom Mil-

ler, George D. Moore, William Morgan,
John W. Morris, Samuel Mull, Henry Mun-
»on, Joseph S. Murphv, Jacob Ooffield,

John W. Cole, Andrew" P. Crowl (killed

October 4, 1862 at Corinth), Thomas Crum-
ley, A. Carson, Lewis A. Davis, Bobert M.
Dutton, James H. Fowler, John W. Fowler
(died October 24, 1864), James B. Frazier,

Henry C. Fry, William Gamble (died of

wounds at Pocataligo, S. C, April 4,

1865), John Gibson, Bobert Gibson, Samuel
S. Hammill, Edward Hines, Isaac P. Hines,

James Origen. G. W. Currant, William II.

Price, Lewis S. Byder, Tolbert Rockwell,

Erastus Bouse (died April 13, 1862), John
Spruens, Andrew J. Steadman (died May
12, 1862), James Timbril (died April 20,

1862), James K. Weaver, Joshua P. White,
William A. White (wounded October 4,

1862 at Coriuth, died November 10), John
Wilson, William A. Wood, Smith Worley,

John S. Wrikeman, Amos B. Wiles.

co. o, 43d regiment o. v. i.

Company G was mustered in at Camp
Andrews, October 22 to December 19, 1861

by John Ferguson. Captain, who died De-
cember 6, 1862 and was succeeded by San-
ford F. Timmons, transferred from Com-
pany C, succeeded by James H. Speakman.
The members from Jefferson County were:
Edwin J. Keller, Bobert McNary and

Jason Brown, 1st Lieutenants; Edward L.

Dunbar, John W. Thompson and James
O 'Council, 2d; John C. Frazier, II. B.

Black (died April 9, 1862), Alexander P.

Bell, John I. Gruber, James II. McNary,
William Ferguson, Sergeants; John M.
Armstrong, William H. Garrett, Charles P.

Maxwell, William II. Bet ton (died April 18,

1864), Jesse Dungan. David Hicks, Albert

F. Matlack, Corporals.
Privates- Abraham Arnold, Bichard

Arnold, James L. Bell, Alexander Brob-
son (died October 31. 1862), Clark D. Bee-
bout. Hugh Brown, Samuel Badger, Will-
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iara Brown, Nathan P. Bates, Elisha Cram-
blet, Thomas Crawford (died March 20,

1862), Joshua W. Cole, John J. Crippeu,
Thomas C. Ferrell, Milton O. Grimes,
James Grable (died September 25, 1862),
James T. Hewey, Henry Hale (died May
19, 1862), James Kirk, Matthew J. Kirbv,
(died 1863), Almond Kelly (killed at Cor-
inth October 4, 1862), John Myers (died

June 3, 1862), Bazil 0. Maxwell (died May
L'8, 1862), Thomas J. Parr, Thomas B.
Phillips (killed at Corinth October 4, 1862),
John C. Balston, David C. Stewart, James
W. Steffey (killed at Corinth), William R.
Stewart, David W. Scott (died February
17, 1864), William B. Shane, Abraham
Stull, John Lipton (killed at Corinth),
James Scott, William' Oarrett, Frank
Grimes (died on way to regiment), Philip
Myers, (died 1864), John Vermillion, Will-

iam H. West, David Wallace (killed at Cor-
inth.)

Company A, 43d O. V. I., A. M. Matlack,
James Carter.
Company D, 43d Regiment, Elijah M.

Weekly.
Company K, 43d Kegiment, Arthur J.

Thompson.

52U REGIMENT O. V. I.

This regiment was organized at Camp
Dennison, Ohio, in August, 1862 and parti-

cipated in some of the fiercest battles of the

war, including the Georgia Campaign and
closing in North Carolina after the march
to the sea. Daniel McCook was Colonel,

and the other officers from this county were
C. W. Clancy, Lieutenant Colonel, ad-
vanced to Colonel after the death of Mc-
Cook at Steubenville on July 17, 1864 from
wounds received at Kenesaw; James T.
Holmes, Major; George L. Zink, Sergeant
Major; William D. Scott, Quartermaster.
Company B went into service August 21,

1862, and with Companies E and G was
made up from this county with the follow-

ing membership.
Captains, Charles W. Clancy, William

Sturgis; 1st Lieutenant, William A. Jud-
kins; 2d Lieutenant, Samuel W. Duff; Ser-

geants, James O. Bates, Theodore Huin-
phreville, John T. Fowler (killed at Kene-
saw), Joseph T. Witherow, Henry B. Mer-
ger, David M. Bunyon, Lewis D. Mercer;
Corporals, Morris Graham, James II. Mc-
Masters, Oliver M. Shane, Leauder JoneB,
Henry H. Fleming, Noble Ross, Samuel
Grimshaw, Benjamin B. Foster, James
Shane (died November 14, 1862), Samuel
Mustard (died November 11, 1862), Walter
A. McCnllough, George W. Carter (pro-
moted 2d Lieutenant colored troops)

;

musicians, David R. Busbin and Pinckney
Bone.

Privates—Henrv B. Anderson (died Jan-
uary 2, 1865), A". W. Alloway, Edward
Brown, Joseph Brown, Benjamin F. Brown
(died December 8, 1862), Matthias F.
Blackburn (died January 16, 1863), Joseph
Blazier, (died February 14, 1863), Henry
Barger (fatally wounded at Peach Tree),
William Barkhurst, James Bond, John
Barkheimer, Charles A. Brooks, Elza V.
Cox, William F. Carson (killed near Kene-
saw, July 2, 1864), Elijah M. Chadwell
(died November 15, 1862), George W.
Chambers (died April 20, 1863), Thomas
Colenian, Thomas Cox, James Davidson,
Alexander Davidson, John T. Dugan, Will-
iam A. Duval, (died November 25, 1862),
Alfred Downard (captured at Chieka-
mauga, diet! August 20, 1864 in Andersou-
ville). David Daily (died May 19, 1864).
David B. Durbin (died November 10, 1864),
Joseph B. Devenny, Virginius Duval, Co-
lumbus Evans, Gilbert S. Fleming, John
F. Fleming, William M. Fleming (killed

March 16, 1865 at Averysboro, N. C),
Christopher Flynn, William Giles, Jr., Ad-
dison Gasuway, Isaac R. Henry, John W.
Hastings. John W. Hicks, Oliver Hicks.
Thomas Hunter (died November 18, 1862),
William Haynes (died December 13, 1862),
William H. Harrison, John Harrison, Jon-
athan C. Harrison, Isaac Howard, Joseph
A. Householder, George F. Irvin, Thomas
A. Jobes, William M. Johnson, William
Kirk, William Kirk Jr., Benjamin H. Kirk,
Harvey Kaufman, Reese O. King, John P.
Kendriek. William II. Iac, Jacob Myers,
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.raines McDonald. Oliver McGrew, Allen

T. McMasters, Joliu M. McLaughlin, Rob-
ert N. Mercer (killed September 1, 1804

at Jonesboro. Ga.), Campbell Miller,

Charles S. Miller (died December 13, 1802),

Norman Miller (died April 20, 18(3.'?),

Joseph L. Merideth (died December 19,

1802), George Maloue, Merrick H. McMas-
ters, Elba C. Morgan, James R. Nation,

George W. Pierce, David Paxton, Thomas
E. Paxton, William Hoe, Lewis C. Richards
(killed at Kenesnw,) John Keyuard (died

November 8, 1802), Theodore Richardson,
Joseph Ross, Alfred M. Robinson, Scott

Roe, Horatio I). Stanton (died July 28,

1804), John Seals, Joel II. Smith, George
W. Tweedv, William H. Timmerman,
Thomas Taylor, Uriah II. Updegraff, Will-

iam Withrow (died November 4, 1802),

John W. Worthington (died November 10,

18(52), Edwin K. Worthington (died Janu-
ary 30, 18(53), John Wagner, Jr., George
W". Wilson, Robert E. Wilson, George A.
Walker.

COMPANY K, *>2ll RKOIMKNT O. V. I.

Captains, Parker A. Elson (resigned

Mureh IS, 1803), Jlenry O. Mansfield and
Wiliam Lane; 1st Lieutenants, Alexander
Smith, Alexander B. McTntire; 2d Lieu-

tenant, James If. Donaldson (killed at

Peach Tree July 1!>, 18(54) ;
Sergeants. Dan-

iel F. Huscroft". E. Tappan 11 anion, David
M. Scott. David King, Nixon B. Stewart ;

Corporals, J. Browning Mansfield. Joseph
M. Thompson, Elmer Everson, Thomas A.

Thompson, lleni v II. Scott, Mordecai Mc-

Dowell, William 's. Wilkin. David II. Mc-

Cul lough.
Privates—Daniel Arnold. Oscar F.

Adams, John Allman (died September 10,

18(52 of wounds at Lexington, Kv.K Nelson

Allen (died February 1, 18(53).' Edgar IT.

Arthur (died September 23. 1803), Mark
Albaugh, William W. Ault, David II. Allen

(died Febuary 1, 1803, John C. Brown, Rob-
ert M. Blackburn (killed at Averysboro, N.

('.), Alfred Blackburn, Moses Boyd, Frank-
lin Carnahan, George W. Chaffant, Ben-
jamin M. Culbertson, Salathiel Cathell,

James Cunningham (died November 2,

18(52), John Crawford (died January 13,

18(53), Robert B. Council (died February
10, 1K03), Lewis N. Carman, Thomas
Crown, William B. Crown, George Davis,

Henry II. Day, David Dimmitt, Elias Dim-
mitt (killed at Peach Tree), George W.
Dally, Ellis Dnlryniple. Alexander Doug-
lass," John Fellows, William J. Funston,
James Fenwick, George Fenwick, Eli W.
Gordon (killed at Peach Tree), William B.

Gillespie (died December 10, 1802), Vachiel

Galloway. Morris J. Gray, Alexander
Gracy. Samuel M. llnnlin (killed nt Peach
Tree) Joseph llnnlin (killed at Kenesaw),
James W. Harper, David Henry (died Sep-
tember (5, 1*04), Nelson Householder, Har-
inau Hukill. John Johnson, Joshua John-
son, John Keily, James C. Lease (killed

August 2, 1804), John Linton, Otto Linton
(killed August 11, 1804 near Atlanta),

James Love. Rezin J*. Mansfield, Thomas
B. Mansfield. Basil H. Maxwell, William
MeCann, Daniel MeElfresh, Thomas Me-
Gee, David T. McMasters, Andrew Mc-
Maims, David L. Miller. James Moore.
Bart ley Moore, John A. Nelson, Robert
Nelson, Calvin Newburn. Iliram G. Price,

George M. Ojuillinn, William Rvan, John
F. Hiarlitlv (fatallv wounded March 1!>,

ISO.") ,.,t Bentonvillc. N. C.), William II.

Reynolds, James L. Rogers, William Rhine,

Henry Stone, William Stone. John N.
South, James Sullivan, James W. Sheets
(killed September 1. 18(54 at Jonesboro,
Gn.), William D. Scott. Thomas C. Scott,

Lycnrgus Shearer. Thomas D. Shannon.
Andrew Shannon. John N. Stroud, James
W. Sanforth, George S. Thomas, Andrew
Taylor, Isaac Toot. Oliver P. Toot (died

December 10, 1802), Richard Thompson.
Thomas Taylor, James Underwood (died

November 17. 1802), Benjamin F. Wilson,
Joseph M. Welday, Joseph K. Welt, Isaac

N. Winters (fatallv wounded at Kenesaw),
George Wilson. Thomas Welch, Silas Yo
cum.

COMPANY U, 52l> BKOIMKNT O. V. I.

Captains. James T. Holmes (captured
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and paroled, September 1, 1862, promoted
to Major), Samuel Rothacker; 1st lieu-

tenants, Addison M. Marsh, I>emuel W.
Duff; 2d, David F. Miser (wounded at Ken-
esaw August 2, 1864) ;

Sergeants, Abraham
R. Holmes, Joseph C. Rogers, Samuel M.
Pvle, John R. Berrv, Ross E. Rex, Styles

W. Porter; Corporals, Henry K. Crabs,

William M. Cook, Samuel Copeland, James
Taylor, Samuel H. Wyant, Andrew M.
Stevenson, Isaac N. Wycoff (died June 27,

1864 from wounds at Kenesaw), Johnson
Davis, Albert E. McCue, : Emory P. Smith

;

Musicians, Hamilton Wallace, Samuel Ar-
nold.

Privates—Jacob Angle (died December
11, 1862), Hiram Angle (died December
2, 1862), John Andrews (died December 11,

1862), Wiliam V. Bairn, George W. Bairn

(died February 15, 1864), James C. Bow-
ers, Thomas Burchfield, Michael Burch-
field (died November 12, 1862), George
Berry, John Bern,', Thomas M. Burns,
George Barcus (died January 17, 1863),
Hamilton Bareus, Philander P. Barnes,
William P. Barnes, Isaac Banghart, Henry
C. Banghart, Samuel Blackburn, Jacob
Burch (died December, 1863), Louis
Browning (died November 20, 1862), Jona-
than Carnahan (died August 20, 1864 from
wounds at Peach Tree), Mord M. Cook,
Jonathan A. Cole, Clinton Critser, James
W. Donaldson (died May, 1864), William
C. Donaldson (died April, 1864), Leonidas
B. Douglass, Emory P. Douglass, Robert
S. Dunbar, John H. Dungan, Abraham
Fickes (died October 30, 1862), Nathan
Gossett, Thomas C. Graden, Thomas G.
(Jrable (died May 18, 1863), Brice R.
Gruber, William Guren, John E. Goodlin,

John Hales (died May 18, 1863). Tinlis

Hanger, James E. Jackmnn, Richard W.
Jobe, Cyrus H. .Jenkins, James M. Kain.
William Kelly, Jacob Long (died November
21, 1862), Ezra D. Lawrence, John Mcin-
tosh, Robert Mcintosh, Thomas H. Mont-
gomery, Benjamin F. Miser (killed at

Peach' Tree), Robert S. Maxwell (died

December 5, 1862), Robert McClave (died

January 21, 1863). John B. Carl (died Sep-

tember 19, 1864 from wounds at Jones-
boro), John MeKirkpatriek, Franklin W.
McElravy, Richard B. McFarren, James
L. Porter, James Peggs (died February
27, 1863), John Polen, Enoch Probert,
Greenburv Phillips, John Rhinehart,
Charles Roberts, Arthur W. Robb (died

January 1, 1863), Benjamin C. Rex, Abner
D. Richards, Joshua Saltsman, Benjamin
E. Saltsman, Joseph Swan, William H.
Stephenson, James Sanders, Franklin
Smith, William K. Shnltz, (April 24> 1865
killed near Raleigh, N. C), Francis H.
Scott, (killed at Peach Tree), Stanley
Shane (died November 23, 1862), Michael
Stem, David P. Stevenson, Thomas G.
Stephenson, Edward J. Springer, James
Wallace Sr., James Wallace Jr., George W.
Wallace (died March 9. 1863)), David Wal-
ters, Milton B. Wyaut, Edward Wilson,
William J. West (died December, 1862),
Julius B. Work, John S. Wright. E. P.
Smyth was captured at Goldsboro, N. C.
April 24, 1864.

co. i, 52d regiment o. v. i.

Jefferson County members were Martin
Imhoff, Franklin Brumhofer, James Por-
ter, Stewart S. Hukill, Lucius P. Boyden,
John B. Wilson, Charles F. Young.
Company I, 53d Regiment, Isaac Linduff,

Sergeant.
57th, James Cress, Surgeon.
Company E, 60th., Francis A. Priest.

61st. Hegiment, Dr. Enoch Pearcc, Sur-
geon and brevet lieutenant colonel. Com-
pany A, John Pearce, 1st Lientenaut. Com-
pany B, Frederick A. Eberhart, Alexander
Gilchrist.

Company F, 62d, William Woods.
Company D, 66th, Joseph M. Myers, Co-

lumbus C. Taggart.
Company K, 69th, Randall B. Taylor.
Company E, 64th, Captain, Samuel L.

Coulter; Sergeant, Henry Moore (died Jan-
uary 30, 1863), Privates—James J. Black-
burn, John Barker (died October 3, 1864
from wounds at Jonesboro, September 1),
John A. Creswell, William Chalfant, Jerry
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B. Davis. Abel Foreman (captured at C,
died August 17, 1864 in Andersonville),
David Foreman, Samuel Foreman, Thomas
Gilchrist, Levi Linton (killed May 9, 1864
at Rocky Face, Ga.), James McDonald
(died February 9, 1862), John Miller, Jere-
miah Smith (died April 8, 1862.)

COMPANY K, 71ST REGIMENT, O. V. I.

This regiment was organized at Camp
Dave -Tod, Troy, 0., and Padueah, Ky.,

from September, 1861, to January, 1862,

for three years and served in Tennessee
and Georgia. Company K, Capt. Thomas
AY. Brown, had the following from Jeffer-

son County

:

Second Lieutenant, "William S. Hamilton
(drowned August 19, 1862 in Cumberland
River)

;
Sergeants, John S. Werntz, John

Crawford, Harvey MeGowan (promoted
to 1st lieutenant, Company E), Wilbur F.

McCue, John E. Reed (promoted to ser-

geant major); Corporal, William L. Stew-
art, Samuel Burchneld.

Privates—Elijah Cole, John J. Calhoun,
Henry Jackman (died September 30, 1863),
John S. Parsons, Milton B. Rilev. George
W. Werntz (enlisted in 4th U. S. Cavalry),
Peter Adams. John Drake, John C. Phillips.

Company C, 71st, William Floto.

Company G, 74th, Nathaniel Elliott,

Adam H. Bair, Joshua Lowniiller, Joseph
Walker, W. V. B. Croskey, Corporals.
Company C, 77th, Michael Kelly, .lames

Jewell. Company K, William M. Hutch-
ison, Corporal.

company r, 84th rf.uimf.nt o. v. I.

This company was recruited in May, 1862
for three months service and was mustered
in June 10, 1862 at Camp Chase. It was
ordered to Cumberland. Md., to prevent
transportation of supplies into the rebel

lines. It was then ordered to New Creek,
W. Va., to repel an expected attack which
did not materialize and was mustered out
on September 20, 1862 without the loss of
a man. several having been previously dis-

charged for disability. Following were the
members:

Capt. Christopher H. Orth; Lieut. John
McLeish, James Wallace; Sergeants, Wil-
son A. Cable, Martin Cable, William Bris-

tor, John B. Hickman, John A. Edie; Cor-
porals, Lewis Helms, John Wears, Thorn-
ton T. Bright, l^eslie Love, John F. Dun-
bar, James M. Anderson, Jouathan Lea-
zure, George B. Barr, William E. Tonner;
Musicians, Hamilton Erskine, Richard
Huff; Wagoner, Intrepid Boyer.
Privates—Frank W. Abraham, William

H. Adams, John Barr, Frank W. Baumas-
ter, Francis H. Bird, Albert H. Black,
James Black, Abraham Blackburn, David
E. Blackburn. Michael Burk, Douglass Ca-
hill, Frank M. Cahill, James Charlton,
David Coyle. Charles H. Damsell, Matthew
DeTemple, Peter DeTemple, Henry Dob-
bins, Augustus Dunkerly, Philip Dunn,
Theodore Dunn, George Evans, Newton
Ferree, Lumens E. Planner, William A.
Foster, Valentine Frank, George H. Frye,
Charles Gallagher. William Gille, Charles
Glendenning, Joseph Gunkcl, John Holbuck,
Arthur C. Hamilton, Edward C. Hamilton,
Robert Hamilton, Samuel Henry, James W.
Hoffman, Oscar Hukill, George A. John
sun, Thomas Jones, Thomas J. Jones, Al-
bert Kells, Benjamin Kennedy, Whitaker
Keysey, Otto Linton, George Ixwkhart,
Foster Manly, George R. McCance, David
McCarty. John McCarty, Silas McClelland,
Joseph MeFeely, Samuel McFeely, John
McGowan, John Mcllvane, Frederick Mil-
lard. Joseph S. Miller, Samuel B. Miller,

Benjamin Moffitt, Alexander Morrison,
James H. Ornn, Joseph M. Parks, Ander-
son Price, Charles Quimby, William Ram-
sey, Hiram Rea, John Reidelmouscr, An-
drew Reynolds, John Roberts, Cornelius
1$. Salmon, William Sands, Henry Sharp,
Samuel Simmons, John Smith, Emmett W.
Spencer, Rosswell M. Stephens. John Sterl-

ing, Harvey Sumption, Edward Sweeney,
Daniel R. Taylor, James M. Thomas, Will-
iam Waters-, James M. Williams.

Five members of the regiment died in
hospital at Cumberland, Md., and the work
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along the B. & O. railroad relieved that

many veterans for the relief of Washing-
ton which was threatened during Stone-
wall Jackson's raid down the Shenandoah
Valley while McClellan's forces were on the
peninsula. When the company crossed
the river at Bellaire en route to Cumber-
land it was greeted by a large excursion of
friends and relatives from Steubenville on
the steamers S. C. Baker and .lames Means.
Company H, 84th 0. V. I., Henry

Fletcher. Company K, 97th 0. V. I., Will-

iam Lidy.

Company A, 85th, Robert C. Bell, Cor-
poral.

98th regiment o. v. i.

The 98th regiment was organized in Au-
gust, 1862 at Camp Steubenville located on
historic Mingo Bottom, and was mustered
in August 21st of that year. It was made
up of Eastern Ohio men, three companies
and a large proportion of the staff officers

being from Jefferson County. It saw hard
service in Kentucky and Georgia, beginning
with the battle of Perryville, Ky., and
closed its work at Bentonville, N. C. on
March 19-2], 1865. The relations between
this and the 52d 0. V. 1. have always been
very intimate, both regiments coming from
the same section and both participating to a
great extent in the same campaigns. The
officers of the 98th were

:

Colonels, George W'ebster (died October
9, 1862 from wounds received at Perryville

October 8), Christian L. Poorman (re-

signed June 12, 1863), John S. Pearce;
Lieutenant Colonel, James M. Shane,
(killed at Kenesaw. June 27, 1864) ;

Major,
David E. Roach; Surgeons, Henry West,
F. M. Marseilles (died April 23, 1864),
William A. McCracken; Assistant Sur-
geons, William T. Sharp, Thomas N. Lewis,

Charles P. Simons; Chaplains, Alexander
Swaney, J. F. Crooks ; Adjutants, Ellis E.
Kennon, Duncan C. Milner, John H. Reaves
(killed at Jonesboro), J. F. Oglevec; Quar-
termaster, F. W. McCauley; Sergeant
Major, John M. Brannum, James A. Mc-
Nary

; Q. M. S., II. L. Cogsill, John Blatter,

O. II. Holy; Com. Ser., II. A. Redfield, F.
B. Fox. J. W. Diekersou; Hos. Stds., J. E.
Dun, J. F. Watson, William Teer; Mu-
sicians, J. E. Fitzgerald, J. R. Burton.

co. a, 98th o.v.i.

Captains, James M. Shane, James B.
Jewett; 1st Lieutenants, William McMil-
len (died October 27, 1862 of wounds ut

Perryville), James McKinley (captured at

Chickamauga) ; 2d Lieutenants, John Mor-
row, Jacob S. Kennedy; Sergeants, James
Lavery, John R. Stone, George W. Morri-
son, Thomas T. Hamilton, William C.
Blackledge, Charles W. McMillcn, Joseph
Cummins (died September, 1864 of wounds
at Jonesboro); Corporals, John O'Connell
(died November 4, 1862 of wounds at Per-
ryville), William L. Carston (captured at

C, died September, 1864, at Anderson-
ville), John A. Joseph, George B. McCoy
(captured near C, died August 26, 1864
in Andersonville), Alexander W. Risher,
Eugene B. McFarland, Romulus Bnrr,
William A. Chuffy, Abraham G. Hartford,
Thomas B. Jewett; Musicians, Thomas 0.
Johnson, James Fleming; Wagoner, Robert
A. Fleming.

Privates—Thomas Bair, John Barton
(died August 1, 1863), Robert E. Blinn,
John Bowers (died October 13, 1862 of
wounds at Perryville), Hiram Bucy, Leon-
ard C. Bucy (died February 7, 1863), Na-
thaniel Bucy (died March 25, 1863), Will-

iam H. Bucy, Henry Bums, William H.
Bynon, William Campbell (captured near
C, no further record), Benjamin F. Carr
(died October 31), Cyrus Criby, David J.

Clark, William Clendenning, James D.
Coleman (died January 27, 1863), Thomas
Dougherty, David G. Elliott (captured near
C, died at Millen, Ga.), George Elliott

(captured near C, died December 18, 1863,
at Richmond, Va.), John W. Evans, Jacob
S. Fleming, Leander A. Gist, William H.
Gray, Robert Hamilton (died November 19,

1862), Thomas Hamilton, John Hart (cap-

tured near C, died April 15, 1864, at Rich-
mond), Samuel H. Heaton, Elias Hines
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(died January 13, 18(53), Thomas W. Hod-
ginn, Thomas (J. Hood, .Joseph Hooper,
Samuel Huuter, Samuel H. Hunter, David
L. James, Robert Jarvis, Evan Jones, Will-

iam Johnson, Lyeyrgus F. Kellv, William
C. Kelly (died June 28. 1863), William
Kennedy, Samuel Kimble (captured near
C, died August 3, 1864, in Andersonville),
Elmer Kirk (died July 5, 1864, of wounds,
at Kenesaw), Oliver Kirk (captured near
C, died December 30, 18(i3, at Kich-

mond), Joseph Lee (died October 27,

18(52 of wounds at Perryville), James F.

Leech (died December 2(5, 18(53), William
T. Leech, Benjamin H. Linton, John Love,
James Lyons, James Manuel, Isaac W. Mc-
Coy, John McCoy, John McCaffrey, George
MeFJroy (died January 1, 18(53 of wounds
at Perryville), John Melville, Joseph Mil-

ler, John Morgan, Stephen 0. Morton, John
X. Myers (died February 4. 18(53), John
Xevin, Benjamin F. Oram, George Parks,
Daniel Penwell, Joseph D. Porter, William
A. Porter, Elias Prosser (died May 10,

18(54), Robert Robertson (died October 12,

18(52 of wounds at Perryville), Benjamin
C. Ramsey (died February 2(5, 18(53), David
Ross. William Shaw (died December 19,

18<>2), Patrick Shine, Alexander Tavlor
(died October 31, 18(52 of wounds at Perry-
ville). Robert I). Thompson, David Warren,
James M. Warren (captured near C, died
January 1'), 18f>4 at Richmond), David W.
White, Huston Winters (captured near C,
no further record). William Winters.
George Woods (killed at Jonesboro), Rob-
ert Jackson. Benjamin Reynolds.

company !>, !18th o. v. ].

Captains, Moses J. Urquhart, (dis

charged March 1, 18(54 on account of

wounds at Chiekamauga), Burnet N. Lind-
scy; 1st Lieutenants, James B. Jewett,
George C. Porter, John Blatter; 2d Lieu-

tenant, William II. Anderson; Sergeants,
James R. D. Clendenning, John L. Dillon.

William L. Germon, Thomas Hislop. Ed-
ward L. Marion, William II. Umbowers,
Robert Johnson, Wesley A. Warden, Will-

iam Fellows. John B. Jlanna, George Hynd-
inan (killed at Peach Tree); Corporals,
Jamo Hill, Thomas J. Cole, Samuel D.
Bartholomew, William A. Elliott, Thomas
C. Davis. (Jeorge Taylor, (died November
13. 18(52), Thomas Duffy. George A. Max-
well, Thomas Pasters, William Gilkinson,
Thomas J. Skaggs, Leroy W. Rogers,
James W. Vaughan, Henry Ekev, James
E. Fitzgerald, Thomas B. Lisbey (killed at

Kenesaw); Musicians, Thomas C. Brady,
Otis M. Keesey; AVagoner. Xewton A.
Crquhart.
Privates—Charles W. Abraham, Thomas

T. Alexander, John F. Arthur (died Feb-
ruary 9, 18(53 of wounds at Perryville),

Stewart Arnold, Thomas B. Arnold, Abel
Ash by, Adam 11. Bair. George W. Brindley,
Isaac D. Bucey, Jerome CarjM'nter, Robert
Cavanaugh, Richard Chambers, Reziu
Clendenning (killed at IVrrvville), Eras-
mus B. Coffland, Oliver Cole, Edwin W.
Coombe, Thomas Corau, John M. Crawford,
Rufus W. Criswell. John Culp, Nicholas
L. Davis (died October 31, 1862), Samuel
Davison, Thomas L. Jean, Andrew Dexter,
John Douds, Joseph W. Edminstou, Jen-
kin Evans. Robert Filson, Charles Fitheu,
William Gant (died October 11. 18(52 of
wounds at Perryville), John J. Goodlin.
Edward Grieves, Isaiah Groves, William
Ilcinzey, Nathaniel R. Householder (killed

May 30, 18(54 near Dallas. Ga.), Andrew
Huston. William Jarvis, John Kruts, Ben-
jamin Lemon, William Lewis (died Octo-
ber 10, 18(52), James Lingan, John Lingan,
William Lynn, Daniel Marker, William
Marker (died November 30, 18(52), David
F. McAdams, James McGliil, John Mc-
(iowan, Thomas F. McLain. James R. Mil-

ner, Xathaniel F. Norman, Patrick O'Brien.
John W. Patterson, William F. Ridgley.
Joseph J. Risden. David R. Rogers,
Thomas H. Scott, John W. Smith, Adam
Springer, William Syley, Andrew J. Tay-
lor, John Welsh, Jsaac J. West (killed at
Perryville), James G. Wilson (died No-
vember 30, 18(52), James Work, died Oc-
tober 10, 18G2, from wounds at Perry-
ville October 8), Augustus S. Worthing-
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ton, Rudolphus B. Zoll, George Washing-
ton.

Company H, William Rhinehart, Ser-

geant.

company i, 98th regiment o. v. i.

Captains, Robert H. Williams (died

August 10, 1864, from wounds received

July 5, 1864, at Vindig Station, Ga.)
George C. Porter; 1st Lieutenants, Thos.
Maekey (resigned February 1, 1863), Rob-
ert MeGonagle; 2d Lieutenants, Thomas J.

Morgan (resigned April 8, 1863), Richard
B. McGuire (died October 15, 1863, of
wounds ut Cbickamauga) ;

Sergeants, John
M. Hemming, Wm, A. Bovce (killed March
19, 1865, at Bentonville, N. C), Abraham
Moorhead, John E. Ebersole, Harvey D.
Williams, Wm. H. Sterling (died Septem-
ber 23, 1863), John J. McAllister, James
L. Smith; Corporals, John B. Vanfossen,
Wm. Gribben, Valentine Thomas, Joshua
Stevens, Jasper H. Fishel, Robert C. Bax-
ter, David Agnew, Calvin M. Thomas, An-
drew Moorhead, Homer Brown, Wm. H.
Cox, John Lutes, Wm. Mitchell, Otis G.
Staub, Henry T. Albaugh (died August 10,

1864, from wounds, near Atlanta, August
7, 1864), John Smeltz (died July 5, 1864,
of wounds received at Kenesaw), Andrew
Denniston (died November 5, 1863, of
wounds at C.) ; Wagoner, Chas. II. Miller.

Privates—Ralph W. Atkinson (died De-
cember 24, 1863), Eli Barton, Joseph Ben-
nington, James C. Boice, Alexander Boyd,
Andrew Brothers, John H. Brown, Row-
land J. Brown, Wm. H. Buchanan, Wm.
K. Burke, Rotert Campbell, John S. Car-
uahan, Michael Clark, Amos B. Cook, Sam-
uel Cunningham, John F. Daniel, Adam
Fishel, Frederick L. Fishel, Richard Gor-
zales, Morris Hardesry, Joseph Harsh
(died November 12, 1862, of wounds, at

Perryville), Wesley Henderson, Jacob
Henry, John Hissong, George T. Leyde,
Jonathan Long, Wm. A. Long, David R.
McAllister (killed at C), David McLain,
Thomas J. Daniels (died October 9, 1864,
of wounds received Februarv 1, 1863),
John W. McLoney (died October 9, 1862,

of wounds, at Perryville), Moses McXa-
mara, Hiram McQueen, Daniel S. Miller,

John 1). Miller, Wm. H. Moore, John Moor-
head, Andrew J. Myers, Cost J. Pearce
(died March 24, 1863, of wounds, at Perry-
ville), Levi D. Pennock, Samuel G. Queen,
David E. Roatch, Jared Russell, Isuac E.

Ruth, John Schooler, Robert Sharp, Jo-

seph S. M. Staley, Jacob Taylor (killed

September 20, 1863, at C), Charles Tillett

(died September 26, 1864, of wounds, at

Jonesboro), John Tillett, Wm. A. Thomp-
son, Moses Toot, Israel Token, John Wag-
goner, John Walton (killed at Perryville),

Philip R. Ward, Jacob M. AVestfall, John
Whittaker (died June 5, 1863, of wounds,
at Perrwille), Thomas R. Whittaker, John
S. Whitla, John Wilkin, John L. Witherson
(died February 16, 1863), Okey Worley,
Joseph Worley, Joseph P. Worley (died

October 22, 1862), James W. Younker.
UNASSIONED RECBUIT8.

James D. Love, John W. Lamb, Alva F.

Miller. The 98th regiment lost 230 killed

and wounded at Perryville.

COMPANY B, 122© O. V. 1.

Privates—Ross Coyle (died December 4,

1863, of wounds, November 27, 1863, at

Mine Rim, Va.), Geo. W. Craley (died Oc-
tober 25, 1863).

126TH HEOIMENT, O. V. I.

This regiment was composed of eastern
Ohio men and was organized at Camp
Steubenville between September 4 and Oc-
tober 11, 1862. Its record was a continued
series of battles, beginning at Martinsburg,
W. Va., on June 14, 1863, and ending at

Petersburg, April 2, 1865. Its losses footed
up 509, or one-half its members. Company
D was recruited principally at Steubenville
and Hammondsville, and members from
this county were scattered through the
regiment. Among the field and staff offi-

cers were Wm. H. Harlan, lieutenant

colonel ; Lewis P. Sutherland, adjutant

;

John K. Andrews, chaplain; Corydon E.

Patterson, quartermaster sergeant; all of
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this county. In Company A, from Jeffer-

son, were C. E. Patterson, captain; Wm.
Potts, 1st sergeant; John H. Ferguson,
sergeant; Titns Lowmiller, James McDon-
ough, John C. Snyder (died March 24,

1863), Robert J. Thompson, Ephraim True,
privates.

Company C—Ambrose U. Moore, 2d lieu-

tenant ; Geo. Downard, A. D. Walker, pri-

vates; Tobias Ferrell, corporal.

COMPANY D, 126TH 0. V. I.

Captains, Samuel Paisley, Robert Mar-
tin, Henry C. Yontz; 1st Lieutenants, Sam-
uel C. Kerr, George T. Gurney, Joseph
MeKee; 2d Lieutenant, David K. S. Wells;
Sergeants, Alex. M. Mcintosh (died Feh-
ruary 15, 1863), Kohert M. Morrow, George
Householder, John Aiken, James E. Pais-

ley, Cyrus Mansfield; Corj>orals, George B.
Clark (died July 23. 1863), John P. Irwin
(dfed January 22, 1864), James 1\ Burn-
side (killed May 6, 1864, in the Battle of
the Wilderness), Alexander B. Grafton,
James Dennis, Henry B. Graham, Albert
W. Householder, Henry C. Millheizer,

Thomas Russell, David Miller; Musiciau,
John B. Egan; Wagoner, James Stills

(died April 15, 1863).

Privates—John G. Agnew, Kohert Aiken.
Stephen Alford, David Barnes, Richard
Barr. Thomas Brown, James Brunei*.

Jacob Bruner (killed July 9, 1864). John
Campbell, Conrad Christy, Geo. D. Clark.
Win. M. Clark, David Close (captured at

the Wilderness, died October 14, 1864, in

Andersonville), James Y. Collev, Charles
E. Crist, Duncan Dallas (died April 11,

1863), Clement W. Daniels, Joseph Dargue.
Eli Davis, Isaac N. Desellem, Geo. Doug-
lass, Mahlon Downard, James Everett
(killed May 12, 1864. at Spottsylvanin),
Leander C. Galloway, Win. Gannon (killed

September 19, 1864, at Opequan, Va.), .Jes-

se Gannon, John Gelesthorpe, Joseph (Jess

(died June 23, 1865, from wounds at Cedar
Creek, Va., October 19, 18(34), John H. Gil-

son, Moses C. Glenn, Wm. Going, John
Grout, Henderson Griffit, Samuel Haight,
Jones P. Hall, Hector S. Hart, Peter W.

Householder (died November 9, 1863),
Wm. L. Householder, Joseph A. Hughes,
Isaac Hussey, Absalom Jones, Ellis Kelly,

Whitfield Lambert (killed October 19, 1864,

at Cedar Creek, Va.), Benj. F. Large (died

July 21. 1863), John Larcis, Mack S. Lewis
(captured at Wilderness, died January,
1865, in Andersonville), Geo. Linton, John
II. Loughottom, Geo. Loce, Wm. Lockhart,
John Limn, James Lynch, Philip McBane,
Wm. McBane, Thomas McClain, Samuel
F. McClain (died March 11, 1863), Jackson
McConnell, David McDonald, Laughlin J.

McKenzie. G. Mailno, James Martin, Rob-
ert J. Miller. Augustus Miller, Solomon
Milliron, David K. Moore, James Morrison.
Alexander Xohle, John Parsons, Richard
Parsons, Corydon E. Patterson (promoted
to quartermaster sergeant). David Rager,
Jacob Riblett, Edward Roberts (captured
at Wilderness, died October, 1864, at An-
dersonville), Providence M. Robinson,
George Russell, John Sainer. Jacob Saul-
ter, Robert Scott, Henry Gilbert, John
Simkins, Kmmanuel Smith, John Spencer
(captured at Wilderness, died October.
18(54, in Andersonville), Frederick Spring-
born. Samuel B. Thorpe. Robert Thomp-
son (died March 11, 1863), John A. Thomp-
son, James Tilton. James W. Turner, Har-
rison B. Turner (died October 14, 1864, of
wounds, at Opequan), Alexander Vandvke
(killed July 9, 18(54, at Monocncy, Md.)' G.
Van Wagners (died July 3(1, 1864). James
A. Walters. Wm. Weihle, Benjamin Wes-
son, John Williams.

Company E, Thos. E. Hyatt, Captain,
killed September 19, 1864. at Opequan.
Company F. Samuel C. Kerr, 1st Lien-

tenant; Geo. W. Dehuff, died December 5,

1863.

Company H, Henry Bricker (died No-
vember 6, 1863), John B. Hooper. Enoch
F. Hynes (captain in 118th Colored Infan-

try), James A. Winters, Thomas M. Her-
vey (killed May 12, 18(54, at Spottsylvania).

129th RKfUMENT, O. V. I.

This regiment was mustered in at Cleve-

land from July 28 to August 10, 18(54, for
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six months, and on the latter date started

for Camp Nelson, Ky., and from thence
to Cumberland Gap, and performed credit-

able service in that locality. Parts of two
companies were made up from this county,

as follows

:

Company H, 1st Lieutenant, Thomas H.
Brown; Sergeants, William Ramsey, Mat-
thew E. DeTemple.
Privates—Andrew Aldridge, Justin

Cooper, Leonidas Dungan, William Doug-
lass, James Tlobuck, Stanton Howard, An-
drew J. Carr, John McFee, Lewis Milhiser,

Francis A. Priest, James M. Risher, Jabez
Smith, Augustus Veitz, Eli Yocum.
Company I, 1st Sergeant, George B.

Bair; Corporals, Robert McGowan,
Thomas Taylor; Musician, William Camp-
bell.

Privates—Edward Atchison, John Barr,
Albert H. Black, Dennis Donovan, Rezon
Fisher, John W. Leetch, David Listar,

George Lockhart, John P. McCardell, John
R. Robertson, John W. (Winfield) Scott,

George Whit taker, John Zellers.

Company D, 142d, William Martin,
James Speedy.

157th regiment, OHIO national guamds.

Early in 1864 the organization of the

Ohio National Guard was completed under
the state laws for home defense, a similar
organization having been formed in several
other states. As the season advanced it

looked as though the Union forces really

had a death grip on the rebellion. The
Mississippi Valley was open to the Gulf.
Sherman was working towards Atlanta and
Grant was confronting Lee, preparing for

what was believed to be the final struggle.

But the national armies had been depleted
by disease and battle and their very suc-

cesses only furnished moro territory to

garrison and lines of communication to

guard. It was believed that could all the
veteran troops then occupied for these pur-
poses be allowed to go at once to the firing

line it would result in the prompt termina-
tion of the war. But who were to take

their places! Governor Brough, of Ohio,
grasped the situation and met the gov-

ernors of Indiana, Illinois, Iowa and Wis-
consin in conference at Washington. The
result was a tender, on April 21, of 30,000

men from Ohio, 20,000 from Indiana and
Illinois each, 10,000 from Iowa, and 5,000

from Wisconsin, to serve one hundred
days. The offer was joyfully accepted,

and by Monday evening, May 2, there were
38,000 Ohio soldiers in camp ready to be
sent wherever needed. The Thirty-ninth
Battalion was composed of eight companies
from Jefferson County, and the 88th of two
companies from Carroll. These were con-

solidated into the 157th Regiment, O. V. I.,

popularly known as the National Guard.
The regiment was ordered to Baltimore
and from there to Fort Delaware, where it

guarded some 14,000 rebel prisoners. It

wns mustered out at Camp Chase, Sep-
tember 2.

FIELD AND STAFF OFFICERS.

Colonel, George W. McCook; Lieuten-

ant-Colonel, John Morrow
; Major, William

Herron; Surgeon, William M. Eames; As-
sistant Surgeons, Thomas B. Eagle, Benja-
min H. Fisher; Adjutant, James Elliott;

Regimental Quartermaster, J. Stewart
lx)we; Hospital Steward, Oliver Kells;

Sergeant-Major, Henry Pemiar; Quarter-
master-Sergeant, Henry B. Stewart ; Prin-
cipal Musician, Lyman Priest.

COMPANY A, 157TH O, N. O.

Captain, Wheeler Burgess; 1st Lieuten-

ant. James M. Riley; 2d Lieutenant, John
II. Harris; Sergeants, Hays McCowen, Al-

exander Donelsou, Patrick Shannon, Frank
II. Bird, Thomas Fegmon; Corporals,
Isaac Clifton, Lloyd Parks, George Nichol-

son, Joshua Porter, James Robinson, Will-

iam Bates, James Palmer, Thomas Hunter;
Musicians, Henry Priest, John G. Wares;
Wagoner, Joseph Ferguson.
Privates—Andrew Aldridge, George

Amick, Thomas Anderson, John Bates,
.Michael Brannon, Harry Campbell, Will-
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iam H. Carnahan, Thomas (Larson. Charles
Cashed. Thomas Cassiday, Orlando J'.

Clifton, William 11. Clifton, Michael Cou-
elcy, John Cook, James Coulton, William
Cunningham. Edwin Crawford. .John Couf-
mau, James Davidson, Arthur J)onelly,

Edward Dunn, Jackson Duvull, Thomas
Duvall, William W. Duvall, Alfred Elliott,

Joseph B. Elliott, Edward Elson, Cyrus
Ferguson, George Ferguson, Richard
Fielding, John Flanagan, George Flohr,

Andrew Gamble, William Greer, John
Hamilton, David B. Hicks, Elisha Hinds,
John Homer, George M. lngler, William
Jones, John Kerr, .lohn Lee, Richard Lee,

Edward Lenhart. Lemuel Leonard, James
McCoy, Henry J I. McElhenny, Alexander
Moncrief, James Nelson, William North,
David Odbert, Frank Owesney, J)avid

Owens, James Patterson, Edward P.

Pearoe, Edward Robertshaw, William
Shamp, William Van Ostrand, William
Walters, John Wilcoxon, Stephen Wil-
coxon, John Wilson, Gordon Workman.

COMPANY It, 157X11 O. K. O.

Captain, William A. Walden; 1st Lieu-
tenant, John McLeish ; 2d Lieutenant.
James A. Cloman ; Sergeants, Nathaniel A.
Jepson, Abraham M. Blackburn, John
H. Lindsay, George M. Gault, John W.
Evans; Corporals, Samuel R. Zinn, George
W. Weaver, James A. MeCurdy, .lames
D. Maxwell, Joseph Mellor, John J.

Riley, Ross Kells, Daniel P. Copeland;
Musicians, Erskine M. Hamilton, Richard
Huff; Wagoner. Bueey Cahill.

Privates—Edward Barr. William Beck,
MoCourtney Betz, James B. Blinn, Lemuel
Brandenburg. Frank Cahill, William H.
Caldwell, Amos W. Cloman. John W. Cook-
son, John W. ( 'opelarid. David C»»yle, Ste-

phen Cuinniins. Cicero L. Davidson, Will-

iam H. Denmeud. John Doyle, George A.
Evans, Eli Fetrow, Jacob G. Fickes. Jesse
S. Foster. Edward Glendennitig. William
Guinea, Edward C. Hamilton (died July
14). Henry Hammond. Thomas A. Ham-
mond, George llautch. Evan II. Harris, Al-

exander M. Helms, William M. Helms,
Tims. J. Holliday. Leroy Kells, John Kerr,
Robert McGowan, Charles McKinney,
William McLaughlin, .lohn Malum, Foster
W. Manly, Franklin C. Maxwell, John P.

Means, Jacob L. Miser, John H. Morrison,
James Myers. Daniel Potter, Richard
Reynolds, William D. Robb (transferred to

navy), William H. Robinson, Abimelech B.
Ryan, William H. Settle, Alexander S.

Sharon, (ieorge Sharpe. Nathan B. Spear,
Thomas P. Spencer, Harry A. Stewart,
George Swords, Perry Thompson, Benja-
min I*. Travis, John Wagner, Orin A.
Wortliiugton, Isaac H. Zimmerman.

com pax v c, 157th o. x. a.

Captain, James H. Prentiss; 1st Lieu-

tenant, James F. Daton; 2d Lieutenant,
Newton Ferree; Sergeants, James E.
Myers, James Thomas, James Timmons,
William Mandel, Albert 11. Block; Cor-
porals, William Moles, Charles Glenden-
ning, Thomas Burk, James Bair, Arthur
Hamilton, Robert Turner, John Blaus,
Frank Moore; Musicians, Chas. Quimby,
Joseph Zahn; Wagoner, Samuel McMillen.

Privates—George Album Henry Ander-
son, George Barthold, Joseph Basler,

James Beans. George L. Berry, David E.
Blackburn, Henry Blackburn, Leonidas
Bond, Thomas Boyd, Mitchell Bruney,
William Buchanan, William Burchard, An-
drew R. Burns, Edmund Bvrou, Albanus
Cahill. John C. Caldwell, John H. Camp-
bell, Samuel B. Campbell, Thomas Cole-

man, William Coleman, James Curry, Nor-
ton Davidson, Edward Devinny, George H.
Dillon, John M. Downs, William G. Doug-
lass. Oliver P. Dunbar, Thomas Dunn, John
Edgar, Frederick Espiug, James Frazier,

James Frve, Thomas J. Fulton. Samuel
Hamilton. Bush llanna. James H. Hinds,
William B. Hunter. Edmund Huntsman,
William Huscrol't, Winficld Jackman, Guy
Johnson. William Johnson, Augustus Kla-
ges, Washington Laverv. George Lee. Will-

iam Leelch. Richard' McCarty, Frank
Mc<'ay. Robert McCord, Edwin McCoy,
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Frank McKiuney, Matthew McMullen,
James S. Manly, James L. Mellor, George
E. Miller, Alexander Norton, Archibald
Odbert, Bernard O'Harra, Joseph G.
Kidgley, William Robinson, John Rogers,
Henry Sharp, Cornelius B. Salmon,
Thomas Stafford, James Stark, Frank Ste-
vens, Henry B. Stewart, John Stewart,
Richard Suteliff, Edward Sweeney, Brice
Viers, Robert A. Warren, George Wiggin-
ton, George B. Winters.

COMPANY D, 157TH O. N. O.

Captain, Robert Boals; 1st Lieutenant,
John Fisher, Jr.; 2d Lieutenant, James M.
Starr

;
Sergeants, James Hill, David Smith,

Benjamin Fisher, Henry Carlisle, William
H. Sherrard, Oliver P. King; Corporals,
William A. Urquhart, George Fisher, John
Yocum, William Gamble, George L. Conn,
Jacob A. Odell, Samuel Bickerstaff, David
M. Slee

;
Musician, John Randall.

Privates—Augustine Bickerstaff, Ellis

H. Bickerstaff, Resin P. Bickerstaff, Will-
iam N. Bickerstaff, David Brooks, George
Brown, Thomas Brown, Wesley Buchanan,
John R. Burgett, Spencer Burk, Henry P.
Cassell, Joseph Cassell, Jr., Davis R. Clif-

ton, John Connelly, David Curfman,
Thomas Curfman, Douglass Delano, Rob-
ert Dickey, Leonidas Dungan, James H.
Dunn, Edward Fitzimmons, Ephraim J.

Foster, Joseph Gill, Hezekiah Golden, John
Gossett, William S. Grafton, Joseph Grim-
shaw, Benjamin Hart, John Hoobuck,
James S. Huntsman, Martin Tmhoff, Jona-
than Lazure, Wilson Lee, Edward McCune,
Finley A. McGrew, James McLeash, An-
drew Martin, Hugh P. Miller, Robert More-
land, John F. Nelson, Thomas H. Nelson,
Ijevi Odell, John V. Odell, George Owen,
Talbott Parrish, Nathaniel Porter, Wilson
Richardson, Joseph Robinson, William
Roland, William T. Shaw, Samuel Shoe-
maker, Philip A. Shultz, Eli Slee, Freder-
ick Smith, Isaac Smith, James M. Speaks,
George W. Tomliuson. James Walters
(died July 24). Jolm W. Watt, Nathaniel
C. Welch, Addison J. White. Allmon G.
White, Jolm Wilson. George L. Zink.

COMPANY B, 157TH 0. N. 0.

Captain, Thomas A. Gamble; 1st Lieu-

tenant, Charles M. Jones; 2d Lieutenant,
Nicholas Winters; Sergeants, Thomas S.

Markle, Thomas C. Davis, Alexander O.
Scott, William Stone, William T. Leech;
Corporals, William Stark, Solomon Hips-
ley, George Plummer, Eli Kirk, Jacob
Bickerstaff, David Hall, James Lindsey,
James R. Cunningham

;
Musiciun, Aloysius

Feist, Marshall R. Hobbs.
Privates—James Alexander, Samuel Al-

lenworth, Lewis Armstrong, Charles Bar-
rett, Joseph C. Bowers, Isaac Butcher, Da-
vid Call, Michael C. Castner, Andrew H.
Coe, Alexander H. Cunningham, Baxter
Cunningham, Benjamin R. Dance, Henry
Dobbins, John Dougherty, Rezin B. Ekey,
Andrew Elliott, Samuel D. Fisher, George
W. Grafton, Frederick Grieves, Joseph
Gunkle, Charles W. Hale, George P.

Hanna, Philip Hart, William Hipsley, Al-

len Holmes, Samuel W. Irons, Thomas
Jones, Benjamin F. Kirk, William II.

Kirk, James Kirkpatrick, Robinson D.
Kirkpatrick, Thomas Lenhart, Benjamin
N. Linduff, Albert Liston, John Long, Eli-

jah Lowry, John A. McCullough (died Au-
gust 28, 1864), William H. McCullough,
Grier McKee, Hugh McManus, Thomas
Mansfield, Thomas Maxwell, John H. Mil-

ler, Ebenezcr Myers, Thomas C. Powell,

William Ramsey, Thomas Robinson, David
Ross, Thomas Rutledge, James Snider, Ja-
cob Snively, Oliver P. Sook, James Spen-
cer, Robert Stark, George Starr, John E.

Stone, John Stout, Kinsey Swords, Charles
Vermillion, Alexander S. Welday, Henry
Wilkinson, Abel Winters, Joseph Winters,
William Woods, Richard Wright.

COMPANY F, 157TH 0. N. G.

Captain, Alexander Smith; 1st Lieuten-
ant. James Templeton; 2d Lieutenant,
William 1>. Thompson; Sergeants, Bates
Sutherland, Matthew Garrett, B<«nton

Lisle, Thomas B. Scott, William D. Quilleu

;

Corporals, John Moore, William Mclntire,
Wesley P. Scott, Nathan McGrew, John
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Golden, William Tipton, Andrew Craw-
ford, Robert Melntire; Musician, George
W. Whitten.

Privates—James Adams, David Adrian,
Alexander Betz. .Fames Blackburn. John Y.

Brown, Oliver Brown, Thomas Brown,
Fernando Burris, John Collins, John Cox,
Wesley Cox, Alexander Cunningham,
George W. Dawson, Alexander Douglass.

George Dunlap, Frederick Farmer, John
Fanner, William D. Fell. Charles Galla-

gher, Davidson Gault, James Gilhrcnth,

William Gilhreath, William Harris, Frank
llulick, Henry Iluliek, Samuel Johnston,
William Jones, William D. Linton. John
J. Lisle. David Long, Wesley I,oiig. Will

iam McConnell, Joseph MeCullough, Alex
under MeGrew, James MeGrew, Maustield

MeGrew, Isaac Maloney, Bates Miller, Oli-

ver Moore, William Moore, William Negus
(died August 1, 1SU4). John NewWrn.
Henry Oliver, George |{. Purviance,
F]ihraim Ralston, David Rideout, Oliver

J I. Kine, Rudolph Hine. Amos Rush. Levi

Bouse. James Scolt, Thomas II. Scott,

Henry Taylor, William Thomas. John
Thompson, James Timmerinan, William
Timmcrmuu. Martin Touley, Isaac Tuhhle.
James Fuderwood. Alexander Welday.
William White, Thomas Wilhurn, Ander-
son Wood. Thomas Wood, John Zink.

cmmi'axv o, I 57th i). n. (;.

Captain. Hiram II. Cope: 1st Lieuten-

ant, Thomas B. Coulter; lid Lieutenant,

James M. Simeral; Sergeants, George
Potts, George F. Megrail, Thomas M.
Bced, Janus R. Rittenhouse. Joseph II.

I lainniond : Corporals. Lindley II. Megrail,

John S. Parsons, Albert B. Paul, Joshua
W. Cole, Kdwin M. Crawford. Jonas Aims
l»oker, Elijah B. Maustield, William K.

Cookson; Musician. Almeian Matlack;
Wagoner, Robertson Day.

Privates Robert C. Adrian. Aan>n C.

Allen, .Alexander Black. John W. B!a<k-

burn, Samuel Carman, Thomas Collin, Fnr-
I'm B. Cole, Joshua W. Cole, William B.

Cole. John M. Crawford (died July !1 ),

Alexander deal, (ieorge W. Davis, John

M. Day, .James Ewing, Robert Ferguson,
Robert J. Ferguson, John Ford, Kdwin O.

Forrester, John J. S. Goodlin, Hugh Ham-
mond, John C. Hammond, John G. Ham
moud, Lewis Hammond, James I). Hast-
ings, Stephen B. Bastings (died August
2.T), Samuel B. Bench, James R. Hewey.
Isaac Hicks, (ieorge Johnston, John S.

Johnston, John N. Jones, Kdwin .1. Keller.

Joseph C. McNarv, Jacoh Maustield, James
R. Mansfield, Nimrod P. Teaff. William H.
MansfieUl. David W. Maxwell, Thomas
Mayes. Thomas Megrail (died August 10),

Nicholas Merryman. Nicholas W. F. Mer-
ryman. Rezin Merryman. George Moore.
William Parks, Amos Parsons, Hervey
Polen, Kli Porter, Hugh S. Porter, Joseph
H. Porter. Hugh Polls. Nathan Purviance,
Jonathan W. Rahe. Alexander Reynolds,
Shadrach Rowland. Isaac A. Starr, Thomas
C. Thompson, Carrollton Tipton. Charles
M. Tipton. Samuel Tipton. William K.

Tonner. Isaac Vorhes, William F. Whitten,
Thomas Wright.

company n, 157th o. n. (i.

Captain, Kdward Findley: 1st Lieuten-

ant. William Davidson; 2d Lieutenant,

William Winters; Sergeants, Thomas S.

Sanders. Thomas B. Jewett. Alonzo llayne,

J. C. Ault, Ross Ban ns; Corporals. David
Morrow, Thomas Wells, (ieorge W. Ault,

John Dohbs. William S. Thompson, Joshua
(

'. Whitten. Jeddiah < 'ole, James Simpson ;

Musician, Henry M. Sanborn. Rezin B.

Johnson; Wagoner, (ieorge Cronkwright.
Privates—Thomas A. Atkinson. Malachi

Angle, John G. Armstrong. Samuel Arnold.
Henry Ault. (ieorge B. Barr, .lames Bee-
bout, William Bcchout. James Blackburn.
Noble C. Brown, Joseph Capstock. Ktnan-
nel Carman, Harvey J. Chambers. William
Collins. James Cooper, John Cooper. John
Courtwright, W illiam ( ourtwright. Klisha
Cox, James Crawford. William Crippen.
Joseph Cnppy. John R. Dunbar. John B.

Durltin. Daniel Findley. David Frazilo.

Klias Fulton. Ford D. (ieorge, Jefferson
<i lover, (ieorge W. (i lover, Thomas Hays,
William J. Hobbs, William JeWett. James
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F. Johnson, John Kelly, James Lyons,
John McClain, Asbury MeFerren, Jacob
O. McGrew, James McLnin, Griffith McMil-
len, Samuel Magill, Joseph Mills, Samuel
Morrow, John W. Naylor, Oliver P. Nay-
lor, Clark koii P. Newlaud, Abram Ong, Oli-

ver M. Ong, James M. Russell, James W.
Scott, John Scott, Joseph Shane, Thomas
B. Shannon, Samuel Shouster, Aneel B.
Stubbins, James F. Thompson, Samuel
Timmerman. Watson Melville, Peter Wells,
George F. Wilson, David Yocum.
Company E, 170th Regiment, David K.

McCnnce.
Company D, 170th Regiment, one year

service, Benjamin F. Barr, Abram W. El-

liott, William Goodlin
; Company O, Will-

iam F. Davidson; Company 11, William II.

Ferry; Company I, John R. Beatty.
Company II, 178th Regiment, Jacob M.

Taylor; Company I, Adam Saner (died
January 4, 18(55).

Company G, 179th Regiment, Captain,
James W. Glasencr; Sergeants. Daniel Pot
ter, Harvey Alton; Corporal, William
McCord; Musician, Joseph Krebs; Ser-
geant-Major, E. Roseman Gardner.

Privates—Thomas Forbes, James Mc-
Grew, Matthew (Mark, George W. Price,
Thomas Martin. .lames M. Risher, Edward
Atchison. James L. Dcvore, Daniel F. Ste-
phens, James Taylor, G. A. Coleman, Clark
M. Horner, Thomas P. Winters, Edward
Adolph, John W. Boylcs (promoted hospi-
tal steward), Philip II. Dunn, Samuel
Ilartsoc, James Iloobuck, John Kessler,
William J. Coleman.

Company II, 19.M Regiment, Martin B.
Patterson, 1st Lieutenant; Louis Veit,
Nathan (>. Phipps.

Col. Anson O. McCook was placed in

command of the 194th (). V. I., mustered in

March 4, ]8I>5, and breveted brigadier
general.

comcany ir, 1}>5th o. v. i.

Mustered in at Camp Chase, March 18,

1SU5. for one vcar; mustered out December
IS, 1HC5, at Alexandria, Va.

Captain, James II. Prentiss; 1st Lieu-

tenant, Thomas II. Teaff; 2d Lieutenants,

James E. Myers, Thomas A. Miller; Ser-

geants, Robert C. Turner, Frank O. Moore,
Albert II. Black, Arthur C. Hamilton, Ed-
ward II. Sweeney, Charles Glendenning;
Corporals, Guy Johnson, John A. Cald-
well, Benjamin Ovington, William W. Yan-
nostrand, Foster W. Manly, Darwin Milli-

ger, George W. Flannegan, Francis M.
Lister.

Privates—Samuel J. Adams, George B.

Barr, Frank Barthold, John C. Bates,

Leonidas Bond, Edward Bynon (died No-
veml>er 18, 1865), Albanus Cahill, Kinsev
Cahill, William H. Caldwell, William H.
Carnahan, Joseph Collins, John Costello,

Henry Culbertson, David Curfman, Joshua
Davis, Isaac Dilley, Frederick Drair,

Thomas Dunn, William Edgerly, William
H. Ewing, John Eraser, William Eraser,
Robert R. Garrison, George W. Gibson.
John Gorsuch, William A. Gray, Chauncey
Hamilton. Erskine M. Hamilton. John
Hamilton. Robert Hamilton, Thomas
Heighton, Charles llilliard, Elisha Hinds,
Frederick Hoffman, Henry Tlollman,

Michael Humble, John Hummelle, Chris-
tian Humphrey, William II. Irwin. Henry
Jobe. Henry Kelly, William Kell, William
C. Leeper, Frank Long, Robert S. Lucas.
James McCrystal, Ross J. McClelland.
Robert F. McCord, James McGrew, Daniel
Mcintosh. William S. McLane, Matthew K.
McMullen. George A. Manlv, Alexander
Melville. Marshall Miller, William C. Mor-
row, Lewis B. Nelson, George Odbert. Ben-
jamin F. Owens, James Parrott, William
P. Parrish, Charles W. Pitcairn, Thomas
II. Purviance, James Robertson {'!), Will-

iam Robertson, James Rourke, w William
Saladin, Henry Sharp, Alexander Shaw,
Milton Shearer, Thomas Shivey. Isaac
Smith, Reul>en C. Smith, Isaac W. Sparks,
John Stewart, Charles F. Stokey, George
F. Straun, Clarence E. Turner, August
Volkers, William II. M'aers. James II. Wat-
son, Peter C. Young. Charles II. Zimmer-
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ARTILLERY.

Company K
t
1st Light, Emerson Winn.

3d Battery, Jehu Woods; 5th, .lohn

Kelly.

25TH INDEPENDENT BATTERY, O. V. LIGHT
ARTILLERY.

Sergeant, Nelson P. Baker (promoted 2d
Lieutenant 4th Ark. Cavalry); William H.
Hafer, Addison lx>ekwood. William 1>.

Crosbv (died March 22, 1864), Francis C.

Fassett, Charles Q. King, Seth M. Hood,
Charles C. West, llenrv C. Warner (died

December 13, 1863), Hiram E. Williams,

A. I). Seamon, Daniel C. Wj-man, George
Zinn.

COMPANY H, 5TH O. V. CAVALRY.

Mustered in October 23, 1861, at Camp
Corwin, Ohio; mustered out October 30,

1865, at Charlotte, N. C. James Aliens-

worth, Jnmes L. Beebout, Edwin D. Cook
(Corporal), Andrew ImhofT, Thomas Pro-
bert. Thomas IT. Riley, John T. Scott,

James U. Todd, William J. Waggoner
(died June 22, 1865).

Company D, Alexander Stewart.
Company K, Joseph Parrish, John 1).

Stonebraker, George Williams, Benjamin
G. Cable, John Chalfaut, William Fisher,

Joseph McCoy.
Company L, Sergeant, Hugh Camphell;

.John Hughes, Alfred MeGrew, Thomas
Seals, William Richardson.

COMPANY II. llTH O. V. CAVAI.HY.

Mustered in July 31. 1863. at Camp
Dennison, mustered out July 14, 1866, tit

Camp Leavenworth, Kan. ('apt. Jacob S.

Shuman; 2d Lieutenant, George II. Boyd;
Sergeants. G. W. Marsh, John Stroud,
James T. Linn. Lewis Cooper, John H.

Hickman. (Quartermaster-Sergeant) ; Cor-
porals, Russell McManus, George Hall;

Farrier, Adam Calhoun; Saddler, William
Stoner.

Privates—Meredith Aldridge. John Al-

len. Jr.. Joseph C. Beltz, (ieorge Bingham,
John II. Cahili. John Carncs. John W.

EPSON COUNTY

Carroll, Alj»heus Caruthers, Robert De-
vore, Hiram Evans, Joel M. Ferguson,
Patrick Flaherty, James A. Farmer,
Thomas Flat ley, Charles Frame, Edward
Frame. William Gossett, Wilson S. (frier,

David T. Gallagher, Henry Gross, Adam
Glass, Edward Hurley, Martin Holland,
John Leitters, William B. Litten, William
McCatTertv. George Milligan, John Mc-
Glinu. Rezin McAllister, David C. Peck,
(Jeorge E. Reynolds. Samuel Rowley, Will-

iam J. Shives, John H. Walters, William
Wilson, Martin Madison, Frederick Sut
ton, Charles Thomas, George W. Marsh,
Wintield S. Davis (died Mav 31. 1865),

Wilson Barrett.

13th regiment o. v. c.

There were but few representatives from
Jefferson County in this regiment includ-

ing late enlistments and transfers from
other regiments. In Company F were
(ieorge S. Dickev and James S. Grnv.
Company B, 13th (>. V. C, B. M* Wil-

kinson, Richard Taggart, Sergeants;
(ieorge Thompson, Daniel Clendenning, A.
W. Goodlin. Robert Hood, Amzie Plummer.
Company G. Captains, William Jarvis.

Charles T. Young; Commissary Sergeant,

Theodore Dunn; Sergeant, (Jeorge Bair;

Cnr]jorals, Oliver Evans, Sophary Kellar,

Samuel Davidson. Francis 1). Thompson;
Bugler, (Jeorge W. Cahill; Privates.

Charles Blinn, Martin Burns, Silas W.
McClellan. James F. Stephens, Robert
Carr. (Jeorge Mushrush, Hiram Mushrush,
William W. Myers.

MISCELI-ANEOCS.

Many Jefferson County men enlisted as

individuals in regiments organized else-

where in this and other states, where it

has !>een impossible to follow their official

records. Notably this was the case as to

West Virginia, the lirst regiment of cav-

alry from that state showing the following

from this county: Captains. Jacob S.

Sehnman. John Seltzer, John J. McDon-
ald, AYilliam Shriver; Srgcants John
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Walters, J. A. J. Palmer, George Collins,

Samuel Cable (dead), James Galloway;
Corporals, James Wehr, Alexander MeFar-
land (dead) ; Privates, Jerry Pettet

(died 1864 in Andersonville), Patrick
Monehan, Thomas B. McConnell (pro-

moted to Sergeant- Major), Thaddeus Mc-
(iovern, Thomas J. Burns, Oliver Burch-
field (died May 10, 1862), William Brice,

James Burns (died April 24, 1864), John
Brooks, William A. Clifton, Jehu Durbin,
Robert G. Dorsey, John Estep, Sr. and Jr.,

Francis Estep, George Estep, William El-

liott, John Francisco (died June 5, 1862),

William Glenn, William G. Gill (dead),

William H. Harrison, Henry Ilolnian.

Henry Heinclunan, John Lyle, Levi Lin-

ton (dead), Abraham Lepps (captured Au-
gust, 1864, died at Danville, Va., January
10, 1865), Shannon Lyons, Thomas x.

Linn, Kobert E. May, Thomas MeDonough,
George V. Mossgrove (died of wounds re-

ceived July 27, 1864, at Winchester, Va.),

James B. Mears, Josiah J. Roberts, Johu
Kuddieks, William Kuddicks, John Stroud,

Robert Slee (died October 29, 1864, in An-
dersonville), Henry Stroud (died February
23, 1862), George Snyder, James Thomas
(dead), Levi S. Walters (Farrier, captured
and missing), Julius Welhi (died 1864 in

Andersonville), George Burns, Jonathan
Burns, John T. Stewart, Reuben Wait,
Jesse Bucy, Clark Smith, James Davis,

Sr. and Jr.

1st Va. L, Company A, Captain, Mount-
ford S. Stokely: 1st Lieutenant, Thomas
M. Simpson; 2d Lieutenant, M. Cook; Pri-

vates. George II. Smick, William Crewson,
John Everett, John Cropper.

.'55th Mass.. Thos. B. Sterling

63d Pa., Geo. Stamm. William Priest,

Lyman Priest, B. E. Hawkins, George Ly-
man, R. C. Hawkins.

5th Wis., Tsaac Shane.
8th Iowa Cavalrv, Eldridge Guerin (died

1863).

6th U. S. Cavalrv, Benjamin 1). MeGrew.
27th U. S. Colored Troops, Champion

Bowman (Sergeant), James Thompson,

William Hanna, Josiah Bruce (Corporals),
Josiah Fletcher, Patterson Strowbridge.

45th U. S. C. T., Benjamin Warfield.

116th U. S. C. T., Samuel Thomas, John
Mercer, Henderson Mercer.
114th U. S. C. T., John Scott.

54th Mass. C. I., George McPherson,
David Lyons.
Jacob Allenworth, 4th Iowa Art.; Dea-

con W. Bell, 22d Pa.; William H. Burns,
15th 111.; William H. Bowers, 1st U. S.

Eng. ; Daniel Byers, 37th Pa. ; William Bat-
man, 5th Kv.

;
Joseph Blackburn, 15th U.

S.; Albert Bradford, 88th U. S.; Charles
B. Buck, 3d N. J.; John N. Caraes, 36th
III.; W. R. Cunningham, 11th W. Va.; Jo-
seph Cornell, 10th 111.; George W. Curry,
Sgt., 76th Pa.; John E. Cunningham.
James D. Glendenning, 7th W. Va. ; Alex-
ander Duncan, 140th Pa.; John Doggett,
25th {]. S.; Charles C. Fisher, 135th'Pa.;
Joseph Frey, Sgt.. 74th Pa.; Eli Fizell,

118th Pa.; Wesley Ford, 5th U. S.; Robert
G. Howester, Sgt., 1st Pa. Cav.; John
Home, 101st Pa.; F. A. Hare, 123d Pa.;

John W. Henry, 14fith Pa.; James John-
son, Surgeon, 15th W. Va.; Sandy John-
son, 24th U. S. ; James B. Kennedy, 12th

W. Va.; Benjamin K. Kennedy, 154th Pa.;
Fred Kaufman, 123d Pa.; John Knowles.
5th U. S. ; John Loonier, 89th Pa.; Joseph
Marion, Lieut. U. S. Art.; Thomas Miller.

Corp., 1st W. Va.; John II. Mercer, Rey-
nolds Malber, Henderson Mercer, lOOth V.
S. ; James Mahew, 3d Ky. ; Simon T. Mer-
rvman, 43d V. -S.; William M. MeBride.
1st Pa.; Charles McCann. 09th X. V.; Pat-
rick McCatTrev, 201st Pa.: William C.

Xichols. 3d Ind. Cav.; AshM F. Richards.
Lieut. 4l!th Pa. ; James Rollins, 7th W. Va.;
Moses L. Risdon. 4th W. Va. C.: R. M
Stephens, 55th Pa.; William Smith. 78th

Pa.; Patterson Strobridgc, 27th U. S.

;

John Scott, 100th IT. S. ; Alexander Swain,
3d Mass.; Joseph L. Selah, 183d Pa.; Alex-
ander Sweeney, Lieut. 140th Pa.; John W.
Spriggs. 75th III.: Thomas Smith, Corp.,

3d W. Va. : Thomas Sight, Art. ; David G.

Smith, 2d W. Va.; Jesse S. Thornburg.
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78th Pa.: John Watkins, 77th Pa.; Albert

Zink. (ith W. Va.; Charles B. Buck, :id X.
Y. ('. ; John Crazier, 15th I*. S. ; John
Engel, Sift., Oth Pa.; Frank Collins, list

Midi.; Joseph B. Chnlfant, (ith 1'. S. C;
Uriah Kissinger. David hong, UUh U. S.

;

John Prosser, 15th U. S.; William \Y.

Worthington. 2d W . Ya.; Michael Metten-
burgher, 10th X. Y. C. ; John Duke. 1st

Tenn. Bat.; Eldridge (Jarin, 8th Iowa; Oli-

ver Coldtrap, Hohert Slee, Henrv Brooks,
1st \Y. Ya.; William Godnell. '2d W. \'a.;

Upton K. Sutherland. 1st W. Ya. : Xieholas

Merrymnn, 1st W. Ya. Bat.; Samuel H.

Miser, 1'. S. Signal, Edward P. Johnson.
55th Pa.. Peter D. O'Connell, Sappers and
Miner-; John Pyle, 18th U. S.; Hohert Cas-
sidav. William Elliott, James Grimes .las.

Han'lcy, William Kell, Aloir/.o StalTord. An-
drew Snowden. William MolTat, 15th I . S.

:

James ]). Clendenning, 7th W. Ya.; James
('.Cooper. BiOth O.Y.C; James Duke. ^(Jth

(). B.; H. P. (Jane, 1st W. Ya. ('.; Otis See-

ley. 14<»tli Pa.; Clark Smith (Corp.). James
M. Davis. Alexander Bueey, 1st W. Ya.;

George A. Miser, Samuel P. Miser, Amos
P. Barnes. U. S. Signal; David S. Miser.

P. S. Art.. George Walters, (ith W. Ya.

;

Jerrv li. Davis. (54th O. ; Svlvester Fowler.

100th Pa.: Pees (i. Hichards, 45th Pa.

Xo record. James Keith, Daniel S. Charl-
ton, Charles Fellows, Thomas B. Mnnslield.

David h. Miller, Benton Phillips, h. Cai-

man, William Matlaek, William Crown,
Thomas Crown, John B. Walker. Frank
Johnson, John M. Hohertson. Joshua
I laugh.

Special service from Boss Township-

-

Hohert C. Baehellor, Thomas Barker. Al-

fred Council. Andrew Daugherty, Joseph
Ewing, John B. (irimes, Hohert McBeth,
Abraham Mortland, John A. Hntnscy. John
Hichardsoii, houis Hihlet. James Swear
ingin. William Walker. This township
furnished *!> men out of a voting popula-

tion of 175. Three soldiers of the Revolu-

tion, and 14 of the war of is] 2 lie huried in

its cemeteries.

sil.VEH (IRKVS or 18(53.

On July 1. 18liJ, a compuny of Steuben-
ville's older citizens who were not liahle

to draft organized under the following

agreement: "Owing to the deplorable sit-

uation of our country and the good reasons

we have to fear a rehel raid into our stjite

we the undersigned, being men not suh.jeet

to the draft or to he compelled to perform
military duty, but at the same time be-

lieving it to he our duty to organize for the

defense of ourselves, our families and our
property, hereby agree to form ourselves

into a military home guard company, to be

called the Silver Greys: M. O. Jutikin,

James Spencer. Thomas Miller. McGuire
Dovle, Samuel Stevens, Henry Mellor. John
B. Doyle. J. II. Hays, John "l retell. David
Wilkin, George Mahan, Thomas Gilmore.
Hichard Archdeacon. Hev. A. Abbott,

(ieorge Fickes. John hincel, D. McCurdv.
Talbot Punish, John B. Miller, A. O'Neal,

B. P. Dreunan. John C. Copelnnd, James
McAllister. William Scott. E. Wallace. W.
B. hiudsny, James Fulton. F. Miz/.lewitz.

James Heed. Joseph Beatty. B. D. Worth
ington, William Harding. Adam Boyd,
John Morrison, Samuel Wilson, Thomas
J. Druiy, Joshua Dunn, William Gossett.

W. A. Urqiihnrt. Perrv Covle. Abel Manlv,
W. D. Nash, William Thompson. J. H.
Blinn. E. F. Bond. Huel Powell. A. I'. Cody.
William Caldwell. A brain Myers. Alex
under Donaldson, Joseph houden. William
Pickersgill. William BiekerstatV. Hobert

Gregg, William Simpson. Nathan Hunts-
man, James Meikle, James Parks, W. K.
Shannon. F. A. Priest, Thomas Warren.
John O. Orrick. A. W. Seinple. J. G. Barr.

John Baker. Jacob Coble. William Giles.

James Dunn. William Walker, William
Harris. J. C. Delano, John H. Miller.

Thomas MeFarland, H. C. Peters. Jacob
Hull. Matthew King, William h. Sharp.
Thomas Brashears. A. J. Beatty. William
F. McMasters. James Turnbull. David
Hinds. Boss Wells. William Frazier.
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Stephen Jamieson, John Armstrong, Henry
Morrison, W. C. Abraham, Jacob Walker,
James Carnahan, Keed Beerbower, Dnuiel
Potter, Eli H. McFeely, John Kinney, Ros-

well Marsh, Absalom .Manly, J. (5. David-

t
sou. John Wallace, William Barr, Joseph
Doughertv, Charles Beans, William B.

Sutherland, Boss McClelland, Matthew
Myers, W. C. Spencer, Thomas Uossett, F.

II. Hiimilton, Dr. Thomas Johnson, John
Biles, B. F. Cable, R. S. Moody, Walter
Stark, John Johnson, Augustine Bicker-

staff, Henry Wheeler, James Wyatt, Ras-
sella.s Castner, Stephen W. Hill, Benjamin
Lister, James Blackburn, Kobert 11. Evans,
James Foster, Resa Kendall, John D. Fil-

son, Jacob Arbaugh, David Scott.

It has been an exceedingly difficult task

to make anything like a complete military

record of the county, and the editor will be
obliged for the correction of any errors or

omissions.

NAVAL SERVICE.

The naval service of Jefferson County
was principally confined to the Ohio, Cum-
berland and Mississippi Kivers. I*. S.

Transport Silver Lake No. - was com-
manded by John S. Devenny with crew com-
posed of James Shouse, James Harper,
John Hanlon, Alexander Harlan, Ben-

jamin Harlan. J. Huff Parrish, John Lope-

man. James Morgan, Jr.. Joseph Collins.

Avenger gunboat, Washington Holhnau,
Jacob O. Blackburn, John Audrcgg.
Steamer Springfield -'2, Henry J. Spence.

Steamer Juliet, Thomas Uanna.
Steamer Brilliant, Boss M. Myers.
(iiinboat, John K. Mvers, .John W Craw-

ford.

Juniata No. "J— A little boat that helped

to prevent Morgan from crossing the Ohio
Hiver into West Virginia was commanded
by Thomas J. McDonald, Stewart McEI-
vaney, Mate.
During the investment of Vicksburg

Ca])t. (Jeorge O'Neal rendered valuable

service as pilot, one of his thrilling feats

being the running of the batteries while

balls made a perfect storm around him.

THE M I TO'HELL UAIDS.

Aside from the general incidents of the

war, such as marches, battles, sufferings in

prisons and hospitals, of which the men
from this county had their full share, there
were two episodes of special interest lo-

cally, the first because of the part taken
by volunteers from Jefferson, auol the sec-

ond because it brought a touch of war
within her borders. The tirst of these was
what was known as the Mitchell raids, for

there were two of them. Early in 1862 the

Western Army under Buell, Mitchell and
Oraut had penetrated Tennessee, and oc-

cupied Nashville and surrounding country,

East Tennessee still being in the hands of

the Confederates. The rebel armies of Vir-

ginia and Mississippi were connected by
a railroad system from Richmond through
Lynchburg, Knoxville, Chattanooga and
Huntsville, Ala., to Memphis, by which
means they were able to (piickly concen-

trate a force at any needed point, while the

I'nion forces were divided into separate
armies entirely beyond reach of each other
except by a long and circuitous route
through the Northern States. Secretary
Stanton afterwards performed the hercu-

lean feat of sending 2H,(HH) men over this

route in eleven days, but the time hud not

yet come for that kind of work. At Chat-
tanooga this line was intersected by an-

other extending from Nashville to Atlanta
and from thence throughout the South.
Jt was evident that if this line could be
broken even temporarily the Cnion forces

would have an opportunity of beating the

separate rebel commands, confronting them
before they could be reinforced. At this

juncture James J. Andrews, of Fleiuings-

burg, Ky., offered to take a small party of
men disguised as southerners to Atlanta,

where he would meet an engineer who was
a I'nionist, braird a passenger train north-

ward to Chattanooga, capture the locomo-
tive, cut the telegraph wires, run through
Chattanooga westward, burning the bridges
l>ehind them. o'specially the one over the

Tennessee River at Bridgeport. It was a
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great scheme, and had it been carried out

in time Shiloh would have told a very dif-

ferent story, if indeed it would have ever
been heard of. Andrews had become well

acquainted with Captain Sarratt of the

2d Ohio, and although the latter at first

distrusted him, he afterwards gave him
his full confidence. So in March 18(52,

when Andrews under the authority of Mit-

chell went to Sarratt 's company for four
out of the eight volunteers desired for the

expedition John W. Holliday, Alexunder
H. Surles, Frank B. Mills and B. F. Dur-
bin were selected as being among the best

material at hand, and all at once volun-

teered. Four others were added from
other companies, the original four how-
ever traveling as a separate party. They
donned citizens' clothes, and walked forty

miles to Tullahoma within the rebel lines,

where they took a train for Chattanooga,
and the next morning left for Atlanta which
they reached at 9 p. in., and stopped at the

Trout House, the leading hotel. Andrews
and the other four arrived next morning.
They had plenty of Confederate officers as
company, General Johnston eating at the

same 'table with them, and that night they

attended a meeting at the Court House and
heard a speech by Itobert Toombs in which
he said that the "Yankees" were a people

so distinct from the Southerners, that they
could tell one wherever they saw him. All

this time the four "Yankees" from Jeff-

erson wen- looking at him, applauding to

the echo. Some Union prisoners were
seen while returning to the hotel. That
evening Surles and Durbin went out to cut

the telegraph lines to prevent any word
of their operations. Finding a suitable

place Surles climbed the pole and soon cut

the wire. Durbin was coiling up a section

ready for removal, when two relief cavalry-

men rode np. The wire cutters were not

armed, and the situation was critical, but

Surles was equal to the situation. One of

the enemy roughly demanded, "What are

you at up there?" when Surles begau a

tirade against the Confederacy, declaring

that it was high time the Yankees came in

and did things better. This surprised the

cavalryman who lowered his gun and said

"Why what on earth is the matter with
you?" Surles replied, "If I have to tend
office all day and go round mending wires
all night, I don't care how soon the whole,
thing goes to destruction." Thinking that

they had met an overworked operator who
was in a bad humor, the cavalrymen rode
away advising them to bear up, that things
would soon be better. The "repairs" were
then quickly finished by a large section of
wire being rolled up and hidden in a neigh-

boring cornfield. They relumed to the

hotel with the conviction that if they cap-

tured a train the next morning, word to

that effect could not be sent from Atlanta.
But the next morning brought a sad dis-

appointment. Instead of the exacted en-

gineer there was word that he had been
sent to another road to assist in trans-

porting troops in anticipation of the battle

of Pittsburgh Landing. There was not an
engineer in the party and to forcibly im-
press one was out of the question. There
was but one thing to do, namely get back
to the Union lines as quickly as possible.

The Jefferson contingent waited until the

next morning, the others having preceded
them. They left Atlanta on a mixed train,

and stopped an hour at Big Shanty, of
which we shall hear more later. While there
they watched a Confederate instruction

camp, and after starting away a brakeman
came into the car saying "We've got some
Yankees out here." Thinking the first party
might have been captured Holliday and
Hawkins stepped out to investigate but
found only strangers. They arrived at

Chattanooga in the evening where the party
separated as the more perilous part of
their journey was lie fore them. Two went
towards Tracy City and Manchester, and
Hollidiiy and Hawkins went by train to

Stevenson, where they began their foot

travel through the mountnins passing the
university at Sewanee. They were hel|>ed

by a Union man who urged them not to re-

turn South. After traveling some forty
miles farther and meeting with a series of
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adventures they reached the Union lines,

where they met their comrades.
Not discouraged hy his first failure An-

drews was detennined to make another ef-

fort with a larger force, this time taking an
engineer along, lie had a conference with
Geueral Mitchell on April 7th, the day of

the Imttle of Pittsburgh Lauding, when
further plans were matured. It was too

late to attain the special object of the first

expedition, but could East Tennessee be
isolated there was good chance of tho cap-

ture of Chattanooga which was the key to

all that region. None of the original four
from this county volunteered in the second
expedition, one reason among others being
that some of them at least had lost confi-

dence in the ability of Andrews to conduct
such an enterprise successfully, and the re-

sult proved they were right, although any-
body might have failed. Orders were sent

to the three Ohio regiments of Sills' bri-

gade to have a man selectod from each
company for the second expedition. Cap-
tain Sarratt was not asked to select one as
he was opposed to any of his men going,

but William Pittenger had volunteered
through other sources, and Charles P.

Shadrack from Company K. On the eve-

ning of April 7 the party met with their

leader about a mile east of Shelbyville,

Tcnn., where plans were made and the

company broke into small detachments, to

reassemble four days later at Marietta, Ga,.

a railroad station a few miles north of

Atlanta. Afterwards .Andrews changed the

meeting time to a day later, the first fatal

error. Some failed to reach the rendezvous,

but twenty gathered there including their

leader. Tickets were purchased and the

party boarded the northbound train for

Chattanooga the next morning, dressed, it

is scarcely necessary to say, in citizens'

clothes. Passing Kenesaw Mountain, de-

signed to become historic, Big Shanty,
eight miles distant was reached, where the

train stopped for breakfast. The con-

ductor, engineer and many of the passen-
gers got off, when Wilson W. Brown and
William Knight, engineers of the party,

mounted the engine with a fireman, un-

coupling the rear coaches leaving three

empty baggage or box cars attached to the

engine, into which the raiders tumbled.
The train was off in a flash, and everything
promised success, although the morning
was wet, and the road blocked by delayed
trains, of which the raiders knew nothing.

The previous day was fine and all trains

were on time. They stopped for wood
and water, telling everybody that they were
rushing powder through for Beauregard,
and also delayed to cut telegraph wires and
tear up ties for bridge burning. At Etowah,
about fifteen miles north they saw the

Yonah, an old locomotive with steam up.

but did not disturb it, and at Kingston,
thirty miles north, were delayed over an
hour. Pour miles above King's they
stopped to cut the telegraph and take up a

rail when they were startled by the whistle

of a pursuing truin from the south. When
the situation at Big Shanty was realized

"W. A. Fuller, the train conductor, and
Anthony Murphy, a machinist started after

the raiders, on foot amid the somewhat
derisive laughter of the crowd. Finding a

hand car they used it, but just before reach-

ing Etowah they were ditched by the break
in the track made by the raiders. They
reached the town, however, where they took
the "Vonah," and securing some soldiers

started to Kingston. Here they arrived four
minutes after the raiders had left, and
getting another engine and car started
abend. The race for life was now on, and
although the raiders had broken u rail the
pursuers stopped in time to avoid a wreck.
Another feat of the kind was attempted
and with proper appliances might have
succeeded, but there was not time to do the

work, and the rail was only bent. The
raiders dropped two of their three cars,

but the pursuers pushed them ahead to

Kesaco, where they were dropped. The
raiders stopped now and then to cut a tele-

graph wire in order that no word might be
sent ahead, and ties were tumbled out the
rear end of their box car to wreck the pur-
suing train. There never was a race of that
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kind before or since. As t lit* pursuers had
to stop to pick up the ties the raiders had
time to get some wood and water, and an
attempt was made to tire some of the

bridges, but what would have been effect-

ive the day before was now prevented by
the rain. The trains ran through Dalton

and the tunnel north of the town, but the

situation wus now becoming critical. The
men got on the tender, and after the last

car had been set afire it was dropped in

the middle of a covered bridge, but the Con-
federates pushed right in and pushed the

car out. Within eighteen miles of Chatta-

nooga fuel gave out, steam went down and
the "(icncral," the engine which carried

the party was "dead." It was believed

then and since by those competent to judge
that bad the party kept together and made
for the mountains all or nearly all might
have escaped, as they were strong enough
to keep their pursuers at bay. lint the

fatal order was given for every man to

look out for himself, the company was con

verted into a disorganized mob which was
hunted down like rabbits. Kvery man was
captured and treated as a spy. Andrews
and seven others, including Shndrnck. were
executed, among whom was supposed to be

I'ittenger, but he lived to endure the worst

horror- of southern prisons and afterwards
wrote a full history of the enterprise, Fight

of the remaining fourteen made a daring
and successful attempt to escape, and the

others remained in prison until, by special

efforts of Secretary Stanton they were ex-

changed in March. 1K<>:5. They were roy-

ally received at Washington, and were the

recipients of rewards and promotions.

TUK MoltOAX HMD.

The second instance to which we have
referred is the celebrated Morgan raid

which furnishes the only battles fought on
Ohio soil during the war. In .lime, ]*><;:{,

tienerat Bragg in command of the Con-
federate forces in Kentucky considered

himself in a very critical position, ami de-

sired to retreat to some point near Chatta-

nooga, where he could fight a battle on his

own ground and conditions. But with
Kosecrans at his rear and Burnside and
.ludah on his Hanks, such a retreat would
Ik* extremely hazardous, unless indeed the
Federals could have their attention occu-

pied in some way that would prevent them
from closing in on him. This task was in-

trusted to (Jen. John H. Morgan, a dashing
cavalry leader, who with a comparatively
small force seemed ubiquitous, aud cer-

tainly gave the Federals plenty of occupa-
tion. Much of his success was due to the
fact that he operated in a territory with
which he was entirely familiar and among
a people where he could find plenty of
sympathizers, so he was as difficult to catch

as the Irishman's Hee, and the Federals
were a* helpless as Spanish gens d 'amies
in the homes of mountain brigands. But
Morgan's success led him to evolve a
greater scheme, which was to invade the

North and thus draw Burnside after him,
while he would make a grand raid, living

off the country, anil perhaps form a junc-

tion with Lee. who was already marching
into Pennsylvania. Bragg pronounced the
scheme chimerical and forbade its execu-

tion. But Morgan, although be claimed
the privileges of a regular soldier when
captured, was a sort of free lance, and
working his w; y northward he reached
Brandenburg a short distance below Louis-

ville on the Ohio Hiver on the night of
.Inly 7. lien- were seized two steam boats,

with which lie crossed the Ohio the next
day. and landed on the Indiana shore with
about ;;.0(M» cavalry or mounted infantry
and four pieces of artillery. A diversion
towards Louisville produced a scare in that
city which detained there a couple of gun-
boats that might have brought his enter-
prise to naught. As there were no organ
ized troops in front of him the raid at first

was a sort of picnic, and some of the
scenes of plunder related by Basil Duke,
Morgan's biographer, partake strongly of
the ludicrous. < >nc man carried a bird cage
with a couple of canaries in it for two days.
Another carried a chafing dish until an
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officer made liim throw it away, ami one
slung seven pairs of skates about his neck.

These instances might be multiplied in-

definitely, although it must be said

in justice to the invaders that there

was little of that wanton burning and
senseless destruction of private property

which so often marks the track of a moving
army. Several surprises awaited them.

One was the number of men they met al-

though they carefully avoided the large

cities, and another was the richness of the

country, the fields of waving grain, the

gardens and the orchards made the country

at that season of the year seem like para-

dise. In contrast with the south every-

body seemed prosperous with everything

to eat and wear. Krom what they had
heard at home they had been led to believe

that the discontent at the north was gen-

eral and that there would be uprisings in

their favor, but of that there was none, and
Duke somewhat plaintively remarks, "the
'Copperheads' and 4 Yaltandighamcrs'
fought harder than the others." Morgan
carefully kept away from the railroads ex-

cept when lie crossed them to cut wires or

burn bridges, and felled trees and placed

other obstructions across the highways to

hinder pursuit as much as possible. Then
as he passed through the country he would
drop liis jaded and worn out horses and
take the best stock on the farms, so he was
able to move with a celerity only checked

by the endurance of his men. There was
no organized force in fronl of him, ami as

those behind could not catch up he had a

pretty free course. It must be remem-
bered that Indiana ami Ohio were not then

grid ironed with railroads to anything like

the extent as at present. A portion of the

•J:M corps of mounted infantry followed

Morgan from Kentucky, but for the rea-

sons given could not overtake him until be

was brought to bay. Nevertheless be

created quite a scare. His force was greatly

exaggerated and (Jovernors Morton of In-

diana and Tod of Ohio, called out the state

militia, in which call Jefferson County was
not included, it not being supposed' that

Morton would reach here. But he was
quicker than the militia, and by the 13th
he was within thirteen miles of Cincinnati,

which city was considerably alarmed. Hut
he had no notion of trying to enter the city,

and marched almost directly east to Butf-

ington Island above 1'omeroy, where he was
brought to bay and attempted to cross the
river in which he signally failed. In the
engagement here, Judge Daniel McCook,
father of the late George \Y. McCook ami
brother of Dr. John McCook, of Steuben-
ville, was killed, he having already lost

two sons in the war. Here between (MX) and
700 prisoners were taken and ulmut 300
managed to get across the river into W est

Virginia while Morgan with 1,100 retreated
back into the country closely pursued by
Hobsou's cavalry. It was now a race across
the country, and Morgan's force probably
did not exceed 000 when he entered this

county at Adena on the western border on
the early morning of Saturday the ,

_'5th.

He had spent the previous day in Harrison
County which he entered from Guernsey
passing about six miles southeast of Cadiz,
reaching Georgetown about three miles
from Adena at 7 in the evening, where he
remained until 10 p. m. when he moved on,

spending the night between there and
Adena.

Smithlield was the next town, distant
six miles from Adena in an air line, and
about nine miles by two different roads,
one via York and the other via Mt. Pleas-
ant road, which veered to the west before
reaching the latter town. Firing was
heard in the direction of Adena, and as
it was known that Morgan was in the

neighborhood with Shacklcfotd close be-

hind him the martial ardor of the citizens

was aroused, attd a company of forty armed
men marched out. to meet the invaders.
They had no officers and not knowing by
which road Morgan would come some of
them took the York road and others the
Mt. Pleasant. The rebels had taken the

latter, intending probably to go down Short
Creek to the river and attempt to cross at

Warrenton. but changed their minds and

Digitized by Google



1!K) HI8TOHY OF JKFKKHSOX COUNTY

went northward towards Smithfield. Here
they met the squud from that town, and
unceremoniously took inost of them pris-

oners, breaking their guns and putting

their leader, Captain Collins, on a mule.

Thus they marched through the main
street of Sinithheld, and compelled Cap-
tain Collins and his associates to announce
to the people that these were llobson's

men, and to give them plenty to eat and
treat them well. The citizens in their loy-

alty brought out a plentiful supply of pro-

visions, which they freely gave to their

hungry enemies, and did not discover the

deception until it was too late to remedy
it. Morgan moved on with a supply of

fresh horses, allowing his prisoners to

escape, and when llobson's men appeared
in the afternoon, tired and hungry, they

found the larder swept clean. A black

man was shot here in the arm.
The next point was New Alexandria,

which was reached about noon. Here the

raiders were only four miles from the river,

but for reasons which will appear later

they turned north towards AYintcrsville.

The raiders began plundering the store of

.1. C. Graham at New Alexandria but Mor-
gan stopped them and directed Mr. (Iraham
to close his store. At one o'clock p. m. n dis

patch received in the city announced that

Morgan had crossed the Stcul>enville and
Indiana railroad at xMcxandria station,

seven miles from Steuben ville. where he

cut the telegraph wires and burned two
bridges. He then inarched up Dry Fork,
halting on Nathan Porter's place and tak-

ing him prisoner, releasing him the follow-

ing day, and stopping for a late dinner at

the houses of John llanna ami John Stone.

Mrs. llanna fled to a wheat Held but Mor-
gan sent for her telling her that she would
not be harmed as all they wanted was
something to eat. Mrs. H. pointed out
where the provisions could be found, ami
while the General took a short sleep which
he badly needed the meal was prepared.
He thanked Mrs. llanna and offered to

pay her. Anyone suspected of going
toward the river was taken into custody to

prevent any news of their movement, and
the late Joseph McCleary related a hair
breadth escape with the bullets whistling

around him.
While all this activity was going on. back

in the country business was practically

suspended in the city iu order that pre-

parations might be made to repel, and if

possible capture the invaders. As has been
stated Governor Tod's proclamation call-

ing out the Ohio militia did not im-lude

Jefferson County, so that when the raiders

reached this section there was no organi-

zation to op|>ose them. On Friday after-

noon, when it was apparent that Mor-
gan was heading this way, the sound
of the old Court House bell brought
the citizens together and a temporary
militia organization was formed, with
Captains Frank Prentiss, Wahlen, Bur-
gess and Bonis in charge. That same
evening . Major-General Brooks arrived

with three regiments of Pennsylvania mi-

litia and established his head quarters iu

the old C. & P. passenger station at the

foot of South street with Joseph C. Doyle,

the local railroad agent, as temporary train

dispatcher. Colonel James li. Porter's

regiment was the first to arrive and was
moved to VYarrenton, fourteen miles below
the city, a fact which doubtless caused Mor-
gan to turn northward from Short Creek
to Smithh'cld. Colonel Bcmis's regiment
came next, and was stationed at Lagrange,
now Brilliant, and Colonel Gallagher's
regiment was posted tirst at Mingo and
then at Rush Hun. midway between War-
rcntoii and Brilliant. Thus the fords were
guarded mid a train to which was attached

a locomotive with steam up. stood ready
to move the forces from one point to an-

other as might be needed. It will be seen

that Morgan was thus forced up the Dry
Folk road which strikes the pike at the
west end of VYiiitersvillc a little less than
five miles from Sleiihenvillc. On Saturday
Col. James Collier was placed in command
of the Steubeiiville militia by General
Brooks, and Morgan's course being now
pretty well known at 2 p. in. they marched
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out the old plank road in the direction of
Wintersville, between 500 and 600 strong,

with one piece of artillery, a six pound can-
non which now rests in the G. A. R. lot in

Union cemetery. The force would have
been larger had there been arms for them.
Between 5 and 6 o'clock the advance of
Captain Prentiss's company reached the

Dry Fork road with Morgan's force just

ahead of them. His rear guard had been
deployed in the adjoining field, and as the

detachment advanced it fired a volley. One
bullet struck Henry L. Parks, son of the

late James Parks, in the abdomen. He
lingered until Monday morning the 27th
when he died amid universal regret.

During this or subsequent firing Miss
Margaret Dougherty standing at a window
in Thomas Maxwell's house at the forks
of the road beyond Wintersville was ac-

cidentally shot in the region of the lungs
by a rebel bullet which passed through her
body and came out at the shoulder. She
was supposed to be mortally wounded but
recovered, and is still living. It was of
course Morgan's aim to get away, and he
continued on towards Richmond, but his

rear guard was again overtaken by the mi-
litia at Two Ridge Presbyterian church
where a skirmish occurred. In the mean-
time a detachment of Colonel Shaekleford's
9th Michigan cavalry under Major Way
came up, and the Steubenville commander
mistaking them for rebels had the cannon
trained on them. A shot was fired, for-

tunately without effect, but in the Two
Ridge skirmish one of the cavalrymen was
mortally wounded and afterwards buried
there. One of Morgan's men, W. O. Page,
was also wounded, but was tenderly cared
for at Benjamin Coe's, and when he re-

covered took the oath of allegiance. James
Nelson and Martin Kane, two of the Michi-

gan men were also wounded, but recovered.
Morgan reached Richmond about 7 p. m.,

but did not halt long as Way with his men,
although their horses were jnded, were too

close behind. He rested awhile in the

neighborhood of Fairfield hamlet, while
his scouts examined the road leading down

Island Creek to the river six miles above
Steubenville. But Brooks had been uhead
of him, and on Saturday evening Porter's
regiment was moved from Warrenton to

Island Creek while Gallagher and Beniis

were placed further up to intercept him
if he should make for Shanghai, (now
Empire) Yellow Creek or any upper ford.

There was nothing to do but move on in

the direction of East Springfield, picking
up fresh horses by the way, and robbing
citizens of money. They took five horses
from William Huscroft and $180 with other
things. At East Springfield they stole

twenty-five horses, and it is estimated that

between New Alexandria and that place

at least $15,000 worth of horseflesh changed
hands.
At East Springfield Morgan turned to

the right following the road to Monroe-
ville in Brush Creek Township, and about
six miles distant encamped for the night

on Herdman Taylor's farm on the Middle
Fork of Yellow Creek just west of Nebo
now Bergholz. Here he burned the county
bridge across Yellow Creek, and got an-

other fresh supply of horses. The 9th

Michigan arrived about 11 p. in., and
camped on the hill above. There was some
picket firing but no attack. About 3
o'clock Sunday morning, Morgan broke
camp and started for Monrocville in Brush
Creek Township near the Columbiana
County line, Taylor accompanying him for

about three miles. He was followed by the
Michigan Cavalry who overtook him at

Monroeville, and captured his carriage
with horses and several prisoners. The
first charge was made by Company II, Cap-
tain Rice. Eight men were killed, in this

charge.

While Morgan was at East Springfield,

John K. Miller, a well known citizen of that

place concluded to have a litlle fun, and
meeting the rebel chief gave him a large
amount of misinformation as to the sur-

rounding country and condition of affairs.

Morgan, who began to be suspicious, sud-

denly inquired, "Are you acquainted with
this country?" to which came the prompt
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reply "Yes sir, every foot of it." "Then
mount that horse, you are just the man I

want" was the order. This was more than
Miller bargained for, hut there was no
room for argument, so he mounted the
steed and went along with the party. When
they trotted across Y'ellow Creek bridge
which they afterwards hurned he gravely
ordered them to halt and informed them
that there was #10 fine for trotting across
that bridge. When they got into the fight

beyond Monroeville Miller was net ween two
fires, and asked leave to retire, which was
granted, and he returned home, not caring
for any more military experience.
From Monroeville, Morgan started in the

direction of Salineville several miles to the
northeast over the Columbiana County line,

lie may have hoped to strike the river
ahout Wellsville, hut the prohahility is that
he no longer hail any direct ohjec't except
to elude liis pursuers as long as possible.
In the meantime his riglit was flanked hv
Shnckelford's force which had been fol-

lowing him for four weeks, composed of
one Tennessee and one Kentucky regiment
and the With Ohio Mounted Infaiitrv. With
him were the Steuhenville militia which
had left Richmond at midnight, and In-

rapid marching had kept within support
ing distance of the cavalry, and operated
as scouts with great advantage in prevent-
ing Morgan from escaping by cross roads
to the Ohio River. Morgan did not pass
through Salineville. hut ahout a mile and
a half from that place he was overtaken hy
a detachment of Michigan cavalry near a
Mr. Hurson's. The rebels ran through a
cornfield on their left and through the
woods below Monroeville, coining out on
the Mcchanicstown road above Monroe
viile. Here they met the remainder of the
Michiganders and in the ensuing light one
rebel was killed, several wounded and 240
prisoners taken.

It was now evident to Morgan, if it had
not been before, that the game was up. He
knew that Lee had retreated from Penn-
sylvania and that the wild scheme of form-
ing a jimc-1ii.il with him could not be rea-

lized. He was in a cul de sac and uncon-
ditional surrender within a few hours was
inevitable. His fertile brain conceived a

plan by which he might possibly keep out

of a northern prison. We will let Basil

Duke, his historian, tell the story:

"Aware that he was not likely to get

such terms as he wished from any officer

of the regular troops that were pursuing
him. unless he might happen to hit upon
Wool ford, who was as noted for generosity

to prisoners (if he respected their prow-
ess) as for vigor and gallantry in the field,

he looked around for some militia officer

who might verve his turn. In the extreme
eastern part of Ohio (where he now was)
he came into the "district" of a Captain
Hurheck (of New Lisbon), who had his

militia under arms. (Jeneral Morgan sent

a message to Captain Rurbeck under the

flag id' truce requesting an interview with

him. Hurheck consented to meet him. and
after a short conference (Jeneral Morgan
concluded a treaty with him by which he

(Morgan) engaged to lake and disturb

nothing and do no sort of damage in Hur-
heck 's district; and Hurheck on his part

covenanted to guide and escort Morgan to

the Pennsylvania line. After riding a few
miles, side by side, with his host. (Jeneral

Morgan espying a long cloud of dust roll

inir rapidly upon a course parallel with

his own about a mile distant and gaining
his front, thought it was time to act. So
he interrupted a pleasant conversation by
suddenly asking Hurheck how he would like

to receive his ( Morgan's) surrender. Rur-

beck answered that it would afford him
inexpressible gratification I., do so. "Rut."
said Morgan, "perhaps you would not give

me such terms n< I wish." "(Jeneral Mor-
gan." replied Rurbeck. "You may write

your own terms and I will grant them."
"Wry well, then," said Morgan, "it is a

bargain. 1 will surrender 1o you." He ac-

cordingly formally surrendered to Captain
Rurbeck, of the Ohio militia, upon con-

dition that officers and men were to be

paroled, the latter, retaining their horses,

and the former. lioi>c> and side arms.
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This delightful arrangement had scarcely

been completed when the advancing Fed-
erals under Major Hue were encountered.

Morgan supposing they were militia de-

manded their surrender. Major Rue
promptly declined and in turn informed
Morgan that if he did not immediately .sur-

render unconditionally he would open fire

upon him. Major Hue was then requested

not to lire as Morgan had surrendered.

Supposing the surrender to be to him he
refrained, but when he proceeded to take

possession he was surprised to learn that

the so-called surrender had been made to a

militia captain whom none of the pursuing
force had ever seen or known, who was
apparently u prisoner, and after which
Morgan had attempted to exercise the func-

tions of a belligerent by demanding the

surrender of his opponents. Of course no
attention was paid to this ridiculous per-

formance, and we do not know that any
attempt was ever made to punish Burbeek
for his part in the transaction. The real

surrender was made to Major Hue at 2 p.

m. on Sunday, there being J.'Mi prisoners

with 400 horses and arms. The closing

scene took place near Scroggs's meeting
house not f;ir from Salineville. The sur-

render was probably as welcome to most of
Morgan's men as it was to their pursuers,

as during the preceding .'!(» hours they were
almost constantly in the saddle and were
coiuplelelv worn out.

Prom H. Mitchell Crabs, of Hoss Twp..
who played an important part, in the cap-

ture of Morgan, we get a report of that

affair which supplements other reports so

completely as to merit its publication in

detail. Mr. Crabs was a member of Com-
pany K, "Jd (). V. I. home from a furlough,

and coming from the celebrated district

of Kentucky where John Morgan was
practicing his system of guerilla warfare,
on Saturday afternoon. July 25th, was pay-
ing a visit to two young ladies of East
Springfield. Misses Maggie ami Jennie Me-
Cullough, the former becoming the wife of
Dr. Sanderson, of St. Louis, and the latter

Mrs. Hamilton, of Carson City, New They

had gone to the old Episcopal church in the

evening to hear a music class conducted by
John Kerr, and while there Charles B. Me-
Connell, then a young man, came to the

door and called out "Morgan's coining up
the Steubenville road, and will be here in

about half an hour." Mr. Crabs goes on to

say

:

'•The mooting broke up rather unceremoniously, not

waiting to he excused by the lender. Misi Maggie Mr-
Cullough run at owe to the store of her father. John
Mc Cullough, who kept the only place of general n:er

ehandisp in the town, got the pockctliook and money
from the safe and started northward from the village,

secreting the same in the leaven along a fenee. Your
relator took Mis* Jennie home, and mounting law pacer

also started north on the Nebo and Salineville mail. At
the old Alexander ,\lc< ulluugh coal hank n gate o|>ened

to the left or west side of the road into the wood*,

where the little pacer was seeret<sl beyond the hill, and
out of right of the road, hi* rider returning to town on

foot, and arriving at about the same time that the Indy

did alio accreted the pocket book.
" Ry this time tlie village was full of 'patriots' of

the Southern t'onfederary and the citizen!* were in fear

and confusion. Men and women were alike paralyzed

with fear that the village would In' burned, and all the

horror* of war fully realized. Some wanted to shoot,

while others felt like praying, t orn hiding under the

circumstances courtesy wax the better part of valor, all

ncted under my advice and a Iiiai-heoa of pies, cake*,

bread and all manlier of eatables was scrv<sl through

the windows, doors and over fences. During their stay

(lie chief rendezvous was about the hotel kept then by

Mrs. Meliorah Met nllongh. There hnd W-cli a tibrrty

pole raised across the street from Jackson's old corner,

ami two of Morgan*!* men dismounted and procuring

axes liegnti chopping the jiolc. The anger of the cdizens

was almost uncontrollable, and it whs with some difficulty

that they were prevented from going into a house and

shooting' down the reliels. I said. 'You can easily put

up another pole—you can't so easily restore life or build

another town. *

" Uy this time the right or head of the column had

started on the Salineville road out past where my horse

Frank was secreted, and my anxiety, coupled with fear

that they might observe him, that he would neigh or

make himself noticeable in some way can be imagined.

1 fell in will) the reut guard of Morgan's column, some

of whom were on foot aud some on horseback, and

noticed that what seemed to be the importaut part of

the command. I mean the important men, were in the

rear, for we always had them to the right or trout,

except when pursued. I did not know then of any armed

force following. A cheerful conversation was kept up.

thov asking questions as to the route to Heaver Knpids

ami 1 answering so well that at last one of them said:

•Come almg. I think we can make use of you. We'll

gi\o you a horse to ride." That they did not take me a

prisoner was their great mistake. This was near to

where 1 had secreted inv horse. 1 fell Kick along with

Alexander MeC.dlougli. father »f I'avid V. M.-Cullough,

of Island Creek, and others, and while the column was

disappearing around and over the hill northeast in the

dim glow of the evening, for it was growing late. 1
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held a hurried conveisatimi with those around inc. nn>l

disclosed my purpose to make nil effort to reach Siihtic-

ville by u short < lit through tin- wrtods mid Held*, with

which I was well acquainted, and t*-l«-j»r»i|»li to Oeucral
Brooks, commanding the department of Ohio ami West-
ern Pennsylvania, will) h lqnnrter* in Pittsburgh
[Steubonville |, and ask hiui to send hi* troops, who 1

knew were somewhere along the Ohio Hivcr looking for

Morgan, to Salineville an. I capture tl>o force if possible.

I brought my young horse to the roail, and exchanged
my light linen duster with Mr. McCullough for h dark
coat, le*« visible at nielli, and started I In- raiv. nut
thinking thnt Morgan's men would stop for the night.

The first six miles no heated my colt that I feared I

might lose him and not gain my point. My own home
lay nearly on a line from Kast Liverpool to Salineville,

but tbe road diverged largely to the left. I stopped at

the home of Thomas Smith and exchanged my colt for

an older and fleeter horse, and notified all to get their

horse* secreted for Morgan wan coining. On reaching

Muoretown, now Pravo by name, Silaa Potts, a brother

to Colonel Potts of the Thirty-second Ohio Volunteer

Infantry fnrae, and Mr. Itarnhill accompanied me to

William Moore's, where I sent them around in front of
Morgan to notify people of his coming. It was between
9 and 10 o'clock at night when I arrived at Salineville,

and the news uf Morgan's coming brought men. women
and children in all kinds of night robea, some similar

to Job's coming into tbe world, to the street.
'

' Tbe men organized a force at once and elected mo
captain, colonel or general, 1 don't know which, l«ut I

have held tbe brevet ever since, and were going to cap-

ture Morgan right there. 'IV jabbers.' .Salineville is a

mining town. T received the brevet with much satisfac-

tion, of course, but advised that unless 1 could succeed

in obtaining armed forces from (ieneral Hrooks their

attempts would prove futile, and might result in loss of

homes and life, and it would be better to let them pasa

through quietly. Arriving at the telegraph office at the

railroad station Frank Rogers, the agent, informed me
that he would have to get the privilege to use the wire*

from the general superintendent to call up Ocnernl

Hrooks. This obtained, my first dispatch rend: '1 have

just arrived from Kast Springfield, Jefferson County, Ohio.

Saw Morgan's men. about ttUO. Send troops to Suliueville

at once.' I received an answer as follows: "Who
vouches for this statement f 1 have news that they are

near Knoxville, Ohio.' On receiving this Mr. lingers and

H. C. Hobbins, mayor, promptly telegraphed, vouching

for the truth of the statement. In a short tune I

received a telegram as follows: 'I have sent you 7iw

infantry under command of Colonel Gallagher.' in the

meant ime I had srnt four scouts out in the direction

Morgan would come, and to return and report us soon as

located. The trap now laid I went to bed on top of n

stake and double rider fence just opposite the old red

mill and in front of where the new school building now
stands, with my feet resting up one stake find my head

up the opposite one; not the most comfortable lied, but

I had occupied some less preferable and obtained le«s

•deep.

'Morgan hail bivouacked on the tlcrdiitnn Taylor

farm and down to the old Ncbo mill, with outside

pickets nearly two miles in advance, near the railroad

tunnel on the Salineville road. Our scout* sent out from

Salineville opened fire upon them with revolver* about L"

o'clock Sunday morning, the -„'(ith. and drove the t-u-kcts

in. Morgun became alarmed at Uitig attacked in tr<,:i\

knowing that (ieneral Shackelford's cavalry mid artillery

were ia hi" rear. All night long wi.de * »* ' 11

the comfortable and hospitable bed at Mr. Taylor's
(ieneral Shackleford hod advanced upon him and
miu pel on the hill a mile away, while the farmers were
busy restocking the artillery and cavalry with fresh

horses. Morgan put his column in motion at an early

hour, ami just at daybreak our scout* returned to Saline-

ville, called me 'off of lied ' ami reported Morgan com
nig 'way lai-k. His progress was retarded by want of
fresh horses, while Shackleford 'a was hastened by fresh

recruits during the night. I at once hastened to hide

my Smith horse in the bushes hi a hollow northwest from
the station, and on returning saw from the hill the train

bearing Colonel OatlnghiT "s infantry, nnd Morgan's ad-

vance guards at the spring above the old mill. 1 ran

down to the station and had the train stop across the

street Morgan would have to |«aaa, and held a short cod
venation with Colonel liallagher. trying to rrreal my
plans. The poor old man was trembling either with fear

or drink, and swore at me (a very unusual and unseemly
thing for an army officer) to get a horse and act as hia

aide and bear dispatches to him. as he whs aiding under
orders from (ieneral Hrooks. 'I'm going to place my
men up on that bank,' said he, and he did so in full

view of Morgan's advance guard, who at once turned

l>aek up the road ami right into Shackleford 's hands,

who captured about half the command. 1 was naturally

amused and angered, wondering if (ieneral Hrooks had
ever known of Salineville until he received my dispatch,

for had Colonel Oallagber concealed his troops for thirty

minutes Morgan's entire force would have ridilen right

into his ambush, aud be could have enjoyed the honor

of the capture.

'•(ieneral Morgan doubtless had a guide who waa well

acquainted with the route; he was said to be a man wbc
formerly lived about Smithfleld. The iincaptured fore*

fled over the hill westward and rode around Salineville

on the Hanover road which joins the Heaver Rapids road

three miles north from Salineville. We at once had

everv horse mounted that could run, and some that

couldn't, and set out for Hanover Boads, arriving just

in time to capture the fleeing remainder, (ieneral Mor-

gan whs with this squad. I assisted in removing the

spurs and equipments from the gallant horseman. They
had a promiscuous assortment of trophies) of the raid,

consisting of nearly everything from the smallest in'

fants' stockings to remnants of cali shawls, skirt*.

children's slows, stockings, socks, etc.

"1 held a friendly chat with the same long haired man

I had met the evening Iwfore, and explained all. Had
I known of an armed force following when I left Kast

SpringhVld the work of capture would have Wn light-

ened. Had we uot succ.s-ded at Salineville it would

Iihvc ln-eu an easy matter to run our troops around by

rati and take him nt Heaver Knpids. The triangle of

railroad and telegraph into which he was riding made

es npe impos-ildc lifter we hnd gotten to his front.
'

Tlic afternoon after the surrender was
spent resting in the woods and in gather-

ing up arms and ammunition, the latter he

ing pretty short. Towards evening the

Stctihenville militia arrived, and the pris-

oners were marched down to Salineville

stal ion. The next morning a train was
ready ami started for Steuhenville, the

prisoners in eoai lics and the militia in Hat
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cars. They arrived at Steubenville during
the morning, and the raiders were marched
up Adams and Market streets under guard
to the Steubenville & Indiana Railroad
where a train was taken for Columbus.
While waiting for the start there was con-

siderable chaffing between the "Johnnies"
and the large crowd that had gathered
to see them off, they promising to come
back again, notwithstanding they had no
invitation. Such a strenuous 48 hours
Jefferson County had never seen, or was
likely to see again.

Many of the pursuing companies
stopped at Steubenville on their way
home, where they were the recipients of
cordial hospitality on the part of the citi-

zens. On Tuesday morning, the 28th, Mar-
ket street witnessed the spectacle of four
different regiments from as many states,

viz., 2d East Tennessee Mounted Infan-
try, 1st Kentucky Cavalry, 14th Illinois,

and 9th Michigan, two from slave and two
from free states, but all for the Union.
Upwards of 800 horses were brought to

the city, where their owners were able to

secure them upon proper identification, and
this process was not the least interesting

part of the campaign. All of the visiting

regiments, including the Pennsylvania
Volunteers, adopted hearty resolutions of
thanks for the more than cordial hospi-
tality shown them by the citizens, and
especially by the fair sex.

The claims for damages by rebels in

Jefferson allowed by the Government
amounted to $13,571; damages bv Union
forces, $7,072; total, $20,643. Property
taken bv rebels and found in possession of
United States forces, $20.90. An allow-

ance of $939.10 was made for the five mili-

tia companies. The pay of militia in the
entire state amounted to $250,000; dam-
age by the enemv, $485,000; damage bv
Union troops, $152,000; total, $897,000.
Of course incidentals would swell this fig-

ure considerably.

It is the universal military opinion that
the raid had no effect whatever on the gen-
eral course of the war, although Duke

claims that it held back Burnside while

Bragg made his movements, and delayed
the occupation of east Tennessee.

The raiders were distributed in differ-

ent prisons, Morgan and his chief follow-

ers being lodged in the Ohio penitentiary

at Columbus. While they were kept in

strict confinement, yet their fate was far
different from that of the Mitchell raiders,

whose course they closely resembled. On
November 26 Morgan and six of his com-
panions tunneled their way out of prison

and escaped South, where he renewed his

cavalry operations. On September 3,

1864, he entered the town of Greenville in

east Tennessee, and was wakened the next
morning by a body of a hundred Federal
cavalry, who came dashing into the town.

Morgan had occupied the house of a Mrs.
Williams. Morgan and an officer named
Gassett took refuge in a cellar, where they
were discovered, being pointed out, it is

said, by a Union woman. Gassett escaped,
but Morgan was killed in the garden, shot

through the heart, according to Duke, who
says: "It is not known whether he sur-

rendered or was offering resistance. His
friends have always believed that he was
murdered after his surrender." Fortu-
nately we are able to supply the informa-
tion which Duke was unable or unwilling

to find. On February J 6, 1865, Hon. B. G.

Richards, now common pleas judge in this

district, who had enlisted in the 45th Penn-
sylvania Infantry, escaped from the rebel

prison at Charlotte, N. C., and was making
his way westward towards Knoxville,

Tenn. His guide through the mountains
was Sergeant Brown, of the Tennessee
Cavalry, which had broken into Green-
ville on that fateful morning, and he re-

lated to Captain Richards the whole story

of Morgan's death. The latter was not
"murdered," but shot by Brown while
trying to escape, after being twice ordered
to halt, a proceeding which Morgan him-
self would have had no hesitancy in adopt-
ing had the situation been reversed. Duke
also speaks of indignities offered to him in

his dying agonies, but it is evident that the
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dying agonies of a man shot through the

heart are very brief. It is possible that

the east Tennessecnns who had been har-

ried by Morgan ami liis contemporaries to

a most outrageous extent may have mani-
fested some exultation at the death of their

chief persecutor, but, however this may be,

on the prompt arrival of General Oillem
the body was delivered to his friends under
a flag of truce.

Among the efficient aids to our soldiers

in the Geld was the ladies' organization for

relieving the sick and wounded and pro-

viding the men in camp with conveniences
and delicacies, which were greatly appre-
ciated. Mrs. Thos. L. .lewett was presi-

dent, Miss Jennie Davidson secretary, and
Miss Hattie Potter treasurer. Mrs. Jewett
was afterwards succeeded by Mrs. Martha
Sterling. The society met iirst in the

Means building, on lower Market street,

Steubenville, and prepared bandages, lint

and other hospital supplies, afterwards oc-

cupying the session room of the old First

Presbyterian Church, in the building now
owned by J. P. Draper. During the latter

part of the war the society worked largely

through the Sanitary and Christian Com-
missions.

Benjamin D. Worthington was a volun-
teer nurse three years in the Nashville
hospital.

On July 4, 1M(m, there was a grand pic-

nic and demonstration in Potter grove, on
the hill alwve Mingo, to celebrate the re-

turn of peace. Patriotic songs were ren-

dered by the school children and addresses
delivered. The only incident marring the

pleasure of the day was the death of

George Weaver, the railroad agent at

Mingo, who was accidentally run over by
one of the numerous trains running be-

tween that point and the city.

August 28, 1879, witnessed in Steuben-
ville one of the largest reunions of old sol-

diers ever held in this country. It was pre-

ceded by a loan exhibition of exceptional

interest, which attracted daily crowds to

the Court House from all the surrounding
country within a radius of forty or fifty

miles. Some 50,000 strangers were in the

city, mainly from Ohio, Pennsylvania and
West Virginia, but including many from
other states. Col. J. W. Holliday was
chairman of the Committee of Arrange-
ments and the meeting was held in the

natural amphitheatre formed by the ravine

north of the Stokely grove, since filled up.

Decorations were on the most extensive

scale, there was a free dinner for all, a
barbacued ox and innumerable other at-

tractions, with lireworks at night. The
mass meeting was presided over by W. V.

B. Crosky, and after prayer by Rev. Dr.

Grimes, addresses were made by Hon. J. T.

Updegraff, Generals Garfield, *Ewing, Pi-

att, Hickenlooper, McCook, Dennison,

Poonnan, Rice, Shallenberger, Governor
Bishop, Judge Cochran and Chaplain

McGuire. The parade, with the massing of

Ohio and West Virginia battle flags, was
especially impressive.

TDK SPANISH WAR.

Jefferson County was represented in the

Spanish War by about seventy volunteers,

all credited to companies from other states.

The roll for a couple of companies was
started here, and there would have been no

difficulty in tilling them, but the Ohio quota

was filled almost instantly and the gov-

ernor telegraphed that no more could be

accepted from this state. But many of

the boys were determined to go anyway
and hence they went elsewhere and enlisted

where the quota had not been completed,

principally in West Virginia. Among
them were:

Charles MeKinley, Richmond, Roosevelt

Rough Riders, wounded at San Juan;
Lewis Kerr, Richmond; Thomas Jones,

Shane; Joseph A. Granten. 1st III. Cav.;

Edward Thomas. Pa. Reg.; John Opper-
man, Co. C, loSth Ind.; William Batman,
1st W. Va.: Oliver Morrison. 10th Pa.;

Willie D. Wilson. Co. K, Sth Reg.; Horaee
K. Clark, Co. A, 14th P. V.: Hugh Cnsielc,

Tiltonville, Lieut. Connor's Co.; Charles

R. Williams, John C. Burns. Vorkville,
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Lieut. Connor's Co.; James Croner, Brook-
lyn Naw Yard ; Charles Bickerstaff, Camp
Merritt,* Cal.; Frank Bussell, Fort Mc-
Pherson; Walter Crewson; Dr. Harry
Mertz, Naval Surgeon; William J. Irwin,

7th O.; James S. MeCracken, 1st. 111.; Wm.
Henry, Signal Corps; Mark P. Wilson,
George A. Green, Ed. Kirkpatrick, George
Harris, 17th If. S.; Fred A. Gladfelter,

Charles Leightel (died at lola, P. I.), John
K. Taylor, Co. E, 8th Beg.; James B. Has-
sett, Co. F, Immuncs ; Charles Wagner, Co.
F, 3d Mo.; Oscar Otto, Clark M. William-
son, George Clifton, Clarence L. Leeper,
Co. I, 4th O. ; Thomas Dougherty, John
Kells, Edward Phillips, George Brinkman,
Bernard M. Craig. Joseph E. Allen, Orr
Lowe, 17th U. S. ; Edward Stephens, Hosp.

Corps.; Frank II. Wells, Benj. D. McGee,
U. S. training ship; Edward Richardson,
naval engineer; William Paisley, Charles
Duke, Ira G. Mushrush, Samuel William-
son, Charles E. Henry, Charles E. Paislev,

Toronto, Co. E, 8th O. V. I.; Francis Smith,
Empire, Co. E, 8th O. V. I. ; Barton Jones,
Howard McMillen, William Freudenber-
ger (Q. M.), Frank Jewett, James McGee,
Harry Geisinger, William Boyd, George
Boyd, Con Russell, Henry Airman, 2d W.
Va.; Jacob Bowers, Battery I, 5th Art.;
William S. Blackburn, Toronto, 1st W. Va.

;

Robert L. Hosie, Smithfield, 1st W. Va.
To the above must be added the name of

Fernando P. Gilmore, rear admiral in com-
mand of the navy yard at Key West.
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CHAPTER XII

HORTICULTURE

Story of Johnny Appleseed—His First Oh
ties of Apples—Other Fruits.

Long ago it was said that it is not to tin-

great ones of this world that we owe our
greatest benefits, and this is strikingly

exemplified in the horticulture, especially

the apple growing, of Jefferson County,
which at one time, not many years ago, was
the center of this product in the United
States, both as to quantity and quality.

In the year 1775, at Springfield, Mass.,

there was born a boy who as he grew up
developed a fondness for the life of the
field and wood, and then took to growing
nurseries and planting apple seeds. This
youth, to whom was given the name of
John Chapman, came to Venango, Pa.,

about the close of the century, and in 1801,

with a quantity of apple seeds in small
leather bags, he arrived at Wellshurg, Va.
Prom there he rode up to Cox's Hippie,

where he crossed the river, and first set

foot on Ohio soil near the mouth of
George's Run, about four miles below
Steuhenville. Here he spent the night and
planted his first hatch of seeds, lie was
urged to remain and conduct a nursery
there, but he declined, saying: "They are
starting one up the river on the Virginia
side (Xcssley's) and talk of improving
apples by grafting. They cannot improve
the apple in that way that is only a de-

vice of man, and it is wicked to cut up
trees in that way. The correct method is

iu Ou tlaid—Early Nurseries—New Varie-

to select good seeds and plant them in good
ground, and God only can improve the

apples." lie declared his intention of
going further west, where stock would not
destroy his trees l>efore they were ready
to sell, and where he would be ready for

the settlers as they arrived. After inquir-

ing as to the best route to the Muskingum
he resumed his journey, stopping long
enough near the headwaters of Big Still-

water, between Morristown and Freeport,

to plant some seeds in a small clearing,

which he enclosed by a brush fence. We
next hear of him in Jefferson County in

lfSOG, when he again visited his friend on
George's Run, where there was by this

time a fair orchard. Miss Rosella Rice, of
Ashland County, at whose house Chapman
was a frequent visitor, thus tells of this

visit

:

"No one knows why Johnny was so ec-

centric; some people thought he had been
crossed in love, and others that his passion
for growing fruit trees and planting orch-

ards in those early and perilous times had
absorbed »ll the tender and domestic feel-

ings natural to mankind. An old uncle of

ours tells us the first time he ever saw
Johnny was in lsufj. in Jefferson County.
He had two canoes lashed together and was
taking a lot of apple seeds down the Ohio
River. About that time he planted sixteen

IS
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bushels of seeds on oue acre of that grand
old farm on the Walhonding River, known
as the Bntler farm. All np and down the
Ohio and Muskingum and their then wild

and pretty tributaries did poor Johnny
glide along, alone, with his, rich freight of
seeds, stopping here and there to plant
nurseries. He always selected |rich, se-

cluded spots of ground. One of them we
remember now, and even still it is pictur-

esque, beautiful and primal. He cleared

the ground himself, a quiet nook over which
the tall sycamores reached their arms as if

in protection. To those who could afford

to buy he always sold on very fair terms,
to those who couldn't he always gave or
made some accommodating trade, or took
a note payable sometime—and rarely did
that time ever come. (His autograph
shows a neat, legible hand.) Among his

many eccentricities was one of bearing
pain like an undaunted Indian warrior.
He gloried in suffering. Very often he
would thrust pins and needles into his flesh

without a tremor or quiver; and if he had
a cut or sore, the first thing he did was to

sear it with a hot iron and then treat it as

a burn. He hardly ever wore shoes, except
in winter, but if traveling in summer time,

and the road hurt his feet, he would wear
sandals, and a big hat that he made him-
self, with one side very large and wide and
bent down to keep the heat from his face.

No matter how oddly he was dressed or
how funny he looked, we children never
laughed at him, because our parents all

loved and revered him as a good old man,
a friend and benefactor. Almost the first

thing he would do on entering a house and
being weary was to lie down on the floor,

with his knapsack for a pillow, and his

head towards the light of the door or win-

dow, when he would say, 'Will you have
some fresh news right from Heaven !' and
carefully take out his old worn books, a
Testament and two or three others, the ex-

ponents of the beautiful religion that

Johnny so zealously lived out—the Sweden-
borgian doctrine. » • » His was a
strange, deep eloquence at times. His lan-

guage was good and well chosen, and he
was undoubtedly a man of genius. Some-
times in speaking of fruits his eyes would
sparkle and his countenance grow animate
and really beautiful, and if he was at table

his knife and fork would be forgotten. In
describing apples, we could see them just

as he, the wood painter, pictured them

—

large, lush, creamy-tinted ones, or rich,

fragrant and yellow, with a peachy tint on
the sunshiny side, or crimson red, with the
cool juice readv to burst through the tender
rind."
His tenderness for the animal creation

was carried to an extreme. He was a
vegetarian in diet, and if he saw any do-
mestic creature maltreated he would buy
it and give it to a humane person on con-

dition that it be kindly treated. He deeply
regretted having once killed a rattlesnake,

and noticing that mosquitoes were lured
to death by the flames of a campfire, he ex-

tinguished the fire, exclaiming, "God for-

bid that I should build a fire for my com-
fort which should be the means of destroy-
ing any of his creatures." Once he started
a fire in a hollow log, when he discovered
within a bear and cubs which had taken
refuge from the cold. Rather than dis-

turb them he put out the fire and spent the
night upon the snow. If tenderness for
animals made St. Francis worthy of canoni-

zation, then Johnny Appleseed has at least

an equal claim to this honor. During the
"War of 1812 he did good service in warn-
ing settlers of the Indians. The latter

never molested him, regarding him as a
great "Medicine Man;" neither does any
wild beast ever seem to have attacked
him. He died of fever resulting from ex-

posure in Allen County, Indiana, on March
11, 1847, and was buried in David Archer's
graveyard, two and one-half miles north
of Fort Wayne. Most of his later days
were spent in Richland County, Ohio, and
on November 8, 19CH), a monument was
dedicated to his memory at Mansfield.

It must not be inferred that while Johnny
Appleseed was pursuing his itinerary and
scattering his seeds and his ideas there
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were no others interested in fruit growing
in these western wilds. The honor of be-

ing the pioneer in this direction must bo
awarded to Jacob Nessley, who settled on
the river opposite the mouth of Yellow
Creek in 1785, and to whom Chapman re-

ferred in his remarks on grafting given
above. Nessley began grafting towards
the end of the 18th or beginning of the 19th

century, and during his lifetime had under
cultivation 1,800 acres, one-half being
orchard. His work was the beginning of
what were afterwards known as the Mahan
fruit farms, opposite Yellow Creek and
Mingo, and the McCullough and other
farms on this side of the river, the beauty
of which in the later spring, when the trees

presented a perfect ocean of snowy bloom,
was beyond description. It is not pleasant
to consider that the exigencies of manufac-
turing and commercialism are converting
this from a terrestrial paradise into a con-
dition very much the reverse. His leading
varieties were the Gate, sometimes called

the Belmont apple, Dominie or Wells,
Ranibo, Early Pennock or August apple,

Golden Pippin, Golden Bell and others. In
the early days there was a very limited

home market for the fruit, and a consider-

able portion was converted into brandy
and shipped to New Orleans and interme-
diate points, n trade that continued for up-

wards of thirty years. The great advan-
tage of the Nessley nursery to this section

was that it enabled the fanners to secure
improved fruit trees through a process
more certain than the Chapman methods.

Ebenezer Zane started a nursery on
Wheeling Island in 1790, from which the

fanners in Jefferson County and adjoining
counties reaped considerable advantage.
Samuel Wood be^an the cultivation of

fruit trees in Smithheld Township in 1S16,

and after overcoming the difliculties inci-

dent to his isolation built up a flourishing

trade in grafted trees, and his nursery be-

came the parent of others in the neighbor-
hood, among them John Hobson's, of

Smithfield, from which hundreds of bar-

rels of choice Bellflowers were shipped an-

nually to New Orleans; and James Kiusey,
of Mt. Pleasant. There was a small nurs-

ery at Steubenville, and John D. Slack, the

pioneer landscape gardener of this section,

also had an extensive combination of seed
store, greenhouse, fruit aud flower garden,
which business was subsequently carried
on by the descendants of Bezaleel Wells.

Jefferson County and vicinity were not
only famous as an apple growing center,

but originated some of the most popular
varieties of apples known. The Western
Spy, introduced by Samuel Wood, origi-

nated on the farm of John Mansfield, in

Wayne Township. The tree is a strong,

spreading grower, and blossoms late, and
as a result the fruit is seldom injured by
frosts. The apple is large and globular,
slightly flattened ut the ends. Color, yel-

low with pale red cheek; good keeper and
excellent for cooking. Ohio Redstreak,
from a seedling on the same farm, was in-

troduced by Samuel Wood about 18:i0.

The tree is an upright, open grower and
abundant bearer; fruit medium in size,

somewhat conical
;
color, clear lemon yel-

low, beautifully striped with light and dark
shades of red; flesh, white, of a pleasant
taste and good for cooking; season, mid-
winter. The Culp, introduced by Samuel
Wood and S. B. Marshall, originated on
the farm of George Culp, near Richmond.
The tree is a vigorous grower and unusual
bearer; fruit, medium to large; color, yel-

lowish green, with a dull blush on the
sunny side; a little russet at the crown, and
sprinkled over the surface with gray dots;
flesh, yellowish white, and neither sweet
nor sour; excellent for cooking and desert;
season, March and April; quality, one of
the best. The Wells apple was originated
by Jabez Smith, who planted the tree on
South Third street, Steubenville, about
1817. He was in the employ of Bezaleel
Wells and planted the tree for him on the
home place just below Slack street. It was
long a popular apple. The Golden Pippin
was originated by Samuel Wood, one of the
founders of the Ohio Horticultural Soci-
ety. The Bentley Sweet originated with
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Solomon Beutley, of Belmont County, and
Zane's Greening from Zane's Wheeling
Island orchard. Then there were the Rus-
sett, Rhode Island Greening, Northern
Spy and others second only in popularity

to those already named, recognized as

standard fruits.

And now we come to what is conceded to

have been the finest apple ever grown,
namely, the Gate, compared with which
the best product of Florida or California

orange groves is certainly far inferior. In
its palmy days it was a luscious fruit of

delightful flavor and with a golden yellow

rind on which there was a faint blush. It

was an early winter apple and an equal fa-

vorite whether for cooking or eating in the

natural state. It originated in the orchard
of Mrs. Beam, near Strasburg, Lancaster
County, Pennsylvania, soon after the Revo-
lutionary War, being a seedling which
grew near the gate of her premises. When
Mrs. Beam had company, her guests, who
speedily discovered the merits of the new
fruit, would ask her to bring some apples

from the gate tree, from which circum-

stance it took its name, although the neigh-

bors called it Mama Beam, in honor of the

old lady. After settling opposite Yellow
Creek, Jacob Nessley, who was a son of

Mrs. Beam by a former marriage, procured
scions from the parent tree and propagated
the apple under the name of Gate. Shortly
after some children of Mrs. Beam by her
second marriage settled in Belmont County
and brought the same apple with them and
cultivated it under the name of Mama
Beam. As if this were not sufficient com-
plication, the apple received a third name,
Belmont, which was entirely erroneous,
although adopted by many fruit growers.

It appears that about 1810, when Judge
Ruggles, of St. Clairsville, was holding

court at Steubenville, one of the jurors
who lived near Yellow Creek presented
him with an apple. The judge was de-

lighted with it and inquired its name, and
where it grew. The juror said it grew on
his farm, and was called the Gate. The
judge, who was a fine fruit grower, pro-

cured some scions and grafted them on his

trees at St. Clairsville. Some time after a
farmer named Beam brought some apples
to town for sale. The judge saw them and
asked where they grew. The fanner said

in his orchard, and they called them Mama
Beam. The judge said be had the same
apples growing in his orchard, called the

Gate, and told where he got them. "0,"
said the fanner, "that fellow got his tree

from Jake Xessley, my half-brother, and
Jake got his graft from mother's tree."

From this Judge Buggies, knowing noth-

ing of the apple's previous history, sup-

posed it originated in Belmont County, and
called it by that name. It was presented
before the Massachusetts Horticultural So-
ciety at Boston in 1834 as an original prod-
uct of Belmont County, but here.it has
always been known by its true name, Gate.

Unfortunately a number of years ago para-
sites began infecting the Gate apple trees,

and they have now become almost extinct,

although a few fanners have saved their

trees by vigorous spraying. It is hoped
that in time it may be restored to its pris-

tine rigor, for no other fruit has taken its

place.

The plum was a favorite fruit fifty years
ago, but insects have done their work here

and the crop is now a negligible quantity.

Peaches have flourished for a number of
years, but the winters have occasionally

been so severe that they cannot be relied

on permanently. Jefferson County hills

are well adapted for grapo culture, but are
not utilized as they should be, notwith-
standing some very successful examples in

times past. According to assessors' re-

turns the products of Jefferson County
farms for 1908 were as follows:

Wheat—Acres sown in 1908 were 9.343; bushels pro
• luced, 149.520; acres sown in 1909, 9,870.

Rye

—

~'2 acres in 1908; bushels prodnced, 536; acres

sown in 1909 are 73.

Backwbeat—Acres sown in 1908 were 32, and bnabels
produced 591.

Oata—0,831 acres sown and 257,808 bnshela produced;
acres sown in 1909, 10,055.

8pring barley—3 acres sown in 1908 and 40 bnabels
produced; 13 acres sown in 1909.

Corn—10,445 acre* sown in 1908 and 309,097 bushels
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shelled produced. For 1909 there are to be 10,457 acres

sown.
Ensilage Corn—241 acres sown in 1908 and 262 acres

estimated for 1809.
Sugar Corn—20 acres planted 1908 and 56 acre* this

vear.

Tomatoes—35 acres planted 1908 and 7,160 bushels

produced.
Peas—2 acres planted 1903 and 100 bnsbela produced.
Irish Potatoes—871 acres sown in 1908 and 83,250

bushels produced. This rear 884 acres planted.

Onions—2 aerea planted 1908, and 600 bushels pro.

duced.
Acres in Ktsss, 30,043. and 32,773 tons produced.
Clover—4,142 acres in 1908 and 5,140 tons of hay pro

dueed and 3,362 bushels seed; 10 acres plowed under for
irmnore.

Alfalfa—19 acres grown in 1908 and 39 tons of ha;
produced.
Milk—7.50.7 70 gallon* in 1908.

Butter—483,245 pounds made in home-randc dairies

ttnd 64,660 pound* in factories.

Eg?s—488,806 dozen in 1908.

Sorghum—2 acres in 19ns and 15 lbs. sugar and 77
gallons syrup produced.

Maple product* in 1909 were 2,062 trees, 20 pounds
sugar Hnd 1,1! 17 gallons of syrup.
Honey—5.717 pounds and 1.055 hives.

Commercial fertiliser— 1,233,1S5 pounds used in 1908.
and this year there will be nsed S45.360 pounds.
Orapes—4 acres vineyard; 2,900 pounds grapes gntb

cred and 100 gallons of wine pressed.

Orchards—3,232 acres of apples; 60,151 bushels.
Peaches—40V acres and 5,447 bushel*.

Poors— 13 acres and 036 bushels.

Cherries—39 acres and 485 bushels.
Plums— 10 acres and 716 bushels.

Other small fruits, 32 acres an.l 1,290 bushels.

Lands—Cultivated, 73,305; pasture, 92,273; woodland,
25.737; lying waste, 12,244; total owned, 203,559.
Hones owned, 4,744.

Cattle—Milch, 6,234; beef, 651; other cattle, 3,500.
Sheep—18.627; killed by dogs, 246; injured by

dogs, 100.

Hogs—1,105.

Wool shorn—250,339 pounds.
Domestic nnimnls died— Horses. 92; cattle, 113; sheep,

451; hogs, 132,
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CHAPTER XIII

PUBLIC HIGHWAYS

Indian Trail to Pike—Diversion of the Na
em Turnpike Building.

It is scarcely necessary to observe that

the primitive roads in this section were the

old Indian trails, which in most instances

were decidedly marked. Along them the

savage followed the war path, and after

him came the pioneer settler alone on his

hunting and trapping expeditions or col-

lectively in bodies large or small, as the

occasion demanded. The early military

expeditions were obliged to follow the

same course, sometimes to victory, but
quite as often to disaster. These trails as

a rule led along the ridges for several rea-

sons. First, they were more open and
free from the thick growth of weeds and
underbrush, which made travel next to im-
possible through the bottom lands. Sec-
ond, they were safer, as a traveling party
from points of advantage could overlook
the country and more easily protect itself

from ambuscade. Third, travel was less

liable to interruption from freshets, which
would have made travel along creek beds
impossible, for it is scarcely necessary to

state that there were no bridges in those
days. The more well defined trails seem
to have offered no serious difficulty to

travel on horseback, but whenever there

were movements, either military or civil,

involving the use of artillery, wagons or
other vehicles a contingent of axemen was
necessary to remove trees and other ob-

Road—Era of the Stage Coach—Mod-

struction s. There were trails made by
deer, buffalo and other animals to and
along the water course which were con-

venient for local travel, which, however,
was very limited. The main trails leading

from the river into the interior in Jefferson
County were at Yellow Creek, Steuben-
ville, connecting with an old road coming
down through Holliday's Cove, afterwards
the Pittsburg pike, Cross Creek and
George's Run. Below there was Zane's
trace, which afterwards became part of the

National pike. When Congress in 1806 de-

cided to enter upon the construction of that

thoroughfare it was a warmly debated
question whether it should come down Har-
mon's Creek to the river opposite Steuben-
ville and proceed westward through that

town, or strike the river at Wheeling and
cross into what is now Belmont County.
The commission, composed of Eli Will-

iams, Thomas Moore aud Joseph Kerr, de-

cided in favor of Wheeling, giving the fol-

lowing reasons therefor: "It was found
that the obstructions in the Ohio, within
the limits between Steubenville and Grave
Creek, lay principally above the town and
mouth of Wheeling; a circumstance ascer-

tained by the commissioners in their ex-

amination of the channel as well as by
common usage, which has long given a de-
cided preference to Wheeling as a place
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of embarkation and port of departure in

dry seasons. It was also seen that Wheel-
ing lay in a line from Brownsville to the

center of the state of Ohio and Post Vin-

cennes. These circumstances favoring and
corresponding with the chief objects in

view in this last direction of the route, and
the ground from Wheeling westwardly be-

ing known of equal fitness with any other

way out from the river, it was thought most
proper to loeate the point mentioned Ih*Iow

the mouth of Wheeling." This reads very
plausible, but nevertheless the arguments
in favor of the Steubenville route were so

strong that it is said that it required all

the eloquenee and inlluence of which Henry
Clay was capable to induce the commis-
sioners to adopt the Wheeling- Belmont
line. Be that as it may, it was evident

that Jefferson County must look to its own
resources in the way of pioneer road build-

ing, and this was inaugurated at an early

day. The. National pike reached the Ohio
River in 181 8.

On August 14, ]80:J, the county commis-
sioners ordered that "the road tax be uni-

formly half the county tax throughout the

county," which may be takeu as an indica-

tion that the importance of converting the

old trails into permanent public highways
was fully realized. The United States Gov-
ernment agreed to give :! per cent, of re

ceipts of land sales for road building,

which was good business sense, as high-

ways were absolutely necessary to give

any value to the lands. This naturally

gave au impetus to road building, and dur-

ing the next six years considerable survey-

ing was done for this purpose, as may be
seen by the following from the records of

the county commissioners:
Book A, Commissioners' .journal, Fri-

day, June 15. 1S(W, John Ward, Clerk:

"Ordered that William Wells [appointed
Justice by Governor St. Clair in 17"S| re-

ceive out of the county treasury $!> in full

for services of viewers and surveyors in

laying out a road from the mouth of Yel-

low Creek to the western boundary of

Pennsylvania."

On November J, 1804, a petition was pre-

sented for a road from the southeast cor-

ner of Jonathan West's field, past school-

house near James Pritchard's to intersect

state road at HMnile tree. James Latimer,
John Robert son and William Stoaks, view-

ers; John Gillis, Jr., surveyor. This road
was through Knox Township. Same date.

Beginning at Ohio River, opposite King's
Creek, at Isaac White's Ferry; across

Town Fork of Yellow Creek, near where
.lames Shane is building a mill; to inter-

sect state road from Stillwater to the

northeast corner of the seven ranges, at

Spriugfield. John Andrews, William
Campbell and Michael Myers were ap-

pointed viewers and John Gillis surveyor.

Same date. Beginning at extension of
Clay Lick Road, on dividing ridge in the

L'tith Sec, 11th Township, 4th Range; cross-

ing Alder Lick Fork and Dividing Fork of

Kennottenhead ; to intersect the great road
leading from George Town, on the Ohio;
to the Moravian Town on the Muskingum.
John Sunderland, John Gillis, Sr., and
John Myers, viewers: John Gillis, Jr., sur-

veyor. Same date. Beginning on the Ohio
at the mouth of Jeremias Run; to interseet

road from Steubenville to mouth of Yel-

low Creek [state road built along the river

in 1804J at 12-mile tree; to cross Town
Pork of Yellow Creek at James Fitzpat-

rick's; to James McCammis'; to intersect

state road at Springfield. Jacob Nessley,

William Sloane and Amos Wilson, viewers,

and John Gillis, surveyor. Same date.

Petition for alteration of road down Cross
Creek; past Moodie's mill; to intersect

road from Steubenville to mouth of Short
Creek. John Carr, John Andrews and
John Miller, viewers; Benjamin Hough,
surveyor. Same date. John Taggart com-
plained of a road having been laid out by
Robert Carothers (Road Commissioner)
from mouth of Short Creek to Duncan
Morrison's. Robert Moodie, John Carr,
John Adams, George Carpenter, Thomas
I larper, viewers.

November 4. 1S04. Draft of road, be-

ginning on new part of ridge south of
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Short Creek, past mills on Long Run; to

the three forks of Short Creek; ordered
made. Aimer Wells, Charles Moore and
Jacob Holmes, viewers

;
Benjamin Stanton,

surveyor. Same date. Beginning at 15th-

mile tree, on road leading from Steuben-
ville to Henderson's; to 17-mile tree on
road from [opposite] Charles Town to

Henderson's. John Crague, James Ar-
nold, viewers; William Holsou, surveyor.

November S. 1804. Survey of road from
mouth of Salt Run ; to intersect road oppo-
site Charles Town [Wellsburg] to Cadiz.

Ordered opened. Ebenezer Sprague,
Christopher Vanodoll. John Jackson,
viewers; John MeElroy, surveyor.

June session, 1805. Beginning at Bald-

win Parson's mill on Short Creek; to

Smithfield; to intersect Charles Town
[Wellsburg] road near Archibald Arm-
strong's. Nathan Shepherd, Malachia
Jolly, John Stonemau, viewers; William
Denning, surveyor.
Beginning at Joseph Steer's mill on

Short Creek: to mouth of Piney Fork;
along ridge between Piney Fork and Dry
Fork to Nathaniel Kellim's; to intersect

Charles Town road between the l.'Jth and
14-mile trees. Charles Cuppy, John Mc-
Milleu, Sr., William Gillespie, viewers;

William Holson, surveyor.

Beginning upper end first narrows of

Cross Creek, below Joseph Tomlinson's;
down the creek with cart road; theme to

"where old man Riddle formerly lived, to

old Mr. Smith's;" to intersect road from
Steubenville, near Smith's lime kiln, above
Beznleel Wells' saw mill. Jacob Welday,
William Forsythe, Samuel Hunter, view-

ers; Isaac Jenkinson, surveyor.

Beginning at south boundary line of

county; thence to Jacob Ong's mill on
Cross Creek to 14-mile tree on state road
to New Lisbon. William Carr, Mason Met-
calf, John Kimberlin, viewers; John Oillis,

surveyor.
Beginning on road leading from [oppo-

site] Charles Town, to Henderson's; be-

tween 17 and 18-mile tree to Mr. Catchall's

mill on Cross Creek. Samuel Dunlap. John

Crague, John Wiley, viewers; William
Holson, surveyor.

Septeinlwr, 180(i. Beginning at Cadiz;
thence past Thomas Dickerson's smith
shop, past schoolhouse on Joseph Holmes'
land; thence to John Colbert's, to inter-

sect the Short Creek Road; thence toward
Newels Town until it strikes the county
line. Joseph Huff, Samuel Huff, Josephine
Holmes, viewers.

Beginning at mouth of Big Yellow
Creek; thence to James Andrews's mill, to

James Glenn's, to intersect road from op-

posite King's Creek, on the Ohio, to

Spriugtield. Philip Saltsnian, John Wells,
Aaron Allen, viewers. <

Beginning at road from Charles Town
to Cadiz between the 20th and 21st-mile

trees, to Baldwin Parson's mills on Short
Creek. George Moore, John Craig aud
Levi Muncy, viewers.
Benjamin Scott presented a petition to

change part of road from Belmont County
line through his lands. Jonathan Lupton,
Nathan Lupton, Joseph Steer, viewers, and
Joseph Steer, surveyor.
Thomas Purviance complained of dam-

age sustained by alteration on road from
Charles Town to Cadiz. Joseph Porter,
John Baird, Daniel Dunlevy, John Ekey
and James Forsythe, reviewers. Robert
Christie made like complaint, and Elias
Pegg, Joseph Mahollen, Thomas Fleming
and William Sharron were appointed view-
ers. Samuel Cope also complained, and
James G. Harra, Samuel McNary, John
Kenney, Jesse Edginton and William Har-
vey were appointed viewers.
December, 1806. Beginning at the town

of New Salem, past the farm of John Ax

;

thence past farm of George Pfautz, past
farms David Custard, Daniel Bair; thence
down Knotteuhead, past sugar camp to

mouth of Alder Lick Fork, to intersect the
Charles Town Road. John Myser, Jacob
Whitmore, John Wiley, viewers.
Beginning at James Forsythe's mill on

Mclntire's Fork of Cross Creek, past John
Tarn's; thence on the old path which leads
from the Charles Town Road to the Steu-
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benville Road, which passes Bezaleel

Wells' sawmill. Samuel McKinncy, Jo-

seph Porter, Daniel Dunlevy, viewers.

'Beginning at the town of Cadiz, to James
Finney's, to Gutshall's mill. Jesse Edgin-
ton, William Marshall, Thomas Ford, view-

ers; William Denning, surveyor.

Beginning southeast corner Jonathan
West's field; to 12-mile tree on state road.

Favorably reported. William Stoaks,

James Latimer, viewers.

At this session John Tagart was award-
ed damages sustained in construction of

that part of state road laid out by Robert
Cnrothers from mouth of Short Creek to

Duncan Morrison's.

November 4, 1805. Beginning at For-
sythe mill on Cross ('reek ; to Joseph Toiu-

linson's; thence to left of old Mr. Kiddle's;

to intersect Steubenville Koad on Bezaleel

Wells' Mill Run, at the foot of the hill.

Samuel Hunter, Joseph Porter, John Ekey,
viewers; David McClure, surveyor.

Beginning at the Short Creek Koad
where Carpenter's old trail leaves it;

thence along dividing ridge between Short
Creek and Wheeling Creek; to John Me-
Connell's horse mill; thence along ridge

between Brushy Fork and Bogg's Fork of

Stillwater; intersecting Steubenville Road.
Joseph Huff, Samuel Huff, John McCon-
nell, viewers; William Holson, surveyor.

Beginning at 17-mile tree on Charles
Town Road; thence to Baldwin Parson's
mills on Short Creek. Samuel Dunlap,
John Wiley, John Crngne, viewers; Will-

iam Holson, surveyor.

Beginning at the mouth of Piuey Fork
of Short Creek; thence along side of creek
to Arnold '8 Town. Joshua Meeks, Jacob
Holmes, William Gillespie, viewers. '

Beginning on the Charles Town Road,
"near McAdams and west of him;" thence
to Eli Kelly's; to Thomas Cantwell's old

cabin; under the hill on the west side; to

cross the creek above Israel England's
sugar camp; thence up Cross Creek to

Forsythe's mill; thence up the dug hill

west of John Ekey's; to intersect Steuben-

ville Road, on the ridge near Matthew
Huffstater's field; a|so a branch from the

mouth of Dry Fork of Cross Creek, to in-

tersect said road at John Ekey's. Daniel
Dunlevy, Joseph Porter, Christopher
Lantz, viewers; Daniel McClure, surveyor.
Beginning at the plantation of Jacob

Sheplar, on road from Steubenville to

Cadiz; thence to plantation of John Bake,
on dividing ridge between Stillwater and
Knottenhead; thence to the range line.

John Lyons, David Ensloe, Samuel Holmes,
viewers; William Holson, surveyor.
David Robinson, Nathan Shephard,

George Humphrey, Abraham Cuppy and
Elias Pegg were appointed to investigate

grievance of John McCulloch by reason of
road from the house of William Sharron
to Joseph Steer's mill.

James Bailey, George Alban, Thomas
Nicholson, Richard Johnston and Thomas
Hitchcock were appointed to view a re-

monstrance against road from Bezaleel
Wells' sawmill to Cross Creek,

June, 1 SOti. Review of part of road from
William Sharron 's, past Steer's mill; in-

tersecting road from Warren Town to Mor-
rison's tavern; to-wit, from Rush Run
Road to Jeremiah Ellis' line; ordered.
Joshua Mi-Kce, Nathan Updegraff, James
Carr. viewers; John McElroy, surveyor.
Beginning at Hi-mile tree on road from

Charles Town to Henderson's; thence to
Martin Snyder's on road from Steuben-
ville to Cadiz. John Croskey, Jr., Samuel
Holmes. Daniel Welsh, viewers; William
Holson. surveyor.

Petition for road from Short Creek Road
near mouth of Long Run; thence up run hv
Abner Wells' mills and intersect Chilli-

cothe Road near house of John Wells.
Jonathan Wilson, Israel Jenkins, John
McConnell, viewers.

Beginning at state road near Massaui
Metcalf's; thence so as to pass between
farm of Abraham Bear and farm lately

occupied by John Brisbeu, dec, until it in-

tersects road laid out from Isaac White's
Ferry on the Ohio, to Springfield, at
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Thomas McCainis'. Thomas MeCamis,
Arthur Latimer, Massam Metcalf, viewers

;

Daniel McClure, surveyor.
Beginning at mouth of Long Lick Run,

through lands of Robert Hill and others,

to intersect road down McMabau's Run to

Steubenville, above Bezaleel Wells' saw-
mill. John Miller, John Adams, John
Ekey, viewers; Daniel McClure, surveyor.
Beginning at Baldwin Parson's mills on

Short Creek, past Alexander CassiPs full-

ing and sawmills; thence past Bradway
Thompson 's and Samuel Hanna's; to in-

tersect road from Cadiz to Newels Town
[St. Clairsville]. Andrew Richey, Samuel
Dunlap, John Wells, viewers; James Mc-
Millan, surveyor.
William Storer, Malachia Jolly and John

McLaughlin were appointed to review part
of road from Charles Town to Cadiz.
Beginning at Cadiz ; down Standingstone

Pork of* Stillwater; to intersect road from
George Town to Middle Moravian Town.
Abraham Leeport, Michael Worley, Joseph
Huff, viewers; Isaac Jenkinson, surveyor.
Beginning at the mouth of Wills Creek

;

up the creek by Michael Castner's sawmill

;

to intersect road from Steubenville; by
Uriah Johnson's sawmill at or near Sam-
uel Thompson '8. Andrew Anderson,
James Dunlevy, Brice Viers, viewers;
Isaac Jenkinson, surveyor.
Beginning at s. w. corner George Ridl-

ey's field on state road; through Elliot's

lane to Christopher Lance's; to intersect

road leading from Bezaleel Wells' sawmill;
over Cross Creek at Thomas Armstrong's.
George Day, Thomas Nicholson, Jesse
Wintringer, viewers; Isaac Jenkinson, sur-
veyor.

Beginning at Cadiz; thence to John Mc-
Connell's horse mill ; thence to county line;

to intersect road from St. Clairsville." John
McConnell, Davis Drake, James Crague,
James McMillen, viewers.
Beginning at mouth of State Lick Run;

thence up the hill "where Joseph Cook
has already dug a road;" thence to the
middle fence in John Phillips' plantation;
thence along state road to ridge leading to

George Mahon's horse-mill; to intersect a
new road from Steubenville, past Wells'
sawmill on Cross Creek. David Powell,

Daniel Treadway, Thomas Wintringer,
viewers.

Beginning at the mouth of Rush Run;
up the run to Joseph Pumphrey's sawmill;
to finally intersect Warren Town [Warren-
ton] Road, near "little Isaac Lemasters';"
also, another road to begin near Thomas
Brown's, and to intersect road from mouth
of Rush Run to Steer's mill, near Elias

Pegg's. George Carpenter, Joseph Bosk-
himer, David Purviance, viewers; William
Noughton, surveyor.
Beginning at road from Warren Town

to Smithfield at or near house of William
Sharron; to Joseph Steer's mill; to inter-

sect the road leading from Warren Town to

Morrison's, on the Chillicothe Road. Na-
than Updegraff, James Carr, Joseph Mc-
Kee, viewers; John McElroy, surveyor.

Beginning at the Charles Town Road, at

Leeport 's old place; thence up Macintire's

Fork of Cross Creek ; thence to James Rob-
erts' sawmill; thence to intersect road
leading from Warren Town to Duncan
Morrison's, near John Puller's. John
Craige, George Moore, John McFadden,
viewers.

Beginning at road from Tilton's Ferry
to St. Clairsville, at corner James West's
field ; to intersect road up Xittle Fork of

Short Creek, near Henry West's mill;

theuce to continue alone said road to ford-

ing below the meeting-house; to intersect

road from Steer's mills to Wheeling.
Thomas McCune, Joseph Tilton, Adam
Dunlap, viewers, and John McElroy, sur-

veyor.
James Bailey, William Bailey, William

Campbell, James Pritchard were appointed
viewers to investigate complaint of Henry
Hannah as to road laid out to intersect the

road from opposite King's Creek to

Springfield. The same viewers were ap-

pointed on the same complaint of John P.

McMillen.
March, 1807. Beginning at a school-

house near the Widow Wycoff's, on road
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laid out from mouth of Island Creek to

said schoolhouse; thence along the line be-

tween Daniel Arnold's and Martin Swick-
art's lands, to where said road strikes John
Kider's corner; to intersect the (Quaker
Koad ; thence to the mouth of .John Hider's
lane; thence to hill descending to Shane's
mill on the Town Fork of Yellow Creek.
(Jeorge Friend, William Friend, William
Campbell, Arthur Latimer, viewers, and
.John Milligan, surveyor.

Beginning at mouth of Kight-haiid Fork
of Short Creek; up said fork to intersect

road from Arnold's Town to Baldwin Par-
son's mills. John Craig. George Moore,
•lames G. Harra, viewers.

June, 1807. Beginning at the place
where the road from Baldwin Parson's
mill intersects road from Charles Town to

Cadiz, about two and one half miles from
Cadiz; thence past the plantation of Mor-
ris West on road from Cadiz to Steuben-
ville; past the plantation of Samuel Smith;
to intersect the road leading down divid-

ing ridge between Stillwater Cannotton
IConnotton] at the plantation of Otha
Baker. William Moore, Samuel Osborn,
Henry Hemry, viewers, and William Hol-
son, surveyor.

Beginning at Nicholas Cut-hall's mill;

thence past the farm of Christopher Shaf
fer; past farm of John Stull; past farm of

Daniel Shawber; to intersect road from
Steubenville to n. w. corner of the Seventh
Kange. Solomon Miller, George Pfautz,
Solomon Fisher, viewers, and John Milli-

gan, surveyor.

Beginning at the line between Jefferson
and Belmont, on dividing ridge between
Wheeling and Stillwater, where the road
from St. Clairsville intersects said line; to

Jacob Vanpelt's; to Benjamin Wnrdings';
thence by near James Perdue V, thence to

intersect the Steubenville Koad. David
J>rake, Joseph Covert, John Chadwallider,
viewers.

Beginning at or near the IG-mile tree on
road lending from Cadiz to Steubenville;
Iheriee to David Parkhill's mills; thence to

New Salem. John Kinney, Jesse Edgin-
ton. Peter 1 lesser, viewers.

Beginning at state road from Warren
Town past Mt. Pleasant, east of fields be-

longing to William McKahc; thence to saw-
mill of Asa Cadwallader; past lands of

Judge Martin and Joshua Howard, so as to

intersect road from Warren Town to

Sinithtield. Joseph McKee, Joseph Steer.

David Kohertson, viewers.

Beginning near William Eagle's; thence

west along dividing ridge between main
branch and Brushy Fork of Stillwater un-

til it comes to the head of a large run; to

Daniel Easlev's mill on Big Stillwater.

William Hull*. David Drake, John McMil-
lan, viewers.

Beginning nt Mr. Shepler's <»n the Chil-

licothe Bond; thence to the Clear Fork of

Stillwater; down said fork to Adam Far-
rier's mill; thence to the point where the

(Jeorge Town Koad crosses it. Samuel
Boyd. Abraham I-eeport, John McKonkey.
viewers.

Michael Castner complained of the

course through his property of road from
the landing of Philip Cable on {he Ohio, to

Springfield, and asked permission to

change road at his own expense. James
Moores, Jr., Thomas Frazier, Samuel
Thompson, viewers.

Willinm Marshall. John Ekey and Jo-

seph Tumbleson were appointed viewers on

a change in the road from the Steubenville

Koad to James Forsythe's mill; William
Denning, surveyor.
December. ISItJ. Petition presented for

alteration of road from Steul>enville, past

Mr. Wells' sawmill on Cross Creek; altera-

tion to be made between Steubenville and
the First and Second Kanges. Jacob
Fickes. David Hull, Moses llanlon. view-

ers, and Isaac Jenkinson, surveyor.
Petition for alteration of road from

Steubenville to Hezekiah Griffith's Fern
opposite Charles Town; the alteration to

begin at upper end of Mingo Bottom;
down to Ohio Kiver until it intersects road
from Mnodey's Mill to Edgar's Ferry.
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Robert Hill, Brice Viers, John Band,
viewers.

Petition for alteration of road from
Warren Town to Smith field; alteration to

begin on Peter Hone's land; down the hill

to the fording next below Thomas Adam's
sawmill. John Kerr, Joseph Kerr, Joseph
Steer, viewers.

Beginning at the Steubenville Road at

intersection ol road from Forsythc's mill;

along line between James Counell and An-
drew Elliott's land; north across James
Connell's plantation to a hickory on the

line between Connell's and Stephen
Brown's land; to lane to Andrew Ridley's;
to corner of Thomas Mansfield's field; to

mouth of William Sherrow's lane; to John
Creesand's hill; to intersect state road be-

tween 9 and 10-mile trees. Thomas Pat-

ton, William Floyd, Thomas Latta, viewers.

Thomas Adams asked for alteration of
road crossing Short Creek at upper end of
his mill-dam. John Kerr, Joseph Steer,

George Humphreys, viewers.
While all these projects were not car-

ried out, yet Jefferson County 'b first

decade witnessed a system of roads in-

augurated which would give access to prac-
tically every part of her territory. The
proper improvement of these roads was
to be the work of a century. To the north-
east from Steubenville extended the Pitts-

burgh pike, organized in 1822 and com-
pleted a few years later. Directly east was
the original Washington road connecting
with the pike four mills east of Wellsburg,
while westward, leading up the ravine
from Market street, was the "Old Steuben-
ville, Cadiz and Cambridge road." To
improve this road a private company un-
der the direction of Civil Engineer Reeves,
commenced operations on .July 10, 1837,

when the main road was moved from the
bottom of the ravine to tho hillside, where
there seems to have been already a sort of
outlet. This involved quite heavy grading
at the start, extending to what has long
been known as "the watering-trough" on
West Market street, whose never-failing
supply of cold, pure water has been a

source of refreshment to thousands of men
and animals. Here began, about 1850,

what was known as the "Plank Road,"
made of two-inch planks a foot wide and
eight or nine feet long, laid on the ground
close together, forming a continuous floor

extending to the "forks," five miles dis-

tant, where one branch of the road to the

left led to Cadiz, Cambridge and Zanes-
ville. The right hand road, after running
three miles further to the "Two Ridges,"
again forked, one branch taking to Salem
and New Philadelphia, and the other to

Kichmond. Harlem Springs, Carrollton,

Canton and Massillon. These roads, with
the one up and down the river, were re-

garded as state roads, although we do not
find that the state did anything towards
keeping them up. There was a toll-house

and gate just beyond the present L'nion

Cemetery entrance, which existed until

almnt the year 18G7, when the corporation
was dissolved and further effort to keep
the road in good order was abandoned.
The planks gradually decayed or were re-

moved, and the road remained in its origi-

nal condition Until the dawning of the pike

era, although it continued to be known as
the plank road. In some places, especially

in swampy ground, efforts were made to

"improve" the roads by laying across

them close together a covering of fence

rails or pieces of saplings. To this was
given the title "corduroy," probably from
the ridged cloth of that name, which be-

came a synonym for the acme of roughness
and discomfort in road travel.

Rongh as were these primeval thorough-
fares, they were a great advance on the

Indian trails and served well their pur-
pose. As early as 1817 Matthew Roberts,

a sturdy youth, carried the first mails to

Pittsburgh on horseback, and a couple of

years after he was succeeded by John
McMillan, who introduced the stage coach,

an humble two-horse precursor of the 20th

century limited. Soon the four-horse

coaches "fast express" were running be-

tween Steubenville, Pittsburgh, Wheeling
and other points, and in 1823 George A.
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Dobriuun and Matthew Koberts greatly
extended the bnsiuess, taking in not only
the towns named above, but Painesville,

Ashtabula, Cantou and Massillon, as well

as other inland towns now springing into

existence. The introduction of stenmlioats
on the Ohio gave another impetus to this

business, as Steubenville became an im-
portant connection of the two methods of
travel. Through tickets were issued in the
East for the West, good for stage coach and
steamboat. The bugle on the boat was
sounded in rotation, within hearing dis-

tance of a stage coach town, denoting the
number of passengers aboard to be landed
and continue their journey over the road.

Thus the stage coach people were prepared
for the start when the boat came to the
shore. If there were ten bugle sounds,
preparation was made for the teu passen-
gers. How distinctly, said an old river-

man, that is remembered, and especially
the manner in winch the embarking passen-
gers hustled their luggage together to be
ready for the best seat in the coach. Six
to eight coaches leaving daily, and as many
arrivals was no uncommon feature, and
the notes of the driver's horn made the
air resonant. To make the journey across
the country to Pittsburgh one had to nrise

at 2 a. m., leave about 3 or 4, take break-
fast and dinner en route, and arrive there
in the evening. Travel was more com-
fortable by river, but when the latter was
dried up or frozen over it was necessary to

fall back on the old reliable land route.

The fare was $2 to Wheeling and $1.1'5 by
steamer, while the average rate was 5 cents
a mile or over. The inauguration of Har-
lem mineral springs as a resort, especially

by Steubenville people, greatly enhanced
the coaching business in this vicinity.

Each coach carried from nine to twelve
passengers, each passenger being allowed
twenty pounds of baggage. The driver
was in full charge, the average time being
about eight miles an hour, with changes of
horses every ten or twelve miles. To in-

sure your seat in the coach you were re-

quired to be "booked." that is, registered,

in advance, and the term "booking" is still

applied to European railways which do not
have ticket offices but "booking" offices,

where, however, they sell tickets just as
they do in America. The freight wagons
were constructed to carry about five tons,

being coveml and usually drawn by six

horses. A cent a pound was charged on
freight from Pittsburgh to Steubenville,

and $3.50 to $10.00 ]x>r hundred pounds
from Philadelphia to Pittsburgh, according
to circumstances. A good span of horses
cost about $200, corn 25 cents per bushel,

and hay $6 per ton. Wheat, which could be
bought here for 30 cents a bushel, cost

$1.50 in the eastern market, the difference

being the cost of transportation. A coach-

man received $10 to $12 per month and
board, and was accountable for the care of

his team. Up to the early fifties the stage
coach held the pre-eminence in inland

travel, and the merchant who could adver-
tise his goods as only ten days out from
Philadelphia was considered unusually
enterprising.

Although we find occasional notices of

turnpike companies in the early newspa-
pers, yet the highways were simply dirt

roads, delightful to travel in summer after

the showers had laid the dust, but practi-

cally bottomless and almost impassable in

winter. The surface rocks of the northern
townships being sandstone and shales, pro-
duced a fair road which could be traveled

at all seasons, but in the southern part of

the county the limestone clays produced
the most sticky and obdurate mud imagi-
nable. The advent of steam by river and
rail no doubt reduced the pressure for

good roads, as the old stage lines disap-

peared one by one. leaving as their surviv-

ors local "backs" still in vogue across the

center of the county, and used to connect
the back county with railroad stations.

We have noticed the cllort to improve mat-
ters by menus of the "plank road." but
even the cheap lumber of that day did not
avail to make a durable highway, and the

enterprise was not a financial success. It

began to be recognized that broken lime-
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stone with suitable grades could only solve

the problem, but that kind of road build-

ing was expensive, and for many years a
section of about two miles in the lower end
of the county was the only representative

of improved roads.

Finally, in the winter of 1878-79, a cam-
paign of education was begun in favor of
pikes, or macadamized roads, from the

name of their inventor. There seemed to

be sufficient public sentiment in its favor
to warrant the submission of the matter to

the people on a proposition to begin the

construction of three trunk roads leading
north, south and west from Steuhenville,

witli lateral branches to be added later.

About one-third the tax valuation of the

county was in Steuhenville city, and as the
work was to lie paid for by general levy

the city, which would be only indirectly

benefited, would pay one-third the entire

cost. The result of the election, which took
place on the first Monday of April, 1879,

exhibited some curious anomalies. The
total vote in favor of pikes was 3,185 to

2,935 against, giving a net majority of 250.

But. the city was almost solid for the proj-

ect, giving 1,970 in favor to 149 against,

while the outside voted 1,215 for and 2,786
against. Steuhenville township, 63 to 5,

and Wintersville Precinct, 173 to 76, were
the only two precincts outside the city

which wanted pikes. Brush Creek east a
solid vote against, and some of the others
nearly so. Nevertheless, the advocates of
pikes flattered themselves that they had
won a victory, but it proved a barren one.

Injunction proceedings were begun, which
had the effect of holding up the matter
until after the fall election, when William
Stark, the County Commissioner, who had
been most active in the cause, was defeated
for second term, and James Ball, an op-

ponent of the project, was elected in his

place. The matter was thus allowed to

die, and we hear no more of pikes in this

county until 1886, when Hon. B. N. Linduff,

member of the legislature from Jefferson,

had a bill passed directing the County Com-
missioners to build a pike from Steuhen-

ville city limits to the county infirmary, a

distance of about two and one-third miles,

which was accomplished that summer.
This seems to have been an education so

far as the central part of the county was
concerned, and on February 28, 1890, an
act was passed authorizing the townships
of Steuhenville, Cross Creek, Island Creek,
Salem, Wells, Knox and part of Smithfield

to vote on the question of pikes to be con-

structed by general taxation. Each town-
ship had the privilege of joining or remain-
ing outside of the combination, but unless

the three first named should vote affirma-

tively then no pikes whatever should be
built. The ensuing April election resulted

in the following favorable majorities in

the townships named : Steuhenville, 1,232

;

Island Creek, 10; Cross Creek, 130; Wells,

119, and Salem, 27. Knox and Smithfield

voted adversely and were consequently
omitted from the system. Under this act

seventy-eight miles of turnpike were con-

structed during the next four years in the

five townships named, and under the stimu-
lus of this example seven additional miles
of pike were constructed in the southern
townships under the one-mile assessment
plan, and the work has been going on ever
since until there are now 154 miles of turn-

pike in the county. It has been found
economical in the long run to make the
limestone covering twelve inches deep, as
with less the repair bill becomes propor-
tionately heavy. Open ditches have in

most cases been depended on for drainage,
but four-inch sewer pipe were used
on the worst part of the road built in 1886,

placed under the center of the metal with
good effect. The rugged nature of the

country near the river has made the ques-

tion of grades very important, and the re-

strictions on the cost of construction have
forced a maximum grade in some cases of

YlVx per cent, although on most of the

roads the maximum does not exceed 8%
per cent, and on a few 5 per cent. It is un-

necessary to say that the heavier the grade
the greater the cost of maintaining a road,

aside from other disadvantages. The cost

Digitized by Google



216 HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

of construction of the roads referred to

haR ranged from $2,120 to $8,000 per mile,

running far above that in special cases like

the Mingo and Stanton boulevards, which
have been paved with fire brick. Difference
in the amount of grading required is the

principal cost of tliis variation, accessi-

bility of limestone, the labor market, etc.,

also being factors. The change of senti-

ment in the rural districts on this question
is illustrated in the case of Knox Town-
ship, which voted almost solidly against
pikes in 1879, and 461 to 197 against in

1890, when a large part of the expense
would have beeu borne by Steubenville
city, und a few years later decided by a
vote of 560 to 150 to build pikes without
outside help. The pikes of Jefferson
County have cost about one million dollars,

but there is no thought of going backwards,
and the time may come, as it has done in

Kurope, when the general use of public

motor cars will bring back the rural high-
way to more than pristine importance.
There are indications, however that the

road of the future, not only in this but in

other sections of the country, will be, not
macadam, but the vitrified fire brick, which
is already the principal factor in street

paving. The lirst cost of a brick road is

nearly double that of macadam, but the
constant repair needed by the latter wher-
ever there is a reasonable traffic in a few
years more than equalizes the difference.

About nine years ago the county commis-
sioners laid a mile section of brick road
between Toronto aud Kmpire, which, as
an object lesson, has attracted national at-

tention. It is on the bank of the Ohio
Biver, subject to overflow, and in a loca-

tion where a stone road would not last a
year. This road is 10 i'cet wide, with a
little-used summer dirt road on one side.

It was built at a cost of sS.OOO a mile and
after nine years of heavy traffic is in about
as good condition as when built, except
where it was injured in one place by a
landslide and in another by the burning
out of a cinder pile over which it was built.

Where this brick road stops a continuation

of stone road of equal length was built at

the same time. The stone road coat $3,000

a mile less than the brick road originally,

and has a much more favorable location.

In the nine years these roads have been
in use the repairs on the stone road have
already used up the original difference in

cost and the annual repair bill is increas-

ing, while not a cent has been spent on
repairs on the brick, and to all appearance
none need be spent for many years.

Through the interests of some clay mag-
nates the brick road was provided with a

unique curb. The curb is of vital import-

ance in brick road building. The stone

curb at $4,000 a mile is an extravagance
and the brick curb (the cheapest perma-
nent curbing known) depends for its ef-

ficiency on the careful maintenance of the

stone or earth banking, or berme, and
seems to be objectionable because it in-

creases the annual repair bill. The concrete

curb at a cost of about $2,500 a mile is

most in favor but is easily broken, demands
expert supervision throughout its construc-

tion and is liable to frost damage.
The burnt clay curb used on the Toronto

road can be laid at about the same cost per

mile as the concrete, which it excels in sev-

eral particulars. It is made of the same
material as sewer pipe and vitrified in the

same way. When laid in the road it is

practically indestructible and unbreakable.

The curb is made in 2-foot sections with a

height of 18 inches, a base 7 inches wide,

top about 3 inches; sides 2 inches thick.

Reiner hollow, it can be utilized for drain-

ins; the road bed. All that is needed is

to cut outlets at the bottom of the grades

and provide lateral tile to carry the water
off the right of way. And it appears that,

except where heavy grades are necessary,

where a brick road becomes too slippery,

this is the common highway of the future.

Tlie county already has about eight miles

of brick highways and 750 miles of dirt

road.
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CHAPTER XIV

THE GREAT WATER TRAIL

Canoe to Ketlboat and Flat—First Steamboat on the Ohio—Rise and Decline of River
Trade—The Floating Palace and the Rig Towboat—Proposed Rig Inland Canal.

While interior settlers were dependent
on Indian trails and primitive conveyances
for methods of intercommunication, Jef-

ferson County was fortunate in having
along her entire frontage a stream that,

except for a short time in midwinter, was
practically navigable the year round for

the small vessels then in use. We have
seen how the Ohio furnished a natural
highway for the war canoe of the Indian,

and later was utilized by the military and
the pioneers in the same manner. It was
easier floating down the stream with the

current than hauling the goods overland,

and the return journey at first did not re-

ceive much consideration. The needs of

the country brought a development from
the canoe into the keelboat, or barge,

roughly made, seventy-live to a hundred
feet in length and a breadth of fifteen or
twenty feet. They carried sixty to one
hundred tons of freight and had a small
cabin at one end for female passengers.
Sails were used, but wind in the Ohio River
curves is a very uncertain quantity, and
poles were resorted to for motive power,
and occasionally towing, the boatmen walk-
ing along the shore, pulling the craft by
means of a long rope. It was not until after

the construction of Fort Steuben in 178(>-7

that the river began to assume any com-
mercial importance. Navigators and boat-

men were obtainable at Redstone (Browns-

ville) or Pittsburgh, but any person wish-

ing to descend the Ohio must purchase or
charter (generally the former) his own
craft, and take his chances of being shot

or wrecked. But the opening of the Seven
Ranges for settlement, and the creation of
small towns farther down the river pro-
duced a demand for more systematic

methods of conveying freight and passen-

gers, and a reliable means of getting up
the river as well as down. Accordingly, in

the Centincl of the Northwestern Terri-

tory, published at Cincinnati in 1793, we
find this advertisement:

"OHIO PACKET BOATS.

"Two boats for the present will set oat from Cincin-

nati to Pittsburgh aud return to Cincinnati in tbe follow

ing manner, viz.:

" Fiwt boat will leave Cincinnati this morning at 8
o 'cluck, and return to Cincinnati so as to be ready to

sail again in four weeks from this dale.

"Second bout will leave Cincinnati on Saturday, the

30th inst., and return to Cincinnati in four weeks as
above.

"And k>, regularly, each boat performing the voyage
to and from Cincinnati to Pittsburgh once in every four

weeks.
"Two boats in addition to tbe nbovo will shortly be

completed, and regulated in *uch a manner that one boat
of the four will set out weekly from Cincinnati to Pits-

burg and return in like manner.
"The proprielors of these bontg, having maturely con-

sidered the many inconveniences and dangers incident to

the common method hitherto adopted of navigating the

Ohio, and being influenced by a lovn of philanthropy and
de«irc of being serviceable to the public, have taken great

pains to render the accommodations on board the boats

as agreeable and convenient as they could possibly be
made.
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"No danger need be apprehended from the enemy, n»
every jierson on boiird will be undi>r e<>\er, made pm<.f
agimiKt rifle or tmwpiet halls, and convenient purl hole*
for firing out of. Kuch of the Imatx lire armed with s.x

piece*, carrying >i pound hall ; also a number <>f giw.d

muskets and amply HUpplird with plenty of jiiiiiiimii t ion,

strongly manned with rhoiro hand*, and the rujistfin of
approved knowledge.
"A separate cabin from llml designed for the men U

partitioned off in each liont for aecumiiiodnting ladies

on thoir passage. • • «

" l'assenger* will be supplied with provision* and
liquorfi of all kinds, of the flrxt i|imhlv. at the moat reu

xonable rates poaaible."

The time in each direction is not given,
but presumably the up trip required three
weeks and the down trip one week. The
commercial possibilities of the river were
pointed out as early as 1770 by an English
engineer, and a French pamphlet along the

same lines published in 1789 was effective

in securing the French settlement at Gal-
lipolis in the following year. The latter

suggests that the capital of the nation be
located in the valley, "which will be the
center of the whole country." These docu-
ments furnish most interesting reading,

and we regret that want of space prevents
their publication in full. General Wash-
ington, to whom we owe more in regard to

the development of this valley than is gen-
erally supposed, wrote the following hint

of improved navigation as early as 17K4,

saying, "I consider Rumsey's discovery
for working boats against the stream by
mechanical powers principally as not only
a very fortunate invention for these states

in general, but as one of those circum-
stances which have combined to render the

present time favorable above all others for

fixing, if we are disposed to avail ourselves
of them, a large portion of the trade of
the western country in the bosom of this

state irrevocably." Kumsey used steam as
a motive power in 17S<» to force a stream
of water hack from the vessel, which would
have the effect of driving the craft for-

ward, ami had a controversy with .John

Fitch, who declared that traffic on these
western waters would one day he carried
on by steam, hut Fulton finally carried
away the honors from both of them.
The boatmen of the early days had their

characteristic* tjuite as decided as those of

the stage driver.-, t hie of them, Mike Fink,

has become notorious, lie is said to have
been a rullian. bloodthirsty and revengeful

ami equally skilful with the knife and rifle.

One of his accomplishments was to shoot a

small drinking can of whisky, a la William
Tell, from a man's head with a rifle. Such
was his reputation as a marksman that

his companions were willing, perhaps un-

der persuasion, to pose as targets. One
day, however, having imbibed too freely,

his aim was a little too low, ami his com
panion was killed. Mike displayed deep
grief, either real or pretended, at the un-

fortunate result, but one of the man's
friends believed the killing to be inten

tional, and determined on revenge. He
carefully concealed his purpose, for strat

egy was necessary, and some time after,

when the boatmen were on a carousal, he
boasted of Mike's prowess, and stood while

Mike shot the can off his head. This was
done several times, when he called ou Mike
to reverse matters by taking the can on
his head while the other shot. Mike con-

sented and the result was fatal, the bullet

piercing his skull directly between the eyes.

He died unlamented. his associates having
been the dirties, Hill Harney, doe Carpen-
ter, Jim Stevens, Jack Dalton, and other

noted freebooters, who had their headquar-
ters on the river at a place called Cave in

the Rock, about twenty miles below Shaw-
ncetown. Here was a veritable pirate

home, where they planned their operations,

collected their plunder and divided the

spoils, not always without bloody fights

among themselves.

As early as 1704 a young man named
Green carried the mail between Pittsburgh
and Cincinnati in a canoe, sometimes tak-

ing one or two passengers and a little

freight. The Wetzels. Fowlers and other

Indian lighters of the early days took to

boating before the end of their lives.

The sailing of a vessel direct from Pitts

burgh to Europe would be considered a

novelty in these days, but such an event

occurred over a hundred years ago. In
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1799 Louis Anastasius Taraseon, a French
merchant of Philadelphia, sent two of his

clerks, Charles Brugiere and James Ber-
thoud, to examine the course of the Ohio
and Mississippi Rivers from Pittsburgh
to New Orleans, and ascertain the prac-

ticability of sending ships ready rigged to

the West Indies and Europe. They re-

ported favorably, and Mr. Taraseon, as-

sociating them and his brother with him as
partners, immediately established in Pitts-

burgh a large wholesale and retail store

and warehouse, a shipyard, u rigging and
sail loft, an anchor-smith's shop, a block

manufactory, and, in short, everything
necessary to complete vessels for sea. The
first year, 1801, they built the schooner
"Amity," of 120 tons, and the ship "Pitts-

burgh," and sent the former loaded with
flour to St. Thomas, and the other, also

with flour, to Philadelphia, of course des-

cending the Ohio and Mississippi to the

gulf, from whence they sent them to Bor-
deaux, and brought back wine, brandy and
other French goods, part of which they
sent to Pittsburgh in wagons, at a carriage
of from six to eight cents per pound. In
1802 they built the brig "Nanimo," of
250 tons; in 1803 the ship "Louisiana," of
.{00 tons, and in 1804 the ship "Western
Trader," of 400 tons. The construction of
these and other like vessels gave an im-
petus to hemp culture in the valley, which
was not only worked into cordage for local

purposes, but shipped eastward on these

same vessels in considerable quantities.

The reign of the keelboat lasted over
twenty years, although as early as March
20, 1801, a notice appeared in the H>.s/trn

S'[»f announcing a meeting at Uriflin Yate-
nian's tavern, corner of Sycamore and
Front streets, Cincinnati, to take into con-

sideration the practicability of a new in-

vention for propelling boats by steam,
which had already been accomplished by
John Fitch on the Oelaware River, and
who was planuing to put a boat on the

Ohio. At that early day he uttered the

prophetic words, "The day will come when
vessels propelled by steam will cross the

ocean ! And I almost venture to prophesy
that the same power will be utilized in mov-
ing land vehicles

! '

' But Fitch died in Ken-
tucky without his dream being realized,

and it was not until ten years later that
Robert Fulton, who had succeeded to his

inventions and his honors, constructed the

steamboat "New Orleans" at Elizabeth-
town, near Pittsburgh. It cost $40,000 and
was intended to ply between Natchez and
New Orleans. The boat was built under
the direct supervision of Cuptaiu Roose-
velt, grandfather of ex-President Roose-
velt, who, with his wife and family, Mr.
Raker as engineer, Andrew Jack, pilot, six

hands and a few domestics, made the jour-

ney down the river. The boat was a side-

wheeler and her tonnage is given as
.'171.89-95, her owners being Fulton and
Chancellor Livingstone, of New York. The
boat was launched on Mondav, March 18,

1811, and left Pittsburgh on Sunday, Octo-
ber 20, arriving at Steubenville that same
eveuing. The steamer naturally attracted
general attention as she rushed through
the waters of this then quiet valley. It con-
tinued in business until 1814, when it struck

a snag and sunk near Baton Rouge, La.
Affairs moved slowly in those days, and
the next boat, called the "Comet," was
not built until 1812-13. She was sold in

1814. and her engine subsequently was used
to run the lirst cotton gin. That same year
the "Enterprise," a small sternwheeler,
was built at Brownsville and placed in com-
mand of Captain Shrieve, which was the
beginning of a great boat-building industry
at that place. That fall it was chartered
by the government and loaded with mili-

tary supplies for New Orleans, arriving
there before the battle of January 8, 1815.

Mut while several boats had descended the

river, so far none had returned to >rive

visible proof of their ability to stem the

current, concerning which there was con-

siderable skepticism. So one bright June
day in 1815 the little city of Steubeuville
was excited by the circulation of a report
that some kind of a steam-propelled water
craft was ascending the river near Pot-
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ter's, now Mingo, Island. A ei^owd hurried

to the river bank aiid in about an hour the

"Enterprise" ran her nose into the bank,

with the report that she had made the re-

turn journey from New Orleans in 35 days!
The return of the Argonauts probably did

not produce a greater sensation, and as

the boat easily steamed up towards Pitts-

burgh it was realized that a new era had
dawned, not merely in river transportation,

but in shore activities dependent on it. It

must not be supposed that barges went
immediately out of use. Considerable

freighting was done by means of them to

the lower rivers, but of course their pas-

senger trade was over, and when reaching

New Orleans they were generally sold for

their lumber, as it did not pay to tow them
back. Coal transportation belongs to a

later era. The "George Washington" was
built at Wheeling the next year, being

launched on May 16th. But she blew up at

Marietta while on her maiden trip, injuring

some seventeen persons, the first of a long

series of river disasters. Subsequently
she was repaired aud run as a packet be-

tween Cincinnati and Louisville, and then

in the New Orleaus trade. In 1817 her

captain challenged the "General Tike" to

a race for $1,000. During this race the

"Pike" blow up, but Captain Shrieve con-

tinned his trip and took the stakes. While
returning from New Orleans to Louisville

Captain Shrieve was compelled to man his

boat nine times on account of the ravages
of yellow fever, and had nine dead on board
when he reached the latter city, lie after-

wards took charge of the steamer "Ohio."
built at New Albany, and engaged in gov-

ernment work of cutting logs out of Red
liiver, the town of Shreveport, La., being
named after him.
Steamboat building now became a lead-

ing industry, in which Jefferson County,
especially Steubenville, took an active part.

The first boat constructed here was the

"Bexaleel Wells," and the order for her

boiler and engine was given to Arthur M.
Phillips, who had come from Carlisle, Pa.,

in 1807. He was originally a blacksmith

and carried on that trade until 1815, when
he purchased the site of the present Means
foundry and made hollow ware, grates, etc.,

adding a machine shop worked by horse-

power. In 1S19 he received Ins first order
for a steamboat engine and boiler, and
Elijah Murray established a boatyard be-

tween Washington nnd North Streets, from
which the "Bezaleel Wells" was completed
in 1820. The accepted style of those early

steamboats was sixty to ninety feet keel,

fourteen to sixteen feet beam, three to four

feet open hold, in which the boilers were
placed, sidewheeler, with a single engine,

and cabin on the first floor. A peculiarity

of the boat was a brick chimney, but after

a few experimental trips in the neighbor-

hood the objections to that kind of smoke-
stack were so obvious that, on reaching
Pittsburgh, it was taken down and one of
metal substituted. It was then concluded
to make a trip to Pittsburgh, and one of
the passengers on that occasion furnishes
an account of the voyage which is amusing,
if the trip itself was not. This writer,

among other things, says:

"The hour fixed for our departure brought to the beach
(for we had no wharves in olden limes) an immense con-
course of people to nee the new steamboat start, for

really it was a phenomenon nf no ordinary occurrence to

see a steamboat running up the stream without the aid
nf oars, poles or paddles. We left Steubenville about 2

o'clock in the afternoon, and made such rapid progress
the first mile that the crowd on shore were (for they
seemed unwilling to lose right of us) at their best gait to

keep up with lie. Here it became necessary to cro-s to

the Virginia shore, whore wo found the current rather

more than a match for our steam power, and in order to

stem it at all, everyone who could pull a pound was re-

quired to parade on deck, and all exert themselves to the
utmost of their power in the employment of bushwhack-
ing, and although our progress was sometimes scarcely

perceivable, "till we remained in high spirits until we had
overcome nearly another mile, when we were informed by
the engineer that the force pump had given way, and
that we must stop and repair U-fore we could go any
farther. This for a time seemed to throw a little gloom
o\er our prospects, but no one nppenred to doubt the

practicability of our finally reaching the place of our
destination, and we all agreed to put up for the night,

nn.l wait patiently until the pump could be repaired,

which by working all night was accomplished by ten

o'clock the next morning, nlien we again ret out for

Pittsburgh. The repairs made on this occasion did not
increase our power »> much a* we had hoped it would
have done, for, although we had hoome very tired of it,

we were obliged to keep up our bushwhacking, or go down
stream instead of up, whenever wc met with stiff water.
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By one effort ami another, however, against noon the

second day, we hove in sight of Brown 's Island, the lower
point of which is a little short of four miles above 8teu-

benviUe. Here we met with a current more powerful than
any we had before encountered, and one, too, which in the

end proved too great for us to encounter. We were, how1
'

ever, slow to believe this fact, and speot the whole after-

noon in effort* to round the point of that island. Some
times we acted very harmoniously; at others got into con-

siderable brawls, charging each other with want of skill

and discretion. Fortunately for us we had on board a
venerable old gentleman (after whom the boat nag
named) whoso well-spent life bad placed htm upon an
eminence among his fellow men, which gave him great

influence, und whenever our discussions bore an angry
aspect one conciliatory word from that good old man set

all things right. Still, even with his assistance wc were
unable to get any farther up stream, and when night stole

in upon us wc were obliged to cable to the shore below
the point of the island which we had so earnestly and
not iri ugly struggled to pass. This for a time seemed to

thwart our prospects and depress our spirits; but we
were soon made to forget our troubles by the many vis-

itors with which in a few minutes we found our boat

crowded. The news of a steamboat lying at the poiut of
Brown 's Island had spread far and wide and brought to

that place the lads and lassies of all the hills round
sbout. A dance was proposed, the cabin cleared out, the

flutes and fiddles made to accord as near as was thought

to be of any importance, and then went off such a jolli-

fication as was truly characteristic of olden times. The
good old gentleman referred to made no objections to our
amusements uutil the proper hour of rest had arrivod,

when, nt his suggestion, we all went quietly to bed, and
spent the remainder of the night in sweet forgetfulnees.

Next morning brought with it its troubles. Many wore
in favor of returning home, said it was silly nonsense to

think of getting to Pittsburgh with such a boat, that this

was the third day we bad been from home, and that we
could still hear the town bell ring for dinner, while our
captain and others declared that they would rather build

a machine shop on tbo shore and repair the machinery
than submit to the morti6eution of returning. In this

state of things and when the altercation became rather

boisterous, oor good old peacemaker again interfered, and
by his unbounded influence hod had carried unanimously
a proposition that we tdiould return to Steubenville for

the purpose of repairing, with the understanding that no
one should ask to have his fare refunded, and that we
should all bold ourselves in readiness at a moment 's warn
ing to embark URain mid accomplish our undertaking
This uue«tion being settled, we cut loose from shore, and
in a few minute* found ourselves :i| the plan- we started

from."

THE SECOND TRIP.

This was made a week after tin- first, and
of it the writer says

:

"We got along finely for more than twenty miles, run-

ning at the rate of from two to three miles an hour, and
passing all the igfnnds and everything else we eame to

without any trouble, or the application of any power rave
that of steam. We all felt highly pleaded with onr situa-

tion atnl prospects, and looked with disdain on the petty

keel boats n» we passed them, and pitied the poor fellows

who had to work their way by pulling and bushwhacking.
8oon, however, an accident occurred, which convinced ns

that after all this is a world of disappointments. We
were informed by the engineer that tho force pump w:us

broken all tu pieces—that it could not be repaired, and
that we could go no farther without a new pump. We
felt that we could never overcome the mortification of

again returning without seeing Pittsburg and after a long
and sullen consultation we eame to the determination that

we would go ahead without a force-pump—that as often

as our boilers became empty, or so low as to cause dan-
ger of explosion, we would lie to shore, open an avenue
in their upper sides, introduce a funnel, and by means of
buckets dip the water out of the river and fill them; and
as this was considered an expedient which would require
considerable labor, it was agree*! that all the male pas
sengers should assist in its accomplishment. To this

agreement some of the parly made serious objections,

alleging that their fine clothes would become so much
sullied that they could not make a genteel appearance
when they should reach Pittsburgh. A large majority
were, however, in favor of it, and the influence of public

opinion soon compelled the minority to yield. The matter
of reaching water above onr beads we found to be very

fatiguing, and the tickling of the drippings down onr
coat sleeves by no means pleasant or agreeable; besides

this, almost every time we landed to fill our boilers we
got fast on bars, and to get off again generally kept us
in employment while the water was boiling.

"In the evening of the third day we reached what is

called the Headman's Hippie, and after filling our boilers

discovered that our coal was nearly exhausted, that it

would be folly to attempt to encounter such a current

without a better supply of fuel, and upon inquiry learned

that there was no coal hank within less than six or seven

miles, nor was there any cord wood in the neighborhood
to be obtained. This state of things occasioned much dis-

satisfaction and murmuring on the part of the passengers
and drew upon the head of our worthy captain many
curses for his want of forecast. As night waa approach-
ing, however, it was agree,! upon us our only expedient

that we must lay over until morning, and in the meantime
procure fence rails and prepare for the fines such quanti-

ties as would enable us to reach a eoalbank some six or

seven miles ahead. Accordingly wc all took off our

coats, and went to work and cut and carried rails until a

late hour in the night, that we might be able to make an
early start in the morning, but being much fatigued, we
overslept ourselves, and were quite late getting off the

next day, and when we got under way, to our great dis-

appointment and mortification we found that with such
rnils as we had procured for fuel we Could not overcome
the current we had to encounter. We tried it again and
again, but whenever we would reach a certain point in the
ripple, like the Irish captain we found ourselves advancing
backwards. This perplexing predicament put us all out

of humor, and drew upon the bead of the captain a fresh

volley of complaints and rebukes, and the pilot, who wns
altogether dissatisfied, be(fan to threaten to leave the

boat. The captain, who seemed unwilling to bear the

blame, alleged that the helmsman was in fault, that ho
kept too far from shore, and although the captain was
warned of the consequences, he compelled the helmsman
to approach so near the beach, that before we knew what
we were about a heavy current struck the bow of the
boat and swung her with tremendous force on the bar
below, leaving us almost on a dry beach.

"This seemed to bring onr voyage to an almost insup-

portable crisis; all was uproar and confusion, some de-

clared thev would return home, while others said tbey
would walk to Pittsburgh. The pilot and captain got
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into it real jangle, while some of ihe passengers ami
crew begun to hunt up their baggage, and ail gave indi-

cations of abandoning the I mat. At this critical an<l

mwt discouraging juncture »ur worthy ol<l friend, who
had quieted our disturbance on our first voyage, again
interfered, and by his kind and conciliatory demeanor,
and great influence, noon reconciled nil parties, and
effected an agreement that the captain should procure a
team, and have brought from the nearest coal bank a
load of coal, and that the passenger* and crew should in

the meantime loosen the boat, and *ct her afloat agaiu.

With this understanding we all went to work in good
earnest, for by this time our fine clothes hud become so

much sullied that no one any longer thought it of any
importance to keep his work at urtu 's length, und about
2 o'clock P. M. we succeeded in getting our bout off the

bar, and as good luck would have it our captain hove in

sight with his load of coal. Our prospects, which looked

dark indeed in the morning, now begun to brighten up,

aud we were all cheerful and happy in view of the pros

peet of again successfully prosecuting uur journey. We
bad ruined steam pretty high, so that no time should Is-

lost after we should get our eoal aboard, and from up
pcaranees we had every reason to believe that we should

be under way again in a few minutes; but unfortunately

at the very point of time when our captain had Ins

teamster back in his nagou with end gale off to the brink

of a precipice immediately alovc the bout, some one. to

amuse himself and probably for the piir|Mi*c of startling

his next neighbor, let a puff of steam escape from the

safety valve, which frightened the poor horse* so that

they snorted and ran like wild animals, scattering our
coal over a ten acre cornfield. This threw us again into

great confusion, and n terrible hue and cry was raised

ngtiinst 'the fool' who had done the mischief ; the cap-

tain declared if he could Mud out who had frightened

the horses he would skin him, for he had again and again
forbidden anyone to meddle with that safety valve. K.>r

tunately for the aggressor, we were newr aide to find

out who he was. As *«mui as this tlnrry was over we all

turned out and gathered up as mm h coal ;is took us over

the ripple, and then with the aid of oar rails got un to

the coal bank, where we received a fresh supply."

There seemed to be no further adven-

tures until Pittsburgh was reached, in five

days from leaving Steubetiville, although

tliere were plenty of incidents, among them
the capture of a wounded deer in the river,

when passengers and crew indulged antici-

pations of a repast of venison. When it

was brought to the table it was so impreg-
nated with gas and smoke that only the

pangs of hunger compelled its consump-
tion, as was, indeed, the ca.se with all the

cooked victuals. Cooking stoves were then

a novelty, and both stoves and cook re-

ceived the anathemas of passengers and
crew until they reached Pittsburgh, when
the maker of the stove was sent for and
duly reviled. Convulsed with laughter, he
pointed to a plate perforated with holes,

which was intended to let the steam bear
on the victuals, but which had been so mis-

placed as to let all the smoke and gas (in-

stead of steam) penetrate and perfume
everything they had eaten. It was found
that eight or ten days would be required to

repair the boat for the return trip, so the

passengers went home by other means,
doubtless using the stage or keelboat,

which was not yet quite ready to abdicate

in favor of the steamer. Whether the

writer quoted above has drawn on his

imagination for any of the details, we are
not prepared to say, but no doubt the trip

was an eventful one. Elijah Murray was
the captain and Adam Wise the engineer.

Ambrose Shaw is said to have gone along
to tojt out the chimney.

But the failures of the first exjwriments
were only incentives to success, and the

Murray boatyard turned out the "Robert
Thompson,"' "Nteubenville," "Aurora,"
"Congress," and others that were promi-
nent in river annals. The first named was
completed in 18:21 and wa« built to run be-

tween Pittsburgh, Cincinnati and Louis
ville. She soon after took up the lower
trade, and was the first steamer to enter
the Arkansas River. An item in the Cin-

cinnati Cinuiiii'iridl of dune 10, 1S70, tells

the following: "Capt. John S. Devenny
has presented to us one of the steamer
'Robert Thompson' jesters, about five by
seven inches in size, which announces that

that boat will leave Fort Smith for the

mouth of White River on Wednesday, May
:!»>. 1SJ-J, at !» a. in. This boat was com-
manded by Capt. (ieorge A. Dohrman, with
Jacob A. I'ohrman, clerk, and Peter A.

Pohrman. pilot. The hull of the 'Thomp-
son' was built when? Wellsville, Ohio, now
stands and the cabin and machinery at

Steubenville. The hull was sixty-live feet

keel, eleven feet beam, with three-foot hold

and sidewheels. She had one double flue

boiler, the first on the river. She started

on her first trip to Pittsburgh March 17,

18*21, and made several trips from Pitts-

burgh to Louisville. Altout the middle of

June she commenced plying as a regular

Digitized by Google



AND HEl'KKSKNTATIYK CITIZEN'S

packet between Cincinnati and Louisville,

making two trips per week, carrying nil

passengers and freight, through and way,
then offering during the low water season.

She carried several pleasure parties from
Cincinnati and Louisville to and from Big
Bone Landing. In February, 1822, she left

Steubenville for the purpose of transport-

ing 300 tons of army stores to Fort Smith,

Ark. She towed 32-foot keel boats to

Montgomery Point, above AVhitc River
Island. On her first trip from the point

she towed one of her keels loaded

and a flatboat 80x18 feet containing 100

barrels of flour, up White Kiver some
Bix miles through the pass six miles

into the Arkansas River, and thirty miles

up to the post of Arkansas, where she

left the flat and proceeded to Fort Smith.
She was the first boat above Little Hock,

made four trips from Montgomery Point
to Fort Smith, and left Little Rock, July

4, on her last downward trip. On the way
from Steubenville to her destination she

landed just below the mouth of Wolf River,

and lay all night where Memphis is now lo-

cated. There was no house or cabin in that

vicinity until you came down to Fort Pick-

ering."

It will be seen that the "Thompson" was
capable of very different work from her
predecessor above descril>ed, and with her
steam river navigation began to be a prac-

tical thing. She has been further described

as a plain looking but stout boat, and could

easily make from three to four miles an
hour up stream. The last upward trip

was to the Falls of the Ohio at Louisville.

Here an attempt was made by taking out

her engines to raise her over the falls, but

arriving at a point to cross the river they
failed, and then ran her back to the foot

of the falls, where Captain Dohraian sold

her for $2,500 to some Louisville men, and
she subsequently plied there some two
years and was finally lost. There were said

to be some ludicrous scenes among the spec-

tators who came to inspect her machinery,
but the most bewildered persons were the

Indians who would gather in groups to see

her pass, when the engineer would raise the
safety valve (this was before the day of
whistles) and enjoy seeing them stampede.

It was now eleven years since the first

steam boat had descended the Ohio, and
yet to most people a steamer was almost
as great an object of curiosity as the first

one. There were a few spasmodic efforts
to run regular packets, but they were about
as "irregular" as it was possible to make
them, and the bulk of freight was still

transported down the river at least on
barges. Why this slow progress! In the
first place the country was still thinly set-

tled, the population of Jefferson County in
1820 being only 18,331, so that a heavy
passenger trade could not be expected.
Manufacturing was beginning, but from
Pittsburgh the heavy machinery could be
shipped in barges more easily, and cheaply
than on the little steamers, and a few hours
gained or lost in transport were no object.
Then the steamers themselves, besides be-
ing expensive, were uncertain. Skilled
mechanics to build them properly were
scarce, and the only plentiful thing was the
standing timber of the country. Accidents
were numerous and the craft were regarded
as highly dangerous. We have seen that
the "New Orleans," an insignificant boat,
cost over $40,000, and capitalists were not
ready to place their money, which was in
fact very scarce, in such risky enterprises.
The boats were slow, and it was even prob-
lematical at first whether they could be
profitably operated up stream. But better
things were coining. The success of the
"Robert Thompson," followed by the other
boats mentioned, demonstrated that the
steamboat had come to stay, and speedily a
number of yards along the rivers from
Brownsville to Cincinnati began turning out
boats, constantly increasing their size and
speed until they became a great fleet of
swift going palaces. Through packets be-

tween Pittsburgh and Cincinnati, St. Louis
and New Orleans furnished a delightful
and easy method of travel, and although
Charles Dickens in his American Notes,
characterizes these boats as flimsy, yet they

Digitized by Google



HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

wort' adapted U» their purpose which was
-to carry a maximum of passengers and
freight upon a minimum of water. It could

not be said that travel on them was as
safe as in these later days, when there is

strict government supervision, improved
channels, kept clear of snags and rocks,

and shore lights at night, hut the traffic-

developed a large army of masters, pilots,

engineers and others who were the equals
of navigation anywhere. Of these Jeffer-

son County had her full share, and the

Dohrmans, O'Neals. Batehelors. Doyles,

Koberts, Wintringers, Shouses, Devennys
and Lucases are only a few of the many
who gave a character of its own to the

river traffic. When age and infirmities

caused his retirement from active work it

was the habit of the river-man to build him-

self a home on the banks of his favorite

stream where he could still hear the sound
of the bell and whistle, and from his

veranda watch the steamers gliding by.

Some thirty miles above Steubeuville is the

quaint old village of Georgetown, with its

pretty little church, streets of grass and
ancient dwellings; once a community of re-

tired river-men, and which as yet has never
been desecrated by a railroad, steam or
trolley, an immunity which we fear will

not last much longer.

Capt. 0. \V. Batchelor in his reminiscences
considers the "Allegheny," built at Pitts-

burgh in 1830, as the first real stern-wheel
boat, as her wheel was supported by two
projections extending aft of the stern in-

stead of occupying a recess in the hull as
was the case with the "Enterprise." She
had two cylinders in the centre of the hull,

working two wheels and coupled by links

at the cranks. The "Beaver," built by
( 'apt. John Vandergrift, was the first stern-

wheeler with two engines working on op-

posite centres on the outer end of one
shaft, the accepted type of stern wheelers
of the present day.

Steubeuville. while building boats for

other trades, did not become a terminal port
for any packet line until 1831, which year
may be considered as the beginning of the

halcyon period of river traffic extending to

about I860, when the influence of railroad

competition began to be severely felt

About the date named Oeorgo A. Dohrman
and Matthew Koberts, who had been run-

ning mail coaches to Wheeling, recognized

the new order of tilings, and contracted

with Murray for a small steamer called the

"U. S. Mail," which was promptly built

and put into service under command of

('apt. Peter A. Dohrman, who also carried

the mail. Most of the boats of that day
were side-wheelers, stern-wheelers not be-

ing regarded with favor. In 1835, she was
succeeded by the "Post Boy," built for

Kolwrts, with Captain Lucas in command,
John S. Devenny, engineer, and Capt. Hugh
Caldwell, clerk; subsequently Mr. Devenny
ljeeame captain. About 1838, the "Post
Boy" was succeeded by the "Wabash,"
commanded by Capt. Arthur Watt, which
only ran a year, when there seems to have
been a lapse of about three years, when
in 1843 the "Cabinet" appeared, a boat 130

feet long and 18 feet beam, under command
of Capt. P. Dohrman, her principal owner.
It may be noted here that the length of
beam docs not give the full width of the

boat as the "guards" or cabin floor usually

extended over the hull from two to four
feet on each side, and on side-wheel boats

were broad enough at the centre to enclose

the wheels, running out to nothing at each
end. The next boat we hear of is the

"Viroqua," a small stern-wheeler under
command of Capt. Abner O'Neal, George
O'Neal, engineer, and B. W. Doyle and J.

C. Doyle, clerks. She ran until the later

fifties when she was replaced by the "Con-
voy" a considerably larger boat. About
the year 18(50, some differences arose be-

tween the owners, and the O'Neals sold out

their interests to B. W. Doyle and John
O. Russell, Capt. John Shouse and Nathan
Wintringer afterwards coming in. Addi-
tional stock being secured the O'Neals built

a trim craft of 200 tons, probably the best

and fastest in the trade up to that time,

named the "James Means," after one of

Stenbonville's lending citizens. As it was
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pretty certain that the trade would not pro-

fitably support two boats a lively compe-
tition at once began. Tbe '

' Convoy '
' being

the slower and heavier boat of the two the

"Means" became the favorite with the

traveling public, with whom speed was a

factor, and her lightness enabled her to

carry freight to better advantage during
low water. It became apparent to the own-
ers of the "Convoy" that they must make
a change or go out of business. Accord-
ingly that steamer was sold, and the "S. C.

Baker," one of the fastest boats on the

river, which had been plying between Pitts-

burgh and Parkersburg, was purchased and
fitted up for this trade. John Shouse was
pilot, B. W. Doyle, clerk, and Nathan Win-
triuger, engineer. Now the conditions were
reversed, the "Baker" was able to show
the "Means" her heels when the occasion

demanded. A wharf-hoat had been estab-

lished at Steubenville by Capt. Whitaker
O'Neal about 1842. but at this time it was
owned by Col. Alexander Doyle, which was
considered to be an advantage to the

"Baker" or the "Doyle" boat as it was
poularly called, as the "Means" was called

the "O'Neal" boat from their principal,

although, as we have seen, not the ex-

clusive owners. To offset this real or sup-

posed advantage the Means Company built

a rival wharf-boat and tied it up just be-

hind the other, so that the two concerns
competed not only for the local but through
traffic. The Civil War had begun, and not-

withstanding railroad competition, river

business was booming, and the excitement
was almost as great as during the times of
the Guelphs and Clhibellines, although not
so sanguinary. Each morning as the boats

pulled out from the wharf there was a
crowd to see them off, the boats themselves
were thronged with passengers for fares

were cut in half and even lower. Some-
times when the "Baker" would try to

forge ahead of tbe "Means" the pilot of
the latter would "lock," that is run one
boat over against the other until the guards
would overlap and hold the steamers to-

gether in close embrace while the crews

and even the passengers would exchange
left handed compliments with each other.

There was of course more or less friction,

but on the whole the contest was carried on
good humoredly, and after their six day
rivalry the principals worshipped at the

same altar in old St. Paul's. After a
couple of seasons of this kind of business
the owners began to realize that while they
were paying running expense* they were
accumulating no sinking fund to cover the
depreciation of their property, which is

always rapid in the case of steamboats.
Accordingly arrangements were made to

consolidate the companies, which was ac-

complished. The "Means" was sold and
the "Baker" retained in the trade with
O'Neal as captain and pilot, Doyle, clerk,

and Wintringer, engineer. After running
for some months under this arrangement
an offer was made by lower river parties

for the "Baker" at considerable advance
over her cost, for the necessities of the

government had made steamboat prices

abnormally high. Accordingly she was sold

and a cheaper boat purchased for the local

trade named the "Henry lx)gan." About
this time a company made up largely of

Steubenville people had two steamers run-

ning in the Pittsburgh and Parkersburg
trade, the "Grey Eagle," a large side-

wheeler, and the "Forest City," a small
sternwheeler. The business was not a pay-
ing one, and the boats were finally sold, the
"Forest City" being bought to succeed the

"Logan." This boat continued in service

until about 1875, when being worn out, a

new hull was built at Brownsville and
brought down to Steubenville to which the

cabin and machinery of the "Forest City"
were transferred, the new boat being
named "Abner O'Neal." When the Pitts-

burgh, Wheeling & Kentucky Railroad, ex-

tending from the east end of the Pan Han-
dle Railroad bridge to Wheeling was
opened in 1876, it was expected to destroy
or at least greatly diminish the Steuben-
ville and Wheeling business. Accordingly
the "O'Neal" was transferred to the Pitts-

burgh and Wheeling run in charge of Capt.
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George E. O'Neal, who had been piloting

on the lower river, John Edie, clerk, and
Nathan Wintringer, engineer, while the

"Oella," a smaller hoat was procured for

the local run. The trade increased instead

of diminishing, and in 1883 the "('. W.
Batehelor," a much larger hoat, was built

for the Pitsburgh trade and the 'O'Neal"
brought back to her old place. Capt. Abner
O'Neal dying, his place was taken by his

sou, George E., und a new "Abner O'Neal"
built, which whs one of the finest und fast-

est boats ever on this rim, being especially

adapted to excursion business. The old

"O'Neal" was sold to lower river parties,

and her name changed to "Cumberland,"
her whistle being retained for the new boat
on which William Wilkin was clerk. After
three years' service she was sold to west-

ern parties, and the Wheeling trade seemed
to be abandoned, although the "Phaeton"
(built here), "Heturn," and some other
boats run spasmodically here and up the

river to East Liverpool where there seemed
prospects of better returns. When the

Wheeling^; Lake Erie Railroad was o|iened

to this point the Olivette was put reg-

ularly in the East Liverpool trade and
ran about a year when the experiment was
abandoned. Later the Enos Tavlor, V.

H. Goebel and T. M. Bayne took up
the Wheeling trade again, the latter in

charge of Captain O'Neal, W. A. Tislier

and Abner McCoy, and prospects seemed
good for a permanent revival in this direc-

tion. But after running about eight years,

the Bayne was cut down by tlie ice at

the foot of Washington street on the night

of January 21. 1!>04. This ended the Steu
hcnville and Wheeling trade, although some
feeble efforts were made to revive it.

In ]s:iti. Captain Devenny with Messrs.
Roberts, Orr and llenning placed a fine

side wheel boat, the Eutaw in the Steu-

lieuville and Pittsburgh trade. She did a

good business but about two years after

her initial trip, while lying at the Steuben
ville wharf an explosion killed one of the

crew, and injured several others. The
hoat was repaired and continued in this

trade three years longer when she was sold

and placed on the Wabash River. She
was accompanied by the Steubenville,

brought here by Captain Boggs and about
1840 was sold for service on the lower
rivers. One or two trials were made after

that, but the run was too short for through
business and too long for local.

It was April 1, 1842, that Charles Dick-

ens boarded the steamboat Messenger
at Pittsburgh for Cincinnati. She had been
recommended as less liable to blow up than
most of her contemporaries, and had been
advertised to start positively every day
for u fortnight, and had not gone yet, nor
did her captain seem to have any very
fixed intention on the subject. It of course
seemed strange to a visitor from the old
world that a vessel should have "no mast,
cordage, tackle, rigging or other boat-like

gear, and except that they are in the water,
and display ai couple of paddle boxes they
might be intended, for anything that ap-
pears to the contrary, to perform some un-
known service, high and dry upon a moun-
tain top." For.the rest of this interesting

description we must refer our reader to

"American Notes." Nevertheless the high
tide of river navigation was near at hand.
There was the Pittsburgh and Cincinnati
line composed at first of the Cincinnati,

Buckeye State, Philadelphia, Allegheny,
Brilliant. Pittsburgh and Clipper, giv-

ing a daily boat out from Pittsburgh
with a rival line from Wheeling. The
survivors of these boats were later trans-

ferred to the lower trade. Once while
the Philadelphia was mining up the
river she struck a rock just below Steu-
benville which knocked a hole in her hull,

which was tilled with hogsheads of sugar.

She kept afloat until reaching the Steuben-
ville wharf, when she went down, the water
fortunately barely covering her lower deck.

All hands were set to work pumping, bal-

ing and rolling the sugar out on the wharf.
The sweet contents had been reduced to the
consistency of cream which poured through
the augur holes in the heads of the hogs-
heads. Never were the town youth in such
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clover, if the metaphor may be pardoned.
They filled themselves one and all with
the delicious liquid, and that there was not

a community of sick boys it was due to the
fact that sugar is not as unhealthy as
children are generally informed. A few
hours straightened matters up, and the

boat proceeded on its journey.
A favorite river captain of the fifties was

Charles W. Batchelor, afterwards sur-

veyor of customs and a leading citizen of
Pittsburgh, but then a resident of Steuben-
ville. A genial pleasant gentleman but with
vigorous will power. His boat, the "Hi-
bernia," left Cincinnati on one trip in 1852
with 500 passengers for Pittsburgh. The
crew of the "Hibernia" numbered 60. It

was on this trip Captain Batchelor with a
revolver in each side pocket and a number
of his crew at his back went to the lower
deck where there was a large number of
the rough class of passengers determined
not to pay their fare. The captain said to

the men: "I am going to have every fare
or a fight." There were a hundred not will-

ing to pay, but they were when they ob-

served game in the master and behaved
themselves the rest of the journey. That
same year a party of congressmen were on
the Hibernia with their families home
bound from Washington, and were two
days out from Pittsburgh, heading toward
their southern home. One of the congress-
men from Texas knocked a young colored
girl off of the piano stool, and the captain
was hurriedly brought to the scene. He
was told by the magnate "that was a nigger
wench playing the piano." The master
informed the big-feeling fellow that there
was no rule on the boat barring a young
woman from playing the instrument on ac-

count of color. The congressman was in-

dignant and called it "a damned abolition
boat." Captain Batchelor preserved order
and the colored girl was not further mo-
lested, especially so because she had been
requested to play the piano by one of the
white ladies. There was no distinction on
that boat when behavior justified good
treatment, as it was in this particular case,

notwithstanding the indignity to a law-

maker and a southerner. The position of

the captain was indorsed by a majority on
board ; whether or not it was his determin-
ation of the right thing to do, and it was
done. The Texas representative found out
that he could do some things at home that

would not be tolerated elsewhere.

In early times nearly all men employed
as deck hands on steamboats were Amer-
icans, after which the Germans took to the

river, followed at the outbreak of the war
with an aggregation of the colored class,

and they are still at it at 66 cents a day
and board.
One instance in the river life of Capt. C.

W. Batchelor is that an Indian chief offered

him "plenty of land" if he would make
his habitation with the tribe, which was a

semi-civilized class, loeated where Kansas
City is now, although there was not a house
there then. He refused the tender, al-

though it would have made him worth
millions.

There was almost a military discipline

on board of the packets, and every degree
of duty would be carried out to perfection

without undue eeremony in the way of or-

ders. Each officer and worker about the

boats seemed to thoroughly understand
what was expected and exacted from him,

moving along in their path with that regu-

larity which gave confidence to the pas-

sengers that nothing would go wrong.
"Beating" the boat was not an uncom-

mon practice. A ease is related of a man
who had been carried from Wheeling to

Cincinnati with the promise that he would
pay his fare when the boat reached the

wharf, as he would there be met by his

family, who would have the money. In-

stead, the man sneaked off the boat, hid

until the craft was leaving shore and then

shook a big wad of money at the captain.

Instantly the boat was ordered to make
the shore. Off jumped the captain and in

full speed overtook the rascal, beat him
and caused the fare to be handed over.

That man never tried to beat his way
again.
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The Arctic, Capt. Henry K. Reynolds,
Steubenville, was a New Orleans packet,

and one of the crack boats of the day.
Then there was the Eunice, named for

Mrs. Eunice Collier; the Rosalie, a trim
sternwheeler; the Diurnal, Winchester,
and original Forest City in the Wheeling
and Pittsburgh trade, in all of which Steu-
benville men were interested; the boats of

(.'apt. Henry Dohrmau in the Mississippi

River trade, and others, which, if they
were all collected, would till a volume.

Although railroad competition was do-

ing its work, yet the needs of the govern-
ment during the war made steamboat busi-

ness profitable and between lKf>7 and ]N7f>

there were built on the upper Ohio ami
Mouongahela Rivers 049 steamboats, with
an aggregate value of $:J:»,000,000. The
steamer (treat. Republic, built in 1S(»7 at

a cost of $;!7.
r
),0()0. was the finest conducted

and equipped boat that ever left Pittsburgh
wharf. Iter hull was 344' • feet long;
freight capacity 4.000 tons; cabin :!00 feet

long, ."ill feet wide and 18 feet high. She
was built in 1807 and made her maiden
trip to New Orleans, where she remained
in thai trade. When she reached Steuhen-
ville bridge it was necessary to take the

ornamental work off the top of the pilot

house to allow her to pass under the chan-
nel span. The new Winchester, built for

the Pittsburgh ami Cincinnati trade, was
binned near Bnhb's Island in 1S07, and
twenty lives were lost. The Paragon was
Hie largest freight boat built in Pittsburgh
and could carry over 2,000 tons. On a

passage from Cincinnati to Wheeling she

enrricd ],400 long tons on a six-foot si age
of water and made the distance in forts-

eight hours. That was in the year 1 S7-I

and she was destroyed by lire in IS"").

Among the middle century boats on this

end of the river the Sewickley was built in

1S04. Bengal Tiger in 1 *.').{, Amelia Poe
in isii."). John C. Calhoun in IS.')!). Minerva
in ISO:!, John Hanna in 1N0*>, Mollie Ebert
in bSOS, Juniata, older, Marv Davage in

1*05. John T. MeCombs in 1h00, the Cily
of IVkin in 1Si;."{, the A. Jacobs No. 1 in

1804, the Andv Fulton came out as a new
boat in 1859, the J. I. Stockdale in 1863,

Flora Temple in 1858, Clara Poe in 1859,

Telegraph in 1859, Lonu Star in 1859, Por-
ter Rhodes in 18(50, (Jeneral Anderson in

1800, Emma Duncan in I860, Daniel Bash-
nell in 1800, Sea Gull in 1803, General
Grant in 1803, Yorktown in 180.'*, Big Foot
about 1800. The Chief Justice Marshall
was also built in 1803. as well as others.

Steamboat us well as other business
suffered from the panic of 187.*!, but there
hail l>een a rapid decline before that period
to such an extent that outside the coal traf

lie the Ohio was considered a back nniulH-r

for business purposes. About lhat time,

however, there was a revival. We have
noticed the changes and improvements in

local boats, and the Pittsburgh and Cin-

cinnati line was re-established. rir>t with
a tri-weekly service and then, with the two
Wheeling boats, a daily service, including

a line class of stcrnwhccl boats, such as the

Katie Stockdale, Buckeye State, Hudson.
Granite State. Scotia, Andes, and the side-

wheeler St. Lawrence. There was the

Emma Graham in the Zanesville trade, and
boats running to Charleston and Parkers
burg. W. Va.. among which were the Green-
wood, afterwards the Greenland, Ben I Inl-

and others. A long boat, the Alice. W. P.
Thompson and E. II. Durfee made weekly
trips to St. Louis, and occasionally a
through boat to New Orleans, although
there was always opportunity for through
connection below. Among the boats of that

period were the big twins Dakota and Mon-
tana. 1. 1'lH) tons each, which made their
3.i Mil ) mile trips to Fort Benton, the head
of navigation on the Missouri Biver.
< Oher boats were the Cherokee. Telephone,
Telegraph. J. Bboades, F. W. Batchelor.

Darling, etc. It looked as though old limes

bad come again, but a series id" bad seasons
and better railroad facilities caused a fall-

ing off in trade, and as the steamers sunk,
burned or were worn out they were re-

placed only in a lew instances. The Pitts-

burgh and Cincinnati line is now reduced
to two steamers, the Virginia and Queen
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City, the Kanawha holds a single boat of
that name, and the Muskingum route has
been given up. The Katie Stoekdale was
used by the National Government to send
supplies to the sufferers during the great
flood of 1884.

Serious river disasters during these lat-

ter years have been infrequent, but there
was one just below Mingo Island on the

night of July 4, 1882, that will long be re-

membered. On that day the side-wheel

steamer Scioto had been chartered to take
an excursion from East Liverpool and
Wellsville to Moundsville, W. Va. She left

that place early in the morning with
more than 400 people aboard, in fact was
so overcrowded that several became
alarmed and disembarked at Steubenvillc
on the downward trip. Nevertheless, there
was no mishap until about 8:30 p. m., when
the boat on her return trip was opposite
Devenny's warehouse, just above Cross
Creek, when the small stern-wheeler John
Lomas was coming down the river. There
had been a cbange of Government signals

only a few days before, and it is claimed
the pilots did not understand each other.

Be that as it may, the boats, instead of
taking opposite sides of the river, came
together, the bow of the Lomas striking

the side of the Scioto, making a hole that

caused her to sink in a few minutes in fif-

teen to twenty feet of water. The scene
that ensued can be more easily imagined
than described, as the mass of humanity
found itself struggling in the water. The
Lomas, which was fouud not to be seriously
injured, rendered efficient aid in rescuing
the unfortunates, and in a few minutes
there was a small fleet of skiffs engaged in

the same work. Fortunately the hurricane
deck was not covered and those in the cabin
found refuge there until taken off. Up-
wards of seventy-live were drowned, all

but five being men and boys, which was due
to the fact that they were mostly on the
lower deck when engulfed by the rushing
waters, while the women were on the boiler

or upper deck. A special train on the
('. & P. road carried the survivors home,

but for several days the grewsome search
for the dead went on until all the bodies
were recovered. Among the sad events of
that dreadful night was the drowning of
Captain Thomas's son and E. P. Smith, of
Wellsville with his three children, aged
14, 8 and 6. E. J. Keller, of Steubenville,

was pilot.

No account of the Ohio River would be
complete without reference to Samuel Bur-
nell, the "hermit," who came to this vicin-

ity about 1870 and took charge of the Gov-
ernment lights in the vicinity of Brown's
Island. He built a little cabin among the
thick hillside forest, just visible from pass-
ing boats, and there he lived alone, doing
his own cooking and household chores.

When the boats passed they would sound
their whistles, he would come out and
salute, and then retire to his cabin again.

His manner of life and reticence concern-
ing his previous career led to a great deal
of imaginary creations, the old familiar
one of a love affair of course coming first,

and when that was worn out mysterious
hints of a "past" took their place, none
of which probably had any foundation. He
had at least one grown-up son, who lived

in the neighborhood, took the daily papers,
was up on current events, uud was familiar

with prominent public men. He came to

Steubenville whenever necessary to pro-
cure provisions or transact other business,

and was always cordial and hospitable to

visitors. The writer was well acquainted
with him and secured what was probably
the only photograph of him, taken at his

forest home, he complying with the request
to pose without hesitation. He remained
there until the infirmities of age compelled
him to relinquish the place and was taken
away by his son, with whom he remained
until his death, so there is no mystery
about that part of his life at least.

The journey of the towboat Porter up
the river thirty-five years ago is another
memory of those days. The yellow fever
broke out among the crew, a number of
whom died and were buried at Gallipolis,

0., where there was quite a local epidemic.
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There was quite a panic along the river

and the l>oat was nut allowed to laud, l)iit

continued on a floating hospital until the

diseu.se spent its foree.

There was another great industry along
the river thirty to sixty years ago which
has become practically extinct, not through
lack of demand for the product but exhaus-
tion of the sources of supply. When the
country was first settled the Allcgheny
Mountains were covered not only with the
usual varieties of hardwood trees found in

this latitude, but with immense forests of
hemlock and pine. The settlement of the
lower valleys created a demand for this

timber for building purposes, and it was
felled and bound together into immense
rafts, some of them half an acre in area,
containing more than 1,000,000 cubic feet

of lumber. At first the rough logs pre-

dominated, which were floated to various
saw-mills along the river, but finally the
mills themselves moved up iuto the moun-
tains, the logs were converted into boards
and shingles, and the more finished product
was ready to sell direct to the dealer.

Acres of such rafts could be fouud after
the spring Hoods tied along the Steuben
ville water front, principally north of
Washington street, above and below the
old McKinney saw mill. They frequently
remained there until "swimming time."
and were fully utilized by the youngsters
for diving purposes. From the upper
waters of the Allegheny to the lower Mis-
sissippi w;is a journey of weeks, and it was
a reposeful sight as the raft floated lazily

along, the smoke curling from the im-
promptu cabin where the occupants slept.

There was no danger of sinking or being
blown up, although it frequently required
work with the sweeps or steering oars to

round the sharp turns mid keep otT the

rocks and bars.

While the ordinary river trade was icla

tively if not absolutely receding, another
was growing to immense proportions,
which increased the tonnage of Pittsburgh
to a point above that of any oilier port in

the country. As early as ISO.'! coal was

shipped from the upper Ohio to Philadel-

phia via New Orleans, which was cheaper

than trying to haul it across the moun-
tains, but it was many years before there

was sufficient demand to make it an im-

portant article of commerce. Wood and
local coal banks furnished supplies along

the valley, and down Mow there was still

plenty of the former material. Gradually,

however, as wood Ijecnme scarcer and
dearer, a permanent demand was created

for the more reliable fuel. Bunks were
opened at various points along the river

and the old style barges, once the express

boats of the stream, were devoted to the

humble service of transporting black dia-

monds. The original plan was to lash two
or more bouts together, carrying 5,000 or

»i,000 bushels apiece, and with a crew of

several men float down as did the rafts on

the spring and fall freshets, keeping their

lioats in the channel by the big sweep oars

fore and aft. Their responsibility was
greater than that of the raftsmen, for

striking an object usually meant disaster,

and the barges, loaded almost to the

water's edge, required very different han-

dling from the unsinkable raft. It was
not until the forties that steam power was
applied to "towing" these barges, and the

Hlack Diamond, the pioneer side-wheel tow-

boat, is still remembered. The situation,

however, gradually developed a class of

powerful stern-wheel boats, capable of

handling twelve to fourteen boats and
barges carrying S.<KM> to 10,000 bushels

apiece. The J. H. Williams was a great

boat in her day. hut in UHKl the acme was
reached when the Sprague was launched

and took south over 1.000,000 bushels on

a single trip. A little figuring shows this

fo be 40,01)0 tons, an amount far beyond
the capacity of any ocean steamer and
which, if transported by rail in 100-ton

cars, would require 400 cars, making a train

about two and one half miles long. A num-
ber of years ago ."i.OOO.OOO to fi.OOO.OOO

bushels were considered a good run, but

with the growth of business and harbor
facilities this has been increased to 1^.
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000,000 and 20,000,000, with a year's ag-

gregate reaching 50,000,000. Tows of small

barges can be sent out when the marks
show eight feet on the bars or ripples, but

for a good run twelve to fifteen feet are

necessary. The boats usually start when
the river begins to fall after a freshet, so

as not to get ahead of the crest of the

flood. The sight when the coal fleet is

going down the river is one not seen any-
where else in the world. The water is cov-

ered with acres of coal, each bunch having
behind it a steamer of enormous power,
the belching smoke and steam, paddling
of great wheels, and this repeated for miles

along the river is a sight "worth going
miles to see." While the word "tow" is

used from the old meaning of the word to

draw or pull, yet in this case the barges are

lashed together, making a solid mass, which
is pushed by the boat from behind; other-

wise it would be inijK)ssible to handle them.

Not only is this the most unique but cheap-

est transportation in the world, the cost of

transporting a bushel of coal from Pitts-

burgh to the lower rivers not averaging
over three-fourths of a cent. The engineer

as well as the pilot has a busy time going
down, constantly starting, stopping and
backing while rounding the numerous
curves ; but coming back the engines pursue;

their steady chug with scarcely an inter-

ruption as the steamer slowly pushes the

empty barges against the stream. In win-

ter, when the river is clogged with ice, the

barges are strung out behind tandem-
fashion on the return trip and then there

is actual towing, but this is not as satis-

factory as the other method and only re-

sorted to when necessary. A four-foot

stage of water is necessary for the return

trip. The business is not without its haz-

ards to property at least. Ice is a great

hindrance to winter runs, and there is a
temptation to go out on an insufficient stage
of water, particularly if the rest has been

a long one, with the result of boats

stranded on the bars or sunk by obstruc-

tions. The railroad bridges have also been
a fruitful source of disaster, the boatmen

having lost hundreds of thousands of dol-

lars by sinking of boats at the Steubenville

and Bellaire bridges. Numerous efforts

have been made to have the channel span
of the Steubenville bridge lengthened, but

so far unsuccessfully. In the later seven-

ties considerable coal was shipped from
Steubenville to Cincinnati by water, the

Swift Coal Company operating what was
known as the Borland shaft at the southern
end of the city, operating the towboat
Michigan for that purpose. Another Steu-

benville towboat was the Annie L., owned
by Dougherty Bros.
A writer who is well informed has said

that it required great nerve and hardihood
to pilot the steamers of many years ago,

when there were so many obstructions, and
especially as the boats were packed fre-

quently with humanity. He was right, for

the narrow and tortuous channel was ob-

structed by rocks and sunken trees, which
were a menace, and the river frequently
spread over a large surface, making a shal-

low on top of a bar where a little concen-

tration would have given a navigable chan-
nel. Then there was more or less shifting

of the channel, although the Ohio was not
to be compared with the Mississippi or
Missouri in this respect. The Government
lirst began to make improvements by re-

moving obstructions and dredging, but it

was evident that the latter could only be
used to a limited extent, as the effect of
cutting a channel through a bar was to

lower the water in the pool above. In 1825
this plan was abandoned in favor of build-

ing wing dams and dikes for the purpose
of narrowing the channel and giving in-

creased depth, of which we have some
notable examples at Brown's Island. This
is the plan in use today and it has afforded
considerable relief, although it is apparent
that it is limited in its effect. About 1870
the Government adopted a system of light-

ing the river, in other words, giving pilots

a light to steer by at night instead of de-

pending on the tops of the hills, a very
uncertain method on a dark night. The
lights consist of a large oil lamp hung to a
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post or some other permanent object with
a white board behind it. a very effective ar-

rangement. The keeper, who is UBually
somebody residing in the neighborhood,
receives $15 a month for the care of each
light, and the Government tender visits

him periodically to pay his salary and fur-

nish supplies. The first boat in this busi-

ness was the side-wheeler Lily, comniuuded
by Capt. George Vandergrift and later by
Capt. Sheldon McCook. It has since been
replaced by a light stern-wheeler named
the Golden Bod, while the obstructions are
cared for by the powerful snagboat K. A.
Woodruff.

In 1828 a private company built a lock

canal around the falls at Louisville, since

taken over and enlarged by the Govern-
ment so that freight could be shipped (o

lower points even in low water without
breaking bulk (in high water boats can
descend the talis), but each year made it

more evident that if the Ohio was to hold
its place as a general commercial factor
there must be some arrangement that

should insure a depth of water that would
permit the use of large and fast steamers
at all seasons. Irregular freshets might do
for coal runs but not for general passenger
and freight traffic. Beservoirs were sug-
gested to be placed in the mountains where-
by water could be stored during the flood

periods and released during droughts, but
this was dismissed as impracticable, al-

though it has lately been revived in con-

nection with the other improvements. The
coal men were solidly opposed to any per-

manent dams which would obstruct the
river during floods, thereby compelling
them to use locks where they now had a

free passage; in fact they were opposed to

dams of any kind. In order to reconcile

these conflicting interests about ls7J the

plan of building a system of movable dams
began to be considered, and a commission
of engineers was appointed to look into the

subject, with a visit to France and Belgium
to examine similar works there. As a re-

sult of this investigation Col. W. K. Mer-

rill, corps of engineers, U. S. A., proposed
in 1874 the introduction of the system of

movable dams which is now being built.

The first step in the scheme was to build

Davis Island dam, immediately below
Pittsburgh. At the time this was regarded
somewhat as an experiment, as no other

similar dam had ever been built on a large

scale. It was commenced in 1878 and
opened to commerce October 7, 188"), hav-

ing cost about $1,000,000. It has since been
in successful operation continuously to the

present day. Its chief office has been to

give below Pittsburgh a deep pool, in which
to accumulate the enormous tows of coal

which are seen passing Steubenville on
every rise in the river. Perhaps its most
beneficial effect has been to convert the

coal men to approval of the system, and
they are now among its wannest advocates.

This dam is planned upon the ideas of two
French engineers. Chanoine and Pasqueau.
It is built in sections, or wickets, of about
four feet in width, each hinged to the bot-

tom of the river and supported by a prop.

By tripping the props sections of the dam
can be lowered in succession so as to lie

flat upon the bottom, thus allowing the

passage of boats and tows of coal, steel,

etc., freely over the dam as soon as the

water reaches a stage high enough to per-

mit them to go on down the river.

The success and usefulness of the Davis
Island dam having been proved by experi-

ence, about eighteen years ago the first

step in the continuation of the system of

locks and dams down to Cincinnati was
taken, and the river is now slackwatered
to a nine foot -tage from Pittsburgh to

Rochester, twenty- eight miles below. Dam
No. h" below Beaver. No. 7 near Industry,

No. 8 below Hast Liverpool. No. 11 below
Brilliant, No. 13 below Wheeling. No. IS be-

low Marietta. No. 10 below Parkersburg,
and No. .''.7 below Cincinnati, are in process
of completion, and if the rapidity of Gov-
ernment work could be depended on should
be ready this year. Surveys have been
made for No. 10 at Wills Creek, above Steu-
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Itenville, and No. 9, between that at Wells-

ville, which will give nine feet from here

to Pittsburgh.

The distance from Pittsburgh to the Cin-

cinnati dam is about 481 miles, requiring

thirty-seven dams at an average cost of a

million dollars each, and a simple calcula-

tion shows that the cost per mile will lie

about $75,000. If this is compared with the

cost of a railroad between the two points,

and the enormous greater capacity of the

river as a freight carrier is considered, the

river improvement is presented in a very
favorable light as an economical invest-

ment of the large suras which must he

expended.
Each dam is to be provided with a lock

<!00 feet long and 110 feet wide; with but

few exceptions the largest locks in the

world. In all essential features except
their size the locks are like those ordinarily

seen on canals. "When the river is below
the stage of nine feet the dams must be
raised into position so that the pools will

fill and give a depth of not less than nine

feet at any point. In order to pass boats
from pool to pool, either up or down the

river, the locks will then be used, and for

the passage through one about ten or fif-

teen minutes will be required. On account
of the great size of the locks tows will be

able to go through carrying as much
freight as a large ocean steamer. It is

probably not too much to say thut the locks

will be able to pass 1.1.000 tons each hour.

\Y
r

hen the river is high enough to permit
it the dams will be put down, the locks will

ijo out of commission temporarily and the

packets and tows will use the open river

freely, as they do now at times of high
water. The result will be that except when
ice is in the river, navigation will be con-

tinuous from year's end to year's end;
there will be a steady procession of tows of

coal and iron going down and of empty
fleets coming up, and the packets will be

able to make regular trips at all times.

When the dams now in course of construc-

tion are completed the citizens of the towns
named can. if they choose, accumulate fleets-

of coal and iron in their pools, as is now
done at Pittsburgh, ready for shipment on
the first suitable rise of the river; manu-
facturers owning water fronts will be able

to use the river as a means of getting their

fuel and for other purposes, and other bene-

fits due to having deep water permanently
in front of the towns will be felt. At each

dam is a residence for the keeper and other

necessary buildings. The importance and
national character of this work may be bet-

ter understood when it is known that coal

was shipped down the Ohio destined for

.lapnn, to be used by the Mikado's fleet in

its tight against Russia. Manufactured
goods from the headwaters of the Ohio
River find their way down stream in vast

quantities, for foreign shipment, and the

tonnage even with the present handicaps
runs far up into the millions. To complete
this improvement to Cairo, its ultimate des-

tination, will require sixty-eight locks and
dams. It is a more important work than

the Panama Canal and should be completed
in time for this valley to reap the benefits

of the great international waterway. D. J.

Sinclair, the Steubenville member of the

Ohio River Improvement Commission, has.

with others, been working energetically

towards this end.

It has been suggested that 3,000 to 4,000

horsepower could be developed at each of

these dams at an average of from seven

to nine months in the year, and that the

power would mean much for the manufac-
turing establishments, but this is a dream
of the future.
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CHAPTER XV

STEAM AND TROLLEY

Railroads and Telegraph- Trolli'.y and Trlrphouf-- An EU < 1 1 teal Cmlre in an Elet h i<

Age.

The earliest ruilroad systems in Ohio
were endeavors to connect the great lakes

with the Ohio Kiver, no one then seriously

considering east and west trunk lines in

this section, and their advantages over
water transportation were not apparent,
und the country too thinly settled to give
hope of much local traffic. The state

canals, also mainly north and south, had
been completed about 1S.'50 at a cost of

some sixteen million dollars, of which east-

ern Ohio contributed its full share hut

never received any benefit, and when it

came to building railroads that had to be
done without state aid. In pursuance of

the policy above noted the Cleveland &
Pittsburgh Railroad whs projected in

1844-45 to extend from the former city to

Wellsville, and in 1850 the line was opened
for traffic as far south as Alliance, where
on January 1852, it made connection
with the Ohio & Pennsylvania road, now
part of the Fort Wayne System, for Pitts-

burgh, giving railroad connection between
that point and Cleveland. On March 4,

1 s5l'
T

the first train entered W'ellsville.

making direct connection between lake and
river, and constituting what is now the

main line of the Cleveland A: Pittsburgh
Railroad. Hy following the Yellow (.'reek

valley this road passed through the north-
east corner of Jefferson County, taking in

what are now the towns ,,f I lannnondsvillc

and Irondale. but it was too far from the

center of population to be of much effect

or utility so far as this county was con-

cerned. So in 1847 a movement was start

ed towards building a railroad to the west,

which besides o|>ening up the back country
would connect with north and south lines

projected from the lake to Cincinnati.

There had l>een am embryo project for an
eastern line in IS.'Mi, but it died bornin*.

In February. ]X47, the following citizens

of Steul>enville procured a charter for the

Steubcnville & Indiana liailroad from
Stenhenville to the Indiana state line:

.lames Wilson. James Means. Nathaniel
Dike. William McDonald, Daniel L.Collier.

John < »rr. John Andrews, David McGowan.
James (Jallagher. James McKinney, Kos
well Marsh, .lames Turnbull and Alexander
Doyle. There was plenty of enthusiasm
but an e<|iial lack of money, and for two
years the enterprise languished. In IH50

the cause was taken up by Abner 1>. Fra
zier. James Parks and others, and Daniel

KM gore, a wealthy citizen of Cadiz, was
imbued to join in the enterprise. lie re-

moved 1o Steubcnville, and with Mr. Parks
canvassed the proposed route, soliciting

stock, rights ,,f way. etc. Some of their

experiences wi re tplilc amusing, as most
of the pro] ile had no idea whatever as to

the nature of a railroad, some of them
supposing it would he built in the air and
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thus run over their farms without inter-

fering with their fields or stock, an impres-
sion which we are not sure the promoters
always took pains to correct. In De-
cember, 1851, Mr. Kilgore died suddenly
while in New York on railroad business,

and was succeeded by James Means as

president. Individuals and communities
subscribed liberallv, the city and township
of Steubenville each taking* $100,000 stock,

citizens probablv as much more, Cross
Creek Township" $30,000, with other sub-

scriptions along the line and free rights

of way. Mr. Parks, who had a dry goods
store on the northeast corner of Fourth
and Market streets, sold it out to give his

entire time to railroad business. Ground
was broken for the new line in the south

end of the city in 1851, and work progressed
with more or less interruption until Octo-

ber 8, 1853, when three locomotives, named
Bezaleel Wells, James Ross and Steuben-
ville, came puffing into the city across Mar-
ket street west of Sixth, drawing two cars.

These engines and cars, as well as the

rails with which the track was built, were
brought down the river to Mingo from
Pittsburgh in barges, where an incline was
made from the water to the railway em-
bankment for the purjHJse of bringing up
supplies. Part of that incline was used
for many years after as a section of the

county road, and some of it still remains
as a connecting link between the Pan
Handle and C. & P. systems. Roswell

Marsh made an address at breaking the

ground, and when the engines arrived on
that pleasant Saturday afternoon a laree

crowd had gathered at Washington street,

which was the terminus of the line.

Colonel Collier made a speech, flags flut-

tered and the band played, fire anus were
discharged, the militia turned out, the

train was inspected and a general good
time prevailed. A free excursion followed,

with William Ilinckle, engineer; Charles
Butterworth, fireman : Mr. Legare, of Balti-

more, conductor, and George Kells, bag-

gagemaster. We are not informed just

how far out the road this train ran, but

the line was not opened to Union port,

twenty miles west, until two months later.

The train on its return was greeted by an-

other large and enthusiastic crowd. " The
following poster in possession of the writer
officially announces the opening of the road
for business.

First Notice!

Office of the S. & I. R. R. Co.
Steubenville, December 17, 1853.

The Company intend Running a Train of

passenger
and Freight Cars!!

between
Steubenville and Union Port

[Sec. 201 Commencing on Thursday,
December 22d, 1853.

Time of Starting Trains.

Westward—leaving Steubenville Sta
tion at 8 a. in. and 2 o'clock p. m.
Eastward—Returning will leave Union

Port (Sec. 20) at 10 o'clock a. m. and 4

p. m., stopping at intermediate stations,

both going and returning.

Fare thro' from Steubenville to Union
Port, 60 cents! For auy distance within
the limits of 3 miles, not less than 10 cts.

;

and over that distance at the rate of 3 cts.

per mile, stopping at the following points
i?oinir and returning:

STATIONS.

Mingo. Section 3
Goulds. " 5
West End. " 8
Smithfleld Crossing, " 11
Reed's Mills, " 14
Bloomfield, " 18
I'liion Port. " 20

For further particulars call at the Com-
pany's office, Washington street between
<>th and 7th streets, in Steubenville. or en-

quire of the Conductor on the train at

Union Port. Passengers are particularly
requested to purchase their tickets at the
office before taking their seats in the cars.

Israel Pembebton,
Chief Eng. and Snpt., S. & 1. R. R. Co.
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The picture on the bill represents a lo-

comotive and cars of that day, which are
quaint enough, the smokestack especially

approximating the Bize of the boiler, and
making a huge inverted cone. Wood being
the fuel used, it was necessary to cover the

top of the stack proper with wire netting
and iu this inverted cone were collected

the numerous sparks made by the furnace.

With the introduction of coal the stack has
gradually decreased in size until it is now
but little more than a hole in top of the

huge boiler. The Steubenville engines,

however, were decidedly more modern than
the pictures of that day, which were evi-

dently taken from the first experiments
in locomotive and car building. The en-

gines above referred to were fully up to

their times and were in use down to quite

a recent period. The company purchased
the residence of David Moody, on Washing-
ton street, for a depot, and the spacious
grounds around were converted into yards,

round house and machine shops, the car
shops being located on the Means property
between Washington and Market. The
double parlors of the dwelling were used
for ticket office and waiting room, the gen-
eral offices being located upstairs. A car
did duty for a freight depot until a cov-

ered shed was erected west of the dwelling.

The first recorded freight shipped from
Steubenville was from Hull, Wood & Co.,

December '24, 18515, to William and J. Her
vey, of 1'nion Port, one hag of coffee, one
barrel of molasses, a barrel of mackerel
and two boxec of candles. From the same
linn to S. L. Ilanna, Heed's Mills, one
cheese box and one box of merchandise.
Sharp & Craig also shipped to A. Holt,

Cadiz, a consignment of stoves. The road
was gradually extended to Newark, 117
miles west of Steubenville. which was
reached on April 11, 1855, where it en
countered the Central Ohio, which already
had a track between Newark imd Colum-
bus. Here the Steubenville line stopped
and an arrangement was made whereby its

trains could run over the C. O. track to

Columbus, an undivided half interest being

afterwards acquired in the same. Francis
A. Wells was the first agent at Steuben
ville, haviug charge of both freight and
passenger business, and was followed by
John T. Neilson, and in 1856 by Ambrose
S. Parks, who was succeeded by his son
.lames. In 18G5 the business was di-

vided, William Hanlin becoming ticket

agent, followed by Mr. McCaskey, F. M.
Bushoug, James M. Reynolds, present
county auditor, and W. S. Polen. present
incumbent.

«'. A V. RIVKR DIVISION".

While this was going on a corporation
was formed called the Steubenville &
Wellsville Railroad Company, being part
of a general plan to extend the Cleveland
& Pittsburgh road up and down the river,

forming the "River Division" between
Rochester (from which there was already
a line to Pittsburgh) and Bellaire, where
connection would be made westward over
the C. <>. mad already built to Columbus,
and transfer over the river to the Balti-

more A: Ohio road to the east. This line

was completed in the fall of 185b\ and on
September Hi of that year the first train

ran through to Pittsburgh. "Rhode Is

land
1

' was the name of the engine which
was sold to the (iovernmcut during the

war, Sherman Brazette being engineer and
Mr. Meaker conductor. A good many of
the passengers took advantage of the train

to attend a Fremont barbecue in Pitts-

burgh. Owing to the encroachments of the
river a considerable part of the track was
built on trestles, especially between Wash-
ington and Dock streets, in the city. The
streets north of Washington at that time
had undergrade crossings under the trestle

work to the river. As the land was filled

up between the streets Howe truss bridges
were substituted for trestles across the
highway, which were afterwards filled up
to the "track level. The first office of the

company was in the large grain and feed
mill on the corner of Market and Water
Streets, when' the Pittsburgh hotel now
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stands. This mill burned on December 23,

1856, and the usual refuge, a ear, served
for freight and passenger stations until

frame buildings were erected on land pur-
chased from (Jen. Samuel Stokley below
South street, where the freight depot still

remains. The line suffered much from
floods in its early period and in 1862 was
closed for ten days. The fact that in later

floods traffic was resumed as soon as the

rails were out of water indicates the more-

solid character of the roadbed. During the

war this station, almost on the outskirts of
the city, was the theatre of many interest-

ing events, being on the only through line

between the east and west it was the scene

of arrivals and departure of troops, aud
from its platform were delivered speeches
by Andrew Johnson, Parson Brownlow
and other celebrities of that duy. During
this period an arrangement was made by
the C. & P., S. & I., and Little Miami rail-

roads for a through passenger line, known
as the Pittsburgh, Columbus & Cincinnati,

each road furnishing a certain quota of

cars for a run without change from Pitts-

burgh to Cincinnati. The consequence was
the abandonment of the S. & 1. station ex-

cept for local trains. The through trains

would be made up there, run down to

Mingo and backed up to the C. & P. station,

where connection would be made with the

train from Pittsburgh for the West. W. D.

Howells in his "Modern Instance" gives

an account of a journey westward through
Pittsburgh and down the Ohio River to

Steubenville, for which he has been criti-

cised by some who only exposed their own
ignorance. Howells was born in this val-

ley and knew just what he was writing

about, as his critics did not. In this con-

nection was run one of the first sleeping

car lines in the United States. The cars

were owned by a Cleveland firm, Messrs.

Myers. Furnace & Lyman, and J. C. Doyle
was the local agent and manager, the run
being between Steubenville and Cincinnati.

The cars of that day were not as luxurious

as the present Pullmans, but quite as com-
fortable. The upper berths, instead of be-

ing on hinges, slid down from the ceiling

on upright iron rods. This arrangement
continued until the opening of the Pan
Handle line to Pittsburgh in 1865. The
first C. & P. agent here was Joseph John-
son, with his son, Dr. J. J. Johnson in the

ticket office, and J. C. Doyle in the freight

department. In the course of a few months
Mr. Johnson retired, Mr. Doyle succeeding
him, and with the exception of about a
year remained until his death, in 1885. The
other agents were David Myers, Mr. Craw- <

ford, S. R. Magee, A. S. Doyle, William
R. Zink and George Collins. A. M. Wyn-
koop succeeded Dr. Johnson as ticket

seller, he in succession by Messrs. Town,
Ross, John Fox, Robert Wolf, John Camp-
bell, George C. Dickinson, Edwin Permar
and Philip Sehreiber. In 1865 a new pas
senger station (now an old one) was erect-

ed at the foot of Market street, and the

freight and passenger departments sepa-
rated. The old freight depot was burned
a few years ago and replaced by the exist-

ing one, occupying the site of the former
passenger station on the west side of the

track.

While C. & P. passenger trains began
running into Pittsburgh from the time the
track was laid to Rochester, Pa., yet it

was only by sufferance of the Pittsburgh.
Fort Wayne & Chicago road and over its

tracks. But. about 1863 a consolidation of
these two lines was effected by which a
double track was to be constructed east of
Rochester at the expense of both roads and
the net earnings were to be pooled, the
Fort Wayne stockholders receiving 71 pol-

ecat thereof and the C. & P. 29 per cent.

Neither road, however, was profitable to

its stockholders and a few years later a
new organization, known as the Pennsyl-
vania Company, an adjunct of the Penn-
sylvania Railroad, leased both roads for
ninety-nine years, agreeing to pay the
stockholders an annual dividend of 7 per
cent. This was a wonderful investment for
some who had purchased their stock as low
as LJ 1^ cents on the dollar, but during the
period subsequent to the panic of 1873
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there was so much doubt as to the ability

of the lessees to carry out their agreement
that C. & P. stock sold as low as f>t». There
was never a default in payment, however,
and for years the stock in both roads hus
been above par and practically out of mar
ket.. The 0. k P. always had the reputa-

tion of being a well managed road and sin

gularly free from fatalities. Both main
line and river division are practically

double tracked, and the only fault to find

with this as well as the Pan Handle system
are the miserable passenger accommoda-
tions at Steubenville. This road has about
forty-nine miles of main tracks in Jeffer-

son County, most of it doubled, and follow

ins are the stations with their distance in

miles from Steubenville:

Mill}!"

Brilliant 6A
Ruj.Ii Run 1 1.0

Raylimd . t.1.4

TiUonvilk- US
Yorkville in.7

Ti>roiLi<» V 7

Frivimiii" . 1 <'-•'«

Kmpire II*
Port Hon,. . '40
Yellow <>«k. K.'l

HammoD.Uvilk- ' I

Irowtal* -"•>

pirrsaraoH & stei'iiksvillb raii.hoau.

While the completion of the S. A: I. and
C. & P. roads gave a rail connection prac-

tically to all the main systems of the conn

try, yet before either of these was in opera-

tion a direct eastern outlet was in eontem

Illation. A glance at the map shows Pitts-

burgh to be almost due east of Steuben-

ville, thirty-six miles distant by the old

pike, while it is seventy miles by water

and sixty-eight miles by the ('. & P. road,

which makes a large semicircle, following

mainly the windings of the stream. To
follow the chord instead of the circumfer-

ence of the circle appealed at once to one's

business instinct, notwithstanding the

greater engineering difficulties, and as it

turned out the latter were far from being

the greatest troubles in the way. So in

1S47 a petition was presented to the Vir-

ginia Legislature for the right to build

a railroad from the Ohio River opposite

Steubenville across the "Pan Handle." as

the narrow strip between Pennsylvania and

Ohio is called. But Wheeling had already
secured the National Pike at a greatly in

creased cost to the Government, and the

Baltimore & Ohio road was coming its way.
and it did not propose having any rival

line to the north if it could help it. So
the application was defeated, as was a

similar application each year up to 18o2.

In the meantime, on March 24, 1S49, the

Pennsylvania Legislature granted a char-
ter for the Pittsburgh i: Steubenville Rail-

road Company, authorizing the construc-

tion of a track commencing on the Monou
gahela Kiver, near Pittsburgh, and running
in the direction of Steubenville, to a point
on the Virginia state line. A supplemental
act of April 21, 18">2, authorized an exten-
sion of the road into the city of Pittsburgh,

making immediate connection with the

Pennsylvania Railroad. Work was l>egun

mi this line in June. 1S.V2, but compara-
tively little was done, as six miles of the

"sovereign" state of Virginia stood in

the way, more impassable than the Alps
or the Himalayas, and over thirteen years
were to elapse before it could l>e overcome
Among those in the Virginia Legislature

at this time were Nathaniel Wells, whose
home was on the river directly opposite
Steubenville. who advocated granting of

the right of way on the unanswerable
proposition that no man or men should Ik>

debarred by legislation from making im-

provements "over their own lands with
their own money," es| ially in the ab-

sence of any statute to the contrary. The
opposition wa>- led by Charles W. Russell,

head of the Wheeling bar, if not of the

state, and while the railroad advocates hail

the argument the other side had the votes,

and the Pan Handle people received no
favor, even when the project was burdened
with a condition that the company should
build and operate a branch to Wellsburg
at its own expense. The outcome of this

was a unique experiment in railroad build

ing. Despairing of accomplishing their

end in the ordinary way Mr. Wells and
Jesse Kdgington, a large land owner in

llolliday's Cove, in .Inly. is;,.?, undertook
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to build these six utiles of road as a private

enterprise, purchasing iu fee simple from
the land owners a strip of land 1(K) feet

wide from the river to the Pennsylvania
Hue. The construction contract was given

to George W. Geary, afterward governor of
Kansas, a general in the Civil War and
governor of Pennsylvania. Capt. T. K.
MeCann, of Steuhenville, was his assist-

ant. As may lie supposed the opi>osition

was not idle.' It was declared that such a

road would injure the city of Wheeling and
vital interests of the state, and the B. & O.

men alleged that it would assist their great

competitor, the Pennsylvania Central, and
inaugurated the Hempfield railroad project

to reach Pittsburgh via W ashington, which
was completed many years after. Jt

should be noted that the Pennsylvania
Railroad through its legislature manifested
quite as much industry iu keeping the B.

& O. out of Pennsylvania as did the latter

in keeping its competitor out of Virginia.

It was a phase of "war between the states"
without regard to the interests of the

people living along the proposed lines. The
outrageous conduct of Messrs. Edgington
and Wells (backed, as alleged, by foreign

corporations) in attempting to override

the authority of the State, spelled with a

capital S, by making and operating a rail-

road without waiting for a charter—

a

thing hitherto unheard of—was berated

and reiterated in the ears of the State Sov-
ereignty advocates with all the effect pos-

sible. It was suggested that the work be

stopped by legal proceedings, but as no-

body could find any law or precedent for

preventing a man digging on his own
ground and laying a track thereon, this

was reluctantly abandoned. Efforts were
made through the press to create hostility

to the enterprise, followed by ridicule, and
the project was derided as a "One-horse
Railroad, commencing nowhere and end-

ing in the woods." During the fall of

1853 the governor directed the attorney-

general to rile in the Ohio County Court a
bill of injunction commanding the con-

tractor to stop work. The defendants re-

sponded to the summons, hut the state

failed to put in an appearance and the bill

was dismissed. Joseph Johnson was gov-
ernor when the case came on for hearing
and it was thought he was not in sympathy
with what was clearly a game of bluff.

The prosecuting attorney for Brooke
County, N. W. White, under instructions,

brought suit against the builders of the

road for conspiring to do something not
provided for by the laws of the state, but

this curious piece of legal ingenuity met
the fate of its predecessors. Finally op-

ponents of the measure in their despera-
tion introduced a bill into the legislature

making it a felony, punishable by fine and
imprisonment in the penitentiary for any
person or persons, without a grant of

right of way by the legislature, to build a
railroad within the limits of the state.

Edgington, Wells and others interested

went to Richmond and represented that as
to them such a law would be ex post facto,

and consequently null and void, their road
being now nearly completed. Whether de-

terred by the formidable Latin phrase
or a still lingering respect for the Consti-
tution of the United States, the legislators

failed to pass the bill. It was then pro-
posed to send militia to stop the work, but
as it could not be shown that any law had
been violated or anybody's rights in-

fringed, this proposition was laughed
down. The conclusion of the whole matter
is thus related by J. S. Jacob in his inter-

esting history of Brooke County:
"Extra efforts were made to get the ties

down and rails and a locomotive on the

track, and on the 4th of July, 1854, in re-

sponse to invitation, a large delegation,

mainly of voting folks, from Wellsbnrg and
the region around it. 150 or 200 in num-
ber, embarked on the "Viro«piu," the

Steuhenville and Wheeling boat, and land-

ing a short distance below what is now our
present "junction," took passage on the

"cars" of the first train that ever passed
over the Virginia portion of the present
Pan Handle Railroad. The jauut was in

charge of Capt. T. K. McCnnn, condnc-
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tor ami boss generally, aml the six miles

were traversed with safety to all concerned,

although more than once the locomotive

had to be assisted on the rails ami the track

was by no means fit for steady travel. The
train -got through successfully to the Penn-
sylvania line, a public dinner was served,

speeches were made, the young folks

danced ami flirted, and all had a pleasant

time, and the return trip was made in like

satisfactory manner. After this the loco-

motive and tracks were used for construc-

tion purposes and an effort was made to do
some way business; but the latter being
small and financial difficulties overtaking
the company, they soon ceased, the rolling

stock was .^hipped away and after awhile
the iron itself of the track was taken up
and the road for the time being abandoned.
Those having it in charge, however, accom-
plished a point, they desired to make, which
was to actually construct and work a rail

road over the line as a private enterprise

and without the formality of a state right

of way. This point gained, fortified them
for a legal fight for regular right of way
and gave Ihein, de jure, vested rights in

the premises, as well as the right de facto."

Passengers crossing the Pan Handle,
bridge can see, if they glance down on the

l>ottom lands to the right, an old passenger
car almost concealed by foliage and sheds
built against it, the original and only pas-

senger car used on this primitive line. The
trucks have been removed and it is used as

a dwelling, resting directly on the ground.
A few steps beyond is the wreck of the old

Pan Handle House, which house was once
used as a tavern and terminal station, while
the outline of the old roadbed which
passes under the Pan Handle dump to the

left up Harmon's ('reek can be discerned
for some distance until it is merged into

the present road bed. It was not surpris-

ing that the road did not pay as there was
no bridge into Steubenville, and not a vil-

lage except Holliday's Cove on the line, the
only surprise is that the road was actually

kept in operation under such conditions.

Work of construction on the Steubenville

bridge was begun in 1857, and the west

abutment and several piers were con-

structed when the depression following the

panic of that year put a stop to operations.

Prom 1S54 to 1*<>0 there were a few spas-

modic efforts, and finally on March oOth of

that year the Virginia Legislature incor-

porated ''The Holliday's Cove Railroad
Company*' for the purpose of constructing

a road from the Pennsylvania state line

to or near the city of Steubenville which
took up the abandoned road bed of Wells

ami Kdgington. Directors were elected on

May L'tith, being composed of Thomas S.

Clark, President; Isaac Jones, Thomas A.

Scott, J. Edgar Thompson ami Edmund
Smith ; Joseph D. Potts, Secretary. Work
was soon afterwards begun on the whole
line as well as on the river bridge by a

separate company which afterwards
charged ten cents for every passenger car-

ried across. It was built of iron of the

Howe truss pattern, consisting of eight

spans, seven of 23:2 feet each, and a channel
span of 312, the total length including abut-

ments being 2,0fi0 feet. The under side of

the channel span was !>.">' feet above low

water mark which height was increased

several years ago by about four feet when
the present steel double track superstruc-

ture was built. The latter is now being re-

placed by a still stronger bridge to with-

stand the weight of larger engines and
heavier traffic. The Civil War coming on

work of construction was slow, and it was
not until October, lSoo, that the first train

went through to Pittsburgh. In the mean-
time the Steubenville & Indiana Railroad
had extended its track from Washington
street yard through the north end of the

city to the west end of the river bridge, and
arrangements were made for operating the

entire line from Pittsburgh to Columbus
under one management under the name of

the Pittsburgh, Columbus & Cincinnati

Kailroad although there never was any act-

ual railroad of that name. The handsome
dwelling of William Dreunen on North
street, which had been purchased while
acquiring the eastern outlet was converted
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iuto general offices, and although the ma-
chine shops were removed to Deunison, 0.,

the car shops were enlarged, and the city

became quite a railroad centre. A new
freight shed with offices had been erected

on the east side of the track on Washing-
ton street and this was also used as a tem-

porary passenger station, succeeded by a

small frame structure on North street. It

will thus be seen that no less than four cor-

porations owned the line from Columbus
to Pittsburgh, namely, the S. & 1., the

Bridge Co., II. C. B. B. Co., and P. & S.

Co. The latter became involved, and on
November 6, 1867, its property was sold

under a foreclosure decree to parties who
on December 28, 1867 organized a new cor-

poration under the name Pan Handle Hail-

way Co. But a new arrangement was
necessary, and in May, 1868, the Pan Han-
dle Railway co., of Pennsylvania, the Hol-
liday's Cove Railroad Co. of West Vir-

ginia, and the Steubenville & Indiana Hail-

road Co., consolidated under the name of

Pittsburgh, Cincinnati & St. Louis Railroad
Co., which acquired the bridge rights und
formed a through line from Pittsburgh to

Columbus, one hundred and ninety-three

miles under one management with an 8
mile branch to Cadiz. The new company
organized by the election of Thomas L.

Jewett, president ;
George B. Roberts, Vice-

president; Justin C. Morris, secretary and
treasurer; A. J. McDowell, auditor; W. W.
Card, superintendent; M. .7. Becker, en-

gineer; S. F. Scull, general ticket agent;

.lames Means, general freight agent;

George D. Whitcomb, supply agent, all resi-

dents of Steubenville, except Mr. Roberts.
Mr. Jewett who had been also receiver of

the S. & I. road from 1859 to 1805 was suc-

ceeded sometime after this by Thomas A.
Scott, of the Pennsylvania railroad, and
the general offices were then removed to

Pittsburgh. The shed on North street an-

swered the purpose of a makeshift pas-

senger station until after the consolidation

referred to when considerable land was
purchased between Market and Wash-
ington streets and one of the brick dwell-

ings with a covered platform attached was
converted iuto a passenger station which
served until 1879, when the company hav-

ing purchased all the land on that block ex-

cept one tract and secured valuable con-

cessions from the city on the plea that a

convenient and commodious station was to

be erected, built the present abortion which
was inadequate and unfit for its purpose
from the day of its erection and has be-

come relatively more so ever since. There
have been numerous promises of something
better, but at this writing they have not

been realized. During this period the car

shops were removed to other points leav-

ing light repair shops here.

The new company adopted the policy of
leasing connecting lines, greatly extend-

ing its system viz: January 22, 18C9. the

Columbus, Chicago & Indiana Central Rail-

road, from Columbus to Chicago and In-

dianapolis with a mileage of 580.4; Feb
ruary 23. 1870, I little Miami, Columbus &
Xenia to Cincinnati and Richmond, lnd.,

196.1; December 8, 1871, Mansfield to

Washington, Pa., 22; December, 1872. Cin-

cinnati & .Muskingum Valley from Dresden
.Junction to Morrow, 0., 148.5. These with

the P. W. & Ky. from Steubenville to

Wheeling, leused February 25, 1878, 24
miles, brought the length of the system up
to 1,172.9 miles to which was afterwards
added the Vandalia road into St. Louis.

About the year 1890 a project was broached
of consolidating the P. C. & St. L. Ry. and
its principal leased line the C. C. & I. C.
into one corporation. As the former was
creating a surplus from its earnings and
gave promise of paying dividends for the

first time in its history, while the leased ap-

pendage showed a deficit, the plan was
vigorously opposed by the minority stock-

holders, including the city and township
of Steubenville, but it was carried through,
the new company taking the title of Pitts-

burgh, Cincinnati, Chicago & St. Louis
Railroad Company. The city of Steuben-
ville declining to go into the new arrange-
ment received $50,000 for its stock in lieu

of the $100,000 subscribed forty years be
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for*', which was principally applied on the

new water system then under course of con-

struction. The township received an equal

amount in the conunou stock of the new
organization which pays four per cent, per
annum as dividends. The capital stock of

the company is $50,659,491.44 (1908),
funded deht $56,969,000, which with other
liabilities makes a grand total of $131,698,-

40N.75. The system is double tracked
throughout nearly its entire length, and
being a component part of the great Penn-
sylvania system may lie considered second
to none in the eouniry, nil from the acorn
planted sixty years ago.

The Jefferson County stations are neces-

sarily all west of Steubenville, being as fol-

lows: Mingo, 3.1 miles; (rould, 6.9; New
Alexandria, 7.2; Femwood, 9.5; Keed, 12.3;

Skelly, 13.4; Fairplay. 16.3; I'nionport,

17.3; Carmen, 19.H. Jt will lie observed
that Unionport is nearly three miles nearer
Steubenville than at the opening of the S.

& I. road in 1S53. This is occasioned by
straightening of the track and esjiecially

by the construction of Gould tunnel, which
cut off a circuitous route around the hills

known as the Circumhendivus.

PITTSBURGH, WHEELING AND KENTUCKY
ROAD.

It will be remembered that part of the

plans of the Ilolliday's Cove railroad pro
ject was a spur extending from the east

end of Steubenville bridge down the river

seven miles to Wellsburg which town was
very anxious for an outlet in this direction.

Nothing was done however along that line

until 1868 when some Wellsburg citizens

raised a fund of $20,000 to carry out the

plan and procured a charier for a road op-

posite Steubenville to Wellsburg and thence

to Wheeling, which latter city was now as
anxious to secure a connection with the new
••astern line as she had been to prevent its

construction. It was then proposed to con-

tinue it to the Kentucky state line, and iin-

ally on February 16, 1871, the West Vir-

ginia Legislature grunted a charter to the

"Pittsburgh. Wheeling & Kentucky Kail-

road Coinpanv" with a maximum capital

of $8,000,0<K) "of which $400,000 was con

sidered m ssary to build the 24 miles of

road from Steubenville to Wheeling.

Brooke County voted $115,000 towards
building the road, and Ohio County.

I Wheeling) $245,000. Adam Kuhn was the

first President of the company, under whom
the work was put under contract and the

tirst ground broken just below Wellsburg
on May 6, 1872. Lewis Applegate and C.

1). Hubbard succeeded Kuhn. Several of

the contractors failed, and l>efore the road

was completed the company itself was
forced to make an assignment on Septeni

l>er 28. 187.'!. with an indebtedness of $24.-

000. The panic was on and o]>eratioiis

stopped. Matters lay dormant until 1875,

when the subject was again taken up and
several plans proposed and rejected, one

was to give the road to whoever would take

it and complete the same. Finally a new
compnnv was organized on a basis of $200-

0(H) capital, hut only $180,000 to be paid in.

the work already done to be turned over to

the new company. Of this $90,000 was to

be paid by memliers of the Pennsylvania
Companies in the way of material, and $90.-

000 to be subscribed in cash by the counties

id' Ohio and Brooke if they desired, and
individuals in those counties. Ohio voted
to take $50,000 of the stock, and Brooke re-

jected a projiositiou to take $20,000 thus

retiring from the railroad business, aud the

other $40,000 was taken by individuals.

Messrs. Mackin & Co. of Pittsburgh com
pleted the roadbed at a cost of $35,080, the

rails were laid, and on Sundav afternoon
at 4 o'clock, February 24, 1878, the first

train left Steubenville over the new line.

The engine was No. 47 with Charles Wolf,
engineer. Two passenger coaches, a bag
«age car and several freight cars made up
the train, among those on hoard being J. 11.

Barrett, superintendent; Boss Kells. mas-
ter mechanic ; (i. L Layng, supt. of tele-

graph: .1. M. Becker, chief engineer; C.

Mackin, contractor : Kdward Tate, in-
ductor; J. L. Xeely, baggage master and
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others. Wheeling was reached at 5:15 p.

m., and returned the next morning when
the road was formally opened for business.

The telegraph line was opened about May
1. Arrangements were made to lease the

road to the P. C. & St. L. system on a 7

per cent, basis, which has proved profitable

for all parties as the road has been on a
paying basis from the start. The Ken-
tucky extension was afterwards built by
another corporation and now reaehes Hunt-
ington, W. Va. under the name of Ohio
River road.

NEW CUMBERLAND BRANCH.

In 1887 a branch line was built prac-

tically from Steubenville to New Cumber-
land, W. Va., a short distance of twelve

miles tapping a large clay industry. It has
since been extended to Chester, W. Va.
where is located the famous Rock Springs
park.

THE WABASH SYSTEM.

Fully thirty years ago the construction

of a railroad was begun extending from
the lake ports of Huron and Toledo south-

east, whose ultimate terminal was intended
to be the Ohio River. After many trials

and tribulations it reached Bowerston in

Harrison County where a connection was
made with the Pan Handle system, but
there it stopped. It was named the Wheel-
ing and Lake Erie, although the question
of reaching the first named point seemed
rather problematical. Finally in the later

eighties the matter was taken up again with
the idea of extending the line down the

Short Creek. Valley through Jefferson
County to the river and thence branching
north to Steubenville and south to Martin's
Ferry. A corporation called the Steuben-
ville & Columbiana Railroad was formed
for the purpose of securing rights of way
and doing construction work in this county,
which operated with such good effect that

the road was soon under way. Consid-
erable trouble was experienced along Short
Creek by a rival company intending to con-

nect with the South Pennsylvania then

building, but the Lake Erie people crowded
the o tliera out, and the South Pa., never
having been completed, its work in this

county was abandoned, although the old

cuts and fills are yet visible. On November
28, 1890, the road was opened to Steuben-

ville, and the Martin's Ferry extension

some weeks later, giving another through
line east and west. A few years later the

Connotton Valley road was purchased,
which gave an entrance into Cleveland, but

the whole was absorbed by George Gould
und the Wabash system in 1901. It was
Mr. Gould's ambition to secure an entrance

into Pittsburgh and create a transconti-

nental route. As the route down Short
Creek was somewhat circuitous he and his

advisers concluded to build an air line from
a point near Jewett in Harrison County,
straight across Jefferson County to Mingo,
crossing the river there, and proceeding to

Pittsburgh. Like the Czar's road from St.

Petersburg!! to Moscow neither towns nor
natural obstacles were permitted to deHect

it. Railroad building in Jefferson County
has always been difficult and expensive on
account of the rugged nature of the surface,

but this line was especially so, costing it is

said about $10,000,000 from Pittsburgh

Junction to Pittsburgh, or $160,000 per

mile, this including the two bridges across

the Ohio .and Monongahela Rivers. The
bridges, tunnels, cuts, etc. were made to

uccommodate double track, but only one
track was laid when the line was opened
in 1905, and owing to financial troubles the

full scheme has never been carried out.

The Jefferson County stations on this line

are Mingo, miles from Steubenville; Bril-

liant, 7 miles; Salt Run, 9; Stringer, 10;

Rush Run, 11; Warrcuton, 14; Tiltonville.

15; Connor, 15; Glen Run, 17; Dillonvalc,

20; Mt. Pleasant, 21; Long Run, 22; Her-
rick, 25; Adena, '26; New Alexandria, S;

Smithfield, 11; Boston, 14.

It will be seen that Steubenville has be-

come quite a railroad centre with trains

leaving every hour of the day, and much
more frequently at times in as many as
seven or eight different directions.

Digitized by Google



HISTORY OF JEFFEHSOX COUNTY

1.AKE ERIE, ALLIANCE * SOUTHERN.

In the seventies narrow-gauge roads
were still popular in some sections, and at
one time it was proposed to divert the Con-
not ton Valley line this way it being then
a narrow-gauge. About this time a cor-
poration called the Richmond & Island
('reek Mineral Railroad, was formed with
the idea of building a line down Island
Creek to the river and thence to Steuben-
ville, the idea being to ultimately connect
with the Connotton Valley or a line coin-

ing southward from Alliance and stretch-

ing north towards the lake. Benjamin
Shelley and cithers, of Kiclunnud were en-

thusiastic promoters of this line, and the
young men of that place were so interested
that they worked on the roadbed in ex-
change for stock in the proposed line, (trad-
ing was pretty well completed to the river
by 1SS0, when funds and enthusiasm gave
out together, and work was abandoned.
The Alliance road which became a standard
gauge was extended north to Braceville in

Trutrd.mll County and south to Nebo, now
Bcrgholz on Yellow Creek in .Jefferson

County, where it assisted in developing the
coal fields in the northern end. Several
years h^o it passed into the hands of the
New York Central people, ami has been ex-

tended through Amsterdam and Pincy
Fork to Dillouvale on Short Creek, and has
become oolite an important con! road.
There has been talk of it attempting to

reach the river over the old O. tV. |\ right

of way, but nothing has been done in that

direction. Among the active railroad work-
ers in that section was L. W. Sutherland,
and it was largely owing to his efforts that
this road was built. There are but two
townships in .Jefferson County not now in-

tersected by one or more railroads. Brush
Creek and Salem, and thev have them close

to their borders.

ADVENT OK TDK. THOU.KV.

The first successful electric railroad in

the United States was opened in Baltimore
in I**tl The power was furnished through

a third rail laid in the centre of the road
bed along the top of which ran the trolley.

The motor was a cumbersome affair and
wrfs in a separate car from the passenger
coach, which was run as a trailer. The
line was a surburban one four or five mile?

long, and. on account of the dangerous
third rail it was necessary to isolate the

track from horses or pedestrians, making
it impracticable for use on city streets.

The line made good time, however, and its

facility in climbing grades nnd general

workableness indicated that it was soon to

become a factor in both urban and inter-

urban transportation. Kleetric lighting it

self was still in its infamy, although rap-

idly coming into general use. That same
Autumn an electric light company was
formed in Steubenville by John C. Flood
and others which paved the way for what
was not only the pioneer electric line in

this locality, but one of the first in the

United States. Tn 1*S7. S. T. Dunham and
others of New York, obtained a franchise

for a street railway, extending from the

Riverside blast furance in the north end of

the city via Sixth, Franklin, Fifth. Boss,

Fourth and Lincoln streets to AYilson's cor-

ner, a distance of 2.4 miles. This line was
built and opened in 18SS. The rails were
lint, and the cars were operated on what
was known as the Sprague system, a new
device which had just been tried in Rich
mond, \ a. About this time a line was
opened in Allegheny, Pa., on Federal street,

extending out the Perrysville road. Those
four lines were then the only ones in the

United States. Bonds to the amount of
is.~iii.unu were issued for the construction

of the Steubenville road, and arrange-
ments were made with the local company
for supplying power. The road was oper-

ated with fair success for about two years
when financial difficulties began to loom
up. Although it ran through a good resi-

dential section of the city, yet the distances
were not so great as to induce traffic, es-

pecially as the people had not been edu-
cated up to general use of street cars.

There was then the other serious disad-
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vantage that the road did not reach a sin-

gle hotel, place of amusement, railroad

station, park or public resort of any kind,

it began nowhere and ended as it began.
Then the equipment began to run down, and
the track, which had been poorly laid be-

gan to deteriorate. Litigation ensued and
tho road was sold under foreclosure for

$8,000 to a local company which organized
with the following board of directors:

(ieorge "W. McCook, president; Thomas
Johnson, secretary and treasurer; Robert
Sherrard, Dr. William Stanton, Thomas
Barclay. Messers. Sherrard and Stanton at

their deaths were succeeded by D. J. Sin-

clair and Hon. R. (J. Richards. This cor-

poration became practically a portion of

the Steubenville das & Klectric Company
which had absorbed the other electric light

company in 1889, and which continued to

furnish power to the cars. John 0. Flood
was continued as superintendent of the

street car line which was entirely rebuilt

with a modem substantial track, new
summer cars purchased and everything
placed in first class condition. A plan
devised by Mr. Flood allowing all pa-
trons to make a round trip on payment of

a single fare tended greatly to popularize
the line and when it with the light plant was
purchased by the Philadelphia parties in

December, 1900, it was on a paying basis.

The new company proceeded to make ex-

tensive improvements, principally by the
construction of an entire new line starting

from the AV. & L. E. Ry. track on Market
street via Sixth street and Stanton boule-

vard to Aliknnna. where a line amusement
park was established, thence to Toronto,
nine miles above, and subsequently to Free
man's two miles farther. The capital in-

vested in these improvements including the

original purchase was $800,000. J. Charles
Ross, of Philadelphia, was appointed gen-

eral superintendent, and William McD. Mil-

ler, solicitor, Mr. Flood remaining in

charge of the transportation department.
In the year 1901 an electric line was con-

structed up Adams street by George A.
Maxwell, George X. Henry and others from

Third to Sixth, thence to South, thence to

Seventh, and around the brow of the Wells
Hill to Pleasant Heights, a new addition to

the city, and thence out Market street ex-

tension to near the main entrance to Union
cemetery, passing the Steubenville driving
park en route. The line was ojwrated at a
loss for a couple of years when it was pur-
chased by the other company, aud has since

been extended through La Belle Mew Ad-
dition nearly to Franklin avenue, and is

understood to be a paying branch and prof-

itable feeder to the main line.

By this time Steubenville had evidently

become known as a desirable electric rail-

way centre, for a new compauy appeared
on the scene in 190(5, headed by Van Horn
Ely. a leading citizen of Buffalo, N. V.. who
entered into successful negotiations for the

Steubenville Traction & Light Company in-

cluding the street and interurban car lines.

After some delay in securing additional

franchises from the city authorities this

company under the name of Steubenville
& Fast Liverpool Railway & Light Com-
pany entered upon an extensive series of
improvements. First was the La Belle ex-

tension referred to, and the Fourth street

line from Wilson's corner to the city limits.

But the most important was the northern
extension to Wellsville and double track-

ing the entire line to Beaver, Pa., where it

connects with lines to Rochester, Pa., and
elsewhere, and leaving only a small gap be-

tween that point and Pittsburgh. At East
Liverpool connection is made for Lisbon,
Youngstown and other points, which opens
up the entire electric system of the state.

The character of the work done allows high
speed on the interurban lines, rivaling that

of the steam lines.

For financial and operating convenience
this 50 mile route from Steubenville to

Rochester is managed in three divisions.

The division from Beaver to the state line

(coincident with the easterly city limits of

East Liverpool), was constructed by the
Ohio River Passenger Railway Company,
a Pennsylvania corporation, which lias a
traffic agreement with the Beaver Valley
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Traction Company under which its cars

run through Beaver to a terminal at the

Pennsylvania Railroad station in Roches-
ter, Pa.
The section from the Stnte line to the

southerly city limits of Wellsville is now
owned and operated by the East Liverpol

Traction and Light Company. This com-
pany is an Ohio corporation and has ac-

quired the properties of some eleven origi-

nal railway power, light and coal com-
panies, thereby giving it the entire electric

railway and lighting business in the cities

of East Liverpool and Wellsville, <)., and
Chester, W. Va., and vicinity.

The section from Wellsville to Toronto
was built by the Steubenville and East Liv-

erpool Railway and Light Company as
stated. The officers of the combined cor-

porations are: president, Van Horn Ely;
secretary and treasurer. Edward McDon-
nell; general manager, W. R. W. Griffin.

On the route from Beaver to Steuben-
ville there are four power stations, three
combined railway and lighting plants and
one lighting station. All railway power
is generated at ooO-KOO-volt direct current.
The power houses are located respectively

at Steubenville. Wellsville and East Liver-

pool.

The railway units at the East Liverpool
station include one o()0-kw direct con-
nected unit and one '250-kw and one 200-

kw belted units. The plant at Wellsville,

in addition to the lighting units, contains
two 200-kw direct connected generators for

railway purposes. The Steubenville plant
contains two 400 kw and one 300-kw direct

connected railway units, and one 200 kw
railway unit driven by vertical compound
engines. In addition to these generating
stations a 400 amp. storage battery is

maintained at Stanton Park just outside
the city limits of Steubenville. which is

used as a floating battery on the line to take
care of excessive peaks.
The East Liverpool Tract ion & Light

Company owns a steel suspension bridge
over the Ohio River upon which it operates
a double track to Chester, W. Ya.. and Rock

Springs Park. The bridge with approaches
is 1.710 feet long and has a center span of

7o"» feet. Besides this division has us own
coal mines from which it takes out 60 to

100 tons a day. The tracks are laid on

white oak ties, N5-lh. rails of (i0 feet lengths,

and the roadbed ballasted with gravel and

crushed stone, with grades and curves

which will permit of schedule speeds ap-

proximating 25 to 30 miles per hour. This

has been well named the Ohio Valley scenic

route for in places it runs far above the

river bed affording views of surpassing

beauty.

While this system was evolving from the

original line of the Steubenville railway

another scheme was inaugurated, chiefly by

Wheeling capitalists, with scarcely less im-

portant results. On August 3, 1899, Steu-

hMiville, Mingo & Ohio Valley Traction

Company was organized, the object being

to afford another local line in the city, and

extend it thence to Mingo, the thriving

suburb on the south, with a village and

park at Altamont, the hill summit about

half way between. Several surveys had

been made for a road to Mingo, hut it had

been pronounced impracticable on account

of the heavy grades. But the line was fin-

allv built and opened for business on July
1(1,' 1900. It started from the corner of

Fourth and Ross streets, thence down Ross,

Third. Wells and Lincoln streets, to Wil-

son's Corner, where it began a system of

hill climbing probably not paralleled by any

similar road in the country until a summit
of 4*5 feel above the city was reached,

when it descended rapidly into Mingo. The
grades were as high as seven to nine per

cent, and the curves were snake like in their

sinuousity. As a scenic line there was noth-

ing left to be desired. As the cars passed

over the summit and around the ascending
or descending curves a series of panoramic
views was unfolded that rivaled the Cats-

kill- or the Alleghenies. A visitor to Steu-

benville who failed to go over the scenic

ronle to Mingo certainly missed the most
artistic part of his visit. But unfortunately
the bulk of the travel between Steubenville
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and Mingo was made up not of scenery lov-

ers, but of people who simply wanted to

"get there." To them the four miles de-

tour through the hills, and the slow speed
required by the heavy grades and curves
were such a decided detriment (making a
.{5-minute run) that many took the steam
cars, and it was evident that if a rival com-
pany should succeed in building a road
down the river front the Altamont line, as

it was called, must go into bankruptcy. As
it was, the line, in spite of good patronage,

650,000 passengers being carried during
1906, was operated at a loss on account of

the heavy expense. On July 3, 1905, a new
organization was formed under the name
of Steubenville & Wheeling Traction Com-
pany, which took over the property, fran-

chise and obligations of the old company,
and proceeded to build a new track down
the river front, which was opened on Sat-

urday December 22. Jt cost $210,000 or

about $100,000 per mile, but is 1.8 miles

shorter than the old route, the grades are
easier, curves almost eliminated, and the

highest elevation is but 120 feet above the

city as against 485 on the old line. While
owing to the careful management there

were never any accidents due to the char-

acter of the old road, yet the new one is

regarded as being much safer, and the

trip is jnade between the two points in a

little less than half the time. The distance

from the northern terminus in Steubenville

to the southern one at Brilliant is 7KU miles.

After a gap of about seven miles there is

a road through Warren Township from
Ruyland to Wheeling, which gap will no
doubt soon be closed, with branches up
Short Creek and elsewhere in contempla-
tion. The present officers of the company
are J.J. Holloway, president ; W. A. Sliirly,

secretary and treasurer; G. <). Nagle, gen-

eral manager; J. W. Marsh, super-

intendent.

I'p to this time all projects in relation

to interurban traffic from Steubenville were
confined to the Ohio side of the river, as

that stream presented an obstacle too for-

midable to be surmounted from an economic

point of view. But the city was growing,
even building lots were becoming scarce

and valuable, while manufacturing sites

for the new enterprises now ready to lo-

cate in this section were not available. At
Ibis juncture Dohrman J. Sinclair, who
had interested a number of capitalists in

the purchase of lands in Ilolliday 's Cove
and the Mahan properties opposite Mingo,
formed two companies, the Steubenville

Bridge Company, and the Tri-State Trac-

tion Company, the former of which built

the magnificent Bteel bridge which spans
the river at Market street, Steubenville,

which was opened to traffic on July 4, 1905.

At the same time an electric line was built

to the new town of Follansbee three miles

down the river where had already been
erected a large tin plant, and since then a

glass factory and sheet metal concern. Ex-
tending from the bridge, each direction

north and south, was a fine boulevard cost-

ing a hundred thousand dollars, practically

on a level, and the lower section paved with

fire brick. The Tri-State Traction Com-
pany has extended its line to Wellsburg
where connection is made with the Pan
Handle electric road for lower points, and
also with a new line up the beautiful Buf-
falo Creek Valley to Bethany, W. Va., and
which it is proposed extending to Pitts-

burgh, Pa. The Tri-State Traction Com-
pany's road is constructed of 75 lb. T. rails

in 60 foot lengths, laid on oak ties, on a

roadbed ballasted with gravel and crushed
stone, with practically no curves and no
heavy grades, permitting an average speed

of thirty to thirty-five miles per hour. The
cars are of the modern standard inter-

urban type with steel under-frame and
equipped with air-brake, electric heaters

and driven by four motors of 60 h. p. each

and finished in cherry; in fact, the regular

Pullman car.

It will thus be seen that three important
inter-urban lines centre in the city of Steu-

benville, and two more are in prospect.

Five miles above the city on the West Vir-

ginia shoe opposite Brown's Island there

is in course of construction an extensive tin
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plant to l>e completed during the present
year. Adjacent to it is springing up a
new town ealled VVeirton, and the Tri-State
Traction Company is contemplating run-

ning a line to that point and perhaps lw-

ynnd which will open up a beautiful stretch

of country. Surveys have been made and
options obtained for another line directly

across the country extending from Steuben-
ville through Wintersville. Richmond, East
Springfield, Carrollton etc. to Canton. O.

where it will connect with the general elec-

tric systems of the state. This will go
through a virgin territory where wagon
roads have furnished the only outlet, al-

though it is rich agriculturally and other-
wise.

TEI.F.fiHAI'JI ASI> TKI.KPHOXK.

While not a method of transportation in

the ordinary sense of the word the tele-

graph and telephone are so closely con-
nected with commercial interests as to

make reference to them appropriate at this

place. The first telegraph office in the
county was opened in 1847, in the second
story of the old Union Savings Institution
building on South Third street Steuben-
ville, owned by 11. (}. Uarrett where is now
located the Union Deposit Bank. It ante-
dated the railroad by five years and was
known as the O'Reilly line with J. K. Moor-
head, president: .1. D. Reed, secretary, and
Jackson Hunt, superintendent of repairs,
and the line stretched across the country
from Pittsburgh. Messrs. Anson Stager,
Fred Beisel and Mr. Bush opened the office,

and the tirst message announced the de-
parture from Pittsburgh, of Ilcury Clay on
the steamer "Monongahcla," for his Ken
tucky home. A large crowd awaited the
arrival of the boat at the wharf, and
White's band stationed itself on the roof
of the wharf-boat, and was discoursing
patriotic airs when the roof gave way let-

ting the players down to the deck, for-

tunately without serious injury. The line

consisting of three ply wires was extended
from Steubenville to Wheeling. Zane«ville.

Columbus, Cincinnati, Louisville and in-

termediate points. Alexander Cures and
.Joseph Keith were the first messenger
boys. The latter with David Moody was
the first operator, learning to read by
sound which was a great art in those days
when the machine printed a series of dots

and dashes representing the letters of the

alphabet on a paper ribbon moving through
the rolls. It is well to remember that tele-

graphing was in regular use here within

three years from the time that the first

experimental line was opened between
Washington and Baltimore. In 1852, the

line between Steubenville and Wheeling
was dest roved by flood, and Mr. Moody
opened an office in the old Edgington house

at Holliday's Cove, and the steamers

"Diurnal" and "Winchester" carried mes-
sages to Wheeling. The wire was carried

over the river above the present Pan Han-
dle railroad bridge by means of a mast on

the Virginia side and a large oak tree on
the hillside on the Ohio side, very much as

is now the upper ferry trolley. The short

lines were shortly merged into the Western
Union Company which, with the exception

of the railroad telegraph, controlled all the

business in this section until March 21),

1S!)-J, when the Postal Telegraph Company
obtained an entry into Steubenville, and
now there is the double system to, nearly

all points. The Western Union has 85K.38

miles of wires in the county, and the Postal

J.')4.."j(i. Andrew Carnegie took some of his

early lessons in telegraphing while a mes-
senger in the Steubenville office, and in

memory of that event gave the funds
wherewith, to erect the Carnegie library

building.

The telephone arrived in IS*!, lieing

what was known as the Bell system. It

was at first entirely local in its character,

taking in the nearer suburban villages, with

M. R. Wolf as manager. (Jradually how-
ever its operations were extended until one

can now talk to almost every part of the

country. II. Sapp is the present manager.
A rival institution was inaugurated in
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April, 1896, being a local organization un-

der the name of tin? Phoenix Telephone
Company.
The officers and directors were G. A.

Maxwell, president; K. J. Morrison, vice-

president; .1. A. McCullough, treasurer;

O. G. Gaston, secretary; J. W. Forney, J.

E. McGorwau, E. E. Erskiue, J. S. Collins,

su|>orintendent.'

It had no long distance connections, but

made a specialty of taking in the rural dis-

tricts which was a great convenience to the

farming community, and it soon had more
subscribers than its competitor. About
two years ago it sold out to the National
Company which practically rebuilt the line

and made it one of the best in the country-
It has also pursued the policy of affiliating

with both the various local and long dis-

tance lines so that its system is most com-
plete iu every respect. It is the first com-
pany to lay underground wires in the city,

an example worthy of imitatiou. At pres-

ent there are fifteen telephone companies
in Jefferson County, the Bell and the Na-
tional taking the lead. The former has
1611.54 miles of wire divided as follows:

Steubenville City and Township, including
Mingo. 040.4

; Toronto, 170; Saline Town-
ship. ;J4; Knox, 90; Island Creek, 72; Wells,
81.f>: Warren, 114; Mt. Pleasant, 6; Smith-
field. 76; Cross Creek, 22. National in

Steuhenville, 16Sl\04; Mingo, 40; Cross
Creek Township, 64; total, 17S6.04.

The othei nipanies are as follows:

Adena with 5S0 miles in Adena village and
Sinithlield, Mt. Pleasant, Warren, Wells
and Steuhenville Townships; East Spring-
field with 80 miles in Salem and Island

Creek Townships; Bergholz, 94 miles in

Springfield, Brush Creek and Ross Town-
ships; Columbiana, 24 miles in Saline;

Knoxville, 45 miles in Knox and Island
Creek; United States, 72 miles in Island

Creek, Knox, Saline and Steubenville

Townships; Island Creek, 11 miles; An-
napolis, 5.5 miles in Salem and Wayne;
Unionport, 14; Bloomingdale, 12 in Cross
Creek and Wayne ; James Wherry, 6 miles
in Wayne, Salem, Island Creek and Cross
Creek ; Reed's Mills, 20 miles in Wayne and
Cross Creek; Mt. Pleasant, 144.6 miles in

Mt. Pleasant, Warren, and Smithfield

Townships; making a grand total 4,505
miles. The time seems to be rapidly ap-
proaching when the phone will be con-

sidered as necessary on the farm as the
barn.

Four express companies operate from
Steuhenville and other points, the Adams,
Wells Fargo, American and Pacific.

While these pages are being printed it

is announced that a Pennsylvania charter

has been secured for the Pittsburgh,
Steubenville and Wheeling Railway Com-
pany, an electric Jine to be built from Pitts-

burgh to Steubenville, there to connect
with existing systems. At Dover, Del.,

yesterday articles of incorporation were
applied for for the Cincinnati & Pittsburgh
Electric Railwav Company of Huntington,
W. Va., with a capital stock of $1,000,000.

It is thought the two concerns are con-

nected and that a network of electric rail-

ways in the Ohio valley is projected in an-
ticipation of a great increase in popula-
tion and business resulting from t lie pro-
posed improvement of the Ohio river.
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CHAPTER XVI

NATURAL RESOURCES AND DEVELOPMENT

Immense Coal Fields and Their Product— Third County in the State—First in Fire

Clay—Petroleum and Natural Gas— Other Minerals.

It would be as difficult to tell when, where
and by whom the first coal was dug in

Jefferson County as it would to note who
felled the first tree, and just about as im-

portant. It has already been noticed that

there was a shipment of coal from Pitts-

burgh as early as 1803, and the deep gorges
cut by the creeks and runs as well as by
the river itself exposed veins of coal which
could easily be utilized if desired. From
cutting away the coal at the outcrop to

running a gallery into the hillside was a

natural and easy proceeding, and had there

heen any demand for the fuel it could have
been easily supplied. Hut the country was
still largely covered with forests which had
to bo cleared away before the land could be

cultivated, nnd while felling trees was quite

as laborious as digging coal yet they had
to be felled anyway, and once down the

best way to dispose of the fallen giant was
to cut it up into cordwood. So wood was
the general fuel for domestic purposes, all

the earlier locomotives were wood burners.

Coal was preferred on the steamboats as

less dangerous, but even there the long

trains of sparks from the chimneys indi-

cated the use of the more combustible ma-
terial. It was not until there had been an
appreciable growth of manufacturing that

coal, by reason of its superior quality for

producing strong and steady heat could
be said to be a general commercial product.

In those days the idea that within a cen-

tury there would be fears of a timber fam-
ine, would have been laughed at. In the

chapter on geology of the county the dif-

ferent coal veins have Iwen located and
described, so that we can now proceed to

their development for domestic and indus-

trial purposes.
That the value of coal as a fuel was early

appreciated is evident, for Hezaleel Wells
operated a drift mine in 1H10-11, and John
Permar, James Odbert and others carried

on the business in \H\'y W>. One Fcltz Smith
is said to have grubl>ed coal out of the hill

at Pockville before these dates, and if so
he may be honored as the pioneer in this

direction. From this time the number of
banks rapidly increased, and by 1845 rivei

shipments became active, coal being

shipped as far as New Orleans in drifting
flats, which became the immense tows of
later days. As previously stated, the prin-

cipal outcrop in the vicinity of Steuhenville
was the No. S, or Pittsburgh, vein, which
has played an important part during the

last few years in the industrial develop-
ment of the southern part of the county.
While the output of these banks was con-
siderable in the aggregate, the time was
approaching when larger and more sys-

tematic efforts were needed, and prepara-
tions were -tinted to reach the lower veins,

whirh could only be done by mentis of
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shafts. There was a record that in 1829
Adam Wise, while drilling for water on the

western side of the city, had perforated a

vein of coal eleven feet thick. So in 1856

a corporation was formed by James Wal-
lace and others, nnder the name of the Steu-

benville Coal & Mining Company, in order
that there might be secured a constant slip

ply for manufacturing and domestic pur-

poses in Steubenville, not subject to inter-

ruption from bad roads and other causes.

Previous to sinking a shaft a well was
drilled at the rear of the Ashland woolen
factory, on Liberty Street, and a vein

rc|H>rted eight feet thick. So a shaft was
begun, and, after many interruptions due
to ineNperience, the vein was reached and
found to be only three feet nine inches

thick. This was the vein afterwards known
as No. 6, sometimes claimed to be No. 7.

The managers were disgusted and out of

funds and the shaft lay idle until February,

1858, when Louden Borland, II. K. Keyn-
olds and Mr. Manful leased the mine for

rive years. The work still languished when
Manful sold out to William Averick, an ex-

l>erienced English miner, when operations

were resumed, this time'with success. In

1865 the original company bought back the

lease, which had been extended ten years,

and installed James II. Blinn as manager
and William Smurthwaite mine boss. They
had 600 acres of coal land, and their do-

mestic market, with shipments by rail and
water, gave them a business of over 7,000

bushels per day, and the KM) coke ovens
turned out 3,500 bushels of coke. In 1S71

an additional shaft was sunk at Stony Hol-

low, about a mile north of the old shaft,

reaching the coal at a depth of 187 feet, the

old one being 221 feet 4 inches, the vein

being higher at that point and the surface

lower. This shaft is still in operation, and
although the advent of natural gas has in-

terfered considerably with the domestic

market, yet seventy-five men are steadily

employed, and the latest improvements
have been made in the way of ventilating

fans, electrical machinery, etc. The officers

are (ieo. W. McCook, president and man-
ager; F. C. Chambers, secretary; Charles
Peterson, l>ookkeeper, and William Smurth-
waite, superintendent. William Smurth-
waite, Sr., who has held this position for
over forty years, has turned over the act-

ive management of the mine to his son, who
has learned the business thoroughly under
his father's supervision.

Joining this field on the south is that of
the La Belle Iron Works, originally the Jef-
ferson Iron Works, covering some 1,500
acres on both sides of the river. This con-
cern for a number of years depended on a

hill bank for its fuel, but in 1863 sunk a
shaft and at a depth of 175 feet reached a
vein averaging three feet nine inches. The
demand for coal existed at its doors, and
its product reached 5,000 bushels j>er day,
aud its 110 coke ovens turned out 2,500
bushels of their product per diem. When
the Jefferson Works became involved in

financial difficulties the mine was closed

down and remained so for several years,

but under the present La Belle manage-
ment has been reopened, a current of water
from the river which threatened its de-
struction controlled, and is once more in

full operation with workings extending
across the river into West Virginia.

Directly south of this was the shaft of
the Ohio & Pennsylvania Coal Companv,
sunk in 1801-2 to a depth of 210 feet. It

had twenty-eight coke ovens, and produced
600.000 bushels of coal annually, most of
which was shipped to Cleveland and other
points. Just below this was the shaft of
the Swift Iron Works, of Newport. Ky„
originally known as the Borland shaft. It

was opened in 1862 to a depth of 240 feet,

and shipped 800,000 bushels yearly hy
water and rail, and had its quota of coke
ovens. Both these workings were absorbed
by the Jefferson Iron Works, now the La
Belle, and years ago ceased as independent
enterprises.

About 180!) the Mingo Irou Works sunk
a shaft and built coke ovens on the hill

west of their plant, which they worked for
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a few years, but the vein began to be too

tliiu for profit, and it was abandoned. The
site is now covered with dwellings.

At the lower end of Brilliant, seven miles
In-low Steubenville, the Lagrange Coal
Company sunk a shaft to No. b vein, a
depth of -(»! feet, where the coal was five

feet three inches thick, with two slate part-

ings. It afterwards became the property
of the Spaulding Iron ^Yorks.

Three miles below Brilliant a shaft 225
feet deep was sunk at Kush Klin, where the

coal was found nine feet thick in spots, but

running down to two feet with slate part

inga, making an average of seven or eight

feet. The shaft did a good business, but

the upper works being destroyed by lire

were not rebuilt, as the company's acreage
was too nearly worked out to justify it. A
belief prevailed that the coid worked here
was the same as the great vein of the Hock
ing Valley, but this has not been verified.

At the upper end of the city was the

shaft of the Steubenville Furnace & Iron

Company, ninety-six feet in depth, bring

ing up L',000 bushels per day, supplying a

series of coke ovens and the local market.
Half a mile above was the shaft of the Jef
ferson Coal & Iron Company (Bustard),

seventy-six feet deep, with the usual coke

ovens, whose principal customer was the

C. & P. Railroad. Half a mile above this

is the Alikanna shaft, and farther up the

Cable. None id' these shafts is now in oper-

ation, principally on account of having ex-

hausted its particular field.

Concerning this vein the Geological Sur
vey reports it as "the most interesting and
important of all our coal seam-. It attains

greater thickness, occupies a wider area,

and in different outcrops and phases sup-

plies a larger amount of fuel than any
other." Subsequent developments in the

lower part of the county would seem to

modify this last statement. Tn the same
volume from which the above is taken are

thirteen analyses of coal taken from the No.
I! vein in different parts of the slate, which
srive the following instructive figures:

i

Lisbon t.2«0 3.40 3B.06 BCS6 4.03 2.54I
l ump Ifuu 1.27i» I.52S 3*42'* 57.92", 2 I2«i 122
Sallm-vlllf .... 1.2WI I 4o 34011 59.55 4 45 2.11
Unton 1.270 2,0u 35.17 S3.IW 0.43 2.63
Carbon Hill . I.2*« 1.00 2H.29 04 .:••> 4. 2.H0
Mlll»r«tiurtf 1.309 MM 39. 51.70 4.20 2M
l lirKlmvlllc .. 1.244 3.20 34.20 58. 4 00 MM
Si.uh. Shin . 1.305 1 4n 3U.0O 05.80 1.00 Mt
Wiijmnbuiv . 1 273 3.3U 33.30 *]U. 3.40 H
K.-llh t. 1.330 4. 36.2U 54.70 3.10 2 .00
llo< k Hun 12K3 3 47 37» 53.30 :..:!.'. J J.I

X. Kfrnliavlltv . I 200 0 !Mi 30.25 5S.1B 4.60 .7!>

SriaatriUa ... 1.280 3.05 32.3s 57.12 4.50 .77

It will be noted that the Steubenville coal

shows a larger percentage of fixed carbon
than that from any other point, while the

sulphur and ash, those detrimental quali-

ties, are practically eliminated. An analy-

sis of the S. F. & I., or Gravel shaft coke,

gave the following:

Water and hydro|p»ti 72
Fixed cartmii 90.83
Sulphur 27
A*h 8.38

Total 100.00

As the famous Conncllsville coke usually

has one per cent of sulphur and 10 to 14
per cent of ash, it is seen that the Steuben-
ville coke makes a decidedly superior show-

ing in this respect, ami other things being

equal should have held its own in the mar-
ket against any ami all competition. This
it did for many years, but changes in the

construe! ion of blast furnaces made a

change in this respect. The Conncllsville
coke was harder than the Steubenville ami
better calculated to hold up the weight of
ore and limestone piled on top of it in the
furnaces. While the furnaces were small

and the charges comparatively light, this

made little difference, as the Steubenville
coke was equal to the demands upon it. Bui
as furnaces became enormously larger and
the weight of the charges corresjiondingly
greater, the hardness of the coke became
an important factor in which the Steuben
ville coke, being made from softer coal,

could not compete. Fortunately most of
the coal immediately about the city was
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mined before this condition of affairs arose.

The busy days of the Steubenville mines
may be roughly given from 1865 to 1880,

although the aggregate output of the
county was very small, compared with that

of later years. The following from the

state mine inspector's report for 187(5 will

give a fair idea of the conditions prevailing
here during that period

:

" 1 have in former report* alluded to the superior Mu-
tilation prevailing in tliis region, surpassing any other
district in tlic state. 1 have never received a single
complaint of bad air, hut all the miner* have united in

hearing willing testimony to the italubriuus condition of
the mux's. Kntries and rooms alike arc well and thor-

oughly aired, and the moving column* of Hind strong
and vigorous. There are no strikes in thin region; there
is no fault finding with the homes. The Market Street
mine, one of the oldest of the series of shaft openings,
has been worked continuously since the pit was sunk.
The Stony Hollow pit is mink at the advance working*
on the north Hide of the old pit and the two shafts form
one colliery, the entries being ten feet wide, the rooms
eighteen feet wide, tl»e pillars twenty four feet thick

by seventy live feet long. If gas appears in the heads
of the rooms before the seventy-five foot pillar is won,
an air crossing is cut, so that there is not always
regularity as to the length of the pillars. There are five

stations in the mine, three on the north side and two
on the south side. In these stations, owing to the
thinness of the seam, the hauling mules ciinuot outer

the rooms, and the ears, which hold twelve bushels each,
are pushed out to the hauling roads by '"putters." three
putters lieing usually employed in a station of fourteen
or fifteen rooms. The stations where the mules haul are
located as near the center room as practicable, being
generally from three to four pillars behind the working
faces. TheBe centers are moved forward as the work-
ings advance. By this arrangement the putting roads
are made shorter, and have equal men on each side of
the mule road. Sonic years ago a panel or si|uare of
work was laid on the long wall system, all the coal being
rut away as the workings advanced forward, after the
usual practice in iong wall mining, but the result was
deemed unsatisfactory, and the practice was abandoned.
There is an abundant ventilation prevailing in every
division of the mine, the amount of air in circulation

reaching 00,000 cubic feet per minute. The air is split

at the bottom of the shaft, one split going north and the

other south. The south split is again split into two
parts, a short distance from the bottom of the shaft,

one-half going cast. Six hundred feet, ahead the eastern

split is again divided, the northern division ventilating

the last arm on the north side of the pit; thence it

passes to the Stony Hollow pit, traversing a series of
rooms there, and returns to the upcast. The south part

of the east split travels south, ventilating a series of
rooms, then uniting with the part it split from, airs

the workings on the southwest, then moves north to

the pillar workings, passing . which it returns to the

upcast at the old pit furnace.''

The report for 1877 adds

:

"The plan of laying out the workings, which pro-

Tails at all flip Steubenville mines, is modeled nfter the

practice followed in the collieries in the north nf Eng
land. The pillars left in the Knglish mines arc larger
and stronger than those in Steubenville, because the pits
are so much deeper in the old country, some of them
reaching 800 to It.riOO feet of perpendicular depth. In
Steubenville the rooms are eighteen feet wide, the wnjls
and cross cuts twelve feet wide, the pillars twenty-four
feet in thickness and seventy two feet in length. The
walls and rooms cross each other like latitude and
longitnde lines, the walls being driven on the butts and
the rooms on the lace of the Coal. The main entries are
ten feet wide. The miners get seventy five cents per
yard, besides the tonnage price for driving entry, but
nothing is allowed for wall driving. The mine cars
hold twelve and one-half to fifteen bushels, and are
pushed out from the room faces to the stations on the
hauling roads by putters or pushers. In Borland's
shaft. Shetland ponies are used instead of putters.
These I ionics are only three feet two inches to threo
feel -i* inches high. This mine has a percentage of
these hardy and useful animals underground. In the
galleries and hauling roads a loot or more of the fire-

clay Hour is taken tip to make height for the hauling
mule*. These roads are made five feet two inches high
above the rail, and the track is laid with T iron. The
coal hewers dig and load the coal, the depnties laying
the track and setting props in the rooms. Kvcry digger
works by candle light, instead of the ordinary miner's
lamp The eatidlt* are made very small, there being
twenty to the pound; they are fastened to the pillar
side with a piece of soft clay. Three to three nud a
half of these caudles are consumed per day by each
miner. The candles give less light than the miners'
lamp, but they make no smoke, and miners who are in

the habit of using them prefer them to the lamp. The
deputies ami drivers use lamp*. In mining oal powder
is used to knock it down, each digger firing threo shots
per day on an average, two in .the top and one in the
bottom coal. The workmen fire at all hours of the day;
but a few ounces of powder suffices for a shot, and not
more than three pounds of powder per mini per week
is needed for blasting purpose*. •No blading is done in

the solid coal; a shot is undercut to the depth of four
feet, if the miner is a skillful workman. The mine
mules are kept day and night under ground; the stable*
are hewn out of the solid coal pillars at the bottom of
the pit, and are dry. well aired and comfortable. The
mules are fed at four o'clock in the morning by the
fire viewers. Work commencing at six o'clock, an hour
is allowed for dinner, and work ceases at five in tho
evening. The miners are paid every two weeks in cash,

and there are no store orders forced on them, as is

lone in many other districts of the state. The miners
live in town, and a large number of them own the
h»us<s and lou in which they live, uad have, in many
cases, other property. Fully one half of them take
daily newspapers, though it must be confessed that

here, as well a-< everywhere els,- in the Union, not a few
spend their hard earnings in tho saloons and soul-

debasing pleasures."

Dining the period under consideration
the Xo. 8 or Pittsburgh vein, as well as
others, continued to be worked industri-

ously, adding considerably to the output.
Beginning with the old (iroff or Diamond
mine at the mouth of Yellow Creek, where
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wore found the wonderful fossil fishes al-

ready described, there was a string of drift

mines all ulong the river front. The Groff
was originally worked in No. (>, which it

exposed on the hillside about seventy-five

feet above the C. & P. Railroad tracks, and
as it was worked out it ascended towards a

plateau over the mine, back of which was a
higher hill containing a vein of No. 7 fifty-

two feet above No. (i and four to five feet

thick. The firm excavated to the top of the

plateau and built an incline through the

opening to No. 7, taking the coal therefrom
down through the old workings to the rail-

road, which they supplied for a number of

years.

R. O. Wallace opened a drift in the Rog-
ers vein thirty inches thick, which he used
in brickraaking and other local industries.

Wallace, Banfield & Co. penetrated the

Strip vein at Irondale, six feet thick, for

their tin mill, now defunct. Local banks
stretch up Yellow Creek for twenty five

No. G, continued to he a favorite for do-
mestic purposes in Steubenville, and vari-

ous mines about the city turned out an ag-
gregate of 8,000 to 10.000 tons a year, in-

cluding the George's Run, Tweed, Hill,

Miller, Bates and other mines. The Gil-

christ mine above Brilliant has long done a
good river business, as has also the Kelley
mine, near Portland (now Rayland). The
Walnut Hill Mines, three miles below Ray-
land, have a drift into No. 8, 185 feet above
the railroad, where the vein is five and one-
half feet thick and a roof vein of two feet

more. At this point the Steubenville vein,

at a depth of 100 feet, is only a foot in

thickness. l/ocal banks are numerous all

over the county, which supply the needs of
the neighborhood in which they are located,

but before proceeding to what has become
the principal coal fields of the county it

will lie of interest to give an analysis by
Prof. Wormley of coal taken from the older
banks:

Hprcifle Volatile Fixed Sulphur
No. of Wiu and Locution. (iravit v. M.iiittire. Anil. Mnt tor. < 'urhon. Sulphur. in Coke.

So. :i. Stonne'H Station (Toronto), bottom .
1.2*3' 2.o<> ."» . 7 34.20 3*.<I3 3.7

1

.> •>.»

No. 3. Slouno's Station (Toronto), miilille . 1.3112 1.33 3. xr, .10.4:. 30.13 1.97 114
No. 3. Sloiine's Stiition (Toronto). to|». . 1.32 s 1.23 ?t. i" 32.23 37.03 1.U3 .40

No. 4. J.32o 1.20 12.20 31 lid 33.00 2.3(5 1.20

No. 4. 1.333 .!».. I3.0H 30.70 33,10 203 1.IH

No. r>. 1.2S>4 1 40 *.|o 32 'io 37.SM) 2.30 i.2rt

No. fi. 1.1 Ml 7.oo 3l.iio iio.40 2.tiO 1.37

No. 0. I.!*) 4«;o 31 30 02 20 2.0« ,SHi

No. 6. 1,1'. 4. so 32.2'. HO (10 2,0* 1.12

No. «. 1.3" 3<>n 32.3d li2.3o 1 .23 .09

No. 6. . 1.2*3 1 .mi 3.70 33.iio 3t).7o 2 21> 1.13

No. »>. 8Unbent tile Shaft .
1.3( is l.4o l.*ii .ti'.tin i!3 !Mi .»* .3*

No. fl. I,u»nr Heneh, I .arrange l.'JM 1*1 3.70 30.21 33.1m 1.2(1

No. e. 1 •>» 1.77 1 .03 3*. 73 37.21 f.4

No. 7. 1.323 1-7" I1.7H 32.3o 3«».30 3. II.) 2.0*

No. 7. IT. Fleming, Island Cr«* . l,3f.3 1.3.1 7.30 31.!«. 30. 10 3.33 3.40

No. 7. . 1.323 .HO 7.20 31.10 no so r..4!> 2.no

No. ft. ,
1.301 1.30 4.00 37.10 "7.40 2.'.«» 1.10

No. ft. .
1.303 l.l'i 1 30 33.00 3S.30 2.44 i.3»;

No. S. Wintr rsville l,«i»rr Itenrli . 1.373 1 .!•« S 10 32.30 37 2o 4 42 i,*«

No. 8. Wintersville I'|i|ht Hened . .
. . 1.33* llin li. 10 34.0" 37,40 3,33 1,73

No. ft. Rii'hmoml l/ouer [tench l.loil 1.3.1 1 1.7.1 30.3O 33.70 3.93 2.0s

No. 8. 1.342 l.ilo li.10 33. So 3*. 30 4,015 2 Oli

Xo. 7. 1.2*2 2.S3 7.*o 30.33 .-<>,oo 1,31 2fi7

miles or more. Between Yellow Creek and
Alikanna most of the mines wen* and are

operated by connections with the various

brick and fireclay works to be noticed here-

after. The Xo.'s eoal being harder than

Wo have already referred to the effect of

the Lake Krie, Alliance & Southern Rail-

road in developing coal lands around its

terminus at Nebo or Rergholz. in Spring-
field Township, where the Yellow Creek
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and Co-operative Conl Companies ae<|uired ner of the township, is the principal mining
extensive holdings, and the subsequent ex- point. In fact, it is one of the best known
tension to Dillonvale with opening of mines mining centers in eastern Ohio. This mine
along the way, especially at Amsterdam, is reported to have been opened in 1893
which quickly developed from an obscure and to have a daily capacity of 1,000 tons,

little hamlet into quite a mining center. But The usual succession above the draw slate

the principal factor in development in the is eighteen inches of conl, three feet of fire

lower part of the county was the Wheeling clay or rummel and above this fire clay.

& ]>ake Erie Road, which reached that see- The roof coal is not mined. The chemical
tion in 1888, and. used as a coal road, the composition and calorific value of this coal

next year doubled the output of the county, is given as follows:

and has since pushed it forward by leaps

and bounds until it reached in ]907 the
,.. ,

ctimatk. town ate.

j! e i i\' i uir i i
( Jirbon (!9.;>f> Moisture 3.10

enormous figure of 4,0o4,845 tons, nearly
| Iv< | roRlII1 r,.2i v..i»tii« .m.m-. 37.92

one-eighth of all the coal mined in the state, Oxvjjin 10.-7 fupiI <nri«> 49.46

and only exceeded by the counties of ^[
ro

hfr

n A"h 952

Athens and Belmont, which same relative \lu . . . . . . . . . . \> r,» 100.00'

position it maintained in 1908, although

there was a falling off in production. The HKMHI

Wheeling & Lake Erie Coal Companv w ... ,. ,, T „. , . . . . . .,

leased oVer 6.000 acres of coal lands along
,.

S ' t>,d Township, bemg twice the size

Short Creek Vallev in Mt. Pleasant, Smith
" f ^ I' easant conta.ns a larger area ot

field and Warren* Townships, which thev ^ * Ttl, IT '? •
^ ' ° Tl

^
proceeded to develop bv two entries at

^e. '
the h. Is. A fine exposure of Ames

1 D 4. n-ii '1 t r 1
milestone is found m the bed of Short

Long Run, one at Dillon and one at Laurel- ., , . ,„, . .. ,. ,,
ti.,. 1 1, „,.,:„„ k™„ ™..i.. 1 ,.„* ti.„ Creek at Adena. The formation is highlv

ton, the latter having been worked out. the ..... , .. , „ . , ,
*

• • v u * « * « f t ? .. tossililerous and hes about l/.> feet below
vein is No. 8, trom five to five ieot lour v ., .,, , , .. .. .

1 .11 1
•

1 1 1 1 1 No. h. Short ( reek crosses the southwest
inches thick, working 111 good blocks and .. ., . . . "

,

1 „ * r 1' ..1 '7.. 'ti i„i m„. ., <'orner ol the township, exposing the coal
almost free Irom sulphur. I he late Marcus . . . , ,

1 ' .. *
.

A. TIanna was interested in the develop- I

1 '0"* »»" '»»'ks, and several other streams

meat of this territorv. The McFnddon mine
iwy

*\
(
'ut ***** tmK,he!

*
tmou*h

.

t,,e
.

(oal '

of the Wavne Coal Companv, west of
, "nk,, 'K

J?!™"™
munerous and mining

Cnionport on the P.. C, C. & St. L. Rail-
'.""'Parat.vcly. «isy. Most important ot

wav belongs to this period. This mine is
stm

!

,n* >» 1 m^ ^"k wh.ch crosses

at 'present in financial difficulties, which it
,h " °™hi|. from he northwest to the

' * 1 11 1 , 1, 1 » southeast corner. I he va evs of these
is expected will soon he straightened out ,, , ,

•

and operations resumed. Notwithstanding ^'"T "7 ""^T' T ''""n"
the continuous heavv shipments from this !

tV
u
° n' l.

«'»!'»ve<l ,s relatively small,

section, the state geological report for 1 90S
Hollow mine ot the Luted States

(Bulletin No. 9) savs That thus far onlv a
(onl ( om

'
,im

> ,,as W™ "' ^'ration about

good start has heel, made in mining this ™,>™?- wlU ' tt
<
«">• ««P««ty

1.1 . -ii 1 1 ot _',.)(M) tons. Ana vsis of coa here showed
seam, and the county will be a large pro

tl, . V 11 ... ,,»••

ducer for many years. Among other things
l

'
0 0 1

the report says the Pittsburgh coal under c.tim-atk. pkoximatk.
lies the whole of this township ( Mt. Pleas <nri«m 7 2.1:1 M<.i«iure ».»•;

nnt), except the northern part, where it
»|><Wr.i .'..37 v«i„tiu. rrmitrr :u.:,i

1 ill <,i . /, 1 1 t Oxygnn 12.Or lixvil ciirbon ,\<>*
has been eroded by Short 1 reek and Long Nitrogen i.:« mu r,.r,

Run. Along the latter stream in section Sulphur l.ir,

29 the conl disappears beneath the bed of A"b
•

,y *r' }mm
the creek. Dillonvale, in the northeast cor- 100.00
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Another mine the same company has a

capacity of 1,000 tons per tlay ami employs
350 men. It has four entries, but the eoa!

is all handled at one tipple. Two electric

motors are used to haul the coal; in fact,

the patient mule has been replaeed by elec-

tric power in most of the Jefferson County
mines. A sample here showed a little less

earhon and a little more ash than the other

mine. Prof. Brown, of the Geological Sur-

vey, remarks : "This mine has been opened
lift y seven or fifty eight years, and al-

though in a very had place and very poorly

cared for, the roof, as far as examined,
showed no signs of giving way. Many of

the rooms are twenty-five to thirty feet

span, and the posts have rotted away, yet

the roof remains intact. What is known
as the Meigs Creek coal appears in section

28. but not of workable thickness. A vein

of Pomeroy or Bedstone coal twelve inches

thick is found in the southwestern quarter

of section 1"), twenty-nine feet above the

bottom of Xo. 8. This territory promises

to be an important mining district for at

least fifty years or more.
Warren Township is crossed by Short

Creek, which has cut a deep though rather

narrow valley. While the coal dips towards
the river, yet it is high in the hills on the

river front, owing to the depth of the val-

ley. The mine of the Ohio & Pennsylvania
Coal Company at Yorkville has a capacity

of 700 tons- run of mine and 400 tons of

screened coal per day. The moisture in a

sample from this mine indicated 3.13: vola-

tile matter. 37.88; fixed carbon, 50.79; ash,

8.22. Another section gave : moisture, 4.57

;

volatile matter. .'52.40; fixed carbon, 54.0:!;

ash, 9. At Yorkville the seam is 102 feet

above the C. & P tracks; at Tiltonville, a

mile farther north, 212', •> feet; at Way land,

less than two miles above, 272 feet, and in

the southeast quarter of section 8. 297 feel.

Near Rayland the Ames limestone is less

than a foot thick and 197 feet below No. 8

coal. Farther north it thickens and the

interval between it and the coal increases,

being 213 feet in Section 8.

Tn Wells Township the seam has suffered

more from erosion than in any of the others
aliove mentioned. The valleys are numer-
ous and deep, and the coal lies near the

tops of the hills. The miue of Dewland &
Cox at Brilliant supplies that town and the

surrounding county with fuel. It shows
51.55 carliou and 10.40 ash. The coal rises

rapidly to the north, being 343 feet above
the track at Brilliant. Here the Ames lime-

stone is five feet thick, and 238 feet Mow
the coal.

Xo. 8 coal in Wayne Township is found
in the ridges south of the P.. C, C. A: St. 1*

Railway and its principal opening is the

MeFaddeii mine of the Wayne Coal Com-
pany. The railroad company has taken

most of the output. It varies in thickness

from four feet two inches to four feet ten

inches, and its analysis, from a damp sam-
ple, gave moisture! 5.05; volatile matter,
35.sk

; fixed carbon, 51.12; ash, 7.95.

As already stated there is considerable
Xo. 8 coal in Steuhcnville Township, sup-

plying the local market, and small areas

are found in Island Creek, Cross Creek,

Salem. Springlield. Boss and Knox Town
ships.

Owing no doubt largely to their careful

management, Jefferson County mines have
been to a remarkable extent free from those

terrible disasters which at times have
thrown scores of families into mourning.
The worst occurred at the Boiling Mill

mine July 5, 1805. not long after it was
opened, when an explosion of gas killed six

out of the nine miners who went down the

shaft that morning. Individual accidents

have been very rare in the Steuhenville

mines, but of late years more frequent in

the southern section of the county, partly

from falling roofs and partly from electro-

cution by the machinery installed to facili-

tate operations. The original miners in this

section were originally English ami Scotch,

generally, who were intelligent and careful,

while of late years the immigration from
Southern Europe has brought a class of in-

experienced persons, ignorant of local con-

ditions and language, consequently less

capable of caring for themselves. In 1907,
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out of twenty-seven fatal accidents in this

county, twenty of the victims were foreign-

ers, fifteen of the accidents being due to

falling roofs. The serious but not fatal

accidents of that year are reported at sev-

enty-one, minor at nineteen, making a

grand total of 117 out of the 815 reported

in the state. The total number of mine em-

ployes for that year was 5,787.

Machine mining began in this county in

1897. when 28,067 tons were mined by

machines out of a total of 774,790. The pro-

portion rapidly increased until 1907, when
out of a total of 4,648,263 tons mined,

4,054,845 were taken out by machinery. The
blast and pick will not be entirely super-

seded, but it is evident that they must re-

main far in the rear.

The following table, showing the number
of tons of coal mined during the last thirty-

live years, indicates the tremendous strides

made by this industry. There has been, on

the whole, a steady advance, though with

some fluctuations, the first jump following

the opening of the mines in the south end,

when production was doubled, and the next

following the introduction of mining ma-
chines, of which there were 221 in the

countv in 1907:
Tulnl No. Tons Cut by
Tons MhiP'l-

1871 . . 82,309
187." 108,226

1876 166,582

1877 . 1 J5.646

•

1S7S. .

IH79.

1880.

1581.

12*i,00li

99,492
3S9.079
198.228

309,214

1883 202.022

1884 310.777

INS.". 271,32V

1880 275,606

1887 293,87")

1858 243,17*

1889 500,000*

1890 571,909

1891 066,187

1892 $79,300

1893 070.867

1894 997,588

1895 861,185

1896.. 670,867

1897... 744.790

1898 829,520

1899 933.979

•Estimated.

28,967
106,703
211,370

1900

971,209

293,347
1901 1,303,308 433,880
1902 1,789,452 971,062
1903 2,320,419 1,243,880
1904 2,495,375 1,914,322
191)5 3,337,799 2,704,083
1906 2,998,470 2,425,314
1907 4,648,263 4,054,845
1908 3,565,008

The leading coal mines of the county, as

given in the state mine inspector's report,

are as follows:

American Sewer Pipe Company, Blyth
Coal Company, Bergholz Coal & Electric

Light Company, Dexter Coal Company,
Eastern Ohio Coal Company, East Ohio
Sewer Pipe Company, (ilens Run Coal
Company, Jefferson Coal Company, Kaul-
Oberkireh Company, Labelle Iron Works,
La Orange Coal Company, Magyar Coal
Company, Morris-Poston Coal Company,
Ohio & Pennsylvania Coal Company, Koby
Coal Company, Russell Coal & Mining
Company, Steubenville Coal & Mining
Company, "\V. E. Smith, James Speaks,
Shannon Coal Company, Toronto Fire
Clay Company, United States Coal Com-
pany, Wayne Coal Company, Witch Hazel
Coal Company, M. L. Williams Coal &
Coke Company, Wolf Run Coal Company,
W. & L. E. Coal & Mining Company, ami
Youghiogheny & Ohio Coal Company.
From the same report we glean the fol-

lowing particulars regarding individual

mines

:

Jefferson Coal Company's mines. Owned
and operated by the Jefferson Coal Com-
pany. John Simpson, Piney Fork, general
manager. Mines Nos. 1 and 2 located at

Piney Fork, on L. E. A. & W. R. R. Mines
Nos. 3 and 4 are located about three miles
south of Nos. 1 and 2, on same railroad.

These mines are drift openings. William
Simpson superintendent of Nos. 1 and 2.

William Wilson superintendent of Nos. 3
and 4. Fan ventilation. No. 1 employs 114
miners and 35 day men. Richard Wilson
mine boss. No. 2 employs 100 miners and
33 day men. Albert Thorpe mine boss.

No. 3 employs 109 miners and 31 day men.
Fred Aspinwall mine boss. No. 4, new mine
opened opposite No. 3. Coal dumped over
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the same tipple. Employs (\ miners and "i

clay hands.
Gouehor—Situated about two miles west

of Brilliant ; owned and operated l»y the

Dexter Coal Company, Pittsburgh. M. I),

(iihson, superintendent; J. G. Huddy, mine
boss.

I'nited States Mines. — Bradley — Situ-

ated in Crow Hollow. Owned and ojwrated
hv the I'nited States Coal Company, of

Cleveland. H. K. Willard, Cleveland. Ohio,

general manager; William Wagner, super-

intendent. All the I'nited States mines at

this point, nine in number, are drift open-

ings. Transportation is provided hv the

W. ii L. E. and L. E. A. <c W. Railways.

Four hundred and forty eight miners and
1<>."» day men are employed. Five hundred
eleetrie volts are earried in all these mines.

Edgar. No. 1. situated near Glen's Run.
on the W. & L. E. R. R., owned and <>|>cr-

atecl by (Men's Run Coal Company. Clyde
Manrer, superintendent, and Rol>ert Nich-

olson, Dillonvale. mine boss. Drift open-

ing. Employs !)S miners and 24 day men.
Rush Run, No. 1, owned and operated by

same company. Howard llrick. superin

tendent ; John Coss. mine boss. Drift open
ing. Employs •>."> miners. J*> day men. Fur-
nace ventilation. No. 2. three miles north

of No. 1. William H. Werker. sujierinten

dent; Evan Evans, mine boss. Employs 7S

miners and '.12 day men. No. •'!. .lames

Scarfpin, boss. Employs .V.) miners; 1'J day
men.

I'nited States Mines.— Plum Rim Lo-

cated at Rhodesdale. (Iwued and operated
by the same company as the I'nited States

mines at Bradley, same general manager.
William Wagner, superintendent; was suc-

ceeded during the year by Joseph (Jray.

Mr. Wagner taking charge of Bradley
mines. Drift openings; :>41 miners and 1JI

day men employed. Four mines.

Connor, No. 1—Situated at Connorville.

cm the W. & L. E. R. R. Owned and oper-

ated by the W. & L. E. Coal & Mining Com
puny. Fred Hornickcl, Dillonvale. Ohio,

general superintendent. Drift openiiur.

Employs (JO miners and 2ti day men. J. II.

T:RS0\ ( ol'NTY

Campbell, superintendent, succeeded dur-

ing the year by Fred Aspinwall. James
Gray, mine boss. Connor No. 2, located

opposite Connor No. 1. Owned and oper-

ated by the same company, with same man-
agement. Employs Hi; miners and lib day-

men.
La Belle, at Steubenville— P. J. Harri-

gan, superintendent; William Lafferty,

boss. Employs !>8 miners, "Jj day men.
High Shaft, Steubenville — W i 1 1 i a m

Smurthwaite, superintendent; Matthew
( 'assner, boss. Employs 28 miners, 22 day
men.
Carman No. 1— At Carman, on P.. C.

C. & St. L. R. R. Owned and operated by
the Wayne Coal Company, Pittsburgh, Pa.

D. J. Wise, superintendent ;
Andy Arrott,

mine boss. Drift opening: bS miners and
20 day men employed. Mine has resumed
operations after several months' idleness,

due to mine being so wet. Fan ventilation.

Carman No. 2 suspended.
Jean- At Salt Run. on C. & P. R. R.

Owned and operated by the Blythe Coal
Company. Pittsburgh, Pa. George Van-
dyke, Brilliant, Ohio, superintendent and
mine boss. Drift opening; 17 miners and
f> day men employed. Furnace ventilation.

Pick mine.
Russell— At Tiltonsville. Owned and

operated by the Russell Coal & Mining
Company. Cleveland, Ohio. George Mc-

Kitrick. superintendent: Seth Williams,

mine boss. Drift opening. Employs (14

miners and Pi day men. Furnace ventila-

tion.

Kelly, owned and operated by the I^ewis

Coal Company. Wheeling, near Warrenton.
on the C. & P. R. R. Thomas Jones, super
inlcndctit : William Nixon. Im>ss. Drift

opening. Employs 4S miners, P» day men.
Florence Located at Florencedale, on

L. E. A. & W. R. R. Owned and operated
by the Witch Hazel Coal Company.
Youngstown. D. J. Jacobs, superintendent;

Samuel Madison, mine boss. Drift open-

ing. Employs 'M miners and J!' day men.
Wabash Located at Parlette. on Wa-

bash Railroad. Owned and operated by the
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W'abash Coal Company, Cleveland, Ohio.

William Bates, superintendent; Thomas
Rankin, mine boss. Slope opening; 54
miners and 21 day men.

Dorothy, near Kaylaud, on W. & L. E.

Owned and operated by the M. L. Williams
Coal & Coke Company, Pittsburgh. George
M. Anderson, superintendent; .Joseph Rob-
inson, boss. Drift opening. Employs 96
miners, Hi day men. Pick mine.

Lagrange, at Brilliant, owned and oper-

ated by the Lagrange Coal Company.
James Morgan, superintendent and mine
boss. Shaft opening to No. 6 seam ; reached
at a depth of 265 feet and about 3»/» feet

thick; 8 miners and 7 day men; fan veu-
tilation.

Portland, near Couuorsville, on W. &
L. E. Railway. Owned and operated by
the Rayland Coal Company. George W.
Kline, superintendent; John Barth, 1k)ss.

Drift opening; 29 miners and 15 day hands.
Changed from pick to machine mining.
Walnut Hill, Nos. 1 and 2, near York-

ville, on C. & P. R. R. Owned and oper-
ated by O. & P. Coal Company, Cleveland.
William Neath, superintendent; Abel Ar-
mitage, mine boss. Drift openings.. Em-
ploys 94 miners and 50 day bauds.

Zerbe—Located at Amsterdam, on the L.

E. A. & W. R. R. Operated by the Ohio &
Pennsylvania Coal Company, Cleveland,
Ohio. George Wagoner, superintendent;
John Wolf, mine boss. Shaft opening, 185
feet deep, jwiietrating the No. 5 seam of
coal. 5 feet thick. About 150 miners and
50 day men employed. The coal is all cut

by electric chain machines and hauled to

the shaft bottom by motors, mules being
used to gather it to the motor passways.
Mine was formerly ventilated by a six foot

elect rie fan and a ten-foot steam fan, but
these have been replaced by a twenty-foot
Brazil fan. the ten-foot fan being kepi in

reserve. A new lirst motion engine was
installed, which will be equipped with
larger drums and a larger rope, capable of
hoisting more coal, and contributing to the
safety of the men while riding on the cages.

Deal—Two miles west of Bergholz, on

ITIVE CITIZENS 863

the L. E. A. & W. R. R. Operated by the

E. Deal Coal Company, Bergholz. Idle.

X. L., at Bergholz, operated by the Berg
holz Coal & Electric Light Company. J. S.

McKeever, superintendent ; John Peterson,
mine boss. Slope opening to No. 0 seam
three feet thick; mule and rope haulage;
machine mining. Employs 05 miners, 15

day men.
Elizabeth, at Wolf Run, on L. E. A. & W.

Railroad. Operated by Wolf Run Coal
Company, Cleveland. Valentine Coe, super-
intendent; James Campbell, boss. Shaft
opening, penetrating No. 5 seam at a depth
of 293 feet; coal 4 feet 8 inches thick; ven-

tilated by a 14-foot Capell fan; motor haul-

age and machine mining; 95 miners and
45 day men. This is a model mine, equipped
with the most modern machinery; has an
electric hoist, steel tipple and telephone
service in the mine, the equipment equal to

any in the state.

West Pittsburgh—Two miles east of

Bergholz, on the L>. E. A. & W. Railroad.

Operated by the Eastern Ohio Coal Com-
pany, Cleveland. Matthew Speicher, super-

'

intendent ; Evan Griffith, mine boss. Slope
opening to No. 5 seam of coal, SV-j feet

thick; fan ventilation, machine mining,

motor and mule haulage, double entry sys-

tem and about 160 miners and 42 day men
employed.
Amsterdam, at Amsterdam, on the L. E.

A. & W. R. R. Operated by the Youghio
gheny & Ohio Coal Company, Cleveland.

D. J. Williams, suj>eriutendeut ; Edward
Lee, mine boss. Shaft, 276 feet deep, pene-

trating No. 5 seam, 4 feet thick. Machine
mining, mule and motor haulage, fan ven-

tilation ; 190 miners and 50 day men.
Diamond—Two miles east of Hammonds

ville, on the C. & P. R. R. Operated by the

Diamond Coal & Clay Company, Wellsville.

R. J. Borden, superintendent and mine
boss. Slope opening 150 feet long to No. :»

seam, ilt-j. feet thick. Machine mining, mule
and rope hauluge, fan ventilation, ami
about 27 miners and 9 day men.

Strip Vein, No. 4. at Irondale, operated
by the East Ohio Sewer Pipe Company.
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W. E. Williams, superintendent and boss.

Drift opening. No. 4 vein 28 inches thick.

Machine mining, mule haulage, fan ven-
tilation. Employs 10 miners and 5 day
men. Worked on the long wall system with
a Morgan-Gardner machine. Creek Vein.
Xo. a, Edward Williams, boss; drift; No. a

coal 'VU feet; mule haulage, natural venti-

lation ; 4 miners aud 1 day man.
Dillon No. 4—Located at Herriek, on the

W. & L. E. R. R. Operated by the W. &
L. E. Coal Mining Company. Fred Hor-
nickel, superintendent; S. S. Little, mine
boss. Drift, No. 8 seam, 5 feet thick; ma-
chine mining, mule and motor haulage, fan
ventilation, and about 00 miners and .'50

day men employed.
Long Run, at Long Run, on W. & L K.

Railroad. Operated by the W. & L E. Coal
Mining Company. Fred llornickel, super-
intendent, with several different mine
bosses during the year. Worked under same
conditions as the two previous mines.
Xincty-six miners and 48 day men em-
ployed.

Dillon No. 2—Located at Dillonvale. on
the W. & L. E. R. R. Operated by the W.
& L. E. Coal Mining Company. Fred llor-

nickel, superintendent ; Thobnrn Waite,
mine boss. Drift mine. No. 8 seam. 5 feet

Ihick. Employs 100 miners and o\) day
men. Machine mining, fan ventilation,

motor and mule haulage. This is one of the
oldest mines along the W. & L. E. and has
several hundred acres of old works gen.

crating carbonic acid gas. but fortunately
all on the return airway. Having a splen-

did top and practically no water with which
to contend, it is an easy matter to keep the

mine in good condition.

Dunglen, Xos. 1 and a, at Dunglen. cm the
W. & L. E. R. R. Operated by the Morris-
Poston Coal Company, Cleveland. Frank
Rogers, superintendent and mine boss.

Drift openings to No. 8 seam "> feet thick;

machine mining, fan ventilation, motor
haulage and about KM- miners and a4 day
men employed in the two mines, which are
connected. Dunglen Xo. 2, coal hauled to

same tipple as No. 1. Employs 70 miners

and 10 day men.
Roby Xo. 2, drifts Nos. a, 4 und 5—lo-

cated at Ramsey, transportation W. & L. K.

Railroad. Operated by the Roby Coal Com-
pany, Cleveland. William Moke, Adena,
superintendent ; Ct e o r g e ( 'hamberlain.

assistant superintendent; William Wal-

dron and Louis Murdock iu charge of

drifts. Coal. No. 8 seam, 5 feet thick; fan

ventilation, machine mining, mule and
motor haulage. The three mines employ
about 280 miners und 65 day men. Coal all

goes over one tipple, the equipment Iveing

extensive and first class throughout.

The smaller coal mines, of which report

is made and not previously noted, are the

following, all pick mines and drift opening:
Roger, at Calumet ; W. B. Rohb, superin-

tendent ; furnace ventilation; Roger seam.

Employs 11 men. Ohio Valley, Toronto:
Oliver Connor, superintendent; natural

ventilation; Roger seam; 11 men. Forest

City. Toronto: W. H. Franey, superintend

cut; fan ventilation; Roger seam; 20 men.
(J rent Western, Toronto; R. M. Franey,
superintendent ; furnace ventilation; Roger
seam; ."> men. Calumet at Ellioltsville

:

Prank Hartford, superintendent ; Roger
seam; 11 men. These mines are all owned
by the American Sewer Pipe Company.
Ohio River Sewer Pipe, at Empire: II. E.

Stratton, superintendent; natural ventila-

tion; Roger scam: P! men. Stratton Eire

Clay, Empire; II. S. Stratton, superintend
cut; furnace ventilation; Roger seam; 14

men. ,1. II. Smith; natural ventilation;

Roger; 4 men. Kaul-Ohcrkirch, Toronto:
(!eorge Myers, superintendent: natural
ventilation; Roger; S men. Ikis. at Adena:
wagon transportation; natural ventilation;

Xo. 8 seam. ."> feet thick: mule haulage:
double entry system. Casner. Adena: nat-

ural ventilation; Xo. 8, feet; mule haul-

age; double entry. Hamilton. Adena; nat-
ural ventilation; No. S

; ox haulage:
miners and 1 day man.
Through the courtesy of the State Min

irg Department, we are abb- to give the
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total output of the state by counties for

1908. While the aggregate was somewhat
smaller than in 1907, yet Jefferson County
maintains her relative position. Following
are the figures

:

TOTAL TONNAGE KUR THE \RAB 1808.

Counties. Tima Mined.

Athena 4,170,995
rVlmont 5,591,719
Carroll 439,080
Columbiaim 516,780
Cosnoet.m 366,805
Gallia 13,692
QueriMr-v 2,928,448
Harritton 447.805
Hocking 1,282,617
Holmea 18,768
Jackson 8.10,997

Jefferson 3,565,008
Lawrenco 180,265
Mahoning 86,320
Medina IS, 103

Meigs 482,630
Morgan 217.030
Muskingum 436,947
Noblo 208,192
Perry 2,1 "8.050

PorUKe 88,543
Scioto 8,460
Stark 524,052
Summit 103,299
Trumbull 7,534
Tusenrawan 1.331,248
Vinton 1*3,542
Washington 1,304
Wayne 125.525

Total 20,287,800

FIRE CLAYS.

While the fire clays of Jefferson County
do not figure in the statistics quite as heav-

ily as eoal, yet as a factor in building up
local industries they are a close second.

The county produces one-eighth of all the

coal mined in the state and over one-fifth

of all the fire clay. In 1906 the county's
output was 477.862 tons, out of an aggre-
gate of 2,12fi,l79 in the state. There was
a slight falling off in 1907, being 450,111
tons out of 2,177,174. The number of men
employed was 221 out of 1,443 in the state,

over one-seventh of the whole. The coun-
ties next after Jefferson in clay production
are: Tuscarawas, 327.942 tons; Summit,
2X5,277; Stark, 248,783. It is of interest to

tude that the entire production in the state

for 1884 was 168,208, of which Jefferson

County contributed 21,300, or a little over
one-eighth, so that the local increase has
been relative as well as absolute. Fire clay

is found all over the county in connection

with the coal veins, but the greatest devel-

opment has been along the Ohio River, be-

ginning about five miles above Steubenville

and extending to the northern limits of the

county, both sides of the river having al-

most a continuous line of mines and works
turning out fire brick, tiling, sewer pipe

and all forms of terra cotta work, as well

as shipping the clay in its raw state. To-
ronto is the center of this industry, and it

is said that at one time at least there was
a greater number of steam whistles within

hearing of a single point than at any other
section of the country.

An impetus was given to this industry

about twenty-five years ago by the discov-

ery that this clay was particularly adapted
to the manufacture of vitrified street pav-

ing brick, which has been largely used in

Steubenville and elsewhere. The first brick

street pavement was laid in Steubenville in

1884, and is now being relaid, not because
the bricks are worn out, but because the

street has been torn up so frequently for

different purposes that it has become too

rough for travel, where portions of the

pavement have been left undisturbed they

appear as though they were good for an-

other quarter of a century. Steubenville

now has upwards of twenty miles of paved
streets, all of fire bricks, which have demo
stinted their, superiority for this purpose.

Most of the bricks used are XI/-.X4X2 1 ..

inches, thoroughly vitrified, and laid on a

sand and gravel lx*d; boards, which are

used as a foundation in some cities, not

l>eing necessary here. The crown is about
six inches for a forty-foot road, the bricks

being placed on edge and after rolling

given a temporary covering of sand, and in

some cities a coating of tar. The cheap-

ness of this kind of paving, and the facility

with which it can be removed for sewers,

water mains and repairs cannot fail to

make it still more popular in the future. As
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Indicated elsewhere, experiments have dem- Beginning at Hammondsville, in the

onstrated that in the long run it is more northern end of tin* county, there are sev-

economieal than macadam for country end veins of lire clay four feet thick, and
roads, as well as cleaner and hetter in other at the mouth of the Yellow Creek are three

respects. These hricks, when thoroughly veins, two of four and one of five feet,

burned, have a greater resisting power Coming two miles down to Port Homer,
than granite, according to tests at Pitts- and at Empire, twelve miles ahove ttteu-

hurgh, where No. 1 spaded at 32,200 beuville, we find the principal vein under
pounds, not crushed; Xo. 2 cracked at No. 3 coal eight to nine feet thick. At
3G,700 pounds, spalled at 42,200; No. 3 Calumet and Freeman's it varies from
spaded at 27,400, not crushed; No. 4 seven to eleven feet, and at Toronto it

spalled at 32,(500 pounds, not crushed; No. reaches thirteen feet. The advantages of

5 spalled at 44,200 ]>otmds, not crushed, such a seam, with coal above and helow,

On the other hand, a puhlic granite test at are apparent. It varies from there to Steu-

Cincinnati gave the following: Virginia lienville and helow. A shale is also found
granite, Xo. 1 cracked and crushed at in this section which makes a superior

30,200; No. 2 spalled at 22,000, crushed at quality of building brick. The clay indus-

30,100; No. 3 cracked at 28,(500, crushed at try will be further noticed in the chapter
45,280. New Hampshire granite, No. 1 on manufactures. Following are the mines
spalled at 13,850, crushed at 21,000; No. 2 reported:
cracked at 18,290, crushed at 19,530; Xo. 3 American Sewer Pipe Xo. S—W. B.

cracked and crushed at 20,130. Maine Kohb, Calumet, Ohio, superintendent. Six-

granite, Xo. 1 cracked at lfi,880, crushed at teen men employed. Drift opening; fur-

20,000; Xo. 2 cracked at 17.130, crushed at mice ventilation. Minor Fire Clay—Em-
10.140. Georgia granite, Xo. 1 cracked at pi re. E. S. Minor, superintendent. Drift

18,500, crushed at 20,200; Xo. 2 spalled and opening; natural ventilation; ten men.
cracked at 14,870, crushed at 18,320; Xo. 3 American Sewer Pipe Xo. 7—Frank Hart-
spalled at 17,37(1, crushed at 19,520; Xo. 4 ford. Empire, superintendent. Shaft open-
cracked at 16,320. crushed at 17,500; Xo. 5 ing. Suspended all year. Xatural ventila

spalled at 15,700. cracked and crushed at tion. Standard Fire Brick, Congo Mine—
20,080. A two-inch square cube of well Alexander Hayes, Empire, Ohio, superin-

seasoned oak cracked at 10,'MM) and crushed tendent. Thirty-one men. Xatural venti-

at 12,540 pounds. The percentage of iron lation. Ohio River Sewer Pipe— H. E.

in Jefferson County bricks has a great deal Stratton, Empire, superintendent. Shaft
to do with their hardness and durability, opening; natural ventilation. Seven men.
qualities that are lacking in fire bricks Stratton Fire Clay— II. S. Stratton, Em-
made elsewhere. The following analyses pire, superintendent. Shaft opening,
show the composition of the different Jef- Eleven men. Xatural ventilation. Great
ferson county clays: Northern Sewer Pipe Company—H. S.

Riliria M»K Filed
LOCATION— Water. Arid. Iron. Alumina. I.ime. nema. Alkali*

M.l'adden's Drift under Coal Xo. 3. Toronto 3.SKI 7«JM 2.22 1!»3S .13 .34 2.90

MeFadden & Carlisle under Coal -No. :! S.M .-i7.2.-> 1.94 2*.i>it .IS .24 2.55

t'nder Coal Xo. .'J. Klliottsvillo 4. lit 77.fl.-j 3.32 12.7s .."»."» .4f> I SO

1'nder Coal Xo. 3, Klliotts\ille R.S5 09.241 2.7ti 2*. Ill I <» •"> ."S 1.33

Silica C'lav. Klliottrville 5.441 BS.7JI » S3 1H.35 .«."» 1.00 2.0*
Clnv Xo. 13. Klliotlxrillt 12.70 417". 1«.«2 11.05 M7 317
IMtoni under Coal Xo. 3. Toronto 0.40 H2.W Truee 23.M1 V> .53 .1.50

Top under Coal No. 3. Toronto S.«n S&4W Trine 2H.WI ,!0 .78 3.67

t'nder Coal Xo. .1. Kmpire 4.5« 85 10 2,041 24.2" .NO .54 2.30

Between Coals X. «. li ami 7. Klliottmille H.7U «3.mi .VI 2M.MI .SO .if. .00

Cn.ler Coal Xo. 3. Croxton's Run s.7o 38.10 1.20 29.80 ,441 .54 1.75

Xorr. 11"*re as rtafwbfTC thrmuth thl» work Slo.ms nriat Sliimuli.-il ami Cmplre. mid IjiKrnnur nml Itrllllant. tlw
Toronto lo.ll.nl,- I to- sunn' place, i:i1loti»ville nml IiiIohhi. former IjclhN III.- ol.l
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Stratton, Empire, superintendent. Shaft
opening; natural ventilation. Employs
eleven men. Kaul-Oberkireh — George
Myers, Toronto, superintendent. Slope
opening. Employs eleven men. Natural
ventilation. Ohio Valley—Oliver Connor,
Toronto, Ohio, superintendent. Shaft open-
ing. Thirteen men. Natural ventilation.

Owned by American Sewer Pipe Company.
Forest City—Owned by American Sewer
Pipe Company. W. B. Francy, superin-

tendent. Sixteen men. Slope opening. Fan
ventilation. Great Western—Owned by
American Sewer Pipe Company. W. B.
Francy, superintendent. Shaft opening.

Fan ventilation. Twelve men. Little

Giant—Owned by Toronto Fire Clay Com-
pany, Toronto, Ohio. Henry Nicholson,
superintendent. Twenty-five men. Fan
ventilation. Calumet—Owned by American
Sewer Pipe Company. Frank Hartford,
superintendent. Slope opening. Eleven
men. Furnace ventilation. East Ohio—At
Irondale, operated by the East Ohio Sewer
Pipe Company. W. E. Williams, superin-

tendent and mine boss. Shaft, sixty-seven

feet deep to No. 1 seam of clay, seventeen
feet thick. Fan ventilation, mule haulage,

and employs ten miners and three day men.
This mine has an excellent top, is very dry,

the clay very hard, and is generally found
in excellent condition. Standard—At Iron-

dale. Operated by the Standard Fire Brick
Company. L. McDanlis, superintendent;
Matthew Henry, mine boss. O. Drift to No.
3 seam nine feet thick. Mule haulage. Em-
ploys five miners and two day men. Mc-
Lain & Dando—One mile east of Irondale.

Operated by the Irondale Brick Company.
Fred Dando, superintendent ; Edward
Grimes, mine boss. Slope opening to No. 3

seam ten feet thick.

A recent boring at Irondale indicates a
clay vein sixty feet thick.

NATURAL (iAS AND OIL.

As late as 1889 the present writer, in

giving a resume of the gas and oil condi-

tions, remarked that "While Jefferson

County has figured as a shipper of petro-

leum, yet it cannot be said to he a pro-

ducer." The prediction was hazarded,

however, that the situation might be

changed by the time those words were in

print, which has been more than verified.

It is necessary, however, to go back as far

as 18<»4 to note the beginning of the efforts

to find oil in Jefferson County, gas at that

time not being considered as valuable com-
mercially, although it had been used in

some sections. The oil excitement which
had prevailed in northwestern Pennsylva-
nia had reached Smith's Ferry and Little

Beaver Valley, where there were Steuben-
ville investors, not to their profit, but the

reverse. Shortly after a test well was sunk
to a depth of 1,200 feet on the Farmer
place below Mingo, and one or two others

in the county with no tangible results, and
all further efforts in this direction were
abandoned for twenty years. In the mean-
time some parties drilling for oil on the

West Virginia side of the river twelve
miles above Steubenville, struck a strong
flow of gas which was ignited and for

months furnished a beacon along the river

by night and an object lesson of how
natural resources could be wasted. Soon
after a tremendous flow of gas was struck

near Hickory, Pa., which was also ignited

and burned cubic feet by the million.

Finally somebody conceived the idea of
using the first named well in the manufac-
ture of lamp black, and the gas was con-

ducted to a building where innumerable
jets were placed against soapstone plates,

producing pure carbon. This establish-

ment burned down and the owners of the

well sold its product to brick manufactur-
ers in New Cumberland, who by this time
began to appreciate the advantages of this

kind of fuel. The conclusion was that if

natural gas existed in paying quantities

on one side of the river there was no rea-

son why it should not do so on the other,

and several wells were sunk in and around
Steubenville. Some of them furnished a

light gas supply for awhile, but they had
no staying qualities and soon gave out.
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More or less gas was. generated iu the coal

mines, which was used for a limited extent
for lighting, hut there was not sufficient to

make it commercially valuable. Two wells

were sunk by the Jefferson Iron Works at

the lower end of SteubenviHe, the first in

September, 1884, and the other a few
months later, both of which struck a fair

gas vein at 1,250 feet, hut they were ex-

hausted within a year, and although the

lirst one was afterwards drilled to a depth
of 2,500 feet no more gas was found. In
1885 a well was sunk on the Stokely place

by J. J. Gill a short distance above, striking

a light flow, but with good staying quality.

It was used in the "glory holes" of the

Beatty glass house nearby until that con-

cern went out of business, when it was
turned into "The Grove" residence, which
it supplied until the erection of the Pope
tin mill in 1902, when it was abandoned.
Some wells were sunk in the north end of
the city and also on Wills Creek without
result, and the conclusion was reached that

if natural gas was wanted .here it must be
brought in from the outside. At this time
(18S6) some Philadelphia capitalists organ
ized a corporation under the title of Royal
Gas Company for the purpose of supplying
SteubenviHe and vicinity with natural gas.

A large field was secured in the Hickory
district, nineteen miles from the city, and
they proceeded to sink nine wells with ex-

cellent results. Two eight-inch mains, with
a ten- inch part of the way, were laid to the

city, piping under the river. At that time
the pressure at the wells was 420 to 500
pounds to the square inch, giving a pres-

sure in the pipes of 250 pounds. The manu-
facturing district of the city was encircled

by a high-pressure main carrying 75 to 125
pounds, from which spread a network of

smaller mains with a prosuro of but a few
ounces for domestic consumption. It sup-

plied 10,800,000 cubic feet of gas every
twenty-four hours, displacing over 0(Ki tons

of coal. The system was afterwards ex-

tended to Mingo, where a light gasser had
been drilled, and also to VVellshurg and
Brilliant. At the latter place the Spaiilding

Iron Works drilled in a well in May, 1883,

which showed a good pressure, but it was
rendered useless by salt water. A paying
well has been recently sunk below that

point. Toronto and Empire were supplied

with gas by the Ohio Valley and Bridge-

water Companies, but the Koyal Gas Com-
pany took their place, and having since re

organized under the name of Tri-State Gas
Company, has greatly extended its field

both of production and consumption.
A new era was now at hand. Jefferson

County, which had long been a consumer
and had tried to become a producer of oil

and gas, was now to take the latter posi-

tion. In 188!) Josiah C. Ault and Benjamin
N. Linduff. having secured a lease on the

James Blackburn farm in Island Creek
Township, sunk a well a short distance

l»elow the Knoxville bridge on the creek and
reached the Berea grit, which is the oil

producing "sand" of this section, at a

depth of about 1,000 feet, when a 30-l>arrel

well was secured. This was the pioneer
well of the county to get a pipe connection.

Lands of the Morrow heirs, John Smith,
Frank Brady, Ault, Kellermeier, William-
son, Chas. Shane, Morrison, Winters and
Squire Morrow were seenred, and up to

August. 1001. forty-five wells had been

sunk, of which seven were dry, the others

ranging from five to fifty barrels, the

greater number being eight to ten barrels.

The highest production was about 500 bar-

rels per day. and the salt water mixed with

oil in the Berea has given the field good
staying quality, and it is still putting out
about 100 barrels per dav. The original well

was named the "Old Maid." This field lies

in Sections 5. 11, 1(5, 17 and 22 of Island
( 'reck Township and is about three miles in

length with a maximum width of less than
one-fourth of a mile. McKeown well No. 2

on the Morrow farm is probably the deep-
est of the lot, being 1.241 feet. What is

known as the "salt sand" was struck at

570 feet, and st>7 was base of "Big Injun."
During the years 1S01 -2 The Toronto Oil

and Gas Company drilled twelve wells back
of that village in the northeast corner of
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island Creek Township, mostly in Section
36. Of these three were failures, but six

were gas producers. The closed pressure
was originally 325 pounds to the square
inch. There being no salt water, the wells

did not require packing. The Tri-State
(las Company purchased the wells and
piped the gas to Toronto. Other holes were
drilled in the township about this time, a

dry hole on the Robertson farm in the east-

ern half of Section 7, one on the Dobbs
farm in Section 33, one on the Walker farm
near the west line of Section 10, one on
the Pinley farm and one on the Powell
farm in Section 34, two dry and a small
producer in the northeast quarter of Sec-
tion 5, two dry in the southwest corner of
Section 12.

In 1895 George Given, a well-known
operator, leased the Featner, McCook,
Brew, Gould and Lewis farms in Sections

2, 3, 8 and 9 of Cross Creek Township, near
Gould's Station on the P. C. C. & St. L. Ry.,
and drilled his first well on the Featner
place. It started off at 125 barrels per day,
and created quite a sensation, as it was the
largest well in the county up to that time.

It declined rapidly, however, and was aban-
doned within a year. The second well
started at only 10 barrels per day, hut it

was a stayer. Work of development went
on rapidly and by 1898 sixty wells had been
drilled, those on the Brew farm being the
best producers. Several gas wells were
drilled on the western edge of the field, fur-

nishing a good supply of fuel. Generally
the gas produced by the wells was small, so
they bad to be pumped from the start. The
production at one time reached 1.200 bar-
rels per day, but by August, 1901, at least

twenty-five of the sixty producers had been
abandoned, and the production dropped to

200 barn-Is per week, and has remained at
about that figure. The oil has a bright red
color, and commands the Pennsylvania
price, as it does generally in this region.

The wells were shot at first with thirty to

200 quarts of nitroglycerine, and many
were shot a second time, this charge as a
rule being smaller than the first one. A

tragic feature in the life of this field

was the explosion of a quantity of nitro-

glycerine in a hillside cabin. It was sup-

posed to have been started by the two men
in charge creating a jar in opening the

door. The force was such as to shake build-

ings in Steubenville four miles distant in

an air line. Not a trace of the buildiug or

contents remained, and only a few frag-

ments of the men, if we except fine shreds

of flesh which clung to the trees nearby.

The Berea here is found at 1,200 feet and
has an average thickness of about thirty-

three feet. In the southeastern corner of

the township, Section 25, a dry hole was
sunk, and also in Sections 7, 13, 14 and 19.

In 1896 J. J. Crawford, having leased

some tracts in Sections 14, 15, 20 and 21.

including altogether about half of one
square mile lying on the east and west sides

of the village of Knoxville, drilled in a well

which started at only two barrels per day.

The next one, however, came up to twenty-

seven barrels, but the lifteen following

wells were light or dry, so that the aggre-

gate did not exceed 100 barrels per day. A
few years later a company composed of I).

J. Sinclair, William Freudenberger and
others purchased this property and
extended it fifty acres southeast on the

Cooper farm. They put down a number of

wells and brought the daily production up
to 500 or 600 barrels. The wells are all

light producers, and there being no salt

water to give them staying qualities the

present output is small. In 1901 four wells

were drilled east of town, which gave a

pressure of 325 pounds to the square inch,

which were sold to the Tri-State Gas Com-
pany. The oil wells are west of town on
the west slope of an anticlinal, and the gas
wells on the summit. The grit here is fifty

feet thick.

The Jennings Oil Company about 1902
opened up a pool at Sugar Grove, between
Kmpire and Knoxville. in which were a

number of good wells turning out 100 bar-

rels or more per day. It still has about
twenty-five producing wells. Other parts of

Knox Township have been quite thoroughly
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tested, with a dry hole on the river hank
in the northeast corner of the township,

three gas wells near Empire, dry hole on
the Sapp fann in the southwest corner of

Section 33, small gas well on the river hank
near Calumet, dry hole in the village of

Toronto, small gas well on the (iaston farm
in the southeast corner of Section 31, dry
hole on Wasson farm in southwest corner

of Section 1, dry hole on Snyder farm in

southeast corner of Section 2, dry hole on
Fitzpatriek's farm in northeast corner of

Section 3, two dry holes on Tuggart farm
in the northeast corner of Section 4. two
dries on western half of Section 10, one on
the McOhie and others on the Kunyou farm,
two oils and three dries in the northeast

corner of Section 16, dry on Cooj»er farm
in the northeast corner of Section 15, two
dries on the southern half of Section 14,

one on Mills and one on Andrews farm,
one oil and three dries in the northwest
quarter of Section 13, dry on the Swickard
fann in the southwest coruer of Section 20.

Since then the Swickard Oil Company, com
posed of Joseph M. C. Feely, II. (i. Sim
mons and others, has developed a small

field here by drilling ten wells, nhout half of
which are dry. The production reached
fifty barrels per day, and is now alunit

thirty barrels.

During the winter of ISiUM'lOO a well

was drilled at Port Homer in the southeast
corner of Saline Township, reaching the

Herea grit, it is .said, at a depth of 715 feet,

which produced a couple of barrels per day.
In the spring of ]!«>(( n second well was
sunk, which started at 100 barrels per day.

but rapidly declined, the oil being light and
not a good stayer. This Held included parts

of Sections 5 and 0. and in it were drilled

about twenty wells, most of which were dry.

The Berea along the river front here was
reported at a depth of M0 to 020 feet, and
5!>S feet on the opposite side. If this is

correct, and we confess to some skepticism,

it is only half the depth given elsewhere in

the county, and as the (Jeological Survey
remarks, "sngrsts a low arch with the Port
Homer wells on the western slope." In

other parts of the township the Maple and

Prink farms south of Irondale were tested

with light results; two dry holes were

drilled mar the river in the extreme south

eastern part of the township, dry in south

east corner of Section 5, dry on MeCullousrh

farm near west line of Section 7, dry in See

tion S near mouth of Yellow Creek, two

dries on Mills and (J ray farms in southwest

quurter of section 11. three wells on Taylor

farm in southeast quarter of Section 17.

two of which produced some oil, third dry;

dry on Hurnett estate near south line of

Section IS. small producer later abandoned
on Yellow Creek along the eastern line of

Section 13, and dry hole near the middle of

same section, two small oil wells and one

dry on Lent berberry farm in Section 23, a

dry in Irondale.

In Smithfield Township .1. J. Crawford
in 18!»5-!M'. opened a small field on the Gal-

braith fann in Section 11. The first well

was drilled approximately 1,560 feet and
made a showing of oil. A second well was
drilled in 1000, with a depth of over 1,600

feet. During that and the next year five

wells wen- drilled, one producing twenty

five barrels per day. and finally dropping
to six and ten barrels, the others being dry.

On the Hunvon farm in Section 17 a well

was drilled 1K06 to a depth of 1,607 feet,

with the following record:

Thii-kiH'K* <>' T.>t:i 1

I'linnntioii, tVptli.

r.vt. f«>t

White S>iiilr l<>

Hurry l'|> S:unl . .
f.i> a:;.

l'> as,")

.-.!» 44:.

-.«:.

r,:s»i

.••'.»:.

64"'

» «."••«

tM.i. k Shah- •>i> «74

I'irst S i It San.l .
7.V»

Hlll.k Shntc S(U
!>l!t

J.lrty

1.1 !M

Sr|uan S'iri'l 1-14
Snuj :,n,| Shn!.- :v> 1
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-
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A dry well was drilled on the Kithcart

farm in Section 15 in 1890, a dry near
Adena in Section 32, two dries on Suther-

land farm in Section 28, two on Thompson
and Henry farms in Section 29, a dry on J.

B. Smith farm in Section 30, one of 1,700

feet on William B. Scott farm in Section 5,

two on Sutherland and Cope farms in Sec-

tion 6, two near eastern margin of Section

14 and one near western margin of Section

8. Piney Fork gave a light show. It will

be seen that of the twenty or more wells

drilled in this township only one was a

practical producer.

Brush Creek makes a small showing. A
dry well was drilled on the Hickman farm
in the northeast quarter of Section 2 in the

fall of 1900. One drilled the previous sum-
mer on the McBane farm in the southeast

quarter made a showing of gas, but no oil.

A dry well was drilled on the Dorrance
farm in the southeast quarter of Section

23, and more recently a small producer on
the Moore farm in the southwest quarter
of Section 31.

Ross Township enjoys the distinction of
actually producing the first oil for com-
mercial purposes in Jefferson County. In
1865, when efforts to discover oil in other

sections were unavailing, a company was
formed under the name of Springfield and
Yellow Creek Oil Company for the purpose
of testing this territory, which had not been
lacking in indications of the oleaginous

fluid. In 1866 they located a well at the

mouth of Brimstone Bun near Moore's Salt

Works, now Pravo, and at 500 feet struck

quite a flow of oil, most of which ran down
the creek and was lost. A pump was then

put in and about 200 barrels secured, which
was hauled to Hammondsville and shipped

by rail. The well soon gave out. and the

salt water was used in the manufacture of

salt until 1871, when it was abandoned. In
1870 a Pennsylvania company sunk a well

1,000 feet, getting plenty of salt water, but

no oil. In later years three wells were sunk
on the E. George farm in the southeast

corner of Section 23, of which one yielded

some oil, but it is now abandoned. On the

A. George farm in the northeast quarter of

Section 28 the same number of wells was
drilled with the same result. Two dry holes

were drilled on the McLain farm in the
northern part of Section 6. The oil here
is found in the "Big Injun," instead of
Berea, which may account for the small
quantity.

But iittle has been done in Springfield
township. There is a dry hole on the Dor-
rance farm in Section 4 near Bergholz, and
one on the Calhoun farm in the southeast
quarter of Section 8. There was a showing
on Wolf Run, but most of this township
may be considered as wildcat territory.

Salem Township shows some oil produc-
tion. A dry hole was drilled on the Graham
farm in the southwest quarter of Section
23, and one on the Kirk farm in tho north-
east quarter of Section 22. Several holes
were drilled around Richmond, some with
good indications, but without tangible re-

sults. Later, however, the Osage Oil Com-
pany developed a field about Mount Tabor
with paying results, having about a dozen
wells producing oil and gas. Considerable
territorj' has recently been leased on the
west side of the township, but not yet de-

veloped.

Wayne Township has been quite prolific

in dry holes. A well on the Reed farm in

the northwest quarter of Section 23 in 1899
found the sand at 1,200 feet, with a thick-

ness of forty-one feet. The well made a
show of oil and considerable gas. Another,
drilled on the Blackburn farm in the same
section, turned out the same. Other dry
holes are : one on Hervey farm in the north-
west quarter of Section 28, one on the
O'Brien farm in the southeast quurter of
Section 24, one on the Starr farm in the
northwest quarter of Section 18, two in Sec-
tion 17, one on the Maxwell farm in the
northwest quarter, and one on the Simeral
farm in the southeast quarter, one on the
Miser farm in the southwest quarter of
Section 12.

Mount Pleasant Township has developed
a small production at Emerson and also at
Laurelton. Dry holes have been drilled in
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the southwest quarter of Section 4, one in

the northeast quarter of Section 18, and
one in the northwest quarter of Section 29.

Besides the gas well at Brilliant, ruined
by the Hood of 1S84, Wells Township has
developed both oil and gas territory. In
1SW-1900 William Carnill opened an oil

pool in what was called Limestone district,

on the upper waters of Rush Run. lie sunk
half a dozen wells on a small territory,

some of which started off at 300 to 400 bar-

rels apiece. They have continued since as
light pumiHMs. Another effort was made
below Brilliant, where a strong flow of gas
was found; one well, the Nichols, yielding

:S,000,000 cubic feet per day, the largest gas
well iii the county previous to the strikes

west of Steubenville. (ias was also found on
Rush Run and about New Alexandria,

which was purchased by the Tri-State (las

Company and piped to Steubenville and
Mingo. Here, as elsewhere, the success of

one produced the usual crop of dry holes,

among them being one belonging to the

Bank of Smithtield in the southwest quarter

of Section 21, one in the northeast quarter
of Section 28, one on the Puntnev farm in

the southwest quarter of Section 18, one in

the soutliwest quarter of Section 35. one on
the Hundman farm in the northeast quarter
of Section 12, one on the Ekey fann in the

southeast quarter of Section 11.

Warren Township, if we except the little

pool at Laureltoti, reports one dry hole at

Portland. There are people who know when
they have enough.
We now come to a change in the oil de-

velopment of the county, when within a

radius of two or three miles of Steuben
ville was to Ik* found the most prolific oil

field in this part of the country, and the

end is not yet. The little fields of which
accounts have been given above were
quietly yielding their quota of oil. naturally

decreasing, and it looked as though no

fortunes were to be made by that means in

this neighborhood. But in 11)05 Castner
Bros., who had already become somewhat
interested in oil, sank a test well on the

Black farm at the forks of Wills Creek in

Island Creek Township, two and one-half

miles from Alikanna station. It came in a

200-barrel producer, which attracted others
to that field, taking in the Prince, Vaughn
and Klson farms by .leanings & Crawford
ami Sinclair & Krciidenberger. Although
the tield was limited in area there were soon
thirty producing wells turning out 1,000

barrels per day, some of which are still fair

producers, and the extension still good for

seventy live barrels. Adjoining this was
the Pleasant Hill field, developed by II. B.

Luntz in 11MN5, on the farms of William
Ford, I). McCiillough, Sanders, Presby-
terian Church and King heirs lot. This ran
up to 700 liarrels, with little or no salt

water, but is now practically out of busi-

ness.

Swinging mir radius to the eastward
with the court house as a center we strike

the llolliday's Cove tield, directly across
the river from Steubenville. whose derricks
have become as familiar objects from the
city as the trees around them. In Novem-
ber, KHMi, a company, composed of Cyrus
Ferguson. Allied Lee and others sunk a
well on the Kmmett McCune farm, aud got

a good showing of salt water. Two wells

were then located on the Hyndman farm
and one on the Thomas MeKim farm. The
latter showed up 100 barrels, and soon
there were ultout thirty wells on 2,300 acres,

some of them giving 120 barrels. Others
came in and some fifty additional wells

have been sunk, the late ones creeping down
the steep hillside opposite the city. The
greatest production from any one well was
300 barrels per diem, and the field 2,000
barrels. It is still holding up at 1,200 bar
rels. The field is about two and one-half
miles long, with an average width of half a

mile.

The next point on the circle is known as

the Follanshee field, just above, the new
town of that name and opposite the lower
end of Steultenville. In 1!H)7 the La Belle

Iron Works of Steubenville, desiring to

prospect for gas, purchased a tract from
the Ohio River Realty Company, just east

of the P. W. & Ky. railroad track and began
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drilling. A good flow of gas had lieeu

found a short distance below and about

twenty years ago there had been some very

strong wells about three miles down the

river. Instead of finding gas they got a

sixty-barrel oil well. The realty company,
which still owned considerable land between
the railroad uud the river put down a well

in January, 1908, and had a 400 barrel

gusher. Then derricks went up all over the

field until there were at leust seventy-five

of them, and during the following summer
the production ran up to 3,000 barrels. It

is estimated that upwards of $1,300,000

worth of oil has lieen takea from this field

during the last eighteen months, and it is

still yielding some 300 barrels per day. The
realty company recently sold out to Fergu-
son & Company for a large sum (190JI).

As the Follansbee Held was found to ex-

tend to the water's edge it was easily

imagined that it might reach across the

river into Ohio. Accordingly in 1908

Donaldson & Company procured a lease of

the Miller farm immediately south of

Stcubenville corporation limits, and soon
hud a 150-barrel well. Some tests north-

ward failed to develop anything, but on
the south the Hisdon farm, Mingo town lots,

Van Kirk, Lavelle, Brettelle and Carmen
properties led over to the Means farm with

good producers to the southwest, and
thence to the bottom lands of Cross Creek
on the Otto farm. Since then Neville &
McMillan have completed a second test on
the Wabash Railroad right of way and have
a small pumper. This location is 500 feet

southwest of the Vuity Oil Company's No.
4 on the Otto farm. This, no doubt marks
fhe limit of the pool, somewhat over a mile

in leugth. As this field included the village

of Mingo, with numerous small lots, there

was a great rush to get holdings and erect

derricks, with the result that the produc-
tion soon ran up to the neighborhood of

J,000 barrels, and almost as rapidly de-

clined, and now the Miller and Otto wells

and a few others aggregating 100 or 1.50

barrels are all that are left of a boom that

was as lively while it lasted, as that of a

Western mining camp. It is said that only

two companies really made money in this

pool, which was so »)>eedi]y drained by its

seventy-five or more wells.

While this was going on The Manhattan
Oil Company began experimenting on the

England farm southwest of Stcubenville

and about a mile from the Mingo field. They
drilled two or three wells and got some oil.

Afterwards Mr. Smothers look a lease on
the Spillman farm of eleven acres close by
on Permar's Run. Here he got a fifty-bar

rel well, and began to work down the run
towards the city, getting wells 1,300 feet

east of his first one. He was now near
Mount Calvary Cemetery, owned by the

Stcubenville Roman Catholic Churches,
and a company was organized to test it.

Ferguson and others under the name of the

Warner Oil Company secured the Johnson
and Edward MeCauslen farms. The wells

on the former place were small, but the first

well on the MeCauslen farm proved good
for about 150 barrels, and Xo. '2 well near
Mount Calvary entrance early in 1909
showed up 500 barrels. Castner Bros, had
leased the Wiggenton place touching Mount
Calvary. MeCauslen and Union Cemetery
grounds, and about May 1, 1909, struck a
How of oil that ran thirty-two barrels an
hour or 70s barrels per day for several

days, when it dropped down to a regular
300 to 400 barrel well. There was no doubt
now that a fine oil field had been found,
probably the best yet discovered in this

section. Castner Bros, rushed their wells

as rapidly as possible, and their No. 0 Wig-
genton yielded 200 barrels. At this writing
they are getting from their lease about
1.000 barrels per day. The Mount Calvary
company, although meeting with some mis-

fortune, put down several wells, and are
getting thirty barrels per day. Crossing
the Steubeiiville and Richmond pike the

gas and consolidated oil companies struck

a big gasser on the Tait place, and the

('urn Company the same on the Minton
lot. The only dry wells so far in this field

are one on the Simmons lot west of the belt,

and one on Mount Calvary. The George
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Bair lot north of the pike gave a fair oil

well between two gasscrs. The pool ap-

pears to run '2'2V» degrees north of east,

and among the developments on the east

are an eighty-barrel well on the Jordan
place, and a big gasser turning to oil on the

Brady farm. The latter indicated 9,000,000

cubic feet of gas per day, but on drilling a
little deeper oil was found. Drilling is in

progress on the Smith place, and two wpIIh

on the Linduff and five on the Hutterly
farm are light producers. Ferguson &
Company brought in a good well on the

Dunbar place joining Union Cemetery, and
Ault & Linduff on the George Dunbar farm.

Ferguson & Company leased 35 acres on
the west side of Union Cemetery, and
on Friday evening, July 9, brought in a 300-

barrel well. They have sunk other wells

on this tract and leased additional ground
from the cemetery association. Castner
Bros, have been testing to see how far this

pool extends towards Wills Creek. One
well on the Bustard farm came in dry and
a second was also. The producing wells

in this pool now number about twenty
and the output is 2,300 barrels per day. The
total daily output in the county is be'tween

3,000 and 4,000 barrels. The territory has
been pretty thoroughly tested, but there

are still some unexplored sections to at-

tract the wildcatter in search of the oleagi-

nous fluid. A heavy storm on the evening
of July 1 2, 1909, leveled a number of der-

ricks to the ground, but they have been re-

placed. The gauges of the best producers
are as follows: Castner Bros.' Nos. 1 to (5,

Wigginton Bros.' farm, 665 barrels; J. O.

Bates & Co., Nos. 1, 2 and 3, 1 lutterly heirs'

farm, 195 barrels; Ixm; Oil Company, Nos.

1, 2, and 3, E. E. McCauslen farm, 335 bar-

rels; Everett Oil Company, No. 1, Union
Cemetery lot, 220 barrels, and Mount
Calvary Oil and Gas Company, Nos. 6, 7

and 8, 200 barrels. Development of this

field is now complete.

OTHER MINERALS.

Limestone has not figured largely in the

reports of mineral resources of Jefferson

County, although it is found in abundance
and of superior quality. In early days it

was used extensively in the manufacture
of lime, its freedom from magnesia making
it superior for use in cement where exposed
to the weather. It has also been largely

used in road construction, but not for build-

ing purposes, the abundant and more easily

worked sandstone superseding it for that

purpose. The strata are ten to twenty feet

thick, generally containing 80 to 90 per cent

carbonate of lime, and practically no phos-
phorous, giving to stone a social value as

flux in furnaces. Following are analyses of
four specimens by the State Geological Sur-
vey :

Vhn and Location ft **
H f

*'*> IT 5
IS a -•

3 2
* 2

n a ;

"
a » ; ts

-
j? . ?

Under < <ml No, s, near Pekiu.tHUiii s<).:W 1.59 2.40

linncian-il iiii.Iit <*<»al No. 8.

Stoubonvill.- .40.20 45.70 3.12 10.40

Over Colli No. s. Ktoubenvillo. 9 10 SS.UO 1.22 1.60

4Jn.lor K<>k<t '» Win, Kllint(»-

viiio .... io.m *:» ho M2 3 00

It may be added that our limestones have
contributed materially to the fertility of

the soil, specially adapting it to wheat culti-

vation and fine wool growing, which has
given this county a special preeminence.

Excellent beds of iron ore have been
found within six or eight miles of Steuben-

ville, which have been practically tested,

but Lake Superior competition has so far

prevented them from becoming useful com-
mercially. On Island Creek are pockets of

hematite yielding 50 to 60 per cent, of iron

and fourteen specimens from Collinwood,

near the mouth of Yellow Creek, yielded

from 54.6 per cent down to a trace. An
Irondale specimen gave 31.2 per cent, two
from Toronto gave 27.24 and 4.9 per cent,

respectively; two at Stenbenville 62.6,9 and
11.03, one at Brilliant 23.85 and one from
Island Creek 20.96. In this connection it

will be of interest to note that one of the

first iron furnaces west of the Allegheny
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Mountains was located on King's Creek,

W. Va., about two miles east of the Jeffer-

son County line, where native ores were
used. It was built by Peter Tan- ami others
in 1795, and not only was the ore smelted,

but pots, kettles and other articles were
made from the iron, thus anticipating the

modern idea, the same establishment doing
all the work from digging the ore in the

ground to the finished product. Jt was not

a success financially, although it appears
that James Campbell conveyed the furnace
with 300 acres of laud to Peter Tarr and
James Rankin for $3,600, a good price for

those days. Charcoal was used for fuel and
its preparation was nearly as troublesome
as the manufacture of iron. The furnace
was finally abandoned, but its ruins still re-

main.
Sandstone, both light and brown, suitable

for building purposes, is practically inex-

haustible, and has been used extensively,

but lias a formidable rival in concrete.

Clean sharp sand for building purposes is

found in abundance in and along the

streams, and the River Sand Company,
with a fleet of steamers and barges does an
extensive business in this direction. Min-
eral springs also abound, but have not been
utilized commercially. Salt has been fouud,
especially on Yellow Creek, which will be
noticed elsewhere.

Jefferson County has been specially

favored as regards mineral resources, of
which those interested have not been slow
to take advantage. It is scarcely necessary
to add, however, that there are no lead,

silver or gold mines in Jefferson County,
never have been and never will be, as the
geological formation is absolutely prohibi-

tory. There have been reports of that kind
occasionally, some of them based on old

Indian tales. They are delusions or frauds,
not deserving of the slightest consideration.
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CHAPTER XVII

INDUSTRIAL PROGRESS

A Century's A< ticity Almost Vuimralleled—Pioneer Manufactories—Uise and Decline

of the Woolen Industry—Cotton Mills—Imniense Progress in Iron and Steel Mak-
ing— Pottery. Class and Clay Products Silk Making and Miscellaneous Activities.

There seems to lie no doubt hut that the.

pioneer manufactory of Jefferson County
was the tannery erected hy Benjamin Doyle
soon after his arrival here in 17!>S. H«« con-

structed his vats west of what is now High-
land Avenue in Steiihenville, and seems to

have done quite a pood business, consider-

ing: the small population and limited re-

sources of the neighborhood. He sold out

to Samuel Jlnnna, from whom Joseph C.

Spencer learned the business and ran it for

thirty years. He was succeeded by John
.Myers, after which the tannery went out of

existence. A feature of the place forty or
Hfty years ago was the "marble hydrant"
set in against the hillside, which furnished

a stream of pure spring water. In 1 St )"J
-.'5

Brice Viers established a second tannery
north of Market Street on what is now the

Steubenville Coal & Mining Company's
property, which he conducted until 1S31.

when the building was converted bv
Thomas J. Yiers and K. II. McFeely into a

haud-looni weaving factory, and it was af-

terwards torn down to make room for the

mining company's coke ovens. In JS10

Samuel Williams opened a third tannery

on Market Street, west of Church Street,

and ran it until 1S17. when he was suc-

ceeded by John Jenkinson until IS:.'], when
John and (Jeorge Hogg, two Englishmen,
took it and conducted it until ls:;."». when

William Elliott, who was already engaged
with them in the business, became part
owner, afterwards purchasing the whole
plant, which he enlarged and earried on un-

til about lSX,"). when he retired from busi-

ness. Since then there has been no tannery
in Steubenville.

Local tanneries were quite numerous
throughout the county, but changed condi-

tions finally caused their abandonment. A
Mr. Moore started a tannery in Smitbtield
in 1S04, on the west side of town. It was
managed by Benjamin Griffith. Lewis Cady
started the second in 18(H) on the east side
of the terminus of Tannery Street, it closed
many years ago. William Sharon, father
of Senator Sharon, ope net) the third about
1S17 on the property later owned by Wil-
liam A. Judkins. at the south end of town.
In 1S44 he rented the property to George
Lee. and operations ceased alwmt 1847.
John Wood started the fourth tan yard on
West street about 1*2:2, but he died shortly
after and two cousins named Hobson car-

ried on the business until 184(5, when they
sold out to George Lee, who transferred
his stock to it. and afterwards sold to John
and Kollin Cole. Their brother, Jediah.
succeeded them, but the building was soon
afterwards sold to Isaac Lewis, who con-
verted it into a blacksmith shop. Phipps
and White opened the fifth tannery in 1838
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near the eastern end of South Street. John
White beeanie sole proprietor and curried

on the business for many years. Thomas
M. Latta started a tannerv in Bloomfield in

1821), and Henry M. Beckett one in 1827.

Jose])!) (Jill ran a tannery in Mount Pleas-

ant. Others will he noticed in the town-
ship histories.

Grist and flour mills succeeded the tirst

tanneries as business enterprises and per-

haps were even more necessary to the

wants of a growing community. Bezaleel

Wells located one on the run which bears

his name, then south of Steubenville ou
ground now occupied by the La Belle Iron
Works. Water was the first motive power,
and then steam was introduced and the mill

continued in operation for many years until

finally a Mr. Gciselman purchased it uud
converted it into a distillery, which burned
down in 1857. The run mill proving a suc-

cess, a new company, in which Mr. Wells
was interested, was formed, which built a
large steam flour mill at the foot of Market
Street, under the superintendence of Adam
Moderwell. John I Weiniy, Sr., moved here
from Pittsburgh and set up the machinery
and ran it for some time. Subsequently a
brick woolen factory was added on the west
side and was operated by the same engine.

This not succeeding, the factory was con-

verted into a warehouse for the mill. James
Means, Sr., conducted the mill for a number
of years, and then Means & Hooker. Sub-
sequently it was rented by Geischuun, and
on the night of December 2.'5. 1S.~)(>, the

weather being intensely cold, it was burned
to the ground, and the lots lay idle a long

time before being occupied by the present
structures. The Aetna Mills'at Sixth and
North Streets were originally established

by lianey, Sheal & Co. in 18G8, and pur-

chased by the present company in 1 SS»!». The
new proprietors installed new machinery
throughout, made many improvements and
the mill is one of the best equipped flouring

mills in the Ohio Valley. The owners and
officers of the company are George A. Dean,
president; A. S. Dean, vice president; L.

M. Frazier, secretary and treasurer.

Shortly after the Aetna John McFeely
built the California flour and feed mill at

Washington and Seventh streets, with a
capacity of forty barrels a day. It after-

wards passed intn the hands of John C.

Ralston and was subsequently converted to

other uses. F. M. Moouey for a number of
years conducted a flouring mill on West
Market Street, in a building which had been
a woolen mill and subsequently a white
lead factory run by M. I,. Miller. Jt did a
large business, but for some reason was
not a financial success. Probably the first

grist mill in the county after one at

Steubenville wus built on Cross Creek and
did a profitable business as early as 1808,

the product being shipped by keelboat to

New Orleans. It was purchased by George
Marshall, who came from Ireland about
1818, who replaced the existing machiuery
by other for the manufacture of woolens.
Nearly all the early flour mills had sawmill
attachments, which were not the least

profitable part of the enterprise. The
numerous streams furnished sufficient

power, and the fanners brought their

wheat to be converted into flour and their

wool into cloth. Nearly all have disap-
peared, as concentration has applied here
as well as elsewhere. Nathan Updegraff,
who came from Winchester, Va., in 1802,
and settled on Short Creek, built the first

mill in Mount Pleasant Township, where
now stands the town of Dillonvale. He also
manufactured paper for a nnmber of years,
but converted that building into a flour mill

and conducted it until 1867, when it burned.
A fine stone mill, still standing, was erected
in its place and was successfully run by
John Ii. Bavkhurst, but is now idle. Short
Creek had half a dozen grist mills by 180."),

and the number run up to 23, all of which
are defunct. The Smith-Harris mill, two
and a half miles up the creek, still stands.

C. W. llarbourt conducted a flour mill in

the village of Mount Pleasant, which is still

in operation. Isaac Wickersham built a
hand-mill in Smithfield in 1804, which was
called "bettersome," because his sarcastic
neighbors declared it was some better than
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tlic primitive tin grater. James Carr built

a horse mill in 1808 on a lot since owned by
II. M. Ong, which was a step in advance.
Half bushel grists were received at these

mills, toll being taken by the quart. The
horse-mill was removed to the northeast

part of town and converted into a treadmill,

where a boy named Dempster met his death
by being caught in the cogs. The building

was afterwards converted into a jeans fac-

tory, but Ralston Bros, subsequently took

up the Hour business, which is still carried

on. James McOrew built a mill on Piney
Fork about 1812, which passed into the

hands of Isaac Ung, and was known as

Ong's mill. John Leech built one farther

up the creek about this time, ami Abner
11 utton another in 1807, the first water mill

in the township. The Ong mill had friendly

Indians among its customers. Other mills

on Piney Fork were Tweedy 's, o|>eruted to

within fifteen or twenty yeurs ago; James
Yoorhees' shut down about thirty years
since; Sherrard and John Scott at the head
of the stream.

Nathan M. Grew built the first mill in

Wayne Township on Cross (.'reek, where is

now Skelly's Station or Cresswell. Between
1S.")f> and I860 he bought from Henry.
Fagelson, of Harrison County, a steam
Hon ring mill, which he brought to Bloom-
field and erected on the Alexander Bines

tanyard lot. being assisted by a number of

citizens. It was purchased nlxuit 18153 by
Yoorhees & Keller, who added a saw-mill

attachment. It was afterwards bought at

sheriff's sale by Reuben Burchfield, who
sold out to Button & Boop. It was then ae

quired by Clement Boop. who still con

ducts it. There was a water-mill operated
by the Tiptons at I'nionport at an early

date, known as Exchange mill. When Wil-

liam Henry bought this property in 1S50

he removed it and built a new mill with
double engines. He sold it in 18(»(i, since

which it has passed through several hands
ami was again operated by water. It is

now owned by James A. Groves.
Salem Township had its share of early

mills on Town Fork of Yellow Creek. Cedar

and Clay Lick runs. Ephraim Cattrell

erected a steam mill at Richmond in 1837,

which passed into the hands of Fryer.
Flody 4: Co., and then of William Hout.
The John Henderson mill at Fast Spring-

field is also in operation. Charles Por-

ter built a mill on Cedar Lick Run iu

the southern end of the township in 1836,

which passed into the hands of Joseph
Reed. Stephen Cole built the first grist

mill in Boss Township in 1808, and was
succeeded in 1863 by a steam mill, built

by Mordeeui Moore at Mooretown. Michael
Myers built the first grist mill in Knox
Township on Croxton's Run, about a
mile from the river—not running. Tun-
nel mill on Yellow Creek, near the Ross
Township line, was a sort of curiosity. The
creek makes a large bend here and at one
time a coal entry was cut across the circle

low enough to be flooded at high water.

When the coal was worked out and the
creek dammed the tunnel made an excellent

mill race. The mill was formerly owned
by Mrs. M. House and then by Alexander
Hale. The Pittenger mill at Knoxville, and
Bowers' at Toronto, at one time did a good
business.

Island Creek Township had numerous
mills down to 1830 and later, but all are
gone. One of the first was Bray's mill on
Island Creek, about half a mile above its

mouth, built by Jacob Cable, but rebuilt by
John Bray and William Findley in 1823.

A woolen mill was attached in 1824, and
in 1838 Bray purchased the plaut and ad
tied steam. Davidson's mill, five miles up,

has been torn down. Hartford's on Wills
( 'reek still remains. H. L. Blackburn's mill

was removed to Toronto in 1873 and burned
down iu August, 187H. Today a few logs

and picturesque remains of dams tell the
story of other days. George Mnhau is said

to have had a hand mill for griuding, in the

northeast corner of Cross Creek, as early

as ]8(K», but it could hardly be called a

manufactory until 1804, when he applied
horse power. In 1KU,"» Nathan McGrew built

on Cross Creek the first mill to be run by
water. Others were built on Mclntire.
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where J. W. Sutherland had one in Smitli-

field Township, and lower down on Cross
Creek. Charles Maxwell built the first saw-
mill in 1807, a short distance above the Mc-
Grew grist mill, and Lanning the second in

1809 near Gould Station. There was also

a grist and sawmill at Holmes Station.

One of the Lintons erected the first grist

mill in Wells Township, run by horse
power. The first water mill was erected on
Mclntire by John Jackson in 1808, soon fol-

lowed by a number of others. Barr's mill

at Portland was a leading mill in Warren
Township, and four miles up Short Creek
are the ruins of a large stone mill once a
woolen factory, erected by McKee & Robin-
son in 1838, where fanners would bring
their wool and have it manufactured into

blankets and cassimeres or would exchange
it for goods already made up. It was sub-
sequently purchased by John McFeely, who
did a good business during the first part of
the Civil War, and was followed by George
M. Cummins, Gibson and others, and quite

a little village grew up at that place. The
above does not pretend to be a complete list

of all the smaller mills of the county, but all

the more important ones appear to lie in-

cluded.

DISTILLERIES AND BREWEB1ES.

Our forefathers, while in the main tem-
perate, were not teetotalers and a "dry"
territory was unknown. The whiskey in-

surrection of Western Pennsylvania is a
matter of history, and, like the moonshiners
of Kentucky and North Carolina, they did
not see why they could not convert their

corn and rye into portable liquid without
interference on the part of the government.
Aside from home consumption whiskey was
about the only form in which corn or rye
was valuable for export, owing to the diffi-

culty and cost of transportation. Con-
sequently quite a trade grew up in this

directiou. In 1798 P. Snyder, who may
have been one of the "insurrectors." came
to Stenbenville from Uniontown, I'a., and
erected a small distillery at the head of
Adams street, where now stands the

l-Juehler brewery, which he ran for two
or three years, lie was killed in 1803 by
• he caving in of a well in Market Square,
which he was digging, and his body was not

recovered for several days. In fact, one
account says no effort was ever made to re-

cover the body, and that his remains lie

buried there until this day. The second
distillery was put in operation by Bezaleel

Wells, at Rockville, about where the Bor-

land coal shaft was afterwards located. It

lasted several years, but not a vestige now
exists. Andrew and Robert Thompson
started a third at "Jacksonville," then a

small hamlet at what is now the Market
Street entrance to Union Cemetery. They
had a small sawmill run by ox-tread power,

and began distilling in 1826. Steam power
was added, and the distillery sold to James
Wilson, who in turn sold to Harrison &
Myers. Robert Thompson moved to Bridge-

port and died of cholera in 1833. The Jack-

sonville distillery was afterwards aban-

doned, and Geiselman purchased the old

grist mill on Wells Run, which he converted

into a distillery about 1855, continuing

until he was burned out in 1857. About
1836 Robert Mears and Mr. Trotter began
a rectifying business on Market street be-

tween Third and High (now Edwards
Hotel), which they conducted a number of

years, when Thomas Mears, a brother,

came from Ireland and purchased Trotter's

interest. The firm erected a large grist mill

and distillery at the junction of Fourth and
Fifth Streets, where they did an extensive

business, and in 1865 purchased a lot on the

south side of Market Street, where they

erected the fine busiuess block now occupied

by the Davidson wholesale grocery. The
distillery was operated until 1874, when it

burned down and was never rebuilt. Oliver

T. Beard, who had been engaged with the

Mears firm with some others operated a

distillery on Cross Creek until the fire fiend

disposed of that. Cross Creek Township
engaged quite extensively in this business,

the first distillery probablv was erected hv
Daniel Dunlevy" on Section 83 in 18IW.

Joseph Hanlon had one in the same neigh-
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horhood, also John McCounell, William Mc-
Connell, William Woods ami Nathaniel
Porter. By 1863 Mr. Porter's was the only
one left in the township, which he ran in

connection with his mill until the heavy war
tax made it unprofitable. There were other
small distilleries throughout the country,
one on Ixmg Run, in fact the still seems to

hiive lieen a frequent adjunct to a grist mill,

hut their records, if they had any, were lost.

Beer was likewise an early product ami a

Mr. Punlap established a brewery on what
is now the lower end of the llnrtje paper
mill property in 18] 5. lie ran it for three
years when he sold out to Charles K. Leib-
I i it, who carried on the trade for many
Years, when Thompson I lamia, who then
ran the paper mill, bought the property
and converted it into tenement houses.
Alexander Armstrong opened a second on
Water Street just below Washington in

181*1, conducting it during his life, when an
Englishman named Woods rented the place
ami is said to have brewed the first ale for

the Steubenville market. A Mr. Holly suc-

ceeded him, when Joseph Busier, Sr., took
charge, coming from the Leiblin brewery.
He remained there until ISoLi, when he built

a new brewery on South High Street near
Adams. .Julius Zimmerman purchased the

Armstrong brewery and converted it into

a handsome residence property, where his

widow still resides. Mr. Busier was suc-

ceeded by his sons. Max and Joseph Busier,

in the South Hitch Street brewery, who con
tinned until alter the former's death, soon
after which it was partially destroyed by
lire and converted by John Met 'lave, its

new owner, into a residence. II. K. Schaefer
opened a small brewery on Third street in

!>."»!», which he continued unliTlS??, when
be dropped it. John ('. Unite. Sr.. came
tn Steubenville in ]H58, ami in 1S(!0 he
elected a small brewery at the head of
Adams Street. Here he gradunllv built up
a trade of K,000 to 10,000 barrels a year,

and excavated extensive vaults under the

hill capable of holding -.")0tl barrels. The
Si -briefer brewery at this time hail a vault

innler the bill on' West Market Street. He

afterwards sold out to Charles Hall, and
he to John Buehler, both of whom made
further enlargements. The latter is still

in the business, although conducting it with
some diflicultv since the conntv voted
"dry" in November, 1908.

WOOLKN AND COTTON MILLS.

Incidental references have been made to

the existence of local woolen mills through-
out the county in connection with the grist

mill industry, and we here lake it up out
of its chronological order on a< unt of the
unique history of its rise, zenith, decline
and fall. The outbreak of the second war
with Cleat Britain found the country with-

out any wool manufacturing whatever, save
what was afforded by the lalvorioiis work of
the hand loom, which did not l>egin to sup-
ply the demand, and consequently practi-

cally everything consumed in that line was
imported. With the outbreak of hostilities

ini|MU'tations ceased, and the stress gave a

severe object lesson, which was not suffered
to go without improvement. Especially was
this the case with the finer grades of cloth.

Fortunately in one respect the way had
been opened. While William Jarvis was
1'nitcd States consul ill Spain during the

early part of the I!»th century two Spanish
nobles who had become involved in an in-

surrection entrusted to him the care of

smile valuable blooded merinos to prevent
their confiscation by the government. The
nobles, it is supposed, were killed, and Mr.
Jarvis brought the sheep to bis farm in

Windsor County, Vermont. There thc\

were purchased by Bczalcel Wells about
the year 1 SI 4. and brought out to this part

of t'he country. William K. Dickenson a!

ready had a flock from the same place and
some from New Jersey as early as ]>i ]2.

They were bred here until 1SJ4. by which
time the Hocks numbered ."i.oOO. In that

year a large portion of the Hoik was sum
iiier- d on Mr. Wells's land near Canton, be

ing driven to Steubenville to winter. These
were the parents of all the line sheep of this

region, and (heir wool was made into cloth
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ut the Steubenville mills. They were after-

wards crossed with Saxony sheep and still

further improved until scattered in the

bankruptcy proceedings of 18.'50. Mr. Wells'

descendants still cherish with pride a sil-

ver medal awarded by the Franklin Insti-

tute of Philadelphia to him for the exhibit

of manufactured goods in 1824. About this

time the Brazilian minister to this country
offered as a prize a silver cup for the rain

that would shear the greatest weight of
picklock wool. Believing that his sheep
were as good as any in the country, Mr.
Dickenson selected his ram Bolivar and
took him to Baltimore. The contest took
place in that city on June 1. 1H2<5. and was
won by Bolivar, although he had to com-
pete with the best sheep of the Atlantic-

states, both native and ini|>orted. This
sheep was brought back over the mountains
in a wagon and was one of the principal at-

tractions, in the parade of the following
4th of July
Owing to financial difliculties these docks

were sold at public auction in. Steubenville
in 1830; one thousand two hundred ewes
and wethers of the first and second qual-

ity brought sjtf.ll) per head; live ewes and
five rams of the lop of the Hock brought
an average of $22.50 per head. Buyers at-

tended the sale from all parts of Ohio.
Pennsylvania and western Virginia, and in

this way the Wells and Dickenson sheep
were scattered to improve Ohio wool; for

Ohio wool is grown on the hillsides of
Pennsylvania and West Virginia as well as
here. Specimens of this wool, known as the
Crosskey "clips," have taken medals at

several world expositions.

The first sheep in the county, which came
from Connecticut, New Jersey and Vir-

ginia, were of a rugged character, and gave
great assistance to the settlers in checking
undergrowth. Their wool was made into

hand goods.

In order to remedy as far as possible

the condition of affairs above described,

I'czalcel Wells and Samuel Patterson, of

Steubenville. and James Boss and Henry
Baldwin, of Pittsburgh, formed a partner-

ship for the manufacture of woolen goods
by steam power. They erected a factory on
the north side of Market Street, west of

Seventh, being part of outlot No. 15, a brick

structure 110x28 feet, surmounted by a
spire displaying a golden ball and fleece.

John Hart built the basement story, Har-
rington and Warfield the brick work, and
Nicholas Murray the carpenter work, the

building being three stories high with hip

roof. The building was completed in the

fall of 1814, and early in the spring of 1815
the steam engine was brought from Pitts-

burgh under the supervision of Mr. Latrobe
and placed in position. The boiler was tea

kettle shape and stood on end: the bottom
was concaved for fire-bed; the cylinders,

two in number, stood on end with shackle

Imrs, walking beams and rotary valve.

April 10, 1815, the machinery was started.

The same day Samuel Patterson, one of the

owners, died. Christopher H. Orth, a Ger-

man, was employed as manager with a stip-

ulated salary and one fifth of the profits,

under the firm name of C. H. Orth &
Co. Stibbin Johnson and Adam Wise,
two skilled mechanics in iron and wood,
built the machinery. The carding ma-
chine was twenty-four-inch cylinder for

making rolls and forty-inch spindle for

drawing the rolls into stubbing for the

spinners. The spinning machines, called

jennies, were three in number, one of

forty spindles and two of sixty spin-

dies. William Fisher and Alfred Cooper
ran the billy and Enos Lucas. George
and Peter Dohrman learned to spin,

first, by drawing one thread at a time, so

that in a short time they were able to fill

all the spindles. By this time two broad-

cloth looms were built. John Arthurs and
Robert Semple, hand loom weavers, took

charge of the looms and were the first men
to weave broadcloth by steam power in this

country. It was amusing to see a common
laborer learning to weave. To time his feet

with his hands he had two big trendies

marked hay foot and strawfoot. To raise

the shade for the shuttle to pass through,

he would say up conies sugar, down goes
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gad. In time different men learned to

weave. At first spinning, weaving and
some of the other processes were carried

on by liandi ami steam was applied to the

carding and fulling mill. Spinning jennies

and looms were increased as men were
found competent to operate them, and in

1820 improved machinery was introduced,

the broadcloth looms, jennies, knapping
aud shearing all being done by steam. The
firm of Orth & Co. had ceased to exist and
Boss and Baldwin sold out to Benjamin
Tappan and "William K. Dickenson, the

firm now being styled B. Wells & Co.

Judge Tappan soon retired and the firm

now became Wells &. Dickenson. On .lime

20, 1822, the dwelling house, office and
wareroouis adjoining the factor}' were
burnt but soon rebuilt, and the manufac-
ture of eassimeres and broadcloths was ex-

tensively carried on until March, 1S;U),

when financial difficulties arose, and the

firm made an assignment, Daniel L. Collier

being the assignee. A judgment of $120,-

000 was obtained in the United States
Court, aud U. S. Marshal John S. Patter-

son levied on the property, and everything
went at public sale, including some 4,000

head of sheep sacrificed at the prices quoted
above. Mr. Dickenson went to Texas and
die'd a few years after, while Wells re-

mained a hopeless bankrupt, but with un-

blemished character. It was at this time
thut The Grove property passed into the

hands of (Jen. Samuel Stokely, who with
his descendants occupied it until the win-
ter of 1901-2, when it was sold to the Pope
Tinplate Company. Mr. Wells died on Au-
gust 14, 184(>. The factory remained idle

until 1H32 when James II. Blinn pin-chased

it with all the outbuildings and two and
one-half acres of land from the trustee on
behalf of Christopher 11. Wolcott for

$7,500. Mr. Wolcott put in new machinery
with other improvements, and the hum of
industry was once more heard within the

factory walls. While continuing the manu-
facture of cloth he made a feature of jean-,

for which there was a good demand, and
being of superior quality found a ready

sale. At his death Martin Andrews was
appointed administrator, who operated
the factory through Henry Wolcott, when
it was leased by George 11. Urth, who failed

in 185!), involving quite a number of citi-

zens who had indorsed for him. It lay idle

again until the breaking out of the Civil

\\ ar, when the administrator again took

charge and manufactured army goods. He
sold out to a Mr. Goodale, who operated
until the early morning of April 11, 18b7,

when it caught lire and was entirely de-

stroyed, just fifty years from the day that

the engine first started.

The second factory in Steubenville was a

wooden structure erected west of what is

now Liberty Street, by James Wallace and
Brice Baker. It was called the Union fac-

tory but more popularly known as Bull

Tail factory, from the fact that gentlemen
cows furnished the first power, insteud of

steam, on a tramp wheel. It was first used
by Wise & Johnson in manufacturing ma-
chinery, and used by Orth and Wallace pre-

vious to the erection of their large factory

described below. It passed into the hands
of Benjamin Fags ««d Matthew Steele,

who made carding machines, James L. Mc-
Devitt using the basement as a machine
shop. Samuel Hewitt afterwards pur-

chased the building and used the second
and third stories in the manufacture of

jeans, the lower or basement story being
still retained by McDcvitt and a portion
by James Little in manufacturing gun bar-

rels. Steele & Fagg had erected a three-

story brick building west of and adjoining
the factory where they continued the man-
ufacture of carding machines, there being

a good demand for them at this time.

Francis A. Priest used the lower story for

wood turning, making bobbins, machines,
wheels and reels, so that this was a centre

not only for the manufacture of woolen
goods but of the machinery which made
them. Mr. Hewitt was familiarly known
as "King Sam" from his rather eccentric

disposition, impervious to anything that

could disturb or excite the ordinary indi-

vidual. A story i< told that one day John
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Wallace noticed that the roof of the fac-

tory was on tire, and running up to the of-

fice said to Mr. Hewitt, "your factory is

on fire." Without any sign of emotion he
replied, "Well! Well! if it burns down I'll

build a brick." At another time one of his

employes observed him standing in the

back yard with his hands behind his back
coolly smoking a cigar and looking very in-

tently at the top of the building. He re-

marked to the young man, "I wish you
would go tell McGuintee to go and throw a
bucket of water on that blaze on the roof.

I have been watching it for full fifteen min-
utes and it will neither burn nor go out."
McGuintee threw the water and saved the

building for the time. Whether the calm-
ness on these occasions was due to faith in

an overruling Providence or a large insur-

ance policy we are not informed. Mr.
Hewitt, after several years of successful

business, met with reverses and went to
California, where it was said he accumu-
lated a considerable fortune and paid off

his old Steubenville debts. He died many
years ago. Bennett Reynolds bought the
old factory, and operated it until his death.
Robert Boals conducted carding and spin-

ning in the upper story, while McDevitt
continued his machine shop and Reynolds
made gun barrels below. The building and
contents were entirely destroyed by fire in

1857, and subsequently a three-story brick
was built on the site and operated as a
white lead factory, first by Foster & Hanna
for about eighteen months and then by Mr.
Foster alone. There had previously been
a factory of this kind run by Means &
Scott near the present Means foundry, but
it had quit. M. L. Miller succeeded Foster,
and carried on an extensive business for

eight years, turning out 150 to 200 tons per
annum. The premises were afterwards
rented to Messrs. Grafton & Hanvey, who
carried on the metal roofing business, and
then sold to F. M. Mooney, who converted
them into a flour mill, turning out 100 to

125 barrels per day. Financial reverses
overtook him in the nineties, and the mill

was shut down and the machinery sold.

It afterwards became an Italian tenement,
and now does duty as a junk warehouse.
The year 1832 was a speculative one.

President Jackson had vetoed the United
States Bank bill, which give the local banks
an opportunity of flooding the country with
a currency, some of which was good, more
of it poor, and some of it worth nothing
at all. This curse lasted until the substi-

tution of Government and National Bank
currency at the beginning of the Civil War.
But the evil effects had not become ap-

parent at the date of which we write.

Money, such as it was, was plentiful, banks
were accommodating and visions of wealth
were as real to the holders of wildcat
money as they are today to the holders of
wildcat oil territory. Manufacturing was
booming, and although railroads were not
then a factor in the West, yet there were
the rivers and canals, with easy and cheap
methods of transportation. At this time
C. H. Orth, James Wallace and Nathaniel
Dike concluded to build a mill which should
excel anything of the kind west of the

mountains. It was located on the corner
of Liberty and Market streets and named
the Ashland, although more commonly
known as Wallace's factor}'. The building
was a four-story brick 180 feet long by 40
wide surmounted by a belfry and weather
vane, the project costing $75,000. It ran
with varying fortunes until the morning
of February 23, 1868, when there was an
alarm of fire, and it was discovered that
the big factory was ablaze. It was filled

with employes, men, women and children

(there were no child labor laws in those

days) and reports were rife of persons en-

tombed in the blazing structure. Fortu-
nately all the inmates got out safely, al-

though there were some narrow escapes.

The fire department of that day was ut-

terly inadequate to cope with a fire of this

character, and a new peril threatened. Di-
rectly back of the blazing building was a
mass of frame structures covering the
shaft of the Steubenville Coal & Mining
Company, and should they ignite nothing
could save the lives of the hundred men

Digitized by Google



284 HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

and boys who bad gone to work in the gal-

leries, all 225 foot underground, and some
of tlieiu three-fourths of a mile from tbo

bottom of the shaft. Under the direction

of Superintendent James II. Blinn firemen
and other citizens fought the flames above
while others entered the mine to give warn-
ing of danger, for word of mouth was the

only way to convey it. William Dixon and
Hugh Sutherin did good service in this di-

rection, while the hoisting cages were run
at the utmost speed until everybody was
oat of the mine. Among those working that

day were John Stewart and his son Will-

iam. The father had lieen crippled by an
accident in a Scottish mine, and they were
in one of the farthest workings when warn-
ing was received. They started for the

shaft but the prospect of reaching it in time
was very discouraging. While the son as-

sisted the father's feeble stops they were
passed on the way by men and boys who
urged them to hasten if they would save
their lives. This increased their excite

meat, hindering them rather than assist

ing them. Finully the poor old crippled
father sank hy the way, and resigning him-
self to what seemed to bo his fate urged his

son to leave him and seek his own safety.

"I'm auld and crippled, Willie, and of nae
account in the warl : nae worth ony sacri-

fice; gang awa an save your sol or we'll

baith perish. You are young and strung
an may have mony years tae live; gang
awa, Willie, an save yoiirsel, I canna
cooni." "I wanna le yo, I'nytlier. ( '00111.

I'll help you alang, an we'll baith get out."
was the reply. After repeated efforts the

old man was induced to try again, but -auk
down in despair, and in most piteous ac

cents in his broad Scotch dialect urged his

son to leave him and seek his own safety.

Paying no attention to the old man's im-

portunities, William would again, with en-

couraging words and earnest pleadings,

get the old man up and make a little more
progress towards the shaft, which they
reached after considerable toil and were
hoisted to safety. There was no hero fund
in those days, but there were heroes. For-

tunately the shaft buildings, although
scorched, were not burned. James Wal-
lace rebuilt the mill two stories high in-

stead of four, the lower walls being ust$l

and installed up to date machinery. He
retained an iuterest in the mill until his

death in 1871, after which it was carried
on by his sons until 1877 when this struc-

ture burned, and was never rebuilt, the

knell of the woolen industry in Steuben-

ville was sounded. Its site is now covered

by dwellings.

James Dillon had a small woolen mill in

a frame building on Washington Street

below Third in 1830. operated by a tramp
wheel. David Kennedy had a small estab-

lishment where he manufactured figured

coverlets and fine figured woolen carpets
at $1.2") per yard.

Armstrong & Xorthrup in 18.14-5 built

a jeans factory on South Fifth Street on
a lot previously occupied by Mr. Wampler
as a tannery. They operated until 1837

when the stringency of the times compelled
them to close down.
The original Franklin factory was lo-

cated on Seventh Street between Adams
and South, and was started by Benjamin
Uipsloy, William B. Hawkins, Thomas
Fgnn. Alfred Cooper and William Eaken,
under the name of llipsley, Hawkins & Co.

They were succeeded by Smith, McKllrath
& Co., ami then by Yiers & Beatty, who con-

tinued until their failure about 1844. The
machinery was sold and taken away, and
the building was afterwards purchased by
(ieorge D. McKinucy and converted into a
pinning mill. About 18G0 it passed into the

possession of Lewis Anderson and brother

William and then to sons of the former.

It was filial ly torn down and a large wall

paper manufactory erected on its site by
.1. II. Timberlake, John W. Fornix, John
H. Kendall and others composing a local

company. After operating a couple of

years the plant was sold to a Chicago com-
pany, by whom it is now operated.

Robert C. Peters built a frame woolen
mill on South Fifth Street opposite the old

graveyard, from which it took the name
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Golgotha factory, or place of the skull.

Peters was succeeded by Foster & Beatty,
Gibson, Price, Loft and perhaps one or two
others. It finally went out of business and
tbe building was then converted by J.

I lineman into a soap factory wbich was
operated for a number of years by him and
George M. Cummins.
Alexander McDowell erected a small

woolen factory on Water Street near
Adams, whicb went down with so many
others in the panic of 1837. William Ken-
yon, an expert Knglish machinist, pur-
chased the property in 1848 and converted
it into a machine shop, where he carried

on a large business for many years. He
was the inventor of a combined machine
for cutting gas pipe and cutting the thread,

and also a patent wrench and the modern
coffee grinder. After his death the estab-

lishment was conducted by his son until

1877. Before Kenyon's purchase, William
Whan occupied this property for a short

time as a foundry. It was afterwards pur-
chased by J. H. Warner and operated by
himself and heirs, but finally closed down
and the site was used for other purposes.

Wells, Henry & Co., in 1836-7, built a
mill at Rockville below town for the manu-
facture of jeans which flourished for a
number of years despite the hard times.

Henry was salesman and general manager,
and becoming financially involved the
works went under. A knit 1844 Justin G.
Morris, 1). Foster and Samuel Hunter
bought the property and converted it into a
window glass factory, but failed for want
of experience. The building stood for some
fifteen years longer when it was torn down,
and was afterwards replaced by the hoist-

ing house of the Borland coal shaft.

About the year 1850 James L. McDevitt,
who, as we have seen, occupied the base-
ment of the Union mill, built a three-story
brick structure at the head of Adams
Street, south side. He leased the upper
stories to George Orth, for the manufac-
ture of woolen goods, while he carried on
his old trade of machinist in the basement.
The building was destroyed by lire in July,

1856, but through the assistance of friends

it was rebuilt and better equipped than
ever. It was operated with indifferent suc-

cess until the Civil War, when John Mc-
Feely became associated with McDevitt and
the partnership did a large business, main-
ly in the production of flannels. After the

war the factory remained idle most of the

time with spasmodic efforts at operation,

the lower story being occupied by Robin-
son & Irwin as a machine shop until they
removed to their present quarters at

Adams Street and Pan Handle Railroad.
The building was then converted into a
barn, warehouse and stable, and during
this period was twice gutted by fire in 1893

and 1895, fortunately leaving the walls in-

tact. After Mr. McDevitt 's death the prop-
erty was acquired by McFeely Bros., who
converted it into a planing mill, where they
now cany on a large business.

While we have enumerated above the

leading woolen mills of the city, eleven in

number, yet this does not represent the

whole of this industry. Even though steam
was nsed as early as 1815 in the original

factory, yet hand looms were in common
use for many years, and at the foot of the

householder's lot, was frequently noticed

a small building containing one or more
hand looms, and sometimes they were lo-

cated in the dwelling. That section of the

city west of Fifth Street and south of Mar-
ket was popularly known as Jeantown
from the number of looms in operation

making this variety of cloth. Then there

was carpet weaving carried on by Kdward
Marion, Samuel McMillan, William Beer-

bower, Alexander Meikle and others, all of

whom have passed away and left no suc-

cessors.

About the years 1824-5 David Larimore,

Culp & Co. built a cotton factory on the

northwest corner of Adams and W'ater

streets, which was quite prosperous and
gave employment to a large number of

hands. It burned down in 1833, and was
never rebuilt.

In 1S26 William Gwynn erected a large

cotton factory at the foot of Washington
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Street, called the Arkwright, which long
remained one of the important industries

of the city. It was convenient to the river

landing where cotton could be received
from steamers and the finished product
shipped in the same manner. At one time
the working force numbered three or four
hundred, largely girls and boys. Mr.
Gwynu was succeeded by ]>ike & Laughlm,
followed by Hunter & Norton and then by
Warner, Brown & Co. In 1844 James II.

Warner, a Cincinnati iron man. came to

Steubenville and bought out the interest of

Mr. Brown, who was a resident of Cleve-
land. From that time until 1867 the fac-

tory was operated by O. E. & J. II. War-
ner. In the latter year a Mr. Sanford came
here from Providence, R. I., and in con-

junction with Mr. Warner the factory was
enlarged to double its former size, new ma-
chinery added and everything put in first

class condition. A successful future was
anticipated and everybody was waiting for

the sound of the familiar whistle, when
there was a disagreement of some sort

among the interested parties. Mr. Sanford
went away and the factory never resumed
operations. The machinery was sold to

Thatcher Bros., of Chicago, who removed
it thither in 1872, and the big building lay

idle for several years when it was leased

by the Ohio, Pennsylvania & West Virginia
Wool Growers' Association, a farmers' co-

operative institution, which used it as a
warehouse and centre, both for collection

and distribution of the wools of this sec-

tion. In 1882 the building was purchased
by the Ohio Valley Clay Company, was re-

modeled and further enlarged. This com-
pany went into the manufacture of glass-

house pots, tanks, furnace bricks and glass-

house supplies generally, which are shipped
all over North and South America. The
product is turned out from domestic and
German clay, and the business has so in-

creased as to necessitate successive en-

largements both north and south of Wash-
ington Street until there is now a frontage
of 778 feet on Water Street and a floor

space of ten and one-half acres, making it

the largest establishment of the kind in

the world. The present officers ure, J. W.
Gill, president; R. 1.. Brownlee, vice presi-

dent; George W. Cochran, secretary and
treasurer; J. .1. Gill, George W. McCook,
S. C. Gill, directors. The capital stock is

$300,000. and the establishment employs
175 men. The two sections of the works
north and south of Washington Street are
connected by a large steel annex carried

over the street above grade.

IRON AND STEEL.

The Tubal Cain of Jefferson County is

unknown. It is said that nails were made
by hand here as early as 1803, which is

very probable, but the first record we have
of a nail cutting machine is from Warren
Township in a case before a special term
of the Common Pleas Court on August 20,

1808, entitled "The State of Ohio vs.

Joshua Kelly." The defendant was com-
mitted by Robert McCleary, Justice of the

Peace, for stealing part of a machine for
cutting nails. After examination the com-
mitment was adjudged illegal and highly
improper, and it was ordered that he be
discharged. Unfortunately we do not have
the name of the alleged owner of the ma-
chine in which Kelly may have had at least

an interest. We do know, however, that in

1811, Andrew and Robert Thompson had a
nail manufactory in Steubenville with Will-

iam Kilgore and Hugh Sterling as work-
men. Their machines were operated by
bond power and their establishment con-

tinued until 1817 when it went out of busi-

ness. Before this latter event happened
Arthur M. Phillips aud Robert Carroll es-

tablished a foundry on the river bank be-

tween North and Dock streets. Phillips

had conic to Steubenville from Carlisle,

Pa., in ]N07. He was a blacksmith by trade,
but being progressive developed into a ma-
chinist. His First productions were hollow
ware and grate castings, but soon boring
was added by means of horsepower. When
the stc;innt " Bezaleel Wells" was building
in 1S1!» •_'() he received orders for the ma-
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chiuery including his first steam engine.

The tribulations of that steamer on her
maiden trip have been related and notwith-

standing some drawbacks the work was
considered a success, and besides furnish-

ing machinery for the boats built at Steu-

benville orders were received from Wheel-
ing and other points. In this foundry Will-

iam McKinley, Sr., father of President
McKinley, worked in the early twenties.

The property was subsequently purchased
by James Means, and subsequently largely

developed by his sons, Joseph, James and
John P., turuing out everything in the

foundry line with steam engines, sewer
pipe presses and all kinds of machinery.
On December 31, 1898, a new company was
organized by C. J. Davis and others which
purchased the works and has since oper-

ated the concern. It rightly lays claim to

being the oldest foundry and machine
works in Ohio and is being rebuilt at

Toronto.
The Ohio foundry was established by

William L. Sharp in 1847 west of the pres-

ent Market Street coal shaft on the site of

a former tannery, making plows and
stoves, being the pioneer establishment of
that kind in this sectiou. George Craig
was a partner for several years, the firm

name being Sharp & Craig. Mr. Sharp
continued the business under his own name.
In the early days the product of the plant

wais shipped to New Orleans and inter-

vening towns on flat-boats. The greater
part of it, however, was sold in the neigh-

boring towns and country districts, and
often a stove or plow was exchanged for a

horse. When a number of horses had been
accumulated by these exchanges, they were
taken overland to Philadelphia and sold or
exchanged for iron, which had to be hauled
back over the mountains. About 1S(»0 the

plant was moved to Fifth Street, north of
Market, and gradually a large business was
built up not only of heavy foundry work
but enameled work in stoves, mantels and
fire fronts. While there the establishment
suffered severely from fires, and was al-

most completely destroyed in 1891. About

I860 George L. Sharp, son of the proprie-

tor, was made a partner, the firm name be-

ing W. L. Sharp & Son, the establishment
retaining the name of Ohio Foundry which
it held from the beginning. Needing more
ground and better transportation facilities

after the fire of 1891 a large tract was pur-

chased at the corner of the P., C, C. & St.

L. Railroad and Slack.Streets, where were
erected modern buildings equipped with the

latest and best machinery that could be de-

vised. The largest building, the moulding
department, is 400 feet by 70 feet, besides

four other large buildings used in connec-
tion with the various processes of manufac-
ture. A railroad switch is run into the

main building where cars are loaded for

shipment, and coal, coke and iron are un-

loaded, thus affording the greatest econ-

omy in arrangement. A store and ware-
house were conducted at Market Street and
when that building was burned in October,

18U5, it was decided to conduct all business

at the works. Alexander B., son of 0. E.
Sharp, entered the firm in 1893, and the es-

tablishment is conducted as the Ohio Foun-
dry Company, the original proprietor be-

ing deceased. This plant employs about
200 hands, and is one of the leading indus-

tries of the city.

In 18f>(> Frnzier, Kilgore & Co. erected a
rolling mill then south of the city for the

manufacture of bar iron and nails. They
operntod it until 1859 when the property
was purchased by Spaulding, Woodward
& Co., a firm composed of David Spauld-
ing. S. II. Woodward, Calvin B. Doty, Will-

iam K. E. Elliott, John McClinton, llolston

'Harden, Henry Wallace and others.

Messrs. Spaulding, Doty, Elliott and Mc-
Clinton took up their residence in Steu-
benville, Mr. Spaulding becoming business
manager, Doty superintendent of the nail

factory, and Elliott of the boiling or pud-
dling department. The War of the Rebel-
lion gave a great impetus to the irou busi-

ness, and a rapid enlargement of the works
followed, including the erection of a pair
of blast furnaces, sinking of coal shaft,

building of coke ovens, etc. About 1882 the
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partnership became a corporation under
the name of t)ie Jeft'ersou iron Works Com-
pany, with a capital of $800,000, and the

stock selling at 115. A steel plant was
added, and in 18W the works had a capac-

ity of 10,000 kegs of steel nails per week,

besides their other products. At this time

Mr. Spnulding retired from the company
and in lss;! organized a new company
which huilt the Spauldiug Iron Works at

Brilliant, whose forge department with

twenty furnaces produced fifty tons of

muck iron per day for shipment, and the

seventy eight nail machines 4,500 kegs of

steel nails. This establishment ran several

years when financial difficulties closed it.

In the meantime the LaBelle Iron Works
t'ompany. of Wheeling, composed largely

of the same men who once owned the Jef-

ferson, purchased Ihe latter property with

a large tract of ail.jacent territory, bringing
the area of the grounds up to J '_'.'> acres,

and proceeded to the erection of one of Ihe

largest iron and steel plants in the country.

The capital has been gradually increased

until it is now $10,000,000, and the stock

sells considerably above par. The com-
pany owns and operates its own ore and
coal mines, coke plants, limestone deposits,

blast furnaces, steel plant, finishing depart
meiits. consisting of universal and sheared
plate mills, sheet mills, pipe mills, corru-

gating and galvanizing departments, nail

factory and auxiliary departments such as

foundry machine shop. etc. It also has its

own steamers on the lakes for transporting
ore, and with the exception of short rail

transportation across the state of Ohio ab-

solutely handles and controls its raw prod-

uct from the Minnesota mines to the fin-

ished product at the mill. It has three

mines in the Mesaba district, La Belle,

Miller and AYacootah, the last named hav-

ing a record of 4,6(50 gross tons or li.>.*> car-

loads of ore per day. The coke plant is

located at LnBelle, Pa., in the < 'onnellsville

district, from which shipment can be made
direct to the mill either by rail or water,
as both the coke plant and Steubenville

properties extend to the river banks. As

heretofore described, the coal plant is di-

rectly under and around the mill, with a
supply of this fuel sufficient for a hundred
years to come simply at eost of excavation.

Xatural gas is convenient for any special

work, and the company has a fair supply
from a leased well on Water Street, Steu-
benville, and elsewhere. When the first

blast furnace was erected on the Jefferson

plant it had a capacity of 00 to 100 tons per
week. The present furnaces have a capac-

ity of 400 Puis each per day. A few years
ago pig metal was casl in sand casting beds
on the ground, now the molten melal is car-

ried by a huge ladle to the moulding ma
chine, and, except in the case of reserved
stock, the liery mass is carried directly

on to the open hearth department, to be
converted into bessemer. The mill oper-
ates ten open hearth furnaces with a capac-

ity of 1,500 tons daily. From here the steel

ingots are conveyed to the soaking pit, and
hence by electrical apparatus to the bloom-
ing mill, where they are rolled to size for
shearing into slabs, or billets. Here nre
also three plate mills for rolling car and
ship plates, skelp, sheet and tin bars. In

addition are two three-high sheared plate

mills with a daily capacity of 450 gross
Ions. The tube works comprising the pipe
mill proper, coupling shop, galvanizing de-

partment and warehouse, cover a space of
four city blocks. The new sheet depart-
ment recently built covers an area of ten
acres and consists of two jobbing and eight
sheet mills, having a total capacity of 6,500
tons monthly with facilities for galvaniz-
ing and corrugating. The yard trackage
of the establishment aggregates forty-two
miles and it operates eleven locomotives
in addition to two maintained by the rail-

roads for the exclusive use of the plant.

Three powerful locomotive cranes also
make part of the equipment. The foundry,
laboratories and all other departments are
completely up to date. The office building
is a handsome three-storv structure at the
foot of Third Street. The first floor con-

tains reception hall and private offices, sec-

ond, various departments including tele-
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phono exchange and telegraph offices, and
the tliird, draughting and purchasing de-

partments, and restaurant for officials and
clerks. Both Pennsylvania and Wabash
railway systems pass directly through the

plant, and are connected up with the yard
system, and there is a water frontage of

about half a mile. The company also has
two skelp mills and a factory for the man-
ufacture of cut nails at Wheeling, and sales

offices in New York, Philadelphia, Detroit,

Pittsburgh, Chicago, St. Louis, New Or-
leans. Denver, San Francisco, Portland,

Ore., Billings, Mont., Boston, St. Paul and
Montreal. During the panic year, 1908, the

works continued in operation, and the com-
pany employs some 4,000 men, with a
monthly payroll of $200,000. It would re-

quire four hundred cars to haul the aggre-

gate production of the different mills and
furnaces, outside the output of the ore

mines aud coke ovens. The following fig-

ures represent the average for each day of

twenty-four hours:

STKl HKNV1I.U. IVIII1KS.

(Iruas

tone

Pit; Iron 850
Biisio Opt-n Ht-arlli St.'el Ingots l,25o

Rillcts nml Slabs 1,000

.Hhwt 700
rimnrml Plates 4S0
Shoarr.l Ptotw 250
Haaio Ojjod Hearth ;in.l H»«wnior Steel Sk.-I]. jr.O

Merchant Pi|«? 230
line Pijw and < '»i?«iii>c l.">0

Sheets, HlH. k i,n<l Onlviiniw.! 200

WIIKKMXi WORKS.
(Sroas

tons,

.skelp. Nuil i.n.1 Turk Plate 250
Cut Nnil*. i-vitv style (kcjp l'

rr t,ll> > 1 ,«0«

The present board of directors is com-

posed of Isaac M. Scott, president : \V. D.

Crawford, vice president; D. J. Sinclair,

A. II. Woodward. George Greer, W. S.

Foltz, Edward Ha/lett, II. C. Franzheiin,

Hon. N. E. Whitaker. J. J. Holloway, W.
II. Hearne.
Adjoining the LaBelle property on the

north arc the works of the Pope Tin Plate

Company, a comparatively modern enter-

prise but conducting an extensive trade.

This company was organized in the sum-
mer of 1901 the first ground being broken
for the erection of buildings on September
12 of that year and operations started July
9, 1902. It occupies the site of the old

Wells-Stokely manor, one of Steuben ville's

historic places which had to give way to

commercialism. The plant consists of

twelve hot and ten cold mills and their tin

house equipment of sixteen tinning pots. A
1 ,400-horsepower Corliss engine is re-

quired to operate the hot mills and a 1,000-

horsepower Buckeye engine pulls the cold

mills. The power transmission is by the
rope method with a large wheel 25 feet in

diameter ami II feet across its face, weigh-
ing 125 tons. Their annual product ap-
proximates 700,000 boxes of tin amounting
to over $3,000,000. Their tin is used in

making tin cans and hollow ware of all

kinds, while the black plate is largely con-

sumed by stamping works for metal ceil-

ings, etc., where high grade flexible steel

is required. It also enters into the manu-
facture of euumel kitchen ware, lacquer
ware, etc. Its product is shipped to all

points in the United States and many for-

eign countries, including China, Japan,
India ami the Philippines. Six years ago
this company employed about 400 men, but
with the heavy demand for the product
this number has been increased from time
to time until at the present over 800 ex
perienced workmen are employed at the

highest prevailing wages. Additional
ground has been purchased for enlarge-
ments which may be needed in the near
future.

About 1828 Mr. Lindsay made hand
nails on Market Street, second door above
W. & L. E. R. R., now Melching's cigar
store. His spikes were used in steam boats.

James Means in 18,'tt) had a foundry on
Alley A about where the W. & L. E. pas-
senger station now stands.

On May 26, 18G9, a corporation under
the name of Mingo Iron Works Company
purchased from Daniel Potter and wife
thirty and three-quarters acres of what
was known as the Potter farm at Mingo.

Digitized by Google



HISTORY OF JE1-FEUSON COUNTY

and soon thereafter proceeded to sink a

coal shaft, construct coke ovens and erect

a blast fnrnace. That concern merged
afterwards into the Junction Iron & Steel

Company, which added to the two blast fur-

naces then in operation a bar mill and nail

factory, and subsequently a steel plant,

then one of the best in the country. It

contained three cupolas, two five-ton con-

verters and blooming mill, making 275 tons

per day. The nail factory had 1*20 machines
with a weekly product of 6,000 kegs. In

the spring of 1897 the .i-Etna Standard Iron

and Steel Company purchased the proiv
erty, procuring additional property and
making further enlargements, including a

continuous mill and two additional finish-

ing mills. From them the property passed
into the hands of the Carnegie combina-
tion which lias continued the enlargements
and improvements until the plant, which
now has an area of some fifty acres, is one
of the best in the valley. At present the

plant is confined to the production of lies

seiner steel, and operates four blast fur-

naces, two continuous mills, two blooming
mills, besides the Bessemer mill, a capacity
of over 500,000 tons vearlv, cmploving
2.000 hands.

The Steubenville Furnace & Iron Com-
pany was organize* I in 187- by John II.

Hawkins, John McFeely and others. It

acquired the property of the Brilliant Coal
Company, which included about thirty-nine

acres of land at the north end of the city

with an unfinished coal shaft, and pro
••ceded to erect a blast furnace and com
plete the shaft which was afterwards
known as the gravel shaft. It was not a

paying business for the original projectors,

chiefly because of discrimination in rail-

toad rates, for those were the days of re-

hates and absence of any legal regulation.

Nevertheless it continued in almost con-

stant operation for years with an annual
output of 14,000 tons and a weekly pay roll

of $1,100. It was afterwards purchased by
fhe Riverside Iron Company which prac-

tically rebuilt the plant, enlarging its ca-

pacity to modern requirements.

Joseph Beatty & Co., in 187:$, built an
iron works at the mouth of Wills Creek for

the purpose of manufacturing bolts and
similar lines of goods. The place was called

Alikauna, a combination formed from the

Christian names of Alexander Beatty and
wife. It passed through various hands and
turned out different products until 1894
when the city of Steubenville acquired the
property for the erection of water works.

Reference has already been made to the

Irwin and .Jefferson machine shops and to

these may be added the boiler works of
Alonzo Cady, also devoted to oil well

supplies.

Although without the boundary of Jeffer-

son County yet the Follansbee Tin Plate
Works, directly opposite the lower end of
Steubenville, may be considered for all

practical purposes as a local manufactory,
the Ohio River bridge giving close and
speedy connection with the city. They were
erected in 190.'5-4 hv Follansbee Bros., of
Allegheny, Pa., and include a hot mill build-

ing 800 feet in length, with an average
width of 70 feet, annealing building 440
feet by 70 feet, pickling building 440 feet

by 50 feet, tin house 440 feet- by 50 feet,

box house 150 feet by 40 feet, boiler aud
engine rooms 150 feet by 40 feet, and with
a number of other buildings and freight

yards covering in all about ten acres along
the lines of the Pennsylvania and Wabash
railroad s\ stems, equipped with modern
machinery, powerful electric cranes, which
carry enormous weights from one end of
the mill to the other with such ease as to

he a source of never ending wonder to the

visitor. These works comprise eight hot
mills, seven cold mills, bar mill, eight-ton

hammer, billet furnace, two ingot furnaces
and two melting furnaces. In conjunction
with the plant is a thoroughly equipped
machine shop, a complete foundry and well

arranged laboratories. The yearly prod-
ucts of the plant amount to 40,000 tons of
steel and .50,000 tons of sheet iron and tin

plate. This product is shipped to all parts
of the world, agencies being maintained in

the principal cities of the country. More
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than 750 skilled workmen are employed the

entire year, making an average monthly
payroll of $50,000, an important item to the

commercial interests of this section of the
valley and building up a rapidly growing
suburb of Steubenville. B. G. Follansbee
is president of the company; W. U. Fol-

lansbee, secretary and treasurer; William
Banfield, general manager; Thomas
Rogers, general superintendent; Thomas
Gill, tin house superintendent ; Ernest Der-
went, superintendent steel department, and
W. J. Kirk, office superintendent.

The S. Keighley Metal Ceiling & Manu-
facturing Company is another industry re-

cently removed from Pittsburgh to Fol-

lansbee. The building is a fine concrete
structure, and the product metal ceilings,

window frames, etc., of various designs.

Their sheet steel is mostly procured from
the Follansbee Steel and Tin Plate Com-
pany adjoining the works, and over a hun-
dred skilled workmen are employed here.

Five miles above Steubenville the Clover-

dale plow works were inaugurated in 1888.

After leading a somewhat checkered career

for several years the property was pur-
chased in 1891 by George L. Conn, who has
since conducted a foundry business there.

The property occupies four acres of ground
with suitable buildings where are manufac-
tured stoves of all kinds, grate fronts and
everything in that line. The enterprise

which had been very successful from the

start, was operated under the name of

George L. Foundry Company, but burned
down recently.

In 1869 the Pioneer Iron Company, at a
cost of $130,000, built a rolling mill at the

little town of Huntersville, now Irondale,

on the C. & P. Railroad in Saline Town-
ship, which gave employment to 150 men.
It was followed in 1871 by the Morgan
Iron & Coal Company, which erected a
large blast furnace costing $162,000, giving
employment to 200 men. Both concerns
were operated until after the panic of 1873
when they shut down. It was afterwards
run on a lease for about a year and then
shut down, never to resume. A sheet mill

was afterwards started in the rolling mill

building which was converted into a tin

mill, the only successful one in the United
States at that time. The property was
afterwards acquired by the American
Sheet and Tin Company and by them shut
down and afterwards dismantled. W. H.
Banfield, the manager, subsequently be-

came interested in the Follansbee mill.

A new tin mill is now building in the

Steubenville district which will doubtless
be in operation when this book reaches its

readers. It is located on the river bank
six miles above the city, and Weir City, a
suburb, is already springing up around it.

The cannon balls used in the Battle of

Lake Erie, won by Oliver Perry, were made
in a crude furnace by a Scotchman named
Grant, near Steubenville, but on the east

side of the river, and were conveyed to the

lake on pack-mules.

POTTERIES, FIBS CLAY, SEWEB PIPE ANT)

TEBRA COTTA.

If the manufacture of iron was ancient

the art of pottery antedates it by a long
period. That tribe is savage, indeed, which
has not learned to fashion clay and burn it

into utensils more or less crude. So our
forefathers found this craft among the In-

dian tribes where it had existed from pre-
historic times. But it is as the work of
civilized man in manufactories that we
have to do. The first pottery in the county
seems to have been opened in 1806 by J. C.
Fisher on Market Street, Steubenville, near
the present crossing of the Pan Handle
Railroad. The clay was, of course, domes-
tic and the production was common red
ware, glazed and unglazed. Mr. Fisber
died in about a year and was succeeded by
his son, Thomas, who removed to Adams
Street, and taking Samuel Turr into part-

nership, started a second enterprise on
Market Street between Third and High, on
what became part of the Means estate. He
died shortly after' and the potteries died
with him. Subsequently, about 1830, Jesse
Holder conducted one on Fourth Street,
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site (if I andsey livery stable, but it filially

followed I lie first, and Steuhenville was
witliout a pottery for many years, altliougli

there were developments elsewhere along

the river.

Finally, on November 17, 1871), the Stem
benville Pottery Company was organized

with a capital of ifcl'o.OOO, subsequent Iv in-

creased to $100,000. The first board of di-

rectors was composed of W. B. Donaldson,
president; James Marion, secretary ami
treasurer; W. R. K. Elliott, Alfred Day
and J. B. Salmon. The old batten factory

property was purchased on South Street,

and the erection of a three-kiln pottery

with two small decorating kilns was begun.

Additional kilns were added in 188:*, 188(1

and 188!>, until it had seven large kilns and
six decorating kilns. Sidetracks from the

railroad extend into the buildings and the

company has four acres of floor space. The
company is extensively engaged in the

manufacture of dinner and toilet sets in

seuii-vitrous Canton china, plain and hand-
somely decorated, a specialty being made
of fancy shapes and unique designs. The
demand for the product of this plant

throughout the United States increases

with the years, and at this time it is taxed
to its utmost capacity and still unable to

supply all the orders. Three hundred and
fifty expert workmen are kept busy the en-

tire year, who are paid the highest prevail-

ing wages. The company has its own
cooperage plant where all" the casks and
barrels for the shipping room are made.
The output exceeds $.*>00,000 annually. The
present hoard of directors is made up of

H. D. Wintringer, president and general
manager; R. L. Freudenherger. secretary

and treasurer; B. L. Joyce. II. K. Bu-
chanan, 1). \V. Donaldson.
A few years after llie organization of

the Stenbeiiville Pottery, W. A. Long, who
kept a dmgstore on Market Street, on the

site of the town's original pottery, formed
a company, composed of himself, Alfred
Day and William II. Hunter, for the pur-

pose of making artistic ware similar to the

Rookwood. of Cincinnati. A kiln and build-

ing were erected on the rear of the lot, and
considerable ware was produced which in

design, glaze and finish would stand com-
parison with any other. The firm em-
ployed quite a number of artists and it

looked as though Steubenville might be-

come a centre for this industry. Some
Zanesville parties offered Mr. Long special

inducements to go to that city which he,

thinking to better his financial condition,

accepted. A pottery was built there but
shortly after it was destroyed by a fire

which it was said burned the formula! which
Mr. Long guarded carefully in his desk.
The pottery was rebuilt, but Mr. Long was
no longer a partner.

Somewhat out of chronological order,

but in line with what immediately precedes,
we here refer to the American China Com-
pany's pottery, which is the largest single

industry in Toronto. It was built in 1889,

and is one of the best equipped plants in

America. The three-story brick buildiugs
contain an area of one and one-fourth
acres. There are seven large ware and six

decorating kilns. The product consists of
a high grade white granite and semi-porce-
lain table and toilet ware, both white and
decorated. One of their dinner and tea de-

signs. "Kvangeline," has attained a wide
popularity, with others that might be men-
tioned. The company has offices in all the
leading centres of the country. Thomas
Price is manager.
About the year 1HH> .James (Jisey and

some other Wheeling potters organized a
co-operative company and built a pottery
at Tiltonville, this county, for the manu-
facture of yellow ami Rockingham ware.
They ran a couple of years when the works
were taken over by The Tiltonville Pottery
Company, composed of Wilbur L. Medill
and a number of Wheeling gentlemen.
They added a line of novelties to the out-

put, and operated a couple of years when
the works were leased to John Schneider
& Co., who kept them about a year when
the plant was sold to Francis J. Torrance,
of Pittsburgh, and John and Alfred Roe
and Alfred Mason, of Wheeling, who or-
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gauized the Western Suuitury Ware Com-
pany, and run until the plant*burned down
in 1893. They built a new structure, 280
by 80 feet, but the hard times of 1894 put
them into the bands of a receiver, and Mr.
Mcdill took charge and operated about .six

months when the old company secured an
extension of live years and operated until

the fall of 1897, when it went under again.

Mr. Aledill again ran it for six months
when it lay idle until 1900 when it was sold

to John Don Passos, of New York, who in

turn in 1901 sold it to J. N. Vance & Sons,
Wheeling, who orgauized the Faience Pot-
tery Company, und for a year and a half

turned out a most artistic line of tine ware.
It was then disposed of to The Wheeling
Potteries Company, which has made a
great success in the way of sanitary ware,

bath tubs, etc., employing sixty hands.
The greatest development of the local

clay industry in its various forms has l>een

in the section beginning five or six miles
north of Steubenville and extending to the

upper end of the county, Toronto being the

centre. Thomas Freeman made the first

tire brick in this section previous to 1850,

and George Carlyle and John Francy may
be considered the fathers of the sewer pipe
business. In the later eighties the Xew
Cumberland Fire (May Company opened a
fire brick manufactory below present Cos-
tonia station, which turned out 10,000 vit-

rified brick per day, employing twenty men.
It was popularly known as the Island Sid-

ing Works, and operated until its territory

was exhausted. The Markle works at

Jeddo station were built by The Markle
Fire Clay Company about 1894, and short-

ly after passed into the hands of The Ken-
nedy-Kling Company, which was asso-

ciated with the Toronto Fire Clay Manu-
facturing Company. The buildings are
three stories high and cover a large area.
They were fitted with all modern improve-
ments employing seventy-five men with a
monthly payroll of $3,000. All kinds of
clay products were manufactured and the
shipments reached 1.200 cars per year.
The works were purchased by the Amer-

ican Sewer Pipe Company and shut down
in 1904. The machinery was removed but

the buildings are still standing. Carlyle
& McFadden built the first terra cottn

works in Toronto in 18f>3. Connelly, llood
Ac Co. leased them in 1872, and in 1877 they
were purchased by Carlyle, Connelly & Co.,

who operated until lHSo, when the concern
was incorporated under the name of Penn-
sylvania Manufacturing & Supply Com-
pany. This company made all kinds of
sewer pipe, terra cottn, Hue lining, vases,

etc.. occupying a large two-story frame
building, employing fifty-five men and ship-

ping 000 cars per annum. It was after-

wards operated under the name of Jeffer-

son works by W. V. P. Croskey, C. L.

Young and others until 1893 when the

property was bought by the Toronto Fire
Clay Manufacturing Company, which made
extensive improvements and shipped 1,000

carloads per annum. The march of im-

provement, however, putting it out of date,

it closed, and the property was afterwards
acquired by the Steubenville & Toronto
Railroad, as part of the right of way for

the proposed extension of the Wabash sys-

tem which was never carried out, but sold

to the Pennsylvania Company. W. H. Gar-
lick. Thomas M. Daniels and H. M. Francy
inaugurated the Great Western Fire Clay
Works in 1S79. W. F. Dunspaugh pur-
chased Mr. Garlick's interest in 1881, and
two years later Dunspaugh & Francy
bought out Mr. Daniels. They operated
the works until about six years ago, em-
ploying al>ont a hundred and twenty-five

hands, with a monthly payroll of $fi,000,

and turning out about 3.000 cars of all

kinds of clay products per annum. Most
extensive improvements were made, and
the company owning its day and coal

mines, the plant was peculiarly valuable.

At the time referred to a new factor ap-

peared on the scene, The American Sewer-
pipe Company, whose object was to com-
bine all the clay factories of the country
into a great corporation rivaling the
United States Steel Company. The project
was only partially carried out, but a num-
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ber of factories were purchased, among
them the Great Western. The establish-

ment was closed down for a number of
years, but recently was overhauled and op-

erations renewed. John Francy's Sons &
Co. built the Forest City works in 1874.

John Franey retired iu 1883, leaving W. B.

and E. E. Francy and J. \Y. Roller in con-

trol. Successive enlargements and im-
provements brought the works up to a ca-

pacity of 2.000 cars per annum, employing
110 men with a payroll of $5,000 per month.
They have their own clay and coal mines
at their doors and the yards are provided
with fifteen kilns, the buildings being large
three and four-story structures. This con-

cern was also absorbed by the American
Sewer Pipe Company, which still operates
it. Another plant taken over by the A. S.

J*. Co. was the Ohio Valley at the mouth of
Croxton's Kun, built by Myers, Moore, Mc-
Coy & Eysle. It was originally fire brick

only but changed in 1888 to include sewer
pipe and terra cotta. The mill employs
seventy-five hands and has a payroll of

$3,000 per month, the output being 1,500

cars per annum. Being well equipped in

every way it has continued in operation.

Just above tin's are the immense Calumet
works established by Dr. W. II. Gorlick

and Henry Sizer. The original factory

burned down in 1884, but the plant was re-

built on a larger scale and opened in the

spring of 1885, occupying immense four-

story building equipped with the most ap-

proved machinery for turning out every
size of sewer pipe from two inches up-

wards, terra cotta work, etc., and also

1,500,000 lire brick per annum. There are
twenty-three kilns and the coal and clay

mines are in the yard. The works employ
150 men with a monthly payroll of $7,000
and an annual output of 3,000 cars. The
A. S. P. Co. now operates this plant. About
1870 Klliott & Young built a brick plant
near where the Calumet now stands, the
surrounding hamlet being named Elliotts-

ville. Three years later it was changed
into a sewer pipe manufactory, and in 1876,

was acquired by Patrick Connor, who oper-

ated under the name of Excelsior Sewer
Pipe and Terra Cotta works. He made
continuous enlargements and improve-
ments until the establishment was absorbed
by the trust, when it had 12 kilns, employed
85 hands with a monthly payroll of $3,000.

The new owners operated the works about

at month and then tore them down. The
Freeman Fire Clay Company was inau-

gurated in 186*9 bv the four Freeman Bros.,

J. L., S. D., J. M., and Charles A. They
built two factories at what is now Free-

man's Station about a mile north of Tor-
onto which were opened in 1870, for manu-
facture of all clay products. The firm was
incorporated on March 31, 1881, under the

name of Freeman Fire Clay Company with

C. A. Freeman, president, and J. M. Free-

man, secretary and treasurer. When they
sold out to the Trust the factories had 19

kilns with a capacity of 2,500 cars per an-

niun, and 80,000 square feet of drying floor

area. They employed about 100 men with
a monthly payroll approximating $5,000.

The A. S. P. Co. dismantled the lower plant

keeping the upper in operation, mainly on
paving brick. In this connection we may
notice the Empire Fire Clay Companv or-

ganized February- 11, 1885, by W. H. Gar-
lick, S. B. Goucher, Samuel McAdoo, Frank
Bowles and W. (toucher, all of Toronto
with a capital of $50,000. The works were lo-

cated at Empire, three miles above, and
soon had 75 men at work turning out sewer
pipe, terra cotta, etc, at the rate of 1,800

carloads per annum. When the A. S. P.

Company purchased these works they

operated them for a while and then dis-

mantled. To sum up when the American
Sewer Pipe Company entered this terri-

tory it acquired eight plants employing
about 800 men. with a monthly pay roll ag-

Krcgating $34,500 and an annual output of

J6.S00 cars. As noticed it closed some of

the plants, but their output was probably
made up by the others.

The Toronto Fire (May Company con-

trolled by Edward Nicholson manufac-
tures a high grade of building and paving
brick. Mr. Nicholson also controls plants
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at Port Homer and Steubenville. Bush
Run has also been a favorite locality for

manufacturing brick.

A comparatively recent Toronto estab-

lishment was erected about six years ago by
William and Frank Myers under the name
of Myers Clay Manufacturing Company.
Two years later it was acquired by the

Kaul-Ober Kirk Company who further im-
proved it, and the establishment is one of

the largest and up-to-date in the town hav-
ing 17 kilns and everything else in propor-
tion.

Porter, Minor & Company about thirty

years ago erected two buildings at the

lower end of Empire, where they employed
forty men and turned out about 7,000 brick

per day. Samuel Minor succeeded the

above firm, and the works burned down
but were rebuilt. They subsequently passed
into the hands of Stow, Fuller & Company,
who have trebled their capacity, making a
specialty of odd sizes of brick for cupola
and other purposes requiring the finest

grades.

The Congo works were another impor-
tant factory here built in July, 1888, and
turning out 15,000 to 20,000 brick per day.
They are now on the opposite side of the

river. Stratton, Ilinkle & Stratton built the

Nonesuch works in 1888, with a capacity of
36,000 brick per day. The concern has de-

veloped into the Stratton Fire Clay Com-
pany having three large plants.

Samuel and Adam Minor began fire clay

operations at Hammondsville in the early
fifties being soon joined by William H.
Wallace. Then Adam Minor organized at

Irondale, the Minor Fire Brick Company
including John Williams, James McBaue
and Hugh McBane. They operated a few
years and then sold out to the Wallace
Brothers, but the latter were not success-

ful. The works burned down but were re-

built under the management of William
Downer, Sr. Thev operated a hand plant
until 1893, when the Wallaces failed.

Downer leased the plant in 1895 and ran it

about a year when it was purchased by
Adolph Pritchau, who also operated about

a year, when William Downer, James Pais-

ley and James Baxter, under the name of
the Furnace Fire Clay operated it for about
two years, afterwards Capt. John Porter
for three years. It was remodeled and
greatly enlarged in 1903, and burned down
just when the improvements were com-
pleted. It is now controlled by the Stand-
ard Fire Brick Company made up of Cap-
tain Porter and Carnegie steel men. They
then erected a clay grinding plant with a
capacity of 500 tons per day, operated by
Porter & Mclnteer, which still exists.

In 1890 the Wallaces erected fire brick

works at Hammondsville employing fifteen

men and turning out 4,000 to 8,000 brick

per day. They also had an extensive coal

mine and coking plant. In the former was
found a stone with peculiar markings which
the miners took to be of artificial or super-

natural origin, and which for a time at-

tracted the attention of scientists. It was
probably a variety of sigillaria or stig-

maria.

Capt. William Lacey set up brick works
between Hunterville and Hammondsville
about 1852, and operated the same about
twelve years, when they were purchased by
Adam Pritchau. They have been succeeded

by E. S. McLane, who ships about 800 cars

per annum.
In 1902, William H. Banfield, who was

a large land owner at Irondale united with

Frederick Owesney and Alfred Freeman
of Steubenville, and organized the East
Ohio Sewer Pipe Company. They started

with eighteen kilns and now have twenty-

three from which they ship about 1,500

cars per annum. The company has a su-

perior bed of fire clay yet untouched twelve

feet thick at a depth of ninety feet, and is

preparing to make extensive improvements.
A small establishment was erected a few

years ago on Wells's Run in Steubenville

for making a superior fine brick from the

grindings of spawls, but lack of capital

caused the abandonment of the enterprise.

S. C. Pugh. of the Elastic Pulp Plaster

Company, of Warren, O., came to Steuben-
ville in 1903 and opened a branch estab-
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lishmeut on Hit? Pan Handle Railroad north
of Logan street. In 1905, Mr. Freeman
having sold out his interest in the East
Ohio Sewer Pipe Company, joined with
others in purchasing the plaster works and
a new wrporation was formed under the

name of Ohio Plaster & Supply Company,
which has built up quite a business in fur-

nishing modern house plastering and eon-

ducting a general jobbing business in

builders' supplies, giving employment to

ten men.
It would be foreign to this work to go into

iletiiils concerning the clay manufactories
on the West Virginia side of the river, but

it is not putting it too strong to give Jeff-

erson County as the centre of the clay in-

dustry of the United States. In this con-

nection it may be of interest to state that

the average Toronto sewer pipe has stood

a crushing test of 12,000 pounds as against

the average of others of 10,2<>0 pounds. In

a hydraulic test the Toronto pipe stood a
test of 112 pounds per square inch as

against other averages of 52 pounds which
accounts for the fact that in twenty years
the shipments grew from 500 cars per an-

num to over 20,000, and the demand is in-

creasing each year from all parts of the

country.

TUK GLASS lNDl STltV.

Reference has already been made to the

efforts of Hunter, Morris and Foster in the

manufacture of window glass at Rockville,

but their business closed in a few years.

The pioneers in this industry seem to have
been Kilgore and llanna who built a fac-

tory in 1830, but it ran only a short time.

In 1845-40. Joseph Beatty and Edward
Stillnian built a glass factory on Benton
street fronting the river. In a short time
they sold out to David and Xcill Hull, who
were succeeded by Knowles & Company,
after which the main building was con
verted into a private dwelling, which still

stands. Mpssrs. Beatty and Stillman built

a new establishment on Third street be-

tween South and Slack, where they made
all kinds of table ware. Jn 1852, the works

were purchased by A. J. Beatty under
whom the business increased to such an
extent that in 1862 the old buildings were
torn down, and in place of them with their

single stack new ones with two stacks and
four times their capacity were erected.

From miscellaneous ware they were di-

verted exclusively to the manufacture of

tumblers, employing about 160 hands, and
turning out 36,000 tumblers per day which
was not only more than were made any-

where else in the United States but equal

to all the rest combined. They were shipped

to all parts of the world, and competed suc-

cessfully with English products in the lat-

ter 's own market. Upon the death of Mr.
Beatty his sons Robert J., and George suc-

ceeded to the business and made of it even

more of a success than their father. About
1887, attracted by a bonus of $50,000 and
other inducements with offer of free gas

for full tive years, the owners removed the

works to Findlay, O., where they operated

until the gas supply failed. The original

factory stood until a couple of years ago.

when it was torn down to make way for

dwellings.

In 1*70 a stranger arrived in Stenben-

ville claiming to have invented a mowing
and reaping machine superior to anything

of the kind then on the market, both in

simplicity of construction and the work it

was expected to perform. He desired to

organize a stock company for the manu-
facture of these machines, and the project

meeting with favor, an organization was
effected under the name of the Acme
Mower and Reaper Company, ground pur-

chased and works erected on Franklin av-

enue adjoining the P. C. & St. L. Ry. At
tirst the prospects were good, the new ma-
chines appeared to be all that was claimed

for them, ami their market appeared to be

all right. But litigation arose concerning

the validity of the patent, and the works
stopped. There was also litigation among
the stockholders, and finally the works were
dismantled, and in 1874 they were sold to

a Pittsburgh glass company under the

linn name of Reddick, McKee & Com
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puny. This company built a furnace ad-

joining, which stood on the .site of the pres-

ent extensive buildings. The factory was
only operated by this timi about six weeks
when they were obliged to shut down tem-
porarily. In September of the same year
the factory was purchased by the firm of

Gill, Mitchell & Company., composed of

James "W. Gill one of the present owners;
M. C. Mitchell, and several of the origiual

partners. The business was conducted un-

der this name for several mouths, until the

spring of 1875, Mr. Mitchell retired and
Gill, Mitchell & Company were succeeded
by Gill Brothers & Company, composed of
Joseph J. Gill, Samuel C. Gill aud James
W. Gill. When they took possession, the
Acme Glass "Works consisted of one small
eleven pot furnace and the old Acme Mower
and Reaper Works buildings, which were
utilized for the other departments of the
glass factory. In 1877 an additional furn-

ace of thirteen pots was built and the build-

ings were enlarged. From that time the
business continued to increase steadily,

and in 1887 it became necessary to erect

another furnace of sixteen pots, which is

one of the largest glass furnaces now in use
in the United States.

In 1900 owing to greatly increased busi-

ness, it again became necessary to enlarge
the manufacturing capacity and a fourth
furnace was built containing fourteen pots.

This was placed in a building erected ex-

pressly for the purpose. In 1901 the pres-

ent corporation. Gill Brothers Company,
was organized succeeding the firm, and is

officered by James W. Gill, president; J.

L. Holton, vice-president; Henry B. Grier,
secretary, ami James Ilogan, treasurer.
Since that time the growth of business has
made further enlargements necessarv, and
in 1904 the Toronto Glass Works was built

and has since then been in constant oper-
ation, the entire product of both factories

being disposed of as fast as it is made. The
goods manufactured consist exclusively of
lamp chimneys, Intern globes, silvered

glass reflectors and electrical glass-ware.
My constant experiments made by ex-

perienced managers, the quality of the glass

turned out has been greatly improved since

the firm started, and the Acme glass now
has a reputation for high merit which ex-

tends all over the world. Not only does the

market for the Acme product extend from
one end of the country to the other, but a
large export business has been built up,

and the firm is shipping its wares to all

parts of the world and competing with
foreign manufacturers in their own mar-
kets. The capacity of the works is from
six to eight hundred thousand lamp chim-

neys per week, and when running full about
twelve hundred hands are employed. The
employees have nearly all grown up in the

factory and are not only good citizens but

are known everywhere as the best glass

makers in this countrv.

The Steubeuville Flint Glass Bottle Com-
pany was organized in 1882 by Henry P.

Selmellbaeh, Valentine Hummel and sev-

eral others. They purchased a tract front-

ing on Seventh street between North and
Logan, and built a factory with a ten-pot

furnace. Three years after the concern

was jsold to The Sumner Glass Company,
a cooperative organization made up of

glass blowers from Sharpslmrg, Pa. They
erected an additional twelve pot furnace

and continued the manufacture of flint

glass bottles for a number of years after

which the works lay idle for awhile. In

190:5 the Jefferson Glass Compauy was in-

corporated with a capital of $50,000 and
purchased the establishment and enlarged

its facilities, especially by the construction

of the dry tank. They went into the manu-
facture of crystal, colored and opalescent

table ware, lemonade sets and novelties

decorated in gold and enamel. By 1907

tlieii business bad increased to such an ex-

tent as to require additional room, which
not being obtainable in the city they moved
over to Follansbee where they have erected

a main building *_>.'IOx3(iO feet and employ
300 men. The city works were leased to the

Imperial (Mass Company, of Beaver Falls,

Pa., which occupied them until their de
struction by tire in 190S. The ground is
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now occupied by the Moscl Johnson whole-
sale Grocery, Pitzimmons Lumber Com-
pany and Alexander Storage < 'oinpany.

William J. Fox, of Pittsburgh, who came
here in 1884, built a small establishment on
Slack street at the P. C. & St. L. crossing
for the manufacture of blown glassware.
At his death the plant was sold to a com-
pany headed by Alexander Humphrey,
from whom it took the name of Humphrey
Glass works. In June, 1897, it was agaiu
sold to S. (J. Robinson and W. T. Garrett,
of Martin's Ferry under the name of The
Steubenville Glass works. They remodeled
the works and added a tank furnace to the
nine-pot furnace already there. They
turned out blown table and bar glassware
and employed a hundred hands. They tin-

ally gave up the business however, and the
plant was operated for a while as a decorat-
ing factory, the ware being purchased else-

where. After that it was purchased by
The Steubenville Marbles Company for the
manufacture of glass marbles. The com-
pany turned out enough glass balls to sup-
ply, it would seem, every boy in the coun-
try, but the enterprise wus not a financial

success. The buildings are now occupied
by the Union Lumber Company.

Charles Henderson and others in 1880
organized the Brilliant Glass Company and
built a factory at what was then Lagrange.
In a couple of years it was entirely de-

stroyed by lire but was soon rebuilt. It

passed through various hands making a
good grade of tableware, and finally turn-
ing out a beautiful line of work, the prod-
uct of French artists. The (ire fiend again
devoured it in 185)5, and this time it was
not rebuilt. In the latter part of 1904, N.
H. McGec and W. E. Deiters formed a cor-

poration under the name of MeGee, Deiters
Glass Company, and built a plant at Bril-

liant for the manufacture of line decorated
ware and especially ruby lantern globes. A
good trade was carried on but insufficient

capital necessitated the appointment of R.
W. Mettenhergcr. as receiver, early in 1905).

Mr. Meltenbevger and others are now oper-
ating the plant.

ol lttll JXM STKIES.

Among the earliest of the city manu-
factories, and the only one with the excep-

tion of the Means foundry which has had a
continuous existence from previous to 1815
to the present day. was the Clinton Paper
Mill established on the river bank at the

north end of the city in 1813 by Scott and
Bayless. They were succeeded by Henry
Holdship, Holdship & llanna, James Turn-
bull and llanna Brothers, who conducted
operations during the Civil War, who also

had a mill for the manufacture of brown
wrapping paper on the opposite side of the

river which burned down finally The
Clinton mill was entirely destroyed by fire

in the fifties, but was rebuilt larger and
better than ever. After the war it was run
by a corporation under the name of Pitts-

burgh Paper Manufacturing Company, and
was then purchased by A. Hartje, of Pitts-

burgh, who had it for several years. At
his death it was taken by his sons who still

operate it under the name of Hartje Bros.

Repeated enlargements have made it one
of the most extensive mills in the country.

It has run with remarkable steadiness day
and night, employing some 200 hands. The
product is news print, wrapping paper,

straw and pulp board, with a capacity of

over one hundred tons per day. The larg-

est roll of paper in the world has been

turned out here, being fourteen miles in

length and weighing over 2,700 pounds.
About the year 1800 Bezaleel Wells en-

gaged in the production of copperas on the

st ream which bears his name at the south

end of the city, afterwards having in part-

nership a German named Augustine Koelb.

This concern operated until 1843, the sulp-

hur water from coal banks being utilized

in its manufacture. About 1830-35, John
Fisher went into the same business, in

which he was succeeded by his son. these

plants running many years, and making as

high us 1,500 barrels a season. Benjamin
Johnson had the last copperas works west
of the cily. and when he died the business

died with him.
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James Turnbull conducted a book bind-

ery and blank book manufactory as early

as 1816, and also published some books, He
was followed by A. L. Frazier, Alexander
McDowell, John Mills, W. It. Allison, ]\

B. Conn, Slack & Way, Sprague & Carna-
han, The Herald Publishing & Printing
Companies, A. Niederhuber and H. C. Cook
Company.

Dr. McDowell in 1S18-U0 raised Castor
beans in large quantities, and built a castor

oil factory near Stony Hollow, but finding

the frost came too early, cutting off the

beans before they matured, the enterprise

was abandoned.
Incidentally the boatyard of Elijah Mur-

ray above Washington street has been men-
tioned in connection with the steamboats
built there. Starting in 1819, it was one
of the town's most important industries

until 1S.?2, when the buildings were de-

troyed by fire, which has certainly worked
havoc among Steubeuville's industries.

David Cable and James McKimiey subse-

quently built a sawmill on the same prem-
ises, afterwards adding a plauing-inill.

They were succeeded l»y Kobert and George
McKimiey, and in !S»i7 it was burned to

the ground, being set on fire, as it was
claimed, by sparks from a C. & P. locomo-
tive. After several years of litigation a
judgment of fcl'O.OOO was recovered against

the railroad company. The mill was re-

built in 181)9 by George McKimiey, with
John Tweed as partner in the lumber busi-

ness, the latter being succeeded by A. J.

Met -ray until about 1873 when the Econ-
omy Society purchased the property. It

was afterwards sold to Charles Staples

who carried on quite a business in the way
of building barges for coal and sand. The
mill was operated a while by John Scott,

and then used by parties named Lappe for

a hide warehouse. Subsequently it was
acquired by Wagner & Henser who made a
specialty of cutting up walnut logs and
shipping the product to Europe. On the

organization of the Steubenville Electric

Light Company in 1886 it was used as a
power plant until the erection of their

building on lower North street. As men-
tioned elsewhere George MeKinney also

ran a plauing-mill on South Seventh street

which passed to Lewis Anderson about
1860, and is now the site of the wall paper
factory.

A cotton wadding factory was operated
by B. D. and 0. A. Worthington at the cor-

ner of Market and Liberty Streets during
the liftys, and afterwards a two-story

frame establishment was built at the cor-

ner of South Street und S. & I. Railroad.

Kefuse from the manufacture of cotton

goods was used as raw material, and as this

was difficult to procure during the Civil

War, the concern ceased to be profitable,

and its operation uncertain. The structure

was finally destroyed by tire, and the site

afterwards procured by the Steubenville

Tottery Company.
John McFeely & Company built a plan-

ing-mil] in 1867 on outlot 15 between Mar-
ket and Washington streets west of Sev-

enth, which, after running there for five

years, was moved to the corner of Seventh
and Washington and was operated there-

after until 1S77, when it was converted into

the California flour-mill.

Benjamin Travis built a frame plauing-

mill on South Seventh street directly oppo-

site the Anderson mill in 1868 69. It was
burned a couple of years after, but was
soon replaced by a substantial brick struc-

ture, which was afterwards purchased by
Robert Hyde who enlarged the same. At

his death it was purchased by Joseph Mc-
Feely & Company, afterwards McFeely
Brothers, whose increasing business re-

quired them to add to it the old McDcvitt
mill property, giving them the largest plant

of the kind in the city, facing on three

streets. C. Massey had a planing-mill on
South Sixth street afterwards McDowell.
The Cavitt mill was located on North Third,

site of Bed Lion and Fourth Ward House.
J. C. Fitzimmons Lumber Company, origi-

nally located on North Third has just com-
pleted a new mill on North Seventh.

J. 0. Goodlin k Son and (!uy Johnson &
Son operated planing mills in Toronto.
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Frank Shane had a l>oatyard at Empire,
and Moses Campbell a saw-mill.

Dr. Benjamin Tnppan started a chemical

works in the lower end of Steubenville in

18.31, which he sold three years later to

Alexander, son of Bezaleel Wells and an
English chemist named Simmons. They
manufactured Prussian blue, acids, cop-

peras, etc., for several years. In 1S77, W.
I). McLaughlin and W. A. Kong converted
the old Wells saw mill at the mouth of

Fairy Glen across the river into a factory,

of which bone fertilizers were the leading
product.

Frederick Misselwitz, a German, started

a soap factory on Water street near Adams
in 1S.58. He was successful, but used up
his profits iu a western speculation, re-

turning in a couple of years and reopening
business at the old stand with John Sellers

as partner, they operated two years longer.

Misselwitz then moved to the site of the

present Odd Fellows building on North
Fourth street, and began business there in

1840. Christopher Hinemnn learned the

business with him here, and J \V. Mandel
came in as a partner, during which time
they bought a lot further north where the
Masonic building now stands, and erected

a frame building. Mandel retired in a cou-

ple of years, and A. II. Dohrman came in

who only remained about the same length
of time. In the meantime Sellers had been
conducting a successful business at the old

stand on Water street iind Misselwitz went
back there, the two going into the manu-
facture of soda ash. Mr. I lineman acquired
the Fourth street property and Mandel,
who resided immediately north, again came
in. They remained together about twelve
years or until ls<ii\ when they dissolved,

baring this time a branch was run on South
Fifth street. George M. Cummins then be
came a partner and remained until 1870,

when Ilineman took the business himself
and was succeeded by his son until the
property was sold to Mr. Floto.

Wyatt's steam dye works were started

about ]K:!f> and operated for half a century
or more. Murphy's carriage factory was

started about the same time on Third, then
moved to north west corner of Fourth and
Washington streets, then to Fifth between
Washington and Market, where it remained
until after the death of the proprietor.

Clark & Cnrfman established a second fac-

tory on Market Square in ISWi, which was
operated for about forty years. Muldoon
& Company established marble works in

1Sfi»>. on north side of Market just west of

Fourth, succeeded by Evans & Irwin and
by J. II. Bristor. They are now conducted
by Archer Brothers on upper Market. A
similar establishment was started on South
Fourth street in 1S4."5. acquired by George
Swords in 1SIU, and now conducted by bis

son. Mr. Cum has an establishment where
stood the original plant. .1. C. Huff and his

son Kichnrd, succeeded to the Murphy car-

riage works, and subsequently James
Workman and son who have a large plant

on the east side of the street. William
Dcnmeud conducted a brass foundry on
Washington street for several years be-

ginning with 181)4 on site of Second Pres-

byterian church, ami subsequently at his

residence property on North Seventh
street. As far back as 18.50, John Odbert
had a hat factory on North Third street,

and after the water works started, opened
a plumbing shop. Later .1. G. Davidson had
one on Fourth street just above Market.

.John Orr had a chair factory in 18.'J0, in

a frame building on the corner of Market
street ami Alley 1) between Fifth and Sixth,

which was run by a tramp wheel. William
Robertson had one at the same time on the

same street below the present W. & I>. E.

K. li. track. Samuel Sproud had one on
Third street below Market, present site of

Burgoyne's drugstore. Joseph Walker had
a saddler shop next door, and Frank Os-
borne had a similar one a block farther

north on same street.

George Penrce opened an establishment

on South Fourth street adjoining St. Paul's

church lot in 18.V>, which developed into a
larsre furniture factory. It was burned in

]S7_. but was rebuilt larger than ever and
carried on by his sons and son-in-law, Mr.



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 303

Caswell. Subsequently the plant was eon-

verted into a manufactory of telephone

booths and boxes, which was a financial

failure, and the property is now the Alex-

ander storage house.

About 1873, M. Hayes built a cider vin-

egar manufactory in the rear of his resi-

dence on North Fourth street, with a ca-

pacity of 1,000 barrels per year, which he
carried on during his lifetime. About the

same time other parties conducted a match
factory at the corner of Centre avenue and
Alley D.
Edward Winning and Mr. Smallwood

about the year 1876 purchased a tract of

255x120 near the Jefferson Iron Works
and built a keg factory which found a mar-
ket at its door. Mr. Smallwood retired in

1877, but Mr. Winning continued in busi-

ness here until the erection of the Spauld-
ing works at Brilliant when he removed to

the latter place and remained several years.

He also had a machine shop and dry kiln,

giving employment to twenty men, his

establishments being among the largest of

the kind in the state. There was also a
keg factory at Mingo.
James Young, of Glasgow, appears to

have been the discoverer that kerosene, the

best oil illuminunt known up to that time,

could be produced in payiug quantities from
the distillation of cannel coal, and by 1854 it

had become an article of commerce in Eng-
land, in June of that year the first works
in America were built on Long Island, op-

posite New York City, to be operated under
Mr. Young's patent with coal brought from
Xova Scotia and other distant points. It

happened that soon after the Market street

shaft began regular operations in 1858, it

was discovered to contain pockets of fine

cannel coal which came out in nice clean

blocks. This was a suggestion to our lo-

cal people. John Orr and others forthwith
formed a company under the leadership of
Mr. Fulton, master mechanic of the S. &
I. R. R. and built a factory for the manu-
facture of kerosene, then generally called

carbon or coal oil, near Stony Hollow, on
what is now the Riverside furnace prop-

erty. The production was satisfactory and
the works a success. In the meantime,
however, natural petroleum was discovered

in Pennsylvania, and it was soon recog-

nized that competition with nature's labo-

ratory was out of the question. The next

best thing to do was to convert the fac-

tory into a refinery, which operated stead-

ily for some months when it caught fire and
was burned down. In 1869, John Orr and
E. F. Andrews built a refinery below the

Jefferson Iron Works. It was operated un-

til 1876 when it was purchased by the

Standard Oil Company, and of course,

closed down. A tract of land south of the

Mingo Iron Works property was purchased
by Matthew Hodkinson in the latter part of

1869, and a refinery put in operation the

following year. He was succeeded by his

son, Samuel Hodkinson, and quite a busi-

ness was carried on here for several years,

but the Standard competition was too strong

and a planing-mill and keg factory were
started on the premises which remained un-

til the property was absorbed by the iron-

works. Harry Risher conducted the plan-

ing-mill here.

Previous to the general use of petroleum
there was a manufactory at Hammonds-
ville for the production of oil from cannel

coal.

In 1899 a company was organized in Tor-
onto for the manufacture of shoes under
the leadership of John Burger, a practical

manufacturer. A substantial brick build-

ing, two stories high was erected, and the

plant began operations on August 1, 1899,

with an output of 350 pairs of shoes per
day. The latest improved machinery was
in use. but for some reason the works
failed to prosper, and the building was con-

verted into a glass decorating works, which
operated only a short time.

The uncertainty of the natural ice sup-

ply in the Ohio Valley, especially during
and after a mild winter naturally directed

attention to the production of artificial ice.

Accordingly in March, 1891. a number of

Steul>enville and Cincinnati people organ-

ized The Stenbenville Ice Manufacturing
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and Cold Storage Company with a capital

stock of $75,000. It purchased the Means
property west of the Pan Handle railway
tracks between Market and Washington
streets for $12,000. A long brick building

which had been used in connection with the

railroad car shops, and subsequently as a
cooperative nail factory, was converted in-

to a cold storage bouse, and immediately
north was erected a large ice manufactory
containing the latest improved machinery.
The company made an assignment in 1894,

and the property was purchased by the

Miners' & Mechanics' Bank which on Feb-
ruary 10, 1896, sold the same to George
and James Koehnline. They immediately
went to work spending $15,000 in changing
from the plate to the can system, making
blocks of a more manageable size and in-

augurating other improvements. On May
10, 1897, a public opening was held and
nearly 4,000 people visited the works. In
the meantime the Ohio Valley Ice & Cold
Storage Company had been organized, and
built a mammoth brick structure at Tor-
onto, with a cold storage house and a ca-

pacity of 40 tons per day. In the early part
of 1899 this company purchased the Steu-
benville plant, more than doubling its out-

put. Both plants were operated under this

organization for a year or two when the

Steuhenville factory caught fire and burned
down. The house was rebuilt, but only used

for storage purposes, ice being supplied

from the Toronto plant alone. Two new
ice factories were built in 1909, one by Eli

Castner and others south of the Steuhen-

ville paper-mill, and the other by John
Yocum on his natural ice farm near the

mouth of Wills Creek. Martin & Brown
have a natural ice plant farther up the same
creek, so there seems to be no danger of

this community suffering from what has
come to be considered one of the neces-

saries of life.

The State J>ye Works, Mahan & Nichol-

son Laundry once burned down and re

built, J. C. Butte Laundry and Star Laun
dry of Steuhenville are contributing their

share to the local industries.

Two things are noticed in connection with
Jefferson County's resources and indus-

tries. First the variety and inexhaustible

quantity of the former, and second the en-

terprise of the people in utilizing those

resources, despite the almost unexampled
ravages of fire, panic and business depres-

sion. We doubt if any other community
can produce such a record, and it is a
satisfaction that at no time in the country's

chequered history have its industrial en-

terprises been so prosperous or apparently
resting on a more secure foundation. It

is hoped that this condition of affairs will

long continue.
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CHAPTER XVIII

THE PRESS

A Long and Honorable History—Close Relation to National Events—Numerous Array
of Publications.

If tbe spirit and intelligence of a com-
munity is to be ganged by the character of

its newspapers, Jefferson County will not
suffer by any comparison which can be
brought. It not only claims to have the

oldest newspaper in the state in the order
of continuous publication, but its journals

generally have had an influence consid-

erably beyond its own borders. The diffi-

culties attendant upon starting and con-

ducting a newspaper west of the mountains
at the beginning of the nineteenth century,

can hardly be overestimated. The expense
of the long cartage made the first cost of

the plant out of proportion to its value as

a revenue producer, and the price of ,paper

and other necessary stock was calculated

to absorb pretty much all the current re-

ceipts. Facilities for news gathering did

not exist, local matters were not regarded
as of special importance, and foreign in-

telligence was weeks old when it arrived by
the slow process of mail. The population
of Steubenville in 1806 probably did not ex-

ceed 500, and the rural population was ex-

ceedingly sparse. Undeterred by these

drawbacks there came to Steubenville at

the beginning of the century William
Lowry and John Miller from Berkely Coun-
ty, Virginia. They were brothers-in-law,

Lowry having married Miller's sister, and
both were men of considerable prominence,
possessing more then average ability and

force of character. Miller inherited a little

one-story frame building on the east side

of Third street above Washington where
Turner Llall now stands, from where in

January, 1806, the first number of the

Western Herald was issued. Miller did
not remain long with the paper, and when
the conflict of 1812, which had been so long
portending, broke out, he joined the volun-
teer forces against the British, and after-

wards became a member of the regular
army. For distinguished services at Fort
Meigs he was promoted to a colonelcy. Af-
ter the war he received the appointment of
register of lands in the territory of Mis-
souri and became the second governor of
that territory. Many yearB after, when
it was decided to place two statues of Mis-
souri's prominent men in the capitol at
Washington, a factor in determining the
choice of a sculptor was that one of the

competitors was a great nephew of Gover-
nor Miller, Alexander Doyle, of New York,
to whom the work was awarded.

In the meantime, the paper was con-

ducted by Lowry at the old location, he
occupying the brick dwelling on the south,

still standing, as a residence until the sale

of the establishment to James Wilson in

1815. During his career he filled other
positions, having been elected a justice of
the peace during the War of 1812, and was
a member of the lower house of the legis-
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lature in 1823-24, and of the state senate in

1825-26.

Mr. Lowry was also a civil engineer, and
surveyed the first road from Steubenville

to Alikana, then known as Speakersburg,
a regularly platted hamlet with a hotel, now
occupied as the Castner residence. He
died in 1843, leaving among his daughters,

Mrs. Alexander Doyle, and the second Mrs.

John Copeland, descendants of whom, Will-

iam Wilkin, Airs. J. "W. Evans and Mrs.
M. .1. Urquhart, still reside here. His other
children removed from Steubenville at an
early date.

The little office building which has be-

come historic, was occupied as a school

house by Delle Hunt in 1828, and subse-

quently by John Dudley, whom some of onr
old citizens will remember, not only as a
thorough teacher but a strict disciplinarian.

The house was demolished to make way
for Turner Hall in 1881, and the view here-

with published was photographed at that

time.

Mr. Lowry retired from the Herald in

1815. and was succeeded by James Wilson,
of Philadelphia, who seems to have been
influenced by Judge Wright to come out
here. The paper remained in his family
for 30 years, during which it was declared
to have "flopped" from the Democratic to

the Whig party, afterwards the Repub-
lican. The fact was it simply followed its

old traditions in favor of the Adams wing
of the j>nrty against the high-handed pro-

ceedings of Andrew Jackson, in which it

had the authority of Jefferson and other
Democratic leaders. A full review of this

period by the present writer will be found
in the Centennial number of the Herald,
from which we take the following:

The first daily newspaper published in

this country was the American Advertiser,
issued in Philadelphia by Benjamin Frank-
lin Bache, a nephew of Benjamin Franklin,
who afterwards conducted the Aurora. Al-

though Washington was chosen president
for two terms practically without opposi-
tion, yet a new political party was fully

organized during his term of office under
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the lead of Thomas Jefferson. This party
called itself Democratic-Kepublican, acting
more generally, however, under the latter

name. The fact that Washington ap-
pointed Jefferson his first Secretary of

State did not prevent him conspiring
against his chief. And cabinet differences

became so marked that on December 31,

1793, he resigned his position and was suc-

ceeded by Edmund Randolph. The Na-
tional dazette of Philadelphia, having ex-

pired in October of that year, its place as
Jefferson's personal organ was taken by
the Aurora, which attacked federalism and
Federalists from Washington down, with
a virulence unknown at the present day, if

we except certain phases of New York
journalism. When Washington left Phila-
delphia for his home at Mt. Vernon on
March 5. 1797, the Aurora published a
lengthy diatribe, rejoicing that "the man
who is the source of all the misfortunes of
our country is this day reduced to a level

with his fellow citizens, and is no longer
possessed of power to multiply evils upon
the United States. If ever there was a
period of rejoicing, this is the moment.
Every heart in unison with the freedom and
happiness of the people ought to beat high
with adulation that the name of Washing-
ton from this day ceased to give a currency
to political iniquity and legalized corrup-
tion. * • • Nefarious projects can no
longer be supported by a name. It is a sub-

ject of the greatest astonishment that a
single individual should have carried his

designs against public liberty so far as to

have put in jeopardy its very existence."
Bache died of yellow fever in 1798, and

his widow placed the paper Under the man-
agement of William Dunne, and its parti-

sanship was as bitter as ever, even more so

if that were possible. Dunne was born in this

country, but both his parents were Irish.

He went to Ireland and learned the print-

ing trade, and from thence went to India
where he made a fortune. There he came
in conflict with the East India Company, a
trust that niak«-s Standard Oil appear
sickly in comparison, and was immediately
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bustled out of the country without a dollar,

all redress denied, and he came hack to

Philadelphia as poor as when he left. He
naturally needed no probing to make the

paper as anti-British as possible, and as

pro-English was one of the favorite charges
which the Republicans were constantly

bringing against their antagonists, the Fed-
eralists, he had plenty of opportunity for

gratifying his natural predilections. His
office was mobbed, he was brutally beaten,

and had it not been for the arrival of polit-

ical friends there would have been an end
of him if not of the Aurora, and the Her-
ald might have had a different editor. On
November 6, 1799, the New York Argus
published a letter from Philadelphia to the

effect that Alexander Hamilton was at the

bottom of an effort to suppress the Aurora.
and that Mrs. Bache had been offered $6,-

000 down in part payment, the remainder
to be paid on delivery of the property but

she declared she would never dishonor her
husband's memory or her children's future

fame by such baseness, when she parted

with the paper it would be to Republicans
only. This statement would not be con-

sidered specially libellous in these days,

but the spirit of the alien and sedition laws

was still in full force, and back of the state-

ments was the innuendo that the govern-

ment secret service fund was to be used in

this purchase. Suit was brought by Ham-
ilton, and the Argus editor being convicted,

he was lined $100 and sentenced to four

months' imprisonment. Dunne, died in

18:35.

Such was the preceptor of James Wil-

son, who had emigrated from Londonderry,
Ireland, for Philadelphia, and wheu Judge
Wright wrote for him to come and take

charge of the Herald he probably had lit-

tle, if any, doubt as to the future political

course of the paper. But times and men
both changed. John Adams was the last

Federal president, and the election of 1800

resulting in a tie in the Electoral College

between Jefferson ami Burr, the choice fell

to the bouse of Representatives, where, by
the advice of Hamilton, the Federals

mainly refrained from voting, allowing
Jefferson to l>e chosen, regarding him as u

lesser evil than Burr. The second war with
(Jreat Britain had come and gone; almost
the only creditable work outside of Harri-
son's victory at the Thames and the battle

of New Orleans had been accomplished by
the little navy created by Adams and the

Federalists at the very time they were
charged with being British sympathizers,
just as at a later period the Whigs saved
the houor of the Nation in the war with
Mexico forced on the country by their polit-

ical opponents. So when Mr. Wilson took
charge of the Herald there was peace at

home and abroad, and he had been here but

a short time until he was elected a member
of the legislature in 1S10, where he served
one term. The Herald establishment was
moved to upper Market street, nearly op-
posite the present site of the Imperial ho-

tel. Mr. Wilson had a beautiful and spa-

cious home, bounded by what is now Logan
and Clinton streets and Alley C. Here he
reared a large family, but previous to dis-

posing of his homestead to Col. James Col-

lier, after the hitter's return from Cali-

fornia in 1S4!>, he built a one-story brick

cottage on the east side of his lot where
he lived until his death by cholera in 1852.

Very little of the original home is left,

and the land is occupied by numerous
dwellings but the little cottage still stands
intact.

James Monroe was elected President in

ISlb", receiving 18J electoral votes to M for

King, the Federal candidate, and in lS'JO

he was re-elected without opposition, the
period being characterized as the "era of
good feeling."

It was not a time for savage partisan
editorials, as there seemed to be but one
political party in the country, and a copy
of the paper before us whose full name at

this time was ll'c.s/* ru Herald and Steu-
ben rille (lazette, seems to partake of the
general calm, as there is not a single edi-

torial utterance in it, if we except a mild
dissent at the head of a long communica-
tion from Cincinnati to the effect that they
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were getting along fairly well with wildcat

money, and arguing that if they could buy
foreign goods to better advantage tlinu the

home product there was no reason why they

.should not do so. The paper before us is

a little live-column folio, with an absolute

dearth of local news, unless a lengthy poem
on the Wells mansion, quoted below, can Ik?

considered such. There are over two col-

umns of sheriff's sales which would he

equivalent to more than a page of the pres-

ent day, which does not argue strongly in

favor of good times. The list of local ad-

vertisers is interesting, including B. Wells

& Co., Robert Thompson, Dike & liaguet,

M. Johnson, Steubenville Brewery, by
William Shiras, Jr., James Turnbull,

Adams & Hutchinson, David Larimore,
James Means, Johu M. (ioodenow, Hum-
phrey Leavitt, Samuel Stokely, Wright &
Collier, P. Wilson, Robert Hah*. Steam
Paper Mill, by J. C. Bayless. Jacob Ncssley.

Sr., J. G. Hening, John Clark and Daniel

Thomas. Thomas Or is sheriff, John Mil-

ligan auditor and John Patterson clerk.

David Darimore is postmaster at Steuben-
ville, and Henry Crew at Richmond.
Magistrates' blanks were then as now "for
sale at this office." Advertising rates were
for the first three insertions $1 per square
(little under an inch), and each subsequent
insertion L'.V; by the year .*1<\ not differ-

ing widely from present rates. A para-

graph about that time indicates that search

for silver and lead ore in Jefferson Coun-
ty is not a modern freak exclusively.

The political calm existing from IS 1 G to

could not last. The growth of the

country and the advent of a new generation

could not but make new issues. Then' was
a little cloud, no larger than a man's hand,
but it existed Five states came into the

Union (hiring the first four years of Mon-
roe's administration, but it was not the

number alone which was significant. When
the Union was first organized the existence

of slavery in the southern section was ac-

cepted as a necessary evil. Nobody thought
of its extension, and many of those inter-

ested in the matter believed that it would

gradually become extinct. When Missouri,
on March (5, ISIS, asked admission to the

Union as a slave state, it startled even Mr.
Jefferson "like a fire bell in the night."
The ordinance of 1787 forbade slavery for-

ever in all that part of the United States
north and west of the Ohio Kiver, but Mis-
souri came in with the Louisiana purchase,
and was not covered by this act. After two
years' discussion the matter was settled by
the famous Missouri compromise by which
the territory was admitted with its slaves,

but providing that all the rest of the

Louisiana purchase north of latitude 36:30,

or north of the mouth of the Ohio River,

should be free. The rcjwal of this com-
promise led to the Kansas-Nebraska
troubles. Then there was the tariff, the

North favoring and the South opposing.
The latter section was still agricultural and
stationary, while other parts of the coun-

try were manufacturing and progressive.

A report of the Fourth of July celebration

in lSl'L' at Jenkinson's Arbor contains some
significant intimations that the people
were sitting up and doiug some thinking.

Outside the usual patriotic toasts there
were advocates of home industry, internal

improvements, the sovereign people (not

states), "Our next President, no slave-

holder, no doughface, a friend of domestic
manufacturers, an enemy to aristocratic

moiiied institutions," etc. One toast was
for state rights but that was evidently un-

derstood very differently from the southern
idea of state sovereignty.
The issue of the Herald of November 16,

ivj-j, contains the announcement that Mr.
Wilson bad proposed to purchase the Phil-

adelphia Aurmit, but being unable to dis-

pose of his Steubenville property, the ar-

rangement fell through. This issue con-

tains quite a long editorial on the Presi-

dency, as it was apparent that 18H4 would
witness an animated contest. The as-

pirants discussed were Clinton, John
Qnim-v Adams. Henry ('lay. Jackson. Cal-
houn and William H. Crawford, of Geor-
gia, then secretary of the treasury. It will

be remembered that there was still but one
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dominating political party, the Federalists

having ceased to he a power, and no other

organization having sufficient erystaliza-

tion to take their place. The paper takes

decided ground against the nomination of
any southerner, or any man who has aided
in the extension of slavery, or who is an
enemy to domestic industries and internal

improvements. Clinton and Adams are

considered the only available candidates so

far as this section is concerned. In an-

other issue the editor urges that New York,
Pennsylvania and Ohio act together, where-
by they can oppose united influence to

southern combinations. The Missouri case

is still fresh, and it rankles. It is seen that

the line of cleavage between the two sec-

tions of the party is already pretty clearly

marked. There was no doubt of the posi-

tion of the Herald, and those "Democratic-
Republicans" who supported it. The meet-
ing in 1822 reported above was along pre-

cisely the same lines, and that is all there

was in the reported "flop" from "Democ-
racy" to "Whigism." There was never
any flop in the ordinary sense of that term,

there was simply a parting of the ways.
The election of 1824 resulted in Jackson
receiving 9Q electoral votes. Adams 84,

Crawford 41 and Clay 37. None having a
majority, the election was thrown into the

House of Representatives, which not being
inclined to choose the man whom Jefferson

had declared "one of the most unfit men I

know of for the place," refused to select

Jackson and chose Adams. In 182S the
new tariff hill passed which brought out
South Carolina's nullification protests.

The campaign of that year was exception-

ally bitter, the newly crystalling Whig
party supporting Adams while the "Demo-
crats," who took that name alone for the

first time, supported Jackson, who was
elected. It is not necessary to, nor have
we space, to enter into a history of the

stirring political turmoil which followed.

Jackson was re-elected in 1832, defeating

Henry Clay, the Whig candidate, and fol-

lowed in 1836 by Martin Van Buren, whom

Woodrow Wilson, in his history, seems to

consider Jackson's "wicked partner."
During this period the position of the

Herald was not in doubt. It opposed Jack-
son and his new Democracy, which, by its

usurpations, violations of the Constitution

and bad management, had brought the

country to the very verge of financial ruin.

William Henry Harrison, the hero of the

Thames, who was defeated by Van Buren
in 1836, was renominated by the Whigs in

1840, and the reaction swept him into of-

fice as in a whirlwind.
Shortly before this Mr. Wilson had as-

sociated his son, Robert C. Wilson, with
him in the conduct of the paper. In addi-

tion to the regular issues of the Herald they
published a campaign paper from April to

November, 1840, called the Log Cabin. A
typical log cabin view ornamented the front

page, and the little sheet bears every ap-

pearance of having been an important fac-

tor in that lively campaign. The looseness

with which the party names continued to

be used as late as that date is found in a
paper dated July 29, 1840. The Van Buren
followers were not allowed the name of

Democrats by their opponents, but were
designated as Federalists and Loeo-Focos,

the first not so much a perversion of the

original term as might be imagined, when
Jackson's centralizing acts are considered.
The latter name originated from a meeting
in Tammany Hall, New York, when, dur-

ing a quarrel between contending factions,

the lights were turned out and relighted

with matches, then called loco-focos. Tarn
many is not a young kitten. In the same
edition the senior editor expresses him-

self as "under many, many obligations to

the mud machine for proving him a sterling

and sound Democrat at all times." The
"mud machine" was doubtless the Amer-
ican Union, then published by J. G. Morris
and A. L. Frnzier. Impersonal journalism
was yet in the future. In this issue also

is a correspondence between Edwin M.
Stanton and John A. Bingham, in refer-

ence to a joint debate, and the matter was
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referred to a committee consisting of
James Means, A. J. Leslie and W. B. Ker-
lin on behalf of the Democrats, and Roswoll
Marsh, James Turnbull and John B. Doyle
for the "Democratic Whigs." The parties
were unable to come to an agreement con-

cerning details and the debates never came
off.

Robert C. Wilson succeeded his father

as editor of the Herald, and was asso-

ciated with John Worstell, but this ar-

rangement existed but a short time, when
the paper was purchased by Amos T. Pur-
viance, in connection with his cousin, who
was an attorney, in 1845. Robert Wilson
went to New Lisbon, where he died.

There were seven children in the Wilson
family, two of the boys—ileury and Ed-
ward—and a daughter—Margaret—being
triplets. The story of their birth is some-
what amusing, and is given for what it is

worth. The pater familias was sitting in

his parlor awaiting the expected event, and
when the advent of a sou and heir was an-
nounced his countenance wore a satisfied

smile. Shortly alter a second birth was
announced, when his face became more
serious. Almost immediately came the
third, and the muchly supplied father be-

gan pulling his hair and wondering where
this thing was going to stop. The other
children were Joseph Princeton, Elizabeth,

James and Robert. James became an M.
P. preacher and went to Cincinnati, where
ho joined the M. E. body and went to New
York, where he died. Joseph became a
Presbyterian minister, and went to Smith
Carolina, when' be became the father of
Woodrow Wilson, the historian, now presi-

dent of Princeton University. lie visited

his mother's grave in l-nion Cemetery
about thirty years ago. Henry married a
daughter of General Medary, of Colum-
bus, and moved to New York. Mrs. Wil-
son moved to New Lisbon, after her bus-

band's death, where she died shortlv after

the Civil War.
In 1844 Polk was the Democratic candi-

date for President and (May the Whig. It

is related that at a big meeting at the foot

of Seminary Hill in Allegheny, Dr. Me-
Cook. of Steubenville, was making an ad-

dress in which he charged Mr. Wilson, of

the Herald, with having published un-

truthful charges against the Democrats,
knowing that they were lies, when a young
man on the stand' struck him and got away
on a horse that was conveniently near. He
was supposed to have been Wilson's son.

The doctor was not seriously injured and
the instance was only an illustration of the

strenuous politics of those days.

Mr. Purviance was a native of this coun-

ty, having been born near Smithfield, on
March 6, 1823. At the age of sixteen he en-

tered the Herald office as an apprentice,

receiving his board and clothes for salary

during the first three years. During the

brief period that it was under his control

Mr. Purviance conducted the Herald along
very similar lines to those of his predeces-

sors. Its title had been shortened to the

central name, and it was once more, with
the exception of the prolix, the same as that

with which it originally started, Steuben-
ville no longer being western in the old

sense. On August 7, 1845, Mr. Purviance
married Miss Mary Ong, of Smithfield

Township, and after selling the Herald he
went West and located in Purviance, in

Putnam County, Illinois, removing to Hen-
nepin, the county-seat, in 1854. He served

a term as sheriff and in 1857 he was elected

county clerk, and tilled that office for forty-

one consecutive years. He died at his home
near Hennepin on January 14, 1904. Two
children—Margaretta and Frank—sur-
vived him.

William B. Allison, of Cadiz, purchased
the Herald in 184(>, and secured property
on Market Street, now the east half of the

Mansfield block, to which the Herald plant

was removed from South Fourth Street.

Here, with its job printing establishment

and bonk bindery, it remained until 1876.

Here, on March Ifi. 1847, was issued the

first number of the Daihi Herald. The
paper continued to be Whig in politics

until the organization of the Republican
party, since which it has been the Repub-
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lican organ of the county. R. B. Allison

and W. T. Campbell were city editors.

On September 4, 1871, John Palmer, with
the assistance of a number of citizens, in-

augurated a daily paper called the News,
which was located in the Scott block on
South Fourth Street. There was asso-

ciated with him as editor A. W. Cook, for-

merly of the Erie Dispatch. Edward C.

Slack was local editor and reporter, but
after a week's service accepted the fore-

mansbip of the composing room, and was
succeeded by Joseph B. Doyle. The News
imparted new life to local journalism, and
was the first to receive the President's
message by telegraph and publish it the

day on which it was read. Its extra Sun-
day editions during the great Boston fire

and Pittsburgh riots of 1879 were also spe-

cial features. Shortly after the paper
started, Mr. Cook became part owner, but
left the paper in the fall of 1872 and was
succeeded by Mr. Doyle. During this

period Gen. Anson 0. McCook, now of New
York, was a frequent contributor. Early
in 187.1 P. B. Conn purchased the interest

of Mr. Doyle, who remained with the paper
in his editorial capacity. Mr. Conn formed
a partnership with Mr. Palmer and Joseph
Carnahan, and the paper was consolidated

with his job office and bindery in the Sal-

mon, now Sinclair block, at .'517 Market
Street. In the fall of 1873 Mr. Conn ar-

ranged with Mr. Allison for the purchase
of the Herald, which was consummated on
October 1 of that year. It was at once con-

solidated with the News under the name of
Herald and News, and the other interests

having been extinguished, Mr. Conn became
sole proprietor. Mr. Campbell, of the Her-
ald local force, was retained in the same
position, and in 1876 the paper was re-

moved back to the old quarters in the Sal-

mon block, a commodious addition in the

rear fronting on Court Street having been
erected for the accommodation of the me-
chanical department.
After selling the Herald Mr. Allison re-

moved to St. Louis, where he purchased the

Post-Dispatch, and with his son. conducted

it for several years. As a financial venture
it was not successful, and after the death of
his son he returned to Steubenville and
started a new weekly paper called the Ohio
Press, which, with the assistance of his

daughter, Mrs. Ida Allison Means, he car-

ried on until bis death January 2, 1898.

After her father's death Mrs. Means con-

ducted the publication of the paper, mak-
ing it a special authority on social and so-

ciety news. In 1901, a corporation was
formed by C. J. Davis and others called the
Ohio Press Company, which purchased
Mrs. Means' paper, and started a new daily

of that name in the MeConville block on
Vorth Fourth Street. The new production
was a live newspaper and had branch pub-
lications in Irondale, Toronto and Mingo,
but suspended operations after a few
months.
Among the editorial contributors to the

Herald from 1876 to 1896 were Richard
Ralph, of the Pittsburgh Commercial staff,

a gentleman of exceptional literary ability

and a poet of more than average character,

and William J. Lampton, the well known
magazine writer, who came here from Ash-
land, Ky., in 1879. Of the local writers
there were W. A. Urquhart, William McD.
Miller, W. R. Johnson, Robert Love,
George B. Huff, John H. Andrews, Chal-
mers C. White, Herbert W. Wells and per-
haps one or two others whose names may
have escaped the writer. During a portion
of this period the paper enjoyed the dis-

tinction of publishing the largest four-page
weekly in the United States. It was a mon-
ster, but had finally to give way to the more
manageable quarto.

In the spring of 1896 J. J. Gill purchased
the h'reuiiuj Star, which had been started

by W. W. Maekay in 1889, and shortly
after negotiations were opened with Mr.
Conn for the purchase of the Herald.
These were successful, and on April 20 of
that year he became proprietor of this

paper. Mr. Doyle remained as editor and
manager, and J. H. Andrews was appoint-
ed city editor. The daily was almost im-
mediately enlarged and improved, and did
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not keep merely abreast of the times but
kept ahead of them. Iii February, 1897,

it was decided to make a consolidation of
I he Herald and Star forces, and for greater
convenience a corporation was formed
under the name of The Herald Publishing
Company, with "William Mcl). Miller, pres-

ident; J. W. Gill, vice president, and Jo-

seph B. Doyle, secretary and treasurer,

carrying also the position of manager.
This corporation took over the Star and its

effects, and the office was moved to its pres-

ent location in Odd Fellows' block, North
Fourth Street. The experiment was tried

for ten months of publishing the Star as a
morning paper, Mr. Huff remaining as city

editor of that paper. At the end of ten
months the Star was discontinued as a
morning paper and merged into its evening
associate, under the title of Herald-Star,
which name it still retains. A perfecting

press, linotype machines and other modern
improvements were installed, making an
up-to-date printing and book manufactur-
ing establishment, and the staff was in-

creased by the addition of 0. 0. White, and
afterwards by T. M. Lewis and Charles D.

Simeral.
In the latter part of January, 1905,

Charles I). Simeral, who had been Mr.
(Jill's private secretary while he (Mr. Gill)

was in Congress, organized a new company
and purchased the entire plant of the Her-
ald-Star for $62,000. Simeral was made
president of the company and editor and
manager of the paper, Carl H. Smith was
selected as vice presideut and Herbert W.
Nichols, who had been connected with the
Hi raid-Star for several years, was made
secretary and treasurer. The property
was taken over on February 1. 190"), and
the intervening years have been marked
by an unusual development along all

lines, the paper having a large circula-

tion in the city and surrounding country.

Mrs. Ida A. Moans- and Edward Worstall
have since been added to the reportorial

force. Mr. Conn on disposing of the Her-
ald retired from active business and died
October 8, 1908.

The Herald Company has lately ac-

quired valuable property on North Fourth
Street and begun the erection of a $60,000
building, equipped with all modern im-
provements.
When the Herald declined to follow the

Jackson wing of the Democratic party it

was concluded by the admirers of Old
Hickory to start an opposition paper, in a
building on upper Market Street directly

across from the Herald office. It was
called the Republican Ledger, although ad-

vocating Jacksoniau Democracy, another
illustration of the looseness of political

terms in those days. Frew & Laird were
the proprietors, and the first number was
issued September 20, 1826. Rev. J. P. Mil-

ler, a minister of the Seceder denomina-
tion, was a leading editorial writer, and his

articles were trenchant and forcible. Sam-
uel Frew remained with the paper but a
short time when he removed to Elizabeth,

Pa., where he died in 1859. His partner,

Mr. Laird, contiuued the paper until 1830
when he sold out. and went to (Jreensburg,

Pa., where he edited the Art/us for many
years, dying at the age of ninety. The pur-
chasers of the Ledger were Joseph Cable,

born in Island Creek Township in 1800 of
Huguenot descent, and a Mr. Rippey.
They changed the name of the paper,
adopting the somewhat comprehensive, if

not strictly accurate, title of The Jeffer-

stmian Democrat and Farmers' and Me-
chanics' Advocate. Hon. L. Harper, late

of The Mt. Vernon lianner, learned the
printer's trade in this office, and in 1832
went to Pittsburgh with James Wilson,
then the publisher of The Herald, and es-

tablished the first daily published in that
city. It was a Whig paper and was named
The. Veun.sylvauia Advocate. The Advo-
cate was in opposition to The Gazette,
which was an Anti-Masonic organ. Mr.
Cable sold The Jeffersonian Democrat to

John S. Patterson and James Scott, who
changed the name to The American Union.
Mr. Cable went to New Lisbon, where he
published The Patriot for some years, go-
ing from there to Carrollton. where he pub-
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lished a Democratic paper, and in 1848 was
elected to Congress, serving two terms, and
was distinguished for efforts that secured
the passage of the Ilotnestead Act, in this

work dividing honors with Salmon P.

Chase, who was in the Senate. He after-

wards went to Paulding, where he con-

tinued his newspaper work almost up to

the time of his death, which occurred May
10, 1880. Although an old man, he took a
very active part in the campaign of 1873,

when William Allen was elected governor
by the Democrats. He was noted for a
long time as an infidel, but he was convert-

ed and became an ardent Methodist. Pat-

terson and Scott continued the publication

of The Union. Scott was killed while on a
pleasure excursion to Wellsburg with a
party of young folks from Steubenville.

The publication of the paper was continued
alone by Mr. Patterson up to 1837, when it

was purchased by Col. W. C. McCauslen
and Lecky Harper, who were succeeded by
A. L. Frazer and Justin (1. Morris.
Colonel McCauslen went to Congress, as
did also his successor, Andrew Stuart.

Stuart was succeeded by Mr. Sheridan,
who, during the war left the Democratic
rauks and made a Union party organ of the

paper, and the enterprise failed. In 1863
the Democrats established The Courier,
which was edited by Mr. Logan, but it bad
a short life, the Democrats who furnished
the money for the enterprise lost all they
invested in the paper. About that time a
little paper called The Bulletin was pub-
lished bv Mr. Donovan. On September 1,

1865, C. N. Allen, of Cadiz, established The
Gazette, which he published as a wcekly
until October 1, 1873, when he added a
daily which he continued until February,
1875. when the plant was purchased by H.
FI. McFadden and William H. Hunter. The
Gazette was first printed in a building on
the west side of Third Street between Mar-
ket and Washington, and then removed to

the Watson block opposite the present Na-
tional Exchange Bank building, and then
to the present Ruddicks shoe store on
Fourth Street just north of Market. Mc-

Fadden & Hunter purchased the Murray
dwelling on the east side of Third Street

south of Market, which was afterwards re-

placed by a modern structure with perfect-

ing press, linotypes and other improved
machinery. On February 1, 1900, just

twenty-five years after the firm was
formed, Mr. Hunter sold out his interest to

Mr. McFadden and engaged in the news-
paper business at Chill icothe, where he
died six years later. During his Steuben-
ville residence Mr. Hunter took consider-

able interest in artistic and historic sub-

jects, particularly the latter. He was a
member of the State as well as the local

historical society, to which he contributed

much valuable matter in a form which has

been very useful to the writer in preparing
this history. Mr. McFadden conducted the

paper under his own name until August 1,

1901, when he formed a joint stock con-

cent under the title of The Steubenville

Gazette Company, with an authorized cap-

ital of $25,000, afterwards increased to

$50,000. M r. McFadden has held a number
of appointive state offices, has been the

Democratic nominee for congress and
other important positions, and he and his

paper have always been recognized as im-

portant factors in the councils of his party.

The journal is one of the leading Demo-
cratic papers in the state, and wields an
influence only exceeded, if at all,, by one or

two of the large city dailies. The editor

has his convictions and does not hesitate

to express them. The news department of

the paper is also up to the standard, and
consequently, it has a large and increasing

circulation. The office force is composed
of II. II. McFadden, manager editor; C. A.
Aten, city editor; P. W. Case and John
Nolan, reporters; .]. F. McFadden, book-
keeper; .1. H. Andrews, advertising agent.

Rev. Z. Ragau established a weekly Re-
pnhliean and anti-slavery paper in 1855 at

the northwest coiner of Fourth and Mar-
ket streets, which he published under the
title of True American until he entered the

army as chaplain in 1861. About the same
time Mr. Conn published the Dollar (week-

Digitized by Google



HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COl.'NTY

ly) and Daily Messenger and the Steuben-
ville Democrat previously. He owned and
published the Beaver Star for one year.

He with Dr. Reed and Charles A. Mantz
founded the St. Louis Post, afterward con-

solidated with the Dis[Mitch.

K. Schnorrenberg established a weekly
German paper on August 1, 1S7G. For
awhile the firm was Schnorrenberg & Ge-
scheider, but on April 1, 1879, the former
retired, leaving Max Gescheider the sole

proprietor. Joseph Niederhuber subse-

quently purchased the paper and conducts
it in connection with his job office and book
bindery on Court Street.

After retiring from the Herald in 1874

John Palmer for about a year conducted
a weekly paper under the name of Palmer's
News, but it was discontinued. Subse-
quently in the same building another paj>er

called the Steubentille News was operated
between 1898 and 1900. During the later

seventies the Wool drawers' Bulletin was
issued from the Tri-State woolhouse, giv-

ing the latest information concerning that

industry.

Several efforts were made in the way of

starting Sunday newspapers in Steuben-
ville, the first being the Local by A. M. Mat-
lack in lS7ti, which operated about three

years, Chronicle by E. A. Elliott in 1879,

News bv (t. (i. Nichols the same vear, Life
by G. B. Huff and A. F. Beach, and Leader
by B. Hipsley and others. The latest addi-

tion to the city press is the Union Leader,
published in the interest of the labor or-

ganization. A local Italian paper has also

been published here. Other enterprises of
this character have Iwon inaugurated from
time to time, but they died and left no sign.

The community is well served in this re-

spect at present by the regular publications

and parish and other smaller periodicals,

to which has Ikvii added the Saturday Eee-
niuy Journal.

Mount Pleasant having been settled by a

class of people above the average in the

way of education and refinement was nat-

urally the first community in the county
outside of Steubenville to publish a new*

paper. The first paper produced here was
the Philanthropist, a small quarto of eight

pages, issued every Saturday at $3 per
year. Charles Osborne was the printer,

and the first number made its appearance
on September 8, 1817. It printed the neW9
of the dav and discussed moral ethics. On
October 8, 1818, Elisha Bates purchased
the paper and converted it into a sixteen-

page octavo on December 11. Its last issue

was April J7, 182:2. Here also was con-

ducted the first abolition paper published

in the I'nited States, The denius of Uni-

rersal Ematu ipatiou. Benjamin Luudy
was the editor. He would set up his mat-
ter in his office at Mt. Pleasant and take

the forms across the country to Steuben-
ville. where the paper was printed at the

Herald office. On these visits to Steuben-
ville he was a welcome visitor to the homes
of those who sympathized with his cause,

especially at the house of Dr. David Stan-
ton, father of the great war secretary.

He subsequently removed with his paper
to Jonesboro, Tenn., and then to Baltimore
in 1824. The Village Banner, published in

USX), lasted one year. Elisha Bates pub-
lished a religious paper in 1837-8, and later

John B. Wolf a temperance paper, the Life
Boat. On September Iti, 1822, Mr. Howard
started the Juvenile Museum, a semi-

monthly magazine of eight pages. With
the eleventh number it changed to a month-
Iv of sixteen pages, but the last issue was
on September 27, 1823. Elisha Bates pub-
lished a monthly periodical called the Mis-
cellaneous Itepusitory from duly, 1827, to

about 1832. There were other publications

of which there is no record. There was
also something doing in the book line,

among the publications being Barton's
Poems, 12mo. 1S23; The Jurenile Expos-
itor, or Child's Dietiouary, by Elisha
Rates, square 12mo. t 1823; Sacred History,

or the Historical Part of the Holy Scri fu-

tures of the Old and New Testaments, by
Thomas Elwood, *_' vols., 8vo„ sheep, 1854,

with many others.
('. M. Ilayne started a job printing of-

fice in SinithtieM in 187."). and on February
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14, 1876, inaugurated the Smithfield Inde-

pendent. It was published regularly until

December, 1877, when it was discontinued.

Several papers have been started at Iron-

dale, under the names of Record, Courier,

Eagle, etc., but they were short lived.

In 1879 a little paper called The Banner
of Zion was published at Knoxville by
Stokes Bros., who had a small job office.

The same year T. M. Daniels started the

Weekly Tribune at Toronto, and in 1880
Frank Stokes moved there and entered into

partnership with him, under the firm name
of Daniels & Stokes. Mr. Daniels died in

1884 and Mr. Stokes became sole proprie-

tor, starting a daily on August 17, 1890.

Mr. Stokes being elected county clerk in

1894 he leased the plant to C. II. Stoll, but
at the expiration of his term again took

charge. The paper was recently sold to

H. P. Hover and John Bray, who are mak-
ing a very successful publication.

Richard A. Bryant conducted a paper at

Mingo in the later nineties under the title

of Mint/a Advocate. There was also the

Mingo News, and a paper of the same title

at Brilliant operated by W. J. Murphy. At
Richmond there were the Radiator and one
or two others.
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CHAPTER XIX

THE UNDERGROUND RAILWAY

Controlling Position of the County—Hundreds Helped to Freedom—An Experiment in
Colonization—Its Partial Success.

That a strong anti-slavery feeling should
have prevailed in Jefferson County was
quite natural. In the first place it was on
the horder line between the free and the

slave states. True the visible signs of
slaverj' in this section were not very nu-
merous. In I860, Hancock, the upper coun-
ty of the Virginia Pan Handle only con-

tained two slaves, and Brooke County, im-
mediately south, had eighteen. The former
county had one free colored man, aud
Brooke fifty-one, the white population of
the two counties being 9,fi87. These two
counties, which fronted Jefferson nearly
their full length, had a smaller colored
population than the latter, which at that
time reported 707. The upper end of Ohio
Count}', just below Brooke, also fronted on
Jefferson, and that portion of it may have
had half a dozen slaves out of the one hun-
dred in the county. But although the "pe-
culiar institution" cut little or no figure in

the industrial development of the com-
munity it did not fail to furnish an object
lesson. Wheeling had a public slave mar-
ket where human beings were publicly sold

at auction, and from accounts which have
come down to us, the scenes there were
fully as horrible and repulsive as any re-

lated of New Orleans or St. Augustine. To
visitors from the Ohio side this was a fes-

tering sore, for, however it might be re-

garded from a legal point of view, it was

impossible 1o stifle the feelings of morality
and humanity. Then the lower end of the
county as well as the upper end of Belmont
County adjoining had been largely settled

by members of the Society of Friends, who
accepted the words of the Declaration of
Independence as meaning just what they
said, and many of them had migrated from
North Carolina and other slave states for
the express purpose of getting out of the
slaveholders' domain. Had slavery con-
tinued to decline in the South, as the
framers of the Constitution expected, until

there was a prospect of its gradual extinc-

tion, there never would have been any Abo-
lition party, but the invention of the cotton
gin in 179.'i and subsequent enormous de-
velopment as a consequence put a different

face on matters, and the prospect was not
only of the indefinite continuance of
slavery within it* original territory but ex-

tension, if not without limit, yet so great as
to make this republic practically a nation
of slaveholders and slave catchers. Hence
while the great majority of the people
here as elsewhere in the northern states

were sincerely in favor of adhering strictly

to all the compacts which had been made
for the lH'iielit and protection of slave-

owners there was a small minority whose
consciences did not permit them to do any-
thing of the kind. As we have said this

sentiment, although not confined to the
31 s
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Friends, was particularly strong among
them. So it was perfectly natural and in

accord with the fitness of things that the

first Abolition paper in the United States

should have emanated from Jefferson

County (it will perhaps have been noticed

by this time that Jefferson County was
first in a good many things), and that the

first Abolition convention in Ohio should

have been held at Mt. Pleasant in the same
county. An account of Lundy's newspaper
enterprise has already been given but a
reference to the man himself will not be out
of place. He was a Friend, and was born
at Handwich, N. J., January 4, 1789, dving
at Lowell, III., August 22, 1839. He wont
to Wheeling at the age of nineteen, and
thence to Mt. Pleasant, going from there

to St. Clairsville, Belmont County, where
in 1815 he formed the first anti-slavery so-

ciety under the name of Union Humane So-
ciety, writing an appeal based on his ex-

perience with slavery at Wheeling, where,
like Lincoln at New Orleans, "I heard the

wail of the captive, I felt his pang of dis-

tress, and the iron entered my soul." Ever
after he was slavery's determined and per-

sistent foe. He engaged in newspaper
work in St. Louis for two years, and then
returned to Mt. Pleasant where, in Janu-
ary, 1821, he began the publication of the

Genius of Universal Emancipation. In
1825 he visited Hayti to arrange for the

settlement of emancipated slaves. He met
William Lloyd Garrison in 1828, and in

1829 removed to Washington. He was as-

saulted for his attacks on slavery and inci-

dentally censured by the court. He trav-

eled in Canada and Texas in 1830-31, also

in 1833, and also visited Mexico in the in-

terest of his work.
As stated, the first Abolition convention

in Ohio met at Mt. Pleasant in the spring
of 1837 with Gamaliel Bailey, afterwards
of the Cincinnati Herald and Washington
National Era, as secretary. Among the

others at that convention were James G.

Birney, candidate of the Liberty party for

President in 1840. John Keep, William
Donaldson, Christian Donaldson, John

Rankin, A. A. Guthrie, Major Xye, George
Whipple, President Fiuney, of Oherlin, Asa
Mann and others. As another protest

against slavery the people of Mt. Pleasant
established in 1848 a free lalior store which
should contain no product of slave lalwr,

which was conducted for about ten years.

But the war against slavery was not con-

fined to newspaper publications, passage of

resolutions or boycotting of slave products.

What was known as the fugitive slave law
was to these men a nullity and abomina-
tion. Not ouly was it regarded as morally
wrong in itself, but its abuse by which free

negroes had been kidnapped from the

North and sold into slavery, and the in-

creasing demands of the slave power, were
intensifying the opposition to it. Back of

all was the "higher law" which command-
ed assistance to any human being seeking
freedom. Hence arose what was known as
"The Underground Railroad," a general

name given to the systematic aid extended
to negroes fleeing from the South to Can-
ada in search of freedom. A favorite

point of crossing the Ohio was at the north-

ern end of Wheeling to Martin's Ferry,

and the first "stations" were the resi-

dences of Joel Wood in that town, Jacob
Van Pelt on the hill, and Joshua Cope at

the head of Glen's Run in Belmont Coun-
ty. One line diverged from here towards
Mt. Pleasant, and Judge Cochran in his

little book, Bonnie Belmont, relates that at

one time a party in pursuit of a runaway
slave surrounded the Charles Wright (now
Linley Bracken) house and demanded the

right to search it. This was refused by
Wright until they should secure and pro-

duce a search warrant, which they had to

do by one of the parties going more than
a mile to a justice of the peace. This took

up considerable time and in the meantime
the fugitive, who was really not at the

Wright mansion, was taken to the Mill-

house place of concealment, a mile or two
distant, which had a concealed clothes

press built in a chimney recess. The
searching party was directed to Mt. Pleas-

ant, and it is needless to say they never
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found their property. To the slave hunt-
ers, when a fugitive once reached Mt.
Pleasant, the language applied to a certain
bridge seemed most appropriate: "Who
Enters Here Leaves Hope Behind." The
underground railroad was not confined,

however, to Mt. Pleasant and Smithfield
townships, but extended the whole length
of the county, and its officers were not con-
fined to the Friends but included men and
women of every religious faith. The start-

ing points, however, were generally in the
Short Creek Valley, its headwaters being
just over the divide from the headwaters
of Wheeling Creek in Harrison and Bel-
mont counties. There were several stations
at the mouth of Short Creek, one kept by
George Craig and one by William Hogg.
One was kept by Joseph Medill (grand-
father of W. L. Medill, Esq.), on Warren
Bidge, near Hopewell M. E. Church. There
were many iu Mt. Pleasant, the slaves be-
ing kept during daylight in any of the
houses in the village, and there is authority
for the statement that one good Friend
kept a number of Rtrong negroes on his
farm from corn-planting until after har-
vest ! The house of Bev. Benjamin Mitchell
was a noted station, there being a trap-
door in the kitchen floor through which
runaway slaves reached a large hole in the
ground when slave hunters were searching
the premises. The Updegraff house, a mile
west of Mt. Pleasant, and that of David
Bobinson, west of Trenton, were also well
known. The Bracken house in Mt. Pleas-
ant wiis so constructed that the negroes
could enter an attic by means of a trap-
door in the roof after climbing a ladder.
Benjamin Ladd (the Quaker philanthro-
pist) kept the Smithfield station. Over
the line one at Lloydstown, named for
Jesse and Isaac IJoyd. was kept by Eli
Nichols; one at Unity kept by Bev. John
Walker, Seeedcr minister; at Hammond's
Cross Boads. Alexander and John Ham-
mond, John Hammond, Jr., and Joseph
Bodgers being conductors between that
point and Hopedale; one at the house of
Cyrus McXeely (founder of Hopedale Col-

lege) between Hopedale and Unionvale,
house of Judge Thomas Lee near Cadiz;
one at Miller's Station by David Ward; one
at Bichmond by James and William Ladd.
From there the line ran across the country
to the home of Judge Thomas George on
Yellow Creek, and then to Salem, Colum-
biana County, from which point it followed
the line of least resistance to the lakes and
Canada. James George, of Boss Town-
ship, grandson of Thomas George, gives

additional particulars as follows in rela-

tion to this line:

"Judge Lee was station agent at Cadiz;
James Ladd and brother at Bichmond;
David Ward at Miller's Station (then

Works Postoflice) ; Dr. A. Lindsay, Salem;
Thomas George, Moore's Salt Works;
James and William Farmer, Salineville;

Horton, Salem. There was another
line through from Cadiz by way of Scroggs-
fteld and Mechanicstowu, Carroll County,
Dr. Lindsay having removed from Annap-
olis (Salem) in Jefferson County to one of
these places.

"We were located about half way on the

line from Cadiz and Mt. Pleasant to Saline-

ville. Henry Crnhbs kept a station on the

hill overlooking the George station in the

valley. The Bichmond station kept by the

Ladds was on a sidetrack, which was used
in emergency.
"The line on which Moore's Salt Works

was located was in operution from 1827 to

1837, but some of the older citizens say the

first date should be earlier. Station agents
rarely knew beforehand that fleeing slaves

were to arrive, and they were received be-

enuse conveved bv known friends. In 18.H)

Old Man Work brought through two slaves,

arriving at the house of Judge George a
little before daylight. They were secreted

in the barn, fed and cared for by George
until opportunity crave chance to take them
to Salineville. In IS.'JO the writer has
knowledge of a gang of live males and
three females going through. This party
was conveyed to George's by the Ladds,
kept until night and conveyed to Fanner
station at Salineville. In is;u a gang corn-
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posed of seven men, two women and a child,

was brought to George's station, and hid-

den in tbe loft of a brick house occupied
by Robert George. They were conducted
to Salineville by the conductors, Robert,
Thomas and A. \V. George.
"A remark which may not be out of

place: On tbe line to Salineville was a
small village, on the corner of whose street

lived a man antagonistic to abolitionism,

who was dreaded by the conductors. The
night the last mentioned party went
through, the village was very dark and the

rain poured until after they passed this

residence, after which the clouds broke and
the night was clear. No doubt a Provi-
dential interference. In an old diary I find

mention of many fugitives passing through,
but no incidents are mentioned. In 1837 a
woman was brought to George's from
Ladd's and covered with straw in the barn,
and was jabbed with a pitchfork by a hired
man who was feeding the stock. Another
incident occurred in 1840. A gang of twen-
ty was conveyed from Crabbs*. Arriving
at about daylight, he ran them into a pine
hollow. Early in the morning, a laborer
on his way to work, seeing the negroes, re-

ported at Judge George's that 'the hills

were covered with d—d niggers; they
would all be killed if something was not
done.' The Judge joked with him nnd as-

sured him that it was all imagination; but
the Judge took in the situation and gave
the laborer employment. [Those who har-
bored fugitive slaves ran great risk, the

penalty in Ohio being $1,000 fine and im-
prisonment.] During the day these slaves
were removed to Crabbs' barn, where they
were fed by Mrs. Annie Crabbs, aud dur-
ing the night they were conveyed to Saline-

ville and then to Salem. Shortly after this

came three robust negroes armed with re-

volvers. They were on foot and claimed
they had purchased their freedom. In
1847 a mother, daughter and son came to

our station, conveyed by conductors under
David Ward. Judge George, taking a
fancy to the boy, concluded to keep him,
and sent the mother and daughter to North

Salem. A party from New Lisbon wanting
help, employed the mother and daughter.
Jacob Clinton, working for George, got an
idea there was reward for information of

fugitive slaves. He succeeded in corre-

sponding with the owner, the result of

which proved beneficial to all concerned.

A plot was concocted; Clinton was to go
to New Lisbon (now Lisbon) and represent
himself as a son of Judge George and con-

vince the mother that her son, who was at

George's, was very lonesome and wanted
his sister for company. After some per-

suasion the mother yielded, and the daugh-
ter was given up. Clinton had scarcely got

out of sight when suspicion arose. A run-

ner was sent to Salineville. The runner,

returning, reported the suspicion well

based. At once a company was organized
at New Lisbon, headed by David George,
which followed Clinton to Wellsville, but

too late to catch him, the boat having gone.

In the meantime the negro boy kept by
George was hidden in a coal bank. While
Dr. Farmer and Judge George were talk-

ing the matter over, a fine team drove up,

a stylish person alighted and came into the

house. He asked if a colored boy was
there, and being informed there was, said

:

4 1 am So and So, from New Lisbon; the

mother sent me after the boy; the little

sister is very lonesome and wants her
brother for company.' Farmer and
George, taking in the situation, made things

so hot for the gentleman that he was glad

to drive off toward Steubenville. The
mother and boy were immediately sent to

Canada."
Whence came the name Underground

Railroad! Prof. W. H. Siebert, of Akron,
answers as follows: "A fugitive named
Tice Davids traveled one of the Ohio
routes in 1831 from Ripley to Sandusky.
The slave set out upon his journey under
unusual circumstances, no doubt, for his

master, a Kentuckian, was at his heels

from the start till the Ohio River "was
reached. There the master was delayed

by search for a skiff, but found one in

time to keep tbe runaway in sight, now
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swimming his best, and to land only a few
minutes later than lie. His subsequent
hunt failed to secure his property, and the
master was mystified. At his wits' end,

he said, 'That nigger must have gone off

on an underground road.' The aptness of
the title was seen at once, and the rapid
transmission of the story within and be-

yond the state soon fixed* this designation
on the 'system.' " The change of title

from "road" to "railroad" was very easy
and natural after the latter became a fa-

miliar term. This "system" had at least

twenty-three "ports of entry" along the

Ohio River front, that is recognized points
of crossing. The outlets along the lake

were Toledo, Sandusky, Cleveland, Fair-
port and Ashtabula. The aggregate
length of the recognized roads or trails in

Ohio lias been figured at 2,800 or 3,000
miles, of which Jefferson County furnished
117. As to the total number of slaves res-

cued through their means the guesses are
all the way from 40,000 to 80,0(>0. Certain
it is that the number is very large. Jt is

stated on what is claimed to be good au-

thority that William l^ambert, who died in

Detroit a number of years ago, helped 30,-

000 to freedom in thirty-three years, or
nearly a thousand a year. There is no way
of verifying these figures, and they are
given for what they are worth.

In connection with the Abolition move-
ment Jefferson County became the seat of
not only the first, but so far as the writer
is informed, the only enterprise of the
kind in the country. In 18*25 Nathaniel
Hen ford, of Charles City County, Virginia,

liberated seven of his slaves and sent them
to Benjamin Ladd at Smithfield, wlio had
been a neighbor of Mr. Benford, leaving
there in 1814. They were placed on a farm
on Stillwater Creek, Harrison County, but
eventually scattered. Mr. Benford, who
was a Quaker, was said to have been in-

fluenced in his actions by David Minge, an-

other neighbor who had freed eighty seven
slaves and sent them to Cuba. The prob-
lem with Mr. Benford, as it was with all

who desired to free their slaves, was

whether their condition would really be im-

proved thereby. lie concluded to try the

experiment of a colony and in 1829 gave
manumission papers to nine families of

slaves on his plantation and sent them to

Smithfield. lie furnished Mr. Ladd with

funds, and the latter, under his instruc-

tions, purchased from Thomas Mansfield

two hundred and sixty acres of land in

Wayne Township altout two miles from
Smithfield, erecting cabins and furnishing
the immigrants with farming implements.
The settlement was on Mclntire Creek,
from which it took its name, sometimes
called I lay ti from the West Indian black

republic. The heads of the original fam-
ilies were: Nathaniel Benford, who took
the name of his master; Ben Messenburg,
Collier Christian, Lee Carter, Paige Ben-
ford, David Cooj>er. William Toney, Field-

ing Christian and Fitzhugh Washington.
Nathaniel was sort of a chief in the colony
on account of the confidence reposed in him
by his master in Virginia. By reason of
his large family he received more property,
all of which pn>i>erty was divided into par-
cels of from three to fifteen acres aud dis-

tributee! according to number of children

in each family. The longevity of all the
original settlers has been something re-

markable. William Toney died at the age
of a hundred a few years ago, and even
when far advanced in years was a man of
imposing stature—well-knit muscles, ca-

pable of almost any physical exertion.

Fielding Christian was called "Old Field-

ing," for fifty years, aud at his death, in

1883, the surviving members of the settle-

ment claimed that he was over one hundred
and ten. < Ithers died at advanced ages and
in so far as known noue of the original col-

onists are now living.

All of the original colonists were known
for miles around. Many were gardeners
who received their instructions from obi
Benny Messenburg, who displayed remark-
able tasle in laying out llower plats and
had great success in raising vegetables. I |p

bad a time for everything and the moon
had to lie jn>t so, together with certain
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other favorable circumstances before tlie

ground could be broken or the seed planted.

Carter Christian had more than a local

reputation as a t ook. His face would shine

and glisten like a reflector when he saw
any one eat heartily and heard him praise

his culinary art. Lee Carter was a porter
for a long time at the "Old Black Bear"
in Steubenville, and told marvelous stories

of the people he had met and the consider-

ation paid him. Evens Benford was a

huckster. The others were farmers, rais-

ing on their own ground what was neces-

sary for their comfort and hiring out to

the neighboring fanners for wages to

clothe their families. "Old Fielding" was
always in demand at every butchering,

many people believing that if he did not

Meed the pigs the ham or sausage would
not brown properly when cooked. The
wives of the men were employed by their

neighbors and often their services were
"invaluable, owing to their faithfulness.

Upon the land given them they attempt-

ed at first to raise the crops of Virginia,

including tobacco, flax and hemp, but these

soon wore out the soil, and afterwards the

usual crop consisted of a small patch of

corn, oats or rye to be used principally as

food for their animals, while the rest of

the land, if cultivated at all, was worked
by the women, who put in the garden truck.

The land was of course originally woodland
to a great extent, and had to be cleared.

When this was doue their knowledge of

agriculture was so meagre and their nat-

ural indolence so great that much of it

soon became grown over with red brush
iind rank weeds until it became again ut-

terly worthless for their purposes. The
negroes were satisfied as long as they could

fill their stomachs, and the traits of thrift

and energy and faculty for the accumula-
tion of property for a rainy day were so

little developed that in the course of time
the property became as valueless as when
first purchased. With regard to the land

itself, originally it was as fertile and as

capable of prolific crops as any in Jefferson

County. The land had another advantage

of being hillside land, all facing east, and
taking everything into consideration a bet-

ter location for their material progress and
future success and attaining competency
could hardly have been chosen. .-i>-ui»-

tomed as they were, to the cultivation of
the richest land in the valley of the James
Kiver, they were especially ignorant of
any means of fertilization and of prevent-
ing the wear of the virgin soil.

Among the strange and curious charac-
teristics of the peculiar colony at Hayti,
the religions fervor during "bush" meet-
ings and revivals certainly predominated.
Although many of the original settlers had
very little knowledge of the Bible, what
they did know was to them during these
meetings, "like honey and the honey-
comb." The historical personages being
real men and the entire conduct of the an-
cient Jews worthy of imitation in every re-

spect, their faith in nil matters spiritual

being unlimited, their preaching and ex-

hortations on some disputed points of mod-
ern theology were certainly unique, if not
decidedly amusing. The music of the sing-

ing at the "bush" meetings was nothing
like the brilliant noise of the present day.,
irritating rather than soothing to the
nerves, but was truly an adequate expres-
sion of their deep and intense feeling. The
hymns were those in the Methodist hymnal,
which were lined off in the old fashioned
way by the preacher reading two lines

and the congregation singing them. But
to these hymns they added an ad libitum
chorus, each one supplying what to him
seemed appropriate to the occasion and the
simple meter. Some of these additions
might have seemed somewhat irreverent

to the refined, and they certainly were so

peculiar that they could never have been
suggested by any other imagination than
that possessed by the negro.

When the grove which adjoins the church
was lighted up with torches and fires, the
flickering light cast ujwn the sable and
shining countenances, making them look

like Wings of another world; the pathetic
sound of the preacher's voice and the ap-

Digitized by Google



326 H1ST0UY OF JEFFERSON' COUNTY

pea ranee «»f his lx)dy swaying to and fro

in unison with the singing words; the loud

and fervent ejaculations of the elders;

their weird music, sounding douhly strange
and plaintive by reason of the surround-
ings, all formed a picture in the mind that

cannot he eradicated. There have been in-

stances during these meetings of members
passing into such a state of ecstatic bliss

that they fell into a trance, remaining in

that condition for hours. During the re-

vivals in the winter seasou many have been
the jokes played on the congregation. Usu-
ally for a week after the meeting; all white
people were kept out of the church ami the

doors jind windows barred against them.
To get even for this some of the young
white men of the neighborhood climbed to

the roof and stopped the chimneys, literally

smoking out the congregation. Every man.
woman and child believed the smoke to be

a contrivance of the devil who was after

some one of them, each thinking he was the

fuel designed for the brimstone. On an-

other occasion several of the white boys
stole a goose and carrying it to the top of

the church waited for the religious fervor

to reach its height. An old woman of the
congregation began praying in front of the

old wood lite place, calling for "de Spirit

oh de Lawd to Vend right now." Down
came the goose and out of the church went
the congregation through the door, win-

dows and every other opening they could

(ind, conlident that they had been witnesses

to a manifestation of the Spirit descending
like a dove. Several of the eminent col-

ored preachers were born there, among
them Rev. John Smith and Wilson Toney.
hotli eloquent men and zealous workers.
Those who came from V irginia were most
ly Methodists, although the Baptists were a

good minority. Melntyre (."reek has often

been the scene of dippings at which many
ludicrous incidents have occurred. None
of these negroes were Friends, notwith-

standing the benefits they received from
this body, but the quiet, passive way of

their worship had no attractions for the
boisterous disposition of the negro. Then-

was one, however, Lucy Cardwell. who in

practice and in principle was a Quaker, and
whose piety and patience under long suf-

fering were made the subject of a long Abo-
lition tract written by Elizabeth Lndd.
Closely allied to the strong religious fer-

vor of their natures was their superstition,

a trait which they brought from V irginia,

and which was enhanced by the belief in

necromancy and a species of voodooisni
prevalent at Melntyre long before their ar-

rival. Before the ilayti colonists had left

V irginia there were few families for miles
around Melntyre who had not their pe-

culiar signs, omens and disasters to be
avoided by certain incantations :md the in-

tervention of a witch doctor. It did not
take the negroes long to fasten on to every
ghostly story and every charm against im-
pending evil and make it peculiarly their

own. The negro was not only more ready
to Mievc in tiu* supernatural than the pio-

neers, but was more loath to give up this be-

lief when it once took hold, no matter how
absurd it became to the whites after inves-

tigation proved it false. Thus the whites
would ridicule notions that they themselves
once entertained with much zeal, while the
negro would ding to them until they lie-

came a part of him. For a long time no
wealth could hire a Melntyre negro to pass
Oak t J rove school house after nightfall, ami
lie approached it in day time with fear ami
trembling. They claimed that unearthly
lights were often seen Hitting about the win-

dows, carried by grinning skeletons and
headless ligures clothed in white who had
nightly orgies, where during the day chil-

dren went to school. They had a mortal
terror of caves and old coal banks, thinking
them the abodes of evil spirits. They had
a curious superstition connected with aban-
doned coal banks. They claimed that if a
man brought his Bible to the front of a coal

mine, built a lire and burned it. at the same
time adjuring (iod. performing a certain
walk, ami repeating aloud a certain sepnl-
chnral incantation, old Nick would come
out of the bank with horns, forked-tail and
breathing sulphurous flames from out his
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nostrils, ami grant any wish—with the

simple provision that the mortal soul

would he the property of hell when disso-

lution came.
The negroes would under uo circum-

stances go out of a different door of a house
than by that which they entered, saying it

would bring bad luck. There are plenty

of white people today who act on the same
belief. They would muke soft soap and
prepare articles of food only when the

moon was in a certain phase, plant turnips

only on July '2') and cucumbers before day-

light with no clothing on other than a shirt,

and then walking backward into the house.

In churning, if butter did not come as soon
as it should, a vexation known to all

farmers' wives, they would bind the out-

side of the churn with a rope of green grass
or drop a heated horseshoe into the sour

cream. If the butter did not appear after

this they were not perplexed by any means,
but would find some fault in the manner in

which the churn was bound or in the man-
ner by which the horseshoe was heated.

The aged professed to be able to cure

any disease to which flesh is heir by means
of incantations and by the judicious use of

certain herbs, the medical properties of

which they alone knew how to extract and
apply. Every autumn they would have the

roofs of their cabins filled with bunches of

herbs and roots which they had the fullest

confidence would work wonderful cures.

One of their teas had for its chief com-
ponent part material found about sheep
barns, and one of the most efficacious

plasters was formed in a large measure of

what they pnt upon cucumber vines to

drive away hugs and worms. They had
fertilizers for the growth of all vegetables,

all of them homely and senseless, and they
were constantly assuring their neighbors
that they would have no luck if they did

not use them.
Their claims of relationship to each

other is a peculiar feature, as they recog-

nize the ties of kinship as far away as the

forty-sixth cousin. That they are all re-

lated some way is probably a fact, as they

have been very exclusive in their alliances

with families of color outside the settle-

ment. Some of the older members who
were rather light in color took great pride
in secretly conveying the claim that they
traced their paternity to some of the first

families in Virginia.

Politically, every man in the settlement
votes the Republican ticket, although sur-

rounded by and employed by the strongest
Democrats in the county. Next to their re-

ligious meeting nothing is of greater inter-

est or of greater importance to them than
political meetings. An hour before the
time for which the meeting is announced
the school house bell rings and all the men,
women and children of the settlement, to-

gether with their white neighbors, flock to

the school house. The speaker arriving,
one of their number is chosen chairman,
and a speaker not accustomed to them is

completely broken up by their peculiar
ejaculations of approval or dissent. Sev-
eral years ago two Republicans went out
from Steubenville to address the colony on
the issues. The first speaker was J Ion. John
M. Cook, who was not familiar with their
peculiarities, and was dressed in a tight-

fitting suit of blue, and appearing smaller
than he is in stature. Hardly had lie begun
when he was so badly startled that he al-

most forgot his speech, by an old darkey
opening his mouth like an alligator's and
shouting, "God brcss de little lamb!" Fin-
ishing shortly to make way for the next
speaker, the late T. B. Coulter, who bore
his three hundred pounds very gracefully,

he was still worse put out by the alligator's

mouth again opening and exclaiming, "(Jod
bress de lion of the tribe of Judee."
The cabins occupied by the colony arc

in a poor condition. The land once so
fertile and admirably situated for abun-
dant crops is now for the most part stony
and sterile. Scarcely any care has been
taken to improve it and almost every por-
tion is so overgrown with brush and weeds
that it would now be impossible to improve
it. The descendants of the original set-

tlers manage to eke out an existence upon
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it, ami are recognized as quiet, law abiding
citizens. Mr. Ladd took great interest in

the welfare of the colony. Ah stated lie

t'Htne from Virginia in 1814, and purchased
from his father-in-law the farm known as

the "Prosj>ect Hill," adjoining Smithfield.

In 1817 he erected a building for the pur-

pose, and commenced to pack pork and cure
bacon, said to be the first enterprise of

the kind west of the Alleghenies. He had
four packing houses on his fanu and one
at Martin's Ferry.

An M. E. church was built for the com-
munity in 184"), and a Baptist in 1K70. They
have a separate school district sometimes
with black, and sometimes with white teach-

ers. There are about 40 voters there, indi-

cating a population of probably two hun-

dred.

In view of the propositions at different

times to segregate the colored population
of the United States into one or more sep-

arate communities the Mclntire settlement

has been viewed with Rome interest. As
stated, the evidence of improvement dur-

ing the eighty-five years they have occupied
this place has not been marked, notwith-

standing they have been surrounded by
white neighbors of at least average intelli-

gence. Several drawbacks, however, must
be taken into account. The holdings be-

ing small and cultivated in the unscientific

method in vogue not only among negroes,
but whites, the soil would naturully de-

teriorate. Hayti is not the only place

where this has happened. In the second
place the field was too limited for the more
progressive and vigorous element, which
naturally sought homes elsewhere to such
an extent that although there are plenty of
children, the adult population remains
practically stationary. No Moses has arisen

among their own people to teach them bet-

ter ways, and even as to their superstitions

the whites are in no position to throw
stones. As stated they are as a rule quiet
and Inwabiding, but they cannot be said to
have solved any important sociological

problem.
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CHAPTER XX

A COMPANY OF WORTHIES

Meu Who Hare Made the County Famous— 77io.se M7jo Han- Ewiled iu Literature,

Music and the Fine Arts—Captains of Industry and Financiers—Pictures of Early
Living.

The history of the settlement of Jeffer-

son County, its development and progress
naturally includes references to the men
who took a leading part in that work, and
we here devote a short chapter to some
personal characteristics and history out-

side of those already recorded. First is

that of Bezaleel Wells, who was not only

founder of the town of Steuhenville, hut

its mainspring for many years. In the par-

lor of the Wells homestead at Boss Park,
on Spring avenue, Steuhenville, hang two
oil portraits. They were painted H.{ years
ago hy an artist named Stien, who was
probably not only the sole portrait painter

in this part of the country, hut a youth of

exceptional promise. Such were his nbili-

ties that those who knew him predicted for

him a most brilliant future. Hut shortly

after painting these pictures he left for

Europe to complete his studies. On the

way he sickened and died. The portraits

referred to were among the last of his

works, if indeed not his very last. That
alone would give them peculiar interest, hut

to those who live in this valley they repre-

sent much more. One of them portrays
the lineaments of Bezaleel Wells, and the

other, Sarah Griffith Wells, his wife. Mr.
Wells, when this picture was painted, was
58 years of age, still apparently in his

prime. A genial, kindly, yet energetic na-

ture shone out through a pleasing face of
remarkable fresliness and beauty of com-
plexion, with mild blue eyes, one of which
had a peculiar droop when excited by anger
or other cause. Dark hair set off a frame
which is said to have towered over six feet

high, and in appearance as well as in ac-

tion our subject was every inch a man. To
go back nearly 'JOO years, about the begin-

ning of the lHth century, .lames Wells left

his English home, and settled in Baltimore,
Md. There Alexander Wells, his son, was
l>orn on March 1l\ 17'J7. He was married
to Leah Owings, the ceremony taking place

in St. Paul's church, Baltimore, and as the

result of his union, Bezaleel Wells was born
in 1 7(59. Four years later his father moved
to Washington County, Pennsylvania, then
a part of Augusta County, Virginia, erect-

ing the first frame dwelling within the pres-

ent limits of Washington ( "ounty. Bezaleel
remained with an uncle in Baltimore until

he wus thirteen years old. when he joined
his parents, and accompanied them to

Chnrlestown, now Wellsburg, which was to

be his home until manhood. During his

short stay in Washington County he had a
taste of pioneer life, in carrying arms for
the farmers who had built a fort for pro-
tection against the Indians, while they la-

bored in the fields. They were attacked
several times, but none of the Wells family
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was injured. Young Beznleel received as

thorough an educalion as this country af-

forded at tliat time, his father being a man
of means, lie graduated at William and
Mary College, and made a special study of
surveying. This was invaluable to him in

a new country, and lie did a great deal of
work for the government. lie had his

choice of rash or land for his services, but
took the latter, and in 1706 selected a tract

of 1,100 acres on this side of the river

whose southern boundary was what is now
North street, in the city of Stenbenville.

His father who died at Charleston, in 1813,

had received 2,000 acres from the colonial

governor, Lord Dunmore, on Short Creek,

Ya., in return for public services. James
Ross, of Pittsburgh, owned the tract ad-

joining that of Beznleel Wells, on the south,

and in 1797 the two laid out the town of
Steubenville. Mr. Wells doing the survey-

ing of the whole. The lirst sale of lots took

place on August 25, 1797, which mnrks the

beginning of our city.

In 1798 Mr. Wells began the erection of

a large manor house in the beautiful grove
then bounded by South and Third street,

the Ohio River and Wells's Run, which was
finished in 1800. To this place he removed
in the latter year, and for over a quarter
of a century kept open house to all his

friends, entertaining with a generous hospi-

tality borne of ample means and liberal

disposition. Many of the leading men of

the country were entertained there, among
them Henry Clay, and as a divergence I

find in Warden's life of Chase, now rare

and out of print, an extract from a letter

written by the late Chief Justice Chase,

describing a trip from Cincinnati east-

ward about 1821, wherein he says:

"Journeying eastward we reached Steu-

benville, and stopped at the hospitable man-
sion of Mr. Wells, the father-in-law of my
cousin. Philander, whose wife I now first

met. Mr. Wells was a manufacturer, but

had lost by it. lie still retained, however,
bis beautiful place on the banks of the Ohio,

and there with his sons, my schoolmates,

ami in his pleasant family. I passed sonic

very agreeable days. The Ohio being wade-

able. 1 crossed it iu that way, in order to

say that 1 had been in Yirginia. The
Bishop held a service one day at Cross
Creek, a churc h well attended, but without

a house in sight of it."

The property at that day was intersected

by a deep ravine, now tilled up, crossed by

a footbridge which existed until a few years

ago.

A stranger writing to the Herald of April

8. 1820, in a long poem extols the beauties

of the place, from which we take the fol-

lowing introduction:

Near where Ohio's flowing waters glide,

And Nature counts the sun's resplendent
rays,

The enchanting Castle, well of man the

pride,

Arrests the passing stranger's wistful

gaze.

1 lere fancy and simplicity unite,

And taste and culture happily combine,
Delightful spot, where fruits and flowers

invite,

Where clusters tempt, and fruitful vines

entwine.

But our host had something else to do
besides entertaining. His large tracts of

land would soon become a burden unless

utilized in some way. Portions were put

on the market, and in 1804, he laid out the

town of Canton, in Stark County. He also

laid out a town for the county seat of

Wayne County, but this did not materi-
alize as Wooster was chosen as the county's
Capital. When the tirst court met here on
November 1, 1 797. Mr. Wells was appointed
clerk, which office he held until succeeded
by John Ward in 1800. He was also a dele-

gate to the convention which framed the

constitution upon which Ohio was admitted
into the I'nion. and exercised a decided in-

fluence in thnt body. Mr. Wells moved
either by the immediate wants of the com
munity or by a prophetic spirit of the time
when this Ohio Valley would become the

manufacturing centre of the country, early
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turned lib thoughts in that direction. The
history of his manufacturing enterprises

from the .starting of his grist-mill in 180:2

to the financial trouble in 18.10, has been
given elsewhere. About this time Mr.
\\'ells's old home in "The Grove" was pur-

chased by Gen. Samuel Stokely, aud lie

went to live with his daughter, the wife of

Rev. Intrepid Morse, on South High street.

In the meantime his son, Alexander, who
had purchased the farm at the head of

South street, gave it to his father during
his lifetime. The property then included

what was later the Mears estate. There
was built the present Wells residence,

which was completed and occupied in 1832.

From that time until his death, which oc-

curred on August 14, 1846, Mr. 'Wells

passed a peaceful life, looking after his

farming and copperas interests, and per-

forming his duties as senior warden of St.

Paul's church. His remains were interred

in what is known as the "old graveyard"
on lower Fourth street, and afterwards re-

moved to the family lot in Union cemetery,

where they now repose. Mr. Wells was
married twice. His first wife was Miss
Rebecca Reastean, of Baltimore. She
had two children who died in child-

hood, lie afterwards married Miss Sarah
Griffith, of "Wellsburg, who died in .Jan-

uary , 1830. She was the mother of six

sons and five daughters. Katherine War-
Held, married to Dr. .fohn McDowell; Re-
becca K., married to Rev. Philander Chase
and afterwards to Rev. Intrepid Morse,
James Ross, who married Miss Wilson,

Alexander, Beznleel aud Mary, unmarried;
Samuel Owings. who married Miss Holmes;
Hezekiah G., who married Miss Strong,

and became a member of the I'nited States

court of claims; Francis Asbury. who mar-
ried Miss J. C Bogus: Anne (.'lark, married
to Rev. F. P». Kellogg, and Sarah Griffith,

married to Rev. Dudley Chase. All have
passed away, the last survivor being Fran-
cis A. Wells, of this city. His two daugh-
ters still reside at the old home place. John
B., his eldest son, died in Florida in 1906,

Frank C. the vounger, lives in Detroit,

Mich.

It is somewhat remarkable that situated

as it was, remote from the centres of popu-
lation, the residents of Jefferson County,
especially in and about Steubenville should
have from the very beginning not only dis-

played their enterprise in developing the
manufacturing resources of the county, as
we have seen, but were contributors to the
law, literature and fine arts to a degree
almost without parallel in a pioneer com-
munity. Much of this was no doubt due to

the influence of "The Grove" manor which
was a centre of culture and refinement, but
more to the character of the people gen-
erally who made up the infant community.
We do not read of any special compacts
but the immigrants as a rule were God-fear-
ing people, the best and not the worst re-

presentatives of the communities from
which they came. While Virginia and
Maryland furnished the predominating ele-

ment it was leavened by infusions from
other sections, and Scotch-Irish, Church-
men, Friends and the different Protestant
denominations all had their influence in

moulding the character of the community.
Between 1812 and 1820 several families

moved to Steubenville who afterwards con-

tributed not only to the artistic and liter-

ary side of this western society, but whose
immediate and subsequent descendants
gained a national reputation. The first of
these was Rev. Archibald Hawkins, who
came to Steubenville from Baltimore in

1811 and built a house on South Third
Street, lately occupied by his granddaugh-
ter. Miss Rebecca Hawkins. He was a local

Methodist preacher, and is said to have
been a specially intimate friend of Rev.
Father Morse, of St. Paul's, who came a
few years later. At that time he had a son
F.zekiel, three years old, who early gave
indications of precocity as an artist. He
learned the trade of house and sign paint-

ing, but also took up landscape painting
and portraiture, in both of which he did ex-

cellent work. The scenery around Steubeti-
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ville furnished plenty of subjects und in-

spiration, as it did afterwards to Cole. He
also decorated window shades, and made
liis art useful in various ways. The fam-
ily moved to Wheeling in IH'Jf), after which
he gave most of his time to portraiture,

having a camera which would throw upon
the canvas a likeness of the "sitter," which
the artist could make permanent with his

pencil. Here he became acquainted with an
artist named I>amden, from whom he re-

ceived valuable instructions.

Shortly after, al>out 1H4(),*by correspon-

dence with Prof. Morse, the nrtist-eleetri-

cian, and inventor of the electric telegraph,

with whom he was intimately acquainted,

he learned of the famous Daguerre, the in-

ventor of the daguerre process of picture

making. Mr. Hawkins became deeply in-

terested in the new process, and cither pro-

cured a camera from Mr. Morse or made a

daguerreotype camera of the one he al-

ready possessed. He was the first jhtsou
to take these pictures west of the Allegheny
Mountains. They were taken in the open
air, the "subject" sitting for fifteen

minutes with his face to the sun, and of

course with his eyes closed. Although the

pictures were taken under such disagree-

able conditions they were considered won-
derful by the pioneers.

Shortly after Mr. Hawkins engaged in

daguerreotyping he procured from France
an improved camera with which he could

represent the open eyes of the subject. To
have a likeness taken indoors impressed the

people with the wonderful invention more
deeply than did the crude process when it

was introduced. In 1 Mr. Hawkins re-

moved to Cincinnati, where with improved
apparatus he continued to take daguerreo-
types, and made a great deal of money, but

like all men of genius be did not save his

means, using them to improve his facilities

and to satisfy his ambition. His gallery

was the resort of all the prominent artists

of Cincinnati. He took pictures of Henry
(May and other leading men. He was the

first person to make daguerreotypes in the

Queen City. In 1M7 he made the picture

of Henry Clay which aided Hart to model
his famou* statue of the father of the tariff

system known as "protection." Clay's

likeness was trfken in four different posi-

tions, the pictures Wing the largest size

that then could be made—eight and one
half inches in length. The Clay statue was
made for the ladies of Virginia, who pre-

sented it to the city of Richmond. Mr.
Clay traveled about so constantly that with-

out the pictures taken of him by Mr. Hawk-
ins it would have been almost impossible

for the artist to make the model.
During this time Mr. Hawkins with oth-

ers experimented with photography, he lie

ing the first to make pictures of this char-

acter in the west. The first negatives were
paper, but proved very unsuccessful, it be-

ing impossible to get the proj>er impres-

sion on them. The subject was required to

sit two or three minutes, und photographs
of children could not be taken at all. Ex
periments resulted in producing glass neg-

atives, but the albumen used was too slow
and lacking in density, and it was impos-
sible to procure good prints even after a

negative was made. While others had
abandoned experiments along this line, Mr.
Hawkins, with Mr. Whipple, of Boston,
and Mr. Cowden, of Wheeling, continued to

work at the problem, feeling that time
would solve it. Mr. Hawkins corresponded
with these gentlemen, ami the three gave
to each other the points gained as the ex-

periments progressed. Mr. Hawkins was
determined to invent or discover some sub-

stance of sufficient density to make good
photographs. He knew that such an end
was possible and he spent all the money
mnde out of daguerreotyping in expert
ments made to perfect the photographic
process.

Previous to 1H47 he and Mr. Whipple
simultaneously discovered that collodion
was the chemical to use. In experiment-
ing with collodion on the glass plates they
discovered that by placing the negative
again>t a dark surface it made a good pic-

ture. This was the discovery of the am-
brotype. which picture was considered by
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many as the very acme of camera-portraits,

and it eventually displaced the daguerreo-
type. Mr. Hawkins, however, wanted pho-
tographs and continued his experiments
with collodion until he finally produced
good negatives. Mr. Hawkins used this

process previous to F. S. Archer, of Eng-
land, who is credited with its discovery in

1H47. Before this photographs, as we un-

derstand them, were an impossibility. Eze-
kiel Hawkins died in 1HG2. He was a great
sufferer from rheumatism, but pursued his

work amid all discouragements, and had he
lived a few years longer might have reaped
the pecuniary rewards to which he was
fairly entitled. His brother, AVillium,

father of Robert ('. Hawkins, was also an
artist of more than ordinary ability, espe-

cially as a portrait painter and a musician.

Among others he painted a portrait of Mrs.
D. L. Collier in 1K33, also one of Mrs.
Thomas Hoge, aunt of T. P. Spencer, Esq.,

which is owned by eastern relatives. He
also made a feature of decorative work,
especially on panels of stage coaches and
organs. He built two pipe organs, the first

in the county, without ever haviug seen an
instrument of this kind, making every part
of the instrument himself. They were ex-

cellent in tone, and the mechanism was all

that was needed. In fact he was a mechan-
ical genius in every respect. His son, Rob-
ert C. Hawkins, inherited the taste of his

father and uncle, both as to painting and
music. He invented the first "dip bath"
ever used, which was blown in Beatty's old

glass works. Previous to this time what is

known as the silver bath, into which nega-
tives were dipped, was poured into a dish,

in which the negatives were placed with
the fingers. This was a very crude proc-
ess, many negatives being ruined by lines

across them if the whole plate did not come
in contact with the silver instantaneously.
Mr. Hawkins' dip bath was the forerunner
of the present porcelain bath. In the mu-
sical line he made a specialty of the pipe or-

gan, the only instrument in Steubenville
at that time being the two small ones con-

structed by his father, and the ten-register

single manual instrument in old St. Paul's

church, lie played there frequently for

services and when in the early sixties the

third public pipe organ was introduced
into the Second Presbyterian church he
was given charge of the music and acted as

organist and choir director for many years,

lie was also director of the Steubenville

Philharmonic Society, an organization
which contributed greatly to the advance-
ment of musical culture in this city. He
was also a painter of no mean ability, and
as a critic he ranked among the first. The
two organs constructed by his father he
kept in the old homestead on South Third
street until his death, when they were brok-

en up and the material sold.

Among those coming to Steubenville

about 1819 were the Coles, having with
them their son Thomas, born at Bolton-

le-Moore, Lancashire, England, February
1, 1801. The family occupied the Floto

block, since remodeled on the west side of

Fourth street just above Market adjoin-

ing the house on the corner of Market ( now
Commercial National Bank), where Alex-

ander and Joseph Beatty were born. They
had a piano, the only one in all the region.

The daughters, Annie and Sarah, who
taught a school in Steubenville, would play

on the instrument, and it was such a won-
derful thing to hear a piano that each even-

ing the listening crowd outside would fill

the street from curb to curb and as far up
and down the street as the sweet strains

could l>e heard.
The elder Cole was a wall-paper maker,

having followed this business in England.
On the site of the Hartje paper mill stood

the Cole wall-paper factory, wherein was
displayed wonderful genius in the manu-
facture of beautiful wall hangings. The
father designed the blocks from which the

paper was printed, and it was from him
that his son inherited his genius. Thomas,
who was about nineteen years of age at

that time, was a valuable assistant to his

father, for even then he was a eolorist as
well as a fine draughtsman. His first work
was on the old-fashioned but beautiful
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decorated window shades, the painting be-

ing on specially prepared nmsliu. He
made many sketches of the scenery of this

region, and it is said tiiat portion* of the

landscape of his "Voyage of Life" were
taken from sketches made by him on the

Ohio River, the scenery being that from
Brown's Island to Mingo.

Cole was a sedate young man, caring
nothing for the sports of his day, and was
never known to be in any of the '"scrapes"
laid to the door of his contemporaries. He
was a member of the Thespian Society,

which gave dramatic entertainments in

Rigelow's brick stable at the rear of the
present site of the United States hotel.

Connected with this stable was Samuel
Tarr's pottery. Captain Devenny was
associated with the society as a super-
numerary. The last members of this so-

ciety living were K. G. McFeely and J. 1).

Slack. Cole painted the scenery for the
stage and became an adept at this art.

While in Steubenville Cole created quite

a sensation by appearing on the street on
a velocipede—an obi fashioned bicycle

—

propelled by the feet striking the ground.
Whenever he rode on this vehicle he would
have a large troop of boys at his heels.

When he moved awav he presented his

wheel to Joseph Realty. Mr. Cole left

Steubenville in IHii,") for Zanesville and
from there went to Philadeplhia, ami New
York where he made a reputation as a
scenic painter. Some of his patrons sent

him to Italy, and on his return to New York
he soon acquired a national reputation as
a landscape painter, being in fact the ori-

ginator of the American school of land-

scape painting, and drawing his rirst in-

spiration from the Ohio hills. He died at

Catskill, N. Y., on February 11, 1S4S. and
his funeral oration was delivered by Will-
iam Cullen Bryant, who tells how he hap-
pened to leave Steubenville. "A portrait
painter named Stien coming along fas

einated Cole, and he at once with such
rude colors as he could command, began to

paint and was soon able to establish him-
self as a portrait painter," the only thing

lacking being patrons and for them he

started ou a tramp. This was the saint'

Stien who painted the Wells portraits no-

ticed above. Bryant says the pictures he

painted in New York attracted the atten-

tion and praise of Durand, Dunlap and
Trumbull and from that time, "he had a

fixed reputation, and was numbered among
the men of whom our country has reason to

!>e proud." He went to Europe in lH.'ll, and
on his return to America his friends said

of him that he had lost his American spirit

which gave his pictures their character

before leaving for Italy; but he soon re-

covered his old-time enthusiasm and re-

gained the good opinion of the critics. His
greatest picture was the one, or rather the

series of five pictures painted for human
Reed, of New York, called the "Course of

Empire," in which are presented, to use

Cole's own words, "nn illustration of the

history of the human race, as well as the

epitome of man. showing the natural

changes of landscape and those caused by

man in his progress from barbarism to civ-

ilization, to luxury, to the vicious state, or

the state of destruction, and to the state of

ruin or desolation." Many of his works
were of this character, and included

"The Departure" and "The Return.'

*

"The Dream of Arcadia." "The Voyage
of Life," "The Cross in the Wilderness;"
other works arc "Home in the Woods."
"The Hunter's Return," "The Mountain
Ford," and "The Cross and the World."
His biographer says of him: "Jn nil his

relations of life his amiability and gener-
osity were engagingly displayed, and to

those who could sympathize with his en-

thusiastic and impressive nature, he espe-

cially endeared himself. His life was one
of singular purity, and in the latter part of

it he manifested a sincere and unostenta-
tious piety." Cole was also a poet and in

his papers were found many beautiful de-

scriptions of his paintings in verse of con-

siderable merit, but none of his literary

work was ever published. He left 21 son,

Reo Thomas Cole, now rotor of Trinity
chnreh, Saugerties, N. Y.
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At the time the Coles moved to Steuben-
ville, William Watkins came with his fam-
ily from either England or Wales. He
was employed as a sorter in Wells & Dick-

enson's woolen factory. One of his sons,

Joseph, moved to Coshocton, where he

died; another son removed to the wilds of
Illinois, where he married an Indian squaw,
lie returned to Stenbenville, sometime af-

ter, bringing with him an Indian boy. Mr.
Watkins built the house afterwards oc-

pied by James Thomas and Samuel Wilson
on Fourth street below North. He after-

wards built the mansion on North Seventh
street now occupied by George W. McCook,
but became embarrassed and was unable to

finish it. While there he planted mulberry
trees and reared a large number of silk-

worms, from which he reeled the silk for
John W. Gill, of Mount Pleasant, whose
factory i* described elsewhere. He after-

wards removed to Coshocton and died
there. He had a son William who dis-

played great skill in sketching, and while
in Steubenville was a pupil of Thomas Cole.
He carried on furniture decoration and
while quite young painted a portrait of Am-
brose Shaw when the latter was about four
years of age. This portrait belongs to the
family of Henry K. List, of Wheeling, and
is an excellent full length figure. Young
Watkins left Steubenville for New York,
where he painted beautiful portraits on
ivory. Afterwards he went to Europe to

complete his studies, where he was received
with great favor, ('specially in England,
Queen Victoria sitting to him for a por-
trait.

Alfred Newson, was born in Steubenville.

but spent the greater part of his life in

Philadelphia. Of his parents nothing is

known, except that his mother was unmar-
ried. He was a deaf mute. He left Steu-
benville at the time Cole and Watkins came.
In his early days he made many interest-

ing sketches on the board fences which
showed the possibilities in the boy that
were afterwards developed. His faculties

of observation were very keen, and he
would see the minutest detail of an object.

retaiuing the impression in his remarkable
memory.
At Philadelphia he entered a large book

publishing house, where he devoted his tal-

ents to illustrating as well as making the

engravings. He was known as one of the

finest engravers in the country, and many
of the books of his day gave evidence of
his skill.

William R. Dickenson went to Phila-

delphia some years after Newson had lo-

cated there, and calling on the young man.
had a long conversation with him in writ-

ing. Mr. Dickenson expressed a doubt as

to wrhether Newson knew him, whereupon
Newson drew a picture of Steubenville, a
perfect plat of the ground as well as of the

improvements, not forgetting to draw the
defects in the buildings. The drawing was
so well done and the proportions of the

houses so nearly perfect they seemed to

have been made to scale. Another gentle-

man from Steubenville called to see New-
son in Philadelphia years after. During
the conversation Newson drew a picture of
the gentleman's house so perfectly that it

was immediately recognized.

Benjamin Shaw was another deaf mute
in later years who achieved quite a repu-
tation by his paintings of birds and other
natural objects, although his infirmities

were such that he did not leave his couch
for years.

It was not alone in developing artists

transplanted from other soils that this com-
munity became eminent. The native prod-
uct has done quite as well. Probably the
earliest in this class was James Wilson Mc-
Donald, son of Isaac McDonald, who was
sheriff from 18:ifi to 1839. Wilson, the

name by which he was best known, devel-

oped a taste for modeling, and made a bust

of Henry Clay, which reposed for several

years in the old court house. He engage* 1

in the sewing machine business in St. Louis
for a short time, but returned to his art

and made a fine, bust of Thomas Denton for

one of the St. Louis parks, a life like bust
of O'Connor and other subjects. He re-

moved to New York, and among the works
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completed while there was a notable statue

to General Custer at West Point. lie died

a few years since.

Kliphalt't F. Andrews, son of Alexander
Andrews, gave evidence of artistic talent

at an early age, and in 1S."j9 went to Gor-

niany, where lie studied under some of the

l>est masters. On his return he secured the

property on the northwest corner of Fourth
and Slack streets, to which he added a
large studio. In 1S7.'5 he again visited Eu-
rope, this time remaining several years,

dividing his time between Diisseldorf. Paris

and other places. He had already achieved

reputation as a jiortrait painter, and had
several pictures accepted for the Centen-
nial Exhibition at Philadelphia in 187o\ I le

subsequently painted portraits of a num-
ber of citizens, including that of Kol>ert

.Mears, now hanging in the council cham-
ber, Capt. Charles Doty, and others. In

order to have a broader field he moved his

studio to Washington City, where his work
attracted general attention. For several

years lie was director of the Corcoran art

gallery, and his portraits of Jefferson, Mar-
tha Washington and Madison which adorn
the White House and Capitol are his chefs

d'euvre. His large portrait of President
Garfield is one of his leading productions,

of which he made a replica - and presented
it to the city of Steubenville, where it now
hangs in the council chamlwr. Among his re-

cent works are the full length portraits of

the late Edwin M. Stanton, now in the Jeff-

erson County court house, and a similar

one of Hon. Benjamin Tappan in the same
place, both presentation copies, testifying

to the interest which Mr. Andrews still re-

tains in the place of his nativity. He now
resides on a beautiful country place near
Alexandria. Va., where he still pursues his

calling for the love of it. his means for-

tunately being such that he is not compelled
to make it a matter of business.

The third and youngest of this trio of

native Steubenville artists is Alexander
Doyle, who wa* born in IS.")*. „n High
street below Market, opposite the residence

• of his grandparents. Mr. and Mrs. Alex

ander Doyle. His parents were George
and Alice Butler Doyle. While he was
quite young the family moved to Louis-

ville, Ky., and thence to St. i^ouis. Mr.

Doyle, Sr. was engaged in the marble mon-

ument business and this possibly had some-

thing to do with directing the taste of the

boy in the direction of .sculpture. At any

rate be began to interest himself in model-

ing, and the subsequent sojourn of the fam-

ily in Italy for a number of years gave op-

portunity unusually favorable for pursu-

ing his studies. When they returned to

America and settled in New York, Mr.

Doyle had already developed marked tal-

ent ns a young sculptor, although he re-

turned to Italy in the seventies, where he

remained several years at the Ferara mar-
ble quarries superintending his father's in-

terests and pursuing his studies at the same
time. When lie returned home it was not

long before he had numerous commissions.
Busts and smaller works for private in-

dividuals were rapidly followed by such

production* as the statue of"Lil»erty" in

bronze for a monument at Pealiody, Mass.,

colossal statue of "Education," in granite

fourteen feet high for the Pilgrims' monu-
ment at Plymouth Koek, Mass., the John
Howard Payne statue and monument at

Washington. D. C. and the "Margaret"
statue in marble at New Orleans. All

this work was done before he was twen-

ty-six years of age, and at that time

he received a commission for a bronze
statue of Gen. Robert E. Lee to sur-

mount a monument to that general in

the Crescent City. It was lG'.j feet in

height and weighed nearly 7,000 pounds,
being the largest bronze statue ever cast

in New York up to thai time. Tin* statue

was unveiled on Washington's birthday,
1SS4. with imposing ceremonies. At that

time Mr. Doyle bad begun work on a colos-

sal statue of "Peace." 114 foot high, with

the base surrounded by thirteen figures

representing the original slates. This was
soon afterwards completed, together with a

statue of Albert Sidney Johnson for New
Orleans. Senator Ben Hill at Atlanta,
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Bishop Pinekuey for Washington, Mis-

souri's two statues in the old Hall of

Representatives, at Washington, Garfield

statue in the Cleveland monument, aud
other works whose mere enumeration would
fill a volume. The death of his father n few
years ago compelled Mr. Doyle to tem-

porarily give up his profession in order
to attend to business matters, but he has
since returned to his first love, and among
the commissions first received was one for

a statue of General Beauregard and one
of Jefferson Davis, both to be located in

New Orleans, thus making four of his

productions in that city. Mr. Doyle
at this writing is now engaged on what he
considers his greatest work, namely a he-

roic statue of Hon. Edwin M. Stanton to be

placed in front of the entrance to the Steu-
benville Court House. It is a gift from
the sculptor to his native city and county
and is expected to be completed about the

time these pages are given to the public.

The Howells family, who were of English
and Welsh descent, came to Jefferson
County in 1813. William C. Howells,

father of William Dean Howells, the novel-

ist, was then a boy, and has fortunately

preserved for posterity such full and in-

telligent account of their sojourn here as
to give it a value and interest far beyond
what would attach to a mere family his-

tory, and places before the reader a graphic
and accurate picture of the condition of
things and the state of society between 1813
and 1840. Their previous home was in

Louden County, Virginia, and they came
the usual route by wagons over the moun-
tains to Brownsville, Pa., where they took
a flatboat and floated down to Pittsburgh.
From there they "embarked upon a keel-

boat to proceed down the Ohio on our
voyage which was to terminate at Warren-
ton, a point fourteen miles below Stenben-
ville, to the mouth of Short Creek in Jeff-

erson Connty. I suppose the boat must
have made a coasting trip, for we stopped
at Beaver, Steubenville, and other points,

taking three days to make the eighty-five

miles from Pittsburgh. This brought us to

within three miles of the end of our jour-

ney, which was finished in some convey,

ance sent down from Steer's mill. I can
well remember my mother's delight at get-

tiug through with the tiresome trip, which
had been to me a panorama of delightful

novelty ; but to her—who still pined for the

home she had left in Wales—it was an
added four hundred miles in the distance
of her exile."

Mr. Howells adds:

"The part of Ohio into which we came, in 1813, was
one of the bent improved in the state. The country wu
well cleared up and settled by thrifty, and, in some
instances, wealthy farmers. The excellent mill Htrcani

of Short Creek—then much better than now—on its whole
twenty-five miles of length, had a good flouring mill at

every available site, and one respectable paper mill.

Mount Pleasant, the town where wc went to meeting and
for what little trade we did, was a larger and more
prosperous place than it is now, after flfty-flve years

<1868) and had six or seven hundred inhabitants, while

Steabenville boasted of 2,000 aud extensive manufactures.
Still it was a new country, and life in it was attended
by numberless inconveniences. As soon as the family
was settled in a good hewed-log house, with shingle roof,

my father set about his preparations for manufacturing
wool, according to his (previous) engagement. But while

we were on the way from Virginia, Kteer's flouring mill,

which was an extensive one, was burned down, and on
our arrival they were busy rebuilding it, and build-

ing a house for the woolen mill also. This retarded

father's work, as the fire had crippled the means of the

proprietor. But father had the direction of mechanics,
who built machinery from his drafts and explanations,

in n very primitive way. A blacksmith nearby, who made
axes, did the work in steel and iron, including the forging
of the spindle*, which was rather a (Ntrtieular job, as
they had to be made round with the flic, as well as other
work by hand that would have lieen properly done on a
lathe. The summer was taken up with the building of
the house and machinery, and it was pretty well into the

winter before the factory started. So far as I know
it did well enough as a small concern; but for some
reason that I did not understand, father gave it up at

the end of his first year's engagement and movo.l to

Mount l'leasant."

During the war with Great Britain the

family, being Quaker and English, were
not very enthusiatic supporters, which was
the cause of some animadversion by their

neighbors, but nothing serious.. The narra-
tive continues:

"Father having made arrangements to go to Mount
Pleasant, be joined two brother* of the name of Hunt.
Samuel and Jonathan, who owned a large horse- power
mill, which they converted into a factory for woolen
work; but it took a good while to get it ready, and we
were delayed in moving till late in the spring. After
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getting to our new place father went to work in great
spirits, and soon after he and the Hunt* were joined
by a Scotchman, Thomas Donaldson, whom we had
known in Virginia, lie introduced the spinning of flax

a* an addition to the business. This required new
machinery, which they act about building. My recollec-

tion U that it waa well into the wiuter before they got
ready to spin any flax, and when they tried it they
failed, because the flax required to be kept moist nnd
the house was so open that they could not keep it from
freezing. On some mild days they made very nice thread
of flax, and with a coarser machine they made a great
deal of tow twine, which they wove into some coarse
fabrica. But they were, as 1 supposed, compelled by
poverty to give it up, and the ]kartnership was dissolved.

After this, which exhausted another year of fruitless

labor, father begun alone, being assisted by credit from
John Hogg, an enterprising Englishman who kept a
store in Mount Pleasant. Under this arrangement father

built ft house for a factory, in a part of which he finished

off rooms for us to live. He got together machinery for

carding and spinning woo] for country customers, they
being mostly satisfied with the carding, from which tlu-y

spun it at home, • * • The machines were propelled

by horse-power, which was supplied by a blind horse that

we called Charley, whose duties extended to carrying us

when not at the wheel. It was early in 1*1.1 when father

began to build, within which year he got started; but
this kind of life continued till June, lsltl, when one
day John Arthur, one of the hands who worked under
father at Steer's factory, where he then worked, came
from Bteubenvillo with an offer to father to come and
take charge of the carding room (which contained eight

or ten machines attended by boys) at a salary of *.">o0

a year. Father's business was neither very prosperous
nor promising, and he was in debt, chiefly to John Hogg.
A family council was called, in which I took part, and
it was accepted, and the next day or so he started, leaving

a large lot of wool to be carded. A well-grown boy. who
knew something about the business, was employed, and
he and I, with mother to look after the business and
accounts, finished up the carding to the satisfaction of
customers. This took up a few weeks' time, but the

family wus removed to SteubeiiviHe in August. Mr. Hogg
befriended father, took the concent off his hand* at a

tolerably good pri.-e— perhaps all it was worth— and
nssumed all the debt- that the balance over his own does
would pay, though many troublesome ones remained to

haunt us for some years afterwards."

As noted, the elder Howclls came to Steu-

bcnville a few weeks before liis family, go-

ing home once a fortnight. Tt was the cus-

tom of the hoy to go with a horse and meet
his father, when hotli would ride hack on
the same patient animal, th« distance to

Steubenville being about twenty miles. The
second time be came clear to the city, the

first sight of which front above Mingo he
thought the most splendid view of his ex-

perience. (Aiming on up be met the fol-

lowing difficulty as he entered the town.

"The road divided a1 the hank of the little mill si renin

lslnw, one fork of it turning ro the river liaiik. and the

other, which I followed, starting forward through a lane

into Third street and up a hill that hid the town from
me. Here I was attacked with doubts, and I supposed

I was on tbe wrung road. Hut reasoning that if I kept

near the river I must come to where 1 had aeen the town,

I turned into nn open gate and followed the carriage

road then leading into the very handsome grounds of

Bexaleel Wells. I soon came to tbe end of the avenue
and in sight of the town ; but I saw no way to it, except

to cross that ravine upon a slight foot bridge that was
thrown across on very light timbers, and floored with inch

boards. Upon this frail structure 1 turned tbe old horse

(which was blind and could not see his danger) and went
oxer in safety. Whether anybody saw me or not I di>

not know, as 1 never beard it spoken of, and when I came
to understand it 1 said very little about it myself. 1

suppose the feat of crossing that bridge on horseback
was never performed by anyone else."

Concerning his first experience in the in-

fant metropolis he says:

"From a community nearly all Quakers I bad conie

where there was not one. And then I was a stranger to

all the boys, and as I was very Quakerish and wore a

little shad-bellied cout I was esteemed fair game for

those disposed to play the bully, while I was a curiosity

to others. I had to run the gauntlet of constant chal-

lenges to fight, which I had to accept, or run, followed by

jeers and cries of coward ! I did not want pluek, bnt I

had a principle against fighting, and was under constant

injunction from father not to strike, whatever tbe provo-

cation. I compromises! this matter towards the last by
kicking the shins of a few of the more troublesome one*,

and this brought me peace. For the winter comfort of

tbe children, father got a cartman to go with me one
Saturday afternoon along the bank of the river, near

Mingo Bottom, where in a short time we filled the cart

with butternuts. Ity going into the country in almost

any direction we could get would fruits, especially grapes,

and nuts in great abundance. As soon as winter set in

I started to school. The teacher, then called master, was
John Finley. a brother of Father James B. Finley, well

known among the Methodists as a preacher of great zeal

und piety. John Finley was also n Methodist preacher,

anil as such superior to his brother, but he left the itin-

erant service of his church to devote himself to teaching,

which he seemed to prefer. He was regarded as an excel-

lent teacher, and his school was large, including tbe son*

<>f the leading men of the place. Among them were the

sons of itezaleel Wells. Martin Andrews, Judge Benja-
min T.ippan and John I'. Wright, who led society there.

Our siudiee at this school Mere spelling, reading, arith-

metic and writing, (irninmar and geography were not

taught in the common schools then, nor for many years

lifter. Tlte paper used in writing waa a pretty gissl

article of tixiNi-ap. made in tho country, but unruled.

Ho we had to rule it for ourselves; and each boy was
armed with a wooden rule, furnished bv some friendly
carpenter, to which was tied a pencil made of crude lead.

With thcie we ruled ««r paper to all desirable widths,
by which we wen- guided in learning to write, for it was
expected flint any •ne who had learned to write wonld
not need sin h a guide, Our pens were all made of quills;

ami making a good js-n was part of the art of writing,

and an indispensable one at that. Our ink was usually

made from ink powders, or from oak and maple bark,

with i m|i['it:is ailde.i to the Imih-d decoction of these.

Uric of the most erln i< lit agencies in education in that
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day was thrashing, and every master scrupulously availed
himself of it. The house where this school was kept was
a one-story frame about eighteen or twenty feet square—
a mere box with doors and windows. I afterwards
attended an evening school to learn grammar. At this

frammar school my seat mate was Edwin M. Stanton,
do not remember meeting with him since; bat I remem

ber him a boy, delicate physically, grave and studious.

As there were do Quakers in SteubenvUle father joined
the Methodist church. Mother joined with him, but never
partook of his enthusiasm. Typhoid fever of a very
malignant form was epidemic in that region during the
winter of Wltl-17, and great numbers died ; people in the
country were alarmed to such an extent that they would
not come to market or on business, and the place was
almost desolate.* One of our great sports in the streets

at that time was bonfires made of shavings from the
new houses building. To add to the excitement some
boys were engaged to gather a great quantity, that is to

say, sundry hatfuls of buckeyes—wild horse chestnuts that
grew in great abundance along the river. These were
saved until Saturday, when the carpenters would throw
out the rubbish for the bonfire. When the fire was nearly
burned down and the flame began to lose iU splendor
the buckeyes were thrown into it by the boys who sur-

rounded the Are, when, as they became hot, there was a
gas generated in them that exploded with a report like a
pistol."

In 1818 the elder Howells purchased a
farm of about thirty or forty acres on the

north fork of Wills Creek, five miles from
town, where the family moved in 1819, the

lofr cabin on the place having been made
inhabitable, lie still worked in the factory,

coming home on Saturday afternoons,
which imposed most of the farm duties on
the mother and children, and many were
the adventures they had. There were
plenty of snakes, as there are now up
there, copperheads predominating. Jay
birds were numerous, robins few, wood-
peckers plenty, and redbirds, brown thrush,
whippoorwills, and pheasants. An uncle
Powell occupied the Howells 's townhouse
and then moved to Mingo, which is thus
described

:

"Mingo Mottom in that day was really much larger
than now, for the river has washed away many valuable
acres from it since I first knew it. The last time I saw
it the loss of land within my own observation was prob-
ably fifty acres, besides a great part of the island, which
is now very little more than a sandbar and towbead of
willows. Then it was covered with large trees, and a
voyage to that island, which was not cultivated and was
out of the roach of cattle, afforded a regular Robinson
Crusoe adventure. Among the natural growths of the
island I remember hops, which seemed identical with the
cultivated kinds, running over the bushes ami brush of

I • This oould not be charged to the Ohio Rlvr-r. -En ]

the driftwood. This was the period when steamboats
were beginning to take their place in the navigation of
the Ohio. Their appearance would create a great excite-

ment along the banks, and at the towns and villages

their arrival and landing were great occasions. The citi-

zens turned out, and civic ceremonies were observed be-

tween those in command of the boat and those in com-
mand of the town. At 8teubenville they had a little

cannon, with which they always fired salutes on these

occasions, and the steamboats also carried a gun, with
which they announced their arrivals and purpose of land-

ing. On the departure a like ceremony was observed.

I remember, on one occasion, I was in town in 1820 (in

March, I suppose, from it being cold weather) when a
steamboat was said to be seen far down the river, and
the people were gathered in groups to discuss the sub-

ject At one tavern where there was a kind of lookout

upon the roof a man was stationed with a spyglass to

report progress. He announced the approach, which was
very slow, as there was a strong current, with the opinion
that there was something wrong with the machinery, as

she was about to land. This cast dismay over the crowd,
und there was a general rush for the river bank to see

what could be learned there. But she crept along the
short till about a mile and a half below town, where
she stopped, when there was a grand rush of men and
big boys through the mud down the river bank to see

the steamer, as if there never had been and never would
be another. From the landing several salutes were fired,

but received no answer. The engine was out of order,

and when the curious crowd arrived the steamboat men
threw out a cable, by which the people towed the boat
into port. These steamboats were a queer stylo of water
craft, as they had not assumed the forms that were
afterwards found to be suited to river navigation. Their
builders copied the models of ships adapted to deep
water, and the boats all drew too much water to be
available in the dry season, so that they could not really

be used on the upper Ohio more than about three months
in the year. They looked just like small ships without

masts. Some of them had peculiar models, and all had
very little power in comparison with later boats. Very
few of them could make over two or three miles against

the stream when it was strong. When Fulton commenced
steamboat building he patented the aide puddle wheels,

and held a monopoly of that form of bout. This led to

an evasion in many of the western boats, which consisted

of placing a wheel on each side of the keel at the stern

of the vessel, so that the wheels were out of sight except

from behind. The present stern wheels on river boats

are a later and very different invention, and served a
different purpose, being designed to place the wheel out

of the current and clear the boat of the drag of its eddy.

The first boats had no more decking than a common
sailing vessel."
"The fall of 1819 was marked by the prevalence of

a dense fog mixed with the smoke of the clearings of

the forests that made it impossible to see any consider-

able distance for many days. From the boats on the

river the banks could not be seen, or the boats from the

banks. It was customary for the boatmen to carry tin

horns with them, from which they sent forth a wild

music through the fog that still sounds to me most
enchanting]}-. The notes were nil on a minor key, soft

and weird, and when its source was unseen it seemed like

the wail of a spirit. I do not wonder that Gen. William
O. Butler made that horn the burden of his only poetic

effort and Bang:
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"O. boatman! wind that horn again,

For never did the listening air

Upon its ambient tiowom boar
So soft, so wild, no sweet a strain.

What tlio' thy notes be sad and few,

Yet, boatman, wind thy hum again'
Tho' much of sorrow marks its strain.

Yet are its notes to sorrow dear.

Yet in earn pulse to nature true,

And melody in every tune."

Speaking of the lumber rafts, which
would frequently cover an acre or uiore of

space, Mr. Howells says

:

"1 have seen shanties of two or three families, with
wagons, horses, eows and even poultry, all snugly situated,

with room for the children to play outside. Often have

( seen the women washing, and a clothes line hung with
the linen, as if in the door yard they had loft."

Our author attended a camp meeting at

East SpringGeld in 1H20, during a rainy
spoil, and consequently his principal recol-

lections of it are not very inspiring. After
living on Wills Creek for about three years,

the farm wax given back to the owner, the

payment going as so much rent, and a

tract of twenty-three acres secured on the

hill above Mingo, about a mile from the

river, and between Cross Creek and Steu-

benville, where the night grammer school

already referred to was attended, at which
Stanton was the youngest scholar. The
teacher was a hatter, but the name is not

given, possibly it was Henry Orr. He men-
tions the Scotch-Irish as most of the set-

tlers at that time. In this connection is re-

lated the following:

"There is a little valley near Stcula-tmlli- to the south-

west of town, and in it I found a near ml from one
place to the other, through which I could drive the rows,
sheep and pigs without going through the town, as we
should otherwise have to have done, ami thus shorten the

distance and escape the trouble of keeping I hem together
in a strange place. Whenever I entered this valley, at

either end of it, I was invariably affected by great

dejection of spirits, which lusted until 1 paused out of
it. and whether alone or in company this whs always
tho case. The distance through it was a little less than
two miles. Then- »ns nothing about this valley, of tradi-

tion or peculiarity of situation, that could call up n«so-

ciations, to me at least, of an unhappy kind, liut to no-

it was always a place of melancholy shadows, und it was
the only locality that ever so affected me."

Could this have been the present ceme-
tery ravine connecting Fourth street ex-

tension with Market slreet road.' That
was the only such cut -off back of town.

Perhaps there were some anticipatory

ghosts or shadows long before the place

was put to its present use. There certainly

was a somewhat weird appearance of the

hills altout the present entrance before the

property was improved, and the present

writer recollects very well that while wan
tiering there in boyhood days the place re-

minded him of the description of the en-

trance to Aladdin's cave until sometimes
he almost imagined he saw the youth and

magician at their incantations.

Some religious experiences of that period

are thus related:

"Among the Methodists at that time there was a very

steady sin cession of meeting* of one kind or another,

umt those who belonged to the church found abundant

entertainment, if nothing else, in the rontimial round of

preaching, class and prayer meetings. The Methodic
church at Steuhenville, which was the largest church

there numerically, was rent and distracted with rontro

versies between "those who wanted to preach and those

who did not want them to do anything of the kind. Thi»

state of things was soon scented out by some preachers

in the adjoining country, who were known as Newlighl*.

hot who called themselves Christians. in the way of

doctrines they had little to say, though so far as I can

gather they taught a kind of I'nitarianisrn. But those

fellows that came down on Stoubenville a lain t 1*24 were

a most unpolished and uncultivated set. They ranted

and roared nnd shouted to the entire satisfaction of the

most enthusiastic of the meeting goers, and. as a prime

article of their faith, they taught that every man or

woman who wanted to do so had a right to preach, ami

was at liberty to preach, though I remember that two

>r three of tiiem managed to do it all themselves; and

they got rid of the clamorous aspirants by conceding

them the privilege without insuring them a enngregatioB-

It was not long liefore the Newlights made their ap|>ear-

ance la-fore they hnd large meetings. Ailing such room«

as they could yet to overflowing, and generally raising a

noise that could Is- heard half over town, • • • The
result was the detachment of a large body of the Melh
odisls who went directly over to the new comers, making
up at once ipiite h res|n-ctitble society, as to number* lit

least. The Methodists, who werclosors in the conflict,

wen' e»as|M-raled to such a degree that they expelled the

members who had left, and talked violently against their

rivals, the Newlights preachers, and fronted them in »

must niifhi i-.t ian manner. This soon reni ted in favor of

the Newlights, and though they were admitted to Is? a

rough set. there was snon a strong sympathy with them
among outsiders. They rapidlv increased, and took in

mativ from the class of •• wicked sinners" whom the

Methodists liml faded to reach. Among these were a lot

of pretty hard l»>ys from the w.sden factory. From
working in the newlvdved wool these l>ovs became col

ored in hands and faces, and especially at tunes then

were extremely blue. Hut the Isiys, when they Iss-aine

interested iii the nos ings, . leaned their hands and frns-s,

an- 1 Isvau e very presumable. They were regular an-i

,'eii|jni» mctiiU-t* "f tl i new . |nir. !i. one of the i-erenn-t'ics

of whii a w:is the w. i»hing of lis t The ceremony was
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auuouuced one evening uncx|KH ti .llv. and too* the* boys,
who bad been working all dav in the blue wool, quite
unawares. The array of blue feet was astonishing to
the elder* with towcla girded around their waiata, and
no small source of amusement to the irreverent lookers

on. But the bora were in earnest, and endured the trial

of their mortification most tnunfully, and a trial it was,
for their fellow apiireMires did nut fail to allude to it

many a day afterwards."

A convert to tbe new faith, who had the

reputation of being a great cheat acknowl-
edged his fault and reimbursed all those
whom he had cheated, certainly a commend-
able performance, but from a too literal

application of scripture narrative he
adopted the notion that he ought not to

marry, for he said they neither married
nor were given in marriage in the kingdom
of heaven. He loved a sister in the church,
who reciprocated his sentiment, but did
not adopt his notions about marriages.
His proposition was that they should live

together, but not be married, for that would
be like the angels. They had a long time
in settling this affair, and the man, as
solemn as an owl, or a dozen of them if you
please, would argue the matter with Mr.
Howells, who contended and reasoned
against it but without effect. So did others,

including his sweetheart, who engaged
every one she could to persuade him to act

like "any other man," and be married. All

had confidence enough in him to trust his

word to live with her and be faithful to

her; and at last, knowing that a public

promise that he was going to live with her
would bind him legally, they gave into him,
and he took her home to live with him, of
which he made announcement ut meeting.
They lived that way till they had several

children, and then they were married.
Receiving a legacy of $500 by the death

of Mr. Howells's grandfather in Wales the

family purchased a farm in Harrison
County, thirty-seven miles from Steuben-
ville. where they again went through the
experience of pioneer life, tobacco being
among the crops raised. The nominal price

of wheat was thirty cents a bushel, some-
times in trade with iron at twelve and one-
half cents a pound, and other manufactured
goods in proportion. "Whisky was cheap.

A leading cause of lawsuits was slander,
from which we infer that gossip is not ex-
clusively a modern art. The family moved
to Wheeling and from there in 1834 to a
farm near Chillieothe. Our writer had
learned to set type in Wheeling and came
back to Mt. Pleasant where Elisha Bates,
at that time the leader of the Orthodox
Quakers, had a printing office. He gives a
graphic account of a disagreement among
the Friends which is referred to in the
sketch of Mt. Pleasant Township. Fail-
ing to get work at Mt. Pleasant he went to
the home of Alexander Campbell, fourteen
miles from Steubeuville on Buffalo Creek,
Va., who was issuing a paper called the
Christian Baptist, where he had fitted up
a printing office in a little house sixteen
feet square, where the pressman wet the
paper for presswork by dipping it directly
into the stream, selecting a big stone to
lay the paper board upon and another for
the dry paper, while he stood half leg deep
in the water, which gentlv plnved over his
hare feet. This was in 1828, and Mr.
Howells soon after returned to Wheeling
and published one or two periodicals. Here
in 1831 he became acquainted with Marv
Dean and was married on Julv 10th, of tha't
year. They moved to St. Clairsville in
August. In 18.12 he returned to Mt. Pleas-
ant with his wife where he worked for Eli-
sha Bates, publisher of The RvjMsitonf.
While there the cholera broke out (1832).
and Dr. Planner, of Zanesville was de-
luded to go to Wheeling where it was rag-
ing, and prepare himself to treat it when
the plague should appear in their town.
The doctor on his return from Wheeling
stopped at Mt. Pleasant to visit his three
unmarried sisters. He arrived in the eve-
ning, received and made some calls, ex-
pecting to resume his journey the next
morning. Instead of that he was attacked
by the cholera, and died in twenty-four
hours, while the terror-stricken people
closed their doors and walked in silence
about the streets. The Bates publication
was suspended in the fall of 1833, and
Howells and his wife moved to Wheeling.
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and about the first of April following

moved to Chillicothe by river and canal.

About this time Dr. Drake, of Cincinnati,

published a historical sketch of Ohio, de-

scribing the wild horse-chestnut known as

the buckeye and presenting it as the em-
blematic tree of the state, thus perpetuated

its name in this connection. Mr. Howells
worked in the printing oflice of the Scioto

(imette, and suggested to the publisher the

idea of William Henry Harrison for pres-

ident, which idea was taken up and pur-

sued so successfully that it placed Harrison
in the White House. The timet tc being

sold, Mr. Howells went to the farm for a

year and returned to Wheeliug, where he

relates the following:

"The nut summer, while we were living again in

Wheeling, two young men were hanged for the murder of

:hi old man for his money. Thi'ir name* were Hoone
l,ung and Tom Winlritiger, a buy 1 had known in Steu-

Ijenville. The executions were public und attended by
thousand*. Wheeling wax then controlled by Virjrini*

Innt und influence, though the people were in sentiment

mure like those of Ohio. There were very few slave*,

not, )x-rhnp6, river fifty in the city; but the few old

»liive holding families exerted n tirvnt control over the

place, ami they affected the milliner and prejudice* iif

the idnve-holdiiig part of the atnte, und pretended lo think

the people of Ohio were inimical to ihetn
;
they seemed

to think that the Ohioans were ready at any time to

-timulate n revolt among their handful of negroes, whom
they dared not treat aa slaves usually were treated. Hut
this was an ••eensinn for the master* to seare them strive*,

and v* if In ti the town they got up a rumor a* hnsc|e»a as

euuld l<e that the people of Hteuoenv ille, who wen- henrt-

ilv glud tn lie rid of Win t ringer, were '" r '""

en itiasw und rescue bim. On the strength of tin* Hoy
culled nut the citizens at larije to patrol the county tw»
i>r three nights and day* In-fore Hie exeeiitioii, and iwo
military companion were culled out twodcH. I think I

was never more exa*i»er;ited iliiui nhei) ealled on 1« do

duty on this patrol, win. I. I promptly refused to do.

T'i'ingh tlirenlenei' v. • . * I never was visited

wuu any. The executions eatne uff, the city was filled

with people, and the uveitis and nn-y »hops withered

their harvest."

The elder Howells, whose propensity for

moving still remained, had in the meantime
bought a lot and was building a house in

Martin's Ferry, and, during the summer of

IS.Hi. the son followed his example and
lived there until 1840. Here, on March 1,

1837, William Dean Howells, who was
afterwards to become famous as a novelist

and writer was born. It was not quite

within the limits of the present Jefferson

County, but just over the line, so near it

that under till the circumstances his birth

and career are logically a part of Jefferson

County's history. William C. Howells con-

ducted a newspaper at Hamilton. O., dur-

ing the 1H40 campaign, and removed in

18")L' to Ashtabula County, where he pub-

lished the Sentinel newspaper and filled a

number of public offices. He died Auinist

-8. 1W»4. His eldest son, J. A. Howells.
succeeded him as editor, and the paper con-

tinues in the same family. The literary

career of W. D. Howells is too generally
familiar to need further reference here.

Several years ago the writer visited the

old farm on Wills Creek and took some
photographic views. The house had disap
|H?ared, a pile of stones marking the site

of the cabin chimney, and fragments of

pottery, etc., indicating the whereabouts
of the kitchen. Supposing the views would
be of some interest to Mr. Howells, a copy
was sent him, ami the following acknowl-
edgment received

:

40 West .17th Si,, tV(. JV«v
My Hear .Sir: T feel very deeply your kimlne-.* i"

vending mi' the photographs of Will* Creek valley arid the

plaee where my grandfather's cabin stood. In 1872 I

visited the plate with my fsther. and it seemed to me that
I reeognixe detail* in the picture* which I noted then
I thank you for your very interesting letter as well as the

•holMjiraphu, and 1 wi*h I could sometime have the
pleasure of meeting yon.

Verv trulv vour*.

W P. Howll*
Mr. D.ylc

The following letters explain them-
selves :

Ashtabula Sentinel,
.lefferson. Ohio. Oct. L'-l, Is".*

Sir:— I have jus! read your letter to my brother, and
have examined with much interest and some sadness the
picture* of the ground my dear father traveled over as a
bare foot boy eighty year* aj;o and more. I have alway*
had a desire to visit the place, but am afraid I will

never do so. The la*t time I was in Rteulienville except
in enr« was in December, 1H.",1. I then went to see Mr

(I cannot recall hi* name this moment), who wa«
then publisher of the Uirald. My father had soma inten
t ion of wing into the office, but finally did not. The
other office whs the .Wr«*< n.rrr. which 'was the dirtiest
office in America. I do not think they owned a broom
in the building.

Yours truly,

.1. A. Howells.
.In-. -p!i B. Doyle, Kso,.,

>>t. uLenville, Ohio.
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Jefferson, Ohio, 27th Oct., 'US.

Sir:—Yours of the 26th came to hand, covering two
views on Wills Creek, which 1 value very much, and for

which accept my thanks. I have talked with my father

time and again about his home in Jefferson County, and
want to see it, and it may be in "leafy June" of next
year I may avail myself of your offer and make a pil-

grimage to Steubenville. Will you kindly send tuc a copy
of the Herald. Of course it is not the old Herald that
Wilson printed fifty years ago—but for that matter
none of the papers of today are as the old ones were.

Yours truly,

J. A. Howells.
Joseph B. Doyle, Esq.,

Steubenville, Ohio.

thtawa, Canada, Nov. 4th, 1S0S.

Joseph B. Doyle, Ksq,
Dear Sir:—1 have had the pleasure of seeing the

photographs which you so kindly sent to mv brother, W.
I). Howells, of the site of my dear father's old home on
Wills Creek. I have so often heard him speak of the

place, and so it was "a pleasure fair" for mo to look

at tho spot over which his willing little feet bud so often
wondered. I write now to ask you if you will put me in

the way of getting copies of the two views—or any others

of the locality; but especially these—which might be
sent unmounted, as 1 would like to place them in bis

ln>ok w'here he describes them. Of course 1 w^uit you
to let me know what the views will cost, as 1 am troubling
you quite enough without putting you to any expense.

Very sincerely,

(Mrs.) Annie Howells Prieebette.

188 Maria St., Ottawa. Jan. 15, 18i»9.

My Dear Mr. Doyle:— I fear you will think me very

ungrateful for the beautiful views which you sent me
in November. But by mistake I mislaid your letter, and
only found it this morning, and now that I have your
address once more I hasten to thank you for the photO'

graphs which, I prize more than I can tell you. I only
wish my dear father might have seen them; they would
have told him a story which would have been full of sweet
memories to him. In this mail 1 am sending you a
couple of photographs which I hope will interest you.

The small one shows a toboggan party just coming down
the slide at Government House. 1 suppose you know
that tobogganing is one of the favorite winter sports
in Canada. The center toboggau in the front row is

steered by Lord Dufferin. who was once Governor Gen-
eral of Canada, and immediately in front of him is Ijidy

Dufferin. The other photograph shows you Parliament
Hill with the group of government buildings which over-

look Ottawa river, and face on Wellington street.
* * * As you see, Ottawa inn claim a very pietur
es<jue aite, and it is proving to 1m? a beautiful city.

With sincere though belated thnnks. I am
Yours sincerely,

Annie Howells Friechetle.

Reference lias been made to the death of

Dr. Flannel- in 18.32 at the home of his sis-

ters in Mt. Pleasant. This naturally

leads to the relation of one of the most in-

teresting literary episodes, coupled with a
romance, in Jefferson County's history,

one that was a subject of general discus-

sion all over the country. Miss Abbie
Flanner was born in North Carolina, Octo-
ber 17, 1798, coming with her parents, Will-
iam and Penina Flanner to Mt. Pleasant at

an early date. Iter father was a Quaker
preacher and she had three brothers and
three sisters, all of whom had to earn their

living. Two of the brothers wore physi-
eians, and sent money out of their first

earnings to build a home, which was built

near the Friends' meeting house, and em-
bowered in vines and flowers. It was called

Albi cottage, meaning cottage of purity,
by which it will be seen that the family was
quite sentimental. According to tradition
Miss Flanner was quite tall but not con-
sidered handsome, although she was at-

tractive, with an animated intellectual face.

She was a tine conversationalist, and a
great favorite in the village. On the last

night of the year 1 835 there was a gather-
ing at one of the refined homes of the little

village to watch the old year out. The in-

coming year was leap year, and after the
clock struck twelve it was suggested that
those present avail themselves of the priv-

ilege supposed to be accorded to the gentler
sex during that period, and open a eorrc-

sjwndeneo with some well known literary

person, among others suggested being
Fitz Greene llalleck, the bachelor poet, then
at the zenith of his fame. Not much at-

tention was paid to the matter, but in a
few minutes Miss Flanner quietly bade the
party good night and started for home over
the snow whose brilliant crystals sparkled
like millions of diamonds in the moon light.

As she walked there evolved from her mind
a poem and on arriving home she sat down
and wrote the following:

XKW year's night.

THE MERRY MOCK BtBJ>'S BONO.
O'er fields of snow the moonlight falls,

And softly on the snow-white walls

Of Albi Cottage shines;
And there beneath the breath of Juno
The honeysuckles gay festoon,

And multiflora twines.

And forms a sweet embowering shade,
I'ride of the humble cottage maid,
Who now transformed and bold.
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Beneath the mngie of a name.
Those equal rights presumes to rlnim,
FCiftfat.n urged by young and old.

And who is *he, to ..

Who dares her challenge thus throw down
Low at the feet of one

Whu holds a proud, conspicuous stand
Among the magnates of the l«ud,
The Muw 'g favorite son T

As when she roamed, a careless child,

To pluck the forest blossom wild,
Oft climlied mime |>endant brow

Of rix-k or cliff, to gather there
Home tempting flower that looked more fair

Than all that bloomed below.

So now, like Kve in paradise.
Though numerous offerings round her rise

Of love and friendship bland,
With many a sober blessing fraught;
Would give them nil for one kind thought,
One line from Halle, k 's hand.

Like tii :it fair plum of India's Gelds
Thai most when bniise.1 yields

Its fragrance on the air,

Such is the heart I offer thee.

Pride of my country's minstrelsy!
Ob, is it worth thy caret

Slit* signed this Ellen A. F. Campbell in-

eluding her own initials in the name of
Scott's Lad if of the Lake. Mails were slow
in those days, but finally a packet came in-

closing the following poem

:

to ki i.hv.

THE MlX'KIM. BIHI1.

The Scottish border minstrel's lay

Kntrnn.-cd me oft in lioyhood 's day;
His forests, glens, and streams.

Mountains and (outlier blooming f:nr;

A Highland lake and lady Here
The playmates of my dreams.

Years passed nwnr. my •! renins were gone;
My pilgrim footsteps pressed alone

I^mIi Katrine'!! storied shores;
And winds that winged me o'er the lake

Breathed low, as if they feared to break
The muaif of my «nr*.

No tramp of warrior men was heard;
For welcome sung or ehullenge word

1 listened, but in vain:

And moored beneath his favorite tree.

As vainlv wmi'il the minstrelsy
Of gray haired "Allen Bane."

I suw the Highland heath -flower smile
In beauty upon Kllen's isle;

And couch. •>! in Kllen's bower.
1 watihed beneath the lattice leaves,
Her coining, through a summer eve 'a

Young.-*! and loveliest hour.

She came not : lonely was her ..

Herself of airy shapes that come,
Like shadows to depart,

Are there two Kllens of the mind J

Or have I lived at last to find
An Kllen of the heart f

For mas,, like Hie borderer's now
Kings round me, and again I bow

Before the shrine of song.
Devoutly as 1 bowed in youth;
For hearts that worship there in truth
And joy are ever young.

And well my harp responds today.
And willingly its chords obey
The inuo.tr.-l love's command

;

A minstrel maid whose infant eves
Looked on Ohio's wood and skies.

.My school trunk 's sunset land.

And beautiful the wreath she twines
Around •

' A I hi t ..tinge." huwered in vine*,
Or Mease.) in sleigh bell mirth;

And lovelier still her smile that seems
Bid me nehonie in inv < Ireams

Beside its peaceful' hearth.

1'ing shall I deem that winning smile
A mere nt.x'kery. to beguile
Some lonely hour to .-are;

And will this Kllen prove to Is-.

But like her namesake o'er the sen,
A Uing of the air?

Or shall I take the morning's wing,
Armed with a parson and a ring,

Sp.e.l lull -i ii.1 vale along:
And nt her cottnge hearth, ere night.
< haiigc nn.. fhiiterings of delight.
Or (w list's more lik.lv> of affright.

The merry u k- bird's song .»

"With this poem was tin- following letter:

New York, February 1 SSrt.
I 'ear Mis-. • 'ampis-ll :— Were it not ihnt the delight-

fully flattering lines with uln.-h von have favored me
hire •• Hi«« xt.le, " I tliuiil.l have taken post horses for
Abo < oliage immediately ,,n receiving them. As it is,
I thank you from my heart for your m.rrv mocking
lord song. Though they did not -eriou-ly ' intend to
tioike nie a happy man, thev certain)*- have' made me a
very proud one. I have attempted some verses in the
style ,.f your own beautiful lines, and hope v,.u w.ll
laugh gently at their imperfections, for thev 'are the
first, with :i trifling exception, that I have Written for
years, W.n;M they were better worthy of their subject!
A new edition of the humble writing's which have 'been
so fortiitinte t.. meet with your npprolaitioa has r.s-c-ntlv
b.cn piil.li«lie.| lore. It is. to use the printer's phrase
•• prettily gotten up," Will you pardon the liberty I

take in asking you to accept a copy from me. in eotigider-
atu.n of the Is-niity „f t|„. t v ,,e and the va.-u.ness of its
margins, ami may I hope for u return to this letter
informing me by what conveyance I can have the honor
of fonuil.ltng it to yoitf

I am, dear Miss t ampl-ell. very gratefully, or if you
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are in good earnest, as I very much fear you are not, I

am, dearest Kllen,

Very affectionately your",

Pitz Greeue Halleck.

Miss Planner replied to this letter at

great length, in which she kindly thanked
him for the tender of his hook, saying that

"eager expectation stands tiptoe on misty
heights of the bine Ohio, to hail its ap-

proach." In closing the letter she said that

when he is in "fashion's crowded hall," or

listening to the "tramp of deathless fame,"
she would claim one thought.

"But when the busy ernwd is gone,

Anil bright on the western sky
The ehnngeful sunset hues are thrown—

Oh! wilt thou thither turn thy eye
Anil semi one gentle thought to her

Whose spirit ever turns to thinr,

Like t'ersia 's iilol worshipper.
Or Moslem to his prophet's shrinef

"The correspondence continued through-
out the year," it is learned from Percy (}.

Wilson's account of the flirtation, "grow-
ing more and more interesting. The gay
badinage censed, and was succeeded by
earnestness on both sides. Thought still

preserving her incognita, and shielded by
her assumed name, we find the lady grow-
ing timid tts the poet grows ardent in his

protestations of admiration and esteem.

At one time she says, 'Every step 1 have
made in your acquaintance has increased

my timidity. With a reckless laugh I flung

my first offering on the current of accident,

little thinking it would bring nie back tears

und smiles, anxious thoughts and fevered

dreams. ' Toward the end of the year she

intimates that the terms of her privilege

will soon expire and that the correspond-

ence must close. The poet replies, urging

its continuation, and speaks of the happi-

ness it has afforded him, and the desire to

know her personally. To this she replies:

*1 certainly did suppose- I had written to

Mr. Halleck for the last time; but you know
lie fore I confess that I am too happy to lie

convinced by your profound logic, that it is

not only my privilege but my duty to re-

spond. Your witty assumption of your ex-

tension of privilege has delivered my
woman's pride from the bnstile of a world.

for whose adamantine bars, perhaps, I

have not shown a proper resect.'
"After the interchange of a few more

letters the poet announces his intention of
seeking the home of his fair correspondent,
and meeting face to face the lady whom,
as 'Ellen Campbell,' he had learned so

highly to esteem. This proposal filled Miss
Planner with dismay. Remembering she
had commenced the acquaintance, she re-'

fleeted that a tacit agreement to the poet's

wish would place her in the character of a
wooer. An ardent admirer of Hal leek's

poems, nothing could have afforded her
more pleasure than to have met him, but
under the circumstances she felt that she
must not encourage his coming. Her reply
was posted at Washington, whither she
had sent it in care of a relative and to that
address the poet's subsequent letters were
sent.

"She absolutely refused him a personal
interview, and succeeded in eluding his at-

tempts to find her. She felt that with an
interview all the illusion would vanish;
that he. who had been accustomed to the
flatteries and attentions of the high-born
and high-bred and jeweled daughters of
fashion, in their gorgeous robes and mag-
nificent palaces, could not tolerate her plain

Quaker simplicity and lowly surroundings,
and she—all unwisely—preferred that he
should be her idol at a distance, that she
loved to worship, and she to him an 'Ellen
of the mind'—*A lieing of the air.' They
never met."

.Miss Planner afterwards married a Mr.
Talbot and resided in Mt. Pleasant for
years, and at her death, September 9, 18;V2,

she lived in Parkersburg, W. Va., lint her
remains lie buried in Short Creek meeting
house graveyard. No stone marks her last

renting place.

The remains of Dr. Planner were in-

terred in the old Quaker graveyard in Mt.
Pleasant. His brother William, also a
physician, erected a marble monument
eight feet in height over the grave, but the
committee having the graveyard in charge
tore it down iu the night season by force.
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it Winy: a rule that no monument should be
erected higher than eighteen inches, and of

no more costly material than sand-

stone. The doctor replaced the monument,
and it was again thrown down by force.

He erected it the third time and placed

armed watchmen in the graveyard, and the

monument is still standing.

Oliver ('. Gray, who was born on Market
Street, Steubenville, on January 21, 18'J1,

was a collateral descendant of Thomas
Gray, the English poet, whose Elvyy in a

Country Churchyard will be a standard as

long as the English language exists. He
finished his education at the Grove Acad-
emy in 1S.'5S and taught school at Knox-
vill'e. studied law at Cincinnati, was ad

mi t ted to the bar at Cleveland and returned

to Steubenville, where he began the prac-

tice of law. On the outbreak of the Mex-
ican War he became lirst lieutenant of the

Steubenville (treys. He remained here nn

til when he moved West, and died at

Ottawa. 111., on July .'51, 1S71. He attained

a high reputation as an orator and writer

on general subjects but it was as a poet

that be merits special consideration. His
works were collected by bis nephew, the

late David O. Fiekes, into a neat little vol-

ume containing some artistic gems, but we
have space for but a few stanzas. From
bis poem "The Worship of the Woods"
we jrive the following:

Far away in lin foresr cnthi-dral,

In the deep Mti«l > 1 1 eti solitude, where
The solemn trees cmt are bending,

I.ike gr.'eu hooded hermits nt prayer.

Where tho incense falls, sprinkled fr..m . , rt

Hwung aloft by tho hand of some sprite,

Haptizing u» rill in nroraii

Instilled in the chalice of ni^jlit

;

Lo! tho n/.nrc stained glass in the window,
In the rift of the i-ciluig above.

Where n sad star drops down. :n the twih^lit.

Its marvelous message of love.

Kor tho spot is'loo holy for voice*.

And no sandaled foot here over trod;

Hut the silence seems petrified music,

Refolding the presence of Cod.

The Tree Spirit touches an organ,

And the navn of a diapase roll

flown the node* „f the forest n pnenn
That melts in (he aisles, of the soul.

Shortly before young Gray finished liis

school education somebody, while wander-
ing on the Virginia side of the river, dis-

covered an Indian tomb, no doubt partly a

natural hollow in the rock and consider-

ably enlarged by the red men. It was
closed by a heavy rock against the entrance,

which, when removed, disclosed the re-

mains of warriors with their trinkets and
trappings. It was a harvest for curiosity

hunters who bore away trophies of all

sorts, the bones themselves being scattered

finally. The empty receptacle remained
visible uutil about three years ago when
it was covered up by debris from the build-

ing of a new road. Young Gray followed

the crowd of curiosity hunters to the place,

but his after opinion of the proceedings is

given in the following poem, dated April

L'.-S. 1S44:

Near Fort .Stculs'ii. where hiiived Ohio's tide.

And oak-shade* danced upon its crystal sheen,
A rude old roek, in solitary pride,

l!ose gray hard by 11 wide wrought slope of greet.

None would have thought such place had ever t-cea

A cemetery for a worn-out race.

Now, as it ne'er lived, save in legends true,
Or hallowed things hyena spirits, traee

—

So thought the Mingo chiefs when taking their last

view.

11.

There, for nn age. n hundred dark tneii slept.

Nor dreamed one dream of love, or chase, or war;
Itut wild flowers Idoomed, and untaught ivy crept
Hound that sad tomb hallowed by nature's rare,

Where death and stillness made their holy lair.

\i» echoing whou|«t bad urged them on to fight,

An age had listened, vainly for one aong;
No dance they joined, no council fires might light.

They gathered not to muse e'en once their rs<< «

« roug.

III.

Hut there they slept, till, in a merry hour.
When civilization, m its maddened' mirth.

Had stamped it* seal of wide spread change and power
On Indian scene, and borne, nnd all 'twas worth-
A place in savage thoughts e ren from their birth—

A <iiiarrier blithely hied htm to this rock
i. tad not, forsooth, by antiquary spell),

Moved from its narrow mouth a closing block.
Filtered and stood aghast, where fleshleaa warrairt

dwell.

IV.

And paused on undistuiguiiihed bones and soil
All thick and black, of other races' dust;

Such pause as goes before unholy toil

When spot nnd fi-eling tell us that we must.
Anil then, as stirred by some revengeful lust,

lhey gathered wildly round that noiseless urn.
And raked out whnt was left of Logan 'a men.
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As if no shame could in their bosom burn,
Which, less 'twere thoughtless June, should bum e'en
now 1 ken.

v.

We schoolbovs went with Virjjil under arm,
To aee this wild und moat unchristian scene,

And threw at skulls for murks, not thinking harm,
Nor knowing they had maids or chieftains been.

Nor sort of thoughts bad houwed there erst, I ween.

Our books had taught us it were wrong, I own.
For heathen paid their dead old Charon '» fee,

To rite the tomhless, over earth they'd roam;
These should have studied pagnu faith, and so ought

we.

VI.

Some bore off hatchet, pipe or skeleton,

As trophies of this triumph o'er the dead;
Sonic wrote their sacrilege upon the stone.

As if all reverence for the grave had fled.

And no one would condemn the name* these spread.

Whene'er I feel in a romantic mood,
And wander to that rock all stripj>ed inside,

1 then reflect how reeklesa spirits could
So violate the graveyard of that ruined tribe.

In 1873 a trio of native Steuben ville mu-
sicians crossed the Atlantic to pursue their

studies under old world masters. They
were It. Mason Jackson, pianist and organ-
ist; "William 11. MacDonald and Miss Lizzie

Brosi, vocalists. They were accompanied,
among others, by E. F. Andrews, the artist,

who was making another trip abroad to

further perfect himself in his profession.

It was such a company as is not often col-

lected from a small city. The first, Mr.
Jackson, had already distinguished him-
self as a performer on piano and organ,
having played at Hamline and St. Paul's
churches. He went to Stuttgart where an
accident occurred which disabled his wrist

and cut off all hope of him succeeding in

his profession. As he had to make a living

he accepted a clerkship in the office of the

American consul, and one winter day hap-
pened to protect the king of Wurtemburg,
who was going about the city incognito,

from some over-zealous boys who were in-

tent on giving his majesty such a vigorous
snowballing as was likely to inflict injur)'.

Mr. Jackson was invited to the palace,

where he met with such favor that the of-

fice of "Header" was created for him, with
a good salary and a magnificent suite of

rooms in the building. For several years
his life was like a fairy tale. While Wur-

temburg was one of the small European
kingdoms the rank of the royal family was
second to none, and there was a constant
round of fetes and association with the
crowned heads of all Europe. The favor
shown Mr. Jackson did not fail to create
the usual jealousies among the courtiers

against the American, but Mr. Jackson,
who had become a citizen of Wurtemburg
and was erealed a baron, held his position
until the death of the king, who left him a
pension. After that he returned to Amer-
ica, and after a sliort sojourn in Steuben-
ville, made his home with his sister in

northwestern Ohio.
Mr. MacDonald was in his twenty-fourth

year when he went abroad. He studied
four years in Italy, Germany and England,
mastering the different schools and perfect-
ing his rich baritone voice which had suf-

ficient range to take in a deep bass. On
his return traveled with the famous Stra-
kosch Company, and then with Hess, Ade-
laide Phillips and the Emma Abbott opera
troupe. About this time he married Miss
Marie Stone, an accomplished vocalist, ami
also a member of the Abbott Company.
About lite year 1880 there was organized
The Boston Ideal Opera Company, of
which Mr. MacDonald and wife were lead-

ing members. Their repertoire included a
number of the principal operas in English,
but their piece de resistance was De-
Koven's "Robin Hood," which never
failed to draw crowded houses night after
night. It was practically the first organiza-
tion to make opera in English a success in

this country. After keeping together for

a number of years as one family the death
of the projector who held the copyright to

the title of the organization caused its dis-

solution. A new company was formed with
Mr. MacDonald at the head under the title

of "The Bostouians." It did excellent
work, but its career was not as successful
as that of the old company, and it finally

dissolved. Mr. MacDonald's health had by
this time begun to fail, and he died at

Springfield, Mass., on March 27, 1906. His
remains were brought to Steubenville for
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interment. Mrs. MacDonnld is still living.

While confining themselves to the larger

cities, Mr. Mac-Donald's companies ap-

peared at three performances in Steuben-

ville, giving a matinee and evening rendi-

tion of grand opera, and subsequently in

concert for the benefit of the Stanton Mon-
ument Association.

Miss Brosi, even while attending the

local schools, developed a fine soprano
voice, which encouraged her uncle, .F. C.

Butte, to give her a musical education.

After completing her studies she remained
abroad several years singing in grand
opera in Germany, Russia and other coun-

tries. She traveled with Ntrakoseh and
other companies in America until ill health

compelled her retirement from the stage.

She also kindly took a leading part in nu-

merous local entertainments.

Henry Moody was a local musician

whose favorite instrument was the key-

bugle, which had extraordinary sweetness

of time when played by a skilful performer.

He began playing in public altout 1H4">, and
died before INfK). Among the other musi-

cians of half a century ago may be in-

cluded the names of Dr. A. \Y. Semple, Mr.

Broudhurst, Mrs. Reppard. Mrs. I. X. T.

Morse, Miss Mary Chase (still living).

John I). Slack. Miss Sarah Marion. Joseph
Zimmerman, Captain S. F. Scull, who was
also a composer, and others who would
have done credit to any community.
Of the younger musicians in the instru-

mental line, Henry W. Matlack has prob-

ably taken the lead, lie developed a re-

markable talent as an organist and took

a thorough course at Oberlin Conservatory.
He had excellent |M»sitions in several of

the larger cities and for several years was
musical director a< (frinnell College, Iowa.

He is now connected with the linn of Lyon
& Ilealy, one of the largest musical estab-

lishments and pipe organ manufactories in

the country. Space prevents even an enu-

meration of the present local musicians

who are worthily keeping up the traditions

of their predecessors

The artistic work of the Filsons, father

and son, is related elsewhere.
Among others who have achieved a mu-

sical reputation, both in Europe and Amer
ica, is Miss Ella Russell, a native of Island

Creek Township.
As teachers and educators the men of

Jefferson County took no second place.

The work of Rev. Dr. C. C. Beatty. founder
of the Steubenville Seminary, is more fully

noticed elsewhere. Alexander Clark, whose
Little Lofj Sehuolhoiise aud other works
have a national reputation, came from
Brush Creek Township. Mary Edmonson,
the mother of Anna Dickenson, taught
school in the Short Creek meeting house in

1 Sl'lJ. Dr. Henry C. McCook, the noted
Philadelphia divine and scientist, was at

one time a teacher in the Steubenville
schools, and his brothers. Rev. Dr. John
McCook, professor of languages in Trinity
College, and whose liooks on Sociology are
standard works, and (ien. Anson (i. Me-
Cook, late secretary of the United States
senate, were pupils in the Steubenville
schools. The Latimem, by Dr. II. H. Mc-
Cook. is proludily the Itest romance of the
early history of this section ever produced,
while his little work. Old Fai nt Fairies, is

a delightful epitome of insect habits in this

locality, perhaps a little more popular with
the young folks than his more elaborate
works. Professor Sloane, of Columbia
t ollegc. author of the standard Life of Xa-
l>nh on, is a son of J. R. \Y. Sloane, presi-

dent of Richmond College in 184S. Prof.
Wood row Wilson, of Princeton, and the
author of a history of the Cnited States,

is the grandson of James Wilson, the edi-

tor of The St i alien rille Herald for many
years.

Prof. Eli Tappan, who was reckoned as
one of the most thorough teachers in the

country, a profound scholar, with the fac-

ulty of imparting his knowledge to others,
was a native of Steubenville. the son of
Senator Tappan. whose grandchildren now
teach in the Steubenville schools, while one
was a professor in an enstern college. Rev.
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Mr. Huston, a Presbyterian minister of
Jefferson County, is a grandson of Senator
Tappan, and he also has Stanton blood in

his veins, being a grandson of Stanton's
sister. Prof. Eli Tappan was president
of Kenyon College for a number of years,
during which time he also edited the Kay
series of arithmetical and algebraical text
books. He was State Commissioner of
Common Schools from 1887 to 1889, dying
in the latter year, and his remains were
brought here for interment. His daughter,
Mary Tappan Wright, of Cambridge,
Mass., has achieved marked success in the
literary world by her books, besides being
a regular contributor to 67. Nicholas and
other magazines. Miss Delia Patterson,
the first graduate of the Steubenvi lie high
school, and Miss Margaret Sutherland, an-
other graduate of the same, have taken
high positions as educators.
Bishop Stephen Mason Merrill was born

in Mt. Pleasant, September 16, 1825, and
became a traveling preacher in the M. E.
church in 1864 and Bishop in 1872. Bishop
Merrill is probably known in a larger circle

of Methodists than any other bishop. His
earliest recollections are of his days as a
barefooted youngster, hunting squirrels
over the hills about Mt. Pleasant. He could
run faster than any boy he knew and could
jump higher than any one in the whole
country. There was very little money in

the family purse and it was necessary for
him early in his teens to turn in and add
his small earnings to those of the other
members of the family. He had learned
the trade of a shoemaker and worked on
the bench with his book propped in front of
him in a homemade rack, combining lnisi-

ness with education and struggling to earn
enough in spare moments to pay his way
through school. His book on ecclesiastical

law is the code in the Methodist church.
Rev. Rascum, whose eloquence afterwards
became national, was a pioneer Stcuhcn-
ville preacher in the M. E. church, who
went East, and when that church divided
into northern and southern sections he

went with the latter, and was made a
bishop.

A marked product of the early country
school was William Johnston, who was
educated in the Ross Township schools, and
studied law in John C. Wright's office in

Steubenville. He is said to have started

the first temperance society in the county
on Bacon Ridge in 1833, the members
signing a very strict pledge. He became
prosecuting attorney of Carroll County,
and represented that county in the legisla-

ture in 1837. He had come to the front as

an advocate of the proposition for Ohio to

adopt the Pennsylvania and New York
common school system, and was at last

given opportunity to draft the law provid-

ing for the common school system, prac-

tically the same as that now existing with
later amendments found by experience to

be necessary. It was in support of the

common school law that he made one of

the most notable oratorical efforts ever
made in Ohio, not only in its immediate in-

fluence that resulted in the passage of the

bill, but in its lasting influence. After de-

scribing the difficulties encountered by
himself in obtaining the rudiments of an
education in the days of Henry Crabbs and
Thomas Riley, he insisted that the boys
and girls should have a better chance than
he had had on the banks of " Yaller Crick,"
as he pronounced the name of the stream
in imitation of the boys reared in the wilds

of Ohio. "The old Irish school master,"
he said, "holds forth three months in the

year in a poor cabin, with greased-paper
window panes. The children trudge three
miles through winter's snow and mud to

school. They begin at a-b, ab, and get over
as far as b-oo-b-y, booby, when school gives
out and they take up their spring work on
the farm. The next winter, when school

takes up, if it takes up so soon again, hav-

ing forgotten all they had been taught pre-

viously in the speller, they begin again at

a-b, ab. but year after year never get any
farther than b-oo-b-y, booby."
Judge Burnet, of Cincinnati, at the time,
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said it was the most powerful speech on
education ever made in Ohio. Samuel
Medary, in The Statesman, gave him the

name of "Booby" Johnston in n disre-

spectful spirit, but the name stuck and lx>-

came a title of which his friends were ever
proud. From this time forward Johnston's
great ability was recognized and appre-
ciated. He removed to Cincinnati, and his

oratorical efforts in behalf of General Har-
rison in his presidential campaign pro-

cured for him appointment as surveyor
general of the district composed of Ohio
and Michigan and Indiana. He afterwards
became judge of the Superior Court of Cin-

cinnati, and was ap|M>inted by President
l.iucoln a memlier of the commission to

revise the statutes of the I'nited States.

He ranked with Corwin ns an orator, and
probably was his superior as a lawyer.

After four years' service on the bench he
was a candidate for I'nited States senator
in the triangular contest that resulted in

the election of Benjamin Wade. In 1S">0

he was the Whig candidate for governor,
but the fates were against him although
he made a hard struggle as he declared,

"to save his party from the wreck then
pending." Judge Johnston was the au-

thor of another law quite as important and
far reaching as that in regard to educa-

tion. Being in Steubenville at the time of

the Wells & Dickenson failure he discov-

ered the honest founder of Steubenville im-

prisoned for debt. The injustice of the

proceeding so affected him that he then

resolved that should he ever become a
member of the legislature he would secure

the repeal of the law. He kept hi-: word
and imprisonment for debt in Ohio, when
unaccompanied by fraud was abolished.

While a boy on Yellow Creek he developed
mechanical genius in the manufacture of

spinning wheels, and at his home in Cin-

cinnati his recreation was taken in a work-
shop fitted with all sort* of mechanical
tools, which he could handle with the skill

of a master. His brother, Michael, was
also a mechanical genius, and when he lived

in Steubenville he kept a drug store and

manufactured clocks, the clock long in use

in the Steubenville National Bauk having

been made by him. Judge Johnston's me-

chanical skill was of great advantage to

him in his practice as a patent attorney.

He was long associated with Tom Corwin,

the two successfully defending Governor

Bebh, indicted on the charge of murder, lie

having shot a man, who with others, was

engaged in charivari at the governor's

house on the occasion of the home-coming
of his son, Michael, and bride, from New
Kngland in May, 1857. Johnston's efforts

in this noted case gave him wide prom-

inence. He was also associated with

Hevcrdy Johnson in a Revolutionary War
claim against the I'nited States govern-

ment ; they winning in the legal contest, re-

ceived a fee of $100,000. In 1SS7 Judge
Johnston published Arguments to Courts

mul ,/iu /r.v. an fcvn. of 543 pages, consisting

principally of his own arguments made in

many important cases, adding greatly to

his reputation as a legist. In early life

William Johnston wedded Elizabeth,

laughter of William Blackstoue, a prom-

inent Friend of Smithheld Township, two

sons and two daughters resulting from
the union; the sons are dead, the daugh-
ters living. His last visit to Steubenville

was in INTO when he made an address in

the then Garrett hall in advocacy of the

election of Mr. Hayes to the presidency.

Mr. Hunter in his Pathfinders notes that

Jefferson County has done more, perhaps,

than any other county in Ohio for the ad-

vancement of the public school system.

Aside from the efforts of William John-
ston. Mordecai Hartley performed a great

service, in that lie was the first person to

propose in congress conversion of the Sec-

tion Sixteen lands into a permanent fund

for support of the common schools, and
by his intluence secured passage of law to

this end. Mordecai Hartley, thirteenth

governor of Ohio, was born in Fayette
County. Pennsylvania, in 1 7SI and in 1 S09

settled near .Mingo. He was adjutant of

the JetTeison County regiment in the War
of I si "J. and afterwards settled in Rich-
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land County. He served four terms in con-

gress during which he procured this im-
portant piece of school legislation.

While we are on the topic of education
and poetry it may not be amiss to mention
the venerable William A. Urquhart, now
in his eighty-seventh year, who has perhaps
superintended the education of more youth
and written more poetry than any other
man in the county. His productions would
fill a large volume, but we only have space
for a single specimen as showing that his

work does not suffer by comparison with
his contemporaries

:

How soon the scene* about us change
We knew bo well!

Just why the fields and woods look strange
Twere hard to tell.

For memory holds the pictures dear
She made in youth;

Yet, when we see how things appear.
We doubt their truth.

Those Virginia hills we oftimes saw,
In days gone by.

And which inspired our hearts with awe, *

Seem not so high!
The noisy stream, the babbling brook
We scarce recall,

For when compared with memory's book
They seem too small.

The river, too, whose waters deep,
In silence glide,

Is far less grand, the banks less steep
On either side

!

But fancy doubtless helped to create
Each sketch wc prise;

The change, perhaps, is n.it so great,

As with our eyes.

For Time's deft fingers touch so light,

We feel no harm;
lie thus impairs our sense of sight

Without alarm;
But not a single touch is lout,

Though gently made.
And we, like flowers exposed In frost,

Begin to fade.

Another local poet popular for his wit

and aptness is David Hanley, of the Pan
Handle Railway force. Among others who
might be named have been Mary Bynon
Reese, Alice May Long, Mary Tappan
Wright, all of whom have attained to more
than a local reputation. David Homer
Hates, writer of Lincoln in the Telegraph
Office, was a native of Steubcuville, and

Andrew Carnegie spent some of his youth-

ful days here.

Among the more recent literary produc-
tions of the county is an epic poem by Dr.
K. R. Giesey, of Toronto, reciting the deeds
and career of Michael Myers, to whom
reference is made elsewhere. It is after

the style of Hiawatha and compares not
unfavorably with that poem in composition
and historical interest. It is entitled Stol-

uart Auver, Myers having received this

sobriquet from a stoppage in his speech.

We have only space for the first and last

cantos

:

"Should you ask me whence these storiest

Whence these legends and traditions!"
With their rythm and running metre,
With their (one of phonic Nature,
With their air of noble gentry
As from book on lore of olden f
'

' I should answer, I should tell you, '

'

From the homes of the contented,
From the wigwams of the happy,
From the land of Terra-Cotta,
From the banks of the Ohio,
Where the warble of the songsters

Cheers the gladsome hours of waking.
And the bull frog, the ehug-chug-him,
Mid the milky fug of evening,
KeejMt tl»e hours with song proline,

In the land of the Toronto*.

Done forever is our hero,

flone I hat faithful wife and mother;
Side by side the two lie sleeping,

'Neath the maples of their choosing;
But their names and fame stilt living

In the hearts of all our people,
Is a source of pride and pleasure
To our willing admiration.
Gone forever is tbe cabin,

And the lovely old stone homestead,
leaving naught but fame and houor
Anl the famous "Limber Jinnv,"
Which the onlv son now living

Keeps with pride and values highly
As an heirlomn from his fnther.

Senator Fowler, of Tennessee, is an-

other native of Jefferson County who has
achieved distinction in the halls of con-

gress and elsewhere.

While we have been discussing literati

and educators it may be as well to glance

at one or two "Captains of Industry," who
have made their mark. First among these

stands William Sharon, who was born at

Smithfield in 1821 in the house later oecu-
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pied by William A. Judkiu. When a boy
of seventeen he started down the river in

a flatboat which was wrecked at the falls

of the Ohio, when he returned and studied

law under Edwin M. Stanton. He prac-

ticed for awhile in St. Louis, and in 1H49

crossed the plains to California, where he

opened a store in Sacramento. Hi* goods
were carried away by a flood, ami In* went
to San Francisco ami opened a real estate

office. By 1H(>4 he had accumulated a for-

tune of $130,000, and l>egau speculating in

mining stocks, which left him in the same
condition financially as when his boat

struck the falls at Louisville. He was now
sent by the Bank of California to Virginia

City, New, to look after its affairs there

and realizing that this was a place to make
money, urged the bank to o|>en a branch
there, which was done and he was placed at

its head. Having acquired a profitable

business in a few years he resigned, leav-

ing his friend A. .1. Ralston to look after

the business while he attended to his own
affairs. Ralston, who was also from this

part of the country, afterwards l>eeame in-

volved and was understood to have
drowned himself, but Sharon paid all his

liabilities. Mr. Sharon undertook the con-

struction of the Triickee railroad into the

mining country, said to have been the

erookedest road in the country up to that

time. He seemed a subsidy of $.jOO,000

from the people of Washoe with which he
built the road as far as this would go and
then mortgaged the whole line for enough
to insure its completion. Of course he ex-

pected the earnings of the road to take
care of the mortgage, and thus he became
the owner of a railroad without it costing
him anything. He afterwards sold one-
half of it. It was worth $L\ "'00,000, and
during Bonanza times brought him in $12,-

000 per day. I lis business capacity and
facilities as the head of the Bank of Cali-

fornia enabled him to develop the mining
industries of Nevada that was advantage-
ous to the country and profitable to him-
self, so that at one time his wealth was es-

timated at seventy to eighty millions. Ik>

made larg* property investments in San
Francisco, building the Palace Hotel, at

that time one of the finest in the country.

He was elected United States senator from

Nevada in 1*74, and afterwards visited \m
sister Mary, the wife of Or. Jacob Ham-
mond, who then resided on upi*»r Market

Street, Steubenvi lie, in the house now occu-

pied by Mrs. E. L. Hammond. Senator

Sharon's home was in San Francisco and

his country home at Belmont, a few miles

out. The estate is now managed by .lolin

Kirkpatrick, also of this section, who

studied law and was admitted to the har

in Steubenville, subsequently marrying
Senator Sharon's daughter.

(ieorge 1). Cook, a native of Richmond,
has attained eminence as a New York finan-

cier. J. Nessley MeCul lough, for many
years president of the C. & 1'. Railroad

and one of the leaders of the Pennsylvania
system, was born at the mouth of Yellow

Creek in Saline Township, and there re-

ceived his early training.

Maurice S. Hague, a native of Richmond,
but for a number of years a resident of

Columbus, has won enviable fame as a

landscape artist. A recent exhibition of

his paintings at Columbus created quite a

sensation, one entitled "The Awakening,"
representing the dawn of a new day. with

the mysterious awakening of the flower*

of the field, the foliage of the trees, the dew
tipped grass, the mists of the morning dis-

ap|>earirig in a cloud-like figure in shadowy
outline at the first roseate glow on earth

and sea, suggests the awakening from the

silence of the night in poetic colorings.

Henry Crew, a native of Richmond and

graduate of Princeton in 1881, accepted a

position at Johns Hopkins University iu

Baltimore, from whence he was called to

the chair of physics in the Northwestern
University at Evanston, III. He has writ-

ten a l>ook on Tin- Principles of Mechanics
for students of physics and engineering,
which has become a standard. He has also

contributed articles to the leading scien-

tific publications of the country, betraying
extensive research.
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Among the residents of Saline Township
in the later .sixties was K. K. Collins, of

Xew York, who came there with the view
of prospecting for oil. Mr. Collins was
the head of the Collins line of steamers, it

lacing the tirst line of regular packets to

ply between New York and Liverpool, lie

was also the first to discard the use of the

bowsprit on steam vessels, heiug the tirst

step towards discarding sails. His line

Hew the American Hag and had the contract

for carrying the mails, for which it re-

ceived $8")8.(>00 a year. The company met
with a series of disasters, and Mr. Collins's

wife and son and daughter were lost off of
the An tic, one of his steamers, on the 27th
day uf September. 1854, in a collision with

the Vesta off the hanks of Newfoundland,
in a dense fog. There were sixty women
on board the vessel and they were all lost.

He came to Yellow Creek and bought the
lddings property, operated some in the

coal and oil business, made his home there

for four or live years and then returned
to New York and died about 1878. He had
six steamers. About the time of these dis-

asters the Canard line, assisted by sub-

sidies from the British government, came
to the front and this competition, with the
other troubles, was more than could be
withstood. The company became bankrupt
and it was many years before the Ameri-
can Hag again Honted from a trans-Atlan-
tic liner.
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CHAPTER XXI

THE COUNTY SEAT

Stcuiii iii illc
f Its Origin and drou th—Early Merchants anil Old Taccrns—Additions to

the City—Rise and Progress of the Temperance Morement— Water and Lighting

Facilities—Our Fire Fiqhters—Hanking and Finance, Remarkable Industrial Prog-

ress—Most Beautiful Cemetery in the World—Schools, Churches and Fraternal

Societies—Social Culture—Libraries, II os fritah and V. M. C. A.- Public Buildings

and City Government—Medical Society and a (heat Philanthropic Measure —

A

Remarkable City and Its People.

Much of (he history of Steubeuville, as

well as that of the other civic enimnunities,

iias been given in the preceding chapters

as part of the general history of the coun-

ty. It will now only be necessary to refer

to such matters and persons as | certain

especially to its locality, and this applies

generally to the towns aud townships
throughout the county. The old portion

of the city lies in a natural ampitheatre
surrounded hy high hills on the right bank
of the river sixly-eight miles by water and
forty three across the country from Pitls

burgh. It is in 40 J
125' north latitude and

.'! 40' west longitude from Washington.
The width of the river at a six foot stage

is about 1.000 feet from shore to shore, and
at low water mark is 640 |/L. feet above the

sea. The city is located on two benches of
glacial terraces, the second being far above
the highest Hood line. Much of the soil is

gravel of the original river bed and other
parts varying from sand to loam. The
river frontage is about three miles with an
average width of a little less than a mile,

including within its boundaries 1.676

acres.

As previously related, there were set-

tlers here at least as early as 17S6, when

the building of Fort Steuben began, but

the land still belonging to the government,
they had no legal status as landowners. In

1796 Bezaleel Wells, then residing at

Chnrlcstown, now Wellsburg, seven mile?

down the river, attended the public land

sale in New York and purchased Sections

:10 and .'!6 of Township No. '_' of Hange 1,

the first of the seven ranges before <le

scriltod. lying north of a line drawn from

a point just south of the present intersec-

tion of Market and Liberty streets to the

Ohio Kiver below North Street, containing

1,"204 acres at $J per acre, .lames Ross, a

wealthy resident of Pittsburgh and senator

from Pennsylvania, purchased Sections

and .'!.") south of there, and the two gentle

men weid together and laid out the town

of Sleuhenvillc. The plat contained :W
inlots 611x1*0 feet, beginning with No. 1 at

the southeast corner of South and Water
streets and numbered consecutively north

ward ten to ii block to North Street, mak-

ing forty in the row. No. 41 is at the

northwest corner of High and SoiitV.

3H0
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streets, present site of electric plant, and
80 at corner of North ; 81 at northeast cor-

ner of Third and South to 120 inclusive

at North ; 121 at northwest corner of Third
and South to 156 at North; 157 at north-

east corner of Fourth and South to 196 at

North ; 197 at northwest corner of Fourth
and South to 236 at North. It will be ob-

served that there is a hiatus of four lots

on the west side of Third Street. This is

caused by the reservation of the space of

two lots on the south side of Market Street
and the same on the north side marked pub-
lic square. There has been an impression
that the south tract was given to the city

for a market house and could be used for

no other purpose. There is no record evi-

dence of any such action, and no direct

title was ever given to the city beyond
what was marked on the plat. Being a pub-
lic square farmers naturally congregated
there to sell their produce, and years after

a market house was built on the place,

which made way for the present city build-

ing in 1882. Whether ground that is prac-
tically covered by a building of any kind
fan be called a public square may be a
subject of discussion, but the alleged mar-
ket house restriction is not worthy of
serious attention. The two lots north of
Market Street were in the same situation,

hut the county commissioners before the
erection of the first court house secured a
deed from Mr. Wells and wife for the nom-
inal sum of $5 vesting their title in the

county. It will be noticed that Mr. Wells's
land was north of Market Street, while
Ross's was south. They afterwards re-

versed that by proper deeds, placing Mr.
Wells's property on the south side. As
indicated by the above figures the blocks
were GOO feet long and 380 wide, having
a twenty-foot alley through the centre.

Market Street, the main east and west
thoroughfare, was given a width of 66 feet

and the others 60 feet, they being Adams
(named after the President) and South
on the south side, and Washington and
North on the other, defining the platted
portion of the town. Water Street on the

river bank was laid out 60 feet wide, and
High Street on the bench above 80 feet, as

this was expected to be the residence boule-

vard of the place. Then came Third and
Fourth streets, each 60 feet. The roads
from up and down the river for many
years came in on Water Street and ascend-
ed to the second bench or High Street by
a road excavated in the side of the bank be-

tween Market and Washington streets.

The first road out to the back country was
via Wells's run, and subsequently up the

ravine between Market and Washington
streets. The town was encircled on the

land side by twenty outlots of five acres

each. The entire town plat included about
200 acres. The first public sale of lots took
place on August 25, 1797, the original rec-

ord of that sale being in possession of

Misses Sarah and Agnes Wells, grand-
daughters of Bezaleel Wells. Following is

the list of lots sold, with their purchaser
and price

:

No. Purchaser. Price.

1 Benjamin Heed $ 31

2 William Smith 32
3 Peter Snvder 29
4 William Ingle 29
5 William Boyd 45
6 Robert Curry 33
7 John Murphy 81
8 Elisba Bonham 36
9 Joseph Seaman 42

10 John Kerr 64
11 Chartes Fox 65
12 Thomas Thompson 3T

13 John Edeington 40
14 Hans Wilson 40
15 Samuel Salter 47
16 Alexander Ha DCs 40
17 Aaron Hunt 47
18 Solom'n Cook 52
19 William Clark 5"

20 Willism Sharon 110

22 Jacob Repshew 40
23 Joseph Lewis 66
24 Samuel Salter 55
25 Henry McGaueh 36
26 Joseph P. Everhart 38
27 John Kinney 30
28 John Lowery 26
29 Joseph Seaman 24
30 James Kerr 46
100 8. Hunter 90
*M Thomas McCiffin 110

102 William McComent 66
103 John Glass 41
104 John Moody 39
106 John MeKnigbt 31
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107 James Boyd '.'3

10S Robert Meek* 24
109 Jacob Mullan 40

110 Joseph Lewi* 41

111 John Ward 40
112 Jonathan Hawitt 3"
113 Robert Meek* 19

114 James McNab 17

115 Alexander Johnaon 19

116 Robert Meeks 17

117 John Edjrinirton 14

118 Robert Meeks 13

120 Han* Wilson IS

124-5 Charles King , 50
130 James Forsytbe 40
136 Rich & Well* 41
137 William Eagle 51
139 Hans Wil«on loo

140 John MeCombs 68
141 James MHfowan 39
142 JaaiM Bailey 33
143 Samuel Hunter 30
155 6 B. Stewart 24
31 John I^owerv 40
42 Thos. Thompson 40
42 Levi Lowes 20
46 Richard Nicholson 24
47 Edward Crawford 31

48 Alex. Crawford 31

49 Adam Simpson 41

50 John Fink 90
51-2 Matthew Taylor «9
54 Thomas Thomson 41
57 Alex. Horner 40
58 John De Huff 46
59 Samuel Salter 79
60 Klias Rayless 120

63 John Ward 74
64-5 A. McLean 86
66 James Gordon 40
68-70 Thos. Anderson 113

71 Thos. Craeraft 48
72 3 Arch. Allison 56
74 Thos. Elder 24
75 Henry Kcpky 24

76 Cornelius Boyle 21

77 Michael Bart'tev 20
78 tieo. Atkinson' 17

79 Wm. Atkinson 17

SO Samuel Meek* 13

83 Wm. Shannon 12

M John Rodgers 12

85 Joseph M. Kmue 13

87 Henry Maxwell 17 .

88 Oeo. Atkinson 21

89 Thos. Maxwell 22
90 Wm. Hays
91 Adam Simpson 41

95 Zenas Kimberly 21

97 Abel John»on 2«
9S Adam Simpson 35
175 John Kdgington 5o
177 (ieo. Blazure 70
180 John Hankins 45
127 Robt. Adam* 4"
12»> Valentine Smith 4d

133 Philip Cnflith 5<i

129 Chiis. Kenn 50

166 Wm. IVkerflig 45

172 A. Richmond 43

1*H Daniel Collins 43

173 Authonv Berk 43

210 Wm. Baker 43

2<'7 Wm. Hord 4'

211 Richard Loan 43

212 Aaron IJiiitiu 45

ls7-S I). Wilson
IH2 5 Hull & Andrews 1*-

134 Thos. Hailetl 6>

17* Thos. Dadcv »
179 John Roland 9
151 Jacob Moore S"

181 Alex. Snodgru*" 43

199 Nicholas Bowman
1415 15ii

2i>4 Benjamin Fanner 3ji

21* Benjamin Farmer i

213 Jonathan Simpson »
214 Eli War •*

215 John Black «"

217 John Imur K\ fc'

2 IS James Wood* S5

219 Simpson King *'

220 Charles Maxwell 4i

221 John Krai i UK 43

222 3 John Kev * l

220 P. Shorne' «>

Oi:TlA)TS.

No. Purchaser. Pri"*

1 Thomas itrny »t"5

2 (ieo. AtkiiiMin I*
3 Salter * Ward 1J»

4 Solomon < ook 1*>>

5 Z. A. Bestty l'W

7 Thomas Dadry I*
K Adam Simpson . . I*"

9 R. Beall 1"3

1 1 John Edgington I-"'

12 Thos. J. Douglass 14*

13 Jacob Miller l'»

14 Samuel Hunter .. 'I

10 Samuel Meeks 15J

19 Joseph Lewi* 1"-

There were 14.*5 inlots sold, bringing

*4,.T73, and 14 outlots for $1,889, making a

totiil of $6,'Jo'_\ This netted a very respect

jtl)Ie profit to the original purchasers of the

land, but the advance in a little over aliun

died years gives very different figures. As

there was still a payment due the govern-

ment on the original purchase, the patent

for the land did not issue until January 15.

171IS, and hence the first deeds were n«t

made until February 13, 179S. the final pav

inents for the lots being presumably maoe

at that time. The original patent to Mr.

Wells hangs in the courthouse in Steuben

ville. having the following contents:
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JOHN ADAMS,

President or the United Statkh of America.
To All to Whom The»e Presenti Shall Come, Greeting:
Know ve that in pursuance of an net of the Congress

of the United States passed on the 13th day of May,
1796, entitled "An Act providing for (he wile of the
lands of the Uuited States in the Territory Northwest
of the River Ohio and above the month of Kentucky
Kiver," there is granted to Band Wella. of Washington
County, in the State of Pennsylvania, I lie lots or sect ions

nnmbered thirty and thirty-six in the township num-
bered two in the first range of townships surveyed in

pursuance of an ordinance of Congress passed on the
twentieth day of May, 17*5, which lota or sections eon-
tain by estimation twelve hundred und four acres, for
which lota or sections there wag bidden the rate of two
dollars per acre, amounting for the lota on sections
aforesaid to two thousand four hundred and eight dol-

lars, of which there was paid on account the sum of
twelve hundred and four dollars unto the person author-
ized by the Preaident of tho United States for that pur-
pose, as appears from a certificate of the governor of
said northwestern territory, dated at Pittsburgh on the
fifth day of December, one thousand seven hundred Mnd
ninety nix, and the balance being twelve hum Iml and
four dollars, having been paid within one year there-

after to the treasurer of the United States, as appears
by his receipt dated the twenty-third day of November,
one thousand seven hundred and ninety-seven : To have
and to bold the said lota on (said) sections with all the

appurtenances to the said Basil Wella and his heirs and
assign* forever.

In witness whereof the said John Adams. President of
the United States of America, hath caused the seal of the

United States to bo hereto affixed and signed tbe same
with bis hand at Philadelphia, tbe fifteenth day of Janu-
ary, in the year of our Lord one thousand seven hundred
and ninety-eight, and in the twenty -second of the Inde-

pendence of the United States.

John Adamh.
By the President.

I seal) Timothy Pk kkwn<.,
.Secretary of State.

No doubt the new community, including
the hundred or so purchasers of lots, went
to work erecting places to live; in fact,

quite a number of their cabins were in ex-

istence previous to the sale, ami doubtless
some of them stood on the lots to which
they now acquired a legal title, for, as we
have seen, Steubenville was actually an old-

er settlement than Marietta. We know of
court being held in a private house in No-
vember, 1797, but the first building of
which we have any record was the old log

courthouse built on the lot procured from
Bezaleel Wells, which stood until removed
for the erection of its brick successor, in

1809, and when torn down was said to con-
tain sufficient lumber to build ihree such

edifices. The first brick chimney in the vil-

lage was built by John Ward," in March,
1798, he soon after building the older por-
tion of the United States Hotel, at present
Hotel Lacy. The building of the Wells
homestead began that same vear, but was
not completed until 1800, when Mr. Wells
brought his family here from Wellsburg.
As stated elsewhere, the first marriages
were Joseph Baker to Mary Findley, by
Recorder Zenas Kimberly," October 19,
1797; and William Bush to Nancv Will-
iamson, January 25, 1798, by P. Z." Wood,
justice of the peace. The first white child
born was James, son of Samuel Hunter,
on September 18, 1798. John Ward, Jr.,
was the next born, in October. The first
white female children were Sarah Ward,
born in 1800, and Elizabeth Ward, in 1801,
followed by Hannah Hunter, Ann Mar-
garet Waul, Sally Brown, etc.

Hans Wilson was the first storekeeper
of whom we have any record. He was said
to have been a short, dark coniplexioned,
round shouldered man, clean shaved,
plainly dressed and economical to parsi-
mony. He came from Ireland when quite
young, and threshed for a living until lie

secured money enough to follow the road
with a pack, so he was one of the pioneer
peddlers. As will be seen from the above
sale, he purchased lot No. 139, adjoining
the public square on the north, for $100,
and on this erected a small log storeroom.
His business growing, it was replaced bv
a substantial brick building, and at his
death, about fifty years after, lie had ac-
cumulated quite a large fortune. lie was
an ardent Presbyterian, and after making
•provision for the support of his wife, the
residue of his property was willed to the
Home and Foreign Missionary Societies.
It is said that after his death diligent
search was made through the attic and
other out-of-the-way places for money
which he was supposed to have secreted,
but we are not advised that the search was
successful. John Allen succeeded Mr.
Wilson, and kept a dry goods store on the
same lot. and remained there until the fall
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of 1869, when the property was purchased
by the county, and a portion of the jail and
sheriff's residence now stands thereon.
As stated, John Ward built the older

portion of the United States Hotel, what is

now Hotel Lacey, fronting on Market
Street, in 1800. At first it was merely a
lodging for the court officials, but the busi-

ness naturally grew into a permanency.
The street at that time was on a level with
the present second floor or a little below,
and the present ground floor was the base-

ment or cellar. Mr. Ward succeeded Re-
zaleel Wells as prothonatory, or clerk, of

court, which office he held until 1810. J lis

writing was like copper plate, and is still

greatly admired in the old records. After
1810 he conducted merchandizing and had
a drug store for many years on the north-

west corner of Market and Court Streets.

His family residence, now considerably

changed, still stands on the southwest cor-

ner of Fifth and Washington Streets, his

mead extending to Market Street on the

south and to Alley 1) on the west, the

whole tract an expanse of flowers and
vegetables. He was a Churchman, and
died April .'50, 1840. His immediate de-

scendants an* all dead, but grandchildren
and great-grandchildren are still living.

Benjamin Doyle, the first manufacturer
in the community, was a sedate matter of

fact individual, a strict Churchman ami
quick at business. He provided the first

city well on the courthouse lot, which re

mained there for many years. He was in-

terested in public affairs, as will be seen

by reports elsewhere, and died in 1K52.

Samuel Hunter, one of the early ar-

rivals, father of the first white child born*
in the town, having purchased lot 100 on
the southeast corner of Third and Market
Streets, kept a general store there until

about 1825, when be left for Knoxville.

built a flour mill and carried on a store for

many years. He was a Presbyterian in

religion, and active in public affairs, being

town and county treasurer. Tlie Jones
Munker establishment now occupies that

corner.

John Galbraith, the first postmaster,

came here about 1799, and at one time

owned >x>t 166 at the corner of Fourth and

Market Streets, where McConville Block

now stands. He was a short, stout man.

affable and very popular. He died about

1K.'5(>.

John England was a bachelor from

Pennsylvania, uud kept a general store on

Lot 138, on the southwest comer of the

public square. He was a Quaker of con-

siderable executive ability and was one of

the associate judges of the Common Plea*

Court. He spent his last days on his farm

in Cross Creek Township.
William R. Dickenson came here about

1805 from Chillicothe, a Churchman,
characterized by gentility and deportment,

and more than ordinary ability. His bank-

ing enterprise and relations with Beznleel

Wells in woolen manufacturing are relate*!

elsewhere. His first wife was a daughter

of Dr. McDowell, the pioneer physician of

this section; and the second, Miss Johnson,

a niece of Dr. McDowell. After the fail

ure in 18:5(1 he moved to Texas, where lie

died. One daughter became the wife of

Mr. Peebles, of Pittsburgh, and another of

Mr. Kiddle, of the same place. One of the

hitter's daughters became the wife of

Thomas A. Scott, president of the Penn-

sylvania Railroad.
Colonel Todd, bom in 17<>4, came here

about the same time, and kept the tavern

known as the Cross Keys, the present site

of the National Theater. He was said to

have taken a prominent part in the whisky
insurrection in western Pennsylvania, and

as a host gained much popularity by his

genial manners. He had one son, William,

who died about 1823. and several daugh
ters. who respectively married William
Johnson, Robert Hanlin, William Findlev,

Mr. O'Neil and James Turnbull. He died

about 1840.

Isaac Jenkinson was among the first jus

tires of the peace and township trustees.

He was best known, however, as host of

'\e "Red Lion," the popular tavern on N
j 'bird Street, present site of Cavitt plan
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ing mill, which was the popular hostelry
for visiting politicians and others. His
daughter became the wife of Captain Will-

iam Spencer, for many years cashier of
Jefferson Branch of the State Bank of
Ohio.

Among the first dry goods merchants
was Moses Hale, who kepi a store north
of and adjoining Hans Wilson's lot, on
Third Street. He was a strong Methodist
and a popular tradesman. Immediately
north, Martin Andrews traded in hats and
furs, his business extending as far as New
Orleans. He died about 1850, and his son
Martin a few years ago in Chicago.
By 1805 there was quite a vigorous if

not a large community gathered here, and
on February 14 of that year the legislature

passed an act to incorporate the town of
Steubenville according to the plat already
described. Section 2 of the act provided
"that for the better ordering and govern-
ing of the said town of Steubenville, and
for better regulating the police thereof,

there shall henceforth be, in the said town,
a president, recorder, seven trustees, an
assessor, a collector, treasurer and town
marshal, who shall be elected and qualified

as hereinafter directed; which president,

recorder and trustees shall be one body
corporate and politic with perpetual suc-

cession, to be known and distinguished by
the name of 'the president, recorder and
trustees of the town of Steubenville.' "

This charter was amended Februarv 9,

181.3, January 9, 1817, December 29, 1821,

and a new act passed Februarv 23, 1830,

whidi will be noted beyond. In conform-
ity with this charter, David Hull was ap-
pointed president; John Ward, recorder;

David Hoge, Zacchens A. Bcatty, Benja-
min Hough, Thomas Vincents, John Eng-
land, Martin Andrews and Abraham Ca-
zier, trustees; Charles Maxwell, collector;

and Anthony Beck, marshal.

From 1805 to 1814 accounts of the town
are rather meager outside of special de-

velopments in manufacturing, etc., related

under their proper beads. We have, how-
ever, a sketch of the town by Fortesque

Gumming an Englishman, who made a
journey down the Ohio in 1808 and kept
full notes of his tour, which wort' pub-
lished the following year by Zadok Cra-
mer, a Pittsburgh printer. Mr. Cumming
reached Brown's Island on the evening of
July 19, where he spent the night with
Mr. Brown, and gives an interesting ac-

count of that locality. He left there the
next morning, and in his journal writes:

"At a litUe before 8 o'clock we stopped at

ville, the capital of Jefferson County, in Ohio, i

from Brown's. The town has been settled about eight

years, chiefly emigrants from the state of .Teiney ( f). it

contains 160 houses, including a new gaol of heavy
stone, a court house of square logs (which is soon to be
replaced by a new one of better materials), and a brick

Presbyterian eharch. There are four or five different

sect* of Christians in this town, but no established min-
isters except a Mr. Snodgrmss, to the Presbyterians, and
a Mr. Doddridge, who comes up from t'barlestown in

Virginia every other Sunday to officiate to the Epis-

copalians iu the court bouse, which is occasionally used
for the same purpose by the other sects. There is u land

office here for the sale of the public lands, from which
large sum* in Spanish dollars are sent annually to the
treasury of the United States in Washington. Perhaps
this is one cause of the town having increased so rapidly.

Another may be its very handsome situation. The first

street, which is parallel to the river, is on a narrow tlat

sufficiently raised above the river floods, while the rrst of
the town is about twenty feet perpendicular above it, on
an extensive plain rising gradually with a gentle slope to

the toot of the hills, which surround it in a semi circle

like an amphitheater about a mile distant. On one of
those a Mr. Smith has a house and farm, which seems to

extend over the xoutli end of the town, from an elevation

of four hundred feet perpendicular from the bed of the
river. Mr. Baxil Wells, who :s joint proprietor of the

soil with Mr. .lames Koss, of Pittsburgh, has a hand-
some home and finely improved yards :ind farm on the
bunk of the Ohio a quarter of a mile below town. We
remained an hour in Steubenville (which is mimed in

honor of the late Maj.-Uen. Baron Steuhen), the founder
of the present American military tactics. We then pur-

sued our course down the river, passing at naif a mile a
point on the left where is a tavern with n fine extensive

bottom behind it, and four and one half miles further we
left Mingo Bottom Island (very small) on the left, half
a mile below which on the right is Mr. Potter's hand-
some square-roofed house and one-quarter of n mile loner
down is Mr. Pratt's neat frame cottage, ornamented
like Potter's, with weeping willows and Lombardy pop-
lars. A mile and a quarter from here we passed two
small creeks called Cross Creeks, one on each band, and
a mile and a half below there on turning a point on
the left we saw Charlestown half a league before us on
the Virginia side, mnking a handsome appearance with
the white spire of the court bonne and several good
looking private house*, which are distinctly seen from
the river on account of the situation being on a lower
bank than at Steubenville.

"

Cramer notes the tearing down of the
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old courthouse in 1809 and the "magnifi-
cent" .structure nearly completed in its

place. It may be noted that Oharlestown
was laid out in 1791 and named after

Charles Frathcr, its proprietor. In 1816,

by an act of the legislature, the name was
changed to Wellsbnrg, after Alexander
Wells, doubtless to avoid confusing it with
Charlcstown in the Shenandoah Valley.

Fortunately for those interested in lo-

cal history, a keelboat touched at the

Market Street landing on October 22, 1814,

and a family disembarked, in which was a
lad twelve years old, who soon became
known as the possessor of a singularly

retentive memory, and who also formed
the habit of jotting down items of inter-

est with their dates as they occurred,

which in time made a local record that was
almost invaluable. Unfortunately that
record has been lost, but interviews with
numerous persons have been reduced to

writing from time to time, so that much
has been preserved. The boy referred to

was Eli II. McFeely, to whom we are in-

debted both directly and indirectly for

much that follows. His descent from Ed-
ward McFeely and subsequent history are
given in another place. It is sufficient to

say here that he married Elizabeth, sec-

ond daughter of John Ward, and thus

identified himself with the pioneer work
of the town. He thus tells his introduction

to the little city:

"Arriving in Stpt. I,.i,v illp from Pittsburgh by keel

boat with my father and family on Saturday. October
1SH, after a pleasant voyage of seven (lava, we were
met by '1'ncle' Abe Moore (colored) with his cart, who
rcmovcil our household goods to the west end of Market
sitreet. The town in that day contained *imo eight or

nine hundred inhabitant!!. On Water street. John Moody,
father of David Moody, Ksq., had located from Burgctts
town, l'u., in 17 4

.»7, and settled in a log house below

Washington street, lie built the ' Vartiel ' house 011

Third stni't and move,! into it in the fall of 17!'*. .tohn

Ward located on the <i>rner of Market and High streets

iu March. 17'.'*, and he it was who that year hiiilt the

first briek chimney in tins place. He also lioilt the old

part of the I'nited Stale* House in 1800. On Water
street the old Armstrong house was north of Market
street, while south was the DunOas Ifouoc. On the cor-

ner of High and Market Tom Hamilton kept the sign

of the 'White Horse. ' and on the corner of Market and
North Thir l streets stood a two-story log house, 'Tarl-

ton' store, darn* Wilson 'a Btore, and a two-story frame.

where McGowan Bros, have now a wholesale grocery.

Next was Isaac Jcnkinson's tavern, the ' Red Lion.' 0*
the west side of Third, corner of Court House square,

liana Wilson hail a store, then came Hale's store, aa

other one run by James Means, James Dick 'a tavern,

sign of the 'Ship.' and then Thomas KeUa's tavern, the

sign of the 4 Green Tree." South of Market, corner of

Third, was Samuel Hunter's store, and John Knglaail

ran a new store on the south corner of Market Square.

On Market street was Hartford's tavern under old Waab-

ington Hall, and further up Market street John Galbraitk

ran a atore. On the east side of North Fourth street

Charles I'orter °s tavern stood, and opposite was Jolia

Morelanil V tavern. Joseph Reatty 'a store stood on the

northwest corner of Fourth and Market streets On the

opposite corner was Henderson °s store, then Thorns*

Norton's tavern, sign of the 'Black Bear.' Up Market

street was John Ward's store, corner of Bank alley above

Fourth. Jamais Ay re* kept a store on the south side aaa

Colonel Todd bad* a tavern, sign of the 'Cross Keys,
-

on the north aide. Above Sixth was Davis 'a tavern, aiga

of the 'Indian Oucen.' On a line north and south oi

Kliiotfa tannery property and west thereof there were

no bouses in the corporate limits except the factory

building and Viers's bouse. The taverns were licensed,

and the stores contained dry goods, groceries, apple anil

[each brandies, whisky and rum. There were but four

wells in the town—at McKinuey 's saw mill, Jake Kicsrt'a

near Kennyon '* shop, the Tommy Gray (now nader

Bower'a cafe), and the 'Titua, ' corner of Market and

Eighth streets. At that day there were no street croaainp

on Market street west of Fourth, but aa additions were

made to the town, flrat Fifth street was opened, followed

by Sixth, Seventh, Kighth and Ninth—the latter being

the last street west in the corporation limits."

Mr. McFeely notes at the time of this

interview ( 1871* ) that the only houses **t III

found on Market Street built previous to

181+ were the United States Hotel (old

part), Bazalccl Davis's (opposite corner),

M linker's corner. McAlpin's comer ((Jill

block, Fourth and Market), the Watson
house, corner of Hank Alley, east part of

Dr. Johnson's corner of Fifth, .Jimmy
Cooper's cigar store above Fifth, John B.

MandeCs meat store- a two-story frame
east of Garrett's Hall, Sutherland row

built in IS 14, and Long's drug store. Since

then all have been replaced by other build-

ings except the I'nited States, the Watson
House and a fragment of Sutherland row.

The building of manufactories ami

opening of stage lines, etc., brought more
people wanting homes, resulting in the out-

lots being divided, and a new addition of

forty-eight lots being laid out by .James

Boss, north of North Street, and others;

but from ISP! to 1S31 there is a hiatus.

Among the incidents of that time was ;he
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formation of a local militia company,
which was accomplished in 1819, under the
name of Steuhenville Guards, with the fol-

lowing officers: Nicholas Ilutchins, cap-
tain; W. Spencer, first lieutenant; Samuel
J. De Huff, second lieutenant. Two years
after Hutchins was made a colonel and
Lieutenant Spencer promoted to the cap-
taincy. They lasted a numl>er of years,
one of their last acts being an escort to

Gen. William H. Harrison during his visit

to Steuhenville, in 1840. During his sena-

torial term Henry Clay visited Steuhen-
ville, and a public dinner was given him
at "The Grove." He made a speech on
the tariff, followed by James Ross and
John C. Wright. Clay toasted Jefferson
County: "Its green hills, its Hocks and its

fleeces, and with the new mills lately start-

ed furnishing a home market for the fleeev

flocks." During 1820 the old Washing-
ton Hall was erected on Market Street,

which stood until after the beginning of
the Civil War, when Robert Cochran pur-
chased the property and erected a large

hotel and business block. Financial em-
barrassment prevented him from com-
pleting the building, which was used as a
conrthouse during t lie building of the new
structure, 1870-74, alter which it remained
vacant for a while. Most of the structure

finally passed into the hands of the Mc-
Conville heirs, who finished the building

and leased it to (iettzman & Strichmacher.
who conducted a hotel for a couple of
years. Jt then passed into the hands of

J. Ross Mossgrove, who rata it as the

United States Hotel until Mareh 0, 188.'),

when, during the latter part of the after

noon, it caught fire, and was entirely de-

stroyed, with the Scott dry goods building

adjoining. The ground lay idle for some
time, but was finally occupied by what are
now the May & Leopold, MeConville and
Hawkins Blocks, the Scott site being taken
hy McConnell & Lyons. During that fire,

which, probably with one exception, was
the most exciting ever in the city, a fire-

man 'named Bickerstaff, who had been im-

mured in the city prison for disorderly

conduct, begged to be released to fight the
flames, promising to return when the fire

was over. His request was granted, and
he was killed by a falling wall. He was
given a public funeral.

Steuhenville 's first recorded cyclone was
on the afternoon of February" 15, 1820.

The weather was very sultry, with heavy
clouds, when a volume of wind came down
on the brickyard between Sixth and
Seventh Streets, south of Market, demol-
ishing the buildings. It then turned to

the north, destroying a blacksmith shop on
Market Street; then down Market and up
Fourth, knocking off the roof and blowing
in the gable of Porter's tavern, then per-
forming the same feat at the Kilgore resi-

dence, corner of Fourth and Washington.
After wrecking some other residences it

made for the paj>er mill, whose lower story
was brick and the upper frame. The lat-

ter was torn off and blown into the river.

The steamer B. Wells just below lost her
chimney. Three fishermen on the river
bank—Jack Mitchell, John Trump and
nnd Beany—ran for a rock, but a tree fell

on Trump and killed him. On July 4 of
the same year, while a keelboat of Wells-
burg soldiers was passing the wharf en
route to Holliday's Cove, a salute was
fired from a swivel gun, in front of which
a young son of Major Coughton happened
to pass, and he was blown to atoms.
Two subsequent cyclones visited the city

—one in 1880, which passed over the

northern end of the city, uprooting trees

and injuring dwellings; and one in the
southern end, in lJHIH. which damaged sev-

eral homes, but no person was hurt in

either of these storms. As a matter of
fact, the city has been in a great measure
free from destruction by these elements.
That attention was devoted to dramatic

matters was manifest by the organization
of a '"Thespian Club," composed of
Ephraim Root, August Culp, J. D. Slack,

Arundel Hill. Dr. Ackerly, Thomas Cole,

.lames Henrv, John Brav, Robert Jollie,

Fi. II. McFeely, James Wilson. William
Campbell, P. S. Campbell, Thomas Armi-
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tage, Samuel McFerren, Francis A. Priest,

Fletcher Wampler, Eliphnlet Steele, Dan-
iel Viers and William ilazlet. Mr. Culp
was stage manager, Slack, prompter; A.

Hill, treasurer; and Thomas Cole, scene
painter. Quite a number of plays was
given to crowded houses, especially at one
performance for the benefit of the Greeks
in their war against the Turks; but "ex-
penses" absorbed the proceeds, so the

money did not go away from town. All

who composed that society have passed

away.
The Naviffotor, published in Pittsburgh

in 1818, gives the industries in Steuben-

ville in 1817 as follows:

"One woolen factory, worked by steam power, in

which are manufacture) 011 an extensive scale, cloths of

the finest texture and of the most brilliant and Inuring

colors; one iron foundry, in which rusting of all kinds

is performed; one paper mill, of three vata, ir. which
ileum power is used; one brewery, ill which i« "iitiu-

fuctured beer. ule. ami porter of the find quality ;
one

steam tlour mill, which is kept in continued and profitable

operation; one strain cotton factory, in which cloths of

nn excellent quality are made; one nail factory; two
earthenware factories; one tobacco and cigar factory;

one wool carding machine; four preachers; six lawyers;

rive physicians, twenty-seven stores; sixteen taverns; two

banks;' one printing "office; one book hiiidery; two gun-

smiths; one coppersmith; two tinner's shops; thirty-two

carpenters ; six bricklayers; five masons; five plasterers;

four cabinet makers; six blacksmiths; lire tailors; four

saddlers; three bakers; eight shoe and bootmakers; three

wheelwrights; four chair makers; three hatters: three

dork and watchmaker* ; one silversmith; three tanneries;

seven schools, three of which are for young ladies; one

reed maker; three wagon makers; four coopers, and six

butchers. Many other professions are followed which

are too tedious to mention. Public Offices.— Register

I". S. Land Office. Receiver l.'. S. Land Office. Collector

l'. 8. Hevenue. Collector of non-resident tax for the

fifth district, (jerk's Office Supreme Court and Court

of Common Pleas. County Commissioner" ' Office, and
Office of Recorder of Heeds. There are several valuable

grist mills near Steubenville winch send a great deal of

tlour to New Orleans. The town has a |H«*trilli«i- receiv-

ing and discharging the public mail weekly. The fuel

used is mineral coal and wood."

Nevertheless the first growth of the

town eould not have been rapid. The pop-

ulation in 1810 was only 800, but, accord-

ing to a census ordered bv the town coun-

cil, on February 1, 1817, there were 2,032

inhabitants, at which time there were 45.'?

houses, three churches, a courthouse and
a market and town house. Manufactur-
ing had begun in the meantime, making

this the liveliest place along the valley. A
market house was built on the public

.st|uare in 181(5. It was a one-story struc-

ture, being principally a roof resting on
brick pillars and arches. In the center
was a one-story frame superstructure con-

sisting of a single room, which was used
as a mayor's office, council chamber and
city headquarters generally. This build-

ing stood until 1879, when it was torn

down. The place once more remained a
public square for about three years, being
occupied in 1880 by the Republican "wig-
wam"; but in 1882. through the exertions

of Hon. J. Dunbar ami others, the erec-

tion of the present city building was be-

srun, and completed the next vear, at a
cost of $65,000. As late as 1820 Washing-
ton Street was but a cowpath; but the low-

or end of the town was in better condition,

containing the best houses and more of

llicm. At that time all the churches were
south of Market Street.

As an evidence of the patriotism of the

citizens and their interest in public affairs,

the semi-centennial of the nation's birth,

duly 4, 182<>, was celebrated with impos-
ing demonstrations. Every building was
decorated, and the procession was a mov-
ing picture of every kind of trade and in-

dustry. Nicholas Hutchins was chief

marshal, with Col. A. Doyle and P. C.

Campbell as aides. Francis Priest and
-lames Russell with drums, and John Bu-
chanan fifer. furnished martial music, and
ihe military was represented by the Steu-

benville Grays, under command of Cap-
tain Spencer. Hezaleel Wells headed the

"oldest inhabitants," followed by four,

six and eight-horse wagons, representing

the various crafts, and Mr. Dickenson's
famous imported ram Bolivar had a con-

spicuous place in the procession. Ban-
ners, music, shooting, fireworks and
speeches concluded the greatest day so far

in the city's history.

Steubenville had plenty of cholera in

18.'S2 and 18.'53, and fresh vegetables were
tabooed within the corporation limits; bnt
it was easy for those wanting them to get

«
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thein outside. There was another visita-

tion in 1850, with a larger proportionate
loss of life, being fifteen to twenty deaths.

Asa whole, however, Steubenville escaped
better than most of her neighbors along
the valley. In 1872, in common with the

balance of the country, the city suffered

from an epidemic of epizootic among
horses, which almost caused a temporary
suspension of work by the equine popula-
tion. - This was followed by a smallpox
epidemic the following winter, in which the

mayor, William T. Campbell, ami Marshal
William J. Doyle distinguished them-
selves by their care for the sick, the dying
and the dead. With the exception of com-
paratively mild visitations of la grippe,

the city has since been singularly free from
epidemic diseases.

It has been mentioned that the old log

courthouse first built on that portion of

the public square procured from Bczjneel

Wells was removed in 1809 to make room
for the square brick structure whose cost

and dimensions are given below. The en-

tire lower floor was utilized as a court-

room, the sheriff having one corner railed

off for an office. The upper story was
used for probate court, county offices and
jury rooms. The roof rose from each side

to a common center, terminating in a cu-

pola containing the bell, town clock and
surmounted by a large glass ball, the lat-

ter remaining until the Morgan raid, in

1863, when a reckless soldier fired at it,

shattering it to pieces. The old jail, built

about the time of the original court, re-

mained until 1834. when a new stone jail

was erected, under the supervision of Da-
vid Cable. It was fireproof, and with the

wall around the yard contained enough
stone to build a bastile, but was always a
damp, unwholesome place. New county
offices were erected at this time, fronting

on Third Street, quarters in the court-

house becoming too small for the increas-

ing business. Subsequently the old Citi-

zens' Bank Building, on the southeast cor-

ner of the public square, was purchased
for the use of the auditor and treasurer.

A sheriff's house had been previously
erected joining the courthouse on the west.

A fine iron fence enclosed the grounds,
which were planted in grass and trees,

making a pleasant oasis in the midst of the
city. All this was removed in 1870 to

make room for the present structures, ad-
ditional ground being procured on the
north side for their accommodation. The
old clock which belonged to the city was
purchased by a number of citizens and
placed in the tower of St. Peter's Church,
on North Fourth Street, where it remained
until that structure was torn down, in

1904, and was not replaced in the new
building. The bell was purchased by the
Union Cemetery Association and now
hangs in the office tower on the grounds of
that organization. Owing to failure of
contractors and other causes the new coun-
ty buildings were uot completed until the
spring of 1874, court being held meanwhile
in the Cochran Hotel Building, and the
Cadiz jail utilized for prisoners. The en-

tire cost, including the additional ground,
was about $300,000, which was considered
reasonable. The progress of steel con-

struction the last few years has put these
buildings somewhat out of date, but when
erected they were justly considered a
triumph of the builder's art. The court-

house was made fireproof throughout, the
floors resting on brick arches supported by
iron girders. It is built of northern Ohio
sandstone, in Homanesque style, with a
(J reek portico, and has a frontage of 120
feet on Market Street and 96 2/3 feet on
Third Street. The basement contains jani-

tor's apartments, furnace rooms and law
offices. The first floor has two rooms for
county recorder, two for county auditor
and commissioners and two for probate
judge, all reached by wide corridors. The
height of this story* is 16' w feet. On the
second floor is the courtroom, 50 x 70 feet,

and originally dome shaped to a height of
40 feet to a stained glass skylight. Un
fortunately it has been injured and the
fireproof character of the building de-

stroyed by a false ceiling, 16 feet below the
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01-i^innl height, in tlio vain hope of improv-
ing the acoustics. On this floor are located

rooms for the court stenographer, judges,
clerk, prosecuting attorney, library and
sheriff. On the third floor are two rooms
originally intended for the library but now
occupied by the county surveyor's force,

jury rooms and additional courtrooms.
The building, which was considered ample
when erected, is already overcrowded.
The height of the main building from base
to roof is 70 feet, with a tower SI feet

nlwve, surmounted by a flagstaff. It con-

tains a chick with eight-foot illuminated

dials, the same also operating a dial in the

courtroom. In addition to the county bell,

the city fire alarm bell is also located here.

There is a pretty hedge Inwn in front, the

original iron fence now surrounding the

Washington school grounds. The chief

ornament of the front will shortly be the

heroic statue of the late Hon. Edwin M.
Stanton, by Alexander Doyle, which, with
base and pedestal, about IK fret high, will

stand directly in front of the main en-

trance. The courtroom is already graced
by two fine paintings, one of lion. E. M.
Stanton, by E. F. Andrews, and one of his

partner. Col. George \Y. McCook, by C. I'.

Kilson. These artists have also completed
full size portraits of Hon. Benjamin Tap-
pan and Hon. J. C. Wright for the same
apartment. Directly north of the court-

house and connected with it are the sher-

iff's dwelling and jail, the former fronting
on Third Street and built of red pressed
brick, with stone trimmings. It is a con-

venient ten-room house. In the rear is the

two-story brick jail, with three tiers of

cells of ImmIci- iron, twenty seven on the

north side for males and nine on the oppo-
site side for females. There is also an ex-

ecution room (now obsolete), sick room,
etc. Plans have been made to reconstruct

this building and make it in closer accord
with recent advanced ideas in penology.

The year ]S.'!4 was memorable for the

great frosts, on May 1.">. It! and 17. which
almost annihilated vegetation in most of

the Northern states. June ,">. IS.*)!), was

another date to be remembered in this

connection.

In addition to the early taverns men-
tioned above, Mrs. Buttorworth had one on
the corner of Third and North Streets;

Hugh Brown, public house and ball alley

on Third, west side, just above Washing-
ton; William Moore, in previous residence
of Win. H. Dickenson, on Third Street,

north of McGowau's grocery; Thomas
Hamilton moved from High and Market to

a two-story frame on Fourth Street, site

of present Cohen and Ruddiek stores;

Charles Porter in brick building opposite;
Round Corner, at Third and Adams
Streets, kept by Hill, and later by Kerlin
and others; Philip Russell, Mansion
House, Washington and Water Streets;

Daniel O'Neal, Market and Water; Ber-
nard Armstrong. Water Street, with brew-
ery in rear; .lames Anderson, Market,
above Sixth, moved to frame building on
site of National Theater, afterwards kept

by McGuire Doyle; George Dohnnan was
succeeded in the Washington Hall by X.

M. Hutchins, Matthew Roberts and others,

and the stage oAW was removed here from
Jenkin son's tavern.

Among the merchants and business men
from \H-27) to 1S40 John Kells kept dry
goods ami groceries at the southwest cor-

ner of Third and Washington Streets;

John Orr. northeast corner; .lames Parks,

dry goods in log house on Third Street,

after 1S40 at southeast corner Fourth and
Market; Eli Dillon, dry goods. Third, near
Washington; James Teaff, gunsmith.
Third, near Washington; Samuel Wilson,

tin and coppersmith, one story frame.
Third, above Market; Bell & Moore. David
Hetts, drv goods. Third Street; Valentine
Owesney, grocery and notions. Third
Street, afterwards Fourth Street: B. F.

Osborne, saddles; Capt. William Spencer,
dry goods. Third; Martin Andrews, whole-

sale grocer, Third, afterwards Market and
Court Streets; Samuel Uage, iron store.

Market Square; John England, tin store.

Third and Market Square; John El>erlein.

baker and confectioner; Samuel M. Lane.
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iron store, Third; James and William
Dougherty, Third and Market; David Mc-
Gowan, groceries, Third, above Market;
Dr. Thomas Johnson, drugs, Third; Hamel
& Dike, dry goods, Third; James Algeo,
dry goods; Dike & Laughlin, later Laugh -

lin & Bell, Third and Market; Alexander
McMechen, dry goods, Third and Market;
H. & R. Permar, dry goods, South Third,
in a frame building; John Ward, drug
store in frame building, corner of Jail

Alley and Market Street, and later Hooker
& Watt had dry goods store in same build-

ing, afterwards removed and three-story
brick erected for Martin Andrews' whole-
sale grocery, subsequently Holloway's gro-
cery and Maxwell & Henry's fruit house;
William Kilgore, hardware store in one-
story frame building on northeast corner
Fourth and Market Streets, bought by
Hugh Sterling in 1835 and moved by him
to the corner of Fourth and Adams Streets
and used as a dwelling and weave shop,
then moved farther down Adams Street
and still used as a dwelling, three-story
brick erected on Kilgore lot, still standing;
Mr. Lennox, leather store, southwest cor-

ner of Fourth and Market, 1830; Mr.
Beatty, store and dwelling, northwest cor-

ner Fourth and Market, two-story brick;

Henry Phillips, stone yard, southeast cor-

ner Sixth and Market, under shade of
large elm tree, did stone work for water
works in 1835. Edward Frohman estab-

lished first clothing store in 1847 at south-

east corner Third and Market, present
Munker block. Hobson & Henning carried
on commission business in frame building

on lower Market Street, opposite Means's
Sour mill.

By 1850 the town had reached a popu-
lation of 6,000, and it was considered high
time to incorporate it as a city. Accord-
ingly the next year the Legislature passed
an act of incorporation, with the follow-

ing boundaries :
4

' Beginning at the north-

west corner of Viers's first addition to the

town of Steubenville, thence in an easterly

direction to a point where the north line

of Washington Street intersects the west

line of the alley, or the western boundary
of the original plot of Steubenville; thence
northwardly along said western line of
said alley to the northwest corner of North
Street; thence eastwardly along the north
line of said North Street to the southwest
corner of Joseph C. Spencer's lot (now St.

Stanislaus Cliurch property) ; thence with
said lot northwardly to the northwest cor-

ner thereof; thence eastwardly to the
northwest corner of William Collier's lot;

thence north nineteen degrees east, across
the lands of Jephtha L. Holton, James
Frazier, Daniel Kilgore, M. M. Laughlin,
Joseph M. Mason (now McCook) and R. S.

Moody into the lands of S. D. Hunter, to

a point 13 perches from said Hunter's
house; thence north 71 degrees west 11
perches; thence north 19 degrees east,

parallel to Seventh 8treet, to William Mc-
Laughlin's line; thence along said Mc-
Laughlin's line between him and Eberlein,

to a point where said McLaughlin & Eber-
lein's lands corner on Stony Hollow tract;

thence north 51y2 degrees east, 40 perches,
to an elm tree on the west side of the river

road, corner to land of William Kilgore
and the Stony Hollow tract; thence with
said Kilgore 's line to the river; thence
down the river to a point in Samuel
Stokely's line 20 8/10 perches from the

southeast corner of J. Bond's lot; thence
west by said Bond's line to the Fourth
Street roud; thence with the line of said

road to the southeast corner of the grave-
yard lots; thence with said graveyard lots

westwardly to the Fifth Street road;
thence so as to include the land of Thomas
Horsefield, to the line of the Wells tract;

thence with said Wells line to the laud of

A. II. Dohrman; thence along said Wells's
and Dohrman 's fi perches; thence north 19
degrees east to the line of B. Tappan, .Ir.'s

outlot; thence with the outer boundary of
said town, according to the Original Plat

and the several additions, to the place of
beginning."
Roughly speaking, this includes all the

land lying between Stony Hollow on the

north and Wells's Run on the south, the
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river on the east and an irregular line

along the hillsides on the west, embracing
an area of about 600 acres. This was
divided into four wards by the intersection

of Market and Fourth Streets, the south-

oast portion being the first ward, the south-

west the second, the northwest the third,

and the northeast the fourth. The govern-
ment of the city was vested in a council,

composed of two members from each ward,
with mayor, clerk, treasurer, marshal and
such other officers as should afterwards be
required.

In November, 1871, considerable terri-

tory was added to the city by the county
commissioners, under a general act of the

legislature, bringing the area up to 1.676

acres. The southern line began at the river

bank just below what was then known as

the Borland shaft. It proceeded up the hill

somewhat irregularly via the Nicholson

farm and along the hillside up Wells's

Run to the foot of England or Coal Hill;

thence crossing the run it came eastwnrdly,
taking in a narrow strip of bottom land, to

+he Union Cemetery, and thence to and out

Market Street road, taking in a strip on
each side; thence up Brady's Lnne to

Franklin Avenue extension; thence over
the hills, reaching the river directly

through a little brick house still standing
above what was known as the Bustard
shaft. This necessitated a readjustment of

the wards, the First, Second, Third and
Fourth were intersected by Market Street

and Bunk Alley or Alley C, and retained

their old relative positions, but all north

of Ross Street became the Fifth Ward,
and all south of Wells's Run the Sixth.

This arrangement lasted until 190*2, when
the Supreme Court of the state, having de-

clared the previous legislative classifica-

tion of cities, tow ns and villages _ unconsti-

tutional, an act was passed providing that

the legislative power of cities of the popu-

lation of Steubenville should he vested in n

council of seven members, four of whom
should be elected by wards, and three

from the city at large. This necessitated

a rearrangement of the city wards and a

reduction of their number to four. This
was done by council, all that part of the
city lying below South Street being made
the First Ward, between that and Market
the Second, between Market and Dock the
Third, and all above that the B'onrth. The
First. Third and Fourth were divided in

three election precincts each, and the Sec-

ond into two, making eleven in the city.

The executive authority was vested in a
mayor, president of council, auditor, treas-

urer, solicitor, department of public serv-

ice, department of public safety, all of

whom except the latter we re made elective.

A more cumbersome and expensive scheme
of government for small cities could scarce-

ly be imagined, and in 1908 the Legislature

amended the law, abolishing the boards
and providing that the mayor should ap-

point a single director of public service

and one of public safety. At this writing,

the courts are wrestling with the problem
as to whether the amendment took effect

on August 1, l!H)n, or ran to January 1,

1910.

VKO.M WKT TO DRY.

The manufacture, vending and use of in-

toxicants in pioneer days was looked upon
generally as a matter of course. The de-

mands of vigorous outdoor life, the sparse-

ness of the community, the ease with which
practically unsalable grain could be con-

verted into a product at once easily trans-

ported and always convertible into cash,

fostered a trade which, along with its evils,

was a means of providing comforts for

many a home that would otherwise have
been' sadly lacking, went far to condone a

i raffle of admitted evil tendency. But that

tendency was not so bad in pioneer days
as it afterwards became. While a sot ex-

isted here and there, the community as a

whole was temperate. The master of the

house might keep distilled liquors on his

sideboard, but it did not follow that he
drank to excess or permitted his guests to

do so. Then the liquors being home-made
were universally pure, and life was not

shortened or reason dethroned by deleteri-
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ous drugs. The strenuous life of the pio-

neer was itself an incentive to temperance
in all things, of which the use of alcoholic

liquors was not the least. But as the com-
munity grew older and more populous,
and there was a "leisure class" among the

youth of the town, the multiplication of

public drinking places and the excessive

use of liquors indicated a growing evil.

Hence, as early as 1828 we hear of move-
ments to check the use of intoxicants,

moral suasion alone being relied upon, no-

body then thinking of regulation or pro-
hibition. One of the first movers in this

direction was the late Rev. C. C. Beatty, and
it is related that he fathered a call for a
public meeting at the Court House in 1830,

but the county commissioners, not looking

with favor on the new movement, refused
to open the building for that purpose. The
cause does not seem to have been very
active until about 1845, when what was
known as the Washingtonian movement
swept over the count ry. The City Tem-
perance Society, as it was called, took up
the work with enthusiasm. Then oame the

"Sons of Temperance Society," "Temple
of Honor Encampment." "Independent
Order of Good Templars" and others. The
longest lived of these organizations seems
to have been the Republican Temple of

Honor, which was instituted January 12,

1848, with the following charter members:
B. I). Worthington, William Doyle, James
Keith, Jr., Isaac McDouald, R. S. Moody,
David Hull, James II. Blinn. Rezin Merri-

inan, John McFeelv, Thomas Sterling. A.
D. Fisher, MeGui're Doyle, William St.

Clair, John C. Huston, James Kellev. Rob-
ert S. Thompson, Robert C. Hull,' E. G.

McFeeley and O. A. Worthington. J. II.

Lindsay and J. II. Hawkins were after-

wards active members of this organization,

and another active worker outside the so-

ciety was Rev. Joseph Buchanan. There
seems to have been what was known as

Union Council, No. 2, of Royal and Select

Masters of the State of Ohio, in 1839, but

the charter was lost and on May 18, 1866,

a new council was organized, with thirty-

two charter members. Steuben Social, No.

7, composed of the gentler sex, was insti-

tuted in 1850. These orders assembled for

many years in the Gallagher building,

South Fourth Street, but dissolved a few
years since.

From this time on there was not a win-

ter in which public meetings were not held,

addresses made, and pledges signed, gen-

erally of total abstinence. There was no
marked movement, however, until the fall

of 1873, when a band of praying women
exercised sufficient influence to close the

saloons in Washington Court House, in

this state. From there the movement
spread rapidly over the state, and reached
Jefferson County, especially Steubenville,

in full force. Daily meetings were held,

and each afternoon and evening there was
visible a long procession of women march-
ing along the streets until some saloon was
reached, and if permission was given to

enter it was accepted, otherwise the crowd
would kneel on the streets and pour forth

fervent petitions for the saloonkeeper and
for the discontinuance of his business. It

was very properly called the Women's
Crusade; there was systematic picketing,

and as a result there was a material fall-

ing off in the saloon business. ' Only two
or three of the saloons, however, quit busi-

ness, and to close the others more than
moral suasion was necessary. At that time

among the powers granted municipal coun-

cils by the Legislature was the right to

regulate, restrain and prohibit ale, beer

and porter houses, the selling of spirituous

liquors to be drunk on the premises being

already prohibited by.a statute which was
practically a dead letter. Pressure was
accordingly brought to bear on the council,

with such success that a prohibitory ordi-

nance was passed, to take effect April 1,

1874, when the ringing of the bells an-

nounced the closing of all the saloons in

the city. The leaders in this movement, in

order to conserve the effects of public sen-

timent created by the crusade and to aid

in making their victory lasting, determined
to form a permanent organization, and on
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March 2, 1874, met in the First Presbyte-
rian Church and organized a local branch
of the Women's Christian Temperance
Union, which had already been inaugurated
in other parts of the state. The following
officers were elected: President, Mrs.
James Sterling; recording secretary, Mrs.
John W. Holliday; corresponding secre-

tary, Miss Emma Spaulding; treasurer,
Mrs. L. R. Layton. The following year a
state organization was formed at Cleve-
land, with which the local union united,
from which it has spread over this and
other countries. Besides prohibition the
union has taken up other subjects, such as
Sunday observance and Sunday school
work, school instruction as to the effect of
alcohol, flower missions, social purity, etc.

Mrs. Sterling was succeeded as president
by Mrs. Dr. Grimes, Mrs. M. M. K. White,
Miss Julia Galloway, who was also secre-

tary for a number of years, and Mrs. B. N.
Lindsey. Others prominent in the work
were Mrs. Sarah Van Meter, Mrs. M. S.

Stokely, Mrs. C. H. Spaulding, Mrs. Mary
Bynon Reese, Mrs. Owens, Mrs. E. D. Led-
yard, Mrs. Webb, Mrs. Hamilton, Mrs.
Kidd, Miss Elizabeth Johnson and Mrs.
James Gregg. The local union was the
first to nominate women for members of
boards of education. It was found difficult,

however, to keep up the tension necessary
to enforce an ordinance of this character,
and it was evaded by personal liberty clubs,

so called, and other devices, until it

amounted to little. The ensuing fall there
was a reaction in politic*, and the Repub-
licans, who had endorsed the stringent en-
forcement of the liquor laws, were swept
out of power and a Democratic Legislature
elected on a platform opposed to "sump-
tuary legislation." The power of councils

to prohibit saloons was promptly rescinded
and once more things were wide open. The
evil was too manifest, however, to be suf-

fered to spread without resistance, and we
again had resource to moral influence, such
as the Murphy movement, blue and red
ribbon, etc. At the same time the senti-

ment in favor of more stringent regula-
tion was becoming stronger, and as the
state Constitution forbid the issuing of
license, advantage was taken of the police
power to levy a special tax on each saloon,
by which it was hoped that the number
would be reduced so that it would be easier

to regulate the balance, and in addition
yield an extra revenue as at least partial

compensation for the evil caused. The
original tax was $100 per annum for ale

and beer saloons and $250 for distilled

liquors, but this distinction was soon abol-

ished. The first act, known as the Pond
law, was declared unconstitutional by the
courts, but a substitute was adopted, which
stood the test, and high taxation became
the policy of the state. The amount was
gradually increased until the figure readied
$1,000 per annum. This operated pretty
generally in keeping saloons out of the
rural districts, but they still flourished in

the cities. The next step was the passage
of an act by which a township, munici-
pality, or part thereof, could by vote pro-
hibit the sale of liquors within its limits.

Under this act practically all the townships
in Jefferson County and nearly all the mu-
nicipalities outside of Stcubenville and
Mingo had gradually become "dry" terri-

tory. In order to bring the cities in it was
necessary to have county local option, and
accordingly, what was known as the Rose
law was enacted for this purpose. Under
that law a special election was held on
November 22, 1908, in which the county
as a whole gave 7,020 votes in favor of pro-
hibition, and 5,200 against it, making a
majority in its favor of 1,820. Stenben-
ville voted 617 against prohibition and
Mingo 50 against, but that was of no avail

to offset the heavy adverse majorities in

the country districts. Since December 23,

1908, the city has been dry—that is, so far
as open saloons are concerned, and while
different causes contributed to this result,

the main influence is to be ascribed to the

persistent and continuous work of the W.
C. T. r.
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NEW ADDITIONS TO THE CITY.

The growth of the city naturally created

a demand for more building lots from time
to time, and new additions were laid out,

first by subdivisions of the outlots, and
then in the adjacent territory. Following
are the plats added to the original "236 lots

to tlie present time

:

Date. Name. No. lota.

1805 July 25—John Ward 6
1808 Sept. 21—Goo. Atkinson 6
1809 Nov. 21—James Johnston 6
1811 Sept. 10—Thomas Dadey 6
1814 Jan. 31—Robt. Carroll and Thou. Kell 20
1814 July 23—James Gray 18
1814 July 25—James Grav 26
1814 May 2—John Wilson ami B. Wells 18

1814 May 11—Brice Viera 19
1815 Jan. 15—Bezalecl Wells 27
1815 Feb. 16—John C. Wright 13
1815 March 1—John Ward
1815 Feb. 13—James Robs 48
1815 Oct. 25—Brice Viera 23
1815 Aug. 17—Nicholas Murray 22
1818 April I—Wm. R. Dickenson 48
1831 March 23—James Ross 45
1833 May 14—Samuel Stokely 15
1835 Nov. 15—Samuel Stokely 15
1836 Jan. 23—David Cable and Jas. McKinney... 21
1836 Feb. 23—Predion Roberts and Hcnrv Orr... 16
1836 May 7—Jas, Tnrnbull and Wm. Kilgorc 32
1836 May 19—Alexander Mc.Murrav 14

1836 June 16—Henry Orr ' 14
1836 Oct. 5—Henry Holdsbip 48
1837 Feb. 27—Alexander Doyle 9
1844 Aug. 29—James Wilson 7
1844 Oct. 18—Nathaniel Dike and ./as. Wilson 22
1848 Feb. 3—HenrT J. Hukill 7

1848 March 21—Peter Anderson and F. Donaldson 16
184H April 28—.las. Turnbull and Win. Kilgore. . 12
1848 June 20—Dt. John Andrews 16
1848 Aug. 26—Wm. McLaughlin 9
1848 Dee. 6—Matthew Nicholson 6
1851 May 2—Wm. Meljiughlln 8
1853 March 8—.John Armstrong »n,l .1. \V. Cray. 15
1864 April 7— David Buchanan 5
1865 Dec. 6—Robert Sherrard, Jr 24
1866 June 20—John Fiaher 13
1867 Aug. 4—John Fisher 34
1867 April 10—W. R. K. Elliott 7

1868 April 16— M. Andrews. Trustee 27
1868 July 13-J. Manly and 11. 0. Oarrett 13
1869 Feb. I—Roswell Mwrxh 11
1865 Oct 1— Peter Thomas 4
1869 June 17—John Hood 16
1863 Oct. 28—C. Hineman and C. M. Cummins. . 24
1865 Oct. 1—Peter Thomas 4
1869 Nov. 16—W. P. Hnvs 4
1870 March 28—Peter Thomas 6
1870 April 25—ThomaR La Dewitt 7
1870 July 19—Baaler Bros 5
1870 March 28— E. Tnbble and J. H. Biiki.tl'sky . . 14
1870 April 25—B. W. Dovle 4
1870 May 15—St. Pauls Vluirch 8

1870 April 19--W. R. Lloyd 7

1870 Oct. 15—U. G. and F. C. Wells 39
1870 Oct. 15—W. B. K. Elliott 2

1870 Mav 2H—W. K. E. Elliott 20
1869 Nov. 11—.1. M. Hickev and M. J. tlrquhart. :m>

1871 Jan. 25—Justin G. Morris 136

1871 April II—J. Manly & H. 0. Oarrett 20
1571 April 10—W. H. Wallace 7

1871 April 18—L. and W. C. Anderson 28
1871 Sept. 26— W. H. Mooney and J. D. Salmon. . 54
1872 Jan. 4-J. P. Draper lo

1872 Jan. 4-John Orr and C. Hineman 109
1872 March I—Wm. H. Moonley 4
1872 March 16—Wm. E. Fisher <. 7

1872 April 22—J. W. Gray 128
1M72 July 18—John Fisher 20
1572 Nov. 1—Justin G. Morris 59
1873 June 23—Wm. H. Mooney 36
1873 Aug. 13—K A. and J. C. Wells 49
1873 Sept. 5—StenbeovUle Board of Education.. 4

1873 Sept. 4—J. B. Salmon and W. II. Mooney.. 20
1873 Sept. 13—J. Maatv and H. (1. Oarrett 105
1874 March 16—Wm. H. Mooney 12

1875 May 31—James Nicholson 6
1874 June 1—E. 8. Wood and W. R. Lloyd 50
1877 Jan. 31— C. Hineman 'i Assignee 10
1881 Dee. 20—John A. Collier 12
1887 Marrh 28—A. Shaw 'a heirs 24-
1884 April 22—A. McNeal 3
1885 Sept. 8—J. A. Collier 2d 3
1888 Sept. 8—D. J. Sinclair 5
1889 May 18—H. L. Wilson 6
1889 July 3—Sinclair 2d 16
1890 May 5—Samuel Speaker 19
1891 June 18—J. J. Gill 24
1890 Jan. 4—Pleasant Heights and Poplar Springs 241
1892 Jan. 26—Margaret Turnbull 23
1893 June 26—J. Dunbar, Admr. Thos. Mears.... 41
1901 June 8—M. J. and O. V. T. Co. < Altmnont ) . 180
1901 Dec. 28—W. H. Freudenberger 6
1902 Julv 5—Locy Angle 5
1902 Sept. 27—A. R, McNeal 18
1902 Aug. 12—LaBelle View I.and Co 746
1902 Aug. 12—Pleasant Heights Imp. Co 205
1903 Feb. 28—Stenbenville Con) & M. Co 46
1905 April II—R. J. and George Bentty 27
19lVS April 19—H. G. Simmons ". 6
1905 Mav 9—Beatty 2d 75
1905 Mav 9—G. G. Gaston 32
1905 Feb. 27—W. H. Freudenberger 8

1906 April 24—II. B. Mears 29
1906 April 10—Mary M. Hill 37
1907 Oct. 8— Bcnll «V Steele 62

The above, with the i>3fi lots of the Orig-
inal Plat, make a grand aggregate of 3,911')

lots. A few of the smaller additions are
subdivisions of lots in the Original Plat
and elsewhere, which would reduce the net
figures by about half a dozen. The Alta-

mont Addition, platted on the hill south of
the city, was laid out with the expectation
that the electric line over the summit to

Mingo would induce a demand for lots in

that section, but owing to the absence of
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water, gas and other facilities these ex-

pectations were not realized, and when the

course of the line was changed a few years
later the addition was practically aban-
doned. The Pleasant Heights and Poplar
Springs Addition in 1890 marked the he-

ginning of a definite movement of popula-
tion towards the hilltops. Part of the pro-

ject was a driving park. In 1856, and for

a few years thereafter, a county fair was
held on South Third Street, at the present
site of the La Belle mill office, at which the

exhibits were creditable and good races

for that day. Previous to the erection of

the original mill a fair had also been held
on that site. But these enterprises did not
pay, and they were abandoned. No further

attempt was made in this direction until

1873, when a number of enterprising gen-
tlemen secured what was known as the Dr.
Scott fann of thirty-five acres, adjoining
the Means place, where a good half-mile

driving track was constructed. The first

races were held here on July 12, and al-

though the premiums were large and the
exhibitions good, there was not sufficient

interest manifested to keep the concern
going, and after a few years' losing experi-

ments the ground was purchased by H. G.
Garrett, who, in turn, sold it to Joshua
Manly, and it reverted to agricultural pur-

poses. The experience of the Pleasant
Heights people was much the same. The
track was one of the best in the country.
There were fine races, driving and bicycle,

one successful county fair and large

crowds, but financially it was not encourag-
ing, and the tract was acquired by Eli Cast-

ner. Buffalo Bill gave his first Steuben-
ville performance on the Scott place, and
other like exhibitions followed at Pleasant

Heights. Adams Street leads directly into

this addition. Grand View Avenue extend-

ing along the bluff, succeeded by Pine. Kim,
Walnut, Cedar and I'liion. The cross

streets are Park and Jefferson. On August
12, 1902, the Pleasant Heights Improve-
ment Company placed 205 more lots on
this hill, and now had street car communi-
cation downtown. The streets here parallel

with Adams are State, Plum and Orchard,
with those at right angles being Wilson,
McKee, Henry, Maxwell, Lawson, Union
and Cedar. At this time Pittsburgh parties

purchased alx>ut 170 acres from the Means
heirs and others, the tract extending from
Market Street close to Franklin Avenue,
on which was laid out the largest addition

yet made to Steubenville. It is a city in

itself, the streets paralleling with Market
being Belleview, Euclid, Ridge, Man-land,
Pennsylvania, Oregon, Wellesley, Oak,
Grove and Arlington. They are crossed by
Wilkins, Pittsburgh, Carnegie and Ohio.

The Beall & Steele Addition is laid out on
both sides of Ridge Avenue, the cross

streets being Brady, Weldon and Mc-
Dowell. These four hilltop additions con-

tain an aggregate of 1,254 lots, over one-

third of all within the corporation limits.

They are building up rapidly and having
the advantages of water, gas, sewerage and
all the conveniences to be found in the val-

ley are becoming a favorite residential sec-

tion.

I1HSTAI. SERVICE.

It was not to be expected that, a com-
munity as enterprising as were the early

Steubenvillians would long be without reg-

ular postal facilities. There does not seem
to have been a postmaster, however, until

1802. when John Galbraith was the first

appointee. He kept store at what was
afterwards known as Odd Fellows block,

on Market Street, the site now being occu-

pied by Bristor & Mueller's store. Gnl-

brailh was a Federalist and opposed to tho

second war with Great Britain; in fact,

this community was so nearly evenly di-

vided between the two parties at that time

that William Lowry, Republican, and J. G.

Helming. Federalist, tied on an election

for justice of the pence, and on a second

election Lowry only won out by one ma-
jority. When the Americans won a vic-

tory he withheld the news, and when the

British won it was otherwise. When the

report of Perry's victory was received

public, indignation had become so strong
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against Galbraith that he resigned the office

in favor of Henning. But before Hen-
aing's papers reached the postmaster gen-
eral, who was then in New Jersey, he re-

ceived a letter from Judge Tappan, recom-
mending David Larimore for the place, and
he received the appointment. He held the
position for twenty years, and the whirli-

gig of politics having brought him into op-
jwsition to Judge Tappan, at the latter's

instigation he was removed. He conducted
the office on the site of the present Im-
jMirial Hotel, but when William Cable was
appointed in 1837 he moved the office to

North Third Street, between Market and
Washington. He served four years, and
his successor, William Collins, moved the
office to the Turnbull block, on Market
Street. Whitaker O'Neal was the next, in

1845, who moved to a one-story building
east of Alley A, the site since occupied by
the I'nited States Hotel saloon. Francis A.
Wells succeeded him in 1845) and was, in

turn, succeeded by Thomas Brashear from
18">3 to 1861, when George R. Filson be-

came the eighth, in succession and moved
the office up street to present No. .1.11.

where a moving picture show is conducted.
James Reed was his successor, and on the

completion of the uew Odd Fellows block,

in 187.'?, the office was removed thither,

where it remained ten years, and was then
removed to its present location at the west
end of the city building. F. O'Neil was suc-

ceeded bv George Moore in 18K<>. James F.

Sarratt in 1K!M>, James Trotter in 1894. M.
L. Miller in 1898. and Alexander Sweeney,
the present incumbent, in April, 190(>, he
being the fifteenth to hold the office. The
business of the office has grown rapidly
during the hist ten years. The receipts

from the sale of stamps and postal cards
for the year ending March J1, 1898. were
$17,.

v
>r>7..'i.'i, and for that ending March 31,

1909, were $48,77 ML', or nearly treble. The
money order department for the year end-
ing June •'!(!, 1909, showed 9.HV2 domestic
orders paid and 419 foreign; 2.'U91 do-

mestic orders issued and 2.408 foreign, by
which it is seen that a great deal more

money is sent away than is received. The
business of the office amounts to about half

a million dollars a year and is handled by
the following office force, in addition to

Postmaster Sweeney: Charles Irwin,
assistant postmaster; William F. Schaefer,
chief clerk; J. T. Brady, money order
clerk; Joseph P. Stephens, register clerk;

C. S. Flanegan, general delivery; Gladys
G Wyatt, assistant; Chester W. Reed, gen-
eral "utility clerk; Charles W. Strean,
stamper; F. A. Eugel, Joseph M. Huston,
John S. H. Patton, night clerks; J. C. Will-

iams. James B. Allison, dispatchers; Frank
McNally. substitute clerk; Harry E. Fel-

lows, Humphrey J. Goodman, Charles L.

McLeish, John J. Helmes, William G.
Herb, William Dargue, William II. Bair,

John J. Huston, Wesley L. Fleming, Jo-
seph S. Feist. John A. Schnorrenberg,
John Ellis Welday, Robert L. Adams, Al-

bert M. Bird, Lawrence E. Patterson, car-

riers; Peter A. Ward, Paul Geisinger,

Keuben Jones, substitutes; George K. San-
ders, rural delivery carrier No. 1, for

Knoxvillo Road and northwest; I. G.
Bucey, No. 2, for Market Street road west
and south; John B. Swinehart, special de-

livery messenger; P. F. Baldwin, mail mes-
senger; Charles Fleming, assistant. This
makes a force of thirty-six persons in quar-
ters entirely too cramped for the business

done. Efforts to get adequate accommo-
dations have so far been fruitless, but it is

hoped that a bill introduced into Congress
by Hon. 1). A. Hollingsworth, appropriat-

ing $100,000 towards this object, will meet
with better fate than its predecessors.

(The bill has since passed.)

In this connection it may be noted that

Jefferson County has twenty-one rural free

delivery routes, those outside of Steuben-
ville being: Adena, 2; Amsterdam, 2; Berg-
holz. 1; Blooniingdale. 2; Dillonvale, 2;

Femwood, 1 ; Hammondsville, 2 ; Irondale,

1; Mingo, 1; Rayland, 2; Toronto. 2;

Cnionport, 1.

I'HOOKKSS IX WATRR Sl l'l'LV.

A reliable and constant supply of pure
water is a prime necessity in every grow-
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ing community, and it was not long before
it was realized that the public wells already
mentioned were insufficient, even when sup-

plemented by numerous private wells aud
springs, the latter being plentiful along
the base of the hills. Accordingly, in 1810,

a company was formed under an act of the

Legislature, dated January 10, and styled

The Steubenville Water Company. The
incorporators comprised the following
named gentlemen: Bezaleel Wells, John C.
Bayless, John England, Briee Viers, .Jo-

seph Bentty, William Hamilton, David
Larimore, Benjamin Tappan, Thomas Me-
Kean Thompson, David Hoge, Jacob,
Fetches, John Galbraith, Thomas Scott.

Sampson King, Samuel Hunter, Hans Wil-
son, Thomas Henderson, .lames G. Hen-
ning, Zacheus Bigger, William R. Dicken-
son, James Larimore and Obediah Jen-
nings.

This company was authorize*'] to pur-
chase lands, lay pipes, erect pent stacks

and to do whatever else was necessary to

afford a sufficient water supply. The com-
pany first laid a line of wooden pipes from
a spring, between Market and Washington
Streets, above Seventh, and these becoming
insufficient, an additional line was laid

from the Doyle, afterwards known as
"Spencer's Tan Yard." The remains of
these wooden pipes are yet struck occa-

sionally in making excavations. The logs

were laid southeasterly around the Elliott

tan yard to Market Street, and at the court

house and other several points were stone

cisterns to husband a reserve supply, espe-

cially for fire purposes. The logs were ten

to twelve inches in diameter, with a two-
inch hole bored through the center by .Jacob

Briekard. It is very likely the logs leaked

more or less at the joints, but the system
seems to have worked fairly well until

about 1820, when it gave out, and a system
was adopted of hauling water in large bar-

rels, at 6«/i cents per barrel, from the river.

This lasted until 1835, when the necessi-

ties of the town and losses by fire induced
the calling of a public meeting, which
authorized the town council to procure esti-

mates for the construction of a more com-
plete and adequate water system. In the

meantime, James Collins, mayor, had l>een

requested to visit Pittsburgh and obtain

information concerning the water system
of that city. The mayor made an exhaust-

ive report of his trip—the annual ex]>eiises

incurred and the income derived froi'n the

system. Accordingly a loan of $35,000 was
negotiated by Humphrey H. I/cavitt from
Edward Coleman, of Philadelphia, and the

money placed to the credit of the city of

Steubenville in The Fanners and Me-
chanics Bank. Mr. Lcavitt's total expenses
for the trip and time employed in securing

the loan were $59,155. The plant was
erected at a total cost of $34,453.1*4, and put
into operation in 183o\ An effort was first

made to have the pumping station located

on the west side of Water Street and draw
the water from a well, which it was thought
would draw an unfailing supply from the

river, but this plan was soon abandoned,
on account of quicksand and the plant
moved out to the river bank at the foot of
Adams Street. It lias never been satis-

factorily explained why the pumping sta-

tion was located at the south end of town.
Mow all the drainage from the city, instead
of at the north end. The reservoir was
located half way up the hill, at the head
of Adams Street. VJ2 feet, perpendicular
J. eight, alx»ve the pumps, and three-fourths

of a mile from the works. A forty-horse-

power engine forced 200.000 gallons into

the reservoir each ten hours, and the ca-

pacity of the reservoir was twice that

amount, which was considered doing very
well, as Pittsburgh then was using only
500,000 gallons per day. In 1854 an addi-

tional reservoir was joined to the other

on the west holding ti00,000 gallons, thus

giving a total storage capacity of 1.000,000

gallons. By 1S<»4 it was evident that the

works must be rebuilt, the old machinery,
besides being worn out, was entirely too

light for the work now needed. Accord
ingly the works were enlarged to double
their former size, a twenty inch main laid

to the reservoir, new boilers and two 150-
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horsepower engines installed, one of them
l>eingmade at the Means foundry, and new,
up-to-date pumps, with a capacity of 2,480.-

000 gallons each twenty-four hours. This
was far beyond the consumption at that

time, which, in fact, did not reach half

that amount until 1879, so that it was only
necessary to keep one engine in operation,

the other being kept in reserve. This work
was completed in 1867, at a cost of $50,000.

A few years after another reservoir was
added, bringing the storage capacity to

1,700,000 gallons. A twenty-inch main was
laid along Seventh Street, from which an
eight-inch pipe led down Market Street,

and six-inch pipes down the parallel streets

to the river (now eight-inch on Washing-
ton), from which the laterals are con-

nected.

Tt was estimated that the city was now
provided with a water plant which would,
it was supposed, answer every purpose for

half a century to come, but early in the
nineties the daily consumption was equal
to the full capacity of the reservoirs, thus
guaranteeing only a twenty- four hours'
supply in case of accident. The machinery
was once more out of date and none the bet-

ter for its thirty years' steady work. The
adoption of sewers made the location of
the pumping station undesirable, and the

disastrous Lindsey-Falk fire on August 14,

18D3, demonstrated that the water pressure
was not sufficient to cope with a great con-

flagration in the large buildings which were
occupying the downtown district. All this

led to the conviction that not an improve-
ment of the old water works was needed,
but an entirely new plant in another loca-

tion. The matter was taken up by Mr. Sin-

clair, then a meml>er of the Board of Coun-
cil, and it is chiefly to his energetic ef-

forts that the city owes its present magnifi-

cent plant, conceded to be the best on the

Ohio River. The old Alikanna Iron Works
property, just above the mouth of Wills

Creek, was purchased and in 181H work of

construction was begun. The river here
makes a large curve, and a ledge of rock,

exposed at low water, extends almost to

the West Virginia shore, leaving a narrow
and deep channel with swift current.
Through this the supply pipe was laid, se-

curely protected from ice floes and resting

on a crib in the deep water, below any dan-
ger from passing boats and getting the

purest water that is in the river. The
large stone pumping station on the bank is

an attractive feature of the landscape. Be-
sides being surrounded by beautiful and
well kept grounds, which give it the ap-
pearance of a summer hotel, its site is di-

rectly opposite the celebrated and famous
"Half-Moon" farm, comprising about
1.400 acres of as well located and park-
like farming land as may be found at any
point along the upper Ohio. Just above it

on a hill top is located Stanton Park, from
which an entrancing view of the surround-
ing country can be obtained for many
miles.

The dailv capacitv of the pumping sta-

tion is 0,000,000 gallons, from two E. P.

A His pumps. As the storage capacity is

7,200,000 gallons, and the consumption
about 2,500,000, the city is always assured
of a supply in case of emergency, and in

.iddition consumers have full knowledge
that the water has a chance to settle liefore

being used for any purpose. The high
pressure reservoir is located in a natural
depression at the head of Franklin Ave-
nue, 250 feet perpendicular height above
the works. From this a twenty-inch main
leads down Franklin and Seventh Streets

to the original low pressure reservoirs, and
from which a high pressure system of
pi

I
»es covers the city for fire and special

purposes, in addition to the low pressure
for domestic use.

There are about forty miles of mains in

use. ranging in size from twenty-four
inches to four. These pipes are divided
into two systems, one carrying a pressure
of forty to seventy-five pounds, and the

other, high, from one hundred to one hun-
dred and thirty pounds. The city has
some 300 fire hydrants. When the works
were constructed provision was made for
the installation of a 6,000,000 gallon pump
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when the same should I)e necessary, and an
additional high pressure reservoir, with
a capacity of 5,000,000 gallons, was also

partly constructed. There is now talk of
completing these improvements, together
with another low pressure reservoir. When
the works were constmeted it was foreseen

that the hilltops ahove the reservoirs

would ultimately require a water supply,

and it came sooner than was anticipated.

To meet this demand a sixty-five-foot

standpipe was erected on La Belle View,
which is fed by an ingenious arrangement.
Where the water pours into the low pres-

sure reservoir has l>een placed a hydraulic
ram, which receives the full force of the

current. Its operation throws sufficient

water to the standpipe, while the surplus
Hows into the basin below. This self-acting

pumping station is operated practically

without cost, and apparently contradicts

the scientific diction that one cannot lift

himself over a fence by pulling on his own
bootstraps. The capacity and purpose of

the high pressure system are such ns to

throw six heavy streams at one time over
the top of the court house, and steam fire

engines have been relegated to the realms
of the "have beens." These works were
completed in 1805, at a cost of $180.00(1.

They would now cost double that amount.
The contractors were Floto Brothers and
A. W. McDonald, of Steubenville. and the

work was done under the supervision of

D. J. Sinclair. H. M. Brown. Charles L.

Foreman, K. K. Blinn. Thomas Frith.

Charles K. Moody. Frank Spearman. David
McGowan and Winfield Scott.

The estimated value of the entire plant

with mains, etc., on January 1. 1000. was
$.'581,221.85. with outstanding bonds of

$170,000 The receipts for
' 1908 were

$.18,720..-! 1. and total expenditures $41.-

00:5.87. In the latter, however, are included

$5,000 bonds redeemed, and $(5,405.0(5 for

pipe extension to outlying districts, which,

of course, are a permanent addition to the

plant. So the water works not only pay
their own way but provide a sinking fund
for the bonded debt, make their own exten-

sions and furnish free water to all city
buildings, sehoolhouses, churches, fires (in-

cluding construction of hydrants) ami
street sprinkling, public and private. The
subject of public or private ownership of
public utilities is a much debated one, but
in Steubenville there is but one opinion so
far as the water service is concerned. No-
body would l>e willing to turn it over to a
private company.

(t. V. Hobinson, of Pittsburgh, became
superintendent of the works in 18.5b, James
Baron in 18.50, U. J. Irwin in 18(55, AVilliam
Hunt in 188:5, F. B. Ford in 1889, S. B.
Curfman in 180(5. George O'Neal, present
incumbent, in 1007.

FIRE DKI'ARTMENT.

Closely connected with a city's water
service and depending largely on it for
efficiency is the fire department. The orig-
inal method of fighting fires in Steuben-
ville was by the "bucket brigade." Each
family was required to keep in a conve-
nient place at least two leather buckets,
which were unbreakable. When the alarm
of fire was given every man, woman and
child was expected to respond with the
leather buckets, especially for the pur-
pose, and fall in line to pass the buckets of
water from tha river or the nearest cistern
to the point of danger. The full buckets
were passed up by the men, emptied by
those fighting the fire and thrown to the
other line of women and children, who rap-
idly passed them back for supply. This
service was far from being inefficient, espe-
cially as most of the buildings at that time
'ven* small and the stream of water was al-

most as constant, if not as strong, as from
an engine. In the year 1822 a meeting of
citizens authorized the council to purchase

fire engine, nnd a small hand machine was
procured in Philadelphia, and housed in

a one-story building on Third Street, just
north of the court house. This did not do
away with the bucket brigade, whose ener-
gies were now chiefly directed towards
keeping the machine supplied with water.
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In 1832 C. C. Wolcott purchased a small
rotary engine on wheels, for use about his

factor}', but whose services were in de-

mand whenever there was a fire. The
city had in the meantime purchased an-

other small hand engine, which it placed
in a frame building on the lot now covered
by the Herald building on North Fourth
Street, immediately south of the Second
Presbyterian Church lot. About the year
1846 the council purchased a larger hand
engine, called the "Reliance," and
erected for it a one-story brick build-

ing on the North Fourth Street lot, and
shortly after the "Phoenix," which was
housed in a frame structure on the site of

the present Phoenix building south of the

public square. This building was sur-

mounted by a bell tower, ending in a spire,

on which stood the tin figure of a man blow-

ing a trumpet, which was irreverently

dubbed Neddy Price, a well known charac-

ter about town. The Phoenix engine
had what was considered a marked ad-
vance, namely, a suction pipe, which en-

abled it to draw water from a cistern or

other reservoir at the same time it was
throwing a stream on the flames. The
water mains being pretty well extended
by this time, hose reels were added to

the equipment of the company, and the

bucket brigade went gradually out of

service. These engines served the city

for nearly twenty-five years, and as an
athletic exercise could discount a modern
gymnasium many times over. The water*

receptacle was a long box. similar to a

wagon bed. from which a square super-

structure rose in the center containing the

force pump. Levers extended out in either

direction, with a double set of cross bars

at each,*the upper ones being worked by
several persons standing on a platform
across the engine bed. and the lower ones

by an equal number standing on the

ground. The engines were drawn to fires

by hand power, the companies being vol-

unteers, and leading citizens taking a hand
iu pulling as well as operating the ma-
chines, responding energetically to the call

of the captain: "Now, boys, now!" as the

flames came spurting from a burning build-

ing. It is said that when President Lincoln
called for volunteer soldiers for the Union
army the ranks of the fire companies were
almost depleted. These fire laddies being
familiar with scenes of danger and used to

discipline soon became thorough soldiers.

The annual parade was a great day, the en-

gines being gaily decked with flowers, and
the procession greeted with flowers and
cheers as it passed through the streets.

In 1852 the city council passed an ordi-

nance which provided a number of new
rules and regulations governing the volun-
teer fire department and the citizens in

general at fires. By it firemen were ex-

empt from labor on the highways and the
citizens required to aid in extinguishing
fires. A fire wardeu was appointed, annu-
ally, from each ward, whose duty it was
to inspect buildings in the ward and see
that all regulations were complied with.

Three directors were also appointed, whose
authority at a fire was absolute. In the
absence of the first, second or third took
his place, as the case might be. Four line-

men were also appointed to form the peo-
ple into lines.

Officers of this volunteer department
were required to wear uniforms at a fire or
pay a fine of five dollars. No matter where
they happened to be, when the alarm
sounded, officers must don the .uniform
and get to the front. This reminds one of
the volunteer firemen who proposed dur-
ing one of the evening sessions "that a

committee be appointed to grease the cart

just liefore each fire."

A fire in the Owesnev block on South
Fourth Street in the winter of 18fi0-70 hav-
ing demonstrated the inefficiency of the old

hand engines, the council, in the following
spring, purchased a steam fire engine, to-

gether with hose, reel and 1,000 feet of
iiose from L. Button & Son. of Waterford,
N. Y., for $5,270. This engine was placed
in the Phoenix engine house, and Homer
Pennar elected first engineer, at a salary
of $200 per year. Very soon after its pur-
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chase it hud a chance to demonstrate its

efliciency in subduing a stubborn fire in

the Mcais bonded warehouse on lower Mar-
ket Street. In the meantime a storm had
partly demolished the old Phoenix engine
house and a new brick structure was
erected with mayor's office and council

chamber above. The Reliance headquar-
ters had also been moved from Fourth
Street to a new building on North Street,

west of Fourth, where they have since re-

mained, a fine building, thoroughly
equipped, having been erected in 1909, with
quarters also for the hook and ladder
wagon. About a year after the purchase
of the Phoenix engine a steamer was pur-

chased for the Reliance Company, with
Samuel Martin, first engineer, and .James
Beans, second. The destructive United
States Hotel fire on March 9, 1885, followed

by two other large fires the same year, led

to the organization of a paid department
on January 5, 1880. The council appointed
Edward Nicholson fire marshal, who was
succeeded by W. B. Martin, the present in-

cumbent. The other members are: Phoe-
nix, James Gill, captain; Vincent Saun-
ders and William Singer, drivers; Charles
Quimby and James Huffman, horsemen.
Reliance, \V. A. Shouse, captain; Edward
Green and Chester Anderson, drivers;

Charles Floto, Frank Weaver, Howard Mc-
Donald and M. Kepler, horsemen. 1 look

and Ladder, Chester Anderson and How-
ard McDonald. There is also a volunteer

company of twenty-two, housed in a fine

two-story brick building on T,a Belle View.

Ross Thompson, captain, and a similar

company on Pleasant Heights, H. Teaff,

captain.

As previously stated, the introduction of

the high pressure water system put the

steamers out of use, the equipment now
comprising hose wagons, chemical engines,

hook and ladder wagon, etc. There are

twenty-five alarm boxes, the system being
practically rebuilt, during 1908. The net

cost of operating the department that year
was $17,812.88, and the fire loss was $65,-

091, on which there was insurance of $61,-

084, making a net loss of $4,007; $49,500
of the gross loss was caused by the burn-
ing of the Imperial glass plant.

Reference has been made to the death of
Andrew Bickerstaff on March 9, 1885. On
July 11, 1888, Patrick McKay, one of the
bravest of the original members of the paid
department, met his death at a small fire

which occurred in Kleinmnn's notion store
on the north side of Market Street, two
doors west of Fourth Street. In order to

get at the blaze the firemen were compelled
to gain an entrance from the rear of the
building. In jumping over a fence McKay
alighted on an iron rod, which penetrated
his abdomen, causing death five days later.

Michael McGrawwas fatally injured at tho
Sharp foundry fire, which occurred Janu-
ary 23, 1897, and died January 26, 1899.

By a state law in 1888, the firemen's
pension fund was created, which provides
that one-half of the tax collected from for-

eign fire insurance companies doing busi-
ness in the county shall be placed to the
credit of such funds. There is now $5,000
in this fund and one pensioner. A fireman
receives $40 a month for permanent disa-
bility. Should he lose his life his widow
receives $20 a month, and each of his chil-

dren under sixteen years old $fi a month.
For partial disability a member of the de-
partment receives not less than $20 a
month from this fund, or more than $30 a
month. After serving twenty-five years a
fireman may retire on a pension of $30
a month or if he serves thirty years he may
be granted a pension of $30 a month, which
is exempt from taxation or from execution
or attachment.
A feu hire of discipline worthy of a pass-

ing notice in connection with the rapidity
of the fire department's movements is that
of the horses. It is a noticeable fact that
after beiug in service a short time they can
distinguish a fire alarm from any other
signal that may l>e sent in. For instance,

a signal is sent, in at 2 o'clock each day. but
they manifest no excitement when these
taps are sounded further than taking their

places at the apparatus. But let the gong
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round for a fire, and something go wrong
temporarily, which does not permit the
door to open, and they will make a terrihle

fuss till released. Should an alarm come
in while they are being exercised, it i$ al-

most impossible to hold them. They are,

in fact, in many ways nearly human and
need no urging while en route to a fire.

Some day they will be superseded by
autos, as is the case in London, and this

interesting feature eliminated.

BANKING ANI> FINANCE.

It is easily comprehended that a com-
munity as active as was Steubenville could
not remain long without banking facilities.

Accordingly, in 1809, Bczaleel Wells and
William R. Dickenson opened the Bank of
Steubenville, the former acting as presi-
dent and the latter as cashier. Alexander
McDowell was teller, and Benjamin Cun-
ning janitor. The bank continued until

1821. when it became involved to the extent
of $150,000, and closed up its business. A
few years after the unexpired charter was
taken up by Samuel Stokely. James Teaff,
A. Doyle, A. II. Dohnimn, James Dough-
erty and M. M. Laugh I in, with Stokely as
president and O. Ballard cashier, but three
years' experience convinced them that the
concern was not a paying institution, and
it was wound up.

Tn the meantime, in 1816, "The Farmers
and Mechanics' Bank" was organized, with
John C. Wright, president, and Thomas
Scott, cashier. It was started as a private
bank, but in 1817, by a special act of the
Legislature, was chartered for a term of
twenty years. When the charter expired ;i

new organization was effected, under the

title of "The Jefferson Branch of the State
Bank of Ohio." This continued until 1865.

when it became "The Jefferson National
Bank." Its charter expiring in 1885, it

was again reorganized, under the title of

"The Steubenville National Bank" until

1902, when its properly and franchise were
purchased by The National Exchange
Bank. The old brick building, with its

Grecian front, was long a landmark on up-
per Market Street, and its demolition was
not regarded without regret. It main-
tained specie payments on its circulation

through the panics of 1837 and 1857 unin-

terruptedly down to the passnge of the
legal tender act of 1862. Mr. Scott, the
first cashier, held office only a year, and
was succeeded by David Moody for thirty-

three years, William Spencer, twenty-three
years, and Charles Gallagher from April
1, 1874, until his death in October, 1901.

Thomas Johnson, Jr., and George P.
Harden acted temporarily until the bank
was sold. The presidents were John C.
Wright, Nathaniel Dike, Dr. John An-
drews, William Kilgore, 1852-76; James
Gallagher. 1876-84 ;.R. L. Brownlee, 1884-

1902.

An incorporated bank was organized in

1832, under the title of "Mechanics' Fund
Association," being managed principally

by the treasurer, John I/eetch, Thomas
Johnson being president. It operated suc-

cessfully for over twenty years, when it

was bought out by Robert Sherrard and
Thomas L. Jewett, who continued business
on the northeast corner of Fourth and Mar-
ket Streets, under the name of K. Sherrard
&' Co. In 1865 it was converted into the

First National Bank, but this was wound
up in 1868, and the assets sold to R. Sher-
rard. W. 11. Mooney and James Gregg,
operating under the name of the Commer-
cial Bank of Sherrard. Mooney & Co. The
new building on the northwest corner of

Fourth and Market Streets was completed
a few years after and occupied by the firm.

Mr. Mooney retiring and Mr. Sherrard dy-
ing in 1895 the Commercial National Bank
was organized with George A. Maxwell,
president, and James Gregg, cashier, with
a capital of $125,000. It has been verv suc-

cessful, the statement of June 23, 1909,

showing resources of $1,049,398.19. The
present board of directors consists of John
W. Forney, president; Andrew McDonald,
vice president ; A. S. Buckingham, cashier;

Emmett E. Erskine. William Leech, W. S.

Walker, William Stone. G. G. Gaston.
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J. J. (rill, Tliomas A. Hammond ami
others iu 1S7^ opened a private banking
lionse on North Fourth Street in the build-

ing adjoining Odd Fellows' Hall, under the

title of the Exchange Hank, which, in the
following year, was converted into a na-

tional hank and removed to the northeast
corner of Market and Fourth streets, where
it remained about fifteen years, when a
twenty year lease was secured in the Mc-
Conville block, on the southeast corner of

Fourth and Market, and a fine banking
room fitted up. It had come to the front

as one of the leading financial institutions

of the city, when in 1iM>2 it took a long step

forward in the absorption of the Steuben-
ville National Hank, whose resources were
added to its already imposing list of assets.

Increasing business demanded more com-
modious quarters, and it was determined
to erect a modern banking and business

house on the site of the old Steubenville

National Hank, which was completed in

1<M)4. at a cost of $175,000. It is one of the

finest banking houses in the country, and
easily takes the lead of any similar struc-

ture in eastern Ohio. Marble wainscot-

ting, hardwood finish, bronze and plate

glass screens, express elevator, all electric

appliances and other features go to make
an up to date building. The present capi

tal stock is $250,000, but it sells for more
than one hundred per cent premium, and is

difficult to get. The board of directors is

composed of W. II. McClinton, president:

David McCullough, vice president; 1>. M.
Welday, Thomas .Johnson, Winfield Scott.
« 'harles .1. McConnell, .1. E. MeGowan,
Fletcher C. l'haml>ers; Thos. A. Ham-
mond, cashier. Its resources on Fchrunrv
•'), 1909. were $2.1550,9:14.27.

The People's National Hank was organ-

ized in April, 1905. with a capital of $101).-

000, and although one of the youngest
financial institutions of the city has pro-

gressed in a manner as to indicate the con-

fidence of the people. It occupies com-
modious quarters at 'MM Market Street,

and its statement showed resources of

W14.709.19. The directors an-: \Y. F.

Davidson, president; E. E. Francy. vice

[•resident; A. M. Helms, John McClave,
R. G. Richards, H. Frank Murphv. James
T. Sarratt, S. .). Podlewski, 11. S.' Hristor,

F. M. Work, S. R. Stark; L. L. Grimes,
cashier.

Among the older financial institutions of
the city is the Union Deposit Hank, at 106
South Third Street, which has occupied its

present location since 1854. At that time
II. O. Garrett organized the Union Sav-
ings Institute, of which he was treasurer,

it occupying the rear end of his dry goods
store. It was organized into the Union
Deposit Hank in 1^7:?. with Mr. Garrett
as cashier, and occupying the whole apart-

ment. Mr. Garrett retired in 1SS7. and
was succeeded by his nephew. Dohrman .1.

Sinclair, who still remains at the head of

the institution, with John M. Cook presi-

dent. A new building replaced the old

structure in 1H92. giving it one of the

largest and best equipped apartments in

the city, and the energy ami high financial

standing of its proprietors have long made
it one of the most popular institutions of

the city, Mr. Sinclair especially being rec-

ognized as the leader in Steubenville in-

dustrial prosperity. Plans have Wen
drawn for a large hank and office building

on the corner of Fourth and Market
Streets, which is expected to materialize

in the near future.

The Miners' & Mechanics' Hank of Sav-

ings was organized in 1S72, with quarters*

on North Fourth Street, above present

Odd Fellows' Hlock, and afterwards re-

moved to Cookson Huilding. at present

Fiest's Confectionery. From thence it

was removed to its present quarters in

Gallagher Hlock, 100 South Fourth Street.

As its name indicates, it is a bunk of sav-

ings, every depositor becoming a stock-

holder and sharing in the profits of the con-

cern. Tts investments are real estate inort

gages and other approved securities.

Since its organization it has paid out

about three quarters of a million in divi-

dends, the present deposits aggregating
*1,500.000. The directors are: David Mr-
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Gowan, president ; A. M. Helms, W. 8.

Walker, Edward Nicholson, Ceo. S. Haw-
kins, J. A. Kithcart, .John Bentz, Thomas
Barclay, Alfred Day, Winfield Scott. John
Potter is secretary and treasurer, succeed-
ing John \V. Cookson and S. B. Campbell.

Closely allied to savings institutes are
building and loan associations as instru-

ments affording opportunity for small in-

vestments, and at the same time providing
facilities for loans to those wishing to re-

pay on easy terms, especially the great
army of renters, who, by paying hut little

above the average rental, are enabled, in

the course of a few years, to secure a
home. During the later sixties and early
seventies there were two building and loan

associations in the city, Steubenville and
Jefferson, which did a fairly successful

business, but the demand falling off, and
the operations under the then existing

statutes not being satisfactory, they were
wound up without loss to the stockholders.

The present Steul>enville Building & Loan
Association was originated by William
MeD. Miller, and incorporated on March
28, 1888. The capital stock of $200,000
was subscribed in April of that year, and
it became necessary to double the capital

stock to meet the requests of subscribers.

In two more years the capital was in-

creased to $800,000, and then shortly after-

wards to the present authorized capital of
$2,000,000. The shares of stock are $200
each, payable by weekly payments of 25
cents a share. Since its organization the

company has handled over $2,500,000 and
made more than two thousand loans to

home getters. The present board of direc-

tors is composed of S. A. Lauhheiin, pres-

ident; William MeD. Miller, secretary; Al-

bert O. Lee, treasurer; W. II. Helms, vice-

president; John Carlisle, James Brettell,

W. M. Beall, James P. Parks. K. J. Mor-
rison. The assets amount to $415,000.

The Jefferson Building & Savings Com-
pany was organized in 1897, and since that

time has worked its assets up from $53,-

455.31 to $393,332.43, a truly remarkable
record, comparing favorably with the best

organizations in the state. Its headquar-
ters are in the southwest comer of the
courthouse basement, and the directors are
John W. Forney, president; A. C. Black-
burn, vice president

;
Hugh S. Coble, secre-

tary; Dr. J. A. McCullough, Charles J. Mc-
Connell, John McClave, W. S. Walker.

Morelli Bros, conduct a private banking
room at 112 North Sixth Street, dealing
chiefly with foreign brokerage and steam-
ship traffic.

The capital and resources comprised in

the city's existing fiuaucial institutions

noted above aggregate fully $8,000,000.

When James Collier and family came
from California, about 1849, he and his

sons shortly after organized a private
banking company, under the name of Citi-

zens' Bank, occupying a building erected
for the purpose on the southeast corner of

Market Square. The concern failed in

1859, with serious loss to stockholders and
depositors. The building was afterwards
purchased by the county and used as of-

fices for the auditor and treasurer until the

completion of the new courthouse, in 1874.

It was then sold to the Jefferson Fire In-

surance Company, a local organization,
which carried on successful o|n>rations for

a number of years and then occupied a

room at 319 Market Street, afterwards the

Herald printing office. This company tore

down the old building and erected the pres-

ent structure (since enlarged). This com-
pany quit business in 1882 and the prop
erty was purchased by the Jefferson Fron
Works and used for its main office for sev-

eral years, when it was sold to Edward
Sprague and Joseph Carnahan and con-

verted into a job printing establishment,
now operated by the H. C. Cook Company.

Tn 1873 Capt. John F. Oliver opened a
private bank on North Fourth Street,

which he conducted about a year, when it

was discontinued and the room occupied
by the Miners' & Mechanics' Bank. Many
years ago there was a Steubenville Fire
Insurance Company, which finally went out
of business.

As an illustration of the rapid change in
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the first five years of the present century
the value of faetorv products increased

from $4,547,049, in 1900, to $12,309,677, in

1905, or 172 per cent, the greatest increase

during this period of any city having a
population of 8,000 or over in the state.

During the same period the capital invest-

ed in manufacturing industries increased

from $2,302,503 to $12,627,04*, or 448 per
cent, an unprecedented record.

ORAVEYARDS AND CEMKTERIKS.

While the forefathers as a rule pos-

sessed rugged constitutions, yet they were
subject to the ordinary ailments of man-
kind, and the private burying grounds of
the first settlers were soon displaced by
graveyards and cemeteries. There was an
old Tndian burying ground on the present
site of the l>a Belle iron works, from
which bones were dug up while making ex-

cavations for the mills. When the city was
laid out Bezaleol Wells donated two lots

at the corner of South and Fourth Streets

for a public, burying ground, but this soon
becoming crowded several of the religious

organizations secured tracts adjoining
each other on South Fourth and Fifth

Streets, extending from the junction of

these two streets nearly to the present site

of the Carnegie Library. This became
known as the "old graveyard." The
tracts were controlled by the different re-

ligious societies of the town, although ev-

erybody could be buried there without re-

gard to religious proclivities. The M. 1*.

Church had a graveyard at the upper end
of the town, where the traction carbarn
now stands, and the First and United Pres-

byterian and St. Peter's tt. 0. had grave-

yards around their respective churches.

By 1853 the necessity of making further

provision for interments was so apparent

that in November of that year there was
held a meeting of the official members of

the different religious bodies, at which ii

committee was appointed to select a tract

of ground outside the city limits for ceme-

tery purposes. This committee was com-

posed of Dr. C. 0. Beatty and Col. Geo.
W. McCook, of the First Presbyterian
Church; Kezin Pennar and Frederick
Fi ve, First M. E.; Dr. John Andrews and
Alexander Beatty, St. Paul's; William Mc-
Donald and David McGowan, United Pres-
byterian; Joshua Manly and Kiusey
Swords, Methodist Protestant; Ambrose
Shaw and John McCracken, Mainline. A
tract of fifty acres was selected on the Hus-
croft farm, on Market Street extension,

and on February 25th a Union Cemetery
Association was fonned with a capital

stock of $K),000. divided into 1,000 shares
of $10 each. While the movement naturally

emanated from the different church bodies,

yet the organization was and is entirely

secular, not under the control of any
religious organization or organizations

singly or collectively. The churches, how-
ever, wei-e encouraged to become stock-

holders, as several of them did, and the

original subscribers or their assigns had
the first choice of lots up to the value of

their stock, which thereafter ceased to be
of any intrinsic value, as the entire income
of the cemetery is devoted to the care of

the grounds, with such enlargements and
improvements as have been necessary. A
general picnic was held on the grounds on
July 4. 1S54, and religious sen-ices were
conducted bv Rev. George Buchanan, of

the V. P. Church. The first board of trus-

tees was elected on July 15, 1S54, com-
posed of James Collier, president; David
McGowan, Kinsey Swords, C. C. Beatty,

Joshua Manly, Geo. W. McCook. Sr., Dr.

John Andrews ; D. L. Collier, clerk. A por-

tion of the ground was platted by John D.

Slack, an expert landscape gardener, and
the foundation laid for probably the most
bemitiful rural cemeterv in the country.

The St. Paul's. M. P.. U. P., Kramer and
Presbyterian organizations each pur-

chased an acre of ground for special use of

their own members. The Presbyterians

afterwards turned their tract over to the

cemetery association, retaining a percent-

age on hits sold; the others, however, still

keep their tracts. The other graveyards
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in the city were now abandoned, the one at

South and Fourth Streets being converted
into a school site and the "Old Grave-
yard" divided into building lots. Some
six hundred transfers were made to the

Union Cemetery, but years after, during
excavations for sand and building pur-
poses, fragments of bones were exposed to

view. A few years later the original area
of the cemetery was more than doubled by
securing a long ravine leading to Fourth
Street extension, now Lincoln Avenue.
Through this have been constructed beau-
tiful walks and driveways, in fact, making
a park which has always been free to the
public, without any expense to the city.

Other additions to the cemetery have
brought up the total area to about 250
acres, and thousands of dollars have been
spent in the construction of roadways and
bridges, as well as as providing for se-

pulchral needs for many years to come.
All this has been done out of the proceeds
of the sale of lots and income from other
sources, including a donation of $10,000
from the late C. C. Beatty and gifts from
J. IT. Hawkins and David McGowan. The
two main entrances are a mile and a quar-
ter apart, with a neat lodge house at each.

On a mound near the Market Street en-

trance is the Jefferson County soldiers'

and sailors' monument, completed in 1870,

at a cost of $8,000. It is a beautiful Corin-
thian column of white marble, surmounted
by a flying eagle, while at the base stand
life-size statues of a soldier ami sailor.

Emblems of war and names of the fields

upon which Jefferson County soldiers bled

and died are found on the sides. It is a
most artistic piece of work, and through-
out the cemetery are other fine examples
of the sculptor's art, as well as mauso-
leums, etc. Recent oil developments in the

neighborhood have somewhat detracted
from the scenic surroundings, but this will

only be a temporary drawback, while the

amount realized by the cemeteiy corpora-
tion will make a material addition to the

endowment fund. The interments here to

date aggregate 10.212, in addition to over

(MX) removals from the old cemeteries. The
present directors arc: Geo. W. McCook,
president; Geo. P. MeCracken, secretary;
David McGowan, D. J. Sinclair, Sherman
Walker, U. II. McFadden, John A. Kith-
cart, Thomas Johnson, J. B. Doyle; super-
intendent, E. T. Jeuney.
As stated, a graveyard originally sur-

rounded St. Peter's Church (then called

St. Pius), but about the same time as

the organization of the Union Cemetery a
tract was purchased on Market Street ex-

tension, north side, which was used until

1880, when a tract was purchased west of

Union Cemetery, which is now in use.

This association has also benefited finan-

cially by the recent oil developments in

that neighborhood.

SCHOOLS AND SCHOOLHOU8ES.

We have seen that Steubenville's pio-

neers were above the average in culture and
refinement, and settlers of this character
were not likely to go longer than was neces-

sary without educational facilities for their

children. It is probable, however, that for

the first few years after the laying out of
the town the number of children of school

age was very small, and while there were
no doubt some previous offorts towards
education, it is not until 1805-06 that we
find an account of a regular school within

the town limits. Mrs. Polly Johnson,
whose father, Augustine Bickerstaff, came
to Stenbenville from Fayette County,
Pennsylvania, in 1798, tells of attending
school in a log hut in 1801, but it was a

mile from their house, and they went only

in the winter season, as they had to work
hard the rest of the year. The school

above referred to in the town was conduct-

ed by Mr. Black. It was located in a frame
residence on Market Street, between Fifth

Street and Bank alley, and he seems to

have been a man of ability and respect.

The first structure erected for exclusive

school purposes was built by Bczaloel

Wells, on the site of the present electric

plant on High Street, and, painting it red.
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it was ever after known as the Little Red
Schoolhou.se. The first teacher was .lames
Thompson, who was succeeded hv Thomas
Fulton, and Fulton by Jacob Hull. Both
Fulton and Hull had a fondness for intoxi-

cants that today could not be reconciled
with the high positions held by them.
Their indulgence frequently led to nap-
ping, when they would awaken to find their

slippers removed or hats decorated with
quill-pen feathers thrust through the
hands. It is handed down that on occa-

sions they would go to sleep with their
heads resting on the desk, and on awaken-
ing find a pile of books covering the seat

of learning, but for the moment befuddled
with liquor. The hooks used prior to 1812
were, as a rule, such as the schoolmaster
could furnish himself, but after this

jieriod the English Reader, the United
States Speller and the Introduction were
introduced, and other schools followed the

Little Red Schoolhouse. Miss Sheldon
opened a school on High Street, the Misses
Graham and Burgess on Fourth Street,

and as early as 181(5 an Irish schoolmaster
named Baker opened a school at the head
of Washington Street, which was well pat-

ionized, but his employment of the hickory
gad as a factor of education was so de-

cided that he was frequently a subject for

discipline himself, lie continued to teach

for ten years, when his spirit took its flight

and the IkmIv was followed to the tomb hv

a large concourse of people, in the fall of

1S2.Y Mr. Fowler conducted a school on
Fourth Street in 1817 and after. Boys and
girls attended these schools together, the

tuition being +2. 5(1 per term of six months
and upwards. A step forward was taken
in 1818, when Bezaleel Wells started a fund
for the erection of an academy on South
High Street, adjoiuing the present electric

plant. Tt whs put in charge of Prof. J. 1'.

Miller, a secede r minister, the building

having been erected by John I)e Huff. It

was well patronized for a munl>er of years
and was the home of St. Paul's congrega-

tion previous to the erection of its first

house of worship. Rev. Intrepid Morse

purchased the property and converted it

into a dwelling. With considerable altera-

tion it still stands. Rev. Dr. George Bu-
chanan, a native of the Cumberland valley,

established the first classic school in the
West, on Market Street, in Steubenville.

in 1814, where the Hammond residence now
stands. Here all the higher branches were
taught for many years and the pupils be-

came eminent in many of the states, giv-

ing testimony of the high character of the

school, among the pupils being Edwin M.
Stanton. Samuel Ackerly conducted a pri-

vate school not far from the Buchanan
academy in 1820, and afterward Dr. John
Scott erected an academy on North
Seventh Street and conducted a successful

school up to about the year 18o(», where
many of the youth of the city received

their education. Private schools by Delle

Hunt, in 1828, and John Dudley, on Third
Street. Henry Orr, Miss Rush, Miss Os-
borne, Miss Butler, Powell's School, on
South Fifth Street, and others continued
to flourish for many years. While the male
portion of the youth were thus being cared
for. not only in the primary but in the

higher branches, there was as yet no provi-

sion for the education of the girls beyond
the primary departments.
On Uctol'ter 21. 1825, Rev. Charles C.

Beatty, of near Princeton, N. J., then in

his twenty-sixth year, who had already at-

tained a reputation for ability and scholar-

ship, was installed as pastor of the First

Presbyterian Church. His services in that

connection are noticed elsewhere, hut it

was not long before he began to take an
active part in public affairs generally. On
November 1827, he married Miss Hetty
Flixahcth Davis, of Lexington, and after-

wards of Maysville, Ky. She was l>orn

within the present limits of Pittsburgh, on
October HI, 1802, her father's farm becom-
ing what is now the Allegheny Cemetery.
She was a studious girl, and was thor-

oughly educated not only in the ordinary
English branches but in music, French and
painting, as well as Latin—-something quite

exceptional for the daughters of the pio-
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neers. The newly married couple lived in

the frame building on the west Bide of
High Street, for many years after the
home of Col. Alexander Doyle, and still

standing, although remodeled. Here, on
April 13, 1829, was opened the first semi-
nary for young Indies in what had been
known as the Northwest Territory. With-
out detracting an iota from Dr. Beatty 's

part in this enterprise, we think that the
main credit for its inception as well as for
mnch of its subsequent success was due to

Mrs. Beatty. From nn interesting biogra-

phy by Rev. A. M. Reid we learn that she
had previously wished to teach, but her
relatives and friends would not agree to

it. After marriage the desire continued,
and to gratify her taste and wishes Dr.
Beatty agreed to let her begin a school.

When they decided to have a seminary
Dr. and Mrs. Beatty visited the leading
schools in the East to learn the best meth-
ods and types of a school for young ladies.

Being Presbyterians, the religious atmos-
phere of the school was under the auspices
of that denomination, but it was always a
private institution, not under the control of

any outside organization. Exactly how
long the school remained in its first home
is uncertain. Dr. Beatty had purchased
from Alexander McDowell, on December
19, 1828, Lot No. 8, in the Original Plat of

the City, on High Street, below Adams, for

$200, where afterwards was erected the

central building of his seminary, with main
entrance hall and parlors.

No additional ground was acquired until

November 2:5, 1833, when Lot No. 9, on the

north, was purchased from Eliza Payne
and others for $155. On July 21, 1835,

he bought from .lames Boss Lot No. 1, on
South Street, for $200, ami on October 5.

Lot No. 10, on Adams Street, with the

house thereon, the present residence of Dr.

A. M. Keid, for $2,250. Lot No. (5 was pur
chased from Robert Hanlon on July 24,

1837, and adjoining Lot 7 probably about

the same time: Lot 4 from .Limes Means,
October 1, 1838, for $(!<«>, and 5 on Decem-
l>er 10. 1840, from .lane and Francis Hyde,

for $500. May 14, 1841. Lots 2 and 3, with
the brick house thereon, were bought from
William Briekell for $4,000, the property
now including the entire square bounded
by Adams, High, South and Water
Streets, the aggregate cost being $8,555.

As the school grew in size and additional

ground was procured the buildings were
extended, the library, school hall and con-

necting music corridor being the last con-

structed. The grounds were enclosed by
a high brick wall and planted with trees

and shrubbery, forming a beautiful grove,

with later a central fountain, while from
the windows and veranda were the loveli-

est views imaginable up and down the Ohio
River. The first graduates went out in

1833, the advance guard of nearly 5,000

who spread the name and fame of the Steu-

benville Seminary to even' quarter of the

globe. In 1856 Rev. A. M. Reid and his

wife, Mrs. S. L. Reid, were associated with

Dr. and Mrs. Beatty as assistants, Dr. Reid
becoming principal and Dr. Beatty super-

intendent. The latter afterwards pur-

chased the Frazer property on the oppo-
site side of High Street, the present resi-

dence of Col. J. W. Beazell's family,

where he made his home for a number of

years. On May 15, 18fi6\ the entire semi-

narv property was conveyed to Mr. Reid
for '$25,000.

Dr. and Mrs. Reid brought to the now
venerable institution to the highest degree

of culture and refinement, which not only

enhanced its character as an educational

institution, but made it a center for social

gatherings, which brought it in touch with

the best life of the community. The
monthly reeeptious were a feature to be

anticipated with pleasure as well as profit.

In 1873 Dr. and Mrs. Keid held a reunion
of the seminary pupils in honor of Dr. and
Mrs. Beatty. which was probably the

largest and most complete affair of the

kind on this or any other continent. Seven
hundred alumnae were present in the Sec-

ond Presbyterian Church, to whom ad-

dresses of welcome were delivered by Dr.

Beatty and Dr. Reid, when a procession
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was formed and inarched to Garrett's
Hall, where a grand banquet was held, with
speeches from home friends and visitors,

and congratulatory letters from Bryant,
Longfellow, Whitelaw Reid, Dr. Jacobus
and others, for the seminary had been the
natural home of every literary celebrity

visiting the city. This was followed by a
general reception at the seminary during
the afternoon and evening. Mrs. Beatty
died on July 5, 1876, and Dr. Beatty was
married for the third time on December
31, 1878, to Mrs. Mary A. Crittenden, a for-

mer pupil, who survived him, he dving on
Monday, October 30, 1882, full of years
and honors. His first wife was Miss Lydia
Moore, of Bucks County, Pennsylvania, to

whom he was married on June 30, 1824,
who died May 28, 1825, three days after the
birth of a daughter, who also died, six

weeks later. It is estimated that between
1851 and his death, in 1882, Dr. Beatty 's

public benefactions amounted to about half
a million dollars. His principal benefi-

ciaries were the Allegheny Theological
Seminary, $225,000, and Washington and
Jefferson College, $100,000. He also built

the Third Presbyterian Church in Steuben-
ville and contributed liberally to the inter-

ests of his denomination here and else-

where. His sagacity and ability as a finan-

cier were as generally acknowledged as his

merits as an educator and preacher. Dr.
and Mrs. Reid conducted the seminary un-
til 1886, when, feeling the need of rest with
their advancing years, tbey turned the
active management of the institution over
to Rev. J. W. Wightman, who carried it on
for a couple of years, when they again ten)

porarily took charge of it. Subsequently
Rev. Dr. Davis took charge of the institu-

tion and was succeeded by Miss Xorthrup
and Miss Sheldon, and they by Miss Mary
J. Stewart, who conducted the institution

until 1898. By this time conditions bad
changed, and heavily endowed schools in

other localities were gradually taking the

place of private institutions. So it was
deemed wise to close the school after an
honored career of three quarters of a ecu

tury, and the buildings were diverted to

other uses. Mrs. Reid died on December
29, 1895, but her husband still occupies

"The Poplars," the name given to the

Adams Street residence.

Efficient as was the work done in the dif-

ferent private schools, it became apparent
in the course of time that if the ideal of
every child having at least an elementary
education were to he carried out the work
must be undertaken systematically by the
community as a whole. Accordingly, in

1838, the first board of education, consist-

ing of Dr. John Andrews, chairman ; Rev.
C. C. Beatty and James Means, was ap-
pointed by Adam J. Leslie, township su-

perintendent of common schools, under an
act of the legislature recently passed. The
first meeting of the board was held on
October 1, 1838, in Dr. Andrews* office, at

which a resolution was adopted calling a
meeting of the qualified voters of the dis-

trict at the courthouse on November 3, to

decide on raising "a tax to build a school-

house or schoolhouses in said district."

Dr. Beatty was appointed a committee to

prepare plans with estimates of cost.

Judge Leavitt presided at the meeting aud
Dr. Andrews presented a preamble and
resolution for the purchase of two suitable

lots of ground, one north and the other
south of Market Street, and for the erec-

tion of two good houses thereon, and that

a tax of $6,000 be levied, to be collected in

three equal sums on or before April, 1839,

1840 and 1841. The proposition carried,

and, in accordance with Dr. Beatty 's plans,

two brick schoolhouses were built, at a cost

of $2,000 each, exclusive of ground and
furniture. One was located on the east

side of South Fourth Street, just above
Slack, and the other on North Fourth, just

above Logan. Kach was a square two-

story brick, with no ornamentation to

speak of, containing four rooms, and de-

signed to accommodate 250 pupils. They
were soon taxed to their full capacity, and
a side addition was afterwards attached
to the North School for the smaller schol-

ars. William Thompson was the con
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tractor, and ou November 11, 1839, the

schools were opeuod with ceremonies in the

South building and an address by Hon. H.

II. Leavitt. Following were the first teach-

ers: North—John Taylor, Edward Wood.
Miss Elizabeth Judkins, Miss Jane Dick.

South—T. A. Plants, William C. Wilson.
Miss E. McDonald, Miss Martha Judkins.

The salaries ranged from $1.) to $35 per
month. (.In motion of Dr. Beatty, the Bible

was introduced as a reading book, and the

Eclectic series of rentiers aud spellers and
Kirkham's English (iianmiar were adopt-

ed. Market Street was made Hie dividing

line between the schools. In 184D a system
of rnles was ado|)tcd. and at a school meet-

ing in September of that year Dr. John
Andrews, on behalf of the board, made a

very important report, saying, among oth-

er things:

*
' \\Y presume it i-i lint too mnrli to -*'iy that Kliatovcr

may be the present puMic opinion on tli<' snhjpet, until

rivetitlv free schoiils have proved, atnoh^ uh. to be

almost useless so far as any permanent useful result is

eoiicrrneil. In investigating tin- ranse > f this important

fact, the circumstance which, aiming ninny others of

minor importance, presents itself to our minds as the

must operative, is t In- f ai I tlmt every free school had
i-nrr'n'l with it the belief «r apprehension t tint it nut
regarded as a 'poor school.' :i circumstance which, in a

free country lit"' <>uri>. where nil stand upon a jusi tonal-

ity, ami where wealth gives In its possessors mi prece-

dence in public estimation, strikes at the nmt of any
institution .Icsioned for the morn] :iinl intellectual im-

provement of tin' community. Our lirst object, therefore,

and, as we di-.-tii. il it, our first <luty, was to r. move this

unfounded iiml injurious view of tin' intention «.f free

schools. Wo resolved, if tin' public would sustain lis m
the attempt to make the free schools of Steuben* illc

equal to any other schools of similar design in flir place;

to place thrill on such a footing of character, respecta-

bility ami usefulness that any on- - desirous of giving his

children a i oiiiiiion Kngbsh education would In' anxious
to have t lit tn educated in these school*. At this time

tho district owned but on.- lot on which there was a

very inconsiderable house. (This lot was afterwards sold

for fifty dollars. | To us it scorned essential to tin' w-
cess of our plan to provide grounds and houses suited

by their situation, size, comfort mid general attractive

appearance, for tho aiioinmoilal ion of llio wlionli: ami
«v thi-rrfori' ri"i>lvt i| to submit I in- iiui stion ti> thr i|iiali-

fi«-<l vnti rs of tin 1 ilistrirt. whrtlipr th.'y slionlil vote a

.nidirit-iit tax to cnnblr uh to inrry out our phiit*. Tho
roKpniKi- wai norlhy of an i-nli(;hti rii-il iiml m>ii< roii« peo-

ple. " * * Total nvcrnp' daily attt-i»lanri- in tlir

whools, 45ft. Tin- lirniifhcfi taiiuht in tho various h.IiooIh

embrai<- tin- lfttprn. Hpplling, rrailinjf. writing, urainninr,

nrithmrtir atul ^••o>;niphv. The Hiblo is u«iil an n riiul-

injt book. n» »'ll from a inuvieliim .if it* vain.1 ti* pt-r

haps the pun»t »poi imon of the Anglo Saxon tongue, as

also with a view to impress the minis of our youth with
the only moral an*] religious prim-iples which can make
them useful eiti/eiis of an pnlightenol r«*publie. No one
ran enter the room» without being sensible of the order
ami quipt that are preserved, ami that our free schools

are no longer regnnled as scenes of confusion, idleness

ami insubordination. It is not to be supposed that the
schools are the best Unit the district can have, but that
•hey are as good as ran be expected under the circum-
stances in which the district is placed, and that they
may be regarded as the commencement of a new era in

our free school*.

"John- A voitEws,
"Jamks Mhans."

This paper may be j)ronounced the Mag-
na C'hiirta of our local school system and
the basis from which all subsetpient de-
velopment has proceeded.
For several years the schools were

opened in April and continued six months.
In the winter the rooms were rented for

private schools at $1.50 to $2.2") per month.
In 1X43 Messrs. Taylor and Wilson were
employed to teach evening schools. An-
nual elections for directors were held in

September until 1H.")0, and then changed
to April, which remained until the abolish-

ment of the spring elections, in 1!>()4, since

which time they have been held in Novem-
ber. Book agents were early prohibited

from visiting the schools, and a resolution

was passed that no series of textbooks

should be discontinued until it had been
used at least five years. The first county
institute was held in October, 1851.

Jn ISoIi Thomas F. MctJrew was ap-

pointed -'acting manager" of the schools,

being in fact the first general superintend
cut. and three grades were established-
primary, secondary and grammar. On Au-
gust 4 of that year a public meeting was
held in the North schoolhousc, with Rev.
W. Dunlap chairman and L. A. Walker
secretary. Hon. Thomas Means made an
address on the origin, progress and pres-

ent condition of Ohio common schools, for

which he received a vote of thanks, and
resolutions were passed recommending the

erection of a new schoolhouse. and the or-

ganization of a Central High School. It

was ordered by the board that "persons
employed as teachers are requested to at-

tend the Teachers' Institute at least two
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hours each week during the session of the
schools." A separate school for colored
children was organized this year, which
found quarters in the basement of the Af-
rican M. E. Church, at the comer of Third
and South Streets. In July, 1854, Mr. Me-
Orew was succeeded by "Warren J. Sage
as superintendent, with a salary of $700
per annum. He provided a system of
grades, which, with modifications demand-
ed by time and growth, has been in use
ever since. He organized the high school
in a room in the new Kilgore Hall Build-

ing, on Market Street, from which it was
shortly removed to the brick dwelling lately

owned by Rev. Joseph Buchanan, on Lo-
gan Street, east of Fourth, and took per-
sonal charge in November of that year.

The next year Mr. Sage, at his ropiest,

was relieved of all care of the lower
grades, and devoted himself to the high
school. Jacob S. Desellem was elected as-

sistant superintendent and afterwards su-

perintendent. It was ordered that "to fa-

cilitate the more thorough classification of
pupils, boys and girls shall be assigned to

the same rooms." This principle of co-

education has since been carried out in ev-

ery department. Mr. McLain was permit-

ted to teach vocal music in the schools, the
pupils paying for the same. At this time
there were more applicants for admission
to the schools than could be accommodated,
and the number in grades below the high
school was limited to 770. an average of
").") to each teacher. In 1S.">7 a visiting com-
mittee of ladies and gentlemen was ap-
pointed each month, but we have no record

of their proceedings. By 183H it was ap-
parent that lietter school accommodations
were needed. The North and South build-

ings erected twenty years previous were
filled to overflowing, and rooms were rent-

ed in different sections of the city. Two
storerooms were occupied under Kilgore.

afterwards Garrett's Hall, two in base-

ment of the old Second Presbyterian
Church on North Fourth Street, two in the

Snowden Building on Third Street, north
id" Washington, and one in bnseinent of old

Hamline Church, in addition to the high
and colored schools. Besides quite a num-
ber of parents were sending their children

to private institutions on account of the in-

adequate accommodations in the public

schools. To meet this demand, at a meet-
ing of citizens held on April 3, 1858, a
proposition was submitted to build a new
schoolhouse at a cost of $20,000, but the

proposition was defeated. Fortunately
at this time the Grove Academy Building,

with spacious grounds on North Seventh
Street, was in the market, and in .lime of

that year the board, composed of James
Turnbull, Dr. Thomas Johnson and Will-

iam Cable purchased the property for

$0,000. a remarkably low price even for

those cheap times. A booklet published in

190(i descriptive of the new high school

starts out with the glaring misstatement
that "before 1870 the Steubenville High
School had no home. A rented room was
used until the erection of the house now
called the Grant Building." The fact is

that on the purchase of the ({rove Acad-
emy the entire upper floor of the south
wing was fitted up for a high school or
"No. Ui." and there it flourished for

twelve years. While the spacious grounds
with their Mowers, shrubbery ami trees

gave facilities for outdoor exercise now
sadly missed, yet the building had the

drawback of being remote from the center

of population. ( Iriginally the only method
of access to the upper stories was a narrow
winding stairway in the center of the

building, which, in case of fire, would have
made a veritable holocaust. To obviate

this danger wooden platforms were ex-

tended from the third story rooms to the

bill immediately behind, affording a safe

and speedy, if not artistic, method of es-

cape. In March, 18">X. Mr. Desellem was
superseded by FJi T. Tappan as superin-

tendent, who remained in office until June,
1S,">9. when he was succeeded by Rev. Jo-

seph Buchanan, now dead. The first

graduate of the high school was Miss Oella

Patterson, in 1K00. There were five the

next year and six in IKbo, when the pres-
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ent motto, "Essee Quani Videri," was
adopted. Besides the high school this

building contained one grammar and six

primary rooms. By 1868 the accommo-
dations were again outgrown, and the
Wells heirs having given a quitclaim to the
city for the graveyard lot on the corner of
South Fourth Street, what is known as the

Grant School, was built thereon, which was
dedicated on April 1, 1870, the Board of
Education then being composed of Robert
Sherrard, J r„ Wm. B. Lindsay and D. Mc-
Curdy. Jacob Fickes did the brick work
and C. Massey the carpenter, the cost be-

ing $59,822. The high school, with excep-
tionally spacious class rooms, occupied the

entire upper story, furnishing an apart-
ment which, it was thought would be avail-

able for commencement exercises as well

as ordinary school work. But it was too

large for the latter and the acoustic prop-
erties were not favorable to the former, so
later it was divided and one end occupied
by the South Grammar School, thus
increasing the accommodations of the

building from 670 to 800, with the reserve
basement to be used later. The old South
school building was sold at this time and
converted into dwellings. As may be sup-

posed, the citizens on the north side of

Market Street were not disposed to rest

satisfied with their antiquated buildings.

The academy building was asserted to be
dangerous, and there was enough doubt
about the matter to warrant the board in

tearing down about half of the house and
erecting a temporary structure of four
rooms on the premises. In 1871 the peo-

ple, by a vote, authorized the Board of
Education, then composed of E. F. An-
drews, W. H. Wallace and I). McCurdy, to

erect a house on the old North school prem-
ises at a cost not exceeding $50,000. Ad-
ditional ground was acquired and the pres-

ent Stanton building, accommodating
about 700 pupils, was finished in the spring
of 1873, after which the academy property
was sold for building purposes, and no
vestige of the old building now remains.

The colored school remained at the corner

of Third and South Streets until shortly
before the razing of the North school build-
ing, but the demolition of that structure
soon compelled it to seek other quarters.
About the year 1865 Miss Eliza Mc-

Cracken opened a private school for girls

in the second story of the old Reliance
engine house, which had such marked
prosperity that shortly after a two-story
building capable of accommodating 160
pupils was erected on North Third Street,

west side, just below dock. Here it flour-

ished for several years, when the principal
being offered a lucrative position else-

where, it was discontinued. The Board of
Education purchased the structure and
there installed the colored school, still un-
der charge of Mr. Bruce. The colored
youth being small in numbers, a few years' '

experience demonstrated the impractica-
bility of giving them the same educational
facilities as the whites without a duplicate
corps of teachers, some of whom would
only have half a dozen pupils. There was
one way to cut the Gordian knot, and the
board, on motion of Charles H. Spaulding,
was sufficiently enlightened to do it. The
colored school was abolished, the building

sold aud the children incorporated into the

general schools, distributed solely with
reference to their grade and residence.

This was in 1883, and since then there has
been no color line in the Steubenville

schools. The results have been entirely

satisfactory and some of the brightest

graduates of the high school have been
colored boys and girls. On the whole, the

action has tended to eliminate race preju-

dice without any of the dire results pre-

dicted by the opponents of this method. It

has certainly elevated the colored popula-
tion of the city, and although our courts

have been compelled to take cognizance of

brutal crimes committed by negroes (as

they have sometimes of whites), yet the

offenders have almost invariably been
strangers "blown in" from other commu-
nities where the opposite system prevails.

It is not claimed that this system would
work equally well everywhere. Doubtless
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it would not where the negro race consti-

tuted a large proportion of the popula-
tion or was lower in scale of intelligence to
start with. Only the facts are given as
they exist in Steubenville.

satisfactory, and some of the brightest
After Miss McCracken, Miss Jane Brown

conducted a school in the Keliaucc engine
house for several years.

Mr. Buchanan resigned the superinten-
dence' in 1870 and was succeeded by Mar-
tin li. Andrews, an educator of ability,

who resigned in 1879, to accept a position
in Marietta College, and wns succeeded by
Prof. Henry N. Mertz, of Wheeling.
The enlargement of the city in Novem-

ber, 1871, brought in several outside
school houses, including three one-room
structures, one at the south end known as
"rolling mill." afterwards Sixth Ward;
one on Wells' run, near Wilson's corner,
and one on the western boundary of the
city known as "Jacksonville." The last

named was discontinued in 1884, and the
pupils assigned to other rooms. The other
buildings were soon enlarged, the "rolling
mill" or Jefferson being converted into

four rooms, holding 180 scholars, and the

Wells run receiving another story, then
having a eapaeitv for 120 scholars. The
Fifth Ward or (Jarfield School was erect-

ed in 1883, at a cost of $19,000. It is a
modern two-story structure at Fifth and
Madison Streets, and has eight rooms,
with a capacity of four hundred pupils.

The following year the Second Ward or
Washington School was completed, with
eight rooms, at a cost of $22,000, corner of
Seventh and Adams Streets, hi 1902 an
annex was added, giving an additional
room. The Wells Kun schooihou.se was re

placed by the Lincoln building of four
rooms, in 1891, to which four more were
added in 190.'), the structure costing about
*2").0OO. The location of the Jefferson
building becoming unsatisfactory in 1901.

a new brick structure of four rooms was
built on Prospect Avenue. The opening
of the new addition on La Belle View ne-

cessitated the building of a single room

structure at the corner of Maryland and
Pittsburgh Streets, in 1904, to which an-
other room has since been added. A
schoolliouse has also been built on Pleas-
ant Heights.

Superintendent Mertz retired from office

in 1901 to his farm near Bellaire and was
succeeded by Arthur Powell, who remained
two years, followed by Edward V

r

an
Cleve. The city was now growing rapidly,

and there was a demand for a new build-

iug to accommodate the high and grammar
schools and relieve the pressure on the pri-

mary departments. A proposition to issue

bonds for this purpose was defeated by a
vote of the people, but the board after-

wards proceeded to the erection of a build-

ing. In 190IJ a lot was purchased on the
southwest corner of Fourth and North
Streets for $tr,.0O0, in July. 190."), ground
was broken, and fourteen mouths later a
new three-story building 10.1 x 181 feet,

probably the best equipped of the kind in

the state, was completed, at a cost of $100.-

000. Webster & Peterson were the archi-

tects and Frank McFeely contractor. It

was occupied September 4, 190(5, and for-

mally opeued with appropriate exercises

on November 10'. Bedford stone facing
ami concrete foundations enclose the base
ment story and the exterior is of light red
pressed brick with cut stone and terra

cot la trimmings. The basement is fully

utilized by separate lunch rooms for girls

and boys, proper toilet rooms, steam-
heated pipe in halls for drying wet feet

and clothing, two rooms for work in do-

mestic economy, cooking and sewing room,
manual training and tool rooms, store

rooms for janitor, completely equipped'
gymnasium 40 x fiO feet, with dressing
rooms for lw>ys and girls, apparatus for

heating and ventilating, gas engine room
and electric lighting plant, and sleeping

room for engineer. The first floor contains
offices for superintendent and the Hoard of

Education, large grammar study room,
which can be divided into two compart-
ments by rolling partitions, and full series

of class rooms 28 x 28 feet each. On this
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Hoor and extending to the roof is the audi-

torium, seating 700 people, equipped with

stage scenery, which is used for commence-
ments, public gatherings, etc. Above
this is the high school proper, with its ac-

companying class rooms, complete labora-

tories tor biological and other work, book-
keeping and typewriter rooms, lecture

room, rest room, etc. In the attic are sev-

eral apartments which can be used when-
ever needed. The building was most ap-

propriately uamed after Bezaleel Wells,

who practically inaugurated the first pub-
lic school in the state at the "Little Red
Schoolhouse" on South High Street.

The present high school curriculum is a
four-year course, as follows: First year,

composition, rhetoric, authors, Latin, al-

gebra, physical geography, bookkeeping,

ancient history ;
second, composition, rhet-

oric, literature, Latin, plane geometry,
mediaeval and modern history, geography,
botany, arithmetic; third, composition, lit

erature, Latiu*. German*, advanced al-

gebra*, botany*, physics, geology*, stenog-

raphy and typewriting", solid geometry*,
English*, zoology* ; fourth, composition*,

literature*, Latin*. German*, advanced
arithmetic*, American and foreign civics,

chemistry*, pedagogy*, physiology, review

of bookkeeping*, commercial law*. Those
marked with * are elective studies, and to

this class may be added music, drawing
and French. It will be noticed that the

course for the last two years is quite flex-

ible, the design being to adapt it for all,

whether the pupil expects to use it as a

training for business or home life, a prepa-

ration for college or teachers' normal
school. To this extent it is a sort of lim-

ited university.

Mr. Van Clevc resigned the superinten-

dency in 1907 and was succeeded by the

present incumbent, Robert L. Krvin, E. De
Witt Erskine nominally serving during a

troublesome interregnum of a few weeks.

The first enumeration of youth of school

age was in 1840, the report showing 1,336

between four and twenty-one years of age.

In 1860 there were 2,486 between five and

twenty-one, and 3,2.17 in 1870. In 1875
there were 4,732 between six and twenty-
one, part of this increase being due to the
annexation of territory. The pupils en-
rolled were 653 in 1840, 700 in 1850, 1,394
in 1860. 1,205 in 1870 and 2,181 in 1875.

The average dailv attendance was 459 in

1840, 400 in 1850, 736 in 1860, 760 in 1870
and 1,606 in 1875. Teachers—Eight in

1840. 19 in 1860, 24 in 1870 and 34 in 1875.
From 1875 to 1900 the increase was very
gradual, but from that year it has been
very marked, and the new buildings have
hardly kept pace with the increasing de-

mands. The 1909 enumeration shows
6,072 youth in the city between the ages
of six and twenty-one years, of which 3.134
are males and 2,938 females. In this con-

nection it may be noted that there are in

the county 16,802 persons of school age,

of whom 8,677 are males and 8.125 females.

They are divided as follows:
Townships—Brush Creek. 125; Cross

Creek, 399; Island Creek, 199; Knox. 267;
Mt. Pleasant. 410; Ross, 196; Steubenville.

63; Saline, 483; Springfield, 278; Salem.
293; Smithfield, 701; Wayne, 439; War-
ren, 455; Wells. 570.

School Districts—Adenn, 291 ; Amster-
dam, 358; Bloomfield, 59; Brilliant, 191;
Bergholz, 285; Dillonvale, 679; Empire,
370; G rover, 200; Independent No. 2, 211;
Independent No. 9, 165; Monroeville, 23;

Mingo Junction. 1,002; Mt. Pleasant, 231;
New Alexandria, 55; Richmond. 104;

Smithfield. 286; Steubenville. 6.072; To
ronto, 1,270; Warrenton, 72.

There are in the county, feeble-minded
youth, 6; physically disabled, 40; blind, 4;

deaf. 5; mute, 6.

The enrollment of pupils in the public

schools of the city at the beginning of the

September term, 1909. was as follows:

Both. flirts. Total.

Garfield Building 172 liifl 331

Orant Building 290 333 (123

JcflVmnn Building 44 !j« 100

1m B<dle nuildiiiji 77 (34 141
Linooln Building' 1X2 155 337
Pleajmnt Heights Building 40 27 67
Stnnton Building 2.14 236 470
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Weiu High 96 136 282 on .N ortn seventh otreet, conducted by Dr.

„ . 4 t ,
~ John Scott, between the thirties and later

Grand ^ 11886 1 '450 2
'
M6 sixties, was a prominent educational inati-

Included in Garfield School is the over- tution for boys and young men, and the
flow accommodated in Franklin Avenue children in most of the older families re-

Chapel, ceived their education there.

The present Board of Education in-

cludes Floyd M. Yocum, president; Will- AND LATER ubkaries—the cabneqie.
1am E. Burgoyne, J. R. Mossgrove, A.
Forsythe, J. A. Kithcart. Closely allied to the educational inter-

After several unsuccessful attempts to ests of the city is a public library. Very
establish a permanent commercial college soon after the public schools were organ-
in Steubenville, Prof. J. T. Thompson sue- ized steps were taken in this direction. We
ceeded in doing so in 1896. It occupies the have already alluded to the little circulat-

Gill Building, corner of Fourth and Mar- ing library of Hon. E. M. Stanton, and he
ket Streets, which had been especially ar- was not the only one who moved in that di-

ranged for the purpose with commercial, rection. There was in the early forties an
shorthand and typewriting departments, "Institute" composed of young men for
with modern appliances, equal to the best library and debating purposes, and in 1845
equipped business schools in the country. James Turnbull, James Collier and James

In 1868 Rev. W. T. Bigelow, pastor of McAllister reported a plan for establish-

St. Peter's Roman Catholic Church, insti- ing a library. The town was canvassed
tuted a parochial school, occupying five and some books and funds obtained, and on
rooms in the basement of that church. In January 6, 1846, E. M. Stanton, William
a few years there was a flourishing school Hawking and Mr. MeLeish were appointed
of three hundred scholars, with a high to draft rules for the admission of mem-
school course ndded by Rev. M. M. A. Hart- hers, the loaning of books and their final

nedy. The schools were conducted by the disposition in case of dissolution of the so-

Dominican Sisters under the supervision ciety. The rules were adopted, and on
of the pastor. Before tearing down St. June 26, 1847, the Institute numbered
Peter's, in 1904, to make room for a new forty-lwo members. On December 13 of
building, a brick structure of six large that year, however, it dissolved, the books,
rooms was built west of the adjoining al- numbering 450 volumes, remaining the
ley, which is still occupied by 392 scholars, property of those whose names were at-

in charge of six teachers. When the An- inched to the rules. On January 31, 1848,
drews property on the corner of Fifth and the concern was reorganized and ineorpo-
Slack Streets was acquired by Father rated under the name of "The City Library
Hartnedy in 1884, additional schools were Association of Steubenville." and in

opened in that building, which was used March a constitution was adopted with re-

until removed to make room for the pres- vised rules for the circulation of books,
ent Holy Name Church, in 1884. Subse- There is no record of their subsequent pro-
qnently a handsome brick structure was eeedings until the election of Kli T. Tap-
erected with six rooms and auditorium, pan as secretary and librarian in 1857, he
which is attended by 358 scholars, in serving until 1859. The books were kept in

charge of six teachers. St. Stanislaus Pol- the Scott building on South Fourth Street,

ish Church, built in 1905. also has a school, and could be procured on payment of a
of fifty-three pupils, making a present ag- small fee. Mr. Tappan was then superin-

gregate of 3,639 in all the city schools and tendent of schools and used this room as
about 100 in the business college. his office as well as the quarters for the
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school library referred to below, lie was
succeeded by Rev. Joseph Buchanan, who
looked after the books until 1870. In 1867
the books were placed in the rooms of the

Y. M. C. A. in order to save rent, and an
effort to revive the association was made
in 1809, but was only temporarily success-

ful. The books were then turned over to

the Odd Fellows' Association, who opened
a library in their new building on North
Fourth Street. It met with fair success for

a number of years, especially meeting the

wants of fiction readers, but its patronage
naturally dropped off after the opening of
the Carnegie library, and it closed after

disposing of its books to that institution.

There was also what was known as a school

library in the fifties in the Scott building

kept up by taxation and containing a good
collection of books. It was supported from
the school funds, and every family in the

district was entitled to its use. During the

war of the rebellion it was allowed to lan-

guish and was closed for a number of

years. About 1880 the Board of Educa-
tion concluded to revive the so-called school

library and levied a small tax for that pur-

pose. Its first quarters were in the August
Floto building on North Fourth Street, but

a few years after it found a more commodi-
ous home in the city building on Market
Street. With a comparatively small income
a very good collection of books and maga-
zines was in progress and it: was well pat-

ronize* 1 until it contents were transferred

to the Carnegie Librarv in 1902.

In the summer of 1899 Dr. A. M. Reid,

in a letter to Andrew Carnegie, suggested

that as Mr. Carnegie had begun his career

hero as a telegraph operator it would be

peculiarly appropriate to bestow upon
Steubenville a library. Mr. Carnegie re-

plied that he would be very glad to do so

provided the city guarantee its support.

On the 3d of October. 1SW, an ordinance

was passed by the city council providing
for the establishment of a public library

and rending room and board of directors

for control of same. The first board of di-

rectors consisted of 0. W. McCook. J. W.

Gill, W. H. McClinton, H. G. Dohrman.
Michael Keane and Charles Gallagher. Mr.
Gallagher dying in October, 1901, Thomas
Spencer was appointed to fill the vacancy.
Mr. Dohrman was succeeded in 1910 by Jo-
seph B. Doyle. Bonds were issued for the

purchase of a site, and the Sarratt prop-
erty at the intersection of Slack with
Fourth and Fifth Streets was bought. The
building was planned by Alden & Harlow,
architects, of Pittsburgh, and the contract

awarded to J. M. Trimble, of Allegheny.
The result was a handsome, substantial

fireproof library building, thoroughly
equipped in every detail. Mr. Carnegie
first promised $50,000, but as the building
upon completion was found to cost over
$6-2,000, he generously paid the difference.

The building was formally opened to the

public Tuesday evening, March 11. 1902,

with music and speeches. The organizer
and first librarian was Miss Ellen Summers
Wilson, a graduate of the Albany Library
School, who had organized and been li-

brarian of the West End and Wylie
branches of the Carnegie Library of Pitts-

burgh. In July, 1904, Miss Wilson resigned
on account of ill health, and in December
of the same year was succeeded by Miss
Allies Elliott, librarian of the Lnwrence-
ville branch of the Carnegie Library of

Pittsburgh. In July Miss Elliott accepted

the superintendency of the circulation of

the Pratt Library in Brooklyn and was
succeeded by Miss Beatrice M. Kelly, chil-

dren's librarian of the Mount Washington
branch of the Carnegie Library of Pitts-

burgh. The present staff consists of Miss

Kelly, librarian; Misses Parks and Nieden-

gard. assistants, and Misses Williams and
Bea/.ell. substitutes. Since the library was
opened over 7,000 readers have been regis-

tered, 375,000 books circulated and over
600,000 persons have been in attendance

either to rend in the library or procure
books for home reading. The number of

books in the library on December 31. 190S,

was 10.604. and the number taken out dur-

ing the year was 60.S54. The total at-

tendance at the library during that year
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was 1*8,177, ami the present year will show
at least lOO.IMUi. All the leading period-

icals are fouud in the reading rooms, and
t lie story hour inaugurated by Miss Wilson
1ms been earned on with great success by
the present librarian. The expense ol* con

dinting the institution is about $5, JIM) per
annum.

ClinirilKS AND REUOIOX.

The first religious minister of whom we
have any aeeoiint in this section was Rev.
David Jones, from Freehold, X. J., a Welsh
Baptist, having made a preaching tour
among the Indians and the few settlers in

1772. lie speaks of Mingotown in his jour-

nal, to which reference has been made, but

he docs not state that he preached in the

county. lie was with (k-oige Rogers
Clarke opposite the mouth of Captiua
Creek the same year, and notes in his jour-

nal that "he instructed what Indians came
over." lie was informed here that the
chief of the tribe located al the mouth of
Captina was a professor of Christianity,

and was struck by the impression his

prayer made on the Indians who heard him.

It was at this place that in the spring of
17S0 several families descending the river

to Kentucky were attacked by the Indians

and murdered or carried inlo captivity, one
of the latter. Catherine Malott, afterwards
becoming the wife of Simon dirty. Kev.
Jones during the Kevolutionary War was
known as the '* Fighting Chaplain." and he
stood beside Anthony Wayne as his chap-

lain for the Pennsylvania line. His elo-

quence was a wonderful power at Valley
Forge in cheering the disheartened sol-

diers. It is said of him that he told his

men "that a shad would as soon he seen

barking up a tree as a Revolutionary sol-

dier turning his l.aek on the enemy or go-

ing to hell."

MKT MOOlST KIMSCOIWL I'M I IK'M KS,

I

In his journal, dated Cross Creek
CMingo). Sunday. October 2, 17^0, fleneral

Butler, who was on an expedition having

for its purpose the removal of squatters
from the Indian country, says: "The peo-
ple of this country appear to be much im-
posed upon by a sect called Methodist, and
are becoming great fanatics." He did not
state in what way the faunticism was mani-
fested, unless it be what he says in the fol-

lowing sentence: "They say they have paid
taxes which are too heavy."

In a historv of the Methodist church of
Steubeiiville, written by Hev. Dr. I). C. Os-
borne, it is stated that "as early as the
summer of 17!>4 Samuel Hitt and John
Reynolds, of that denomination, preached
a few sermons here amidst much opposi-
tion." Tt is also mentioned that in 17J)")-fi

Charles Connnway. presiding elder, Sam
uel Hitt and Thomas Haywood also came
upon the site of Steubeiiville—"the latter

being poor, received V24 in Pennsylvania
currency per annum for his services." The
circuit embraced in the itinerancy of Hitt
and Reynolds included Ohio County, Vir-
ginia; Washington County, Pennsylvania,
and the settlements on both sides of the
Ohio from the mouth of the Muskingum to

near Pittsburgh. A society was soon
formed in Steubeiiville and the congrega-
tion was kept supplied. Bishop Asbury
visited Steubeiiville in ISUo and made this

entry in His diary : "The court house could
not contain all the people; we went to the

Presbyterian tent, and as the Jews and
Samaritans have no dealings. T must tender
my thanks. I found a delightful home
with the family of Bezaleel Wells, who is

friendly to our church." Tn 1ST"), when the

first conference was held in Steubeiiville,

Bezaleel Wells was asked to entertain one
of the representative men. The guest sent

him was from the Northwest, dressed in

homespun and spattered with mud as he
alighted from his horse at the Wells man-
sion. Mr. Wells was rathed chagrined at

his appearance and called the local minis-

ter to task, but he was told to wait until he
heard his youin; guest preach the following

Sunday, lie did so and was so impressed
with his oratorical powers that he ex-

pressed wonder that such a man should be
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buried iu the pioneer work of the North-
west. The next day he took his visitor to

a tailor and ordered for him the finest suit

of clothing that could be procured. The
preacher was Rev. Air. Bigelow, who be-

came noted in the annals of Methodism as

a pioneer pulpit orator. This, however, is

anticipating. Charles Couaway was pre-

siding elder in 1795, with Samuel Uitt and
Thomas Haywood itinerants. 1796— An-
drew Nichols, John Seward. Shudrach
Johnson and Jonathan Batenian. Valentine

Cook. P. E. 1797—N. B. Mills, .Facob Col-

bert, with Daniel llitt, elder. 179S— Mills

and Solomon Harris, 427 members in dis-

trict. 1799— Thomas Haywood, Jesse
Stoneman. Haywood died in June, and
through lack of services membership fell

off lOti. 1800 -Joseph Rowen. John Culli-

son, revivals and membership increased

to 528. 1801—Pittsburgh district formed
and Thornton Fleming appointed presiding

elder, with Benjamin Essex and Joseph
Hall preachers. Jefferson County was
placed in the West Wheeling circuit this

vear. 1802—Joseph Hall. John Cullison.

1804—Lasley Matthews. 1805—Mouonga-
hela district. James Hunter, presiding

elder; John West and Eli Towne. preach-

ers. 1806—Thornton Fleming, presiding

elder: David Stevens and Eli Town,
preachers. Services were held at the home
of John Permar. 1807— William Knox,
James Reiley and J. G. Watt. 1808—Rob-
ert R. Roberts, Benedict Burgess.
The records do not show who of the

above preachers officiated in Stcubonville.

or how frequently. Their circuits included

western Pennsylvania and a large part of

the state of Ohio, and their visits to any
particular place were no doubt fragmen-
tary, sometimes at considerable intervals.

Cuinming, in his journal, only refers to the

Presbyterians and "Episcopalians" as

having any regular services. But a change
was coming. James Quinn was appointed
presiding elder in 1809, with Jacob Young
and Thomas Church preachers. Rev.

Young says iu his diary : "T found my cir-

cuit included the whole of Belmont, Jeffer-

son and Harrison counties. At Steuben-
ville we preached in t he old log court house
upstairs. During the year Obadiah Jen-
nings, a great lawyer, was our constant
hearer. He was converted and became a
noted Presbyterian minister." 1810

—

William Lamdcn, at the close of his first

sermon, announced that the next forenoon
he would form a class at the house of
Bernard Lucas. Twelve persons appeared
and were organized into a Methodist so-
ciety. They were Bernard Lucas, leader;
Margaret Lucas, Matthew Worstel, Rachel
Worst el, William Fisher, Margaret Cum-
mings, Archibald Cole, Elizabeth Cole,
Nicholas Murray, Nancy Murray, Hugh
Dunn and James Dougherty. Their meet-
ings were held in private houses, with an
increase at nearly every gathering. 1811—
William Lamden and Michael Ellis. There
were revivals this year, and Bezaleel
Wells donated a lot on the comer of South
and Fourth streets on which a church edi-
fice 50x3."} feet was begun and used as a
place of worship. In 1812 the Ohio Dis-
trict was formed with Jacob Young pre-
siding elder. West Wheeling circuit was
divided, and Cross Creek circuit formed
from the north part with Michael Ellis and
John MeMahan preachers. Ohio Confer-
ence was formed October 1, and Abel Rob-
inson and William Knox appointed preach-
ers. Ohio Conference met here September
1, 1813, Bishops Asbury and McKendree
being present. Services were held thrice
daily in B. Wells' sugar orchard, below
South street, at which many accessions
were received. "The shouting and weep-
ing were heard afar off." Cold plague and
spotted fever swept through the country
this year with great mortality, the alarms
of war. high price of provisions and
scarcitv of monev making the vear one of
trial.

1814—J. B. Finley and Archibald Mc-
Elroy. Mr. Finley writes in September:
"This circuit embraced all of Jefferson
and parts of Belmont and Harrison coun-
ties. Tt was a four weeks' circuit with an
appointment for each week day and two
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for each Sabbath, making thirty-two ap-
pointments with fifty classes to meet each
round. This year the church at Steuben-
ville was completed and dedicated. At the
time of dedication a Bible was presented
by twelve gentlemen of the town with the
request that a sermon be preached from
Revelations, '21st and 22d verses, which
was complied with, and it pleased God to

pour out his spirit in a wonderful manner.
Eleven of the twelve were converted and
joined the church. The work spread until

the whole town felt its influence. We con-

tinued our meetings day and night. One
morning before breakfast I was sent for to

pray with eight families, many of whom I

found lying on the floor crying for mercy.
During this year a money mania like an
epidemic seized the people. There were
seven banking establishments in Jefferson
County, one of them said to have been kept
in a lady's chest. All these were engaged
iu issuing paper money. But it did not
stop here. Merchants, tavern keepers,

butchers and bakers became bankers. This
mania was followed by the mania for new
towns, which were laid out at almost even-
cross road. The imaginary riches of the

speculators soon fled, business was para-
lyzed and discontent prevailed every-
where." Steubenville circuit was formed
in 1815. .1. B. Finley returned with J.

Powell, junior preacher, with the following
outside preaching places: Hale's meeting
house, Edward Taylor's. Searlott's.

Davis's, Moore's. Long's meeting house,

Baker's, Kent's. Evans's. Hinde's, Oady's.
Dickinson's, Roberts's, Holmes's meeting
house, Scott's, Dean's, Crainlett's, Smith-
field. Hopewell meeting house, and one
place forgotten. This was a year of dis-

cussion, "in which Calvinism and Armen-
ianism grappled in strong if not loving

embrace." INK*—J. R. Finley, presiding

elder; W. Dixon, B. Westlake. preachers.

1817—S. Hamilton. W. Knox, Cal. Rooter,
preachers. A deed for the church lot was
made to J. B. Finley, Bernard Lucas.
.Tames Saunders, Samuel Dorsey, Alex-

ander Sutherland, John Sutherland. Basil

H. Warfield, Isaac Harlemand, John Me-
Cully, trustees of the Methodist Episcopal
church. It was about this time that the

"Xewlights," whose career is related else

where, caused some trouble in the congre-
gation. Conference met here in August,
1818. Bishop George presiding, at which
Steubenville was made a station with Cor-
nelius Springer pastor. 1820—W. Swayze,
presiding elder; C. Goddard, pastor. 1821
—John Waterman. This year the church
was enlarged by the addition of a cross
building, which gave the church the fa-

miliar title of the "old ship." 1822—
Muskingum district—John Waterman, pre-
siding elder: James MeMahan, pastor.

1823— H. B. Bascom, a noted pulpit orator,

who afterwards went with the Methodist
Episcopal Church South. 1824—West
Wheeling; district, William Lambden. pre-

siding elder; W. Stevens, pastor. Pitts-

burgh Conference was formed, including
Steubenville. 182o—Joshua Moore, pas-

tor. Additional land was secured for $100
and quitclaim secured from B. Wells for

entire property, as the trustees had not

been incorporated when the lot was first

transferred. 1820—George Brown, pastor,

and Sunday school organized. "Edwin
M. Stanton was converted and joined the

church this year." Conference met here
in 1S27. 1828— I). Limerick, presiding
elder; Joshua Monroe, pastor. 1829

—

Monroe, presiding elder; R. C. Hatton,
pastor. 1830—T. M. Hudson, pastor. The
morning after his arrival he received a

letter signed by Alexander Sutherland and
eighty-one other members, requesting that

their names be erased from the church
record and they be considered withdrawn.
Their request was granted, and they with
eleven probationers withdrew, leaving

ninetv-six in the old ship. This was the

origin of the Fifth Street M. P. church. A
revival towards the close of the year
brought the membership up to nearly its

original number. There was an epidemic
of scarlet fever in 183], and many promis-
ing young people died. One home lost

seven. The pastor's salary was $175 and
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house rent. 1832—W. Browning, presiding
elder; H. J. Clarke, pastor. 1S3S-—Robert
Boyd. 1834—Charles Thorn. 1835—
Thorn and J. C. Merrinian. On July 22
the parsonage lot was purchased from Am-
brose Shaw for $200, Mrs. B. Wells donat-
ing $100. 1836—S. R. Brockunier, presid-

ing elder ; Edward IT. Taylor. The parson-
age was completed in the spring of 1837
and occupied bv Rev. George S. Holmes.'
1839—Samuel E. Babcock. 1840—Robert
Hopkins, presiding elder. 1841-2—Mr.
Holmes. 1843—Mr. Brockunier. 1844—H.
Gilmore, presiding elder; A. M. Brown,
pastor. 1845—C. Battelle. In March
steps were taken towards the formation of

another congregation north of Market,
more fullv detailed in the Hamline historv.

1846—F. Moore. 1847—George S. Holmes,
F. McCleary.

^
1848—Simon Elliott, presid-

ing elder; E. Hays, pastor. 1850—J.

Spencer, presiding elder: C. H. Jackson.
1852—C. A. Holmes. 1853—W. Cox, pre-

siding elder. In 1854, A. IT. Thomas, pas-

tor; the old building was torn down to

make way for a new brick church, com-
pleted in 1856, which with enlargements
and improvements still stands, with a fine

auditorium seating 500 people. It was
named Kramer Chapel, on account of a
large contribution by Allen Kramer, of
Pittsburgh, but about twenty years after

the original name was restored. During its

erection sendees were held in the old Bap-
tist church on Church street. 1856—C. H.
Jackson, presiding elder; J. C. Pershing,
pastor. 1858— W. A. Davidson, pastor.

I860— W. J. Clarke, presiding elder;

S. P. Wolf, pastor. 1862 — S. F. Minor.
1864— 1). L. Dempsey, presiding elder

;

T. J. Higgins. pastor; parsonage en-

larged. 1 JS<Ii3 —-W. C. Cooper, presiding
elder. 1867 — E. Hingley, pastor. Thom-
son church organized with sixty-three

members. 1870— J. Williams, pastor.

Finley church organized with fifty mem-
bers. The church was enlarged in 1871 by
bringing the west wall out flush with the
tower and a bell purchased. 1872—J.

Williams, presiding elder; J. S. Bracken.

pastor. 1875—J. R. Mills. In 1876 the
East Ohio Conference was formed from the
Pittsburgh and Erie conferences, its first

session being held at Kramer, Bishop
Ames presiding. 1877—D. C. Osborne,
pastor, and a pipe organ was installed in

1879, which has since been enlarged and
improved. J. S. Bracken was presiding
elder from 1876. 1880—A. R. Chapman,
presiding elder; J. M. Carr, pastor. 1883
—James S. Hollingshead. 1884—H. L.
Webb, presiding elder. 1886—A. R. Chap-
man, pastor. 1890—L. H. Stewart, pre-
siding elder; E. F. Edmonds, pastor. 1891
—G. F. Oliver; organ chamber added. 1894
—Louis Paine. 1896—II. S. Jackson, pre-
siding elder. 1899—O. W. Holmes, presid-
ing elder; J. S. Reager, pastor. 1901—C.
E. Manchester, presiding elder. In 1903 a
new front was added and the building
otherwise improved at a cost of $10,000.
1904—J. C. Smith. 1905—G. B. Smith.
1907—W. n. Dickerson, presiding elder.

The present membership is about 650, and
material improvements have recently been
made to the parsonage. The board of trus-

tees is : W. H. McClinton, president ; F. S.

Grace, vice-president; John Taggart, sec-

retary; H. S. Coble, treasurer; L. V.
Brandenburg. George L. Conn, Albert
Zink, Henry Gregg, Archie Arnold. The
society was incorporated May 20, 1822;
trustees, Joseph Wample. A. Sutherland,
Bernard Lucas, David Hall, John McCulby,
James Odbert, Michael E. Lucas. The title

of presiding elder has been changed to

superintendent.

In March, 1845, several members of the
South Street Methodist Episcopal church,
as it was then called, living north of Mar-
ket street, indicated a desire for a place of
worship in their part of the city. Quarters
in the North school building having been
secured for a Sunday school, on a Sunday
morning a procession was formed and with
John McCracken and Francis Bates as
leaders marched to the new place, where
a Sunday school was inaugurated with Mr.
Batas as superintendent and a membership
of about 125. A building lot on the corner
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of Fourth and North streets was secured
and forty persons gave their notes for $100
each, providing a fund for the purchase
and a huilding. A two-story hriek struc-

ture was erected and the basement occu-
pier! that winter, the audience room up-

stairs not heing completed until two years
later. Up to December, 1854, the organiza-

tion was conducted as a mission from
Kramer, hut at that time it became an in-

dependent congregation. There were no
separate preachers for the first two years,

hut after that the congregation was served
by Revs. E. G. Nicholson, .1. B. Dunlap and
11. Y. Rich. The first board of trustees was
composed of John McCracken. secretary;

.1. 0. Huff, James Parks. William Nash,
Johnson Mooney, John Bray. Dr. James
Scott, John 11. Lindsay. William Uuscroft.

Mainline Chapel was selected as the name
and the first pastor was J. A. Swaney, the

others coming in the following order: 18.%,

J. D. Cromer; 1858, Sheridan Baker; 1859.

A. L. IVttv; 18(52, D. II. McCreadv, 1804.

B. M. McMahan, E. Burgett; 18K5. T. N.
Bovle; 1808, S. P. Wolff; 1871, II. L. Chap-
man; 1874. J. W. Baker: 1875, J. A.

Pearce; 1877, G. W. Orav; 1879, II. Webb;
1881, E. Y. Yingling; 1882, If. F. Randolph

;

1885, E. P. Edmonds; 1887, Jnv S. You-
mans; 1889. L. N. Stewart; 1891. W. IT.

Haskell; 1894. R. B. Pope; 1897. A. R.

Chapman; 1903, J. A. Uluian; 1908. K. A.

Jester. During Mr. Stewart's administra-

tion a handsome stone building was
erected at a cost with the furnishings of

$32,000. It was dedicated on March 27,

1892, by Bishop Nimle. During the past

year further improvements were made at a
cost of $7,000. The present membership
is 425, and the board of trustees is com-
posed of D. M. G ruber. John M. Cook, W.
II. Ferrv. T. A. Bvgntc, B. F. Murphv.
William Ruddicks, W. R. Bnrgoyne. J. L.

Beatty, John A. Mansfield.

A small chapel was maintained on Sher-

man avenue during the seventies, but was
discontinued.

Thomson Chapel, in what was then

known as the Rolling Mill district, was or

ganixed in the fall of 1808 with the follow-

ing class: B. W. Risher, leader; Benjamin
Ford, assistant; Sarah A. Ford, Mary
Ford, Mary J. Can by, Hester A Id ridge,

Letitia Melvin, Eunice Risher, Edward
Canby, Charles Canby. Rev. J. R. Keyes
served as pastor until March, 1809, suc-

ceeded by Rev. W. B. Grace, by whom a

neat wooden building 55x35 feet was
erected. He was succeeded by Rev. S. II.

Cravens in 1871, W. Brown in 1872, J. Q.
A. Miller in 1873. T>. II. Stewart in 1874,

A. J. Lane in 1870, and I. K. Rader in

1878. It was conducted jointly with Finley
Chapel for a few years, when the shifting

of population caused a consolidation with
the latter congregation.

Finley Chapel on Wells's run. now Lin-

coln avenue, was also organized from
Kramer in 1870 with about fifty members.
A neat brick structure was erected which
will seat 400 persons. The pastors have
been J. R. Keyes. W. B. Grace, D. 11. Snow-
den, J. II. Ekev, A. W. G ruber, A. Apple-
ton. J. M. Brav. C. M. Hollett, D. A. Pearce,

11. D. Stauffer. J. A. Ekev, J. C. Smith. F.

B. Stockdale, T. J. Baker. J. O. Randall,

W. S. Lockard, II. B. Edwards. T. J. Post,

F. C. Anderson. Joseph M. Shepler. Will-

iam Fatherlv. R. J. Norris. 1898; J. ().

Davidson. 189!); L. L. Fisher. 1901; J. E.
Russell, HMtt; R. E. Beetham, 1905; J. A.
Miller. Member-hip. 275.

A flourishing Methodist Sunday school

has been started on La Belle View.

MKTIIODIST I'UOTKSTANT CIIUKCH.

The First Methodist Protestant church
was organized on September 17. 1830. un-

der the name of Associate Methodist
church. It was composed of eighty-two

members of Kramer who were dissatisfied

with the form of government in the Meth-
odist Episcopal church, and especially

with the pastor who was sent to them that

year. Among the charter members was
Lucy L. Stanton, mother of Hon. Edwin
M. Stanton, and in honor of that circum-

stance the latter paid for a pew there until

Digitized by Google



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS

his death. The others were A. Sutherland,
Nancy Allen, John Leetch, Dorothy Mas-
sey, M. E. Lucas, Sarah Gray, Sarah
Wainpler, Elizabeth Armstrong, Elizabeth
Lucas, Sarah Leetch, Mary McCoy, Will-

iam Allen, Lydia Priest, William Massey,
Susanah Cullins, Elijah Steele, Sarah Cul-
lins, William Hawkins, Asetia Cullins,

James Clark, .Martha Devinney, Alfred
Cummins, Jane Tnrnhull, John Arm-
strong, Margaret Cummins, Stephenson
Jeminson, Louisa (fray, Robert Pyle, Rob-
ert Shearer, Anna 11. Norman, Elizabeth
Lewis, Margaret Ann Brown, Frank A.
Priest, Matilda Foster. Leteia Reider, P. L.

Haven. Sarah Brown, Elizabeth Cummins,
Mary Stroud, Mary Cummins, Kinsey
Swords, Mary Armstrong, William Eng-
lish, Robert C. Peters, I (anna Clemmins,
Barbara Dohnuan, James Myers, William
Clemmens, Sr., James Keith. M. M. Laugh -

lin, Matthew Steele, Mary Fickes, Alex-
ander Devinney, .Jane Baker, James Ann-
strong. Cynthia Fulton, William Clem
mens, Jr., Kcziah Murray. Samuel Thomas,
Elizabeth Woods, Jane Shearer. Mary
Hazlett, Jane Fogg, Raehael Stroud,
Eleanor Hawkins, Matilda Armstrong,
Susan Stroud, Jane Sutherland, Maria
Haven, Ann Murray, Susan Hawkins,
Sarah Connel, Sarah Devinney, Ruth A.
Lucas, Charlotte Thompson, Sarah Ann
Hawkins, Tomzey Ann Clark. William
Henry. Lucinda Baker. Mary Ann Tumor,
Sarah Murray. The first board of trustees,

elected October 26. 1830, was George Hull,

Matthew Roberts, William Thompson, Ben-
jamin Tnrnhull, Bernard Lucas, John
Leetch. Alexander Sutherland. Matthew M.
Laughlin, M. L. Lucas.

The organization was formed under the
leadership of Rev. George Brown, and Rev.
R. C. Hatton was the first pastor, who re-

mained about one year. In March, 1831.

they adopted the discipline and name of the
Methodist Protestant church. During their

first year they increased in numbers until

they enrolled 133 members. They elected

their first lay delegate to the Methodist
Protestant annual conference which met in

Zanesville in the fall of 1831, William Eng-
lish being chosen. On his return from the
conference Rev. E. S. Woodward accom-
panied him as pastor, remaining for two
years. A lot was purchased on, the east
side of Fifth street south of Market in

1831, and a building erected costing $4,000.
This stood until 1853, when it was replaced
by a two-story brick structure, now the
property of the Hebrew congregation. In
11)03 a fine building of brick and stone cost-

ing $50,000 was erected on the corner of
Fifth and North streets, containing an ex-
cellent organ and other proper equipments.
The pastors from the beginning have been
as follows: 1830, Revs. Robert C. Hutton;
1831. Enos Woodward; 1833, B. W. John
son; 1835, J. Elliott; 1837, Amett; 1838,

John Burns; 1840, Joel Dalby; 1841,

Zachariah Ragan; 1842, John Burns; 1844,

E. S. Hoagland; 1846, Robert Andrews;
184* J. W. Case; 184i>. E. S. Hoagland;
1850. Joseph H. Hamilton; 1852. F. A.
Davis; 1853. W. Collier; 1854, John Burns;
1857, Joseph II. Hamilton; 1859, A. Ab-
bott; I860. J. C. Ogle; 1868, George W.
Hissev; I860, W. S. Baker; 1871. J. H.
Hamilton; 1873, John Cowl; 1875, O. V. W.
Chandler; 1878, J. A. Thrapp; 1882. F. A.
Brown; 1887, S. A. Fisher; 1892, D. C. Co-
burn; 1896. G. E. McManiman; 1900,

George II. Miller. The present board of

trustees is composed of W. S. Walker, W.
F. Ridgley, George S. Hawkins, C. J. Mc-
Connell, A .M. Lvons, George J. Fickes, J.

J. McCoy. E. C. Chandler, F. C. Chambers.
Present membership, 513.

ST. PAVr/s AND ST. STKPHKN's CHURCHES.
Dr. Joseph Doddridge was ordained

deacon in old Christ church, Philadelphia,

by Bishop White in 1792. Bishop White,
with Provoost, of New York, had been con-

secrated at Lambeth only five years before,

and Dr. Seabury, of Connecticut, only

about seven years previously, and the

American Church as a separate body from
the Church of England had barely com-
menced its independent career. The Amer-
ican Government had been in operation

only three years, and the country west of
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the Alleghenies was still regarded as a
wilderness. To the West, however, the
young deacon came and with his wife made
Charlestown (Wellsburg) his headquar-
ters, where, after the example of St. Luke,
he combined the practice of medicine with
his ministerial labors, and ministered to

the scattered families of Churchmen
throughout this region. Among the first

parishes founded by him were St. John's
in Brooke County, Virginia, four miles east
of the Steubenville ferrv; West Libertv,
near Wheeling (both in 1792) ; St. Paul's,

five miles east of Wellsburg, in 1793, and
later Trinity church at Charlestown. He
did not confine his labors to the Virginia
side of the river but came into Ohio to

minister to the scattered sheep. While he
carried on his clerical work he was careful

to make notes of the habits and customs
of the pioneers, and his book on these sub-
jects has always been a recognized author-
ity. In an edition of the "Notes," pre-

pared by his daughter and published after
her death, is found the following memo-
randum from David Moody, one of
Steubenville's early settlers, who says:
"The Kev. Dr. Doddridge was the first

Christian minister who preached in our
little village. As early as 179b" he held

monthly services in it, his congregation
meeting in a frame building which stood
on the south side of Market and Water
streets. In 1798 the first court house for
the county was built, in which an upper
room was reserved for religious purposes,
free to all denominations. In this room the
Episcopalians met for worship. With some
intervals this early missionary of the

church continued to officiate until Dr.

Morse took charge of the parish in 1820
(1819)." It will be noted that Mr. Moody
does not say that the first service held

here by Dr. Doddridge was in 179G; mat-
ters had so far progressed that by this

date regular monthly services were held.

As Dr. Doddridge had then been in this

section nearly if not fpiite four years it is

altogether probable that he made at least

occasional visits to Steubenville during

that interval. In March, 1800, Dr. Dodd-
ridge returned to Philadelphia and was or-

dained priest. He came back to his west-
ern field and in December of that year en-
tered into an agreement with a number of
individuals to hold church services at the
house of Mrs. Mary McGuire, a widow, liv-

ing on what is now" a portion of the County
Infirmary Farm, four miles west of the
village. The subscription book, dated De-
comber 1, 1800, contains the following
names: George Mahan, William Whit-
craft, Eli Kelly. George llalliwell, Will-
iam McColnall, .John McConnell, Benjamin
Doyle, Joseph Williams, John Long, Mary
McGuire, John McKnight, Frederick All-

hright, William McConnell. John Scott,

George Ritehey. Moses llanlon. These
services were held at Mrs. McGuire 's house
for upwards of eighteen years, when the

organization grew into St. James's parish.

Cross Creek, and Philander, son of Bishop
Chase, was sent to take charge of the
Steubenville section. On May 17, 1819, a
compaiy met at the residence of Mrs. Will-

iam R. Dickenson, and with Rt. Rev. Phi-
lander Chase presiding organized the par-
ish of St. Paul's Church, Steubenville. with
the following officers : Senior warden, Brice
Viers; junior warden. George Chapman;
vestrymen, Nicholas Hutching, Jacob C.

Ifoaglaud and Ephrnim Root, Jr. Rev. In-

trepid Morse was called to the rectorship,

who. until 1822. divided his labors between
this place and Zanesville. The parish was
incorporated on May 9, 1825, with Bezaleel

Wells, senior warden; Joseph Beatty.
junior warden; George Chapman, Brice
Viers and Edward Wood, vestrymen. It

was reincorporated in 1879. The congrega-
tion for a number of years worshiped in

the council chamber, over the old market
house, and at Kramer chapel. In 1S22 it

secured a room in the "Old Academy," on
South High Street, which it occupied for

eleven years. Finally the ladies started a
movement for a permanent church build-

ing, and a lot was purchased on the corner
of Fourth and Adams Streets. Here the
cornerstone of a brick structure, early Eng-
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lish architecture, designed by Bishop
Hopkins, was laid on July 9, 1832, and on
September 13, 1833, the building was con-
secrated by Bishop Chase. Later fifteen

feet were added, and for forty-six years it

stood, until torn down to make room for
the present structure. For many years it

had the only public pipe organ in the city.

Dr. Morse's rectorship continued until Oc-
tober 10, 1805, a period of more than forty-
six years. He was a man eminent in learn-
ing and piety, and was of remarkable in-

fluence in the community. Rev. Charles
Gillette succeeded him on January 31,

1866, who, after a successful rectorship of
twenty months, resigned to take an import-
ant position on the Church Missionary
Board in connection with the Freedmen's
Department. He died of heart trouble
about a year after. On September 2. 1868,
a call was extended to Kev. Andrew Hull,
who filled the rectorship until May 15,

1871, when he accepted a call in the diocese
of Vermont, aud died several years after.

On November 20, 1871, a call was extended
to Rev. Thomas 1). Pitts, of Racine, Wis.,
who first officiated here on Advent Sunday
of that year and took charge of the parish
on March 3 following. He infused new life

into the congregation and before long steps
were taken towards building a new church.
On May 13, 1879, the cornerstone of the
present handsome structure was laid bv
Rt. Rev. G. T. Bedell ; Rev. J. W. Brown",
afterwards rector of St. Thomas's church.
New York, preaching the sermon. The
church was consecrated free of debt on
April 1, 1880. The structure is low Early
English Gothic, built of native sandstone,
and the nave is 85x45 feet, comfortably
seating 500 people, with a chancel 23x20. A
graceful spire and cross 120 feet in height
grace the southeast comer. The church
contains many handsome memorials, of
which want of space prevents a detailed

description. Mr. Pitts resigned the follow-

ing fall, and was succeeded by Rev. R. W.
Grange, who took charge on Advent Sun-
day, 1880. He resigned in May. 1889. to

become rector of the new Church of the

Ascension, Pittsburgh, where he still re-

mains. Mr. Grange was succeeded by Rev.
Charles D. Williams the following month.
During his administration the present gar-
ish house was built at a cost of $13,000,
and was completed in 1892. The vested
choir wrfs formally inducted on Easter day
of that year, although it had an inchoate
existence for some time previous. Mr. Will-
iams resigned early in 1893 to become dean
of Trinity Cathedral, Cleveland, since be-
coming bishop of Michigan. In May, 1893,
he was succeeded in the rectorship by Rev.
II. P. LeF. Grabau, who resigned in March,
1895. and was succeeded by Rev. George
W. Hinkle, of St. Michael's parish, Mary-
land, who began his regular ministrations
on All Saints' day of that year. In 1901
a large pipe organ was installed and other
improvements made during Mr. Hinkle 's

rectorship. He resigned in December,
1903, to accept a call to Christ church,
Waterloo, Iowa, and was succeeded the fol-

lowing February by Rev. J. W. Foster, of
Ilobart, N. Y., who resigned in March, 1909,

to accept a call to the diocese of Florida.
His successor was Rev. William M. Side-

ner, of Seranton, Pa., who took charge in

September, 1909. The present list of com-
municants numbers about 200. and the ves-

try is composed of Joseph B. Doyle, senior
warden; John W. Forney, junior warden;
.lames Means, John Bartbold, Herbert W.
Nichols, Charles Specht, Eli Oastner. John
H. Peterson, E. Y. Dougherty. Missions
have been conducted in the Sixth ward,
Mingo and Toronto, at times, but there are
none at present.

During the rectorship of Rev. Mr. Grabau
some differences of opinion arose among
the members of St. Paid \s church as to the

conduct of public worship and other mat-
ters, which in 1890 crystallized into a peti-

tion bearing the signatures of sixty-six

communicants being presented to the ec-

clesiastical authorities of the diocese, ask-

ing permission to form a new parish. This
was agreed to with the cousent of St.

Paul's, and St. Stephen's church was or-

ganized with the following wardens and

Digitized by Google



4\0 UISTUKY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

vestrymen: Charles Gallagher, senior
warden; W. II. Garrett, junior warden; A.
A. Elliott. \V. M. Beall, George A. Max-
well, John A. Caldwell, vestrymen.
The Presbyterian Mission chapel, corner

of Fifth Street and Franklin Avenue, was
leased and the Rev. E. \V. Cowling ac-

cepted the first rectorship of the parish. In
the spring of 1808 the Thompson property,
corner of Logan and Fifth Streets, was
purchased. In the spring of 1900 the rector,

the Rev. Mr. Cowling, whose health had be-

come impaired, resigned and was succeeded
by Kev. II. I,. Gaylord. During the first

two years of Mr. Gaylord 's rectorship
plans were made and perfected for erect-

ing a church, and by Christmas. I'M):?, the

preseut building was ready for occupancy.
It is a neat Romanesque brick structure,

seating about 2f»0 persons, and contains a
sweet-toned organ, since added. Mr. (Jay-

lord resigned in the fall of 19«>4, and was
succeeded by Kev. E. B. Kedhead, the pres-

ent rertor. The present vestry is composed
of "William M. Beall, senior warden: Jo-
seph W. Jordan, junior warden; Alexander
B. Sharp. James M. Kevnolds, Robert K.

Cox. J. H. Nicholson. Frank Ault. The
communicant list numbers I'M.

CliESHYTKIUAN-.

Kev. Smiley Hughes was the first Pres-
byterian minister to preach in Steubcn-
ville, which was early in 1798. The next
was done by Rev. James Snodgrass in

1790. The Lord's Supper was adminis-
tered first in 1800 by Kev. Thomas
Marquis, with elders from east of the Ohio
River. All these services were held by ap-

pointment of the Presbytery of Ohio. The
First Presbyterian church of Stenbenville
wis organized in the latter part of the vear
1800. The first, elders were Thomas Vin-
cent, John Millignn and Samuel Hunter.
Kev. James Snodgrass was called to the

pastorate in connection with the Island

Creek church in 1SO0 ; ,t a salary of *:'><!<•.

At first he gave two-fifths of his time to

Steubenville and then one-half. The first

preaching place was in a grove on Market
Street between Seventh and Eighth, and in

the winter the court house was used. In
18015 a lot was given by Bezaleel Wells on
South Fourth Street, where a small brick

building was erected. About 1810 Kev.
William McMillan came to the town to

preside over the "Academy" and was en-

gaged to preach on the Sundays that Mr.
Snodgrass was absent. This arrangement
continued until 1817, when the pastoral re-

lations with both gentlemen were dissolved,

and in the spring of that year Kev. Obadiah
Jennings took sole charge. The erection of

a new ami large building was begun in

1810, but its construction so taxed the re-

sources of the congregation that at the end
of seven years the organization was con-

siderably in debt and the building still un-

finished. In the meantime it was decided
to incorporate the society, and on March 4,

1819. a meeting was held with the following
members present: Samuel Hunter. John
Patterson. John Abram, Charles Porter,

David Hoge. David l^irimore, Robert
Thompson, Thomas Norton, Robert Hen
ing, Adam Modcrwell. Joseph Y. Mossman,
•lames Wilson. Hans Wilson, John Gal-

braith, Thomas Henderson, James G.

Hening. Joseph Cookson. Elias Bayless,

Ambrose Kennedy. Edward Todd and John
C. Bayless. John McDowell, David Lari-

more and John Patterson were elected trus-

tees and John C. Bayless, clerk. On March
2'j, 182)!. Mr. Jennings resigned, and on
June 2 Kev. C. C. Beatty was called and
entered on his duties October 21, 182il. The
unfinished building was made as comfort-

able as possible, but. being unsatisfactory,

it was taken down and a new building 88x

47 feet, erected in its place. In 18">2 a cupola

with bell was added, and in ]S."»1 the struc-

ture was lengthened sixteen feet at a cost

of £1,000. which gave 1<>0 pews on the main
Moor, and with the galleries would accom-
modate about 700 people. Later basement
beaters and gas for lighting were intro-

duced. In the fall of is::r» Dr. Beatty of-

fered to donate a lot on the north side of

the church and £1<»0 cash towards a par-
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sonage if the congregation would raise the

balance. At the same time and on the same
conditions Mrs. Susan F. Beatty and Mrs.
Hetty E. Beatty as a further inducement
projMjsed to erect at their own expense
south of the church a two-story building
suitable for session and Sabbath school
rooms. The new buildings were all erected
the next season. The parsonage still

stands, having passed to private parties,

and the Beatty building, now the property
of J. P. Draper, is devoted to dwelling and
business purposes. Owing to poor health
and other causes, Dr. Beatty desired to re-

sign his charge in 1835, but consented to

remain until April, 1837. In July, 1835,

Rev. E. J. McLean was called and entered
on his duties in November, but suffering
from a severe pulmonary attack the fol-

lowing winter he moved South the next
May without having been formallv in-

stalled. In the fall of 1836 Rev. Henry
G. Comingo, of New Brunswick, served as a
supply, and on February 13 following he
was elected pastor. He was installed the
following May, and served until his death
on December 1, 1861, after a week's illness.

His remains were interred in Union ceme-
tery and his funeral was one of the larg-

est ever held in the city. Rev. Henry
Woods was employed as a supply in the
spring of 1862. He was called to the pas-

torate in September, and was installed Oc-
tober 22. During his pastorate a pipe or-

gan was placed in the church, the building
having been beautified and improved five

years before. He resigned in April. 1867,

on account of ill health, and on December
11 Rev. Thomas A. MeCurdy was called,

and continued as pastor until his resigna-

tion in April, 187"). In 1872 the site of the
First church was changed to the west side

of North Fourth Street, between Washing-
ton and North Streets, and the present
building erected at a cost of $75,O0O„ This
large building was partially wrecked by a

cyclone January 16, 188"), but was promptly
repaired and somewhat remodeled at a
cost of about $4,000. The style is Four-
teenth Century English decorated, and the

building is brick with finished stone front.

The interior will seat about 1,000 persons,

and the session building iu the rear is un-

usually spacious. The new, commodious
and substantial parsonage, situated on the

north side of the church, wus erected in

1883 at a cost of about $10,000. Rev. Will-

iam M. Grimes, of Cadiz, succeeded Mr.
McCurdv and served most acceptably until

his death in 1887. Rev. Orlando V. Stew-
art followed until his death, in 1894, ma-
king the third pastor to die in active serv-

ice. R. A. McKinley, cousin of President
McKinley, succeeded him, and resigned in

1905 to take up work in the West. He was
succeeded by Rev. S. N. Hutchinson, who
remained about two years, followed by
Rev. F. W. Evans, the present pastor. A
fine new organ has recently been installed,

partly contributed by Andrew Carnegie.
Not only was this congregation the first

regular religious organization in the city

but quite a number of other societies have
been created from its membership. In
1837 more than sixty members went into

the new organization of the Second church,
and that same year thirty-nine members
assisted in forming the Cross Creek Pres-
byterian church. In 1873 forty-five mem-
bers went into the organization of Potter
chapel at Mingo Junction, and twenty-
seven went into the new new Third Pres-
byterian church, to be followed by others
soon afterward. In 1875 fifty-two members
went into the Congregational church. When
the railroad shops were removed to Co-
lumbus in 1885 thirty-five members were
dismissed to churches in that city. Not-
withstanding these drains the membership
has continued to increase, and now num-
bers 400. The following eminent Christian

workers have gone out from the member-
ship of this church : Rev. Henry C. Mc-
( 'ook. D. D„ pastor of the Tabernacle
Presbyterian church, of Philadelphia;
Rev. Thomas J. Shcrrard, pastor of the

Presbyterian church of Chambersburg,
Pa.: Rev. John Sherrard, pastor of the

Presbyterian church, Thornton. Ind. ; Miss
Nancy Sherrard, principal of Washington
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Ladies' Seminury; Rev. William A. Hal-
lock, pastor of the Presbyterian church,
Groveland, N. Y.; Rev. Henry G. Comingo
Hallock, missionary in China; and Mrs.
Effie Hallock Braddoek, missionary in

India. The present board of ruling elders
is composed of Dr. H. W. Nelson, William
Bullock, M. L. Miller, M. M. Dunlope,
William Leech, John F. Flood, J. H.
Strong, D. F. Coe, J. C. Wier.

While the preliminary steps were taken
towards forming a second Presbyterian
church in 1837, a regular organization was
not effected until January 1, 1838. Rev.
Dr. Beatty purchased a lot on North
Fourth Street, present site of the Christian
church, and erected thereon a two-story
brick building and presented the property
to the congregation. The new organization
started with about sixty-five members, and
Rev. Joseph Chambers was their first pas-

tor, who served until 1844, when Dr. Beatty
took charge and acted until 1847. lie was
succeeded by W. P. Breed, who served un-
til 1856, Henry B. Chapin until 1858, and
J. B. Patterson until 1865. A pipe organ
was installed by Dr. Beatty about the lat-

ter date. David R. Campbell served until

1871, at which time a lot was purchased at

the southeast comer of Fourth and Wash-
ington Streets, and a handsome structure

of red pressed brick erected at a cost of

$43,000, of which about one-eighth was
contributed by Dr. Bcattv. Rev. James A.
Worden was 'elected pastor, who resigned
in 1878 to take charge of the Sunday school

work of the denomination. lie was suc-

ceeded by Rev. W. W. McLane, who, on ac

count of doctrinal differences, withdrew in

1883 and united with the Congregational
church. During this time a new and larger

organ was placed in the church. Ylvv. Ed-
ward Ledyard was ptistor from 1883 to

189;"), and was followed by Kev. William
B. Irwin, until 1906, under whose adminis-
tration the lecture room ami parlors at the

east end were considerably enlarged and
the organ removed to that end of the

church. Subsequently a gallery was placed

at tbe west end. greatly enlarging the seat-

ing capacity. The present pastor is Rev.
J. Millen Robinson, and the membership is

over 600. The ruling elders are Hon. R. G.
Richards, Thomas A. Hammond, William
Banfield, Dr. J. C. M. Flovd, Dr. James E.
Miller, Robert H. Orr, G. Gaston, A. E.
McLane, F. W. Mosel. Twenty-nine mem-
bers of this congregation have gone forth
to preach the gospel, many of them in for-

eign lands, with probably a score of home
missionaries in Alaska and elsewhere. The
congregation owns a handsome parsonage
on North Fifth Street.

On May 26, 1873, J. B. Salmon and W. H.
Mooney conveyed to James Turnbull, trus-

tee, lot No. 18 on the corner of Franklin
and Fifth Streets, on which a frame build-

ing was erected and a mission Sunday
school conducted under the auspices of the

Second Presbyterian congregation. This
stood for about twenty years, when it was
replaced by the present building. In the

fall of 1896 the building was leased to the

St. Stephen's congregation, who occupied
it until the completion of their new chnrch
in December, 1903. The mission school in

the meantime was discontinued, and the

building was leased to a society of evan-
gelists known as "The Brethren," who also

had a tent on South Street during the warm
weather. It is now the propertv of Hon.
J.J.Gill.
When the first Presbyterian church

moved uptown in 1872 quite a number of

the members disapproved of the action, as
they wished to rebuild on tbe old site. Dr.

Beatty shared these views, and when the

South Fourth Street, property was sold he
pun-based, through the medium of Joshua
.Manly, the old church building. Twenty-
seven members from the First congrega-
tion organized under the name of the "Old
Presbyterian Church," the building was
reopened for services, and Rev. T. V. Mil-

ligau chosen for the first pastor. The
old building remained until 1877, when
it became unsuitable, and Dr. Beatty
erected the two-story brick structure,

which still stands, and presented it

to the congregation. It will seat about
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450 persons, the upper story being
occupied as the main audience room ana
the lower for Sunday school and other
purposes. Mr. Milligan remained until

December 16, 1877, and was succeeded by
Rev. G. N. Johnson, who remained until

1880, when he was succeeded by Eev. Rob-
ert White, who served until 1883, and was
followed by Rev. Mr. Swan. While Rev.
J. W. Wightman had charge of the semi-
nary in 1887-8, he was also pastor of this

congregation. He was succeeded by Rev.
J. A. Cook on January 1, 1890. Ill health
caused the dissolution of his pastorate in

August, 1898, and Rev. Samuel L. Boston
took charge on January 1, 1899. During
his pastorate the building was considerably
improved, a pipe organ installed, and the

former parsonage north of the church ac-

quired. Rev. George P. Roland, the pres-

ent incumbent, succeeded him on January
1, 1906. The present mmebership is about
340, and the ruling elders are S. C. Boyd,
William S. Tweed, Samuel S. Hill, E. P.
Potter, Ida Potter, John H. Kithcart.

Dr. Beatty in the later sixties erected a
two-story frame building for a mission at
the corner of Ross and Fourth Streets, but.

it was never used for that purpose, and
was afterwards converted into dwellings.

UNITED PRESBYTERIAN.

The organization of the United Presby-
terian Church dates back to 1810. In the

fall of that year George Buchanan, a
licentiate of Philadelphia Presbytery,
preached in Steubenville, Yellow Creek
(now Richmond), and Harmon's Creek
(now Paris), Pa. On the 3d dav of April,

1811, the Rev. Dr. Riddell, of Robinson's
Run, Pa., moderated a call for Mr. Buchan-
an in the above three places. Public serv-

ices were held in the court house until

about 1814 or 1815, when through the ac-

tion of the county commissioners the con-

gregation was compel led to move. They
next occupied a school room that stood on
the lot now occupied by the Christian

Church. This was on the outskirts of the

town at that date. As the congregation
increased, they resolved to build and
bought a lot on North Street west of Fifth,

where they built a brick church forty feet

by fifty, facing North Street. This was
out of town, and to get to it the people had
to come to North Street by Fourth,
Fifth Street not yet being opened. The
pastor partially withdrew from Yellow
Creek, giving one Sunday a month to it,

and dividing his remaining time equally

between Steubenville and Harmon's Creek.

Several families came from the vicinity of
Knoxville, one from near Bloomfield.

Since the pastor's salary was very small

and poorly paid, he, at the solicitation of

the citizens, opened a classical school, in

which some very noted men received their

education, among them being Secretary of

War E. M. Stanton. The congregation, at

that time known as Associate Reformed,
was incorporated January 12, 1830, with
James Campbell, Joseph Walker, Samuel
Wilson and A. McMechan, trustees. It pur-

chased the lot on the southwest corner of
Fifth and North Streets, and in 1838

erected a one-story brick structure, with

basement, facing Fifth Street In 1859 it

was converted into a two-story building,

with audience room above and others be-

low. In January, 1838, Paris yielded its

share of Mr. Buchanan's time and he be-

came pastor of Steubenville alone on a
salary of $500. From statistics of that

year, 1838, the congregation had 112 fam-
ilies and 125 members. This pastorate

continued until October 14, 1855, when the

pastor died, having served, without ceas-

ing, a period of forty-four years. During
this period and previous to i828, the elders

were Messrs. Campbell, Boyd, Andrew Mc-
Mechan, Sr., Hugh Sterling, James McFet-
ridge and Walter Walker. In 1830 or 1831

Andrew McMechan, Jr., and William Cas-

sell were chosen elders. In 1838 Thomas
McConnell, Samuel Filson and M. O. Jun-
kin became elders. In 1847 William
Frazier. In 1857 Rev. J. K. Andrews was
called to the pastorate. In 1863, being ap-

pointed chaplain in the army, he, in effect,
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ceased to be pastor. In September, 1804,
Rev. Joseph W. Clokey was called. He re
signed December 28, 1868. Dr. Clokey was
succeeded by the lamented Kev. Dr. T. .7.

Kennedy. Mr. Kennedy's health failing,

he deuiitted the charge, having served from
January, 1870, to April 8. 187:5. Rev. S. J.

Stewart was the next pastor, taking charge
February, 1874, and continuing until Feb-
ruary, 1877, when he resigned ami joined
the Congregational Church. In June, 1877,
Rev. W. S. Owens, 1). D., was called and
entered on his duties September 21, 1877.

This pastorate continued until September
21, 1880, when Dr. Owens became secre-

tary of the Home Mission Board. In the
meantime a spacious parsonage had been
erected on the lot south of the church, and
in 1884 the old church was torn down and
the present structure was erected at a cost
of $20,000. In addition to the elders al-

ready mentioned. Dr. Thomas Miller and
William MeGowan served in that capacity
until their death. In 1872 James Archer,
R. L. Brownlee, M. L. Miller and II. W.
Nelson, M. D., were inducted into office,

and in 1877 Dr. S. C. Shane. In 1880
David MeGowan and Dr. Joseph Kol>ert-

son were elected, and ordained, and in 1887
T. M. Boal was elected and installed. M. L.

Miller and Dr. Nelson, having changed
their church connection, and M. O. Jun-
kin having died, the bench of elders, as it

stands today, is as follows: James Archer.
R. L. Brownlee, David MeGowan. Dr. Jo-
seph Robertson, (Scorge Swan, I). U. Mc-
Cullongh, J. Lewis Junkin and Thomas
McCullough. Rev. \Y. R. Harshaw, of
New York, was installed June 14. 1887, and,

served until February 4. 1800, when he re-

signed to accept a call in New York City.

Rev. E. M. Milligan was pastor from Octo-
ber 5, 1891, to April 9, 1895. He was fol-

lowed by Rev. Thomas II. I (anna. Jr., who
was ordained and installed May 12, 1890.

During his pastorate a pipe organ was in-

stalled, the changing condition of affairs

gradually leading up to what a number of

years earlier would have been considered a
startling innovation. Mr. Ilanua resigned

in the fall of 1907, and was succeeded by
Thomas M. Liggett, the present pastor,
in the spring of 1908. Rev. Joseph Bu-
chanan, son of Rev. George Buchanan,
dying at over ninety years of age, served
the congregation at intervals when there
was no regular pastor, and he has been in-

valuable as superintendent of the Sunday
school and in other ways during his long
and useful life. About 1890 a mission
school was started on Eighth Street, near
Adams, and subsequently, in 1895, a neat
frame building was erected at the corner
of these two streets, it was decided, how-
ever, to discontinue the mission, and the
building was sold nlwut 1904 to the Simp-
son M. K. congregation. An interesting

Italian mission is at present conducted on
Adams Street, in charge of Rev. Francesco
Argenta. The present membership of the

congregation is three hundred.

BAPTIST.

There was a regular Baptist organiza-

tion in Steubenville in 1812. On May 17

of that year there was a meeting at which
Daniel Woodward was chosen clerk and
Kev. Samuel Yateman culled to the pas-

torate, which he accepted. Among the arti-

cles setting forth a "Declaration of Prin-

ciples" were the following:

"Art. 15. We believe that pride is for-

bidden in the Scriptures, and that it is

the duty of all the followers of the meek
and lowly Jesus to adorn themselves in

modest apparel as people professing god-

liness.

"Ait. 10. We believe that the principle

and practice of slaveholding is an abhor-

rent sin in the sight of God, and very in-

human to man; we therefore refuse to com
inline with slaveholders at the Lord's table,

and with any that will commune with

them."
They do not seem to have erected any

building at this time, ami two years later

the records have this minute: "the church,

having thought proper to remove their

meetings of business from Steubenville.
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met at the house of Mordecai Cole in

Wayne Township, Jefferson County, on the

5th day of March, 1814." This was near
the present site of Unionport, and the sub-

sequent history of that flock will be found
in the chapter on Wayne Township. There
were evidently some Baptists left in Steu-

benville and some sort of an organization
was maintained, which, on May 31, 1824,

purchased from James Hukill a lot on what
is now Church Street, near Adams, for $7.1.

The trustees were John Thompson, Adam
Wise and James Dillon. Here a brick

church was built, which stood until about
forty years ago, when it was torn down
to make room for dwellings. It had long
before been vacant, the last use to which it

had been put having probably been the

meetings of the Kramer congregation there

during the building of their new church
in 1854-5. The main cause of the decline

was doubtlessly due to the rise of what
was known as the Campbell movement,
forming a new organization under the

name of the Disciples of Christ. An effort

was made to revive the Baptist organiza-

tion in the seventies, and a frame church
was built on the west side of Fifth Street,

between Market and Washington, but after

a few yea it* it was abandoned and the

property sold for residence purposes. The
colored people have kept up a Baptist or-

ganization, with more or less regularity,

and meet at 717 Adams Street. Kev. (irand-

ison, pastor.

niSt-H'U* Of < HKIST.

The Wrstern Ht rald and Stcitbiin illt>

(iazctte of September 13, 1828. contained

the following notice: "The citizens of

Steubenville arc respectfully informed

that Messrs, Thomas and A. Campbell will

wait upon them in the court house on Sun-
day the 14th, at 11 o'clock, for the purpose

of preaching the ancient gospel." It is

scarcely necessary to slate that this was
Alexander ('ami hell, of Bethany, Va., who
had already become noted as a preacher,

and Thomas was his brother. They doubt-

less made other visits, and their preach-
ing was so effective that in 1830 twenty-six
names were enrolled in a society of Disci-

ples of Christ, as follows: Rachel John-
son, Ebe Heston, Delila Cummings, Mary
Cable, Thomas Weir, Jane Weir, Lydia
Wise, Jenet Kennedy, John Johnson,*Sr.,
Mary Cable, Daugherty, Susanna
Walker, Elizabeth Dillon, John White,
Elizabeth White, James Daugherty, Jacob
Cable, John Rogers, Elizabeth Rogers,
James Dillon, Anderson, Anna Win-
ters, Hazlett, James Sidebottom,
Henry Phillips, Maria Phillips, A reor-

ganization was effected in 1840 by Alex-
ander and Thomas Campbell, and a lot on
the south side of Dock Street, corner of
Bank Alley, was bought the following year.
A one-story brick church was built, E. M.
Stanton being one of the contributors. The
pastors here were Dr. Poole, William Beau-
mont, John Phillips, D. J. White, S. B. Tee-
garden and P. H. Jones. In 1872 the old
Second Presbyterian Church, building on
North Fourth Street was purchased for
$8,000 and refitted, among other improve-
ments being a baptistery back of the pulpit.

The congregation grew rapidly in its new
quarters, which by 1898 were found too
small, and were replaced by the present
handsome building in 1898. Since 1872
have succeeded the following pastors:
Leonard Southmavd, A. Walden, W. H.
Blanks. A. H. Carter, Mr. Brenendohl. M.
D. Adams, E. A. Bosworth, 1891; C. W.
Hamilton, 1892; fleorge T. Smith, 1895;
J. (>. Slavtor, 19(H); J. W. Kerns, 1902; II.

II. Moningcr. M. J. Orable, 1909; A. F.
Stahl. Present membership. 700.

When the La Belle Land View Compnnv
laid out its hilltop addition in 1902, it of-

fered a lot free of charge to the first relig-

ious society that would undertake to erect

a building on the same for public worship.
The offer was taken up by the Christian
Congregation, and with the funds collected

a neat frame chapel was erected the follow-

ing year, which now has a good congrega-
tion in charge of C. N. Jarrett.

On July 27, 182(i, an organization was in-
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corporated at Steubenville under the name
of "Christian Church," with the follow-

ing members: William Craig, Thomas
Noland, Abram Winters, Sr. and Jr., An-
drew Jones, James Taggart, John Ilause,

Hiram McFeely, William Carman, Henry
Hause and James Tredway. At this time
Alexander Campbell and his followers had
not formally separated from the Baptists,

and there is apparently no connection be-

tween this organisation and the Campbell
society, or Disciples of Christ, which or-

ganized in 1830. There is no subsequent
record of this society.

congregational!

The First Congregational Church was
organized in October, 1875, fifty-two per-
sons, who had withdrawn from the First
Presbyterian Church, forming the nucleus.

The original trustees were Charles Spauld-
ing, W. R. E. Elliott and James Bair. Phil-

harmonic Hall, on Fourth Street below
Market, was used for a short time as a
place of worship, when rooms were fitted

up in the second story of the Odd Fellows
building on North Fourth Street, which
were occupied for seven years. Rev. H.
M. Tenney was the first pastor, who serv ed
until the fall of 1879, and was succeeded

by Rev. W. F. Blaekman. who remained
here until 1884. In 1882 David Spaulding
and W. R. E. Elliott presented to the con-

gregation a lot on the corner of Wash-
ington Street and Bank Alley, where a neat

church and Sunday school building were
completed the following vear, at a cost of

$20,000. Rev. Dan F. Bradley was the

next pastor, who resigned in 188(5 and was
succeeded by Rev. C. W. Carroll, who, in

turn, was succeeded by Rev. Mr. King in

.1891, he remaining about three years. He
was succeeded bv Rev. Joel Swartz in 1894,

and he by Rev. C. C. Merrill early in 1898,

and he, in turn, by Robert II. Higgins in

1902, who remained until 1905. His suc-

cessor was L. TI. Roget, who left in the

fall of 1907, and was succeeded by Morgan
P. Jones, the last incumbent. A pipe

organ was purchased in 1888. The present
membership is about one hundred and the

trustees arc D. J. Sinclair, John McClave,
James Bair and Thomas M. Simpson.

LUTHERAN.

Services in connection with Zion's Ger-
man Lutheran Church were held in the

basement of the Second Presbyterian
Church soon after I860, and a regular or-

ganization was effected in 18(!2. A lot was
purchased on Fifth Street, below AVash-

ington, and a neat brick building erected

thereon at a cost of $3,600, a parsonage-

being added a couple of years later, and an
organ gallery in 1870. Rev. George Pfuhl
was the first pastor, who was succeeded in

1876 by Rev. Mr. Born. He remained
about a year and was succeeded bv Rev.

C. A. Hermann in 1878; Carl Milduer, 1890;

Carl Braun, 1900; A. Lange, 1903; A.
Bender, 1905; Oscar Schaer, 1908. During
Rev. Lang's administration the building

was enlarged and a new pipe organ se-

cured. The present membership is about

250, and the trustees are A. Boethe, Henry
Floto and William Melching.
During Mr. Born's pastorship there was

some dissatisfaction in the congregation
and about 1877 a number of members with-

drew and formed St. John's Lutheran
Church. They met for a while in Barclay's
Hall, corner of Sixth and Market Streets,

but in 1880 the former African Church lot

on the corner of Third and South Streets

was purchased and a brick building, with

a seating capacity of two hundred erected.

The pastors have been Rev. AV. L. Meyer,
Theodore B. Ebert, P. Rather, A. J. Klind-

worth, H. A. P. Ziel, AVilliam Schneider,

E. C. Stellhorn, C. AV. A^oss, J. Humberger,
R. A. Saltzweddell, K. Braeuer. The pres-

ent membership is 127, the trustees being

A. B. Duemlin, E. liakel and A. Lucas.

O fH KR BONIKS.

The Universalist and New Jerusalemites

have had meetings in private houses and
then dissolved.
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A society of Primitive Methodists was
organized in 1869, and the following year
a one-story brick structure, with capacity
for 300 people, was built on the west side

of Sixth Street, near Slack, called

Latimer Chapel. Their pastors were Rev.
G. Parker, W. B. Beach, L. 0. Beach, J. W.
Reed, Mr. Batch, R. FotbergUl and John
Mason. They have since dissolved, and
the building, after being occupied by the

Salvation Army, Colored M. E. and per-

haps one- or two other organizations, was
finally disposed of to private parties.

The Salvation Army, English and Amer-
ican Volunteers of America and other or-

ganizations have their periodical existence

here, but none of them developed into per-

manent institutions. The Roman Catholic

Church in this section has an interesting

history, which is contributed elsewhere.

Quinn Memorial A. M. E. Church is the

oldest organization of this denomination in

Ohio. It was formed, with eighteen mem-
bers in 1823, by Rev. William Pauly Quinn,
who was afterwards elected bishop. The
organization took place in the house of the

first class leader, Jacob Moore, on Fourth
Street, three doors north of South Street.

They first attempted to buy the lot at the

northeast corner of Fifth and North
Streets, but lost it. In 1846 they purchased
the lot at the northwest corner of South
and Third Streets, on which the St. John's
German Lutheran Church now stands. Here
the congregation began to build a church,

which was completed by Rev. Bowman and
dedicated by Rev. M. M. Clark. Dur-
ing Rev. S. II. Thompson's pastorate, in

1873, this building was torn down and for

several years the congregation met in halls

and private houses. In 1878 a lot on the

corner of Fifth and Washington Streets

was purchased from Rev. John Williams
and the dwelling thereon converted into a
temporary church and pastor's residence

combined. Shortly after, xinder the ad-

ministration of Rev. Charles Bundy, the

present neat brick church, 50x35 feet in

dimensions, with lecture room below and

auditorium above, was built. In 1893 Rev.
W. T. Anderson, M. D., finished and fur-

nished the auditorium, and the church was
dedicated by Bishop D. A. Payne, who re-

marked that it was the first he had ever
dedicated entirely free of debt. The hand-
some two-story brick parsonage, which
cost $1,750, was built by Rev. John Dicker-
son during his pastorate. The following
are the pastors in their order: Revs. Moses
Freeman, Jeremiah Miller, Noah C. Can-
non, James Gray, George Bowler, Austin
Jones, George Coleman, Cousins, Reyn-
olds, Turner Roberta, Charleston, Fiatt
Davis, George Coleman, Thomas Lawrence,
G. Boler, Clinton L. Davis, William New-
man, Charles N. Peters, G. Clingerman,
S. H. Thompson, J. Coleman, Simon Rad-
cliff, Jeremiah Bowman, W. Morgan, T.

Sunrise, John Ridgeway, Lewis Gross,
Alexander Austin, Nelson Carter, James
Stewart, S. N. Thompson, William Ralph,
M. M. Smith, S. T. Jones, John Gibbons,
S. II. Thompson (third time), Ralph
Burns, W. H. Lowry, D. N. Mason, A.
March, R. II. Morris, W. H. Coleman, W.
I). Mitchell, C. Bundy, B. P. Wheeler, J. W.
Lewis, D. W. Butler, W. T. Anderson,
M. D., George W. Maxwell, John Dicker-
son, Primus Allston, C. D. White,
Jackson. The trustees are M. M. Brown,
A. J. Guy, John Matthews, George John-
son, David Smith. Present membership,
one hundred.

In 1876 a number of members withdrew
from the A. M. E. congregation and
formed what was known as the Sixth
Street M. E. Church. A frame building
was erected on the east, side of Sixth Street,

above Dock, which was occupied for a num-
ber of years, when financial troubles com-
pelled its relinquishment. The congrega-
tion afterwards acquired Latimer Chapel,
on South Sixth Street, the organization
being now known as Simpson M. E. Church.
Here they remained until the purchase of
the II. P. mission chapel at the head of
Adams Street in 1904, which is now their

permanent home The pastors of this con-
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gregation have been Rev. Messrs. Posey,
Oarr, Bougher and others, E. W. Kitchen
being the present pastor.

HEBREW CONGREGATIONS.

While there have been Hebrew residents

of Steubenville for many years, there does
not appear to have heen any regular or-

ganization until about 1880. Meetings were
held on the Sabbath at private houses for

a while and then at Barclay's Hall, corner
of Sixth and Market Streets. Tlie Syna-
gogue B'Nei Israel was formed with more
commodious quarters in the Pearce block,

on North Fourth Street. During this

period a division occurred, and for a while

there were two organizations, but they aft-

erwards united. On June 4, 11)03, they pur-

chased the M. P. Church building on South
Fifth Street for $11,000, which has been
greatly improved and fitted up for relig-

ious worship. Among the rabbis in charge
have been J. Finelwrg, R. B. Rnphelson.
M. S. Peiros, M. Levy and I. Caplan. the

present incumbent. The membership num-
bers sixty.

llllJI.F. SOCIETY.

The Steubenville Female Bible Society
is one of the oldest institutions of the city,

having been organized as an auxiliary to

the American Bible Society in IS 18. The
object was to place a Bible, free if neces-

sary, in every house, and the surplus, after

providing for local needs, was sent to the

parent society to be used in sending Bibles

to all parts of the world. The original

officers were: Mrs. Sarah Wells, presi-

dent; Miss Hannah (Jrahaiu. secretary, and
Miss Sarah Findley, treasurer, with an
executive committee of twelve.

Among the early members were Mrs.

Hetty Beatty, Mrs. Lydia McDowell. Miss
.lane Hoge, Mrs. Anna Dike, Mrs. Heheccn
.1 unkiti. Mrs. Mary Seinplo. Mrs. Hans
Wilson. Mrs. Mary Buchanan. Mrs. Re-

becca Morse and Mrs. Harriet Conn. Mrs.
Sarah ('. Moody was secretary for fifty

years. Mrs. Finelda B. Donaldson was

elected secretary in 18(»7, and still holds •

that office, keeping up the organization.

YOUNG MEN'S CHRISTIAN ASSOCIATION.

The first organization of the Young
Men's Christian Association was effected
on February 12, 1807, and reorganized on
March 12 of that year. The third floor of
the McConville block at Fourth and Mar-
ket Streets was secured and a spacious
library and reading room fitted up, the

library including about a thousand volumes
belonging to the City Library. This room
proving too expensive, cheaper quarters
were secured in A. Floto's block on North
Fourth Street, and on the completion of
the new Odd Fellows building in 1873, it

was moved across the street to the second
floor of that structure, where it remained
until the latter part of 1875. There not

being sufficient interest to sustain the or-

ganization, it was dissolved and the prop-
erty sold to pay expenses. During this

time a feature of the room was a collection

of zoological, geological and other curiosi-

ties, the property of Archibald Hamilton,
which, unfortunately, has heen scattered
by his death. Shortly after 185)0 the asso-

ciation was revived, and for a few years
occupied (Jarrett's Hall, when it was again
dissolved. Nothing more was done in this

direction until the spring of 1004, when
$1."),000 became available from the estate

of John H. Hawkins. At that time, through
the interest of David McOowan and Dohr
man Sinclair, M. C. Williams, one of the

secretaries of the State Fxeeutive Com-
mittee, came to Steubenville and spent

some time ill an effort to interest the citi-

zens of Steubenville in the movement and
provide the additional money necessary to

purchase a lot and erect a building. This
effort resulted in a subscription of #27.000
being secured, in addition to the $1f).0O0

gift of Mi. Hawkins. In 1JMM5 T. H. Brad-
rick, of Piqua. Ohio, was chosen secretary,

and on November lf> of that year a lot be-

longing to Miss Kllen Davidson, on Fourth
Street, above Washington, liO by ISO feet.
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was purchased for $10,000. Her!>ert B.

Briggs, of Cleveland, was up|>oii]te<l archi-

tect, and work was begun on the present
building a few months later, which was
dedicated and opened for use in May, 1!)05).

It is a handsome structure of light pressed
brick and terra cotta trimmings, with four
stories and basement, occupying practi-

cally the entire lot. The basement has two
rooms in front for reading and games, with
boiler and machinery rooms and swimming
pool in the rear. Above this are the office,

main reception rooms, restaurant and
other rooms for various purposes. The
upper floors are devoted to sleeping rooms
and an auditorium seating about 2f)0. The
gymnasium is furnished with everything
needed in that line, the building is thor-

oughly equipped throughout in every detail

and elegantly finished in marble and hard-
woods. The total cost of the property, in-

cluding furniture, was about $12f),000", and
the whole plant is probably superior to any
other in a city of Steubenville's size in

the country. The present directors are:
II. B. drier, president; II. I). Wintringer,
vice president; John Potter, treasurer; II.

II. McFadden, R. (i. Richards, F. A. Ham
inond, A. \V. Weber, Ceorgc Swan. David
Mcttowan, ('. I?. Crawford, Walter M.
Smith. I). M. timber. K. M. Fisher. W. S.

Walker, (Jeorge S. Hawkins, F. W. Kwans.
II. W. Parmcnter, secretary, F. M. Vocum
and It. C. Kirk.

KAItIA" SOCIAL CIltCt.KS.

Kuough has already been written to show
that in the way of education, culture and
refinement the little town of Kteuhcnvillc

was siH'ond to no other in the western
country. From an interesting article by
Mrs. Ida A. Means in the centennial edi-

tion of the Htritlt/Stor some notes are
made, throwing light on social a flairs of

that period. In these circles the Misses Re-
beccn and Catherine Wells, daughters of

Bezaleel Wells, were acknowledged belles.

Miss Kcbccca was a noted beauty, while
Miss Catherine was noted for her intellec-
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tual qualities and wit, and l>oth were great
favorites and had many suitors, and their

marriages were among the most brilliant

social events of the new century. Miss Re-
becca married Rev. Philander Chase, son
of the bishop of Ohio. Miss Eliza Stokely
and Ross "Wells were their attendants, and
the ceremony was performed in the pres-

ence of a brilliant assemblage of distin-

guished guests. Rev. Chase lived but a
short time, leaving her a widow with one
child, Mary Chase. She afterward be-

came the wife of Intrepid Morse, the vener-
able rector of St. Paul's parish, her second
marriage taking place in the old Academy
on South High Street, after the evening
church services. She wore on the occasion
a beautiful white leghorn hat, trimmed
with an embroidered veil of white net,

which was tied around the crown and
was thrown back over the silken wedding
gown. The veil was embroidered by Miss
Sara Wood, a gentlewoman exj>ert in fine

needlework. Miss Catherine married Dr.
John McDowell, one of the leading physi-
cians of the new city. The younger sis-

ters were also most popular young ladies,

and Miss Annie married K. B. Kellog and
afterward moved to California, and Miss
Sarah married Rev. Dudley Chase, also a
son of the bishop. So that the old home-
stead was a scene of many social gather-
ings and brilliant marriage festivities that

for elegance, hospitality and good cheer
were noted throughout the countryside.
There were a number of Marylanders

among the aristocratic early settlers, and
John Daviess, who built the old stone man-
sion near Portland Station, which is stand-
ing in good preservation today, led a bril-

liant social set, visitors being entertained
each summer from Baltimore, the gentle-

men coming on horseback, and the ladies

in carriages over the wild mountain roads.

Two daughters. Caroline and Sophia, mar
ried Captain (jeorge and I-eander Mitchell,

brothers, of M*. Pleasant, ami removed to

St. Louis and Alton, where they became
leaders in church, social and philanthropic
circles.
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Weddings are among tlie most historic

events of ye olden time, and the first couple
married by Rev. Dr. C. C. Beatty, in his

first pastorate, were 1). L. Collier and
Hettie Larimore. The second couple were
John D. Slack, and Miss Catherine Spencer
in 1823.

One of the most beautiful and romantic
pleasure resorts for the young people was
'•Slack's Linden Hill Gardens," located on
Slack Street and reaching southwest to

what is now Fourth Street extension and
east to where the Pan Handle tracks now
run. This beautiful tract was laid out in

1832 in English landscape gardening of

terraces, right angles and picturesque

walks making an entrancing scene of

l>eauty. The rarest flowers were here

brought to perfection and a conservatory,

bath house and ice cream and other dainty

refreshments were served to visitors. The
property was purchased from Mr. Slack

by W. R. Allison, at that time the editor

of the Hi- raid, in 1852, and remained in

the family until 1879.

One of the swells of 1805 was Robert
Hening, who came with his brother. James
Gordon Hening, from Winchester, Va.,

and cut quite a swath in social circles, and
was always faultlessly attired, as follows:

White silk hat, blue broadcloth coat, linen

frills, small clothes and shoes of marvelous
shine, and was never seen on the street

without his umbrella, lie was a general

merchandise and forwarding business man,
and carried on business on lower Market
Street, on the present site of the Stanley

building. The Hening wareroom was after-

ward burned.
Captain Spencer, of the first battalion

of the Royals, of the English army, mar-
ried Alicia Courtenay, a cultured and high-

ly educated Irish girl, who married the

English soldier without her father's con-

sent in 1799, and came to this country

in 1803, and to Steubenville in 1804. Her
daughter, Catherine, was one of the belles

of the day, and. like her beautiful mother,

married one of the most prosperous young
merchants of the city, Mr. John D. Slack.

without the consent of her guardian, James
G. Hening, the action giving great offense
to her English ancestors.

Mr. Slack had three large stores, and
carried on an extensive business, going east
on horseback for goods, which came by
wagon over the mountains.

Another society belle was Miss Eliza
Stokely, who married James Wilson, only
son of Hans Wilson, who left a large estate

to the Presbyterian missions. Mrs. Wil-
son made her appearance at church after
her marriage, in a most beautiful gown of
pearl gray merino, which opened down the
front over a white satin embroidered petti-

coat. There were little gold catches down
the side of the dress, so that the skirt could-

be closed in over the petticoat or left open
at will. About the neck she wore a cable
watch chain dangling to her waist, and
on her head a rice straw hat so thin and
fine one could see through it. It was
trimmed with roses as large as chrysanthe-
mums. "I thought," said the narrator,

"I had never seen so beautiful a woman,
or one so handsomely dressed."
The Beatty family were also among the

oldest settlers and lived in a brick house,
corner of Fourth and Market Streets, and
were great Churchmen and women. Upon
one occasion the ladies' sewing society

were gathered there making fancy articles

for a church entertainment, and were work-
ing upon chemisettes for gentlemen. These
were fashioned out of fine white material,

with much puffing and many frills,

and were tied about the neck and waist
with strings. One of the beaux culled in

and challenged any lady to don the chem-
isette and promenade Market Street, and
he would donate $5 to the society. Mrs.
Hutchinson took up the dare, donned her
bonnet and the chemisette, and, taking the

gentleman's ami, went out for a stroll,

and she won the $5 for the fund. Miss
Eliza Beatty was one of the children bap-
tized by Bishop Chase in 1817, at his first

baptism in the city.

An elopement was also among the social

happenings of the early part of the cen-
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tury. Miss Fanny Stokely, who was on
her way to a boarding school in Philadel-

phia, stopped en route at Mr. Dorsey's at
Brownsville, Pa. Here she was met by
her lover. Peter Wilson, and they were
married, the youthful bride being only in

her sixteenth year. The family became fa-

mous. George was educated at West Point
and became a classmate of Jeff Davis, and
they went to Prairie du Chien, Wis., to-

gether. Here Lieutenant Davis met Gen-
eral Taylor's daughter and eloped witli

her. Thomas Wilson married a daughter
of David Hoge and settled in Iowa, and
was a judge for forty years, and was suc-

ceeded by his brother, David. Samuel C.
went to California and became one of the
most celebrated lawyers of the coast, and
his sons succeeded him and have recently
won the famous law case for the Stanford
University. The eldest daughter married
Boss Wells, and their home was noted for
hospitality and brilliant entertainments.
George Wilson, a brother of Peter, was a

young physician of Philadelphia, and
started for the West in 18(H). Tn coming
down the river in a flatboat he was wrecked
at Brown's Island and hospitably enter-

tained hy Colonel Brown. Here he met
Bezaleel Wells, who persuaded him to set-

tle in the now city of Steubenville. His
daughter married Dr. Mason and after-

ward General Stokely, and was the mother
of Gen. John S. Mason, George Mason, the

attorney; Mrs. E. S. Wood, Mrs. Colonel
Lloyd and Mont. S. Stokely. (jeneral

Stokely purchased the Grove in 1S:{1».

Among the noted receptions was that of
Judge Wright in honor of Henry Clay. It

was given at the homestead, corner of Sev-
enth and Market Streets, and they had a
large drawing room, extending on Market
Street, where the brilliant assemblage of

guests were presented to Mr. Clay. Mrs.
Wright was a sister of Colonel James and
Daniel L. Collier. Judge Wright, upon his

removal from the city, sold this property
to Judge Tappan, whose wife was his sis-

ter. Judge Tappan afterward married
Mrs. Frazer. the mother of Abner and

James Frazer and Mrs. Alexander An-
drews, who was the mother of E. F. An-
drews, the artist.

Daniel L. Collier came here from Stock-
bridge, Conn., and was one of the most ele-

gant and poplar beaux of the century. He
married Hetty, daughter of David Lari-

more, a most beautiful girl, who is still liv-

ing and makes her home with her daughter
in Omaha, at the advanced age of ninety-

four years. They built the colonial man-
sion on Market Street, afterwards the

home of Mrs. Dr. Thomas Johnson, the

Collier family leaving many years ago for

Philadelphia.

Judge Dike built the homestead, now
the residence of Thomas Barclay, on Mar-
ket Street, and married a daughter of Dr.

John McDowell, who was a staff officer on
General Washington's staff. During the

AVar of the Revolution a British officer sur-

rendered to Dr. McDowell, and his sword,

with its silver scabbard, was given to an-

other daughter, Mrs. Judge Leavitt, who
afterward had the silver made into spoons.

Years after, at the wedding of Col. John J.

MeCook and Miss Alexander, of New York,

a young English gentleman told the inci-

dent of his paternal ancestor losing a silver

sword and expressed great anxiety for its

recovery. An investigation proved that

this historic sword was now doing business

as a spoon.

The Andrews family also added to the

social status of the city. Martin Andrews,
the pioneer, had a large wholesale grocery

and his son, John, became a noted physi-

cian and president of the State Bank of

Ohio, and married Miss Phoebe Lord, of

Columbus. He met her while he was visit-

ing his sister, the second Mrs. Judge Tap-
pan. A son of Dr. Andrews, Martin, mar-
ried Carrie Wolcott and became a wealthy
resident of Chicago. Dr. Andrews also had
a number of other children.

Wells & Dickenson were great sheep

raisers, and their wool took the first pre-

mium for fine merino at the State Fair at

Baltimore, Md., in the early twenties, it

being the first State Fair ever held in the
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United States. The premium was a hand-
some silver cup. The cup is now in pos-
session of Mr. Dickenson's granddaughter,
and is a priceless heirloom in the family.
Le Marquis de Lafayette was so delighted
with the enterprise of Messrs. Wells and
Dickenson that he sent them a present of a

fine ram and two ewes. The ram was the
famous "Bolivar," to which many re-

nowned merinos trace their record. This
cup was also used as the first communion
cup at the first sacrament of the pioneer
Episcopal Church, the wine being served
from a black bottle.

Among the pioneer clergy was the Rev.
George Buchanan, who organized the first

United Presbyterian Church. He wns born
in York, Pa., in 1783. and graduated at

Dickinson College and studied theology
under the celebrated Dr. Mason and grad-
uated in the first class of the first theolog-

ical seminary established in this country.

He established churches at Richmond and
Paris, Pa. Rev. Buchanan also opened a
classical school for boys in the basement
of his residence on upper Market Street,

among the number being Edwin M. Stan-
ton; Dr. John Newton, the first American
missionary to India; .Judge Johnson, of
Cincinnati; Judge Wilson, of Iowa; John
Hoge, lawyer, of San Francisco; the

Wellses, Wrights, Dohnnans, Tappnns,
Sutherland*, (Jeorge Beatty, and others,

who became prominent. He was in de-

mand throughout the countryside to per-

form the marriage ceremony and married
five hundred couples during his ministry,

and had some rich experiences, and at one
time after riding to Island Creek to marry
a couple, the groom offered to pay the fee

in a bushel of castor oil beans, which were
jocosely declined, lie was chaplain of the

regiment which rendezvoused here in the

War of 1812. A report came in that the

British and Indians were going to sweep
down on the city, and the soldiers were
panic-stricken. Rev. Buchanan called them
together in the court house and preached
a powerful sermon from the text. "Go up
to battle, for the Lord is with you." This

inspired great courage, and, riding his fa-

mous horse, "Punch," he led the host to

rout the enemy, but, alas, it was a false

alarm.
Judge Wilson's family were one of the

most popular in the city, and their elegant

homestead on Logan Street, afterward
occupied by Col. .lames Collier, was the
scene of many gay festivities. He had a

large family, and his eldest daughter mar-
ried Mr. Lariinore, a brother of Mrs.
Daniel Collier. His youngest son, .Joseph

Wilson, who studied for the ministry and
married Miss Woodrow Wilson, is the

noted professor and writer at Princeton
College.

Mrs. Sheldon, a handsome and cultured

lady, of Hartford, Conn., also selected

Steubenville as her home, and had a family

of beautiful daughters, who were popular
young ladies of the first social era of the

city. The eldest married David Moody,
Sr., the cashier of the Farmers and Me-
chanics' Bank. The other daughters mar-
ried Christopher Orth, Alexander Mc-
Dowell and Dr. .John McCook. They all

reared large families, and their sons and
daughters occupied honored positions in

the world.

Rev. Ohadiah Jennings, of the First

Presbyterian Church, was a man of learn-

ing, and afterward became president of

Washington and .Jefferson College, and his

wife was a sister of Dauiel Jitter, and his

<laughter married Governor Wise, of Vir-

ginia. He was succeeded here by Rev. C. C.

Beatty, sou of Major Krkuries Beatty, pay-
master of the western army, who made a

survey of the Ohio in 17S,">. and afterward
settled in Steubenville. Rev. Realty's first

wife was a sister of Rev. Matthew Brown,
president of Washington & Jefferson Col-

lege, and he afterward married Miss Hettie

Davis, who founded the Steubenville Fe-
male Seminary in 1S"_'!1.

One of Hie gayest seasons, when the

social circle of ye olden time was in the

zenith of its glory, was upon the time that.

Henry Clay and Judge McLennan visited

the city. Parties and receptions followed.
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The ladies sent to Philadelphia for their

gowns of rich brocade, silk and lace, which
are yet heirlooms in many of the old fam-
ilies, and are brought out ou festive occa-
sions. The gentlemen were also in gay at-

tire, and wore blue broadcloth coats, ruffled

shirts, buff vests and small clothes with
silken hose. Their manners were most gal-

lant and courteous, and they were cele-

brated in a later day and known as gen-
tlemen of the "old school." Captain
Spencer was one of the noted gallants, and
his sisters were famous musicians, Mrs.
Scull being the happy recipient of the first

piano ever brought over the mountains.
One of the greatest social events of the

year was the Washington Ball, given on
February 22, in the old Washington Hall
that stood on the site of the present Mc-
Conville Hotel. The ballroom was made
resplendent with mirrors and flags, and
the floor was waxed in the perfection of
smoothness for the minuet, the greatest
honor among the belles being the opening
of the ball. Upon this auspicious occasion
General Stokely was the honored guest,

and upon him devolved the important feat
of opening the ball. The maidens fair had
assembled in all their pomp of brocade,
powder and hoops, and each was on the
qui vive as to who should be chosen as the
general's partner. With merry banter and
repartee they left their dressing room, and
as the custom of the day walked into the
ballroom and were seated in a row by the
wall; the gentlemen being already assem-
bled, the decisive moment was at

hand. The general, equal to the occasion,

passed down the room, the target of bright
eyes, and with low obeisance, extended his

hand to Miss Elizabeth Collier, and led off

the dance, opening one of the gayest balls

in the annals of the city.

Among other prominent families who
have contributed to the business enter-

prises and social pleasures of the city were
the Roberts, Dohnnans, (iallaghers. Means,
.Tunkins, Parks, Doyles, O'Neals, McDon-
alds. McFeelys, MeDevitts, McGowans,
Wolcotts, McCooks, Allisons, Johnsons,

Kagans, Sutherlands, Warners, Jewetts,
Keids, Stewarts, Filsons, Donaldsons, Kil-

gores, Davidsons, Elliotts, Spauldings,
Dotys, and many others whose names
would fill a volume.

city'uohtinci.

Steubenville has the reputation of being
the best lighted city in the Union, and there
is little doubt that such is the case. On
March 23, 1850, an act was passed incor-

porating the Steubenville Gas Light and
Coke Company, the incorporators being
Benjamin P. Drennen, Christopher C. Wol-
cott, James II. Warner, John Andrews
and James Means. The subscription books
were opened at John Andrews's counting
room on April 25, and on May 4 following
a board of directors was elected, consisting

of John Andrews, president; Roderick S.

Moody, secretary; D. L. Collier, Thomas
Johnson, Francis G. Macey and John Lock-
wood. A lot was purchased at the north-

west corner of High and Adams Streets,

and work of building was begun by John
Lockwood & Co. in October, 1850. The
first superintendent was Thomas Jones,
and he was followed by Louis A. Walker,
Andrew J. Carroll, Joseph Gwynn, J.

Charles Ross and J. Rothery. The mains
were first laid up High Street to Market,
up Market to Fifth and up Third to Wash-
ington, subsequently taking in all the older

portions of the city, with some fourteen

miles of pipe. The Steubenville coal was
suited to the manufacture of gas, and the

sale of coke and other byproducts of the

retorts added considerably to the income.

By the fall of 188b* electric lighting was
coming into vogue in the larger cities, and
not to be behind the Steubenville Electric

Light ami Power Company was organized
and a plant constructed on the Zink lot,

near the foot of North Street. The new
light met with favor, and the gas company
having an unexpired contract with the city,

the new company offered to place arc lights

at the principal street intersections at the

nominal price of $1 per year, with the ex-
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pectation of getting a more profitable con-
tract when that with the old company
should expire. It was evident that the
latter must do something or go out of busi-
ness. Accordingly it was decided to enlarge
the plant with a complete electrical outfit,

and in July, 1889, the company was reor-
ganized under the name of the Steubenville
Gas and Electric Company, wliich pur-
chased the assets of the other corporation,
including its street car business. The
works were fitted up with the most ap-
proved machinery and the street car cor-

poration came under control of the same
persons. This lasted about ten years,
when, as related elsewhere, Philadelphia
capitalists took over the whole plant, in-

cluding the car lines, making further exten-
sions and improvements. As natural gas
and electricity came into general use as
illuminants the manufacture of coal gas
was abandoned as unprofitable. There are
now 281 public arc lights in the city, be-
sides numerous private ones at entrances
of business blocks, while thousands of in-

enndescents make the streets a* light as
day.

CENTENNIAL CKI.KHRATIONS, ETC.

While Steubenville celebrated the semi-
centennial of the nation in 1826, it wns re-

solved to have a much more imposing cele-

bration on July 4, 1876. A grand triumphal
arch was erected at the intersection of
Fourth and Market Streets, while the en-
tire city was literally smothered with flags,

bunting and flowers. There was an impos
ing procession, both military and civic, in

which agriculture and all trades and pro-
fessions were represented. The celebra-
tion began with an illumination of the
court house and other buildings at mid-
night on July 3, and continued until the fol-

lowing midnight. A heavy storm came up
during the progress of the procession, but
the exercises were carried out during the
afternoon and evening. The Declaration
of Independence was read by Col. W. R.
Lloyd, and addresses were made by Messrs.

Trainer, Gaston, Hays, Daton, Coulter,

Milligan and others, and a poem by Rev.
S. J. Stewart.
The year 1878 was marked by a terrible

railroad disaster west of Mingo. Passen-
ger train No. 6 left Steubenville in the
early morning of August 7, and while run-
ning at a high rate of speed along the

dump just beyond Cross Creek bridge col-

lided with a freight train coming east. The
immediate cause of the collision appears to

have been the stopping of the watch of
Sterling, the conductor of the freight train,

who left New Alexander station supposing
he had time to reach Mingo l>efore the ar-

rival of Mo. 6. Both engines, a postal car,

baggage car and first coach were demol-
ished. Fourteen persons were killed out-

right, three died afterwards, and between
thirty and forty others suffered injuries

more or less serious. The city for the next
two or three days was almost like a ekar-

nel house.

The principal event of 1879 was the

great Tri-State reunion, elsewhere de-

scribed. This was preceded by the Loan
Exhibition, held for two weeks in the court

house, l>eginning on Mav lf». The gross re-

ceipts were $4,500 and" the profits $2,200.

There was a magnificent display of costly

and unique articles from all parts of the

country. The general committee was com-
posed of Dr. E. Pearce, president; Mrs.
.1. W. Holliday, vice president ; W. II. Hun-
ter, secretary; Robert McGowan, treas-

urer; John IT. Lindsay, W. A. Long, J. W.
Evans, II. D. Worthington, James Mc-
Conville, Charles Gallagher, Robert Sher-
rard. Samuel Johnson, M. L. Miller, R. C.

Hawkins, R. Gardner, George Maxwell, W.
1 1. Wallace, Jones Munker, J. B. Dovle, M.
R. Andrews. D. W. Matlack, J. F. Snr-

ratt, T. M. Simpson, Mrs. W. D. McGregor,
Mrs. W. Peters, Mrs. William Grimes, Mrs.

R. L. Brownlee, Mrs. K. Crumrine, Mrs. E.
IVarce. Mrs. T. R. Coulter, Mrs. W. II.

Harden. Mrs. George Sharp* Mrs. Joseph
Means. Mrs. C. Tolle, Miss E. Spaulding,
Miss Hannah Gill, Miss Julia Galloway,

Digitized by Google



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 427

Miss Virginia Means, Mrs. W. R. Zink and
many others, who gave faithful lahor on
the sub-committee.
Among the early places of amusement in

the city were Stiers's Hall, on the south-

west corner of Sixth and Market Streets,

and old Kilgore Hall, on the south side of
Market, below Fourth. About 1855 Kil-

gore 's new hall was erected on the north
side of Market Street, west of Fifth, which
did service for manv vears and in which
Carlotta Patti, Gottschalk, Wilhelmji, Ru-
binstein and many other performers of
note appeared. Public entertainments were
not as numerous in those days as at pres-

ent, but the average quality was certainly

higher. The property subsequently passed
into the hands of J. W. Gray and II. G.
Garrett, and finally to the latter gen-
tleman, who practically doubled its size,

giving an interior of 120xG0 feet, with full

equipment of stage dressing rooms, etc.

This served the purpose of larger enter
tainments until the erection of the new
city building and opera house in 1882.

After that it passed through various
phases and is now the home of the National
Theater, devoted chiefly to vaudeville.

The erection of the Manly Foster block,

on the west side of Fourth Street, below
Market, provided a hall in the third story,

with a capacity of .150 people. In 1877 it

became the home of the Philharmonic So-
ciety, which occupied it for several years
and leased it for miscellaneous purposes.
It is now u portion of the Elks clubhouse.

The completion of the new court house in

1874 also afforded a large room for public

meetings of a general character, but the

opening of the City Opera House genernlly
displaced all others for the time being. The
Turner building, on South Third Street,

contained a large hall suitable for dances,

fetes and other gatherings, and among the
minor halls were the Pearce on North
Fourth Street, armory on North Sixth.

Walker's on Market, Floto's on Fourth
and others of a semi-public character. The
next auditorium of any size was furnished
in the new High School building and since

then by the Y. M. C. A. The Airdome, a
roofless summer theater on North Third
Street, furnishes accommodations during
hot weather, and during the last few years
the moving picture craze has converted
numerous storerooms into places for that
sort of entertainment
The dates of the erection of some of the

older business blocks still standing are
given as follows: 1829 and 1830 the Kil-

gore and Spencer, now Sinclair blockB, cor-

ner of Fourth and Market Streets; 1829
and 1848, TurnbuU, Market, west of
Fourth; 1850, Scott's, South Fourth; 1846-

1847, Stiers, now Steubenville Hardware,
Sixth and Market; 1856, Collins, Market;
Russell, Sixth and Market; 1865, Mears,
lower Market; 1866, McConville, Fourth
and Market; 1874, Commercial Bank,
Fourth and Market; 1870, Barclay, Sixth
and Market; 1865, Watson, Market, west
of Bank Alley; 1874, Walker's Market;
1872, Schaefer-Bullock, North Third; 1872,

Pittsburgh Hotel; 1875, Davidson-McCon-
ville, North Fourth

; 1877, Johnson, Fifth

and Market; Specht, North Fourth; 1879,

Raney, Sheal & Co., North Fourth; 1887,

McConville Hotel; 1894, Lindsey and Falk,

South Fourth; 1907, Erwin & Robinson,
North Fourth.

In 1879 Steubenville had three military

companies, A, B and C of the Second Regi-

ment, Ohio National Guard, and had an
armory on North Sixth Street, furnished

by the city, which was opened in Septem-
ber, 1877." The B and C companies were
disbanded that year, but Company A, orig-

inally the Jefferson, and afterwards the

Baron Guards, continued some time longer.

A company of cadets was also organized
in September of that year, but the military

spirit evidently waned, for the companies
soon after disbanded. The Schwabenverein
acquired the armory property and has
since erected a new building thereon. A
company of cadets has recently been organ-

ized, in which considerable iuterest is

manifested.
As the year 1897 approached there was

a general desire that the centennial of the
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legal organization of the county and the
founding of the city should he observed in

an adequate and 6tting manner, and at the

same time make an effort to collect and
preserve historical data covering the pe-

riod from the time that this valley first he-

came known to the white man. In further-
ance of this idea the Bezaleel Wells His-
torical Society was incorporated on March
7, 1893, by Rev. A. M. Reid, Davison Fil-

son, Joseph B. Doyle, Thomas P. Spencer,
(ieorge W. MeCook, George A. Maxwell,
Robert McGowan, 1). J. Sinclair, W. McD.
Miller and William It. Johnson. Little was
done during that year except in the way of
preparing constitution and other prelim-
inary work, and on February 1, 1894, the
following permanent officers were elected

:

President, D. Filson; vice president, Rob-
ert Sherrard; recording secretary, J. B.

Doyle; corresponding secretary," W. H.
Hunter; treasurer, D. J. Sinclair; trustees,

George W. MeCook. Winfield Scott, Charles
Gallagher, A. C. Ault and E. M. Crawford,
with R. E. Roberts, Frank Stokes and A.
M. Reid subsequently added, the last

named becoming vice president on the
death of Mr. Sherrard. Between that time
and 1897 considerable historical data were
collected and interest created in the forth-

coming celebration to be held on August
25, the anniversary of the first sale of lots.

On January 7, on motion of Hon. J. A.
Mansfield, a committee was appointed, con-

sisting of Messrs, Mausfield, Scott, Oliver,

Maxwell and Doyle, to inaugurate the cen-

tennial movement and enlist the commu-
nity as a whole in the enterprise. Public
meetings were called, and (ieorge W. Me-
Cook was made president of the centennial

organization, Charles Gallagher vice presi-

dent, D. W. Matlaek secretary, Frank H.
Kerr corresponding secretary, and P. .1.

Sinclair treasurer. An executive commit-
tee was selected as follows: (ieorge A.
Maxwell, chairman; Robert McGowan, J. J.

Gill, S. Laublieim. Hugh McGinnis, C. II.

Steele, Winfield Scott. William Vermillion,

1). U. MeCullough. Other members of the

general committee were: .1. M. Cook. W. B.

Donaldson. 11. X. Mertz, II. H. McFadden,
Isaac MeCullough, G. B. Boren, R. E. Rob-
erts. .1. T. llodgens, E. M. Crawford,
Charles Waddell, .John Underwood, J. I).

Rothacker, R. M. Crabbs, I. N. Croskey,
S. Z. Alexander, R. A. Brvant, David Simp-
son, C. II. Stoll, S. B. Taylor, John
Francey, J. A. Mansfield, J. B. Doyle,

Davison Filson ami J. F. Oliver, William
Riley, Thomas Sharp, William Winters
and 0. N. Brown.

Sub-eommittees were organized as fol-

lows, the chairmen largely constituting the
general meeting, which was held each Mon-
day evening for six months:

Ladies' committee—President, Mrs. D.
J. Sinclair; secretary, Dr. Nettie Erskine;
treasurer, Mrs. Dr. John Pearcc; vice

presidents, Mesdames T. B. Wright, Ida
Elliott, V. McEldowney, W. R. Zink, John
M. Cook, Miss Jessie McKee.
Military—Dr. John Pearee, chairman;

A. C. Blackburn, W. F. Ridgley, J. F.
Oliver, R. G. Richards, Charles Gallagher,
J. D. Porter, James Lavery, B. N. Lind-
sey, J. F. Sarratt, E. II. Sprague and John
Stewart.

Stanton Memorial— II. G. Dohrman, H.
L. M. Dotv, Corresponding secretary; W.
C. Bracken, J. B. Doyle, 11. B. (irier, H. H.
McFadden. R. J. Morrison, J. F. Oliver,

Dr. A. M. Reid, T. M. Simpson.
Log Cabin—J. C. Ault, B. II. Maxwell,

C. P. Filson.

Invitation—J. L. Means, R. (1. Richards,

Dr. A. M. Reid, Judge J. A. Mansfield.

Advertising—Sig Laubheim, Frank II.

Kerr, H. G. Dohrman, W. M. Trainer.
Transportation— J. M. Reynolds. G. A.

Maxwell. G. W. MeCook.
Programme—Charles Gallagher, G. A.

Maxwell, (i. W. MeCook.
Printing—W. II. Hunter.
Finance—Robert McGowan, J. J. Gill,

Thomas Johnson. Charles Gallagher.

Educational— II. X. Mertz, Dr. R. Laugh-
lin. Rev. W. B. Irwin. Dr. .1. C. M. Floyd,

Rev. Father Hartley. Kev. Father Thomp-
son.
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Church History—Dr. A. M. Reid, Rev.
W. B. Irwin, W. H. Hunter.
Decoration—Dr. B. J. C. Armstrong, Ed-

ward Nicholson, D. J. Sinclair.

Bureau of Information and Public Com-
fort—W. M. Trainer.
Fireworks—P. C. Chambers, Robert Mc-

Gowan, C. S. Moony, Homer Permar,
James Moody, Charles Caldwell, Charles
Irwin, Harvey Smith, John Saulters, Fred
Kaufman, William Kaufman.

Soliciting—Joseph Basler, Joseph P.
Bickar, B. W. Mettenberger, Charles Mc-
Connaughey.

It was decided to hold a three-day cele-

bration, Tuesday the 24th to be devoted to

the memory of E. M. Stanton, Steuben-
ville's greatest citizen; Wednesday the

25th Pioneer day and Tuesday the 26th
Military day. The approximate site of

Fort Steuben, the original land office, Stan-
ton's birthplace and other appropriate
sites were appropriately marked and the

decorations exceeded anything ever before
attempted in the city. Flags, bunting,

floral designs, Chinese and Japanese lan-

terns and every conceivable device made
the city a wave of fluttering color, while
every public building, every street and
numberless private dwellings were crowded
with visitors. Portraits of Baron Steu-

ben, Thomas Jefferson, Bezaleel Wells,

James Ross, E. M. Stanton and others

whose names were identified with the his-

tory of county and city were everywhere in

evidence, and much of the excellent effect

of these and other decorations was due to

C. P. Filson, our local artist. "Welcome"
was the prominent word in the decorations,

indicating the hospitality of the city to

thousands of visitors. Fonr triumphal
arches spanned the main streets, and on the

court house square was a log cabin built

entirely without nails, in which was u col-

lection of interesting pioneer relics. Other
similar exhibitions were held at other
points in the city. During the celebration

a brigade of the Seventeenth infantrv, U.
S. A., Col. L. M. O'Brien, and the Eighth
regiment of infantry of the O. N. G., Col.

C. V. Hard, were encamped on Pleasant
Heights. A brigade of the naval reserves
from Toledo, Lieut. Com. Myer Greeland,
was also camped in the city. Duquesne
Greys, of Pittsburgh) Capt. W. L. Adams,
commanding; Washington Infantry, of
Pittsburgh, Capt. E. R. Geilfuss command-
ing; Sheridan Sabres, Wilkinsburg, Pa.,

Capt. L. M. Eagye commanding, were also

present.

On Tuesday morning school children

from all parts of the county began as-

sembling to celebrate Stanton day. At 10
o'clock there was a formal opening at the
Opera House, with Capt. J. F. Oliver in the
chair. After an invocation by Rev. E. W.
Cowling, rector of St. Stephen's parish,

Prof. D. W. Matlack introduced Dr. W. H.
Venable, of Cincinnati, one of Ohio's lead-

ing educators, who delivered a scholarly
address on Ohio men and Ohio ideas.

At 1 o'clock in the afternoon the school

children of the county assembled at the

court house and different school buildings
and marched to their places in the proces-
sion, each scholar carrying an American
flag. The general parade was under the
direction of Chief Marshal J. L. Selah, and
with a platoon of police and local and visit-

ing bands, formed in the following order:
School children, judges and members of
the bar, county and visiting officials within
the original limits of Jefferson county,
board of education, clergy, Wells Historical

Society, Centennial Committee, Jefferson
County Medical Society, Stanton Post, G.
A. R., with drum corps; citizens on foot
and in carriages, city officials, ambulance.
This division was preceded by Stanton
relatives, distinguished guests and mili-

tary. The procession marched to the birth-

place of Mr. Stanton, on Market street,

where a dense crowd was gathered, and
after the "Star Spangled Banner" by
the Seventeenth Infantry band, Captain
Oliver called the assemblage to order and,
after invocation by Rev. L. N. Stewart, in-

troduced Gen. Daniel E. Sickels, who
delivered a graphic review of Mr. Stan-
ton's career. As before stated, the birth-
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place of Stanton is a two-story brick, set

back from Market street, near Sixth, with
a small enclosed yard between the house
and the sidewalk. In after years a three-

story business house was built in front of
the old house, and on the front of the lat-

ter building had been plnced a bronze tab-

let bearing these words

:

EDWIN M. STANTON
ATTOBKEV-nKNEBAl.
Secretary of War

Justice or the Supreme Court
Born here 19th December, 1814

Erected by the JSthool Children of Jtffrrmn Count j,.

It may be remarked that a banner was
awarded to the Irondale school for the
largest contribution in proportion to its en-

rollment outside the city. At the conclu-

sion of his address General Sickles pulled
the cord which allowed the flag to fall from
the tablet, which was greeted by enthusias-
tic cheers as the plate was exposed to view,

lion. R. Tayler, then representative in Con-
gress, now judge of the United States court
at Cleveland, gave a most able analy-
sis of Stanton's character. The exercises

concluded with the singing of "America"
by the school children, and benediction bv
Rev. A. M. Reid.

At 7:30 p. in. a memorial meeting was
held by the bar in the opera house, Dio
Rogers presiding, at which a eulogy was
delivered by Hon. J. H. S. Trainer, a con-

temporary of Mr. Stanton. Following this

a colonial reception was held in the court
room which was the brilliaut social event

of the entire demonstration. It was in

charge of the following ladies: Mrs. D. J.

Sinclair, Mrs. Arnold Dohrman. Mrs. K. S.

"Wood, Mrs. Mary K. Means, Miss Agnes
Wells, Mrs. Geo. W. McCook, Mrs. W. R.
Zink, Mrs. Dr. John Pearce, Mrs. Ida
Means, Mrs. M. M. K. White, Baroness
Lagerfelt, Mrs. John M. Cook. Mrs. K.
Gardner, Mrs. Charles Gallagher, Miss
Ellen Davidson. Mrs. G. G. Gaston. Mrs.
Geo. Henrv, Miss Laura Parks. Mrs. T. B.

Wright, Mrs. Ida Elliott, Mrs. II. G. Dohr-
man, Mrs. Dr. F. S. Maxwell. Mrs. Judge
Mansfield, Dr. Nettie F>rskine.

A great pioueer and industrial parade,
under command of W. B. Donaldson, was
the event of Wednesday, after which the
people gathered at La Belle Park at the
upper end of the city where a large speak
er's platform had been erected. Hon. J.

J. Gill presided and made a brief introduc-

tory speech, after which invocation was
offered by Rev. G. W. MacMillan of Rich-
mond, followed by a congratulatory ad-

dress by Hon. H. L. Chapman. Hon.
John M. Cook made an address of welcome,
followed by the orator of the day, Hon.
Webster Davis. After him came brief ad-

dresses by Major McKisson. of Cleveland,
Hon. John J. Sullivan, of Warren, Lieut.

Gov. Asa W. Jones, Rev. John J. McCook,
of Hartford, Conn.; Adjutant General
Axline, Gen. E. R. Eckley, Hon. E. O. Ran-
dall, secretary of the Ohio Historical So-
ciety and supreme court reporter, Gen. An-
son G. McCook. Thursday was military

day, and the procession under command of

Chief Marshal R. G. Richards included the

visiting organization already mentioned
with Duquesne Greys Infantry, Pittsburgh;
Washington, Pa., Infantry, Sheridan Sa-
bers, Wilkinsbnrg, Pa.; Pierpont Post. G.

A. R. Pittsburgh; Harry Hale Post, Iron-

dale ; Stanton Post, city ; survivors 2d O. V.
I., and old soldiers of eastern Ohio, West
Virginia and western Pennsylvania, under
command of Gen. A. G. McCook. The
carnpfire at La Belle Park was called to

order by Rev. J. A. Thrapp, lieutenant 95th
O. V. 1., who announced Hon. K. G. Rich-
ards a^ secretary. Bev. R. A. McKinlcy
offered prayer, and Gen. S. IT. Hurst de-

livered an eloquent oration. Hon. L. Dan-
ford also delivered an address. The cele-

bration closed on Thursday night, with a
magnificent display of fireworks at the

"old fair grounds," now the site of La
Belle mill offices.

The proceedings of Stanton Day re-

vived interest in a project which had been
broached several years before, namely the

erection of a monument to Stanton in his

native city. Alexander Doyle, the cele-

brated sculptor, also a native of Steuben-
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ville, had already offered to donate his

services for this purpose, and there was
the nucleus of a fund in a small balance
left after paying for the tablet contributed
by the school children. On August 11, a
couple of weeks before the celebration, pa-
pers of incorporation were issued to 1). J.

Sinclair, H. O. Dohrman, J. B. Doyle, D.
W. Maltack, F. M. Simpson, John F.

Oliver, II. II. McFadden, J. L. Selah, II.

B. Grier and J. H. S. Trainer, and a pre-

liminary organization was formed with
Messrs. Dohrman and Doyle president and
secretary. In October of that year several

contributions were received towards the

cause, but the subject soon after became
dormant and remained so until 1906, when
E. F. Andrews, another artist native of

Steubenville, presented a life-size portrait

of Stanton to the bar association, and by
the latter transferred to the county. Ad-
dresses were made by Hon. J. A. Mans-
field, Hon. A. S. Worthington, Col. John
J. McCook, of New York; Hon. B. G. Rich-
ards, Capt. J. IT. Oliver, Hon. John M.
Cook, Erasmus Wilson, and W. H. Hunter,
with other appropriate exercises. As a re-

sult of this meeting, the association was
called together and reorganized. Liberal

contributions were received, including an
appropriation of *o,000 by the county and
the last stage of the work entered upon.
At this writing the model of the monument
is practically completed aud it will shortly

be located at the main entrance to the court

house. The bronze figure is somewhat
above life size, and represents Mr. Stanton
as a lawyer. Jt stands upon a suitable

pedestal, the whole being about eighteen

feet high. Following are the present of-

ficers of the association, under whose
charge the project has l>een practically

brought to completion : President, Geo. W.
McCook; vice-presidents. Gen. Daniel E.
Sickles, New York; Augustus S. Worthing-
ton, Washington, I). C. ; Col. John J. Mc-
Cook, New York; Hon. Frank H. Kerr;
Hon. John M. Cook; secretary, Jos. B.

Doyle; treasurer, Robert McGowan;
trustees, George 1). Cook, New York; Hon.

Wm. McD. Miller, Josiah C. Ault, Capt.
John F. Oliver, B. Frank Ridgley, Robert
M. Francv, Toronto ; Horatio G. Dohrman,
James W. Gill, Charles P. Filson.

HOSPITALS.

As far back as 1875 the P. C. & St. L.
Ry. Co. conducted a hospital on North
Seventh street for the accommodation of
employes and others injured on its lines.

Tt was in charge of B. D. Worthington, and
was subsequently moved to the Drennen
House, now the freight offices ,at the corner
of North street and the railroad, where it

was managed for several years by Mrs. M.
J. Lee and finally discontinued. In the
meantime the Kings' Daughters society,

feeling the necessity of some general
hospital organization, began in a modest
way by leasing apartments at the comer
of Sixth and North streets, where accom-
modations were given those needing the
same. Outgrowing this an eight-room build-

ing was leased on the corner of Seventh
and Logan streets, whose need was dem-
onstrated by the fact that it was soon oc-

cupied to its full capacity. About the year
1899 Hon. J. J. Gill proposed if sufficient

guarantee were given for its proper main-
tenance he would erect and equip a hospital

building with all modern improvements.
Considerable interest was manifested in

the matter, and Mr. Oill proceeded to erect

a hospital on one of his lots on North Sixth
street, which was completed early in 1901,

which, with subsequent additions, has cost

about $50,000. The business affairs of the

hospital are conducted by the following
board of trustees: J. W. Gill, president;

Robert McGowan. W. H. McClinton, R. G.
Richards, Mrs. E. Y. Dougherty, Mrs. Rob-
ert McGowan and Mrs. John M. Cook. In
addition there is a board of lady managers,
including the three just named, with Mrs.
Dr. Kelly, president; Mrs. McClave,
treasurer; Miss N. Davis, secretary; Miss
E. Alexander. Mrs. D. W. Crawford, Miss
E. Davidson. Miss A. Elliott, Mrs. J. Field-

ing. Mrs. E. Feist, Mrs. G. N. Henry, Mrs.
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T. A. Hammond, Mrs. Kil Kirk, Mrs. II. H.
McFadden, Mrs. A. McLane, Mrs. Dr.
Mossgrove, Mrs. J. M. Robinson, Mrs. C.
H. Steele, Mrs. A. B. Sharp.
A recent organization is the Business

Men's Association, whose object is the wel-
fare of the city. The officers and trustees
are: H. D. Wintringer, president; Carl
Smith, vice-president; Easton McGowan,
second vice-president; L. M. Leopold,
treasurer; A. D. McMillan, secretary; Van
Horn Ely, L. H. Loomis, J. Wheaton, C.
D. Simeral, H. B. Grier, Dr. J. C. M. Flovd,
F. C. Chambers, D. J. Sinclair, C. F. Roder,
Wm. M. Trainer.

FRATERNAL ORGANIZATIONS—MASONRY.

The Ancient Order of Free and Accepted
Masons was first established northwest of
the Ohio River by the institution of Amer-
ican Union Lodge No. 1 at Marietta, soon
after the settlement of that place in 1787.

On December 27, 1817, feast of St. John
the Evangelist, Steubenyille Lodge No. 45
was organized under dispensation of the
Grand Lodge of Ohio, and continued to

operate under the same until the 24th day
of January, 1818, when the charter under
which the lodge still operates was issued.
The lodge was organized on the third floor

of the Murray Building, 132 South Third
street, which a few years ago was razed
to make room for the present Steubenville
Gazette Building. We take the following
from the minutes of the first meeting:
"Saturday, Steubenville, December 27,

1817, at a meeting of Free and Accepted
Masons, this day at Steubenville, present:
Brothers Bernard Lucas, Thomas Konsitt,
Joseph Riddle, Wm. Snider, Jr. (deacon),
Simeon Haighes, Simeon Strutliff, John
McFeely, Thomas JIazlett, Adam Wise
(tyler), Matthew Worstell (senior deacon),
Peter S. Mason (worshipful master),
Wright Warner (junior warden), Wm. R.
Dickenson (secretary P. L.). A dispensa-
tion from the right worshipful grand mas-
ter of the grand lodge for the state of
Ohio was produced and read, authorizing

the brethren" of Steubenville to hold a
lodge No. 45, thereby appointing Brother
Peleg S. Mason, worshipful master; Sam-
uel L. Fenton, senior warden ; and Wright
Warner, junior warden, when the cere-

mony of institution was performed by
Brother Lucas." On the 19th day of Feb-
ruary, 1818, the first candidate received his

first degree, being Nicholas Murray. Tra-
dition is to the effect that the grandfather
of suid Nicholas Murray was one Lord
Murray who bore the title of Earl Athol,

of Scotch parentage, who having incurred
the displeasure of the English government
during a rebellion, wus compelled to flee

his country, and came to America. There
are no records showing who was hie wife

or how many children they had other than
one son, Nicholas Murray, who located in

Steubenville. In the year 1810 Captain
Murray organized a company of soldiers

and proceeded to the frontier to fight the
Indians. He married Temperance Bond in

Baltimore, to whom were born eight chil-

dren, the eldest being Nicholas Murray,
Jr., the candidate mentioned above. The
third child, a daughter, became the wife of
Joseph Batchelor. In the early part of
the Eighteenth century Dr. J. Batchelor
arrived from Ireland and settled in Phila-

delphia, where he married a widow named
Sarah Young, a Quakeress, and Joseph S.

Batchelor was the only child resulting from
this union. Mr. Batchelor learned the

trade of cabinet making, and in the year
1810 at the age of twenty-two, in company
with his mother, left Philadelphia, in a
wagon and drove across the mountains,
and in October of that year reached
Steubenville. One quiet Sunday morning
in 1812 the good people of the town were
startled by the sound of a drum, and a

warning by a messenger that Indians were
approaching, murdering all before them,

and that the government had called for

volunteers. Captain Murray organized a

company, with Joseph S. Batchelor as or-

derly sergeant, and on the following

Thursday they started on foot for the

frontier, and later were mustered into
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service by General Harrison. Sergeant
Batchelor was said to be very particular

as to dress, always wearing a ruffled shirt

and a queue of his hair tied at the end with
a black ribbon, knee pants, silk hose and
silver buckles on his shoes. He married
Sarah, daughter of Nicholas Murray, to

whom were born eleven children, the fourth
of whom was Captain Charles W. Batch-
elor, who afterwards attained distinction

as a steamboat captain on the Ohio River.

He was surveyor of customs for the port
of Pittsburgh during the Civil war, under
Presidents Lincoln and Johnson, and at-

tained great distinction as a Free Mason,
having become right eminent grand com-
mander of the grand commandery of
Pennsylvania, and was created a 33d de-

gree Mason accredited to that state. The
names of several men who became prom-
inent in local and national affairs grac e the

roll of membership, among whom are Gen.
Samuel Stokely, who affiliated with the
lodge on December 4, 1810, and became its

second worshipful grand master; Hon.
John M. Goodenow, Hon. Benjamin Tap-
pan, Col. George W. Webster. Hon. Edwin
Stanton and others. The present officers

are: Worshipful master, Lewis W. Zim-
merman; senior warden, E. DeWitt Er-
skine; junior warden, Robert J. Davis;
senior deacon, Charles W. II. Peterson;
junior deacon, Robert R. Lichtenbnrger;
stewards, Ernest Bums and Charles P.

Weber; tyler, Rufus W. Carpenter; treas-

urer, Wm. II. McClinton; secretary, Fred
M. Howerter; trustee, Wm. A. Smurth-
waite.

A Chapter of Royal Arch Masons was
organized under a dispensation in the lat-

ter part of 1826 and instituted as Union
Chapter No. 15 under a charter granted
on the 11th day of January, 1827, with
John M. Goodenow as first high priest

under the dispensation, and Gen. Samuel
Stokely, first high priest under the charter.

The present high priest is Robert J. Davis.

A Council of Royal and Select Masters
was organized and instituted as Union
Council No. 2 under a charter dated Jan-

uary 6, 1830, and James E. Hill was chosen
the first thrice illustrious master, and
Charles G. Lawson is its present master.
A Commandery of Knights Templar was

organized under a dispensation on October
16, 1849, and instituted as Steubenville
Commandery No. 1 1 under a charter dated
October 18, 1850, with William Leslie as its

first eminent commander. The present
E. C. is Hugh P. McGowan. James Means,
Jr., was eminent commander from 1858 to

1809. He was made a master Mason in

Steubenville Lodge No. 45 on October 6,

1849, and created a K. T. on December
6th. He is still a member of all the branches
of York Rite Masonry, in full possession
of his faculties and enjoys the association
of his brethren in the lodge room as keenly
as when he began his Masonic career sixty

years ago.

The Ancient Accepted Scottish Rite
Masonry was established in Steubenville
by the organization of a Lodge of Perfec-
tion under a dispensation dated April 28,

1902, and instituted under a charter dated
September 18, 1902, and Clarence J. Davis
was chosen the first thrice potent master.
B. Frank Murphy is the present master.

A Council Prince of Jerusalem was or-

ganized under n dispensation issued in

April, 1903, and instituted under a charter
dated September 17, 1903. Frank Hart-
ford was chosen its first sovereign prince,

and Harry A. Zink is the present one.

Drummond Chapter of Rose Croix was
organized under a dispensation and insti-

tuted under a charter granted on the same
date as that of the council above men-
tioned, and Wm. A. Sinurthwaite was its

first most wise master. Lewis W. Zimmer-
man is its present master.

Meridian Lodge No. 234 was organized
December 7, 1852, and a charter was grant-

ed on October 18, 1854, to Francis Bates,

Joseph Hnrwood, James H. Blinn, Thomas
Brashear, Van Lightizer, D. C. Delano,
Win. H. Beatty, Wm. Boyd, James Carna-
han and John Boyer. Mr. Bates, the first

past master, was father of David Homer
Bates, the war telegrapher and author. It
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had a separate existence until November
10, 1885, when it was consolidated with No.
45, Hon. John M. Cook being the last past

master. A Masonic Mutual Benefit Asso-
ciation was organized in 1874 on the prin-

ciple of fraternal insurance, but after a

few years' trial it was dissolved.

The lodge met at Murray's until the

building of the original Dougherty block

on the corner of Third and Market streets

in 1837, where they remained until the com-
pletion of the McConville block, corner of

Fourth and Market, in 1866. There they

remained until about twenty years ago
when they removed to their present quar-
ters on North Fourth street.

Masonry of Steubenville and vicinity

has been highly honored in the recogni-

tion given it by the supreme council of the

Ancient Accepted Scottish Rite of Free
Masonry of the Northern Masonic Juris-

diction in the city of Boston on Septem-
ber 20, 1904, by the creation of Clarence .1.

Davis, of Steubenville, a sovereign grand
inspector general thirty-third degree
Mason, and honorary memln>r of its coun-

cil. Mr. Davis has the honor and distinc-

tion of being created the first thirty-third

degree Mason in eastern Ohio.

INDEPENDENT ORDER OK ODD KELUUVS.

Jefferson Lodge No. (!, I. (). (). F., was
instituted June 9, 183(5, by Matthew R.

Southard, and the following"grand officers:

David A. Sanders, Win, McCoree. Win. IT.

Ross, Matthew Oaty. Willliam 1*. Sbatton.

James Read, George Holt. The charter
members were Win. Hawkins, F. W. Arm-
strong. Philip Russell, Joseph Holmes.
Joseph Bell, James Wyatt, James M.
Thomas, Thomas Jackson, Isaac Piatt,

Win. Tinnier. The lodge was instituted in

the third story of the Spencer Building on
the north side of Market street, east of
Fourth. In 1842 it was removed to the

Garrett Building on Third street, present

site of the Union Deposit Bank, and in Jan-
uary, 1858, to old Kilgore Hall on the south
side of Market, now the May and Salmon

blocks. Here it remained until January,
1873, when it occupied the fine building

just completed on North Fourth street, a
three story brick and stone structure, with

the front ornamented by a statue of

Charity.
Ximrod Fncampnient No. 3 was insti-

tuted on October 9, 1S40, by David Church-
ill. The charter members were James
O'Neal, Adam J. Leslie, James M. Thomas,
James W. Armstrong, Win. Bracken, Win.
L. Cooper. Preston Roberts.

Good Will Lodge No. 143 was instituted

on January 31, 1850, by W. C. Earle, grand
master, and after a separate existence of

fortv-nine years was consolidated with

Jefferson Lodge No. 6 in 1S99.

Golden Pule Lodge No. 94, Daughters
of Rebecca, was instituted May 16, 1874, by
Rodney Foos. special deputy grand master.

As the name indicates, it is a woman's or-

ganization, auxiliary to the order.

The lodges arc all in a satisfactory con-

dition financially and otherwise, and the

building which is owned by the order is

free from incumbrance and a revenue pro-

ducer. Canton Doty Patriarchs Militant

had a flourishing existence for a number
of years.

KNltiUTS OF PYTHIAS.

Justice II. Hathbone. a Federal depart-
ment clerk at the city of Washington dur-

ing the Civil war, conceived the idea that

a fraternal sex-ret order of American
origin based on the friendship between
Damon and Pythias, if established among
the younger men of the nation, would help

to reconcile the sectional bitterness of the

people engendered by the conflict. lie

therefore disclosed his plans to a few of

his most intimate friends in that city, and
on February 19, 1864. the Order of Knights
of Pythias was founded and the first lodge
organized. It was desired that as soon as

the order was sufficiently strong in num-
bers and finance to plant the seed for what
was thought would be a rapid dissemina-
tion of the principles and objects of the

order in the West. Therefore, on March
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22, 1869, under the instructions and with
a dispensation from the supreme lodge of
the order then sitting at Washington there
arrived in Steubenville a committee com-
posed of Samuel Reed, of Mount Holly,

N. J., supreme chancellor of the order, and
W. A. Porter, of Philadelphia, supreme
banker of the order, who proceeded to or-

ganize and institute the first lodge of the

order west of the Alleghenies, and named
it Steuben Lodge No. 1 of Ohio. The meet-
ing for that purpose was convened in the

afternoon in Good Templars' Hall on the

third floor of the Gallagher Building on
South Fourth (No. 104), the ground floor

of which is now occupied by the Miners'
and Mechanics' Bank. The above named
supreme officer presided, and the follow-

ing were elected and installed : Thos.
Aldridge, past chancellor; James Kelly,

worthy chancellor; Robert M. Thompson,
vice chancellor; George M. Elliott, record-

ing and corresponding scribe; Charles
Blinn, financial scribe; David Hall, worthy
banker; Thomas Hanna, guide; Ross M.
Myers, inside steward; Thomas Atchison,

outer guide. The above with the follow-

ing constituted the charter members : Ed-
ward Kelt, Alexander Fisher, Charles Ir-

win, Henry Dray, John Fisher, Wheeler
Carter, Harry Binger, William Hipsley.

The lodge is in a very flourishing condi-

tion, with a membership of about 500, pres-

ent officers being: Joseph P. Stephens,
chancellor commander; Chester W. Reed,
vice chancellor; E. Robb Bryan, prelate;

Fred Keohe, master at arms; Warren
Bnndy, inner guard; John Fisher, outer

guard; Win. G. Beck, keeper of records and
seals; John N. Saulters. master of finance;

Wm. Doepke, master of exchange; Spence
Wallace, master of work; Josiah C. Ault,

Wm. Ruddicks and Charles C. Fisher,

trustees; Spence Wallace, E. Bradford
Caswell and Frank TT. Kerr, historians.

Tvanhoe Company No. 7 of the uniform
rank is a flourishing part of the order
composed of members of this lodge. On
the completion of the Salmon & Mooney
block in 1874 the upper floor of that build-

ing was leased for lodge purposes, and was
occupied until the completion of the Specht
block at the corner of Fourth and Wash-
ington streets in 1887, when the more spa-

cious apartments in that building were
leased, and are still occupied.

Eureka Lodge No. 35 was instituted on
February 15, 1872. It has a membership
of 150 with the following officers: Elmer
Ralston, chancellor commander; Fred
Rowe, vice chancellor; John H. Prosser,
prelate; Walter Dav, K. of R. & S.; Charles
Franke, M. of F.; John C. Butte, M. of E.;

Harry Maude, master at arms; Henry
Casinski, I. G.; John Rogers, O. G.; John
Higgins. George Barthold, Jr., Morris Alt-

man, trustees; Chas. McFeely, master of
work. A company (No. 88) of uniform
rank is also organized from this lodge.

For a number of years Steubenville was
without a tribe of the Improved Order of
Red Men, due to the early organization
moving its wigwam to Mingo .) unction,

though many of our citizens here retained
their membership in the Mingo Tribe, but
Past Sachem Chas. A. Coy, a member of
Mingo Tribe No. 21, and a resident of
Mingo Junction, came here in the fall of
1905 and started a petition for a new tribe.

Many preliminary meetings were held and
on February 9, 1906, the tribe was insti-

tuted under the name of Running Elk No.
64 in the Woodmen Hall, North Fourth
street, by Great Chief of Records Thos. J.

Irwin of Martins Ferry, assisted by Past
Great Sachem John Stainm of East Liver-

pool, with sixty-seven charter members
present. The officers selected were: Sachem
attorney, E. De Witt Erskine; senior saga-

more, J. O. Anderson; junior sagamore,
Chas. E. Baker; prophet, Geo. W. Boyd;
chief of records, Lawrence Jacobs; collect-

or of wampum, Jos. Desha Smith
;
keeper of

wampum. Dr. Wm. E. Kerr. The new tribe

proved to be a very healthy baby and has
grown both in membership and influence

until today it stands out as one of the lead-

ing fraternal organizations. The structure
upon which the order is reared is freedom,
friendship and charity, and the lessons
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taught are of the highest value of a pure
and inspiring nature. While the applicant's

religion and politics are not questioned,
none can be admitted unless he believes in

the existence of "God," in whose hands
all power doth exist. The local tribe is

enjoying a very healthy growth, the

trustees securing the Orr property on Mar-
ket street, numbering 513-15-17, where a
beautiful council chamber was fitted up and
a finely equipped social room with furni-

ture of the best.

Knights of St. George are another fra-

ternal society of comparatively recent

origin.

MILITARY ORDERS.

An organization of the Grand Army of

the Republic was effected in 1867 under
tlio name of Webster Post. It occupied

the third story of the building on the cor-

ner of Market and Court streets until

about 1873, when some political differences

caused its dissolution. On November 7,

1881, a new organization was formed un-

der the name of Stanton Post No. 166,

which has maintained a flourishing exist-

ence, although the ranks of the veterans

nre becoming thinned by time. They met
for several years in what was known as

the Walker block on Market street, but

afterwards found a home with the K. of P.

Lodges in the Specht building, where they

still meet. Stanton Relief Corps No. 81

lias proved an efficient woman's auxiliary

to this post.

Encampment No. 16, Union Veteran
Legion, meets once a month at the resi-

dence of Dr. George Shellart.

At one time there was a flourishing so-

eietv of Sons of Veterans.

Fort Steuben Camp, United Spanish
War Veterans No. 45, was instituted in

OTJll.lt OKDKHS.

Stanton Council No. 343, Royal Arcanum,
was instituted on Thursday evening. .Tune

26. 1879, by Deputy Supreme Regent A. S.

White, with the following charter mem-
bers: A. M. Blackburn, F. K. Marsh.

George E. Sharp, 0. V. W. Chandler, W.
C. Forbes, E. C. Chandler, Wm. Morrison,
Win. May, Frank M. Mooney, S. S. Cul-
bertson, George N. Henry, J. H. Perkins,
B. II. Fisher, T. P. Spencer, .fames A. Mc-
Curdy, J. M. Riley, Joseph Jordan, W. R.
Zink, A. If. Carter. They have always met
in K. of P. Hall. The order is based on
the fraternal insurance plan.

Steubenville Lodge B. P. O. E. was in-

stituted April 7, 1892, in the Specht build-

ing on the east side of North Fourth street
They remained there but a short time when
they removed to the new Union Deposit
Bank building on Third street, where they
remained about five years, and in 1900
leased the second and third stories of the
Manly-Foster building on South Fourth
street, which has been fitted up with every
convenience of a modern club house. The
second story is devoted to club rooms,
billiard parlors, etc., and the third story
to balls and banquets. The social func-

tions of this organization are always greet-

ed with pleasurable anticipations which are
not disappointed.
The Gennnnin Turnverein was organ-

ized in 1874, and on June 10, 1881, pur-
chased lot No. 112 on the east side of Third
street above Washington. Here in 1887
they erected a large dancing hall and gym-
nasium, which has been a popular resort

for members of the society and their

friends.

The colored population has two Masonic
lodges. Eastern Light, which meets at 216
Market street, and Steubenville Chapter
O. E. S., meeting at Sixth and Market. Also
at the same place Grand United Order of
Odd Fellows, Loval Lodge No. 3172. and
Household of Ruth. The colored K. of

P. includes Touissnint Lodge No. 51, and
Court of Cnlnnthc at 216 Market, and
Pride of the East, Uniform Rank, at 20S

Market.
Chandler Lodge No. S")7, Knights of

Honor, was organized in 1S7K, and meets
at 139 North Fourth street.

Steubenville Grove No. 25, United
Ancient Order of Druids, was organized in
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1870, and lins its hall on Fourth street

north of Market.
Among the more recent organizations

are: Liberty Council No. Ill National
Union in Odd Fellows' Hall; Acme Con-
clave No. 87, Order of Heptasophs, K. of
P. ITall; Prudence Crandall Court No. 24,

I. O. O. C, Floto's Hall; Fraternal Mystic
Circle Mingnonia Ruling No. 45, Odd Fel-

lows' Hall ; Jefferson Castle No. 30,

Knights of the Golden Eagle, Gallagher
Block; Advance Temple No. 2, Ladies of
the Golden Eagle, same place; Jefferson
Camp No. 3305, Modern Woodmen of

America, 161 North Fourth ; Stanton Camp
No. 3842, Royal Neighbors of America,
aame place; Steuben Council No. 244, Pro-
tected Home Circle, same place; La Belle

Tent No. 464, Knights of the Maccabees,
141 North Fourth ; L. O. T. M., same place

;

Court Steuben No. 84, Foresters of Amer-
ica, Gallagher block; Catholic Mutual Ben-
efit Association, Holy Name school build-

ing; Steubenville, Aerie No. 421, Fraternal
Order of Eagles, McConville block; Ohio
Valley Council No. 283, United Commercial
Travellers, K. of P. Hall; Shield of Honor,
Gallagher block; Steubenville Council No.
472, Knights of Columbus, Dougherty
block; Commandery No. 31, Knights of St.

George, Odd Fellows' Hall; Division No. 1,

Ancient Order of Hibernians, 209 North
Fourth; Ladies' Auxiliary Division No. 1,

same ; Schwaben Benefit Society, 211 North
Sixth ; Junior Order United American Me-
chanics, 511 Market; Jefferson Court No.
102 Grand Order of the Orient, 511 Mar-
ket; German American Alliance, Societa
Christoforo Colombo, 511 Market; Running
Elk Tribe No. 64, Improved Order of Red
Men, same; Genessee Council No. 96, I), of
P., same; Steubenville Rod and Gun Club;
Jefferson County Trade and Labor Assem-
bly, Odd Fellows' building; Schutzen Club,
Potters' Local Union. Stationary Engi-
neers, Fort Steuben Amalgamated Asso-
ciation and others which might be men-
tioned, some of which, however, dissolved

after a short existence.

MISCELLANEOUS.

Among the societies devoted to litera-

ture, art, etc., may be mentioned the Wom-
an's Club, Query Club, Choral Society,
Pope and Mozart Glee Clubs, all of which
are in active operation. There are three
brass bands, Bueche's Pat-ton's and Steub-
enville Marine; also four orchestras, God-
frey's, Imperial, Patton's and Sullivan's.

Among the minor manufactories of the
city are the Steubenville and Kelly & West-
meyer bottling works, Thornburg broom
manufactory, concrete construction com-
pany, Steubenville and Floto stove com-
panies, Pearce and Scrivan's furniture fac-

tories, Feist candy manufactory, Black-
burn, Kirchner, Leo, Levite, Melching,
Nath, Pareso, Simmons, Sinclair and Wal-
ters cigar factories, Kavanaugh gas en-
gines, Collins & Crawford harness, Amer-
ican Home Music Company, Alexander and
Cavitt planing mills, Steubenville stamp
works. Mutton and Workman wagon manu-
factories. An interesting institution in the
sixties was the C. Reese rope walk on
North street.

The Steubenville Country Club was in-

corporated in the spring of 1908, and or-

ganized by electing the following board of
directors: H. D. Wintringer, president;
H. D. Wcstfall, vice-president; A. E. Doug-
lass, secretarv and treasurer; Van Horn
Elv, K. E. Franev, H. G. Dohrman, J. E.
McGowan, Wm. Mc I). Miller, S. C. Hill.

A hillside tract of several acres was se-

cured overlooking the river about three
miles above the city from which is obtained
one of the most beautiful views along the
Ohio, golf links were laid out and a hand-
some club honse erected with spacious
porches, large reception hall with old

fashioned fire places for wood burning,
shower baths and all modern conveni-

ences, the whole costing about $22,000.

The house was opened on Hallowe'en
with an elaborate social function, and the
place has become a popular resort for the
150 members, and those fortunate enough
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to ho their guests. An exceptional num-
ber of expert golfers is being developed.

Members of police department: Mar-
tin J. Larkin, chief; E. T. Zimmerman, I).

W. Conner, Joseph Morrow, John Dunn,
Richard Edgerly, Lafayette Mercer, B. F.

Matthews, Patrick J. Ward, John 0. Snod-
grass, Charles A. Ilaupt, .Fohn Hineraan,

George B. Wilcoxon, Fred B. Hull, Geo. S.

Smith, Edrnond Russell.

CITY CSOVKKK MKNT, HNANCKS AND IMPILATION

The financial statement for last year is

as follows:

Balance January 1, Um * 03.710.83
Receipts during the vinr 39!»,U7it.3i»

Total iM«2.7W).U2
Expenditure* during the ycur 3."»3,042.89

Balance January 1, 19(»9 *10K.*47.13

Kxrens of receipts over expenditures 4.->.nH,.<0

The general city indebtedness to be met
by general taxation consists of $0,000 Car-
negie library bonds and $14,000 garbage
plant bonds.' Total, $23,000. Water works
bonds to be paid out of water rents. $160,-

000; sewer certificates to be paid by abut-

ting property, $94,704.58; improvement
bonds to be paid partly by general levy

and partv by assessment, $113,000. Grand
total, $390,7*04.58. The Mears fund for the
relief of the poor has $10,000 four per
cent city bonds to its credit, and the fire-

man's pension $5,000 six per cent La Belle

Iron Works bonds. There were ten and
one-half miles of sewers constructed dur-
ing 1908 and two miles the present year,

making with those previously constructed,

a present total of about twenty-two miles.

The street paving system, which has at-

tracted the attention of official visitors

from other cities, both large and small, has
been exteuded into the suburbs in every
direction.

Elsewhere will be found county tables of
population but it. may be stilted here that

the population of the citv in 1820 was 2,539

;

in 1830 was 2,937, in 1840 was 4.247, in 1850
was 6,140, in 1800 was 6,154, iu 1870 was

8,107, in 1880 was 12,093, in 1890 was 13,-

394, and in 1900 was 14,349. It will be no-

ticed that there was practically no increase

from 1850 to 1860, but about 33 1-3 per cent

from 1860 to 1870, and nearly fifty per cent

from 1870 to 1880. This included additional

territory added to the city into which there

had been a gradual overflow during the

previous twenty years. The increase in

these two decades was about the average
of the country generally. The increase was
comparatively small from 1880 to 1900
when the •'boom" period started, as in-

dicated in the reports of our industrial and
financial institutions. A numerical census
taken in connection with the school enum-
eration in 11*0!) indicated a population of

20,287, divided as follows : North of Dock
street, 4,681; Dock to Market, 5,349; Mar-
ket to South, 3,537; below South, including
Pleasant Heights, 0,720. It is probable

that the census of 1910 will give a popula-
tion of 25,000 in the city and township. Un-
der these conditions real estate has greatly

enhanced in value timing the last ten

years.

The mayors of the city since the adop-
tion of the chatter of 1851 have Im-cd as

follows: Geo. \Y. Mason, 1851 ; Eli T. Tap-
pan, 1852; John Shane, 1853-4; John S.

Patterson, 1855-6; J. H. S. Trainer, 1857-8;

John F. Oliver, 1859 to July 1861; John S.

Patterson. Julv. 1861, to June. 1863; M. O.

Junkin, 1803-6; George M. Elliott, 1867-8;

Robert Love, 1869-70; Win. T. Campbell,
1871-2; James Elliott, 1873-4; John F.

Oliver, 1875-6; John Irwin, 1877-80; James
Marion, 1881-2; James McConville, 1883-4;

Ifenrv Opperman, 1885-8; Oscar Brashear,
1889-90; \Ym. Scott. 1891-4; Wm. Riley,

1895-98; John P. Means, 1899-1902; Rob-
ert I. Scott, 1903-7. Thomas W. Porter,

present incumbent, term expires 1910, but

has been re-nominated.
The present city officers after the mayor

are Frank King, auditor; Spence Wallace,

treasurer; John N. Leetcli, engineer; John
H. Huston, solicitor.

Public Service Board—Henry F. Law-
ler, president ; John A. Saulters, vice-pres
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ident; Kli Fetrow, secretary; Harry G.
Simpson, clerk; Geo. B. Hull, collector of
water rents; John A. Saulters, acting
superintendent of water works; John N.
Lceteh, city engineer; Thomas Woods, su-

perintendent of streets.

Public Safety Board—John Fishinger,

president ex-oflicia; G. G. Gaston, vice-

A. Gladfelter, clerk; Martin J. Larkins,
chief of police; Win. B. Martin, chief of
fire department.
Board of Health— Thomas W. Porter,

president ex-officio; G. G. Gaston, vice;

president ; Wm. S. McCauslen, clerk ; Wm.
MeMullcn, P. W. Bougher, S. R. Stark;
John Welch, health officer.

Sinking Fund Trustees and Tax Com-
missioners—E. M. Fisher, president; F. S.

King, secretnrv and treasurer; Conrad
Hutterly, B. R. Dawson, Peter E. Brady.
Council—Winfield Scott, president; Wm.
M. Trainer, clerk; John J. Dillon, A. S.

Bernier, James W. Hutton, Charles Law-
son, E. M. Geary, Wm. R. Boyd, Wm.
Doepke.

COl'XTV MEDICAL SOCIKTY ANI» ITS WOKK.

While not distinctively a Steuhenville
institution the Jefferson County Medical
Society has been so closely identified with
the city that a brief notice of that organ-
ization will not be inappropriate here. The
venerable Mrs. Johnson, whose vivacious
reminiscences of pioneer days have en-

livened some of our previous pages, inti-

mated in an interview that the lack of
"doctors" in the early days was not seri-

ously felt, as in her word's, "We wanted
none of them, you would be a heap better
off if you followed our old style in that

respect today. For a spring of the year
medicine we used sassafras and spicewood.
To prevent sleepless night, the best thing
in the world is a catnip blossom poultice

placed on the back of the neck. Hops,
bread, horseradish and flax seed make fine

poultices. To produce a sweat we used
pennyroyal tea. For vomiting—T mean to

prevent it—and for sick stomach the finest

thing in the world is simply to scrape a
little horseradish and mix in cold water,
and take a drink. For light head from
fever bake a poke root, as you would a
potato, bathe your foot and place it to the
sole as a poultice, and relief is yours in

half an hour. Tar water cured most ordi-

nary coughs, and for consumption and
gravel we always -found spikenard had
no equal. That herb is one of the most
valuable for many things. To stop bleed-

ing produced by cuts we used fresh soot

from wood ashes, or puff balls, and applied
pounded elm bark as a salve. Buttermilk
pills were infallible for biliousness or as

a general corrective of the system, etc."

However confident the pioneers may
have been as to the healing powers of the

unlimited supply of "herbs" which was at

hand, not unmixed occasionally with a lit-

tle superstition, they did not disdain the

help of more scientific remedies when op-

portunity afforded. Rev. Dr. Doddridge,
as we know, had studied medicine, and no
doubt ministered frequently to the bodies

as well as the souls of his scattered flocks,

and may safely be regarded as the pioneer
physician of this section. When Dr. David
Stanton removed from Mt. Pleasant to

Steuhenville about the beginning of the

year 1814 he had already attained a repu-

tation as a physician and had an extensive
practice at least from a territorial point

of view. Dr. Benjamin Dickson was here
about 1808, and Dr. Mason during the

same period, so that by 1814 there were at

least three regular physicians located at

Steuhenville. whose practice no doubt ex-

tended throughout the county. By 1817 the

number hud increased to five. Dr. Wm,
Burrell appears to have practiced at

Smithfield at least by 1807, perhaps earlier.

William and Anderson Judkin located

there soon after, William subsequently re-

moving to Steuhenville, and Anderson to

Bloomfield, and from there to Richmond.
Dr. Win. Hamilton, of Mt. Pleasant, after-

wards of Steuhenville, and Dr. Isaac Park-
er, of the former place, were also early

physicians, succeeded afterwards by the
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Flanners. Drs. Riddle, Harrison, Vorhees
and Johnson Jived at Bloomfield. Drs.
Hammond and MeGinty were early at

Steubenville, perhaps among the five noted
in 1817. MeGinty moved to St. Louis. Drs.

Lester and Scott were among the second
set of pioneers. Dr. Benjamin Tappan was
one of the foremost physicians of his day,

and received the highest training avail-

able in this country, supplemented by a
course in European schools and hospitals.

Dr. Thomas Johnson came to Steubenville

in 1834, and carried on a successful prac-

tice for more than forty years. Dr. Wil-
liam Stanton was born in the north of
Ireland, and was educated at Edinburg
university. Ho came to Clark county,
Ohio, in 1833, but became discouraged after

a year and started to return home. Pass-
ing through Steubenville he met an old

friend who induced him to locate here,

where he remained until his death in 1895,

after a practice of sixty-six years. Among
the early physicians of Smithfield were
William and John Leslie, father and son.

On July 17, 1858, a number of phy-
sicians and surgeons met in Steubenville

for the purpose of forming a Jefferson

County Medical Society. Ten days later

at a meeting held at Dr. Tappan 's office,

a constitution was adopted with the code
of medical ethics of the American Medical
Association. A complete organization was
effected on August 3, 1858, with the follow-

ing officers and charter members: Presi-

dent. Benjamin Tappan; vice president,

William Hamilton of Mt. Pleasant;
secretary, Enoch Pcarce; treasurer,

Thomas Johnson; censors. William S.

Bates, of Smithfield; A. T. Markle. of

Wintersville; Joseph Mitchell, of Steuben-
ville; E. Brugh. Dr. Tappan died on Jan-
uary 17, 1884, and Dr. E. Pearce is the

only surviving charter member. Monthly
meetings were held for discussion of med-
ical subjects until March 8, 1861, when,
owing to the Civil war, there was an in-

termission until November 1, 1864, when
the meetings were resumed, and held reg-

ularly until November 7, 1891, when the

society affiliated with the Eastern Ohio
Medical Association, including the coun-
ties of Jefferson, Columbiana, Harrison
and Belmont, which arrangement con-

tinued for ten years, when a redisricting

of the state took place and the county so-

ciety resumed its meetings. The present
officers are Joseph Robertson, president;
Wm. A. Strayer, vice-president; J. R.
Mossgrove, secretary and treasurer.

While various matters of public interest

were discussed by the society there was a
movement inaugurated by it which not only
had a state-wide influence, but has no doubt
contributed largely to the amelioration of

the lot of the incurable insane in other
states. In the early part of 1865 Dr.
Enoch Pearce, who had lately returned
from service in the army, was solicited by
Eli H. McFeely, one of the former trustees,

to take the position of physician at the

county infirmary in place of Dr. Scheetz,

resigned. At that time the state made no
provision for the care of the incurable

insane, and when one was discharged from
an asylum as incurable the only place of

confinement for such, especially if the case

was violent, was the county jail or a jail-

like structure attached to the infirmary.

Dr. Pearce 's duties as infirmary physician

did not necessarily imply any special at-

tention to the insane, as their malady was
regarded as hopeless. But their condition

was such as appealed to every humane in-

stinct. Confined in small cells in a stone

building, absolutely destitute of every com-
fort, sometimes chained or handcuffed, fre-

quently naked (both men and women),
sometimes wallowing in their own filth, the

details of their confinement were absolute-

ly unprintable. With the approval of the

trustees who were as anxious as anybody
to remedy this condition of affairs, if pos-

sible. Dr. Pearce brought the subject be-

fore the association at its meeting on April

4. 18**5, and on motion the president, Dr.

Markle, appointed the whole society a com-
mittee to investigate the matter and re-

port at next meeting. A verbal report was
made at the May meeting and a committee
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consisting of Drs. Pearce, Hamilton,
Markle and Tappan, appointed to reduce
the details to writing, which was done at

the next meeting, when it was adopted and
a copy directed to be sent to the June meet-
ing of the Ohio State Medical Society. Dr.
Pearce attended that meeting with the re-

port, and was authorized to investigate the

condition of the incurable insane through-
out the state, and report to the next an-
nual meeting. Blank forms with questions
covering the subject were sent to every
county, and the replies showed that the

conditions in Jefferson were not exception-

al, but the situation was as bad elsewhere,

and in some counties worse, if that were
possible. The information contained in the
replies was collated, and was so shocking
and startling that at the next meeting of
the society at White Sulphur Springs,
W. Va., the doctor was advised to with-

hold his report, as it would be attacked,

and there might be danger that some of
the charges might not be sustained. But
the doctor had with him the original signed
reports, and when the members saw them
there was no further objection. The state

society took up the matter, and a bill was

prepared for presentation to tue legisla-

ture, providing for the erection of an
asylum for the incurable insane, the only

qualification for admission being that a
patient had been discharged from one of

the other asylums as incurable. Here an
obstacle arose from the jealousy of the

existing institutions, the managers fearing

that if a patient discharged by them as in-

curable should afterwards regain his rea-

son in the new asylum it would reflect on
them. This would seem to be a very petty

objection to a great philanthropic move-
ment, but there was a condition and not a

theory to confront, and the act was amend-
ed to enlarge the existing facilities, with-

out having any asylum distinctively for

the care of incurables. This was agreed

to, and the state undertook to care for all

its insane citizens without regard to wheth-

er they were incurable or not. In a few
years the jails and infirmaries of the state

were emptied of their insane inmates, who
have since been cared for with decency and
humanity. The credit for this movement
rests with a Jefferson county society and a

Jefferson county physician.



CHAPTER XXII

THE RIVER TOWNSHIPS

SteubenvUle, Island Creek, Knox, Saline, Cross Creek, Wells and Warren—Toirns of
Toronto, Mingo, Brilliant, Irondale, Hanunondscille, Empire, Rayland, etc.—Pion-

eer Schools and Churches—Early Trials and Later Developments.

STEUBEN VILLE TOWNSHIP.

As most of the history of SteubenvUle
Township and Mingo Junction has already
been included in the general history of the
county and in that of the city of Steuben-
vUle, it will only be necessary to include

here and in the history of other townships
such facts as are not related in the forego-
ing. The original township was erected on
.May HO, 1803, and included what are now
Island Creek, Cross Creek and Salem town-
ships, the two former being cut off on June
4, 1806, and the last named on June 3, 1807.

According to the township minutes an elec-

tion was held at the court house in Steuben-
vUle, Zaccheus Briggs presiding, when the
following officers were elected' by ballot:

John Black, clerk; Zaccheus Biggs, James
Dunlevy and James Shane, trustees; Rich-
ard Johnson and Jonathan Nottingham,
overseers of the poor; Thomas Hitchcock,

William Engle and Richard Lee, fence
viewers; Matthew Adams and Samuel
Hunter, appraisers of houses: Andrew Mc-
Cidlough, lister of taxable property;
Thomas Gray, George Friend. Daniel Dun-
levy and Thomas AVint ringer, supervisors
of highways; Anthony Blackburn and An-
drew McCullough, constables. This was at-

tested June 21. The next minute is as fol-

lows: "At a meeting of the subscribers.

trustees of the township of SteubenvUle on
the 11th of October, 1803, ordered that the

aforesaid township be divided in the fol-

lowing manner: Beginning at the Ohio
River at the mouth of Wills Creek ; thence
up said creek to the head gate of Josiah
Johnston's saw-mill; thence north to the

township line; thence with said line to the

river alloted to George Friend." Also from
the Ohio River up said AVills Creek till op-

posite Benjamin Doyle's; thence south to

Cross Creek, a straight course ; thence down
said creek to the mouth, with the town of

SteubenvUle, to be in the district with
Thomas Gray. (This is practically the

present township except the part below
Cross Creek.) Also from the mouth of
Cross Creek up said creek on the south side

of the township line west; thence south to

the township line; thence east to the Ohio
River, deeded to Daniel Dunlevy. As also

from AVills Creek, a south course to Ben-
jamin Doyle's ; thence south to Cross Creek

;

thence up said creek to the extreme of the

township in a west corner to the place of
beginning, to he in the district allotted to

Thomas Wintringer." The officers for the

succeeding year were: Trustees, Brice
Viers. John England. Thomas l'atton;

overseers of the poor, Jonathan Notting-

ham and Samuel Thompson; constables,

Anthony Reck and Andrew McCullough;
442
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supervisors of highways, Daniel Treadway,
Jacob Arnold, Geo. Friend, Joseph Porter;
fence viewers, Richard Co* and Philip
Smith ; house appraiser, Joseph Day

;

treasurer, Samuel Hunter. The only ref-

erence to changes in the township bound-
aries is a minute on June 30, 1806, to the
effect that in consequence of a division of
Steubenville Township, David Powell, late

trustee, has fallen into the township of
Cross Creek, Philip Cable is appointed
trustee in his place. On the old minute
book is found an entry of $4.43 for conduct-
ing a pauper funeral. Under the '

' squirrel

act" of December 24, 1807, requiring cer-

tain taxable residents to produce so many
squirrel scalps annually with the view of
exterminating those animals, Hans Wilson
is credited with thirty scalps

;
Philip Cable,

sixty; and Godfrey Richards, twenty-two;
in all, 112 scalps. The idea of protecting
squirrels had not yet crystalized. On April
1, 1811, it was certified that Mordecai Bart-
ley had received 132 votes; John Adams,
twenty-eight, and John McGraw, twenty-
seven for justice of the peace. "July 10,

1813, Jacob Fickes produced his receipt

from the treasurer for payment of $2 for
refusal to serve as trustee." Tlie office evi-

dently sought the man in those days. The
present township has somewhat the shape
of a rude letter B, having six full sections

and eight fractional, fronting on Wills
Creek and the Ohio River, the northern
boundary being formed for a short dis-

tance by the creek, with straight lines on
the west and south separating it from
Cross Creek and Wells Townships. The
area is about 7,KM) acres, of which 1,676 are
within the corporate limits of Steubenville.

The principal streams are Cross Creek,
George's Run and Wells' Run. The Wa-
bash system crosses it. at .Mingo, with C.

& P. and W. & L. E. along the river front,

and Panhandle to and up Cross Creek.
Among the early settlers after Bezaleel
Wells were the Johnsons. Biekerstaffs,

Abrahams, Pormars, Powell, Lockard,
Hodbert, Myers, England, Potters, Rick-
eys, Adams and Hills. Mrs. Johnson, nee

Mary BickerstarT, was a mine of reminis-

cences. Her home was on eighty acres of
laud purchased from Bezaleel Wells a mile
and a half west of old Steubenville. She
remembered hearing Lorenzo Dow preach
on the street in Steubeuville in 1799 or
1800. It is knowu positively that Dow was
in the Short Creek Valley in 1798 and
preached to the pioneers. He was known
to deliver eloquent discourses to an audi-

ence composed of one person. They lived

in a log cabin, but the old lady declared

there was "a heap of comfort in it com-
pared with your damask curtained houses
of to-day." Dow arrived at Steubenville

on foot, for ho would not ride. A report

had gained circulation that a great divine

was coming, whom some were not slow to

claim a second Christ, which led to 200 or
300 persons gathering under a large tree

that stood at the end of the public square.

Beneath this tree was a bench upon which
butchers cut up their meat, and there was
also an upping block. When Dow arrived
he look very seedy and travel worn, and
staggered somewhat, which led to Mrs.
Bickerstaff inquiring if ho were drunk.
Her husband replied, "Thee'll see di-

rectly." Mr. Dow mounted the "upping
block" and began his sermon with these

words

:

"Sent by nay Lord, on you I ooll

—

The invitation la to nil;

Com* nil the world, come sinner, tbou,

All things in Christ nre ready now."

t

The audience was so delighted that a col-

lection was taken up and the receipts hand-
ed to the preacher, who sought out the most
humbly attired person in the crowd, and
handed the money to him, bidding him God
speed in its use. The Bickerstaffs invited

the preacher to their house, but he declined,

saying, "I have not the time, my Lord's
work must be done and I must go." The
fanu was paid for in produce. It was in

this township on the Adams farm about a

mile west of Mingo that the last Indian

fight took place on Jefferson county soil,

as related elsewhere. George Adams, fa-
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ther of Henry Adams at the age of seven-

teen joined General Wayne's anny, his

home then being in Fayette count}', Penn-
sylvania. He aided in building Fort Re-
covery, and settled in Steubenville Town-
ship in 1796. Philip Smith, who was with
the Crawford Sandusky Expedition, set-

tled near Steubenville in 1799, where he
lived until 1812, then removing to Wayne
county.

MINGO TOWN.

Although Mingo Bottom was a historic

point from the first advent of the white men
into this valley, was the scene of the first

recorded event in the county, had enough
settlers before 1790 to at least discuss re-

sistance to the forces sent to eject them,
was the rendezvous of the Onaddenuten,
Crawford and other early expeditions, be-

came a railroad junction in 1853 and was
the landing place for supplies during the
building of the S. & I. R. R., was a camp
during the Civil War; in short was a lead-

ing figure in all the county's history, yet
down to the fall of 1869 there was not even
the semblance of a village there. The
surrounding country was divided into cul-

tivated farms, with substantial homes, but
at the place itself were but one small frame
house and a little railway station. There
was not even a postoffice, and the neighbor-
ing residents came to Steubenville to vote.

The very name was appropriated by a post-

office in another section of the state, and
when it was afterwards desired to utilize

the old name which had indicated the spot
for a century and a half, it was necessary
to add to it the word ".Junction." There
was a locust grove on the river hank front-

ing the vanishing island, and another on
the hilltop, both of which were favorite

picnic grounds. The state road down the

river here sought the base of the hill (now
Commercial Street), passing the well

known watering trough at Potter spring,

and the noi.se of passing trains only mo-
mentarily disturbed the rural quiet of this

peaceful valley. The Potter, Piehler,

Means, Wells or Jump farms occupied the

territory, with Henry Fanner's place on
the south and Adams on the west. What
was known as the Potter and Means farms
was purchased to the extent of 600 acres
in 1800 by Rev. Lyman Potter and his son-

in-law, Jasper Murdock, the former being a
missionary of the Presbyterian Church in

Ohio and Pennsylvania. At his death the

property was divided, Mr. Murdock 's heirs

taking what was afterwards the William
Means farm, and Mr. Potter's son Daniel
taking the part long known by bis name.
As related elsewhere, Mr. Potter, in the
summer of 1869, sold the locust grove and
a tract on the hill to a party of capitalists

for the erection of iron works, and another
piece to Matthew Hodkinson. The erection
of these concerns soon made a radical

change. Mr. Potter died in September,
1869, and his son Daniel and R. Sherrard,
Jr., were appointed executors. A small
town began to grow up around the works
in the bottom, and in 1871 the executors
laid out an addition of forty-five lots. The
next year Elisha P. Potter made an addi-

tion of twenty-five lots, and the executors
forty-seven more, making a total of 117.

To these additions were made by the nod-
kinsons and others until not only the bot-

tom was pretty well occupied, but the town
hud crossed the railroad, and was creeping
up the hillside. The depression following
the panic of 1873 cheeked progress for a
while, but in 1879 matters brightened up
and with the enlargement of the iron works,
discovery of oil and other industrial advan-
tages, the town has made steady progress.

Tn 1880 the population was 700 or 800, and
in 1890, the first it figured as a separate
civil division in the census reports, the

population was 1,856. and in 1900 it was
2,954. The present population is about
3,500. Geographically the town is divided

into four section'*, known as North Hill,

Church Hill, Reservoir lliil and East Side.

The first section lies north of McLister
Avenue, Keservoir Hill is between McLis-
ter Avenue and Ravine Street and west of

Commercial Street, south of Ravine and
west of the Pan Handle Railroad is Church
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Hill, and East Side lies between the C. &
P. R. R. tracks and the river.

Educational facilities were provided by
the erection of Franklin sehoolhouse on
the hillside in 1873, which, with some en-
largements, served the town until the
Logun building, an eight-room brick, was
erected on the East Side. This was supple-
mented by the erection of Lincoln school, a
two-story brick structure on North Hill a
few years later. The town continuing to
grow the Franklin building was sold to
the Odd Fellows and moved to an adjoin-
ing lot, while on its site was erected a fine

structure of brick and stone, with the title

of Central School building. This was com-
pleted in 1906 at a cost of $60,000. No town
of its size is now better equipped for educa-
tional purposes, either in primary or ad-
vanced grades. The first superintendent
was Wilson Hawkins, and the present one
Frank Linton. The present enrollment is

580, with 211 in St. Agnes school.

Mingo was made a postoffice about 1870,
with Robert Turner as postmuster. His
successors have been .John Graham, David
Long, Dr. W. J. O'Connell, W. T. Griffith

and C. W. Dean.
A frame Presbyterian church, known as

Potter Chapel, was erected in 1872, which,
with improvements, is still standing. The
pastors have been Rev. T. V. Milligan, S.

Forbes, W. H. Houston, J. A. Platts, Alex-
ander. D. Sharp. J. W. Wilson and W. II.

Orr.

An M. E. mission was started about the
same time and a small building erected in

1883, for which was substituted a larger
and much finer buildiug in 1897 at a cost
of $7,000. It was supplied bv J. S. Rut-
ledge in 1886-7, W. H. Lackev, 1888; J. F.

Huddleston, 1889-92 ; J. E. Garrett, 1893-5;

A. N. Adkinson, 1896; J. W. Sntterthwaite.
1897-8; T. J. McRae. 1899-1900; A. W.
Gruber, 1901-4; W. E. Fetch, 1905-8; J. B,

Manley, 1909. George's Run M. E. Church,
a couple of miles below, is supplied from
Brilliant. A new church has recently been
erected there.

The Methodist Protestants also erected a

neat church shortly after, Rev. W. A. Ad-
kinson being among the early ministers.

St. Agnes Church and school were com-
pleted in 1898. There is also a Greek Cath-
olic* Church and a mission was carried on
from St. Paul's, Steubenville, in the sum-
mer of 1893. The Free Methodists have
meetings at irregular intervals.

The fraternal organizations include

Junction Lodge, No. 414, K. of P., organ-
ized February 17, 1890; Logan Lodge, No.

848, J. (). O. F., organized on October 23,

1900; Improved Order of Red Men, Mingo
Tribe, No. 21, organized September 25,

1899; George Washington Patriotic Sla-

vonic Society, Peter and Paul Hungarian
Beneficial Society, Haymakers' Associa-

tion, L. C. B. A., and some minor societies.

A flourishing branch of the W. C. T. II. has
always been maintained.

The Mingo water and light companies
were organized in 1899, being separate cor-

porations, controlled by the same persons.

A complete water plant has been con-

structed and maintained, with a pumping
station at the river, reservoir and mains.

The town is also well lighted, the streets

paved and the buildings up to date. The
local directors of the two companies named
are Joseph Mav, president; Hon. John A.

Mansfield, S. Stark, Clifton Hanna and B.

F. Dawson; H. L. May. secretary.

The First Nationaf Bank of Mingo was
organized in 1901, and its last statement
shows resources amounting to $158,177.75.

W. D. Armstrong is the cashier.

There are two hose companies in the

village, under the charge of Hugo Pekruhn,
fire marshal. The village officers are as fol-

lows: Mayor, F. L. McCoy, solicitor, Carl

Armstrong; treasurer, John Bryson, civil

engineer, S. E. Floyd; marshal. Scott Roe;
street commissioner. Patrick Barrett;

weighmaster. Thomas Godfrey; members
of council, B. W. Skipper, M. M. MeCaff-
rev, Stephen Clark. George Gracey. W.
Hanna, F. Pfeister.

The hamlet of Deandalc lies about a

mile below the town and below this is Har-
mony sehoolhouse, at the mouth of
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George's Bun, a good two-room structure,
recently enlarged and improved. Hill's

schoolhouse stood back on the hill, between
Steubenville and Mingo.
A family named Powell, from Browns-

ville, Pa., settled two miles west of Steu-
benville about 1812 and preached the doc-
trine of Swedenborg, gathering a small con-
gregation in the city, which lasted some
thirty-five years, when David Powell, the
preacher, moved away and the society went
down.
At the northern end of the township, now

occupied as the residence of B. Castner,
formerly stood the Speaker Tavern, a con-
venient halting place for man and beast.

The well of pure cold water located just

across the road has long since been filled

up, and the picturesque stone bridge across
Wills Creek was removed and rebuilt far-

ther up the stream to allow additional room
to the iron works located there. The prox-
imity of the water works aud other induce-

ments have resulted in the growth of a
neat little hamlet in that locality.

Some parties who recently purchased the
Means farm, west of Mingo, have laid out
a section of it, known as Copperhead Flat,
for a cemetery, so that the village will no
longer be dependent on private graveyards
of Stoubenville cemetery for interments.
The construction of a beautiful concrete
fountain in the renter of the plat has been
completed and several small fountains have
been erected in various parts of the
grounds. The water for the fountains is

piped from the historical spring located on
the Means farm, near what is known as the
Horse Shoe Bend on the old street car line.

One of the early township schools was
taught in the winter by a man called Mad-
cap, and one MeCulley. from Baltimore,
taught in the summer. Parr's was one of
the old schools.

TORONTO.

.Although justly claiming to be the lead-

ing town in Jefferson County outside of
Steubenville. it is within a comparatively

recent period that Toronto has been more
than a very small village. The celebrated
"Auver" Mike Myers, whose interesting

history has been related, in return for his

services as a government scout, was award-
ed fractional section 25, in township No. 4,

on the west bank of the Ohio River, being
the southeast corner of the present Knox
Township. He sold 100 acres of this land
to his brother, George Myers, who after-

ward sold to John Depuy, and in the year
1818 the latter laid out a small town, which
he called Newburg. The lots were 60x120
feet, the streets were fifty feet wide, and
space was provided for a public square.

Although there was no manufacturing in

those days, yet the location of the town
above the highest flood line and the beauty
of the situation attracted settlers to the

little hamlet, and later the place became a
well known steamboat landing, as well as

an inlet to the back country. The first

hotel was kept by Michael Myers, Jr., son
of the famous scout, the first store by Jo-

seph Kline, and the first blacksmith shop
by James Toland. The place was not
without a reputation, sometimes not most
favorable, for being an isolated place, law-

less characters took advantage of the fact

to make it a resort. There was little change
in the village until the advent of the Cleve-

land & Pittsburgh Railroad, in the fall of

1856. The pioneer pottery of Carlyle &
McFadden had been started in 1853, and
the coal and fire clay beds of that section

had begun to attract some attention. Nev-
ertheless progress was still slow and in

1880 there were only 500 inhabitants in the

village proper, which, however, had spread
beyond its original boundaries. As the

railroad company already had a station

named Newburg on its Hue, near Cleveland,

this one was given the name of Sloane's,

after William Sloane, who was liberal in

granting a right of way. After 1880 the

town began to grow rapidly, the census
showing a population of 2.536 in 1890, and
3,526 in 1900, of which 1.285 had spread
over into Island Creek Township, the line

at present running about through the een-
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ter of the town. The present population is

about 5,000.

In 1881 it was decided to incorporate
the town, and by a vote of the citizens it

was named Toronto, a title suggested by
Thomas M. Daniels, a pioneer manufac-
turer who died in 1884, Toronto, Canada,
being the home of his business associate,

W. F. Dunspaugh. The first municipal
officers were : Mayor, J . H. Roberts ; clerk,

Edward T. Finlay, treasurer, T. M. Dan-
iels

;
marshal, J. S. Culp ; councilmen, S. M.

Robinson, Theodore O. Grover, George
llorne, Dr. J. W. Collins, Jefferson Salts-
man and J. O. Freeman. The mayors since
then have been S. B. Tavlor, J. H. Paislev,
A. J. Stewart, H. H. Smith. E. E. Francv,
Charles Miller, Howard Smith, W. B.
Francy and Stanton Casey.

Until 1887 the council met in a building
belonging to George Pracht, but in that
year a municipal building was erected, cost-

ing $5,000, which was enlarged in 1892.
In 1899 the corporation limits were ex-

tended both north and south, the former
taking in what had been known as the vil-

lage of Fosterville and outlying territory,

in all covering about 112 acres. At the
south end what, was called Markle, with
twenty-five acres, was included. This new
territory is rapidly filling up.

Previous to 1863 the nearest postoffice

was Jeddo, a mile down the river, but in

that year "Sloane's Station" secured an
office of its own, the first one in charge of
George Magee, beina: in a box car near the
Main Street crossing of the railroad. A.
('. Peters succeeded in 1865. who resigned
in 1884, when George C. Pugh was ap-
pointed. A. J. Stewart succeeded in No-
vember, 188"), and Fred Knagi in July.

1889. The office was made a presidential
one in October, 1890. and Mr. Knagi re-

appointed for a term of four years. Dr.

B. Dennie succeeded him in 1894, M. B.

Edwards, Jr.. in 1898, and Robert B. Stew-
art, the present incumbent, in 1906. Tin-

office is now located in Odd Fellows' Block
on Third Street.

Although the potteries had pumps of

their own, the town generally was depen-
dent on the primitive methods of wells and
cisterns for its water supply until 1891.

At a special election, held on July 6, 1889,
the council was authorized to bond the town
for $50,000 for the purpose of constructing
water works, which was done, and in April,

1 890, appropriated land belonging to David
Walker on the hill west of town for a
reservoir. A pumping station was built at

the foot of Clark Street and six miles of
pipe luid by 1891, when the works were
started. Since then the pipage has been
doubled. The cost of the works was about
$75,000, necessitating a second issue of
$25,000 bonds. The plant has a capacity

of 3,000,000 gallons per day, and the pres-

sure is 140 pounds to the square inch, thus
insuring ample fire protection. M. B. Ed-
wards, Jr., was superintendent until 1898,

when lie was succeeded by William Daw-
son, who served about two years and was
succeeded by William Bnsbfield, the pres-

ent incumbent. Of course an efficient fire

department succeeded the "bucket bri-

gade" on the completion of the water
works, and the volunteer hose company
won the world's championship in the races

at Salem. Ohio, in 1899. Three companies
are quartered in the town building with
the mayor and other municipal officers.

William Paisley is chief and the members
are as follows: No. 1, John Biddle. cap-

tain; Charles Hienkle, lieutenant; Fred
Myers, C. Stull, Frank Arnold, James
Farris, Frank Paisley. No. 2, Charles Mur-
ray, captain. Edward McKinley, lieuten-

ant : John Allison. J. 0. Goodwin, J. C. L.

Hales. .lames Duke, Jesse Weekly. No. 3,

W. Duke, captain; Charles Carnahan, lieu-

tenant; John Wellington, Delmer Walker,
George Lcytzkus, Uirt Nally, Percy Welk.

Following close on the opening of the

water works was the Toronto Electric

Light Company, which proceeded to erect

an up-to-date plant, furnishing some 2,000

incandescent lights for public and private

use, with about twenty miles of pole lines.

This plant was purchased by the Steuhen-
ville and East Liverpool Traction Corn-
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puny in 1907, and is now operated by that
corporation. The streets are not only well
lighted but well paved with fire brick, a
sewer system has been installed and the
town is rated as one of the best in the
Ohio Valley.

There were early township schools in
what is now known as Toronto, as there
were elsewhere through the county, but
they were ungraded, and the educational
history really begins with the incorpora-
tion of the village. The predecessor of
the Central High School building, how-
ever, aspired to the dignity of a graded
school, and when that eight-room structure
was completed in 1893 the entire system
was brought to a high degree of efficiency.

With the extension of the boundaries, Fos-
terville building on the north and Markle
on the south, each with a two-story brick,

were brought into the system. In 1900 a
twelve-room building, well equipped, was
completed at the corner of Findlay Street
and Loretta Avenue, and the high school
removed thither. Its cost was about $25,000.
The first superintendent of schools was
Abraham Grove, succeeded by S. A. Har-
bourt, S. K. Mardis and Prof. Williams.
There are now about 800 pupils enrolled in

Toronto schools, in charge of the superin-
tendent and twenty teachers, and thero is

no lack of educational facilities. In addi-
tion, there are enrolled 175 pupils in St.

Francis' parochial schools.

Rev. J. M. Bray seems to have delivered
the first Methodist Episcopal sermon at
Newburg in 1837, under some shade trees

on the river bank. A class was organized,
under the leadership of John Bray, Sr., in

1841 or 1842, and then matters remained
dormant for more than thirtv vears. On
February 14, 1874. Rev. J. Q. A. Miller,

then in charge of Thomson Chapel. Steu-
benville, visited the place ami hold services

in a sehoolhouse standing on the Francy
propertv. A class of twelve was formed,
including J. W. Myers, A. C. Peters, J. B.
Peters, Joseph P. Bowles. Samuel John-
son, H. II. L. Carroll, J. W. Dawson, J. C.

Kelly, Thomas Greer and wife, Henry

Myers and James Robinson. A revival
brought in 199 members, making the whole
number 213. Rev. J. R. Roller was ap-
pointed pastor in March and the next year
a brick church, 42x(J2 feet, was built on
Main Street, with a capacity of 450, on a
lot previously secured by Mr. Miller. The
cost was $5,000. The charge was associated
with Somerset circuit, and in 1876 Mr.
Miller became pastor. In 1880 it was asso-
ciated with Mingo, A. J. Culp pastor, and -

in 1883 under the pastorate of Rev. M. C.
Grimes, the debt was extinguished at the
sacrifice of some grouud. J. S. Hull sup-
plied the charge until 1889, followed by
J. S. Rutledge, and in 1890 it became a sta-

tion. His successors were: M. J. Slutz,

1890; J. J. Billingslv, 1891-2; W. 1>.

Starkev, 1893-4; J. S. Seerest. 1895-7; S.

W. McClure, 1898-9; E. T. Mohu, 1900-1;
W. H. Dve. 1902-5; Alfred Walls, 1906;
J. W. Moore, 1907-8; J. R. MeRay, 1909.
In 1899 the building was enlarged and
greatly improved architecturally. A chapel
was built in the north end in 11*94, which is

served by the Empire pastor.

The Methodist Protestants claim to be
the first permanent religious organization
in the town. It was inaugurated by Rev.
J. A. Hamilton on January 10, 1851, the
class being composed of Thomas Malum
(leader) and wife, F. H. MeFerrell. Michael
Bowles, Marv A. Crawford. Martha M.
Crawford, Elizabeth Crawford, W. B.
Sloane, Mary and Thomas McFerren,
Henry Myers, and wife, Sarah A. Myers,
David Sloane and wife Mary, Martha and
Rebecca A Myers, James Lyons and wife,

Rosanna and David Estelle and wife. Mr.
Hamilton prea:*he«l about three months,
when Rev. E. A. Brindley took charge and
remained until 1860. in 1853 a frame
building 30x40 feet was erected on River
Avenue, and this was afterwards enlarged
and rebuilt one-half larger. In 1857 New-
burg mission was attached to Wellsville

and East Liverpool, under title of Newburg
circuit, which lasted until 1868, when the

appointment was made a station, under the

name of Sloane 's. The first trustees were
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Lorenzo Jewett, James Lyons, F. A. Me-
Ferren and George Carlyle. The only
charter member now living is Mr. Mc-
Ferren. Rev. William Hastings was pastor
from 1860 to 1872, inclusive, succeeded by
F. A. Brown four years, J. B. McCormick
and A. B. Cochran one vear each, Charles
Caddy in 1878, A. L. Sarchett, William
Hastings (second time), J. A. Thrapp, C.
K. Sheppard, F. P. Hummel, W. K. Har-
rison. A fine brick structure, with a ca-

pacity of 800, was erected in 1888, since

which time the congregation has greatly in-

creased. One of the keepsakes of the church
is an old leather chair in which Hon. K. M.
Stanton once sat and heard Mr. Hastings
preach here.

On the evening of July 4, 1869, Rev. W.
R. Vincent, pastor of Island Creek Pres-

byterian Church, held an open air meeting
on George Morrow's place. Other services

followed, nnd on December 1.1 steps were
taken towards building a church, which was
carried out, and a frame chapel was begun
the next year and dedicated on October 30,

Rev. J. P. Caldwell preaching the sermon.
An organization was formed November 28,

187.1, under the name of the Memorial Pres-

byterian Church, with Andrew Robertson,
John Francy, Thomas Hunt, Charles I..

Young and David Aten as rnling elders.

Mr. Vincent was succeeded by Rev. .1. N.

Swnn, who remained a little over a year,

followed by Rev. S. Fisher, from August,

1870, to August. 1870. He was followed by
Rev. M. A. Parkinson and Rev. Mr. Norris

and Rev. \V. F. Weir, who served from
January 1. 1892. to August, 1*99, during
which time, in 1894, a new church and par-

sonage were erected on Third Street, being

the largest and most expensive in the place,

and equipped with a first class pipe organ.

The cost was $25,000. Rev. Mellvaine suc-

ceeded Mr. Weir, followed by Kev. Mc-

Colloch and Rev. E. A. Hodill, the present

pastor.

Rev. J. M. Jamison preached the first

sermon for the United Presbyterians and
a society was formed by Rev. .1. Kennedy
in I860, with twelve charter members, as

follows: George McGee and wife Mary,
A. H. Gaston and wife Jane, W. Harper,
wife and daughters, John Burns and wife
Mary, Mrs. Gibbon and daughters. Messrs.
Gaston and McGee were ruling elders. Rev.
J. H. J^eeper was the first pastor, who
served a short time, and the congregation
depended on supplies until January 1877,
when Rev. Braden became pastor and
served eighteen months. Rev. Joseph Bu-
chanan, of Steubenville, then filled the pul-
pit until 1886, practically without compen-
sation. Rev. W. H. McMurray became pas-
tor in 1888, and served ten years, during
which period the congregation largely in-

creased. He was succeeded by K. F. Gillis,

who resigned in 1899. He was followed bv
N. H. Headger to 1901, R. W. Caldwell to

1904, supplies to 1907, and W. J. Engle to

the present. The church, a neat frame
building, 16x46, was erected in 1870.

The Roman Catholics had a mission,
served from Steubenville. in 1882, but a
resident pastor was appointed in 1884. in
connection with Mingo, Brilliant and Ham-
mondsville. A new church, named St.

Francis, was begun in 1880 by Rev. A. M.
Leyden, and completed the following year,
costing $10,000. It is an imposing brick-

edifice of florid Gothic. The parochial
house was built in 1892, and Rev. Father
McNally established a school of two rooms
in 1899, under charge of four Loretta sis-

ters, to which two rooms were added in

1908 at a cost of $6,000. There are now
live teachers, one in music, and 17") pupils.

The Church of Christ was organized on
June 1.'), 1890, by Rider R. A. Bosworth. of
Steubenville, with thirty-five charter mem-
Iwrs. Aten's Hall, on Fourth Street, was
used for worship, the pulpit being gener-
ally supplied by students from Bethany
College. In 1892 a handsome church was
built on River Avenue, with a seating ca-

pacity of 500. The building is of white fire

brick with red trimmings, and furnished
with handsome red oak pews. Tt was dedi-

cated December 18, 1892, and the pastors
since then have been A. Baker, L. F. Hos-
kin, M. A. Banker, S. L. Todd, W. R. Sey-
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tone, William Stiff, P. D. Draper, .1. W.
Darly, J. W. B. Smith, J. L. McDonald, J.

Hunt Beard, B. H. Johnston.
A Greek Catholic church and parsonage

were built in the upper end of the town in

1902. Its material is fire brick and the cost

was about $5,000. Revs. Emil Leregally
Biscaha and Alexander Dudinsky each rep-

resents a pastorate of two years. Basil A.
Volasin is the present pastor, with a mem-
bership of 110.

In 1893, Rev. H. L. Grabau, rector of

St. Paul's Church, Steubenville, started a
mission in Toronto under the name of St.

Jude's. Services were held in a hull and
at a subsequent visitation of the bishop
fourteen were confirmed. Rev. C. P. Cogs-
well had charge for a while, and after his

departure lay reading was maintained for

some months, when the mission was dis-

continued. A small legacy has since been
left for the benefit of the mission should it

be revived, of which there has been some
talk.

The fraternal organizations are well rep-

resented in Toronto, including the Junior
American Mechanics, organized August 2(5.

1888, 175 members; Ancient Order of Hi-

bernians, March 1.0. 1904, 125 members;
Eagles, December 19, 1900, 85 members;
Red Men, March 27. 1908, 75 members. The
Lodge No. 583, P. & A. M., was organized

in 1900, and has 1.35 members. James Mc-
Parland was the first W. M. The 1. O. O. F.

also have a good organization, and at one
time had a large building, with hall, which

has since passed into private hands. G. W.
Sinister Post. No. 239, represents the G.

A. R. and there is a lodge of Jr. U. A. M.
At one time there was a Protected Home
Circle, No. 129.

The first bank organized in Toronto was
the Toronto Banking Company, in 1889,

Jefferson Saltsman, president; John Lo-

gan, vice president, and J. M. McClave,
cashier; capital $25,000. They went out of

business in 1893. Their home was in the

I. O. O. F. building. The Citizen's Bank-

purchased this property in September,
18915, and continued in business until Fcb-

ruarv, 1902, when it was purchased by the

Bank of Toronto. The Bank of Toronto
was started in 1894 by L. H. Hilsinger and
others and was changed into the National
Bank of Toronto in August, 1907, with L.

H. Hilsinger, president; Guy Johnston,
vice president, and J. C. Hilsinger. cashier,

with a capital of $50,000. Its last published
statement, September 1, 1909, showed re-

sources of $321,321.02, and aggregate de-

posits of $218,735.51). The First National
Bank of Toronto was organized in the

spring of 1907, with a capital of $50,000,

with W. B. Stratum, president; \V. B.

Gouchcr, vice president, and T. J. Collins,

cashier. Its last statement showed re-

sources of $215,885.80, and aggregate de-

posits $110,106.28. Both banks do a large

ousiness, and have the full confidence of the

community. During the nineties tUere was
a Home Building and Loan Company, with

a permissible capital of $300,000. but its

business was wound up and absorbed by a
company in another city.

ISLAND CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Island Creek Township, which was sepa-

rated from Steubenville on June 4, 180*5,

and joins the latter on the north, contains

thirty-six sections of Township 7, Range 2,

and four full and seven fractional sections

of Township 3, Range 1, of the original

seven ranges. Its name is taken from
Island Creek, which cuts through the mid-

dle of the township from west to east, emp-
tying into the Ohio at Costonia, opposiU*
Brown's Island. Wills Creek draius the

township on the south, and the river front

is rugged and hilly, developing westward
into an excellent fanning country.

Wheat, com, oats and fruit of all kinds,

and sheep and cattle are the principal prod-
ucts. White oak, sugar maple, walnut,

locust, beech and other woods were once
plentiful, but the portable sawmill has
made sad havoc among the groves in the

last twenty years. Among the early set-

tlers were Isaac and James Shane, Andrew
Ault, Daniel Viers, Nathan Palmer,
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Michael Castuer, William Jaekman, Jacob
Cable, Richard Lee, James Ball, William
Jackson, John House, Daniel Arnold, John
Simpson, Richard Brisbane, James Patter-

son, Charles Armstrong, Adam Hout, John
Moore, Charles Porter, Thomas Fleming,
Andrew Huston. Joseph Howells, James
Crawford, Abel Crawford (the latter own-
ing the Red Mill, near Mt. Tabor, early

in the century), John Rhinehart, Moses
Arnold, John Frederick. George Watson,
Samuel Hanna, James Ekev, Rutherford
McClelland. The fathers of Judge Will-

iam Day and Judge Phillips of Iowa, the

father of the late Judge William Lawrence
of Ohio, and father of Hon. Joseph Fowler,
ex-United States senator of Tennessee, were
early settlers of this township. Joseph
Howells was the grandfather of William
Dean Howells. Philip Cable, who was a

judge of the Territorial Court aR early as

1798, and afterwards a justice of the peace,

was somewhat eccentric, but nevertheless

a very popular man, so popular in fact that

he officiated at most of the marriages. He
had such an extensive practice along this

line of his profession that he adopted a

short service so that waiting couples would
not be delayed by much ceremony. The
sen-ice usually ended with the words:
"Give me a dollar, kiss your bride, and go
about your business." Having no one
present on one occasion he called in his

wife and colored servant, saying, " In the

presence of my wife, Dolly, and Black
Harry, 1 pronounce you man and wife

—

give me my dollar." Mr. Cable settled

below the mouth of Island Creek in 1785,

where Ephraim Cable was born the same
year, and at one time was claimed to be
the first white child born in the county, but

we have seen that Absalom Ross, of Mingo,
has the prior claim, in addition to another
noted later. Cable, Sr., built a block-

house, where he lived, and reared the elder

children of a family of twelve. His name
has been perpetuated by a bend and eddy
in the Ohio River, at the foot of Brown's
Tsland. Ephraim Cable was a soldier in

the War of 1812. His wife was Sarah Clem-
ens, who bore him fourteen children.

Michael Castner, grandfather of Thomas
P. Spencer, Esq., who built a mill at the

head of Wills Creek at the beginning of
the century, was on the site of Steuben-
ville while it was a wilderness—before the

place was considered as a town-site. He
owned a store on the Monongahela River
and one in Kentucky, riding on horseback
from one to the other, and going through
this region, he frequently stopped on the

site of Steul>enville. He bought a thousand
acres of land in what is now Island Creek
Township, and he was one of the pioneer
merchants of Steubenville. Ho built the
large brick dwelling near Two liidge

Church, now occupied by Dr. John Kilgore,

and his remains are interred in the grave-
yard nearby.
The first election for township officers

was held at the residence of Daniel Viers,

but there is no record of the same. Flour
and saw mills were numerous in early days,
of which an account is already given.

Ephraim Cooper and William Campbell
built the first cabin on the line now the

state road between Wills Creek and Yellow
Creek, in 1795. Andrew Ault came to this

township in 1797 from Pennsylvania. lie

was the son of a privateer during the Revo-
lution, who was captured while bringing
prizes into the port of Philadelphia, he not
knowing the British were in control, ami
was sent to England as a prisoner. He
escaped and returned to America, building

near Redstone the first linseed-oil mill in

the West. Descendants still own the land
in this township upon which Andrew set-

tled. Andrew Huston, of the blood of Gen.
Sam Houston, of Texas fame, came from
the Cumberland Valley in 1809, locating at

the mouth of Wills Creek, the house being
on the site of the present Steubenville
water works. He afterward removed to the

central part of the township, where was
born John Andrew Huston, father of Sam
Huston, the late county engineer, the home-
stead still standing. Sam Huston had in
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near Richmond, in Salem Township.
Outside of Toronto extension, Alikanna

and Pekin are the only hamlets in Island
Creek Township, it being especially a fann-
ing community. At the former place is

located the pumping station of the Steu-

benvi lie water works, and adjoining is

Stanton Park, a popular amusement resort.

About a mile above is the Country Club,
overlooking Brown's Island and the fa-

iuous King farm. There is quite a settle-

ment at Alikana extending up Wills

Creek. A small hamlet named Millvale

was platted by Joseph Beatty in 1873, but

this has become a part of Stanton Park.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

The first intimation we have of schools

in the township is the statement that the

first religious services were held in school-

houses as well as in the woods and private

houses. Mt. Tabor school was held in a

log house, first built for a dwelling in 1812,

the first teacher being William .lackman.

Marks of the foundation are still visible.

In 1814 a log structure was em-ted in the

Mt. Tabor district. Destroyed by incen-

diary fire four years later, a brick house
his possession an iron tomahawk found in

Wills Creek and an iron Indian axe found
was erected, in which school was taught

during the earlier days by Lancelot I learn,

John Hawhey, John Heebout, George Arm
strong, James Mitchelltree. The late

Judge William Lawrence, who was born in

Sinithfield Township, attended tins school.

There are now twelve schools in the town-

ship outside of Toronto, located <>u or ad-

jacent to the following farms: Moreland.
in Section 33; Johnson (Island Creek), Sec-

tion 35; Grafton, Range 2, Section 1 ; Ford,

9; Morrina, 1G; Smith, 18; Porter, 19; Tav-
lor, 20; Kilgore, 27; Mt. Tabor, 30; Wel-
day. 32 and 33.

The first religious organization in the

township seems to have been what is known
as the Island Creek Presbyterian Church,
organized by Rev. James Snodgrass, of
Steubenville, who was installed pastor on

November 24, 1800. Preaching was held at

Pittenger's, near Bowling Green, Carr's
Kidge and on the present site of the church,
a large tent being used in summer. The
first church edifice was built of round logs

in 1802 on land donated by Ephraim
Cooper. This was displaced by a hewn log
house in 1810, which lasted* until 1825,

when it burned down. That year Mr. Snod-
grass resigned and was succeeded by John
C. Sidball, who served until 183"). During
his administration a brick church was built,

which was occupied until 185G, when it was
partially destroyed by a storm. A larger
and better building took its place in 1858,

which st ill stands. Rev. Thomas F. Magi 1

1

was pastor from 1835 to 1840; John K.
Cunningham, 1841-53; Samuel Fortes,
187<>-79; Rev. M. A. Parkinson, 1880.

The next organization fonned by Mr.
Snodgrass was the Two Kidge Presbyte-
rian Church, on the Steubenville and Rich-
mond Pike, about nine miles west of the
former place. The congregation was fonned
about 1802 or 1803, the people meeting in

various places until 1810, when the first

place of worship was erected. Mr. Snod
grass was succeeded by Rev. William Mc-
Millan, who continued pastor of this and
Yellow Creek Church, afterwards Bacon
Ridge, for six years. The first session was
composed of James Cellars and James
Bailey, to whom Samuel Thompsou, An-
drew Anderson, George Day and Thomas
Elliott were added. A new house of wor-
ship was erected in 18p!, and afterwards
on May 21, 1810, Rev. Thomas Hunt he
came pastor of this and Yellow (.'reek

Churches, which arrangement continued
until 1828, when he devoted his entire time
to Two Ridges and remained until Octo-
ber 4. 1 s:;*». During this time James Tor
ranee. Renjamin Coe. Henry Shane, Will
iatn Winters, James Milligau and David
Gladden became elders. Rev. Joseph Kerr
succeeded Mr. Hunt, and he by Rev. Will-

iam Eaton on October 21, 1844. John
Leec h, John McGregor and David Johns-
ton were elected elders during this time.

Mr. Eaton retired in April, 1853, and the
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following summer a new house of worship
was erected, which about twenty years
after was considerably enlarged and im-
proved. After un interval of two years
Rev. David R. Campbell became pastor,

and Philip W. Coe and John Huston
elected elders. On March 19. 1856 William
Plummer and James G. Allen were elected.

Mr. Campbell retired in October, 1861, and
after a vacancy of a year and a half Rev.
George Fraser was installed, in the sum-
mer of 1836. Thomas Hunt, John Rex,
George D. Rex and T. P. Ross were in-

stalled as elders on April 24. 1864, and on
November 19, 1863, Robert Stark, Richard
Wright and Samuel Kirk were elected

deacons. Rev. J. l\. Dickey succeeded Mr.
Fraser in 1867 and on December 19 Rob-
ert Stark and Richard Wright became
elders. During this period twelve feet were
added to the building. Mr. Dickey, after
three years' service, was succeeded by Rev.
J. M. Lawbaugh, who remained but eight

months. On September 3, 1871, John Leech
and Thomas Robertson became deacons,
and in April, 1873, Rev. Tsrael Price be-

came pastor for two-thirds of his time.

On February 7, 1874, William Stark and
John Leech became ciders and Samuel
Huston. Simon R. Warren and William
Gilkinson deacons, later Darwin Rex. A
women's foreign missionary society was
organized in 1874. Mr. Price retired in

the fall of 1877, and the church was with-
out a pastor until January 9. 1879, when
he was succeeded by J. C. McCracken. His
successors were W. A. Williams and Rev.
Mr. Clark. The place is now vacant.

Pleasant Hill congregation, in Section 9,

was organized on March 27, 1866, with
twenty four members. John Morrison,
John M. Robertson and Beatty McFarland
were elected trustees ; John C. Robertson,
treasurer, and Thomas Sanders, secretary.

A good brick church was erected in 1876,

Hiram Cope, the contractor, and Thomas
Frith, of Steubenville, doing the stone
work. The pastors have been the follow-

ing: R. H. Van Pelt, beginning in 1868; J.

F. Boyd, in 1870 ; Robert Herron, in 1876;

J. C. McCracken, in 1878; S. C. Paris, in

1885; J. P. Levenberger, in 1893; T. W.
Hine, 1904. Mr. Sanders is still clerk. The
present ruling elders are C. R. Shane, D. S.

Carr; deacons, Thomas Sanders, John M.
Robertson; members, forty-three.

Rev. James R. Finley began preaching
in the neighborhood of what is now Mount
Tabor in 1814, and organized an M. E. class

at the home of Adam Jackman, composed
of Richard Coulter and wife, Adam Jack-
man, Mary Jackman, Margaret Jackman.
Jane Patterson, Isabel Whittaker, George
Albau, Garrett Albertson, Stuckland,
William Nugent, Richard Jackman, Jane
Jackman, Jane Armstrong, John Craw-
ford, James Crawford, Martin Swieknrd.
Margaret Swickard, Jacob Vail and others.

Swickard was with the Crawford expedi-
tion and died at the age of ninety-six. Rich-
ard Coulter was leader and preaching was
continued at Jackman 's house for twelve
years. A brick building was then erected
and occupied for thirty years. In 1856 a
neat frame structure was" erected, which is

still occupied. Except during a brief inter-

val, this charge has been supplied from
Richmond, the present pastor being W. A.
Kinney.
The next M. K. congregation, known as

the Island Creek, was organized by Rev.
James M. Rray in 1837. The class included
John Bray and wife. William Taylor and
wife, Fleming and wife, John Fleming
and wife, William Fleming and wife, John
Dobbs and wife, Mrs. John Nixon and
daughter, and two others, making sixteen

in all, which number was increased to

thirty-eight before the year was out. A
church 30x40 feet was erected during the
summer of 1838, and dedicated by Rev. P.

K. McKue. It was made a part of Rich-
mond circuit and John Bray was the first

class leader.

Center M. Fj. Chapel and cemetery ad-
join the Winters farm in Section 16. Rev.
J. Williams and Dr. Hare were the first

preachers here, and formed a class in 1847.

It included Alexander Glenn and wife,

Thomas Glenn, Charlotte Morrow, Richard
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Morrow, Washington Nicholls and wife,

Mary and Sarah Nicholls. Alexander Glenn
was leader. It was a part of Richmond cir-

cuit until 1849, when it was made a part of
Wintersville circuit. A frame church,
32x42, was built in 1849 and dedicated in

1850 by Rev. Nicholson. The other early
ministers were John K. McOaw, William
Tipton. R. Cunningham, William Devinnev,
S. P. Miner, (Jeorge Crook, R. L. Miller.

Chester Morrison, Robert Boyd, W. H. Tib-

ball, Chrissman, James Bray, S. H.
Nesbitt,— Blackburn, John Huston, J.

Conn, Alexander Scott, I). K. Stevenson,
.J. R. Keyes and J. Weaver.
An M. E. organization was effected at

Alikanna in 1873, with the following mem-
bers: Samuel Speaker and wife, Eli Al-

bright and wife, David Blackmore ami wife,

John Nixon ami Mrs. William McElroy.
Private houses were used for meetings
until 1880, when a small frame building

was erected. This lasted until IS!).'), when
the increased membership necessitated

larger quarters, and the present church,

seating about 250, was built. Rev. A. J.

Culp was the first pastor, and after that

the congregation was served regularly in

connection with Thomson and Finley
Chapels, the present one being J. E. Miller.

KNOX TOWNSHIP.

Knox Township, named after the first

secretary of war, was one of the original

five into which Jefferson Couuty was di-

vided, its boundary beginning at the north-

east corner of Steubenville Township (Is-

land Creek); thence west to the western
boundary of the county; thence with the

county line until it strikes the line of Co-
lumbiana County; thence east with the line

of Columbiana County to the Ohio River;
thence with the meandering of the river to

the place of beginning. Two justices ; elec-

tion at the house of Henry Pittcnger. This
took in all the northern end of Jefferson

County, including the present townships
of Saline, Brush Creek, Ross and part of

Springfield. It is now composed of twenty-

four sections of Township 13, of Range 2,

and seven fractional sections of Township
4, Range 1. It is drained on the north by
Hollow Rock and Carter's Run, on the east
by Jeremy's and Croxton's Runs, and on
the west by Town F\>rk of Yellow Creek.

Like the other townships fronting on the

river, the eastern portion is very rugged,
becoming less so towards the west. The
limestone soil is good, and the township
rich in fire clays, coal and formerly tim-

ber, white oak prevailing. Its territory is

historic and was the scene of many a strug-

gle between settler and Indian. James
Alexander, who came in 179(5, was one of
the first, if uot the first, white settler in

the present township. Isaac White came
in 1798, James McCoy in 1799, Baltzer Culp
at New Somerset in 1800, and there were
Thomas McI/can, John Edminston, Charles
Watt, Robert McClellan, James Alexander,
(icorge Culp, John Bray, .Martin Swickard
and others, of whom we have no record.

Michael Myers, Sr.. settled on the west

bank of the Ohio l>eiow the mouth of Crox-

ton's Run in 1800, and John Johnson setr

tied on Jeremy's Run in 1801. Michael
Myers established a fern- opposite (iam-

bic's Run. and built a large stone house on

the Ohio side, where he kept a hotel for at

least forty years. As already intimated,

Myers had a previous reputation as a

scout and Indian fighter. As early as 1774

he had killed two Indians on Carter's Run,
at the present intersection of the roads

from Knoxville and New Somerset to the

hollow Rock cauip meeting grounds. This

was shortly after he had aided Cresap to

kill the two Indians in a canoe through the

machinations of Dr. Connelly, the British

agent at Fort. Pitt, who was anxious to em-
broil the colonists with the redskins to

cheek the rising spirit of independence,
thus bringing on the Dunmore War. In a
statement made by Myers in 1850, he gave
an account of the affray to I.yman 0.

Draper, he then being about 105 years of

age, but in full possession of his mental
faculty. In May 1774, he crossed the Ohio
River to a point near the mouth of Yellow
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Creek, in company with two other men, for

the purpose of looking at the country. They
went up the ereek two or three miles and
stopped at a spring (Hollow Rock), where
they camped for the night. Having span-
celled their horse they turned him loose to

graze, and kindled a fire. Soon after they
heard the horse's bell tinkling as though
he were running rapidly. At first Myers
suspected that a wolf had seared the horse,

and, taking up his rifle, ran to the point of
the hill, where he saw the horse stand-
ing still and an Indian stooping at his

side, trying to loosen the spancels. Myers,
without further investigation, shot the In-

dian, and as soon as he reloaded ran up
the side of the hill and discovered a large
number of Indians encamped. One Indian
with a gun ran toward him, but kept his

eyes on the horse. Myers immediately dis-

charged his gun at the second Indian, and
without knowing the result of the shot,

wheeled and ran toward the spring, but he
found his companions had left the camp.
Myers returned to the Virginia side, where
he found them. The next morning several
Indians crossed to Virginia and inquired

at the Baker cabin (where Logan's rela-

tives were afterwards murdered) as to who
had killed the two Indians the previous
evening, but Greathouse (by whose name
the Baker cabin is often called to this day)
would not permit any one to give the In-

dians the least satisfaction. This, of course,

added fuel to the fire. The encampment
discovered by Myers, no doubt, was a part
of the Logan camp. Myers always claimed
that he was one of the party firing on the

boatload of Indians who crossed the river

to investigate the murder of Logan's
people. The scene of this incident was very
near the place where Henry Pittenger aft-

erward settled—where Rev. William Pit-

tenger, author of "Daring and Suffering,"

one of the most thrilling narratives of the

Civil War, was born, and within a mile of

Sugar Grove Methodist Episcopal Church,
in whose graveyard are buried the remains
of one of the historically noted men of this

county. The grave is marked by a very
pretentious marble stone

:

MICHAEL MYERS,
DIED AUGUST 11, 1852, AGED 107 YEARS.

Soldier, rreit, thy warfare o'er;

Dream of battlefields no more.

All thy conflicts now arc past;
To thy borne thou'rt gone at last.

The remains of Katherine Stickler, his

wifei are at his side, Mrs. Myers having
died in 18G1, at the age of ninety-six years.

A son, William Myers, died in Toronto,
April 19, 1899, aged eighty-eight years, and
his wife, Cynthia Myers, died two months
later. The Myers estate possesses the very
venerable long rifle which did much exe-

cution in the hands of its owner. This rifle

is a prototype of the weapon used not only

by the Indian fighters, but by the riflemen

who won distinction in the Revolutionary
War. This weapon was unknown in what
was, and what is now, called the "tide-

water" regions, where the inaccurate mus-
ket and shotgun were employed. The long

rifle was brought to the Pennsylvania fron-

tier by the Swiss Germans, and of course

found its way to Virginia, and Carolina*;

and the bold men of the mold of Myers who
ventured into the Indian country previous

to the Revolutionary War, coming, as they

did, from Pennsylvania or the Virginia

Valley (including Maryland), had this

most effective arm. While the long rifle

was very heavy, the physical training of

the pathfinders enabled them to handle it

as readily as the light breechloader of to-

day. The great advantage of the rifle to

the pioneer was its accuracy, thus saving
ammunition, which was of vast importance.
Even the young sons of the pioneers

learned to bring in a piece of game for each

bullet discharged so unerring was the aim
demanded. This was the effective weapon
which gave the Americans more than one
victory in the Revolutionary War. The
Myers rifle, which was called "Limber Jen-

nie." is six feet in length.

The ancestor of the McClellan family.

Digitized by Google



4.-»(i HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

Robert McClellan, a cousin of Robert, the
noted scout who was with Wayne, was
among the first settlers of Knox Township,
coming from Westmoreland County, Penn-
sylvania, in 1808. Descendants still occupy
tlie lund.

On Monday, April 3, 180*2, the electors
of the township met at the house of Henry
Pittenger, at which James Pritchnrd was
cliosen chairman, and the following officers

elected: Township clerk, John Sloane;
overseers of the poor, Thomas Robertson,
Jacob Nessley; trustees, William Campbell,
Isaac White, Jonathan West ; fence view-
ers, Peter Pugh, Henry Cooper, Alexander
Camplxdl; appraisers of houses, John
Johnston, J. P. McMillen; lister of taxable
property, Isaac West; supervisors of
roads, John Robertson, Calvin Moorehead,
Richard Juekman; constable, Joseph Reed.
On April 4, 1803, sixty-four voters being
present, an election was held. Sloan was re-

elected clerk; trustees, William Stokes,

Thomas Buy (who was with Williamson at

Gnadenhutten. and a squatter on Yellow
Creek territory in 1785), and Henry Pitten-

ger; fence viewers, Joseph Reed, William
Campbell, William Sloan; appraisers of

houses, Robert Partridge, Thomas Robert-
son; lister of taxable property. Isaac West:
supervisors of roads, Peter Pugh, James
l>atinier; constable, David Williamson;
justices, J. L. Wilson, James Ball.

In dividing the county into civil town-
ships little or no attention was paid to the

township surveyed lines, Smithfield Wayne.
Cross Creek and Salem being the only civil

townships identical with those numbered
by the government surveys, and conse-

quently several of the civil townships em-
braced fractional parts of the numbered
townships.
As already indicated, Toronto, as first

laid out, was entirely within the bounda-
ries of Knox Township, occupying the

southern corner. New Somerset, however,
is the oldest hamlet in the township. It is

in the northwest corner of the township
and was laid out by Raltzer Culp in Feb-
ruary, 1816. The lots were 60x150 feet and

the streets fifty feet wide. It never grew
yond the proportions of a hamlet, showing
a population of seventy-seven in 1870, the

only year it obtained separate mention in

the census reports, and is no larger now.
Knoxville, in the center of the township,
was laid out by Henry Boyle in March,
1816, with lots 60x120 and the main street

sixty feet wide. Located back from the

railroad, like New Somerset, it has re-

mained statiomirv, showing 168 inhabitants

in 1850, 131 in I860, Hnd 165 in 1870. Like

New Somerset, the only public buildings in

the town are the churches mentioned below.

KM PIKE.

When we come down to the river front,

a different state of things exists, and we
find a recent development of marked ac-

tivity. Three miles al>ove the Toronto rail-

way' station stands the village of Empire,
an old settlement, but a young town, which
has had a greater variety of names than
any other place in the county. It is lo-

cated at the mouth of Jeremy's Run, the

origin of whose name is forgotten. In

1S21 Alexander Stewart, Sr., bought from
a man named Buttenburg all that part of

Kmpire lying above Stewart Street, while

Lewis K. McCoy subsequently, through a
lucky investment in a lottery ticket, secured

a large tract on the south side. A fine

grove of sugar maples furnished one of the

most famous camps in the county, and
when this was cleared away the place was
named Slumptown. ('apt. James Young, a

sailor, came here in 1S50, bringing with him
a collection of Shanghai chickens, probably
the first in the county, from which the little

hamlet took the name Shanghai. His bouse
stood close to the present C. & P. depot,

and was surrounded by a spacious yard,

but was moved east a short distance, when
the railroad came, and has since been ex
tensively altered. W. Stanley occupied it

as a dwelling, followed by Abraham Peters

as a tavern keeper, in 1855. The town was
called Olive City for a while, in honor of

the youngest daughter of Lewis K. McCoy,
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who afterwards laid out the place, ("apt.

James Young kept the first store and Alex-
ander Zook had the first blacksmith .shop.

Reference has been made to an early boat-

yard operated by Frank Shane, and a saw-
mill owned by Moses Campbell. The fall

of 1856 brought the Cleveland & Pitts-

burgh Railroad, and for some reason the

railway officials, not fancying the name
Shanghai, or perhaps desiring to compli-
ment McCoy, who had given them a right

of way through his property, named the
station after him. The next year Mr. Mc-
Coy laid out a town with lots 50x100 feet

and streets sixty feet wide, which was
afterwards made an election precinct,

under the old name Shanghai. Samuel
Henry was the first to build on the new
town plat. The introduction of fire brick

making brought business to the place, and
it being also the railway station for New
Cumberland and the territory across the
river, made it a place of some importance,
but its marked growth came after 1885,

mainly as a result of the establishment of
the Empire sewer pipe plant. That com-
pany offered the town sufficient bricks to

erect a public building on condition that it

be renamed Empire City. This suited the
people, and steps were taken to incorporate
it into a hamlet under that name, with the
following officers: Trustees, Samuel P.

Berry, president, A. P. Culp and B. Whit-
comb; clerk and treasurer, James Stone,
Jr.

; marshal, Henry Chambers. The ham-
let first appears in the census of 1890 with
a population of 441, which had increased
to 509 in 1900. The increasing population
calling for advancement from hamlet to

village, on December 4, 1896, a petition was
presented to the trustees asking that this

be accomplished. An election held on De-
cember 2fi resulted favorably, and on June
7, 1897. the secretary of state officially pro-
claimed Empire as a village, the word
"city" being dropped. The first village

officers elected on April 4, 189S. were as
follows: Mavor, E. S. Minor; councilmen,
M. O. Gillespie, George Kniselv. T. R. Grif-

fith, Frank Culp, E. H. Vandyke, II. II.

Beardsmore; treasurer, James Stone;
clerk, F. W. Stone; marshal, Gus Whit-
comb. Mayor Minor was succeeded bv
Birch Whitcomb, and he by Thomas Grif-
fith, the present incumbent. The present
population of the place is about 800. Im-
mediately above Empire is the flourishing
suburb of Ekeyville, laid out and named
by James Ekey about twenty-two years
ago. It has a population of about 400
people, and there has been more or less

talk of consolidating it with Empire. A
feature of the latter place is the neat mu-
nicipal building in a small park full of
flowers and shrubberv, the ground being
the gift of Mr. McCoy.

Previous to 18(52 the residents of this

place had to go to Port Homer, two miles
above, for their mail and it is not so very
many years when they, as well as the
Sloane's people voted at Knoxville, three
miles distant. In the year named, how-
ever, a postoffice was established here and
named McCoy's, to correspond to the rail-

way station. Prior to the opening of the

railroad Shanghai was a relay station for

stages carrying the mail, but this does not
seem to have given any postal facilities.

John Atkinson was the first postmaster,
but enlisting during the War of the Re-
bellion, he was killed in battle and was suc-

ceeded by his deputy, M. O. Peters. Mr.
Peters, after a long service, was succeeded
by Mrs. L. S. Atkinson, widow of the first

postmaster, who served until early in 1899,

when she was succeeded by George John-
son, who, in turn, was succeeded by Pha-
raoh Bell and R. Whitcomb, the present in-

cmnhent. When the name of the town was
changed to Empire, the postoffice and rail-

road station were changed to correspond,
so that uniformity now prevails. Between
here and Toronto are the hamlets of Calu-
met and Freeman's.

There were numerous thrilling incidenls

at Shanghai during the "dark and bloody
days" of its early history, but the occur-

rence which attracted more attention than
any other, owing to the prominence of the

parties, was the shooting of Joseph Mc-
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Donald by Lewis K. McCoy on Saturday
evening, April 6, 1867, at 6:30 o'clock.

There had been an old feud between the
parties, and on the day named McDonald,
who was a resident of New Cumberland,
across the river, had been to Steubeuville
on business. He started for homo on the
C. & P. evening train, and when it arrived
at Shanghai McCoy was there with a car-

bine. McDonald started towards the ferry
landing but had not gone far when some
words ensued, and McCoy fired his gun,
killing McDonald almost instantly. He at

once surrendered to the authorities, and
was tried for murder in the first degree at

the November term of court following. The
best legal talent, both local and foreign,

was engaged in his behalf. The trial lasted

a week, and the jury, after an all night ses-

sion, brought in a verdict of murder in the
second degree. McCoy was sentenced to

life imprisonment, but was pardoned a fen-

years after, and lived quietly at home until

his death. He had been a wealthy man, but

the expense of his trial and subsequent
mismanagement dissipated most of his for-

tune. It is worth noting that notwithstand-
ing some of the happenings at Shanghai
and Newburg during their earlier history

these hamlets became among the most law-
abiding places in the county with a popula-
tion above the average type; a position

they have since maintained. Empire was
one of the first places in the countv to be
voted "dry."

Fraternal orders have been represented
in Empire by Knights of Pythias No. 352,

Heptnsoph Conclave No. 184, and Junior
American Mechanics No. 38.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

School was held at Sugar drove about
18(H), but records of pioneer schools are
scarce. There was also a school at Shelly 's

farm near Osage about the same time, and
(here is a graveyard here supposed to be
older than the school. The first schoolhouse
at Empire was built in 1858, Casterman
Quinti being the teacher. The village now

has two good school buildings with six

rooms, one of which is the high school. At
Knoxville there is a good two-story frame
building, containing, with one exception,

the only township high school in the county.
The other schools are located as follows:

Section two, Warren farm; seven, Camp-
bell; ten, Berry; nineteen, Shelly; twenty-
one, Edminston; thirty-four, Yellow Creek.
Also a large school at Ekeyville.

Sugar Grove M. E. church justly claims
to be the pioneer religious organization of
the township. It stands very near the
Saline Township line, four miles below the
mouth of Yellow Creek, and two miles from
Empire. The society was organized by
J nines B. and John Finlcy between 1800
and 1802, the first class including Jacob
Nessley, Randall Hale, John Hale, Charles
Hale, James Pritchard, Nathan Shaw,
.Joseph Elliott, Benjamin Elliott, Robert
Maxwell, John Sapp, John Clinton, Jacob
Buttenberg and John Herrington, with
Charles Hale as leader. The first services

were held in a house of round logs, 20x25
feet, which in a few years was replaced by
a hewn log building, 125x30. This was
burned in 1841. and replaced by the brick

structure still stuiiding. The burying
ground which was in use before the church
was built is one of the oldest in the county,
and contains the graves of numerous pi-

oneers whose records have been obliter-

ated. Many of the stones have sunk be-

neath the surface, and have themselves be-

come entombed while vegetation flourishes

luxuriantly above. Preachers were sup-
plied from New Somerset and Knoxville.
One of the oldest religious organizations

not only in the township but in the county
is the Good Hope Lutheran Church nt

Bowling Green or Osage in Section twenty-
five. It was organized by Rev. John Stanch,
a Lutheran missionary, on September 12,

18(H>. For six years he looked after the
Germans of that locality, preaching in their

own language from house to house, and
had thirty-five baptisms and thirty-five con-
firmations. IL« was succeeded by Rev.
John Rhciuhart. another traveling mission-
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ary, in 1812, preaching from house to house
for four years, this charge being part of
quite a large circuit which he supplied. In
1816 the sum of $371.25 was raised with
which a frame church was built on the pres-

ent site, among the early communicants be-

ing the Reinharts, Stonebrakers, Easter-
days, Grimes, Smiths, Culps and others.

Rev. Rheinhart remained until 1836, the

preaching meanwhile being changed from
German to English, and was succeeded by
Rev. James Manning, who also had charges
at Jefferson, Annapolis and Yellow Creek.
Rev. Alexander Pope served from 1838 to

1848 and was succeeded by Rev. Amos
Bartholomew, and he in turn by Rev. J.

Sparks in 1849, who remained ten years.

In 1852 a new church was built, costing
$500. The old building was dragged to an
adjoining lot and used for awhile as a
stable. The new one was placed on the

same foundation, and with some alterations
still stands. Mr. Manning returned in 1859,

but the Civil war coining on he seems to

have been too ardent to suit some of his

congregation, so he did not remain long.

Rev. J. Singer served from 1865 to 1867,

when there was a vacancy for eleven years,
during which time Rev. J. K. Melhorn and
others acted as temporary supplies. While
Rev. Dr. Geberding was in charge of Jew-
ett congregation he proposed separating
Bowling Green nnd Bethel from Salem and
Jefferson, which was done, and on June
30, 1878, Rev. A. II. Kennnrd accepted the

double charge, the services being held part-
ly in German and partlv in English, lie

left in 1882 and Rev. J. X. Wolfly supplied
the next year. Rev. C. S. Hallowav was
installed July 1, 1884, and left October
7, 1886. The congregation at Bethel or
Yellow Creek had become so small that
services were abandoned, and the church
was used for a number of years by a Union
Sunday School, which also died out. and
the building is now an abandoned wreck,
with Mr. and Mrs. J. Culp sole survivors
of the congregation. On March 1. 1887.

Osage was united with Annapolis, but
shortly after was transferred to Jewett.

Rev. J. F. Booker served two years, then
Rev. Kimerer supplied until Rev. O. Reber
took charge December 14, 1890, and re-

mained until 1892. Supplies were fur-

nished nntil 1903 when Mr. Groff, a student
of the Chicago seminary, held regular serv-

ices; Rev. Methorn in 1905. and J. J. Myers
the next year. C. E. Read, from the sem-
inary, served the next year and into 1907,

and received a permanent call in the spring
of 1908, taking charge on May 31. He also

has a mission at Wellsville, and the two
places now have regular services. The
centennial of the church was observed Sep-
tember 10-12, 1906, by a meeting of the

Western Conference of the Pittsburgh
Synod and a general reunion with a most
interesting programme.
The Knoxville M. E. Church started in

1830 with services in a schoolhouse, Henry
Cooper, class leader. Shortly they removed
to an unfinished brick building occupied
by the Presbyterians. The building was
destroyed by a storm, when sen-ices were
discontinued, but were revived in 1857,

using a house built by the joint efforts of

the Methodists, Presbyterians and United
Presbyterians. Differences arose, ending
in a lawsuit, and the building was aban-
doned. The Methodists then built a frame
.church, 32x53 feet, which has since been

occupied when there were services, which
have been irregular.

New Somerset M. E. Church was organ-

ized by liev. Joshua Monroe about 1836,

J. B. Finley probably preaching the first

sermon. The original class was composed
of Mary Hartman, Susan Ilartman, Cath-
erine Saltsinan. Martin, .lane, Philip and
Deliln Saltsinan, Solomon Hartman, Wil-

liam and Hannah Barcus. A schoolhouse
was used for a place of worship until the

building of a frame church, 30x40 feet. It

is at the north end of the village, fourteen

miles from Steubenville. The first minis-

ters were Joshua Monroe, John Minor, Dr.
Adams. Philip Green, David Merryman.
Simon Lock, Harry Bradshaw, J. C. Kent.

Thomas Winstanly, Walter Athy, George
MeCaska, William Divinna. Edward Tay-
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lor, William Knox, A. II. Thomas, Samuel
Longden, J. E. McGaw, J. Shearer, Wil-
liam Tipton, S. F. Minor, Theophilus Nean,
Chester Morrison, George Crook and R. L.
Miller. After them came R. Boyd, W. H.
Tibbetts and John Chrisman in 1856-7;
John Wright, J. F. Xesslev, 1858-9; J. M.
Bray, S. N. Nesbitt, T. M* Stevens, 1860-

62; P. K. McCue, J. Hollingshend, 1863;
W. S. Blackburn, 1864-5; S. H. McCall, W.
B. Grace, R. M. Freshwater, 1866-8; G. I).

Kinner, J. R. Keves, 1869-71; J. Q. A.
MiUer, 1872; G. W. Dennis. 1873-5; A. J.

Lane, 1876; J. H. Rogers, 1878; J. E. Hol-
lister, 1878; . F. Huddleson, 1886-8; M. J.

Ingram, 1889; since supplied from other
points.

Rev. Samuel Taggart and John Donald-
son organized the Knoxville United Pres-
byterian Church in 1837 with seventeen
members. Isaac Grafton, Samuel White
and Gilead Chapman were chosen ruling
elders, and Dr. Watt, J. Stokes and Isaac
Grafton, trustees. Rev. Wm. Larrimer
became pastor on April 1, 1838, and con-
tinued until 1848, when he was succeeded
by Rev. C. Campbell, who remained until

1854. Rev. J. H. Peacock took charge in

September, 1859, and remained until April,
1867. On July 1, 1871, Rev. J. B. Borland
began serving it along with his Richmond
charge until 1887. It was separated in

1888 and was served by J. W. Best to 1891

;

J. B. Gondy, 1894-8: L. L. Grav, 1898-1906;
R. B. Fulton, 1907-9, and now by R. A.
Kingan. The present church edifice was
erected in 1875 at a cost of $3,600 and was
dedicated by Rev. S. J. Stewart, of Steub
envillo. It is a frame building, 32x48 feet.

The Disciples Church of New Somerset
was organized September 19, 1840, by Eld-
er John Jackman, with the following mem-
bers: Joseph Marshall and wife, Matthias
Swickard and wife, G. II. Puntius and wife,

Daniel Householder ami wife, John Bill-

man and wife, Hannah Leatherherry, Jean-
ette McGhee, Emily Coffman and Mary
Householder. The first officers were Joseph
Marshall, G. II. Pnntious and Matthias
Swickard, elders; and Daniel and Peter

Householder, deacons. Chas. E. Von Vorhis
was the first regular preacher at $37.50
for one-fourth of his time. His immediate
successors were John Jackman, Marlow
Martin, Eli Regal, Cornelius Finney,
Thomas Dyal, J. M. Thomas, J. D. White,
Mason Terrv, J. A. Wilson, Robert Ather-
ton, 1). O. Thomas, A. Skidman, M. P.

Hayden and others. A brick church, 28x40
feet, was erected in 1841. which was re-

placed bv a larger structure about 1890.

Although Rev. J. M. Bray held M. E.
services at Empire many years ago the
Methodist Protestants had the first organ-
ization, Rev. F. A. Brown having formed
a class in June. 1873, composed of James
Stone and wife, I.evi Henry and wife, M.
O. Peters and wife, Geo. H. Hinkle and
wife, Bernard Herron and wife, John
Adams and wife, Margaret Mushrush, Le-
titia Atkinson, Nancy J. and Elizabeth Hin-
kle, Lena Bell, Jennie Wherry, Nancy Max-
well and Win. H. Jones. Trustees, J. C.

Maxwell, Bernard Herron, Geo. H. Mush-
rush, .lames Stone, John Adams, M. O.
Peters and Wm. Jones. A frame church was
erected, 32x50 feet, and dedicated Decem-
ber 28. 1873. The first pastors were F. A.
Brown, J. B. MeCormick and John Daker;
later, Rev. J. W. Rice.

The M. E. congregation organized about
1890 and built a neat frame church, hold-

ing 300 people. It is served in connection
with Sugar Grove. The recorded pastors

are S. B. Salmon. 1893-5; H. F. Patterson,

1896-9; A. H. Loomis. 19(H); N. B. Stewart,
1901-2; W. W. Burton. 1904-5; C. E. King,
1906-7; Ellwood D. Scott, 1908-9.

There is a good sized congregation of

Free Methodists at Ekevville, which meets
in M«'«affrick's Hall.

Reference has already been made to

Tunnel mill, one of the old landmarks in

the northwest corner of Knox Township.
The tunnel by which this mill was fed was
dug in the year 1815 by Abner Moore. It

is seventy yards in length, cut through a

solid rock with a decline of fourteen and
one-half feet. c<|ual to al>out twenty-five

horsepower. The creek from where the
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tunnel starts makes a bend in horseshoe
shape of one mile, coming round and pass-
ing within thirty yards of the mill.

William Maple came to Ohio on June 15,

1797, landing on the Ohio shore at a point

between Elliotsville and Empire. He emi-
grated from Fayette County, Pennsylva-
nia, where he resided only a short time,

coming there from Trenton, N. J., where
he lived at the time of the Revolution and
at which place he enlisted in the American
array. After coming to Ohio he settled on
the hill above Port Homer. Benjamin
Maple, son of William, bored one of the
first salt wells in the northern part of the
county, on Hollow Rock run, the boring
being done by spring pole, after which he
started to bnild a mill, but sold it unfinished
and then bought produce which he took
down the river on a keel boat and traded
for furs, which were brought back on mules
and transported eastward to market.

SALINE TOWNSHIP.

Saline township, so called from its salt

wells, which lies immediately north of
Knox, and occupies the extreme northeast-
ern section of Jefferson County, shares
with Steubenville Township the honor of
being early historic ground. As early as
1764 Bouquet and his army of 1,500 sol-

diers marched through here into the heart
of the Indian country, taking the lower
part of the Yellow Creek Valley, whose
march is thus described by Parkmnn

:

"Early in October the troops left Fort
Pitt and began their westward march into

a wilderness which no army had ever be-

fore sought to penetrate. Encumbered
with their camp equipage, with droves of
cattle and sheep for subsistence, and a long
train of packhorses laden with provisions,

their progress was tedious and difficult, and
seven or eight miles were the ordinary
measure of a day's march. The woodsmen
of Virginia, veteran hunters and Indian
fighters, were thrown far out in front and
on either flank, scouring the forest to detect

any sign of lurking ambuscade. The pio-

neers toiled in the van, hewing their way
through woods and thickets; while the
army dragged its weary length behind them
through the forest, like a serpent creeping
through tall grass. The surrounding coun-
try, whenever a casual opening in the mat-
ted foliage gave a glimpse of its features,

disclosed scenery of wild primeval beauty.
Sometimes the army defiled along the mar-
gin of the Ohio, by its broad eddying cur-
rent and the bright landscape of its shores.

Sometimes they descended into the thicket

gloom of the woods, damp, still, and cool as
the recesses of a cavern, where the black
soil oozed beneath the tread, where the
rough columns of the forest seemed to ex-

ude a clammy sweat, and the slimy mosses
were trickling with moisture; while the
carcasses of prostrate trees, green with the
decay of a century, sank into a pulp at the
lightest pressure of the foot. More fre-

quently the forest was of a fresher growth

;

and the restless leaves of young maples and
basswood shook down spots of sunlight on
the marching columns. Sometimes they
waded the clear current of a stream with
its vistas of arching foliage and sparkling
water. There were intervals, but these
were rare, when, escaping for a moment
from the labyrinth of woods, they emerged
into the light of an open meadow, rich with
herbage, and girdlea by a zone of forest;

gladdened by the notes of birds, and en-

livened it may be, by grazing herds of deer.

These spots, welcome to the forest traveller

as an oasis to a wanderer in the desert,
* • • On the tenth day the army
reached the River Muskingum."

Hutchins, the historian, supplements this

by the following: "Friday, the 12th, the

path led along the banks of Yellow Creek,
through a beautiful country of rich bottom
lands on which the Pennsylvanians and
Virginians looked with covetous eyes, and
made a note for future reference. The
next day they marched two miles in view
of one of the loveliest prospects the sun
ever shone upon. There had beeu two or
three frosty nights, which had changed the

whole aspect of the forest. Where a few
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days before an ocean of green had rolled

away there now was spread a boundless
carpet, decorated with an endless variety
of the gayest colors, lighted up by the mei-
low rays of an October sun."

Just below where Yellow Creek enters
the Ohio, the present site of the old Me-
Cullough mansion, is the reputed location

of the camp of Logan's relatives, who were
inveigled to the Virginia shore and slaugh-
tered. An Indian trail extended up Yel-
low Creek for five miles, at the end of which
there was a spot used regularly for en-

campnients
v

and stones have been un-
earthed there still bearing the marks of
fire. The same trail was used by American
soldiers traveling to and from Fort Lau-
rens, and it became one of the earliest wag
on roads in the county. Nature wasespecial-
ly bountiful here, the streams crowded with
fish and the forests with game. Martin
Saltsman, one of Knox Township's early
settlers, declared that in a few days' huift

on Yellow Creek he would kill more than
fifty deer. No wonder the Indians parted
from these hunting grounds with re-

luctance. Prehistoric remains are found on
the De Sollcin farm near Port Homer,
so-called fortifications and mounds, from
which numerous relics have been collected,

a carved stone •'olumn about two feet long
and fifteen inches in diameter. On Yel-
low Creek are remains of white pine for-

ests destroyed by Indians who tapped the

trees for rosin, which they used as salve
and to aid in kindling fires. A fair amount
of hemlock yet clothes the rugged hillsides,

but the other evergreens have practically
disappeared.
While Jacob Nessley, Sr. (coming from

the German settlements of Lancaster Coun-
ty, Pennsylvania), did not settle on the

Virginia side of the river until 1784, he
was in this region much earlier, and of this

fact he left an enduring monument. On
the river bank, a short distance south of
the mouth of Yellow Creek and in sight of
the MiCullough mansion, is an overhang-
ing roek, upon which is carved "Jacob
Nessley— 177<>. " The tradition is, as re-

lated by William G. McCuIlough (a great
grandson), that Jacob was prospecting in

Virginia, and crossing the river to the Ohio
side (Indian country) was chased by the

Indians. Reaching this overhanging rock,

he jumped into the river; he then dived and
coining to the surface under the rock, he
remained in hiding, and the Indians sup-

posing him drowned, left him to his fate.

As soon as the way was clear, he returned
to Virginia, obtained a tool aud cut his

name and the date upon the surface of the

rock as noted.

Samuel Vantilberg settled in what is now
Saline Township, near Port Homer, iu

175M>. Joshua Downard came in 1785, and
returned permanently in 17W, living more
than one hundivd years; William McCuI-
lough at the mouth of Yellow Creek about
1800; Jacob Nessley, Jr., a little earlier,

buying large tracts of Yellow Creek land

from the government, also Jeremiah Hick-

man and James Rogers. Joshua Downer
was here by 18()(i. prospecting among the

hills and valleys, being the first to discover

salt in this towuship about 18(K». Samuel
Potts and his brother Henry came about
180H. and preceding them were William and
Henry Maple, the father of Andrew Down-
er, the Craw fords. Jacob Groff, Charles
Hammond, who gave his name to Ham-
mondsville, the Householders and others

whose names are lost.

William Wells, one of the first justices,

bought land in February, I7!>8, from Rob-
ert Johnson, of Franklin County. Pennsyl-

vania, being lots four and five in the ninth

township, second range, at the mouth of

Little Yellow Creek. The same year Wells
sold to James Clark. There was a formid-
able blockhouse on a point immediately
south of the creek's mouth, erected, per-

haps, by srpiatters previous to 1784. While
the site has been washed away, the founda-
tion was seen by persons now living. This
blockhouse, until very recently supposed
to have been west of the creek's mouth, on
Blockhouse Run. was so constructed on the

first river bank that it was surrounded by
water, and bad command not only of the
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river, but likewise of a vast expanse of ter-

ritory, the most natural point in all this

region for defensive works.
The country developed very rapidly. As

we have seen, the land was good, and Yel-

low Creek with its tributary streams fur-

nished water power for numerous flour and
other mills that were among the last in the

county to succumb to the new order of
things. The knowledge of the complete
mineral resources of Yellow Creek was yet
in the future, but there was progress.

A stone hotel was built at the mouth of
the creek, and when destroved bv fire in

1897 the date of its erection (1803) was
discovered carved in a chimney stone. The
first road in the county was made from a
point opposite Charles Town (Wells-

burg) to Yellow Creek in 1804. It is pos-

sible that the masons who built the hotel

also built the two stone-arch Uridges, one
over the mouth of Wilis Creek, the other
over the mouth of Island Creek, both doing
service until recently. They were of the

architecture of the bridges afterwards
adopted for the National Pike.

IRONDALE AND HAMLETS.

Joshua Downer's discovery of salt water
on Yellow Creek in 1806 was on the present
site of Irondale, and a well was put down
by Samuel Potts. It furnished sufficient

brine to make six barrels of 'salt per day,
and soon after James Rodgers sunk two
more wells, each yielding five barrels per
day. This infant industry naturally built

up a hamlet around it, and soon there was
in existence a village, to which was given
the name Pottsdale. A bank was opened
by the Potts brothers, and as salt was in

good demand at $16 a barrel the little com-
munity assumed quite a business-like as-

pect. The salt was hauled to the mouth of
the creek by carts or wagons and then
shipped by boat. In a few years the com-
petition from larger wells in other parts
of the county compelled a discontinuance
of the salt industry here, and Pottsdale
reverted to a rural community. Thus it re-

mained until 1861 when coal mining was
begun here, with John Hunter as manager,
the railroad now furnishing transportation.
A new village was laid out, taking the
name of Huntersville. The advent of the
Pioneer Coal Company in 18G9, with its

rolling mill employing 150 hands, gave a
boom to every class of business. The town
was enlarged and renamed Irondale. It

first appears in the census of 1870 with 751
inhabitants. The same year a store was
started in the village by Morgan and
Hunter, with R. G. Richards as manager,
who was also the first postmaster. Mr.
Richards served about two years, and was
succeeded by C. P. Kvans, Geo. Burnside,
James Dennis, Burnside second time, John
F. Gilson and T. A. Hoyt. The erection of
the largo blast furnace by the Morgan Coal
and Iron Company in 1870, a large hotel

built by Mrs. Mary Crans, and other im-
provements, made Irondale the most flour-

ishing community in the county, and when
the panic of 1873 came it had an estimated
population of 1,500. When that panic came,
however, the mills shut down and the
declension was nearly as rapid as its rise.

The census of 1880 showed a population of
only 399, but with the inauguration of new
enterprises noted in our chapter on manu-
facturing, the village began to pick up, and
in 1890 there were 694 inhabitants, who
had increased to 1,136 in 1900. Its perma-
nent prosperity is now assured.

Linton at the mouth of Yellow Creek was
a small hamlet for several years prior to

1831, the old hotel building dating back to

1803. Jacob Groff kept a small store. In
the year first mentioned William H. Wal-
lace, then twentv years of age, a native of
the province of QueW, came there from
New Lisbon, and entered into partnership
with Groff, and became the first postmas-
ter. He left there in 1839. Although there
never was much of a town here yet coal

mining, the ferry, railroad station, and the
fact that it was the entrance to Yellow
Creek Valley gave it some importance. But
the mines were worked out, the old hotel

burned, the post office was discontinued, and
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the place is now simply a railroad junction
under the name of Yellow Creek station.

The electric road along the river shows
some good engineering work in under-
grade crossing beneath the C. & P. railroad.

When Mr. Wallace left Yellow Creek he
opened a store and postoffice three miles
below, and called the place Port Homer in

honor of his son Homer. It soon became
a prominent shipping point for all that sec-

tion. The product of the numerous distil-

leries, flour mills and salt wells hauled to

Linton and Port Homor created an active

trade that was surprising. Although steam-
boats were in operation flatboats were still

favorite carriers for down river shipments.
They were comparatively inexpensive, and
time was not an important item. Boat
building, milling, salt boiling and distilling

employed a large force of men, and the
river warehouses would be filled with the
products mentioned, their handling giving
employment to hundreds of men. All this

has passed away and the flood of 1884 prac-
tically annihilated the few remaining ware-
houses, leaving nothing but the foundation
stones, and sometimes not even them. Mr.
Wallace sold out his Port Homer business
in 1851. The place is still somewhat of a
center for shipment of apples from the ex-

tensive orchards in that vicinity, with prob-
ably a dozen families in residence.

Hammondsville, lying between Irondale
and the river, was laid out on the propertv
of Charles namraond in 1852. W. H. Wal-
lace came from Port Homer the same year
and started the first store and postoffice.

A hotel was built by Joseph Russell, and
building generally was quite lively that

year. The Hammondsville Mining and
Coal Company was organized with Mr.
Wallace as manager, who also began mak-
ing fire brick in 1856 but sold out to Lacey
and Saxton in 1858. There were steam saw
mill, merchants, blacksmiths, wagon mak-
ers, etc., hilt no church, although the

Roman Catholics bought a schoolhonse and
held sen ices in it. The panic of 1873 af-

fected the town seriously, but its effects

were somewhat counteracted by the four

large stores of W. H. Wallace & Sons,

which carried on trade in every branch of

business only since emulated by the ex-

tensive department stores in the larger

cities. Among other evidences of their en-

terprise they published a newspaper whose
main object was to advertise their business.

Mr. Wallace continued to be postmaster
until his death, September 10, 1897, hav-

ing served sixty-seven years in the three

offices named, for a longer period than any
other postmaster in the United States. He
was succeeded by his son, R. G. Wallace,
then by George Crook and John Madden,
the present incumbent. Hammondsville
appears in the census of 1870 with 504 in-

habitants, and after that is counted with

the township generally.

The fraternal societies are pretty well

represented in Saline Township, Irondale
Lodge No. 533 having been formod in 1869.

A lodge of Free and Accepted Masons was
formed in nammondsville in 1873, and on
March 1, 1906, removed to Irondale. A
Knights of Pythias Lodge was formed at

the latter place about ten years ago, and
to these have been added the Junior Order
United American Mechanics and United
Clay Workers of America.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

An Irishman named McElroy taught a

school in a log cabin at tiie mouth of Yel-

low Creek in 1800, and at about the same
time there was a school on Pine Ridge; in

1804 there was one on Yellow Creek, above
the site of Hammondsville. A stone school

house was erected by the Nessleys and Mc-
Cullonghs on the McCullough furm, at the

mouth of the creek, and the supposition is.

it was built by the masons who built the

hotel and bridges.

In a few years it rose to the dignity of

an academy. Here Jacob Nessley McCul-
lough was educated, and in material suc-

cess he rivaled Senator Sharon, his rail-

road and other interests at his death being
valued at about $10,000,000. At present
the most imposing school house in the
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township is the two-story seven room brick

structure at Irondnle, built about twelve

years ago, with a capacity of 400 children.

The present enrollment is 317. Hammonds-
ville has a two room frame structure, the

lineal successor of the old school of 1804.

Port Homer has a comparatively new
building. The other township schools are

located in section five near De Sellem
place, section seventeen, i4 Tarburner," and
section seven, McCullough.
The first religious services in Saline

Township were held at the mouth of Yel-

low Creek, and in 1800 an M. E. Society

was organized at the cabin of Jeremiah
Hickman. It was many years, however, be-

fore there was a church within the town-

ship boundaries, Sugar Grove and other

churches over the line being convenient.

When Irondale began in 1869 to grow into

a good-sized hamlet union services were
held in the school house, which were con-

tinued with more or less regularity until

about 1872, when the Methodists formed a
separate organization and built a neat

frame structure. Among the early pastors

were Revs. G. B. Smith, A. W. Gruber, J.

R. Keyes and W. L Powell. This place

with Hammondsville was served from oth-

er points for several years, but since 1890

has had the following pastors: W. C.

Meek, 1890-92; A. C. Girdefield. 1893-4; W.
J. Powell, 1895-7; S. A. Peregoy, 1898-

1900; J. H. Conkle, 1901; M. C. Grimes,
1902-4; P. C. Peck, 1905-7; J. F. Rankin,

present incumbent.
Shortly after the M. E. organization the

Presbyterians formed a separate organiza-

tion and built a neat brick church. Rev.

Mr. Brown was a pioneer pastor, and there

was a good congregation. The place has
been vacant, however, for the last nine

years, Rev. K. P. Simmons having been
the last incumbent. Shortly after this the

Disciples organized a congregation and
built a neat brick church. Subsequently
the Free Methodists, most of whom came
from Empire, formed a congregation and
built a place of worship.
On December 4. 1873, thirty persons who

had attended the Disciples Church at New
Somerset organized a congregation at
Hammondsville with William McConnell
and J. R. Maple, elders, and Isaac Iddy
and D. Z. Maple, deacons. J. W. Kemp was
pastor for several years, but the place is

now vacant. The Roman Catholics also es-

tablished a church here, but no services are
now held. Subsequently an M. E. Church
was organized, of which Rev. J. A. Young
was an early pastor. The later have been
M. J. Ingram, 1890; H. W. Westwood,
1891; D. Davies, 1892; R. O. Payne, 1893-4;

J. A. Young, 1895-7; E. S. Smith, 1898-9;

J. F. Ellis, 1900-1; J. G. Gamble, 1902-3;

E. E. King, 1904-5; P. N. Phillips, 1906-9.

In Section 17, adjoining the Tay-
lor farm near the Knox Township line, is

a tract of about seventeen and one-half

acres which has become famous as the Hol-
low Rock camp-meeting ground. These
meetings were inaugurated about seventy
years ago, and each summer have attracted
crowds from all quarters. At times they
have been conducted by the Methodists, and
then by branches from that organization,

but at present the institution is conducted
by an incorporated company which is un-
denominational in character. At present
the ground is held on a twenty-year lease,

of which eleven years have expired.

CROSS CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Cross Creek Township, within a mile and
a half of the river and joining Steuben-
ville on the west, was separated from the

former on June 4, 1806. It is the sixth

township of the second range and contains
thirty-six full sections. It was surveyed
into sections by Alexander Holmes in 1801
and into quarter sections by Benjamin
Hough in 1802.

Among the first settlers were: William
McElroy, a soldier of the Revolutionary
War, William Whitecraft, George Mahon,
James and Daniel Dunlevy, Mary McGuire
and family, Augustine Bickerstaff, John
Johnson, Eli Kelly, John Rickey, George
Halliwell, John McConnell, John Long,
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John Scott, Moses Hunter (1797-1800),
John Ekey, James Thompson, John Per-
mar, James Scott, Thomas White, Jacob
Welday (a German), Hugh McCullough,
John Foster, John Williams, Joseph Dunn,
Nathan Caselaer, Alexander Smith (who
laid out New Alexandria in 1831, and was
the first to introduce horse-mills in this

country), George Brown, William Moore,
John McCann, Aaron Fell, William Han-
Ion, J. A. J. Criswell, John Lloyd, James
Maley, Jonathan Hook, Peter Ekey, David
Powell, Robert Hill (just over the line in

Steubenville Township, in 1798). Thomas
Johnson, William Cassell, John McConnell,
William McConnell, William Woods,
Charles Maxwell, the Stokes and the Dins-
mores (1800-9). Robert McConnell came
about 1811, and settled on land later oc-

cupied by Joseph and Robert H. McCon-
nell ; Thomas Elliott, Andrew Anderson,
John Wright, Samuel Irons, John McDon-
ald. Most of the settlers were Protestant
Irish, and brought with them the vigor and
steady habits incident to that people. The
country was favorable to agriculture, and
after the forests were depleted the Pitts-

burgh or No. 8 coal veins furnished plenty
of fuel. The township is drained by Cross
Creek and tributary streams, from which
it derives its name, with Wills Creek on the
north. It has always contained some of the
best farms in the county, and was among
the leaders in wool growing industry. Its

location was better suited to agricultural
development thin to the growth of large
towns or cities, and consequently there are
none within its borders, and manufactur-
ing is practically non existent, although, as
we have seen, this was not the case in

former days when every stream furnished
power to grind the grain, saw the wood
or make textile fabrics. The cotton factory

built on Cross Creek about half a mile
above the mouth of Mdntire in 1S14 and
afterwards changed to a woolen factory by
John and James Elliott, and then run by
George Marshall, was the most extensive

affair of the kind In the county outside of
Steubenville. Accounts have already been

given of the early distilleries in which
Cross Creek played a prominent part, and
the last distillery in Jefferson County had
its home on this classic stream.
The first election for township officers

was held at the home of John McCullough.
Mar}1 MeGuire occupied what afterwards
became the birthplace of the celebrated

orator, William Gibson, and subsequently
the County Infirmary, the new buildings of
which were completed in the fall of 1905 at

a cost of over $100,000. It is one of the

finest and best equipped institutions of the

kind in the country. The views from there

and other points along the pike, disclosing

three states, and a wonderful array of hill

and valley, forest and stream are such that

the proprietors of many summer hotels

might envy.

VILIJVQES.

New Alexandria, the principal village in

the township, was laid out by Alexander
Smith in 18:51 ; it is on the south side of the

township. Wells Township line being its

southern boundary. There was a collection

of houses here prior to 1831, and Matthew
Thompson kept a hotel as far back as 1820.

The place was then called Tempo from the

fact that Mr. Thompson kept a temperance
hotel, something quite uncommon in those

days. Mr. Thompson also kept the first

store, and was also the first postmaster.
Mr. Smith started a hotel and store in

1831. Distant from rail or water transpor-
tation the growth of the town was neces-

sarily hampered, but it was quite a local

center of trade for the rural community
surrounding it. The village was incor-

porated in 1871, and the first officers were
elected in that year as follows: Trustees.
John Johnson. Charles Fellows and
Charles Wallace; marshal, J. D. Golden.
The census of 1850 gave a population of
litS; of I860, 228; of 1870, 107; of 1880,

175; since which there has been but little

change.
Wildewood Lodge No. 590 was instituted

here on July 25. 1S74. with the following
charter members: \Y. J. McCann, J. T.
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Puntney, D. M. Long, D. M. Scott, C.

Bran fass, D. F. Ilarrnli, Isaac Martin,
Martin Solesby, Geo. W. Fellows. Win. D.

Fell, N. B. Buckingham, Nathan McGrcw,
James Hyndman, with Mr. Puntney, N. It.,

and 1). M. Long, recording secretary. This
lodge is still in a flourishing condition.

Idlewild Encampment No. 199 was insti-

tuted on September 17. 1ST.'), hut after sev-

eral years' operation was dissolved. A
society of United American Mechanics No.
50 was also organized hut dissolved soon
after 1H!>7.

David Freelin built I he first house at

what was afterwards the village of Win-
tersville, laid out by .loliu Winters, about

five miles west of Steubenville in 18:51. Mr.
Winters built a hotel, and opened the first

store, James McCoy doing the carpenter
work on the building. Frank Reynolds
kept the second hotel, ami a man named
Lyle the third. A short distance west of

the town where the road "forked" to Rich-

mond and Cadiz respectively was also a

hostelry which was o/iite a resort for driv-

ing parties from Steubenville and else-

where, especially sleighing companies on
winter nights. The number of these car-

avansaries here and elsewhere gives an
idea of the style and volume of the old iu-

temrban travel. The hotel at "The Forks"
was the terminus of the old plank road
from Steubenvilie. As elsewhere related,

it was noted during the Morgan raid where
Maggie Dougherty was wounded while

looking out of a window, and near where
Henry Parks was killed. Robert McCoy
was the second storekeeper and first post-

master. Valentine Priest was an early mer-
chant ami postmaster for many years.

Eliza Priest succeeded him. but the dimin-
ishing importance of the village and the

establishment of rural delivery has since

abolished the postoflice. The population

is given at 107 m 1S40. at V21 in JSoO. 127

in 18(i0, and 11.". in 1*70. and is now about
100.

On the opening of the Steubenville &
Indiana Railroad Thomas Holmes started

a small store ami postoflice about ten miles

west of Steubenville, and built a saw and
grist mill, from which the postoflice took
the name of Holmes' Mill. He was post-

master until 1873, when he was succeeded
by A. McManus. The rural delivery also

put this out of business, the only postoflices

in the townslup now being Fernwood,
Reed's Mills and New Alexandria.
The developments of the Gould oil field

a few years ago made some industrial ex-

citement in the southern part of the town-
ship, but like all movements of that kind it

was transitory. There has lately been some
oil and gas development about New Alex-
andria, and the Steubenville field extends
into the eastern side of the township. The
Pan Handle and Wabash systems give a

rail outlet to the central and southern sec-

tions, and the projected Steubenville and
Canton electric line will traverse the north-
ern end.

SCHOOI-S AND CHURCHES.

There were said to be schools in Cross
Creek Township as early as 1800, but the

first authentic record of such is one which
was standing in 1804 near what is known
as No. 4 school house on land afterwards
owned by Mrs. Fsher Stark, the first teach-

er being an Irishman named Green. It is

worth while to note here the extent to which
the Irish schoolmaster figured in the edu-
cational development of the northern and
central sections of the county as the
Quakers or Friends did in the southern.

A schoolmaster named Evans held forth
in a log cabin in District No. 1 in 1807. A
subscription school was taught in the Long
settlement in 1809, Mr. Morrow being the
first teacher. Tiie ox gad was used freely

on the pupils as a persuader to industry
and good l>ehavior. David Boyd was the
second teacher. The subscription price was
$1.")0 for three months. Richard McCnl-
lough taught in District No. 5 in 1806.

After these dates schools were common,
and no township in the county is now bet-

ter supplied. The present school houses
in the township include one at New Alex-
andria, high and elementary school near
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the old Hukill school, new two-story school

west of Wintersville, one in .Section 1

southeast corner of township, Ekey in Sec-

tion 9, England in Section 11, Lyle in 14,

George in 22, White in 26, and Reed in 29.

The first record of religious sen- ices in

Cross Creek Township was the result of
the agreement with Dr. Joseph Doddridge,
who was then holding monthly services at
Steuhenville, to also conduct services ac-

cording to the Book of Common Prayer at

the house of Mary McGuire about four
miles west of the city. This agreement is

dated December 1, 1800 and provided that
Dr. Doddridge should hold service here
every third Saturday. Just how long these

services were held at Mrs. McGuire 's we
arc not informed, but that they grew into

the parish of St. James by the year 1814
we learn from Dr. Doddridge, he remain-
ing rector until 1823, when lie was succeed-

ed by Rev. Intrepid Morse, then in charge
of Steuhenville. It was probably about the
date first named above that an acre of
ground was secured in the southwest cor-

ner of Section 33 near the Wayne Town-
ship line, as affording a more central loca-

tion for the country members, while those
living near the city could be accommodated
at St. Pauls. A commodious frame build-

ing was erected for those days, and we find

on December 1, 1816, a petition from the

St. James congregation to the general con
vention, asking leave to form a diocese in

the western country. This petition was
signed by William MeConncll, Robert Max-
well, John Cunningham. Samuel Tipton.
Alexander Cunningham. James Cunning
ham, George Mahan, Widow Mahau. An-
drew Elliott, Gabriel Armstrong, John Mc-
Cullough. James Foster, Benjamin Dovle,
William White, Thomas White. John Mc-
Conuell, James Strong, Hugh Taggart.
Richard White, John Foster. James Dugan.
William Graham, Daniel Dunlevy. When
the diocese of Ohio was organized in 1818

St. James reported fifty-two communicants
and over one hundred baptisms within two
years. After Dr. Doddridge gave up the

charge, the congregation, which met for

worship at White's school house was in

charge of Rev. Mr. Seaton until about
1817. He was a man of ability, but drank
freely, in which respect, however, he did
not differ materially from the community
generally, which had a distillery on nearly
even- farm. He retired, however, from the

ministry and purchased a farm near
Olivcsbiug, Richland County, at an ad-
vanced age. Rev. Intrepid Morse, the new
rector at St. Paul's, Steuhenville, then took
charge of the infant congregation, and in-

fused new spirit. Under his direction a
frame house of worship was erected, prob-
ably in the fall of 1820. On July 7, 1821,

Andrew Elliott and wife, on whose farm
the church had been erected, convoyed the
acre tract to Robert Henderson, Tom Me-
onnell and Daniel Dunlevy, trustees, for

the nominal consideration of $15, the deed
reciting that the church had been already
built. On May 10, 1825, the parish was
incorporated under the name of "St.
James' Church. Cross Creek," with Ed-
ward Lewes and Gabriel Armstrong, war-
dens, and William Cunningham. James
Dugan and Daniel Dunlevy, vestrymen.
The church was consecrated the same year
by Bishop Chase. To the few living who
have personal recollections of Father
Morse it is not necessary to say that he had
the courage of his convictions, and with
the kindest heart in the world, literally

obeying the injunction of his Master and
dividing his goods with the poor, whenever
and wherever he found a wrong he com-
batted it with all his fervor and ability.

Intemperance had become a crying evil,

fashionable in society, ignored by the

church, and allowed to "the fidlest extent by
public sentiment. He set his face firmly

against it, both in city and country, and
we find the following in a book of notes
preserved by the late Robert A. Sherrard,
father of the late R. Sherrard, Jr.: "It
was during the time while Rev. Mr. Morse
was pastor of St. James' Church that he
formed the first temperance society in it,

that was to be found anywhere in Jeffer-

son County, except in Steuhenville, which
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last mentioned society was the first in

Steubenville or the county, and was got-

ten up under the vigilance of Rev. Dr. C.
0. Beatty, Rev. Mr. Morse and others. I.

R. A. Sherrard, signed the pledge of both
societies the fall of 1830." At first Dr.
Morse seemed to have received little en-
couragement in his temperance work,
either from his own flock or from other
bodies. But the leaven was at work, and
iu a few years other societies were formed,
and finally distilling, if not drunkeness, be-

came an extinct industry in Cross Creek
Township. He continued in charge of St.

James' until 1837, after which the parish
was served by the following rectors : Rev.
Richard Grey until 1851 ; Humphrey Hollis
until 1855; Charles Flams until 1857; Ed-
mund Christian tuitil 1863; Henrv Lewis
until 1866; W. E. Webb until 1868; T. K.
Coleman until 1870; Joshua Cowpland
uutil 1875; James Hillyer until 1880. For
awhile services were somewhat irregular,
service being rendered from St. Paul's,
Steubenville, and bv Rev. T. A. Waterman,
Clive Benedict and C. P. Cogswell. There
were 401 baptisms to 1874, eighty-oue mar-
riages to 1875, and 200 confirmations to

1863. The loss of the records by fire pre-
vents an accurate statement Inter. At pres-
ent the parish is in charge of Rev. E. B.
Redhead, of St. Stephen's Church, Steu-
benville.

Rev. Wray, originator of Cross Creek
Presbyterian Church, appears to have
preached at ihe house of Thomas Elliott

as early as 1816, and Rev. Obediah Jen-
nings came from Steubenville in 1820 and
preached at the house of Jud^e Anderson,
later the residence of Joseph Potter. Meet-
ings were also held occasionally at the old
log school house, later the site of Stark
school house. Rev. C. C. Beatty preached
sometimes at the house of Walter ITanlon,

and meetings were also held at the homes
of Stephen Riggs. William Dinsmore and
George Day, where Rev. Thomas Hunt also

preached. In 1835 the erection of a per-

manent building was agitated and in 1837
a substantial brick structure was built in

Section 17 about two miles from present
Fernwood station. George Day gave an
acre of ground for church and graveyard.
The following spring a petition was pre-
sented to the Presbytery, asking for or-

ganization, and Rev. C. C. Beatty was ap-

pointed to attend to the matter, when the
church was organized with twenty-five
members, fifteen from Two Ridges, seven
from Steubenville, two from Richmond,
and one from Beech Spring. George Day,
Allen Hanlon, James Stark, Alexander
Morrison and James McCoy were elected
ruling elders. Rev. Joseph H. Chambers
became the first pastor on February 27,

1839, and remained over eleven years. In
1845 a parsonage was built costing between
$500 and $600, and in 1870 additions were
made costing $350. In 1873 the church
caught fire on a Sunday morning, probably
from a defective flue, and was entirely
destroyed, with no insurance. The erec-

tion of a new building was begun at once,
and dedicated on December 14, 1873, with
sennon by Rev. A. M. Reid. The new
structure is of brick, and cost $3,946. Rev.
J. F. Boyd became pastor on May 9, 1870.

Jacob Long settled in Cross Creek Town-
ship in 1802 and had a class on the head
of Slab camp, a branch of Mclntyre. The
exact date at which Long's M. E. Church
was organized is uncertain. Meetings were
possibly held as early as 1807, and Rev.
J. B. Finley and A. McElroy preached here
in 1813. An accession from St. James'
Church strengthened the congregation, and
a substantial brick structure was erected.

It is on Bloomingdale circuit, and pastoral
services are provided from that point.

Wintersville M .E. Church was organized
in 1835 at the residence of Wm. Roberts,
about a mile from town, and in 1841 he
built at his own expense a house of worship
near his residence. Soon after it was sold

to the Richmond circuit for $600, and was
dedicated in 1842 by Rev. George Holmes.
Among the first members were Jacob Vail,

Henry Oliver, William Roberts and Samuel
Martin. In 1868, the old structure be-

coming dilapidated and too small for the
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congregation, a new edifice was decided
upon, and a location selected at the west
end of Wintersville. The new structure, a
two-story brick with auditorium above and
Sunday school room below, 62x42 feet, was
completed in June, 1869, at a cost of $10,-

000. It was dedicated by Samuel Nesbitt.

Rev. J. Weaver was one of the first min-
isters after the place became a station, and
among his successors have been the fol-

lowing: M. J. Ingram, 1880; Jas. A. Hut-
ledge, 1887-9; A. W. Newliu, 1890-2: J. C.

Smith, 1893-6; T. H. Taylor, 1897-9; S. P.

Llovd, 1900-02; J. S. Hollingshead. 1903-4;

E. S. Bowers, 1905-7 ; E. O. Morris, 1908-9.

New Alexandria M. E. Church was or-

ganized in 1838, the ground being deeded
by Nathan Thompson. The first trustees

were John Thompson, James Holmes, John
Casey. Sr., Andrew Seott, William Elliott,

John Moore, William Fields. John George.
Matthew Thompson. A small brick struc-

ture served for manv years, but this has
recently been replaced by a fine new edi-

fice, also of brick, up-to-date in every par-
ticular. It was dedicated on Sunday. Sep-
tember 19. 1909, and preparations arc now
being made to install a new organ. It is

on Brilliant circuit with Ekey's and
George's Hun, and served by the snme
pastor.

Ekey M. E. Church was organized in

District No. 3. in 1850, and the first burial

in the attached graveyard was David, son
of Andrew and Nancy Kkey. on November
23. of that year. Revs. Wharton and Kent
were the first ministers, and the first mem
bers were James Elliott (class leader), Au-
drew and Nancy Ekey, Andrew Elliott.

Rev. Tipton and Kev. C. A. Holmes. The
first meeting was held at Andrew Ekey's
residence and subsequent ones in the school

house until the erection of a neat frame
church, which is still standing.

Among the early residents of this town-
ship was one "Billy" McConnell, who cir-

cled about McTntyre Creek, professing to

be a witch doctor. When butter failed to

collect in the churn, or cows had the hol-

low horn or other troubles his powers were

called into requisition. Prof. Christie wrote
a book concerning him about 1830 (which
is now out of print. There was no doubt
plenty of superstition among the pioneers
of this township as well as elsewhere, but
all stories about killing of witches by shoot-

ing silver bullets through a dummy in-

tended to represent them may be set down
as apocryphal so far as they apply to this

locality.

Joseph McConnell on September 17,

1816, laid out a small town near Fernwood,
called McConnellsville, but no residents
ever came to infuse in it the breath of life

WELLS TOWNSHIP.

Wr
ells Township lying immediately south

of Steubenville was originally a part of
Warren, and was not made a separate
township until 1823, when twenty-three full

and five fractional sections were cut off

from Warren and named after Bezaleel
Wells. It was a sort of enchanted land in

those days, a rich soil covered with sugar
maples, elms, white and black walnut, oaks,
hickory, cherry, hackberry, spicewood, paw
paw, wild plum, wild grape, with intervals

of wild rye, pea vines, and all sorts of wild
vegetation. The streams were not large,

Salt Run and Blockhouse Hun emptying
into the Ohio, with parts of Melntyre, Rush
Run and other minor streams. Its locality

naturally attracted hunters if not settlers

at a very early date, and tradition places

a blockhouse at the mouth of the run of that
name about a mile and a half below Bril-

liant. In fact, it was in this locality that

Sam Huston found the Hint instrument
before described, which indicated the pres-

ence of man in this valley possibly 10,000

years ago, but that does not come within
the scope of ordinary history. Be all this

as it may it seems determined that in Sep-
tember, 1792. Henry Nations and Daniel
Scameliom crossed the Ohio River hunting
a location in the northwest territory. They
landed opposite Chariest own (Wellsburg)
and proceeding down the river camped on
Blockhouse Run, where they erected a
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small cabin with portholes. It may be that

their cabin was the original blockhouse, the

record on this point is not entirely clear.

They made a small clearing but their chief

support was necessarily in hunting, and
they were waylaid and kilied by Indians
in the spring of 1793.

Thomas Taylor came from Pennsylvania
and settled on Section 30 in 1778, and
Oliver and Ebenezer Spriggs the same year.

Among other early settlers were Philip

Doddridge (the founder of Brilliant), John
Barrett (settled in 1799 and was appointed
justice of the peace by the governor hold-

ing the office for thirty-eight years, and as
justice he performed the first marriage
ceremony in this part of the county), John
Jackson (military), Daniel Tarr (soldier

of the War of 1812), Smiley II. Johnston
(a descendant, in direct line, of Oliver
Cromwell), Joseph Hook, Samuel Dean,
James Everson, William Roe, Nathaniel
Dawson, William Louiss, Robert Shearer.
E. Willet, John Putney, John Armstrong,
Archibald Armstrong, Spragne,
James Davis, James Moore, John Burns.
Gideon Goswell, Israel Cox, Henry Swear-
ingen, Ira Dalrymple, J. McCulley, Amos
Parsons, John Rickey, Jacob Zoll, Benja-
min Linton, Matthew Thompson, Harden
Wheeler, Joseph Rose, Henry Hicks. John
Jacks, the Doughertys, Milhollands,

Grahams, etc.

The tragic fate of the Riley family has
already been told in the chapter relating

to the pioneers, but some fresh facts hav-
ing been gleaned from Hon. William II.

Tarr, of Wellsburg, they are worthy of in-

sertion here, especially as they refer to the

last Indian massacre in this valley. The
victims had taken up a claim and built a
cabin about a mile and a half west of Bril-

liant, the family consisting of the father,

mother and two boys and two girls, aged
about fourteen or sixteen years. Early in

the spring of 1792 they were engaged in

gathering sugar-water when the Indians
came upon them. The father, mother and
one boy were tomahawked on the spot. The
oldest l>oy fled to the blockhouse on the

river and escaped. The Indians took the
two girls, and fearing pursuit, hastily fled.

One-half mile west of what is now the vil-

lage of New Alexandria, at what is still

called the Cold Spring, one of the girls

became frantic and was killed with a
tomahawk. After the peace resulting from
Wayne's victory much interest was taken
and many conjectures made along the bor-

der as to the fate of the captive girl. As
the years passed, various rumors came out
of the West—rumors of death by toma-
hawk, death by grief for her murdered fam-
ily and of adoption by the Indians. Noth-
ing, however, was sustained by facts or
carried with it even a semblance of truth.

Among the three volunteers from this vi-

cinity in the War of 1812 was James Riley,

the boy who escaped to the blockhouse. A
rumor having become current after peace
was declared that some prisoners from this

part of the valley were among the Indians,

young Riley obtained a permit from the
commandant at Fort Meigs to go among
the Indians, and there he found a woman,
middle aged, in full Indian dress, morose
and 'stupid, with every trait of savage
stamped on her appearance. She was the

long lost sister, and well remembered the

murder of her family, but no amount of
persuasion could induce her to return.

These were her people, she knew no
other, and with them she would re-

main. The kindly hand, of Fate has
cast a veil over the future of the cap-
tive girl; most likely she followed in the

train of the wandering savages westward
until the end came. The three volunteers
mentioned above were William Tarr,
Felty Mendel and James Riley, all from
Brooke County, and some of their descend-
nids are living th^re at this day. The
graves of the Rileys are on lands belonging
to the estate of the late Smiley H. John-
son, just back of Brilliant. The cabin from
which the Rileys went to meet their death
is still standing; about 100 rods west of

the cabin, on slightly elevated ground, in

an old orchard is the last resting place
of the Rileys. No kindred hands are
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near to care for these lonely graves. They,
too, have passed to the great beyond. No
enclosure surrounds the spot where they

lie. The rough unlettered stones crowned
with the moss of the passiug ages still

mark the spot where the martyred Rileys

rest. A solitary osage orange tree spreads

its bright green leaves protectingly over
all, typical emblem of a resurrected life to

come. Vandal hands have never disturbed

their silent slumber and no other graves

have ever been permitted here. Side by
side, father and mother, brother and sister,

lie. The storms of winter and the bright

sunlight of summer have come and gone
for a hundred years over the last martyrs
to the cause of civilization.

The first election for township officers

was held at the house of widow McAdarus
on April 5, 1823, David Humphrey, Archi-

bald Armstrong and Richard Sperrier be-

ing elected trustees, R. A. Sherrard, clerk,

and John McAdams, treasurer. The old

mills are referred to elsewhere. The town-

ship is well supplied with coal mines, the

principal output having been at Brilliant,

where are located the McGhie-Deter glass

works and the power house of the traction

line to Steubenville, to which a franchise

has been given for extension down the river

to Rayland.

BRILLIANT.

The town of Brilliant is older than the

separate organization of the township, hav-

ing been laid out by Philip Doddridge in

1819, on land purchased from James Koss.

It was not only an attractive site for a
town, the river bottom at this point being
wide and backed by beautiful, sloping hills,

but it was a very important location from
a commercial point of view. In the early

times all roads led "to a point on the Ohio
River opposite Charles Town," and at this

point Philipsburg was built. The early

records make frequent mention of roads
building from all directions to intersect

this one very important thoroughfare; im-

portant in the fact that great droves of cat-

tle were brought over it on the way to the

eastern markets, crossing the river here.

Philipsburg was also a shipping point for

flour and whisky, large quantities of these
products having been hauled over the
Charles Town (Wellsburg) road from long
distances back in the country to the river

for shipment in flatboats to points on the
.Mississippi. Before the town was laid out
there was accommodation for man and
beast at the ferry landing. The first tavern
was kept by Matthew Thompson and
Nathan Dawson, the latter having charge
of the bar. Mr. Thompson tried running
his hotel on the temperance plan for awhile,

calling it Tempo Tavern, but this did not
suit the pioneers, so he conformed to the
spirit of the times. One of Doddridge's
first operations was building a house for

hotel purposes, and in 1820 James H.
Moore purchased it and opened it for the*

accommodation of the public. In 1882 Mr.
Moore was appointed postmaster, and the

same year Harden Wheeler and Joseph
Rose opened the first store, followed by
several other enterprises. Henry Hicks
was the first physician. The town grew
slowly until 1836 when Messrs. Means,
Collier and Wilson laid out a new addition

and called it La Grange, which name was
also adopted for the railway station in the

fall of 1856, although the postoffiee retained

the name Philipsburg. It was a quiet

little place, one of the attractive sights be-

ing a large beehive on Cleaver place, con-

spicuous from the river as well as the rail-

road. In 1850 the village had a population

of 363, which dropped to 154 in the next

decade, but rose to 228 in 1S70 and 361 in

1880. The erection of a glass house and
rolling mill during the next decade brought
the population up to 04G. In the meantime,
the town had been incorporated as Bril-

liant, after the uame of the ujlass company,
and the titles of the postoffiee and railroad

station were changed to correspond. The
destruction of the original glass house and
the wrecking of the rolling mill tended to

check the advance of population, which
nevertheless was 944 in 1900. and is now
about 1,000, including the Spaulding Ad-
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dition at the south end of town. During
this period an Odd Fellows' Lodge No.
772 was organized and also one of United
Order of American Mechanics. The mer-
cantile establishment of W. H. Kodgers
successfully rivaled those in the larger
cities and drew trade from a large section

of country on both sides of the river. A
town building, with city scales, hose com-
pany and municipal offices occupies the cen-
ter of the village. There has been consid-
erable gas development in this section
lately, and some oil back in the country.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

As elsewhere there were schools in the
township from an early date, but the first

general organization seems to date from
September 15, 1826, when the trustees of
the township met at the house of the clerk,

Robert A. Sherrard, and directed said
clerk to divide the township into seven dis-

tricts as follows: District No. 1 to be
known as Point Finley; No. 2 as Middle;
No. 3 as Jefferson; No. 4 as Adams; No. 5
as Monroe; No. 6 as Center; and No. 7 as
Franklin. On March 3, 1845, District No.
8 was formed on petition of residents of
No. 4 and called I«*i Grange. On petition
of other residents of the same district joint
sub-dislrict No. 9 named Pleasant Hill was
formed of parts of Wells and Cross Creek
Townships by arrangement of the two
boards in April, 1S58. Joint sub-district
No. 10 and 11 was formed by the Probate
Court on September 17, 1878, after the
boards had been unable to agree. It was
called Blue's Run, and was formed from
Districts 2 and 3 in Wells and District 2
of Warren Township. Brilliant now has
a neat three room school house, and the
others are located in Section 36 of the first

range and the following sections of the sec-

ond range: Nine (Tarr), 10 (Salt Run),
11 (Riddle's). 21 (Merrvman), 22 (Run-
yon), 23 (Cusick), 24 (Melntvre), 29 (Wil-
lard), 30 (Cole), 34 (Sixsmith), 35 (Scott),
36 (Rose).
The first Presbyterian meetings held in

Wells Township were at the houses of
Messrs. Armstrong and Sprague about the

year 1800. After that they held meetings
in a tent, from which the first house of
worship to the name of ''Tent Church."
It was afterwards called Centre, from a
town plat subsequently laid out, although
the church, hotel and a blacksmith shop
were as far as the town ever developed. It

was about midway between Warrenton,
Smithfield and Mt. Pleasant, and several

annual musters were held on the site of
the embryo village. A Scotchman named
Robinson was the first minister of whom
there is any account, neither is there any
record of the erection of the first building.

The first person buried in the graveyard
was John Armstrong, on July 16, 1810, and
the deed for the land was made in 1826 by
John Jackson to the trustees.

Oliver's Church, in Section 29, was or-

ganized before the formation of the town-
ship. Thomas Oliver emigrated from
County Donegal, Ireland, in the spring of

1806, and settled on the headwaters of

Rush Run, two miles above Sherrard 's

mill. He was reared a Presbyterian and
brought with him a certificate of member-
ship from Ireland, and also from a Metho-
dist class whose meetings he had attended.

In his new home he found the nearest Pres-
byterian place ">f worship to be at Steu-
benville, ten miles distant, and the nearest
Methodist at Hopewell, five miles. So he
formed a Methodist class at his own house,

where there was subsequent preaching by
the circuit riders. Among the early preach-
ers were William Argo. James Wheeler
and Henry Oliver (an elder brother), the

latter being too Calvinistic to suit his hear-

ers. Oliver's house was used for preach-
ing until 1817, when a house of hewn logs

was built on the edge of Oliver's farm,
which was used for about fifty years, when
a frame building took its place. It is on
Smithfield circuit, with Holmes and Hope-
well.

Brilliant was without a place of worship
until after the building of the rolling mill

in 1883. Then mainly through the influ-
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ence of the Spaulding family a frame struc-

ture was erected in the addition and dedi-

cated us a Congregational Church. When
the mill ceased operating it was found im-
practicable to support it, and the building
was sold to the Presbyterians and has since

belonged to that denomination. The trans-

fer was made about 1886, and the congrega-
tion is supplied tiy the Mingo minister.

A Methodist organization was formed
in Brilliant about 1890, and in 1892 a cir-

cuit was formed, including George's Run,
Ekey's and New Alexandria, with the fol-

lowing ministers: W. C. Evans, 1892; T.
R. Yates, 1893; J. B. Hawks. 1894; E. S.

Smith, 1895-97; G. F. Humble. 1898; A. M.
Misel, 1899-1900; J. O. Davidson, 1901-3;
W. S. Nicholson, 1904-5; R. B. Van Fos-
sen. 1906; W. P. Baxter, 1907; D. B. Cope,
1908-9.

A Disciples Church has recently been
formed in Brilliant, with a good beginning.

WARREN TOWNSHIP.

Warren was one of (the original five

townships into which greater Jefferson
County was divided in 1802, the other four
being Steubenville, Knox, Short Creek and
Archer. Previous to this the civil divisions

were as follows: Richland Township

—

Jacob Coleman being tax collector for 1799.

the returns having been made to Jacob
Martin, William Wells and Alexander
Holmes, commissioners; York—Thomas
Richards being collector in 1798; Kirkwood
—Thomas Richards, also collector for

this township in 1799; Warren—John
McElroy. collector for 1798 and 1799;
he produced a discharge signed by William
Bell and Benjamin Doyle, two of the for-

mer commissioners ; Wayne - David Mood-
ey, collector for 1799; Wayne is again men
tioned in the commissioner's journal for

1802, in that John Hannah, collector for the

townships of Richland, Wayne. Knox, St.

Clair and Beaver, had made returns. In
the same record it is noted that the county
tax listers had made returns: Robert Mc-
Cleary for Warren, John Matthews for

Cross Creek, Charles King for Steuben-
ville, George Day for Wayne, Isaac West,
Jonathan Paraniore and Enos Thomas for

St. Clair. The lister for Beaver had not
made returns.

Township 1, Range 1, takes in the north-

east corner of Wells Township. Wells
Township includes Fractional Township 1,

Range 1. Had the surveyed township been
complete it would have extended east of

Warrenton six miles, or to the Pennsyl-

vania line. Warren Township was grad-

ually reduced in size, and when Wells was
taken off the northern end in 1S23 it left

twenty-five full sections and five fractional

sections. Rush Run, Short Creek and Deep
Run have cut through the hills, exposing
rich coal veins, which have contributed

greatly to modern industrial development,

as did the streams themselves in pioneer

days afford power for manufacturing to an
extent that made this one of the busiest sec-

tions of the country. Settlers were early

on the ground, and with the settler came
the necessary blockhouses for protection,

for the savage conflict was continuous and
irrepressible. Several were located at the

mouth of Short Creek, the original prob-

ably being cabins of more than ordinary
strength fitted with port holes and other

means of defence. The well known Car-

penter's Fort was originally, no doubt, a
structure of this kind, about a hundred
vards up the creek from the site of the

present C. & P. R. R. station ut Portland,

now Rayland. It was built in the summer
of 17S1 by John Carpenter, whose his-

tory is related elsewhere, and was soon
followed by others, (ieorge Carpenter, a

noted Tndian spy, built a blockhouse below

the mouth of Rush Run about 1785. and the

next year Enos Kiniberly. Robert Mc-
Cleary. Benedick Wells, John McElroy,
John Humphrey and others settled at the

mouth of Short Creek, where the town of

Warrenton now stands. About the same
time John Tilton. Charles Kimball and two
or three others, with their families, set-

tled on the present site of Tiltonville. Tn

a blockhouse here Caleb Tilton was born,
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and it lias been claimed that he was the first

white child born west of the Ohio River.
Ilia descendants still live in the neighbor-
hood. It will thus be seen that at the time
the Marietta contingent passed down the

river there was a regular chain of settle-

ments along the water front of Jefferson
County, from Yellow Creek almost to what
is now the Belmont County line, from
which they doubtless procured supplies and
information, and then coolly arrogated to

themselves the title of first settlers of
Ohio. New England was never backward
in this respect. Robert McCleary came to

the township in 1790, Joseph Tilton about
the same time, Solomon Kejiinehorn in 1797,

Lisbys and William Lewis in 1801-2, James
.McC'ormick in 1810, and Maxwells the same
year. In fact, the lauds fronting the river

were soon taken up mostly by settlers from
Virginia, Maryland ami Pennsylvania, and
then pushed back into the country, which
was well adapted to agriculture and subse-

quent wool growing, flouring and other
mills dotting the streams.

Robert A. Sherrard. in his diary of

events in Warren Township, states that old

George Carpenter, as early as 1778, had
made an improvement on the west side of
the Ohio River, on the bottom about a mile
and a half above the mouth of Short Creek,
and about one mile below the mouth of
Rush Run. And like many others of these

early settlers, he expected to hold it by im-
provement right. And for better security

against the Indians he had a blockhouse
built, in which his family and others who
had made improvements above and below
his blockhouse on the river bottom t se-

quent ly took refuge in case of Indians
skulking about. Mr. Sherrard truthfully

says that not all the lwrder outrages could

be justly chargeable to the Indians. White
men, dressed and painted in Indian style,

frequently murdered and plundered in cold

blood innocent families, and the blame was
laid on the poor redskins and vengeance
taken upon them for crimes with which
they had nothing to do. The Indians would

naturally retaliate, and a general Indian
war would follow. The diary continues:

"In the summer of 1781 OKI George Carpenter,
father of young George, and his family occupied the
blockhouse on the west side of the river, and raised corn,

flux, potatoes, pumpkins, beans, etc., on land he and his

wife bad cleared, for be it remembered that in these early

times women turned out and helped the husband to pick
brush, make fence, lioe corn and potatoes, reap, bind
and shock grain, make hay, pull (lax. and scutch, spin
and weave it. The Carpenter family occupied the block-

house the chief of the time until the final overthrow
of the JndianH by Wayne's army in the fall of 1704,

and the death of Old George and his wife, George Car-
penter. Jr., the second son, kept possession of the home-
stead after his father's denth. Notwithstanding it had
lieen so long settled and at so much risk of life or cap-

tivity by the Indians when the land office was opened
in Steubenville in 1S01 young Carpenter hud to enter
and pay for Hint part of the section on which their

improvement had for a loug time been made. An apple
orchard luid hern planted on it at an early period, for

when I saw it first the spring of 1812 the apple trees

loukud large enough to be half a century old. but no
doubt the Hcli virgin soil of the river bottom was of
sifrh a nature as to force young trees forward of the
apple kind very rapidly. When we first settled in

Wnrrcu Township, five miles out from tbc mouth of
Short Creek, the exploits of old and young George
Carpenter were much talked of as deer and Indian hun-
ters. It was common talk that for several years after
peace was made by Wayne's treaty. August 2*1, 1795,
George Carpenter, dr., was in the habit of going
out on Stillwater hills, bordering on the Tuscarawas
river, for the special purpose of having a deer hunt, and
would camp out and stay and hunt for the space of two
or three weeks before he would return home. This was
his practice each fall after the skin of the deer had
become what hunters termed good, for it must be kept
in mind that from June to September deer skins taken
by the hunter were worthies*, as they would not gruin,

and for that reason skin dressers would not purchase
them. These raidB Carpenter generally made before the
Stillwater hills were settled and the ground occupied

by white settlers, yet there were some few pioneer set-

tlers scattered here and there along Stillwater Hottoms
and also on the rich bottom lands of the Tuscarawas
River. Urick, an old German, had a milt in operation

in ISO.! at the time we arrived and made a settlement

in Jefferson County, not for from where the village of
Urirhxville now stands. It seems to me that it was
built in 1S04, and at that time there must have been
a number of settlers scattered around and the pros-

pect of more soon. Tt was further said of George Car-

penter. Jr., that on more than one occasion he brought
home on his return from a hunting excursion a good
rifle, which he said he found in u hollow tree. Hut it

was generally believed that he hail come across some
solitary Moravian Indian from one of the Moravian vil-

lages on the Muskingum Itiver, who, like Carpenter, was
out alone deer hunting. So great was Carpeater's hatred
and antipathy against the Indians, whether friend or
foe. that even in those peaceful times ho could screw
up his conscience to such a point that he could shoot
down n harmless Indian and bring home his gun. He
had been taught by his father and nil the old Indian
hunters with whom he associated from childhood that
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it was right to kill the Indian? as it was to kill rattle-

snakes, (ieorge Carpenter, Jr.. came to a severe and
untimely death. He had sold the old homestead on the
Ohio River to Thomas Shannon, of Wijrreiiton, and with
the proceed* purchased a farm on Stillwater, within the

bound* of his old hunting ground, to which he moved
his family in 1S17. Having learned to tipple and drink
whisky at a very early period, as was common with many
of the pioneers, lie practiced drinking in the little unfor-

tunate town of Warrenton, that had the good luck

almost every spring of having all its rats drowned by
overflow from the river, which was a place of con-

siderable resort for the purpose of whisky drinking for

the first twenty years or more of itB existence up to 1823.

"After Carpenter moved to (Stillwater the habit of
using xpirituoim li<|uors grew ro strong ou him that he
made daily use of it. At the last sugar milking he ever
lived to see he kept whisky by the jug full at the sugar
camp, and whether he had drank to such excess as to

bring on drlirium tremens I am not able to juiy, but be
that as it may, one night as he lay sleeping in the sugar
camp he either dreamed or conjectured that the Indians
were after him. and to get dear of them lie jumped up
and stepped into the flrtrt kettle of eight, each filled

with boiling sugHr water set in u furnnce, and from
one kettle to another he splashed in and out of each
until he landed in all the kettles and their Unling con-

tents. So badly scalded were his legs and feet that

he lived but a few days. lingering in great misery, and
died, as he had lived, without re|>cntamc. It is worthy
of remark that the Indians he murdered in time of
peace so haunted him as to bring about hi* death
finally.

'

'

The township was organized soon after
the formation of the territorial govern-
ment. John Humphrey, John McElroy and
Benedick Wells were the first trustees
elected, and Robert McCleary was the first

justice of the peace—from 1790. On the
organization of the state in 1803, an elec-

tion was held at the mouth of Short Creek
and Robert McCleary and George Humph-
rey were elected justices, and Joseph Mc-
Kce, James Reilly and John Patterson,
trustees.

Other early settlers were James John-
son, whose two boys mado a dramatic epi-

sode in border warfare; James Perdue,
John Russell, William and Joseph Pumph-
rey, Thomas Taylor, Thomas Sprague, Jo-
seph Dorsey. William Rowe, Capt. Daniel
Peck, a soldier in the war of 1812; Joseph
MeKee, Solomon Schamehorn, Jeremiah
Tingley, John McCormick, John Patterson,
Joseph Chambers, Adam McCormick,
Erasmus Beckett, John Bowne, Charles
Oliver, John B. Baylcss, Richard Hay-
thorn (whose farm was the scene of the

Johnson episode), James Hodgens, Will-

iam Smith. Moses Kimball, Charles Jones,
Joseph Medill, Martin Beckett, Henry
Brindley. Charles Kimball, John McElroy,
Alexander and James McConnell, David
Rush, David Barton, John Winters, Sam-
uel Patton, James Campbell, John Ed-
wards. Peter Snedcker, John Henderson,
Robert and William McCullough, Joseph
Moore and John Dawson. The inhabitants
of the river front had a regularly organ-
ized government, with seat at Mercer Town
in 1785. with John Carpenter and Charles
Norris, justices.

The next era was milling and shipping,

among the early millers being Joseph Til-

ton. Mr. Xicliols, William Smith, Robert
Patterson. James Hodgens, Joseph West,
John (".'. Bayless (who had two stone mills

on Short Creek), John Bone, Sherrard,
Joseph aud Ralston McKee, woolen manu-
facturers, four miles up the creek, further

particulars of which will be found in the

chapter on manufacturing. Thomas Liston
was a tlatbont builder when that industry,

allied with milling, was the greatest indus-

trial factor of the county. Along the water
front of Warren Township hundreds of
skillled mechanics were employed day and
night in constructing boats to convey to the

southern markets the products of the many
flour mills and distilleries on the creeks.

On the river front there were immense
warehouses, filled from basement to roof

with flour aud other products of grain,

ready for shipment to southern ports.

Hence the name Portland, in which village

until recently stood three-story ware-
houses, as evidence of former prosperity.

It is said that in the first quarter of the

century and up to 1850, one standing at

any point on Short Creek could see. at any
time of day, as many as thirty four and six-

horse wagons, on the way to the river

loaded or returning empty. Among other

followers of this industry were Joseph
Large, Nathan Borran, Stephen King,
James Attis, Nathaniel Sisco, Charles Wil-

son, John Driant, Joseph Hall and Charles
Noble, a wagoner. All the river ware-
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houses suffered more or less from the
floods of 1832 and 1852, but the demands
of trade caused their restoration. It was
different, however, with the flood of 1884.

There was no call to repair its ravages,
and what it left of the structures, which
was little, rapidly went to decay. Then
came wool growing and fine sheep breed-
ing, in which .Jacob Creamer, John Medill,

•J. C. McCleary and E. M. Norton were
leaders, the latter 's farm, below Portland,
known as Vinecliff aud still occupied by
his daughter. Miss V. Norton, being cele-

brated for beauty of location aud high
state of cultivation.

That this section was numerously inhab-
ited in prehistoric times is evident from the

abundance of relics found and numerous
moimds on the river bottom.

WABBENTON AND TILTONVILLE.

Warrenton village was laid out by Zenas
Kimberly in 1805, although, as noted, the
ground was occupied by settlers some time
before that date. It is situated on the river

bank, just above the mouth of Short Creek.
John Tilton is said to have had the first

house, and the third one, belonging to the
Hatheway family, built in 1800-1, is still

standing, along with the Tilton house. Two
additions have been made to the original

town. Among the early merchants were
John and Thomas Shannon. The village

stands on a rich alluvial bottom, but un-
fortunatelv has suffered from such extreme
floods as those of 1S32, 1852 and 1884, when
the town was practically under water.
During the days of heavy steamboat traffic

the town was a busy place, but the rail-

roads running along the base of the hill

have left it to one side and Rayland, across
the creek, has become the outlet for Short
Creek Valley. According to the census of
1850 Warrenton had a population of 202
in 1850, 240 in 1800, and 241 in 1870. since

which time it does not appear in the census
returns. The present population does not

exceed two hundred.
Tiltonville, in the southeastern part of

the township, on the river bank, was laid

out by John Tilton in 180G, having two
streets running parallel with the river

bank, on which fronted seventy-two lots.

It did not grow rapidly, and in 1833 con-
tained but seventeen houses. It was quite

active during the days of flatboat build-

ing, referred to above, which trade lasted

about twenty-five years. In 1870 the popu-
lation was 214, but this was increased sub-

sequently by the introduction of a pottery.
In 1000 the census showed 308. During the
early part of Grover Cleveland's first ad-
ministration it was decided to incorporate
the town, and the majority of,voters being
of the same political faith as the then exist-

iug national administration, changed the

name of the village to Grover and sent a
petition to the Postoffice Department to

have the name of the postoffice changed to

correspond. The authorities, however, did
not look favorably on the chauge, so the

postoffice name still remains Tiltonville, as
does also the railroad station, while the
name of the corporation is Grover. In this

connection it may lie remarked that the
tendency to drop names which have a local

historical significance and substitute titles

of no special meaning or use except that

they strike somebody's fancy cannot be too

severely deprecated. A flagrant instance

of this occurred in the northern end of the

county, when Tunnel Mill and Moore's Salt

Works, both of which told their own story,

were dropped for Pravo and Holt, mean-
ingless to everybody except, perhaps, to

their authors. Fortunately, in that case,

the extension of the rural delivery system
has abolished both offices, and the new
names have already sunk back into de-

served oblivion. Tiltonville is fortunate in

being above the highest river floods yet re-

corded, and hence has not suffered like

some of its neighbors. A K. of P. lodge
has been formed here, and Warrenton had
at one time a lodge of American Mechanics.

Yorkville is a small hamlet about a mile
below Tiltonville, which has grown up
about the mines at and near that place.

Just above Tiltonville a plat was laid out
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November 10, 1890, by Sarah Qiesey ami
Catherine Hodgens, under the name of
Highland City, near a large prehistoric

mound, on which has been erected a small
cluster of houses.

RAYLAND AND RUSH RUN.

Portland, as has been already indicated,

is one of the oldest settlements in the

township, being near the Carpenter block-

houses. As the country became more popu-
lous it became a drovers' stopping place,

cattle from the interior being driven here
for the eastern market because in the dry
season the river was fordable at this point,

thus saving ferriage, and thus the place
received its name. But what was an ad-

vantage in this respect was a disadvantage
in others, for the pool at Warrenton fur-

nishing a better steamboat landing, the
bulk of trade naturally went there, and
Portland remained with but little more
than a name. Even the coming of the rail-

road at first made little change, but the
location being higher and the local river
business dropping off, the hamlet on the
south side of the creek naturally increased
at the expense of the other, until now it has
become a thriving village, lately incor-

porated under the name of Rayland, to

which the postoffice and railroad station

have been made to correspond. A lodge of
I. O. O. F., No. 12. has been organized,

and it has all evidences of modern ]rrog-

ress. One of the landmarks of the place is

the old Bavless stone mansion, just west of
the C. & P.* Railroad, built hv John B. Bav-
less in 1838.

Rush Run. two miles and a half above
Raymond, was for a while quite a ship-

ping point for coal and brick, as well as

a stage connection for Smithfield, but now
is a very quiet little hamlet.

Coal developments on the west side of

the township a few years ago induced rapid

increase in population and the building of
the mushroom village of Laurelton, which
has siuce been abandoned by reason of the

mines being worked out. A relic of the

boom remains, however, in Connorsville
postoffice.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

There were early schools at Warrenton,
Tiltonville aud elsewhere in the townships,
and we know of a pioneer school at Hope-
well, but the records on this subject are
very meager. The present schools, bow-
ever, are fully up to the standard, there
being excellent buildings in Warrenton,
Rayland and <_i rover. In addition there
are schools in Sections 28, 30 (Short
Creek), 35 (Fiuley), 36 (Lupton), 8 (Rush
Run). 20 (Hopewell), 31 (Neel), and Spe-
cial No. 9.

Rev. George Callahan, a farmer and
Methodist preacher, held the first M. E.
services in the northwest territory*, so far
as there is any record, at Carpenter's
blockhouse in 17S7. On Warren Ridge, be-
tween Rush Run and Short Creek, and
about four miles from Rush Run Station,
is Hopewell M. E. Church, claimed to be
the oldest church of that denomination or-
ganized and built in this territory, although
this elaiin is disputed by Holmes Church,
in Smithfield Township. The old church
was only a few feet from the present build-

ing, and the church yard is filled with
graves whose marks testify to very early
burials. The older stones (flagstones from
the neighborhood) are now beneath the
surface, and when exposed by excavating
about them show neither date nor name, al-

though some have initials very crudely
scratched with the point of a hunting knife,

evidently. One of these found by Miss
Jones, daughter of Thomas T. Jones, a de-
scendent of an early settler, in 1899, bore
the date of 1791). She made no note of
the fact, but the date was impressed upon
her mind localise she was a student of local

history and was examining the gravestones
with a view of obtaining a basis for fixing

the date of the church's establishment.
Bishop Matthew Simpson, in a biograph-
ical sketch, mentions that his grandfather,
Jeremiah Tingley, settled on Short Creek
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in 1801, and that the family attended Hope-
well Church. The old log building had a
neatly constructed gallery in it, certainly

built long after the church was erected,

and some aged men, with good memory
back to childhood, recently declared that
the gallery was an old structure as far back
as 1813. There would seem to be good
ground for the claim that Hopewell was
built as early as 1798, two years before
Holmes. Church, which has claimed the dis-

tinction as the first Methodist Episcopal
Church built northwest of the Ohio, and,
according to tradition, there was close asso-

ciation by intermarriage between members
of the two congregations, and considerable
argument as to which of the two churches
was the older, in which argument Hopewell
came out ahead. It may he added, however,
that tradition at Holmes tells a different

story. Shortly after the building of Hope-
well a chapel called McKendrie, and after-

wards Good Intent, was established on the
Short Creek side of Warren Ridge, but
some fifty years ago a new church was built

on the run about a mile from the river,

called Rush Run Church, and Good Intent
abandoned. Both Hopewell and Rush Run
have neat frame buildings. Rev. Nicholas
Worthington preached at these churches
soon after their founding and also at Oli-

ver's. He entertained Lorenzo Dow and
Bishop Asbury, and J. B. Finley also

preached there. Hopewell was originally
in Smithfield circuit, and Rush Run in

Warrenton, but both are now in Tiltonville,

as is also Yorkville. M. E. services were
instituted at Warrenton at an early date,

and a neat frame building erected, and a
congregation was organized at Tiltonville

in 1825. For many years Warrenton was
at the head of an important circuit, some
of the later ministers being Rev. J. A. Rut-
ledge, 1886; W. C. Meek, 1887-89; J. E.
Cope, 1890; J. R. Hoover, 1891-93; J. S.

Hollingshead, 1894-96; A. W. Harris, 1897-

1900; D. B. Cope, 1901-3; F. I. Swanev,
1904-5. In the latter year Tiltonville was
made the head of the circuit, and the next
year Warrenton was dropped out entirely,

the circuit including Hopewell, Rush Run
and Yorkville. J. R. Keyes, 1906-7;

Charles Simpson, 1908-9.

Presbyterian services were held at War-
renton early in the last century and a
frame church erected. When the popula-
tion began to shift over to Portland a
new church was built there west of the rail-

road, about 1876, and the Warrenton build-

ing was soon after abandoned. The pres-

ent congregation numbers about seventy-

five members. Rev. J. H. Patterson was
pastor here for several years before and
after 1897. Rev. Mr. Bingham has present
charge.

A colony of Seventh-Day Baptists, head-
ed by Jacob Martin, settled on Warren
Ridge in 1798, and built a church and
schoolhouse of logs. Enoch Martin and
Messrs. Birch, Stone and Phillips were
early preachers. After this the society dis-

integrated and became extinct.

A mission has recently been started at

Tiltonville, connected with St. Paul's

Church (Protestant Episcopal), of Steu-

benville. Services are held at intervals

in a hall by Rev. Father Sidener and
others.

Mr. Calderhead, about the time of the

organization of Piney Fork, also organized

an Associate Presbyterian organization on
Warren Ridge, which lasted till his death.

He did considerable work in the way of

pioneer preaching, but had the common
failing of his day—too much addiction to

drink. Ezekiel Palmer conducted singing

schools on Warren Ridge in the Baptist

meeting house in 1807-8, also on Irish

Ridge, between Mt. Pleasant and Warren-
ton, being the pioneer in that direction. The
new style of notes had just been published

and was very popular.

Zenas Kimberly was granted a ferry

license at Warrenton in 1798, and John Til-

ton had a similar one at Tiltonville in 1797.

In the graveyard at Tiltonville, known
as the Indian Mound Cemetery, is the

grave of Susannah, wife of John Tilton,

there being a monument to her memory, the

inscription noting that she had "departed
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this life October 15th 1838; aged 88 years,

9 months and 20 days." Near this stone
only a few months ago (1899) was one over
the grave of Susannah, her daughter, bear-

ing the death date of 1792, but the stone

has since disappeared. Near the grave of

Mrs. Tilton is that of Elizabeth Morrison,
the inscription on the stone giving the date
of death as September 18, 1798, and her
age seventy-three years. Mrs. Tilton was
the mother of seventeen children, among
them Joseph, Caleb and two named John,
one son of that name having been killed by
Indians, the other named for him. Caleb

was born on the site of Tiltonville in 1785.

William Stringer is a descendant of John
Tilton, his mother having been a daughter
of Joseph Tilton. A great-great -great-
grandson of John and Susannah Tilton (to

William and Minnie Stringer O'Brien) was
born Friday, July 7, 1899, on the site (or
near the site) of Fort Carpenter, and but a
few yards from the corner of Township 1

of Range 1 on the land given to Ephraim
(Zenas) Kimberly by the government, the

conveyance being the first deed recorded
in Jefferson County.—Hunter's Notes.
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CHAPTER XXIII

CENTRAL AND WESTERN TOWNSHIPS

ML Pleasant, Smithfield, Wayne, Salem, Springfield, Ross and Brush Creek—A
String of Enterprising Towns—Interesting Quaker Episodes—First Silk Factory in the

United States—Higher Institutions of Learning—Early Salt Industry—Oldest Post-

masters—The "Old Log Schoolhouse."

MT. PLEASANT TOWNSHIP.

Outside of Steubeuville Mt. Pleasant

Township probably figures more largely in

Jefferson County history than any other

township in the county. It has furnished

eight members of the state Legislature

—

Dr. William Hamilton, George Mitchell,

Ezekiel Harris, Joseph Kitheart, Amos
.Jones, Cyrus Mendenhull, Pinkney Lewis,

Benjamin Comley and Dr. J. T. Updegraff,

the three last state senators. It has also

furnished three lieutenant governors

—

Benjamin Stanton, who was a member of

Congress from Bellefontaine; Thomas. B.

Ford and Robert B. Kirk, afterwards min-

ister to one of the South American repub-

lics; Senator Sharon, the great California

capitalist; Congressman J. T. Updegraff,

the Howells, Flanuer and others of liter-

ary fame. Ex-Congressman J. J. (Jill was
brought up here. Although small in both

territory and population, like ancient

Greece, it made up in quality what is lacked

in quantity. The township was originally

part of Short Creek, but on March 3, 1807.

that part of the seventh township, range

three, remaining in Jefferson County after

Belmont had been set off was separated

from Smithfield, leaving eighteen sections

in the southwestern corner of the county, to

which was given the name of Mt. Pleasant,

from the village already established. This
was just one-half of the size of a govern-
ment standard township. Settlers, how-
ever, had been there long before. Rol)ert

Carothers and Jesse Thomas were said to

have been among the first, they coming
from Pennsylvania in 1796, and Settling

where the village now stands. Adam Dun-
lap came the same year and settled east

of the present town, on what was after-

wards the John Weatherton farm. Colo-
nel McCune, John Tygart, Joseph McK*e,
William Finney, Adam Dnnlap. David
Robinson. John Pollock. William Cham-
bers and Benjamin Scott came in 1798-99,

with doubtless others. These settlers were
not Quakers or Friends. The first two
were from Pennsylvania and the others
from that state. Virginia or Maryland.
Tn 1800 there was another class of immi-

grants. North Carolina contained a con-

siderable Quaker element, which was dis-

satisfied with the situation in regard to

slavery. When the Constitution of the

United States was adopted the belief was
held by Washington and other statesmen
that the slavery question would ultimately

solve itself by dying a natural death. If

there had been any prospect of realizing

that hope it was dissipated by Whitney's
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invention of the cotton gin in 1793, by
which the value of slave labor was in-

creased many fold. As there was no hope
of the abolishment of slavery in the cotton
states, its opponents had to accept the sit-

uation or emigrate, and our Quaker friends
chose the latter. Jonathan Taylor was
among the advance guard who came in the
spring of 1800 and settled west of town
on the farm afterwards owned by D. B.
Updegraff. (Joseph Dew came on July 6,

locating in what is now the western part
of the village. John Hurford and Amasa
Lipsey came the same year, Robert Black-
ledge in 1801, Jeremiah and Faith Patter-
son and son Mahlon, Nathan Updegraff
and wife Ann, and Aaron Thompson in

1802, and Elisha Morris and son Enoch in

1804. The latter brought with them apple
seeds from North Carolina and planted the
germs of the first apple orchard. Nathan
Updegraff built the first mill, and was a
leading Friend for many years in the
Short Creek monthly meeting. His son
Daniel was the father of Hon J. T. and D.
B. l

Tpdegraff. Other early settlers were
Aaron Kinsey, Isaac Ratcliff, Joseph
Steers, Merrick Starr, John Hogg, Archi-
bald Job (a Defoe descendant), William
McConnaughy (in the battle of Bunker
Hill), Joseph Gill, William Hawthorne.
Aaron Packer, Samuel Irons, Elizabeth
Sharon (grandmother of the late Sena-
tor Sharon), Eli Kirk (pioneer hatter and
grandfather of Mrs. J. W. Gill, of Steuben-
ville. and father of Robert Kirk, lieutenant

governor of Ohio), Elisha, Caleb and Solo-

mon Bracken. Thomas, Clark and Mat-
thew Terrell Osborne Ricks, George W.
Mitchell, Porter Mitchell, Robert Evans,
R. B. Smith James Johnson, Joseph
Kithcart, William Woods, Isaac Brown,
Jacob Flanner (uncle of Abbie). Pnren
Cuppy (who killed an Indian on a
stream named for him in Smithfield
Township), James Taylor, Edward Law-
rence, William Robinson, William Cham-
bers, William Lewis, Benjamin Scott
(whose wife's mother, Mrs. Elizabeth
Davidson, was the first buried in the town-

ship on the present Kithcart farm in Feb-
ruary, 1800). John Taggart's team was
the first to pass over the road to Irish

Ridge from Short Creek, and William Mc-
Connaughey's the second. Trees are still

standing grown from apple seeds brought
by Taggart from the East.
Among other noted residents of Mt.

Pleasant Township were Robert Kirk, who
was a member of Congress, lieutenant

governor and minister to the Argentine
Confederation; M. E. Bishop Merrill; Will-

iam Lawrence, who was five times elected

to Congress, und was subsequently comp-
troller of the treasury under President
Grant, and Hon. J. T. Updegraff, three
times elected a member of the House of
Representatives, whose daughter, Miss
Grace, became a distinguished vocalist.

The township, watered on the north side

by the waters of Short Creek and its tribu-

taries, is mostly high, rolling land and con-

tains some of the model farms of the

county. The great coal development along
this valley and up Long Run is treated else-

where.

MT. l'LKASANT V1IJAOK.

Mt. Pleasant Village was laid out by
Carothers and Thomas in the fall of 1803.

the plat being recorded on October 1 of

that year, the former owning the eastern
and the latter the western end. The land
on which the village was located was con-

sidered so attractive thut it is said that

when the government offered the land for

sale in 1800, twenty men camped on the

site awaiting their chance to purchase the

section. The matter was decided by lot,

Carothers drawing the prize. The village

was nick-named Jesse- Bob Town, probably
by some of the disappointed ones, but that

title soon died. The original plat contained
132 lots 60x160 feet, with two main streets,

Concord and Union, eighty feet wide, and
North. South, East and West streets each
sixty feet. Enoch Harris started the first

store in Mt. Pleasant in 1804 in a small log

building near where A. D. Humphreville's
cabinet shop was afterwards located. The
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house disappeared long ago, and the lot

came into the possession of Joseph Walker.
Joseph Qill started the second store in

1806, hetween what was afterwards the

drug store and Chambers's tinshop. Be-
sides earning on mercantile business lie

conducted a tannery, packed pork, had a
farm and dealt extensively in wild lands.

This property passed into the hands of

Frank Mitchell. Jolm Hogg started the

third store in 1812. He manufactured
woolen goods, flour, leather and often re-

duced the leather to harness and saddles,

and during the War of 1812 he employed
many workmen in producing saddles, har-

ness, belts and cartridge boxes for the

American troops. The pork packing indus-

try carried on by these men was very ex-

tensive. Before the Stillwater Canal was
in opei'ation Mt. Pleasant was the most
extensive wheat market in the state, there

being numerous mills in the Short Creek
Valley reducing the grain to flour, which
found profitable market on the lower Mis-

sissippi. Hogg also manufactured nails,

which were so high in price, compared with

farm produce, that the necessity was very
urgent if the settlers used them. It is re-

lated that Robert Harriman, of Ham-
mond's Cross Roads, carried two bushels

of oats to Mt. Pleasant and received in

exchange one pound of nails ! In Mt. Pleas-

ant there were numerous blacksmiths, cab-

inetmakers, tailors, hatters, weavers, shoe-

makers, spinners, tanners and printers.

Benjamin Scott opened the first tavern in

1806, opposite what was afterwards the

Burria house. It was removed many years

ago. Soon after Mr. Buchanan started a

second tavern in the building afterwards

used by David N. Miller as a harness shop.

The barroom was made of hewn logs, and
in this room soldiers were enlisted and
their honnties paid in the War of 1812.

The old cupboard is yet in existence, with

its shelves and wooden doors. Dr. Will-

iam Hamilton was the first physician, and
Dr. Isaac Parker the second. The former,

in 1835, established in Mt. Pleasant a

small hospital for the care of insane

patients, one of the first in the state. Dr.
Robert E. Finley studied medicine under
Dr. Hamilton, and with his brothers, Pat-
rick and Thomas, manufactured salt on
Short Creek in 1817. The town seems to

have made little progress previous to 1812,

but the war which began that year im-
parted new life and produced the indus-

trial activity noted above. Three additions
have heen made to the original plat of the
village, by Caleb Dilworth, Enoch Harris
and Israel French. The town became not
only an industrial but a literary and pub-
lishing center, and perhaps the only rural

community in the county where such an
occurrence as the Flanner episode could
be expected. The Howells family came in

1813 and soon after moved to Steubenville.

Ellwood Ratcliff was an early wagon manu-
facturer. He sold a wagon to William Still-

well for $12 in beef and $6 in cash, no one
piece of which represented a greater
amount than a "fip" (6*4 cents). He
manufactured hames, splitting them out of

tree stumps and hauling them to Steuben-
ville and exchanged them for wagon iron.

Banknoto paper was among the manufac-
tured articles.

The first Mount Pleasant bank was es-

tablished in 1816. with Joseph Gill as
president and T^wis Walker cashier, who
was succeeded by Enoch Harris. It car-

ried on business until 1846, when it was
decided to close up its affairs, which was
accomplished by 1850. The capital was
$100,000, and Mr. Gill was its only presi-

dent. In the meantime, in 1848, the Mount
Pleasant Branch of the State Bunk of

Ohio was organized, with a capital of $100,-

000. John Watkins was the first president,

James H. Gill a member of the board of
control, and Jonathan Binns cashier. John
Hops became president on the death of Mr.
Watkins in' 1855, but only served about a
year when he resigned on account of ill

health and was succeeded by Mr. Gill, who
served until 1850 and was succeeded by Jo-
seph Cope. Mr. Binns was its only cashier.

After the adoption by Congress of the Na-
tional Bank Act, measures were taken to
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close u]> its affairs, which were finally con-

cluded by January 1, 18*0. The First Na-
tional Hank was organized in 18(53, with a
eapital of $175,000, and was the natural
successor of the old state bank. William
Price was the first president and Jonathan
Biuns cashier. In 1872 Dr. J. T. Updcgraff
became president and Isaac K. Ilatcliff

cashier. In 1877 Dr. Updegraff was sue
ceeded by Mr. (till. The bank's charter
was renewed in 188.'! and again on Febru-
ary 24. 100.-5.

In 1904, Michael Gallagher, a prominent
citizen of Dillonvale, organized a new bank'

at Mt. Pleasant, under the name of the
People's National, and shortly after pur-
chased most of the stock of what had then
become the Mount Pleasant National Dank,
which went into voluntary liquidation, be-

ing practically absorbed by the People's.

The following spring the leading stock-

holders of the Mount Pleasant Bank organ
ized a new company, under the name of the
Citizens' Savings Bank, with a capital of
$25,000, that of the People's being $50,000.

Both banks are now in operation, Michael
Gallagher being president of the People's
Bank, with E. B. Jones cashier, and C M.
Brown president of the other, with Ernest
Hayne cashier. The last statement of the

People's Bank showed resources of $202,
(iOO.04.

There was one industry in Mt. Pleasant
lietween sixty and seventy years ago that

was so unique as to merit special descrip-

tion, and space has been reserved for it

here rather than in the general review of
the county's industries. We refer to the

silk factory, the first of the kind in the

United States. William Watkins, who came
to Steubenville in 181!) mid subsequently

built what is now the MeCook mansion, on
North Seventh Street, planted a grove of
mulberry trees and began the cultivation

of the silkworm. His efforts, however,
went no farther than to create an interest

in the matter, but in 1841 Thomas White,
an itinerant dentist, arranged with John
W. Gill to plant a mulberry orchard of

twenty-five acres on the hitter's farm near

Mt. Pleasant. As soon as the trees were of
sufficient size the propagation of silk

worms was begun and in 1842 Mr. Gill

erected a two-story frame cocoonery 18x40
feet, in addition to a 20x.'U) feet brick, in

which the moris multicaulis proceeded to

work. Shelves about two feet apart, made
of reticulated cotton cloth stretched over
wooden frames, filled the buildings from
floor to ceiling. They were movable, and
when the worms attained a length of half
an inch they were laid on these stretchers

and fed on mulberry leaves. The eggs were
brought from France. The silkworm breeds
twice a year and the eggs will hatch without
special attention save keeping them at the
proper temperature. At the proper time
the worms instinctively climb for the pur-
pose of .spinning cocoons, and at this junc-

ture oak branches are thrown in. on which
they spin the cocoons, encasing themselves
in about five days. The cocoons are placed

in boiling water to kill the larva', the Hoss
picked off, and after softening them in

warm water the threads are carefully

reeled off and wound on spools. The
strands are then twisted three to five to-

gether and woven into what is known as
raw silk. Silk noils were made from the
floss into what was known as knicker-

bocker woolens. The first figured silk made
in the United States was turned out here,

and silk velvet, hat plush, dress silks of
various colors and ribbons were among the

early products of the factory. The silks

were made by the old process known as the

"Draw Boy Loom," and the first pattern
made was the buckeye burr, the ground be-

ing a light buff. The figures were about an
inch apart and a quarter of an inch in

diameter. Henry Clay, the Whig candi-

date for President in 1844. was presented
with a vest pattern from this piece, and
the voters in this factory all voted the

Whig ticket printed on white silk made
here. Mad Clay been elected and the tariff

sustained, it might have extended the life

of the industry. The first American flag

ever seen in China was made here and
taken to the Celestial Empire by Caleb
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Cushing, the American minister. The
looms in this mill were three yards long
and one wide, operated by cords passing
overhead and drawn by a boy in regular
succession. After weaving three yards
operations were stopped to clean off the

warp or chain, which was called ''picking

the parry," which rest was highly appre-
ciated by the boys. The velvet silk loom
had different gearing and a brass wire was
placed above the cotton warp, after which
four picks were thrown in to bind the cot-

ton and silk chains. The silk ends pro-

truding from the cotton warp formed the

fine plush found on the velvet. The ribbon
looms were much the same as at present,

save that they were operated by hand. The
loom was nearly square, with eight distinct

warps and shuttles, all operated by one
weaver. The shuttles closely resembled a
sun fish in shape. The building used for

the factory had been originally a salt ware-
house, and all the machinery used was
made in the establishment. Three and
sometimes four weavers were constantly

employed, and about twenty laborers, male
and female. .John Rox. .lr., was foreman.
In the fall of 1846 the factory was moved
to Wheeling, and abandoned a few years
later.

Mount Pleasant postoffice wns estab-

lished on April 1, 1813, with James Jud-
kins as postmaster, succeeded by William
Judkins, December 29, 1823; Samuel Steer.

September 2;"), 1825; John Watson, March
1, 1828; Amos .Jones. April 12, 1837; David
Ohamliers, November 1, 1853; Robert W.
Chambers, August 22, 1861 ; Miss Harriet
Atkinson, March 23, 18fi9; Robert W.
Chambers, December 19, 1870; John F.
Mitchell, 1885; James M. MeManus, 188!):

Thomas F. Mitchell, 1893; Jesse M. Ben-

nett, present incumbent, 1897.

The good times induced by the War of
1812 were not continuous. The panic that

caused such financial disaster in 1S19 was
most discouraging to the settlers, for some
of them were in the town booming business,

having laid out Mt. Pleasant in two parts,

hoping to bring the two together as one

town and join with Trenton, a short dis-

tance away, but today they still remain in

three parts. In writing of this panic, S. S.

Tomlinson, an aged resident of Mt. Pleas-

ant, says: "For the better part of two
years little relief was realized from the

great calamity that fastened itself upon
every individual and every branch of busi-

ness. A majority of the banks of the state

were overthrown, but some maintained
their ground, among them the Mt. Pleasant
bank. Very few products of the soil would
command money, even at the lowest price.

Although distilleries were abundant, corn
commanded only ten cents a bushel, while
wheat and oats were only articles of barter.

Although taxes were very low, it was with
the greatest difficulty that money could be
obtained with which to pay. My father
was a mechanic, his principal business be-

ing the manufacture of chairs, and during
the time of this financial distress, Samuel
Irons, the owner of one of the most desir-

able farms in Mt. Pleasant Township,
called at the shop, proposing to exchange
lieef for chairs, stating that he was under
the necessity of killing a beef so be could
sell the hide for money with which to pay
his taxes. Between 1820 and 1830, a family
named Bartoe, liviug in Harrison County,
having stored their wheat for several

years, discovered that the weevil was work-
ing on it and seemed likely to destroy it.

They therefore had it ground into flour,

selling one hundred barrels to John Bone,
at the mouth of Short Creek, for one hun-
dred dollars. Nevertheless the town picked

up again, and, as we have seen, was pros-

perous during the manufacturing era,

which gradually declined, leaving the little

village on the hill the center of a well-to-do

rural community, with homes of culture

and refinement. The building of the

railroad up Short Creek, within a mile
of the village, did not cause it to take
much part in the industrial development
of the northern part of the township, which
made little change in the town itself. The
population of the village in 1850 was 755,

of which 90 were colored; in 1870 it was

Digitized by Google



490 HISTORY OF JEFFERSON COUNTY

563, including 13 colored ; in 1880. 693 ; in

1890, 644, and in 1900, 626, which is about
the same at present. The underground
railroad, the first abolition convention, free

labor store and other incidents of the place
are treated of elsewhere.
There was, of course, a burying ground

at Mt. Pleasant from the beginning, and the
New Highland Cemetery was laid out in

1882.

Mt. Pleasant has always tukeu an active
interest in the temperance cause. A society
was organized in 1855, with a pledge to ab-
stain from alcoholic or distilled liquors, but
allowing the use of fermented liquors,

which gave it the name of "half way so-

ciety." A total abstinence society had been
organized in 1837, and in 1840 the Sons of
Temperance were organized by Isaac Mc-
Donald and E. L. Worthington," of Steuben-
ville. The Martha Washington Society was
formed the same year, and one of the treas-
ures of the D. M. Mulner family, is a silk

banner made in the town and presented to

the society, on one side of which was tin-

motto, "Our Cause Ts God's; Our Course
Is Onward," and on the other, "On Fe-
male Influence Rests the Destiny of Man."
The Sons of Temperance continued in act-
ive operation about fourteen years, and
were succeeded by the Temple of Honor,
which wus organized September 9, 1854,
and lasted about ten years, when the enlist-

ment of so many of its members in the War
of the Rebellion caused its disbandment.
A lodge of Good Templars was formed in

1869, and continued in operation four or
five years. There was probably no need of
a women's temperance crusade in Mt.
Pleasant, but the women joined in the work
in neighboring towns. The Murphy move-
ment in 1876 developed into the Social De-
gree, in connection with the Temple of
Honor, and Rand of Hope, a juvenile so-

ciety. D. M. Mulner opened the Temper-
ance Exchange Hotel in 1K47, when that
kind of a hostelry was an exception. When
the Legislature enacted a township local

option law. Mt. Pleasant took advantage of
it and voted its enforcement, notwithstand-

ing the larger alien population which had
come into the township. It was evaded
more or less in Dillonvale and that town re-

mained "wet" until the adoption of county
prohibition in the fall of 1908, when it re-

sumed its original dryness.
The fraternal societies have been well

represented in the town during recent
vears, including Mt. Pleasant Lodge, No.
63, I. O. 0. F.: Manchester Unity Lodge,
same; Gnbbal Encampmeut, No. 41, same;
Idelia Lodge, Daughters of Rebekah;
Knights of Pythias; J. T. Updegraff Post,

No. 449, G. A. R., and United American Me-
chanics.

Trenton, one mile west of Mt. Pleasant,
was laid out about the year 1815 by El wood
Ratcliff. It has remained a quiet little

hamlet of about 100 people. The postoffiee

is Emerson.

DILLON VALR.

The industrial development arising from
the impetus to mining of coal caused by the
opening of the Wheeling & Lake Erie Rail-

road in 1889 centered about what had long
been known by the classic name of Anna-
delphia, where there had been a pioneer
paper mill and two grist mills, one of them
an imposing stone structure, known as the

Updegraff-Barkhurst mill. It was a quiet

spot on the creek, a couple of miles from
Mt. Pleasant village. It had been platted by
Nathan Updegraff as far back as February
20, 1S16, but never occupied as a town. On
February 22, 1889, a new plat of thirty-

three lots was made, to which was given the

prosaic name of Dillon, which has since ex-

panded into the more euphonious title of
Dillonvale. Additions were soon mnde and
the towu grew rapidly until April 25, 1902.

when it was incorporated with a claimed
population of 2.000, since increased, so it is

said, to 2,500. Even if the census fails to

fully verify these figures, it is the fourth

largest town in the county. That it has
become a flourishing community is evi-

denced by the fact that the First National
Hank of this place, started about 1900, by
its last statement showed resources

Digitized by Google



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS i'Jl

amounting to $270,950.92. W. M. Catlett is

the cashier. The Knights of Pythias have
a lodge, No. 584.- The old mill still stands,
a monument to other days. The Lake Erie.

Alliance & Southern Road, now a part of
the Vanderhilt system, reaches the W. &
L. E. at this point. The former has so far
been operated only as a freight road, prin-

cipally coal, but there is no doubt that pas-
senger traffic will be added in time. There
is al6o a good pike from here to Smithfield,

six miles distant. A postoffice was estab-

lished here in 1889.

Long Run, about three miles up the
creek, is an unincorporated mining hamlet,
with Ramsey .as the postoffice.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

Records of the pioneer schools of Mt.
Pleasant Township are scarce, but it goes
without question that the educated people
who settled on the Short Creek hills did
not neglect the necessities of the rising

generation that shortly made this a liter-

ary center of the county. Schools there
were in the village and county, and at a
very early date steps were taken in the
direction of higher education. While the
first female seminary in the West was
opened at Steubenville, the first conception
of such an institution was at Mt. Pleasant.
In the year 1816 the yearly meeting of
Friends appointed a committee of ten,

consisting of Abel Knight, Jonathan Tay-
lor, Nathan Updcgraff, Isaac Parker,
William Herald, David Brown. Einor
Bailey, James Paty, Richard Barrett and
George Shugart, to receive contributions
for the purpose of founding a bourding
school. Some opposed the project on the

ground that it might foster pride and sloth-

fulness, and the subject lay dormant until

1824, when the meeting was informed that

Thomas Roth had bequeathed five thousand
dollars for that purpose. This acted as a
stimulus and a committee was appointed
to receive and take charge of the money.
The Hicks trouble in 1828 dampened the

enthusiasm, and nothing more was done

until 1831, when it was reported that great
interest was manifested in the matter, and
additional funds had been subscribed. A
committee of forty-one members was ap-
pointed to solicit further help, select and
purchase a site near Mt. Pleasant and re-

port plans for a building. It was found
that $6,927 had been subscribed, with
promises from eastern and English
Friends, so in 1832 a site of sixty-four
acres was purchased from Dr. William
Hamilton at $42 an acre. The committee
recommended to the yearly meeting that
the institution should be a finishing school
for both sexes, and that the building
should consist of a central house for fam-
ily and general purposes, with a wing at

either end, one for boys and the other for
girls by which plan it was thought
that effectual separation of the sexes
would be secured. A subscription of
$2,000 was promised from England if the
project was carried out. The whole sub-
ject was referred to the meeting on "suf-
fering," which ordered the work to pro-
ceed. A contract was made with Abel
Townsend to erect a building for $10,000,
the center building to be forty feet front by
forty-six feet deep, each wing to be thirty-

six feet front by thirty-two feet deep, the
center to be three stories and the
wings two stories high, besides basement,
a belfry on top of the center building, with
a walk aTound it, the whole making quite
an imposing structure, with a frontage
of 112 feet. The house was completed in

1836. and in January, 1837, was opened for

pupils. Daniel Williams was the first

superintendent, with his wife Elizabeth as
matron. Teachers in the male department
were Robert S. Holloway and George K.
Jenkins; female department, Abby Hollo-
way, wife of Robert, and Abigail Flanner.
Susan Judkins was cook, and her husband,
James, was janitor. Betsy Bundy, a col-

ored woman, did the washing, Esther Os-
born the ironing, and Tacy Wilson was
nurse. With fifteen additional acres of
land the total cost of the site and building
was $21,827.49. The school opened with
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120 pupils at $68 per annum, but the re-

ceipts fell short of expenses by $280.28 or
$3.30 per scholar. In 1838 Lewis Carey
was made governor of the institution, with
George K. Jenkins, Parrin Wright, Abbie
Flanner and Susan M. Thomas as teach-

ers. The average attendance this year
was sixty-nine and the deficit $794.61.

There was an annual deficit for several

years, but after that the school was oper-

ated at a profit. Dutch ovens, frying pans
and great open fireplaces furnished the

original methods of cooking and heating
until displaced by modern "progress."
At first the inmates attended Short Creek
meeting, where Mary Edmondson, mother
of Anna Dickinson, taught school in 1826.

In 1838 Lewis Taber, of Vermont, was en-

gaged as teacher and lecturer, and con-

tinued for several years. G. J. and J. M.
Plummer succeeded Williams and wife as

superintendent and matron, followed in

1842 by Benjamin and Mary Hoyle, who
remained until the spring of 1847.

What was known as the Wilbur-Gurney
conflict occurred in 1854, and the Wilbur-
ites obtained possession of the boarding
school. The Gurneyites • brought suit to

recover the property, which resulted in

protracted litigation and one of the most
interesting legal battles ever occurring in

Jefferson County courts. The District

Court did not attempt to decide the mat-
ter but reserved it to the Supreme Court,

which early in 1874 awarded the school to

the Gurneyites. Extensive repairs costing

$3,566.22 were made with the view of re-

opening the school. Work was suspended
for the winter, and on January 17, 1875,

the buildings caught fire and burned to the

ground. They were never rebuilt, and the

dearly won victory was a barren one so

far as this particular institution was con-

cerned.

In the meantime the public schools were
not neglected and were constantly im-

proved, especially in the village. In 1861

they were reorganized with a complete:

graded system and village high school,

with all the higher branches, the first in

the county outside of Steubenville. In

1867 a substantial two-story brick build-

ing was erected, with main portion 60x30,

and a wing 36x30. It contains four school

rooms, and cost $4,100. Dillonvale also

has a good ten-room school house, with two
rooms devoted to high school. The town-
ship schools are six in number, viz: Leas-

ure in Section 5, Colored at Trenton, Rob-
inson in 23, Long Run in 24, Science Hill

in 28, Binns, a new one in 35. In 1850 Rix
Patterson, a bachelor, left a bequest of $5,-

012.17, to be invested as a permanent fund,

the interest of which was to be applied to

the support of the common schools of the

township, which fund is managed by trus-

•tees. In 1799 there was a log school" house
in what is now Coleraiu Township near
Mt. Pleasant, which was claimed to be the

first erected within the original boundary
of Jefferson County. Wild beasts and In-

dians were equally to be feared in those

days, but this did not daunt the pioneers

who were determined to make the l>est of

their limited facilities.

While the Friends very soon became the

prominent factor in the settlement of Mt.

Pleasant Township we have seen that they
were not the first on the ground, and con-

sequently did not have the first place of

worship. The Presbyterians claim this

honor, not only as to Mt. Pleasant Town-
ship, but as to Jefferson County. About
1798 Dr. John McMillan came to this sec-

tion and founded at least two congrega-

tions, one at Richland, now St. Clairville.

and the other on Short Creek, now Mt.

Pleasant. The spot is still pointed out

on the farm later owned by Robert
Fiuney, where Beech Spring school house
stands near Short Creek, under the forest

trees with a tent or covered stand for the

minister and leafier of the singing, the or-

ganization of this church was effected. The
first ciders were Richard McKibbon,
Thomas MeCune, James Clark and James
Eagleson. Thomas Major and Adam Dun-
lap were chosen in 180K. John Alexander
and Jacob Tull in 1S29, and David Bnl

dridge. John Theaker and John Major in
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1832. Among the precentors were John
Alexander, Joseph Kithcart, Cunningham
Kithcart, Archibald Major, Amos Jones
and Win. McGee. This spot was three and a
half miles southeast of the present village

of Mt. Pleasant, and over the line in War-
ren Township. Two graves were once
there but are now undecipherable. The
first house was a mile and a quarter south-

east of the original meeting place. It was
built of logs at the foot of Hoge's hill near
Little Short Creek, and was a very prim-
itive structure without any arrangements
for heating, other than hot stones brought
by the more delicate women to keep their

feet warm. This house was used for twenty
years, and was surrounded by a cemetery
containing a hundred graves, but only a
few mouldering tombstones now mark the
spot. The congregation then occupied the

Associate Reformed Church, known as
Union House, in an enclosed graveyard
still existing near the Murray farm. This
building was made of hewn logs, and stood
on a hill about a mile and a quarter above
the old church, and two miles east of Mt.
Pleasant. This building was afterwards
taken down and made into threshing ma-
chines by Thomas Mitchell, Robert
Theaker and James H. Drennan. Joseph
Anderson was the first pastor of this or-

ganization. He was licensed bv the Pres-
bytery of Ohio on October l?i 1798, and
being afterwards ordained was installed

pastor here on August 20, 1800. He Was
ordained under a large tree on the farm
of the late Clark Mitchell, and was the first

Presbyterian minister ordained west of
the Ohio. He was dismissed to the Pres-
bytery of St. Charles, Mo., in 1835, and
died at Monticello in that state in 1847, in

his eightieth year. In the meantime it was
determined to locate in the village, it be-

ing a more central point, and in 182JI

foundations were laid for a new brick

structure, which was completed the fol-

lowing winter. Adam Dunlap. John Hogg
and William Pickens were the building
committee, and Samuel Miller the brick

contractor, and Henry Amrine the car-

penter. Dr. Hamilton secured money
among the Masons to build the pulpit. This
building stood for about twenty-five years,

when the walls becoming cracked it was
determined to rebuild, and the new struc-

ture was completed in 1855. William Reid,
Joseph Kithcart and William McGee were
the building committee. A. G. Kinsey
burned the brick, Charles Mercer and
•John Smith did the brick work, and J. II.

Sidebottom the wood work, the structure

costing $2,115.80. The dedicatory sermon
was preached by Rev. Samuel Boyd, of

Bridgeport. The house was renovated in

1870 at a cost of $800, and further im-
provements were made in 1877 at a cost

of $190. A Sunday school was started on
the second Sunday of November, 1868,

with an enrollment of sixty-eight, which
had increased to 150 in 1879. Rev. Ben-
jamin Mitchell became pastor in 1829 and
served until 1877, when he was succeeded
by Kev. W. S. Pringle. Rev. B. J. Brown
followed him in April, 1897, and remained
some six years, when he was succeeded by
Samuel J. Young, who resigned in 1909,

leaving the charge vacant. The Presby-
terians built a frame chapel in Dillonvale

soon after the town was laid out. It was
served most of the time from Mt. Pleas-

ant, although Rev. O. Patterson was pas-

tor before and after 1897. Services had
not been held in it for some time, and in

the early morning of February 23, 1909, it

was ignited by an incendiary and burned
to the ground with Mr. Parlctt's house ad-

joining. An arrest was made, but the evi-

dence was insufficient to convict, and the

jury, after several hours deliberation, re-

turned a verdict of not guilty. The struc-

ture has not been rebuilt. The Presbyteiy
of Ohio was formed out of Redstone in

1793, and extended to Scioto River. On
October 11, 1819, the Synod of Pittsburgh

resolved that "so much of the Presbytery
of Ohio as lies northwest of the Ohio River
including the Reverends Lyman Potter,

Joseph Anderson, James Snodgrass, Abra-
ham Scott, John Rea, Thomas Hunt,
Thomas B. Chirk and Obediah Jennings,
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with their respective charges, should be
formed into a separate Presbytery, to be
known as the Presbytery of Steubenville."
The boundaries then fixed were: Begin-
ning at the mouth of Big Yellow Creek,
thence by direct line in northwest course
to intersection of the west line of the Sev-
enth Kange with the south line of the
Western Reserve; thence south along said
west line to the Ohio River and up the
river to the place of beginning. The Pres-
bytery included the churches of Richland
(1798), Short Creek (1798), Steubenville
(1800) , Island Creek (1800), Crabapple
(1801) . Beech Springs (about 1802), Cedar
Lick, (Two Ridges, 1802). Richmond
(Bacon Ridge, 1804), Tent (Center, 1803).
Cadiz (about 1817), Nottingham (about
1816), McMahon's Creek (Belmont Coun-
ty, perhaps in 1806). The first meeting of
Steubenville Presbytery was held October
19, 1819, Joseph Anderson, Moderator, and
Lyinan Potter delivered the sermon. All
the ministers were present, together with
Robert Brown, David Hoge, Stephen Coe,
James McLean, elders. At its organiza-
tion Steubenville Presbytery contained
twelve churches, eight ministers and nine
hundred members. St. Clairsville Pres-
bytery was formed from a portion of this

territory, at Mt. Pleasant, October 3, 1838.

THE W1KNDS AND THKIK H ISTOKY—KXOlTIJfG

EPISODES.

We come now to the religious side of the
Society of Friends, the dominating factor
of the township. They were not only
thrifty and industrious, but possessed de-
cided religious convictions which they car-
ried out in their daily life, in their dress,
their conversation and their actions. Their
distinction from their neighbors tended to
develop a similarity of feelings and
thought which induced them to form com-
munities of their own, although the sense
of individuality as a rule (though not al-

ways) prevented them from forming com-
munistic property organizations, as did
the Zoaritcs, Economies and others. Con-

sequently it was rarely if ever that a
Quaker was found living where there were
no other Quakers, and where one was
found there would be pretty certain to be
others. So when the first Quaker settlers

came to Mt. Pleasant others naturally
gravitated in the same direction. The
mere fact that his co-rcligionists occupied
one part of the county while they were
absent from another was sufficient to turn
the steps of the immigrant in the former
direction. The Mt. Pleasant Quakers came
from Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Mary-
land, Virginia and North Carolina, some as
early as 1799, but the majority from the
last named state about 1800 and later. One
cause of migration from the slave states

was as has been stated, their opposition
to that peculiar institution. While Mt.
Pleasant was the center, the overflow ex-

tended northward into Smithfield Town-
ship and southward into what is now Bel-

mont County. Their governing body re-

ligiously was the Baltimore Yearly Meet-
ing. The first Friends meeting west of
the Ohio River was probably held in the
autumn of 1800, near the tent of Jonathan
Taylor, near what is now Concord, Bel-

mont County, about five miles from Mt.
Pleasant. Taylor had camped in the forest

while building his cabin, lie. his wife and
a few other individuals gathered there, and
when the cabin was erected and before the
puncheon floor was fully laid the meetings
were transferred thither. The first meet-
ing held in this cabin was on Sunday
(First Day), preceding rains having made
the outdoor accommodations uncomfort-
able. Jonathan Taylor moved to what is

known as the Updegrnff fami, and in 1804
a log meeting house was built nenr where
Short Creek meeting house now stands,

half a mile west of Mt. Pleasant. The rec-

ords show that a monthly meeting opened
here called Short Creek, third month, 5th,

1804, the minutes showing that. "At this

first meeting the subject of pius and
guarded education of the youth and state

of the schools was weightily considered,
and a committee appointed to give the sub-
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ject further solid consideration." Nathan
Updegraff was appointed clerk, Jesse Hall
and Henry Lewis from Short Creek pre-

paratory meeting to serve as overseers.

Hanna Trimble and Hannah Kimberly
were the first Friends who traveled as min-
isters in Ohio, and in 1807 a quarterly
meeting was held at Short Creek, being
composed of Concord, Short Creek, Ply-

mouth, Plainfield and Stillwater monthly
meetings. The Short Creek meeting built

a house in 1806, the structure being 45x70
feet, at that time the largest church build-

ing in the state, costing $2,000. It i3 still

standing. Ten acres of land were pur-
chased for a gravevard on September 25,

1806, from Norton" Howard for $30, the

trustees being Nathan Updegraff, Aaron
Brown, Enoch Harris and Jonathan Tay-
lor. Ohio Yearly meeting was set off

from the Baltimore Yearly meeting in

1812, and the first Ohio Yearly meeting
was held at Short Creek in 18*13. Mar-
riages in accordance with the established

usage of the Friends' meeting were fre-

quent. On December 20, 1814, are record-

ed the bans of Benjamin Lundy, the first

American Abolitionist, and Esther Lewis.
In 1815 the erection of the large Y'early

Meeting house in Mt. Pleasant was begun
and completed the following year. It is a
brick budding 90x62. and will accommo-
date 2,500 persons. It is used for general
purposes, being even yet the largest place
for public gatherings in the county. The
minutes of tenth month, 1813, recommend-
ed Friends to continue their labor with
those "who are still deficient in support-
ing our testimony respecting spirituous
liquors," and a committee was appointed
on the subject. On sixth month, 20th. 1815,

a resolution in favor of making wills in

time of health was adopted.
As is known, the term Friend or Quaker

has been a synonym for peaceful thoughts
and actions. The scrap of history now to

be related indicates that the natural man
will sometimes come to the front here as
well as elsewhere. "While there had no
doubt been differences of opinion in the

society from its rise in the Seventeenth
Century, yet they held together until the

yearly meeting at Mt. Pleasant on Sunday,
September 6, 1828, when the Friends of
America divided into two factions, one the

followers of Klias Hicks, adopting the

name of Friends, and the other Orthodox
Friends. The meeting at which the sep-

aration occurred, according to the account
written by Thomas Shillitoe, who was
present, was broken up in a riot. Those
who had gathered in the meeting house,

knowing that Hicks and those with him
had come prepared to make trouble, re-

fused them admittance to the house, where-
upon Hicks and his faction held a meeting
in the open air. The next day Hicks and
his friends were in the house early and as
soon as the meeting had fully gathered,
says Shillitoe, "Elias Hicks stood up and
occupied much time in setting forth his

'doctrines.' On their being requested again
and again to sit down, the Hieksite party
shouted from various parts of the meeting,
manifesting such violence of temper that

it appeared safest to suffer them to go
on." The next day, September 8, the op-

position to the Hicksites organized door-

keepers for the purpose of preventing the

admission of the "Separatists," who be-

came so violent that it was considered the

better part of peace to admit the disturb-

ing element. The door-keepers being re-

moved from service, "the mob, headed by
two Hieksite preachers, rushed into the

house like a torrent, accompanied by some
of the rabble of the town." The Hieksite

party prevented the clerk, Jonathan Tay-
lor, from opening the meeting, and even
forced him from the table, which was
broken, and Taylor injured, from which
injury he never recovered, it being the

cause of his death. "My seat," writes

Shillitoe, "being next to the clerk, a man
(David Buraon) of large stature and bulk
came over the gallery rail almost upon me,
followed by two young men. I was on the
point to leave the house, but before I was
on my feet one of the Separatists near me,
looking up, exclaimed that the gallery over
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our heads was falling. A groat crash at
this moment was heard over our heads,
which it was afterwards proved had heen
produced by one of the Separatists break-
ing a piece of wood. Immediately an alarm
being given, 'the gallery is falling!' from
the other side of the house, there was an
outcry, 'The House is falling!' A sudden
rush in even- direction produced a sound
like thunder, and brought down a small
piece of plaster, which raised considerable
dust and had the appearance of the walls
giving way." Further confusion was
caused by the Friends calling out that the
alarm was false, and mixed with their
voices were the voices of the Ilicksites de-
claring that the building was falling, al-

though it was observed that while the
Ilicksites were urging the others to leave
they made no effort to get away from the
danger themselves. "I had difficulty,"

says Shillitoe, "until I reached the door,
where the crowd was very great. Some
were thrown down and were in danger of
being trampled to death." "The Separ-
atists having now obtained possession of
the house, voices were heard above the
genera] uproar, 'Now is the time, rush
on!' When the tumult and uproar had
somewhat subsided, it was proposed that
we should leave this scene of riot; which,
being united with Friends, adjourned."
The Hicksites retained possession of the
house and the other Friends met in the
open air, adjourning afterwards to the
Short Creek meeting house. The next year
the Hicksites built a meeting house," but
continued to have the use of the other two
houses. The Hicksites continue to hold
meetings in the house erected by them in

the primitive style of the Friends.
According to Shillitoe, the turbulence

occasioned by the attempts of the Hicks-
ites to control the Stillwater meeting, was
even greater than that at Mt. Pleasant. He
says: "The meeting was informed before
it was fully gathered, that some persons
were on their way who had been members
of this select meeting, but who had been

disowned in consequence of uniting them-
selves with the Separatists (Hicksites).

On their making the attempt to enter the
house, and the door-keeper preventing
them, they assembled on the meetinghouse
lot. where they held their meeting, praying
and preaching, so much to the annoyance
of Friends that they were obliged to close

the windows of the meeting house." The
next day while proceeding towards the

meeting house Shillitoe observed a vast
crowd of people assembled; the nearer he
approached the more awful the commo-
tion appeared; "the countenances and ac-

tions of many manifested a determination
to make their way into the house by resort-

ing to violent means, if no other way would
effect their designs. By pressing through
the crowd we gained admittance. The
tumult increased to an alarming degree;
the consequences of keeping the doors fas-

tened any longer were to be dreaded, as the

mob was l>oginning to break the windows
to obtain an entrance, and to inflict blows
on some of the door-keepers. It was there-

fore concluded to open the doors. The
door of the men's room being opened,

—

to attempt to describe the scene to the full

would be in vain. The feelings awakened
in my mind were such as to almost over-

power my confidence in the superintend-

ing care of a Oivine Protector. The coun-

tenances of many as they entered the house
seemed to indicate that they were ready to

fall upon the little handful of us in the

minister's gallery, there being few others

in the house. Some of their party forced

open the shutters as if they would have

brought the whole of them to the ground

;

others ran to the doors, which had been

made secure, seizing them, tore them open
and some off the hinges. The cracking

and hammering this occasioned for the

short time it lasted was awful to me, not

knowing where or in what this scene of

riot and wickedness of temper would end.

The house was very soon crowded to an

extreme, the Separatists taking possession

of one end of the men's room and Friends
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the other." Business of the two meetings
then proceeded as though nothing had hap-
pened.
The cause of the division was a state-

ment made a year before by Elias Hicks,
who was a prominent resident of Philadel-
phia and a leading Friend. During a heat-

ed discussion at the Mt. Pleasant Yearly
meeting Hicks declared that there "was no
more efficacy in the blood of Christ than in

the blood of goats." This position was vig-

orously contested but Hicks stood his

ground, and being a fluent speaker had
many followers. The subsequent bitterness

between the two factions was so intense

that separate graveyards were used for
burials. The Orthodox Friends had Hicks
ite.s arrestee! and brought before court both
in criminal and civil cases. There is the
case of "Jonathan Taylor, House Taylor,
Isaac Parker, Jas. Kinsey, Horton How-
ard, who sue for the Society of Friends,
consisting of the Ohio Yearly meeting, vs.

Holiday Jackson, James Toleston and
Xathan (lalbraith; action in trespass;

$5,000 damages for disturbing plaintiff's

house and injuring property. September
!), 1828." In 1831 the record shows, ".judg-

ment for defendant for costs." The rec-

ords for 1 S:»i? show payment of $19.79 costs.

The Friend, or Advocate of Truth, a
Quaker magazine published in Philadel-
phia, tenth month. 1828, contains reports of
the "riot" at Mt. Pleasant from the Hicks-
ite point of view, the writers employing the
most vigorous language in denouncing the
actions of the Orthodox. It was charged
that. Jonathan Taylor feigned injury in or-

der to procure indictment against" Hicks.
Altogether the affair was quite different
from the general idea of a "Quaker meet-
ing."

But the troubles were not yet over. Abby
Kelly, a disciple of the Graham system of
diet and a spiritualist, lectured in Mt.
Pleasant in 1840 and gained many con-
verts in the society of Friends to her
theories. John O. Wattles, the noted vege-
tarian, also won many converts among the
Friends. He was likewise a spiritualist

and would not move a finger without di-

rection by a spirit. Some of his Mt. Pleas-
ant converts dying, it was said they starved
to death as the result of the restricted diet

advocated by him, he holding the theory
that eating the flesh of animals was u viola-

tion of the laws of God. His wife was liv-

ing at Oberlin at the age of eighty in 1898,

her daughters, who were educated" in Paris,

teaching music in the conservatory. Mrs.
Wattles had not eaten meat for fifty years
and her daughters never tasted flesh, hold-
ing as they do, strictly to the doctrine
taught as a religion by their father.

Another division was made by Elisha
Bates. The followers of Fox did not be-

lieve in baptism by water, but of the Holy
Ghost. Bates, while on a visit to the Holy
Land, submitted to baptism in the River
Jordan, and was taken to task for this

lapse from the doctrine as promulgated by
the father of the meeting; but he held to

the ordinance of baptism as a saving
means, on which subject be wrote a book.

This he afterwards renounced and the

copies of the book in the hands of the Mt.
Pleasant Friends were burned with cere-

mony; but he again recanted and in 1844

left the Friends to become a Methodist
Episcopal minister, readopting the tenets

he had set forth in the book, the copies of

which had been burned at his request. He
hud followers in each of the several move-
ments, and of course took with him into the

Methodist communion a number of

Friends. While addressing a large camp
meeting near Mt. Pleasant in 1844, Bates
was interrupted by persons he had offend-

ed by his various changes; boys even pelt-

ing him with buckeyes. He grew angry and
declared that he had left the most tranquil

church iu the land and now found himself

in the noisiest, extremes that he could not

nn'onc ile. He then left the Methodist

Church.
The Orthodox Friends continued meet-

ings for worship at both Mt. Pleasant and
Short Creek. Early in 1829 the Hicksites

purchased land adjoining Trenton, a mile

west of Mt. Pleasant, and built a meeting
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house for ordinary gatherings, but con
-tinued to have the use of the houses at

Mt. Pleasant and Short Creek for quarterly
and yearly meetings. In 1854 the Orthodox
Friends suffered another division into Gur-
neyites and AVilburites, the former being
followers of Joseph John Gurney, who
favored evangelism, and the latter disciples

of John Wilbur who dissented. As noted
elsewhere, the Wilburites secured the

boarding school, which the courts com-
pelled them to surrender, and also the big

yearly meeting house, the Gurneyites tak-

ing the one on Short Creek. The latter,

however, discontinued the use of the Short
Creek house, and a tripartite arrangement
was made by which all the factions could

hold yearly meetings in the big house in

town. It was too large, however, for ordin-

ary meetings, aud so about twenty-five

years ago the Gurneyites built a neat brick

meeting house in the village, where they

now have a regular minister, organ and all

the procedure of ordinary Protestant wor-
ship. Their first regular minister was Rev.

D. B. Updegraff, who was succeeded by
Rev. J. Pennington and Isaac Kinsey. the

present incumbent. A Sundav school was
started May 3. 1858, with Ellwood Rateliff

as superintendent, which is still in opera
tion. The Short Creek meeting house is

silent and deserted, but the Trenton con-

gregation still conducts worship after the

primitive style of Friends. The distinctive

costume is now the exception rather than

the rule, and the surroundings would not

be recognizable by any of the patriarchs.

The AVilburit.es now have their headquar-
ters at Rarnesvillc, Belmont County. They
also conduct services at the old meeting
house near Harrisville after the primitive

method. There is a meeting house at Long
Run, which is only used occasionally when
some one goes and preaches there.

Af. E. missionaries were in Mt. Pleasant

Township as elsewhere at an early date,

and in 1815 a small brick church was built

at the east end of the village on ground
owned by David AleAlnsters, a local minis-

ter. The house wa* also used for school

purposes for a number of years. In 1827
when the agitation for lay representation

began, which resulted in the formation of

the Methodist Protestant organization, the

Mt. Pleasant congregation, possibly from
the daily example of the Quakers, was al-

most solidly favorable to the new move-
ment, and finally joined itself to the new
organization, while continuing to occu-

py the old buildings. As no title had
been obtained to the property, and
David McMasters dying that year, it

was conveyed by his heirs to the Methodist
Protestant organization, which was formed
in 1820 with William B. Evans, local min-
ister; Samuel Pennington, class leader, and
Anna McMasters. Aaron B. Townsend,
Alary Witherow, Airs. Kerlin, and James
Davis among the original members. The
old house was taken down in 1839 and a

new building 30x50 feet erected on the site.

During the razing of the old building one
of the walls fell on Henry Alarshall and
John Sidebottom, breaking Alarshall's

thigh and severely injuring Sidebottom.

During its erection the new house caught

fire from a defective flue, and the roof and
plastering were destroyed, which delayed

its completion until 1842, the Presbyterian

Church being used in the meantime. This
building was occupied by the Union Sab-

bath school, started by Aliss Sarah Clark,

a visitor from Philadelphia, in 1843. Pinck-

ney Lewis was the first superintendent, and
George K. Jenkins, librarian. In 184!) Air.

Lewis having been elected state senator, he

resigned, and was succeeded by John II.

Alereer until 1870, when he was succeeded

by Dr. T. N. Lewis until 1873; Oliver Flan-

ner to 187."). when Alereer was again elect-

ed. The school did considerable mission-

ary work in the way of educating Indians

and in other directions. For many years

it was the only Sunday school in the vil-

lage but now each congregation has its own
school. The building was also used for

temperance meetings and other public gath-

erings until it was replaced by a new house

40x60 feet in 1869, on the same lot. It was
dedicated by Alexander CJark in the winter
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of that year and cost about $6,000. About
100 members were added during a revival

during the winter of 1864. The local min-
isters have been David McMasters, Pinck-
ney Lewis, John H. Mercer and Henry
Heberling. Among the traveling pastors
have been Wm. B. Evans, Rufus Richard-
son, Moses Scott. E. E. Scott, Wm. Callege,

F. Hopwood, Z. Ragan, J. S. Thrapp,
Thomas Fairchild, Jacob Nicholls, John
Burns, J. W. Case, Wm. Baldwin, T. L.

Scott, G. W. Hissev, H. F. Bradford, J.

B. McCormick, T. L. Diddle, J. M. Wood-
ward, J. D. Murphy, 0. McKeever. Rev.
Mr. Schurmann is the present pastor.

There is no M. E. congregation in the town-
ship. About 1892 an M. P. Mission was
established in Dillonvale, and a frame
building erected. It is served from Mt.
Pleasant.

An African M. E. Church was organized

at Mt. Pleasant about 1818. A rented

house at the west end of the village was
used as a place of worship until its pur-

chase a few years later. Becoming unfit

for use it was sold and a neighboring lot

purchased, on which a neat brick building

was erected, which is stilt in use. It had
at one time as high as 170 members, but

internal dissensions and a division in 1871

reduced this materially. In the fall of

1871 fifteen members withdrew from the A.
M. E. Church and formed a new M. E.

Church, meeting in the colored school

house. Their earlier ministers were Alex-

ander Hargrave, 1871-3; Lewis Carr, 1874;

Jacob Skinner, 1875; Jesse Hargrave,
1876-8; George Carr, 1879; Rev. Brown,
1897.

A colored Baptist Church was organ-

ized at Trenton on January 10, 1844, at a

meeting held in a brick house owned by
Esther Sparksman. Wm. Callihan was
moderator, and Milton W. Kasley, clerk.

The original members were George Sparks-
man (deacon), John Cnsans (clerk), Esther
Sparksman, John and Harriet E. Williams,
Frank King. Susan Thompson, John V.
and Sarah Brown, Elizabeth Sparksman,
John Thompson, Charlotte Duting and

Martha Sawyer. Elder Callihan closed

with a discourse and the church united with
the Zoar Association. On November 2,

1850, Elder Jones was called to the pas-
torate at a salary of $4 a month. May 30,

1854, a committee was appointed, and a
church building lot afterwards purchased
from Henry Bundy for $30, the money for
the first payment being raised among the

members. On October 26, 1860, Madison
H. Gaskins was employed as pastor at a
salary of $105 for half his time. Meetings
were held in the Seceder Church for about
eighteen months, when a room was taken
in Mrs. Sparksman 's house, which was
used until 1872. A frame house of worship
24x30 was built that year, costing $1,000.

Elder G. L. Sedgwick preaching the ser-

mon. A sabbath school was started in

1868, and two ministers have been or-

dained, Jared Charles in 1866 and Madi-
son Boggs in 1873. Membership about
fifty.

A religious organization known as the

Church of God was formed about 1890 at

Long Rim, and a small building erected

where services are held. Two Roman Cath-

olic Churches to accommodate the different

nationalities have been erected at Dillon-

vale, the first pastor of one being Rev. Fa-
ther Smoger, since removed to Steuben-

ville, and Rev. Father Danner the other.

SMITHFIELD TOWNSHIP.

To the north of Mt. Pleasant lies Smith-
field Township, even six miles square with

thirty-six full sections. It was detached

from Short Creek on November 7, 1805,

and election for trustees held at the house
of William Stewart, the commissioners be-

ing Andrew Anderson, John Jackson and
Benjamin McCleary, with John Ward,
clerk. The township at this time included

the present Mt. Pleasant Township, from
which it was detached in 1807, receiving its

name from the town of Smithfield, already

laid out. It is more rugged than Mt. Pleas-

ant, but its limestone soil has been produc-

tive of fine grain crops and has been es-
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pecially favorable to the growth of superior

strains of Merino sheep and other blooded
stock. Like Mt. Pleasant, the rich coal

veins have produced an enormous develop-

ment of that industry during the last few
years.

Two squatters named Simpson and Ty-
son arc said to have been the first settlers

within the limits of the present township.

They came and built their cabins the latter

part of the Eighteenth century, and left

about the year 1800. They occupied land

about half a mile south of the village after-

wards entered by William Kirk and subse-

quently owned by William Purviance, Jr.

Next came the influx of Friends or Quakers
between 1798 and 1800. A company of five

or six families from North Carolina settled

south of the present village, among them
being Richnrd and Christopher Kinsey,

Mason Miller, Richard Jelks, Malachi Jolly

and Alberson. Jolly's land was west

of the Wm. Purviance farm, and adjoin-

ing this on the west was school land. Sec-

tion 10. John Morton and Cadwallader
Evans came about 180'2 and settled in Sec-

tion 17, the former taking the southeast

quarter, now Runyon place, and Evans the

northeast, now Vermillion. The northwest

quarter was settled by Joseph MeGrew,
now Hammond. North of this Samuel
Cope, of Redstone (now Brownsville, Pa.),

entered a half section, and located his son

Joseph, who died there and left it to his

sons, B. W., William and Willits Cope.

James Purviance about 1806 entered two
sections east of Cope's, extending to the

Wells Township line and south to Jolly's.

Six of his sons and one daughter, Mrs.

Sarah Sidwell, settled on the land. Thomas,
one of the sons, occupied 200 aercs in the

northeast part, afterwards owned by Suth-

erland and Hobhs. James owned 140 acres

on the south, afterwards owned by John
Scott. Richard had 200 acres in the south-

cast corner, William 200 acres in the north-

west, Sarah 120 acres, David 200, and
Joseph 200 in the southern corner. Thomas
and James came about 1810, and the others

soon after. Farther south among the first

settlers were John Naylor, Caleb Kirk,
Thomas Carr, Richard Logan, John Cram-
let and Nathan Culloin. Walter Francis
settled near York in 1799 and Jacob Win-
ters on the northeast quarter of Section
27 in the spring of 1800. The same year
John Stoneman settled on the James Rus-
sell farm near Adena, John Wallace on the
George Hamilton, and John McLaughlin on
the Samuel McLaughlin farm. Then we
have James McGrail, Nathaniel Moore and
Daniel Haynes; last but not least, Jacob
Holmes, tho Indian scout who had a gov-
ernment grant on which Holmes M. E.
Church was built. Daniel Haynes lived to

the age of 101 years, and related to his

descendants that about 1802 the family of
John Jamison, composed of husband, wife
and several children, the wife riding a cow
with a babe in her arms, came from the
Ohio River up Short Creek to near Adena,
and squatted on his land. The settlers joint-

ly built them a cabin and, according to

custom, Jamison was permitted to crop all

the land he could clear in order to give him
a start. This was the beginning of the well

known Jamison family, of Harrison Coun-
ty. According to John S. Williams, who
was editor of "The American Pioneer,"
published in Cincinnati in 1843, he came
with a party of Quakers from Beaufort,
South Carolina, in 1800, the party includ-

ing his mother, sister and brolher, Joseph
Dew, Levina Hall and Jonas Small and
families. On arrival at Redstone, Pa., they
found several families starting on the re-

turn, being dissatisfied with the new coun-
try's prospect. Like some of the Israelites

they concluded it more comfortable to con-
tinue to endure the sight of shivery so ab-

hored, than to found a home in the wilds
of Ohio. The others came on, and were
met at Steubenville by Horton Howard,
who escorted them to the Short Creek and
Wheeling Creek Valleys. They stopped
overnight at Warren (Warrenton). A por-

tion of the company of twelve families

went from Warrenton to John Leaf's, in

the Concord (Colerain) settlement, where
there was already a meeting, and Joseph
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Dew and Mrs. Hall to Mt. Pleasant, the
others going to Smithfield.

The widow of John Sherrard (who was
with the Crawford expedition) with four
sons, including Robert A., father of the
late Hon. K. Sherrard, came from Pennsyl-
vania and settled in Smithfield in 1804, but
soon after removed to Warren Township,
and built a mill near the mouth of Rush
Run.

SMITHFIELD VILLAGE.

As intimated, the village of Smithfield
is older than the separate organization of
the township, and gave to the latter its

name. In 1800 Horton J. Howard and
Abel Townsend entered Section 11, on
which the present town is located, which
they sold in small tracts as follows: To
James Garretson, forty-eight acres in the
southwest corner, afterwards owned by
William Naylor; north of this seventy-six

acres, to Caleb Kirk, afterwards owned by
Mathias Ong and W.-A. Judkins; farther
north 100 acres to Joel Hutton and Cas-
paris Garretson, afterwards bought by
William and Samuel Naylor and subse-

quently owned by William and Thomas
Wood and heirs of the latter. A fraction
still farther north was sold to William
Wood, and subsequently to Benjamin Ladd
and Hugh Hammond. James Carr bought
the east half of the northeast quarter, and
here on August 18, 1803, he platted a town,
to which he gave the name Smithfield. Tts

origin reminds one of some of the med-
iaeval legends in regard to the selection of
sites for religious houses. Tt is said that a
surveying party from the Ohio River
stopped here, and while taking a view of

the landscape with the proprietor the lead-

er of the company, remarked: "This is

the finest situation for an inland town that

we have seen since we left the river,"

whereupon an arrangement was made for

the party to stop and lay out a town, which
was expected to become a leading center of
trade. There were ninety- four lots 75x150
feet each in the original plat, separated by
South, High and North Streets, and in-

tersected by Front, Second, Third and
Fourth. Lots one and two were reserved
for public use, number three being after-

wards substituted for the latter, bringing
both on the same side of the street. A pub-
lic square was provided at each end of the
village, where now stand the public school
building and hay scales. Mr. Carr laid out
an addition to the village in 1805, and an-
other in 1815. Since then there have been
three others, by Isaac Lewis, Mr. ChefToy
and M. W. Simpson, the two latter being
outside the corporation.
The first house within the village limits

was a log cabin on High Street west of the
old Smithfield bank building. The lot was
later owned by G. Washington Whitton.
The next was built in 1804 by Mr. Griffith

on the corner of Fourth and Main streets,

opposite Litten's Hotel. He kept a tavern
there a short time and sold to William
Wood, who started a store in it, being the
first in the place. The house was built of
hewn logs and was occupied as a residence
by William Wood's grandson, Henry, who
moved to Steubenville a number of years
sigo. Isaac Lewis now occupies the prop-
erty. The third was built by Josiah Glover
in 1804, and when it was partly completed
he returned to Maryland, his former home,
and remained there until 1808, when he
came back to Smithfield, finished the build-

ing and opened a hotel in 1808. ne con-
ducted it until 1820. when be leased it to

Mr. Duvall for a couple of years, when he
again took charge and continued there un-
til his death about 1850. His son, Cuth-
bert, then continued the business until

1863, when he sold out to John Gilmore,
wno ran it until 1864, when he sold to Jesse
Litten, who took possession on October 1.

who remained there for about twenty
years. Although the house has had several

additions the original log structure is an
integral part of the building. Mr. Lit-

ten's widow continued the hotel under the

name of Litten House when at her death
about 1000 it passed into the hands of W.
B. Naylor and was converted into a private
dwelling. The first frame house was built
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on the east side of Main street, opposite
Charles Mathews's store. It was owned
and occupied as a dwelling by M. H. Ong,
and now by J. W. Jones, the druggist.

David Purviance built the first brick

house in the township ab6ut one-half mile
east of the village, John Duff being the

mason, about the year 1809. The property
is now owned by Galbraith and others. The
second store was started by Thomas Flem-
ing in the building afterwards occupied as
the postoffice, moving there from Wells
Township. William Matthews had the third

on the corner of Main street, opposite the

Grant House on the property afterwards
owned by Mrs. Naylor. William Black-
iston and Benjamin Ladd had a large mer-
cantile house on a lot afterwards owned by
Bezin Jones and Edith McGrail. Black

-

iston lived near the store while Ladd re-

mained on the farm outside of town. Pork
packing became an important industry here
as well as at Mt. Pleasant between 1815
and 1840, in which this firm was a leader;

in fact, Mt. Pleasant had a greater busi-

ness in this respect than any other place

in the country. Richard and William Pur-
viance carried on business in the building

afterwards occupied by Shane & Bro., and
now owned by Mrs. Ramsey. Finley B.
McGrew kept a store in the house now oc-

cupied by Mr. Thomasson and owned by
T. W. Purviance. Thomas McGrew is in

the Mather property.
The extensive tanyard industry is

described elsewhere; it added materially

to the business of the bustling little village,

which down to 1850 bid fair to realize the

most sanguine expectations of its founder.
William Burrell was the first physician,

coming about 1806 and locating on High
street on the property later owned by Evan
Purviance. William Judkins was the next
a few years later, followed by his brother,

Anderson, and then William Leslie and son,

John, who came between 1818 and 1820.

Joel Hutton was the first shoemaker.
The village was incorporated in 1832, the

following being a list of mayors since that

time: William Blackiston, 1832-7; Charles

Barnes, 1838-9; Louis Kinsey, 1840; F. M.
Talbot, 1841; John C. Phipps, 1842; Jacob
Ong, 1843; William Gassaway, 1844-6;
John Irvine, 1847: William Whitten,
1848-50; William Gassaway, 1851; John
Gilmore, 1852; John Irvine, 1853-4; Wil-
liam Matthews, 1855-fi; John Irvine,
1857-60; D. M. Allen, 1861-4; William Ver-
million, 1865; Cnthbert Glover, 1866; H.
M. Sanborn. 1867; Jesse Litten, 1868; John
Young, 1869; John Irvine, 1870; D. M.
Allen, 1871-2; H. M. Sanborn, 1873; W. B.
Whitten, 1874; G. W. Lee, 1875-7; John
White, 1878-9: Dr. Walter Moore, 1884-

1894; A. J. Kalston, 1894-1909; Albert
Barger, 1910.

The postoffice was established in 1805,

with Abel Carey the first postmaster, suc-

ceeded bv the following: William Black-
iston, 1829 ; Thomas Qdbcrt, Geo. M. Flem-
ing, two months; John Irvine, 1841;
Charles Barnes, 1841-5; Robert Leslie,

1845-9; John Hobson, 1849-51; Charles
Long, 1851-53: Jason Brown, 1853-61;
James Watson, 1861-6; Jason Brown,
1866-9; Jonathan C. Harrison, 1869, suc-

ceeded by Edward Trippen, T. B. Vermil-
lion and George Pearce, the present incum-
bent. The population of Smithfield was
425 in 1850, 515 in 1870, 559 in 1880, 639
in 1890, and 503 in 1900.

Smithfield Lodge No. 182, F. & A. M.,

was chartered October 15, 1849, the three
principal officers being Charles Mather, W.
M.; X. A. Adams. S. W.; John Gilmore, J.

W. Smithfield Royal Arch Chapter was
chartered October 17. 1859, the principal

officers being Charles Mather, H. P. ; Amos
Jones, K.; George W. Drake. S. After
running a few years it was consolidated
with the other lodge. Smithfield Lodge No.
591 was instituted July 27. 1874, with the
following charter members: John A. Penn,
John M. Boyd, Wm. W. McConnell, A. B.

Conoway, H. (.). Conoway, Jacob Barkhurst
and John Heaton. It has since dissolved.

Both Senior and Junior Order American
Mechanic* organized, of which the former
is still in operation, and also a G. A. R.
post.
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There was a bank at Smithfield early in

the last century, but it was an unprofitable

enterprise and went out of business. At
the beginning of 1864 Joseph II. Cope, who
had been connected with the Mt. Pleasant
bank for twenty years, started to organize
a national bank. The people were slow
to respond, but finally an organization was
effected, with a capital of $63,000, soon
after increased to $100,000. On June 24
the stockholders completed their organiza-

tion by electing as directors Joseph H.
Cope, Charles Mather, Joseph Jones, Wil-
liam S. Bates, Elisha Cooke, Jr., Nathan
Hughes, II. S. Black, C. D. Kamiusky and
Joseph Hammond. Mr. Cope was chosen
president, and served until his death in

February, 1879. C. D. Kaminsky was
elected vice-president in 1871, and became*

Bresident on the death of Mr. Cope, when
[. 8. Black was elected vice-president.

Among other members of the early boards
were William Sharon, Cuthbert Glover,

James M. Xewlin, John Cole, John Gal-

braith, Mifflin Ong, William Vermillion.

James C. Scott was elected cashier, but

only served a few months when William
Vermillion was elected his successor. Mr.
Vermillion died suddenly at his desk, and
was succeeded by his son, Edward B. J.

B. Lowry is the present cashier, and John
Galbraith, president. The Merchants and
Mechanics' Bank organized a little over a

year ago and purchased the William Jones
property. Horace Cattell is cashier, and
William Reynard, president.

That the town continues to maintain the

enterprise manifested by its early settlers

is demonstrated by its successful annual
fair, the only one in the county, which is

attended by thousands, many coming a

considerable distance. The society is a

joint stock company, incorporated in 1871

with a capital stock of $4,000, divided into

eighty shares of $50 each. The object of

the society is the improvement of agricul-

ture, blooded stock, horticulture and me-
chanic arts. A tract of twelve and one-half

acres was purchased of Joseph II. Cope
for $150 an acre, and necessary buildings

were erected in time for the first exhibition
in September, 1871. The land lies imme-
diately north of the village, and the
grounds are beautifully located and fully

equipped with halls, stalls, etc., for exhib-
itors, including a good third of a mile driv-
ing track. The annual premiums amount
to about $1,600 and operating expenses
$400 to $500 more, while the receipts run
from $1,800 to $2,500, which keeps the
books balanced on the safe side, and as the
institution is for the benefit of the com-
munity and not for profit that is all that
is needed. The revenues are also supple-
mented by an allowance from the county
treasury. There is an unusually large
board of directors, composed of W. 0. Rey-
nard, president ; M. B. Cole, vice-president

;

J. (). Hayne, secretary; Chas. McKinney,
treasurer; J. S. Vale, ticket agent; R. A.
TIavne, J. P. H. Henderson, A. C. Vermil-
lion, J. L. Wcldav. J. W. Polen, D. F. El-
liott, Fred Scott, Robert Urge. J. O. Nav-
lor, Dwight Elliott, A. H. Mills, J. E.
Gault, A. L. Sutherland, A. U. Moore, W.
R. Mather, R. J. Henderson.
For cjnite a number of years the subject

of a children's home has been agitated in

Jefferson County, and from a bequest left

by the late Robert Speer aud a gift by Mrs.
Anna Brown a fund of $20,630.40 has been
accumulated towards that object. The
authorities, however, did not see their way
clear to the founding of such an institution,

and the children entitled by law to become
inmates of such an institution have been
cared for in the homes of neighboring coun-
ties. But the work which the public in its

official capacity seemed unable to under-
take was undertaken by an individual with
a marked degree of success. Several years
ago when the mine developments began at

Bradley near Sinithfield, Samuel T. Pur-
viancc had his attention attracted by a
number of children in the hamlet whose
parents were either dead or indifferent to

their welfare, so that they were practically-

deserted. Moved by compassion at their

misfortunes he gathered them into his own
house at Smithfield, where he and his wife,
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with the assistance of his father, looked
alter them. The institution naturally

grew, until it was necessary to call on out-

side assistance, which was generously af-

forded. A fund was raised with which a

house and tract of thirty-eight acres were
purchased from Nancv V. and W. F. Bur-
ns on April 1<>, 1D07, tor $4,400. The prop-
erty is located about three-fourths of a

mile from Smithfield ou the Portland pike,

and contains a good brick dwelling consid-

erably enlarged and other outbuildings.

The tract was conveyed to Oliver Thomas,
Evan IT. Purviance, S. T. Purviance, Wil-
liam W. Thomasson, Anna II. (?. Brown,
Martha Cope. Sarah Wheeler, S. (.!. Park
and Calvin Shreve as tmstees. The insti-

tution has been incorporated with lion. \i.

G. Richards as president, and upwards of

a thousand persons have subscribed from
$1 per annum to a considerable sum to keep
it in operation. Nothing is received from
the county except payment for the board
and care of such children as may be sent

there by the authorities. There is a com-
petent matron iu charge, ami the health,

training, moral and intellectual develop-

ment of the children are carefully looked

after. At present there are thirty-one in-

mates, and additional quarters are needed.
Homes in families are found for children

when practicable, and the management of

the institution has been such as to commend
it as a work of practical philanthropy. The
title of the institution is The Children's
Bethel. J. F. Masters is secretary.

York village was laid out by David Upde-
graff in lSl.'i and a postoftiee was estab-

lished there in 1832, with Ambrose Updc-
graff, postmaster. Among his successors

have been Joseph Wallace, E. H. Kirk,
.lames Mutton, A. .1. Purviance. Robert
Thompson. Ilenrv Waddle, Jacob Peter-

man, William F. Hooper, V. P. (iorbv, W.
1>. Thompson and W. H. Calderhend. The
census reports eighty-nine inhabitants in

1S.">0 and the same number in 1*70. It is

about five miles southwest of Smithfieid.

Adena is located in the southwest corner

of the township directly on the Harrison

County line. It is a neat little village of
about 600 people, and has built up consid-
erable trade since becoming a station on
the W. L. E. railroad.

Bradley is a new mining town about two
miles from Smithfield, which has obtained
more or less notoriety through labor
troubles.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

The first school in the township was
taught by Mr. Shackelford in the village in

1802. He was followed by Miss Armilla
(Jarrettson, who was peculiarly afflicted,

being destitute of lower limbs below the
knee and also of one arm, all from natural
causes. Joel Mutton, the shoemaker, also

taught in the winter season. These schools

were all held in the Friends' meeting
house. James Tolletson, au Irishman, was
the next teacher, who taught in a log house
near the brick building of the old Smith-
field bank. Shortly after the first school

house was built on the same lot as the pres-

ent school house. The second school house
was built about 18.1;), which was used until

18,')S, when a third house was built. This
was not satisfactory and was torn down
lately, when the present structure, contain-

ing four primary rooms and one high
school loom, was erected. Other school-

houses in the township are located at York,
Adena and Bradley, and in the following

sections: 2 Barkhurst. 7 Carson. 9 Bark-
hurst. 1") Reynard, 20 (iosnell. 2IJ Thomp-
son, 1S Hammond.
The Friends or Quakers were first to

form a religious organization in the town-
ship, in 1802. Meetings were held in pri-

vate houses until 1S04. when a log building
was erected in the village, where the pres-

ent meeting house stands. This was used
until ]S1.*», when it was replaced by a sub-

stantial brick, which, with some repairs,

lasted until 1 S7f>. when it was removed and
a large frame house, costing $2,000, was
put up in its place. The building com-
mittee consisted of Nathan I.. Wood, Will-

iam M. Cope and Evan Purviance. The
lot contains len acres and was deeded June

Digitized by Google



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 507

7, 1810, by James Carr to George Ham-
mond, Casparis Garretson, David Pur-
viaiice and Nathan McGrew as trustees for

the society. It was originally called Plym-
outh Monthly Meeting, but in 1818 "the

name was changed to Smith field. Among
the original members in 1802 were Benja-
min Townsend and wife Jemima, Malachi
Jolly, Richard Jelks, James Carr, William
Kirk, George and James Hammond and
David Purvianee. The first marriage was
Evan Evans and Mary Brighte, or Brite,
on April JO, 1808. The first burial in the
graveyard was a child of Malachi Jolly,

and the first adult was Jemima Townsend.
A Sunday school was started in later j'ears.

As elsewhere, in 1828 the Smithfield
Friends divided into the Hicksite and
Orthodox parties. The former organized a
separate society in 1829 and built a house
near the east end of Fourth Street, where
they worshipped until 1859, when, by
deaths and removals, their number became
so small that they dissolved their organi-
zation and sold their property. Their
house, a brick buildiug, was purchased by
William Vermillion and the property is

now owned by William Moores, the house
having been removed. In 1854 came the
Gurney-Wilbur division, in which the for-

mer, being largely in the majority, kept the
church building and the others withdrew
and formed a separate organization. They
met in private houses and never built a
church.

Holmes M. E. Church is the oldest organ-
ization of that denomination in the town-
ship and has been claimed to be the first

northwest of the Ohio, which, however, has
been disputed, probably with success, by
Hopewell in Wells Township. It is, how-
ever, indisputably one of the oldest. The
original building was built on Short Creek,
about five miles southwest of the present
village, in 1803. It was called Holmes
meeting house, after Jacob Holmes, a local

minister, who owned the land. Concerning
Holmes, Curtis Wilkin, a grandson, writes

to the $tenbenrille Gazette, that he was
born December 8. 17f>S. in Rockingham

County, Virginia, and when a small boy
his father moved to Bedford County, Penn-
sylvania, then to Catfish, Pa., now Wash-
ington, then to Buffalo Creek, near the
river, where he grew to manhood, and in

1791 was married to Elizabeth, daughter
of Michael and Hannah Doddridge Huff.
Shortly after his marriage he was em-
ployed by the United States government as
an Indian scout, and in company with his

brother-in-law, Kinsey Dickerson, and a
man named Washburn, was thus employed
for three years. For his services he re-

ceived a tract of land on Short Creek, a few
miles north of where Mt. Pleasant now
stands. To this place he moved his family
in the spring of 1796. He resided on this

farm some twenty-five years, when he sold

to a man named Coinlcy and removed to the
northern part of Harrison County, now in

Carroll County. He resided here until

1832,~when he again sold out and removed
to Fairfield Township, Highland County.
In the summer of 1838 he again sold out
and bought a farm one mile north of Ken-
ton, Hardin County, to which he moved
in the spring of 1839, and there he died
October 14, 1841. On October 30, 1840, he
requested all of his children to meet at his

home in a family reunion and take dinner
with him. The children all met, except
Mrs. Augustine Bickerstaff, of Steuben-
ville, her health not permitting. Ex-Sheriff
Ambrose Moore is a grandson of nolmes.
The church was built of hewn logs and was
about twenty-six feet long with a fireplace

on one side, not less than seven feet in the
clear. The story was nine feet high, with
the joists close together and covered with
clapboards, forming the ceiling. The roof
was made of clapboards held down by
heavy poles, the floor was of puncheons
and the seats were made by splitting small
trees in two pieces. The house was parallel

with the creek, and the door fronted the
southeast. Xo money was spent in its con-
struction, the people coming together and
performing the necessary labor. Charles
Moore, Richard Moore, Isaac Meek and Mr.
Crane were among the originators. There
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hail been preaching at Holmes's and
Meek's before the erection of the building,

but there is no record of any previous to

1800. Three of Isaac Meek's sons, John,
James and Jacob, were preachers. Other
preachers here at that time were Ellis

Matthews, Asa Shinn, Cullison, James
Biley, Jacob Young, Thornton Fleming,
Burke, James Quinn and Bishop Asbury.
While the latter was preaching a bench
broke down, and he stopped and thanked
God that there was a floor in the church
to catch those who fell.

This church was abandoned in 1810, on
account of the difficulty of reaching it when
the creek was high or filled with ice. Bodies
in the graveyard were removed to other

cemeteries, but some were left to be carried

away by the waters of the creek, which now
flows through the place aud across the

ground where stood the church. The logs

in the building were utilized to make canes

and other mementoes. A new house was
built in 1810 on higher ground about half

a mile from the first building, which was
deeded to Jacob Holmes, John Stoneman.
William Storer, Jacob Jones, James Smith,

S. Moore, E. Pierce. R. Moore and John
Barkhurst. Elias Crane preached at the

laying of the cornerstone. The house orig-

inally was a long, narrow building, with
pulpit and door in the sides. The pulpit

recess was formed by building a large pen
of logs outside, connected with the main
walls, and the same arrangement was made
opposite at the door, forming a large vesti-

bule and giving the house the appearance
of an ark with lurge wheelhouses at the

sides. For several years it had neither

stoves nor chimneys; two fireplaces were
made on the floor, of stones and mortar,

and the house was warmed by burning
charcoal on these elevations. The society

flourished until 1829, when the usual divi-

sion occurred, resulting in the erection of a

Methodist Protestant Church about a mile

distant. In February. 1S74, it \v;is deter-

mined to build a new edifice, which was
begun the following June and completed
in November. This was a plain, neat

house, costing $3,200. Over seventy min-
isters have preached to this congregation,
among them being James B. Finley, J. B.
Brooks, William Dixon, Daniel Townsend
West, William and John Meek, John Gra-
ham, Edward Tavlor, David Merrvman,
Simon Lonck, Walter Athey, William Tall-

man, Kent Hanks. Samuel Worthington,
Robert Hopkins, Israel Dallas, William
Knox, John Spencer, Joseph Montgomery,
Pardon Cook, J. N. McAbee, Hiram Gil-

more, J. R. Brockunier, Simon Elliott,

William Summers, William Tipton, C. A.
Holmes, James Merriman, J. W. Sh river,

Robert Boyd, George Crook, W. Cox, Will-

inm Devinney, S. W. Bailey, Isaac Atkins,

C. H. Jackson, Ludwig Pettv, George Mc-
Kee, T. S. McClurc, J. 1). Vail. George W.
Dennis, James H. Rodgers, Henry Neff, J.

S. Heagle, Homer J. Clark, John Huston,
James M. Bray, J. McK. Garrett. D. L.

Deinpscv, Hosea McCall, George W. Baker,
W. C. P. Hamilton, A. E. Hard. John Con-
ner, John Williams, J. S. Bracken, T.
Storer, Rev. Limerick, Archibald McElroy,
Calvin Ruter, William Savage, S. Adams,
A. L. Petty, T. Winstanley, Rev. Clegg, J.

W. Miner. It was a part of Smithfield cir-

cuit until 1901, when it was dropped and
is now without regular service.

Rev. J. B. Finley formed a class in

Smithfield village in 1814, that being then a
part of Cross Creek circuit. Included in

the class were Benjamin Roberts, John
Stout, James Coleman, Pollard Hartgrove,
David Long, Thomas Mansfield and John
Dougherty. Meetings were held in private
houses, with Joseph Powell as Mr. Finley 's

colleague, and soon after a lot was pur-
chased on the west side of the village at the

end of Green Street, of .lames Carr, for

£40, on which a frame building was erected

in 1810. It was 36x27 and was used until

1802. when it was sold to the A. M. K. con-

gregation, and a now site purchased on the

east side, near the end of High Street, on
which was erected a frame house 38x4S
feet, costing $1,800. It was dedicated on
March 9, 1863, by Bishop James and Dr.

S. B. Nesbitt. A Sunday school was or-
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ganized in 1836 and was carried on as a
union school until 1853, when it wus reor-

ganized April 13 on an M. E. basis, with
George Lee as superintendent and W. A.
Judkins secretary. The later ministers
since the organization of Smithfield circuit

have been the following : I. K. Rader. 1886
1889; J. A. Wright, 1890-91; J. D. Kaho,
1892; T. W. Anderson, 1893-94; S. A. Pere-
goy, 1895-97; S. B. Salmon, 1898-1900; J.

V. Orin, 1901-2; M. F. Rainsberger. 1903;
B. C. Peck, 1904; M. C. Grimes, 1905-7; J.

F. Hoffman, 1908-9. The church was re-

built a few years ago.

In 1815 James Wheeler deeded a tract

about three miles south of Smithfield vil-

lage to himself, William Whitten, Jacob
Cramblet, Thomas Kerns and Dennis Low-
ry, trustees, for an M. E. Churcli and ceme-
tery. A log house was built, known as
Wheeler's Church, which was used until

about 1849, when it was abandoned as a
preaching place and afterwards removed,
although the burying ground was retained.

Mr. Wheeler came from Maryland about
1804 and was proverbial for his honesty.

If he sold his produce for what he thought
afterwards was too high a price, he would
hunt up the purchaser and refund the ex-

cess, and if he thought he had bought any-
thing too cheaply he would insist on mak-
ing good the deficit.

The first preaching at Piney Fork, re-

sulting in what is now the United Presbyte-
rian Church of that place, was by Rev.
Alexander Calderhead, a Scotch minister

of the Associate Reform Church, in 1800.

It may be remarked here that at this period

there were in existence two offshoots from
the original Presbyterian body, the Associ-

ate Reform and Associate Presbyterian,

the former being sometimes known under
the title of Seceders. In 1858 these two
bodies were reunited, under the name of

the United Presbyterian Church, by which
the body has since been known. This, of

course, explains why the name United
Presbyterian does not appear at an early

date in local history. Mr. Calderhead
preached here until his death in 1812, when

he was succeeded by Rev. John Walker.
In December, 1821, Rev. Thomas Hanna
took charge in connection with Cadiz. He
was succeeded by Rev. Joseph Cloky in
1835, and in 1840 the charge was trans-
ferred to Steubenville Presbytery. Mr.
Cloky resigning in 1842, there was no pas-
tor until 1856, when Rev. William Lorimer
took charge and remained until the spring
of 1859. Rev. J. M. Jamison became pastor
in 1860, May 20, and remained until Sep-
tember 11, 1888. Rev. K. McFarland
served from Bloomfield in 1891-92; J. D.
Oldham, 1894-96; D. J. White, 1899-1902,

and G. E. Henderson, 1906-8, the charge at
present being vacant. The first preaching
was in the woods, and then they made a
tent between two trees and covered it with
clapboards, while the congregation sat on
logs and poles arranged for seats. They
afterwards built a cabin for winter use,

and on October 29, 1819, the society was
incorporated, the meeting being attended
by William Hervey, Robert Milligan, James
Carson, William Crawford, David Lindsey,
Charles A. Lindsey, William Kyle, James
Moore, James Leech, Joseph Boles, Robert
Reed, David Hervey, James Hutcheson,
Malcolm McNary, Robert McGaw, Charles
TIerrin, Samuel McNary, John Walker,
Walter and George Crawford. Messrs.
Kyle, Hutcheson and Malcolm McNary
were elected trustees and Samuel Mc-
Narv clerk. A hewn log house was built in

1824, 60x30, Thomas Hamilton being the

contractor. It was replaced by a brick

building the same size in 1838, erected by
John Lacy.

In 1889 it was decided to abandon the

old church, and the following spring a neat
frame structure was built on the Hender-
son, now Dorrance, farm, a mile and a
half from the old church, which was torn
down, but the graveyard retained. The
charge is now separate from Bloomfield.

A Disciple Church was started by
Thomas Campbell in 1831, and in 1836 was
removed to Smithfield village. William
Scott, John Cramlet and Joshua Carle,

David Carson being the first deacons. Alex-

Digitized by Google



HISTORY OF JEFFERSOX COUNTY

under Campl>ell. Elder Young of Wills-

burg, Jonas Hartzell, Dr. George Lucy and
Harrison Jones were among the first

preachers, and meetings were held in the

.schoolhouse, hut in 1838 a brick building

costing something over a thousand dollars

was erected. Mclntyre Creek, two miles

distant, is used for immersions. A Sunday
school was organized in 1867, with James
P. Hopkins as superintendent.

The first Presbyterian Church in the

township was organized at Adena on June
1, 1848. and a house was built the same
year at a cost of $825. Samuel Kerr. Sr..

was the founder and he, Robert Brown and
William Stringer were the original elders.

The other charter members were Agnes,
James, Julia and Joseph Kerr, Isabel

Stringer, James W., Sarah and Eleanor
Carrick. Isabel Brown, James and Sarah
Hamilton, Sarah Stringer, John and Jane
Hagan, Elizabeth Hope, Mothers Stringer

and Hamilton, William Hamilton, twenty-

two in all. Rev. Samuel Boyd preached
about three years and in 185t> Rev. Robert
Armstrong was installed and served until

the fall of 1870, and was succeeded by Rev.
H. W. Parks. His successors were Rev.

Mr. Gibson, L. Trinem and Mr. Kummage.
The old church was torn down in 1878 and
replaced by a neat frame building 50x3b*

feet, costing $2,400. Rev. Robert Alex-

ander preached the dedication sermon on
Thursday. October 31, 1S7S.

The project of a Presbyterian organiza-

tion in the village of Smithficld was agi-

tated in the summer of IKOtt, ami that fall

Stenbenville Presbytery appointed Rev. W.
R. Kirkwood to preach there and discuss

the matter with the people. A committee
was appointed the following spring, con-

sisting of Rev. A. Swaney. M. A. Parkin-
son and W. R. Kirkwood, which made a
favorable report to the dune meeting held

at Beech Springs Church. After going
through the usual routine an organization

was effected at Smithficld on September '21,

18f»7, by the following: John Mcdill, elder;

William Vermillion, deacon; William Ekey,
Margaret Ekey. Eleanor Peters, Mary E.

McGhill, Elizabeth J. Xewlin, Mary Mat-
thews. Abigail J. Scott and Eliza O'Don-
nell. W. R. Kirkwood was pastor until

December, 1871, Rev. T. A. Grove from
1872 to 1875, A. A. Hough from 1875; A. A.
Gilhn, 18<»7, and supplies since. The church
was rebuilt al>out five years ago. A Sab-
bath school was started in 1870.

Soon after the organization of the Meth-
odist Protestant Church in 1829 a congre-
gation was formed and house of worship
built in Section 33, which took the name of
Rehoboth Church. It was used until about
1S80, when it was abandoned, the congre-
gation uniting with the Presbyterians at

York in the building of a union chapel. This
was destroyed by fire a few years later,

ami the Presbyterians declining to enter
into an arrangement for rebuilding the

M. P. people built a small house of their

own, which is still used. The Presbyterians
joined the Beech Spring congregation, in

Harrison County. The church was lately

remodeled.
A union Sunday school was organized in

Smithfield village in 1853, which had a
Nourishing existence for about thirty years.

Joel II .Carr was the first superintendent.
On Jiinnaiy 28. 18f>3, the African M. E.

Church, of Smithfield, which had been in

existence for some time, purchased from
the M. E. Church the hitter's lot. with the

building thereon, for $150. This building
was replaced by a new frame building
3fix2<5, at a cost of $1,500. It was dedi-

cated November 10. 1878, Rev. Johnson
Underwood preaching the sermon, and Rev.
D. X. Mason assisting in the exercises.

There were ten members in the original

organization. A Snndav school was started

in 18(14.

Samuel Conoway and E/.ckiel Palmer
kept up an organization of Bible Chris-
tians, or "Xew Lights," for about ten

years, beginning with 1821. They were an
offshoot from the M. E. Church, but op-

posed to bishops, and the remnant found a

borne, probably in the M. P. organization.

Howells gives an account of their doings in

Stenbenville.
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WAYNE TOWNSHIP.

Wayne Township, lying to the north of
Smithfield, partakes of the same general
character, both as to surface and minerals,

leading in grain and sheep in former days
and later a field for coal mining develop-

ment It contains thirty-six full sections

and was first set apart from Archer on
June 12, 1805, it then including part of
what are now Green and German Town-
ships, in Harrison County, and Salem in

this county. The first election was held at

the house "of Joseph Day. Settlers appear
to have come here as early as 1796, and the

first birth was that of John Mansfield,

grandfather of Hon. John A. Mansfield,

of Steubenville, on Section 10, in Decem-
ber, 1797. Joseph Copeland, tho second
white child, was born in 1800. The Mans-
field family first settled on Section 4 on
what has since been known as Dorsey
Flats, but failing to obtain a title from Jo-
seph Dorsey, who was a land speculator,

they vacated and settled in Section 3.

James Blackburn came from Westmore-
land County, Pennsylvania, in 1798, and
settled two and one-half miles southeast

of the present Bloonifield village, on what
was afterward the Washington Stringer

property. His brother Anthony came at

the same time and settled near him. John
Maxwell also settled near the Blackbnrns
at that time, and Jacob Ong on Short
Creek. Others down to 1814 included

Michael Slonecker, William Wright, John
Lyon, Lewis Throckmorton, John Dickey,

Richard Coleman, John Barrett, Jacob
Shaw, James Tipton, John Tipton, Robert
Christy, William Sprague, Hugh Trimble,

Joseph MeGrail, Thomas Carr, John Thorn,
William Elliott, Samuel McNary, Jacob
William, Zebedee and Christopher Cox,
Thomas Bell, John Edgington, John Me-
Clny, Sylvester Tipton, Henry Ferguson.
John Matthews, John Kinney, Richard
Ross, John Johnson, Jacob Vorhes, Morris
Dunlevy, David Milligan. John Scott,

Archer Duncan, Nicholas Merryman,
James McFerren, William Ferguson,

Thomas Rowland, William Hervcy, Joshua
Cole, Henry Beamer, Leonard Ruby, Man-
uel Manly, Tobias Shanks, Nicholas
Wheeler, John Dayton, John Welch, John
Vanhorn. Charles Stewart, Abel Sweezy,
William Elliott, Elijah Cox, Thomas
Arnold, George Hazelmaker, John Mat-
thews, Richard Boren, Methiah Scamme-
horn, James Barber, James Sinkey, Amos
Scott, Benjamin Bond, John Jones,

Thomas Lindsey, Gabriel Holland, Patrick
Moore, Robert McNary, John Hedge, An-
drew Duncan, Peter Beebout, Thomas
Moore, Andrew Johnson, Thomas Riley,

Finley Blackburn.

BI.OOM FIKLD AXD UNIONPORT.

Bloomfield village was laid out by David
Craig on March 20, 1816. It was made up
of sixty-nine lots 60x80 feet each, to which
there have been no additions. John Mor-
rison was the first blacksmith in 1823, John
Crow the first wagonmaker, about the same
time, Thomas Latta, the first tanner in

1826, and Henry Beckett the second in 1827.

The town being about midway between
Steubenville and Cadiz furnished a good
business for taverns. Richard Price had
the first in 1822 and Marion Duvall the

second. The first doctors were Harrison,
Riddle, Vorhes and Johnson. The town-
ship hall, a substantial frame structure,

built about 1900, is located here, and there

arc good church and school buildings. At
one time in 1897 it had a iodge of American
Mechanics. The town was incorporated
in 1848, but its growth has not been
marked. It had 184 inhabitants in 1850,

146 in 1870, and 175 in 1880, since which
time it does not appear in the census re-

ports. The postoffice has been named
Bloomingdale and was established in 1823,

with postmasters as follows : Henry Rickey,
1823; Edward Hand, 1825; Washington
Murray. 1827; Marion Duvall, 1828; Sam-
uel McGrew, 1829; Basil Carter, 1836;
John W. Carter. 1846; J. B. Simeral, 1849;
Haran Maxwell, 1857; M. L. Blackburn,
1869; John B. Simeral until his death, suc-
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ceeded by his daughter, Ada Simeral, and
E. A. Blackburn in Cleveland's second ad-
ministration, then Ada Simeral again to
the preseut.

Unionport, twenty-five miles west of
Steubenville. was laid out by William and
John Hervey on October 24, 1852, the plat
containing fifty-two lots, with Front, Mar-
ket and South Streets running parallel with
Cross Creek, intersected by West, Second,
Third and Fourth. It soon became quite an
industrial center, and on the opening of
the S. & I. Railroad, a year later, was a
leading shipping point for that section, and
was for a while the western terminus of the
road. The town was originally laid out
on the south side of the creek, but it soon
spread to the other side and in June, 1879,
this section was made a part of the town.
Although not incorporated, it became the
busiest village in the township, with a pop-
ulation of about 250. The first store started
here was by Coleman & Hervey in 1854, and
the first hotel by William Hervey and the
second by Samuel Sproat. Thomas Potts
started a wagon shop in 1847, which under
his sons grew to quite an extensive car-
riage factory, followed by marble works of
J. J. G ruber in 1874. An account of the
Exchange mills, the chief industry, is given
elsewhere. Unionport Lodge. No. 333, F.

& A. M., was chartered October 16, 18(31,

with the following charter members from
Smithficld Lodge: Eli Wolf, F. M.;
George Pott, F. S. W.; William Herron,
F. J. W.; Charles Mather, Warner Grimes.
William Miser, Edward Hall, Samuel
Sproat and Joseph Adrian. Later K. of P.

Ix)dge, No. 369. was instituted, and subse-
quently D. F. Mizer Post, No. 677, G. A.
R. The Unionport band has been a feature
at different gatherings throughout the
county. The postoflice was established in

1854, wi(h James Waggoner postmaster,
followed by William Herron in 1857, Sam-
uel Vorhes, 1865; David Matlaek, 1871.

Harvey Poland and S. Crider later.

Fairplay, the third office in the town-
ship, was established at Bloomfield station

in 1858. There was some feeling on the

part of the railroad authorities against the
township because it had refused to follow
the example of Steubenville and Cross
Creek and vote $30,000 towards the build-

ing of the road which was to intersect it,

and William Blackburn, the first postmas-
ter, having this in mind, suggested Fair-

play as the title of the office, which was
adopted by the department, and a few
years ago the company changed the name
of the station to correspond to the post-

office. Mr. Blackburn was succeeded by
C. B. Templeton on May 1. 1865. and Jacob
Adrian, S. Crider and John Jarvis later.

Cresswell postoffiee was established at

Skelly's station on the S. & I Railroad in

1869. with James Keyes as postmaster, suc-

ceeded by Robert Jollie, Amos Hammond,
John Boop and John Montgomery.

SCHOOLS AXI> OIIVKC'HES.

The first teachers in Bloomfield were
Isaac Holmes, John Haughey and John
Dunlnp. There is now a good brick build-

ing in the village, containing an elementary
and high school. Other schoolhouses in the

township are in Section 3, Moores; 5, Pos-

sum Hollow; 7. Woods; 8, Stringer; 12,

TallK»tt: 14. 15. Wiggins; 18, Mansfield;

27, llenrv; 29. Unionport; 31, Baker; 36,

Grnble.

The religious history of Wayne Town-
ship begins with the organization of the

' First Baptist Church in Steubenville on
May 17, 1812, whose early history and re-

moval in March 1814 will be found related

in the chapter on Steubenville. Its first

meeting in its new location appears to have
been on March 5, 1814, at the house of Mor-
decai Cole, near the present site of Union-

port. Sessions were held at different pri-

vate houses for over three years, some of

the members traveling from three to six-

teen miles, and on September 20, 1817,

there is a minute of a meeting at the house

of Peter Hcsser, when, after preaching,

Thomas White and Zachariah Priehard
presented letters from Thumb Run Church,

of Farquier County. Virginia, and were ad-
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mitted as members. Most of the members,
however, seem to have attended the regular
Baptist Church at Hopedale, Harrison
County, during the next six years, but in

1823 the}' reorganized under the name of
Pine Run Church, and a new hewn log
building was erected adjoining the present
Tipton place in Section 30, in the northwest
comer of the township. It was dedicated
the same year by Elijah Stone, the first

pastor, followed by John Long, Thomas W.
Greer, Solomon Sells, George Jones,
George Wharton, George C. Sedgwick, Mr.
Squibb and Washington Glass. There were
eight charter members, James and Rebecca
Shockney, Luke ami Theresa Tipton.
Thomas and Deborah Rowland, and An-
drew and Hannah Roloson. A Sunday
school was started and the congregation
flourished for a number of years, when the
center of population having apparently
moved in the direction of Section 14, a
couple of miles southeast of Bloomfield and
five from the old church, a movement was
started to build a new church there under
the name of Mount Moriah. An organi-
zation was effected on July 6, 1861, with a
sermon by Rev. W. R. McCJowan, J. Davis
and G. C. Sedgwick assisting in the exer-
cises, the latter becoming pastor, S. B.
Thorp, clerk; Andrew Ralstou. W. P. Saun-
ders, W. Merriman and G. \V. Ralston, dea-
cons; John Cole. John L. Megrail and John
Walden, trustees. The membership was
thirty-five. Meetings were held in a bam
until the summer of 1862 when John and
Thomas Cole gave an acre of land on which
the present house was built. Smithfield
Chapter, R. A. M.„ gave $20 to purchase
lamps, for which a vote of thanks was re-

turned. A Sundav school was organized,
but in the fall of 1864 Mr. Sedgwick, the
pastor enlisted in the army, and in Novem-
ber of that year he was succeeded by S. D.
Ross, who remained two years. His health
failing, he was succeeded by Rev. W. J.
Dunn on October 1, 1866, who remained
five years. In 1873 Sedgwick was recalled.

After the establishment of Mt. Moriah,
Pine Run was unable to keep up its organi-

zation, and no meetings have been held

there for many years, but the building is

still standing. A colored Baptist Church
was established at Mclntyre in 1870.

The M. E. Church at Bloomfield was or-

ganized about 1828, and the first building

erected in 1842, which was a brick edifice

42x32, costing $1,200. The original num-
ber of members was forty, and a Sunday
school was started in 1844 with forty schol-

ars. The Bloomfield circuit now includes

Hopedale, Long's and Unionport, the pas-
tors for the last twentv-fivo years being:

R. S. Strahl, 1886; James Walls, 1887-89;

A. W. Gruber. 1890-92; D. W. Knight, 1893-

1S95: E. T. Mohn, 1896-99 ; J. A. Rutledge,
1900-2; T. W. Anderson, 1903-4; L. O. Eld-
redge, 1905-8; H. W. Stewart, 1909-10. A
new brick structure, seating about 350 was
built in 1881. The Unionport M. E. Church
was organized in 1863-64, the first meet-
ings being held in the old brick school-

house, until it burned, and sessions were
held in the new frame school building until

the fall of 1874, when they built a new
house. It was dedicated by Rev. I. C.

Pershing, of Pittsburg, assisted by W. D.
Starkey, the minister in charge. It started

with fourteen members, since considerably

enlarged, and a flourishing Sunday school

added. Hays Chapel at Cresswell is an
old organization attached to Wintersville

circuit, with Centre Chapel and county in-

firmary. The colored settlement in Mc-
lntyre has an M. E. Church, established in

1845. with a Sunday school attached.

The United Presbyterian Church of

Bloomfield, was organized October 10, 1871,

in the Presbyterian Church by Rev. J. A.

Morrow, with thirty-five members. David
and Joseph nervey and Samuel McCoy
were the first elders, and Ebenezer, J. B.,

and William H. Hervey, James Keyes and
Samuel McCoy were appointed trustees. In
1872 they completed a brick church, cost-

ing $4,000, which was dedicated Novem-
ber 14 by Rev. Kennedy, of Steubenville.

Their first pastor was Rev. Mr. Jamison,
who served until April 10. 1876, and occa-

sionally in connection with Piney Fork
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until September 11, 1888. Rev. K. Mc-
Farland served in 1891-92, J. D. Oldham,
1894-96; IX J. White, 1899-1902; G. E.
Henderson, 190G-8, since which time the

charge has been vacant.

There was formerly an M. P. organiza-
tion in Bloomfield, and the building, used
as a sehoolhouse, is still standing, but there
have been no services for over fifty years.

A Disciple Church was organized many
years ago in Section 3b*. just outside of
Unionport, and a brick building was erect-

ed, which is still in use.

Unionport Presbyterian Church was or-

ganized on .June 14, 1874, by a committee
from Steubenville Presbvterv. consisting of
Rev. Israel Price. Rev. T. V. Milligan and
Henry Hammond. The original members,
twenty-three in number, were: .lohn and
Elizabeth Welday, James and Mary Reed,
Mrs. Mary Reed, Mrs. Sarah J. MeNarv,
Alexander Porter, J. P. Lyle. C. M. Jones.
Emm;i C. Jones, John and Sarah Moore,
William and Esther Crenery, Jonas and
Ella Amspoker, John J. and Mrs. Mary
fjruber, John and Anna Cameron, George
Polen, Mrs. Mary A. Whitmore au<l Miss
Mary Crenery. Messrs. Porter, Reed, Wel-
day and Moore were elected elders, and
Cameron, Gruber and Jones installed as
deacons. A house of worship was erected

the same year and dedicated on February
4, 1875. Rev. Alexander Swaney was in-

stalled pastor, who served quite a number
of years. Revs. McXary and J. G. Black
have been subsequent pastors.

A Presbyterian Church was organized
at Bloomfield early in the century, and a

frame building erected in 1827. It was re-

placed by a substantial brick structure in

187fi. Among the early pastors were Rev.
Messrs. Boyd and Parkinson, followed by
Samuel Forbes for fifteen years. Rev. Min-
nmeyer. M. W. Simpson and I). W. Mac-
leod. There is no regular pastor at present.

SALEM TOWNSHIP.

Tn the original five townships Salem was
part of Steubenville, but on Friday. Juno

12, 18U7, the county commissioners, ,4 ou
application set off and incorporated the

Tenth Township of the Third Range into a
separate township and election district, to

be distinguished and known by the name of

Salem Township, and the first election to

lie held at the house of David Coe. " As
this description indicates, this civil town-
ship corresponds to the government sur-

veys, having thirty-six sections, with Ross
Township on the north, Island Creek on
the east, Wayne on the south aud Spring-
field and Harrison County on the west. It

is rugged, being drained on the north by
the Town Fork of Yellow Creek, ami on
the south by Cedar and Clay Lick, Burke's
and Lease's Runs, tributary to Truss
Creek. It is a good farming section, and
has coal and oil. although the development
of these minerals has not been so extensive
as in the adjoining townships. It is scarce-

ly necessary to say that settlers were here
long before the organization of the town-
ship. They began comiug in 1798-99. and
when the above order was made among
those already on the ground were Jacob
Coe, James Moores, Henry Miser. Edward
Devine, Joseph Talhott, Rev. Joseph Hall
(one of the pioneer Methodist Episcopal
ministers), Henry Hammond (brother of

Charles Hammond, the able lawyer and
most noted of the early Ohio editors, whose
work received Jefferson's praise), Joseph
Hobson, Stephen Ford. Baltzer Culp. Will-

iam Farquhar, John Collins, Ezekiel Cole,

John Walker, John Johnson. William Bai-
ley, James Bailey. James McLain, Adam
Miser. William Smith, John Andrew (a sol-

dier of the Revolutionary War and a colo-

nel in the War of 1812; his remains are
buried in the graveyard on the hill at

Salem Village) ; John Gillis, Sr., Francis
Douglas, William Leslie, David Lyons,
John Hogue, John McComb, Thomas and
Patrick Hardenmndder. Daniel Markhnm,
Benjamin Hnrtmnn, Isaac Helmiek, John
Sunderland. John Wilson. William Mugg,
William Yantz. Henry Jaekmau, Jacob
Yaritz. Andrew St raver, Benjamin Talbott.

Jacob Ong. John Watson, Joseph Flenni-
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ken, Adley Calhoun, Jacob Leas, Christian
Albaugh, James Butledge (from Pennsyl-
vania, and of the same family as the signer
of the Declaration of Independence, the
latter's people moving to South Carolina,
and his remains lie at Charleston), Isaac
Shane, Aaron Allen, Robert Douglas (pot-

ter), Thompson Douglas (gunsmith),
Thomas Calhoun, John McCullough, David
Watt, David Rogers, George Ilout, Henry
Morrison (first settler on Mingo Bottom
in 1793, and was in the War of 1812 with
Colonel Duvall), William McCarel, Dr. An-
derson Judkins, William Bahan. Charles
Leslie, Thomas George, Thomas Orr, Will-

iam Blackiston, Samuel Bell, David Sloane.

Richard Jackson (the grandfather of
Baron R. Mason Jackson), Levi Miller

Stewart McCIave, Richard McCullough.
John Collins, John Stutz, John Wolf, Will-

iam Dunlap, William Davidson, Willium
Alexander, John Marklo (an early school

teacher), Adam Winklesplech, —— Stout
(storekeeper), William Leas. Henry Ham-
mond settled near East Springfield" before
1804 and caught a land turtle and cut his

initials on its shell; in 1850 he found the

same turtle with 1804 and the initials dis-

tinctly visible.

UN'UMONI) VILLAGE.

Joseph Talbott in the year 1799 bought
of Bezaleel Wells the northeast quarter
of Section 10, for which he paid $2.50 an
acre, on $400 for the tract. He settled

there the next year, and in 1815 employed
Isaac Jeukinson to lay out a town, with

streets sixty feet wide and lots GOxlGO feet.

The work was completed on September 20
aud the new town named Richmond. B.
Hartman built the first dwelling, a lo,

house 18x28 feet, who also kept a hotel an«

followed blacksmithing. His house was lo-

cated on the corner of Sugar and Main
Streets, diagonally opposite the old Free-
man Torrance place. Allen Farquhar was
the first storekeeper, and by 1817 there

were five families in the town, those of

William Talbot, Benjamin Hartman, Will-

iam McCarrell, William Bahan and Ander-

son Judkins, the latter being the first phy-
sician. Richmond was incorporated Jan-
uary 27, 1835, and the first election held on
April 25. The judges were John C. Tidball

and Samuel Hanson; James W. Ball, clerk.

At this time there were forty-seven voters
in the place, indicating a population of
about 200. The officers elected were:
Mayor, Adam Stewart; recorder, James
Riley; trustees. William Farmer, Thomas
Burns. Henry Crew, John McGregor, E.
M. Pyle. On May 23 an election was held,

at which Samuel Hanson was chosen mar-
shal, William Frazier treasurer, Robert
Gray and Joseph McCarel, street commis-
sioners. Local industries were lively to-

wards the middle of the century, plain pot-

ter)', milling, pork packing and wool deal-

ing, with an established college, together
with its location on the state road from
Steubenville westward, made Richmond a
local center which contrasted decidedly

with the quiet of later days. It had an-

other little spurt when the construction of
a railroad down Island Creek was begun,
and later, when there was a mild oil excre-
ment, but both died out without any marked
results. The census of 1850 showed a popu-
lation of 514; that of 18G0 gave G92, which
in 1870 had dropped to 405, in 1880 in-

creased to 491, in 1890 dropped to 444, and
in 1900 to 393. the present population being

about 400. The town has a commodious
hall, suitable for public gatherings, and
Harry Hale Post, Xo. 447, G. A. R., was
organized a few years ago.

NKW SALEM OR ANNAPOLIS.

The second village to be settled in the

township, in fact, the first to be laid out,

was New Salem, platted by Isaac Helmick
on November 9, 1802. It is directly on the

Harrison County line, about one-fourth of

the inhabitants living in that county. There
were seventy-four inlots 60x132, and seven-

teen out lots. John Sunderland built the

first house and John Wilson kept the first

store. The first regular hotel was kept by
William Mngg, and the first sermon in the

village was preached by Rev. John Rhine-
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hart, a Lutheran. Jacob Vantz and "Will-

iam Smith, who came from Maryland, were
the first hatters. William McGowan and
son David, the latter afterwards establish-

ing a grocery m Steubenvilie, locate<l here
in 182U, and manufactured woolen goods.
Adam Winklesplech, grandfather of the
late 1). W. Matlack. of Steubenvilie, was an
early merchant, coming here in Indian
times. The land on which the village stands
had been entered by Henry and Adam
Miser, whose descendants still live in the.

neighborhood. Mr. Harrison was a pio-

neer storekeeper, also a Mr. Hutchinson,
and Mr. Simmons a tavern keeper. There
was quite a settlement of Germans here,

and the town flourished so that there was
an effort to locate the county seat here.

It must be remembered that parts of Co-
lumbiana and Tuscarawas and all of Harri-
son and Carroll Counties were still a part
of Jefferson. Steubenvilie was an insig-

nificant village, with a sparse population in

the river and central townships, while west
was a fine rolling country, suited to a large

fa/m population, and New Salem being
near the geographical center, the claim
probably did not seem so preposterous as it

would now appear. When the building of

a new courthouse was projected in 18f»9,

Hiehmond put in a similar claim, with far

less foundation. Shortly after the town
was laid out James Kelly built a large

flour mill and laid out a new addition, and
during the financial craze between lSp and
1819 two banks were organized in what
was now called Salem, the title "New"
being dropped. Of one we have no record,

and the other ended in a tragedy. Dr. G.
W. Duflield was president of the Salem
bank, and when it went down in 1818 suits

were brought against him to recover on
the circulating notes, which every bank
issued in those days at its own sweet will,

without government supervision or guar-
anty, a period which some agitators seem
anxious to restore. During the hearing be-

fore Jacob Vantz. justice of the peace, on
July 9. 18p\ hot words passed between
Duflield and David Kedick. the attorney for

the prosecution. The trial adjourned and
Redick followed Duflield to the street, and,
throwing Ids weight upon hini, bore Duflield

to the ground. Duflield, feeling his life in

danger, stabbed his antagonist in the neck
with a doctor's lance. Redick died as the
result of the wound while being conveyed to

Steubenvilie in a wagon. Duflield was in-

dicted and tried during the August term
and was acquitted. The form of indictment
in 1818 was the same as that used in the ter-

ritory in 1798, and related that the accused,

"not having the fear of God before his

eyes, but being moved and seduced by insti-

gation of the devil," committed the crime.

Like in most cases of the suspended "wild
cat" banks the only asset remaining of

the Salem bank was a table, which after-

ward became the property of John M.
Goodenow. The only asset of one of the
banks in the county was a keg filled with
nails, having a mere covering of gold and
silver coins

!

John Andrew, whose grave in the Salem
Cemetery is marked by a small sandstone,

with the inscription, "John Andrew, a na-

tive of Marseilles, in the south of France;
a soldier of the Revolutionary War and
of the War of 1812." came to America with
Lafayette, and was with Wayne in storm-
ing Stony Point. «»n the night of duly lfi,

1779, and was one of the eighty -three pa-
t riots wounded in the bold attack on the

British stronghold, he receiving a bayonet
thrust entirely through his abdomen, and,

strange as it may seem, he lived, none of

the intestines being seriously injured. In

the same battle he received a sabre stroke

across the temple and cheek, leaving a scar

which he carried to his grave. He came
here about the beginning of the Nineteenth
century and when the Jefferson County
troops were called out to fight the British

in the War of 1812 John Andrew was made
first lieutenant (colonel) id' the regiment,

and he served with honor and distinction

until peace was declared. The date of his

death is supposed to be 18.1"). Gen. George
A. Custer, who was killed with his entire

command of 277 cavalrymen at Little Horn
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River, Montana, June 23. 1876, was born
near New Salem and within the bounds of
the original township, out of winch Salem
was constructed on December 5, 1839. His
brothers, Thomas and Boston, and a broth-
er-in-law met the same fate.

Salem was made a postoffice in 1815
under the name of Annapolis, with Robert
Baird postmaster. He probably served
until 1823, when President Monroe ap-
pointed William Vantz, then twenty-one
years of age, who had emigrated with his

father ten years before, to be postmaster.
Being a bachelor, he located himself and
his office at the east end of the village,

where for some fifty-six years or more lie

handed out the mail. Fifteen administra-
tions came and went, the country passed
through two wars, children grew to youth
and middle age, the young men of his time
l>ecame parents and grandparents, and
most of tliem passed to the great beyond,
but he continued at his post away from the
madding crowd and unaffected by steam-
boats, railroads or telegraphs, for none
reached the little town. He was a Demo-
crat in politics and a Lutheran in religion,

but not obtruding his views on those dif-

fering from him. He was elected justice

of the peace in 1830, and served twenty-
four years, and although left handed kept
books that were models of neatness. Fi-

nally, in 1880, on account of the increasing
infirmities of age he laid down the cares
of office, and before his death that same
year he received from tlie Postoffice De-
partment a commendatory letter in recog-
nition of his long and faithful service. Tie

was spoken of as the oldest i>ostmaster in

the United States, and so he was at the
time of his death, and the honor can still

be awarded to him if we have regard only
to the fact that his term was consecutive
without interruption in a single office. W.
H. Wallace, who died at Hammondsville in

1897, could claim more years of service,

but they were given at three different

places, with intervals of time between.
However, we regard it. Jefferson County
is entitled to the honor of having the old-

est postmaster in the United States; in

fact, two of them. Robert Baird, Flora
Grimes, Ada Swan and Amos L. Myers
were his successors. Salem's location off

the main thoroughfares of travel prevented
a realization of early hopes. The popula-
tion was 158 in 1850, dropping to 155 in
I860, to 139 in 1870, after which it dis-

appears from the census, but the quiet little

town is still there.

EAST 8PRINGK1KU).

East Springfield, in the northeast quar-
ter of Section 35, about five miles west of
Richmond, was laid out by John Gillis, Jr.,

in February, 1803. The lots were 60x132
feet and the streets fifty-five feet wide. It

is directly on the edge of the township, the
Springfield Township line being at the west
end of the village. It grew slowly, and in

1809 had but three houses. Among the first

residents were Francis Douglas (sheriff

from 1797 to 1804), William Leslie, David
Lyons, John McComb, Thomas and Patrick
Hardenmadder (the two latter in the War
of 1812), Richard Jackson (clock and sil-

versmith). The first tavern was kept by
John Hogue; Charles Leslie kept the first

store in 1813, opposite Shane's Hotel. Will-

iam Dunlap, for many years a merchant of
Steubenville. was also an earlv merchant of
East Springfield. Rev. Dr. William David-
son's father was an early resident. David
Lyons and Daniel Markham were the black-

smiths who manufactured all the axes,

chains and nails needed in the neighbor-
hood, the former making nails and the lat-

ter saddle tacks. John Wolf was one of

the first justices. John Hague kept the

first hotel, near where the Porter residence

afterwards stood, and afterwards built, in

1810, the brick structure long known as the
Edgington-McCullough House and subse-

quently kept by A. Calhoun, Isaac Shane
and his widow. The town being on the mail
route between Steubenville aud Canton, af-

ter roads were opened it became of consid-

erable importance and much business was
transacted. Here the stage horses were
changed and hotels flourished, and these
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were prosperous days for the village. Gen-
eral musters of the militia of all this region
under command of Gen. Samuel Stokely,
were held here with all the pomp and cir-

cumstance, excitement and turmoil usually
attendant on such occasions, and attracted
crowds from miles around. Isaac Shane,
writing of these occasions, says: "We
boys had fine times during the general mus-
ters. Here alone we got gingerbread,
which, to our taste, was next to ambrosia,
the food of gods. Whisky, too, was plenti-
ful—a good kind, that Tom Corwin called
the great leveler of modern society, not
that indescribable compound of our times,
that violates law and tills jails." Are we
much happier than our forefathers with
all our modern improvements, which, what-
ever else they have done, have intensified

the struggle for existence f The question
is at least an open one. The town had 216
inhabitants in 1850, and 170 in 1870. Neigh-
boring developments have since caused a
considerable increase.

The geographical center of the township
is about a mile south of the little hamlet
of Fairfield, which is also about equidistant
from Richmond, Salem and East Spring-
field. Consequently, for many years, it

was the voting place for the entire town-
ship, and in February, 1816, Thomas Potts
concluded it would be a good place to lay
out a town, which was done, the plat con-
taining seventy-six lots. A postoffice was
afterwards established under the name of
Roberts, there being another Fairfield in

the state. There was the usual store, black-

smith shop, etc., and on election day there
was some activity. But there was no ex-
pansion. On September 5, 1873, the town-
ship was divided into two precincts, the
eastern one at Richmond, and subsequently
Annapolis, East Springfield and Shelley
precincts were set off, leaving only about
sixty voters in Salem precinct proper, and*
the establishment of rural free delivery
took all the business away from the post-
office and it was discontinued. Barely half
a dozen houses now mark the site of the

little town, which has reverted to a strict-

ly rural community.
John Hammond, on November 29, 1815,

laid out a suburb about a mile west of Rich-
mond, under the title of Ausburn, but it

seems to have gotten no farther than the
plat, and the lots were soon after vacated.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

Probably the first school in the township
was at New Salem, Nicholas Wheeler and
Mrs. Leslie being the first teachers. East
Springfield built a schoolhouse soon after
the village was laid out, and the teachers
were supported by subscription. The
names of the teachers are lost, but John
Gillis taught there at least as early as 1814,

followed by Dr. Markle, Mr. Byers from
New England, Isaac N. Shane, Charles Mc-
Gonnigal, Benjamin F. Gass, Daniel I^ang-

ton (storekeeper), John Bell and James
Foster. The last named wore an old red
cap, something like a Turkish fez, and
when a pupil was recalcitrant he was com-
pelled to don this head covering, a punish-
ment which caused disgust to the offender
and amusement to his associates in the

school.

The township, however, was destined
soon to have a higher institution of learn-

ing. About the year 1830 Rev. John C.

Tidball had a small academy on the Steu-
benville and Knoxville road, about three

miles from the latter place. Deeming Rich-

mond a more available location, he decided
to remove there. It is stated that he also

had a select school in Richmond as early as
1832-33, but if so, it was operated in con-

nection with this academy, which appears
to have been removed to Richmond about
1835, just when the founding of a larger

institution was agitated. On January 22
of that year an act was passed by the legis-

lature by which Thomas George, Isaac

Shane, William Blackiston, Henry Crew,
Stephen Ford, Thomas Orr, David Sloane,

Nathaniel Myers, John Cook, William Far-
mer. Samuel Bell, A. T. Markle and James
H. Moore were created a body corporate
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styled the "Board of Directors of the Rich-

mond Classical Institute," the object being
to "afford instruction in the liberal arts

and sciences." Nothing very definite was
done until July 31, 1843, when a committee
was appointed to secure quarters and a
competent teacher. The basement of the

old M. E. Church was leased for two years,

and on October 1, Rev. John Dundass was
chosen president of the institution and D.
D. McBryer professor of languages and
natural science, who began their duties the

first Monday of November following, and
remained until June, 1845, when Mr. Mc-
Bryer resigned. At a board meeting on
January 6, of that year, committees were
appointed to collect subscriptions and pro-

cure a building site. Two lots were pur-

chased from Joseph Talbott and a half

acre adjoining was given by Thomas Ham-
mond. They were numbered 91 and 92 on
the east side of Sugar Street, and cost $60.

The building committee, consisting of

Thomas Burns, E. M. Pyle and Henry
Crew, erected a brick structure 32x45 feet,

two stories high. It was completed that

year and in June, 1845, John Comin was
elected professor of languages and moral
science, and William Sarver was chosen
professor of mathematics and natural sci-

ence. In March, 1846, D. D. McBryer was
chosen president and on January 15, 1847,

several chairs were added and filled, as fol-

lows: Hebrew and evidences of Christian-

ity, Rev. William Lorimer; ancient and
Modern history, Rev. B. F. Sawhill ; ehem-
istrv, geology and belle lettres, Dr. John
Cook.
On November 15, 1847, the board re-

quested the legislature to change the name
of the institution to Richmond College,

which was done the next vear. In Septem-
ber, 1848, J. R. W. Sloane, father of Prof.

Sloane, of Columbia College, whose "Na-
poleon" and other works have made him
famous as a historian, was elected presi-

dent. In March, 1849, Prof. Sarver re-

signed the chair of mathematics and nat-

ural science and Alexander G. Farquhar
was chosen to succeed him. In July, 1849,

Rev. John C. Spencer superseded Rev.
Prof. Sawhill, and in August, Prof. Far-
quhar was succeeded by James Orr. In
1850 the Steubenville Presbytery, desirous
of having an academy, took the college un-
der its control, and Rev. Cyrus C. Riggs
was appointed president, with Rev. Wil-
liam Eaton and Prof. Sloane in the fac-

ulty. The graduating class that year was
composed of William H. Pyle, A. F. Tor-
rance, Lewis Weaver, Thomas McFarran
and Josiah Wagner. Profs. Sloane and
Eaton resigned in February, 1851, and Rev.
Joseph White was appointed on the fac-

ulty. The Presbytery gave up the college

the latter part of 1851, and the old board
again took charge. Rev. Riggs resigned
and S. L. Coulter was elected his successor,

and he in turn was succeeded in January,
1853, by Joseph Lindley. Rev. Archbald
was chosen professor of languages, and
J. W. Lindley mathematics and natural sci-

ence. In 1854 the Pittsburgh M. E. Con-
ference assumed control, with M. S. Bonna-
field and C. R. Slutz the faculty, who began
their work November 5, 1855, and resigned
in June, 1856, when Rev. S. B. Nesbit was
chosen president and Rev. S. M. Hickman
professor of languages. The latter was
succeeded in May, 1857, by John Z. Moore.
A movement was then started to endow the
institution, but failed. J. T. Holmes was
elected president in the beginning, remain-
ing until the spring of 1862, when he raised
a company of volunteers and entered the
Union army. Later in the year Revs. Pea-
cock and Marquis took charge, but were
succeeded by Lewis Rabe in the latter part
of 1863. Rev. G. W. Baker became presi-

dent in the spring of 1864, but was shortly
succeeded by Mr. Peacock, who, in turn,

was succeeded by L. W. Ong in the latter

part of 1866, with M. B. Riley, assistant.

Mr. Riley resigned in 1869, and in 1871 A.
R. Ong and S. S. Simpson were placed on
the faculty.

In 1872 the property was conveyed to

L. W. Ong, with the proviso that it should
be used for educational purposes only. A
new departure was made at this time in the
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way of securing new buildings and a new
site. Subscriptions were secured and a
site was secured a short distance east of
the village by the donation of one acre from
Lewis Ong and the purchase of eleven acres
adjoining. Here, on u beautiful knoll,

which makes the institution a conspicuous
object in approaching Richmond from the

east, were erected a two-story brick college

building and three-story frame boarding
hall, capable of accommodating fifty stu-

dents. The cornerstone of the new college

building was laid on August 8, 1872, with
addresses by J. R. W. Sloane, J. B. Dickey,

James Marvin and W. B. Watkins. On Au-
gust 28 next year the building was dedi-

cated and occupied. Prof. Ong remained
president until his death on June 5, 1877.

A monument has since been erected to his

memory near the college by alumni of the

institution. Rev. VV. J. Brugh was the next

president, who resigned in 1878 and was
succeeded by S. S. Simpson and A. C. Ong.
On September 6 the property was pur-

chased by a number of individuals, includ-

ing B. I,. Crew, Rev. I. Price. Thompson
Douglass, S. IT. Ford, Joshua Moores,

Benjamin Shelly. William Waggoner, F. .7.

Frederick, Rev. J. B. Borland, Robert Mar-
tin, George McOausland, A. J. Crawford
and William Ford. Mr. Simpson gave up
the college about 1880, and the buildings

were closed until August 23, 1886, when
Rev. S. C. Faris, having become pastor of

the Presbyterian Church, was chosen presi-

dent and reopened the school, lie retained

it for two years, when Rev. George W.
MacMillan came from the East and took

charge on July 1, 1888. He purchased the

property and infused new life into the in-

stitution, the attendance reaching over 1(>0.

He still has charge, although the attend-

ance has been small of late years, and gives

thorough instruction in the different

branches. The old college property on
Sugar Street was sold to the district for

public school purposes and was occupied
for about ten years, when it was torn down
to make room for a substantial two room
building, which is still in use.

There are also good school buildings in

Salem and Fast Springfield. The country
schoolhouses are located in Sections 7,

Ford farm; 16, I'nion; 18, Frazier; 20,

Kirkpatrick; 28, Copeland; 30, Johnston;
35, Ellis.

Rev. Joseph Hall, a young Methodist
Episcopal preacher, came to Ohio in 1800,

and married Miss Delila, daughter of
James Moores, of Salem Township, and
settled on the northwest quarter of Sec-
tion 2, on what was afterwards the Burch-
field property, about a mile and a half
south of the site of Richmond. He preached
sometimes at the house of Mr. Moores and
later at Stephen Ford's and Henry Jack-
man's, until a small log church was built

on the land of the latter. A class was
formed about 1808, which included James
Moores, leader, aud wife Elizabeth, Jack-
man and wife, Christina. Hall and wife De-
lilah, Ford and wife Ruth, George Hout
and and wife Christina. A brick church
40x44 was built at Richmond in 1832, which
stood with some alterations until 1861,
when it was replaced by a uew brick struc-

ture 45x66, costing $5,000. It is on the
east side of South Sugar Street. The
charge was formerly a part of Cross Creek
circuit, but it is now Richmond circuit, in-

cluding Mt. Hope, Mt. Tabor and Mt. Zion.

The pastors have included John Graham,
1828; Edward Tavlor, 1828-30. William
Knox. 1830-31; David Merriman, 1831-32;

S. R. Brockunier, 1832; Walter Athev.
1833; Simon Lnuk. 1833-34; Athev and
Tavlor. 1835; John P. Kent, Henrv Whar-
ton, 1S36; Thomas Thompson. 1837; John
W. Miner, 1837-3*; P. K. McCue. 1838; J.

M. Bray, Harvey Hradshaw, 1839-40; J.

M. Bray, 1S40; George McCaskoy, John
Mnrrav. 1841-42; John MoflH, Isaac Mc-
Claske'v. 1843; .1. C. Tavlor, C. E. Weirich.
1845; W. C. Henderson. B. F. Sawhill,

1847; J. L. Williams, John Hare, A. J.

Blake. 184°; J. Spencer. George Crook,
1850; Thomas Winstanlev, 1850 51; S. F.

Miner. 1851; M. W. Dallas, 1852; J. H.
White. 1852-53; S. F. Miner, 1853; T. C
McClure, 1854; Alexander Scott, 1854-55;
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Lud Petty, 1855-56; Geo. McKee, 1856; S.

Nesbitt, S. M. Hickman, 1857; G. A. Low-
man, 1857-58; W. H. Tibbies, 1858; K.
Boyd, S. H. Nesbitt, 1859; J.. J. Higgins,

P. R. McCue, 1860; A. L. Pettv, John
Shearer, 1862; E. B. Griffin, 1862 63; John
Stephens, 1863-64; G. W. Baker, 1864;
John Grant, 1865; J. Q. A. Miller, 1867; T.

H. Wilkinson, 1869; Edward Ellison, 1872;
J. B. Uber, 1875; J. R. Keves, 1877-80; A.
J. Hiatt, 1886-88; W. 1). Stevens, 1889-90;

S. P. Llovd, 1891-94; J. S. Eaton, 1895;
W. H. Haverbeid, 1896-97; E. K. Jones.

1898; G. T. Humble, 1899-1901; J. F. Ellis.

1902-5: R. E. Movers. 1906-7; A. E. Yeager,
1908; \V. A. Kinney, 1909.

Rev. Joseph Hall preached in the vicinity

of East Springfield at the houses of Henry
Hammond and William Davidson, who with
the Rileys, Rutledges, Johnsons and Mi-
nors formed the first Methodist class. After
the building of St. John's Church in 1826,

the only house of worship then in the vil-

lage, they held services there with more
or less regularity until 1846, when they

erected a building for themselves. F. t.

Swanev was pastor in 1886, followed bv M.
J. Ingrain. 1887-8; M.J. Slutz, 1889; James
Walls, 189<>-3; T. H. Tavlor, 1894-6; S. P.

Lloyd, 1897-9; E. S. Smith, 1900-3; J. F.

Rankin, 1904-7; Ross Sullivan, 1908-9.

Mount Hope Church in Section 20 was or-

ganized about 1830 with James Cowden as
class leader. From 18!53 to 1841 preaching
was had at the house of James Rut ledge,

when a log church was built, which stood

until 1860, when it was replaced by a frame.
It was supplied from Richmond. Salem M.
E. Society was organized in 1K38 by Rev.
Patrick McCue with the following class:

Eli McKinney, leader; Margaret Miller.

Martha Thompson, John Lawson, John
Lacey, Elizabeth and John Ferrell and
Sarah A. Myers. Meetings were first held

in the school house, but a log church was
built in 1844, replaced by a frame in 1848.

In 1879 the church was rebuilt and dedi-

cated on July 13 with a membership of

fifty. It is on the East Springfield circuit.

Salem Township, like Mt. Pleasant and

Smithfield, had a settlement of Friends
among its pioneers, but in smaller num-
bers, among them being William Farquhar
and wife Elizabeth, Joseph Hobson and
wife Ann, Joseph Talbott and wife Mary,
Benjamin Talbott and wife Susannah.
Jacob Ong and wife Mary. Gatherings
took place at William Farquhar's house
until 1815 when they built a log meeting
house. In 1820 it was replaced by a brick
structure 30x40 in Section 9, south of Rich-
mond. Jacob Ong and John Watson were
the first approved ministers. The old

building still stands in its quiet graveyard,
but silent and deserted. The society dis-

solved many years ago, and B. L. Crew, of
Richmond, is the sole living representative.
Rev. Alexander Calderhead organized

the Associate Reformed, now United Pres-
byterian Church, of Richmond, in 1805 at

the residence of Col. John Andrews in the
northeast corner of the township, with
John Collins, John Johnson and John
Walker, elders. A structure six feet long,

five feet wide and seven feet high was
built of clapboards ou the farm of James
McLain in 1806, and moved from place to

place on a sled to suit the convenience of
preacher or congregation. Of course this

would only accommodate the pulpit with
other ministerial furniture, the congrega-
tion gathering in the open air. On April
11, Rev. George Buchanan took charge, and
in 1816 a hewn log house 24x28, called

Union Church, was erected on the land of
David Andrews, afterwards the R. H. Kerr
property. Rev. Hugh Parks succeeded Mr.
Andrews in 1831, and during his pastorate
a new brick church. 35x45, was built in

Richmond. This was replaced by a larger

building 42x60 in 1831, which stands in the
Shelley Addition, east of the original plat.

Rev. Win. Lorimer bceame pastor in Oc-
tober, 1838, and remained until 1858, dur-
ing which time the membership rose to

146, its maximum number. Rev. J. H. Pea-
cock became pastor in July. 1859, remain-
ing eight years. Rev. J. B. Borland was
installed on July 1, 1871. and remained in

connection with Knoxville and Grant's Hill
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until June 14, 1887. J. M. Dinsmore served
from 1889 to 1893, W. T. Brownlee from
1898 to 1902, ami W. R. Lawrence from
1903 to 1905. The charge is now vacaut.

It is not certain that Kev. Dr. Doddridge
held sendees according to the Hook of
Common Prayer in Salem Township, as in

his notes as published he was singularly

reticent concerning his own personal work.
Isaac Shane writes that what was known
as the Protestant Episcopal Communion,
under charge of Kev. Intrepid Morse, was
the first service of that form to be
held in East Springfield. But Dr.

Morse did not come to this section

until 1819, so if "Episcopal" serv-

ices were held there previous to that date
it was by some minister, who could have
been none other than Dr. Doddridge, or Mr.
Seaton. This is not improbable, as the

majority of the inhabitants of that com-
munity were of this faith. Nevertheless it

is clear that under Dr. Morse regular serv-

ices were instituted, and steps were taken
soon thereafter for the erection of a church
building, a substantial brick structure,

seating 200 people, the first house of wor-
ship in the village About this time the

organization was incorporated under the

title of St. John's Church as follows:

•'To the ('Irrk of the (Y.urt of Common Pleas, in the
I «>n tit j- of Jefferson. State of Ohio: This eorhfie* ihiil

at li meeting held this day ill the town of .Springfield,

Jefferson Comity, in piii>ii.noe of public notice duly
yi»en n-roniiiii: to tin- in-r in Unit raw made and uro-

vulol by the lleinral A*»inihlv of the State of OMo,
upward of twenty perrons formed and organized them
selves in n religion* sueiety under the name ntnl »l)l<'

of 'St, John',, fhur.h. Springfield.* an<l tlif follow. ug
r*ons wore thru and then- rlorted oMrer* of tin* same
r thr ensuing year, vir.. : John McCullough, John Sooit,

wardens: Jaroli fftull. Willintn W. Kiulry. Churlo* Hun
trr. vestrymen. Sprin^«M-|it. April •">. ] yjf),* Altered;
William \V. Kinley, Clerk, Im. Morse. PreM.. Minirter

of St, Paul's t'hiinli, StrnU-nville, and St. .Ian.es. I ro>»

Creek.
"

'

After Mr. Morse gave up his outside

charges and confined himself to Steuhen-
ville the parish had the same ministers as
St. James', Cross Creek, by whom services

were maintained until about the close of

the Civil War. By that time deaths and re-

movals had reduced the congregation 1o

such a small fraction of its former size

that services were discontinued.

St. Paul's Evangelical Lutheran Church
of Salem was organized by Kev. John Rine-
hart in 1814, with Jacob Vance and Andrew
Strayer, elders. Among the pastors have
been Rev. James Manning, from 1H25 to

1839; Benjamin Pope, 1839-43; Amos Bar-
tholomew, 1843-8; George Baughman,
1849-50 : Dennis Sweeney, 1850-3; David
Sparks, 1853-9; James Manning, 1859-04;

Jacob Singer. 1804 9; Joseph A. Koof,
1870-77: D. M. Keinorrer, 1877 and after-

wards Rev. John Cook. The original place
of worship was about a mile east of the
village, but in 1*7<> a frame church 22x46
was built in the town.
On March 27, 1847, a number of Presby-

terian residents of East Springfield held a
meetiug and appointed a committee to

solicit subscriptions to build a place of wor-
ship. On May 21 the committee reported
$825 subscribed and Stewart McClave,
William Palmer, George Hammond, John
Calhoun. Joseph Clemmotis and Caleb
Waggoner were appointed trustees and
directed to proceed to the erection of a
building, which was dedicated on August
25. 1848, Rev. C. C. Beatty preaching the
sermon from the 93d Psalm. The church
is the largest in the village, and stands at

the east end of town. On June 1, 1S50, the
church was formally organized by Kev. C.
C. Riggs and John Knox with the follow-

ing members: Henry Pittenger. Joseph
Clemens and Alexander Porter, ruling eld-

ers; Mrs. and Mary Ann l'it longer, Benja-
min, Elizabeth, Agnes A. ami Mary E.
Mickey, Henry Hammond, Stewart Mc-
Clave, John and Margaret Oulp. Jacob and
Violet Allensworth, Mary C. Ki^gs, Alex
and Catherine Morrison, Rebecca Clem-
ens, Rebecca Freeborn, Joseph Huston,
Amelia Porter, Pamelia Palmer, James
and Lucinda Beatty. Martha J. Lindsay,
Elizabeth McCullough. Jane Reynolds,
George and Hermit Berresford. Elizabeth
Scott. Mrs. Murray. Sarah J. and Eliza-

beth Mylor, Lucinda Scott. Rev. C. C.
Ritrgs continued the first pastor until 1852

r.
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when Rev. John Watson served as a sup-
ply for six months. Then eauie Rev. L.

Grier from January 1, 1853. to December,
I860; J. S. McGuire, from 1862 to 1864;
Rev. C. W. Wycoff, from April, I860, to

April, 1873; W. M. Eaton. 1874 to August
27, 1878, aftenvards Joseph Patterson, and
at present Rev. Mr. Fowler.
The Richmond Presbyterian Church was

organized by Rev. Cyrus Riggs on Septem-
ber 3, 1852, with the following members:
John McGregor, Benjamin S. Bailey and
William Patterson, elders; Mary McGreg-
or, Mary J. Chaplain, Hannah Percival,

Martha Duncan. Samuel Beebont, Mary
A. and Phoebe Beebont, Michael, Catherine
and Jane Vangilder, William and Mary
Waggoner, Elizabeth Rabe, Jane Cunning-
ham, Mary, Ebenezer and Polly McGowen,
Dorothy, Matilda and Rebecca Bailey,

JosephGilkinson. Prof. Riggs served two
years and Lafferty Grier one-third of his

time for six years; Rev. Marquis from
18110 to 1865; "Revs. Messes, Wykoff and
J. B. Dickey for two years ; Rev. Israel

Price from 1869 until about 1880, who after

an interval was succeeded by S. C. Paris,

and he in turn by Rev. Geo. W. McMillan,
who recently gave up the charge. Soon
after its organization the congregation
erected a substantial brick building at the

end of Sugar Street, which is still in use.

Rev. Charles Holliwell is the present
pastor.

A Presbyterian congregation was or-

ganized at Salem about seventy-five years
ago, and at present occupies its second
building, erected about thirty-five years
since.

During the political campaign of 1880
a preacher in the M. E. Church at East
Springfield, in discussing certain phases of

that campaign, took occasion to animadvert
on the Morey letter forgery. Sonic of the

members took offense at this as savoring
too strongly of partisan politics, and with-

drew from the church. They formed a new
organization, under the name of United
Brethren, and procuring the old St. John's

Church property, rebuilt it, where services
have since been conducted.

SPRINGFIELD TOWNSHIP.

A glance at a county map of Ohio would
seem to indicate that Springfield Township
geographically should form a part of Car-
roll County, if much attention were paid
to symmetry, as it appears as a projection
of Jefferson into the other county, consist-

ing of three rows of nine sections each, and
one additional row of three sections lying
directly west of Salem and Ross Town-
ships, bounded on the north by Columbi-
ana County, on the south by Harrison, and
on the west by Carroll. It was the first

civil township carved out of the original
five and was set off by the county commis-
sioners on December 6, 1804. It then in-

cluded Brush Creek, Ross and half of
Salem Township, about one-seventh of
Harrison County and half of Carroll, large
enough to make a small county in itself.

The first election was held at the house of
David Lyon in East Springfield, commonly
called Gillis settlement. The creation of
other townships in Jefferson County nat-
urally reduced the size of Springfield, and
when Carroll County was organized in

1813 it was proposed to incorporate the
township into that county, but the people
in the eastern sections protested, and it

was left in its present form attached to

Jefferson. Wolf and Lick Runs and Elk
Fork of Yellow Creek drain the southern
part of the township, the middle and north-
ern parts being drained by the middle and
north fork of Yellow Creek. The town-
ship is rugged but has good farms, while
the coal and limestone have caused a large

development, especially in the western and
northern parts. It is claimed that the first

salt made on Yellow Creek was manufac-
tured in this township by Philip Burgett
and John Tucker. While out hunting they
found a spring of salt water, and procuring
a kettle they boiled enough to make about
three bushels of salt. This was a great
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boon as salt bad to be brought for a great
distance and was very expensive. Solomon
Miller, from Fayette County, Pennsylva-
nia, was the first settler (1800) within the
lines of the township as now constituted.

He took up Section 10 and made improve-
ments, but being unable to pay for an en-
tire section, and nothing less could be en-

tered, lie was dispossessed, and this sec-

tion was entered in 1802 by Henry Miser.
He began anew, however, on Section 11.

Stewart McClave settled on Section 6 in

1801, ami was the grandfather of .John Mc-
Clave, Ksc|.„ of the Jefferson Bar. Follow-
ing these came John Stutz, Joseph (Jordon,

Jacob Springer, Thomas Peterson, James
Albaugh, James Kuttledge, James Alhnan,
Henry Isinogle. Robert Young, Adley Cal-

houn.' William Jenkins, James Campbell,
S. Doranee and others.

The rugged character of the country
brought settlers slowly, and the deep, dark
ravines furnished convenient lairs for wild
auimals, after they had retired pretty gen-

erally from other parts of the county. John
Kirk, who came here about 1813, related

that wolves would approach within a few
steps of the farm houses and make night

hideous with their bowlings. One evening
after dark as he was coming home be heard
a noise in a thicket, and started his dogs
in that direction. A pack of wolves started

up, and the pursuers became the pursued.
He readied his cabin, which fortunately

was close, but never found a trace of the

dog. which was evidently devoured by his

wild progenitors. At another time when
coming up the Long Hun branch of Yel-

low Creek he heard what appeared to be

cries of a woman in distress. Hut they did

not deceive him and he crept stealthily into

a fence corner. Directly a large panther
appeared and passed so near him that he
could hear its strong breathing. It passed
by without discovering him, possibly he

cause he was on the windward side. Full

details of the Morgan raid in this township
are given elsewhere, and this was about the

only event in recent years to disturb the

even tenor of events, until later, railroad

ami coal development imparted new life

to affairs.

AMSTERDAM.

For many years after Springfield Town-
ship was created it could claim no town or
village within its borders as finally defined.
In 1828 David Johnston laid out a small
fragmentary village on the western side at
the junction of Lick Hun and Yellow Creek,
which he named Amsterdam.

In 1850 it had a population of 168, which
in 1870 had fallen to 80, when it disap-
peared from the census. The town was in-

corporated in November 20, 1903, when the
petitioners gave the population at GOO. The
cause of this increase was the advent of the
L. K. A. & \V. Hailroad and the opening
of coal mines, which guve the town a ver-
itable boom. The People's Banking Com-
pany was organized with a capital stock of
$15,000, but whose statement of Sept. 1,

190!), shows resources of $150,122.45. The
individual deposits subject to check were
$68,689.90; demand certificates, $1,575.93;
ami time certificates, $56,585.70, making a
total of $127,390.76. George 0. Hess is

cashier. Nothing could better indicate the
change from an insignificant rural hamlet
to a bustling business community. A $25,-

000 hotel was started but the project ran
out of funds before the foundation was
completed. Paved streets were next in

order, ami arrangements were made to put
down a fire brick pavement on the main
thoroughfare. This condition of affairs

naturally brought in its train a number of
local industries, including the Cattrell plan-
ing mill and machine shops, Hess & Com-
pany's Hour and feed mill. Myers & C rei-

ser's saw mill. Workman A: Son, carriage
makers, most of which are still in opera-
tion. A Masonic Lodge was organized, and
there has been added recently a branch of
the Improved Order of Bed Men.
The immunity which Jefferson County

enjoyed from any serious mine disaster
for over fortv wars was broken on the
night of Thursday. April 21. 1910. at Am-
sterdam on the western border of the coun-
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ty. The night shift of the Youghiogeny
and Ohio mine, consisting of twenty-five

men, had been at work but a short time
when, about 9:30 o'clock, an explosion oc-

curred, which shook the entire surrounding
country. Seven men, more or less injured,

succeeded in escaping from the mine, while

eighteen of their comrades were entombed.
Rescuing parties were promptly organized
but they were greatly hampered by the

poisonous gas with which the mine was
filled. As one corpse aftei another was
brought to the surface the conviction be-

came genend that all of the eighteen left

in the mine had perished. But the rescuers

continued their work, and at 1 a. m. on
Saturday reached the back part of the

mine, where Melio Porcella, Paul Tobacco
and II. Benedict were found in a semi-con-

scious condition. They were brought out

and revived. The other fifteen were all

dead, some of the bodies being blown to

fragments. Somebody had doubtless ig-

nited the deadly fire damp with a naked
night. Three of the victims were taken to

Dillonvale for services in the Roman Cath-

olic Church there.

The other twelve were buried in Am-
sterdam cemetery on Sunday in one big

grave. Services were held by Rev. R. L.

Houston, of the Presbvterian Church, and
Rev. Sullivan, of the M. E. Church, at

East Springfield.

The survivors of the disaster were : Ed.
Jones, night boss; Tom Smith, Lee Dewdz,
Ross Scott, John (iolder, Joe ZimDsk, John
Sonter. Melio Porcilla, Louis Benedict, II.

Benedict.

The dead were: Joe Zempedros, Robert
McMasters, Herbert Hays, Paul Roscoc,

Andy Rosco, Joe Jncob. Charles Howarth,
James Lockhart, Ed Tarcia, Lewis Ja-

comillio, Lewis Colaker, Joe Daring, John
Daring, Heed Dealocko, Joe Debola.

KKKOHOIJ!.

l.'p in the northern end of the county on
Yellow Creek John C. Allman located the

hamlet of Nebo, where were^ built a

flour mill owned by Mr. Allen, a

small store later kept by William
Ruddicks, a postofliee and three or
four dwellings. By 1876 the postoffice had
disappeared, only the mill and store kept
a semblance of life about the place. But a
little railroad, the Lake Erie, Alliance &
Southern, was creeping down that way, and
coal operators and speculators were at
work. A large mine was opened on the op-
posite side of the creek named after Mrs.
Bergholz, one of the owners. The railroad
after passing varied financial stringencies

was extended through the territory to Am-
sterdam and Dillon vale, and on October
24, 1883, James Kelly, Morin J. Hess and
Christiana Hess platted a town on the op-
posite side of the creek, containing 156
lots 60x100 feet, and called it Bergholz. In
1906 forty additional lots were made, and
the town was incorporated on August 6
of that year. Old Nebo was absorbed and
the petitioners gave the number of inhab-
itants in the new town at 1,200. Ham
Saltsman started a wagon maker shop and
the Bergholz State Bank was organized
with a capital of $15,000. The last state-

ment, September 1. 1909, showed resources
$121,563.36 and aggregate deposits $101,-

941.48. A. G. Me Bane is cashier.

Wolf Run is a streamlet having its

source in the range of hills upon which
East Springfield is built (most of the old

interior towns were built on ridge roads)
ami makes its way by a meandering north-
west course to Yellow Creek. The exten-
sive coal field on the western side of the
county having extended across this run, a
mine was opened about a mile and a half
from Eiist Springfield, around which grew
up a hamlet lively in more senses than one.

It has never gotten beyond that stage.

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

As may be supposed from the character
of the country and small population, rec-

ords of early schools in Springfield Town-
ship are practically non-existent. No doubt
those living on the east side found accom-
modations at East Springfield, and it is

probable there was a school at Amsterdam
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soon after that village was platted. As soon
as the township was generally settled

school districts were formed and the edu-
cational standard brought up to what it

had been in the older communities. The
rapid increase of population at Amsterdam
and Bergholz in recent years caused those
two communities to be set off as special

school districts. The former has a good
six-room school house costing $8,000 and
Bergholz has a four-room building costing

$4,000. The other school houses in the

township are located in Section 5, David-
son farm; 22. Thompson; 1, McTntvre; 0,

Hess; 6, Elliott; 9, Elk Fork; 17, Griffith.

What was known as Rutledge M. E.
Church was organized in 1809 by Rev. Wil-

liam Knox. The usual meetings were held

for awhile in private houses, but soon after

the organization the erection of a hewn log

structure was begun, each man contributing

a certain number of days' labor, so there

was very little cash outlay. The charter
members included James Rutledge, wife
and children, John, "William, James, Ed-
ward, Simeon and Jane; John Kirk and
wife, W. Taylor and wife, AVilliam Sea riot,

wife and children, William. George, Rich-

ard, Mary and Ann; Alexander Johnston
and wife and daughters, Hettie and Rachel

;

Francis Johnston and wife, .lames and
Henry Forster and wives. The old log

church was used for twenty years when a

larger structure of frame took its place. At
this time Robert Young and Thomas Rut-
ledge gave half an acre each for church and
bnrving ground, which was deeded to John
Kirk, W. Taylor and William Rutledge,
trustees. About 1850 the name was changed
to Circle Green, the congregation at one
time having one hundred members. Fire
destroyed the second building, and in 1877

a third structure was erected at a cost of

$1,200. It was formerly in the East Spring-

field circuit with Amsterdam, Mooretown
and Salem, but in 1908 Mooretown and
Circle Green were transferred to Bergholz
circuit.

Amsterdam M. E. Church was organized

about 1840, and for many years the con-

gregation was small, but it has grown with
the increase of population. A new church
was built here about 1888-9.

An M. E. Church was organized at Berg-
holz about eighteen years since, which was
first served from Wintersville and Harlem,
but in 1907 it was set off as a circuit, to

which Mooretown was added the next
year. Among the earlier supplies were
Rev. Thomas Taylor, Thomas Hanson and
Samuel Lowrie. E. M. Hughgart was the

stated minister in 1907-8, and D. F. Norris,

1909. A neat frame building was erected

about twenty years ago.

Amsterdam Presbyterian Church was
organized and a building erected in 1840,

which has been in use ever since. Berg-
holz Presbyterian Church was organized
about a year after the town was laid out.

Rev. Homer Sheely was among the first

pastors.

The United Presbyterian Church of
Bergholz was organized about eighteen

yearsago by Rev. IT. Y. I^eeper, who served

it in connection with Yellow Creek until

July 8, 1902. W. C. Work acted as supply
for one year when Rev. J. Walter Liggitt

took charge in connection with Yellow
Creek Church until 1908, when he came to

Steubenville.

A Disciple Church started about 1903

made the fourth religious society in the

town.
It may be noted here that Gen. James

M. Shackleford who commanded the Union
forces during the Morgan raid through this

township in 1863, died September 7, 1909,

at his summer home near Port Huron,
Mich., aged eighty-two.

Nebo or Bergholz Presbyterian congre-

gation is served by Rev. Frank Bozard.

ROSS TOWNSHIP.

Ross Township, named in honor of
James Ross, was laid off by the county
commissioners in 1812, with thirty-six sec-

tions, but later the upper tier was taken

off to form part of Brush Creek, leaving

it with an area of thirty square miles. It
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lies to the north of Salcni and east of
Springfield, the northern half heing rough
and hilly, and the southern part a good
farming section. Before 1800 and as late

as 1805, "squatters" huilt cabins on Yel-

low Creek, subsisting on game and fish. and
as salt was a product of this region, these

"squatters" had little trouble in obtain-

ing such merchandise needed by them in

barter for this mineral. Among these
squatters were: William Castleman, Mark
Dike, John Bruce, John Davis, Jacob
Drake and William Roach. Among the

first permanent settlers (1798-1813) were:
Thomas George, Allen Speedy, Arthur
Latimer, Stephen Coe, Ludowich Harden-
brook, Joseph Elliott, William Scott, John
Farquhar, Henry Crabbs, Joseph Reed,
Isaac Shane, Thomas Bay, a participant
in the Gnadenhntten tragedy; Mordecai
Moore, "Daddy" Dixon, Robert Bamhill,
John McEldery, Alexander Johnston, Wil-
liam Grimes, Captain Allen (War of 1812),
Henry Gregg (grandfather of Richard
Henry Gregg, Esq., of the Steubenville
bar), coming from Redstone with his broth-

er Richard in 1802, the latter attaining the

age of 105 years; Robert George and
Thomas George, his son (from what is now
Dauphin County, Pennsylvania), came to

Jefferson County in 1805, and settled on
Section 28, in what is now Ross Township

;

Andrew Griffin, Benjamin Shane, John
Shane. James Shane came to Washington
County, Pennsylvania, from New Jersey
in 1794, and in 1798 crossed the Ohio River
at Cable's Ferry and located on Wills
Creek. Here he married Hannah Rex, of
Greene County, Pennsylvania, and in 1810
moved to Island Creek Township, and then
to Ross Township. The widow of his son,

Isaac Shane, is now keeping n hotel in East
Springfield. Mordecai Moore, Sr., who was
with Capt. William Harbaugh in the War
of 1812, settled in Ross Township in 1815.

Moore was stolen by slave-drivers on a
street in London when a small boy and
brought to Philadelphia, where he was sold

to a Quaker, who held him in bondage until

he reached his majority, when he was given

his freedom, together with a mattock and
shovel, and no doubt, a blessing, as recom-
pense for the long and faithful service to

the benevolent Friend. Henry Crabs lo-

cated in 1798, the year after Steubenville
was laid out. He was accompanied by his

wife, the two having all they possessed tied

in a quilt. They crossed the river to the

site of Steubenville in a skiff. The settle-

ment was very sparse, he in his lifetime

mentioning "Hans Wilson, Esq., Cable and
Black Harry as among the few inhab-

itants." Crabs erected the first blacksmith
shop one mile east of the John Kilgore
farm, near Richmond, where he did work
for the settlers, there being quite a number
of families in that vicinity. He made plow
points, axes and trace chains, all the raw
material having to be packed across the

mountains.
Salt springs were noticed by the very

earliest settlers on Yellow Creek; in fact,

were known to the Indians as well as the

four-footed denizens of the forest, and
when the government surveys were made
Section 34 was retained as public land, con-

taining valuable mineral. This, however,
did not prevent the settlers from utilizing

the springs in the manufacture of salt,

which was then worth $8 a bushel in the

Ohio Valley. Henry Daniels in 1802 erect-

ed a small furnace for boiling the salt

water. He sunk a hollow sycamore log in

an upright position at the spring, and from
this the salt water was dipped into the

boiling kettles, pi*oducing about three bush-

els per day, a crude process certainly, but

profitable at the then prevailing prices.

When Isaac Shane went there in 1803 for

salt he found so many waiting customers
there ahead of him that he returned with

out it. Wood was used for fuel in these

furnaces, but about 1820 coal was substi-

tuted by Mordecai Moore, and the salt

water was pumped into a reservoir and
conducted by means of wooden pipes back
to the bluff where the fuel was obtained.

But the supply from the spring was lim-

ited and the brine was weak, consequently

the product was not nearly equal to the de-
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mand. At this juncture, John Peterson, an
ex-territorial constable, conceived the idea
of boring a well. The facilities were very
poor, the work being done by hand, assisted
by a spring pole. But perseverance pre-
vailed and at a depth of 300 feet a flow

of salt water was struck "strong enough
to carry an egg." Other wells followed,
and a plentiful supply obtained. In the
meantime Mr. Moore liad substituted shal-
low pans for evaporating the water, super-
seding the old kettles, and carried on busi-
ness for a number of years until competi-
tion at other points made it unprofitable.
Stewart McClave purchased a part of Sec-
tion 34 in 1826, and just in front of the
family residence on Yellow Creek is a
mound five feet high and se\«-ral rods in

diameter, composed of ci rider, which marks
the site of the old United States Salt
Works. Mr. Moore's works were not all

in Section 34. for he afterwards moved to

Section 28, father east, where he founded
what was known as Moore's Salt Works
or Mooretown. although the word "town"
must be used here in a very restricted sense
as applicable to the small collection of
buildings around the grist mill which was
operated for many years, and the store
kept by Lewis Moore. For some unexplain-
able reason the postortiee name was
changed to Pravo, which finally disap-
peared with the progress of the rural free
delivery. In fact, the present Boss Town-
ship never had a regular town or village

within its borders, being exclusively a rural

community. There is no postortiee in the
township. Early indications of oil and
later efforts in searching for the oleaginous
fluid are related in the chapter on that

subject.

Township elections were held at the resi-

dence of Henry Crab until 18f>0 mid after-

wards at school house Xo. 3. William
Scott, the first justice of the peace, resided

on Seel ion 32.

Bobert George, a native of Ihe township,
born March 27. 1806. started the first store

in the township at Mooretown in 1828. and
has left an enduring landmark to his name

by a gray sandstone monument erected by
him in 1871, at a cost of $700, to the mem-
ory of the soldiers of Boss Township, who
lost their lives in the war of the rebellion.

It stands on a bluff overlooking the creek,

resting on a stone platform seven feet

square, being a doric column, including

its capital twenty-one feet high. On the

western face of the base is the inscription,

"To the memory of the fallen soldiers of
Boss Township. Jefferson County, Ohio, in

the War of 1861 to 1865." Dies are in-

serted bearing the following names:
"Thomas, son of Bol>ert and Martha
George, Second regiment, O. V. J., killed

at Perryville, Ky., Octobers, 1862: Thomas
Duke. Thirty-second, died August 27, 1864;

John Duke,' First Tennessee battery, died

August 27. 1864; James Dorrance, Second,
O. V. I., died March 31, 1862; Bobert Mc-
Clave, Fifty-second, died January 14, 186;?;

Barton Gerin, Second, killed May 8, 1864;

Fl bridge Green. Fighth Iowa Cavalry, died
1K62; David Potts, Thirty-second, killed

1864; James Russell, Second, died April

14. 1862; John Porter, Second, killed April,

1S64; David Call, Second, died 1863;

Isaiah Call, Second, died 1863; J. Kirk-

patrick, Thirtv-second, died 18(>4; Alfred

Walters. Second, died 1864; Samuel F. Mc
Lain, Second, died 1863; Thomas B. Starn.

Thirty-second, died November 2, 186."); Fd-

ward Graley. Thirty-second, died August
4. 1864; O.'W. Gral'cv. One Hundred and
Twenty. second, died October 20, 1863;

John Stewart. Second, died in prison. 1864;

Aaron Scamp, Thirty second, died 1864;

David K riner, Second, died 1862; Jacob
Kriner, same; Fnos Striker. Second, died

1864; H. K. Crabs. Fifty-second, died

Xoveml>er 3, 1863; Adam Saner, One Hun-
dred and Seventy-Fighth, died January 14,

ISlio; Stanley Shane, Second, died Novem-
ber 23. 1863;*Newton Wycoff, Fifty-second,

died June 18W; William Hea. Second, died

a prisoner, August. 1864; Benjamin Bea,

Fifty-second, died October, 1863; Boss
Covl'e. One Hundred and Twenty-second,

killed December 4. 1863; Fdward Goodlin,

Fifty-second, died 18(53." An appropriate
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military device is carved in high relief on
the western face of the shaft, and the mon-
ument is a striking object to those descend-
ing or ascending the valley.

In Section 33 are the remains of a pre-

historic mound which may have been a
fortification. It is circular with a radius of
250 feet which would give a circumference
of about 1,700 feet. It is located on a bluff,

which on the northwest side is about 200

feet high and almost perpendicular. On
the southwest the "fortification" is about
100 feet high, sloping gradually to the

creek. The ditch when first discovered by
the whites was about four feet deep, and
had large trees growing in it. The north-
western portion of the enclosure had ap-

parently been washed away by the creek.

This is the most extensive relic of the kind
discovered in .Jefferson County.
The earlv products " the town shin,

flour, whiskey and salt, were hauled to the
mouth of Yellow Creek and thence carried
by flatboat to down-river points. When
the Ohio Canal was opened wheat was
hauled across the country to Massillon and
Bolivar, but pork soon became the leading
product of the section still known as Bacon
Ridge, because it was cheaper to turn the

grain into hogs and sell the pork rather
than cart it fifty or sixty miles in order to

secure water transportation. While the
Ohio canal system was of immense benefit

in developing the sections of the state

through which it passed it was of very lit-

tle use to Jefferson County, which received
practically no return for the many thou-

sands of dollars of taxes paid by her citi-

zens to build up rival communities. Pork
was hauled to Pittsburgh and Baltimore in

six horse wagons, and the teamster's office

was an important, one. At home smoked
ham brought six cents a pound, butter five

and six cents, eggs two cents a dozen, and
people made their own clothing. As to the

morality of that region the late Isaac
Shane writes : "The morals of our neigh-

borhood were fairly good. While my fa-

ther (James Shane) had many criminal
cases before him, the offenders came mostly

from the Yellow Creek settlements. Wil-
liam Johnston, a law student in Steuben-
ville and afterwards a judge in Cincinnati,

started, as I suppose, on Bacon Ridge, the
first temperance society in the county, the

members signing a verv strict pledge. This
was in 1833."

SCHOOLS AND CHURCHES.

The first school house in the township
was built about 1814 and was located about
half a mile southeast of Stephen Coe's
mill near Mooretown. James Kwing was
the first teacher with a three month's term.
Others were not long following and con-
cerning these Mr. Shane writes: "The
early schools were taught on subscription.
There were no school houses (this as we
have seen was not always the case). A
teacher would get the use of some cabin
or outhouse, or a farmer's kitchen in which
to hold his school. He would seat it in a
very primitive way, but it served his pur-
pose; the children learned to read, write
and cypher, and all were pleased. The
teachers were persons of very common
scholarship. The first I call to mind were
Mr. Dixon, Thomas Riley and Mr. Baker;
next came Henry Crabbs and Samuel Mc-
Cutcheou. The schools were held some-
times one month, sometimes three^ accord-
ing to the money raised. The schools were
kept in winter, but seldom in summer; nor
were they kept every winter. The predom-
inating religious influence being Presby-
terian, the parents were encouraged by the
ministers to educate their children. About
1S20, under a then new law, townships were
districted and school houses built; but still

the distilleries outnumbered the school

houses four to one. The first school house
in our neighborhood (Bacon Ridge) was
built on lands now owned by John Lysle,

and then a marked improvement was no-

ticed both in schools and teachers. Samuel
McCutcheon and Henry Crabbs continued
to wield the birch and after them came
Peter Kckley, uncle of Hon. E. R. Eckley,

of Carrollton. Joseph Shane (uncle of
Isaac), and James Clendenning; and in
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1837 the first female teacher eaine among
us—a Miss Hartshorn."
Had the early schools of Ross Township

produced no other visible fruit tlmn Hou.
Wm. Johnston, whose career is related in

Chapter XX., they would have more than
justified the expectations of their founders,
in that it was mainly through his efforts

that Ohio secured her first common school
law. But they have kept up with the times
and the township has eight school build-

ings, an average of one for each two and a
half square miles, located as follows : Sec-

tion 5, I*>wis; 7, Montgomery; 8 and 16,

McLean; 16, Sutton; 19, Mclntire; 27.

Smythe; 28, Moore.
Rev. George Scott organized a Presby-

terian Society about 1804, which had a
meeting house about the center of Section

25, which was called Richmond Church, al-

though it was five miles from the present
town of Richmond. The original members
were Arthur Latimer, John P. McMillen,
Stephen Coe, Thomas Bay, Calvin Moore-
head, Aaron Allen and Andrew Dixon.
Wm. McMillen was the first pastor and
served two years. The first place of wor-
ship was the usual primitive log structure,

small iu size and poor in accommodations,
but the congregation growing, in 1820 a
brick building 30x50 was erected, which
stood several years, when it was decided
to divide the congregation on account of
it covering too much territory. There be-

ing other churches in the neighborhood it

was decided to move a couple of miles
eastward in the northwest quarter of Sec
tion 13, and here on what was known as
Bacon Ridge a new frame structure 33x44
feet was erected, and the old building torn
down. The records previous to 1840 are
lost, but Thomas Hunt was pastor for

seven years, succeeded by James Robinson,
a classmate of Dr. Chalmers. J. R. Dundas
served from 1840 to 1844, succeeded by
Cyrus Riggs, Lafferty (icier, for seven

years, and John S. Marquis, who resigned

on account of ill health in 18(55. William
Wyeoff served from June, I860, to October

19, 1873, and was succeeded by \Y. M.

Eaton until October, 1868, since when the

congregation has depended on supplies
from Richmond.

Rev. E. N. Scroggs, of the Associate
Presbyterian, organized a congregation on
Yellow Creek in 1814, which subsequently
became the Yellow Creek United Presby-
terian Church. Rev. John Walker and Dr.
Ramsay were among the early ministers.

The first preaching was at the house of
Thomas George (afterwards noted as an
underground railway station), then in a
tent, and in 1828 a brick house of worship
(30x40 feet) was erected, which was after-

wards lengthened twenty feet. In 1858 a
frame building 40x60 was erected, which
is still in use. Among the first members
were: Henry Crabbs (Krcbs) and wife,

Anna, Hamilton Walker and wife, Mary.
William Kelly and wife, Christine, Nathan
Barr and wife, Margaret, Samuel Dorrance
and wife, Mary, John Jordan and wife,

Mary Ann, Thomas George and wife, Jane.
John Kean and wife, Mary, and Sarah
Story. Thomas George and Henry Crabbs
were ruling elders. Rev. John Donaldson
succeeded Dr. Ramsey for twelve years;
James Patterson, eighteen years; John
Easton, one vear; T. Simpson, December
25, 1856, to September 12. 1861; James
Golden. April 4. 1863. to April, 1869; H.
Y. Leeper, January, 1870 to July 8, 1902;
W. C. Work, supply one vear; J. Walter
Liggitt, 1904-08.

The Methodists as an organized body be-

gan comparatively late in this township,
but for quite a number of years preaching
services were held at the home of Richard
Jackman (maternal grandfather of Rich-

ard Henry Gregg of the Steubenville Bar),

on Bacon Ridge. Alexander Johnston (fa-

ther of Judge William Johnston), who
came from Pennsylvania to Ohio about
180U, was a Methodist Episcopal minister,

following farming during the week days
and preaching on Sundays. He became
quite wealthy and owned a large tract of

land in the township, including the farms
later owned by John Lysle and Matthew
Stevenson. Alexander" Johnson's son,
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Alexander, was also a Methodist Episcopal
minister; a man of wonderful talent, he
having written a commentary on the Bible,

declared by those who read the manuscript
(it was not published) to hare been a
scholarly effort. The first organization
was in Section 8 in 1834 called Mt. Zion,

by Rev. Edward Taylor. The class was
composed of Thomas Taylor, leader;

James Taylor and wife, Hettie, Henry
Gregg and wife, Susannah, Benjamin El-

liott and wife, Nancy, and Jane Jackman.
A frame church was built in 1837, which
was burned twenty years later and imme-
diately rebuilt, 32x44 feet in size. It is a
part of Richmond circuit.

Pine Grove Church in Section 5 was be-

gun by the preaching of Rev. Samuel
Wharton in an old log house in 1838, and
a few months after a class was formed by
Rev. Thomas Thompson, composed of four-

teen persons, including Samuel N. Herron,
leader; Andrew Saltsman and wife, Cath-
erine, Solomon Hartman and wife, Jane
Saltsman, Mrs. Rebecca Schwinehart and
daughter, Julia Ann, Matthew H. Roach
and wife, Elizabeth. In 1841 under the
auspices of Revs. John Murray and George
McCluskey a brick structure replaced the
old log house, and is still in use, being on
llammondsville circuit.

Rev. J. Williams organized a class at

Mooretown in 1847, composed of Mordecai
Moore, leader; Thomas Smith and wife,

Eleanor, Wilson Anderson and wife, Re-
becca, Dr. McDowell and wife, Mary,
James Knox and wife, Ann, Mrs. Elizabeth
Moore. A frame house, 30x41, was erected
in 1851 and is still in use. It is part of
Bergholz circuit.

In 1830 Bethel Lutheran Church was or-

ganized in Section 3 on the east side of the
township and a brick building erected. It

was replaced by a frame in 1872, which was
dedicated the same year by Drs. Sparks
and Passavant of Pittsburgh. While the
congregation has always been small, serv-

ices have been maintained with more or less

regularity by supplies.

BRUSH CREEK TOWNSHIP.

Air. Caldwell in his history has the fol-

lowing paragraph: "Brush Creek Town-
ship at this time (1879) contains neither a
lawyer, doctor, preacher nor saloon. It

has one small village of eighty inhabitants
with a postoffice, a store, a blacksmith shop
and a shoemaker shop. It contains within
its limits four churches." This descrip-
tion applies just as well today, except that
rural delivery has displaced the postoffice.

When Columbiana County was formed
from Jefferson on March 25, 1803, most
of what is now Brush Creek Township was
within the limits of the new county, but in

1832 the legislature changed the line,

throwing three tiers of sections back into

Jefferson. The following March the county
commissioners detached a tier of sections

from the north side of Ross and attached
it to the territory acquired from Columbi-
ana, and organized it into a township, call-

ing it Brush Creek, after the streamflowing
through it. Thus it contains twenty-four
sections or about that number of square
miles. At one time wheat raising was a
considerable farming industry, but in later

years grazing and stock raising are in the
lead. Coal abounds as in the adjoining
townships. As stated, there is but one vil-

lage in the township, Monroeville, a small
hamlet laid out by Abraham Croxton in

1836 and named after Pres\dent Monroe.
The postoffice was called Croxton, there
being another Monroeville in the state.

William B. Derrick has preserved some
reminiscences of the early settlers, among
them being Martin Adams, who bought his

farm from the government in 1805, moving
there on March 25, 1806, and remaining
there until his death, ne was a justice

of the peace, donated the land for Chestnut
Grove Church and cemetery, ran a mill and
distillery, and, according to his biographer,
accumulated a large fortune, which was
scattered at his death among impatient nnd
dissatisfied legatees. Thomas Oillingham
was agent for Nathan Harper, Joseph
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Potts & Company, a company of Quaker
salt boilers from Bucks County, Pennsyl-
vania. Henry Emmons had the property
since known as Collinswood. Matthew Rus-
sell, a bachelor, willed a large sum to the
state for the benefit of the insane, which
was materially reduced by litigation on the

part of heirs. Thomas Adams came about
1810 and settled on Section 27, since owned
by his son, John. Jacob Bitter settled in

1810 on what was afterwards the Mcintosh
place. Then there were William Kerr,
Samuel Clark, Elisha Brooks, Cyrus Moore
(soldier of 1812) Kenneth McLennan, John
C. Mcintosh and others. According to Mr.
Derrick Joshua Downard and John Hutton
discovered salt water in the creek near the

mouth of Salt Works Kun, where Irondale
is now situated. It was while they were
hunting deer near the close of the Eigh-
teenth century. Downard came to Brush
Creek in 1784, and his son Joseph was born
on the north fork of Yellow Creek in 1796.

It will be remembered that Salt Kun flows

through Brush Creek Township and
empties into Yellow Creek at Irondale in

Saline Township.

SCHOOLS AND CHI RCHKS.

Tiike Ross, the pioneer schools of Brush
Creek Township produced at least one
character which rescued them from ob-

scurity, Rev. Alexander (/lark, who became
a prominent minister in the M. P. Church,
as well as a writer and educator of wide
reputation. He started the "School Day
Visitor," the first child's paper published
in the country, which afterwards grew into

the St. Nicholas Magazine and at his death
was editor of the Methodist Recorder, the

organ of his religious denomination, pub-
lished at Pittsburgh. The* first school bouse
in the township was on the farm owned by
Moses Marshall and afterwards by Hlias

Cope about twenty rods east of the present
site of Chestnut Grove Church in Section 2.

It was built of logs in 1814, and the teacher
was Samuel Clark, father of the Rev. Dr.
Clark mentioned above. He was engaged
at $10 a month for four months by Mat-

thew Russell and Moses Marshall, and
boarded free with the latter. Some of the
attending pupils lived fully three miles
away. Of course in those days there was
no such thing as teachers' examinations,
and little discrimination in their employ-
ment. The patrons of the school took what
they could get and at the least price, gen-
erally without regard to quality. However,
the results were better than might have
l>een anticipated. Close by this school

house were the mill and distillery of Mar-
tin Adams, the latter abandoned a few
years later for want of patronage. In 18,10

the school district was regularly organized,
consisting of Sections 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9, 13,

14, 15, giving a district of nine square
miles. The first election for school officers

was held at the house of Martin Adams on
September 8, choosing Samuel (Mark as
clerk, John Adams, William Kerr and
Elisha Brooks, directors; Mtartin Adams,
treasurer. At this meeting the building of

a new house was ordered, to be a hewn
log building, shingle roof, stone chimney, a
door and windows. The size was to be
20x20. Application was made to the aud*
itor of Columbiana County for an abstract

of the taxable property of the district, and
a levy of ten mills on the dollar was made,
which aggregated a total of $.7). The
building was erected the same fall under
the direction of James Clark and Charles
Marshall, on a tract of land granted by
John Adams. The neighbors joined in the

"raising," and the house was built in one
day at a cash outlay of $32. The fact

that the whisky of the forefathers lent in-

spiration to all these gatherings is general
ly recognized, aud in this case it is related

that the next morning after the raising

Clark went to the newly erected building
to finish up the work, and arriving before
bis partner, Marshall, concluded to "take
a nap" in the adjoining woods. Marshall
arrived shortly after, and not finding

Clark, he also concluded to "take a nap"
and fell asleep in the woods. Clark finally

awoke, and not seeing Marshall went to

his residence to ascertain the cause of his
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absence. In the meantime Marshall awoke
and went to Clark's to find out why he was
missing. When they found each other is

not recorded.
William Kerr was the first teacher and

school was held with more or less regu-
larity until 1852, when Samuel Clark was
hired as teacher at $18 per month. When
Christmas came he refused to give the
customary treat, which the scholars de-
manded and quit the school in disgust. His
son, Alexander, who had received his early
education here, was employed to finish out
the terra, and thus the piace became im-
mortalized in his book, "The Old Log
School House."
Among the sketches in Mr. Clark's book

the following is worthy of preservation:
"A long time ago, before any of the pio-

neers had permanently settled in the valley
of Yellow Creek, it was common for Vir-
ginians to make excursions over these hills,

bringing their horses with them from the
settlements, and hobbling them in the wild
meadows to graze while they wandered off

in search of game, in which the woods
abounded. In such exploits it was usual
to sleep on the grass with the far-off sky
as the only shelter and the distant howling
of the wolves the only lullaby. About this

time salt springs were discovered on the
creek, and crude furnaces were built for
'boiling salt.' The persons who first en-

gaged in this business were a daring, reck-

less class of men, not particular regardful
of their appearance or habits. Commonly
two or three would join fortunes, erect a
rough cabin, and build a furnace near a
saline spring, there to spend weeks and
months boiling salt in the wilderness.

"One of these establishments was owned
and operated by a rough, mischievous fel-

low by the name of Miller, who was always
ready for a joke, no matter bow severe or
at whose expense. While Miller and his

two associates in the enterprise were seat-

ed around the great roaring furnace one
morning, wishing for some kind of amuse-
ment, a stranger, lean and lank, having
every symptom of a genuine Vennonter,

approached on horseback, and asked per-
mission to leave his pack-saddle and other
traveling appendages in their care, while
he should spend the day in hunting. The
favor being cheerfully granted, he dis-

mounted, left his saddle, and wandered off

in quest of deer. As soon as the newcomer
was fairly out of sight, Miller, who looked
upon him as an intruder, determined to

annoy him, and as a convenient method of
testing the calibre of the stranger, he threw
his pack-saddle into the furnace, where it

was soon reduced to ashes. Toward even-
ing the hunter returned, and on very delib-

erately making inquiry for his suddle, was
told the less he said about that the better
otherwise he might share the same fate.

The remark was accompanied by a signifi-

cant look toward the fire, which instantly

suggested to the indignant stranger the
whereabouts of his saddle. However, he
said nothing, and was soon on his home-
ward way. In a few days he returned once
more, seeming in a fine humor, and brought
a new pack-saddle which he left in Miller's

care, as before, charging him emphatically
not to burn that one or else there would
be a noise about it. Of course the warning
not to touch the saddle was more than
Miller was willing to bear, and he resolved
to repeat the experiment as soon as the
stranger should start on his day's hunt, No
sooner had he turned his back upon the
furnace than Miller called after him, 'Look-
a-here, Mister, I'll show you who's a goin*
to do the orderin' round here,' and into

the fire went the saddle with a will. But in

a moment the huge kettles, the walls of the

furnace and everything thereunto pertain-

ing were scattered in one universal wreck,
the hot fluid sprinkling freely over the un-
suspecting heads of the salt boilers, and
the clouds of hissing steam completely
blinding them for awhile, thus affording
the revengeful stranger opportunity to

make good his escape, which he did with-

out the formality of bidding his victims

good bye. The truth flashed upon Miller's

mind about as soon as the hot ashes flashed

into his face—the pads of the
j
new pack-
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saddle had been stuffed with gunpowder."
The school building referred to was oc-

casionally used for preaching, and about
1845 the first temperance meeting held in

the township was conducted here, starting
the reformation which put the local dis-

tilleries out of business. The old building
stood for forty-four years, being torn down
in 1874 and replaced by a new frame build-

ing, after an interesting reunion of teach-
ers, friends and pupils on the old grounds.
Some relics have been made from the logs
and preserved as mementoes. The town-
ship is well supplied with schools at pres-
ent, there being five in operation, there be-

ing two extra lots, with locations in Sec-
tions 1 (Downard), 8 (Beard), 21 (Thomp-
son, "Old Log"), 27 (Monroeville), 32
(Brush Creek), 24 (Workman), 15 (Salt
Run).

Chestnut Grove M. E. Church traces its

origin to points outside the limits of the
township. The meetings at the Hickman
house near the mouth ofYellow Creek early

in the Nineteenth century, where Rev. Wil-
liam Tipton preached in 1822, were the
beginning not only of Chestnut Grove, but
also of the societies at Irondale and High-
land Town in Columbiana County. Meet-
ings were also held at the house of Theo-
philus Kirk, near where Hammondsville
now is. The first class was composed of
Susan Kirk, Susan Cox, Mary Cox, Amy
Drey, David Walter, Mary Walter, James
Ewing, Sarah Ewing. The early ministers
were William Tipton, John E. MeGraw,
John R. Shearer. About 1838 Rev. J. M.
Bray began preaching at the Clark "old
log school house," now Thompson's. lu
the meantime Martin Adams, whose house-
keeper was Mrs. Agnes Hartley, of the
Lutheran faith, in accordance with her
wishes, gave a tract of land to that denom-
ination, to be the property of the First
Lutheran Church, of Brush Creek Town-
ship, stipulating in the deed that when not
used by the Lutherans it was to be free to

tlie Presbyterians, and when they did not
need it, to the Methodists. A stone build-

ing was started in 1838, just about the time

that Rev. Bray he^an preaching at the

log school house, the erection of a stone
building was begun, the neighbors without
regard to creed contributing to the work.
When the walls were half up John Calder,
the mason, died, and nothing more was
done until next year when the walls were
completed and the building roofed. At this

time Mrs. Hartley died, and nothing fur-

ther was done until 1847, when the house
was completed and occupied by the Meth-
odists. There never was but one Lutheran
sermon preached in it. This building was
used until 1898, when, becoming too small

and unsafe, a new frame structure was
erected close by at a cost of $2,500. Rev.
Sheridan Baker preached the first sermon
on the occupation of the stone church in

the fall of 1847, and the next year Rev.
Samuel Longdon and A. H. Thomas were
appointed by conference, the charge then
being in Somerset circuit. John E. Mc-
Graw, John R. Shearer, Harry McAbee,
John Crawford and William Tipton were
among the early preachers, and the first

class leaders were Samuel Robinson and
Joshua Ewing. The members of the first

class were Hannah Robinson, Sally Ewing,
Jane Ewing. Myron and Ann VanDusen,
Mary Gillingham, Elizabeth and Leah
Beard. Since 1870 the church has been
served from Irondale.

Grant Hill United Presbyterian Church
was organized in 1866 and a comfortable
frame house built about a mile west of the

Thompson school house. The original mem-
bers were William M. Martin, Robert B.

Sharp and John R. McCulIough, elders;

Lnughlin Dallas, Sr., and Jr., Barbara,
Margaret and Maggie Dallas, John and
.Mrs. Sharp, William Rose, Sr. and Jr.,

Margaret, Lizzie, Alexander and Martha
Rose, Robert V„ Belle and Isabel Martin,

Hugh M. and Maria Mcintosh, William,
Mary M., Joseph, Eliza and John S.

Russell, Josiah and Jane Adams, Jane
Johnson, John and Nancy McCoy, Lizzie

Randolph, Albert G. and Susan Maple, An-
nie Cameron. Rev. S. W. Clark preached
the first sermon and held communion in
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October, 1866, in the uncompleted building.

There was preaching by supplies until Feb-
ruary 9, 1870, when Rev. 11. Y. Leeper took
charge. The installation sermon was by
Dr. T. H. Simpson, address to pastor by
Rev. J. H. Leeper, and to the people by
Rev. Erskine. Mr. Leeper continued in

charge until 1902, since which the congre-
gation lias been served from Yellow Creek
and Irondale.

The Presbyterian Church of Monroe-
ville was organized in 1835. In June of
that year the Presbytery of Beaver mot at

New Lisbon, Ohio, and Rev. Thomas E.
Hughes was commissioned to hold a meet-
ing in Monroeville for this purpose. This
meeting was held on July 4, and Rev. Mr.
Hughes in company with Richard Gilson.

elder from Bethel Church, were present.

After appropriate religious exercises Mr.
Hughes gave a narrative of the action of
the Presbytery, and being chosen moder-
ator, it was resolved to elect two elders,

Joseph Holsack and Samuel Clark. The
following day being Sunday the sacrament
of the Lord's Supper was administered,
and Alexander, infant son of Samuel and
Christina Clark, was the first baptized in

this congregation. The first elders were
ordained on September 24. A small church
was soon erected, which was replaced by
the present structure which was dedicated
free of debt on April 23, 1882, Rev. S. M.
Davis preaching the sermon.
There is also a Disciple Church in the

same neighborhood, known as Berea, which
is without a pastor. Thore are three ceme-
teries in the township.
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CHAPTER XXIV

GENERAL ADDENDA

County, Township and Village Population—At one Time First in the State—Tax
Valuation and Levy—Schools, School Houses and Tearhers—I'ostoffices.

When the census of 1800 wus taken Jef-

ferson County showed a lurger population
than any of the other seven counties into

•which the territory of Ohio was then di-

vided except Hamilton, and contained
nearly one-fifth of the entire population of

the state, which was then 45,365. Trum-
bull County had just been detached from
•Jefferson, which, if it had still retained its

original boundaries from the Muskingum
and Cuyahoga Rivers to the Pennsylvania
.line and Ohio River, with the lake on the

north would have held about one-fourth

the i>eo])le. Washington County, with its

much vaunted Marietta settlement, had lit-

tle more than half as many. The popula-

tion of the seven counties at that time was
as follows

:

Adams, 3,432; Hamilton, 14.092: Jeffer-

son, 8,706; Ross, 8,540; Trumbull, 1.302;

Washington, 5.427; Wayne, 3.206.

Although the lopping off process con-

tinued in the creation of Belmont, Columbi-
ana and Tuscarawas .Counties, yet Jeffer-

son took the first place in 1810. with a pop-

ulation of 17.260, doubling her figures,

while Hamilton only had 15.25S. The sue

eecding figures are as follows: 1820, 18.-

531; 1830,22.489; 1840, 25,030; 1850,29,133;

I860. 26,115: 1870. 20,188; 1880. 33,018;

1890. 39.415; 19O0. 44.357. Present esti-

mated population, 55,000, of which 25.000

are in Stenbenville Township. The follow

ing table gives the population of civil divis-

ions in the count}' since 1850, the township
figures in each instance including the
municipalities in such township:
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TAX VALUATIONS AND LEVY.

The number of acres of land assessed for

taxes in Jefferson County is 256,069,

valued at the last decennial appraisement
(1900) at $10,146,620; value of real estate

in cities and villages, $6,225,110; personal

property, $10,134,940; total, $26,506,670.

Total taxes assessed (except dogs), $933,-

510.74. The valuation and rate of taxation

in the different civil divisions of the county
are as follows:

ValuB- Tax per

District lion 1,000

Brush Creek Tp * 193,1)70 $23.00

Monroevillo Special 32,110 23.00

Hon* School Dist 5,(150 21.20

Cross Creek Tp 1,118,250 19,80

Now Alexandria Bor 43,220 23.80

New Alexandria VI). Dint 49,940 20.30

Bteubenville Tp. School Dist 21.960 21.60

Wayne Tp. School Dirt 12.310 21,70

Wells Tp. School Dirt 8.550 23.30

Island Creek Tp 093,500 20.60

Toronto Vil. Dint 100,050 23.60

Ind. Di.it. No. 2 448,720 20.10

Knox Tp. School Dirt 40.400 22.00

Toronto Borough 404,560 31.20

Knox Township 553,580 20.20

Toronto Vil. Dist 135,370 23.80

Toronto Borough 791,620 33.40

Empire Vil. Dirt 169,040 25.HO

Island Creek, Tp. School 3,940 18.80

Boss Tp. School Dist 4,95<l 1S.40

Kmpiro Borough 125,500 27.40

Mt, Pleasant Tp 672.370 16.60

Dillonvale Borough 240,620 30.60

DiUonvalc Vil. Dirt M!,970 30.60

Mt. Pleasant Vil. J.Hrt 1*3.4611 24.60

Mt. Ptatsant Borough 265.3.-.0 33.00

Ross Township 35 1.340 20.60

Knnx Tp. School Dist 23.490 22.40

Salem Tp. School Dist 6,760 25.HH

Stenbcnvillc Township 82,850 211.70

Ind. Dist. No. 2 38,150 18.90

Citv Dirt. No. 5 174,390 26.40

Mingo Vil. Dist 396,830 25.SU

Cross Crock Tp. School 23,840 1S.H0

Mingo June. Borough 1.794,540 37.2m

Steubciiville Citv 8.6o7.82ii 30.8m

Saline Tp 893,360 10.00

Knox Tp. School Dint 2,650 20.20

Ross Tp. School Dist 7,610 1S.4II

Springfield Township 457,3311 30.211

Bergholi Vil. Dist 31,120 3o.4o

Amsterdam Vil. Dint 92.13m 30.«o

Snlem Tp. School Dint 1.290 28.30

Bergbolz Borough 156.200 3K.60

Amsterdam Borough 157.080 37.80
Salem Township 537.S20 25.20

Island Creek Tp. School 25.Mll! 2H.40

Ross Tp. School Dirt 2O.OS0 2!).0M

Wnyne Tp. Sehol Dirt 26.340 21.HO
Richmond Village Dist. 81,8*0 23.40

Richmond Homiifjh 95.65m 25.1X1

Sniithfleld Township 1,186,920 19.00

Adena Vil. Dist 104,070 28.40
Dillonvale Vil. Dist 80,960 30.40
SmlthUeld Vil. Dirt 144,250 28.40
Smithfleld Borough 260,960 32.20
Adena Borough 134,100 37.00

Wayne Township 1,222,450 19.00

Cross Creek Tp. School 38,140 17.10
Bloomfield Vil. Dirt 36,120 22.60
Bloomfleld Borough 81,340 24.20
Warren Township 865,400 20.40
Wells Tp. School Dist 14,150 22.40
Womnton No. 1 School Dist 116,530 26.40
Ind. Dist. No. 9 188,760 23.60
tirover Vil. Dist 121,990 26.40
drover Borough 66.440 24.10
Wells Township 1,148,770 22.40
Brilliant Borough 189,000 32.00

The decennial appraisement of real es-

tate for the vear 1910 brings the valuation

in the city of Steubetiville up to $19,639,490

as against about $8,500,000, and the same
ratio will probably carry throughout the
county. Divided into wards, the property
is appraised as follows:

First Ward—Lots and lands, $1,085,580;
buildings, $1,502,860; stables, $0,180; fac-

tories. $3,570,010; other buildings, $8,370;
total, $0,179,000.

Second Ward—l>ands and lots, $2,347,-

200; houses, $1,985,870; stables, $10,970;
factories, $61,800; other buildings, $29,750;
total, $4,441,650.

Third Ward—Land and lots, $2,009,570;
houses, $1,772,370; stables $9,870; fac-

tories, $108,570; other buildings, $23,190;
total, $4,523,570.

Fourth Ward— Land and lots, $2,193.-

390; buildings, $2,136,740; stables. $520.-

250; factories, $126,120; other buildings,

*18,770; total, $4,495,270.

The grant! total for the city not includ-

ing untaxable property^ is: Land and lots,

$8,235,800; buildings, $7,397,840; stables,

$53,270; factories, $3,872,500; other build-

ings. $80,080; total. $19,639,490.

Manufactories are assessed as follows:

First Ward- Land. Building". Total.

LhBpIIc * 1 39.890 «3.346,950 #3,486,850
Pope Mill 40,460 220,420 260.880
Sharpe's Kouodrv 13.880 18,780 32.660
Steuhenville Pottery.. 29,920 77.300 107,220

Second Ward

—

S. 4 K. L. Rv. & I., f 'u. 12,550 1 31.840 144.390
Stfcubenville Brewery. 17.765 14,630 62.390

Chicago Wall Paper Co. 12,830 9,170 22.000
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Co..

Third Ward-
Means Ki

Ohio Vi
Standard Oil Co.
Central Sewer Pipe
O. V. Ice & 8. Co..

Oil Well 8upply Co

Fourth Ward—
8. & E. L. Barns ....
Ohio Planter & Sand Co.
Steubenville Ico Co..

.

Hartje Bros
GUI Bros. Factory
Gill's Warehouses
Carnegie Steel Co

16,620 6,500 23,120
25.200

7,200
30,000
2,100

6,600

63,000

4,240
6,000

6,340

6,000

88,200

11,440
•itj.lH'tl

8,440
12,600

3,850

6,350

23,500
12,990
42,710

5,200
4,520
15 300

looiooo
50,000
7,240

50,000

9,050
11,270

15,300
137,200
73,500

20,230
92,710

SCHOOLS AND SCHOLARS.

Two new sehoolhouses were built in Jef-

ferson County during the year ending Aug-
ust 31, 1909, one in Salem Township at a
cost of $4,000, and one in Warren, costing

$1,006. The 147 school buildings in the

county have 324 rooms, and last year ac-

commodated 11,401 pupils in charge of 192
teachers. The value of the school buildings

is put at $766,300, and last year's expendi-
tures footed up $278,159.83. The follow-,

ing table gives the matter in detail

:

i 1
\

11
Ciwk

Croas (.'reek

Inland Creek
Knox
Mt. Pleasant
Komi
Mtcubenrllle
Saline
Springfield
8nl<"m
KulthftVId
Wayne
Warren
Wells

Total
Special Districts
Adena
AmnK'rdam
Menthols
I!l<x>infl>ld

Brilliant
Dlllonrale
Kmplre
'rarer
Ind. No. 2 II. C.| .

.

Ind. No. O (Warren) . .
I

M«nrooylll*' I

Mt. Pleasant i

Mingo i

Mew Alexandrls
Itlchmond
Smlthlltld |

Sl.ulx-tirlllf
Tnrnnlo I

Wnrrenton I

Grand Totnls

1 4.000 88 4
A 23,000 816 12
8 12.200 136 7
7 7.000 245 s
6 10.CKM) 2TB 7
s 8.500 133 8
I 2.000 40 1

fl ni.ooo .ir<s 11
7 4.000 268 8
8 12.000 267 8

13 1 H.I 100 602 IB
12 so.ooo :ibl' 14
8 16.000 421 12
Id 8,000 4S2 12

108 1104.300 4.0O4 130

1 f 2.500 214 n

1 8.000 233 0
1 4.00O 195 4
1 3.800 52 2
t 8.000 141 4
t 32.000 468 10
2 10.000 rtriK 0
1 3.0< M) 146 3
4 8.000 155 S
1 2.B0O 148 3
1 BOO 49 1

10,000 242 7
T l lo.ono 700 HI
l 1.200 38 1

t 3.000 88
i L'u r.ixi 24!> li

1*1 2! 12.<HHI :t.«H!2 S-
80.000 778 20

J 1.000 73 1
$7O6,3o0|ll.401|102

1.003.17
10.007. 10
4.131.41
4,526.69
4,272.07
3.222 24
647 13

.1.302 111

3..'MM 30
4.701.21

10.0811.84
9.038 26
7.SSU.71
9,378.97

78,093.34

0.103 12
4.01W no
2.006.88
1.535.85
2.750.17
9,270.82
4.161.91
2.221.95
3.032.48
1.098.36
504.16

.-,.H!t5.49

29.112.00
541.42

: :«.-!. 1

7

5.340.52
07. 491. Ml
17.533.07
1.359.52

$278,159.83

The number of youths in the county be-

tween the ages of 16 and 21 reported by
the enumerators in 1910 is 17,046.

POSTOFFICE8.

There are forty-five postoffices in Jeffer-

son County, located as follows

:

NAWI
Adena
Amsterdam
Annapolis
Bergholz
Bloomingdale
Bradley
Brilliant

Connorville

Coston in

Cresawell

DiUonvale
Dungfcn^(Up»till)

Fair Play
Fcrnwood
Florencedale
Hatnmondsyille
Harpervillo
Herrick
Irondale
I«land Creek
Markle
Mingo Junction
Mt. Pleasant
New Alexandria
Parlett

Piney Fork
Port Homer
Ramsey
Ravland (Portland)
Reed's Mills

lihodesdRle

Richmond
Rush Run
Smithfleld
Steubenville

Tiltonsville

Torouo
I'nionport

W nrrenton

TOWNSHIPS.
Smithfleld

Springfield

Wayne
Smithfleld

Wells
Warren
Island Creek
Wayne
Mt. Pleasant
Mt. Pleasant

Mt.
Knox
Wayne
Cross Creek
Smithfleld
Saline

Smithfleld
Mt. Pleasant

Island Creek
Island Creek
Steubenville
Mt. Pleasant
Cross Creek
Wayne
Smithfleld

Saline

Mt. Pleasant
Warren
Cross Creek
Wells

Warren
.Smithfleld

Steubenville

Warren
Knox
Wayne
Wnrren

Wolf Run Springfield

Yorkville Warren

The original land patents contained a
reservation to the general government of
one-third of all gold, silver and lead, but
us it soon became apparent that these met-
als did not exist in this section the clause

was omitted from later patents.

Although one of the oldest counties in

the state, Jefferson County uever had a
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capital execution for crime within its bor-

ders, and no sentence of death resulting

from the conviction for a capital crime was
ever carried out until quite recently. On
Sunday night, March 21, 1909, a negro bur-

glar named John Kilpatrick assaulted
Charles H. Steele, a prominent business

man of Steubenville, in the latter 's cellar

as he was adjusting the furnace, striking

him with a club and inflicting injuries from
which he died the next day. For this crime
Kilpatrick was electrocuted at the Ohio
penitentiary in Columbus on Saturday
morning, February 5, 1910.

Since the above pages were written a
dispatch sent out from Cleveland states

that Abion M. Dyer, librarian and curator
of the Western Reserve Historical Society,

after four months of painstaking search

through the records at Washington, an-

nounces positively that the settlers of

Marietta were not the original settlers of

Ohio, even from a legal point of view, and
he pronounces the Marietta claim a myth,
lie finds from the records that in 1787, on
September 21, Capt. Absolem Martin
bought, in the city of New York, two tracts

of land from the government, situated in

Belmont county, Ohio. Other tracts were
sold at the same time, but Captain Martin
was the first of the purchasers to settle

on his new possession. Of course this was
subsequent to the settlement at Fort
Steuben, Mingo, Short Creek, etc. Captain
Martin's place opposite Wheeling was
within the original territory of Jefferson
County.
The Western Reserve Historical So-

ciety proposes placing a boulder monu-
ment to Captain Hutchins at the point
where he started the survey for the Seven
Ranges at the intersection of the western
boundary of Pennsylvania and the Ohio
River.
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Representative Citizens

HON RKKS OHIFFIT1I RICHARDS,
judge of the Court of Common Pleas of
Jefferson County and formerly a promi-
nent member of both the upper and lower
houses of the state legislature, as well as
lieutenant governor, has still further claim
to the respect and consideration of his fel-

low citizens, being one of the honored sur-
vivors of the great Civil War, in which he
served gallantly from 1861 until 1865.

Judge Richards was born July 22, 1842,
in Wales, a country that has contributed
largely to the best citizenship of the United
States.

In 1852 the parents of Judge Richards,
William G. and Sarah (Griffith) Richards,
brought the children to America and the
father established himself in the black-

smith business in Tioga County. Pennsyl-
vania. Subsequently he acquired land and
engaged in farming in that section until

his death in 186.'}, while his son was absent
assisting in maintaining the integrity of
his adopted country.
Judge Richards as a boy was given the

best schooling that his father could secure
for him ; he was also encouraged to learn
a self-supporting trade, and thus he be-
came a skilled wagomnaker. While no ex-

igency of life has ever compelled him to

put this knowledge to practical use. he will-

ingly concedes the value of the discipline.

He was only sixteen years of age when he
taught his first term of school, and as he
continued to teach, he alternated this occu-

pation with school attendance. The out-

break of the Civil War gave a new current
to his life, for in September, 1861, he en-

listed for service in the Federal Army,

becoming a member of Company G, 45th
Pennsylvania Volunteer Infantry, in which
he served with noted valor until he was
honorably mustered out at Harrisburg,
Pa., in August, 1865. During the long in-

terim he participated in many stirring

scenes and memorable battles and his pro-
motion from the ranks was rapid. On
September 14, 1862, his commission as
captain of liis company readied him, the
direct outcome of particularly meritorious
service on the field at South Mountain, lie

took part in a number of the early skirm-
ishes and fought at South Mountain, Antie-
tam, Fredericksburg, Blue Springs, Camp-
bell's Station, Knoxville, Vicksburg, Jack-
son, the Wilderness, Spottsylvania Court
House and Petersburg, being taken pris-

oner at the latter place on July 30, 18<J4.

His escape from prison on February 16,

1865, and his subsequent four weeks of
wandering and concealment in the mias-
matic swamps and forests of several south-
ern states before he reached the Union
lines, furnishes material for a thrilling

story of endurance and sustained courage.
He reached Knoxville, Tenn., on March 16,

and joined his regiment at Alexandria, be-

ing welcomed as one snatched from the

jaws of a prison death. From that time
on until the close of the war lie was a
member of the staff of General Ourtin. His
only wound during the whole period of
service was one received at the battle of

Jackson, which only temporarily affected

him.
In December, 1865, Mr. Richards re-

moved to Youngstown, O. The bent of his

mind was in the direction of the law, but
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at that time he did not clearly see his way
to devoting his attention to its exclusive

study, and in his new surroundings em-
barked in a mercantile business, continu-

ing there for two years aud then removing
to Irondale, Jefferson County, where he
engaged in mercantile pursuits for the fol-

lowing six years. Jn the meanwhile he had
become a prominent factor in Republican
politics and in 1873 he was elected a mem-
ber of the state legislature, in which he
served two terras. In 1876 he was admitted
to the bar, but had scarcely entered into

practice before he was again called into the

political arena and in the fall of 1877 he
was elected to the state senate. In this

honorable body he served for two full

terms, and during his last term, on account
of the absence of the lieutenant governor,
it was necessary to make a choico of one
fitted to fill that office temporarily and Sen-
ator Richards was selected for that im-
portant position. In the fall of 1881 he
was elected lieutenant governor and when
he retired to private life after the expira-

tion of his term ho had served the state of

Ohio four years in one of its highest exec-

utive offices. Years of successful law prac-

tice followed, he having established his

home, in the meantime, at Steubenville, and
subsequently he was again called into pub-

lic life, being elected common pleas judge
of Jefferson County. Few men are better

qualified for judicial position than Judge
Richards, and on the bench as in legislative

halls his efficiency has been universally

recognized.

On November 22, 1863, Judge Richards
was married to Miss Catherine C. Rees,

daughter of David and Mary (Morgan)
Rees, of Tioga County, Pa., and of Welsh
extraction, lie was married secondly to

Miss Elizabeth Johnson, who is a daughter
of Dr. Thomas Johnson and a member of a

well known family of Jefferson County.
Three children have been born to this sec-

oud marriage, of whom Catherine and
Sarah are deceased and Margaret resides

at home. The beautiful family home in

Steubenville is at No. 600 North Fourth

Street. Judge Richards is identified with
the Masons and the Qrand Army of the

Republic,

JOSEPH B. DOYLE, born September
10, 1849, is a native of Steubenville, as
were his immediate ancestors, and is a de-

scendant on the paternal side of Edward
McOuire, son of Constantine MeGuire and
grandson of James MeGuire and Cecilia

MeXamara Heigh, who resided in County
Kerry, Ireland, in the 17th century. Ed-
ward MeGuire, who was an officer in the

British army, resigned and came to Phila-

delphia, thence to Alexandria and Win-
chester, Va., in 1753. His first wife was
Miss Wheeler, of Prince George County,
Maryland, to whom were born three sons

and two daughters. John, the eldest son,

married Miss Mary Tipton, and a few
years after (1778) joined the George
Rogers Clark expedition which reduced the

British posts in the Northwest, and secured
the Mississippi Valley to the American
Union. He diet! afterwards in Kentucky,
and his widow with her family, including

her daughter Patience, who had become the

wife of Benjamin Doyle, of Loudon Coun-
ty, Virginia, removed from Cumberland,
Md., to West Middletown, Pa. Here, on
April 23, 1794, was born John B., son of

Benjamin and Patience Doyle.

The family moved to Jefferson County in

1798, Mr. Doyle settling just west of the

present limits of the city of Steubenville,

and Mrs. MeGuire purchasing what after-

wards became the County Infirmary farm
in Cross Creek township. Both Mrs. Me-
Guire and her son-in-law were earnest

members of the Anglo-American Church,
and shortly after their arrival arrange-
ments were made with Rev. Joseph Dodd-
ridge, located at Charlestown, now Wells-
burg, to hold regular services at Mrs. Mc-
Guire's residence every third Sunday, he
having previously held occasional services

nt Steubenville and elsewhere. This ar-

rangement took effect on December 1, 1800,

and ultimately developed into the founding
of St. Paul's Church, Steubenville, and St.
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James's, Cross Creek. John B. Doyle, who
was for many years a prominent resident

of Steubenville, married Miss Sarah Cook-
son, of Gettysburg, Pa. He died Jjiue 25,

1873, and his wife followed on January 22,

1882, in her 80th year, leaving one son, Jo-
seph C. Doyle, who was bora September
26, 1823. lie was educated under Dr. Seott

at the Grove Academy, became interested

in the river business and was agent for the
Cleveland & Pittsburgh Railroad (except a
few months at the Pan Handle) for twenty-
seven years, until his death, Februarv 24,

1885. On November 30, 1847, he married
Eliza A., daughter of Eli McFeely, who
died January 7, 1902, leaving one son, J. B.
Doyle, above mentioned. The latter was
graduated at the Steubenville High School
and afterwards at the Iron City Commer-
cial College, Pittsburgh, studied law with
William A. Walden and was admitted to

the bar September 29, 1870. On Septem-
ber 11, 1871, he became city editor of the
Daily Neivs, a now journalistic venture and
remained with that paper and the Herald
through different administrations as man-
aging editor until September, 1905. After
this he made a second trip of several

months abroad, keeping up a correspond-
ence with the Herald, and on his return
accepted the position of librarian for the

Jefferson County Law Library Associa-
tion. In addition to this he has engaged in

literary work including a memorial review
of the life of Hon. E. M. Stanton and the
present county history. He is also secre-

tary of the Stanton Monument Association,

and "Wells Historical Society; member of
the Board of Trustees of Union Cemetery,
and of Carnegie Librarv, Ohio Societv S.

A. R., and Senior Warden of St. Paul's
Church.
On the maternal side Mr. Doyle traces

his descent from Edward McFeely, who
first came to America from Dublin in 1754,

and was wounded in the Braddock expedi-
tion the following year. He returned to

Ireland and married a young lady whose
relatives had fought against James II. at

the Battle of the Boyne. They came to

Huntingdon, Pa., and on August 3, 1775, a
son was born, who married Elizabeth,

daughter of Elijah Hawk, a Revolutionary
commissary at Harper's Ferry. Of this

union Eli McFeely was born in 1802, and
came with his parents to Steubenville in

1814, where he engaged in manufacturing,

and filled several public offices. He mar-
ried Elizabeth, second daughter of John
Ward, one of Steubenville 's pioneers, and
on October 9, 1823, was born Eliza A., the

mother of the subject of this sketch.

WILLIAM E. SLOANE, a representa-

tive citizen of Island Creek Township, and
a member of its board of trustees, is the

senior member of the firm of Sloane Bros.,

well known through Jefferson County as

agriculturists, dairymen and coal oper-

ators. He comes of an old and influential

county family and is a son of David A.

and Jane O. (Hood) Sloane.

David A. Sloane, who is now deceased,

was formerly a prominent citizen and ex-

tensive fruit grower in Jefferson County.

He was born in Knox Township, November
11, 1832, and was educated at the Steuben-

ville Academy. On April 11, 1855, he mar-
ried Jane O. Hood, who was a daughter
of James and Eliza Hood, of Steubenville,

and they had the following children: Mary
E., who married C. J. McConnell ; William
E. ; James H. ; John O., and David' C, the

last named being now deceased. After
marriage David A. Sloane settled in Island

Creek Township, nc was a man of ster-

ling character and enjoyed the respect and
esteem of his fellow citizens.

William E. Sloane was educated in Is-

land Creek Township and has resided here
all his life and is deeply interested in

everything that promises to be beneficial

to this section. In association with his

brothers he owns a large body of land near
Toronto and there his various industries

are carried on with a large amount of suc-

cess. As a trustee he is identified with the
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public affairs of his township. He is a
member of the Methodist Protestant
church.

Mr. Sloane was married to Patience Jew-
ett, who died September 19, 1889, leaving

one son, Charles 0. t who resides with his

father.

J. TI. GLENN, an experienced business

man of Toronto, who is manager and buyer
of the dry goods department of the well

known department store of the John
Franey Company, with which he has been
connected since its organization, and for

the last six years has been a member of

the company, was born on a farm in Co-
lumbiana County, Ohio, August 25, 1852,

a son of William and Louisa (Davidson)
Glenn.

William Glenn was engaged in fanning
for many years, but finally sold his land
and moved to East Liverpool, ()., where his

wife died. J. II. Glenn being at this time

but thirteen years old. When he had
reached the age of eighteen years he left

the home farm and worked at the carpen-

ters' trade until he reached his majority,

and at this time he was married and came
to Toronto, where he has lived ever since,

a period of nearly forty years. His first

employment was with Hartford. Robert -

& Company, where he was a clerk for a few
years, and he then spent six years in the

employ of May Brothers, of Steubenville.

as clothing salesman, leaving this concern

to connect himself with the John Fruncy
Company. Mr. Glenn's services with this

large enterprise have covered a long pe-

riod, his twenty-fourth year ending in

April, 1910. and he has been manager ..ml

buyer of the dry goods department tor

eighteen years.

Mr. Glenn was married to Miss Alice

Ansley. of Columbiana County, Ohio, and
two children were born to this union:

Blanche, who married H. S. Carey, of Steu-

benville. and has one son— Robert Glenn;
and Gertrude, who married Robert ledg-
ers, of Long Beach, Cal.. and has two di'il

dren—Alice and Elizabeth. Mrs. Glenn
died June 23. 1897.

Mr. Glenn is a 32d degree Mason, a mem-
ber of the Blue Lodge, member of I ake
Erie Consistory, at Cleveland, O., the

Lodge of Perfection, the Prince of Jeru-
salem and the Rosecroix, having attained

the eighteenth degree in Masonry. He
was a memljer of the local town council for

three terms. For a quarter of a century
Mr. Glenn has interested himself in choral

work, and he is now conductor of the choir

of the United Presbyterian church, of

which church he has been treasurer for

more than eighteen years.

WILLIAM McDOWELL, who is en-

gaged in the lumber business at Steuben-
ville. with planing mill situated at No. 21.1

South Seventh Street, is one of the repre-

sentative citizens, and came to Steuben-
ville about IStiH. He was born in Wash-
ington Count v, Pennsylvania, April 29,

is:u.

Mr. McDowell remained in his own
county until early manhood and then went
into the milling business in Washington
County, Iowa, where he remained for seven

years. In 1*02 he entered the Union army
for service in the Civil War, enlisting in

Company C, 19th Iowa Volunteer Infantry,

and won promotion, being commissioned
corporal. He served until almost the close

of the war ami was then discharged on
account of disability. During this period

he was a prisoner of war for ten months
and received a slight wound in the leg.

After receiving his honorable discharge,

Mr. McDowell came to Jefferson County
and spent some few years in the country
before coming to Steubenville. For a time

be worked at >tair building and in a planing

mill and Inter acquired his own mill, which
he has titted up with first class equipments.
He has luinlwr interests also, and as a re

waru of years of well directed effort he
enjoys a competency.

Mr. McDowell was married to Miss
Nancy McConnell, who was born in Jeffer-
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Bon County, and they have two surviving

children : Jane Walker and John, the latter

of whom is a general contractor and is in

business with his father. Mr. McDowell
and son are Republicans. lie is widely
known and enjoys the respect and confi-

dence of his fellow citizens, with whom he

has had relations extending over thirty

years.

ROBERT A. HOLMES, owner of a val-

uable 100-acre farm which lies in Cross
Creek Township, Jefferson County, Ohio,

was born on this place April 28, 1854, and
is a son of Thomas and Mary (Snider)

Holmes.
Thomas Holmes was one of the leading

men of his day in Cross Creek Township.
He was a millwright and miller and owned
what was known as Holmes' mill for some
thirty years, and was the first postmaster,
the present name of the office being Fem-
wood. He was a Jacksonian Democrat. He
reared his family according to the disci-

pline of the Episcopal church, in which lie

was a senior warden. He married Mary
Snider, and they had nine children : Hiram,
Kate NT., Thomas B. and David are all de-

ceased; Elizabeth, now deceased, was the

wife of James Collins; Allen, deceased,

was, like his three above named brothers,

a soldier in the Civil War; Isaac lives at

Milwaukee, Wis., and Robert A., who is the

youngest of the family.

Robert A. Holmes attended the local

schools only and then assisted on the farm
for a few years, and after that began rail-

roading, and during (lie six years in that

business was promoted to be a section fore-

man. When his father died Mr. Holmes
received his present farm, a part of the KM
acres which his parent had owned, and he

settled here and has engaged in farming
ever since. In February, 1802, Mr. Holmes
was married to Miss Sarah Virginia Skin
ner, a daughter of David and Mary Jane
(Ice) Skinner. The parents of Mrs. Holmes
were natives of Ohio and her father was
a river man. Of the large family of Mr.

and Mrs. Skinner only four survive: Dora,
wife of Frank Cnlp; Emma; Florence,

wife of Robert Fielding, and Mrs. Holmes.
Mr. and Mrs. Holmes have five children:

Harry, Anna, Mary, Edith and Herbert.

The Holmes family from the time of the

grandfather, Thomas Holmes, has been
connected with the Episcopalian church.

In politics Mr. Holmes is a Democrat, but

the only office he ever consented to accept

was on the school board, and he served one
term.

JAMES BUCHANAN MAXWELL, who
has been identified with the business affairs

of Mingo, Ohio, since October 19. 1S82,

has river interests and is extensively en-

gaged in ferrying, and is a stockholder of

the Tri-State Investment Company. He
was bom February Hi, 1858, on a farm in

Washington County, Pennsylvania, and is

a son of Daniel and Sarah (Watters) Max-
well, and comes of one of the early pioneer

families of Washington County. The Max-
well family is of Scotch-Irish descent.

Daniel Maxwell was born in Washington
County, Pennsylvania, and died at the age
of sixty-six years at Wheeling, W. Va.,

where he had located about 1867. His wife
was a native of Wheeling, and died there at

the age of fifty-five years. Daniel and
Sarah Maxwell were the parents of twelve

children : William ; James Buchanan ; John,
deceased; Maggie, who is the wife of Will-

iam Horner; Laura; Clara M., and Oeorge,
both deceased; Catherine; Charles, de-

ceased; Daniel S.; Anna, who is the widow
of Charles Friel>erger, and Clarence.

.lames B. Maxwell was seven years of

age when his parents removed to Wheeling,
and after attending the local schools for

three terms began working as a puddler in

the T-a Belle Iron Works. In 1882, when
the Lnughlin Junction Iron, Steel and Nail

Company was established, he came to Min-
go and worked with that concern as a pud-
dler until that form of work was abolished.

He was then elected marshal of Mingo on
the Democratic ticket, and served five suc-
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cessive terms in that rapacity, being
elected for tbe last two terms on the Inde-
pendent ticket). Since April, 1892, Mr.
Maxwell has been engaged in ferrying. He
has served as a member of the council,

board of trade, and is at present a member
of the Mingo School Board. Mr. Maxwell
is the owner of several pieces of residence
property at Mingo Junction.

Mr. Maxwell was first united in mar-
riage with Louise Baker, who died in

Wheeling, W. Va., leaving one child, John
William, a resident of Glassport, Pa., who
married Minnie Oarrety and has two chil-

dren, Gladys and Anna. Mr. Maxwell
formed a second union on May 19, 1886,

with Catherine Mazingo, and to them have
been born: Alma, who married Edwin Gal-
vin, and they have one child, Catherine;
Rhea; James A. Arthur; Delia V., and
Charles, who died aged two years and two
weeks.

Mr. Maxwell is a member of the Im-
proved Order of Red Men, degree of Poca-
hontas, of which he is also a trustee; the
Golden Eagles ; F. O. E. ; Uniform Rank of
Knights of Pythias, of which he is trustee,

and is also a member of the German Schut-
zen Club, of Mingo Junction.

EARLE T. JENNY, landscape architect,

who came to Steubenville, Ohio, in 1904 to

assume the superintendency of the Union
Cemetery, has also a professional reputa-
tion in several other states. He was born
at Greenwich, in Huron Conntv, Ohio, in

the fall of 1874.

Mr. Jenny was educated at Earlham and
Oberlin Colleges, after which he taught
school for several winters and then spent
some years in securing his technical train-

ing. At the opening of the Spanish-
American War he enlisted, but an accident
to one hand caused him to he rejected, and
since then he has been continuously occu-

pied with work along professional lines.

His beginning was as his father's assistant.

For three years he was located at South
Bend, Ind.; also was professionally en-

gaged in Michigan and later at Rock
Springs Park, in Chester, W. Va. ; also
made the decorative plans for the grounds
of the Odd Fellows' Home in West Vir-

ginia, and has had equally important con-
tracts at other points. In August, 1904,

he came to Steubenville and took charge of
the Union Cemetery. He ha> some 200
acres under his supervision and has done
a great work here.

Mr. Jenney was married in May, 1903, to

Miss Mary Edith Hall, of Laporte. Ind.,

and they have two children: Ruth Hall and
William Earle. Mr. Jenney is a member of
the Steubenville Chamber of Commerce
and of the Country Club.

HON. JOHN M. COOK,f circuit judge
of Jefferson County and president of the

Union Deposit Bank of Steubenville, for
a number of years has been prominently
identified with both the public affairs and
the business interests of this section of
eastern Ohio.
Judge Cook was born March G, 1843, in

Burlington County, New Jersey, and is a
son of David and Margaret Cook. Ho is

of English ancestry, both parents having
been born within England's borders. They
were married in 183"), at Philadelphia, Pa,,

and immediately afterward settled in Bur-
lington County, New Jersey. David Cook
was a well educated man, and he was also

equipped with a good trade, that of shoe-

maker. He conducted a boot and shoe
business at Burlington and later at Alle-

gheny City, Pa., to which place he moved
with his motherless children in 1856, two
years after the death of his wife. He sur-

vived until 1859.

The boyhood of Judge Cook was spent in

Allegheny City and his public school train-

ing was secured in the Third Ward School
of that city, and this was later supple-

mented, through his own efforts, by three

years of academic instruction in the same
city. Having chosen law as a profession,

in the fall of I860 he entered the Ohio

t Siiim- tliis arliolc wn.« written Hon. John M. Cook
lio.l, c.n .Inly 1U, 1910.
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State and Union Law College at Cleveland,

0>, where he was creditably graduated on
June 30, 1868. Immediately following his

admission to the l)ar, January 7, 1869, lie

entered upon the practice of law at East
Liverpool, O., where he continued to re-

side until October 1, 1872, when he came
to Steubenville, as offering a wider field

for his special talents. Being an acute
lawyer and a good orator, his advance to a
leading position at the Jefferson County
bar was rapid and resulted in his being
chosen prosecuting attorney in 187!), to

which office he was re-elected in 1881, and
through the whole period of five years
which he served the arduous duties of this

responsible office were faithfully and cour-

ageously performed. In 1901 he was called

to the Circuit Bench, his election taking
place in November, 1900, his associates

being Judges P. A. Laubie, of Columbiana
County, and J. B. Burrows, of Lake Coun-
ty, and was re-elected in 1906. For this

position he was eminently qualified, and
his judicial administration has but further
added to his professional laurels. As a

broad-minded citizen and lover of his

country and her institutions, he has taken
an active interest in political matters ever
since casting his first presidential vote for
Abraham Lincoln, in 1864. Tie has more or
less directed the policy of his party in the
county at various times, having served for

a number of years as chairman of the Re-
publican County Central Committee of

Jefferson County.
On December 23, 1874, Judge Cook was

married to Miss Elizabeth A. Little, who
was born July 25, 1846, at Steubenville.

Her parents, James and Mary S. (Reyn-
olds) Little, were former residents of

Pennsylvania and Maryland. Judge and
Mrs. Cook have three children, Homer C,
Mary G. and Ida M., all of whom are mar-
ried. Judge Cook und family are members
of the Methodist Episcopal Church; they

are active in benevolent work and are rep
resentatives of the best in the city's quiet

social life. Fraternally, Judge Cook is a
thirty-second degree Mason, a member of

the Knights of Pythias and of the Be-
nevolent Order of Elks.

WILLIAM F. MORELAND, treasurer

of Island Creek Township, Jefferson Coun-
ty, Ohio, and engaged in business at To-
ronto as a florist, was born in Island Cieek
Township, June 13, 1866, and is a son of
Daniel A. and Mary A. (Findley) More-
land.

Daniel A. Moreland is now deceased, but
his widow survives and resides at Toronto.
His father was David Moreland, an early

resident of Steubenville. While living on
his farm, Daniel A. Moreland served for a
number of years as assessor of Island

Creek Township.
William F. Moreland was reared and

educated in his native township and for

a number of years before coming to To-
ronto, was interested there in the coal in-

dustry and had two coal banks leased. In
ISM37 he established his florists' business at

Toronto and has greatly prospered. He has
two greenhouses, the dimensions of which
are 70 by 20 feet, situated at the head of
West Euclid Avenue. He keeps a choice

collection of the plants and flowers that

are most in demand and finds a ready mar-
ket at Toronto and New Cumberland, W.
Va. In politics he is a Republican and is

serving his third term as treasurer of
Island Creek Township, this fact alone
proving his high standing in his com-
munity.

Mr. Moreland was married on January
2. 1892, to Miss Lena Chambers, a daughter
of Joseph Chambers, of Toronto, formerly
of Island Creek Township, and they have
four children: Janet I., Harry MeC, Leon
W. and Nancy. Mr. Moreland and family
are members of the First Presbyterian
Church at Toronto, of which he is a trustee.

GEORGE V. SHARP, proprietor of a
furniture store and an undertaking estab-

lishment, and one of the representative citi-

zens of Mingo Junction, Ohio, was born
June 29, 1866, on his father's farm in
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Washington County, Pennsylvania, and is

a son of Thomas A. and Olivia (Walker)
Sharp, and a grandson of John Sharp, one
of the pioneer settlers of Washington
County, Pennsylvania.
Thomas A. Sharp was born in 1829, in

Washington County, Pennsylvania, and is

now living in retirement, his home being
situated across the river from Steuben-
ville, Ohio. He was reared and spent his

early manhood on a farm in Washington
County, but later removed to Stcubenville,

Ohio, where for several years he engaged
in the livery and undertaking business. He
is a Republican in politics and served two
terms as commissioner of Jefferson Coun-
ty, Ohio. Thomas A. Sharp was united in

marriage with Olivia Walker, a native of
Washington County Pennsylvania, who
died January 28, 1910, at the age of sev-

enty-nine years and ten months. To them
were born the following children: Laura,
James W., Joseph G., Alexander E.,

George V.. and Elizabeth, who is the wife
of W. Moulds.
George V. Sharp was reared on the farm

in Washington County, and when about
eighteen years of age removed with his

parents to Steubenville, where he engaged
in business with his father, lie subse-
quently learned embalming with James J.

Flannery & Company, of Pittsburgh, and
in 1900 came to Mingo .1 unction, where he
engaged in the undertaking and furniture
business in partnership with W. H. Ferry,
operating under the firm name of Ferrv &
Sharp. < >u July-1. 1901, Mr. Ferry retired

from the business and Mr. Sharp has since

continued as sole owner of same. He car-

ries a full line of carpets and furniture in

connection with his undertaking establish-

ment, and in 1902 built a tine two-story
bnsiness block on Commercial Street. Mr.
Sharp is now serving his second term ns a
member of the Bonn! of Education. His
religious connection is with the Presbyte-
rian church. On December 21. 1899, Mr.
Sharp was married to Miss Laura E.

Priest who is a daughter of Henry M.
Priest, of Steubenville, Ohio.

CARL ARMSTRONG, a member of the

Jefferson County Bar, was born in this

county September 1, 1876. The son of

David Armstrong and Sarah Fell, he l ad
as his birthplace the farm which has been

in the Armstrong family for over a hun-

dred years.

The first of the family in this country
was John Armstrong, grandfather of Carl
Armstrong, who came here from Carlisle,

Pa., in 1799, and settled and cleared the

farm in Wells Township, where the subject

of this sketch was born. The grandfather
was a near relative of John Armstrong,
who founded Carlisle, Pa., and who was a

brigadier-general of the Revolution and
commanded a wing of the army at German-
town.

Carl Armstrong attended the public

schools and taught several years in this

county; entering Mt. Union College, he
studied there two years and then went to

Ohio Northern University, where he com-
pleted the course in law and graduated
with the degree of bachelor of laws. He
then located temporarily in Mingo, of
which place he became solicitor in 1908;
early in 1910 he moved to Steubenville and
established an office there.

In 1901 he was married to Miss Bertha
Scott, who is also a native of this county,
and they have two boys, David W., born in

1902, and Lamar McCalmout, born in 1903.

The family are members of the Methodist
church and Mr. Armstrong is a member of
the Masonic and Odd Fellows orders, and
Sigma Xu, a college fraternity. Both Mr.
Armstrong and his wife are of Scotch an-
cestry, hence he takes a deep interest in

English and local history ami literature.

JAMES E. CAKK, manager of the To-
ronto plant of Gill Bros. Company, the ex-

tensive glass manufacturers of Jefferson
County, has occupied this important posi-
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tion since August, 1905. Mr. Carr was born
at Allegheny, Pa., August 11, 1862, and is

a son of John W. Carr.
Mr. Carr is a practical glass worker. He

attended school until he was twelve years
old and then came to Steuhenville, Ohio,
to live with an uncle, Frank Gillespie, and
there entered the glass works of Beatty
Bros., and later the works of Gill Bros.
For seven years he was the executive mem-
ber of the trade organization known as the
Glass Workers' Union and had his head-
quarters at Coraopolis, Pa., and during a
part of this time he was in the employ of
the Consolidated Glass Company at that
place. He came then to Toronto and has
made investments here and is identified
with the general interests of the town.

Mr. Carr married Miss Mamie Mann, a
daughter of Thomas F. Mann. Mrs. Carr
was reared at Steuhenville. Nine children
have been born to Mr. and Mrs. Carr, the
eight survivors being: Thomas, James R.,
Lizzie May, Marie, Bessie, George, John
and Mamie. Walter died when aged but
four months.

ERNEST II. HAYNE, cashier of the
Citizens' Savings Bank, of Mt. Pleasant,
and widely and favorably known in busi-
ness circles, was born at Adena, in Smith-
field Township, Jefferson County, Ohio.
April 2.>, 1878, and is a son of Alonzo and
Anna M. (Parker) Hayne.
Alonzo Hayne was born at Adena. on

the farm adjoining the old homestead. May
18, 1841, and was a son of Nathan anil
I'hcbe (Morris) Hayne, and a grandson
of Daniel Hayne, who settled in Smith-
field Township, this county, near the pres-
ent site of Adena, in 1800. Daniel Ilavne
married Mary Stoneman. He lived to the
extreme age of 101 years. He was one of
the earliest pioneers of this section. His
son Nathan was born on what is now the
Russell farm, near Adena, and died here
May 31. 1896, when aged eightv-seven
years. He was a successful farmer and
was prominent in local business affairs and

for a number of years was a director in

the First National Bank. In 1879 he
moved to Mt. Pleasant and was long one
of the town's most respected citizens. He
married Phebe Morris, who survived him
until April, 1897. Their children were:
Alonzo (deceased) ;

Elisha, who lives at
Mt. Pleasant, and married Rachel Wagner

;

Mary E., who resides at Mt. Pleasant;
Laura J., who is the wife of W. P. Moore,
of Adena ; and three who died young.
Alonzo Hayne was a prosperous farmer

in Jefferson County for a number of years.

He was active in Republican polities and
for thirty-five consecutive years served as
a trustee of Smithfield Township. During
the Civil War he was a member of Com-
panv H, 157th Ohio National Guards. tlnd
was identified with Updegraff Post, G. A.
R., at Mt Pleasant. He was reared in and
gave support to the Methodist Protestant
church. After an illness of but twentv-
four hours he died, on May 29, 1908. He
married Anna M. Parker, who was born in

1851, at Barnesville, Ohio, a daughter of
Dr. Harvey Parker, who was once a very
prominent physician in Belmont County.
They had five children: Ernest II.; Rrdph
A., who resides with his mother on the

farm near Adena; Jessie P.; Effa K.; and
Fred, who died in infancy.

Ernest H. Hayne attended the Rehobeth
School, near which he was reared, the same
in which both his father and grandfather
had received primary instruction, and he,

as did they, alternated school attendance
with farming. Later he took a business
course in a commercial college at Scio and
subsequently put his knowledge into prac-

tice in the Mt. Pleasant National Bank and
the Peoples' Savings Bank at Martins
Ferry. When the Citizens' Savings Bank
of Mt. Pleasant was organized he was ten-

dered the position of cashier, one that he

has very capably filled up to the present
time.

The Citizens' Savings Bank of Mt.
Pleasant. Ohio, was organized January 2.'>,

1905, and was opened for business April 1,

1905, with a capital stock of $25,000. The
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bauk lias been on a .sound ami paying basis

from tlit> start. It is a savings institution

and was organized by the following citizens

of Jefferson County: K. W. Chambers,
president; Oliver Thomas, vice-president;

Ernest II. Hay ne. cashier; R. W. Chambers,
Oliver Thomas. Evan G. Evans, Alonzo
Hayne and Richard E. Roberts, composing
the board of directors. After receiving the

papers of incorporation, C. M. Brown. II.

G. Cheffy and O. M. Bracken became addi-

tional directors. After the death of Rol>ert

Chandlers. Cassius M. Brown was elected

president; C. F. Scott succeeded II. G.
Cheffy on the board of directors. The bank
has the full confidence of the people and
has a large list of depositors, in its fine

brick building it has a massive steel vault

and all the various appliances for safe-

guarding the funds entrusted to its care.

Ernest H. Hayne was married June (>,

1907, to Miss Esther Burris, a daughter of
Addison and Ella (Caldwell) Burris. and
a granddaughter of Hanson Burris, who,
for many years, was a botel proprietor in

Mt. Pleasant Township. Mr. and Mrs.
Hayne have two children, Anna Elizabeth

and Ralph Burris. Before he was twenty
years old Mr. Hayne united with the

Adena Presbyterian Church and is now a

member of the First Presbyterian Church
at Mt. Pleasant. In politics be is a Repub-
lican, and in the fall of li>0!> he was elected

township treasurer. He is a representa-

tive in the fourth generation of one of the

county's oldest and most prominent fam-
ilies.

JOHN A. MEDCALF. proprietor of the

Stcuhenvillc Building & Lumber Company,
» with yards at No. 512 Dock Street. Steu-

benville, Ohio, is interested in other pros-

pering enterprises of the city and section,

and is a representative business man in

several different lines, lie was born at

Hagerstown, .Maryland, in ISM.
When John A. Medcalf was four years

old his parents moved to Irwin, Westmore-
land County, Pennsylvania, where he was
<ent to school, and later was employed in

the coal mines. When twenty two years of
age he came to Toronto, Ohio, where he

worked at the carpeuter trade for nine

years, and then came to Steulienviile. Here
he went into the general contracting and
luml'ter business under the style of the

Steubeuville Building & Lumber Company,
of which he is sole proprietor. He is a
stockholder in the Steubenville Ice Com
pany and also of the Interstate Lumber
Company, of Pittsburgh. His business is

conducted along well regulated lines and
his name stands high commercially.

Mr. Medcalf was married at Irwin, Pa.,

to Miss Anna M. Blake, and they have five

children: Lydia J., who married Sherman
Martin, of Steulienviile; and James Lewis.
Laura Belle, William Lawrence, and Anna
Mary. Mr. Medcalf and family attend the
Methodist Protestant church. He is iden-

tified with the order of Maccabees and the

Junior Order of American Mechanics.

CARL ECKII ARDT, whose dairy fnrm
is situated in Cross Creek Township, Jef-

ferson County, Ohio, where he owns 1(»7

acres of excellent land, was born in Ger-
many. December 11. 1 H<»7, and is a son of
Carl and Augusta (Becker) Kckhardt. The
parents of Mr. Kckhardt were native- of

Germany and the father died in that coun-
try. The mother survives and resides at

Steubenville. They were parents of the

following children : Louise, who is the wife
of Henry Kleinecke; lx?im, who is the wife
of William Woltjen; Wilhelmina. who is

the wife of Jacob Engel ; and Carl.

Carl Kckhardt attended school in Ger-
many before coming to America and spent
six months at school in the United Stales.

His father had been a weaver but the young
man desired to engage in agricultural pur-

suits and soon found employment on the

dairy farm of William Becker, in Jeffer-

son County. Ohio, for whom he worked for

ten years. After that he rented land until

lie purchased his present farm. Mr. Eck-

hardt keeps al>out thirty bead of cattle and
for fifteen years has conducled a milk route

in Steulienviile, numbering among his
] at
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rons some of the oldest families of the

city.

Mr. Evkhardt was married March 28,

1894, to Miss Lena Bothe, a daughter of
William and Wilhelmina (Bya) Bothe.
The father of Mrs. Eekhardt was a well

known gardener in Cross Creek Town-
ship. She has one brother, William, and
two sisters, Anna and Kate. Mr. and Mrs.
Eekhardt have three children: Clara, Wil-

ma and Florence. The family belongs to

the Zion Lutheran church. In politics he
is a Republican.

HON. FRANK II. KERR was born on
a farm near Richmond, this county, Feb-
ruary 5, 1862. lie is of Scotch- Irish an-

cestry,- his father, William E. Kerr, being
a farmer; his mother'* maiden name was
Mary A. Stoneman. When Mr. Kerr was
nine years of age, his parents moved to

Richmond, and during the period between
childhood and early manhood, young Kerr
assisted in the support of the family by
doing odd jobs on neighboring farms, and
clerking in the village store. Being one
of a family of eight children, he naturally
had to rely largely on his own efforts to

make his way in the world, especially as

the opportunities in a small country town
were not extensive. Fortunately he was
able to secure a good education in the vil-

lage schools, subsequently taking a course
in Richmond College.

Before reaching his majority he began
taking an interest in politics, working on
behalf of the Republican party, and very
soon after reaching the age of twenty-one
years was elected central committeeman of
his precinct. Salem Township, in which
he resided, had always been strongly Demo-
cratic, and in order to keep the Republican
organization intact, he was twice nomi-
nated for township clerk, and came within

very few votes of being elected. He was
elected and served two terms as clerk of

Richmond village in the vears 1886 and
1887. In 1888 he rcmovedto Steubenville.

having been appointed deputy clerk of the

Probate Court of Jefferson County. While .

here he studied law and was admitted to

the bar by the Supreme Court at Columbus,
on October 8, 1891. After seven years'
service as deputy in the Probate Court, Mr.
Kerr retired and began the practice of law.

In 1899 he was nominated by the Repub-
licans of his county for probate judge,
after an active contest, in which he broke
all precedents by Wing chosen over the
chairman of the county central committee,
who was also an aspirant. At the regular
fall election following he ran 300 votes
ahead of bis ticket. He was re-elected

in 1902. and retired at the end of his

second term in 1906, and resumed the
practice of law.

Judge Kerr was appointed by Governor
Herrick one of the three delegates to rep-
resent Ohio in the Uniform Divorce Law
Congress, which met in Washington City
in February, 1906, and again in Philadel-

phia the following November. In 1908
.Judge Kerr was strongly urged for the
nomination of lieutenant governor of Ohio,
and would doubtless have been awarded
the same had not geographical considera-
tions influenced a selection from another
part of the state.

Mr. Kerr has taken an active part in all

matters of public interest to the commu-
nity. He is a member of the Knights of
Pythias, Independent Order of Odd Fel-
lows and Order of Elks. He is a leading
Mason ami Knight Templar, having taken
all the degrees to and including the thirty-

second, and is a member of the Royal
Order of Scotland. He is vice president
of tin* Stanton Monument Association, and
was chiefly instrumental in reviving the
work of that body, now about to l>e brought
to a satisfactory conclusion. He is also

a member of the Wells Historical Society,

and is deeply interested in all that per-

tains to our local history.

On April 27, 1905, Mr." Kerr was married
to Miss Bella Cochran, an estimable young
lady of Steubenville, and occupies a pleas-

ant home on North Fourth Street.
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MRS. MARGARET FRAZIER, who,
with her sons, conducts the well known
homelike hostelry, the McNeal Hotel, at

Mingo Junction, Ohio, is one of the best

known and most highly respected ladies of

this place. Mrs. Crazier was born in the

town of Cardiff, Wales, March 1, 1853, and
is a daughter of David and Mary (Davis)
Davis.

David Davis was a competent mill work-
er, beginning in boyhood and becoming a

heater, puddler and roller. In 1803 he
brought his family to America, and for the

first three years they lived at Mt. Savage,
Pa., and from there moved to a farm in

Preston County, West Virginia. Five
year.-* were spent there and then Mr. Davis
removed to Cairo, III, where he died, in

1877, at the age of forty-eight years. I lis

widow survived him a long time, her death
taking place at the home of her only son,

David Davis, at Mingo .Junction. There
were eight children in the family, Mar-
garet being the eldest. The other* were:
Mary Jane, who is the wife of James
Brooks, of New Castle, Pa.; Ruth, now de-

ceased, who was the wife of Benton Fell,

of New Alexandria; Naomi, a twin sister

to Ruth, who died aged four months:
David, who resides at Chicago, III.; Sarah
Ann, who married Clarence Rine. of Ken-
tucky; and two children, both bearing the

name of Benjamin, died young.
Mrs. Frazier was ten years old when the

family came to America and easily recalls

the long voyage of sixteen days on the

ocean. She remained at home with her
parents until her marriage, which took

place at Cairo. III., to William Frazier. and
to their marriage six children were horn,

namely: Minnie, who married Garfield

Gilgrist, of Columbus. Ohio, and has six

children—Florence E„ Thomas A.. Carl V..

Robert Randell, Emily B. and Forest M.;

Harry W., living at Steubenvillc. who mar-

ried Mary Jane Bates, and has one child,

Margaret; Blanche, who married George
Simmons, of Mingo Junction, and has two
children—Garland and Minnie; George J.;

Sarah Ella, who married Carl Trig, and re-

sides at Mingo Junction ; and Benjamin H.
In May following their marriage, Mr.

and Mrs. Frazier came to Mingo Junction,
where he secured work in the mill, ami she
added to the family income by keeping
boarders. From this she drifted into the

restaurant business and for years, with
her sons, conducted the Home Restaurant
at Mingo Junction, it prospered because
it justified its name. Finally Mrs. Frazier
and sons divided to go into the hotel busi-

ness, and after selling out their restaurant
to Thomas Hughes, thev took charge of the

McNeal Hotel, in October, 1909. This is a
convenient, well appointed house, with
twenty-five sleeping rooms and a commo-
dious dining room, parlor, office and
kitchen, all of which are fitted up accord-

ing to modern demands. Mrs. Frazier
charges from one dollar a day upward, ac-

cording to location of apartments, baths,

etc. While she has found it profitable to

cater to railroad men to a large degree, her
patronage is by no means confined to them.
She has never operated a bar in any of her
business enterprises, but has provided
comforts of all kinds and keeps a table un-

excelled for good, wholesome food. She
owns valuable real estate at Mingo .Func-

tion. Mrs. Frazier is a capable woman
and has proved her efficiency in everything
she has undertaken. Slie is beloved by her
family and is held in the highest esteem by
all who know her. For a number of years
she has been identified with the AY. C. T. V.

at Mingo Junction ami is a valued member
of the Free Methodist church at the same
place.

JOSEPH ROBERTSON. M. I>.. who
has been successfully engaged in the prac-
tice of medicine and surgery at SfeiuVn-
ville, Ohio, for twenty years and is closely

identified with its many interests, was born
in 1*52. on his father's farm, four miles

north of this city. His parents were David
and Margaret L. (Plummer) Robert son.

and his grandfather was Joseph Robert
son, who came from Westmoreland Coun-
ty. Pennsylvania. He settled in Jefferson
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County prior to the War of 1812, in which
he took part.

David Robertson, father of Dr. Hubert-
son, was born in Jefferson County. Ohio,

in 1825, and engaged in farming all

through life, lie married Margaret L.

Phunmer, of Westmoreland County, Penn-
sylvania; and Dr. Kobertson was the first

bora of their five children, the others being
Molly, Sally J., Jessie and Annie, the lat-

ter uf whom is the wife of H. J. Lyle, of

Washington County, Pennsylvania. Sally

J. is now deceased.

Joseph Hobertson attended the local

schools and spent une year in Washington
and Jefferson College, after which he read
medicine with private preceptors and sub-

sequently graduated in medicine and sur-

gery from the Columbus Medical College,

in 1881. He located first near the old heme
uf the grandfathers, in Westmoreland
County, later moved to Harrison County,
Ohio, and one year afterward returned to

Jefferson County. He is a member of the

Jefferson County and the Ohio Stale Med-
ical Societies and of the American Medical
Association and keeps thoroughly abreast
with the times in all that concerns his

science. Dr. Robertson was married in

1884, to Miss Martha B. Smith, who died

in 188(5. Dr. Robertson is a member of the

United Presbyterian church at Steuben-
ville and belongs to the Session.

FRANK P. JEWKTT, a well known
agriculturist of Island Creek Township,
where his valuable farm of seventy-five

acres is situated, belongs to an old family

uf the county which came originally from
Xew Hampshire. Mr. JeweH was born in

Island Creek Township. Jefferson County.
Ohio, December 3, 1853, and is a son of

Sumner and Priscilla (Sweat) Jewctt. the

latter of whom was born in New Hamp-
shire.

Sumner Jewett was born in Massachu-
setts and was young when he accompanied
his father. Mark Jewett. to Jefferson

County, and they settled on the farm now
owned by Frank P. Jewett. It is located

on the river road in a desirable pari of

Island Creek Township and the commo-
dious brick residence, which is probably
the oldest in the township, was built by
Sumner Jewett in 1838. His subsequent
life of twenty years was spent on this

farm. Of his children the following sur-

vive: Mary L., who is the wife of J. C.
Ault; Hettie V., who is the wife of John
Tope, of Toronto; and Frank P.

Farming and stockraising have been the
main occupations of Frank P. Jewett 's

life, and in both industries he has pros-
pered. On September 20, 1890, Mr. Jewett
was married to Miss Omn Lee, a daughter
of James Lee, a well known citizen of Cos-
tonia, ()., and they have six children:

^Vnna P.. Lee M., Hettie, Sumner, Frank
and Rader. In politics Mr. Jewett is a
Republican and as a citizen he stands very
high in public esteem.

W. E. PELLEY & BROTHER, a firm

conducting the oldest established business
at Mingo Junction, ()., operate the leading

drug store and are graduated pharmacists.
The firm is made up of William Ellsworth
and Thomas M. Pelley, bofh sons of Am-
brose L. and Mary A. (Morgan) Pelley.

The parents of the Pelley Brothers were
residents of West Virginia. They had four

children: William Ellsworth: Emma, who
is the wife of Dr. A. R. Warden, of Graf-
ton. W. Va.: Anna, who is the wife of M. E.

Gorman, an attorney, at Morgantown, W.
Va.; and Thomas M.
William Ellsworth Pelley was born at

Bcnwood. W. Va., August 4. ISfil. lie re-

mained at home until he reached manhood
and obtained his education in the local

schools. lie then became a clerk and stu

• lent in the drug store of Dr. Leonard
Eskey, at Benwood, W. Va. In 188* he
came to Mingo Junction and bought the

drug store of Dr. W. J. O'Connell, oppo-
site the city building, where his quarters
were burned in January. 1897. He then
was located for several years in the city

building before erecting the firm's present

fine building, in 1902. It is a handsome
two-story brick structure on Commeuial
Street. A stock of first class goods that
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may be fouud in every modern store of this

kind is carried, while only pure drugs are
ever handled. In 1889, William E. Pelley

was married to Miss Carrie Vance, a

daughter of Robert and Harriet (Me-
Auley) Vance, and they have three chil-

dren : Mary V., Laura and Harriet.

THOMAS M. PELLEY was born
April 8, 1868. at Sherrard. \V. Va. He was
educated in the public schools and took a

course in the Wheeling Business College

and the Pittsburg College of Pharmacy,
where he graduated in the class of 1H92.

In 1888 he also came to Mingo .Junction

and l>ecame his brother's partner in the

drug business, which they have so success-

fully carried on ever since. On November
2fi, 1902, he was married to Miss .leunie

Quinn, a daughter of John Qninn, of Mingo
Junction. They have a pleasant home on
Steuben Street. Both brothers are mem-
bers of the Methodist Episcopal church
ami both are Republicans in their political

attachment. During the administration of

President Roosevelt, William E. Pel ley,

was appointed postmaster, but he declined

to serve, feeling that from the nature of

his business he should have mi divided in-

terests. He is a member of the (hid Fel-

lows, at Mingo, while Thomas M. Pelley is

identified with the Masons at Steuben vi lie.

F. C. CHAMBERS, secretary of the

Steubenville Coal & Mining Company, has
spent the larger part of his life in this city

and has many business and other interests

here. He was born in Oors Creek Town-
ship. .Jefferson County, Ohio, in IStil, and
is a son of Thomas Chamliers, who was
born in northern Ohio but later became a

farmer in Cross Creek Township and sub-

sequently a merchant at Steubem ille,

where he died. April 18, 1909, in his eighty-

eighth year.

F. C. Chambers was reared and educated
mainly at Steubenville and later was asso-

ciated with his father in the mercantile

business. For the past twenty-two years

he has been identified with the Steuben-

ville Coal & Mining Company, of which
he is now one of the officials. He is a di-

rector in the National Exchange Bank and
also a director of the Steubenville Coal &
Mining Company and owns stock in other
enterprises. He has been a dependable
citizen at all times, has served on the board
of education and is a member of the Steu-

benville Chamber of Commerce.
In 1S84 Mr. Chambers was married to

Miss Georgia Gertrude Peters, who was
horn and reared at Steubenville. Her fa-

ther was William Raney Peters. Mr. and
Mrs. Chamliers have two sons and two
daughters: Charles F., who is power man
of tlie United Gas & Improvement Com-
pany, of Philadelphia; George 1'., who is

chemist for the United Gas & Improve-
ment Company, of Philadelphia, Pa.;

Mary S., who is a student in the Steuben-
ville High School; and Margaret, who also

attends school. Mr. and Mrs. Chambers
are members of the First Methodist
Protestant Church, of which he is a trus-

tee and secretary of the board of stewards,

lie is identified with the Masonic frater-

nity.

DAVID MORROW, whose long and use-

ful life was mainly spent in Island Creek
Township, Jefferson County. Ohio, where
lie died. February 17, 190". was born in

Fayette County, Pennsylvania, July 8,

182(5, and was a son of David and Rebecca
Morrow.
David Morrow was a small boy when

liis parents moved to Jefferson County.
Ohio, ami settled near what is now the vil-

lage of Pekin. and at that time but few
other homeseekers had reached this sec-

tion. David Morrow spent the rest of his

life there, with the exception of a few
years passed in Steubenville. He was con-

sidered a good business man, a kind neigh-

bor and an excellent husband and father,

lie was a man of upright life and for many
years was a lending member of the Metho-
dist Protestant church nt Toronto.

David Morrow was married first to

Nancy Viers, of Island Creek Township,

Digitized by Goo'gl



DOHUMAX J. SINCLAIR

y Google



AND REPRESENTATIVE C1T1ZEXS 567

and they had three children, the one sur-

vivor being Oscar, who lives at Toronto.
Mr. Morrow married secondly Maria Tay-
lor, also of Island Creek Township, and
of their children the following survive:
Fred, residing at Jeddo, (>.; Howard, re-

siding at Steubenville; Joseph, living at

Steubenville; and Laura, wife of Frank
Carnahan, of Lisbon, U. Mr. Morrow mar-
ried for his third wife the estimable lady
who survives him. She was at that time
Mrs. Samuntha J. Wells, the widow of
Thomas J. Wells.

Mrs. Morrow was born in Meigs
County, Ohio, but she has been a resident

of Island Creek Township for a half cen-
tury. She was married first to Thomas J.

Wells, who was born in Washington Coun-
ty, Ohio, and was a son of James and Eiiza

(Oliver) Wells, with whom, when a small
boy, he moved to Meigs County. Ohio,
where he was reared. On April 15, 1858,

Mr. and Mrs. Wells were married, and on
May 20, 1860 they came to Tshmd Creek
Township, Jefferson County, mid settled

in the stone house on the river road at

Wells' Cove, which remained his home un-

til his death, April 21, liKW. lie carried
on farming and dairying very successfully.

During the Civil War he served in the
Union army for a time. lie was a highly
esteemed citizen. Mrs. Morrow resides on
her farm of ninety-seven acres located at

Wells' Cove. She is a very active and use-

ful member of the Methodist Protestant
church at Toronto, and belongs to the For-
eign Missionary Society of the church; is

also a member of the Ladies' Aid Socictv
and belongs to the W. C. T. l\ at Toronto.
Her time is much occupied in looking after
her business affairs, her church and social

duties and her many benevolent interests.

J. FRANK STROBEL, whose well im-
proved farm of 127 acres is situated in

Cross Creek Township, Jefferson County,
Ohio, was born near West Liberty, W. Va.,

in February. 1H5!>. His parents were
Frederick and ElizaMh (Kentner) Stro-

hel.

Frederick Strobel was born in Germany,
where he followed farming, but after he
came to America lie worked in the coal

mines in Pennsylvania and West Virginia.

He married Elizabeth Kentner and they
had the following children: Louisa, J.

Frank, Christina. Godfrey, Frederick and
John Charles. By a former marriage
Frederick Strobel had three children, Ja-
cob, Godfrey aud Louis.

J. Frank Strobel obtained a common
school education and has been engaged in

farming since early manhood. He pur-
chased his present farm, which had al-

ready been improved, from Rol>ert Dins-
more, and through his excellent agricul-

tural methods has made the investment a
paying one and proves that Jefferson
County fanners are well in the lead when
it comes to agricultural independence.

In September, 1888, Mr. Strobel was
married to Miss Elizabeth Raab, a daugh-
ter of Martin and Elizabeth (Lutz) Raab,
who were farmers in Washington Couuty,
Pennsylvania. The children of Mr. and
Mrs. Raab were: John; Elizabeth, who be-

came Mrs. Strobel
; Mary, who is deceased;

Frank; Kate, who is the widow of Joseph
Winters; and Henry. Mr. and Mrs. Stro-
bel have six children, all at home, and the
older ones attending school: Marybell,
Martin, Frank. Ola, Walter and Virn." Mr.
Strobel and wife are members of the Ger-
man Lutheran church. In politics he is a
.Democrat and is serving as a school di-

rector in Cross Creek Township, lie is a
self-made man and is one of the township's
most respected citizens.

DOlIRMAX J. SINCLAIR, one of the
leading citizens of Steubenville, ( >., who is

cashier of the Union Deposit Bank and is

identified with other institutions and enter-

prises of importance in this section, was
l>orn at Erie, Pa., in 18(>(), and is a son of
Thomas Sinclair. Coming to Steubenville
when five years old, he was educated in

the schools of this city. In 1873 he en-

tered the Union Deposit Bank, in a sub-
ordinate capacity, and has been continu-
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ously connected with this large fiuancial

institution ever since. Ho has been a
most active and public spirited citizen, and
it is largely to his untiring efforts that

much of the material prosperity of Steu-
benville and the vicinity is due. In ad-
vancing the interests of the community he
has been unsparing of his time, labor and
means. Never an office seeker, he has been
a force in local politics which has always
been exerted for the public good. As presi-

dent of the city council he instituted im-

portant reforms in municipal management,
and as a member of the board of water
works trustees he inaugurated and carried

out the present magnificent water system,

conceded to be the best in the Ohio Valley.

Practically he was the Board of Trade for

a number of years, and it was chiefly due to

his untiring efforts that the enlarged La
Belle Iron Works were located liens also

the Pope Tin Plate Works, and the Pol

lansbee and Wierton Works, across the

river, which, with the Jefferson Glass

Works, have built up two thriving maim
facturing suburbs with access to the city

by the fine suspension bridge, also erected

through his efforts. The elect rie line to

Follansbee, with another projected to

Wierton, is also among the fruits of his

efforts, as are the extension to Toronto
and short line to Mingo, to say nothing of

the magnificent brick boulevards leading

from the city north and south on both sides

of the river. He has been one of the most
active members of the Ohio River Im-
provement Commission, which is now mak-
ing steady progress towards the canaliza-

tion of the river, and rendered material

aid in the construction of the Wabash
Railroad system through Jefferson County,
including the projected extension up the

river northward from Steubenville. In

most of the enterprises we have mentioned
he is a member of the board of directors,

where his work and counsel are always
sought. Tn fact, the mere enumeration of

his numerous enterprises, of which the

above are only a portion, would fill a

•volume.

In 1MH4 Mr. Sinclair was married to Miss
Mary Donaldson, a daughter of W. B.

Donaldson, and they have five children:
Marie, who is the wife of Harry F. Grant,
of Franklin. Pa.; Wilma, who is the wife of
0. B. La Van, of Steubenville; Frank D.,

who is associated with his father; Dohr-
man J., Jr.. and Catherine. Mr. Sinclair
is a member of the Chamber of Commerce,
the order of Knights of Pythias, and the
board of trustees of the Union Cemetery
Association.

S. OSBORNE BABKIIIJKST, M. D.,
for a decade a resident of Steubenville/O.,
is one of the lending physicians and sur-
geons of the city, successfully engaged in

general practice and taking a good citi-

zen's interest in public affairs. He was
born in Smithfield Township, Jefferson
County. Ohio, in August, ISM, ami is a
son of William B. Barkhurst.
The founder of the Barkhurst family in

Jefferson Couuty was the great-grand-
father. William' Barkhurst, who was
a soldier in the War of 1812. He was of
Revolutionary stock, his father having
been with General Washington at Valley
Forge, where he almost lost his life. With
several companions he had left the unhap-

py camp of almost starving soldiers, in the
hope of securing some supplies in the sur-

rounding country. He was so weakened,
however, from previous hardships that he
would have perished but for the kindly
ministrations of some Indians, who guided
him back to the camp. William B. Bark-
hurst, father of Dr. Barkhurst. was born
in Jefferson Cotintv. in 1831, and died in

J!K«. His father, Jacob Barkhurst, was
also born in Jefferson County.

Dr. Barkhurst was reared on his fa

llier's farm in Smithfield Township, at-

tended the local schools and later Mt.
Cnion College. He spent four years teach-

ing school, during that period doing his

preliminary medical reading, and later en-

tered the medical department of the West-
ern Reserve College at Cleveland, where
he was graduated in 1SSS. He located at
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Sniitlifield and practiced there for thirteen

years and then came to Steuhenville. He
is a member of the Jefferson County and
of the Ohio State Medical Societies and of

the American Medical Association. Since
1897 Dr. Barkhurst has been a member of

the Board of U. S. Pension Surgeons, of

which he is secretary, lie lias interests

outside his profession, here and at other
points.

In April, 1900, Dr. Barkhurst was mar-
ried to Miss Mary E. Uraham, who was
born in Jefferson County, and they Lave
three children: Marjorie, who is a mem-
ber of the graduating class of 1910 in the

Steuhenville High School; and Helen Leo-
nora and Miriam Katherine, both of whom
are students. Dr. Barkhurst and family
are members of the Second Presbyterian
Church, in which he is a deacon. Frater-

nally he is a Mason.

THOMAS JOHNSON*, who is a member
of one of the old pioneer families of .Jef-

ferson County, has been a resident of
Island Creek Township, where lie owns a
valuable farm of Y.W acres, since 1843. but

lie was born in Salem Township, June 17,

182.'}. His parents were Thomas and
Christina (Carroll) Johnson.
The father of Mr. Johnson, also Thomas

Johnson, bore his father's name of

Thomas, and both were born in Ireland.

Grandfather Thomas Johnson emigrated
to America when his son Thomas was
twelve years old, and settled first in the

Tuscarawas Valley, Pennsylvania, and
from there came to Jefferson County
early in the 18th ceutury and died in

Island Creek Township in 1S.{,"). He was
survived bv his son. Thomas Johnson, un-

til 1842. "The latter married Christina

Carroll, who was born in Germany.
Thomas Johnson, the third of the name,

resided in Salem Township until he was
in his twentieth year and then came to

Island Creek Township and lived on the

present farm with his two aunts, who
owned it. He remained with them as long

as they lived and afterward bought the

place, and has continued to reside here.

Mr. Johnson has devoted himself to gen-
eral farming and stockraising, and has
met with much success in these industries.

In large measure Mr. Johnson had his own
way to make in the world and the ample
fortune he has gained has been securer! by
years of industry.

Mr. Johnson was married on August 1,

18(»1, to Miss Margaret J. Lawson, of
Wheeling, W. Va., a daughter of Hohert
and Sarah Lawson. Mrs. Johnson was
born in Ireland and was only six years old
when her parents left there, settling first

in Canada and later moving to West Vir-
ginia and still later to Jefferson County.
Mrs. Johuson died August 10, 1904. She
was an estimable lady and a consistent
member of the Island Creek Presbyterian
Church. To Mr. and Mrs. Johnson eleven
children were born, and nine of these are
living: Henrietta, wife of Crawford Spen-
cer; Cochran, of Island Creek Township;
Sarah J., wife of Chalmers Slentz. of Han-
cock County, AVest Virginia; Kosanna,
wife of John Johnston, of Knox Town-
ship; Ida M., wife of Joseph F. McOon-
nell, of Island Creek Township; Margaret

;

Thomas, who married Zetta McBride,
lives on a farm which his father owns;
and Joseph, Ella C. and Clara M., all

of whom are at home. Thomas (1)
nnd Charles are deceased. Mr. Johnson is

a Democrat in politics. For many years
he has been a member of the Island Creek
Presbyterian Church. He has witnessed
many changes take place in this section,

has survived many of those who started
out in life with himself. d he can tell

most interesting tales of the long ago
when, in his youth, so many things were
different.

CHASE D. COOPER, M. 1)., formerly
a successful and beloved physician, whose
decade of professional life was pas<ed at

New Cumberland, W. Va., and Toronto,
O., was bom in the old Cooper homestead
near Port Homer. Jefferson County, Ohio,
March 2(5, 1872, and died at his home in the
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latter place. November 22, 1909. His par-
ents are Ephraim \V. and Harriet S.

( Stewart ) t 'ooj)er.

Chase 1). Cooper spent his happy hoy-

hood on the home farm, this adjective be-

ing appropriate, for his was a cheerful
disposition and his whole life, in spite of
its cares and responsibilities, was one of
optimism. J lis mere presence in a sick

rooia, during his practice, was helpful and
stimulating. Fie early made a choice of
profession and thereafter directed his

studies along the line of medicine, ami
after completing the High School course
at Wellsville entered the medical depart-
ment of the Ohio State University, mid
subsequently the Illinois Medical College,

and was graduated from the latter institu-

tion in the class of 1898. He entered into

] tract ice at New Cumberland mid came
from there to Toronto. Dr. Cooper pos-

sessed all the qualities which go to the

making of a good physician, and not the

least of these was a tender sympathy for

those in distress and a human desire aside

from his professional one, to give aid and
relieve suffering. This devotion to his

profession and the heavy demands that it

made on him no doubt hastened the de-

velopment of the disease which had at-

tacked his system. Had lie been less *-clf-

saerifieing. less concerned for the well-be-

ing of his patients, he might have found
time to take remedial measures for him-
self. His ailment developed rapidly and
reluctantly he had to give up his praciicc,

after which the end soon came. It will be

many years before the memory of this

kind hearted, gentle mannered gentleman
and able and faithful physician has passed
out of the minds of those who loved, ad
mired and appreciated him.

Dr. Cooper was married October 19.

18!»9, to Miss Lena M. Lockhart. who sur-

vives with their three little daughters:
Marjory. Alice and Elizabeth.

HENHY B. (1HIER. secretary of (till

Brothers Company, glass manufacturers,
at Steubenville, O.. is one of the city's

of the board of education and aiso has been
(resident of the city council. Mr. (irier

las been a resident of Steubenville for
eighteen years, hut his birth took place at

Bellville, Canada, where he lived until

twenty years of age. After leaving school,

Mr. (irier went into business, selecting the
city of Chicago as his Held, and there he
was engaged in the wholesale lamp and
lamp supply business for twenty-five

leading men and has served as president
years, after which he came to Steubenville,

and ever since has been with the firm of
(Jill Brothers & Co., of which he has been
secretary since the reorganization of the

business, in 1901. He is a director of the

National Exchange Bank and has othei in-

terests, and is a trustee of the Steuben-
ville Chamber of Commerce and is presi-

dent of the V. M. C. A.

In 1875 Mr. drier was married to Miss
Ellen (Joodman, of Chicago, and ihev have
three children: William A., who is rector

of Calvary Episcopal Church, at Phila-

delphia, is a graduate of Kenyon College;

Henry (».. who is with Gill Brothers Com-
pany; and Charles A., who is a civil en-

gineer with the Hiter-Conley Manufactur-
ing Company, of Pittsburgh. Mr. (irier

and family are members of St. Stephen's
Episcopal Church and he is superintend-

ent of the Sunday-school.

n/VKSHN (JHAXT POWELL, general

farmer in Island Creek Township, was
born here September 18, 1S(!4, and is a son

of Aaron B. and .lulia (Ault) Powell.

Aaron B. Powell was burn in Colum-
biana County, Ohio, and was a son of .Jehu

Powell, who was also born there, and was
probably of Welsh extraction. Jehu Pow-
ell came very early to Islam! Creek Town-
ship and was accompanied by his family,

his son, Aaron B.. being then b.tt a boy.

This family was one of the first to settle

at the mouth of Island Creek. Here Aaron
B. Powell became a well known man and
during his active years followed the trade
of millwright. He cast his first Presiden-

tial vote for Martin Van Buren. After

1
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some years of retirement, ho died, in 1891.

He married Julia Ault, wlio was bom in

Island Creek Township, and survived him
some years. Of their children the follow-

ing are still living: Lucy E., who is tin*

wife of Daniel 0. Findley, of Island Creek
Township; Jennie P., who is the wife of
Daniel Gallentine, of Pomona, Kan.; Alice,

who is the wife of William J. Lee. of
Island Creek Township; and Ulysses O.

Ulyases G. Powell was reared in his na-
tive township and has always lived here.

In August, 1884, lie was married to Miss
Norma D. Peaeher, of Hancock County,
West Virginia, a daughter of George W.
and Eliza J. Peaeher. The father was
born in Maryland and is now deceased.
The mother was born in West Virginia and
resides with Mr. and Mrs. Powell. The
latter have four children: Arthur T.,

Edna, Donald G. and Marjorie A. The
family belongs to Bray's Methodist Epis-
copal Church. In politics Mr. Powell has
always been a Republican.

GEORGE L. PETERMAN, who con-

ducts a first class livery and feed .stable at

Dillonvale, O., and also deals in stock, is

one of the enterprising and successful

business men of this place. He waf, born
October 21, 1867, in Guernsey County,
Ohio, and is a son of Le.-mder and Sarah
Ann Petennan.
Leander Petennan brought his family

to Jefferson County during the boyhood
of his son, George L. He earned on a
blacksmith's business during his active

years. His death occurred March 7, 15108,

when he was aged eighty-two years His
widow, who was bora in Smithfield Town-
ship, Jefferson County, eighty- three years
ago, survives, and resides with her sou.

George L., who is the youngest of the fam-
ily of seven children. The others were:
Elizabeth, now deceased, who was the wife
of Thomas Watkins; Mary, who innriied
Isaac Case, of Dillonvale; Mnrin, who mar-
ried James McLaughlin, of Aden.!. O.;

Josephine, who is the wife of R. I\ Dell,

residing in Illinois; Evaline, who married

John Wostel. of Short Creek ; and Warren,
who died in childhood. .

George L. Petennan obtained his edu-

cation in the public schools and learned

the blacksmith's trade under his father.

For twenty-seven years he worked at this

trade, sometimes going as far from home
as Delaware, where he was in business for

eight years. On August 26, 1905), he em-
barked in the livery business at Dillonvale,

starting in with only two horses. He has

greatly prospered, being now the owner of

nine fine horses, eight buggies, a wag-
onette and a cab, all necessary to accom-
modate his growing trade.

Mr. Petennan was married October 23,

1888, to Miss Emma McFarhind, a daugh-

ter of Robert and Josephine MeFarb.nd,
of Jefferson County, and they have had
three children, two of whom died young,

the only survivor being Clarence Peter-

man, who celebrated his seventeenth birth-

day on March 16, 1910. Mr. Peterman and
family attend the Methodist Protestant

church. In his political views he is a
Democrat.

JAMES MURRAY, sheriff of Jefferson

County, Ohio, was born in 1866 and was
reared and educated at Toronto, Jefferson

County, where he attended school until he
was sixteen years of age. Sheriff Murray
is a self-made man and from boyhood
not only took care of himself, but also of

his widowed mother. When he left sci-ool

he went to work for the Sewer Pipe Com-
pany, at Toronto, and remained there for

thirteen years. Mr. Murray developed an
interest in politics in early manhood, and
as he possessed courage and stability of

' character, he was chosen for office by his

fellow citizens while almost a youth. He
served for seven years as town marshal
of Toronto and then became deputy under
Sheriff Voorhees, whom he succeeded as

sheriff through election in November,
15M)8. on the Republican ticket. His ad-

ministration of the office has been an en-

tirely satisfactory one to the countv.

On December 19. 1889, Sheriff Murray
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was married to Miss Nannie M. Martin,
and they have one son and three daugh-
ters: John H., who graduated from the

Torouto High School in 1908, and is now
in the employ of the Tri-State Gas Com-
pany; and Kmeline E., Louise and Nellie.

Mr. Murray and family belong to the Sec-

ond Methodist Episcopal Church of Steu-

benville. He is identified with the Odd
Fellows, the Knights of Pythias, th<; Elks
ami the Modern Woodmen of America.

HON. .J ARED DUNBAR, one of Steu-

bcnville's most representative citizens, lias

made this city his homo for a period cov-

ering forty-three years ami during this

time has been prominently identified with

its professional and political life, lie is

the Nestor of the .Jefferson County bar and
is senior member of the law firm of Dun-
bar & Sweeuev. with offices at No. 107

North Third Street, Steubenville. Mr.
Dunbar was lH>rn in Albany County, New
York, July ;M>, 182:5, and is a son of Alex

aiuler and Hannah (Lanfar) Dunbar.
The Dunbar family is of Scotch blood,

the grandfather, John Dunbar, coming to

America from the Highlands in the early

days of pioneer settlement in Albany Conn
ty, New York, acquiring large tracts of

land. Of his five children, Alexander was
the youngest. He spent his whole life in

Albany County, marrying there and in

turn rearing a family of five children and
dying in lS.'W. His widow survived into

her eighty-seventh year.

Jared Dunbar remained in Albany Coun-

ty until 1K.">'), coming then to Ohio and
taking up the study of law at Cambridge.
In January, JS(K). he was admitted to the

bar and remained for six years at Cam-
bridge engaged in professional work, and
then, in 1So'(>, seeking a wider field, came
to Steubenville. Here he early became an
attorney for the Pittsburgh, Cincinnati &
St. Louis Kailroad, and finding that he had
particular talents in this direction, has

made more or less of a specialty of rail-

road law. and as a railroad attorney and
authority has few equals in eastern Ohio.

While his first attention has always been
given to the claims of his profession, Mr.
Dunbar lias been continuously an active

citizen, and at various times has accepted

offices of state, county and civic responsi-

bility. During a term in the state senate

he advocated and assisted in bringing

about some much needed legislation,

and later, as a member of the city

council of Steubenville, his intimate knowl-

edge of municipal affairs made his service

one of the greatest benefit to the city. He
remains prominently 'identified with the

Republican party in Ohio and continues an
influential force in the affairs of his city,

legal ami otherwise.

Mr. Dunbar married Miss Jemima Hates

and they had one daughter, Fannie L., who
is now the wife of Alexander Sweeney, a

prominent citizen and politician at Steu-

benville. Mr. and Mrs. Sweeney have two
children. May and J. K.

JOSEPH C. AULT, n prosperous farm-

er and leading citizen of Island Creek
Township, residing on his excellent form
of Y.V2 acres, belongs to a poineer family

of Jefferson County, which was estab-

lished here by his grandfather. Mr. Ault

was born at Steubenville. O., November
18, 1S.°4, and is a son of Jacob and Cath-

erine ( Wilkin) Ault.

Jacob Ault was also born in Island

Creek Township and was a son of Andrew
A nit. who came from Lancaster County.

Pennsylvania, to Jefferson County, in

17W, settling in Island Creek Township.

For some years after Jacob Ault reached

manhood "he resided at Steubenville.

where he followed the cabinetmaking trade

and then settled on a farm in Island Creek
Township, in 1S44. where he died, in 1S<>."».

He was a member of the Methodist

Protestant church.
.lose) ib C. Ault was ten years old when

his parents settled in Tslnnd Creek Town-
ship and be has lived here ever since, with

the exception of the time he passed as a

soldier during the Civil YVnr. On August
_N. 1SC1. he enlisted at Camp Dennison. in
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Company E, 2nd O. Vol. Inf., which was
attached to the Army of the Cumberland,
and before he again saw his peaceful home
he had passed through many trying ex-

periences, lie participated in the battles

of Perryvillc, Stone River and Chkka-
mauga, and it was at this place that he was
taken prisoner by the enemy. He was con-

fined first in a prison at Atlanta and Inter

was taken to Anderson vi lie, but was re-

leased before he had suffered as did some
of his comrades. He returned to .lefferson

County and has engaged iu farming and
stockraising ever since.

Mr. Ault was married. December 21,

1865, to Miss Annie Fleming, who was
born in Island Creek Township, June 17,

1839, and is a daughter of John and Nancy
(Porter) Fleming. Her father was born in

New Jersey and her mother in Jefferson

County. To Mr. and Mrs. Ault four chil-

dren were born: Cora K., who is the wife
of Samuel Palmer, of West Virginia ; Rob-
ert D., who is serving in the oftj.ee of town-
ship clerk of Island Creek Township; Eva
J., who is the wife of Benjamin Lee, of
Wellsville, ().; and Leoto B.. who is the

wife of Wilfred Douds, of Island Creek
Township. Mr. and Mrs. Ault are mem-
bers of Centre Chapel of the Methodist
Episcopal church in Island Creek Town-
ship und he has frequently filled church of-

fices. Mr. Ault is a Republican and has
served two terms as treasurer of Island
Creek Township.

EPIIRAIM W. COOPER, a retired

farmer now residing in his comfortable
home on Daniel Street. Toronto, ()., re-

tains the ownership of a farm of 200 acres

lying near Port Homer, in Saline Town-
ship, Jefferson County, having disposed of
other tracts which he formerly possessed.

Mr. Cooper was horn in Knox Township.
Jefferson County, Ohio, on a farm his fa-

ther owned that was on Ihe dividing line

of Knox and Saline Townships, on .June

24. 1834. His parents were Alexander and
Elizabeth (Van Tilburgh) Cooper.

Alexander Cooper was a grandson of

the founder of the Cooper family in Wash-
ington County, coming here from England
in very early times. Alexander Cooper
engaged in farming until within a lew
years of his death, when he sold his fs:rm

and retired.

Ephraim W. Cooper grew to manhood
on the home farm, and with the exception
of five years, during which he was engaged
in merchandising, he was actively engaged
in farming, fruitgrowing and stoekrab-ing

throughout his active years. When he was
young and vigorous it was his custom to

buy cattle and drive them over the moun-
tains to eastern points. During his many
years of residence in Saline Township Mr.
Cooper was one of the foremost men of his

community. Iu April, 1805, he was elected

a justice of the peace, and with the excep-

tion of four years he continued in that re-

sponsible office without interruption until

he moved to Toronto, in March, 1906,

where he had purchased bis fine residence

on Daniel Street.

Mr. Cooper was married first to Miss
Martha Ellen Cole, who died one year 1: ter

and was survived by a daughter, Sobra
Jane, who died when aged nineteen years.

Mr. Cooper married secondly Miss Har-
riet S. Stewart, of Hancock County, West
Virginia. Her father was James Stewart
and a great uncle named Stewart was a

colonel in the Revolutionary War. Mr.
and Mrs. Cooper have had seven children:

Armor S., residing at New Cumberland,
W. Va., who is clerk of the courts of Han-
rock County; Edwin W., who resides at

Toronto; Lorena B., who is the wife of Dr.
William Carroll, of Voungstown. 0.

;

Chase D., whose brilliant career as physi-

cian and surgeon was cut short by death
in his thirty-eighth year; Ralph Hayes,
who is traveling agent for the Hartford
Insurance Company, with headquarters at

Wheeling. W. Va.*; and two who diet! in

infancy.

Mr. and Mrs. Cooper are members of

the Toronto Methodist Episcopal Church,
in which he has been a class leader since

18(»f>. He has always performed every
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duty of good citizenship but has never been
in any sense a politician. His long life

has been one of quiet and peaceful living

and until the death of the beloved son. in

the very flower of his manhood and in the

midst of usefulness, .Mr. and Mrs. Cooper
had been preserved from many of the sor-

rows that so often sadden the evening of
life.

G. A. GESCIIEIDER, president of the

G. A. Gescheidcr Company, conducting
one of the leading insurance agencies of
the county, is one of the most active of the

younger generation of business men of
Steubenville. He was liorn in this city in

1881, and is a son of Max (leach eider,

whose death occurred in 180(5. The latter

was born in Germany and located in ,'ef-

ferson Countv. Ohio, about the vcar of
1867. Until 1889 he owned and published
the StcubcnrHlr (irrniania, after which he
was engaged in the insurance business un-

til his death.

G. A. Gescheidcr was educated «n the
schools of Steubenville, after which he en-

tered the field of insurance with his father.

After the hitter's death he continued the
business alone until January 1, 1008, when
The G. A. Gescheidcr Company was or-

ganized and incorporated, with G. A. Ge-
scheidcr as president. William M. He'ms
as vice president and Carl A. Gescheidcr
as secretary. They do a general insurance
business, extending throughout this sec-

tion.

In 1004 the subject of this sketch was
married to Miss Mimiia Floto, of Steuben-
ville, and they have two children, George
F. aud Marie Louise. In religious nttndi
ment, he is a member of Zioti German
Lutheran Church. lie is a member of
Steubenville Lodge, No. 1, K. P.. and the

Order of F.Iks. He is active in the Cham-
ber of Commerce, and is a member of the

board or dim-tors of the Y. M. C. A

(TRT1S A. WELDAY. whose farm of
2?>~ acres lies in Island Creek Townsiup,
is one of the well informed, enterpri>ing

and successful farmers and stockmen of
this section. He was born in this town-
ship, Julv 10, 1878, and is a son of William
II. and Mary (Wyant) Welday.
The late William H. Welday was bom

in Cross Creek Township and was a son of

Alexander Welday. one of the early set-

tlers there. When William H. Welday was
about five years old his parents move*! into

Island Creek Township and there his sub-

sequent life was spent. At one time he
was a member of the Two Ridges' Presby-
terian Church, lie was an extensive fann-
er ami stock raiser for many years. His
widow survives and resides at Richmond,
O. In William H. Welday, Island Creek
Township had a valuable citizen. He was
practically the founder of the Richmond
Fanners' Mutual Insurance Company and
from the time of its organization until his

death he was its secretary.

Curtis A. Welday was reared on his

present farm and was educated in the pub-
lic schools of Island Creek Township. He
is very generally recognized as one of the

clear-headed, practical business men of
this section and his enterprise has been
shown in his manner of conducting his

large agricultural operations. The raising

of registered Holstcin cattle has been one
of his main interests and as a dealer he
is favorablv known all through Ohio.
On December 15MI0. Mr. Welday was

married to Miss Carlotta R. Rhineliatt, a
daughter of William Rhinehart, formerly
of Island Creek Township but now a resi-

dent of Fayetteville, Ark. Mr. and Mrs.
Welday have one son, William S., who was
born Dctvmbcr 1:2, 1007. He is a Repub-
lican in his political views.

RALPH K. PORTER, proprietor of a
first class grocery store at Mingo Junction,
O., with commodious quarters in the Ad-
kins Rlock on Commercial Street, has
lived here ever since he was ten years old,

but was born at Toronto. ()., May 15. 1882,

and is a son of John II. and Ella O^lmn-
ber) Porter. The parents of Mr. Porter
reside at Cleveland. O. They moved to
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East Liverpool. 0., from Toronto, in 1884,

and in 1892 to Cleveland. Ralph E. is the

only survivor of tlieir three children. Ray-
mond, the eldest, died when aged twelve

years, and Bessie, the second horn, died

at the age of three years.

Ralph E. Porter was ten years old when
he came to Mingo Junction to make his

home with his uncle, Dr. AY. J. O'Connell,

a well known medical man of this section,

who died in 1902 when aged sixty years.

Mr. Porter attended school regularly un-

til he was seventeen years of age, when
he began work in a grocery store for .1. C.

Hanna, with whom he remained for three

years and then l>eeame clerk at the Bar
Mill, where he continued for five years. In

1907 he bought out his former emplover,

J. C. Hanna, and in June, 1909, took pos-

session of his present quarters opposite

the postoffice. lie carries a large stock of

both staple and fancy groceries and aims
to please every taste and suit every purse.

In October," 1905, Mr. Porter was mar-
ried to Miss Oca Adkius, who is a daugh-
ter of Stephen Adkins, one of the leading

and substantial citizens of Mingo, and they

have one daughter, Ella Deborah. Mr.
Porter was reared by his late uncle to be-

lieve in the principles of the old Demo-
cratic party. Dr. O'Connell was not only

a leader in politics at Mingo Junction but

in all its public affairs, serving four terms
as mayor of the place and two terms as

postmaster. Mr. and Mrs. Porter are

members of the Methodist Episcopal
church at Mingo Junction and they are

also factors in the pleasant social life of

the place.

WILLIAM A. TISHER, treasurer and
general manager of the River Sand Com-
pany, of Steubenville, of which city he has

been a resident since 1889, was born at

Hannibal. Monroe County, Ohio, in 1807,

where be was reared and educated and re-

mained until twenty-two years of age.

When Mr. Tisher came first to Steuben-

ville he was interested in river packet
transportation between Steubenville and

East Liverpool, and later from Steuben-
ville to Wheeling, but in the break-up of
the ice in 1904 his boat was sunk. He then
associated himself with others, and in 190;j

the River Sand Cdinpany was organized
and incorporated with a capital stock of

25»000, paid in. The present officers of the

company are: W. II. Wills, president; A.
F. McCoy, vice president; William A.
Tisher, treasurer and general manager;
and II. G. Dohrnian, secretary. The board
of directors includes all the officers and
three additional members: Hon. John L.

Means, Judge J. W. Jordan and Frank
Miller. The enterprise is one of large im-

portance. The company deals in river

sand and gravel and thev operate dredges
and Hatboats. In 1896' Mr. Tisher was
married to Miss Margaret Wise, who was
born and reared at Steubenville, and is a
daughter of Samuel Wise. Mr. and Mrs.
Tisher are members of the Second Presby-
terian Church.

ROBERT T. MACKEY, residing on his

valuable farm of 14.3 acres, which lies in

Island Creek Township, Jefferson County,
Ohio, lias been a lifelong resident of this

township. He was born, April 12, 1837,

son of Robert and Margaret (Ramsey)
Mackey.
Robert Mackey was born in Ireland and

came to Island Creek Township in 1836.

where the rest of his life was spent, and
his death occurred when he was in his

ninety-second year. He married Margaret
Ramsey, who was born in Pennsylvania,
and was of Scotch ancestry, her line reach-

ing back to Sir Robert Morris, who was a
sympathizer with the American colonies

at the time of the Revolutionary War.
Robert T. Mackey obtained his educa-

tion in the subscription schools and the

early district schools of Island Creek
Township and afterward taught school for

a time, but his main business has been
farming and stockraising. He has seen

many changes take place in farm methods
since his youth and, with the assistance of

farm machinery, a large part of the heavy

Digitized by Google



HISTORY OF JKFFEKSOX COUNTY

toil of old days has been lessened Ho
raises the grains that do best in his section

and always has kept first class stock
On September 124. 18(51, Mr. Maekev was

married to Miss Mary Kinehart, a daugh-
ter of Emanuel Rinehart, an early settler

of Knox Township, Jefferson County, and
they have had five children: Curtis, who
lives in Kichland County, Wisconsin; Min-
nie, who is the wife of Stanton A. McLean,
of the same place; Levi, who lives in Island

Creek Township: Jennie, who is the wife
of Frank Wasson, of Richland County.
Wisconsin; and lva, who is defeased The
mother of the above family died January
31, 1908. She whs an estimable woman
in every relation of life and for many
years had been a member of the Tslauil

Creek Presbyterian Church. Mr. Mackey
takes only a mild interest in politics and
casts his vote with the Republican party.

HON. ROBERT SIIERRARD, who for

many years wielded a powerful influence

in business circles and in the public affairs

of not only the Stale of ( )hio, but in a much
wider field, during his long, useful and
eventful life maintained his home at Steu-
benville. where his death took place, No
vember 8. 1895. He was born in Jefferson
County, Ohio. June 9, 1823, and was a sou
of Robert A. and Mary (Catheart) Slier-

rard.

The parents of Mr. Sherrard came to

Ohio in 18115. from Fayette County. Penn-
sylvania, settling in Jefferson County and
engaging in farming. Robert Sherrard at-

tended the public schools and later an
academy at Steubenville and thus laid the
foundation of a solid education. In 1^4(5

he was admitted to the bar. after a course
of three years study in the office of Mason
& Moody, of Steubenville, and almost from
the start his ability won him clients, and in

1850 a partnership with Judge John II.

Miller, which association continued until

1K(>3, after which his interests became more
diversified and he no longer engaged in the
private practice of his profession. His
trained mind was made useful to his fellow

citizens in other channels. In 1850 he was
appointed United States marshal for the
7th District of Ohio, and in 1801, he was
elected on the Republican ticket, a member
of the State Senate. He proved himself
a man of moral courage during his sena-
torial term and gave close attention to the
duties which devolved upon him as chair-

man of a numlier of important committees.
Declining a second term, Mr. Sherrard en-
deavored to enter the army but being ex-

cluded from active work on the field, on
account of a heart affection, he entered
soul and mind into the work behind the
guns. He was appointed State and county
agent for the payment of bounties and as
such disbursed over $150,000. He made a
personal duty, the relieving of sick and
wounded soldiers and caring for their fam-
ilies and felt well repaid in the grateful ac-

knowledgements from many of those bene-

fitted. His personal character was so high
that Secretary Chase k-hose him as the
agent to receive subscriptions to the gov-
ernment loan known as the 7-30 bonds. His
subscription of $L\000 was the first one
made in Jefferson Count v and his receipts

amounted to $-J00.0O(l.

On October 1), 18(!'J. Mr. Sherrard was
appointed drafting commissioner for Jeff-

erson County, by (iovernor Tod, after the

call was issued for 300,000 more men. and
the State records show how faithfully this

service was performed. In 18f>4. when it

became evident that measures would have
to Ih» speedily taken to suppress the depre-
dations of the raider Morgan and his band
in Ohio, General Brooks, who was in com-
mand of the Federal State forces, com-
missioned Mr. Sherrard to take charge of

two regiments sent from Pittsburgh to

intercept Morgan. The executive ability

shown by Mr. Sherrard in circumventing
Morgan and forcing him to abandon his

plan of crossing the < mio at the mouth of

Short Creek, into West Virginia, gave un-

mistakable evidence of military and tacti-

cal skill. Morgan was forced to move to

the north end of the county where he was
captured with 700 men, horses and sup-
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plies. As a result Morgan was subse-
quently sent to the penitentiary and the

booty reclaimed was either returned to the
owners of the property or turned over to

the Government through Mr. Sherrard 's

thorough business methods.

In 1863 Mr. Sherrard purchased the Me-
chanics' Savings Bank at Steubenville and
conducted it as a private concern until

October, 1865, from which time until Octo-
ber 1, 1868, it was operated as a National
hank, then again becoming a private en-
terprise and is still continued as such un-
der the firm style of Sherrard, Mooney &
Company. In the meanwhile, negotiations
had been going on to induce Mr. Sherrard
to become a resident of New York City,

capitalists and business corporations there
desiring to secure him, and they finally

succeeded, Mr. Sherrard accepting the
presidency of the American National Bank
in 1870, and he also became executive offi-

cer of a New York transportation company
that employed 400 men and 600 horses and
wagons and not only handled a large part
of the freight and passenger traffic of New
York and Brooklyn, but also carried the
mails. The death of George W. McCook,
in December, 1877, with whom he had been
closely connected in business at Steuben-
ville, recalled him to this city and here he
remained until his death, although he re-

tained his financial interests in New York.
With his many important and diversified

private interests and his many private re-

sponsibilities. Mr. Sherrard from early
manhood had devoted much attention to the

higher things of life and ever took pride
in his association with educational mat-
ters and institutions. As early as 1853 he
had been appointed a member of the Board
of Control of W ashington College, by the

synod of Wheeling, and continued treas-

urer of that body uutil 1865. After the
union of Washington and Jefferson Col-

leges, in 1864. Mr. Sherrard was named a
member of the board of trustees of that

institution, as authorized by an act of the

Pennsylvania legislature. For some twen-
ty years he served as a member of the

board of Education of the city of Steuben-
ville.

Mr. Sherrard was twice married, first in

early manhood to Miss Sarah A. Salmon,
and second, on December 13, 1881, to Miss
Catherine J. Johnson, of Steubenville. To
the first marriage were born three children,

the two survivors being: Col. Henry C.

Sherrard, a prominent citizen of Ohio, who
was a member of the staff of Ex-Governor
Foraker; and Emma V., who married
Henry C. Elliott, whose death occurred in

1908. Six children were born to his sec-

ond marriage, namely: Thomas J., Mary
C, Robert S., Elizabeth I., John J. and
Lillie E.

Extended travel through Europe and
the Holy Land was the recreation Mr.
Sherrard gave himself when the engross-
ing cares of busiuess or public life became
too wearing and at times he appeared on
the lecture platform to entertainingly tell

of these visits. He took delight in show-
ing to his friends his large collection of
rare and beautiful objects collected in

foreign lands, but all the combined attrac-

tions of other countries could never have
won from him his prized American citizen-

ship. The family home is a fine residence,

situated at No. 205 North Fourth Street,

where Steubenville's exclusive society has
often been charmingly entertained.

BENJAMIN REN DANCE, a promi-
nent and substantial citizen of Cross Creek
Township, Jefferson County, Ohio, where
he owns 181 acres of land, owns also a
farm of seventy acres situated in Island
Creek Township. He was born in Cross
Creek Township, in April. 1843, and is a
son of Jacob and Harriet (Love) Dance.
Jacob Dance was born in Greene County,

Pennsylvania, in April, 1812. and was a
son of Daniel and Hufty Dance. In 1834

Jacob Dance came to Jefferson County a
poor man and started to work for farmers
for a salary of nine dollars a month, his

wages being increased three dollars in the

second year. This he considered a suffi-

cient income on which to get married, and
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he went back to Greene County and was
there united to Harriet, a daughter of Al-
fred and Anna Love. This was a marriage
of much domestic happiness. His bride
was willing to share his fortune, although
she knew it was one entailing many hard-
ships, but they both lived to see the day
when they owned 200 acres of valuable
land and had all the comforts of life

around them. Their ashes rest in the old
Cross Creek Cemetery. They hud the fol-

lowing children born to them : Anna, who
was the wife of Hezin B. •Johnson, now de-
ceased; Sarah, deceased, who was the wife
of William Stone; Benjamin Bex; and
Martha, who married Calvin B. Culp
Benjamin Rex Dance obtained hi* edu-

cation in the common schools of Cross
Creek Township. When nineteen years of
age he began to be his father's main helper
on the farm and has always been an agri-
culturist and has lived on the homo place
with the exception of his period of service

in the Civil War. He was not yet twenty-
one years old when he enlisted' under Col.

George W. Cook, in Co. E, 157th Ohio Vol.
Inf. He is a member of Stanton Post. G.
A. R., at Steubenville.

In June, 1880, Mr. Dance was married
to Miss Anna Rex, a daughter of George
D. and Rebecca Jane (Porter) Rex, the
former of whom was a native of Greene
County, Pennsylvania, and the latter of
Jefferson County, Ohio. Both are de-

ceased and their burial was in Jefferson
County. They had three children: Dar-
win, Hugh and Anna. Mr. and Mrs. Dance
have four children: Lindsey P., who re-

sides at Denver, Colo.; Hubert J., who
lives at Steubenville; and Jane and Helen,
who are at home. Mr. Dance and family
belong to the Presbyterian church. He is

identified with the Republican party and
lias served in public office, for two tonus
being a member of the board of directors

of the county infirmary, and at present is

serving on the school board.

JAMES L. COX, county surveyor of
Jefferson County, Ohio, a civil engineer by

profession, was born at Brilliant, Jeffer-
son County, Ohio, in 1860, and was educat-
ed in Jefferson County aud at Lebanon, in

Warren County, and for five years en-

gaged in teaching in the former county.
During 1892-93 he was in railroad work
with the Fort Wayne Railroad, then
worked as a civil engineer, and from 1894-

97 as a general engineer, and during the

latter year was a civil engineer at Mingo
Junction. In 1901 he entered upon the du-

ties of county surveyor and has served
continuously in the office, his_ present
term expiring September 1, 1911.

In 1880 Mr. Cox was married to Miss
Mary Horn, of Washington County, and
they have one son, Charles, who is taking

a special engineering course at the Ohio
State University at Columbus. Mr. Cox
and family are members of the Christian
church, of which he has served as treas-

urer. He is identified with the Odd Fel-

lows at Brilliant and is financial secretary

of the lodge.

JOSEPH MILLER, one of the repre-
sentative citizen* of Island Creek Town-
ship, Jefferson County, Ohio, who owns a
farm of exceeding productiveness, contain-

ing 212 acres, has lived on this place since

1892 and has l>een a resident of the town-
ship since 1876. Tic was born in Wertcm-
berg, Germany, October 25, 1834, and is a
son of John and Maiy A. (Rummer)
Miller.

The parents of Mr. Miller came to

America in 1852. accompanied by their one
son and three daughters, and settled at

first in Allegheny County, Pennsylvania,
where they died a few years later. In
1859 Joseph Miller went to Placer County,
Oal., where he remained until 1868, during
this time engaging in gold mining. He re-

turned then to Pennsylvania, where, on
November 4, 1868, he was married to Miss
Mary A. Eichenlaub, who was born in Ba-
varia, Germany. March 4. 1841. Her par-

ents were Joseph and Barbara (Martin)
Eichenlaub. Mrs. Miller came to America
in J867 and was married in the following
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year. To Mr. and Mrs. Miller five children

"were born, namely: Joseph P., who lives

at Moab, Utah; Peter II., wlio lives in

Washington County, Idaho; Oliver and
Frank \\\, both of whom reside in Island

Creek Township; and Margaret II., who is

the wife of Charles Kister, and they live

in Salem Township. Oliver Miller, of the

al)ove family, is the practical manager of

the farm. He married Miss Kate Rokliz

and they have four children, Joseph. Alice.

Agnes and John. Mr. and Mrs. Joseph
Miller are members of St. Peter's Roman
Catholic Church, at Steubenville. They
are well known through this section and
are held in the highest respect. Mr. Miller

casts his vote with the Democratic party.

His large farm is devoted to general farm-

ing and the raising of stock.

OBEDIAH J. WILLIAMS, who was
one of the representative citizens and sub-

stantial farmers of Cross Creek Township.
Jefferson County, Ohio, for many years,

and was well and widely known all through
this section, being a member of one of the

early families, was born on his father's

farm in Cross Creek Township, in 1820,

and died on his own farm here, Mav 26,

1897.

The parents of Obediah J. Williams
were John and Margaret (Crawford)
Williams and the father, came from Ire-

land when quite young. He was a farm-
er in Cross Creek Township, where both

he and wife died. They had the following

children: John; Margaret, wife of James
Kendall; Elizabeth, wife of Joseph Char-
nock; Harriet, wife of William Winters;

and Obediah J., all of whom are now de-

ceased.

Obediah J. Williams had but few school

advantages, as the country was but

sparsely settled and little organized in his

youth. The farm on which the larger part
of his life was spent was left to him by
an uncle, Thomas Williams, with the pro-

viso that he pay his brothers and sisters

and other heirs their share of the estate,

which duty he performed. The farm con-

tains 122 acres of excellent land, and after
Mr. Williams became the owner of the
property he made many improvements and
built an addition to the brick residence,

making of it a very comfortable home. The
main interests of his life were his farm,
his cattle and his family. He cast his po-
litical vote with the Republican party, but
never sought public office, and he gave lib-

erally to the First Presbyterian Church, of
which his familv are members.
On March 6," 1862, Mr. Williams was

married to Miss Margaret Elizabeth
Decker, a daughter of Andrew and Sophia
(Buchholz) Decker. The parents of Mrs.
Williams came from Germany and for a
number of years resided on their farm in

Cross Creek Township, but later moved to

Steubenville, where both died, Mrs. Will-

iams being their only child. To Mr. and
Mrs. Williams the following children were
bom: Margaret; Anna; Clarence, who
married Elizabeth Bates and has four
children—John, Harry, Jane and Robert;
Minnie, who is the widow of Sheridan
Lowery, and had four children—Margaret
Elizabeth, Dore E., and Andrew and Helen
Virginia, both of whom are deceased: and
John, who married Anna B. McConnell
and has three children—Edward, Grace
nnd John. Mrs. Williams and her chil-

dren own the farm in Cross Creek Town-
ship.

JEAXETTE KRSK1NE, M. D.. who
lias an office at No. 222 North Third Stieet,

Steubenville, has been established here in

the practice of medicine and surgery since

1894. She was born and reared in Jeffer-

son County, and is a daughter of David
Erskine.

Dr. Erskine is a thoroughly trained phy-
sician and surgeon. For some years she
was a student in the Cleveland schools

and in 1894 graduated from the Cleveland
University of Medicine. She came imme-
diately to Steubenville and has built up a
very satisfactory practice. She is a mem-
ber of the Ohio State Medical Society, of

the Ohio Valley Homeopathic Medical So-
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eiety and of the American Institute of
Homeopathy. She is a member of the First

Presbyterian Church, belongs to the Wo-
man's Club and is active in church, club

and charitable work. Her acquaintance is

wide and she is held in the highest esteem,
both personally and professionally.

WILLIAM J. LEE, a representative

farmer and stock raiser of Island Creek
Township and one of its best known citi-

zens, was born on a farm in this township,
April 1, 1860, and is n son of Benjamin
and Elizabeth (Taylor) Lee.

Benjamin Lee, who died in 1891, was
one of Island Creek's most respected citi-

zens and a lifelong resident. His father,

James Lee, was born in Ireland and was
oue of tlie pioneers in this section, the old

family home being situated on what is

known as Lee's Hinge. Benjamin Lee mar-
ried Elizabeth Taylor and they had two
children. William J. being the onlv sur-

vivor, and they had one adopted daughter,
Emma, the wife of Joseph Jacobs. Ben-
jamin Lee and wife were valued members
of Bray's Methodist Episcopal Church
in which he was a steward, and she con-

tinues her relationship with this body.

Mrs. Lee is now in her seventy-seventh
year and is a beloved member of her son's

household.
William J. Lee was carefully reared by

excellent parents and during bis father's

lifetime he was his main assistant on the

home farm and later assumed all its re-

sponsibilities. Having been accustomed
to the details of farm life from boyhood,
he has had the advantage that comes from
knowledge in the management of his farm
and stock industries and has met with
more than usual success.

Mr. Lee married Miss Alice Powell, a

daughter of Aaron Powell, a prominent
resident of Island Creek Township for

many years, and they have five children:

Julia E., who is the wife of John Rogers,

of Island Creek Township; Gladys M.,

who is a student in the High School at

Steubenville; and Carl T. and Laura M.,

who are at home. An infant daughter is

deceased. Mr. Lee and family belong to

Bray's Methodist Episcopal Church, iu

which he is one of the stewards. He is a
public spirited citizen and much interested

in the schools and has served on the Island
Creek Independent School District No. 2
board.

THOMAS P. VICKERS, general mer-
chant and representative citizen of To-
ronto, ()., has been in business at this place

for almost two decades, owns property
here and is recognized as a leading man
of this part of Jefferson County. He was
born on a farm near Marietta, in Wash-
ington Comity. Ohio, December 2 1859,

and is a son of Thomas and Phebe
(Malin) Vickers. Thomas Vickers and
wife were natives of Belmont County,
Ohio, and from there moved to a farm in

Washington County, where he died June 6.

18S0. his wife having passed awav on
January 29, 18K4.

Thomas P. Vickers was reared on the

old home farm and remained there until

his father died, when he went to Little

Hocking, Ohio, where, in association with
A. \V. Clifton, he conducted the A. W.
Clifton Company store for several years.

In December, 1S90, he came to Toronto,
where, with the exception of 1908, he has
been in the mercantile business ever since.

He built his store building when he went
into business and retained his property
after selling out his merchandise, in \iav,

1908.

On January 1, 1909. he restocked and
resumed business as before. Mr. Vickers
carries a large and first class stock, deal-

ing in dry goods, ready made clothing,

millinery, groceries, feed and flour. In
his busy seasons he employs six clerks and
keeps one delivery wagon.

Mr. Vickers was married in 1890. to

Miss Cora Sloan, of Monroe County. Ohio,

ami they have one child, Mabel. Mr. and
Mrs. Vickers are members of the Metho-
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dist Protestant Church. He is identified

with the Odd Fellows, the Woodmen of

the World and the Protected Jlome Circle.

HON. WILLIAM Mcl). MILLER, a

member of the bar at Steubenville, 0., and
a prominent citizen who is identified with

many of the leading business concerns of

that section, was bora October, 1858, in

Steubenville, ()., and is a sou of Martin L.

Miller.

Martin L. Miller was born on the bound-
ary between Beaver and Washington Coun-
ties, at a place then known as Millersburg
and in 1854 came to .Jefferson County,
Ohio, locating iit Steubenville, where he

became one of the most successful business

men. He was one of the first pharmacists
to locate here. He became a white lead

manufacturer and afterward served eight

years as postmaster of Steubenville un-

der the McKinley and Roosevelt admin-
istrations.

William .Mcl). Miller secured a common
school education, graduating from the Steu-

benville High School, after which he spent

two years studying Latin and (J reek under
Profs. Andrews & Howe. He then took up
the study of law under McCnrdy J»ud Spen-
cer, Ksqs., was admitted to the bar in 1SH.'{

and one year later embarked in the practice

of law at Steubenville, where he was soon
after elected and served seven years as

city solicitor. Mr. Miller has always been
an active participant in the work of the

Republican party, and was especially in-

terested during McKinley 's iadministraJ

tion. as a member of the State Central
Committee. He was appointed prnbato
judge by McKinley and served eight years

in that capaicty. Mr. Miller represents
various companies and corj>orations as
counsel, making a specialty of traction,

telephone, gas and oil companies. He was
for nine years president of the Herald
Printing Company, organized The Steuben-
ville Building and Loan Association and is

a director of the Steubenville and East
Liverpool Railway and Light Company. He

is also a director in various other smaller
concerns.

Hon. William Mcl). Miller was marrietl

in June, 1892, to Jessie Mossgrove, of Steu-
benville. He holds membership with the

First Presbyterian Church, and is a mem-
ber of the board of trustees and treasurer
of the same.

FRANK M. MYERS, deputy recoider
of Jefferson County, and one of the rising

young business men of Steubenville, O.,

was born in Toronto. O.. in 1884, and is a
son of A. W. and Harriet (McFerm)
Myers. A. W. Myers, now deceased, was
bora in Toronto, ( )., in 18.15, and during his

active career carried on a general contract-

ing business at Toronto. He is survived
by his widow, who is a resident of Toronto,
()., and the following children: Mary, who
is the wife of Charles W. Moran, of Jeddo,
(>.; Frank M.; Sadie, who married Hugh
Wilberts, of Toronto; and Jennie, who is

the wife of 1). I). Huseroft, county recorder
of Jefferson County.
Frank M. Myers was reared in Toronto,

O., and after a common school education
was engaged in the wall paper business at

Toronto with his brother for some time,

then entered the employ of the American
Sewer Pipe Company, after which he was
employed at the Carnegie Steel Works at

Mingo until September, 1909, since which
time he has been serving as deputy re-

corder of Jefferson County. Mr. Myers
holds membership with the Methodist
Protestant Church, of Toronto, O. He is

a Mason of the 14th degree, recognized as
one of the able and efficient men of the

younger generation at Steubenville.

PAUL CASTXER, a prominent citizen

of Millvale, Jefferson County, Ohio, where
he has been engaged in a general mer-
cantile business since 1893, came here as
one of the earliest settlers, in 1870. He
was born in Island Creek Township, Jef-

ferson County, September 2fi, 1845, and is

a son of Rassellas ami Christina (Limon-
stell) Castner.
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Rassellas Castner was born in Island
Creek Township, to which his father,

Michael Castner, had come from Penn-
sylvania. He became a man of prominence
and wealth in Island Creek Township and
owned and improved the farm on which
John D. Kilgore resides and built the brick
house standing on that farm, which, at

the time of its erection was considered one
of the finest residences in all this section.

Rassellas Castner was afforded a collegi-

ate education and was an unusually intelli-

gent and well informed man. His entire

life was spent in Island Creek Township,
where he died February 19, 1883. He was
well known all over Jefferson County and
had he so desired, could have been elected

to many public offices by the Republican
party. He was married first to Parmelia
Rex, and they had two of their four chil-

dren survive infancy: Michael C, residing

in Island Creek Township, and Edwin S.,

residing near Newark, 0. His second
union was with Christina Limonstell and
five children were born to that marriage,
namely: Paul; Hannah, who is the wife of

Josepli Blackburn, of Steubenville: Rod-
erick M.. who lives at Steubenville; Sarah,
who is the wife of M. W. Ginger, of Steu-

benville; and Eli T., who also resides in

that city.

Paul Castner was reared on the home
farm in Island Creek Township and at-

tended the district schools. During early

manhood he engaged in agricultural pur-

suits and still owns a valuable farm of 102

acres, which is situated in Island Creek
Township. He has been a general mer-
chant at Millvale for the past seventeen

years and was one of the pioneer business

men of that place. Through his enterprise

and interest he has done much in the way
of building up this village.

On November 3, 1870, Mr. Castner was
married to Miss Mary 11. Paxton, who was
born in Jefferson County, (>.. and is a

daughter of the late George and Margaret
Paxton. of Island Creek Township. Mr.
and Mrs. Castner have had eight children,

the six survivors being as follows: Ger-

trude M., who is the wife of Edward Cable,
of Steubenville; Oella C, who is the wife
of John II. Priest, of Wellsville; Anna E.,

who is the wife of H. M. Benedick, of To-
ronto, 0.; Nina M., who is the wife of
George N. Taylor, of Steubenville; and
Charles and Edwin, both of whom reside

at home. Margaret P. and Mollie are both
deceased. Mr. and Mrs. Castner attend
the Methodist Episcopal Church. In poli-

tics he has always been identified with the
Republican party.

EVAN G. EVANS, a prominent citizen,

financier and capitalist of Jefferson Coun-
ty, has spent the larger portion of his

life in the neighborhood in which his fore-

fathers settled many years ago. He was
horn in Mt. Pleasant Township, this

county. May 14. 1840. and is a son of
George I. Evans and a grandson of Jona-
than and Elizabeth Evans.
George I. Evans was horn in Montgom-

ery County, Pennsylvania, in 1812. and
came to Ohio June 26, 1830. He was in

the thirty-sixth generation in descent from
the founder of his family as, in part, is

given as follows:

The genealogy of the Evans family has
been traced to Mervyn Vrych, King of
Mau. who was killed in battle with the

King of Mercia, A. D. 843. King Mervyn
married Esyll, daughter and sole heiress

of Conan Tyudactly, King of Wales, who
died in 818 or 820. Both Merwyn and
Esylt traced their descent from T hudd.
King of Britain, who was a brother of
Cnswallon, the chief who resisted the inva-

sion of Caesar, before the Christian Era.
Passing over a number of intermediate

generations from Mervyn Vrych the line

may be taken up in the tenth generation
from the Book of Gwynedd.

Ivan, known as Evan Robert Lewis, was
living in HiOl and was probably then a
young man. He removed from Rhowlas,
or its neighborhood in Merionethshire, to

Vrom Goch. probably in Denbighshire, and
there passed the remainder of his life He
had five sons, all taking for themselves.
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according to Welch custom, the form of
Ap Evan, as follows: John ap Evan, Cad-
wallader ap Evan, Griffith ap Evan, Owen
ap Evan and Eva ap Evan.

Evan ap Evan was the father of the four
brothers who came to Gwynedd, in 1698,

accompanied by Sarah, their sister and
the mother of Robert Pugh. He was twice

married and had two daughters by his first

marriage and the four settler sons hy his

second.

Owen Evans, the third of these sons,

emigrated from Wales in 1698 and died
October 7, 1723, in his sixty-fourth year,

having been born in 1659. His wife was
Elizabeth.

Thomas Evans, of Gwynedd, was a son
of Thomas Evans and was the grandfather
of the late George I. Evans and the great-

grandfather of Evan Griffith Evans, of Mt.
Pleasant Township, near Emerson. This
Thomas Evans was born January 24, 1733,

and died September 3, 1818. He married
Elizabeth Roberts in 1765 (born Novem-
ber 19, 1740, died in 1794), a daughter of

John and Jane Roberts, of Whilpan.
Jonathan Evans, father of George I.

Evans and grandfather of Evan G. Evans,
was bom in Montgomery County, Penn-
sylvania, in 1778, and died in Mt. Pleasant
Township, April 7, 1844, aged sixty-six

vears. He was married at Richland, Bucks
County. Pa., October 5, 1809, to Elizabeth

Iden, who died January 23, 1824. Jonathan
Evans taught school at Richland, a half

mile from Bunker's Hill, for two years
after his marriage and then removed to

Gwynedd. Montgomery County, where he
taught until about 1816. when he settled

at Sandy Hill and engaged in teaching

there until the death of his wife in 1824.

Tn 1832-3 he was in Ohio, near Mt. Pleas-

ant, with his son, and then returned to

Montgomery County and thereafter made
his home with his brother Caleb.

The children of Jonathan and Elizabeth
Evans were six in number, namely:
Thomas I., born in 1810. died in 1883 mar-
ried Ann Washington; George I.. born in

1812; Caleb, born in 1815. married Sarah

Black; William R., born in 1817, married
Mary W. Allen for his first wife and
Martha S. Carr for his second wife; Job,
born in 1820, died in the same year; and
Hannah I., born in 1821, married Thomas
D. Thomlinson, of Marietta, Iowa.

George I. Evans, father of Evan Griffith

Evans, was born August 31, 1812. and died
April 2, 1886. He was twice married, first

in January, 1834, to Sarah Griffith, who
was born in 1814 and died in 1846. She
was a daughter of Evan and Elizabeth
Griffith, of Mt. Pleasant, O. George I.

Evans' second marriage was to Mary P.
Richards, a daughter of Samuel and Ann
Richards, of Mt. Pleasant. On June 26,

1830. George I. Evans moved to Mt. Pleas-

ant Township and settled in the neighbor-
hood of what was Trenton, now Emerson.
He had large business interests and owned
a number of valuable farms. He survived
his second wife for ten years, her death
occurring on September 20, 1876, while she
was attending the Centennial celebration

at Philadelphia. The children of George I.

Evans were: Elizabeth E., born in 1835,
who was married in 1853 to John Scott,

both being now deceased ; Julia A., born in

1837. who in 1849 was married to Thomas
McMullan, both now deceased; Evan Grif-

fith ; Sarah E., who was born in 1842, and
died in 1863; and Mary A., born in 1844,

who was married in 1870 to George W.
Michner and died in 1889, leaving four
children—Elizabeth, William W., George
Evans and Mary Edith.
Evan G. Evans obtained his educational

training in the local schools and owing to

the fact that he was the only son. was
early called upon to assume business cares
and responsibilities. Fortunately he was
endowed with good judgment and has
never regretted his early training along
business lines. In the management of his

father's property he learned how to take
care of his own, which has grown to a
large estate, he now being one of the capi-
talists of this section. Mr. Evans is largely
interested in a number of financial institu-

tions of recognized standing, and is on the
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directing boards of the First National
Bank of Mt. Pleasant and of the Mt. Pleas-

ant branch of the State Bank of Ohio ; he is

a charter member of the Mt. Pleasant Sav-
ings Bank and a director in the same and
is also a charter member of the Mt. Pleas-

ant National Bank and the Citizens' Sav-
ings Bank of Mt. Pleasant. The solidity

of these institutions is never questioned,

their directing boards being made up
solely of men of recognized ability and
integrity.

On January .9, 1802, Mr. Evans was
married to Miss Rebecca Croft, a daughter
of William and Rachel Croft. Her father

came to Ohio from Virginia and died at

the age of fifty-five years in Belmont
County, Ohio, where lie was engaged in

business as a merchant. He married
Rachel Spencer, who was born in Belmont
County in 1809 and died ;it Emerson, Jef-

ferson County, November 20, 1881. Mr.
and Mrs. Evans have had children as fol-

lows: Arthur W., born May 31. 1803, re-

sides on the home place, married Annie J.

Scott, daughter of John and Elizabeth

Scott, and they have one daughter, Sarah
Delphinc; George Austin, born March 10,

18(55, is a farmer residing near West Lib-

erty, Iowa, married Anna Bnrrell and
they have two children—Lucile E. and
Lawrence William; Sarah Ella, born April

29, 1871 ; Ellery ('banning, born April 22,

1873. is a hardware merchant at Des
Moines. Iowa; and Anna Clare, bom April

21, 1875, married W. W. Michner, of Rocky
Mount. N. C, and has one child, Anna Re-
becca, born July 0, 1909. Mr. and Mrs.
Evans are members of the Society of

Friends at Emerson.

JOHN A. FISHER, who is now serving

bis second term as president of the board
of county commissioners of Jefferson

County, Ohio, was born in July. 1800. in

Steubenville, O., where for many years

he was engaged in conducting a grocery
and market. He is a son of Jacob M.
Fisher, who was born in July, 1830, in

Steubenville, where he was for many vears

concerned in manufacturing and also in

the mercantile business, and died here in

July. 1909.

John A. Fisher grew to manhood and
was educated at Steubenville, where, after

clerking some time in a grocery store, he
opened a meat market, which he conducted
successfully for over twenty years. He
was engaged in the grocery and market
business at the time of his election to the

board of county commissioners in the fall

of 1905, first iaking office in September,
19* Hi, and was re-elected in 1908, and is

now serving his second term as presideut
of the board. During the nineties he
served four years as coroner of Jefferson
County, having always taken a more or
less active interest in politics. Mr. Fisher
is a member of the Finley M. E. Church, of
which he was for more than twenty years
superintendent of the Sabbath-school, and
is fraternally affiliated with the Masonic
order at Steubenville, O.
Mr. Fisher was first married to Miss

Cora (i. McNeal. a daughter of A. R. Me-
Neal. who died in 1900, leaning three sons:

George E.. of Steubenville; J. Donald, who
is in the employ of the l

T
. S. Glass Com-

pany, of Pittsburgh; and John A. Mr.
Fisher formed a second union with Miss
Cora H. Clifton, a daughter of O. P. Clif-

ton, who died January 9. 1909, and to

them were born: Leone C, Olive Daisy,

and Helen Virginia.

WILLIAM GLADDEN was formerly
one of Knox Township's well known and
respected citizens, one of the men of whom
it may truly be said that his word was as

good as his bond and his friendship was
cherished by those to whom it was given.

He was a faithful friend, a good neighbor
and devoted husband. He was born near
Midway. Pa.. January 13, 1830. and died

on his farm in Knox Township, April 13.

1891 His parents were Joseph and lane
(Donaldson) Gladden.
William Gladden was reared to man's

estate in Pennsylvania and there he at-

tended school in boyhood but for only a
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short period as he practically had his own
way to make in the world and began work
early. About 1864 he came to Jefferson
County, Ohio, and settled on the farm on
which his widow still resides, and here the
remaining years of his life were passed.
He devoted himself entirely to fanning
and stock raising.

On .May .«), 1876, Mr. Gladden was
united in marriage with Miss Rebecca E.
Warren, who was bora in Knox Township,
Jefferson County, Ohio, March 21, ]832,
and is a daughter of Thomas and Ruth
(Pollick) Warren. Her father was born in

Pennsylvania; her mother, born in Jef-
ferson County, died when Mrs. Gladden
was four years old. Her paternal grand-
father was William Warren, who settled
in 1806 in Knox Township, on the farm
now occupied by Andrew Warren. William
Warren was a soldier in the War of 1812.
William Gladden was a consistent member
of the United Presbyterian Church at

Knoxville, O. Mrs. Giadden belongs also
to this church. She is well known and very
highly esteemed in her locality. She had
four brothers, who fought for the preser-
vation of the Union in the great Civil War.
Her farm has 190 acres, but her nephew
owns it, she, however, retaining a life lease

of it.

JOHN L. MARTIN, who owns thirty-

five acres of fine funning land in Cross
Creek Township, Jefferson County, Ohio,
and eighty-two acres just as valuable in

Steubenville Township, was born in the
latter township, July 12. 18G8. and is a
son of John and Emma (Meuschke) Mar-
tin. John Martin and wife were born in

Germany and both came to America young
and were married at Steubenville. During
some years of his life he worked as a
stone mason, but later followed farming.
They had the following children: William,
Robert and Mary, both deceased, and
John L.

John L. Martin attended the common
schools in Steubenville Township, after

which he engaged in farming for a few

55)1

years and then began contracting, and has
been connected with A. W. McDonald in

the contracting business for a number of
years and combines his two lines of busi-
ness. In a general way he is a Republican
in his political views, but frequently uses
his own judgment in giving support to can-
didates. He is numbered with his town-
ship's representative citizens. Mr. Mar-
tin was married May 27, 1897, to Miss
Clara C. Pfabe, a daughter of Emil and
Amelia (Atterholdt) Pfabe. The parents
of Mrs. Martin were both born in the
United States, but the grandparents were
natives of Germany and residents of
Butler County, Pennsylvania. Mrs. Mar-
tin has six brothers: Charles, Philip, Al-
bert, William, Andrew and Clarence Mr.
and Mrs. Martin have one son and three
daughters, John, Anna, Helen and Giace.
The family belongs to the Methodist Epis-
copal Church.

S. II. CAREY, secretary of The Myers
Company, scenic painters, designers and
decorators, at Steubenville, was born at

Hudson, O., January 1, 1871, and was there
reared and educated. When twenty years
of age Mr. Carey became connected with
the Pennsylvania Company and remained
with that corporation for ten years, after
which he became associated with J. Rosb
Myers and came to this city from Toronto,
O. In 1!K)4 The Myers Company was or-

ganized and incorporated, its officers

being: J. Ross Myers, president and treas-

urer; Paul Nordstrom, vice president, and
S. H. Carey, secretary. The business is

one that covers a wide trade territory. The
main office is situated at No. 144 North
Third Street, Steubenville.

In lH'Mi, Mr. Carey was married to Miss
Rlnnche Glenn, of Toronto, O., where she
was born and reared, and they have one
son, R. Glenn. Mr. and Mrs. Carey are
members of the Methodist Protestant
Church, of Toronto, and he has been a
member of its official board, the leader of
the choir and superintendent of the Sun-
day-school. He is a i!2d degree Mason and
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is past master of the Blue Lodge at To-
ronto, and belongs to the Lodge of Per-
fection at Steubenville and to the Con-
sistory at Columbus, O.

SAMUEL C. GILL. By the death of
Samuel C. Gill, which occurred at his is-

land home, Beaumaris, Canada, on August
17, 19U9, Steubenville lost one of her most
active and popular citizens. Mr. Gill be-

louged to the Mt. Pleasant family of that

name, where he was born on March 10,

1851. His early education was in the

schools of Mt. Pleasant, then as now beiug
above the average of village schools, sup-

plemented by a course at Earlham College,

Iud., and a two-year term at Cornell Uni-

versity, Ithaca, N. Y. With his brothers,

Hon. J. J. and J. W. Gill, he was one of
the fouuders of the Exchange Bank (in

1873), once the National Exchauge, in

which he always maintained an interest

and held a directorship for several years
preceding his death. When his brothers

entered into the glass business, as is more
fully related elsewhere, he embarked in

the same enterprise, in which business he

remained during life, and was also one of
the originators of and part owner in the

Ohio Valley Clay Works, which have grown
from a comparatively small beginning to

one of the leading industries of the city.

In 1900 Mr. Gill was appointed a member
of Governor Nash's staff, with the rank of

colonel, and served in that capacity during
Nash's two terms. Besides possessing a

taste for literature and the arts, Mr. Gill

was <|iiite an extensive traveler and was a
keen observer of all that came in his way.
Several years previous to his death he pur-
chased one of the beautiful islands in Lake
Muskoka. Canada, where he built a sum-
mer home, and where he and his family
pleasantly sojourned during the heated
terms, and where, as stated above, be
passed away. He was interest ed in social

and civic enterprises, being a director of

the Steubenville Country Club, ami a mem-
ber of the Ohio Society of New York, and
the Caledon Club, Toronto. On October 5,

18S1, Mr. Gill married Miss Willmena Hol-
ton, of Steul>enville, who survives him with
one son. .lames Holton Gill, one of our
most worthy and popular young citizens.

EDWARD DAVID McKINLEY, stock

raiser and farmer in Island Creek Town-
ship, who resides with his family on the
old Patterson farm of 147 acres, which be-

longs to his wife, was born in Ohio County,
West Virginia, March 22, 1871, and is a
son of John W. and Sarah (Waugh) Mc-
Kinley, who now reside also in Island

Creek Township, to which they came in

1874. Mr. McKinley was three years old

when his parents came to Jefferson Coun-
ty, and he has made his home here ever
since. From the public schools he entered
Richmond College, a former well known
educational institution which is no longer
in existence.

On September 3, 1902, Mr. McKinley
was married to Miss I^inra M. Patterson,
who was born in Island Creek Township,
April 2. 1874, on the farm on which she
has always lived. This land was secured
in 1800 by her grandfather, William Pat-
terson, and has never since been out of
the family. Her father, the late Andrew
J. Patterson, was born and spent his life

here. Mr. and Mrs. McKinley have one
daughter, Martha M.. who was bom Feb-
ruary 8, 1906, on the same day of the

month as was her grandfather. Mr. and
Mrs. McKinley nre members of Mt. Tabor
Methodist Episcopal Church, of which he
is a trustee. In politics he is a Democrat,
lie is numbered with the successful agri-

culturists of Island Creek Township and
is one of the lending sheep raisers.

GEORGE WILSON TILTON, propri-

etor of a general store at Yorkville, 0.,

was for many years engaged in agricul-

tural pursuits, and was born June 25, 1*51,

on Deep Run, about three ipiarters of a
mile from bis present home in Belmont
County, Ohio. He is a son of Joel and
Cynthia (Hartzell) Tilton, and a grandson
of Joseph Tilton, who was one of the early

d by Google



SAM TEL. C. GIIX

by Google



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 595

settlers of Warren Township, Jefferson
County, Ohio. He owned a section of land
running from Deep Run to Tiltonville,

which town was named after hiui, and was
an Indian trader and fanner. He died in

the old house, which was over one hundred
years old, in 1860, at the age of ninety-

three years, three months and sixteen

days. Joseph Tilton and his wife were
often obliged to take turns at night watch-
ing through holes in the sides of the old

log house for the Indians, who then dwelt
in this locality in large numbers and
were unfriendly. Joseph Tilton and wife
were the parents of four children: Noah,
deceased ; Joel, father of our subject ; and
two daughters.

Joel Tilton was horn on the farm in

Warren Township in the old log house,
which at that time was considered very
fine, and he has a little bracket made from
the old walnut logs of the house in which
his father was born. Joel Tilton was
reared in this township, became a farmer
and subsequently came into possession of

part of the old home place. He married
Cynthia Hartzell, a native of Pennsylva-
nia, who with their eldest child often rode
alone on horseback over the mountains to

her parents' home in Pennsylvania. They
had seven children: Noah, a resident of
Martin's Ferry, 0. ;

Mary, who is the wife
of Mack McKim, of Kansas City; Indiana,
who married W. J. Darrah, of Martin's
Ferry; Joseph, who lives in Ohio County,
West Virginia; John, deceased; Frances,
who lives in Topeka, Kan. ; and George W.
The father died in 1875, aged sixty-five

years, and the mother died at the home of

bur subject in 190.1, aged eighty-nine years.

George Wilson Tilton was reared on the

home farm, attended the old log school

house and early in life began working on
the farm. He engaged in agricultural pur-

suits on a farm of 180 acres just across
the line in Belmont County, Ohio, until

1906, then sold out and established a gen-
eral store at Yorkvillc, Jefferson County,
Ohio. Tie was married May 1. 1885, to

Mary M. Jones and they have two chil-

dren: Earl B., a graduate of the Martin's
Ferry High School, began teaching at

Dillonvale in 1905 and was made super-
intendent of the schools in 1909; and Ed-
gar G., who is agent for the 0. & P. R. R.

at Bedford, O. Mr. Tilton is a member
of the American Mechanics of Martin's
Ferry, and in politics is a Democrat.

CHARLES T. MORELAND, a repre-
sentative citizen of Island Creek Town-
ship, Jefferson County, Ohio, an enterpris-

ing fanner and dairyman, was born on
Pleasant Heights, Steubenville, O., July 16,

1871, and is a son of Thomas G. and Mar-
tha (Figley) Moreland.
The late Thomas G. Moreland, who died

in October, 1897, was born in Steubenville
Township, Jefferson County, and was a
son of John Moreland, who came to Jef-

ferson County from Washington County,
Pennsylvania, and was one of the earliest

settlers on Pleasant Heights, Steubenville
Township. John Moreland married Betsey
Myers and she accompanied her parents
when they settled on Pleasant Heights in

August, 18U0. Thomas G. Moreland was
one of Jefferson County's most successful

agriculturists and his standing among his

fellow citizens was very high. For over a
half century he engaged extensively in

dairying, and for fifteen years of this time
resided on the farm on which his son,

Charles T., lives, in Island Creek Town-
ship, near the Jefferson County Infirmary.

In 1895 he completed the fine brick resi-

dence on this property, but lived only two
years afterward. He married Martha Fig-

ley, who is now in her seventy-eighth year.

She was born in Island Creek Township,
where her family also had settled at an
early day. To this marriage the follow-

ing children were born: Eve, who is the

wife of Joseph Lawson, of Pleasant
Heights; Charles T. ; John, who lives in

Cross Creek Township; Jess, who resides

in Island Creek Township; and Elizabeth,

who is the wife of John Edwards, of Steu-

benville, O., the aged mother being a mem-
ber of their household.

Digitized by Google



51>6 HISTOHY OK JEFFERSON COUNTY

Charles T. Moreland was reared ou
Pleasant Heights and attcnde<l school at

Steubenville. From his youth he has been
engaged in fanning and dairying. Since
1895 he lias been located ou the T. G. More-
land estate in Island Creek Township, com-
prising 500 acres, coming here from Pleas-

ant Heights. He carries on his business

according to modern methods and has
erected buildings especially fitted for his

various industries.

On February 22, 1894, .Mr. Moreland
was married to Miss Lucy Powers, who
was born at Steubenville, ()., and is a

daughter of the late Michael Powers. They
have four childreu: Thomas G.. Emmett,
Mary M., and James \V. In politics, like

his late father, Mr. Moreland is a Demo-
crat. He is identified with the Fraternal
Order of Eagles at Steubenville. lie is

not a member of any religious body, but is

a supporter of all moral movements and
through words and acts exerts an influence

for good in his community.

WILLIAM ANDREW COX, a promi-
nent agriculturist of Wells Township,
whose farm of 160 acres is located near
New Alexandria, has l>een a lifelong resi-

dent of Jefferson County. Ohio, and was
born January 29, 1862. at' New Alexandria,

()., and is a son of William and Hannah J.

(Watkins) Cox.
William Cox was born in Maryland, and

was three years old when liis father, Jacob
Cox. brought the family overland to Fay-
ette County, Pennsylvania, where he set-

tled in the timherlnnd. William was reared
in Fayette County and when a young man
teamed over the mountains from Balti-

more to Wheeling, W. Vn. He was first

united in marriage with Margaret Rush,
who died leaving three children, namely:
Michael; Amos, deceased; and Mary, who
is the wife of George Chaffan. William
Cox later married Hannah J. Watkins. of

Athens, (>.. and to them were horn: Ada,
who married John Miller; William A., sub-

ject of this record; and Sherman, deceased.

William Cox subsequently moved to Jef-

ferson County and located at New Alex-
andria, where he followed carpentering for
some years. His later life was spent on a
farm in Wells Township, his death occur-

ing there in 1890, at the age of seventy-
three years. His widow died at the age of
seventy-one years.

William Andrew Cox spent his early

boyhood in New Alexandria and was fif-

teen years of age when his parents moved
to the farm in Wells Township, lie re-

mained on the home farm until the time of
his marriage, September 6, 1891, with Ida

R. Warren, who is a daughter of George
M. and Nancy (Porter) Warren, who are
old settlers of Jefferson County. Mr. Cox
has always followed farming in a general
way and his farm was originally a part of

the Dawson estate. Mr. Cox is a Prohi-
bitionist politically and fraternally is a
member of the Wildwood Lodge I. O. (). F.,

New Alexandria. His religious connec-

tion is with the Methodist Protestant
Church at New Alexandria.

M. B. PATTERSON, secretary of Me-
(Jowan Bros. Company, wholesale gro-

cers, has been engaged in business in Steu-
benville for many years and is a well

known citizen. He is a veteran of the

Civil War. in which he served nearly four
years. He was born in Steubenville, ().,

in January, 1841, and is a son of Samuel
Patterson, who also was born in Jefferson

County, and died in 1855. of typhoid fever.

He was a carpenter and contractor by
trade. Samuel Patterson, grandfather of
the subject of this sketch, was among the

early settlers of Jefferson County.
M. B. Patterson was reared and edu-

cated in Steubenville, where his entire

business career thus far has been spent.

For a period of twenty-six years he has
been connected with the McGowan Bros.
Companv, of which he now is secretarv.

At the first call to arms in 18(51, Mr. Pat-
terson enlisted as a private in Company
E, 70th New York Volunteer Infantry, and
remained in the service until August. 1865.

At the time he was mustered out he was
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a first lieutenant in Company II, 193d Reg-
iment. Ohio Volunteer Infantry. His early

service was with the Army of the Potomac,
and later in the Shenandoah Valley. He
is a member of E. M. Stanton Post. No.
166, G. A. R.

In 1880, M. B. Patterson was united in

marriage with Miss Lizzie O. Hall, who
was born and reared in Jefferson County,
and the following children were born to

bless their home: George F., of Los An-
geles, Cal.; Ray II.. of Steubenville; Mabel
H., and Lueile M. Mr. Patterson has been
secretary of the National Union ever since

its inception in Steubenville, and is a
member of the Steubenville Country Club.

JOHN* B. GORSUCH, formerly one of
the most highly regarded citizens of Is-

land Creek Township, where many years
of his useful life were passed, died on his

farm here on April 5, 1!N»2. His birth took
place in Brooke County. West Virginia.

March 28, 1824, and his parents were
Nicholas and Jane (Inzer) Gorsuch. who
were natives of Maryland.
John B. Gorsuch was mainly reared in

Hancock County, West Virginia, in his

youth attending the subscription schools.

Throughout his life he was fond of read-
and purchased good literature and also

was a Bible student and probably was one
of the best informed men in his community.
Tn his eighteenth year he united with the
Methodist Episcopal Church and lived a

life consistent with his profession.

In West Virginia, November l.'i. 1852.

Mr. Gorsuch was married to Miss Mary
Elliott, who was born in Brooke County.
West Virginia, April 20, 1835. Her par-

ents, who were James and Elizabeth
(Marsh) Elliott, having died when she

was in her eleventh year, she went to live

with her aunt, Miss Mary Marsh, in Brooke
County, where she remained under that

good relative's care until she was nineteen,

when she was married to the late John B.

Gorsuch. To this marriage twelve chil-

dren were born and there are three sur-

vivors: John C, who is a physician nt Den-

ver, Colo.; Edward E., who resides on the

home farm of 168 acres, which he culti-

vates for his mother; and Wilbert J., who
resides in Jefferson County, about two and
one-half miles from Bloonifield.

During the Civil War, John B. Gorsuch
was a member of the organization known
as the Home Guards. Shortly after the

close of the war he moved with his family
to near Montezuma, Iowa, but conditions

did not suit them there and in a few months
Mr. Gorsuch moved to Van Wert, O., and
from there to Island Creek Township,
where he remained during the rest of his

life, settling at that time on the farm on
which his widow and one son reside. Farm-
ing and stock raising are carried on here, a
specialty being made of sheep. Mr. Gor-
such was an able business man and he was
also an honorable one. In the neighl>or-

hood in which he lived so long he was re-

garded with the utmost respect and his

fellow citizens felt thut his death was a

loss to the community. He was active in

the cause of temperance and identified

himself with the Prohibition party. Mrs.

Gorsuch is a valued member of the Metho-
dist Episcopal Church at Richmond, O., of

which her late husband was a trustee, and
she is a member also of the missionary so-

ciety connected with this church.

W. F. MARTIN, proprietor of the W. F.

Martin Real Estate and Insurance Agency,

at Toronto, 0., is one of the representative,

reliable and prosperous business men of

this place. He was born on a farm in Isl-

and Creek Township. Jefferson County,
Ohio. August 9, 1876, and is a son of AVill-

iam B. and Emeline (Wallace) Martin.

The parents of Mr. Martin are both de-

ceased, the mother passing away at To-
ronto in 1905. The father afterward went
to California, where his death occurred

September 9, 1909. During his active

years he was engaged in farming.

W. F. Martin was five years old when
his parents moved to Toronto and his edu-

cation was secured here in the common
and high schools. Afterward he learned
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the watchmaking trade in the Deuber
works, at Canton, O., and engaged in the
business at Toronto for fifteen years. In
August, 1908, he turned his attention in

another direction and in this enterprise
has found success attending his undertak-
ings, lie purchased the real estate and in-

surance business formerly conducted by
Frank T. McClain and has greatly en-
larged its scope, having the agency of four-
teen fire insurance companies, these being
the leading ones of the country: Conti-
nental, of New York; Oermania, of New
York; Firemen, of New York; Glens Falls,

of New York; Royal Exchange, of New
York and London; Cincinnati Under-
writers; Western & Southern, of Okla-
homa; Pittsburgh Underwriters; German,
of Pittsburgh; Buckeye, of Cincinnati;
German, of Wheeling; Keystone Under-
writers, of Pittsburgh; Spring Garden, of
Philadelphia, and the Century, of Cincin-
nati. Mr. Martin handles a large amount
of real estate and his operations extend as
far south as Alabama.

Mr. Martin married Miss Carrie L.
Maxwell, a daughter of Basil Maxwell, of
Steubenville, O. He is not very active in

polities but belongs to a number of fra-

ternities including the Masons, the Odd
Fellows and the Jr. O. U. A. M.

JAMES W. GILL, president of Gill

Brothers Company, glass manufacturers at
Steubenville, O., also president of the Ohio
Valley Clay Company, and a man of nu-
merous other business activities, is a rep-
resentative of one of the old aud prominent
families of this section. He was born at
Mt. Pleasant, this county, in 1852, and is

a son of Samuel Gill, a native of Virginia,
who came to Ohio in 1840 to the home of
his uncle, Joseph Gill, the latter being the
founder of the Gill family in Jefferson
County. Samuel Gill was engaged in the
banking and mercantile business at Mt.
Pleasant for many years and was a man
of large estate and much commercial prom-
inence.

The subject of this sketch was reared in

Jefferson County, lie attended Earlham
College, at Richmond, Ind., and completed
his literary education at Cornell Univer-
sity. After his return to Mt. Pleasant he
spent two years in his father's bank and
then came to Steubenville to take charge of
the glass works, with which he has ever
since been identified. The original style

of the firm was Gill Bros. & Co., and it so

continued until 1901, when the business
was incorporated as Gill Bros. Company,
since which time Mr. J. \Y. Gill has l>een

president of the concern. For a number
of years he has also been president of the

Ohio Valley Clay Company, and he is a
director aud stockholder in other prom-
inent business enterprises in Ohio and ad-

jacent states, lie is a trustee of the Steu-
benville Chamber of Commerce and of the

Stanton Historical Association, a member
of the board of directors of the Carnegie
Library Association, and president of the

Gill Hospital Association. As a citizen

he is a strong supporter of good govern-
ment and is always counted upon in favor
of any practical measure calculated to ad-

vance the best interests of the community.
In 1S92 Mr. Gill was married to Miss

Nancy G. Kirk, of Chicago, having one
son. James \Y. Gill, Jr., who is a student
at St. Luke's School at Wayne, Pa.

JOHN YOCUM, who has been engaged
in the ice business for more than forty

years, is a venerable and highly respected

citizeu of Steubenville. He was lx>rn in

Jefferson County. Ohio, April 19, 1831, on
what is known as the Ephraim Cable farm
in Island Creek Township. His father,

also John Yocum, was born in Reuding,
Pa., and came among the early settlers to

Jefferson County. He married Sarah
Davis and they became parents of eleven

children, six daughters and five sons, of

whom three are now living: Hannah
Priest, of Columbus. O.; John; and Silas,

of Steubenville.

John Yocum, subject of this record, was
reared in Island Creek Township and still
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owns the old home farm there. Early in

life he conducted a milk business and later

was engaged as a marble polisher for five

years. He then embarked in the ice busi-

ness which he has carried on with unvary-
ing success for over forty years. Mr.
Yocum was married in 1R53 to Miss Eliza

Whitson, who died in 1892, leaving six

children: Mrs. Josiah Myers; Charles B.

;

Anna, wife of William E. Bevan ; John W.

;

Louisa, widow of Edward McCormick ; and
Walter W. Yocum. Mr. Yocum was mar-
ried a second time in 1897, to Miss Belle

Jacobs, who was born in Virginia and is

a daughter of David Jacobs, who removed
from Virginia to Brooke County, West
Virginia, where he engaged in farming
until his death. Mr. and Mrs. Yocum are
devout members of the Christian church.

THOMAS PRICE, manager and secre-

tary of the American China Company's
plant at Toronto, 0., president of the

Means Engineering and Foundry Com-
pany at Steubenville and Toronto, presi-

dent of the Toronto Realty Company, and
a director, since its inception, of the First

National Bank of Toronto, O.. is a leader

among the business men of Toronto and
has taken an active part in its progress
and development.
Thomas Price was born in the southern

part of Wales, April 24, 1863, and is a son
of William and Ann (Lewis) Price. At
the age of six years he accompanied his

parents when they emigrated to America
and located at Iroudale, Jefferson County,
Ohio. An uncle, Samuel Lewis, was a
prominent man at Irondale at that time,

and it was on his advice the parents of the

subject of this sketch came to this country.

Thomas was a well grown boy when lie

began learning the trade of a potter, a
trade which has been the means of his ad-
vancement from a poor boy to a position

of affluence in the community in which he
now resides. lie started in a pottery at

East Liverpool, O., where he continued
until 188,0 when he w;is made superintend-

ent of the Chelsea China Company's plant

in New Cumberland, W. Va. He continued
at that point until 1897, when he removed
to Toronto to accept the position of super-

intendent of the plant of the American
China Company. He has been identified

with the Means Foundry Company, which
is now the Means Engineering and Foun-
dry Company, since 1901, and has served
as its president since 1905. It was largely

through his efforts that Toronto became
the home of this large concern, which now
has under construction a large and modern
plant.

Mr. Price was united in marriage with
Miss Lillic Jennings and they have four

children, namely: William, Grace, and
Emmett and Elmer, twins. Fraternally,

he is a 32nd degree Mason.

DAVID STANTON McMASTERS, a
well known citizen of Mt. Pleasant, where
the larger part of his life has been passed,
is also an honored veteran of the Civil

War and a member of Post No. 407, G. A.
R. He was born at Farmington, Belmont
County, Ohio, December 15, 1842, and is

a son of Merrick Hamilton and Susannah
McMnsters, who spent almost their entire

lives in Mt. Pleasant Township. The pa-

ternal grandfather was Rev. David Mc-
Masters, a minister in the Methodist Prot-
estant Church, who, after his marriage
came to Jefferson County from Baltimore,
Md. Merrick H. McMasters was a tailor

and divided his attention between that

trade and farming. During the Civil War
he not only encouraged his sons to enter
the army but enlisted himself and with his

eldest son, James Harvey, was a member
of Company B, 52nd Ohio Volunteer In-

fantry. David Stanton and George W.
were members of the 15th Ohio Volunteer
Infantry, and the youngest son, Albert,

was a member of the 104th Infantry. They
all survived the war, although the eldest

son was twice wounded. The children of

Merrick J I. McMasters and wife were as
follows: James H., who lives in Califor-

nia : J >avid Stanton ; George W., who lives

in Mt. Pleasant Township; Albert, who
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died in Iowa several years after the close

of the war; Mary, who is the wife of
Thomas P. Gorsuch, of Mt. Pleasant Town-
ship; Jennie, who is the widow of Mack
Bobbinson, formerly an attorney, and lives

at Denver, Colo. ; and Sarah, deceased, who
was the wife of George Weir.
David Stanton McMasters grew to man-

hood at Mt. Pleasant, his parents having
come here in his infancy, and this has been
his home ever since and his place of resi-

dence except during the time spent in the

military service of his country. He en-

listed in August, 1861, at St. Clairsville,

joining Company E, 15th Ohio Volunteer
Infantry, which was organized at Mans-
field and being sent immediately to the

frout, gained its 6rst experience of war in

the terrible battle of Shiloh. Subsequent-
ly this regiment fought at Chickamauga
and Missionary Ridge, participated iu the
Atlanta campaign and was at the battle of
Resaca. The division to which Mr. McMas-
ters belonged then returned to intercept

General Hood, and at Stone River, Mr. Mc-
Masters, with many comrades, was cap-

tured by the enemy. He was incarcerated
in Libby Prison for seventy-six days, after

which be was liberated on parole. From
Richmond he went to Annapolis, then to

Baltimore and Pittsburgh and then back
to Camp Chase, where he remained until

January 1, 18(54, when he came home on
furlough, after re-enlisting for further
service. He returned to his regiment at

Huntsville. Ala., by way of New Orleans,
and from there went to Mobile, where he
was honorably discharged at the close of
the war, being mustered out at Indianola,
Tex. Although he look part in every battle

in which his regiment was engaged with
the exception of that of Nashville, lie was
never wounded, although on many occa-

sions his comrades fell by his side.

After the close of his military life. Mr.
McMasters returned to Mt. Pleasant and
on August '2C>, ISob". he was married to Miss
Caroline 0. Tweedy, a daughter of Will-

iam and Sarah Tweedv. both of whom lived

and died at Mt. Pleasant, in ISIS William

Tweedy went to California where he re-

sided for twenty-six years. Mrs. McMas-
ters has two brothers: George W., of
Martin's Ferry; and Thomas Finley, of
Wheeling, W. Va. To Mr. and Mrs. Mc-
Masters four children were born, namely:
George Hamilton, who lives in the far
West ; David S., a resident of Mt. Pleasant,

who married Miss Mary Handle and baa
three children, Caroline, Louise and Eliza-

beth
;
Estella, who married Harry Reid, of

Mt. Pleasant, and has three children, Will-

iam Stanton, Harold and Lois ; and Ida M.,

who married William J. Cnrn, and has one
child, Gertrude.

Mr. McMaster has been identified with
the Republican party since lie reached
manhood and has been one of its most ac-

tive and useful members in Mt. Pleasant
Township. He has served in a number of

official positions, for thirty-four years be-

ing constable, and for some years deputy
sheriff, and has also been supervisor and
road commissioner. He belongs to the

Knights of Pythias Lodge at Mt. Pleasant.

JOHN LESLIE PUNTNEY, for many
years was one of the leading agriculturists

of Wells Township, Jefferson County,
Ohio. He was born December 2, 1841, on
the old Puntney farm of 131 V*» acres near
New Alexandria, Ohio, and died May 5),

1897, on the old home farm.
The Puntney family is of French extrac-

tion and originally spelled the name
Puntenney. John Puntney, the father of

our subject, came to Jefferson County,
Ohio, from Virginia, and settled in Wells
Township on the old Puntney farm, which
the Kirkwoods first purchased from the

government, the Puntneys buying from
them, and his- death occurred on this furin.

His marriage with Charlotte Clayton re-

sulted in the following issue: Sarah, who
is the widow of James Clayton; Stephen;
James; Eliza, who married William Arm-
strong (deceased) : Elizabeth, who was the

wife of James Snell; Josephine, who mar-
ried Albert Graham (deceased); John L,
the subject of this record : Kllen, who is the
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widow of Philip Trainer; Bethan, who was
the wife of Taylor Elliott. The only sur-

vivors of this family are: Mrs. Sarah
Clayton and Mrs. Ellen Trainer.
John Leslie Puntncy grew to maturity

on the old home farm, which he helped to

clear, and when young went to the gold
mines of the West, where he was moderate-
ly successful. He owned a claim, which
was located on the present site of Helena,
Mont., hut this he abandoned to return to

his father's farm, where he lived with his

widowed mother for many years afterward.
After the death of his mother he purchased
the home farm from the heirs and engaged
iu farming here until his own death. The
old six-room brick house, which is on the

faim, was built in 1843, by his father, and
was made from brick and lime produced on
the home farm. Mr. Puntney, with others,

was the owner of a grain elevator at Rem-
ington, Ind., his interest in this having been
disposed of by his widow. Mr. Puntney
was a staunch Democrat. In fraternal cir-

cles he was prominently identified with the

I. O. O. F., having taken his last degree at

Columbus, Ohio.

On March 16, 1886, Mr. Puntney was
united in marriage with Miss Martha M.
Oursler, who was born near Rome, Ohio,

a daughter of Judge Henry Oursler, form-
erly of Adams County, Ohio, and of their

union were born throe children, Charlotte
E., Emmet t Leslie, aud Claude D. Mrs.
Puntney received her education in the pub-
lic schools of Adams County, Ohio, and at

the National Normal University at Le-
banon, Ohio. She then taught two terms in

her home district, and since the death of
her husband has proved herself a capable
business woman in the management of her
fanning interests.

.fudge Henry Oursler, father of Mrs.
Puntney, was born August 11, 1820, in

Huntington Township, Brown County,
Ohio, and was the youngest of seven chil-

dren born to his parents. His father came
to Ohio from Maryland, and his mother
from Washington. Kentucky, and in 1795
(hoy located in Huntington Township in

what is now Brown County, but then known
as Adams County. Here he was reared and
attended the district schools. He also took

a course in English grammar and survey-

ing from a local surveyor of Brown County,
and at the age of twenty-three had quali-

fied as a surveyor. He spent the year 1839
working in a saw-mill, and in 1840 was
elected a captain in the militia and served
in that capacity several years. In 1850 he
was appointed deputy surveyor of the Vir-

ginia Military District for Adams County,
and served in that capacity until the office

was abolished. He was admitted to the bar
in 1855 and served as justice of the peace
and township trustee. He was formerly a
staunch Democrat and was elected and
served as clerk of Green Township, county
recorder and auditor of Adams County.
In 1861, not satisfied with the Democratic
party he became identified with the Repub-
licans, and in 1863 was elected probate
judge of Adams County, resigning from
that office in 1865. Judge Oursler has of-

ten represented the Republican party at the

district conventions. He was married in

1850 to Elizabeth Puntney, a daughter of

James Puntney, and they reared a family

of five children. Since the death of Mr.
Puntney, Judge Oursler had made his home
with his daughter, Mrs. Puntney, acting as

an advisor aud companion to her three chil-

dren. While at the advanced age of ninety

years, the Judge is still hale and hearty,

with the appearance of a much younger
man. and is looking forward to his 100th
anniversary, which he hopes to celebrate iu

19i»0. Ho had been a member of the Chris-

tian church since 1848.

M. McKENZIE DUNLOPE, sole owner
and proprietor of the Market Street Gro-
cery and Meat Market, at Steubenville, O.,

has been a resident of this city for some
eleven years and is identified with the lead-

ing interests of the place, is an owner of

property and a member of the Chamber
of Commerce. He was born in Indiana
County, Pa., in 1861.

Mr. Dunlope completed his education at
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the Indiana State Normal School, Indiana,

Pa., after which he taught school for two
years and then went into the business of

building and contracting, working for thir-

teen years in Pennsylvania and six years
in Florida and Ohio. He was also in the

furniture and undertaking business while

in Florida, and did a large amount of fine

work in his other line while at Tampa, a
very satisfactory contract being the inside

finishing of the Tampa Bay Hotel, at Tam-
pa, Florida. Mr. Dnnlope afterwards
came to Steubenville and in 1901 embarked
in his present enterprise, establishing the

firm of Dunlope & Davis, which is located

at No. 508 Market street, Mr. Dunlope, as

already stated being the sole owner. He
does a large business in handling staple and
fancy groceries, together with salt and
fresh meats.
He had additional business interests,

also, being president of the Ohio and Ala-

bama Land and Orchard Company, with

offices in the National Exchange Hank
Building.

On dune 24, 188."}, Mr. Dunlope was mar-
ried to Miss Jessie M. Thurston, of Alli-

ance, O., who died March 8, 1908, which
was followed by the death of a son, \Y.

Ernest, on February 10th, 1909. Two chil-

dren survive: Morris T., of Steul>enville,

and Helen M., of Alliance, O. Mr. Dunlope
is a member of the First Presbyterian
church and is an elder in the same. He is

identified with the Masonic bodies at Steu-

benville.

('APT. CHARLES T. YOL'XU. past

commander of the C». A. R. Post at Toronto,

O., and one of the prominent citizens of this

section of Jefferson County, was directly

or indirectly connected with the sewer pipe
business for a period covering thirty-four

years. He was bom on a farm in Jefferson

County, O., near New Alexandria August
i!S, 1K-W, and is a son of Charles R. and
Annie (Dorsey) Young. The parents and
a part of the family were born and reared
in Maryland.

Charles T. Young was reared on the

home farm and attended the country
schools. Apparently his life stretched out

before him along quiet, agricultural lines

and his boyish plans were made in antici-

pation of the rewards coming from the in-

dustrious tilling of the soil. Then came
the call to arms when the dissolution of the

Union was threatened, and one of the first

to respond and to urge his acquaintances
to do the same, was Charles T. Yoimg. Af-
ter enlisting at Steubenville, O., he re-

cruited a |>ortion of a company, these men
Iwing from Steubenville, Brilliant and New
Alexandria, and they were joined by others

equally loyal and patriotic from Cadiz, Co-
lumbus and Marion, and at Camp Todd
they were formed into Company C, 5th

Independent Battalion of Cavalry, Mr.
Young being made first sergeant of the

organization. The period of enlistment

was for six months, the general idea then
prevailing being that no soldiery would be

needed for a longer time than that. This
battalion consisting of four conqmnies
went into service iu Fleming County, Ky.,

and by the time their term had expired it

was recognized that the great struggle be-

tween the opposing sections would be a

long one, ami the battalion reenlisted. A
furlough of thirty days wns given the men
and this furlough Mr. Young spent in Jeff-

erson County recruiting. This company was
then reunited at Camp Chase and became
a part of the L'lth O. Yol. Cav., in which
Sergeant Young was commissioned second
lieutenant. In 1804 he was made first

lieutenant and in the fall of 18<>5 be was
commissioned captain and served from
April, 18(14, under Div. Com. (iregg, in the

Army of the Potomac, the higher officers

being Brig. (Jen. Smith and (Jencral Sher-
idan.

Early in April, 1H64, the company with

which Captain Young was identified,

started for Washington, D. C. by way of

Pittsburgh and Baltimore. After twenty-

four hours in Washinglon it entered into

camp on Arlington Heights, above the Po-

tomac River and remained there one week-

ami then marched down to Alexandria. Ya.,
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and took a steamer to Belle Plaine Land-
ing, sometimes called Kcqua Creek. From
there the company was marched twenty
miles to Fredericksburg, remained over

night and then was ordered back to Belle

Plaine Landing. On the next day orders

came to proceed to Port Royal, on the

Rappahannock River, where the company
was mounted. About a week later this

company was man-bed ten miles and joined

the cavalry corps and in the tinal reorgani-

zation this company became a part of the

3rd Brig., and 2nd Div. Cav. Corps.

On May 4, 1804, the river was crossed

and they entered into the battle of the Wild-

erness that evening, being among the first

troops to open the light. Captain Young's
company took part in the week-long battle,

later participated in the fight at Spottsyl-

vania Court House and was continuously

engaged until after the battle of Cold Har-
bor. He was in the battles at Hanover
Court House. North Anna and South Anna
Rivers and Charles City Court House. The
cavalry then accompanied the infantry as

a defense until near Richmond and in the

battle there the cavalry suffered a loss of

1,500 brave men. A fight was also pre-

cipitated at White House Landing, this be-

ing one of the few bloodless battles in

which Captain Young took part. After that

battle bis command crossed the .James Riv-

er and went on to Petersburg and were
there at the time of Hie explosion. July 30.

1804. He was wounded three times ami
his own company lost twenty-three men
and JS!) men of the regiment were lost. In

his own company one prisoner was taken,

twelve men were wounded and ten were
killed. Captain Y'oung was confined in a

hospital at Portsmouth (J rove, R. 1.. for

two months and for two months was on
David Island, N. Y., in the Fast River.

On November I, 1804, he rejoined his com-
mand at Petersburg. He hail been captain

of his company before the accident and
when he returned resumed command. The
regiment spent the winter in Virginia and
was mustered out of the service August 11,

I860, but before that time had taken part in

a number of other very serious engage-
ments. These included Weldon Railroad,

Pilgrim Farm, Poplar Orove Church, Din-
widdie Court House, Hatcher's Run and
Stony Creek. There was then a short re-

spite but later there were engagements at

Notaway, Amelia Court House, Jettlers-

ville, Sailor's Creek, Farmsville and Ap-
pomattox Court House. After the sur-

render of General Lee, Captain Young and
his command returned to Petersburg and
two weeks later, as Johnston had not yet

surrendered, they were ordered to reen-

force General Sherman. After a march of
100 miles and when within twenty miles of
the Cnion forces, they learned of the sur-

render of Johnston and then return was
made to Petersburg. After Sherman's
forces had passed on to Washington, the
cavalry was still retained at Petersburg.
At that time. Captain Y

roung was acting
major and had command of four companies
at Powhatan Court House as there were
many disturbances between the whites and
blacks. He established a refugee camp
there and remained in charge until the
sixth of the following August, when he was
ordered home and was mustered out at

City Point. Ya. For bravery, patriotism,

faithfulness and capacity. Captain Young's
record is one that should inspire pride in

all his kindred and admiration in his fellow
citizens.

After his military service was over he
returned to the farm and followed agricul-

tural pursuits from 1800 until October,
1S7.'J. when he moved to Toronto and for
one year was in the drug business. After
selling out bis interest in that line, iu 1874
he became connected with the sewer pipe iu-

dustry at the Francy works and from that
date until 1!>0K gave almost his entire at-

tention to that great industry, one of the
most important ones in the state. After
some time with the Francy people, he went
into partnership with Canada Kling and
they owned the Jefferson or the Toronto
Fire Clay Manufacturing plant and later

owned the Markle works under the name of
the Canada Kling Company, the members
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of which were: Captain Young, Canada
Kling and J. M. McClave. A large business

was done until 1901, when the plant was
sold to the American Sewer Pipe Company.
Captain Young was married (first) to

Hannah Eliza Stokes, and seven children

were born to them: Franklin, Edwin M.,

Charles William, John W., Henrv S., Jes-

sie, wife of W. S. Smith, and Hattie M.,

wife of John Reece. All survive except the

eldest who died aged three years. On Jan-
uary 8, 1889, he married (second) Mary
J. Kerr. They have no children.

Captain Young is a Mason and an Odd
Fellow. In the former fraternity he is a

member of Steubenville Lodge No. 45, F.

& A. M.; Union Chapter, No. 15; and Steu-

benville Commandery, No. 11. He has
taken all the degrees of Odd Fellowship

and served as colonel of the .'hd Ohio Pa-
triotic Militant Corps. For over thirty

years he has been an elder in the First

Presbyterian church at Toronto.

WILLIAM FRANCIS TOMUXSON, a

highly respected resident of Mt. Pleasant,

where he has been more or less engaged in

mercantile pursuits for a number of years,

is a representative of one of the substan-

tial pioneer families, which was established

in Jefferson County about 100 years ago.

His whole life has been spent in this county,

where he was born May I'ti, 1849. the sev-

enth and youngest child of his parents who
were Samuel S. and Rachel (Street) Tom-
linson.

Isaac Tomlinsou, the grandfather of

William F.. was born in Bucks County. Pa.,

where he married Mary Dewcese. and they

came to JefftTerson County in 1818. Their

first night here was spent at Mt. Pleasant,

but the next morning they went on to

Emerson and took up their residence in a

log house which stood near the present

Emerson schoolhousc. He then purchased
a farm of forty acres which is now owned
by the heirs of Thomas MeCullough, on
which he lived for some years, but died at

bis home, which was a brick bouse that

stood east of the town of Harrisville, and

his burial was in the Quaker burying
ground at New Trenton. He was a chair-

maker by trade and some of the comfort-
able ami chairs that he patiently fashioned
are still in use. To Isaac and Mary Tom-
linson the following children were born:
Samuel S., who was boru in Bucks County,
Pa., ami died in Jefferson Comity at the

age of eighty nine years and eleven months

:

Rebecca, who married Amos Marsh, and
died in Iowa; Thomas, who moved to Iowa
reared a family there and died in that

state; Susanna, who married James Car-
ter ami lived and died in Harrison County;
Carver, who reared a family in Illinois and
died there ; Comley, who after residing for

a number of years in Jefferson County,
moved to Salem, in Columbiana County,
where his last years were spent; Chalkley,
who died very suddenly in Jefferson Coun-
ty; and Sarah, who married Amos Griffith

and died in Harrison County. Ohio, after

having become a widow in Iowa.
Samuel S. Tomlinson, father of William

Francis, was born in Bucks County in 1810,

and died in Jefferson County, Ohio, in De-

cember, 1899. He learned the trade of
chnirmnkiug with his father but after his

marriage became a farmer. His first pur-
chase of land was a tract of sixty acres,

now owned by John Beam, and afterward
he bought forty-four acres from James
Robinson. This land lie kept intact and
cultivated and improved it. spending many
busy years here. In 1831 he married
Rachel Street, who was also born in Bucks
County, Pennsylvania, in 1810. Seven chil-

dren were born to them, namely: Griffith,

who spent the greater part of his life in

Jefferson County but later moved to Bel-

mont County (married Alice Greer):
Emily, who married Samuel R. Battin, re-

sided for a few years after marriage in

Columbiana County. Ohio, then moved to

Clark Couuty where she died in the fall

of 1909; Isaac, a farmer, who resides near
West Liberty, Iowa: Elizabeth, residing in

Marshall Comity, Town, who never mar-
ried: Rebecca, who was the wife of Amos
Gibson and spent her life in Jefferson and
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Columbiana Counties, dying without issue

;

Edward, who has been engaged in fanning
in Harrison County, Ohio, for the past

eight years (married Mary Philpot); and
William Francis of Mt. Pleasant. Very
few descendants of the above family still

live in Jefferson County, they being con-

fined to the immediate family of William
Francis Tomlinson and two nieces, Mrs.
Wortliington and Mrs. Fisher.

William F. Tomlinson remained on his

father's farm west of Fiiuerson until he was
about twenty-eight years of age. He at-

tended what was known as the Trenton
school during its winter sessions but helped

in the cultivation of the farm during the

summers. Later lie attended the Mt. Pleas-

ant school for two months, this completing
his regular schooling. It in no wise com-
pleted his education, however, for he came
of intelligent parentage and possessed a

quick and receptive mind and from the

many visitors to his parents' home and
later through a wider acquaintance he se-

cured much practical knowledge that he

might not have acquired from a collegiate

training. The visitors referred to above
were numerous for his people were hospit-

able and as they were prominent Hicksite

Quakers, their home was often a place of

hospitality for ministers and other trav-

elers of that faith.

William F. Tomlinson was married De-

cember -25, 1877, to Miss Elizabeth McCul-
lough, a daughter of Thomas and Mary
(Porter) McCullough. Mrs. Tomlinson
was horn on Wheeling Island and came to

Mt. Pleasant in 1873, with her parents, who
died here. Two children were born to Mr.

and Mrs. Tomlinson: Edith, who has

adopted the profession of a trained nurse:

and Walter M. The latter was connected

for ten years with the Harper hat store

and at present is a traveling salesman for

a large hat house of Cincinnati. He mar-

ried Mary Jessie House, a daughter of C.

A. House, who is a music dealer of Wheel-

ing, W. Va.. and they have one daughter,

Irene.

William F. Tomlinson at different peri-

ods has been enguged in mercantile busi-

ness and since his marriage has conducted
a general store at Mt. Pleasant. He has
never taken any pronounced interest in

polities, nor has he sought public office, but
always performs the duties of good citizen-

ship. He votes with the Republican party
and has served as township assessor, lie

attends the Quaker church at Emerson, be-

ing a birthright member of the Society of
Friends.

JAMES TCKNBUIJ,, who was long a
prominent citizen of Steubenville, was born
in Philadelphia in 1795, and from there re-

moved in 1807, to Pittsburgh, where he
took up the trade of book-binding. In 181b'

he came to Steubenville, then a town of
only about 900 inhabitants, and set up a
book-bindery and publishing house, prob-
ably the first in Ohio. Quite a number of
books were published here, which are val-

uable on account of their rarity. From
183f> to 1847 he was an active member of
the firm of Holdship, llanna ami Turnbull,
operating the Clinton Paper Mill, now the

llartje Mill on North Third Street. He
also conducted a book and stationery store

until 18f>0, in the room now occupied by
his son-in-law, Capt. John F. Oliver, the
apartment having been used continuously
in this business for upwards of ninety-
three years. As a business man he was
thoroughly successful and took a lively in-

terest in public affairs. He voted for

James Monroe for president in 1816, and
for his successors until 1884. and was the

last survivor in this section of the War of

1812 lie was elected county treasurer in

18:51 and declined re-election on account
of his increasing private business; served

two terms in the City Council, five terms
as member of the Hoard of Education, and
as Water Works trustee was identified

with the building of the first water works
at the foot of Adams Street. He was also

a director in the old Fanners and Me-
chanics Bank, The Jefferson National, the

original \Stouhenville and Indiana Rail

road, and took part in almost every other
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public enterprise. lie lived under every
president from Washington to Cleveland.

Mr. Turnbull was married three times, his

first wife being Caroline Oalbraith, the

second, Sarah Todd and the third, Mar-
garet MeDevitt, who died October 21, 1898,

Mr. Turnbull having passed uwav on June
J3, 1887. Two children survive, Elizabeth,

wife of Major James F. Sarratt, and Caro-
line, wife of Capt. John F. Oliver. Mr.
Turnbull was a member of the Second
Presbyterian Church, and his remains were
laid at rest in the presence of a large at

tendance of citizens and public officials.

WILLIAM M GRAFTON, an extensive

real estate dealer of Steubenville, O., is

identified with the LaBelle Land Company,
and numerous building projects. He has
been a resident of this city nine years and
is widely known. Mr. Grafton was born
in New Cumberland in 1861, and was
twelve years of age when his family moved
to Rellaire, O. There he completed his

schooling and early in life learned the

glass-making trade. He was engaged in

that business for a period of twenty-five

years, mid then turned his attention to the

real estate business. Upon coining to Steu-

benville in 1901, he became identified with

the LaHelle Land Company, with which he
has continued ever since. He is a man of

good business qualifications, resourceful

and enterprising, and has Ik'cii active in

the development of the city. Mr. Grafton
was formerly active in politics, but in re-

cent years has taken little interest. In

1882 he was marriinl to Miss Sophia M.
Ingler, a native of Jefferson County, ami
they have four children: Nellie. Mabel,

Wiiliam and Georgians. Religiously, they

are members of the Methodist Protestant

church. Mr. Grafton is a member of the

Junior Order I'nited American Mechanics.

MRS. SPSAN C. HANUN. Among the

beautiful farms for which Island Creek
Township, Jefferson County, O., is justly

noted, is that 100-aere tract belonging to

Mrs. Susan C. Hanlin, who is a well known
and highly esteemed resident of this sec-

tion. Mrs. Hanlin was born in Washing-
ton County. Pa., April 22, 18:58, and is a
daughter of Samuel and Mary (Cunning-
ham) Creswell, the former of whom was
born in West Virginia and the latter in

Pennsylvania.
Mrs. Hanlin was reared in Washington

County, attended the district schools and
grew to womanhood skilled in all house-
wifely accomplishments. On February 7,

lWl. she was united in marriage with Will-

iam R. Hanlin, who was born in Washing-
ton County, July If), HS.'iCi, and was a son
of Alexander aud Margaret (Gracey) Han-
lin. His father had also been born in

Washington County and probably was of
Revolutionary stock. William R. Hanlin
and family resided in Washington County
until 1872 and then removed to Jefferson
County, Ohio, and in 1H74 settled on the

farm which Mrs. Hanlin still owns and
occupies. Here he engaged in farming and
stock raising but survived only a few years
longer, his death occurring on May 11, 1878.

He was a man of quiet life and took no very
active part in public matters but was mind-
ful of his duties as a citizen. He cast his

vote with the Republican party. He was
a worthy member of the Centre Cha|>el

Methodist Kpiscopal church.
To Mr. and Mrs. Hanlin eight children

were born, three of whom are deceased:
Sj'iimcl ('.. George A. and William F. The
survivors are: Rachel .1.. who is the wife
of A. J. Crawford, of Island Creek Town-
ship: Margaret (trace, a lady of education
and culture, who is a popular public school
teacher in Jefferson County; Mitchell De
Ford, who resides in Allegheny County.
Pennsylvania: Marie K., who is a trained
nurse residing at Pittsburg, Pa.; and John
I)., who operates a farm in Tsland Creek
Township. Mrs. Hanlin and Miss Mar-
garet Grace are active members of the Cen-
tre Chapel Methodist Episcopal church,
and they are well known socially, their
home being one of great hospitality.
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